
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

EXTRAORDINARY CABINET MEETING 
 
Date: Tuesday, 26 January 2021 
Time:  7.00pm 
Venue: Virtual Meeting Via Skype* 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Mike Baldock (Vice-Chairman), Monique Bonney, Angela Harrison, 
Ben J Martin, Richard Palmer, Roger Truelove (Chairman) and Tim Valentine. 
 
Quorum = 3  
 

 
  Pages 

RECORDING NOTICE 
Please note: this meeting may be recorded and the recording may be added to 
the website. 
 
At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting 
is being audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except 
where there are confidential or exempt items. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data 
Protection Act.  Data collected during this recording will be retained in 
accordance with the Council’s data retention policy. 
 
Therefore by entering the Chamber and speaking at Committee you are 
consenting to being recorded and to the possible use of those sound recordings 
for training purposes. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services. 
 

 

Information for the Public 
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website after 4pm on Monday 25 
January 2021.  
 
Privacy Statement 
 
Swale Borough Council (SBC) is committed to protecting the privacy and 
security of your personal information. As data controller we ensure that 
processing is carried out in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the General Data Protection Regulations. In calling to join the meeting 
your telephone number may be viewed solely by those Members and 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Officers in attendance at the Skype meeting and will not be shared further. 
No other identifying information will be made available through your 
joining to the meeting. In joining the meeting you are providing the 
Council with your consent to process your telephone number for the 
duration of the meeting. Your telephone number will not be retained after 
the meeting is finished. 
 
If you have any concerns or questions about how we look after your 
personal information or your rights as an individual under the 
Regulations, please contact the Data Protection Officer by email at 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk or by calling 01795 417179. 
 
1.  Apologies for Absence 

 

 

2.  Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 
The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings: 
 
(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking. 

 
(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter. 

 
(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
meeting while that item is considered. 

 
Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.  

 

Part A Report for recommendation to Council 
 

 

3.  Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft 
 

5 - 972 

 

Issued on Monday, 18 January 2021 
 



 

 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in alternative formats. 
For further information about this service, or to arrange for special facilities to be provided at 
the meeting, please contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Cabinet, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 

 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 

Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Meeting  

Meeting Date 26 January 2021 

Report Title Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission 
consultation draft 

Cabinet Member Cllr Mike Baldock, Cabinet Member for Planning 

SMT Lead James Freeman 

Head of Service James Freeman 

Lead Officer Jill Peet 

Key Decision Yes 

Classification Open 

Recommendations Members are asked to: 

1. note the summaries of the remaining evidence for the 
Local Plan Review; 

2. agree the addendum to the Statement of Community 
Involvement that sets out how the Council will address 
covid-related restrictions in light of the usual need to 
have hard copies of documents available for inspection 

3. agree the Local Plan Review pre-submission draft and 
accompanying documents as set out in Regulation 22 
and commend them to Council for approval for the 
purposes of public consultation and submission to the 
Secretary of State in accordance with the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012; and 

4. grant delegated authority to the Planning Policy 
Manager and Head of Planning Services, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning to 
agree minor amendments to the documents that are 
non-material prior to submission and during the course 
of the examination if required. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the progress made to date with the Local Plan Review 

document and presents the headlines for the final pieces of remaining evidence 
that have now been completed in full.  The pre-submission version of the Local 
Plan Review and associated documents are appended to this report. This report 
provides a short summary of the various key elements that form or support the 
Local Plan Review and accompanying documents that include the Sustainability 
Appraisal and the Habitat Regulation Assessment. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



1.2 These documents will need to be agreed by Cabinet and full Council if they are to 
be consulted upon and subsequently submitted to the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government following public consultation 
required by Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Plans)(England) regulations 2012. 

 
1.3 The formal consultation of the Local Plan Review pre-submission documents is 

expected to commence on Monday 8 February and end on Tuesday 23 March 
2021. Every effort has been made to produce complete and accurate documents.  
Given the scale and complexity of the documents, it is inevitable that some minor 
omissions or clarifications/corrections may be required prior to the start of the 
formal Regulation 19 consultation. An example may be where additional words or 
terms could usefully be added to the glossary in the Local Plan Review 
document.  Delegated authority to make such minor and non-material 
amendments would be welcomed by officers.  The documents would otherwise 
not be altered from the attached version contained in appendix i, representing 
what the Council believes to be a ‘sound’ plan and fit for submission to the 
Secretary of State subject to the Regulation 19 consultation. 
 

1.4 This report explains the component parts of the Local Plan Review, the 
arrangements for the consultation and next steps. 

 

2 Background 
 
The need for an up-to-date local plan 
 
2.1 The local plan is the document that contains the policies for how the borough will 

change over a period of time (usually 15 years).  The Council’s current local plan, 
Bearing Fruits, was adopted in July 2017.  Local plans are required to be kept up 
to date and reviewed on a regular basis (every five years).  Therefore, the review 
of Bearing Fruits started as soon as it was adopted.  Since July 2017, a 
significant (and proportionate) amount of evidence has been prepared and used 
to inform the content of the Local Plan Review.  Formal Regulation 18 
consultation was undertaken in spring 2018 through the publication of the 
document ‘Looking Ahead’ that set out issues and discussed choices for 
addressing those issues.  The main issues raised from this consultation have 
been addressed in the Local Plan Review. Informal consultation has been 
ongoing with key stakeholders including infrastructure providers and statutory 
consultees such as the Environment Agency, Highways England and Kent 
County Council, their input helping to shape the content of the documents. 
 

2.2 The local plan remains one of the most important functions of the Borough 
Council and producing a local plan review that delivers the Council’s spatial 
objectives as per the Corporate Plan is a key priority for the Council. Having an 
up-to-date local plan provides communities and developers with certainty around 
where new development can take place.  It allows for greater clarity and certainty 
around the use of planning obligations to secure infrastructure and to protect and 
enhance natural and historic assets. 
 

Page 6



2.3 A local plan helps to realise the benefits of development and make sure that the 
new (and inevitable) development will serve the Borough’s existing communities 
as well as the new communities.  Without a local plan, the Borough risks 
development being permitted through the planning appeal process.  This would 
put at risk the quality of that development, reduce the likelihood of infrastructure 
being provided in a planned and co-ordinated manner, and weaken the 
environmental safeguards that are proposed through the local plan. 
 

2.4 In due course, the Local Plan Review will supersede Bearing Fruits, but it 
incorporates some of its elements and unimplemented development land 
allocations.  The opportunity has been taken to develop some of the policy 
content to reflect the priorities of the new administration and to update as 
necessary in light of new evidence and/or changes to government guidance, best 
practice and other relevant information. 
 

The need for development and for a local plan to guide it 
 
2.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 

policies and priorities regarding development and the planning system.  Since the 
introduction of the first NPPF in 2012, successive governments have made it 
clear that significantly increasing the supply of housing is a national priority and 
that the planning system must address this. 
 

2.6 The housing needs must be calculated using the government’s standard method 
and local planning authorities are expected to meet their Local Housing Needs 
(LHNs) in full. 
 

2.7 The NPPF required local planning authorities to have a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites and to assist nearby local authorities less able to meet 
the need for development as part of the duty to cooperate. The focus, therefore is 
on where development should take place and this is a key component of the local 
plan that is expressed in its development strategy. 
 

2.8 For Swale, the development strategy in Bearing Fruits focussed development at 
the western end of the Borough at Sittingbourne and west Sheppey.  This was 
done in the context of the wider Thames Gateway growth area.  The Isle of 
Sheppey and Sittingbourne form the lower value areas of the borough in viability 
terms and sites along the A249 corridor at Sittingbourne and Iwade have been 
constrained by highway capacity issues.  As the highway improvements progress 
at M2 junction 5, sites in this area will start to come forward.  To allocate 
significant further additional housing in this location would have a negative impact 
on the ability of the market to deliver the required quantum of development in this 
location and at a pace that would support a rolling five year supply of housing 
land. This is counter-intuitive to the government’s aims of increasing housing 
delivery and would likely have a negative impact on the Council’s 5 year Housing 
Land Supply position, thereby undermining the local plan and the plan-led 
system.  
 

Page 7



2.9 To avoid this scenario, the Council is focusing growth at the west of the Borough 
on brownfield sites that support economic and social regeneration and in 
locations with a good range of shops and services and/or genuine travel 
alternatives to the private car.  The east of the Borough within the hinterland of, 
Faversham, enjoys strong viability and falls within the higher land value area.  
Focussing development at this location creates opportunities to deliver new 
infrastructure where housing affordability issues are more acute.  Government 
recommends that local planning authorities allocate housing in areas such as this 
to improve affordability. 
 

2.10 The development strategies for Bearing Fruits and the Local Plan Review 
combined create a more equal distribution of housing across the Borough, with 
Sittingbourne allocated a higher number, reflecting its role as the Borough’s 
principal town. 
 

2.11 The Local Plan Review contains policies to support other key Council objectives 
including addressing climate change, improving health and wellbeing, the 
provision of affordable housing in all parts of the Borough, supporting the 
provision of homes for older people, those with mobility issues and development 
on small and medium sites in recognition of the important role SME builders make 
to housing delivery in the Borough.  Additionally, the Local Plan Review includes 
a full suite of thematic policies to manage development decisions and a set of 
allocations for proposed development that, in combination with the allocations in 
Bearing Fruits, ensures the development needs of the Borough are met in full. 
The pre-submission consultation draft of the Local Plan Review is contained in 
appendix i. 

 
Evidence 
 
2.12 The NPPF requires local plans to be prepared in accordance with its evidence. 

Since work began on the Local Plan Review, completed and emerging evidence 
has been reported to the Local Plan Panel.  Evidence is the reporting of 
information and research carried out my experts in that field and prepared in 
accordance with the requisite government guidance and best practice.  The 
evidence base that has informed the Local Plan Review is set out in appendix I of 
the LPR document itself.  Due to the complex nature of plan preparation and how 
certain evidence fits with other studies and stages in the process, there are a few 
pieces that have not yet been reported to Members in their full and/or final form. 
These are: 

• Whole Plan Viability Assessment 

• Locally important countryside gaps study 

• Transport modelling run of allocated sites 
 

2.13 Members of the Local Plan Panel will recall that during 2020, the Council’s 
specialist viability consultants ran a workshop (to which all members were invited) 
to introduce whole plan viability.  A further presentation was made to the Local 
Plan Panel in December that identified the development costs for various site 
typologies and identified the ‘surplus’ monies that could be used to secure policy 
costs over and above those typical costs such as KCC contributions and 

Page 8



contributions to the CCG for healthcare.  The presentation concluded that there 
was adequate surplus for additional policy requirements. Members were then 
asked to identify their priorities for further testing.  The draft report concludes that 
there is satisfactory surplus to support the policy requirements in the Local Plan 
Review. 
 

2.14 Members are asked to note the draft Whole Plan Viability Assessment Report that 
forms part of the evidence base, the full draft report is contained in appendix vi 
and the final version will be available shortly. 
 

2.15 Once members provided a steer on the potential housing allocations (Local Plan 
Panel of 30 October 2020), a study was commissioned to undertake an 
independent review of the land around the settlements of Faversham and 
Teynham within the context of identifying an appropriate designation of ‘Important 
Local Countryside Gaps’ to safeguard the open and undeveloped character of the 
land between settlements and to guard against coalescence.  The study did not 
review existing ‘Important Local Countryside Gaps’ as they were already found to 
be sound at the local plan examination for Bearing Fruits and there have been no 
significant changes in circumstances or government policy to justify a review. 
 

2.16 The study has been prepared by specialist consultants and identifies land 
between Teynham and Lynsted village that should be designated as ‘Important 
Local Countryside Gaps’.  Between Teynham and Bapchild, two options for the 
potential gap are identified.  The option recommended by officers is the larger 
gap as it is more easily identified by physical features (i.e. Dully Road, wood 
Street and Mill Lane (see page 18 of LUC report in appendix v).  At Faversham, 
three specific areas are recommended for designation between Faversham and 
Goodnestone, between Faversham and Oare, and between Faversham and 
Ospringe. 
 

2.17 Members are asked to note the content of this report, contained in appendix v 
that forms part of the evidence base. 
 

2.18 The transport modelling run of the allocated sites is important evidence that is 
now underway following the Member steer of sites for inclusion in the Local Plan 
Review. It is due to be completed in the late spring of this year.  Transport 
modelling work of this nature requires a lead in time of 6 months minimum.  It is 
not ideal to progress with the Local Plan Review without such evidence being 
completed, however, the Government consistently emphasises the importance of 
progressing with the local plan at pace.  The evidence could not be completed 
without knowing what the allocations were likely to be.  There is no particular 
advantage to waiting for this evidence to be completed because earlier transport 
evidence provides sufficient information in high level terms to provide an 
adequate degree of confidence that this final modelling run should support the 
development strategy and site allocations and that they can be delivered. 
 

2.19 In the interim, the Council has been able to make a number of assumptions 
based on this previous modelling work that the development strategy and site 
allocations will be achievable/acceptable in transport terms.  A further layer to this 

Page 9



includes the response to the Council’s climate change emergency declaration and 
Climate Change Action Plan. The Local Plan Review supports significant shifts in 
terms of its transport strategy, moving away from road based solutions and 
encouraging greater active travel and reducing the need to travel overall. It is 
expected that the final transport modelling run will further support this approach 
and will be reported to the Local Plan Panel and Cabinet at a later date with any 
implications in terms of modifications required for the Local Plan Review and how 
this should be addressed. 
 

The ‘weight’ of the Local Plan Review in planning decisions 
 

2.20 As the Local Plan Review process moves forward, the plan will gain more weight 
in development management decisions.  Following pre-submission consultation, 
the Council will submit to the Secretary of State and it will be afforded more 
weight at this point depending on the number and nature of representations made 
to the individual policies and when the Inspector’s report is subsequently received 
after Examination.  Full weight is only given after adoption of the plan, at which 
point it will supersede Bearing Fruits. 
 

Key elements of the Local Plan Review 
 
2.21 There are several components to the Local Plan Review.  The document itself is 

called the Swale Local Plan Review pre-submission version.  Proposed changes 
to the proposals map is contained in one of the document appendices.  The Local 
Plan Review is also accompanied by the Sustainability Appraisal and by a Habitat 
Regulations Assessment.  Other elements include the Transport Strategy Plan 
and the Infrastructure Development Plan.  Both of these are ‘living’ technical 
documents and may evolve somewhat between now and submission to the 
Secretary of State to provide finer grain detail. 
 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
 

2.22 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) establishes what improved or new 
infrastructure and service needs are required to support the level of development 
to be included in the reviewed Swale Local Plan over the plan period (to 2038). It 
is part of the technical evidence base to support the preparation and then 
implementation of the Local Plan, helping to ensure that the identified additional 
infrastructure and service needs are delivered in a timely, co-ordinated, and 
sustainable way. 
 

2.23 The IDP is not intended to be a comprehensive list to capture every infrastructure 
project being planned across the Borough or a ‘shopping list’ for developer 
contributions. It focusses on the types of infrastructure that will be fundamental to 
the delivery of the development strategy and supports the intended levels and 
locations of growth. It does not consider the provision of infrastructure that would 
be part of the normal site development process i.e. water supply or utility 
connections, unless this is a strategic issue having a cumulative impact on a 
number of sites and potentially impacting on when sites could be delivered. 
 

Page 10



2.24 The information in the IDP is based on factual information and the professional 
opinion provided by the relevant infrastructure providers using their own 
assessment methodologies and mitigation assessments. As a technical evidence 
base document, it does not require public consultation although it is part of the 
submission documents and part of the future examination in public. A copy of the 
IDP is contained in appendix ii. 
 
Swale Transport Strategy  
 

2.25 Sitting alongside the Local Plan Review as part of the evidence base, is the 
Swale Transport Strategy. It provides a framework to guide the development of 
transport-based improvements and interventions within the borough for the period 
up to 2038. It supports the growth set out in the Local Plan Review by identifying 
a number of priority schemes and projects, whose implementation will be 
dependent upon the rate of development coming forward, the identification of 
funding and the availability of resources. It is therefore a ‘living’ document which 
can be updated in accordance with changing circumstances. It is a joint document 
with Kent County Council as the Highways Authority. 
 

2.26 The Strategy will form a statement of intent and ambition, seeking to inform 
decision making at a local level to ensure resources are used effectively and 
efficiently. It will demonstrate to the Government that a sound approach to local 
spatial planning and transport planning is being promoted. The heart of the 
strategy is to set out how transport can help deliver a positive vision for Swale by 
delivering transport objectives that contribute strongly to a vision that prioritises a 
sense of place, better access to services, facilities, employment opportunities and 
the wider countryside and an improved quality of life. 
 

2.27 The Swale Transport Strategy will have an important role to play in transforming 
Swale into a more sustainable place which supports its growth. The Strategy’s 
overall vision is to:  

 
Deliver a sustainable transport network in Swale that creates an 
attractive, green and vibrant borough. The transport strategy will enable 
and encourage people to travel sustainably and actively, nurture healthy 
lifestyles, create less polluted places and upgrade the transport network 
to meet the boroughs needs. 

 
The Strategy has six overarching objectives which will meet this aim, these are:  

 
Objective 1 To promote active and sustainable travel enabling residents to 

take up these modes 

Objective 2 To reduce and mitigate the impact of poor air quality related to 

transport 

Objective 3 To improve the journey time reliability across the transport 

network 

Page 11



Objective 4 To support the economic growth and development projected 

in the Local Plan Review 

Objective 5 To consider the needs of all users across the transport 

network  

Objective 6 To substantially reduce all road casualties and progress 

towards zero killed and seriously injured casualties 

 

2.28 Part of the evidence base for the Strategy is the Transport Model. The model has 
been used to forecast the development and traffic growth in the borough from a base 
year (2017). In the ‘Do Something’ scenario, the allocated development can be 
accommodated with a number of mitigations set out in this Strategy. The mitigations 
are needed in order to create a 20% drop in vehicle journeys.  The Transport Model 
is being re-run currently with the chosen housing and employment allocations for the 
LPR and the Transport Strategy may need minimal editing to reflect the results of 
this once complete.  
 

2.29 This Transport Strategy is Swale’s most forward thinking yet and has a much greater 
focus on sustainable and active travel and making them real choices for people so 
that Swale can become a less car dependent place to ensure that travel becomes 
healthier, safer, and more affordable than ever. Appendix iii contains a copy of the 
document. 

 
Sustainability Appraisal 
 

2.30 The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is an integral part of local plan preparation.  It 
provides the evidence to inform, and the framework to develop and test options, 
ultimately helping to deliver a more sustainable strategy.  It is a legal requirement 
and a vital part in demonstrating to the local plan inspector that the plan is sound. 
The focus to date has been on exploring options (‘growth scenarios’), and a report 
exploring the merits of five growth scenarios is available to inform decision-making at 
the current time.  There remains more work to do on appraising the plan as a whole, 
taking account of detailed policy wording, however this work will be completed over 
the next two weeks, such that the SA Report can be published for consultation 
alongside the plan, in line with the legal requirement. Appendix vii contains a copy of 
the draft SA. 
 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 
 

2.31 The need for Habitats Regulations Assessment is part of an EU directive that has 
been interpreted into British law by the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
(Amendment) Regulations 2011.  It requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment to 
undertake an initial ‘screening’ stage followed by an Appropriate Assessment (AA) if 
proposals are likely to have a significant (adverse) impact on internationally 
significant sites, that is, to assess the impact of development proposals on a Special 
Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of Conservation (SAC) or Ramsar site. 

 

Page 12



2.32 The HRA will determine whether or not the proposals have an adverse impact on 
any of the above sites and if there is, will investigate whether or not proposals can 
avoid or mitigate any adverse impacts. A copy is contained in appendix viii. 

 
 
Regulation 19 consultation arrangements 
 
2.33 The pre-submission version of the Local Plan Review is often referred to as the 

Regulation 19 stage.  Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 requires the Council to consult on the pre-
submission version of the plan for a statutory six week period.  Members of the 
public, town and parish councils, statutory consultees and other interested parties 
will be invited to comment on the “soundness” of the document in relation to the 
tests set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.  Guidance on how to 
comment will be provided as part of the package of documents made available. 
Those that respond to the consultation will be required to comment on why they 
consider the part of the plan they are objecting to fails the soundness test.  A full 
plain-English guide will be provided to assist along with a specific proforma.   
 

2.34 Government have amended the regulations to remove the legal requirement to 
make copies of the documents available for inspection and provide hard copies 
on request unless the local planning authority consider it safe to do so.  The 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement states that the Council will do this 
at this stage in the process.  It would be prudent to publish an addendum to the 
Statement of Community Involvement to provide clarity on how the Council 
proposes to ensure those without access to a computer are not disenfranchised 
from the process, noting contributions can only be made in writing if they are to 
be considered by the Planning Inspector. A draft addendum is contained in 
appendix iv. 
 

Next Steps 
 
2.35 Once the recommendations are formally agreed by full Council, the Regulation 19 

stage will commence on Monday 8 February and end on Tuesday 23 March 
2021.   Officers will prepare a summary of the main issues raised through this 
process and report to the Local Plan Panel in the summer along with the final 
transport modelling evidence that will be completed by then.  Depending on the 
volume and nature of the representations received, there may be minor 
modifications to accompany the submission documents to deal with minor issues 
raise in representations.  The summary of the main issues raised is likely to form 
the basis of the issues to be discussed at the examination hearing sessions.  The 
approved Local Development Scheme commits the Council to submitting in 
August 2021.  

 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 There are extensive links between the Local Plan Review and the Corporate 

Strategy.  The Local Plan Review forms a key delivery mechanism for the 

Page 13



Corporate Strategy, promoting and facilitating the development and economic 
growth which is necessary to improve the prosperity of the Borough’s residents. 
 

3.2 It is necessary to move forward with the Local Plan Review to maintain 
momentum and to keep positively planning for the future of the Borough.  The 
reasons for having a Local Plan Review are clear – to make sure that 
development is planned and coordinated across the Borough and to make sure 
that the development that will inevitably happen will be of as high a quality as 
possible. 
 

3.3 Members are asked to note the remaining evidence for the Local Plan Review 
available on the local plan pages of the Council’s website. (Whole Plan Viability 
Assessment and Important Local Countryside Gap Study). 
 

3.4 Members are asked to agree the Local Plan Review document and 
accompanying reports (Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat Regulation 
Assessment) and commend them to full Council for approval for the purposes of 
public consultation and submission to the Secretary of State in accordance with 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

3.5 Members are asked to grant delegated authority to the Planning Policy Manager 
and Head of Planning Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning to agree minor amendments to the documents that are non-material. 

 

4 Alternative Options 
 
4.1 New development is an emotive topic and the Local Plan Review proposes 

development on sites that for some will be unpalatable.  The Council will not be 
able to deliver a ‘sound’ plan without meeting the identified quantum of 
development.  The quantum of development for the Borough is not realistically a 
decision for the Council but a response to the Government’s policy of significantly 
boosting the supply of new homes.  With approximately 60% of the Borough 
falling within land identified by the NPPF as being subject to high level 
constraints, difficult decisions about where the additional development should be 
located has had to be made.  Over the past couple of years, the various options 
for content in the Local Plan Review have been considered. 
 

4.2 Members could choose to reject the documents presented to them.  Other options 
for the Local Plan Review would need to be revisited.  This would delay the 
progress of the Local Plan Review and leave the Council in a vulnerable position 
not just in relation to having an up-to-date local plan but also in ensuring a rolling 
5 year housing land supply.  Members will already be aware of the consequences 
associated with not having a 5 year housing land supply and the application of the 
tilted balance that can lead to planning by appeal. 
 

4.3 The Government are on the cusp of introducing a brand new planning system.  
Whilst much of the detail is yet to be forthcoming, it is highly likely that there will 
be a period of uncertainty as the system transitions.  It is in the Council’s best 
interests to have an up-to-date plan under the current system to provide the 

Page 14



certainty to communities and developers that otherwise might be missing as the 
new system is introduced. 
 

4.4 Alternative options to agreeing the recommendations will result in abortive work, 
additional expense and will cause delays to adopting the Local Plan Review and 
leave the Council in a more vulnerable position regarding future planning 
applications on unallocated sites. 
 
 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 The preparation of a Local Plan is governed by the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  The proposed 
consultation would form a consultation under Regulation 19 of those regulations. 
 

5.2 The draft of the LPR contained in appendix i includes input from both formal and 
informal consultation at Regulation 18 stage (“Looking Ahead” that took place 
during spring 2018 and subsequent engagement with stakeholders such as 
infrastructure providers, Environment Agency, Highways England, KCC and so 
on). 
 

5.3 The Local Plan Panel will meet in advance of this Cabinet meeting (on 19 
January) to discuss the emerging Local Plan Review document, the minutes of 
which will be circulated in advance of this Cabinet meeting. 

 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan The Local Plan Review has been prepared with the aim of 
delivering the spatial aims and objectives of the Corporate Plan.  In 
particular it supports the Council’s corporate priorities of: 
Building the right homes in the right places and supporting quality 
jobs for all (Priority 1) 
Investing in our environment and responding positively to global 
challenges (Priority 2) 
Tackling deprivation and creating equal opportunities for everyone 

(Priority 3) 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The preparation of the local plan is a statutory function of local 
planning authorities and the Local Plan Review has been prepared 
within budget. 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

The preparation of the local plan is a statutory requirement and is 
to be prepared within a legal, regulatory and national policy 
framework. 

All work procured has been undertaken within the Council’s own 
procurement framework. 

Page 15



Crime and 
Disorder 

The Local Plan Review includes policies relating to design that aim 
to reduce crime and disorder. 

Environment and 
Sustainability 

The Local Plan Review seeks to deliver sustainable development 
and has been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal and 

Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

The Local Plan Review includes policies and proposals that seek to 
improve the health and wellbeing of our communities.  This 
includes a strategic policy on health and wellbeing as well as 
policies on related matters such as increasing and improving open 
space etc. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

Risk management of the process has been undertaken as part of 
the Council’s wider risk register and risk management policies, 
procedures and practices. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken and 
presented as part of the suite of supporting documents when the 
plan is submitted to the Secretary of State.  The need to address 
equality and diversity in the Local Plan Review has been a main 
consideration throughout its development. 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

Local Plan Review preparation (including preparation of evidence) 
has complied with privacy and data protection laws and regulations 
as required. 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

• Appendix i: Swale Local Plan Review: Pre-submission consultation draft 

• Appendix ii: Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

• Appendix iii: Transport Strategy 

• Appendix iv: Addendum to the Statement of Community Involvement 

• Appendix v: Locally Important Countryside Gaps Study 

• Appendix vi: Whole Plan Viability Assessment (draft) 

• Appendix vii: Sustainability Appraisal 

• Appendix viii: Habitat Regulations Assessment 
 

8 Background Papers 
 
 None 
 

Page 16



  Local Plan Review 2021

Pre-Submission Document
(Regulation 19)

Page 17



Page 18



The Swale Local Plan Review (Regulation 19)

11 Introduction

32 Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives

82.1 (Section to remove)

82.2 Development strategy

113 Local Plan strategy for Swale

113.1 Explaining the development strategy for Swale

133.2 The Key Diagram

144 Strategic Policies

144.1 Introduction

144.2 Quantum of new housing land

154.3 Quantum of new employment land

575 Land allocations for new development

575.1 Introduction

575.2 Existing committed strategic allocations

585.3 Existing committed housing allocations

615.4 Existing committed employment allocations

675.5 Proposed strategic, mixed use allocations and areas of opportunity

875.6 Proposed housing allocations

895.7 Proposed employment allocations

925.8 Proposed regeneration areas

1086 Neighbourhood plans

1117 Development management policies

2358 Implementation and monitoring arrangements

2379 Glossary of terms

23810 Appendices

23910.1 Monitoring Framework

25210.2 Recommended changes to the proposals map

Policy Index

18Policy ST 1 Development needs for the Borough
19Policy ST 2 Swale Settlement Strategy

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

Contents

Page 19



20Policy ST 3 Delivering sustainable development in Swale
28Policy ST 4 Building a strong, competitive economy
31Policy ST 5 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
34Policy ST 6 Good design
36Policy ST 7 Health and Wellbeing
39Policy ST 8 Planning for Infrastructure
43Policy ST 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport and Active Travel
50Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
55Policy ST 11 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
57Policy A 1 Saved Housing Allocations
60Policy A 2 Kent Science Park
61Policy A 3a Ridham and Kemsley, Sittingbourne
62Policy A 3b Neatscourt, Queenborough, Isle of Sheppey
63Policy A 3c Land South of Kemsley Mill
64Policy A 3d Land at West Minster, Sheerness
65Policy A 3e Land at Cowstead Corner, Queenborough
65Policy A 3f Land at Selling Road, Faversham
66Policy A 3g Land at Graveney Road, east of Faversham
73Policy MU 1 East of Faversham Expansion
86Policy AO 1 Teynham Area of Opportunity
88Policy A 4 Land at Neames Forstal, Selling
92Policy A 5 Lamberhurst Farm, Yorkletts
93Policy Regen 1 The Port of Sheerness Regeneration Area
97Policy Regen 2 Sittingbourne Town Centre
104Policy Regen 3A Policy REGEN 3(a) - Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area
106Policy Regen 3B Rushenden South Area
110Policy NP 1 Faversham Creek Neighbourhood Plan
111Policy DM 1 General development criteria
112Policy DM 2 Achieving Good Design

126
Policy DM 3Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and construction

132Policy DM 4 Sustainable energy production, distribution and storage
134Policy DM 5 Proposals for Main Town Center Uses
136Policy DM 6 Shopfronts, signs and advertisements
138Policy DM 7 Loss of employment floorspace and land
141Policy DM 8 The rural economy
143Policy DM 9 New holiday parks or extensions to existing parks
151Policy DM 10 Managing transport demand and impact
153Policy DM 11 Vehicle Parking
154Policy DM 12 Rural Lanes
155Policy DM 13 Broadband Infrastructure Provision
157Policy DM 14 Small and medium sites for housing development
158Policy DM 15 Affordable Housing
160Policy DM 16 Rural exception housing
161Policy DM 17 Open space, sports and recreation provision
163Policy DM 18 Park homes
164Policy DM 19 Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation
166Policy DM 20 Dwellings for rural workers

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

Contents

Page 20



167Policy DM 21 Extensions to, and the replacement of, dwellings in the countryside
167Policy DM 22 Alterations and extensions
168Policy DM 23 Extending the garden of a dwelling in the countryside
174Policy DM 24 Biodiversity and geodiversity conservation and biodiversity net gain
180Policy DM 25 Conserving and enhancing valued landscapes
182Policy DM 26 Kent Downs AONB strategy
186Policy DM 27 The separation of settlements - Important Local Countryside Gaps
187Policy DM 28 Local Green Spaces
193Policy DM 29 Woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows
196Policy DM 30 Agricultural land
200Policy DM 31 The Coast
202Policy DM 32 Coastal change management
207Policy DM 33 Air Quality
210Policy DM 34 Pollution and Land Instability
214Policy DM 35 Water Quality and Water Resources
218Policy DM 36 Flood Risk
221Policy DM 37 Sustainable Drainage
223Policy DM 38 Development Involving Listed Buildings
225Policy DM 39 Development affecting a conservation area
228Policy DM 40 Historic landscapes including parks and gardens
229Policy DM 41 Area of high townscape value
231Policy DM 42 Development affecting a locally listed heritage asset
234Policy DM 43 Archaeological Heritage
234Policy DM 44 The keeping and grazing of horses

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

Contents

Page 21



The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

Contents

Page 22



1 Introduction
What is a local plan?

1.0.1 The Local Plan is the document that contains the policies for how the borough will change over the
period up to 2037/38, which is the end date of the plan. It identifies the amount of development that will
take place, the areas and sites where development is expected to be accommodated and where it will be
restricted. It sets out policies for how planning applications will be decided.

1.0.2 Once adopted, the plan will form part of the ‘development plan’ for the borough. This means that
legally, it will be the main consideration in deciding planning applications in Swale.

1.0.3 The local plan review will replace the existing local plan, Bearing Fruits and will roll forward
unimplemented development land allocations that are essential to meet the development needs of the
borough for the plan period. This will mean that the Council’s development plan will consist of the Local
Plan Review that will supersede and replace Bearing Fruits. Kent County Council Minerals and Waste
Local Plan will continue to provide the policy framework for waste and minerals and all SPDs will roll forward
as they relate to the ‘parent’ policy in this plan once approved. Along with the Faversham Creek
Neighbourhood Plan, any further neighbourhood plans prepared by town and parish councils will also make
up the “statutory development plan” and will have important status in determining future planning applications
in the area.

Why is the local plan being reviewed?

1.0.4 The adopted local plan, Bearing Fruits has a plan period of 2014 to 2031. It is a requirement for
local plans to be reviewed every five years and for local plans to have a lifespan of 15 years from adoption.
This review covers the period 2022 to 2038.

1.0.5 Swale Borough Council is reviewing its adopted local plan to:

deliver the spatial objectives of the Swale Borough corporate strategy that better reflects Council
objectives including responding to the Council’s Climate and Ecological Emergency and subsequent
Action Plan;
reflect changes to national planning policy and guidance, particularly the new National Planning Policy
Framework introduced in February 2019 and the requirement to review local plans every 5 years;
extend the plan period to 2038 in order to ensure that there will a 15 year time horizon from adoption
for strategic policies as recommended in the NPPF in order to anticipate and respond to long term
requirements and opportunities, such as those arising from major improvements in infrastructure;
provide for additional new housing, employment and other development that will be required to meet
future needs over the extended plan period as required by the government.

How are local plans prepared?

1.0.6 Local plan preparation follows a process set out by government. Local plans must be informed by
evidence and engagement with communities to identify the issues and potential options for addressing
them. The evidence base for this Local Plan Review is set out in appendix i. It also includes other
documents, strategies and plans that have influenced the content of this review but is not an exhaustive
list. The Council undertook consultation in the spring of 2018 with the ‘Looking Ahead’ document. The
main issues raised have informed this document, influencing how and where the Borough’s development
needs should be met and helped to identify priorities for our communities such as delivering affordable
housing and responding to climate change.

How to use this document

1.0.7 It is important that this document is read as a whole. Whilst there might, for example be a policy
dealing with a specific type of development or site, other policies in the plan may also be relevant, for
instance around amenity or design.

1The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

1Introduction

Page 23



What are we consulting on in this document?

1.0.8 This document is the pre-submission draft of the Local Plan Review, sometimes referred to as the
‘Regulation 19 plan’. This consultation seeks representations as to legal compliance and soundness of
the Local Plan only. It sets out the strategic vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the Borough, as well
as the planning policies that will guide future development. Once the consultation period for this document
ends, the Council will submit the document to the Secretary of State for examination along with all of the
representations received. The Secretary of State will appoint an independent planning inspector who will
assess this plan for its ‘soundness’. The tests of soundness are set out in paragraph 35 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Plans are sound if they are:

Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum seeks to meet the area’s objectively
assessed needs, and is informed by agreements with other authorities, so that unmet need from
neighbouring authorities is accommodated where it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving
sustainable development;
Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, and based on
proportionate evidence;
Effective - deliverable over the plan period and based on effective joint working on cross-boundary
strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of
common ground; and
Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable development in accordance with
the policies in the NPPF.

How and when to make comments

1.0.9 Any comments on the content of this document will need to be made in writing and submitted to
the Council within the statutory six week consultation period. It is advisable to consider the guidance notes
for responding to this consultation that accompanies this document because all representations mademust
be based on whether the Plan is considered to be “Sound” and/or Legal Compliant. Representations must
therefore be submitted on the Representation Form which is available on the Council’s website.

Next steps

1.0.10 The comments received will be summarised and provided to the planning inspector under Regulation
22 of the Local Plan Regulations along with the submission version of the Local Plan Review and
accompanying documents.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 20212

Introduction1

Page 24



2 Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives
Introduction

2.0.1 The NPPF requires local plan policies to set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and quality
of development in their borough to address the Borough’s priorities for the development and use of land.

2.0.2 The strategy for a local plan has several influences. These are summarised in the figure below.

Picture 2.0.1

3The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

2Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives

Page 25



2.0.3 The table below highlights some of the key characteristics of the borough.

144.2 square milesArea

North KentStrategic location

Bordered by: Medway Council (west), Maidstone Borough (south),
Ashford Borough (south east) and Canterbury (east).

Strong transportation links east/west along the M2 and A2 and for rail
services between London and Canterbury/the coast including High
Speed services. North/south links via A249 and A251 are weaker.

Transportation links

Total: 148,500 (mid-2018 estimates)Population

Split: 49.5 Male; 50.5 female

Average age: 40.5 years

Aged 0-14: 28,300 – 19.1%

Aged 15-64: 91,700 – 61.7%

Aged 65+: 28,400 – 19.2%

Most of the borough is rural in character.Urban/Rural spilt

Largest rural settlements are Boughton, Teynham, Newington, Iwade,
Eastchurch and Leysdown

Principal town: Sittingbourne

Other towns: Faversham and Sheerness

Ramsar: Medway Estuary; Swale Estuary and MarshesAssets and constraints

Special Areas of Conservation: QueendownWarren; The Blean complex

Special Protection Area: Swale SPA; Medway Estuary and Marshes
SPA; Outer Thames Estuary SPA

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs): The Swale; Medway Estuary
andMarshes; Sheppey Cliffs and Foreshore; ChurchWoods; Ellendedn
Wood; Queendown Warren; Purple Hill

Marine conservation zone (MCZ): Swale Estuary; Medway Estuary

Listed buildings: 1,440

Conservation areas: 50

Scheduled monuments: 22

Historic Parks and Gardens:4

The Swale Local Plan Review February 20214

Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives2

Page 26



The Medway Estuary; The Swale, Milton Creek, Conyer Creek, Oare
Creek, Faversham Creek

Rivers and waterways

Total: ??(date source date)Dwelling stock

Private sector:

Private registered provider:

Other public sector:

Local authority: 0

Table 2.0.1

2.0.4 Preparing a local plan review provides an opportunity to address key challenges facing the Borough,
shown by the evidence and by the Corporate Plan and other Council documents such as the Council’s
Climate and Ecological Emergency declaration and Action Plan. Indeed, the Local Plan Review plays a
fundamental role in how the Council and the Borough can respond to mitigating the effects of climate
change, helping deliver the objective of a carbon zero borough by 2030.

2.0.5 The key challenges addressed by this Local Plan Review are:

How to deliver a carbon zero borough by 2030
How to meet the varied housing needs of the growing population in the right places
How to support the needs of the local economy so that it can continue to be competitive and create
quality local jobs
How to deliver the infrastructure requirements needed to support growth and create high qualities
places
How to deliver sustainable growth while protecting and enhancing our historic and natural assets
How to manage change in our town centres so that they remain vital, competitive and attractive places
to meet, live, work and enjoy
How to embed sustainable and active travel options and behaviour into our existing and new
developments to improve air quality, reduce traffic accidents, reduce congestion and improve the
health and wellbeing of residents

Responding to the Climate and Ecological Emergency declaration, 2019

2.0.6 The National Planning Policy Framework sets out that ‘plans should take a proactive approach to
mitigating and adapting to climate change’ in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008, which
itself was updated in 2019 with a net zero carbon by 2050 emissions target. Local planning authorities are
bound by the legal duty set out in Section 19 of the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (as
amended by the 2008 Planning Act) to ensure that, taken as a whole, local plan policies contribute to
mitigation and adaptation to climate change.

2.0.7 Swale Borough Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in 2019 (with a borough
wide net zero by 2030 target) and in response to this developed a ‘living’ Action Plan in 2020.
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s16228/Climate%20Appendix%20I%20Annual%20Report.pdf

2.0.8 The 2021 Progress Report, examines the baseline energy consumption and emissions and references
research from the Tyndall Centre which has determined that for Swale to reach net zero by 2050 would
require annual emissions reduction across the borough of between 13 and 25% annually.

2.0.9 The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy releases figures forCO2 emissions
for all local authorities. These demonstrate, that due to the nature of business in Swale, Swale has higher
energy consumption and carbon emissions from the commercial and industrial sectors that other Kent

5The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

2Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives

Page 27



districts. BEIS sets out that in 2018 16% of emissions came from domestic properties, 30% from transport
and 54% from industrial and commercial emissions. Whilst emissions are falling, for example, between
2017 and 2018 total carbon emissions fell by 1.93% this falls far short of the 13-25% annual reduction
required.

2.0.10 The Local Plan Review, taken as a whole, seeks to contribute to mitigating and adapting to climate
change. The strategy itself seeks to maximise the use of brownfield land, particularly in Sittingbourne Town
Centre and focuses new development at sites accessible to railway stations at Queenborough/Rushenden,
Sittingbourne, Teynham, Faversham and Neames Forstal on sites that are safe from flood risk and where
active travel and climate change adaptation can be progressed. A suite of strategic and development
management policies including those on transport, health, the natural environment, water, flooding and
sustainable design and construction aim to mitigate and adapt to climate change and enable Swale to play
its part in rising to the climate challenge.

2.0.11 The Local Plan Review is limited in its influence over important contributions to emissions, in
particular those from industrial emissions and existing development. However, within the sphere of its
control it seeks to radically reduce emissions to zero carbon by 2030 from new domestic and commercial
buildings (see DM 3 and DM 4) and to turn around the reliance the Borough has traditionally had on fossil
fuel-based on-road transport.

2.0.12 To reach the government’s net zero by 2050 target will be a challenge and will need leadership
from government and support from individuals and the private sector. To reach the Borough’s net zero by
2030 target will be even more difficult. However, the Local Plan Review’s contribution is clear and progress
will be monitored as part of the Local Plan Review, assessed within the Climate and Ecological Emergency
Progress reporting process and open to public scrutiny.

Our rich, extensive ecological and landscape interests and the need to maintain their protection

2.0.13 The Borough’s outstanding environment is influences by its geology, soils, topography, history
and biodiversity. There are three broad landscape types – the chalk of the Downs, the central agricultural
plain and the clay marshes of the Thames Estuary. The chalk grasslands, fields, valleys and woodlands
of the North Downs, comprising part of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty dominates the
southern reaches of the Borough. Its slopes and valleys fall coastward, criss-crossed by narrow and
sometimes sunken lanes. Beyond the chalk are the rich agricultural soils on the plains around Watling
Street, the Roman road now the A2. Here are some of the most productive soils in the country. London
clay underlies the northern and coastal boundaries of the Borough. At 111 km, the coast has a major
influence on landscape and wildlife. Around the Swale and Medway, extending inland to the edges of the
three main towns, is a continuous belt of marsh is prone to tidal flooding; its mudflats, grazing and salt
marshes cut by ditches, dykes, inlets and creeks. These watercourses and marshes provide important
ecological habitats, in particular for wintering and passage birds.

2.0.14 Historically, the settlement pattern and growth has been heavily influenced and shaped by the
Borough’s environmental assets. This approach continues to drive the emerging development strategy.
Not only does the development strategy seek to avoid development at these areas but also to consider the
recreational disturbances on the Medway and Swale Estuary and Marshes site that is designated at
international level for its landscape and ecology. We need to manage recreational pressures on
internationally important habitats and are working with North Kent districts to ensure that indirect impacts
upon estuarine habitats can be compensated through habitat creation/management and the implementation
of the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy that enables developer contributions to be
levied to implement it. For more info see https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/

2.0.15 Conserving and enhancing our outstanding natural environment is at the heart of our strategy as
Swale is recognised for the quality of its estuaries, woodlands, valleys and downlands. To achieve
enhancements overall, this means protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geology and soils and
co-ordinated working to secure coherent ecological networks and a reversal in declines in the quality and

The Swale Local Plan Review February 20216

Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives2

Page 28

https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/


diversity of the environment. On a wider level, our strategy also recognises the value of ecosystems for
the support they give to society, such as for food, water, flood, disease control, recreation and health and
well-being.

2.0.16 Achieving a net-gain in biodiversity and development will play a crucial part of our strategy, from
avoiding important habitats to integrating and enhancing biodiversity in landscaping and open spaces,
through to the design of the streets and buildings themselves.

A dynamic and competitive economic sector

2.0.17 Only 50 miles from central London, with good transport links, including the High Speed Rail Link
and easy road access to the motorway network, international rail services and ports Swale has a strong
and diverse economy. The current local plan, Bearing Fruits already provides sufficient sites to meet
employment needs within the short to medium term and additional sites at Faversham and at Lamberhurst
Farm will contribute to meet further needs. Mixed-use developments on strategic sites are expected to
deliver 1 to1 provision of homes to jobs and amore flexible approach to the redevelopment and intensification
of existing strategic employment sites is proposed by the emerging strategy. Greater flexibility at the town
centres will also provide opportunity for a range of businesses and employment opportunities and support
town centre vitality and viability in response to difficulties presented by the coronavirus pandemic and
general shifts in shopping patterns.

2.0.18 Our strategy focuses on creating a strong supply of employment land and improving the quality
of our economic offer. It will enable the Borough to branch out into currently under-represented sectors,
increase the number of higher growth/value businesses and ensure that it retains and develops existing
strengths and foster indigenous growth. In order to meet new floorspace needs, we will provide a range
and choice of sites to both serve different locations and the needs of differing sectors. We will be flexible,
accommodating unexpected opportunities and allowing for the upgrading and renewal of existing older
sites. Swale’s manufacturing sector is strong and our strategy will seek to stabilise the sector and support
the emergence of more niche and advanced manufacturing activities.

2.0.19 Tourism is a major contributor to the local economy and there will be an emphasis on proposals
that successfully integrate land based industries with the Borough’s heritage offers and the landscapes of
the North Kent marshes, the Blean, the Kent Downs and the horticultural belt.

2.0.20 Our strategy anticipates growth in agriculture and horticulture and for this, and the wider rural
economy, we will respond positively to the new opportunities for diversification and improved resilience for
food production, as well as activities in other rural sectors, including growth in community based jobs and
services, where they can be successfully integrated within their locality.

2.0.21 Improving school performance will bring improved skills into the local workforce, but this more
mobile workforce will need to be able to work and/or set up businesses locally by providing flexible planning
policies that support a greater choice of opportunity. It also remains important to tackle entrenched skill
deficiencies so that all can benefit from growth. We will support a better range of opportunities for local
people to improve their education and skills, endeavour to secure a further education facility within the
Borough, and promote closer links between learning and employment opportunities.

2.0.22 The Council’s vision for the Local Plan Review sets out what it intends to achieve for the borough
through new development and is as follows:

2.0.23 Generally, new development would come forward to meet local needs and have contributed to
supporting low carbon/zero carbon and renewable energy initiatives, enhance the natural environment
through biodiversity net gain, ensuring quality design and place making capitalising on the borough’s
extensive natural and heritage assets.

7The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

2Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives

Page 29



2.0.24 At Sittingbourne, a re-focussed town centre aimed at securing a vital and viable retail heart
supported by leisure and dinning opportunities, whilst enabling new high density residential and community
activity. This has been achieved by wider regeneration, public realm improvements, and reconfigured and
improved transport connections at and around the town.

2.0.25 At Faversham, a thriving market town and heritage designation that has successfully managed
21st century demands. It has been achieved by enabling sympathetic and symbiotic growth whilst reducing
congestion and air quality issues along the A2.

2.0.26 At Sheerness, Minster and Queenborough, the promotion of coastal and port rejuvenation making
most use of its heritage assets whilst supporting the needs of the local communities.

2.0.27 At our rural and maritime communities, enable development to maintain and improve local services
to cater for the local daily needs of its residents and to support vibrant communities whilst maintaining the
quality of the local countryside environments in which they are set and protecting their heritage.

Strategic objectives

2.0.28 Strategic objectives seek to guide the location of development and shape it through strategic
policies. Taking account of the influences on the Review and the key challenges facing the borough and
its communities, a set of objectives have been defined to set the framework for the detailed policies that
follow. These are shaped by local evidence, government policy and Council priorities and are to:

1. provide for homes and jobs that are best suited to meet identified local needs
2. support and sustain communities across the borough, big and small, by planning to meet identified

needs, including needs for community facilities and infrastructure;
3. protect and manage our resources to address climate change through delivering sustainable growth

that supports urban and rural economies and makes the best use of infrastructure
4. locate development in the least constrained parts of the borough in reasonable proximity to transport

hubs
5. provide a mixed portfolio and locations of sites, big and small to meet a range of needs throughout

the duration of the plan period up to 2038
6. deliver a level of investment and growth at key locations to facilitate significant improvements to support

infrastructure e.g. schools, healthcare and highways and active travel options for the benefit of local
communities

7. focus development on the contribution that larger sites can deliver in a proportionate way to meet
wider plan objectives and ensure delivery in the plan period.

2.0.29 The borough’s identified development needs will first be met on brownfield sites in sustainable
locations/within settlement confines and on land at low risk of flooding within existing settlements and on
land with the least environmental or amenity value. However, the quantum of development needed for the
plan period cannot be met in its entirety on sites that meet this criteria. It has, therefore been necessary
to identify additional sites that can deliver sustainable development along with wider benefits that achieve
the plan’s objectives and guiding principles (golden threads).

2.1 (Section to remove)

2.2 Development strategy

The development strategy for Swale

2.2.1 The Local plan review needs to contain an overall strategy for the pattern and scale of development
and make sufficient provision for the future growth needs of the Borough for the plan period (2022 - 2038).

2.2.2 In terms of broad principles to guide the location of development, the following objectives reflect
local evidence, government policy and Council priorities:

The Swale Local Plan Review February 20218

Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives2

Page 30



To provide for homes and jobs that are best suited to meet identified local needs; focussing
opportunities
To support and sustain communities across the borough, big and small, by planning to meet identified
needs, including needs for community facilities and infrastructure;
To protect and manage our resources to address climate change through delivering sustainable growth
that supports urban and rural economies and makes the best use of infrastructure.
To locate development in the least constrained parts of the borough in reasonable proximity to transport
hubs
To provide a mixed portfolio and locations of sites, big and small to meet a range of needs throughout
the duration of the plan period up to 2038
To deliver a level of investment and growth at key locations to facilitate significant improvements to
support infrastructure e.g. schools, healthcare and highways and active travel options for the benefit
of local communities
To focus development on the contribution that larger potential sites could deliver in a proportionate
way to meet wider plan objectives and ensure delivery in the plan period.

2.2.3 Sitting behind these objectives are a number of key principles that underpin the development
strategy. The borough’s identified development needs should be met:

On brownfield sites in sustainable locations/within the settlement confines;
On land at low risk of flooding within existing settlements; and
On land with the least environmental or amenity value.

2.2.4 The quantum of new development needed to meet the identified needs for the plan period cannot
be met in its entirety on sites that meet the above criteria. It has, therefore, been necessary to identify
additional sites that can deliver sustainable development along with wider benefits that achieve the plan’s
objectives and guiding principles.

2.2.5 The development strategy for this Local Plan Review must be considered within the context of the
strategy and proposals set out in Bearing Fruits. This development strategy seeks to partner with the
approach in BF to deliver a range of complementary sites that meet development needs whilst respecting
what the market and infrastructure providers can deliver during the various stages of the plan period.

2.2.6 For Bearing Fruits (and the 2008 plan), Sittingbourne (as the Borough’s principal town) and the Isle
of Sheppey were part of the broader Thames Gateway growth area and were the focus for development.
Significant amounts of development have been forthcoming in these locations but much of it is constrained
by issues around highway capacity, air quality and high level constraints such as land at high risk of flooding
or sites of international and national biodiversity significance. Organic growth of Sittingbourne along the
lines of ‘business as usual’ represents significant challenges in terms of the impacts on infrastructure and
would encroach further into land that plays an important role in maintaining a settlement gap between
villages, much of which is significant for its local landscape value.

2.2.7 Viability in and around Sittingbourne and Sheppey has historically impacted upon housing delivery
rates. Additionally, much of the planned development at Sittingbourne allocated in Bearing Fruits has been
impacted by capacity issues at junction 5 of the M2. Completion of the improvements are scheduled to be
completed in ????? Until such time as the improvements are completed, delivery is constrained by Grampion
conditions that limits the number of dwellings that can be built/occupied on these sites until such time as
the improvements are completed.

2.2.8 It would be difficult to deliver additional dwellings in and around Sittingbourne as existing allocations
are completed, not least because this would further impact on viability that has historically been finely
balanced.

2.2.9 Faversham, the borough’s secondary town has seen much lower levels of planned growth,
historically. It is a historic market town that is also constrained, particularly to the north, west and south
west by high level biodiversity designations, land at high risk of flooding, heritage assets and landscape

9The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

2Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives

Page 31



designations. Along with the wider rural areas, viability is strong but there are concerns around affordability
of housing, infrastructure capacity and local job opportunities. To support infrastructure investment and
improve affordability, Faversham is a key focus for mixed use allocations

2.2.10 The initial consultation on the local plan review in ‘Looking Ahead’ included a set of principles to
guide decision-making on which opportunities should be considered in more detail and sought views on
where future development should be located. This has been reflected in the strategy…

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202110

Our vision, challenges and strategic objectives2

Page 32



3 Local Plan strategy for Swale
3.0.1 Officer to add content here....

3.1 Explaining the development strategy for Swale

3.1.1 Explaining the development strategy

3.1.2 The development strategy for this Local Plan Review must be considered within the context of the
strategy and proposals set out in Bearing Fruits. This development strategy seeks to partner with the
approach in BF to deliver a range of complementary sites that meet development needs whilst respecting
what the market and infrastructure providers can deliver during the various stages of the plan period.

3.1.3 For Bearing Fruits (and the 2008 plan), Sittingbourne (as the Borough’s principal town) and the Isle
of Sheppey were part of the broader Thames Gateway growth area and were the focus for development.
Significant amounts of development have been forthcoming in these locations but much of it is constrained
by issues around highway capacity, air quality and high level constraints such as land at high risk of flooding
or sites of international and national biodiversity significance. Further extended growth beyond the current
confines of Sittingbourne along the lines of ‘business as usual’, represents significant challenges in terms
of the impacts on infrastructure and would encroach further into land that plays an important role in
maintaining a settlement gap between villages, much of which is significant for its local landscape value.

3.1.4 Viability in and around Sittingbourne and Sheppey has historically impacted upon housing delivery
rates. Additionally, much of the planned development at Sittingbourne allocated in Bearing Fruits has been
impacted by capacity issues at junction 5 of the M2. Completion of the improvements are scheduled to be
finished in 2023. Until such time as the improvements are completed, delivery is constrained by Grampian
conditions that limits the number of dwellings that can be built/occupied on these sites.

3.1.5 It would be difficult to deliver additional dwellings in and around Sittingbourne as existing allocations
are completed, not least because this would further impact on viability that has historically been finely
balanced. Sittingbourne town itself contains a significant amount of development opportunities for
redevelopment and this regeneration is a major element of the emerging development strategy. This
approach makes the best use of brownfield land and provides opportunities to support the commercial core
of the town in light of responding to the impacts of the coronavirus pandemic.

3.1.6 Under Bearing Fruits and the 2008 local plan, significant development has been allocated in the
west of the Isle of Sheppey through the strategic sites at Thistle Hill and Barton Hill Drive. Lower Road is
at capacity in transport terms and any further development that results in additional traffic movement on
this road cannot be supported without major investment. Other opportunities exist on the Isle of Sheppey
at Sheerness where small scale ad hoc redevelopment in and around the town centre is expected to deliver
around 200 additional dwellings over the life of the plan. Redevelopment opportunities exist in and around
Queenborough and Rushenden where Homes England have facilitated remedial works to get sites identified
in the Q&R Masterplan ready to be developed. The emerging strategy supports the expansion of the
opportunities at Rushenden for further redevelopment that will deliver a landscape-led mixed use scheme
in a part of the borough where the investment will have a meaningful positive impact and deliver much
needed community infrastructure and open space including a contribution to the national coastal path.

3.1.7 Faversham, the borough’s secondary town has seenmuch lower levels of planned growth, historically.
It is a historic market town that is also constrained, particularly to the north, west and south west by high
level biodiversity designations, land at high risk of flooding, heritage assets and landscape designations.
Along with the wider rural areas, viability is strong but there are concerns around affordability of housing,
infrastructure capacity and local job opportunities. To support infrastructure investment and improve
affordability, Faversham is a key focus for new mixed use allocations in the emerging strategy. The
opportunity for an urban extension to the south east and east provides development of a scale that will

11The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

3Local Plan strategy for Swale

Page 33



deliver infrastructure to support both new and existing communities. Faversham Neighbourhood Planning
Group are preparing a new neighbourhood plan that will identify further development sites and support
connections that integrate the town and the new development.

3.1.8 Swale includes a number of vibrant rural communities, many of which offer a broad range of shops
and services that meet many of the day-to-day needs but residents still need to travel to access the full
range of services needed, for example, employment and education. Teynham is one such settlements that
enjoy a broad range of shops and services and also has a train station, thereby providing travel alternatives
to the private car. The land immediately to the west, south and east is free from high level constraints and
is not covered by any local landscape designations. Teynham is also relatively close to Sittingbourne and
can easily access the broader range of shops and services located here. The A2 runs through the centre
of Teynham and there is an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) to the eastern edge of the village.
Development in this location would create an opportunity to provide a link road to the south that could divert
through-traffic away from the village centre. Further community infrastructure, employment provision and
open space would be some of the benefits that would be delivered by strategic development in this location.
However, development here will need to given further consideration including significant master planning
and community engagement and it is therefore identified as an ‘Area of Opportunity’ to bring forward
development in the middle to later years of the plan.

3.1.9 Small scale development in other rural locations might be acceptable but the general quantum of
development needed to deliver additional infrastructure could be so large it would impact on the character
of the settlement and could exacerbate existing infrastructure capacity issues in the short to medium term.
With this in mind, small scale development has been allocated at Neames Forstal, Selling. Whilst this
settlement does not afford as broad a range of shops and services as the larger rural communities, it has
a train station thereby providing a genuine alternative to the private car. This small scale development will
support the provision of an off road safe pedestrian/cycle route to nearby Selling village and a community
orchard.

3.1.10 Further development on unallocated sites will be supported where the application of the Council’s
Small Sites policy and/or Park Homes policy.

3.1.11 Key Diagram

3.1.12 Our Key Diagram provides the spatial representation of our vision and the development strategy
as set out above. It shows the priority areas for development, conservation and enhancement and
infrastructure.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202112

Local Plan strategy for Swale3

Page 34



3.
2
Th

e
K
ey

D
ia
gr
am

P
ic
tu
re
3.
2.
1

13The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

3Local Plan strategy for Swale

Page 35



4 Strategic Policies

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 The NPPF requires local plan to provide the framework for setting out the scale of development
required during the plan period.

4.1.2 This includes the need for new homes and for employment land to provide the jobs needed to
support sustainable communities. Schools, medical facilities, shops, leisure facilities and open space are
some of the other development needs that are to be planned for through this Local Plan Review.

4.1.3 The Council accepts that meeting the local housing need in full with a housing target of 16,608 for
the period of the Local Plan Review is a Government imposed requirement that has to be pursued in the
interests of meeting the Government's estimated future housing and economic needs of the Borough. Within
this overall figure, the Council will also meet its needs for Gypsy and Traveller pitches and for a Travelling
Show people plot.

4.1.4 The relationship between the level of homes and jobs is an important one for the achievement of
sustainable development. This has been ensured via the parallel economic and demographic work
undertaken for the housing and employment evidence which has assessed the level of jobs growth needed.
Community infrastructure needs are planned for through the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).

4.1.5 The Swale Employment Land Review (ELR) 2018 concludes that the employment land needs for
the period 2016 to 2036 is for an additional 15ha of office space. A further 41ha of industrial and warehouse
land is required. However, 26ha of the additional 41ha can be considered in the longer terms, as it is a
margin, and would only be needed to replace windfall losses over which there is considerable uncertainty
due to recent permitted development rights (PDR) changes.

4.1.6 Strategic policies set out how development will be managed across the Borough. These policies
are applicable, in the majority of cases, borough-wide. In decision-taking on planning applications, these
strategic policies will be used alongside relevant site specific policies and local requirements. The policies are
applicable to allocations set out in this Plan as well as other development proposals that may come forward
during the plan-period.

4.2 Quantum of new housing land

4.2.1 The Borough’s Local Housing Need for 2022 to 2038 (the timeframe for this plan) has been informed
by a local housing needs assessment, conducted using the standard method in national guidance. The
need of 1,038 dwellings per annum represents an increase of 33.8% compared with the current local plan,
Bearing Fruits that has an objectively assessed need of 776 dwellings per annum for 2014 – 2031. The
Local Plan Review is therefore seeking to allocate additional sites to accommodate the uplift in numbers
for the period 2022 to 2038. The figure for additional dwellings needed for this period is calculated as
follows:

Bearing Fruits

(2014 to 2021) 776 per annum; 8 x 776 = 6,208

plus

Local Plan Review

(2022 - 2038) 1038 per annum 16 x 1,038 = 16,606

Total need for based on OAN/standard method calculation (2014 - 2038) = 22,814

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202114

Strategic Policies4

Page 36



Less existing supply of 14,966*

Total additional allocations required is 7,850 (without any windfall allowance)

Less a windfall allowance of 130 dwellings per year for the last 12 years of the plan period (1,560)

Total number of new dwellings needed in the Local Plan Review - 6,290

Table 4.2.1

4.2.2 *As at 31 December 2020.

4.3 Quantum of new employment land

4.3.1 Quantum of New Employment Land

4.3.2 Our strategy focuses on creating a strong supply of employment land to meet the identified need,
and improving the quality of our economic offer to create a better business image and a more diverse
economic base. It will enable the borough to branch out into under-represented sectors, increase the number
of higher growth/value businesses and ensure that it retains and develops existing strengths and foster
indigenous growth. In order to meet new floorspace needs, we will provide a range and choice of sites in
areas of demand to meet the needs of differing sectors. We will be flexible, and plan positively to
accommodate unexpected opportunities and allowing for the upgrading and renewal of our existing, older
sites.

4.3.3 Our strategy has seen some growth in the out of town retail sector and we remain confident over
the delivery of emerging retail schemes in central Sittingbourne. Manufacturing has declined, but relative
to Kent and the UK, the sector is strong and our strategy will seek to stabilise this sector and support the
emergence of more niche and advanced manufacturing activities. In recent years, the Borough has attracted
new distribution and logistics businesses and jobs.

Picture 4.3.1 Modern, start-up units

4.3.4 We will continue to promote our strengths in
industrial employment, helped by maintaining and
enhancing a supply of well-located land and buildings,
including those suitable for larger scale distribution.
We will be focusing on continued growth from our
indigenous (economic land uses) base and have
identified sites to capitalise on this potential. Overall,
our land bank will be flexible and has sufficient margin
to grasp unexpected opportunities, such as those that
reinforce the Borough's role as a recognised
distribution hub.

4.3.5 The needs of the office sector cannot be met
easily within the existing land supply. Our strategy for
office is supportive of its expansion, especially for
central Sittingbourne, around the A249 and at
Faversham. Some 55% of the Borough's workforce

commute for jobs outside Swale, and while generally the distances travelled are modest we will also
encourage employment sectors attractive to those commuting , including those in key sectors such as
finance, information and communications and science based activities.

4.3.6 Tourism is a major contributor to the local economy and we will capitalise on reduced travel and
spending abroad to bring in greater local spending. There will be an emphasis on proposals that successfully
integrate land based industries with the Borough’s heritage offers and the landscapes of the North Kent
marshes, the Blean, the Kent Downs and the horticultural belt. Specifically, given its location and proximity

15The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 37



to other tourist centres at Canterbury, Whitstable and Herne Bay, Faversham has strong potential to diversify
its economy around tourism, especially its food and drink based offer. On Sheppey we need to address
declines in its traditional seaside tourism offer through modernisation and improvements in quality.

4.3.7 Although the number of jobs in agriculture and horticulture is relatively small, our strategy anticipates
forecast growth in this sector. For this and the wider rural economy, we will respond positively to the new
opportunities for diversification and improved resilience for food production, as well as activities in other
rural sectors, including growth in community based jobs and services, where these can be successfully
integrated within the locality.

4.3.8 We are also keen to continue to grow Swale’s burgeoning creative industry offer, however this is
often a sector that likes to grow organically and outside of the traditional planning allocations route. The
DM employment policies give flexibility to allow these businesses to grow and flourish.

4.3.9 Improving education provision performance will bring needed improved skills into the local workforce,
but this more mobile workforce will need to be able to work and/or set up businesses locally. We will provide
flexible planning policies that support a greater choice of opportunity in such areas as the 'sharing economy'.
It also remains important to tackle entrenched skill deficiencies so that all can benefit from growth. We will
support a better range of opportunities for local people to improve their education and skills, endeavor to
secure a further education facility within Sittingbourne town centre, and promote closer links between
learning and employment opportunities, including the use of local labour and learning opportunities.

4.3.10 How will this strategy be visible in terms of physical development? We will be largely maintaining
our current portfolio of sites, with the renewal and intensification of existing sites in and around Sittingbourne,
in particular, the growth of its key economic product – the Eurolink business park. Close to the urban areas,
the A249 is also likely to remain the focus for meeting any potential for larger scale distribution or industrial
uses. On the Isle of Sheppey, the existing large pool of employment sites will be developed for industrial
purposes so that the economic benefits of infrastructure investment already made can be accomplished.
At Faversham, the approach is to improve the quality and availability of sites on account of the town’s good
location and the loss of existing sites to other uses. New employment, with a focus on office-based
employment will also be provide to compliment the new housing to the east of the town. Securing new sites
that sit comfortably with the town and its surroundings is a key objective.

4.3.11 Regeneration policies are also provided for two of the Borough's major strategic employment
locations - the Port of Sheerness and the Kent Science Park. These will guide both their immediate needs
for growth, and indicate the possibility of longer-term aspirations. Some port related activity will continue
to be met as part of the general industrial supply, beyond the port’s own portfolio, and the Science Park
could attract science, technology and knowledge-based jobs that would help meet the socio-economic
objectives of the Plan.

4.3.12 Ensuring the vitality of town centres

4.3.13 Our town centres are facing considerable challenges at present and it is the Council's approach
that there should be flexibility in the range of uses that are provided in these shopping areas, especially to
encourage unexpected opportunities that occur on the fringes of the Primary Shopping Areas. This flexibility
will help to enhance the vitality and viability of the Borough's town centres and maximise their contribution
to the local economy. A wide range of uses can potentially have a key role in maintaining a diverse and
commercially prosperous centre without undermining their primary retail function.

4.3.14 Supporting a prosperous rural economy

4.3.15 Our rural areas support a wide range of businesses and the strategy is to support their expansion.
However, this will not be by micro-management through the allocation of sites, as innovation comes from
locations and sectors that we cannot hope to identify and write into the plan. Flexible planning policies will
therefore be supportive of the right business at the right scale and in the right place. Our strategy will also
maintain and enhance vibrant and viable rural services, particularly when we are shown innovative new

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202116

Strategic Policies4

Page 38



ways of delivering them. A factor affecting the development of the rural economy is the limited availability of
land and buildings and we will look to their use for employment before considering other uses such as
housing.

4.3.16 We intend to further encourage tourism and other businesses that are linked by and harmonised
with our landscapes and communities. Across the rural area, business proposals, tourism related or
otherwise, able to support the active and sustainable management of the countryside will be supported.
See policy DM 8.

4.3.17 The strategy does not overlook the importance of the agricultural sector and there are likely to be
changes in the way land is used which will present challenges. We will harness the confidence that has
re-emerged within fruit production and will encourage sustainable initiatives that respond to global challenges,
including the realignment of themarketplace, climate change and the decline in pollinators, whilst encouraging
more local food production and sales.

4.3.18 Swale’s Jobs and Housing ratio

4.3.19 It is an aspiration of the Council that for our strategic, mixed use sites, for every house that is built
a new job is provided. Mixed use was identified in the ELR as a practical means of delivering jobs, and a
one: one ratio would help to reduce our out-commuting rate, thus reducing congestion and air pollution and
help to foster and grow our own economy.

4.3.20 Employment Need

4.3.21 The Swale Employment Land Review 2018 (ELR) evidences the scale and quality of new land
needed to support the Borough’s growth over the period of 2016 – 2036. For office sector growth the study
concluded that Swale needs up to an additional 15 ha of office land to accommodate our future job
growth. However, as the ELR noted, there was significant uncertainty around this calculation and the way
we will use office space in the future. This is now even more uncertain given it is unclear how the office
market will respond in the longer term to the effects of Covid-19 and the increase in home working.
Recognising this the plan takes a cautious view to new land allocations and will look to focus new office
growth in our town centres and where we can deliver office space alongside our new housing growth. This
however, will be kept under review.

The ELR concluded that in addition to the existing supply of allocated employment land (108 ha) a further

41ha of industrial and warehouse land

is required. However, 26 ha of the additional 41 ha can be considered in the longer term, as it is a margin,
and would only be needed to replace windfall losses over which there is considerable uncertainty due to
recent PDR changes. The ELR recommended that to meet market demand new land needs to be attractive
to the strategic warehouse sector. This is in contrast to real market conditions where immediate supply is
perceived to be restricted.

4.3.22 Employment Allocations

4.3.23 There are a number of employment allocations which were made in the adopted Local Plan 2017,
that are unimplemented or have been partially implemented. These are set out in Policy A 3.

4.3.24 This table shows the proposed employment allocations:

Employment
Floorspace (Ha)

Site Name

10ha of industrial and
warehouses.

SE Fav (Duchy) (This
is just the top
right-hand section by

17The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 39



Their employment
which is pepper potted

Brenley Corner, not the
employment

through theprovision pepper potted
throughout the
development.)

development will
include
offices/retail/small
artisan workshops, etc.

At least 10ha.East Fav (Attwood)
A 3.19 ha extension to
an existing employment

Lamberhurst Farm

area, creating a 5.5 ha
employment allocation.
(1 ha of landscaping so
2.19 ha of new
employment with an
intensification of the
existing site.)
Office provision.Sittingbourne Town

Centre
10 ha of new provision.
(Not just what is being
relocated.)

Rushenden Marshes

Table 4.3.1

Policy ST 1

Development needs for the Borough

The Council seeks to meet its development needs through the implementation of existing sites in
Bearing Fruits and additional sites as set out in this Local Plan Review.

Swale’s development needs for jobs and homes 2022 – 2038

Land is identified by the Local Plan Review to meet the following development targets:

B Class Employment floorspace provision (ha): 56ha (of which 15ha for office floorspace)

Housing provision: 16,608 (1,038 dwellings per annum)

The Council will monitor and review the Local Plan as required by national policy. Infrastructure
requirements to support housing and employment will be delivered as set out in the Infrastructure
Delivery Plan.

Swale’s development strategy and settlement hierarchy

4.3.25 There are a wide range of towns, villages, hamlets and isolated settlements across Swale. The
development strategy presents the approach to these locations and examines their role within the overall
strategy for the broad distribution of growth and decisions about other development.

4.3.26 In consideration of the options for our development strategy, we have looked closely at what is
set out in Bearing Fruits and seek to complement that strategy with this Local Plan Review.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202118

Strategic Policies4

Page 40



4.3.27 Other key drivers that shape this strategy include delivering sustainable growth, addressing climate
change and enhancing health and wellbeing.

4.3.28 The Borough of Swale has significant constraints in terms of landscape designations, land at risk
of flooding, coastal change and ecological designations. Approximately 60% of the Borough is covered by
such constraints. Of the remaining 40%, there are areas that are locally important for their landscape value
or high quality agricultural land, for example. With additional land to find to meet our development needs,
difficult choices have had to be made.

4.3.29 The first port of call has been to consider the availability of brownfield sites. Focussing development
on brownfield sites is concept that the Council have followed for several years. There are limited opportunities
now and within this context, Sittingbourne town centre has been identified as providing considerable
redevelopment potential that will yield a minimum of 850 dwellings. There are several pockets of land
throughout the town suitable for development of varying sizes. A comprehensive Supplementary Planning
Document will be prepared that will identify these sites and areas of opportunity that will deliver the new
homes and other investment into the town that will support and enhance its vitality and viability as the
Borough’s principal town centre.

4.3.30 Other brownfield sites will come forward at Faversham through the emerging Faversham
Neighbourhood Plan and in Sheerness that could come forward on an adhoc basis or through a master
plan document that could be prepared.

4.3.31 Nevertheless, there are insufficient brownfield sites to deliver the quantum of development needed
and the Local Plan Review must look elsewhere to deliver sustainable growth.

4.3.32 Defining and implementing a settlement strategy is assisted by the identification of settlement
tiers that guide the location of development and services. The means that the urban centres and the larger
well-connected villages occupy the higher settlement tiers whilst those with strong environmental character,
poorer access to services and/or limited capacity for change generally occupy the lower. Settlements are
assigned to the tiers as shown in the table below.

4.3.33 SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY AS PER BEARING FRUITS

4.3.34 In combination with the development planned in Bearing Fruits, Sittingbourne, as the Borough’s
principal town remains the main focus for sustainable growth. With the largest share of the Borough’s
population and economy, it is tightly constrained by environmental designations. The regeneration of the
town centre needs to continue to capture the benefits of a growth in population.

4.3.35 Faversham

4.3.36 Isle of Sheppey

4.3.37 Rural local service centres

4.3.38 Other villages with built up area boundaries

4.3.39 Outside the built up area boundaries

Policy ST 2

Swale Settlement Strategy

The use of previously developed land within defined built up area boundaries and on sites allocated
by the Local Plan Review (including rolled forward sites from Bearing Fruits), development proposals
will be permitted in accordance with the following settlement strategy:

19The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 41



1. The main Borough urban centre of Sittingbourne will provide the primary urban focus for growth
where development will support town centre regeneration andmake the best use of previously developed
and vacant or underused land;

2. The town of Favershamwill provide a key focus for growth where development includes a sustainable
urban extension and will deliver significant infrastructure improvements including a new new secondary
school, open space, jobs and homes

3. Redevelopment at Rushenden as an expansion to the Regeneration Area of Queenborough &
Rushenden to provide landscape led regeneration that will provide new homes, jobs, infrastructure,
open space and community facilities

4. Area of opportunity at Teynham

5. Neames Forstal, Selling

6. Neighbourhood Plans – Faversham and others

7. Windfall sites

Delivering sustainable development in Swale

4.3.40 The purpose of the Development Plan is to facilitate and manage sustainable development. There
are three dimensions to sustainable development:

4.3.41 • economic;

4.3.42 • social; and

4.3.43 • environmental.

4.3.44 The policies in the Local Plan seek opportunities to make a positive contribution to these dimensions.
In essence, the presumption in favour of sustainable development lies at the heart of the Local Plan and
should be seen as a golden thread running through it. The strategy for Swale has been shaped by a desire
to deliver sustainable growth that brings benefits for all sectors of the community – for existing residents,
businesses and organisations as much as for new ones. In order to deliver these benefits, it is necessary
to take a bold approach to addressing the impacts of climate change, to embracing opportunities to enhance
health and wellbeing through improving our environment and ensuring communities are supported with the
opportunities and infrastructure needed to enjoy a good quality of life, including jobs and homes.

4.3.45 Policy ST3 provides the basis for action and the means to locally determine whether development
proposals merit the national presumption in favour of sustainable development. It emphasises the importance
of joint working, placing the requirement on all to demonstrate their commitment through specific actions.
Any presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development requiring
appropriate assessment under the Habitats and Wild Birds Directives is being considered, planned or
determined.

Policy ST 3

Delivering sustainable development in Swale

To deliver sustainable development in Swale that provides both mitigation and adaptation to climate
change, all development proposals will contribute to:

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202120

Strategic Policies4

Page 42



1. Build a strong competitive and green economy by meeting identified needs for inward investment
and indigenous growth on allocated and suitable sites, includingmeeting the needs of under-represented
sectors;

2. Ensure the vitality of town centres by: strengthening the principal centre role of Sittingbourne;
improving the role of Sheerness as the Island's main centre; or consolidating, proportionate to its scale
and character, Faversham's role as a centre for the town itself and its local catchment;

3. Support a prosperous rural economy, especially for sustainable farming and tourism, or where
enabling communities to meet local needs or benefiting countryside management;

4. Accord with the Local Plan settlement strategy;

5. Offer the potential to reduce levels of out-commuting and support the aims of the Swale Local
Transport Strategy, including the promotion of zero carbon and active transport;

6. Support high quality communications infrastructure;

7. Deliver a wide choice of high quality, low carbon homes by:

a. meeting the full, objectively assessed need for housing in the housing market area;

b. providing housing opportunity, choice and independence with types of housing for local needs; and

c. keeping vitality within rural communities with identified housing needs, proportionate to their character,
scale and role;

d. promoting energy efficiency, renewable energy and district heat networks on new developments

d. promoting the use of recognised certification schemes to demonstrate the environmental quality of
new housing

8. Achieve good design through reflecting the best of an area’s defining characteristics;

9. Promote healthy communities through:

a. location of development to achieve safe, mixed uses and shared spaces;

b. rejuvenation of deprived communities;

c. the Local Plan implementation and delivery plan and schedule;

d. safeguarding services and facilities that do or could support communities;

e. maintaining the individual character, integrity, identities and settings of settlements;

f. protecting, managing, providing and enhancing open spaces and facilities for sport and recreation;
and

g. implementing the Swale natural assets green infrastructure strategy;

10. Meet the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change through:

a. promotion of sustainable, low carbon and resilient design and construction, the installation and use
of renewable energy, the efficient use of natural resources and the management of emissions;

b. the management and expansion of green infrastructure; and

c. applying planning policies to manage flood risk and coastal change;

21The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 43



11. Conserve and enhance the natural environment by:

a. applying international, national and local planning policy for:

(a) areas designated for their biodiversity (inc. Nature Improvement Areas), geological or landscape
importance; and/or

(b) priority habitats and populations of protected and notable species;

b. using landscape character assessments to protect, and where possible, enhance, the intrinsic
character, beauty and tranquillity of the countryside, with emphasis on the estuarine, woodland, dry
valley, down-land and horticultural landscapes that define the landscape character of Swale;

c. integrating the benefits of ecosystems to society across all policy areas;

d. achieving plentiful native landscaping of local provenance in and around developments;

e. achieving net gains in biodiversity within and around developments by use of such measures as
natural/semi-natural greenspace and the creation of coherent ecological networks;

f. avoiding significant harm to biodiversity or, when not possible, adequately mitigating it, or, as a last
resort, compensating for it with off-site action at identified Biodiversity Opportunity Areas or other
appropriate locations;

g. using areas of lower quality agricultural land for significant levels of development (singly or
cumulatively) where compatible with other criteria; and

h. applying national planning policy in respect of pollution, despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated,
unstable and previously developed land; and

12. Conserve and enhance the historic environment by applying national and local planning policy
through the identification, assessment and integration of development with the importance, form and
character of heritage assets (inc. historic landscapes).

4.3.46 The requirement in the PPG and NPPF to plan for business uses - office and industrial/warehousing
allocations remains. New use class E does not affect this, for the time being at least. The ELR gave us a
need figure for Swale so we will allocate for use class B and the parts of use E class that are relevant –
office and R&D (E(g)i &ii) and light industrial (E(g)iii. We will refer to them as ‘economic land uses’ through
the LPR. This may need to be revised before submission/EiP if Government legislation changes.

4.3.47 Building a strong, competitive economy

4.3.48 The Council will encourage and support sustainable economic development in Swale and ensure
that local residents will benefit from a thriving, healthy and more diverse local economy. The Local Plan
will support the local economy by protecting the existing stock of property where it has a reasonable prospect
for ongoing employment use and allocating new sites to meet our economic needs.

4.3.49 The Council aims to meet the needs of our residents and provide employment opportunities that
match their skills and ambitions whilst attracting inward investment into the borough and supporting our
own home-grown businesses to further grow and expand. We will create the conditions to support start-up
businesses, especially in our future growth sectors and in the creative, science related and high tech
industries.

4.3.50 The economic objective of achieving sustainable development through the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) is “to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202122

Strategic Policies4

Page 44



sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure.”
(NPPF, paragraph 8a.)

4.3.51 Policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand
and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity,
taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. (NPPF, paragraph
80.)

4.3.52 The creation of the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) in April 2011 includes
Government, Councils, businesses and education providers from Kent, Greater Essex and East Sussex.
Their vision is “a more productive and prosperous economy in which everyone has the opportunity to
succeed.” Their ethos is to work:

SMARTER to improve productivity
FASTER to accelerate housing and infrastructure delivery
TOGETHER, collaborating across the South East with Government and with business to ensure
SELEP achieves more than individual members can by working in isolation

4.3.53 Kent County Council (KCC) were starting to prepare a Productivity and Enterprise Strategy but
this was superseded by Covid- 19 recovery plan work. As such, there is no real county-wide economic
strategy currently. However, the Economic Renewal and Resilience Plan was launched in August and is
an 18 month plan but is a Kent and Medway Economic Partnership strategy, rather than one ‘owned’ or
adopted by KCC as policy.

Picture 4.3.2

4.3.54 Swale’s Economic Improvement Plan 2020-2023 outlines that there is an opportunity to contribute
to strengthening our economy for the future, to deliver improved quality and choice in local employment
opportunities and enhance quality of life for residents. It sets out Swale’s priorities:

Raising Swale’s profile
Securing investment and infrastructure

23The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 45



Supporting local business
Improving skills

4.3.55 Prior to Covid-19 our economy was growing, dominated by manufacturing and a number of small
niche sectors. We are a net exporter of labour mainly to London and adjoining areas of Kent, with some
weaknesses in the local labour market, including relatively high unemployment levels, below average skills
and lower earnings. Our rates of new business formation are also currently lower than the regional and
county averages and have declinedmore rapidly during current recession. Most of our stock of employment
space comprises industrial uses, with comparatively modest amounts of office accommodation, although
this has grown in recent years.

4.3.56 This policy, along with ST1, supports the goals and objectives of the LEP to strengthen economic
development in the Borough. It supports our Local Plan Strategy and addresses the issues highlighted by
the Swale Employment Land Review (2018), the Strategic Market housing Assessment (2020), the Local
Housing Needs Assessment (2020) and the Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment (2019) to produce a
strategy to meet employment needs over the Plan period.

4.3.57 In line with the evidence on need this policy supports our future potential growth sectors (see
Statement *) and the needs of:

the manufacturing sub-sectors and their underlying strengths in certain specialist sectors;
the retail sector;
the visitor economy (recreation, accommodation and food services);
growth focused on the natural environment and heritage offer;
our burgeoning creative industry sector; and
expansion proposals in the pharmaceutical sector.

4.3.58 This policy confirms and encourages the appropriate development of the following ‘Existing
Strategic Employment Locations’, as set out in ST 2 and within Regeneration and town centre policies as
appropriate, at:

Sittingbourne, Sheerness and Faversham town centers;
Ridham, Kemsley, Eurolink and the Kent Science Park in the Sittingbourne area;
Neatscourt and the Port of Sheerness on the Isle of Sheppey; and
North west Faversham and at the Brewery complex toward the centre of the town.

4.3.59 An objective of the Council is to promote port related activities in and around the Sheerness Port
estate (whilst recognising that the port land is outside of the scope of normal planning control) and to
promote high tech industries at the Kent Science Park. (Add links to their separate policies when they're
done.)

Statement Statement 1

Swale's Future Potential Growth Sectors

• General and advanced manufacturing and engineering

• Logistics and distribution

• Agriculture/ forestry/woodland

• Financial/business services

• Environmental technologies (low carbon sector)

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202124

Strategic Policies4

Page 46



• Healthcare/biotechnology

• ICT, media/telecommunications

• Construction

• Creative industries

• Retail/leisure, cultural activities, tourism, hotels and catering and boat repair

4.3.60 Future growth depends on attracting inward investment, developing the sectors where there are
already established strengths and stimulating growth of smaller scale home-grown firms (inc. creating a
positive climate to encourage school and higher education leavers to base new businesses in Swale). We
also need to diversify into higher value manufacturing, logistics and distribution and the environmental
sectors, all of which offer potential that can build on the area’s strengths.

4.3.61 Agriculture is also an important economic sector and the industry needs to keep pace with the
changing context brought about by climate change, food security, global markets, major food retailers and
changing legislation/guidance.

Statement Statement 2

The Importance of Swale's Agricultural Sector

Swale has 37,000 ha of land; of which 24,000 ha is farmed and approximately 60% is classified as
best and most versatile (BMV).

• For arable farming (e.g. winter wheat), the output from BMV land is estimated at £900 – £1,300 per
ha. The estimated gross margins are between £4.9 and £9.5 million.

• For soft fruits, the output from BMV land is estimated at £43,000 – £109,000 per ha. The estimated
gross margins are between £1.5 and £66 million.

• These Gross margins are similar (but not equivalent) to Gross Value Added (GVA), and are worth
between 0.3% and 3% of the £2 billion of GVA in Swale.

• It is estimated that there are between 1,250 and 2,500 FTE jobs in agriculture and food and drink
manufacture in Swale. This represents approximately 3 - 5% of the 47,400 FTE jobs in Swale. BMV
can also provide other ‘ecosystem services’ benefits such as flood water storage, ecological and
landscape values.

(Value of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land in Swale October 2015. Eftec for Swale Borough
Council.)

4.3.62 The Rural Economy policy DM 8 aims to support the agriculture sector adapt to the challenges it
faces and continue to be a key feature of Swale’s economy.

4.3.63 As a Borough with a woodland resource, there is also potential employment through its better
management, both for woodland products and as a renewable energy source.

4.3.64 This policy safeguards for future use the employment potential of existing land or buildings, but
acknowledges the desirability of releasing older, poorer performing industrial sites to other uses. The
Employment Land Review 2018 assessed the existing stock of premises and land, and identified just six
existing sites and no allocations that were suitable for managed release. This safeguarding includes both

25The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 47



land or buildings in current employment use or allocation, land where planning permission has expired or
other vacant land and premises where their potential for employment remains relevant. For sites not
considered suitable or viable, the Council must be convinced that evidence points to wider, fundamental
and deep seated structural problems with the site, rather than shorter term difficulties caused by a particular
economic context. This is important where allocations and committed employment sites have been made
on the basis of a particular economic and/or locational need to serve the plan period. Policy DM 7 ‘Loss of
employment floorspace and land’ gives more detailed guidance on the evidence that the Council requires.

4.3.65 Given the outstanding environment in Swale, Policy ST 4 seeks to expand our potential
for sustainable rural tourism to benefit local communities and raise awareness and support for conservation
of the environment. There is an important link between the quality of the environment (both historic and
new) and economic development, in particular the area's ability to attract investment, jobs and population.
Swale's historic environment has the potential to play a significant role in supporting enterprise, especially
in helping under-performing parts of Swale to transform themselves, such as at Sittingbourne town centre and
Sheerness. Also important is our current portfolio of principal tourism assets (see Statement *), with this
policy supporting their growth and, if necessary, their protection from inappropriate development proposals.

Statement Statement 3

Swale's Principal Tourism Assets and Potential

• Coast - beaches, cliffs, lively seaside resorts including holiday parks and amusements, wild landscapes
andmarshes, Saxon ShoreWay, Church Marshes, bird life and quiet sailing waters. The Isle of Sheppey
is unique within Kent.

• Countryside - down land, valleys, woodlands, orchards, parkland, narrow lanes, picturesque villages
and houses and a network of foot and cycle paths (including a National Cycle Route) and bridleways.

• Built heritage - a great range of heritage assets reflecting its Roman and Medieval legacy, its naval
and maritime history and its industrial and agricultural past.

• Fruit Heritage - the National Fruit Collection, and ‘fruit’ celebrations.

• Festivals – such as the Faversham International Hop Festival, Faversham Literary Festival, Brogdale
Collections Seasonal Fruit Festivals

• Market Town of Faversham. A small historic Cinque Port town, lively town centre, unexploited creek
and marshland, a multi-faceted town with links to the countryside.

• Unspoilt villages.

• Industrial heritage - gunpowder, naval, brewing, aviation, 'defence of the realm', sailing barges, brick
and paper-making.

• Naval and aviation history, sustainable rural tourism e.g. walking/cycling, other outdoor activities and
sustainable accommodation at Faversham and Sheerness

• Food and drink - high quality restaurants, pubs, brewers and local food suppliers

• Accommodation - small number of hotels, pubs with rooms, guest houses and bed and breakfast
establishments.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202126

Strategic Policies4

Page 48



Picture 4.3.3 Sheerness Beach

4.3.66 For our town centers and the retail and leisure sectors, our Local Plan Strategy indicates that there
is a need for further comparison (non-food) floorspace support general growth and to help claw back
expenditure lost to other centers and a diversification into the ‘experience’ sector rather than traditional
retail.

4.3.67 We cannot anticipate every business opportunity. This policy indicates a series of 'Priority Locations'
where, when demonstrated that an existing employment location or allocation is unsuitable or unavailable
for the development in question, appropriate sites will be considered. For such proposals, the Local Plan
Strategy and environmental quality should not be compromised. The 'Priority Locations' are:

the extension of our existing employment sites;
where benefits to deprived communities can be achieved;
well related to either the A249, A2, the built out section of the Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road or
A299 Thanet Way; and
the re-use of heritage assets or where they could deliver significant benefits to the conservation of
landscape and/or biodiversity.

4.3.68 Some of our businesses will be at the front line of climate change, either by being affected by
future natural processes or by offering potential for the Borough to be a focus for low carbon technologies.
This policy supports improved resilience and new business opportunities within this sector.

4.3.69 Swale is a net exporter of labour, with a net outflow of 10,394 working commuters, and aside from
commuting to London, almost all commuting is very short distance into one of the immediately adjoining
local authorities. (Swale ELR, 2018.) Whilst reducing the level of out-commuting will be challenging, this
policy is supportive of proposals able to realistically deliver a reduction in commuting out of the Borough,
especially for those sectors currently the focus of out-commuting.

27The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 49



Picture 4.3.4 Commuting flows - into/out of Swale (Swale ELR 2018)

4.3.70 Unemployment levels in Swale in October 2020 were 6.6%, above the South East average of
5.2% and Kent’s 6%. For comparison, as these figures will be affected by Covid-19, Swale’s unemployment
in February 2020 was 3.6% compared to 2.9% in Kent and 2.1% in the South East. Against the Kent
average, Swale has a comparable economic activity rate, but a lower proportion of workers at higher skill
levels and below average earnings. (KCC Economic Indicators, www.kcc.gov.uk) Improving the skills
performance of the local labour supply is needed. This policy supports the use of development funding
though the use of clauses in S106s for apprenticeship training opportunities.

4.3.71 High speed internet connectivity is important to encourage economic growth, especially in the
rural areas. All new development will be required to provide for access to this technology regardless of
location. Policy DM 13 Provision of Broadband Infrastructure provides detailed guidance on this matter.

Policy ST 4

Building a strong, competitive economy

Actions by public, private and voluntary sectors will work towards the delivery of the Local Plan economic
strategy.

1. Development proposals for current employment sites that re-provide the same employment land
uses will be supported.

2. Development proposals for employment use on sites used for non-employment purposes will be
encouraged where they meet the needs identified in the Council’s Employment Land Review and/or
where other considerations weigh in their favour.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202128

Strategic Policies4

Page 50



Development proposals will be encouraged where they:

3. Stabilise losses of jobs within the manufacturing sector or exploit competitive strengths in the Swale
economy including uplifting sectors related to the visitor economy and expansion of the pharmaceutical
and science sectors;

4. Bring forward an increase in homegrown business creation and inward investment, including those
able to encourage younger people to retain and use their skills within Swale;

5. Encourage educational facilities or an expansion of vocational learning, developing links between
institutions and the private sector or work-based learning at key locations;

6. Contribute to the delivery of a comprehensive land portfolio for the Borough by:

a. safeguarding and maximising the potential of identified 'Existing Strategic Employment Sites';

b. bringing forward the stock of existing committed employment sites for industrial use; and

addressing qualitative issues with new provision at Local Plan allocations to support established
industrial markets, additional office space, the release of poorer quality locations and the broader
upgrade of the supply; or

c. managing existing and future employment potential by upgrading older industrial areas.

7. Include sectors that are under-represented in Swale, and/or that may potentially enable a reduction
in commuting out of the Borough;

8. Avoid proposals that would harm existing employment locations and allocations where appropriately
located and suitable, viable for users under normally functioning economic conditions or required to
meet the identified needs for the plan period;

9. Address future challenges to the agricultural and woodland/forestry industries with sustainable and
appropriate proposals to create new markets and greater resilience;

10. Safeguard or enhance Swale's 'Principal Tourism Assets' and consolidate or widen the Borough's
tourism potential, particularly where embracing principles of sustainable tourism;

11. Focus larger scale development where they utilise the strategic and primary road networks;

12. Support sectors attractive to the local population who would otherwise out-commute for work;

13. Facilitate the delivery of digital infrastructure, including access to high speed Internet connectivity
from all new developments;

14. Create improved resilience for existing businesses by measures to address flood risk, climate
change and natural processes and lead to an expansion of businesses in the low carbon sectors; or

15. Provided the Local Plan strategy is not significantly compromised, and sites cannot be found within
criterion 7, meet unanticipated needs on appropriate sites within one or more of the following 'Priority
Locations':

a. the extension of an existing employment site;

b. where benefits to deprived communities can be achieved;

c. sites well related to the A249, A2, Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road or A299 Thanet Way;
or

29The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 51



d. re-use of heritage assets or where delivering significant benefits to the conservation of
landscape or biodiversity.

Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes

4.3.72 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear that local plans should make sufficient
provision to meet housing needs and that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are
addressed. Councils are expected to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for
home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.

4.3.73 The Council is committed to delivering housing through the Local Plan Review that reflects the
needs and preferences of local people and that the adverse effects of development on communities is
offset by properly funded infrastructure. The Swale Borough Council Corporate Plan: Working Together
for a Better Borough (2020 – 2023) identifies as Priority 1: Building the right homes in the right places and
supporting quality jobs for all. It acknowledges that this will be achieved through this Local Plan Review
to ensure that future housing delivery is more closely aligned to the Borough’s ability and capacity to provide
for genuine sustainable housing needs, in terms of location, type and tenure and that the impact of housing
growth is offset through improved physical, environmental, social and health infrastructure.

4.3.74 The strategic priorities of the Swale Borough Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy
2019-2023 are to deliver affordable homes; to prevent homelessness; to reduce the need for emergency
and temporary accommodation; and to improve conditions in existing homes. Delivering a range of choice
of quality homes through the policies and proposals in this Local Plan Review will assist in delivering these
priorities.

4.3.75 Provision is made in this Local Plan for at least X,XXX (unimplemented allocations in BF plus new
LPR sites) dwellings to address the identified local housing need using the standard method set out in the
national planning practice guidance. This need will be provided through the delivery of rolled forward sites
from Bearing Fruits that are yet to be implemented and from new allocations also set out in this plan. Major
new housing development will be delivered at the strategic sites identified in Policy XX.

4.3.76 In addition to the strategic sites and smaller allocations, new housing development for park homes,
older person accommodation and Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Show people accommodation will be
delivered in accordance with the specific policies in this Local Plan. The Small and Medium Housing Sites
policy, Policy XX will be used to guide and assess applications for windfall sites that is expected to deliver
additional dwellings.

4.3.77 Faversham Creek Neighbourhood Plan is already adopted and Faversham Town Council is in
the process of preparing their Neighbourhood Plan that will see the identification and development of
additional dwellings for between 150 and 200 dwellings over the life of the plan. Other areas have designated
their Neighbourhood Planning Areas and commenced work on their plans with a view to progressing them
in the near future.

4.3.78 The Swale Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), July 2020 provides the evidence
needed to identify the mix of housing needed for the Borough during the plan period. It sets out detailed
information about the size profile and the tenure split for the period 2022 to 2038 for new dwellings. It also
sets out the number of specialist dwellings for older persons needed and the need for new adapted housing
to meet the needs of people with disabilities.

4.3.79 The government’s standard method local housing need calculation for Swale of 1,038 is
disaggregated using the Long Term Balancing Housing Markets model (LTBHM) to identify the tenure and
size of housing that should be sought over the plan period to best accommodate the future population.
The outputs of this model determine the size and tenure of the new housing required as a guide,
acknowledging that it may be appropriate to divert away from this profile in particular instances.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202130

Strategic Policies4

Page 52



4.3.80 In terms of size profile, the greatest demand in market housing is for 3 bed properties, then 2 bed
properties, and 4+ bed properties, the lowest demand being for 1 bed properties.

4.3.81 For Help-to-Buy/Starter Homes, the demand is reasonably level with 3 bed properties, 2 bed
properties, 1 bed and 4+ bed and for shared ownership, the demand is highest for 2 bed properties, 1 bed
and 3 bed properties and then 4+ bed properties.

4.3.82 The SHMA concluded that affordable rent demand is highest for 3 bed properties, then 1 bed
properties, 4+ bed properties and then followed by demand for 2 bed properties. Given that the SHMA is
a snapshot in time, the latest information available from the Council’s Housing Register should be used as
the starting point for identifying and agreeing the sizes of properties need for affordable rent in development
proposals.

4.3.83 The tenure split for the new dwellings in the Borough is for 72.8%market housing; 18.0% affordable
rent; 4.3% shared ownership and 4.9% help to buy/starter homes.

4.3.84 Additional sheltered housing and registered care spaces (nursing and residential care) is also
required. The evidence report also concluded that the need for new adapted housing is required for an
additional 4,200 households (and therefore should meet M4(2) space standards) and of those, 500 dwellings
should be M4(3) Category 3 homes, i.e. dwellings suitable for wheelchair users.

4.3.85 The most effective approach to ensuring the housing stock has the flexibility to meet the
requirements of the future population is for the Council to implement a policy of universal Category 2
standards in all new build housing. Viability evidence confirms this can be achieved and that 25% of new
dwellings can achieve the higher standard of M4(3)

Policy ST 5

Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes

Development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Be steered to locations in accordance with Policy ST 2 (Swale’s development strategy), including:

i). at local plan allocations, Neighbourhood plans and Community Right to Build initiatives;

ii). Windfall sites where the small scale of development, its design, layout and landscaping would
support and enhance the character of the area and can demonstrate that development of the site
within its local context, would benefit the existing community and support sustainable development.

iii). town centres when contributing to their vitality and viability; or

iv). Deprived communities when improving local housing markets and supporting communities

2. use densities determined by the context and the defining character of the area

3. provide affordable housing in accordance with Policy DM 15

4. Provide dwellings that meet minimum space standards M4(2) on 75% of all dwellings and the
accessible standards M4(3) on the remaining 25% of dwellings

5. Achieve the mix of housing types needed as reflected in the findings of the Strategic Housing Market
Assessment or similar needs assessment, and for affordable homes to use the information from the
Council’s Housing Register to ascertain specific needs at that time;

6. Meet the housing requirements of specific groups including families, older persons or disabled and
other vulnerable persons

31The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 53



7. Bring vacant homes back into use and up to the relevant standards; and

8. Achieve sustainable and high quality design in accordance with Policy ST 6 and policies DM 3 on
sustainable design and construction.

Local Plan Review - Design Policy

Requiring Good Design

4.3.86 Swale Borough Council considers that high quality urban design, landscape design and building
design is required to enable healthy and happy lifestyles within sustainable communities for its residents
and businesses. We must plan and build differently, carefully, beautifully and with a greater conscience for
what we are creating for those that come after us.

4.3.87 Local distinctiveness and culture are important for placemaking in Swale. A new development
may successfully be able to create a sense of place by addressing the following:

1. Discover the unique qualities of the physical and natural environment then identify how to both conserve
what is special, learn from the findings and apply to new development to create distinctive character.

2. Understand how people move around, connect with their social and physical environment, interact
and integrate to create walkable communities whilst considering how technology could change this.

3. Make places better for people by understanding who will live and work in them and appreciating their
needs coupled with regard for the environment by ensuring the right mix of uses whilst allowing for
flexibility and agility to adapt to change in the future.

4.3.88 There is renewed appreciation of the value of good design as set out in updated national policy,
the release of new guidance and the promise of more to come:

1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) stresses that good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development and together the two achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places.

2. The National Design Guide (NDG) illustrates how a well-designed place that is beautiful, enduring
and successful can be achieved in practice. The Council expects a high level of engagement with this
guidance by applicants.

3. The Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission advise how to promote and increase the use of
high-quality design for new neighbourhoods in the report ‘Living with Beauty’ which identifies a number
of far ranging priorities and policy recommendations to enhance the quality and design of buildings
and spaces, including the need for a greater use of form-based codes. Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government (MHCLG) is advancing the preparation of a National Model Design Code, that
will set the basis for a consistent approach to Design Codes across England, with an emphasis on
the preparation of Codes by Local Authorities and Community Forums as part of local plans. The
Council will engage with this process in the future.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202132

Strategic Policies4

Page 54



Picture 4.3.5

Typical of recent Swale Pockets of
‘bubbles’ of development are
segregated from each other and from
other land uses. This approach will no
longer be permitted.

~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~

Typical of old Swale All land uses are
we l l i n t e g r a t e d w i t h a n
interconnected network of uses and
streets. This approach is to be pursued in
the future.

4.3.89 The Council encourages developers to consider using the Council's design panel, or similar and
respond positively to the provisions of the previously stated documents and the following (and successor)
publications:

4.3.90 Building for a Healthy Life (the new name for Building for Life 12): Homes England, NHS England
and NHS Improvement. A widely used design tool for creating places that are better for people and nature.
Cited by NPPF as a tool helpful for assessing and improving design quality.

4.3.91 Putting Health in Place: NHS England: The Healthy New Towns programme informed ten
healthy new town principles which demonstrate to housebuilding, local government, healthcare and local
communities how to create new places that offer people improved choices and chances for a healthier life.

4.3.92 The Manual for Streets: Department for Transport. Empasises that streets should be places in
which people want to live and spend time in, and are not just transport corridors. Aims to reduce the impact
of vehicles on residential streets by planning street design intelligently and pro-actively, giving a high priority
to the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and users of public transport.

4.3.93 Kent Design Guide (and appendices). Prepared by the Kent Design Group, it provides the criteria
necessary for assessing planning applications. Helps building designers, engineers, planners and developers
achieve high standards of design and construction. WE ARE AWAITING THE UPDATE OF THIS

4.3.94 Secured by Design: Police Service. An initiative that focuses on crime prevention of homes,
commercial premises and schools by promoting the use of security standards for a wide range of applications
and products. Now supported locally by Design for Crime Prevention, part of the Kent Design Guide.

4.3.95 Design guidance fromKent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty unit. Includes its Landscape
Design Handbook and Rural Streets and Lanes Design Handbook.

4.3.96 Active Design Guidance: Sport England. A set of design guidelines to promote opportunities for
sport and physical activity in the design and layout of development. Promotes sport and activity through
three key Active Design principles of - improving accessibility, enhancing amenity and increasing awareness.

4.3.97 Swale Borough Council Supplementary Guidance and Documents. These include guidance on
house extensions, shop fronts and advertisements, landscaping, and converting rural buildings, together

33The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 55



with a Supplementary Planning Document on Landscape Character and Biodiversity Assessment and
Guidelines 2010 and the Urban Extension Landscape Capacity Study (2010). Parking SPD, Town Centre
SPD.

Policy ST 6

Good design

As part of its strategy to create lively places with a mix of uses, distinctive character, safe streets and
spaces that are pleasant and human in scale, the Council promotes high quality design, in all parts of
the Borough, that is sensitive, inspired, imaginative and responds to its context.

All development proposals will be of a high quality design that is appropriate to its surroundings.

The National Design Guide and other documents listed above will be used to inform planning and
other applications.

Health and wellbeing

4.3.98 The Council aim to ‘reduce health inequality by developing more productive relationships with
local health partners and making health and wellbeing a central consideration in all relevant council
decision-making, recognising especially the link between housing and health’.

4.3.99 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (para 91) stresses the importance of healthy,
inclusive and safe places that encourage social interaction, provide good accessibility and support healthy
lifestyles. The importance of positive planning for the provision of social infrastructure including schools,
health facilities, sports facilities, open spaces, local shops, allotments and community centres. Planning
for and protecting existing services and open space are also recognised by the NPPF as important elements
of creating healthy communities.

4.3.100 The Healthy Places programmewas set up in 2013 by Public Health England (PHE) in recognition
that where people live, their homes and their communities connections have a big impact on health and
wellbeing and need to be integrated with high-quality health services. The learning from the Healthy New
Towns programme has since been distilled into ‘Putting Health into Place’ 2019 which sets out the role
councils, developers and the NHS can play as well as outlining the ten principles for healthy place-making:

1. Plan ahead collectively
2. Assess local health and care needs and assets
3. Connect, involve and empower people and communities
4. Create compact neighbourhoods
5. Maximise active travel
6. Inspire and enable healthy eating
7. Foster health in homes and buildings
8. Enable healthy play and leisure
9. Develop health services that help people stay well
10. Create integrated health and wellbeing centres

4.3.101 The Department of Health and Social Care have published guidance regarding the mutual
relationship between wellbeing and health. Healthier lifestyles and good health status are both associated
with higher levels of wellbeing and wellbeing is important to health. Therefore, focusing policies on wellbeing
could lead to improved wellbeing and also improved health outcomes. The five ways to wellbeing are listed

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202134

Strategic Policies4

Page 56

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/innovation/healthy-new-towns/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wellbeing-and-health-policy


as, connectivity in terms of relationships and community, physical activity, engagement in life, continuous
learning and giving back. In addition, there is clear evidence that good work improves health and wellbeing
across people’s lives.

4.3.102 Community programmes to improve diet should address the needs, concerns and interests of
local people and can be delivered in formal or informal ways. Increasing knowledge and skills in healthier
eating and cooking is assisted with Public Health England’s Eatwell Guide which sets out recommendations
on eating healthily and achieving a balanced diet.

4.3.103 The Marmot Review: Implications for Spatial Planning (2011) identified the role planning can
play in affecting health through: the design of developments, ensuring that services are joined up and easier
to access, community participation, accessible transport, well located services and by the pursuit of healthy
lifestyles through active travel and use of green space.

4.3.104 Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years On (2020) highlights that: people can
expect to spend more of their lives in poor health; improvements to life expectancy have stalled and declined
for the poorest 10% of women; the health gap has grown between wealthy and deprived areas and
irrespective of wealth or deprivation where you live negatively impacts on life expectancy by nearly five
years. The Council is committed to addressing these heath inequities.

4.3.105 Kent and Medway Councils have set up a joint Health and Wellbeing Board as an advisory joint
sub-committee to tackle system-wide health challenges and health inequalities with a focus on adult social
care and health integration (local care) and on prevention. The Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
recognises that shaping the physical environment of the community so that it can better promote healthier
lifestyles is central to the health improvement role of local authorities.

Key health facts for Swale

1. The health of people in Swale is mixed when compared with the average for England. The Public
Health England publication Swale Health Profile 2019 reveals levels of health/deprivation significantly
worse than the England average in the following areas: mortality rate of those under 75 years of age;
long term unemployment; smoking during pregnancy; breastfeeding initiation; teengage pregancies;
perecentage of children in low income households; and prevalence of smoking in adults.

2. The level of chidhood obesity is significantly higher in the (former) Swale Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) area compared against the Kent average. For reception age children it was 26% above
the Kent average and around 36% for those at year 6(1).

3. There are significant health inequalities depending on where people live within the Borough. Life
expectancy is about 9 years lower for men and four years lower for women in the most deprived areas
of Swale than those in the least deprived areas.

4.3.106 There are signficant health and wellbeing issues in Swale, especially in its deprived communities.
To address these issues, it is important that community needs are supported through appropriate physical
and social infrastructure and by other facilities and key services which contribute to improving wellbeing
and the overall quality of life experienced by residents. The Local Plan, therefore, makes provision for
improved access to local services, healthy transport choices such as cycling and walking, access to green
infrastructure, open space and active recreation, good design in the built environment and recognises the
role that mixed use developments can play in providing healthy communities. Specifically, to encourage
healthy eating the negative impact of access to hot food takeaways (use class order sui generis) in close
proximity to schools is addressed.

1 North Kent Needs Assessment (February 2019), Kent Public Health Observatory

35The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-eatwell-guide
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/KM PDF.pdf


4.3.107 The Council has undertaken an audit of open space and determined standards to be applied to
new developments. These can be found in policy DM17 open space, sport and recreation provision. Existing
provision, whether of open space, health or other community facilities should also be safeguarded against
development proposals that would result in their loss.

4.3.108 This policy brings together all the relevant matters affecting health to provide an integrated
approach. If fully implemented, an integrated approach toward health should potentially reduce costs to
health services in the long term. Health impact assessments will be used to ensure these issues are properly
considered and integrated at the planning application stage. The use of such assessments will be appropriate
as identified by Local Plan allocations, or when statutory

4.3.109 Environmental Impact Assessments are required, or for larger developments within Swale's
most deprived wards.

Policy ST 7

Health and Wellbeing

The Council, working in conjunction with relevant organisations, communities and developers, will.
undertake targeted interventions to identify Swale’s most disadvantaged families and communities,
improve our understanding of the issues they face, and develop new ways of working to reduce social
exclusion and enhance opportunities and quality of life to reduce health inequalities.

Development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Bring forward accessible new community services and facilities, including sufficient health facilities
with developers contributing towards the provision of built facilities and other improvements to heathcare
services, as set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan;

2. Safeguard existing community services and facilities where they are viable or can be made so, or
where replacement facilities can be provided without leading to any shortfall in provision; access to
open space to facilitate physical activity, activities which strengthen social bonds, healthy eating
learning, childcare and youth provision;

3. Safeguard or provide multi-functional open space, sport and recreation in accordance with DM 17
Open space, sport and recreation provision, additionally enabling access to nature in accordance with
the green infrastructure strategy in ST 10 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment;

4. Promote healthier options for transport, including cycling and walking by ensuring that the site
chosen for the new place is suitable for sustainable transport links with other places, where appropriate
is designed to be mixed use, compact and provided with safe pedestrian and cycle routes to make
active travel easier.in accordance with ST 9 Promoting sustainable transport and active travel;

5. Improve or increase access to a healthy food supply such as allotments, markets and farm shops;

6. Limit new hot food takeaways within 400m of a school perimeter through management of opening
times: opening hours will be restricted such that hot food takeaways will not be permitted to operate
between 12.00 to 14.00 and 15.00 to 17.00;

7. Create social interaction and safe environments through mixed uses and in the design and layout
of new development in accordance with ST 5 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes and ST
6 Requiring good design;

8. Create a healthy environment that regulates local climate by providing open space and greenery to
achieve shading and cooling, particularly within existing urban environments in accordance with DM
29 Woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202136

Strategic Policies4

Page 58



9. Address air quality in accordance with DM 33 Air quality;

10. Ensure mitigation and adaptation to climate change through sustainable design and construction
in accordance with DM 3 Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and
construction; and

11. Undertake and implement a Health Impact Assessment for relevant proposals that are:

a. required to undertake Environmental Impact Assessments; or

b. within Swale's most deprived wards; or

c. identified as required by the Local Plan.

Planning for Infrastructure

4.3.110 The new housing, employment and other development proposed in the Local Plan will increase
demands on infrastructure in the Borough. These demands need to be managed and may involve protecting
existing infrastructure, identifying where there is capacity and/or securing the timely provision of new
infrastructure, which in itself may require land allocations to be made to accommodate it.

4.3.111 Identifying and making sufficient provision for infrastructure is an important thread running
throughout the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF highlights the role the planning
system can play in identifying and co-ordinating the provision of infrastructure (2) and the need for
engagement with infrastructure providers to determine where additional infrastructure is necessary (3).

4.3.112 Infrastructure can include roads and other transport facilities, public transport, utilities, flood
defences, schools and other educational facilities, health facilities, cultural services, sports and recreational
facilities and open spaces. This is not an exhaustive list and there may be other infrastructure facilities and
services, which will be required to deliver this Local Plan.

4.3.113 The council, in consultation with partners and service providers, has prepared an Infrastructure
Delivery Plan (IDP), setting out the key infrastructure and service needs required to support the level of
planned growth across the Borough and the individual site allocations. The IDP identifies, where known,
how and when this infrastructure might be delivered, who will lead on delivery and a broad indication of
timing, costs and funding mechanisms. The key on-site infrastructure needed to support implementation
of a particular site allocation has also been identified in the relevant allocation policy. It should be noted
that the IDP principally identifies key infrastructure projects and does not include all site specific infrastructure
requirements, which will be dealt with through individual planning applications.

4.3.114 The IPD has been published separately and can be viewed on the council’s website. The IDP
is a ‘living’ document, which will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis. The council will continue to
engage with service providers to ensure that the IDP provides the most up-to-date picture of the infrastructure
needs of the Borough, particularly regarding infrastructure needed to support development later in the plan
period, and to monitor progress in the delivery of infrastructure projects, their costs and funding.

4.3.115 It is critical that sufficient infrastructure is available to serve new development and that it is
delivered in a timely manner to ensure the needs of the occupiers of new development can be met without
placing undue burdens on existing infrastructure facilities and services. The policy seeks to ensure that
new infrastructure and services are delivered either in advance or alongside the development they are
intended to support. Where appropriate, applicants will be expected to collaborate on the provision of
infrastructure needed to serve more than one site.

2 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 8a
3 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 26

37The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


4.3.116 In some circumstances, due to the timing of critical infrastructure projects such as off-site highway
improvements, it may be necessary for development of a site to be phased to ensure it does not proceed
until the provision of this infrastructure. Should this be the case, the council may grant permission with
conditions or planning obligations restricting full or partial occupation until the completion of critical
infrastructure projects or phases of projects. Where site allocations coming forward are dependent on the
delivery of infrastructure projects this has been reflected in the phasing of the allocation in the housing
trajectory.

4.3.117 In the event issues arise with the delivery of strategic infrastructure required to enable growth,
the council will seek to work actively with developers, infrastructure providers and other partner organisations
to resolve the issue.

4.3.118 The Local Plan is based on a whole plan viability approach. The Whole Plan Viability
Assessment (4) has tested whether the Local Plan strategy, taken as a whole, is realistically able to be
delivered and has considered the impact of the Local Plan policies and other requirements on the viability
of development likely to come forward over the plan period in the borough. The assessment has found that
the policy requirements in this plan are viable across most site typologies.

4.3.119 As a starting point, therefore, it is assumed that all development proposals will be viable unless
exceptional circumstances are demonstrated, and it should not normally be necessary for viability
assessments to be submitted with individual planning applications. It will be for an applicant to justify, in
line with paragraph 57 of the NPPF, the need for a viability assessment at the planning application stage.
Where the applicant can justify that the particular circumstances warrant the need for a viability assessment
the council will follow national guidance, as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance (5), in determining
the weight to be given to the assessment. Any viability assessment should reflect the government’s
recommended approach to viability assessment and be prepared at the applicant’s expense.

4.3.120 Where a viability assessment demonstrates to the satisfaction of the council that a reduced level
of developer contribution would be appropriate in order to enable the development to be delivered, the
council will take a pragmatic approach to seeking developer contributions. In doing so, the council will
generally apply the following priority to developer contributions, having regard to the latest IDP:

1. Those that are required to unlock growth, such as strategic highway improvements or ensure the
safety of the development, such as flood risk mitigation; then

2. Contributions to local infrastructure delivery to mitigate the impact arising from the development, such
as education or health provision; then

3. Affordable housing provision; then
4. Other developer contributions that would not fall into the above.

Any changes to this priority will be set out in the council’s annual Infrastructure Funding Statement.

4.3.121 In recognition that the viability of development may change overtime, particularly for larger
development proposals which may take many years to build out, any subsequent planning obligation will
need to allow for a review of viability during the lifetime of the development at appropriate trigger points
agreed between the council and the applicant.

4.3.122 All new development should contribute towards the cost of new infrastructure. Infrastructure
funding by developers is most often secured through planning obligations (6) or the Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL), which is not being progressed at the present time. On-site infrastructure will be secured based
on the needs of each proposal and delivered directly by the developer or through financial contributions
and/or the provision of land. Off-site infrastructure will be secured through developer contributions.

4 Swale Whole Plan Viability Assessment, Aspinall Verdi (December 2020)
5 Planning Practice Guidance – Viability (last updated 1 September 2019)
6 Either through a Section 106 agreement or Section 278 Highway agreement (with Kent County Council)

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202138

Strategic Policies4

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability


Policy ST 8

Planning for Infrastructure

The Council will work with infrastructure providers, applicants and other key stakeholders to ensure
that growth over the plan period is supported by necessary infrastructure, facilities and services in a
timely manner.

The Council will resist the loss or change of use of existing social and community facilities unless it
can be demonstrated that:

a. The facility is no longer needed for its existing purpose and the site or building is not needed for
an alternative social or community use;

b. The current or alternative community uses are not viable; or
c. The services can be re-provided in a facility of better quality on the same site or in an alternative

location that is equally accessible to the community served.

Development proposals, including those allocated in this plan, which give rise to the need for
infrastructure improvements will be expected to mitigate their impact either individually or cumulatively
and at a rate and scale to meet the needs that arise from that development or a phase of that
development. As such development may require to be phased to ensure the co-ordination with delivery
of necessary infrastructure. Where appropriate, developers will be expected to collaborate on the
provision of infrastructure needed to serve more than one site.

Where it is not possible to deliver the policy requirements in full, a viability assessment should be
submitted in line with national Planning Practice Guidance. Where a reduced level of policy contribution
than that required by the Local Plan is agreed, this may be subject to reassessment at appropriate
trigger point(s) agreed between the council and the applicant.

4.3.123 Promoting Sustainable Transport and Active Travel

4.3.124 One of the aims of the Local Plan is to enable communities across Swale to become more
sustainable. Creating safe and attractive neighbourhoods which promote walking and reduce the dominance
of motor vehicles in particular have been found to be associated with increased social interactions and a
sense of community. It can also help to create a sense of place and give an area identity. This section
provides policies on sustainable and active travel in the borough with an aim of creating modal shift towards
sustainable and active modes and less reliance on the private car in the borough.

4.3.125 Transportation plays a key role in the delivery of the Local Plan strategy, especially sustainable
transport and active travel options. An efficient transport network which has good connectivity with the
regional and national network is vital in helping Swale to realise its economic potential. To promote
sustainable transport choices and active travel development should firstly, prioritise the needs of pedestrians
and cyclists and then assess the role that public transport can contribute towards meeting the travel demands
it will generate. Only once those options have been fully explored should further highway improvements
be considered in the context of the capacity of the existing highway network. The transport hierarchy for
Swale is set out in Figure X within Policy DM 10 on Managing Transport Demand and Impact.

4.3.126 The Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in 2019 (with a borough wide net
zero by 2030 target) and in response to this developed a ‘living’ Action Plan in 2020. Moving towards
embedding sustainable and active travel within Swale and it's communities will play a key role in helping
to work towards achieving this ambitious goal.

4.3.127 Travel Patterns

39The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 61



4.3.128 The need for an uptake in sustainable transport is more apparent than ever. The population of
Swale is increasing with its major towns and villages experiencing growth. Swale has the third largest
population in Kent, and in the last 10 years more employment floorspace has been built than anywhere
else in the county and Swale has the fourth highest level of dwelling completions over the 10 years to 2014.
Swale has high levels of road and fuel use, a below UK average use of public transport, an underdeveloped
public transport network and higher than average proportion with no access to a car. Although the increase
is modest (1.5% given the increase in workforce between these years), an extra 3,900 persons were
commuting between 2001 and 2011, mostly to the nearest larger towns beyond Swale.

4.3.129 The way in which people access work shows an increased reliance on car travel, with an increase
from 60% to 70% using the car to get to work in Kent. The exception appears to be London commuting,
where the proportion driving has remained fairly constant at 38%, train at 46% and bus at 11%. Method of
travel to work for Swale residents largely reflects the Kent data, with 70.5% of residents travelling to work
by car (drive or passenger in a car or van). The second most popular method is walking with just over and
11% share. Figure X below shows the travel to work mode share.

Picture 4.3.6 Method of Travel to Work in Swale

4.3.130 These results also reflect the 2011 Census results for car ownership in Swale. The proportion
of households with one or
more cars available has
increased to just under 80%,
which is an increase on 2001
figures and now makes Swale
identical to the Kent average.
Kent car ownership as a whole
is higher than the national
average (80% of households
compared with 74%
nationally). The rate of
increase in car ownership in
Swale has been twice the
national rate of increase over
this period.

4.3.131 The commuting data
therefore suggests that there
has been an increase in out
commuting, particularly by car,

to other Kent districts, with Medway, Maidstone and Canterbury being the most popular destinations. London
commuting has risen only slightly, and whilst car commuting has also increased in absolute terms on this
route, train and bus use have maintained their proportionate share of commuters. These figures therefore
suggest increasing pressure on the strategic and interurban road network.

4.3.132 The UK has seen traffic levels and commuting patterns turned on their heads during 2020.
Commuting patterns in Swale are considered to be largely back to normal, other than rail travel into larger
hubs such as London. However, Covid travel behaviours and commuting are likely to have been affected
and the longer-term impacts of that on Swale are unknown. This presents an opportunity to enable more
sustainable travel to be embedded in policy, development and any schemes taken forward within the
borough.

4.3.133 Rural Lanes

4.3.134 Whilst the development strategy of the Plan and supporting Transport Strategy is focused on
locating development where the supporting transport can be provided in the most sustainable way, the
Borough also has a rich heritage of rural lanes which contribute greatly to amenity. These may come under
pressure with inappropriate development proposals. The issues are considered in the context of Policy DM
12.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202140

Strategic Policies4

Page 62



4.3.135 Health and Air Quality

4.3.136 Accessible transport links are vital for providing Swale’s residents with access to facilities and
services across the borough, county and beyond. This includes connecting businesses and communities,
as well as reducing social isolation. However, there are negative impacts associated with transport too.
Road transport contributes to 32% of Swale’s CO2 emissions and pollutants have a negative impact on air
quality, human health and the natural environment, as well as transport increasing noise pollution. Sustainable
transport choices and ‘active travel’ (travel requiring a person to exercise - such as walking and cycling) in
particular are able to provide an opportunity for people to build activity into their daily lives. Currently 60.5%
of primary school children, and 33.7% of secondary school children actively travel to school, whilst 13.5%
of adults actively travel to work. Kent’s Active Travel Strategy aims to make active travel an attractive and
realistic choice for short journeys in Swale. ADD link to DM 33 Air Quality.

4.3.137 Swale Transport Model

4.3.138 SECTION TO BE UPDATED FROM FINALISED MODELLING IN SPRING 2021

4.3.139 A multi modal strategic transport model has been undertaken during drafting of the Local Plan
to reflect the development strategy and proposals of this plan. A total of four scenarios have been tested
in the AM (8-9) and PM (17-18) peaks in the year 2037. The scenarios which were tested prior to the
preferred option of sites being chosen are detailed below in Table **.

Trip ReductionAdditional MitigationTwo SchemesScenario DescriptionID

NoNoNo776 Scenario Do-Minimum (DM) – without two schemes (M2J5 and M2J7)1

NoNoYes776 Scenario Do-Minimum (DM) – with two schemes2

NoNoYes1054 Scenario Do-Minimum (DM)3

YesYesYes1054 Scenario Do-Something (DS)4

Table 4.3.2 Local Plan Review Modelling Scenarios

4.3.140 Scenario 1054 Do-Something has been taken forward and the outputs from the model have
demonstrated that the expected pattern of growth across the Borough as contained in the Local Plan can
be accommodated. This however is subject to necessary highway modifications and policies which generate
a reduction in trip rates based on the provision of sustainable and active travel options for new development.
Further detail on the transport model and its sites are set out in the Swale Transport Strategy 2022-2037.
ADD IN LINK WHEN FINALISED

4.3.141 Key schemes

4.3.142 The following transport network schemes are seen as necessary to support growth and the full
implementation of the Local Plan strategy:

1. Improvements to M2/Junction 5 via Highways England national road delivery programme project
commencing 2021

2. A249/Key Street junction improvements (existing HIF scheme);
3. A249/Grovehurst junction improvements (including pedestrian and cycle way links between new

development allocations at North West Sittingbourne to employment areas at Ridham) (existing HIF
scheme);

4. A249/ Bobbing junctionmay also need to be re-assessed as part of the A249 corridor and the associated
development being promoted together with Key Street and Grovehurst junctions;

5. Mitigation may be required at key points on the County highways network, particularly within the A2
corridor, to support new development and complement improvements to the A249 corridor junctions;

6. Sittingbourne town centre road layout, traffic management and calming measures, and car parking
arrangements to support regeneration developments (some funding already secured from the SELEP
Local Growth Fund);

7. Improvements to the A2500 Lower Road, Sheppey;

41The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 63

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/active-travel-strategy


8. Other highway network improvements, (not necessarily associated with new development proposals)
to resolve existing issues as set out in the Local Transport Strategy;

9. Continue to support the Quality Bus Partnership and work with rail transport operators to promote use
of public transport through enhancement of services and terminals;

10. Provision of walking and cycling routes to link new and existing communities to local services, facilities
and public transport;

11. Implementation of a Faversham to Sittingbourne safe cycling route and a priority bus route; and
12. Implementation of the new car parking strategy for Borough.

4.3.143 The Council will work with Kent Highways, as the Highways Authority, on an A2mitigation strategy
to manage the flows of traffic on the A2 and the roads that feed on to it, especially where there are air
quality, traffic congestion and road safety issues. This will cost an estimated £1-2m (depending on land
values and land availability.)

4.3.144 Furthermore, the modelling report has recommended a number of mitigations for the borough
which includes schemes relating to the allocated development sites. This is encompassed within the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan set out in the Swale Transport Strategy 2022-2038 ADD LINKWHENFINALISED.

4.3.145 Regional and National transport policies have an important role to play in tackling poor air quality,
facilitating development and wider environmental and health objectives within Swale.

4.3.146 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) continues the core principle of sustainable
development, through means such as using technology to reduce the need to travel, using planning policies
and decisions to actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest use of public transport, walking
and cycling and focusing significant developments in areas which are or can be made sustainable.

4.3.147 Transport policies have an important role to play in facilitating development and also in contributing
to wider sustainability and health objectives. It is nevertheless recognised that different policies andmeasures
will be needed in different communities and that sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban
and rural areas.

4.3.148 Key national objectives for transport policy include:

Working with relevant transport providers and neighbouring authorities to develop strategies for viable
infrastructure necessary (including for the growth of ports) to support sustainable development;
Ensuring that opportunities for sustainable and active travel have been taken up to minimise the need
for major new transport infrastructure to support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and to reduce
congestion;
Ensuring that the necessary improvements can be undertaken as far as possible within the transport
network and are cost effective at mitigating the significant impacts of development;
Achieving safe and suitable access to sites for all people and goods; and
Designing developments to prioritise pedestrian and cycle access and give access to high quality
public transport facilities.
The Department for Transport Circular 02/2013: Strategic Road Network and the delivery of sustainable
development (September 2013) relates specifically to the impact of proposed development on the
strategic road network (SRN) which is operated, maintained and improved by Highways England on
behalf of the Department for Transport. The SRN play an important part in enabling and sustaining
economic prosperity as part of wider sustainable development objectives, with Highways England
ensuring the continued safe operation of the network.
For the SRN, development proposals are likely to be acceptable if they can be accommodated within
the existing capacity of a section (or link or key junction) of the relevant part of the network; or they
do not increase the demand for use of that section which is already operating over capacity, taking
account of any mitigation and/ or capacity enhancement measures which may be proposed. Generally,
development should only be prevented or refused where the residual cumulative impacts of development
are severe. Safety of the SRN is the key consideration for judging impact of proposed development.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202142

Strategic Policies4

Page 64



The key issues for the Local Plan are to promote development patterns which minimise the need to
travel; encourages the use of sustainable means of transport and minimises journey lengths for
everyday activities such as work, education, shopping and leisure. Capacity on the SRN is limited,
and additions are difficult, costly and time consuming, so these measures are integral to the local plan
approach to reducing the potential for congestion on the SRN.
The Circular states that capacity enhancements and infrastructure necessary to deliver strategic growth
should be identified through the Local Plan. Where this is identified as necessary, Highways England
will work with delivery agencies to assess the suitability, viability and deliverability of such proposals
(including funding arrangements). If the need and deliverability is confirmed when balanced against
other environmental and practical considerations, it may be considered for inclusion in the Highways
England forward programme of works.
The objectives of the Circular are reflected throughout the Local Plan in terms of its overall development
strategy, land allocations and general policies for guiding design, layout and access, they are supported
by and influence complementary plans, projects and funding programmes of the transport providers,
highway authorities and the Local Economic Partnership (for Kent, Essex and East Sussex).

4.3.149 Car Parking

4.3.150 The NPPF also gives the option for local planning authorities to develop their own vehicle parking
standards. Swale Borough Council has set out their Swale Parking Standards 2020 These must be referred
to for all residential and non-residential developments within the borough. Further detail on this can be
found in Policy DM 11.

4.3.151 Promoting Sustainable Transport and Active Travel policy

4.3.152 Projects to provide new and improved transport infrastructure will play a central role in supporting
growth and promoting sustainable transport within the borough as well as creating a shift towards sustainable
modes. As major development will largely be concentrated in locations that are, or will be, subject to
significant transport improvements, land and facilities will therefore need to be safeguarded in order to
ensure delivery of these projects.

4.3.153 All transport improvement schemes which are assessed and taken forward by the council should
be focused on the promotion of sustainable transport and active travel. The transport hierarchy (figure ** in
Policy DM 10) should be adhered to when appraising all transport schemes within the borough.

Policy ST 9

Promoting Sustainable Transport and Active Travel

New development will be located in accordance with Policies ST 1 to Policy ST 3, Local Plan allocations
and approved Neighbourhood Plans which minimise the need to travel for employment and services
and facilitate sustainable transport. The Council will promote sustainable transport and active travel
through the prioritisation of walking, cycling and public transport within all new developments. In addition
to new developments the Council will seek to provide improvements across the borough which promote
and uptake of sustainable and active travel.

The Council will:

1. Promote walking within the borough by ensuring that developments improve the pedestrian
environments by supporting public realm improvements including the provision of high-quality
safe road crossings, seating, signage and landscaping that are safe and easy to walk through;

2. Promote cycling in the borough by ensuring that developments provide and make a contribution
towards high quality and safe cycle routes, provide for accessible, secure cycle parking taking
into account the size and location of the development, and make provision for high quality facilities
that promote cycle usage including showers, lockers and dryers;

43The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 65

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/Supplementary-Planning-Documents/SBC-Parking-Standards-May-2020.pdf


3. Ensure walking and cycling routes are linked to new and existing communities with services and
facilities, public transport and the Green Grid network and are accessible for all users;

4. Safeguard and promote the provision of public transport in the borough by ensuring that
development contributes towards improvements to bus network infrastructure including access
to bus stops, shelters, passenger seating, waiting areas, signage and timetable information.
Contributions will be sought where the demand for bus services generated by the development
is likely to exceed existing capacity. Contributions may also be sought towards the improvement
of other forms of public transport in major developments where appropriate;

5. Where appropriate, be required to provide for the interchange between different modes of transport
including the provision of facilities to make interchange easy and convenient for all users – as
set out in Policy DM 10;

6. Facilitate the greater use of waterways for commercial traffic, where this would not have an
unacceptable adverse environmental impact, through working with the Port of Sheerness and
other bodies;

7. Contribute to transport network improvements, where capacity is exceeded and or safety standards
are unacceptably compromised, with particular emphasis on those identified in the Infrastructure
Delivery Schedule and in paragraph ** above;

8. Make best use of capacity in the network by working together with transport providers to improve
the transport network in the most sustainable way, and extending it where necessary, as
demonstrated by Transport Assessments and Travel Plans in support of development proposals
– as discussed in Policy DM 10;

9. Support the provision of major new transport infrastructure in accordance with national and local
transport strategies; and

10. Maintain and improve the highway network at key points to improve traffic flows and respond to
the impact of new development and regeneration, as set out in the Kent Local Transport Strategy
(LTP4) and in the Swale Transport Strategy.

Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

4.3.154 Our diverse and outstanding natural environment is a defining characteristic of Swale. This policy
sets out how the natural environment should be considered across a range of issues; more specifically
how together their protection, enhancement and management can contribute to our own quality of life, as
well as benefiting the natural environment for both the present and the future.

4.3.155 Conserving and enhancing the Borough's outstanding natural environment is at the heart of the
Local Plan strategy which seeks to create a more robust ecology and landscape and reverse the decline
in the quality and diversity of our landscapes and biodiversity as well as minimising waste and pollution,
making effective use of land, using natural resources prudently and moving to a low carbon economy,
mitigating and adapting to climate change.

Statement Statement 1

What Do we Expect from New Developments?

Swale expects all new developments to:

• Consider green and blue infrastructure opportunities and requirements at the earliest opportunity,
taking into account existing natural environment and the most suitable locations and types of new
provision;

• Be comprehensively integrated into the Green and Blue Infrastructure network (add link to the map)
for both nature and humans;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202144

Strategic Policies4

Page 66



• Have the principle of a 20% increase in biodiversity net gain at the heart of the design of the
development;

• Link with the existing active travel network and provide for its expansion, to allow residents to safely
walk and cycle around their neighbourhood and between their homes, work, services and facilities
and transport hubs;

• Reflect the most up to date guidance and best practice;

• Have put in place the funding and administrative mechanisms for the sustainable management and
maintenance of the green and blue infrastructure so that it is to provide benefits and services in the
long term;

• Be designed, from the start, to achieve climate change mitigation and adaptation;

• Integrate landscape protection and enhancement into schemes, linking landscapes to green and
blue infrastructure and biodiversity net gain;

• Seek to use natural resources, including agricultural land and water, prudently, find opportunities to
improve the quality of our soils, air and water and reduce the risk of flooding; and

• Have the natural environment and climate change adaptation as a golden thread running through
their development proposals.

4.3.156 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that Strategic policies “should make
sufficient provision for: conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment, including
landscapes and green infrastructure, and planning measures to address climate change mitigation and
adaptation.” (NPPF, paragraph 20d.)

4.3.157 The NPPF looks to the planning system to conserve and enhance the natural and local
environment through a number of measures including:

protecting and enhancing valued landscapes sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils;
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and the wider benefits from natural
capital and ecosystem services – including from best and most versatile agricultural land and trees
and woodland;
maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to it where
appropriate;
minimising impacts on, and providing net gains for biodiversity by establishing coherent ecological
networks resilient to current and future pressures;
preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from,
or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability;
and
remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land. (National
Planning Policy Framework 2019.MHCLG. Paragraph 170)

4.3.158 Swale Borough Council declared a climate and ecological emergency on 26 June 2019. The
purpose of the declaration was to draw attention to the urgent need to reverse the decline in biodiversity
in Swale and to take effective action to reduce carbon emissions in the borough and this Policy will help to
achieve this.

4.3.159 In assessing the impacts of development upon the natural environment, the Council will recognise
and value our ecosystems for the wider services they provide to society, such as for food, water, flood
mitigation, disease control, recreation and, importantly, health and well-being. Whilst it will safeguard the

45The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 67



network of national and natural asset designations in the Borough, across all areas, designated or not, we
will expect the use of landscape character and biodiversity assessments to drive natural asset focused
developments.

Picture 4.3.7 Elmley Marshes, Isle of Sheppey

Biodiversity Net Gain

4.3.160 Biodiversity net gain is an
approach to development that leaves
biodiversity in a better state than before.
If a development has an impact on
biodiversity it requires developers to
provide an increase in appropriate
natural habitat and ecological features
over and above that being affected in
such a way that the current loss of
biodiversity through development will
be halted and ecological networks can
be restored.

4.3.161 The NPPF (Paragraph 70)
states that planning policies and
decisions should contribute to, and
enhance, the natural and local
environment by minimising impacts on,
and providing net gains for biodiversity.

The Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (2018) made a commitment to embed a ‘net environmental
gain’ principle for development to deliver environmental improvements locally and nationally. In 2019,
following consultation, the Government announced it would mandate net gains for biodiversity in the
Environment Bill. Policy DM 24 sets out how the Local Plan will achieve this.

Green and Blue Infrastructure

4.3.162 The NPPF defines green infrastructure as a network of multi-functional green space, urban and
rural, which is capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local
communities. (National Planning Policy Framework 2019. MHCLG. Annex 2 Glossary, Page 64.) It expects
local planning authorities to set out a strategic approach in their Local Plan to maintaining and enhancing
networks of habitats and green and blue infrastructure. (National Planning Policy Framework 2019. MHCLG.
Paragraph 171.) As well as providing the attractive environments within which people will want to live, work
and invest, green and blue infrastructure has the following multiple benefits to the health and wellbeing of
both people and nature:

new open space and facilities to increase participation in sport and recreation;
connections with our natural environment;
new and enhanced habitats for biodiversity, including when the mitigation of adverse development
impacts arising from development becomes necessary;
resilience and adaptation of species and habitats to climate change;
the opportunity to manage the risks to those in vulnerable areas such as from flooding;
providing opportunities for social inclusion, community development and lifelong learning;
the conservation and enhancement of valued landscapes, spaces and heritage;
counters to the effects of noise and pollution; and
a safe network of car free routes linking home, work, school and areas of recreation.

4.3.163 These multiple benefits of green infrastructure can attract new investment, raise land and property
values by enhancing their amenity value, as well as helping businesses to retain a skilled and highly
motivated workforce because of the attractive living and working environment created. This, in turn, supports
Swale's economic ambitions.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202146

Strategic Policies4

Page 68



4.3.164 Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) is recognised as critical infrastructure for the health of Swale’s
residents, wildlife and habitats. GBI is the network of multi-functional green and blue spaces which make
up the essential ecosystems for both people and nature.

4.3.165 A large proportion (around 60%) of Swale’s environment is already recognised internationally,
nationally and locally for the diversity of its wildlife and habitats, recognising the quality of Swale’s
environment. The aim of the GBI Strategy, and the network in the Local Plan, is to improve the quality,
accessibility and multi-functionality of these assets and the linkages between them.

4.3.166 Swale faces a number of challenges including high levels of inactivity amongst residents,
concentrated pockets of poor air quality, a north-south wildlife corridor severance, pockets of traffic congestion
and the challenge of sustainably managing a growing visitor economy. These can all be improved by
enhancing and growing the GBI network in Swale.

4.3.167 The Swale Green and Blue infrastructure Strategy (September 2020) ADD link looks at Swale’s
current GBI resource, Swale’s priorities for GBI, the multi-functionality of GBI and the opportunities in Swale
both with our existing GBI and for new GBI provision.

4.3.168 One of the principal drivers of GBI planning is to manage land and water in a more sustainable
way. While most types of GBI have a primary purpose or function, it is usually desirable for functions to
co-exist, leading to multifunctional GI and the ability to use land more effectively and efficiently for the
benefit of people and nature. By promoting multi-functionality, GBI allows the same area of land or water
to perform several functions, offering a range of benefits for people and ecosystems.

4.3.169 The range of functions delivered by GBI include improving health and wellbeing, providing
recreation spaces, the provision of food, improving air quality, supporting and enhancing wildlife and habitats,
mitigating and adapting to climate change, managing water resources, reducing flood risk, providing ‘active
travel’ opportunities and supporting heritage and cultural assets. Across Swale, GBI can deliver up to 22
functions.

4.3.170 GIS analysis has been used to map the multi-functionality of Swale’s existing GBI, giving a useful
indication as to where investment in GBI would deliver maximum benefits for both people, wildlife and
habitats. Typology mapping has identified where certain types of GBI are lacking or are abundant in Swale.
GBI functions operate at multiple scales, all working together to form part of an interconnected green and
blue network.

4.3.171 Often there is a need tomanage potential conflict between different components of GBI, particularly
biodiversity vs recreation as cannot always complement each other. It is often a question of having sufficient
scale to zone out areas for GBI that will fulfil different functions.

4.3.172 The Strategy now includes Urban GI Strategies for Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheerness
and Minster and provides guidance for incorporating GBI into new developments.

4.3.173 Applicants need to demonstrate how their development proposal fits into the GBI network and
further enhances it and how they have incorporated GBI into their proposals.

4.3.174 A natural environment and green and blue infrastructure network for Swale has been defined
and mapped, comprising two main broad elements. These are:

1. The existing network: comprising open space, the principal public footpath and cycling network and
landscape and biodiversity designations. This forms the basis of maintaining and enhancing the existing
level of assets in the face of future change; and

2. The future network shows where it might be extended on a strategic scale, for example:

as a result of an assessment of sports or open space needs;
where biodiversity may need to change and or migrate as a result of future climate change;

47The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 69



where development leads to the need to create new habitats and landscapes through mitigation,
compensation and biodiversity net gain in locations such as Biodiversity Opportunity Areas, or areas
identified in a future Local Nature Recovery Strategy; and
where there are obvious gaps that can be filled to make for a more comprehensive and cohesive
network.

4.3.175 It highlights locations where there is either existing planned long term strategic activity or where
it is expected that future strategic initiatives and emphasis will be placed. It is intended to guide both the
consideration of development proposals and partnership working. It should be noted that the Strategy Map
serves only to illustrate the broad approach to the protection and enhancement of the network at a strategic
scale and is not representative of the boundaries of actual land parcels or initiatives. Site specific proposals
are therefore expected to refer to source material and undertake their own assessments in order to
demonstrate the most appropriate contribution towards the overall strategy. The strategy map is not a full
representation of assets and opportunities within Swale and applicants should refer to the Swale GBI
strategy for more detailed mapping.

Add in Natural Environment and GBI Network map when finalised.

Potential adverse impacts on European designated wildlife sites

4.3.176 A particular issue where the green and blue infrastructure strategy and this policy will play a key
part is where potential adverse impacts on European designated wildlife sites are identified, for example,
as a result of increased recreational pressures on bird habitats on the North Kent Marshes. These are
matters affecting both the preparation of the Local Plan and for relevant development projects, both of
which are required to comply with the Habitats Regulations Assessment process.

4.3.177 North Kent partners have put in place a Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy
(SAMMS) that includes the measures needed to mitigate growth. This will also include a mechanism to
ensure that residential development financially contributes toward mitigation measures, such as wardening,
management or habitat creation. SAMMSwill be used to support the determination of planning applications
and inform any future Local Plan Review and if implemented, a Community Infrastructure Levy.

4.3.178 To address the issue in both the short and longer terms, requires management and containment
of pressures. Where mitigation and/or compensation is required, it must be provided in an appropriate way
either as a result of the cumulative impact of Plan proposals or individual development proposals. An integral
part of the SAMMS will be the monitoring of the effectiveness of the measures put in place through the
tariff payments. If this monitoring highlights areas where changes to the mitigation measures are required,
these will be implemented by the Partnership.

4.3.179 Please see the Partnership’s website for more detailed information Bird Wise

Climate change

4.3.180 Swale Borough Council has declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency and set a target for
the borough to be net zero carbon by 2030. The role of planning in mitigating and adapting to climate
change is a key feature of the NPPF and is a golden thread running through policies in this plan, including
ST 6 Design, ST 7 Health and wellbeing, DM 3, DM 4 as well as this policy. All applications should seek
to include mitigation and adaptation to the impacts of climate change at the heart of their design development
from high level decisions as to the location and linkages, through landscape design and the inclusion of
green and blue infrastructure, to the detail design of buildings.

4.3.181 There are many co-benefits of habitat creation including carbon sequestration. Nature based
interventions can deliver carbon reductions at a fraction of the cost of engineered solutions and when
delivered effectively can enhance the stocks of natural assets and the ecosystem services they provide.
Land management choices can either maintain or increase the carbon store for long periods of time or

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202148

Strategic Policies4

Page 70

https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/


result in net emissions. Therefore, land use and management choices can have an important role in
determining the amount of carbon released into the atmosphere or stored in the soil (mitigation) and, as a
consequence, in global climate regulation.

Landscape

4.3.182 The NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to conserving and enhancing the
natural environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes. Policy DM 25 sets out a criteria-based
planning policy, against which proposals for development on or affecting protected landscapes can be
judged and this policy makes appropriate distinctions between international, national and locally designated
sites, offering protection that is appropriate for their status and importance and the contribution that they
make to establishing and improving wider ecological networks.

4.3.183 Swale has the national designation of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB) and the aim of their Management Plan is to secure conservation and enhancement within the
AONB while supporting local communities.

4.3.184 The NPPF states that great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty
in AONBs and that they have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.
The setting of the Kent Downs is also extremely important in development management decisions taken
in Kent.

4.3.185 At a borough level, Swale also has a number of local landscape designations, known as the
Areas of High Landscape Value. Policy DM 25 sets out criteria for development impacting these areas.

4.3.186 As well as designated landscapes, the NPPF outlines the importance of protecting and enhancing
valued landscapes and the Council uses its Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal (2011)
Supplementary Planning Document to ensure the protection and enhancement of the whole of the Borough’s
landscapes and habitats. It has identified and assessed the condition and sensitivity of 42 landscape
character areas and set out guidelines for action for all countryside across the Borough. It will be used to
determine whether development is appropriate and, if so, how it might be accommodated within the landscape
and mitigated sensitively.

Pollution and contaminated land

4.3.187 Most of the Borough has high environmental quality which needs protecting, and some areas
that would benefit from improvements. Therefore, protection of the environment through maintaining or
enhancing air, soil and water quality, minimising or reducing nuisance which affects human senses (such
as noise and odour), can protect health and safeguard residential amenity.

4.3.188 Environmental protection policies are linked with objectives to mitigate the impacts of climate
change, and require new development to provide environmental improvements. Swale is committed to
protecting existing environmental quality and where possible reducing adverse effects on the local and
natural environment as a result of changes in activities or from new development. ADD Link to Policies DM
33 and DM 34.

Coast

4.3.189 Swale’s 111km coastline is one of the borough’s defining features and an essential part of its
green & blue infrastructure network. However, it faces particular threats, including from climate change
(including coastal squeeze of habitats, flooding and erosion) as well as the pressures of development
generally. Policies DM 31 and 32 aim to balance the needs of development with those of the coast’s sensitive
and changing environment, within the context of a wide range of plans and policies at work along the coast.
It is also important in meeting the Local Plan’s vision of coastal rejuvenation and ambitions for Swale’s
visitor economy. ADD link to DM 8.

Water, flooding and drainage

49The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 71



4.3.190 Clean and plentiful water is essential to our health, the economy and the environment and is an
essential element of our natural capital. Increased development, coupled with the impacts of climate
change, is adding to pressure on water quality and resources and increasing the chances of flooding.
Policies DM 35, DM 36 and DM 37 seek to address these issues and link opportunities to reduce flood risk,
improve water quality and provide multifunctional benefits.

Agricultural Land

4.3.191 Agricultural land is an essential element of natural capital that provides important ecosystem
services. Swale has some of the highest quality agricultural land in England. Policy DM 30 seeks to ensure
that it is only developed when there is an overriding need, when alternative options have been examined
first and whilst having regard to a range of other sustainability considerations.

Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

The Council will work with partners and developers to ensure the protection and enhancement as
appropriate, of the Swale natural environment and the delivery of the green and blue infrastructure
network and its associated strategy. Development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Demonstrate their contribution to the expansion of Swale's natural environment and green and blue
infrastructure, including within new and existing developments, by:

a) delivering a high standard of design quality to maximise the social, economic, health and
environmental benefits of green and blue infrastructure;

b) providing a focus and opportunities for social inclusion, community development and lifelong learning;

c) achieving a measurable, by a recognised metric, net gain of 20% in biodiversity;

d) providing new recreational facilities in accordance with Policy DM17, exploiting opportunities to link
urban and countryside areas and to create new footpath and cycle links between new and existing
developments and services and facilities for both recreation and commuting;

e) taking account of and integrating with natural processes, such as natural flood management and
utilising sustainable urban drainage; and

f) including proposals to ‘green’ existing and proposed developed areas by increasing opportunities
for nature in domestic gardens, streets and buildings, including street trees and in and around formal
open spaces and sports provision, green roofs, green walls;

g) Contribute towards a significant improvement in the size, quality, diversity and interconnectedness
of Swale’s habitats, to deliver a coherent and high quality ecological network as part of the wider green
and blue infrastructure network and any future Local Nature Recovery Network;

h) Provide protection, enhancement and recovery to the most valuable existing habitats and species
(Habitats and Species of principle importance under s.41 of the NERC Act), and the creation of new
habitats where possible

2. Recognise and value ecosystems for the wider services they provide, such as for food, water, flood
mitigation, disease control, recreation, health and well-being, climate change mitigation;

3. Protect the integrity of the existing green and blue infrastructure network as illustrated by the Natural
Environment and Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy Map, having regard to the status of those
sites designated for their importance as set out by Policy DM24;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202150

Strategic Policies4

Page 72



4. Increase opportunities for themovement and dispersion of species across Swale and into surrounding
areas;

5. Ensure mitigation and adaptation to climate change is a defining element of any proposals;

6. Ensure development is safe from the risks of flooding and coastal change and doesn’t increase
flood risk elsewhere;

7. Protect, enhance and, where appropriate, manage the value, character, amenity and tranquillity of
the Borough’s landscapes;

8. Enhance and extend the network, where assessment indicates it is necessary, (including when
management, mitigation and/or compensatory actions are required to address adverse harm) and be
guided by the Natural Environment and Green and Blue Infrastructure Network and Strategy Map, in
order to prioritise actions that contribute to the targets of identified Biodiversity Opportunity Areas of
a future Local Nature Recovery Strategy;

9. Ensure that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of a SAC, SPA or Ramsar site, alone or in
combination with other plan and projects, as it would not be in accordance with the aims and objectives
of this Local Plan;

10. Require the completion of project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment, in accordance with
Policy DM24, to ensure there are no likely significant effects upon any European designated site. For
residential sites within 6km of an access point to any of the North Kent Marshes, development must
contribute to its Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy or undertake their own HRA;

11. Demonstrate the protection, management and enhancement, as appropriate, of biodiversity,
landscape, seascape and coastal processes;

12. Contribute to the objectives of the Kent Biodiversity Strategy as developed by the Kent Nature
Partnership;

13. Make the enhancement of biodiversity and landscape their primary purpose;

14. Apply national planning policy in respect of pollution, despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated
and unstable land and seek opportunities to improve the environmental quality of the borough’s soils,
air and water; and

15. Meet all of the points in box ** “What Do we Expect from New Developments?”

4.3.192 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

4.3.193 Swale’s built heritage is one of its greatest assets. The Borough has a wealth of historic areas,
buildings, and features reflecting its Roman and medieval legacy, its naval and maritime history, and its
industrial and agricultural past can still be seen in its principal landscapes of the central North Downs, The
Blean, the northern fruit belt, the northern coast and marsh and the Isle of Sheppey. Other important historic
landscapes shaped by human intervention are the Borough’s grand-scale parklands and more formal
gardens and landscape features focussed around imposing country houses such as Doddington Place.

4.3.194 Whilst the NPPF and development management policies are likely to be sufficient to deal with
detailed proposals affecting heritage assets, this section sets out the significance of our assets at the
strategic level and how our Local Plan strategy for heritage is integrated across a range of issues.

51The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 73



4.3.195 Heritage assets are defined by the NPPF as a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape
positively identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions. They
include designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority during the process
of decision making or through the plan-making process (including local listing).

4.3.196 One of the NPPF's core planning principles is to conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate
to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of current and
future generations. It requires local plans to provide a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment
of the historic environment and to recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve
them in a manner appropriate to their significance. In developing this strategy, local planning authorities
should take into account:

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to
viable uses consistent with their conservation;
the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation of the historic
environment can bring;
the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness;
and
opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character of a place.

4.3.197 Swale Borough Council adopted a Heritage Strategy in March 2020; the key deliverables have
been divided over a period of 12 years through a series of 4 consecutive 3-year actions plans. In addition
to the projects centred around conservation and management of existing building stock and identifying
non-designated heritage assets, the Council is also committed to developing, disseminating and encouraging
further understanding of the heritage diversity within the borough by producing the following heritage theme
papers during the 12-year period of the adopted Heritage Strategy as follows:

1. Archaeology
2. Aviation and defence heritage
3. Industrial Heritage
4. Maritime and defence heritage
5. Agricultural, horticultural and rural heritage
6. Towns and high streets
7. Villages and hamlets
8. Churches, chapels and memorials
9. Historic Landscapes
10. Museums, collections & Archives (digital/traditional)
11. Portable/moveable heritage

4.3.198 These themes have been chosen due to the particular vulnerability and typically poor level of
understanding of these heritage types, and the Council will be starting off this heritage theme topic paper
series in 2020/21 with a paper on archaeology. Beyond the first three topic papers on archaeology, aviation
& defence heritage and industrial heritage, the order in which the topic papers will be produced has not yet
been agreed and this will be determined through the subsequent actions plans to be produced in support
of the adopted Swale Heritage Strategy.

4.3.199 When considering the impact of a proposed development on a designated heritage asset, the
NPPF states that considerable importance and weight should be given to its conservation. The more
important the asset, the greater the weight should be. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or
loss should require clear and convincing justification and substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed
building, park or garden should be exceptional.

4.3.200 The Local Plan strategy ensures that consideration of the historic environment is central to
decision-making. Within each Core Policy, allocation or development management policy, there will rarely

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202152

Strategic Policies4

Page 74



be a situation where there is not a relationship with heritage in some form, whether from green infrastructure,
landscape, regeneration, economic development, transport, infrastructure planning, tourism, town centres
and climate change. Policy CP8 recognises this interrelationship.

4.3.201 The Borough's rich legacy of heritage assets, both designated and non-designated, allows a
broad strategic overview of their significance to be outlined in terms of their importance to the character
and distinctiveness of the Borough. This is illustrated by Map 5.7.1 and Statement 7. Such assets act as
drivers for regeneration and tourism within the Borough and can give developments an identity and character
specific to the area. Heritage assets may offer opportunities for potential partnership working with the
Council, with amenity groups, building preservations trusts and/or civic societies.

Statement Statement 4

Strategic overview of Swale's heritage assets

Swale’s diverse range of heritage assets make a substantial positive contribution to the borough’s
local character and distinctiveness. They are an irreplaceable resource which justifies conservation
and enhancement in a manner appropriate to their significance. Listed buildings, conservation areas,
registered parks & gardens and scheduled monuments are all designated heritage assets. However,
the term heritage asset includes any valued component of the historic environment, be it a building,
monument, site, place, area or landscape, which is positively identified as having a degree of significance
meriting consideration in planning decisions.

Both designated and non-designated assets are identified by the council during the plan-making
process and through the planning application process. Their identification is a response to the recognition
that they hold meaning to society and this justifies a degree of protection in planning decisions.

A recent study undertaken by Historic England about how the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted our
social lives includes our access to and engagement with our precious heritage and it has found that
‘historic places convey a sense of uniqueness and awe and are strong emotional pillars connecting
communities… heritage can also improve personal wellbeing, by helping us understand our past, our
individual and communal identity and help us connect with the places where we live’.

The heritage sector therefore has an important role to play in our individual mental wellbeing in the
future, and visiting heritage can ease the challenges associated with dementia and Alzheimer’s disease.

The Royal Society of Arts, in partnership with the British Council, recently conducted a study in light
of the Black Lives Matter movement. The RSA identified six domains of heritage: historical built
environment; museums, archives and artefacts; industrial heritage; parks and open space; landscape
and natural heritage; and culture and memories. Heritage is therefore both tangible and intangible.
The study concluded that:

We all have ‘heritage’ and it belongs to everyone but heritage narratives can reinforce power inequalities.
Some heritage is privileged over others. Narratives around heritage, identity, place and belonging can
be controversial. They can exclude the heritage of minorities and they can sometimes be hijacked by
far right, nationalist agendas about national identity and who belongs. In reality, there are multiple
heritages: ‘established’ heritage, working class heritage, Black heritage, South Asian heritage,
place-based heritage. Harnessed positively, the authors believe heritage can help bring diverse
communities together and bridge the increasingly polarised public discourse in the UK.’

Swale currently has: 1,439 listed building entries, comprising nearly 2000 buildings, 22 Scheduled
Monuments and 4,818 sites on the Kent Historic Environment Record. There are also 50 designated
conservation areas and 4 Registered Historic Parks and Gardens in the borough.

Broadly, our assets comprise:

53The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 75



• historic landscapes - the central North Downs, The Blean, the northern fruit belt, the northern coast
and marsh and the Isle of Sheppey; early settlements around Roman Watling Street and coastal
creeks;

• Saxon and Norman settlements evidenced by e.g. defensive sites and churches;

• former monastic establishments at Faversham and Minster;

• medieval farmsteads with attendant barns, oast houses and outbuildings;

• time-span (of buildings present) and urban form/morphology of Faversham;

• rural lanes and droving tracks;

• the array of coaching inns along the ancient Watling Street route (now the A2), particularly focused
at Sittingbourne, together with other features e.g. milestones, associated with its travelling past;

• the legacy of historic and ongoing industries in the borough’s landscapes and townscapes, including
gunpowder production, milling, brewing, brick making, barge building, paper production and maritime
trading;

• structures and features relating to pioneer aviators and the establishment of Great War and WW2
airfields at Leysdown and Eastchurch, at Sheppey;

• centuries of Naval history at the former Royal Naval Dockyard at Sheerness;

• Great War defences to the west of Sittingbourne and along the Sheppey coast;

• World War II defensive structures, including those of strategic importance in the Battle of Britain;

• remnants of prehistoric activity in Swale, particularly across Sheppey and at Milton Creek,
Sittingbourne.

• numerous villages, hamlets and parkland estates; and

• Swale’s currently unknown archaeological sites.

4.3.202 The overview in Statement 7 is not intended to be a replacement for establishing the presence
and value of heritage assets when considering new development. However, given the importance of many
such assets, full weight to their preservation and enhancement will be given. In order to further assist the
identification of heritage assets, the council has embarked on producing a list of Swale's non-designated
local heritage assets.

4.3.203 Parts of Swale's heritage are at risk. Historically, this has typically been from neglect, but more
recently, it has been from changing needs and requirements. This is especially true for our high streets,
where a growing demand for online shopping and housing has put the future of some buildings, and in
some cases a number of our high streets as a whole at risk. For its part, the Council will aim to remove or
reduce this risk over time, but will be especially supportive of sustainable proposals that bring the buildings
in these areas back into viable and appropriate use, especially where they can contribute to our regeneration
aspirations and make a positive contribution to the local character and distinctiveness of the area, based
upon an understanding and evaluation of its defining characteristics.

4.3.204 Within historic landscapes, historic patterns of land use define the ‘grain’ of existing patterns of
settlement and landscape. As with urban development, new development is more likely to be successfully
integrated into the Borough if it respects and responds to its context and provides for a sustainable low
carbon future. Its layout should take account of the historic landscape of the area. Existing patterns of
roads, lanes, paths, hedgerow networks and field boundaries should help to shape new development,

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202154

Strategic Policies4

Page 76



allowing the older landscape to show through the modern development. Historic landscape analysis will
enable judgements to be made about the relative importance of different components of the landscape so
that priorities can be set for conservation and enhancement.

4.3.205 Overall, development proposals will be informed by the integrity, form and character of settlements
and historic landscapes within our settlement strategy, using these assets as a strong starting place for
planning change. They will also consider the broad heritage issues identified by the settlement strategy
(Policy ST3), within the area strategies (policies ST 5-ST 7) and within development management policies,
notably policies DM 32 - DM 38. When bringing forward development proposals, a continuous assessment
of considering designated and non-designated heritage assets should be demonstrated from site and
desk-based heritage assessment, master planning and development briefs through to design and access
statements, as appropriate. The fruits of this important and necessary work will be apparent in the design,
layout and detail of the proposals.

4.3.206 Understanding the significance of heritage assets is vital to the sustainable evolution of managing
change, and maintenance of the historic environment. The idea of 'significance' lies at the core of these
principles. Significance is a collective term for the sum of all the heritage values attached to a place, be it
a building an archaeological site or a larger historic area such as a whole village or landscape. Applicants
must include an assessment of significance of any heritage asset affected, including any contribution made
by their setting, based on Historic England’s guidance on the subject outlined in ‘Conservation Principles’
and in Statements of Heritage Significance: Analysing Significance in Heritage Assets (Historic England
Advice Note 12). The level of detail to be provided in any assessment should be proportionate to the
heritage asset’s significance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal
on that significance.

Policy ST 11

Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

To support the protection and positive management of the Borough's heritage assets, the Council
prepared and subsequently adopted (in March 2020) a borough-wide Heritage Strategy. As a key
objective of this adopted strategy, new development will be required to sustain and enhance the
significance of designated and non-designated heritage assets in order to enhance the historic
environment whilst creating for all areas, a sense of place and special identity. Furthermore,
development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Accord with the national planning policy framework (NPPF) in respect of heritage matters, together
with the priorities of the adopted heritage strategy;

2. Sustain and enhance the significance of Swale's designated and non-designated heritage assets
and their settings in a manner appropriate to their significance and, where appropriate, in accordance
with Policies DM 38 to DM 42;

3. Respond to the integrity, form and character of settlements and historic landscapes;

4. Respond positively for the planned bringing of heritage assets into sensitive and sustainable use
as set out within allocations, neighbourhood plans, regeneration areas and town centres, especially
for assets identified as being at risk on national or local registers;

5. Respond positively to the conservation area appraisals and management strategies prepared by
the Council;

6. Respect the significance and integrity of heritage assets, whilst meeting the challenges of a low
carbon future;

55The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

4Strategic Policies

Page 77



7. Respond positively to the schedule of the local heritage list (non-designated heritage assets) which
the Council will be putting in place within the plan period; and

8. Promote the enjoyment of heritage assets through education, accessibility, interpretation, and
improved access.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202156

Strategic Policies4

Page 78



5 Land allocations for new development

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 This chapter deals with the land allocations that are necessary to meet our development targets
for the period 2022 to 2038. This includes allocations for both residential development and employment
land. Bearing Fruits was adopted in July 2017 with a timeframe to 2031. Since the plan was adopted,
many sites have come forward and are now under construction or complete. This Local Plan Review builds
on those existing allocations and intends to roll forward those that are not yet built out as saved policies.
These sites are identified in the table in appendix x. As this plan progresses through the various stages
of the local plan review process, the table will be updated to reflect activity on the ground, rolling forward
only those allocations that are still to come forward in their form as set out in their policies in Bearing Fruits.
In due course, these saved policies will be merged into a final version of this plan.

5.1.2 In addition to the saved allocations and policies, the Local Plan Review provides for development
opportunities as follows:

mixed use development at strategic allocations at east of Faversham
mixed use development on land at Rushenden South to complement the wider regeneration area at
Queenborough and Rushenden
an ‘Area of Opportunity’ to bring forward a housing-led development during the mid to later years of
the Local Plan Review at Teynham
Some smaller scale residential and employment allocations are at Neames Forstal, Selling and at
Lamberhurst Farm near Dargate.
Sittingbourne town centre is a focus for major development, bringing forward brownfield sites to deliver
a range of uses, include a substantial amount of new homes

5.2 Existing committed strategic allocations

Saved housing allocations

5.2.1 Bearing Fruits was adopted in July 2017 and allocated sufficient land to deliver approximately
11,309 dwellings on additional sites to those that were already committed to meet the identified development
needs at that time. The period of the Bearing Fruits local plan covered 2014 to 2031 and therefore needed
to include sites that would deliver throughout the whole of the plan period, during years 2022 onwards.
2022 is now the base date of this Local Plan review and therefore it is appropriate to roll forward
unimplemented development allocations. While there has been some progress in the delivery of local plan
allocations, there remains a significant number of sites that are not yet implemented. These sites are
identified in appendix x and are saved allocations as part of this review. Site specific policies that set out
the development parameters remain in situ as part of the development plan framework. The following
sites identified for residential development are at varying stages of the planning and development process.
These allocations and their respective policies in Bearing Fruits are to be saved pursuant to the progression
of this document.

Policy A 1

Saved Housing Allocations

The sites identified in appendix x are safeguarded for development as identified by their saved policies
from Bearing Fruits. These policies will apply when determining planning applications for these sites
along with the general policies and principles set out in the Local Plan Review.

57The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 79



5.3 Existing committed housing allocations

A 1 a Smaller allocations for housing development

The sites set out in Bearing Fruits, policies A20 and A21 that are unimplemented with be rolled
forward in this review as shown on the proposals map. Some of these sites have particular issues
that require consideration in detail at the planning application stage in accordance with policies of
the Local Plan. These matters are not repeated here. However, some allocations have specific
issues that are already highlighted. An additional site is added as below.

Commentary with specific reference to relevant
allocations

Allocation

• Design and layout of proposals will need to take
full account of the listed former hotel and its setting
that may limit the capacity of the site to up to 20
dwellings

Former Garden Hotel, The Street, Boughton

• Will need to undertake ecological assessments
that will also consider the presence of protected
species

Table 5.3.1

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202158

Land allocations for new development5

Page 80



Policy A 1A

Allocations on sites within existing settlements

Planning permission will be granted for residential development at the following locations (as listed
and unimplemented) in Policies A20 and A21) and including the additional site of the former Garden
Hotel as shown on the Proposals Map.

Development proposals will:

1. Address the matters listed in the above table (and that in Bearing Fruits as it pertains to rolled
forward Policy A20 and Policy A21 sites).

2. Address whether existing open space should be retained and make new provision as required;

3. Achieve design, layout, density and landscaping appropriate to the context of the site and in
accordance with Policy ST 6 Good Design;

4. Avoid adverse impacts on biodiversity where possible, mitigate adverse impacts to acceptable
levels and achieve 20% biodiversity net gain. Proposals will ensure that, through both on and
off-site measures, any significant adverse impacts on European sites through recreational pressure
will be mitigated in accordance with Policies ST10 and DM24

6. Through the use of integrated strategies, retain existing trees and vegetation where possible and
enhance through appropriate landscaping;

7. provide safe access to the site and respond to issues highlighted by an appropriate transport
assessment;

8. Make the site safe from contamination and flood risk;

9. Meet open space needs in accordance with Policy DM 17;

10. safeguard the amenity of existing and new residents;

11. Achieve a mix of housing in accordance with Policy ST 5, including provision for affordable
housing with Policy DM ??; and

Provide infrastructure needs arising from the development, including those identified by the Local
Plan Review Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

Kent Science Park

5.3.1 1.1 Located in the rural area south of Sittingbourne, the Kent Science Park has developed across
26 hectares and comprises around 47,000 sq. m. of laboratory, research and development facilities. It is
one of the largest science park and research facilities in South East England with high spec laboratories
and business accommodation set over a number of buildings across the site. The variety of premises on
offer provides accommodation suitable for start -up or micro businesses as well as established, growing
organisations. Serviced offices have also been popular additions to the site in recent years.

5.3.2 1.2 Kent Science Park is identified as one of the Borough’s existing strategic employment locations,
the current extent of the site identified by the boundary on the proposals map. It provides a specialist offer
within the Borough and wider region, supporting approximately 600 jobs in the bio-sciences are environmental
technologies sector.

5.3.3 1.3 Part of the site’s unique attraction is its scenic countryside location. It is close to local biodiversity
designations and national and local designated landscapes (Kent Downs AONB and Area of High Landscape

59The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 81



Value). These designations, together with the nature and character of residential streets and rural lanes
that lead to the site also mean that opportunities for expansion at this location are limited and require careful
consideration.

5.3.4 1.4. Policy XX KSP is intended to provide parameters and the policy framework to support proposals
that are compatible or complementary with the use of the site as a ‘Science Park’ as defined by the UK
Science Park Association. Any future needs at this location should first consider the efficient use of existing
land and buildings (including consented land and land and buildings within the current security fence). In
terms of any expansion proposals, including those beyond the security fence and consented land,
environmental and transport constraints must be addressed in full given the remote and sensitive location
of this specialist facility.

5.3.5 1.5 Any proposals to expand the Park beyond the extent of the site shown on the proposals map
should come forward in the context of a landscape strategy and framework prepared for agreement by the
Council. Any landscape strategy will need to set out how proposals will conserve and enhance the parkland
character of surrounding land, including its remaining landscape structure, whilst diversifying and restoring
features and habitats and creating links between features. Attention should be given to any impacts within
views of the site, especially from the Kent Downs AONB to the south.

5.3.6 1.6. A transport assessment will need to consider and address the impact of proposals on the
network of rural lands around the site and at other locations, recognising that the Council will need to be
satisfied not only in terms of the overall highway capacity of the network, but also the continuing
environmental quality of the lanes around the site. These issues could be addressed by comprehensive
measures that can maximise the use of public transport, other non-car modes and car use reduction
initiatives between the Park, Sittingbourne (particularly key public transport hubs) and beyond. This could
include a formal cycle link between the site and Sittingbourne town centre.

Policy A 2

Kent Science Park

The Council will support proposals at the Kent Science Park, as shown on the Proposals Map, that
will consolidate and expand its role as a business cluster of regional significance, specialising in
technology and knowledge-based businesses. The location, scale and design of proposals shall avoid
significant adverse impacts on the environment or where not possible, minimise and adequately mitigate
such impacts, or compensate for them as a last resort. Additionally,

All development proposals shall:

1. comprise uses compatible or complementary with the use of the site as a ‘Science Park’ as defined
by the UK Science Park Association;

2. exploit the existing opportunities for sustainable energy at the site and if this is not feasible or
financially viable, incorporate new facilities that deliver reduced or zero carbon development in line
with Policy XX

3. demonstrate, via a Transport Assessment, adequate capacity in the existing transport network,
including delivery of any identified and necessary improvements to that network that shall also include
implementation of a Travel Plan to minimise car journeys and include a safe cycle route to link the site
with Sittingbourne town centre;

4. not significantly harm the character of the rural lanes in accordance with Policy XX Rural Lanes;
and

Proposals to extend development beyond the existing boundary as defined by the Proposals Map will
need to demonstrate that there is no reasonable prospect of the development needs being met within

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202160

Land allocations for new development5

Page 82



the site through redevelopment or reconfiguration. As well as satisfying the above criteria, proposals
shall additionally demonstrate that the current level of sport facilities and provision will be maintained
and the development will take place in accordance with an overall landscape and ecological strategy
and framework that ensures both the mitigation of impacts on designated sites and their setting, and
the continuance of a high quality environment for the site and its wider environs.

5.4 Existing committed employment allocations

5.4.1 Two major locations have formed the part of the strategy for employment in Swale since the 1990s.
Both benefit from outline planning permissions, with significant areas remaining to be developed. These
are Ridham and Kemsley in Sittingbourne and Neatscourt on the Isle of Sheppey. Alongside this are the
employment allocations from the 2017 Local Plan which are yet to be built out and are therefore carried
forward.

Ridham and Kemsley, Sittingbourne

5.4.2 Situated at the northern edge of Sittingbourne, this site is suitable for B2 and B8 uses of the Use
Class Order, which often require large amounts of land, although planning permission for B1 (E) and a
limited range of A3 Classes have been additionally granted. Some 145, 985 sq m remains available for 'B'
class uses. There is an approved development brief for the site.

5.4.3 Given its closeness to the Swale Special Protection Area and Ramsar site, a Habitats Regulations
Assessment may be required and development will need to be carried out with reference to Policy ST 10
and DM 24.

5.4.4 Planning applications need to include an assessment of disturbance including noise, lighting or
visual intrusion and other adverse effects on the integrity of the European designated SPA/Ramsar site
both during construction and throughout the operation of the site. Planning permissions should ensure that
necessary mitigation is provided as necessary to address these issues. Adequate space for the existing
high voltage power lines will also need to be maintained. An archaeological assessment will determine the
importance of the area and, if necessary, make proposals for mitigation.

Policy A 3a

Ridham and Kemsley, Sittingbourne

Planning permission will be granted for land allocated for economic land uses, as shown on the
Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

1. Accord with the approved development brief for the site; and

2. Satisfactorily address landscape, biodiversity, archaeological and existing power line issues.

5.4.5 Neatscourt, Queenborough, Isle of Sheppey

5.4.6 Situated on the A249 to the east of Queenborough and forming part of the Queenborough and
Rushenden regeneration area (Policy Regen 3), there remains 76,064 sq m available for 'B' Use Class
Order uses. Recent development has seen the emergence of the area as a retail and leisure centre to
complement Sheerness town centre, but it is important that any further proposals for retail uses do not
undermine the role and retail functioning of the town and other local centers or the role of this site in meeting
the Island's (and Swale's) industrial floorspace needs for the plan period.

61The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 83



5.4.7 Development is expected to accord with the Queenborough and Rushenden Masterplan adopted
in 2010 and it’s 2015 Addendum. Planning applications will need to address their impacts on landscape,
any necessary mitigation and compensation for loss of grazing marsh (some of which has already been
implemented), protection of neighbouring residential uses and the retention and protection of existing flood
defences. An archaeological assessment will need to determine the importance of the site, for instance its
counter-wall, and propose mitigation if required.

Policy A 3b

Neatscourt, Queenborough, Isle of Sheppey

Planning permission will be granted for land allocated for economic land uses, as shown on the
Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

1. Accord with the approved Masterplan and it’s Addendum; and

2. Satisfactorily address landscape, biodiversity, retail impact and archaeological issues

Land south of Kemsley Mill

5.4.8 Located to the south of Kemsley Paper Mill and to the east of Swale Way, 3.3 ha of land is allocated
for a mix of 'B' use class employment uses to achieve up to about 8,000 sq m of floorspace. Outline planning
permission was granted for 800 sq m of B1 (E) and B2 for this site but this expired in mid-2019.

5.4.9 The site has good local road access to the A249 and proximity to existing employment activities.
Access can be gained from SwaleWay, but a transport assessment will determine the extent of contributions
needed for improvements to the junction at the Grovehurst Interchange.

5.4.10 Due to the open and exposed landscape across Milton Creek and the Milton Creek country park,
this is a highly visible landscape with distinctive landscape features with nearby land of international, national
and local importance to biodiversity. Visual impacts are lessened to some degree by the backdrop of the
imposing mill complex, but with the allocation located on a slope leading down toward Milton Creek, a
poorly executed scheme could result in adverse landscape and heritage impacts due to the site's prominent
position and elevation.

5.4.11 At the foot of the slope, a short distance from the allocation, is the Castle Rough
Scheduled Monument, a medieval moated settlement site. Although its medieval buildings no longer exist
above ground, most of the remainder of the site survives to a great extent intact and has preserved a wide
range of features. Its significance is also informed by the physical evidence within the immediate area and
the wider landscape with its interface between higher ground, the marshes, and estuary beyond.

5.4.12 Development of the site will need to be led by its landscape and heritage context with its siting,
massing, design (inc. external lighting) and landscaping needing to minimise and mitigate visual impacts
as far as possible, alongside the preservation and enhancement of the setting of the monument. The site
is also crossed by National Grid's high voltage overhead power lines, the location of which should be fully
considered. Together these matters will ultimately determine the amount of employment floorspace that is
able to be brought forward.

5.4.13 Although separated by a road, visual impacts, and potentially, noise could adversely affect nearby
residents and the design, layout, landscaping and uses proposed will seek to minimise these to acceptable
levels.

5.4.14 Policies DM 3, 4, and 37 encourage the use of sustainable design and construction, renewable
energy and sustainable urban drainage, all of which are particularly appropriate to this location and proposal.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202162

Land allocations for new development5

Page 84



5.4.15 It is likely that it will not be possible to remove all adverse impacts on landscape and heritage, but
there are opportunities for adjacent land in the same ownership to form a 15.5 ha extension to the Milton
Creek country park which could offer wider landscape and biodiversity enhancements and increase natural
and semi-natural greenspace for the town. It should also enable heritage assets to be improved with better
management, access and interpretation to Castle Rough, leading to an enhancement in the condition and
appearance of the monument itself. This might be achieved through clearance of vegetation, and better
access to it (signage and paths) so that the monument is better revealed, appreciated and understood.
Given the proximity of the allocation to the monument, there is also potential for associated archaeological
deposits to be revealed and therefore archaeological investigation to precede development should take
place in accordance with relevant guidance and Policy DM 33.

5.4.16 Provided that development is able to facilitate the transfer of this land, alongside any physical
improvements necessary to secure access and enhancements to landscape, heritage and biodiversity, the
overall benefits of the proposals should outweigh any remaining adverse impacts. However, it will not be
possible to determine this without further assessment at the planning application stage. A Habitats
Regulations Assessment may also be required to determine any impacts arising to the Special Protection
Area.

5.4.17 Given the context of the site and the issues arising, use of the Council’s Design Panel, or similar,
is strongly advocated as a means to ensure the development is successfully integrated with its surroundings.

Policy A 3c

Land South of Kemsley Mill

Planning permission will be granted for economic land uses on land to the south of Kemsley Mill, as
shown on the Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

1. Bring forward proposals to minimise the potential visual, heritage and residential amenity
impacts of development through high quality integrated landscape-led design, including the use
of the Council’s Design Panel, or similar;

2. Facilitate an extension to the Milton Creek country park to bring about enhancements to the
significance, condition, appearance and appreciation of the wider landscape, biodiversity and
heritage of the area;

3. Achieve the preservation and enhancement of the Scheduled Monument (including its setting)
and undertake archaeological evaluation of the site in accordance with Policy DM34 and respond
accordingly;

4. Contribute toward improvements to highway infrastructure where identified by a transport

assessment; and

5. Bring forward sustainable design and construction, renewable energy and sustainable urban
drainage measures in accordance with Policies DM 3, 4, and 37.

Land at West Minster, Sheerness

5.4.18 This 2.5 ha site at West Minster Sheerness is allocated for 7,500 sq m of 'B' use class employment
uses. The site occupies an important location on the A249 Trunk Road and on the approach to Sheerness.

5.4.19 The site has been reviewed since its allocation in both the 2008 and 2017 Local Plans and it
remains the Council's view that this site is suitable for a range of employment uses. However, its size has

63The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 85



been reduced since the 2008 allocation to avoid biodiversity and archaeological concerns and to limit its
visual intrusion into the open countryside. The standard of layout/design and landscaping associated with
the proposal will be required to respond to and reflect its prominent location on the approaches to Sheerness.
The archaeological potential of the site should be assessed and any impacts arising mitigated.

Policy A 3d

Land at West Minster, Sheerness

Planning permission will be granted for economic land uses on land at West Minster, as shown on the
Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

1. Achieve a high standard of design and landscaping in recognition of the site’s prominent
location;

2. Financially contribute toward improvements to infrastructure where identified by a transport
assessment; and

3. Assess, minimise and mitigate impacts upon biodiversity and archaeology.

Land at Cowstead Corner, Queenborough

5.4.20 Located between the A249, Cowstead Corner and the Neatscourt employment allocations to the
west are two sites of 1.36 ha and 1.6 ha respectively. The sites form part of the wider regeneration area
for Queenborough-Rushenden identified by Policy Regen 3. They present an opportunity to modestly extend
and round off the existing Neatscourt employment allocation.

5.4.21 The northern site could be appropriate for hotel use (use class C1), perhaps for around
20 bedrooms. In addition to meeting a need for accommodation on the Island, the design of the building
would need to reflect this prominent gateway 'first impressions' location on the rising ground at the edge
of the marshes. The high quality design needed for this location will point to a better quality hotel being
provided in a high quality landscaped environment, as opposed to that which would normally be achieved
by the budget hotel sector. The limited size of the site may present challenges to achieving this and as
such, the Council will encourage use of its Design Panel process. Archaeological evaluation and mitigation
of impacts should also be undertaken at this site.

5.4.22 Planning permission will not be granted for roadside services such as truck stop facilities,
refueling facilities and similar services in this prominent location.

5.4.23 To achieve the maximum developable area, access to the site should ideally be achieved from
the existing employment allocation to the west. Should that not be possible, then a transport assessment
will need to additionally demonstrate that a safe access can be achieved in what would be a location close
to the roundabout.

5.4.24 For the land to the south of the A249, there is likely to be only limited potential to extend the
employment allocation for 'B' use class uses for up to 5,600 sq m. Other than potentially being able to
provide some additional capacity for the existing building plot to the west, it is likely that the majority of the
site would be required for landscaping, given its prominent location.

5.4.25 Although these sites lie outside the current extent of Neatscourt employment area, they will closely
relate both physically and visually to development which is planned there. As such, developers bringing
forward proposals are advised to have regard to the adopted 2010Masterplan SPD and its 2015 Addendum,
to ensure that complementary schemes are proposed.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202164

Land allocations for new development5

Page 86



Policy A 3e

Land at Cowstead Corner, Queenborough

Planning permission will be granted for employment uses on sites north and south of the A249 at
Cowstead Corner, as shown on the Proposals Map. The northern site is allocated for an hotel (use
class C1), whilst the southern site for economic land uses. Development proposals will:

1. North of the A249, satisfy the Council that the design and landscape framework for the site
and buildings reflect their prominent gateway location and does not include facilities associated
with roadside services;

2. South of the A249, secure vehicle access from the adjacent employment land and achieve

significant landscaping reflecting the site's prominent gateway location;

3. Undertake archaeological evaluation and mitigation of impacts prior to development of either
site; and

4. Be complementary to the provisions of the Queenborough/Rushenden Masterplan and it’s
Addendum.

Land at Selling Road, Faversham

5.4.26 This site comprises 1.8 ha for employment purposes of land and buildings situated on the western
side of Selling Road and to the south of the Gunpowder Mill public house. The site is a unique and attractive
opportunity for a range of small-scale employment uses appropriate to this semi-rural location. These could
complement the uses already established on the eastern side of Selling Road, though new retail would
need to be very carefully scrutinised given the site's location relative to the town centre. Given the modest
scale of the employment envisaged, the site could achieve some 6,300 sqm of new 'B' use class employment
floorspace.

5.4.27 The site sits partly within the proposed mixed-use development at East Faversham, specifically
the SE Faversham site, and proposals will need to ensure a coordinated design approach.

5.4.28 Development will mainly comprise conversion of the existing buildings on the site, although where
considered appropriate, the Council will permit some new build. Any such development will need to be of
the highest design standard and respect the traditional vernacular of the existing buildings, especially those
identified as heritage assets. Likewise, the site’s future relationship with the allocation to the south will need
careful thought. Future planning applications should also include an archaeological assessment, which, if
required, will lead to proposals for mitigation. Due to the current nature of the site and its potential ecological
value, an ecological assessment will be required.

5.4.29 Current access to the site is restricted, so uses that attract high volumes of traffic would not be
appropriate without improvements to the A2/Selling Road junction and/or linkages through to the proposed
development at SE Faversham (Policy MU 1c.)

Policy A 3f

Land at Selling Road, Faversham

Planning permission will be granted for economic land uses on land and buildings to the west of Selling
Road, Faversham, as shown on the Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

65The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 87



1. Comprise uses appropriate in scale to a semi-rural location;

2. Predominantly comprise the sensitive conversion and re-use of existing buildings;

3. Achieve a high built and integrated landscape design standard, respecting and reflecting the
traditional vernacular of existing buildings and by securing an integrated edge with the adjacent
MU1 c allocation;

4. Prepare a Transport Assessment and implement any highway and other
transportation improvements necessary; and

5. Assess, minimise and mitigate potential adverse impacts upon biodiversity and archaeology.

Land at Graveney Road, east of Faversham

5.4.30 A 2.0 ha site north of Graveney Road and adjoining an existing employment area is allocated for
employment purposes. The site could provide some 7,000 sq m of floorspace suitable for B1 (E), B8, or
possibly B2 use class uses.

5.4.31 There are constraints to development here arising from its topography and the resulting need to
place new buildings below existing site levels to reduce visual impacts on the wider open landscape around
it. Access to the site will be via the proposed allocation to the east. (MU 1a.) Any remaining visual impacts
will be mitigated by the retention and significant enhancement of existing vegetation, which may require
use of some adjacent land.

5.4.32 It is highly likely that safeguarded minerals are present at this site and therefore the quality and
quantity of the mineral and the practicalities of prior extraction should be investigated via a Minerals
Assessment in line with the safeguarding mineral and prior extraction policies contained within the Kent
Minerals and Waste Local Plan.

5.4.33 Achieving these objectives is likely to be best secured through a comprehensive approach with
the redevelopment of the adjacent area subject to Policy MU 1a. A Transport Assessment will be required
and some localised improvements, especially sustainable and active travel interventions, will be required,
within this cluster of sites and to the town centre and the train station.

Policy A 3g

Land at Graveney Road, east of Faversham

Planning permission will be granted for economic land uses on land at Graveney Road
Faversham, as shown on the Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

1. Secure access to the site via land to the east;

2. Undertake a Transport Assessment and provide any highway, sustainable and active travel
interventions required;

3. Undertake archaeological evaluation and mitigation of impacts prior to development; and

4. Minimise adverse impacts upon the landscape and surrounding countryside to acceptable
levels and landscape the site, in conjunction with the site to the east, Policy MU 1a, create an
appropriate and attractive urban edge to the town.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202166

Land allocations for new development5

Page 88



5.5 Proposed strategic, mixed use allocations and areas of opportunity

East of Faversham Expansion

This mixed use allocation policy covers three sites: the land at Graveney Road, land at Lady Dane Farm
and land at South East Faversham. This is to ensure a coherent design and movement approach across
the sites.

5.5.1 The concept diagram also includes the extension to the Preston Fields site allocation.

5.5.2 Faversham is the second tier of Swale’s settlement hierarchy and therefore contains a good range
of services and facilities and transport options. It is an attractive and historic small market town at the centre
of a rich farming hinterland and is surrounded by attractive countryside. The town’s industrial and maritime
heritage produce its present day character - an outstanding range of historic buildings, streets and waterways
and a town centre with a strong independent retail and service sector which needs nurturing and supporting,
especially in the aftermath of Covid-19 and the ensuing recession. This allocation needs to support the
town centre and not act as an alternative destination for leisure and retail. The large scale of this allocation
will be a challenge for Faversham’s services and existing infrastructure and therefore it will require careful
planning to ensure that adequate provision is made to support both new and existing residents.

Site description

This large development site is located on the eastern side of the historic market town of Faversham and
is bounded by the London to Thanet railway line to the north and the M2 motorway to the south, with the
historic A2 road and the London to Dover railway line running through it. The majority of the site is currently
being used for agriculture; mostly top and soft fruit and arable crops with shelter breaks as the predominant
landscape feature. Land is relatively flat overall with subtle undulations and then rising to the south-east –
levels increase from 25m AOD to 40m AOD. From the A2 travelling east and from the M2/A2 junction the
part of the site east of the railway line is visually prominent due to this topography.

5.5.3 The landscape to the south and east of Faversham comprises a combination of predominantly
arable fields and areas of commercial fruit cultivation and horticulture. The presence of some commercial
orchards and an associated network of shelterbelts and hedgerows throughout the area provides enclosure
and helps contain the apparent scale of the landscape.

5.5.4 Landscape sensitivity has been assessed by consultants LUC both in broad terms Favershamwide
and in detail specific to the site. (ADD in link.) Overall sensitivity of the site to residential development is
designated ‘Moderate’. Surrounding Faversham, apart from the east and south-east zones, all other areas
are classified as ‘High’ sensitivity to residential development. The site falls within the Landscape Character
area Faversham and Ospringe Fruit Belt (no. 20). The detailed assessment of the character area identifies
that impacts on landscape character and visual impact can be mitigated, providing mitigation proposals
are adopted, but that impacts on local landscape features and views may still remain.

5.5.5 The area is not subject to any landscape designations (national or local). However directly south
of the site, south of the M2, is an Area of ‘High Landscape Value – Kent Level’ (HLV-KL) and to the
south-east, beyond the HLV-KL, is the ‘Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty’ (KD-AONB).
Although the KD-AONB is not actually adjunct to the site it is considered that the site is within the ‘setting’
of the KD-AONB as it is visible from the KD-AONB. Therefore, careful consideration to the potential impact
on its setting must be had, especially from land at SE Faversham. Salters Lane, Selling Road, Homestall
Lane, Graveney Road and Staple Street are locally designated Rural Lanes. There are some long views
across the larger scale fields to the north across the Swale to the Isle of Sheppey and to the east to the
wooded high ground of the Blean.

67The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 89



5.5.6 There are two listed buildings on the SE Faversham site and one adjacent to the land at Lady Dane
Farm site but no Conservation Areas covering the site.

What is proposed?

In total, this site will accommodate a minimum of 3,340 dwellings with an appropriate mix of type and
tenures and affordable housing percentage, in accordance with Policies ST 5 and DM 15. It will provide a
wide range of employment, including at least 20ha of land for economic land uses and a new secondary
school and two new primary schools, one 2FE and one 2 or 3FE.

5.5.7 Due to the scale of the growth proposed and the need for land owners to work together,
a Masterplan/development brief should be prepared, consulted upon and agreed by the Council before any
planning applications are submitted. This should consider such matters as the phasing of development
relative to transport and other infrastructure improvements and the need to secure an upgrade to the waste
water works. At all stages, use of the Council's Design Panel, or similar, will be strongly recommended.

Key strategic issues that need addressing within the East Faversham Expansion

East of Faversham is identified for large scale growth in recognition of its location close to the town and
the strategic road network of the A2 andM2. There are a number of strategic issues needing to be addressed
if the town is to expand further eastwards successfully:

1. Integrating the expansion area with the existing town: The aim is for the expansion area to feel part
of the town of Faversham and not a stand-alone, so new development must integrate physically and
socially with a tailored response to pedestrian, cycle and street connections, linking to existing social
infrastructure and the town centre.

2. Minimising visual impacts on the exposed character of much of the surrounding landscape: This affects
the whole of the allocation, but more so in some locations on the northern, eastern and southern sides.
The expansion will form the new built edge of Faversham and must provide an attractive and positive
response to the interface with the countryside and at new gateways to the town.

3. The relationship with nearby environmental designations: The North Kent Marshes Area of High
Landscape Value and the Swale and Medway Special Protection Areas, Ramsar and SSSIs are close
to the northern edge of the allocation where increased populations could increase recreational and
other impacts. The southern boundary of the allocation is also close to the boundary of the Kent Downs
AONB.

4. Impact on the town centre: Development in this location must be complimentary to, and not compete
with, the services and facilities in Faversham town centre. It is imperative that any new retail is not in
competition with the town centre but is serving a local need only. Excellent sustainable and active
transport options will need to be developed between the site and the town centre to facilitate good
access to the town centre as the primary centre.

5. The ability of the transport network to accommodate further growth: The capacity of the M2 junctions
6 and 7 will be impacted by growth at this location and currently RIS2 funding is available only for a
feasibility study of junction 7. Whilst initial transport modelling for the Local Plan has confirmed that
these constraints are not necessarily insurmountable in the medium term, detailed development
proposals will need to further assess these issues at the local level. A comprehensive sustainable and
active transport network will need to be developed.

6. The creation of a healthy and inclusive new community: In recognition of the role that the built
environment has on people’s health and wellbeing development must be designed to have increased
access to public green space where wildlife thrives to enable healthy play and leisure, maximise active
travel, inspire healthy eating and deliver warm, energy efficient homes with better air quality inside
and outside.

7. Creating sustainable places: Development must be designed to conserve energy and water, reduce
waste, use renewable energy and sustainable materials where possible.

8. Creating distinctive places: By making the most of what is present both on the sites (including retaining
shelter belts and respecting the existing topography), the vicinity and within the town this is about
implementing a locally distinctive urban and landscape form relevant to Faversham.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202168

Land allocations for new development5

Page 90



5.5.8 INSERT concept diagram

Introduction to the 3 sites

Design

5.5.9 In keeping with policy ST6 requiring good design, an urban and landscape design approach is
fundamental to the masterplanning of the whole allocation, informed by a local study and a thorough
examination of the existing issues and opportunities for the area. It should include an urban design-led
masterplan for the whole allocation, which links the new development to the existing town, creating a resilient
network of streets that can be developed, in stages, over time and does not prejudice connections to future
adjacent sites.

The Natural Environment

Due to the strategic scale of this allocation it will be imperative to ensure that the environmental and
landscape elements are of the highest quality and are embedded in the design and layout and are informed
by an ecological and landscape assessment. Measures will include:

a) The provision of 20% net gain in bio-diversity (ADD link DM 24)

b) Retaining existing hedgerows for both their ecological, landscape and visual value after an assessment
for SBC to review.

Landscape

The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (May 2019) assesses this area as medium sensitivity to
both residential and employment development. The settlement edge of Faversham is currently well-contained
by the A2 and Love Lane and these roads, of a low rise character and relatively well-screened by established
roadside hedgerows. As such, there is not a strong visual relationship with the landscape area. Nevertheless,
there is some intervisibility between the two, with the local landmark of the spire of St. Mary of Charity
Church, Faversham visible on the skyline from some parts of the area, and the open recreational spaces
of Faversham Cricket Club and Faversham Town Football Club grounds are located within the landscape
area, immediately south of the A2, imparting a transitional character between the settlement and the
agricultural land beyond. The area forms a strong agricultural setting for the market town.

5.5.10 Despite the proximity to Faversham, the area retains a strongly agricultural character, albeit with
limited tranquility and a recent trend towards some enlarged arable fields and a loss of structural features
such as shelterbelts (though many remain), hedgerows and orchards, imparting a greater openness to the
landscape, accentuated by the flat to gently undulating landform. Heritage assets such as farmsteads,
together with natural features such as woodland and remnant traditional orchards, have the impression of
being quite isolated within the modern agricultural landscape and road network. These attributes, in
combination with the visual exposure of the area and the absence of landscape designations, indicate a
moderate overall sensitivity to future change from residential and employment development.

5.5.11 The assessment gives the following guidance for development here:

1. Any new development should follow a landscape-led approach, utilising landform and natural contours
to sensitively contain and provide boundaries to built form; and conserving and reinforcing the existing
network of shelterbelts, hedgerows, copses and orchards, which provide landscape structure, enclosure
and screening, such as those to the south of the A2. Consider the creation and restoration of such
features, where these have been lost, such as in the north of the landscape area beyond the A2. This
landscape-led approach should extend to the consideration of green and blue infrastructure (GBI),
and opportunities to incorporate existing valued landscape features within a network of multi-functional,
accessible green and blue spaces and routes, which is capable of delivering a wide range of
environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.

69The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 91



2. Ensure consideration is given to sensitive heritage assets including Conservation Areas, listed buildings,
scheduled monuments and their settings.

3. Consider incorporating important and locally distinctive skyline features and views within the general
layout/design and key vistas of any new development e.g. maintain the open views to the Blean wooded
ridgeline to the east, and to the Isle of Sheppey to the north; maintain and focus views to the Church
of St Mary of Charity, Faversham.

4. Ensure any new development is sensitive to local character and context in terms of building scale,
massing, style and materials, incorporating sensitive lighting design and native plant species of local
provenance.

5. New development should also seek to conserve and enhance the special rural qualities of the
designated Rural Lanes: Salters Lane, Selling Road, Homestall Lane, Graveney Road and Staple
Street.

6. Maintain the rural approach to Faversham along the A2 from the chalk quarry eastwards.
7. If screen planting is proposed it must be carefully designed to fulfil its function using native species.

Employment

5.5.12 The Council have an ambition for the strategic allocations to provide one job for each dwelling,
as set out in Policy ST1 and therefore this development should strive to achieve that. There are three main
employment locations, as shown on the concept diagram, however it is envisaged that there will be other
employment uses pepper potted throughout the developments in order to try and achieve this ambition.
The employment should be provided alongside the provision housing and not as an afterthought and the
S106 agreement will be worded to reflect this.

Transport

A comprehensive strategy is required to reduce the impact of private vehicles and to implement more active
and sustainable travel measures. This can be achieved through a careful balance and mix of housing,
employment and community facilities, thus reducing the need for residents to travel beyond the site for
their everyday needs. Serious consideration should be given to the provision of a car-free or low-car
dependency development for parts of the development. A wide range of measures will be required to
implement this modal shift and will include a mixture of active and sustainable transport measures:

a. the provision of pedestrian and cycle routes and facilities including connections between the site and
the town centre, the employment hubs, the railway station, the schools and the wider countryside.
These should be naturally over-looked and appropriately lit. Pedestrian routes should link with
established public rights of way. Cycle routes should link with a strategic cycle route to be developed,
connecting Sittingbourne to Faversham.

b. the consideration of making permanent Faversham’s ’20’s Plenty’ trial and extending to include Love
Lane, Graveney Road, the A2 though the development and Selling Road and all new roads though
the development. Slower speeds across the village including the London Road. This could be an
efficient way to provide a safer and more pleasant cycling and walking experience for the wider town.

c. the protection and enhancement of rural lanes within and around the allocation, including the Selling
Road and Graveney Road. Consideration should be made for options to reduce speeds on rural lanes,
to enhance opportunities for cycling, linking rural lanes, where safe, to a wider cycling network.

d. the provision of safe and accessible cycle parking and electric charging infrastructure in line with policy
DM 10.

e. the provision of an electric car and cycle club for the allocation to reduce the reliance on private cars,
linked to the provision of a new car club, improved public transport and cycle and walking networks.

f. a commitment to public transport improvements, for instance including bus prioritisation, station
improvements and subsidies.

g. Public Rights of Way retained as part of a wider internal network with review of the alignment in light
of the built form and open space layout.

Open space

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202170

Land allocations for new development5

Page 92



Open space, play and sports facilities will need to be provided to meet the needs of the existing and new
residents of the area, ensuring no net loss in existing provision and in accordance with the requirements
of Policy DM 17. Facilities should be provided in liaison with the Borough’s Greenspaces Team and
recognising that open space, play and sports provision is more effective if considered holistically across
the whole allocation and provided strategically and creatively.

Local Centre

A local centre with predominantly retail and community uses will be provided on the SE Faversham site
which will contain a mix of uses with active ground floor uses and residential or small scale offices above.
The land at Lady Dane Farm site will have a smaller local centre focused around the secondary and primary
school site which will be a focus for community facilities and open space and we envisage a number of
smaller retail units dotted through this site, especially to serve the employment areas. Both must provide
excellent walking and cycling links to all three sites and adequate, safe cycle parking. The timing of the
delivery of this will be crucial and will be set out in the S106.

Infrastructure Requirements

5.5.13 Infrastructure needs for this allocation have been identified and are outlined in the Infrastructure
and Delivery Plan. Due to the likely build out time of this large scale strategic development, it is anticipated
that these needs may change with time. It is anticipated that contributions towards the following will be
required:

1. Southern Water say capacity at the local Waste Water Treatment works is requiring the provision of
new or increased capacity and need to phase developments. There is capacity to accommodate
development at Graveney Road and Preston Fields but not the two larger sites (East of Faversham
and south east Faversham). Existing local sewerage infrastructure to the site as a whole therefore
has limited capacity and subsequent conditions must ensure that occupation of the development is
phased to align with the delivery of new wastewater infrastructure. Funding for this work would be
through Southern Water’s next AMP cycle (2025-2030.) Landowners and developers need to work
with DSW to facilitate this upgrade and early engagement between interested parties and Southern
Water is essential.

2. Further to modelling and transport assessment, Kent Highways have outlined that transport mitigation
will be required which will likely include contributions towards: a mitigation strategy for the A2 (including
junction improvements and bus prioritisation); air quality mitigation; a cycle and pedestrian network
between Sittingbourne and Faversham; M2 J6capacity improvements over and above that currently
planned in KCC A2/A251 junction improvement scheme; and M2 J7capacity improvements required
as no spare capacity.

3. Kent County Council (KCC) have assessed the need for financial contributions towards

i. towards secondary school provision (Faversham)
ii. community provision to contribute towards libraries, community learning and youth facilities
iii. social care and the requirements that all homes be built to Part M4(2) space and accessibility

standards.
iv. Waste Services
v. KCC have also outlined that all homes to have Fibre to Premise broadband provision and that

community buildings are built to their requirements (i.e. dementia friendly, with DDA catering
areas, and toilet and changing facilities for the severely disabled)

4. No on-site health facilities are required by the NHS however, developer contributions will be expected
towards expansion proposals at existing GP practices in Faversham.

5. The gas network is weak on the eastern side of Faversham and the Duchy site triggers the requirement
to reinforce by itself, but it is dependent on where the site connects to the gas network. The developers
will need to work with Southern Gas Networks during the Masterplanning process to agree what, if
anything is required, design and costs.

71The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 93



5.5.14 The phasing of development at East Faversham to align with infrastructure provision is going to
be a key element of the masterplan, especially in relation to the waste water works capacity issues and
M2 J7, and needs to be considered from the start of the development process.

Minerals safeguarding

5.5.15 It is highly likely that safeguarded minerals, Brickearth, are present at all three of these sites and
therefore the quality and quantity of the mineral and the practicalities of prior extraction should be investigated
via a Minerals Assessment in line with the safeguarding mineral and prior extraction policies contained
within the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan.

Stewardship

5.5.16 Long term stewardship of a large development like this will be required and will involve the active
and positive management of everything from green spaces to arts provision to commercial estates and
utility infrastructure. Putting local people (and stakeholders) at the heart of this process can generate
increased local support, creativity, entrepreneurialism, and better management of open space and strategic
landscaping. Managing ecology and the SUDs is specialist and requires a specialist organisation.

Land north of Graveney Road

5.5.17 There is Southern Water underground infrastructure crossing the site and this will need to be
considered when designing the site layout. Easements would be required, which may affect the site layout
or require diversion. Easements will need to be clear of all proposed buildings and substantial tree planting.

5.5.18 The applicant will be required to provide evidence that the development will not result in a Likely
Significant Effect. To achieve this, surveys will be required to determine habitats and current use of the site
and surrounding land parcels to determine if it does support a significant population (A significant population
is classified as a site that regularly used by more than 1% of the population of qualifying bird species) of
qualifying species. Where habitats are suitable, non-breeding bird surveys will be required to determine if
the site and neighbouring land constitute a significant area of supporting habitat. Surveys should be required
to be undertaken during autumn, winter and spring and at more than 1 year of surveys may be needed (to
be agreed in consultation with the local planning authority and Natural England). If habitat within or adjacent
to the site is identified to support significant populations of designated bird features avoidance measures
and mitigation will be required, such as the creation of replacement habitat nearby, and the planning
application will likely need to be supported by a project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure
that the development does not result in adverse effects on integrity.

Land at Lady Dane Farm

5.5.19 Ewell farmhouse, a Grade 2* listed building, is adjacent to the site and therefore it’s setting will
need to be carefully considered at the Masterplanning stage.

5.5.20 The applicant will be required to provide evidence that the development will not result in a Likely
Significant Effect. To achieve this, surveys will be required to determine habitats and current use of the site
and surrounding land parcels to determine if it does support a significant population (A significant population
is classified as a site that regularly used by more than 1% of the population of qualifying bird species) of
qualifying species. Where habitats are suitable, non-breeding bird surveys will be required to determine if
the site and neighbouring land constitute a significant area of supporting habitat. Surveys should be required
to be undertaken during autumn, winter and spring and at more than 1 year of surveys may be needed (to
be agreed in consultation with the local planning authority and Natural England). If habitat within or adjacent
to the site is identified to support significant populations of designated bird features avoidance measures
and mitigation will be required, such as the creation of replacement habitat nearby, and the planning
application will likely need to be supported by a project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure
that the development does not result in adverse effects on integrity.

Land at South East Faversham

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202172

Land allocations for new development5

Page 94



5.5.21 This site contains two listed buildings, Grade II, at the edge of the site, the Macknade Oast’s which
site close to Selling Road opposite Macknade Fine Foods. The setting of these will need to be carefully
considered when designing the adjacent development.

Policy MU 1

East of Faversham Expansion

The landowners and developers of all three sites will be required to co-ordinate the preparation,
consultation and approval of a Masterplan/development brief and phasing plan for the whole of the
allocated area, which shall be submitted to and approved by the Council before any of the planning
applications are submitted. The Masterplan/development brief and planning applications will develop
a framework for the land indicated on the Proposals Map and on the concept diagram based on the
local study.

Development proposals will:

1. Accord with a Masterplan (developed through stakeholder consultation, including the Borough
Council and Faversham Town Council), which shall demonstrate a comprehensive approach to
bringing forward the whole allocation. The Masterplan will feature a series of walkable
neighbourhoods, with legible streets and paths connecting neighbourhoods to nearby services
and facilities.

2. Achieve high quality design based on a Design Code that shall have been approved by the
Borough Council. The Design Code will be based on a characterisation study of local design
typologies, and will seek to reflect the aspects of Faversham’s morphology that contribute to the
town’s significance, including its scale, character, heritage assets, urban form, the surrounding
countryside and the town’s rural approaches. The Code shall also seek to integrate the existing
shelter belts, hedges and retained trees into the proposed development.

3. Achieve a mix of housing sizes, types and tenures to meet the range of identified local housing
needs, including affordable housing, self-build opportunities, accessible housing and housing for
older people in accordance with policies ST5 and DM15.

4. Provide a mixture of economic land uses throughout the site which meet the needs identified
through Swale’s Employment Land Review.

5. Development proposals will meet the requirements in policy DM2 ‘achieving good design’ and
will provide a design response to the local study of urban form, landscape, architecture and
heritage and should include a high quality, place-led approach to street and landscape design
which encourages travel by foot and cycle whilst achieving a built design and layout which responds
to the context of the site and its landform through:

a. An integrated approach to land use for example dwellings face and overlook open space,
the perimeter of schools is encased with residential for security, employment uses positively
interface with residential development, residential is provided above retail and so forth;

b. A residential layout based on perimeter blocks with a clear definition of public and private
space;

c. An integrated landscape, enabling green and blue infrastructure to be woven throughout the
town from its centre to its outskirts;

d. Existing streets and lanes must be fronted by development and respond to the different
characters of the spaces for example a strong urban frontage to the west end of the A2 and
Graveney Road, a strong green frontage to the eastern end of the A2 and a combined green
and urban frontage with buildings facing the various lanes;

e. A well-defined countryside edge with new development facing outward;
f. Landscape to include locally relevant species and planting approaches such as community

orchards, hedgerows etc. based on the local Landscape Character;

73The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 95



g. Following a survey of what is existing, a strategy for the retention of existing topography,
woodland, orchards, trees, shelter belts and hedgerows, water features such as ponds and
ditches must inform the layout;

h. The impact of car parking on the public realm will be minimised and will be provided in
accordance with policy DM11 parking;

i. Ideally noise barriers along the railway lines must be avoided through careful layout of
development;

j. The design of homes and the scheme as a whole will seek to encourage flexible working
practices, including home working; and

k. Be compliant with Policy ST 6 Design.

6. Demonstrate and provide a strong landscape framework (demonstrated by a submitted Landscape
Strategy and a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan). As part of the landscape strategy
and ecological management plan, the development will provide substantial natural green spaces,
including woodland/copse planting, green corridors to incorporate existing/new footpath and cycle
routes to improve connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists.

7. Be informed by an ecological assessment detailing the impacts upon protected species and
habitats and to make recommendations for their avoidance, mitigation and, where appropriate,
compensation;

8. Achieve a 20% net gain in biodiversity on the site and contribute towards the nature recovery
networks.

9. In agreed locations, provide strategic planting and open space in advance of new development.
10. Ensure that, through both on and off site measures, any significant adverse impacts on European

sites through recreational pressure will be mitigated in accordance with Policies ST 10, including
a financial contribution towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy if
required.

11. Retain existing boundary vegetation, shelter belts, hedgerows (including those that are ecologically
significant) and water bodies.

12. Assess biodiversity interests, including, preparation of a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)
to demonstrate that development is not likely to have a significant effect on a Special Protection
Area (SPA);

13. Undertake a flood risk assessment to ensure that flood risk is not increased at adjacent sites and
to bring forward proposals, through a drainage strategy, that create and utilise water features
(including the use of sustainable urban drainage systems) within the development. These
assessments and strategies should take full account of the risks of flooding associated with climate
change and should be prepared to the satisfaction of the KCC as the Lead Local Flood Authority,
the Environment Agency and the Internal Drainage Board as appropriate.

14. Assess impacts upon, and ensure that air quality objectives within Faversham, and especially in
the Ospringe AQMA, are not compromised and any development would need to demonstrate
that it, in combination with other development, would not lead to any exceedances of air quality
objectives.

15. Respond to a detailed heritage assessment (including for archaeology) of the site and mitigate
any impacts identified.

16. It is highly likely that safeguarded minerals, Brickearth, are present at all three of these sites and
therefore the quality and quantity of the mineral and the practicalities of prior extraction should
be investigated via a Minerals Assessment in line with the safeguarding mineral and prior extraction
policies contained within the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan.

17. Incorporate measures to maximise resistance and resilience to climate change, both within the
proposed development (including passive adaptation measures and renewable energy
technologies) and by supporting low carbon lifestyles. These measures include EV charging
points in all new dwellings, at the employment units and at the local centre. Adaptation and
mitigation to climate change is fundamental to the development of the area and should be
demonstrated in line with Policies DM 3 and DM 4, embracing the Council’s objective for the
borough to be zero carbon by 2030.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202174

Land allocations for new development5

Page 96



18. Reflect any measures identified as appropriate following a Health Impact Assessment at the
masterplan/planning application stage.

19. Include adequate community facilities as outlined by KCC in terms of contributions to community
centres, libraries, adult education, etc.

20. Provide open space in accordance with Policy DM 17. Actual amounts and types of open space
will be determined at the Masterplan/planning application stage, in liaison with the Borough’s
Greenspaces Team, in the context of the specific details of the proposed development. In the
case of sports pitch and formal play facilities, it should be possible to make this provision on site,
however, the degree to which these will be provided on site or by way of off-site financial
contribution (or a combination of both) will also be determined at the Masterplan/planning
application stage.

21. Be supported by a Transport Assessment to determine the need and timing of improvements to
the local and strategic transport networks relative to the phasing of development, whilst including
improvements to the public transport network and encouraging sustainable and active travel
through the upgrade of existing, and the provision of new, pedestrian and cycle links through the
development within the green corridors and reinforcing the existing footpath network and
connections into the town centre, the railway station and the wider countryside.

22. Bring forward such transport improvements and other mitigation as required by the Transport
Assessment whilst:

a. Enhancing and providing additional pedestrian and cyclist access between the sites, the
town, the railway station and the open countryside to the north, east and south.

b. Promoting and facilitating improvements to the A2 corridor which runs through the allocation,
enhancing facilities for pedestrians and cyclists on the A2 and to enable safe crossing,
especially for children to the secondary school, and contributing to higher environmental
standards.

c. Incorporating measures within the development to discourage the use of private vehicles
such as accessible bike storage in all of the residential units and at the schools, local
centers and employment units.

d. Providing active and sustainable transport measures to reduce the reliance on private car
use, improve air quality, reduce congestion and make for a safer public realm, including, but
not limited to, the provision of a car club (for hybrid or EV cars) across the three sites, provide
both a push bike and electric bike rental scheme/club, introduce bus priority measures on
the sites.

e. Designing the road layout around the proposed schools to be ‘school street’ compliant.

23. Provide parking in line with the adopted Parking Strategy and include a flexible parking strategy
which seeks to manage the space given over to car parking, including a strategy to reduce or
convert parking spaces for other uses should car ownership reduce over the period of the
development.

24. Improve bus stop facilities on the A2 between Salters Lane and M2 J7 to encourage usage.
25. Provide a route, or routes, between the A2 east of Love Lane and Salters Lane to introduce

network resilience and accommodate journeys by pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, with the
potential to connect to future offsite routes west of Salters Lane and north of the A2 as may be
delivered by others in future.

26. The roads around the new secondary school and the two new primary schools should be designed
to allow for the implementation of the ‘Schools Street’ concept to improve safety and air quality
and to encourage walking and cycling to school.

27. Be accompanied by a costed and timetabled coordinated package of suitable measures to address
capacity issues at M2 J6, M2 J7, A251/A2 and other nearby junctions and routes, to address the
cumulative impacts of these developments.

28. Contribute to the implementation of any highway and other transportation improvements necessary
to mitigate impacts arising from the proposed development.

75The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 97



29. Ensure waste water connections at points that are adequate in their capacity with the masterplan
layout to be informed by a surface water drainage strategy deriving from a detailed Flood Risk
Assessment. Occupation of development will be phased to align with the delivery of sewerage
infrastructure, in liaison with the service provider.

30. The capacity of the local sewerage treatment works will need to be considered in the master
planning of this site and may require phasing of development.

31. Provide for infrastructure needs arising from the development, including those identified by the
Local Plan Implementation and Delivery Schedule particularly a new secondary school, a 2FE
primary school on the Lady Dane farm site, a 2 or 3 FE primary school on the SE Faversham
site, and outlined above.

Policy MU 1a Land at Graveney Road

Planning permission will be granted for minimum 240 dwellings set within a comprehensive landscape
framework.

Development proposals will:

1. Need to consider the Southern Water infrastructure which crosses the site in its layout, or divert
the infrastructure. Easements would be required if no diversion occurs. Layout must be planned
to ensure future access to existing wastewater infrastructure for maintenance and upsizing
purposes

2. Be accompanied by a noise assessment to evaluate potential impacts and mitigations from the
adjacent railway line and Graveney Road.

3. Provide evidence that the development will not result in a ‘Likely Significant Effect’ to any European
site of biodiversity interest.

Policy MU 1b Land at Lady Dane Farm

Planning permission will be granted for a strategic mixed-use development, comprising an employment
hub of at least 10ha, a minimum of 600 dwellings, a local centre, a secondary school and a 2FE primary
school site, all set within a landscape framework as shown on the Proposals Map which will be
comprehensively planned and designed to form a new eastern edge to Faversham, together with
ecological enhancements and open space.

Development proposals will:

1. Be served from a principal roundabout access from the A2 London Road with a central spine
road which connects with a further roundabout access from Graveney Road.

2. Provide a mixture of economic land uses throughout the site which meet the needs identified
through Swale’s Employment Land Review, including twomain areas of employment, one adjacent
to Love Lane and the other on the eastern end of the site close to Brenley Corner. This latter area
of employment will need to be well screened with landscaping and of a high design quality as it
will form the new gateway to Faversham. As such the existing copse of trees adjacent to the A2
must be retained to help screen the employment provision.

3. Provide a 10.1 ha secondary school site in the position shown on the concept diagram which will
be accessed from the main spine road. The secondary school site land will be delivered through
an agreed funding mechanism with KCC Education that will be contributed to on a dwelling tariff
basis for all allocations and new development within the Faversham catchment.

4. Deliver a 2 FE primary school site, adjacent to the secondary school site as a through school with
the agreement of KCC.

5. Be accompanied by a noise impact assessment assessing the noise from the nearby railway line
on the school and adjacent housing and employment areas.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202176

Land allocations for new development5

Page 98



6. Respect the alignment of the existing Public Right of Way that crosses the land and use careful
landscape planting and building siting to reinforce the status of this path as key movement corridor.
Consideration should also be given to the potential upgrade of the PROW to allow use by cyclists.

7. The applicant will be required to provide evidence that the development will not result in a ‘Likely
Significant Effect’ to any European site of biodiversity interest.

Policy MU 1c Land at South East Faversham

Subject to securing high quality design and an appropriate mix of uses, planning permission will be
granted for a minimum of 2500 dwellings, a variety of employment space capable of supporting 2500
jobs, community infrastructure, open space and habitat creation on land at South East Faversham, as
shown on the Proposals Map.

Development proposals will:

1. Incorporate a local centre that will meet many of the day-to-day needs of the development, while
complementing, and not diminishing, Faversham town centre and the retail offer at Macknade
Fine Foods.

2. Provide a mixture of economic land uses throughout the site which meet the needs identified
through Swale’s Employment Land Review, including warehouse and distribution uses on the
parcel of land between Brenley Corner and the railway line. This latter area of employment will
need to be well screened with landscaping and of a high design quality as it will form the new
gateway to Faversham.

3. Base the development on an integrated landscape strategy that will create a strong framework
of open spaces, habitat retention and creation and planting, including the use of tree lined streets
within the development. The strategy will include a variety of publicly accessible open spaces to
cater for the diverse needs of the community, including parks and play areas. The publicly
accessible open space shall include a wooded linear park along the M2 corridor. The landscape
proposals should work with underlying natural systems, enhance biodiversity within the site and
provide opportunities for food growing.

4. Consider any new development in relation to the setting of the neighbouring AONB.
5. Should theMasterplan involve relocating the cricket club and/or football club, suitable new provision

shall be made within the scheme, reflecting close consultation with the Clubs and both Faversham
Town and Swale Council.

6. The area currently designated as Local Green Space may be required to be developed as part
of this plan, which will be acceptable in principle. If so, provision shall be made for an equivalent
area of new open space to be laid out and made suitable for Local Green Space designation in
due course, and upon completion of the new ground, the current Local Green Space designation
will no longer apply.

7. Incorporate a road system capable of being linked to the A251 should the Council promote a link
through the Preston Fields site.

8. Provide for infrastructure needs arising from the development, including those identified by the
Local Plan Implementation and Delivery Schedule, including a 2 or 3 FE primary school.

77The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 99



Teynham Area of Opportunity

5.5.22 Teynham is centrally located within Swale and is one of the largest villages in the Borough. It is
identified as a Rural Local Service Centre in Policy ST XX as it supports the needs of the existing community
and the settlements around it. The village owes much of its good range of services (including primary
school, GP surgery, library and retail) and public transport provision to its position along the main Roman
Road Watling Street (Greenstreet).

5.5.23 Teynham village is made up of a number of historic settlements including Greenstreet, Cellar Hill
and Barrow Green. The London Road running through the village marks the boundary between Lynsted
with Kingsdown Parish to the south and Teynham Parish to the north.

5.5.24 The straight alignment of the London Road through Teynham owes much to its Roman origins
and gives the ‘high street’ in Teynham a distinctive linear character. The presence of medieval and post
medieval buildings (particularly around Cellar Hill), but also dotted along the London Road and in the
countryside around the village, provide evidence of the long-standing agricultural prosperity of the area,
made possible by the rich soils of the north Kent fruit belt. The arrival of the railway north of Greenstreet
in the 19th century led to the growth of the village towards the train station. Subsequent development over
the 20th century has filled in the land between Watling Street and the railway line.

5.5.25 The countryside around Teynham is rural and agricultural in character and use. The Swale
Landscape Sensitivity Assessment has assessed the landscape south of the railway line around Teynham
in terms of sensitivity to new development. It divided the area into two sections, reflecting landscape
character. The area to the west and south-west of Teynham is described as having a broadly flat or gently

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202178

Land allocations for new development5

Page 100



undulating landform with a moderate sense of rural character and limited natural features and visually
prominent. It concludes this area has amoderate sensitivity to future change from residential and employment
development with opportunities to improve the existing urban edge.

5.5.26 The area to the east, south-east and south of Teynham is more sensitive. It has a gently undulating
landform, moderate to high sense of rural character and many heritage assets. It concludes that this area
has a moderate to high overall sensitivity to future change from residential and employment development,
with high sensitivity around the dry chalk valley to the south of the A2 (the Lyn valley) which has a smaller
scale, higher scenic value, historic character and tranquillity.

5.5.27 To the east of the village is a ridgeline overlooking the Lyn valley, running north-south and which
forms a natural boundary.

5.5.28 North of the railway line is the North Kent Marshes: South Swale Marshes Area of High Landscape
Value. This includes historic orchard landscapes with minor hills cut by springs and valleys as well as creeks
and ditches draining the marshes north of the village. The key requirement for this landscape is to conserve
and enhance its qualities including biodiversity, remoteness/wildness and to avoid further development
and subsequent deterioration in landscape quality. This locally designated landscape is outside the area
of opportunity.

5.5.29 Important Local Countryside Gaps have been identified between Teynham and Bapchild to the
west and between Teynham and Lynsted to the south due to the role these areas play in providing a sense
of separation between the villages, to safeguard the open and undeveloped character of the land and to
prevent coalescence. These are shown in policy DM 27.

5.5.30 There are no international, national or local biodiversity designations at Teynham.

Issues and Constraints

5.5.31 Whilst Teynham is well situated at the heart of the borough there are a number of constraints to
development which need to be overcome if the opportunities for the village are to be realised.

5.5.32 The historic Watling Street which cuts through the village is key to its growth and accessibility but
brings with it a number of issues:

To access the wider vehicular network, traffic from Teynham has to travel along the A2, via Air Quality
Management Areas at Teynham itself, East Street Sittingbourne or Ospringe, Faversham. Traffic
between Sittinbourne and Faversham also often uses this route, in particular when there are delays
on the M2 motorway
Within Teynham itself there is congestion and delays to traffic, often association with narrow, historic
junctions, exacerbated by parked / stopping vehicles
Narrow street width and parked / stopping vehicles accentuates poor air quality; as mentioned above,
part of the A2 within Teynham is a designated Air Quality Management Area
Poor pedestrian and cycle infrastructure and environment, including inadequate frequency of pedestrian
crossing locations for a high street situation, narrow footways, heavy traffic including frequent large
HGVs
Poor quality streetscape design including street clutter, limited green infrastructure and unregulated
parking (including parking on pavements)
Perception and experience of risk from the combination of heavy traffic, narrow pavements, inadequate
number of pedestrian crossings, 30mph plus speeds, poor air quality and dirty particulates

5.5.33 The impacts of these issues are detrimental to people using the village and its services, businesses
operating in the village, in particular along the London Road, as well as those travelling through. Without
adequate mitigation any further development in the village will exacerbate these problems and must be
avoided.

79The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 101



5.5.34 Parking is an issue across the village, with inadequate good quality parking provision and limited
alternatives to car-based travel leading to inappropriate pavement parking and cars dominating the village
scene.

5.5.35 Current facilities and infrastructure (eg school places, GP and Dentist provision) within Teynham
are stretched, but currently allocated development should alleviate some of that with a re-built and expanded
primary school and improved healthcare facilities. Beyond this, no requirements for specific new facilities
have been identified by the education authority (Kent County Council) or the NHS Clinical Commissioning
Group within Teynham itself although financial contributions to infrastructure are expected. This situation
will be monitored and reviewed as required. Other needs that may need to be met include youth facilities.
Enhancing facilities within the village will assist with reducing the need to travel for everyday needs.

Area of opportunity

5.5.36 Teynham has been identified by the Council as an ‘area of opportunity’ to support new housing
development to take advantage of its central location, rail connections, existing facilities and potential to
grow. New development would comprise around 1,100 new homes, a commensurate amount of employment
and any required infrastructure. Any development must be evidence based and carefully planned to both
bring new homes and businesses to the village whilst benefitting the existing community. Consultation with
those who currently live and work in Teynham is key.

5.5.37 The boundary of the area of opportunity, identified on the Proposals Map and shown on drawing
XX, is highly indicative at this stage and has been led by sites submitted to the Council as part of its Call
for Sites, as well as the Council’s aspiration that the area of opportunity includes all of the current village
envelope, south of the railway. A more definitive ‘area’ of opportunity will need to be refined following further
evidence gathering including comprehensive assessments of any new routes as well as landscape and
biodiversity mitigation. The text below identifies some of the constraints that are currently identified, in
particular the Lyn valley to the east of the village and the Cellar Hill Conservation Area.

5.5.38 The Council expects landowners, agents and developers with interests in developing sites within
the area of opportunity to work together, and with the Borough Council, to develop a Teynhammasterplan
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be adopted by the Borough Council in advance of any
determination of any related planning applications. Given the complexity of the joint work and consultation
required to develop an appropriate masterplan, the Council does not envisage any housing delivery from
the area of opportunity until after 2028.

5.5.39 Evidence will be needed to support this. This will include:

Updated Transport modelling is being carried out by the Council to determine the impacts of increased
development at Teynham, although the Council would expect those the land interests to work in tandem
with the Council to produce more detailed transport assessment and modelling work as they progress
towards the submission of planning application(s).
Air quality modelling has already been undertaken to assess the overall impacts of the local plan.
Further to the results of the transport modelling, further air quality modelling may need to be undertaken.
Both transport and air quality modelling will need to inform the development of the masterplan.
As a result of transport and air quality modelling it is predicated that transport and mobility mitigation
works will need to be developed for the A2 between Sittingbourne and Faversham. This will need to
include A2 junction improvements, bus prioritisation schemes and the development of a dedicated
cycle and pedestrian route from Sittingbourne to Faversham (via Teyhnam) as an alternative to the
A2. Those with interests in developing sites across Teynham will need to work with Kent Highways
and Swale Borough Council on transport and mobility mitigation and incorporating it into the masterplan
for the area of opportunity. This work will also be informed by the Swale Transport Strategy, currently
in development.
A southern link route would assist in relieving London Road through the village of traffic and would
help unlock development sites to the south of the village. The inclusion of a southern link route for

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202180

Land allocations for new development5

Page 102



Teynham is being modelled as part of the transport modelling outlined above, although no specific
potential alignments have yet been identified.
There is no straightforward route for a new street. Evidence would need to be gathered as to the
technical aspects,including landscape and heritage impacts and benefits to the existing village would
need to be assessed against the harm caused.
As well as a southern link route options to improve connections to the north of the A2 need to be
explored. These should include enhancing pedestrian and vehicular links across the area, including
from the Frognal Lane development to Station Road (via Donald Moor Avenue and Honeyball Walk).
Furthermore, the benefits of a multi-modal route connecting Station Road, through the new Land at
Station Road development and land south of Barrow Green to the A2 will also need to be explored.
These options are also being examined as part of the transport modelling.

5.5.40 Following on from the updated transport modelling, and as part of the masterplan’s development,
a feasibility study for these new links would need to be undertaken by those with interests in developing
sites across Teynham. This will need to include:

Assessment of land ownerships, assuming that some land required may be outside of land submitted
to the Council’s Call for Sites
Survey work and route design, working with Kent Highways to develop options for possible new and
enhanced routes
Assessment of mobility, landscape, visual, urban design, green and blue infrastructure, heritage
(including archaeology), biodiversity, air quality and drainage and flood risk impacts for these options
with the view to mitigating impacts and providing 20% biodiversity net gain
Meaningful community consultation as part of the Masterplan SPD process
A phasing plan linking the development of new routes to site build outs

5.5.41 Such are the existing issues with the London Road in Teynham (outlined earlier), it is unlikely that
without the development of a southern link route, any significant development across Teynham will be able
to come forward in a form acceptable to the Borough Council.

Developing a Teynham masterplan

5.5.42 The Council expects landowners, agents and developers and others with interests in developing
sites within the area of opportunity to work together, with the Borough Council, to fund and produce a
Teynham masterplan for development which will come forward from the mid to the end of the plan period
(post 2028). It is the expectation that this will be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
by the Council.

5.5.43 The requirements of the masterplan will need to be informed by the needs of the community, but
are likely to include:

1. Meaningful community engagement and participation. Teynham is an active village with a range
of groups and societies, two parish councils and people with a depth of knowledge about the area in
which they live and work. Whilst development brings change, and is sometimes unwelcomed, it can
also be an opportunity to resolve existing issues and bring new opportunities. The community are key
to identifying these issues and opportunities and safeguarding what is most precious about the area.
Meaningful community engagement and participation will need to be established and maintained as
part of the masterplanning process. The engagement process should actively seek to engage with
the full range of Teynham’s residents and businesses, including hard to reach groups.

2. Provision of new housing. The masterplan will need to set out how sites across the village will achieve
a mix of housing types in accordance with policy ST 5, including those for affordable housing, as well
as the requirements of any village/parish needs assessment.

3. Provision of economic land uses. The allocated development at Frognal Lane includes an expectation
for over 26,000 square metres of small-scale employment provision. Any further development in the
village will be required to provide an amount of economic land use to balance the housing provided,
with the aim of reducing travel to work. Economic land use provision should be informed by local and

81The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 103



up to date evidence on need and must be of a type and design suitable for a village location. The
Council would be keen to see the development of opportunities for creative, local industries which
complement the existing offer in the village. Mixed use units, live-work units, shared space workplaces
and spaces that encourage flexible working practices would also be encouraged.

4. An urban and landscape design approach, in keeping with Policy ST 6, urban and landscape design
should be fundamental to the masterplanning of the area of opportunity, informed by community
participation and following thorough local studies and examination of the existing issues and
opportunities for the village. It should include:

a. an urban design-led masterplan for the whole area of opportunity, which links the existing village
seemlessly to allocated and future development, creating a continuously connected and resilient
network of streets that can be developed, in stages, over time and does not prejudice connections
to future adjacent sites. New housing and employment across the village should feel part of the
village and should connect with social infrastructure, the railway station and the village centre.

b. masterplanning which explores, responds to and enhances the best features of the existing
village, development opportunities and the surrounding countryside to create a locally distinctive
village and landscape form that is relevant to Teynham. Options for developing a Design Code
for Teynham through the masterplanning process should be explored.

c. a plan for the creation of healthy and inclusive communities which actively seek to improve health
and wellbeing - by increasing access to public and wildlife-rich green space, enabling healthy
play and leisure, maximising active travel, inspiring healthy eating and delivering warm, energy
efficient and comfortable homes with good air quality inside and out.

d. an efficient layout, based on perimeter blocks, with a clear definition of public and private spaces
should be created, with fronts facing fronts and backs facing backs.

e. integrated landscape design, enabling green and blue infrastructure to be woven throughout the
village from its centre to its outskirts.

f. an integrated approach to land use where dwellings face and overlook open space and employment
uses positively interface with residential (eg homes over shops).

g. a well-defined countryside edge with new development being outward facing and landscaped to
include locally relevant species and planting approaches (eg community orchards, hedgerows
etc), based on local Landscape Character. Where screen planting is proposed it should be
carefully designed to fulfil its function, using native species.

5. A strategy to reduce the impact of private vehicles and improve air quality. Development in
Teynham provides an opportunity to enhance the village by reducing the impact of vehicles. A
masterplan will need to demonstrate this through:

a. wholesale assessment of the masterplan’s transport impacts, including cumulative impacts, and
how these can be mitigated, for instance through the creation of new links and junction
improvements along the A2 (from Sittingbourne to Faversham). Improvements to junctions within
the village are likely to be required at the junctions of the A2 and Station Road, A2 and Lynsted
Lane, A2 and Claxfield Road and possibly at the junction of The Crescent and Conyer Road. The
needs of pedestrians and cyclists are fundamental to the design of junction improvements.

b. a commitment to improve air quality in the village and along the A2 generally. There is currently
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) along part of the A2 through the village and any
development would need to demonstrate that it, in combination with other development, would
not lead to any exceedances of air quality objectives. Furthermore, there are a number of AQMAs
in Sittingbourne and Faversham/Ospringe and development would need to be assessed for its
cumulative impact on air quality throughout these areas.

c. the provision of village-wide pedestrian and cycle routes and facilities including better north-south
and east-west connections to encourage travel by foot and cycle. Within the village itself, these
should be fronted onto and over-looked by buildings and appropriately lit. Pedestrian routes
should link and enhance established public rights of way within and beyond the village. Cycle
routes should link with the strategic cycle route to be developed, connecting Sittingbourne to
Faversham and any other local cycle routes.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202182

Land allocations for new development5

Page 104



d. the introduction of slower speeds across the village including the London Road and a
comprehensive public realm improvement scheme. This could reduce the impact of traffic on the
London Road in the short term and could be an efficient way to provide a safer and more pleasant
cycling and walking experience for the whole village.

e. the protection and enhancement of rural lanes within and around the village, including the Lower
Road (access onto this road will be restricted), Frognal Lane, Claxfied Road, Lynsted Lane,
Cambridge Lane and Conyer Road. Consideration should be made for options to reduce speeds
on rural lanes, to enhance opportunities for walking and cycling, linking rural lanes, where safe,
to a wider cycling network.

f. the provision of cycle parking and electric charging infrastructure in line with policy ST 9 and DM
10.

g. the provision of an electric car and cycle club for the village to reduce the reliance on private cars.
Consideration should be given to the provision of car-free or low-car development, linked to the
provision of car clubs, improved public transport and cycle and walking networks.

h. a commitment to public transport improvements, for instance including bus prioritisation, station
improvements and subsidies

i. a strategy to help resolve the existing inappropriate parking in the village (eg pavement parking
and parking on the London Road) and the visual dominance of private cars. New development
should demonstrate a commitment to alleviate existing parking problems across the village and
the impact of car parking on the public realm. New development will be provided in accordance
with Policy DM 11.

6. The creation of sustainable neighbourhoods and adapting and mitigating to climate change is
fundamental to the masterplanning of the area of opportunity and should be demonstrated in line with
the objectives of Policies DM 3, embracing the Council’s objective for the borough to be zero carbon
by 2030 and for new development to be water and waste efficient and to be built from materials with
low embodied carbon. The masterplan will be expected to demonstrate the use of sustainable energy
production, distribution and storage across the village in line with Policy DM 4.

7. The creation of new streets which contribute positively to the character of the village. Where new
vehicular links need to be created, for instance, a new southern link route, these should be done:

a. to be as efficient as possible so that new streets serve new development as well as the wider
village and are part of a wider, connected network of streets

b. to be as beautiful as possible, fronted by new development within the built-up parts of the village
and tree lined and landscaped throughout

c. in a way that manages the needs of all movement modes but prioritises the needs of cyclists and
pedestrians of all ages and abilities

d. to be slow speed, with a village-wide maximum speed limit of 20mph
e. to deliver 20% biodiversity net gain

8. The protection and enhancement of landscape and heritage, including archaeology. There are a
number of existing landscape and heritage studies which help guide development around Teynham,
including the Cellar Hill Conservation Area Appraisal, the Landscape Character and Biodiversity
Appraisal, 2011, the Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment, 2019 and the Important Local
Countryside Gap study, 2021. The area of opportunity masterplan should be landscape focused,
include landscape and visual assessments of the impact of new development and should include the
following requirements:

a. demonstration of the objectives set out in Policy DM 2 and be informed by local studies of urban
form, landscape, architecture and heritage. Surveys of natural features including topography,
woodland, orchards, trees, hedgerows and water features including ponds and ditches, should
inform the layout of new development.

b. there are a number of listed buildings along the A2, along Cellar Hill and on the outskirts of the
village as well as areas of greater landscape sensitivity (eg the Lyn valley), as outlined above.
Due regard will need to be made to heritage and landscape features and their settings, as well

83The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 105



as to the Cellar Hill Conservation Area and its settings. The masterplan should be informed by
a heritage assessment, which also examines the potential for archaeological heritage.

c. liaison with the Council’s Conservation Team, bearing in mind that the Cellar Hill Conservation
Area is deemed ‘at risk’ and the boundaries of it are due to be reviewed in 2022.

d. the Lyn valley, running along the eastern side of the village is an attractive and distinctive feature
in the local landscape. In order to limit the landscape impacts of development any growth to the
east of the village between the A2 and the railway line should be limited to below the ridgeline
overlooking this valley. To the south of the A2, the existing Cellar Hill Conservation Area determines
the eastern extent of the village.

e. any growth to the west and south of the village should be informed by the Swale Important Local
Countryside Gap study 2021 and its recommendations (including identified potential for
enhancement).

f. no growth should be proposed north of the Sittingbourne to Faversham railway line.
g. all edge of settlement development to provide an attractive and positive response to the interface

with the countryside, particularly at gateways to the village.
h. the character of rural lanes around the village, including Lower Road, Cellar Hill, Lynsted Lane

and Claxfield Road should be retained and enhanced.
i. development should be designed so that there is always a clear transition from village to

countryside around Teynham.
j. opportunities to improve landscape quality should be explored, for instance the transport depot

at Radfield is prominent in views from the south. Enhancements to integrate this facility into the
landscape should be explored. This could include planting a more natural buffer.

k. an assessment of the existing network of hedgerows and trees across the area of opportunity,
the identification of gaps and opportunities for enhancement to landscape and biodiversity potential.

l. potential development around the village should include buffering with hedgerows, tree planting
and community orchards, to maintain the rural character of the surrounding countryside

9. A commitment to integrating biodiversity enhancement into development. The masterplan will:

a. be informed by ecological surveys and follow the mitigation hierarchy.
b. demonstrate how biodiversity net gain of 20% will be achieved.
c. recognise that land west of Frognal Lane, land to the east of Claxfield Lane and possibly land to

the west of Lynsted Lane has good sight lines to the wider countryside and the potential to act
as functionally linked land to European sites of biodiversity interest on The Swale (SPA). Whilst
the presence of this land does not present deliverability issues, precautionary measures during
the construction and operational phase of any development may be required, following
masterplanning surveys, to ensure any birds that do form a significant population of the SPA are
not subject to disturbance. It is recommended that at least one season of wintering bird surveys
is undertaken to inform the development of the masterplan.

d. demonstrate a commitment to reduce pressure on the SPA by ensuring provision of appropriate
recreational and accessible natural greenspace within the area of opportunity for use by residents
and visitors.

e. ensure that, through both on and off site measures, any significant adverse impacts on European
sites through recreational pressure will be mitigated in accordance with Policies ST 10 , including
a financial contribution towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy

f. be required to provide evidence that any development within the area of opportunity will not result
in a Likely Significant Effect to any European site of biodiversity interest. To achieve this, surveys
will be required to determine habitats and current use of the site and surrounding land parcels
to determine if it does support a significant population (a significant population is classified as a
site that regularly used by more than 1% of the population of qualifying bird species) of qualifying
species. Where habitats are suitable, non-breeding bird surveys will be required to determine if
the site and neighbouring land constitute a significant area of supporting habitat. Surveys should
be required to be undertaken during autumn, winter and spring and at more than 1 year of surveys
may be needed (to be agreed in consultation with the local planning authority and Natural England).

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202184

Land allocations for new development5

Page 106



If habitat within or adjacent to the site is identified to support significant populations of designated
bird features, avoidance measures and mitigation will be required, such as the creation of
replacement habitat nearby and any future planning application will likely need to be supported
by a project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure that the development does not
result in adverse effects on integrity.

g. integrate appropriate mechanisms for restoring or creating traditional orchard habitat as part of
green and blue infrastructure within development footprints. Loss of Traditional Orchard should
be avoided as a result of development and, where-ever appropriate, new development should
seek to incorporate new or existing traditional orchards.

10. The provision of open space, play and sports facilities to meet the needs of the existing and new
residents of the village, ensuring no net loss in existing provision and in accordance with the
requirements of Policy DM 17. Facilities should be provided in liaison with the Borough’s Greenspaces
Team and recognising that open space, play and sports provision is more effective if considered
holistically across the village and provided strategically and creatively, as part of the masterplan’s
urban and landscape approach, with, for instance, more natural play spaces being provided on the
edge of the village and more formal spaces being provided more centrally.

11. Contribution to infrastructure. Infrastructure needs for Teynham have been identified and are outlined
in the Infrastructure and Delivery Plan. Due to the likely build out of sites in Teynham post 2028, it is
anticipated that these needs may change with time. As such, those with an interest in developing land
at Teynham through a masterplan, should engage with infrastructure providers at an early stage, as
part of the masterplanning process. It is anticipated that contributions towards the following will be
required:

a. Further to modelling and transport assessment, Kent Highways have outlined that transport/mobility
mitigation will be required which will likely include contributions towards: a mitigation strategy for
the A2 (including junction improvements and bus prioritisation); air quality mitigation; connectivity
improvements within the village; cycle and pedestrian network between Sittingbourne and
Faversham; improvements to Teynham Railway Station; footway provision within the village;
Claxfield Road/A2 junction improvements; crossing provision for the A2; parking provision for
London Road residents; parking restrictions within the village; improvements to Cellar Hill and
Lynsted Lane junctions.

b. Kent County Council (KCC) have assessed the need for financial contributions towards:

i. towards secondary school provision (Sittingbourne/Faversham)
ii. community provision to contribute towards libraries, community learning and youth facilities
iii. social care and the requirements that all homes be built to Part M4(2) space and accessibility

standards
iv. waste

c. KCC have also outlined that all homes to have Fibre to Premise broadband provision and that
community buildings are built to their requirements (ie dementia friendly, with DDA catering areas,
and toilet and changing facilities for the severely disabled).

d. future health facilities, as required by the relevant NHS Clinical Commissioning Group.
e. reinforcement of the wastewater network to provide additional capacity to serve development.

Early engagement between interested parties and Southern Water is essential. Southern Water
have identified that that there may be a need for development to be phased in line with delivery
of network reinforcement.

12. Stewardship. Long term stewardship of large development such as Teynham’s area of opportunity
will be required and will involve the active and positive management of everything from green spaces
to arts provision to commercial estates and utility infrastructure. Putting local people (and stakeholders)
at the heart of this process can generate increased local support, creativity, entrepreneurialism, and
better management of open space and strategic landscaping. Managing ecology and sustainable
drainage, for instance, is specialist and requires specialist organisations.

85The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 107



13. Minerals safeguarding. It is highly likely that safeguarded minerals (Brickearth) are present across
the area of opportunity at Teynham. As such, and to inform the development of the masterplan, the
quality and quantity of minerals and the practicalities of prior extraction should be investigated via a
Minerals Assessment in line with the safeguarding mineral and prior extraction policies contained
within the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan.

14. Contaminated land. It is understood that some land across the area of opportunity (for instance at
Barrow Green Farm) may be contaminated. As such an appropriate survey will need to be conducted
for the area of opportunity and the land restored so that it is no longer deemed contaminated. Work
to inform this should be undertaken in liaison with the Council’s Environmental Health Team.

15. A Flood risk assessment of the area of opportunity should be prepared to inform the masterplan and
a drainage strategy prepared setting out how sustainable drainage will be incorporated across the
area of opportunity and incorporated into the green and blue infrastructure network to bring
multifunctional benefits. These assessments and strategies should take full account of the risks of
flooding associated with climate change and should be prepared to the satisfaction of the KCC as the
Lead Local Flood Authority, the Environment Agency and the Internal Drainage Board as appropriate.

16. The development of the masterplan should be informed by the advice of the Council’s Design Panel
at appropriate stages throughout its development.

17. Viability assessment is fundamental to the delivery of a successful masterplan. The Council have
an expectation that the viability evidence will be transparent and available to the community, in order
that that they can understand and take part in decisions affecting what can be afforded. The masterplan
needs to clearly demonstrate how elements will be paid for and by whom.

18. Phasing development with infrastructure provision is going to be a key element of the masterplan for
Teynham’s area of opportunity and needs to be considered from the start of the development process.

Policy AO 1

Teynham Area of Opportunity

1. An arc of land around Teynham, as shown indicatively on the Proposals Maps and drawing XX,
is identified as an area of opportunity for development of approximately 1,100 homes, proportionate
employment and accompanying infrastructure to be commenced in the mid to latter part of the
plan period (post 2028).

2. Landowners, agents and developers with interests in this area are required to work together, in
liaison with the Borough Council, to contribute to the production of a Teynham masterplan
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to be adopted by the Borough Council.

3. The masterplan document will be evidenced by research and will follow the outline established
in the text above and will include a commitment to:

a. Community engagement and leadership
b. Housing, economic land uses and infrastructure to meet local needs
c. An urban design and landscape design approach, respecting and enhancing local landscape

and heritage assets, and positively creating an efficient network of new streets to bring
development forward

d. Improving air quality and reducing the impact of private vehicles by creating viable alternatives
e. Adaptation and mitigation to the risk of climate change, including flood risk and overheating
f. Reversing declines in biodiversity and providing for a 20% biodiversity net gain
g. A phased approach, delivering new development, community infrastructure and design,

landscape and biodiversity gains in tandem
h. Long term stewardship

4. Until the adoption of the Teynham masterplan SPD, no significant development (aside from
allocations within the Council’s 2017 adopted local plan) is likely to be approved by the Borough

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202186

Land allocations for new development5

Page 108



Council within the area of opportunity. New development within the area of opportunity will accord
with the requirements set out in the masterplan.

Picture 5.5.1

5.6 Proposed housing allocations

Land at Neames Forstal, Selling

5.6.1 This policy covers the land at Neames Forstal, Selling as shown on the Proposals Map.

5.6.2 The concept diagram sets out the extent of the proposed allocations and includes land that will fall
outside of the village envelope that will deliver a landscape buffer, community orchard and off-road cycling
and walking route that will connect Neames Forstal and nearby Selling village.

5.6.3 Neames Forstal sits to the south west of the railway line at Selling station at the eastern edge of
the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). It is a relatively sustainable location in that
it has a fibre broadband, online supermarket delivery provision, a shop, café and a train station, thereby
providing a genuine alternative to private car travel to Canterbury, Faversham, and beyond. Nearby Selling
contains a primary school, church, hall and pub. Boughton Under Blean, a Rural Local Service Centre is
approximately 1.4 miles away and offers a range of shops and services.

87The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 109



5.6.4 Neames Forstal is identified for modest growth on two parcels of land adjacent to the south west
and east of the village. The two sites are well connected and together will create a strong ‘edge’ to the
village, providing up to 90 dwellings combined.

5.6.5 The western part of the village and the site to the south west falls within the AONB boundary. The
impact of both the existing built form of the village and the proposed new development on the setting of
the AONB will need to be addressed fully to ensure that the landscape buffer softens the edge between
the built form and the farmland both in terms of short and longer views to the village.

5.6.6 The ability of the transport network to accommodate further growth in this location of this scale is
enhanced by its proximity to the primary road network and the existence of the train services at Selling
station. There are lobbying efforts to maintain and support an increase in train services to further support
travel by alternatives to the private car and a new safe walking and cycling route to Selling will support
active travel.

5.6.7 Site (a) to the west of Monica Close is allocated for up to 30 dwellings. Site (b) to the south of Fox
Lane and east of Selling Road is allocated for up to 60 dwellings. The site should bring forward a range of
housing types in accordance with Policy XX, including those for affordable housing.

5.6.8 The development should generally be of a low to medium density to reflect the character of the
village. The form, pattern, design and materials should respond to the local character and distinctiveness
of Neames Forstal. Building frontages should ideally face outwards onto its street which should then be
bordered by a strong landscaped edge to soften the visual impacts of the development and provide an
attractive buffer between homes and farmland and retaining existing hedgerows, tree belts and trees as
much as possible. Proposals for landscaping should be set out in landscape strategy to accompany any
planning application for the sites. Use of the Council’s Design Panel is strongly recommended.

5.6.9 It is highly likely that the safeguarded minerals are present at this site and therefore the quality and
quantity of the minerals and the practicalities of prior extraction should be investigated via a Minerals
Assessment in line with the safeguarding minerals and prior extraction policies contained within the Kent
Minerals and Waste Local Plan.

5.6.10 Additional open space requirements will be provided in line with Policy XX and determined at the
planning application stage in light of the requirement to provide a community orchard at either or both sites
to dovetail with continuing farming activities beyond the site, fitting with the wider landscape that is
characterised and dominated by fruit production.

5.6.11 An ecological assessment will need to be submitted at the application stage to determine the
extent and importance of habitats and species present and to make recommendations for their avoidance,
mitigation and, where appropriate, compensation. Development proposals will need to deliver 20%
Biodiversity Net Gain in accordance with Policy A5

Policy A 4

Land at Neames Forstal, Selling

Planning permission will be granted for up to 90 dwellings (up to 30 on site (a) and up to 60 on site
(b)); a landscape buffer and community orchard; and, with safe pedestrian and cycle link to Selling
village. Development proposals will:

1. Demonstrate that the proposals have fully considered and responded to the location of the sites in
terms of the design, siting, mass and materials of the built, providing active frontages that face outwards
at the edge of the settlement to provide a definitive edge to the village and softened by the use of an
extensive landscape buffer.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202188

Land allocations for new development5

Page 110



2. Respond to the important landscape designation of the AONB by including a landscape buffer that
maintains existing tree belts, hedgerows and trees and consists of native species that are characteristic
of the landscape in this part of the AONB and community orchard adjacent to either site.

3. Provide for a mix of housing in accordance with Policy XX, including provision for affordable housing
in accordance with Policy DMXX

4. Provide a safe pedestrian and cycle link to the primary school at Selling. This may be provided as
an off road link as an upgrade to the existing public right of way or an alternative off road route unless
it can be demonstrated that any links via Selling Road itself can be managed to ensure satisfactory
levels of safety through appropriate traffic management measures.

Picture 5.6.1

5.7 Proposed employment allocations

5.7.1 Lamberhurst Farm, Yorkletts

5.7.2 The site is a 2.3ha former farm building complex that provides a range of premises for approximately
40 different businesses for a variety of employment uses from artisan food production to motor repair and
MOT workshops and some limited vehicle open storage. There are currently 5 houses on the site, one of
which is Grade II listed.

5.7.3 The site is reasonably remote and located in open countryside with the Swale level area of high
landscape value immediately to the south and accessed via a narrow country lane. The south of the site
is thereforemore constrained and the views to the south are important because of this landscape designation.

89The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 111



5.7.4 The site sits within the recently designated Hernhill Neighbourhood Plan area so the applicant
would be required to liaise with the Parish Council prior to developing their plans.

5.7.5 The allocation is for a 3.19 ha extension to the existing employment area, creating a 5.5 ha
employment allocation.

5.7.6 The site plays an important role in providing amixed portfolio of employment premises for established
and new businesses and is described in the Employment Land Review (2018) as having a poor internal
environment with no internal landscaping and low quality units. The extension of the existing site presents
an opportunity for redevelopment to address these issues as well as make better use of the space available.
Expanding the accommodation available on this site will enable the existing small and medium sized
businesses to grow and expand whilst not having to relocate elsewhere.

5.7.7 The setting of the Grade II listed building needs to be carefully considered when masterplanning
the site.

5.7.8 A landscape and visual assessment will be required and the proposals will need to respond to
these studies as well as increased landscaping to screen both the existing site, and the extension, by
retaining any existing hedgerows and trees and providing a good variety and mixture of new vegetation in
order to maintain the rural nature of the area. It is envisaged that at least 1 ha of the 3.19 ha extension will
be landscaping.

5.7.9 There are constraints to development here arising from its topography and the resulting need to
site and design new buildings sensitively to reduce visual impacts on the wider open landscape around it.
Buildings should therefore be low rise. Any visual impacts will need to be mitigated by the retention and
significant enhancement of existing vegetation.

5.7.10 Achieving these objectives is likely to be best secured through a comprehensive approach with
the redevelopment of the existing site and the extension being planned holistically. A Transport Assessment
will be required and some localised improvements, especially sustainable and active travel interventions,
will be required, for the employees to both Faversham and Whitstable and their respective train stations.

5.7.11 There may be future opportunities for a large, housing led, mixed use sustainable settlement in
this area but given its sensitive location it would need to be comprehensively planned. As any new mixed
use development at this location would need to be of a scale to provide a new access road to the strategic
road network, active and sustainable transport solutions and new services and facilities. The Council will
work with Canterbury City Council, as the area straddles the borough boundary, during a future plan review
to explore opportunities to deliver a new, sustainable settlement.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202190

Land allocations for new development5

Page 112



91The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 113



Picture 5.7.1

Policy A 5

Lamberhurst Farm, Yorkletts

Planning permission will be granted for employment uses on a 5.5 ha site at Lamberhurst Farm,
Yorkletts, as shown on the Proposals Map. Development proposals will:

1. Be planned through a comprehensive approach with the redevelopment of the existing site and the
extension being planned holistically;

2. Undertake a Transport Assessment and provide any highway, sustainable and active travel
interventions as required;

3. Be accompanied by a landscape and visual assessment which the proposals will respond to positively
and comprehensively;

4. Minimise adverse impacts upon the sensitive landscape and surrounding countryside to acceptable
levels and landscape the site, creating an appropriate and attractive edge to the development. Any
visual impacts will need to be mitigated by the retention and significant enhancement of existing
vegetation; and

5. Enhance and improve the setting of the Grade II listed building.

5.8 Proposed regeneration areas

The Port of Sheerness: Regeneration Area

5.8.1 1. The Port of Sheerness is a significant feature of the Isle of Sheppey’s economy, and in handling
approximately 1.5 million tonnes of cargo per annum is classified by the Department for Transport as a
“major” port. It is one of the largest foreign car importers in the UK and handles thousands of tonnes of
forest products and steel from all over Europe. The Port has good infrastructure, including access to the
wider road and rail networks.

5.8.2 2. The role of the Port of Sheerness will be maintained and enhanced as a deep-water gateway
port to Europe. The priority will be to safeguard this port function. Future expansion is likely to involve
intensification of port use both within the existing port confines and via expansion onto appropriate nearby
land. In the longer term, the regeneration of the Port of Sheerness could have far reaching consequences
for the Borough and represent a major opportunity for Sheerness and the communities on western Sheppey,
many of whom currently experience high levels of social and economic deprivation.

5.8.3 3. The owners of the Port published and consulted upon their ‘Sheerness Port Masterplan – A 20
year Strategy for Growth’ in November 2014. The Masterplan is part of the strategic plan to develop and
growth the Port of Sheerness over the next 20 years, reflecting the owner’s long-term ambition to remain
a key employer and driver for sustainable growth in the Swale and wider Kent region. The draft Masterplan
identifies options for the physical strategy for expansion and development of the Port of Sheerness, based
upon growth forecasts. The options considered include both expansion within the operational area and
major land reclamation intended to facilitate new port operations and regeneration of the older historical
parts of the dockyard with additional potential for housing and other mixed use development.

5.8.4 4. Heritage is a key issue, both in terms of its potential to act as a catalyst for change, but also in
terms of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets. The Dockyard conservation area
includes the most important part of the 19th century engineer John Rennie’s original plan and the heritage

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202192

Land allocations for new development5

Page 114



and cultural significance of the former Royal Naval Dockyard is now widely recognised and accepted as
being of international importance. Adjacent to the Port is Bluetown, a community of small businesses and
homes with considerable heritage, character and development potential located in the shadow of the historic
dockyard wall.

5.8.5 5. The Council adopted its Heritage Strategy in March 2020. The purpose of the Heritage Strategy
is to provide a framework for the designation, conservation, management and physical and economic
regeneration of Swale’s historic buildings and areas. The Action Plan that forms part of the Heritage Strategy
identifies a specific project to achieve repair and re-use of the disused and deteriorating listed buildings
within the Sheerness Port operational area (including the grade I listed Boat Store). Production of a detailed
and timetabled plan of action to realise the repair and re-use of the grouping of highly significant listed
buildings within the Port operational area is underway as a collaboration between the Council and the
landowners. Further scope to prepare a master plan to guide regeneration of the Bluetown area would
further support and enhance the physical fabric and character of the area.

5.8.6 6. Alongside heritage, there are also biodiversity, coastal and infrastructure considerations that will
need to be addressed to bring these wider proposals for regeneration forward over the longer term. However,
if realised, these areas would represent the single largest regeneration in Swale and one of the largest
across north Kent.

5.8.7 7. Adjacent to the longstanding port area is the former Thamesteel site, which following the grant
of planning permission in October 2016 has since been assimilated into the operational port facilitated by
a new bridge across Brielle Way. There is potential to redevelop the listed Military Hospital adjacent to the
former Thamesteeel site. The extended port site now provides an expanded operational land footprint for
the port’s activities, having regard to improving the amenities of adjacent residential areas whose quality
of life was impacted by the previous steel mill activities. Given the scale of the site and its access to the
rail network, if port activities are to be extended onto the site, the Council will expect schemes to explore
the use of existing rail infrastructure on the site.

5.8.8 8. Longer term options within the emerging Port Masterplan, such as potential land reclamation,
could play a significant role in the wider regeneration of Sheerness in the longer term

Policy Regen 1

The Port of Sheerness Regeneration Area

A regeneration area for the Port of Sheerness is shown on the Proposals Map. Within this area
proposals will be supported which support the objectives of maintaining and enhancing the Port of
Sheerness as a deep water gateway port to Europe. The priority will be to safeguard the port function
and to encourage investment in infrastructure that supports water and rail freight connections.

Expansion involving the intensification of port use within existing port confines and/or expansion onto
appropriate land within the area defined on the proposals map will be supported provided that:

1. any measures required by the development to improve local access by road and rail are brought
forward as part of the proposals;

2. the proposals increase the potential for the movement of freight by rail;

3. the proposals are of a scale, use and external appearance that would not detract from the visual
appearance or residential amenity of the locality;

4. the significance of heritage assets are sustained and enhanced with viable uses consistent with
their conservation with new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness;

93The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 115



5. a project specific HRA demonstrates that the integrity of the Outer Thames Estuary SPA is retained;
and

6. there are no other significant adverse social or environmental impacts arising as a result of the
project.

All proposals intended to secure the regeneration of the area for mixed uses will be considered in
terms of their social, economic and environmental implications and their ability to secure the wider
possible benefits for the sustainable regeneration of Sheerness and Bluetown.

Sittingbourne Town Centre

5.8.9 The Sittingbourne town centre boundary includes the historic High Street, the Forum shopping
centre, Central Avenue, St Michael’s Road/A2 and the south side of Eurolink Way. Connections to Dolphin
Sailing Barge Museum, The Mill Skate Park, Sittingbourne and Kemsley Light Railway, Milton Country Park
and Eurolink to the north, and Borden Grammar School, Albany Park, Sittingbourne Cemetery, Appleyard
and Sittingbourne Memorial Hospital to the south while not in the town centre are important considerations
to the town centre.

5.8.10 Recent development includes food stores and a drive-in coffee shop directly north of the railway
station, a newmulti-storey car park (MSCP) on St Michael’s Road, the new leisure facilities including cinema
and bowling, hotel and restaurants in Bourne Place opposite the railway station and a large residential
development on Eurolink Way. A number of smaller scale developments in the High Street itself and in the
wider town centre are welcome additions to the place.

5.8.11 The public realm and setting of the railway station have undergone extensive improvement and
new bus stops with associated public realm have been provided in close proximity; this new public realm
assists with providing easy connections to the High Street. However, the railway line and Eurolink Way
form significant barriers for pedestrian and cycle movement north south. The narrow footpaths under the
two railway bridges are a particular challenge limiting pedestrian access to the important leisure and work
facilities and new residential developments in the north.

5.8.12 The western end of the High Street and the Forum shopping centre have the highest concentration
of retail outlets. Around the Park Road High Street junction is a concentration of bars and public houses.
However, there are also restaurants, cafes, bars and public house spread on the eastern end of the High
Street. Sittingbourne is fortunate to retain a number of financial services on the High Street at the Central
Avenue junction which also leads to a concentration of community facilities including Swallows Leisure
Centre, the library, Police Station, Avenue Theatre, post office and facilities for community groups such as
Age UK on Central Avenue itself.

5.8.13 West Street and East Street both feature a mix of independent retail and food & beverage facilities.
St Michael’s Road forms an unremarkable gateway to Sittingbourne with uses which do not support the
High Street and with little architectural merit.

5.8.14 There is a Conservation Area in the core of the High Street with a number of Listed Buildings and
a predominance of eighteenth and early nineteenth century buildings, reflecting its importance as a coaching
stop between London and Canterbury, although St Michael’s Church at the eastern end of the High Street
dates back to the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries.

5.8.15 The appearance of land behind the High Street in the town centre is generally poor, with unattractive
views of commercial premises and service roads, whilst the centre as a whole is characterised by large
areas of surface car parking. While some car parks are in good condition and well-used others are poorly
maintained and underused especially after business hours. The latter represent a poor use of space and
also detract from the environment and amenity of the town.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202194

Land allocations for new development5

Page 116



5.8.16 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF para 85) requires planning policies for town
centres to take a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation allowing for flexible mixed
use characterful places.

5.8.17 Consultants WYG Planning were appointed in August 2018 to undertake the Retail and Leisure
Needs Assessment to assess the needs for additional retail and commercial leisure for the local plan review
period and undertake a ‘health check’ assessments for Sittingbourne town centre. The Retail and Leisure
Needs Assessment concluded that the ‘health’ (vitality and viability) of the Borough’s town centres is good
with vacancy rates largely in line with national trends and a good range of shops and services while
Sittingbourne town centre could accommodate up to 1,900 sq. m. of additional convenience floorspace
and between 12,300 and 22,600 sq. m. of additional comparison floorspace for the period to 2037/38.

5.8.18 Since adoption of the previous local plan a number of residential planning applications have come
forward awaiting implementation including proposals at the Bell Centre in the eastern end of the town
centre, a site overlooking the Sainsbury’s car park and a site off Albany Road.

5.8.19 The Employment Land Review (2018) identified an unmet Borough-wide need for an additional
15 ha of office space, some of which could be expected to be met in Sittingbourne. A realistic prospect
would be for smaller offices to be met within the town centre either above retail premises, along the alleys
leading from the High Street, through suitable changes of use or purpose-built accommodation, at the
eastern and western gateways or edge of town centre locations.

5.8.20 New ways of working and shopping are predicted for the future with the emphasis being on
adaptations which embrace flexibility and social interaction. There is a need for a proactive plan to transform
the place, looking not only to future retail and development, but to other uses and activities, that may draw
people, enhance prosperity and improve the look, role and general feel of the town centre.

Sittingbourne town centre

5.8.21 The role and purpose of Sittingbourne town centre is set out in the settlement strategy ST 2 Swale’s
development strategy and settlement hierarchy. Policies for maintaining and enhancing the vitality and
viability of Swale’s town centres are set out in DM 5 Maintaining and enhancing the vitality and viability of
town centres, which also sets out the town centre boundary and primary retail frontage for Sittingbourne.
Sittingbourne is the principal town in the Borough and the focus of new housing, employment, services and
infrastructure, which will support regeneration in the town centre. The aim for the centre is to ensure its
vitality through enhancing the retail offer, and a wider range of services including leisure, culture, education
and improving both the public realm and the quality of new buildings.

5.8.22 The purpose of this policy is to identify the future development of the town centre as a whole . It
takes into account progress achieved to date, the changed national planning policy context and prevailing
economic context, and new evidence, whist being as flexible as possible to accommodate regeneration
and investment proposals which may come forward in the plan period. New ways of working and shopping
are predicted for the future with the emphasis being on adaptations which embrace flexibility and social
interaction.

5.8.23 The Sittingbourne Town Centre Planning and Urban Design Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) will shape and guide regeneration in the town centre over the next 10-15 years. The focus is to
create places that people want to visit and linger, places that encourage transactions and positive interactions
throughout the day and night and which therefore contribute to the vitality and viability of Sittingbourne The
SPD will guide regeneration in a way that:

1. promotes the heritage and culture of Sittingbourne;
2. introduces a wider range of land uses and activity;
3. enables walking, cycling and inclusive access throughout the area;
4. strengthens local communities;
5. responds positively to the challenges of climate change;

95The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 117



6. within an integrated landscape strategy, introduce green spaces and trees and
7. create opportunities for private and public sector investment.

5.8.24 A major step change in retail offer is not proposed for the town centre so as to consolidate and
ensure the continuation of the existing convenience and budget retail function and to minimise vacancy on
the High Street and in the Forum shopping centre.

5.8.25 There is scope for additional cultural and leisure facilities in the town and more variety in the
night-time economy remains unmet. Support for uses such as restaurants, cafes and leisure development
will be given along the High Street.

5.8.26 Improvement and consolidation of community services, education and health services is also part
of the development intent and these will continue to be focused on Central Avenue. A need for a town
centre college of further education has been identified, which is seen as vital for the local labour force to
support the economic regeneration of the Borough as a whole. Widening the opportunities for community
uses will be considered with sharing of uses such education and library functions. The community quarter
on Central Avenue would be a good location for this facility and it would assist with increasing pedestrian
footfall and vitality and help link the various functions of the centre. There is interest in providing the college
from a provider. A new home for community groups in replacement of Phoenix House is also being sought.

5.8.27 There are a number of alleys leading from the High Street connecting with the ‘back land’ areas
of the town centre: the former will benefit from repurposed uses particularly for creative industries and the
latter represent significant amounts of poorly used space that would benefit from new well-designed
residential uses. Public realm improvements in these spaces and in the main commercial parts of the centre
would do much to improve their amenity and attractiveness, whilst development proposals will explore
opportunities to improve these outlooks and pedestrian links into the main shopping streets.

5.8.28 Traffic management is a key part of the regeneration strategy with remodelling and traffic calming
St. Michael’s Road and Eurolink Way for safer, more attractive pedestrian and cycle provision as tree-lined
avenues. The new multi-storey car park and new parking provision at the railway station consolidates the
car parking strategy for the town centre. Surface car parks at the rear of the High Street and car parking
on the High Street itself continue to provide convenient access to the facilities on the High Street however
not all of these car parks are in good condition or well used.

5.8.29 The Council will be seeking a design and landscape led approach to the town centre and it will
be expecting both innovative and sensitive design responses to the development opportunities that are
available especially where prominent sites or land mark buildings are proposed and would expect the advice
of the Council's Design Panel to be sought. Consultation will also be undertaken to engage the community.
Proposals for the public realm should be finished with high quality materials and landscape making them
attractive for visitors and shoppers. Sittingbourne's heritage assets will play a key role in delivering successful
town centre regeneration in the future. This will be achieved by means of a programme of historic building
repair, restoration, refurbishment and re-use, in tandem with a programme of townscape and conservation
area enhancement. Many of the development proposals will be taking place within the town centre
conservation area or its setting. Whilst pursuing innovative and modern designs, development proposals
will need to respect and positively respond to the character and heritage there, drawing upon the Council's
Conservation Area Appraisal.

5.8.30 As part of the co-ordinating work prior to the submission of any planning applications, an integrated
landscape strategy should be created for the town centre as a whole which will set out the approach toward
a major scheme of public realm, green space improvements, new surfacing, lighting and street furniture.
The strategy's objective will be to improve the amenity and attractiveness of the town centre for the business
environment, shoppers and visitors alike. It will bring forward a proposal for a new green grid structure for
the centre formed by the expansion of street tree planting into upper Bell Road, St. Michael's Road, Eurolink
Way, West Street, Station Street, Park Road, Albany Road, Cockleshell Walk and Fountain Street to echo
that already present in the Avenue of Remembrance, Central Avenue and Bell Road. This will be implemented
by the development of key sites in the vicinity of these streets.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202196

Land allocations for new development5

Page 118



5.8.31 In accordance with ST7 Health and well-being, a Health Impact Assessment should be prepared
to enable an integrated approach to creating a healthier environment across the regeneration area.

5.8.32 The central area currently has relatively little housing, but the Strategic Housing Land Availability
Assessment as identified capacity for at least 850 dwellings within the regeneration area. The contribution
from this area to the overall housing land supply is identified in ‘Development needs for the Borough for
the plan period (2022 to 2038)’, although this does not preclude other suitable sites within the town centre
regeneration area coming forward. Well designed schemes should improve visual amenity, create and knit
together the townscape and increase vitality.

5.8.33 The town centre should bring forward a range of housing types in accordance with ST 5 Delivering
a wide choice of high-quality homes and DM 17 Space standards for residential dwellings, including those
for affordable housing. Whist we are looking towards schemes providing a minimum 20% affordable housing
within the Town Centre in accordance with DM 15 Affordable housing, there could be opportunities for grant
funding or commuted payments to bring forward schemes with higher proportions of affordable units

5.8.34 Open space will be required in accordance with DM 17 Open space, sport and recreation provision.
Actual amounts and types of open space will be determined at planning application stage, in the context
of the specific details of the proposed development. In the case of sports pitch and formal play facilities,
the degree to which these will be provided on site or by way of off-site financial contribution (or a combination
of both) will also be determined at the planning application stage.

Policy Regen 2

Sittingbourne Town Centre

Amap for the town centre for central Sittingbourne covered by the Supplementary Planning document,
is shown on the Proposals Map. Within this area proposals which support the objective of consolidating
and expanding Sittingbourne’s position as the main retail, business, cultural, community and civic
centre for the Borough, will be permitted.

Development proposals will:

1. To consolidate and improve the retail and food & beverage (Use Class order E) offer of the town
centre within the Core Shopping area on the High Street to ensure vitality, viability, diversity and activity
(see DM 5 Maintaining and enhancing the vitality and viability of town centres);

2. Provide for a redeveloped and enhanced community quarter focused on Central Avenue, Roman
Square and Avenue of Remembrance to include community services, housing and further education
facilities;

3. Maintain and increase office floorspace provision above commercial premises within the town centre
area with a focus on creative industries;

4. Provide for suitable car parking in accordance with the Parking SPD for central urban area parking
with emphasis on opportunities presented by car clubs as a means to reduce the need for extensive
parking areas ;

5. Redevelop sites predominantly for housing in the eastern and western gateways to the

town centre, in the southern areas behind the High Street, along St Michael’s Avenue and Eurolink
Way or at other suitable sites (see ST 5 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes).

6. Provide for residential development of suitable type and scale above commercial premises, or as
part of mixed use developments, or on other suitable sites;

97The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 119



7. Supporting the creation of tree lined avenues along St Michael’s Road and Eurolink Way with
improved pedestrian and cycle routes through traffic calming and environmental enhancement;

8. Deliver an integrated landscape strategy for the area as a whole that secures improvements in the
public realm, green spaces and the pedestrian environment. Proposals will implement a green grid
structure with street tree planting in key streets;

9. Retain, enhance and create new open spaces and green spaces which should include tree planting
(including street trees);

10. Provide public spaces, squares and public art, alongside improved lighting and street furniture;

11. Improve north south links to facilities north of the railway and Eurolink Way via Milton Road and
Crown Quay Lane;

12. Provide an improved environment for the bus stops to create a bus hub:

13. A Health Impact Assessment to enable an integrated approach to be adopted across the area (see
ST 7 Health and well-being) and

14. Redevelop visually poor areas with buildings of innovative and sensitive design to create new and
improved townscape areas, which are of sustainable design and construction (see DM 3 Mitigating
and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and construction;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 202198

Land allocations for new development5

Page 120



Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area

Queenborough and Rushenden are two settlements that sit together on the west of the Isle of
Sheppey. Bearing Fruits identified the Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area and this
has been the focus for investment and regeneration for some years. The initial area for this
regeneration zone and master plan area covered most of the urban area of both settlements, some
165ha of land and buildings on both banks of Queenborough Creek.

Parts of the area have been dominated by heavy industry and poor environmental quality, but this
is changing. The two areas were previously separated by a former railway line that was used to
transport goods to the wharf at the end of Rushenden Marshes. This physical barrier was removed
as part of the delivery of phase one of the adopted master plan supplementary planning guidance
for the area.

Although a significant amount of investment and regeneration has already been undertaken through
the implementation of earlier local plans and master plans, there is still more to do. There remain
significant opportunities for further regeneration that support long terms plans to provide new and
improved community facilities, most notably a new primary school, improved health and community
facilities and new open space.

Homes England produced a revised ‘Queenborough&RushendenRegeneration – Indicative Revised
Land-Use Plan’ which was adopted in 2015 as an addendum to the original Masterplan. It reflected
the changes to the original Masterplanwhich occurred since its adoption in 2010, notably, a reduction
in the total number of dwellings for the area from 2,000 to approximately 1,180. The original Master
Plan and adopted addendum have Supplementary Planning Document status and will remain
important tools in delivering the regeneration of the area.

Economic fortunes have changed markedly since the adoption of the Masterplan in 2010 and this
has been keenly felt at Queenborough and Rushenden. The area’s regeneration is led by Homes
Englandwho have assisted in the delivery of homes, coordinating significant land decontamination
and land raising works (to safeguard against flooding) as well as the completion of local road
infrastructure and the removal of the redundant industrial railway track that formed a strong physical
barrier between the two communities.

Other significant achievements related to the Masterplan include:

• Completion of the Rushenden Relief Road (Thomsett Way) opening up the area with improved
road access and reducing lorry movements through Queenborough.

• A large scale retrofit project tomake homesmore energy efficient (across all tenures) by providing
a series of energy-saving measures. This retrofit was delivered in partnership and was the first of
its kind in England to cover private and social homes of various construction types.

• A major new wildlife habitat has been created at the eastern end of Sheppey to mitigate and
compensate for habitat lost at Neatscourt.

• Progression of the Neatscourt development including a largeMorrisons supermarket, convenience
and comparison retail units, a petrol filling station, fast food take aways, cafes and leisure uses.

• Completion of over 60,000 sq m of employment floorspace including Aldi regional office and
distribution centre.

99The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 121



Good progress has beenmade in bringing forward regeneration on this area and progress in respect
of land to the south of the creek. A further landowner has aspirations to develop an additional site
in this locality, Peel Ports and Peel Land and Property (PLP). The Peel companies are proposing
to develop port related land south of Thomsett Way, east of the railway line, which is predominantly
used for car storage and on land to the south of Rushenden adjacent to Manor Road. These
proposals will involve the relocation of port related car storage on land to the south of Rushenden,
releasing land to the east of Rushenden for development. As these proposals include land already
covered by the master plan SPD and new land that complements the existing designation, a new
masterplan will need to be prepared for the land identified by the hatching on the map below.

Picture 5.8.1

5.8.35 Pink dashed line is the existing Policy REGEN 2 area and the land outlined in blue is the extra
land added to the regeneration area. The policy area for the Peel Ports land will be identified by a hatched
line. It will include all of the blue area and the parcels under their control to the west and east of the railway
line.

5.8.36 Until such time as a newmasterplan is prepared and adopted as supplementary planning guidance
for the Rushenden South area, any proposals for land to the west and east of the railway line will be required
to comply with the adopted masterplan and subsequent addendum. The ‘Rushenden South’ master plan
will need to be prepared along similar lines, i.e. that it will need to be prepared in close consultation with
the community, the Council and other stakeholders. The ‘Rushenden South’ master plan will include land
south of Thomsett Way, and once adopted as SPD area will supersede the guidance set out ‘’in the
‘Queenborough and Rushenden’ master plan where there is an overlap.

5.8.37 The Council remains committed to the original 2010 Masterplan’s aim of:

5.8.38 "a ‘multifaceted’ regeneration, using the highest standards of design; an urban scheme which is
respectful of the history and character of Queenborough, where new houses complementing the old will

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021100

Land allocations for new development5

Page 122



revitalise the area, bringing money into the local economy, improving education and services, and putting
a ‘value’ on the visual, historical and ecological qualities that the Isle of Sheppey enjoys. The new regenerated
Queenborough and Rushenden will be a very attractive place to live and work."

5.8.39 The combined regeneration area falls within some of the Borough's most deprived areas and the
purpose of development here is to support a restoration of the local housing market in terms of housing
type and quality of environment and to deliver new and enhanced community facilities and infrastructure.
As well as bring significant social and economic benefits, regeneration in this location is expected to fully
mitigate environmental impacts in terms of biodiversity net gain, design and layout to lessen impacts on
the local landscape and to provide carbon neutral development.

5.8.40 A range of housing types should be brought forward in accordance with Policy ST 5, including
those for affordable housing, with a minimum of 10% of the scheme overall expected to be affordable
dwellings and be subject to ongoing review during the long term construction phases expected.

5.8.41 In accordance with Policy ST 7 a Health Impact Assessment should be prepared to enable an
integrated approach to issues to be adopted across both of the regeneration areas.

5.8.42 Queenborough Creek, the conservation area and the wider estuarine environment are
under-appreciated assets. A high standard of development will be required that is not only sensitive to
these assets and their settings, but as the means to secure a major uplift to the image and public realm of
the area. There are also opportunities for greening the area and producing landmark developments and
quality public spaces. Environmental enhancement must extend through and beyond the identifiedmixed-use
sites into existing residential and business communities. The Council will expect all proposals to be subject
to scrutiny by Swale’s Design Panel (or similar) and will accord with an integrated landscape strategy
prepared as part of the 2010 Masterplan SPD. Archaeological assessment and mitigation may be required
as part of the planning process.

5.8.43 Land south of the Rushenden settlement is characterised by mud flats, grassland and scrubland.
It is surrounded by an internationally designated site of biodiversity importance, Special Protection Area
(SPA) and Ramsar. A large part of this land has been despoiled by dredging deposits and is unutilised.
Regeneration of this area provides opportunities to better connect areas of priority habitat and to enhance
and restore habitats within the biodiversity opportunity area. The benefits to people and wildlife of
reconnecting the community to the coastline is a key objective of the Swale Green and Blue Infrastructure
Strategy.

5.8.44 Although mitigation for adverse impacts on European habitats has already been implemented at
the strategic level, detailed proposals will need to continue to be assessed for their impacts upon biodiversity
which may lead to further mitigation and compensation needing to be provided, especially where required
as part of any Habitats Regulation Assessment. Development proposals will need to reduce recreational
disturbance on the SPA, by ensuring the provision of appropriate recreational and accessible natural
greenspace opportunities on-site for use by residents and visitors. Such proposals will be subject to an
HRA and where demonstrated as necessary to avoid likely significant effects on the SPA, a financial
contribution towards wider management of recreational pressures on the North Kent Marshes will be sought
in accordance with Policies ST 10 and DM 25

5.8.45 Most of this regeneration area is considered by the Environment Agency to be within the High
Risk Flood Zone, but it is defended and suitable for development. Site based flood risk assessments,
however, will be required for development proposals and some upgrading of defences will be needed.

5.8.46 New community facilities are proposed, most notably a new primary school and improved health
and community facilities, together with new open space. Open space will be required in accordance with
Policy DM 17. The generated need for open space within the Queenborough and Rushenden area is some
16.7 ha, with a further 3.1 ha of sport pitches, with contributions to formal play facilities needed either on
or off-site. However, the actual amounts and types of open space, sports pitch and formal play facilities
will be determined in accordance with the adopted Masterplan SPD and at the planning application stage.

101The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 123



Rushenden South proposals will include a significant amount of open space and landscaping. This will be
necessary in order to ensure mitigation and enhancement of landscape and biodiversity. A full landscape
impact assessment will be required to accompany any development proposals in this location. Any build
form will need to be set back from the more vulnerable parts of Rushenden South, using open space and
landscaping to soften the visual impacts of the development and support the extension of the national
coastal path.

For Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area

5.8.47 The economic climate has fluctuated since the adoption of the Masterplan in 2010 and this has
been strongly felt at Queenborough and Rushenden. The 2,000 dwellings suggested by the 2008 Local
Plan and the original Masterplan appeared optimistic with development relying on significant proportions
of high density and flatted accommodation taking advantage of the waterside location and a proposed
marina. However, the recession of 2008 showed that the marina and the high density, high rise development
around it was no longer viable. One area to the south of the creek, in particular, has had viability concerns,
especially given contamination of the site and the presence of existing industrial uses.

5.8.48 Homes England produced a revised ‘Queenborough & Rushenden Regeneration – Indicative
Revised Land-Use Plan’ which was adopted in 2015 as an addendum to the original Masterplan. It reflected
the changes to the original Masterplan which occurred since its adoption, notably, a reduction in the total
number of dwellings for the area to approximately 1,180. However, the original Masterplan will remain
adopted as a supplementary planning document.

5.8.49 Other changes to the original Masterplan included the removal of the proposed marina. There is
now much greater certainty regarding the delivery of the school, which represents a key element of new
social/community infrastructure, given its new location on land owned by the HCA. The school will now sit
in the heart of the new residential community and on a key new pedestrian axis linking Queenborough and
Rushenden.

5.8.50 The former Istil Mill and Thomsett sites have now been included for residential development.
Their development will remove industrial uses from part of Rushenden Road to help to create more integrated
communities and improve the quality of both the natural and built environments. Similarly, the introduction
of residential uses along the new Rushenden Link Road will improve the character of this key gateway into
Queenborough and Rushenden and improve pedestrian linkages to the new retail and employment uses
at Neatscourt.

5.8.51 There are now more favourable signs of new housing coming forward. The area’s regeneration
is now led by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA.) Progress has been made by the HCA in respect
of land to the south of the creek. The first phase of houses have been built at the junction of Rushenden
Road and First Avenue. This comprised of 101 dwellings, including 30%Starter Homes (affordable housing.)
Planning applications for land raising and remedial works have been approved at the former ISTIL, Klondyke
and Twyford sites in preparation for future applications for residential development.

5.8.52 Insert pic of completed phase one housing.

5.8.53 In 2017, Swale Borough Council successfully made a bid of £3.5million to the Housing Infrastructure
Fund (HIF) Marginal Viability funding for the Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration scheme. This
award has subsequently been increased to £6.2million to cover increased costs in changingmarket conditions
and availability of materials. The funds will pay for:

Land raising works to bring the development area for phase 4 out of the flood zone; and
Site clearance and land remediation works required to enable development to commence.

5.8.54 This all makes it seem more likely that most of the scheme can now be delivered within the plan
period.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021102

Land allocations for new development5

Page 124



5.8.55 Within the regeneration area identified on the Proposals Map, residential development will be
permitted on the following sites identified in the Council's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
(SHLAA):

West Street (SLA18/199) up to 80 dwellings.
West of Rushenden Road (SLA18/220) up to 480 dwellings.
Istil Mill Site (SLA18/214) up to 240 dwellings.
South of Queenborough Creek (SLA18/207) up to 380 dwellings.

5.8.56 Insert MAP from MP addendum (Same as in adopted LP.)

103The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 125



Policy Regen 3A

Policy REGEN 3(a) - Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area

A regeneration area for Queenborough andRushenden is designated as shown on the Proposals
Map.Within this area, proposals will support the objective of regenerating the area for residential,
employment and community uses to achieve the integration of communities. Development
proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Accord with the adopted Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document and its addendum;

2. Contribute towards the creation of a distinctive sense of place for the planned new settlement
that also reflects the area's waterside location and historic environment;

3. Demonstrate sensitive and innovative design, which responds to the challenge of creating
new townscape and be subject to scrutiny by the Swale Design Panel (or similar);

4. Achieve high standards in terms of sustainable design and construction, including the design
and specification of the buildings and sustainable urban drainage;

5. Accord with an integrated landscape strategy through the creation of a new landscape
structure for the area, supporting the creation of a network of areas for play, walking and
informal recreation, as well as achieving a net gain in biodiversity overall;

6. Assess biodiversity interests, including a Habitats Regulations Assessment. Proposals will
ensure that, through both on and off sitemeasures, any significant adverse impacts on European
sites through recreational pressure will bemitigated in accordance with Policies ST3 and DM25
including a financial contribution towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
Strategy;

7. Improve the quality of the environment and housing choice to restore the local housing
market area;

8. Achieve a mix of housing in accordance with Policy ST5, including provision for a minimum
of 10% affordable housing and be subject to ongoing review during the long term construction
phases expected;

9. Provide, at Neatscourt, commercial floorspace unless this would adversely impact upon the
vitality of Sheerness town centre or compromise the achievement of meeting industrial
floorspace needs as required for the Local Plan period;

10. Secure those improved services and facilities necessary for a sustainable community;

11. Where appropriate, assist with alternative accommodation for the displacement of existing
businesses;

12. Through physical, environmental and economic measures, integrate the existing and new
communities;

13. Assess the need for, and provide such transport initiatives and improvements as are
necessary;

14. Assess and respond to any risk from flooding; and

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021104

Land allocations for new development5

Page 126



15. Provide infrastructure needs arising from the development, including thosematters identified
by the Local Plan Implementation andDelivery Schedule, in particular those relating to transport,
education and health.

For Rushenden South Regeneration Area

5.8.57 Rushenden South sits on the most south westerly tip of the Isle of Sheppey, bordering The Swale
to the south and west. It consists of mud flats around the extent that border the waters, rising upwards
towards the north and Rushenden. The central part of the site is raised land on account of dredgedmaterials
from The Swale deposited here as part of the port operational activities to deepen the shipping channel.
The land is flat and overgrown and markedly higher than the original grazing marshlands. In landscape
terms, the site falls within the North Swale (Sheppey) Marshes and is an area of high landscape importance.

5.8.58 The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment has assessed the landscape in terms of sensitivity
to development. The area has medium to high sensitivity for residential use and high sensitivity for
employment uses. These impacts will need to be fully addressed through the detailed masterplan that is
required before development should commence.

5.8.59 A high proportion of this regeneration area is considered by the Environment Agency to be within
the High Risk Flood Zone, but it is defended or it can be defended and therefore suitable for development.
Site based flood risk assessments, however, will be required for development proposals and some upgrading
of defences may be needed.

105The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 127



Policy Regen 3B

Rushenden South Area

A regeneration area for the Rushenden South Area is designated as shown on the Proposals
Map.Within this area, proposals will support the objective of regenerating the area for residential,
employment and community uses to achieve the integration of communities. Development
proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Accord with the adopted Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document for the Rushenden
South area to deliver a minimum of 850 dwellings, open space and landscaping, employment
development to provide a more diverse and higher density range of employment uses,
recognising that the existing open storage land uses around Cullet Drive provide very low level
employment density.

2. Contribute towards the creation of a distinctive sense of place for the new development that
also reflects the area's waterside location and wider area;

3. Demonstrate sensitive and innovative design, which responds to the challenge of creating
new townscape and be subject to scrutiny by the Swale Design Panel;

4. Achieve high standards in terms of sustainable design and construction, including the design
and specification of the buildings and sustainable urban drainage;

5. Accord with an integrated landscape strategy through the creation of a new landscape
structure for the area, supporting the creation of a network of areas for play, walking and
informal recreation, as well as achieving a net gain in biodiversity overall;

6. Assess biodiversity interests, including a Habitats Regulations Assessment. Proposals will
ensure that, through both on and off sitemeasures, any significant adverse impacts on European
sites through recreational pressure will be mitigated in accordance with Policies CP 7 and DM
28, including a financial contribution towards the Strategic AccessManagement andMonitoring
Strategy;

7. Improve the quality of the environment and housing choice to restore the local housing
market area;

8. Achieve a mix of housing in accordance with Policy CP 5, including provision for affordable
housing at aminimumof 10%and be subject to ongoing review during the long term construction
phases expected;

9. Secure those improved services and facilities necessary for a healthy, sustainable community
with a particular focus on significantly improving facilities within the Rushenden area;

10. Where appropriate, assist with alternative accommodation for the displacement of existing
businesses;

11. Through physical, environmental and economic measures, integrate the existing and new
communities;

12. Assess the need for, and provide such transport initiatives and improvements as are
necessary;

13. Assess and respond to risk from flooding; and

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021106

Land allocations for new development5

Page 128



14. Provide infrastructure needs arising from the development, including thosematters identified
by the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

15. The development will be delivered in accordance with the following site-specific principles:

1. The provision of a safe and suitable vehicular access;

2. Incorporation of any necessary flood risk mitigation;

3. Investigation of potential land contamination; if further work and mitigation is identified, this
will be completed as required.

4. The design must respect the site’s location as a key entrance to Rushenden and ensure an
acceptable relationship between existing and proposed residential and employment uses.

5. The creation of a green coastal edge to include the provision of public open space and the
delivery of a coastal path within the allocation boundary;

6. New development will be expected to respect any existing ecological constraints on site and
where necessary, provide appropriate mitigation and enhancements.

These requirements will be achieved through the use of planning conditions, Section 106

and other legal agreements.

Picture 5.8.2

107The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

5Land allocations for new development

Page 129



6 Neighbourhood plans
6.0.1 The Localism Act (2011) introduced rights and powers to allow local communities to shape new
development by coming together to prepare neighbourhood plans. These can be taken forward by Town
and Parish Councils or 'neighbourhood forums', which are community groups intended to undertake
neighbourhood planning in areas without parishes. Such forums should apply to the local planning authority
for appropriate recognition to take the lead of a Neighbourhood Plan.

6.0.2 The criteria for establishing neighbourhood forums are intended to encourage new and existing
residents’ organisations, voluntary and community groups to put themselves forward. These groups can
use neighbourhood planning powers to establish general planning policies for the development and use of
land in a neighbourhood. These are described legally as 'neighbourhood development plans.'

6.0.3 Communities can also use neighbourhood planning to permit the development they want to see -
in full or in outline – without the need for planning applications. These are called 'neighbourhood development
orders.'

6.0.4 The Local Plan will continue to set the strategic context within which neighbourhood development
plans will sit.

6.0.5 A neighbourhood plan puts in place planning policy for a neighbourhood area to guide future
development. A neighbourhood plan is about the use and development of land and may contain a vision,
aims, planning policies, proposals for improving the area or providing new

6.0.6 facilities, or allocation of key sites for specific kinds of development. It may deal with a wide range
of social, economic and environmental issues (such as housing, employment, design, heritage and transport)
or it may focus on one or two issues only. It can specify policies and guidance on how new development
should be designed, orientated and located. Neighbourhood plans can be a powerful tool in shaping the
development of a neighbourhood.

6.0.7 Neighbourhood Plans also have to meet a number of ‘basic conditions’ before they can be put to
a community referendum and legally come into force. These conditions are to ensure plans are legally
compliant and take account of wider policy considerations (e.g. national policy). The conditions are that:

1. they must be in general conformity with local (Swale Local Plan and associated guidance) and national
planning policies (NPPF);

2. they must be compatible with European obligations and human rights requirements; and
3. they must contribute to the achievement of sustainable development.

6.0.8 If the local planning authority says that an area needs to grow, then communities cannot use
neighbourhood planning to block the building of new homes and businesses.

6.0.9 An independent qualified person will check that a neighbourhood development plan or order
appropriately meets the conditions before it can be voted on in a local referendum. This is to make sure
that referendums only take place when proposals are workable and of a decent quality. Neighbourhood
development plans or orders do not take effect unless there is a majority of support - more than 50% - in
a referendum of the neighbourhood. If proposals pass the referendum, the local planning authority is under
a legal duty to bring them into force.

6.0.10 Currently Swale has five designated neighbourhood plan areas - Faversham Creek, Boughton
and Dunkirk, Minster, Hernhill and Faversham. One Neighbourhood Plan, Faversham Creek, has been
‘made’.

6.0.11 For further guidance on how to undertake a Neighbourhood Plan please visit Neighbourhood
Planning Guide

6.0.12 Faversham Creek Neighbourhood Plan

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021108

Neighbourhood plans6

Page 130

https://neighbourhoodplanning.org/
https://neighbourhoodplanning.org/


6.0.13 The Faversham Creek area is part of the town’s extensive conservation area and contains a
number of historic buildings, together with traditional marine related activities and a series of green spaces.
All contribute to the character of the area and represent an important asset to the town.

6.0.14 The Creek is operating under a number of complex constraints. Navigation is restricted in parts
by a loss of depth and width to the channel and there is no longer safe navigation for large craft in the Basin
due to silting. Navigation into the Basin is also restricted by a defective swing bridge at Bridge Road.
Navigation could also be improved by dredging, but in addition to its costs, there are likely to be limitations
imposed on large scale industrial dredging of the Creek by the Swale Special Protection Area (SPA). Kent
County Council (KCC) have now put a temporary bridge in place as the existing bridge was no longer fit
for purpose and they are working on designs for a new bridge. The local community raised £125,000 towards
a new swing bridge and KCC, Faversham Town Council and Swale Borough Council have committed
money towards a new bridge.

6.0.15 Flood risk, particularly in relation to the re-use of previously developed land within the 1:20 year
flood zone of Faversham Creek, must be carefully assessed and managed, whilst a number of these sites
are likely to be contaminated and require some remediation work. The Faversham Creek Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment 2010 Amendment (Faversham Creek Flood Risk Assessment) designated the
Neighbourhood Plan area as Flood Zone 3a(i) for the purpose of performing the Sequential and Exception
Tests in Faversham Creek only. It is land having a 1 in 20 or greater annual probability of sea flooding in
a defended scenario, where the land is previously developed.

6.0.16 A further issue is that the attractive waterside environment of the creekside area has not had the
same investment to improve the quality of its environment as the town centre. There are also a number of
historic buildings in need of restoration.

6.0.17 For these reasons, the regeneration of Faversham Creek, whilst protecting the rich maritime,
industrial and landscape heritage for economic, environmental and educational purposes, is the principal
objective. This has been strongly supported by local consultation over a number of years. Faversham Creek
NP previous work and studies This analysis indicated that the Neighbourhood Plan should seek to regenerate
Faversham Creek by focusing on:

1. clusters of heritage assets and marine-related activities with regeneration potential;
2. navigation improvements to the Creek through a combination of sluicing and smaller scale injection

dredging;
3. protecting and enhancing important green spaces and upgrading the public realm within the area; and
4. maximising pedestrian links between the Creek and the town, along the creekside and to wider

countryside routes.

Statement 1

Faversham Creek NP Vision

Faversham Creek is a place where we can celebrate the town's rich history and attractive appearance;
where we can enjoy spending time, both on and off the water; where boats, residents and visitors want
to be; where developments integrate the needs of people and nature and where there is a distinctive
character and identity rooted in traditional industries and enriched by new businesses.

6.0.18 Within the areas of heritage/marine-related activity adjoining the Creek, listed and other historic
buildings and maritime uses, wharves and moorings important to the character of the Creek should be
retained and, where necessary, restored alongside complementary redevelopment opportunities. Given
the location of these areas within the functional floodplain, and the historic association with the Creek,
workshops/business uses, facilities for moored boats (e.g. showers/toilets) and small scale retail and
restaurant uses would be best able to address these issues and improve the visitor attraction to the area.

109The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

6Neighbourhood plans

Page 131

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-General/Planning-Policy/Faversham-Creek/Neighbourhood-Plan/2010-Strategic-Flood-Risk-Assessment-Supplementary-Statement-for-Faversham-Creek.pdf
https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/neighbourhood-planning/faversham-creek#h2
https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/neighbourhood-planning/faversham-creek#h2


Functional flood plain is defined as land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood Dependent
on design, amenity and flood risk considerations, residential development could be permitted above ground
floor level to assist with the viability of mixed use schemes and to provide activity throughout the day and
evening. On some sites, mixed-use development would be unsuitable and on these sites 100% residential
development would be acceptable. New buildings should be of a sensitive design with their scale and
context respecting the setting of the listed building and the adjoining creekside buildings.

6.0.19 The Faversham Creek Streetscape Strategy, prepared by Faversham Town Council and adopted
by the Swale Joint Transportation Board, seeks to extend town centre streetscape enhancements to the
creekside area. The principal aim of the strategy is that improvements in the public realm around Faversham
Creek should respond to and enhance the character and distinctiveness of the creekside area. The Strategy
outlines the guiding principles regarding the improvements to the streetscape of the creekside area and
establishes guidelines for the design of specific items in the overall environment, both built and natural.
The Strategy also sets out guidance for creek streetscape enhancements for discrete areas of the creekside.
The priorities for implementation are set through the Neighbourhood Plan process.

6.0.20 Policy NP1 is guided by the adopted Faversham Creek Neighbourhood Plan. It includes the
allocation of specific sites and levels of development, the parameters for development as well as proposals
for improvements to accessibility and public realm. Proposals will be delivered through the granting of
planning permission and the implementation of improvements set out in the Neighbourhood Plan. Whilst
Policy ST1 has indicated a level of new housing as arising from the Neighbourhood Plan area, this is solely
for the purposes of demonstrating its potential contribution to the overall supply of housing in the Borough.
The Neighbourhood Plan process determined the final levels of employment, housing and other uses in
this area.

6.0.21 Faversham Town Council had a designation approved in 2020 for a Neighbourhood Plan area for
the whole of Faversham and once that Neighbourhood Plan is adopted it will supersede this Faversham
Creek Neighbourhood Plan.

Policy NP 1

Faversham Creek Neighbourhood Plan

Within the Faversham Creek Neighbourhood Plan area, as shown on the Proposals Map, priority will
be given to the regeneration of Faversham Creek by retaining maritime related activities (including the
retention and improvement of wharves and moorings, including for large craft) with complementary
redevelopment opportunities for workshops/business uses, residential, small scale retail and restaurant
uses. Where relevant, development of the area will:

1. Accord with the Neighbourhood Plan;

2. Provide for the restoration of and enhancement to the settings of listed and other important historic
buildings;

3. Protect open space and nature conservation interests and upgrading of the public realm;

4. Improve navigation of the Creek (subject to appropriate mitigation of the impacts on the adjacent
International Designations and the Shellfish Waters);

5. Provide a publicly accessible creekside walkway;

6. Require high quality designs which respect their context;

7. Be acceptable in terms of flood risk; and

8. Re-mediate contaminated sites.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021110

Neighbourhood plans6

Page 132



7 Development management policies
7.0.1 Introductory text...Officer to add content here....

7.0.2 General development criteria

7.0.3 As per the National Planning Policy Framework, the overarching objectives of the planning system
are to protect and enhance the natural, built and historic environments; support strong, vibrant and healthy
communities; and help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy (7). In seeking to achieve such
sustainable development, the aim of this policy is to provide a useful starting point in the consideration of
proposals which will help to ensure that important matters such as design, the environment and amenity
are taken into account at the outset. Policy DM 1 is not comprehensive and should not be considered in
isolation, but read in conjunction with all other relevant policies in the Local Plan and Supplementary
Planning Documents and Guidance.

Policy DM 1

General development criteria

All development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Comply with the published Local List of requirements and include information sufficient to enable
the Council to determine the application;

2. Accord with the policies of the adopted Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise;

3. Accord with adopted Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance;
4. Conserve and enhance the natural, built and historic environments;
5. Respond to the constraints and opportunities arising from climate change and natural processes;
6. Be well sited and of a scale, design and appearance that is sympathetic and appropriate to the

location;
7. Reflect the positive characteristics and features of the site and location;
8. Cause no harm to amenity and other sensitive uses or areas;
9. Provide an integrated landscape strategy that will achieve a high standard landscaping scheme;

and
10. Achieve safe vehicular access, convenient routes and facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and

enhanced public transport facilities and services, together with parking and servicing facilities.

Achieving Good Design

7.0.4 In seeking to achieve high quality design or the conservation and enhancement of the natural and
built environment, the Council sets criteria against which planning applications will be considered. Inclusion
in a single policy can usefully limit their detailed repetition in the wording of other policies.

7.0.5 This Policy is therefore a useful starting point for anyone considering making a planning application
or reservedmatters and will help ensure that important matters, such as sustainable design, the safeguarding
of environmental features and amenity, are taken into account at the outset.

7.0.6 The policy should not be considered in isolation but read in conjunction with all the other policies
in the Plan and relevant Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance.

7 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 8

111The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


Policy DM 2

Achieving Good Design

Development proposals will accord with:

i. the policies and proposals of the adopted Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise, and

ii. adopted Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance.

All development proposals will be of a high quality urban, landscape and architectural design that are
appropriate to their surroundings.

Development proposals will respond to the content of the National Design Guide with specific emphasis
on the following:

Picture 7.0.1

1. Context

The response to the physical, social and economic context of the site will be clearly set out;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021112

Development management policies7

Page 134



A local study will be required for developments of more than 50 dwellings to develop an understanding
of local landscape character, local urban development (relevant local towns) and contextual
development. Faversham and Sittingbourne are unique on the north Kent coastline as they grew based
on their location on the banks of creeks. The majority of Swale’s towns and villages also respond to
their rural setting of the Downs dip slope, often in full plain view from parts of the Downs;

The local study will cover:

i. Urban form,

ii. Block pattern and size,

iii. Development to space relationships, such as building heights to street widths,

iv. Open space typologies,

v. Built response to topography,

vi. Local Landscape Characters at national and Local levels,

vii. Local habitats and species as well as patterns of vegetation,

viii. Boundary treatments,

ix. Architectural vernacular and details

The development framework will be based on a design response to a local study. Once your local
study is complete the elements that have informed the design of the development framework will be
identified.

The local study should be a stand-alone document and once finalised will not change whilst the
development framework is likely to evolve further.Heritage context will be highlighted in depth.

2. Identity

A local study will be undertaken (urban design, landscape character and architecture) and the design
response to the study applied to the place will be clearly set out.

3. Built form

Development will be arranged in perimeter blocks with exposed ‘rears’ and ‘sides’ facing the public
realm kept to a minimum;

Where there are exposed rears on an adjacent existing site then rears are permitted on a site boundary
otherwise only frontage is permitted on site boundaries;

In order to achieve the desirable block form densities will be increased; and

Physical, social and economic ‘landmarks’ will be identified.

4. Movement

Focus will be given to walking and cycling connections between neighbourhoods to social infrastructure
and to public transport facilities;

Vehicular connections will be made not only to the distribution network but also to adjacent
neighbourhoods with a street hierarchy based which will be based on a dispersed approach to vehicular
movement. Cul-de-sacs will be avoided;

113The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 135



Future possible vehicular, cycle and pedestrian connections to adjacent sites will not be prejudiced;

Residential car parking will not dominate the public realm and street parking will be provided in bays
rather than at the side of the carriageway;

Car ports rather than garages will be encouraged;

Parking courts may be considered if dwellings overlook the space and the spaces is well designed
with good tree cover; and

Reference will be made to Swale Borough Council’s SPD on Parking

5. Nature

A connected network and variety of multi-functional landscapes and open spaces will be provided.
Demonstration will be required of the positive response to:

i. Retention of existing woodland, trees and hedgerows, as well as achieving biodiversity net gain (see
DM 24 Biodiversity, geological conservation and biodiversity net gain and DM 29Woodland, orchards,
trees and hedgerows);

ii. Green infrastructure (see ST 10 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment and DM 17
Open space, sport and recreation provision);

iii. Contribution to strategic water management (see DM 35 Water quality and water resources and
DM 36 Flood Risk);

iv. Climate change mitigation proposals (see DM3 Mitigating and adapting to climate change through
sustainable design and construction); and

v. a high standard of locally native plant species and trees (of local provenance and supportive of
biodiversity) for soft (including green walls) landscape in a pattern which respects the landscape
character (see DM 25 Conserving and enhancing valued landscapes).

In addition, assessment and response will be given to landscape character, condition, sensitivity and
any limitations arising from its overall capacity for change, together with the guidelines set out within
the Landscape Character and Biodiversity Assessment andGuidelines and Urban Extension Landscape
Capacity Study.

6. Public spaces and private or communal gardens

Public spaces, which include streets, will be well designed and accessible to all to support social
interaction. (see DM 17 Open space, sports and recreation provision);

Street trees will be provided in contribution to the street hierarchy for shade, air quality, water
management and to create attractive places (see DM 29 Woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows);

Active frontage for natural surveillance of all open spaces and streets will be provided for all types of
land uses. Entrances to buildings will be prominent, of the correct scale for the number of users and
free from clutter. corners/gable ends require treatment to provide visual interest in the street scene
using windows and other materials, as a well as ensuring overlooking of the street scene;

High quality robust materials will be used in the public realm;

Private gardens will be located at the rear of a house and will be a minimum of 10.5m in length;

Private front gardens will be a minimum of 50% soft landscape to contribute to flood risk reduction,
green infrastructure, bio-diversity and positive design facing the public realm;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021114

Development management policies7

Page 136



Communal gardens for houses may be provided in addition to private gardens and in which case the
minimum private garden size may be foregone;

For two-or-more-bedroom flats communal residents' gardens will be provided on the basis of a minimum
area of 25m2 per flat. They will be screened by above-eye-level walls or hedges from the public realm
and will contain a sitting-out-area that receives sunshine during at least part of the day. Unusable strips
of space between car parks or roads and buildings will not be counted as part of the communal garden
provision; and

For town centre blocks of flats and one-bedroomed flats where there is access to good local open
space or access to a green roof terrace or balconies the provision may be foregone.

7. Mixed and integrated uses

Development will include or provide clear connections with a mix of uses with including local services
and facilities to support daily life. Schools will be located in conjunction with local retail facilities; and

Affordable housing will be provided (see DM 15 Affordable housing) and will not be placed in the ‘worst’
parts of the site.

8. Homes and buildings

Authentic architectural design will be required and high quality materials that are local will be expected;

New buildings should be “of their time” unless the characteristics of an area require a traditional
approach;

Generic volume house types should be avoided;

The proportion for window openings is often similar to the proportion of the building facade itself: a
tall, narrow building will have tall, narrow windows; a building that is more square in facade proportion
will have windows that are more square;

The exterior of the building will not be cluttered with utilities; utility boxes will ideally not face the public
realm and will blend with the building materials;

Where porches are provided they will be integrated in the building design and not just ‘tacked-on’
elements;

Attention to detail will be paid to entrances to blocks of flats with a doorway to match the scale of the
building and number of occupants and well as to avoid a clutter of different elements attached to the
exterior face;

The details of operation and servicing will be worked out so as not to defeat the intent of the design
of the building. Storage and servicing of waste will be addressed positively and will not negatively
impact on the street scene; and

Buildings will be designed to be adaptable to respond to changing lifestyles, demographics and
advances in sustainability technology.

9. Resources

Layout, form and mix of uses will reduce resource requirements;

Good quality facing and roof materials will be selected from the range of regional materials characteristic
of Swale ideally sourced locally to minimise distance travelled;

115The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 137



Opportunities for including sustainable design and construction techniques will be maximised including
the use of recycled and recyclable materials, sustainable drainage systems, carbon reduction and
minimising waste; and

In particular, buildings will be designed with passive solar design and fabric first principles. (see DM3
Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and construction)

10. Lifespan

Places, spaces and buildings will be designed for longevity; and

Stewardship, delivering successful, large-scale developments requires a clear understanding of how
the assets generated by them will be managed in perpetuity. Community assets such as parks and
community centres are vital elements of high-quality, attractive places, but their long-termmanagement
arrangements must be considered from the outset. Relevant proposals must therefore demonstrate
how such management will be undertaken by, or on behalf of, the community. Consideration should
be given to all opportunities for asset management, engagement with existing community groups and
parish/town councils, taking a staged approach to allow for due diligence and community engagement,
funding streams, entrepreneurial opportunities, and how good design can make the process easier
(for example through the multi-use of community buildings). Consideration should also be given to
how dialogue with the local community will be maintained to understand what they want as the
community evolves over time. Done well, and by putting local people at its heart, the process can
generate increased local support, creativity and entrepreneurialism.

Boundaries

Attention will be paid to boundary detailing using local referencing, natural materials and appropriate
treatments. Particular attention will be given to boundaries facing the public realm. Front boundaries
will be low, transparent or semi-transparent of hard or soft landscape. Rear and side boundaries will
not face the public realm but where this is unavoidable sturdy materials such as brick or stone walls
will be provided and close-board timber will be avoided;

The majority of a secure boundary of institutions such as schools will be provided by dwellings;

Boundaries to open spaces will be open and permeable; and

Acoustic barriers will be avoided but moving buildings from the noise source but where absolutely
necessary they will be of natural materials and heavily planted.

Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and construction

7.0.7 In July 2019 Swale Borough Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency which included
a commitment to facilitate the action required to make the borough of Swale carbon neutral by 2030. The
Council has developed an Action Plan with actions for departments across the Council.

7.0.8 As a coastal borough in the south of England, Swale is particularly vulnerable to the impacts of
climate change including flooding and erosion as a result of sea level rise and increased storms, overheating
as a result of increased temperatures and water stress, all of which impacts humans, habitats and species.
These impacts are already being felt across the borough.

7.0.9 This policy is part of a suite of policies across this Local Plan Review which seeks to mitigate and
adapt to climate change and enable the Local Plan Review to play its part in enabling the Council and the
UK to meet their net zero targets. Applicants for development need to recognise the interplay between
objectives across policy areas. Climate change mitigation and adaptation should be considered from the
very earliest stages of design development. Policies of most relevance to this theme are: Policy ST 3, ST

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021116

Development management policies7

Page 138

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf


10 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, ST 7 Health and Wellbeing and those on Design
(ST 6 and DM 2), Transport (ST 9 and DM 10), Water quality and water resources (DM 35), Flood Risk
(DM 36), Sustainable drainage (DM 37) and Biodiversity and geological conservation and biodiversity net
gain (DM 24).

7.0.10 Buildings and facilities make up over 50% of greenhouse gas emissions in Swale however, new
development also provides an opportunity to create buildings and places which can mitigate and adapt to
climate change.

7.0.11 Ensuring new development is on a path to carbon neutrality will not, in itself, lead to carbon
neutrality for the borough by 2030 because large percentages of Swale’s emissions are from other sources,
including existing development and industry (largely outside the scope of the Local Plan Review) and road
transport (which makes up over a third of emissions in the borough). However, ensuring new development
is reaching net zero carbon by 2030 will contribute to overall targets for the borough whilst bringing benefits
to the residents and occupants of new development in terms of comfort and cost savings and setting an
example for others to follow. A 2030 net zero target for Swale will also complement the national government’s
net zero target. This policy seeks to ensure that new development plays it part in reaching local and national
carbon neutrality targets whilst also enabling the creation of beautiful and comfortable places for the people
of Swale.

The international, national, legal and policy context

7.0.12 Climate Change has been firmly on the international agenda since the United Nations Conference
on Environment and Development in Rio de Janeiro in 1992 where the UN Framework Convention on
Climate Change was adopted with the aim of stabilising greenhouse gas (GHG) concentrations. This was
followed in 1997 with the Kyoto Protocol which set legally binding obligations for GHG reductions and later
the Paris Agreement of 2015 which included a specific target for limiting global warming to well below 2oC
above pre-industrial levels.

7.0.13 The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s Special Report: Global Warming of 1.50C,
published in 2018 stated that for global warming to be limited by 1.50C, global net human-caused emissions
of carbon dioxide would need to fall by about 45% from 2010 levels by 2030, reaching ‘net zero around
2050’.

7.0.14 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by Section 182 of the Planning
Act 2008, states that ‘Development plan documents must (taken as a whole) include policies designed to
secure that the development and use of land in the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation
of, and adaptation to, climate change’.

7.0.15 The Climate Change Act 2008 (amended 2019) sets out the duty of the Secretary of State to
ensure that the net UK carbon account for 2050 is at least 100% lower than the 1990 baseline. This is
known as Net Zero by 2050 Target.

7.0.16 The Planning and Energy Act 2008 sets out that local planning authorities may include policies
in development plan documents that:

a. Require a proportion of energy used in development to be from renewable sources
b. Require a proportion of energy to be low carbon energy
c. Development to comply with energy efficiency standards that exceed the energy requirements of

building regulations (in respect of energy performance or conservation of fuel and power)

7.0.17 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises that the planning system plays a
vital role in supporting the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate and that it should help to
shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability
and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of existing

117The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 139



buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. It goes on to say
that plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate change, in line with the
objectives and provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008 .

7.0.18 The NPPF makes clear that new development should be planned for in ways that avoid increased
vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change and that when new development is brought
forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through
suitable adaptation measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure. It also sets out that
new development should be planned in ways that help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as
through its location, orientation and design and that local requirements for the sustainability of buildings
should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards.

7.0.19 In determining planning applications the NPPF sets out how local planning authorities should
expect new development to take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping
to minimise energy consumption .

7.0.20 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) makes clear that Local Plans have a statutory duty to tackle
climate change and its impacts and that spatial planning is an important part of a successful response to
climate change. Local planning authorities should ensure that protection of the local environment is
considered alongside protection of the global environment. PPG makes clear there are many opportunities
to integrate climate change mitigation into local plans, including through:

Reducing the need to travel and providing sustainable transport
Providing opportunities for renewable and low carbon energy technologies
Providing opportunities for decentralised energy and heating
Promoting low carbon design approaches to reduce energy consumptions, such as passive design

7.0.21 The PPG also gives examples of how local plans can assist adaptation to climate change through,
for example, choosing sites which will be safe for the lifetime of development, considering flood risk and
coastal change, considering water resources and quality and promoting adaptation through design.

7.0.22 The PPG advises that local planning authorities can set energy performance standards for new
housing that are higher than building regulations, up to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable
Homes and they are not restricted in setting energy performance standards above the building regulations
for non-housing developments (see reference to the Planning and Energy Act above). The government
has proposed limits to these powers, but these limits have yet to be enacted. As such local planning
authorities can set energy efficiency standards in new homes and non-domestic developments.

7.0.23 PPG also gives guidance onmitigation approaches, evidence gathering, the role of the sustainability
appraisal and other sources of information. Importantly, the PPG also gives guidance on viability stating,
‘it is the responsibility of site promoters to engage in plan making, take into account any costs including
their own profit expectations and risks, and ensure that proposals for development are policy compliant.
Policy compliant means development which fully complies with up to date plan policies. A decision maker
can give appropriate weight to emerging policies. The price paid for land is not a relevant justification for
failing to accord with relevant policies in the plan. Landowners and site purchasers should consider this
when agreeing land transactions’.

7.0.24 The Committee for Climate Change is an independent, statutory body established under the
Climate Change Act 2008 to advise the UK government on emissions targets. It reports to Parliament on
progress made in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and preparing for climate change. They have made
clear that to limit the most damaging impacts of climate change, we need to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions globally and adapt to the current and future changes in the climate. They also state that there
is only limited evidence of the present UK Government taking climate change sufficiently seriously; both
on reducing UK emissions and adapting to impacts from global climate change . The Committee sets out
the benefits of acting now which include:

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021118

Development management policies7

Page 140



Lower risks from climate change (such as flooding and increased food prices)
Benefits to human health (and savings to the NHS) and the environment
Early action to reduce emissions will reduce future costs
Investment in technology will put the UK at the forefront of this market and gain competitive advantage
The UK’s support of wider international efforts
Mitigation and adaptation measures are often ‘low-regret’ and have a range of other benefits eg
protecting habitats

7.0.25 Their 2020 progress report to Parliament on Reducing UK emissions explains that the Government’s
scrapping of the 2016 Zero Carbon Homes standard has meant that energy efficiency progress seen in
existing buildings has not be replicated in new buildings and that there are now more homes requiring
zero-carbon retrofit that there were when the Climate Change Act was passed in 2008, with 1.8 million
additional homes since 2007 needing to be fitted with low-carbon heat . Furthermore, although buildings
emissions have fallen by 14% from 2008 to 2018 the sector is not well placed for the transition to zero
emissions, emphasising the huge challenge for the buildings' sector .

7.0.26 The report sets out key priorities in infrastructure investments. One of these is that ‘new buildings
must be low-carbon, energy and water efficient and climate resilient’ . This report follows on from a February
2019 report, UK Housing: Fit for the future? where the Committee on Climate Change set out that:

the UK’s legally-binding climate change targets will not be met without the near-complete elimination
of greenhouse gas emissions from UK buildings. (It should be noted that when this was written the
Government’s target was to reduce emission by at least 80% on 1990 levels by 2050. It is now 100%
by 2050).
emissions reductions from the UK’s 29 million homes have stalled and energy use in homes increased
between 2016 and 2017
efforts to adapt the UK’s housing stock to the impacts of the changing climate are lagging far behind
what is needed to keep people in the UK safe and comfortable

7.0.27 The Committee reports that ultra-high energy efficiency standards, installed alongside an air
source heat pump, represent a 1.1 to 4.3% uplift on build costs relative to current standards, depending
on the type of building and that to improve fabric standards and install low-carbon heat via retrofit costs
up to five times more than achieving the same standards when first constructing the home.

7.0.28 The Future Homes Standard: changes to Part L and Part F of the Building Regulations for new
dwellings, 2019-20 sought views on options to uplift the current Part L energy efficiency standards and
make changes to Part F (ventilation). It also explored options to commence the amendment to the Planning
and Energy Act 2008 which would restrict local planning authorities from setting their own higher energy
efficiency standards for new homes. The consultation also sought views on when, if at all, these changes
should be introduced.

7.0.29 The results of the consultation have not yet been reported. However, it is likely that they may seek
to limit the energy efficiency aspirations of this policy (DM 3). However, it should still be possible (where
shown to be viable) for local planning authorities to seek reductions to operational carbon. There are also
no limits (bar viability) to local authorities setting renewables requirements on new development .

The Swale Context

7.0.30 SCATTER is a local authority focussed emissions tool, built to help create low-carbon local
authorities . It helps understand greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions inventories for local authority areas to
help develop credible decarbonisation pathways in line with emissions reductions targets. The inventory
for Swale reports that in Swale on-road transport is by far the largest single source of GHG emissions
(420,270 tCO2e), with residential buildings next (269,005 tCO2e) followed by institutional buildings and
facilities (181,925 tCO2e) and industrial buildings and facilities (130,628 tCO2e) as illustrated in the pie
chart below: Subsector inventory summary for Swale for Scope 1, 2 and 3.

119The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 141



Picture 7.0.2

7.0.31 Research by leading climate scientists at the Tyndall Centre has found that for Swale to make its
fair contribution towards the Paris Climate Change Agreement, it should emit no more than 7.7 million
tonnes of carbon dioxide before 2100. At 2017 emission levels, Swale would use this entire budget within
seven years. The recommended pathway requires: a 13% cut in carbon dioxide emissions each year from
2020; 80% reduction in annual emissions by 2030 and 95% reduction by 2042. Historically, the reduction
in annual carbon emissions has been just over 3% . The recommended pathway would leave 20% of
emissions to be offset if Swale are to reach carbon neutrality by 2030.

7.0.32 Swale Borough Council’s Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan recognises the
responsibilities that individuals, communities and organisations including Swale Borough Council have with
regards to planning for climate change and the ecological emergency. It sets out actions and timescales
for a range of issues from Council Operations, Buildings and Energy Efficiency, Transport and Air Quality,
Resource Consumption and Waste, Ecology and Biodiversity, Energy Generation and Storage, Resilience
to Adaptation and Offsetting with a view to reaching the objective of making the Council’s operations carbon
neutral by 2025, the borough of Swale carbon neutral by 2030 and making space for nature, safeguarding
wild places, ancient woodlands and hedgerows. A number of actions relate directly to the local plan and
planning decisions including promoting energy efficiency, public and active transport, deploying renewable
energy and safeguarding the natural environment.

7.0.33 The Local Plan Viability Assessment has examined the policies of the local plan review, including
this policy. With the exception of flatted development on greenfield sites, it has concluded that the
requirements within the policy are viable for the present day. It is anticipated that technology and
manufacturing in this area will progress rapidly. As this happens viability will further improve.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021120

Development management policies7

Page 142



7.0.34 The Council intends to produce a Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD). This will look at a wide range of sustainable design and construction principles, policies
and standards including but not limited to urban design, energy production, adaptation, pollution, drainage
and waste and will provide more detailed guidance on what is expected for development across Swale.

Policy application

7.0.35 This policy (DM 3) seeks to set out measures to mitigate and adapt to climate change through
the use of sustainable design principles and sustainability standards. Sustainability principles, which are
essential to the mitigation and adaptation of climate change, can be summarised using the following
hierarchy:

1. the choice of location of development (for example, are schemes accessible to public transport and
not in areas at risk of flooding?)

2. the linkages the development makes to its neighbours (in particular for public transport, active travel
means and wildlife corridors)

3. the layout of schemes (for example, are schemes walkable, cyclable and safe for all generations and
abilities of users?)

4. the land-uses (for example, do schemes enable people to live near to where they work and will it be
possible for uses to easily adapt over time as work and home life patterns change?)

5. landscaping (do schemes provide, for instance, street trees and green space to prevent overheating
and ensure urban shading and cooling, sustainable drainage and a contribution to green and blue
infrastructure networks which all provide for biodiversity net gain and contribute to climate change
adaptation)

6. the design and construction of buildings themselves (for example, are buildings pleasant for the long
term, do they allow passive lighting, ventilation and cooling (which can be as simple as openable
windows and external blinds) and will they be healthy and comfortable places to live and work in, are
they energy and carbon efficient, made from sustainable materials, and designed to make sustainable
living easy?) .

7.0.36 As well as these guiding principles of sustainable design outlined above, this policy also sets out
a range of sustainability standards. These standards have been prepared with the following energy and
carbon hierarchy in mind, as follows:

1. New development should be energy efficient. This reduces the operational energy needed to operate
a building (lighting, heating, cooling etc). Operational energy is calculated using the Standard
Assessment Procedure (SAP) which results in an SAP Rating.

2. New development should be carbon efficient. This reduces the operational carbon needed to operate
a building. Operational carbon is the emissions of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases,
associated with the power-source that provides the energy required by a building (eg a gas boiler).
Becoming more carbon efficient can be achieved either by becoming more energy efficient (1. above),
or by using an energy source that has a lower (carbon) emission factor (eg electricity rather than gas),
or by installing on site renewable energy, or a combination of these.

3. New development should include on-site renewable energy. This is energy generated from renewable
sources such as solar (eg roof mounted PV or solar thermal) or possibly wind, located on the building
or site.

4. New development should offset outstanding carbon emissions. Carbon can be offset by purchasing
carbon credits, equivalent to the carbon emissions associated with a particular activity. The more
energy and carbon efficient a building and more renewables provided, the less offsetting is required.

7.0.37 The overriding principle here is that buildings should be designed with a fabric first approach in
mind – as making buildings energy efficient and low-carbon from the outset makes them cheaper to run
and more comfortable to use. Starting from this base, reduces the need to provide renewables and carbon
offsetting.

121The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 143



7.0.38 This policy, in particular with regard to the appropriate sustainability standards for Swale, has
been developed with evidence from viability and sustainability consultants and following experience of
recent carbon reduction schemes in the borough.

7.0.39 As set out in Policy DM 35 Water Quality and Water Resources, Swale is within an area defined
by the Environment Agency as being one of serious water stress. The 2017 adopted local plan for Swale,
contained a policy requiring new homes to be designed to achieve a minimum water efficiency of 110 litres
per person per day, as prescribed by the government’s Housing: Optional Technical Standards - a standard
that has been endorsed by the two water companies within Swale, the Environment Agency and the relevant
Catchment Partnership, the North Kent Catchment Improvement Group (hosted by the Medway Swale
Estuary Partnership and South East Rivers Trust). Due to the particular water stresses in Swale, which are
likely to be exacerbated by the pressures of future development and climate change, this standard is to be
retained for all residential development in Swale and raised for all schemes required to carry out Home
Quality Mark and BREEAM assessments, as set out in this Policy DM 3.

7.0.40 Sustainability standards for Swale will be determined through the Standard Assessment Procedure
(SAP) and the Environmental Performance Certificate (EPC). An Energy Performance Certificate is required
as part of standard Building Regulations for all development.

7.0.41 Energy Performance Certificates show how energy-efficient properties are. Certificates rate
properties from A to G to reflect their energy efficiency (with A being the most energy efficient).

7.0.42 The Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) is the methodology used by the Government to
assess and compare the energy and environmental performance of dwellings. A SAP rating is needed in
order produce a Predicted Energy Assessment and an On Construction Energy Performance Certificate
(EPC). Building Regulations require that a SAP calculation and a Predicted EPC is submitted for new
dwellings prior to the commencement of work and that an Energy Performance Certificate is provided prior
to a completion certificate being issued.

7.0.43 A SAP calculation indicates a score from 1 to 100+ for the annual energy cost based on the
elements of structure; the heating and hot water system; the internal lighting and the renewable technologies
being used. The higher the score the lower the running costs, with 100 representing zero energy cost.
Dwellings with a rating in excess of 100 are net exporters of energy.

7.0.44 The SAP calculation includes information on the Dwellings Emissions Rate and the Target Emissions
Rate which are used to demonstrate the operational carbon elements for buildings. These will need to be
submitted alongside the full design SAP assessment and calculation summary breakdown with planning
applications as part of either the Design and Access Statement or Energy and Sustainability Statement,
as appropriate. Furthermore, both pre and post construction SAP certificates and summary breakdown
sheets will need to be submitted and approved in order to discharge planning conditions related to this
policy. On site checks will be undertaken by the Building Control Officer, when checking other items on
site, at the expense of the applicant.

7.0.45 The Simple Building Energy Model (SBEM) is the calculation used to assess the carbon dioxide
(CO2) emissions associated with non-domestic buildings, and (similar to the SAP used for dwellings) is
used to demonstrate that the building meets the CO2 Target Emissions Rate, and to produce the buildings
Energy Performance Certificate (EPC).

7.0.46 On top of energy efficiency and a fabric first approach, this policy seeks to put new development
in Swale on a pathway to zero carbon by 2030 through the reduction of operational carbon. Zero carbon
development has been shown to be viable and cost effective (with the exception of flatted development on
greenfield sites). Swale Borough Council have produced Guidance for complying with the climate change
planning condition ADD LINK to reduce operational carbon of new dwellings in Swale by 50% to assist
those building new dwellings in Swale to meet the Swale Borough Council target to reduce carbon emissions

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021122

Development management policies7

Page 144



by 50% compared to current Building Regulations (Part L1a, 2013). By looking at three typical houses in
Swale, the study illustrates how compliance could be achieved. The costs of these approaches will decrease
over time as the industry and market adjusts to requirements.

7.0.47 The Government’s consultation on the Future Homes Standard expects that the average home
built from 2025 will produce 75-80% fewer carbon emissions that one built to current (Approved Document
L 2013) energy efficiency requirements and a 31% improvement will be achieved by 2020. Whilst the results
of this consultation have not been published, the consultation itself demonstrates that the government
thinks radical improvements on carbon emissions can realistically be achieved in the short to medium term
(ie 80% by 2025).

7.0.48 In line with the changes that are likely to be introduced with the Future Homes Standard, Swale
Borough Council expects rapid research, design and manufacture to be made in this area and national
progress to be swift. As such, it is unlikely that an update to it’s 50% guidance on how to achieve reductions
in carbon emissions will be needed, but progress will be tracked and planning guidance will be produced
as necessary.

7.0.49 One of the principal methods to meet reductions in operational carbon is by the use of air source
heat pumps (ASHP), either air-to-air, air-to-water or ground source heat pumps. This is recognised in the
Future Homes Standard consultation, whose thinking has been informed by the Committee on Climate
Change’s recommendation that ‘new homes should not be connected to the gas grid from 2025’ .

7.0.50 As explained above the Planning and Energy Act 2008 allows local plan policies to impose
reasonable renewables requirements on development. This policy (DM 3) requires a percentage of on-site
renewable energy to be supplied with development, increasing from 20% at the start of the plan period to
75% by 2030.

7.0.51 10% on-site renewables requirement for commercial buildings over 1,000 square metres has been
in effect in the London Borough of Merton since 2003 (The Merton Rule). The cost of renewable energy
systems have decreased in price significantly, particularly over the last 10 years. For instance, Solar PV
module prices have fallen by around 90% since the end of 2009, while wind turbine prices have fallen by
55-60% since 2010.

7.0.52 The increases in required renewables enables a transition to zero carbon and ensures that
homeowners reap the long-term benefits of renewable energy, whilst reducing the need for carbon offsetting.

7.0.53 Carbon offsetting is used to achieve the net-zero position when on-site zero operational carbon
is not possible. This policy (DM 3) sets out a maximum percentage of carbon emissions which may be
offset and paid for by the developer. The offset period should be assumed as the lifetime of the development,
currently recommended by the GLA as being 30 years. The price of the carbon offset may change over
time. The GLA currently recommends a carbon price of £60/tonne and this is due to be increased to
£95/tonne. An example of the carbon offset calculation is : 0.75 (tonnes of carbon to be offset per year) x
30 (years of offset period) x 60 (£ per tonne) = £1,350

7.0.54 Swale Borough Council intend to prepare evidence to inform an appropriate carbon price for Swale
which will be published in due course and revised as appropriate. The price will be prepared on the
principle that the cost of the offset must be higher than the cost of reducing the carbon on-site, to encourage
the correct use of the carbon and energy hierarchy, and to ensure that carbon and energy efficiency are
considered ahead of considering carbon offsetting. There is therefore also a maximum allowable carbon
offset, which decreases over time.

7.0.55 The offset fund will be ringfenced by Swale Borough Council to contribute to carbon offsetting
across Swale, targeting, for instance ‘hard to treat’ retrofit sites.

123The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 145



7.0.56 Swale intends to establish its own Carbon Offset Fund for developers to use and will publish
details on this in due course. If, for any reason, it is not possible to pay into the Swale fund, then an alternative
fund, to be agreed with the Borough Council, could be used, following the principle that the funds should
be spent with Swale and as close to the site as possible.

7.0.57 BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method) is an
internationally recognised third-party certification scheme which assesses the sustainability of buildings. It
examines a wide range of categories:

1. Management, including life cycle costs, responsible contractor and handover
2. Health and wellbeing, including comfort and security
3. Energy, including reduction of energy and carbon and monitoring
4. Transport, including sustainable transport
5. Water, including water consumption, monitoring and efficient equipment
6. Materials, including environmental impacts from construction, sourcing and efficiencies
7. Waste, including construction and operational waste and design for disassembly and adaptability
8. Land use and ecology, including site selection, enhancement and maintenance
9. Pollution, including air quality, noise and light pollution and flood and surface water management
10. Innovation, to encourage free thinking and push boundaries

7.0.58 The Home Quality Mark (HQM) has been developed by the Building Research Establishment to
demonstrate high standards in new homes. It is a third-party assessment and certification scheme which
examines a number of criteria around new homes:

1. Surroundings – around transport, the local environment and safety/resilience
2. Home – including comfort (eg pollution, light, noise, temperature and ventilation), energy, materials,

space (eg for drying, recycling) and water efficiency
3. Delivery – around quality assurance, construction impacts and customer experience

7.0.59 A range of BREEAM and Home Quality Mark ratings have been chosen as appropriate for Swale,
as set out in this policy (DM 3).

BREEAM (the Building Research Establishment Environmental AssessmentMethodology) is appropriate
for assessing new non-domestic buildings, including offices, industrial units, retail, education, leisure,
healthcare and care homes, hotels, and custodial buildings.
The Home Quality Mark is appropriate for assessing new residential dwellings.

7.0.60 The interim BREEAMassessment is conducted at Design stage, and the final BREEAMassessment
is conducted post-construction. At each of these stages the project team assimilate the specified evidence
and provide this to BRE for verification. Both of these certificates will be required as part of planning approval.

7.0.61 An HQM assessment is a two-stage process to make sure that opportunities to improve the
performance of the home are identified during the design stage (interim assessment and certificate) and
put into practice during the construction and commissioning stages and when people move into the home
(final assessment and certificate). Both of these certificates will be required as part of planning approval.

7.0.62 Choosingmaterials that have low carbon emissions in their sourcing, manufacture and distribution
as well reducing the quantity of materials to be used, simplifying form and building efficiently will have a
significant impact on the embodied carbon of a project. The NBS website notes that 55% of the global
industrial carbon emissions come from the manufacture and processing of five key materials, including
steel (25%) and cement (19%). This policy (DM 3) seeks to reduce the use of materials with high embodied
carbon and expects planning applications to be accompanied by measurements of the embodied carbon
of the following structure and envelope materials:

1. Concrete
2. Steel

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021124

Development management policies7

Page 146



3. Timber
4. Brickwork
5. Insulation

7.0.63 Infrastructure projects can involve the use of high embodied energy materials. As such, this
policy (DM 3) requires major infrastructure projects to undertake an analysis of embodied energy to help
choose lower embodied energy alternatives.

7.0.64 Swale Borough Council intend to develop a free to use on-line Embodied Carbon Calculator to
enable this to be easily and quickly calculated.

7.0.65 DEFRA reports in their February 2018 edition of UK Statistics on Waste that in 2014 the UK
generated 202.8 million tonnes of waste. Construction, demolition and excavation (CDE) was responsible
for 59% of that number . Whilst recovery rates for non-hazardous materials has improved, material efficiency
need to be considered from the earlies stages of design and should include an analysis of: design and
manufacturing; distribution (sourcing locally); use and maintenance (ie materials that will last and don’t
require a lot of upkeep); and disposal (including reclamation, reuse and recycling).

7.0.66 TheWaste Framework Directive sets out a hierarchy of options for managing waste from the most
desirable option of prevention of waste through re-use, recycling and recovery (including energy recovery)
through to the least desirable option of disposal. New development should be designed to prevent waste,
for example by using standard size building components, designing for deconstruction and using recycled
materials. Unused materials should be reused on, or close to the site if possible, or sold on as a valuable
resource. Recycling materials is the final option for waste management.

7.0.67 Buildings should also be designed to facilitate waste minimisation, for example through installing
grey-water recycling where possible, promoting composting, and providing convenient recycling facilities.

7.0.68 The Low Carbon Kent website, supported by Kent County Council, offers advice on how SMEs
can re-purpose their waste to facilitate a circular economy which aims to eliminate waste and the continual
use of resources.

7.0.69 All developments required to carry out Home Quality Mark and BREEAM assessments in Swale
will be required to fulfil the waste requirements set out in the Policy DM 3 as part of their HQM/BREEAM
assessments.

7.0.70 Kent County Council is the minerals and waste planning authority for Kent. The Minerals and
Waste Local Plan, 2013-2030 sets out the vision and strategy, development management policies and
strategic site provision for minerals and waste management facilities in the county.

Development that does not require planning permission

7.0.71 Development, including refurbishments and extensions, may not always require planning permission,
however it does present opportunities to improve energy and water efficiency and reduce emissions. The
Energy Savings Trust provides useful information on how to save energy and water. Historic England have
also produced guidance, Energy Efficiency and Historic Buildings: How to Improve Energy Efficiency (2018)
which should be referenced in applications where buildings are listed.

Performance and compliance

7.0.72 The Committee on Climate Change has identified that the way new homes are built and existing
homes retrofitted often fall short on performance and compliance, that is they do not perform as well as
they are designed and they regard this as unacceptable. The committee recommends that greater levels
of inspection and stricter enforcement of building standards are required, alongside stiffer penalties for
non-compliance. They estimate that closing the energy use performance gap in new homes (the difference
between how they are designed and how they perform) could save between £70 and £260 in energy bills

125The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 147

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy


per household per year. This policy (DM 3) seeks to address this issue by ensuring that we move towards
a target of achieving energy efficiency and net zero carbon in both design and post construction, and by
checking both of these at the appropriate time, and before buildings are occupied.

7.0.73 The years referred to in this policy apply to the complete year from 1st January of the relevant
year.

Energy and sustainability statements

7.0.74 Major developments will be expected to submit an Energy and sustainability statement setting
out how they intend to comply with this policy (DM 3) and its sister policy DM 4, Sustainable energy
production, distribution and storage.

Policy DM 3

Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and construction

1. Development proposals should demonstrate a commitment to mitigate and adapt to climate
change in accordance with the Council’s net-zero by 2030 target, national planning policy,
guidance, other policies in this plan, best practice and any relevant Supplementary Planning
Documents, including the Parking Standards SPD and any forthcoming Sustainable Design &
Construction Supplementary Planning Document.

2. Development proposals will need to clearly set out how they have been designed to mitigate and
adapt to the impacts of climate change, for the lifetime of the development, through the application
of sustainability principles, that is: the locations, linkages, layouts, land-uses and landscaping of
schemes and the design and construction of buildings.

3. Development proposals will need to clearly set out how they have been specifically designed to
adapt to the impacts of climate change, in particular overheating and increased storminess and
flooding, prioritising passive approaches that incorporate green and blue infrastructure and bring
multi-functional benefits. Applications should demonstrate how the location, orientation and design
of schemes makes them safe from flooding, how they incorporate sustainable drainage, natural
daylighting, solar shading and natural ventilation and how they have integrated, and made
accessible, high quality landscape features including tree planting and green roofs.

4. All development should demonstrate that it makes sustainable living the easiest choice, for instance
by providing: mixed uses so people can live close to where they work; homes that are comfortable
to work from; easy access to public transport and good quality active travel infrastructure; have
space to store bicycles and recycling; and have safe access to green and blue infrastructure.

5. Development on existing sites should recognise that retaining and upgrading existing structures
may be more sustainable than building new. Redevelopment of existing stock should make the
most of opportunities to improve water and energy efficiency.

6. Applications for major development should include an Energy and Sustainability Statement which
demonstrates how the sustainability principles and standards set through this policy will be
implemented, monitored and enforced both at design stage and post construction.

7. Development proposals will make efficient use of water resources and comply with policy DM 35
Water Quality and Water Resources. All residential development will be designed to achieve a
minimum water efficiency of at least 110 litres per person per day, in line with the Government’s
Housing Optional Technical Standard for water efficiency, unless higher standards, as set out
below, are required.

8. Development proposals (excluding householder and flats on brownfield sites) will demonstrate
the use of the following sustainability standards:

a. All new development will require a Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) or Simple Building
Energy Model (SBEM) B Rating (Post Construction). From January 2025 an SAP/SBEM A
Rating (Post Construction) will be required.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021126

Development management policies7

Page 148



b. All new developments will demonstrate a commitment to reducing operational carbon, for
instance by the use of air source heat pumps and moving away from a reliance on fossil
fuels. A 50% reduction of operational carbon compared to 2013 Building Regulations is
expected of all development. This requirement will be 75% from 2025 and 100% from 2030.

c. All new developments will demonstrate that they meet at least 20% of the total operational
(regulated) energy demand from on-site renewable energy. From 2025 all new development
will demonstrate that they meet at least 50% of total operational (regulated) energy demand
from on-site renewable energy. From 2030 all new development will demonstrate that they
meet at least 75% of total operational (regulated) energy demand from on-site renewable
energy.

d. From 2025 all new developments will offset carbon. To ensure that the energy and carbon
hierarchy is used effectively (and that carbon and energy efficiency are considered first), a
maximum of 50% of total carbon emissions will be offset through the Council’s carbon offset
fund. From 2030 all new developments will offset a maximum of 25% of total carbon
emissions through the Council’s carbon offset fund, or other agreed mechanism.

e. For minor residential development, a Home Quality Mark (HQM) Rating of 3 Stars will be
required from 2025 and a Home Quality Mark Rating of 4 Stars from 2030, using the latest
HQM standard at the time of construction commencement. This should include:

i. 11credits for water efficiency (as defined by HQM 01 Water efficient fittings, criteria 1),
ii. 5 credits for recyclable waste (as defined by HQM 7.3 Recyclable Waste) and
iii. 6 credits for site waste management (as defined by HQM 10.4 SiteWaste Management)

f. For major residential development a Home Quality Mark Rating of 4 Stars will be required,
using the latest HQM standard at the time of construction commencement. This should
include:

i. 11 credits for water efficiency (as defined by HQM 01 Water efficient fittings, criteria 1),
ii. 7 credits for recyclable waste (as defined by HQM 7.3 Recyclable Waste) and
iii. 8 credits for site waste management (as defined by HQM 10.4 SiteWaste Management)

g. For non-domestic developments of less than 1,000m2 gross internal floor area a Very
Good BREEAM Rating will be required, using the current BREEAM standard at the time of
construction commencement. This should include:

i. 1 credit for operational waste (as defined by BREEAM Wst 03 Operational Waste) and
ii. 1 credit for construction waste management (as defined by BREEAM Wst 01 Construction

Waste Management.

h. For non-domestic developments of 1,000m2gross internal floor area or greater, an Excellent
BREEAM Rating will be required, using the current BREEAM standard at the time of construction
commencement. This should include:

i. a 12.5% improvement over the baseline building water consumption (as defined by the
BREEAM Wat 01 Calculator for non-domestic) and

ii. 1 credit for operational waste (as defined by BREEAM Wst 03 Operational Waste) and
iii. 1 credit for construction waste management (as defined by BREEAM Wst 01 Construction

Waste Management).

127The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 149



9. All developments should demonstrate measures to minimise waste in the design, construction,
use and life of buildings, and promote more sustainable approaches to waste management,
including the reuse and recycling of construction waste and the promotion of layouts and designs
that provide adequate, well-designed space to facilitate waste storage, reuse, recycling and
composting.

10. All schemes should consider the embodied carbon of materials and favour natural, reused, recycled
or renewable materials. Using the Council’s Embodied Carbon Calculator, or other agreed
mechanism, major residential and commercial developments should demonstrate reduction of
the use of high embodied carbon materials to a maximum of 1,200kg CO2e/m

2 (carbon dioxide
equivalent emitted per square metre). From 2025 this requirement will be 600 CO2e/m

2 and by
2030 it will be 250 CO2e/m

2 by 2030.
11. Infrastructure projects of above £50 million value which require planning permission, will be

required to predict the embodied carbon of materials during the design stage, and undertake
analysis of quantities andmaterial specifications to optioneer more sustainable and lower embodied
carbon alternatives, to inform the final designs and specifications. Both the baseline assessment
and optioneering studies must be sent to the Council for approval prior to construction
commencement.

Sustainable energy production, distribution and storage

7.0.75 This policy is the sister policy to DM 3 Mitigating and adapting to climate change through
sustainable design and construction. That policy seeks to use the principles of sustainable design and
sustainability standards to promote sustainable design, energy saving, energy efficiency, renewables, low
carbon energy and offsetting to contribute to the Council's net zero target. This policy seeks to build on DM
3 and concentrates on sustainable energy production, distribution and storage and seeks to provide a
framework for renewable energy schemes and to promote heat networks, local energy storage and energy
master planning.

7.0.76 This is an area of technological change and rapid development. This policy aims to encourage
and enable innovation in the supply, distribution and storage of locally produced energy.

7.0.77 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the planning system ‘should support
the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate’ and should help to ‘shape places in ways that
contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions…and support renewable and low carbon
energy and associated infrastructure . It goes on to say that plans should increase the use and supply of
renewable and low carbon energy and heat by providing a positive strategy for energy from these sources,
considering identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy (whilst ensuring adverse impacts
are addressed) and identifying opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from decentralised,
renewable and low carbon energy supply systems and for co-locating potential heat customers and suppliers
. The NPPF stresses that local planning authorities should support community-led initiatives for renewable
and low carbon energy .

7.0.78 When determining planning applications the NPPF makes clear that local planning authorities
should expect new development to comply with policies on local requirements for decentralised energy
supply (unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant that this is not feasible or viable) and take account
of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption.
Furthermore, the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, applicants for renewable and
low carbon development do not need to demonstrate the overall need for such energy sources and recognise
that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions.
Applications should be approved if impacts are, or can be made, acceptable .

7.0.79 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) stresses the importance of increasing the amount of energy
from renewable and low carbon technologies and the role of planning in enabling this. The guidance explains
where local authorities are responsible for determining applications for renewable and low carbon energy,

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021128

Development management policies7

Page 150



where you can find out about permitted development and the role of the Secretary of State in schemes
over 50 megawatts in capacity. Whilst the guidance recognises the need for green energy, it also reinforces
the importance of environmental protections and the views of the community. PPG explains that Local
Plans should consider the local potential for green energy including the range, cost and impacts of different
technologies and relevant policies. The guidance makes clear that whilst the UK has legal commitments
to cut greenhouse gases, Local Plans have no quota of renewable and low carbon energy to deliver.

7.0.80 PPG gives guidance on how local planning authorities can identify suitable areas for renewable
and low carbon energy and how to write positive criteria base policies. It gives guidance on how decentralised
energy opportunities can be identified and explains the particular planning considerations for hydropower,
active solar technology, solar farms and wind turbines, including cumulative impacts.

7.0.81 The Climate Change Act 2008 (amended 2019) set a legally binding greenhouse gas emission
reduction target of 100% by 2050, compared to 1990 levels. The Committee on Climate Change’s report
Reducing UK emissions Progress to Parliament, June 2020, describes the transition to net-zero emissions
as needing all energy to be delivered to consumers in zero-carbon forms (ie electricity, hydrogen, hot water
in heat networks) and come from low-carbon sources (ie renewables and nuclear, plus bioenergy and any
fossil fuels being combined with Carbon Capture and Storage) . For buildings, which make up 18% of 2019
emissions , the Committee describe the 2020s as a period of ‘efficiency, heat networks [and] heat pumps
(new build, off-gas, hybrids)’ and the 2030s and 2040s as a period of ‘widespread electrification, expand
heat networks, gas grids potentially switch to hydrogen’.

7.0.82 In 2011 Kent County Council (KCC) commission AECOM to undertake a renewable energy
resource and opportunity study for Kent. This was followed, in 2013, by Renewable Energy for Kent: An
Action Plan for Delivering Opportunities, 2013-18 which developed a range of work packages. In 2017
Renewable Energy for Kent: Baseline carbon emissions and projected domestic electricity and gas demands
study was published. This provided a revised carbon emissions baseline, projected gas and electricity
demand for future domestic development, levels of installed renewable energy and Combined Heat and
Power capacity in Kent and Medway and updated future energy scenarios to 2020.

7.0.83 Swale Borough Council's Sustainable Design and Construction Guidance (CEN, 2010) and the
Swale Renewable Energy and Sustainable Development Study (AECOM, 2011), though now rather dated,
both demonstrated that there are considerable resource opportunities across the Borough through biomass,
wind, solar , Combined Heat and Power (CHP) and micro-generation. They showed that the existing town
centres offer opportunities for district heating networks, whilst biomass (e.g. from waste wood from the
paper industry and woodland management arisings) is a widespread potential resource across the south
east of the Borough alongside solar energy exploitation across the Borough. There are particular opportunities
for wind energy generation on the Isle of Sheppey, (a number of turbines are already operating there) and
in the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, although here there are national landscape
constraints to be considered. The AECOM study produced an Energy Opportunities Map, below, which,
whilst high level and not representative of site level issues and current development proposals still has
relevance today in its demonstration of the energy potential of the borough.

129The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 151



Picture 7.0.3

7.0.84 This study may be updated as resources allow, for instance to assess the acceptability of wind
applications in accordance with the criteria established in Planning Practice Guidance.

7.0.85 Data gathered by Kent County Council demonstrates that, at the end of 2018, 755MW of electricity
produced in Swale (including 87% from offshore wind) was from renewable sources. Given Swale’s location
in the south of England, solar can be a suitable technology and there are already a number of solar farms
within the borough (ranging from 2 to 22 MW) with a total capacity of 70MW. A number of these farms are
Community Interest Companies where a share of profits is returned to the local community.

Policy Application

7.0.86 To aid the transition to net-zero carbon in Swale by 2030, opportunities for locally produced,
sustainable forms of energy need to be created, distributed and stored within the borough.

7.0.87 Keeping energy production close to energy demand is one of the most efficient methods of
supplying energy, particularly in urban areas where there are sufficient densities and mix of uses and where
co-location (eg schools and employment close to dwellings) of heat supply and demand is possible.

7.0.88 Policy DM 3Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and construction
requires the integration of renewable energy (eg roof mounted solar thermal and/or solar PV schemes) in
new development and encourages low-carbon heat. Low and zero carbon heat could include air/ground
source heat pumps, biomass boilers and low-carbon gas such as hydrogen and biomethane, ideally
combined with renewables.

7.0.89 The Committee on Climate Change UK Housing Fit for the Future? report states that from 2025
at the latest, no new homes should be connected to the gas grid but instead heated through low carbon
sources. They assert that delivery of this by, or even before 2025, is cost-effective. The Committee therefore
recommend that, instead of connecting to the gas grid new homes should make use of low-carbon heating
systems such as heat pumps and low-carbon heat networks. Early deployment of low-carbon heat in new

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021130

Development management policies7

Page 152



homes will help reduce the retrofit challenge by increasing familiarity amongst installers and the general
public, better prepare the stock for net-zero ambitions, and help develop supply chains for broader uptake
.

7.0.90 Heat networks or district heating will play an increasingly important role in energy distribution in
the near future. The Government’s consultation on The Future Homes Standard (FHS) states that ‘Heat
networks …are a distribution system that takes heat from a centralised source and delivers it to a number
of different buildings. These heat networks also form an important part of our plan in the future of low carbon
heat, in particular in cities and high-density areas. Heat networks can decarbonise more easily compared
to most other heat sources because new technologies can be added to the system with little disruption to
individual householders. They provide a unique opportunity to exploit larger scale, renewable and recovered
heat sources that can’t be accessed at an individual building level. Heat networks also provide system
benefits such as thermal storage and reducing the energy demand of the grid at peak times. It is estimated
by the CCC that around 18% of UK heat will need to come from heat networks by 2050 if the UK is to meet
its carbon targets cost-effectively. We expect that heat networks will have a strong role to play in delivering
low carbon heat to new homes in future. ’ The FHS consultation goes on to state ‘In order to encourage
heat networks, we propose that weighting, which we refer to as ‘technology factors’, is applied into
calculations for the target emission rate and target primary energy for new dwellings where the design
incorporates heat networks. Applying these technology factors is intended to encourage heat networks;
this is in recognition of the ability of heat networks to decarbonise over time’ .

7.0.91 There are currently over 17,000 district heating networks operational in the UK and nearly 500,000
connections to them . The Government’s Community Energy Strategy shows examples of energy and cost
savings from community energy schemes.

7.0.92 Heat networks benefit from significant economies of scale and are likely to be suitable on larger
sites. As technology develops they will also become more viable over time. These factors are recognised
in this policy (DM 4).

7.0.93 Batteries can enable sustainable storage and peak management for demands on electricity use.
In domestic settings these could be in the home or for homes with accessible on-site parking, the electric
vehicle batteries could store excess household power for use during high electricity grid demand. Applications
should recognise the potential for battery storage.

7.0.94 Energy Masterplanning enables the creation of a robust area-wide strategy for energy generation,
distribution and storage to be planned across a site and integrated into its neighbourhood to existing or
planned heat networks with the purpose of achieve cost, energy and carbon efficiencies.

7.0.95 For the purposes of this policy, sustainable energy is defined as renewable and low-carbon energy.

7.0.96 The impacts of sustainable energy production, distribution and storage need to be carefully
considered by applicants in preparing proposals. These can include, but are not necessarily limited to,
impacts on: landscape and views, topography, heritage (including setting), heritage and environmental
designations, biodiversity, geology, soils, agricultural land, flood risk, residential and amenity, safety, noise,
air quality, glint and glare, tranquillity, public rights of way and traffic. Cumulative impacts, including those
during the construction and demolition phases, and security measures such as lighting and fencing should
be included in any assessment.

7.0.97 Applicants should use the full range of resources available when preparing planning applications
including the Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal, the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty Management Plan and updates and its Renewable Energy Position Statement. These,
along with their updates and other relevant publications should be referenced in applications.

7.0.98 Swale Borough Council have also prepared two Renewable Energy Planning Guidance Notes,
Guidance Note 1 The Development of Domestic and Medium Scale Solar PV Arrays up to 50kW and Solar
Thermal and Guidance Note 2 The Development of Large Scale (>50kW) Solar Arrays. These documents

131The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 153



have been prepared to assist all parties involved in the renewable energy development process and discuss
the issues to be addressed in solar schemes. These Guidance Notes have been approved by the Council
and will assist decision makers when determining applications.

7.0.99 The development of renewable and low-carbon energy schemes on agricultural land is particularly
sensitive in Swale where we benefit from a high proportion of best and most versatile agricultural land.
Applicants for development on agricultural land should note that the search for suitable sites should not be
limited to land within the control of the applicant, and, as set out in the NPPF, local planning authorities
should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of higher quality.

7.0.100 Applicants should also note that the planning concerns of local communities should be considered
prior to any planning application for large scale renewables is made. Opportunities for community
involvement, leadership and ownership/gain should be sought by applicants.

Policy DM 4

Sustainable energy production, distribution and storage

1. All development proposals (excluding householder) will demonstrate a commitment to sustainable
energy production/renewable energy in line with Policy DM 3 as well as to local energy distribution
and storage where appropriate, seeking opportunities for innovation. Development proposals
should be located, oriented and designed to take advantage of any opportunities for decentralised,
low and zero carbon energy and, connect to relevant existing or planned decentralised heat and/or
power schemes on or near to the site.

2. All development over 100 dwellings or 3,000m2 will be accompanied by an Energy Masterplan.
This will set out how energy will be generated, distributed and stored across the site and, where
appropriate, connect to existing or planned heat networks.

3. Heat networks are encouraged as a low-carbon heating method. As such:

a. All residential developments of 500 dwellings or more or non-domestic buildings of 10,000m2

total or greater (across all development phases) are expected to connect to heat networks
unless it can be demonstrated that there are more appropriate energy efficient and low-carbon
methods of energy production, distribution and storage for the particular site.

b. From 2025 all residential developments of 200 dwellings or more or non-domestic buildings
of 5,000m2 total or greater (across all development phases) are expected to connect to heat
networks unless it can be demonstrated that there are more appropriate energy efficient and
low-carbon methods of energy production, distribution and storage for the particular site.

c. From 2030 all residential developments of 100 dwellings or more or non-domestic buildings
of 3,000m2 total or greater (across all development phases) are expected to connect to heat
networks unless it can be demonstrated that there are more appropriate energy efficient and
low-carbon methods of energy production, distribution and storage for the particular site.

4. Proposals for sustainable energy production, distribution and storage will be granted where:

a. Analysis of all impacts, including cumulative impacts, and methods to avoid, mitigate and
compensate harm from these impacts is fully addressed in any planning application for such
proposals;

b. There is clear evidence of local community involvement, leadership and or ownership;
c. Energy produced locally is stored and consumed as close to its source of production as

practical;
d. Priority is given to development on previously developed land or buildings, avoiding

undeveloped and agricultural land where possible;
e. For schemes on agricultural land, it has been demonstrated that poorer quality land has

been used in preference to higher quality. In exceptional cases, where schemes are

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021132

Development management policies7

Page 154



demonstrated as necessary on agricultural land, that they fully explore options for continued
agricultural use;

f. Opportunities to enhance biodiversity and adapt to the impacts of climate change are integral
to any schemes and biodiversity net gain can be demonstrated, in line with Policy DM 24

g. Proposals are integrated into the design of new commercial and residential schemes, in line
with policies ST 6 and DM 2 and are as efficiently laid out as is practical;

h. The scale, type, location and design of schemes is guided by relevant plans, policies,
appraisals and associated guidance, including relevant Landscape Character Assessments,
Landscape Designations and biodiversity management plans; and

i. In cases of temporary planning permission, detailed proposals for the restoration of the site
at the end of its functional life are set out as a part of any application, ensuring biodiversity
net gain for the long term.

7.0.101 The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning policies to define a network and
hierarchy of town centre and to take a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation
allowing for flexible mixed use characterful places and recognise the important role that they play at the
heart of the local communities they serve. Swale is fortunate to have three vibrant town centres that provide
a range of services and facilities and other urban local centres and rural local service centres to meet the
day-to-day needs of local communities.

7.0.102 Sittingbourne is the principal town centre for the Borough and the focus for retail development
with Faversham and Sheerness. Sitting below the town centres in the Swale retail hierarchy are the Urban
Local Centres of Minster and Halfway and Queenborough and Rushenden and the Rural Local Service
Centres of Boughton, Eastchurch, Iwade, Leysdown, Newington and Teynham.

7.0.103 The focus for retail development for the Borough is at the town centres, in particular Sittingbourne
that has identified additional capacity for both convenience and comparison goods floorspace. Sittingbourne
has seen significant investment in recent years as part of the delivery of regeneration activities including
a new multi-storey car park and cinema complex with restaurants and public realm improvements. The
Council seeks to support further regeneration within Sittingbourne through the supplementary planning
document that will be adopted in due course pursuant to policy REGEN 1: Sittingbourne Town Centre.

7.0.104 Modest additional comparison floorspace capacity has been identified for Faversham and for
Sheerness with some additional convenience floorspace that could be delivered through extensions to
existing premises. There is significant uncertainty in the retail and leisure sector at this time and the Council
is not looking to allocate sites for retail through this local plan review, preferring instead to take a more
flexible approach. This will be kept under review through monitoring and review of town centre vitality and
viability indicators.

7.0.105 The extent of the town centres of Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheerness are set out on the
Proposals Map.

7.0.106 Proposals for retail use that cannot be accommodated within the town centre will require the
submission of an impact assessment to set out the impacts the proposals are likely to have on the vitality
and viability of the town centre in the catchment area of the proposal. The impact assessment is required
to demonstrate how negative impacts on that centre that would result can be mitigated. A local threshold
for assessing retail proposals on the edge of town centres or out of centre is 500sq.m as recommended
by the Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment (January 2019.)

7.0.107 Primary Shopping Areas and active shop frontages

7.0.108 The local plan is required to identify the ‘Primary Shopping Areas’ for town centres where retail
development is concentrated. This is, in effect the ‘primary’ shopping frontages areas where ground floor

133The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 155



uses are predominantly retail with some complementary uses and are protected to ensure the vitality and
viability of the town centre, supporting a concentration of retail uses. The Primary Shopping Area is shown
on the Proposals Map. ‘Secondary’ frontages can also be identified where they support the vitality and
viability of the town centre. They play an important role in complementing the primary areas although do
tend to include a wider range of uses and are also shown on the Proposals Map.

7.0.109 Our centres are facing considerable challenges at present and it is the Council's approach that
there should be flexibility in the range of uses that are provided in these shopping areas, especially to
encourage the unexpected opportunities that may occur on the fringes of the Primary Shopping Areas. This
flexibility will help enhance the vitality and viability of the Borough's town centres and maximise their
contribution to the local economy. A wide range of uses can potentially have a key role in maintaining a
diverse and commercially prosperous centre without undermining their primary retail function.

7.0.110 Retail will remain the predominant use at ground floor level in the Primary Shopping Areas.
However the new use class order allows for a wider range of uses, including non-retail, to be permitted
without requiring permission from the Council until the end of July 2021 when new, revised permitted
development rights are expected to come into effect. Whilst the Council recognises the need for flexibility
at this time, it is imperative that ground floor frontages contribute to the vitality and viability of the town
centre by being well designed and in keeping with the character of the immediate area. Active frontages
contribute to maintaining and enhancing a sense of place and natural surveillance and proposals for
development involving alterations or new shop fronts must accord with Policy DM 6 on shop front design.

Policy DM 5

Proposals for Main Town Center Uses

Planning permission will be granted for main town centre uses subject to:

1. Taking into account the scale and type of development proposed in relation to the size, role and
function of the centre, as follows:

SittingbournePrincipal Town Centre

Faversham and SheernessSecondary Town Centres

Minster and Halfway; Queenborough and
Rushenden

Urban Local Service Centres

Boughton, Eastchurch, Iwade, Leysdown,
Newington and Teynham

Rural Local Service Centres

Table 7.0.1

2. Being located within the town centres as defined on the Proposals Map; or

3. Where demonstrated that a town centre site is not available, being located on a site on the edge of
a town centre, subject to criteria 4a to 4c; or

4. Where demonstrated that there are no suitable sites available at locations within 2. and 3. above,
proposals elsewhere within the built-up areas of Faversham, Sheerness and Sittingbourne, as shown
on the Proposals Map will only be permitted if:

a. it is demonstrated by an impact assessment (when the proposal is above 500 sq. m) that it
would not individually, or cumulatively with those trading or proposed, undermine the vitality and
viability of existing town centres, or of other local centres and the facilities and services of other
locations;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021134

Development management policies7

Page 156



b. it does not materially prejudice the provision of other land uses, particularly the supply of land
for economic land uses, housing, community use and open space; and

c. it is well located in relation to the main road network and easily accessible by public transport,
pedestrians and cyclists.

5. Elsewhere, proposals will be permitted where they address the tests set out in national policy and
accord with criteria 4a to 4c.

Primary Shopping Areas, secondary frontage and active frontages

6. The Council will support the concentration of retail uses in the Primary Shopping Area as identified
on the Proposals Map. Shop frontages within the Primary Shopping Area and secondary shopping
frontages as identified on the proposals map must be well designed in line with Policy DM 6 on
shop fronts. They will be active frontages in that they will be outward looking onto their street
and enhance the vitality and natural surveillance of the street.

7. Proposals for development within the Primary Shopping Areas and secondary frontage areas will
be permitted where they can demonstrate that the proposed use and design will enhance the
vitality and viability of the town centre.

7.0.111 HEALTH WARNING: At the time of writing, the government have published revisions to the Use
Classes order that support the change of use between various types of use under Class ‘E’ without the
need for planning permission. It is a temporary measure to respond to the Covid-19 and its impacts on the
economy and the town centre, in particular. To this end, the Council may need to review the above policy
should further permitted development rights be introduced.

Shopfronts, signs and advertisements

7.0.112 Shopfronts, signs and advertisements have a major influence on the appearance of town
centres and other commercial and residential areas, particularly those within sensitive locations such as
conservation areas or on listed buildings, for example. The aim of Policy DM 6 is to ensure that such
proposals are of a high-quality design. The importance of good design is stressed throughout the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and this applies to shopfronts too. Furthermore, it explicitly references
signs and advertisements, explaining how those that are poorly designed and sited can be detrimental to
the quality and character of places as well as public safety (8).

7.0.113 Inflexible corporate design, with its use of standardised colours and artwork, is a significant factor
in the loss of local distinctiveness which can result in the erosion of the character and appearance of
buildings and areas. The proliferation of signs can also harm the visual quality or amenity of an area. A
high standard of design is required to address these concerns and ensure that proposals safeguard features
of visual and historic interest and provide interest within town centres.

7.0.114 The Council is particularly concerned with the increase in inappropriate signage in the Borough's
town centres and other sensitive locations, and will seek strict adherence to the Supplementary Planning
Guidance entitled 'The Design of Shopfronts, Signs & Advertisements' which remains amaterial consideration
in the determination of proposals.

8 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 132

135The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 157

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/The-Design-Of-Shopfronts-Signs-Advertisements-feb-2011.pdf


Policy DM 6

Shopfronts, signs and advertisements

All proposals will accord with the Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled 'The Design of Shopfronts,
Signs & Advertisements'.

Development involving shopfronts will be permitted where they are of a design which responds positively
to the character of the building and its locality. The alteration or replacement of shopfronts of visual or
historic interest will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that the development would conserve
or enhance the character of the building and its locality.

Development involving signs and/or advertisements will be permitted where they are of a design which
does not significantly harm amenity or public safety, taking into account cumulative impacts.

7.0.115 Loss of employment floorspace and land

7.0.116 The Borough’s stock of employment sites and premises are generally well occupied and in market
demand and therefore to avoid the need for land to be identified for replacement elsewhere, should be
protected from loss to other uses. Within existing employment areas there will be a strong presumption in
favour of retaining premises suitable for employment uses.

7.0.117 The Council takes a positive approach to ensuring that a suitable range of floorspace is provided
to meet the needs of businesses important to Swale’s economy. This includes lower cost premises suitable
for small and start-up businesses, together with premises for industrial and warehousing operations, along
with office space.

7.0.118 This policy aims to manage the stock of Swale’s employment property and provide development
management guidance; including setting out what is expected of applications where they promote a loss
of employment floor space or undeveloped land within both allocated and non-allocated sites. The Council
will seek to retain undeveloped, allocated employment land, from the adopted Local Plan 2017, for future
employment use. See Policy A3.

7.0.119 The NPPF sets out that “significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic
growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for
development.” (NPPF, Paragraph 80.)

7.0.120 Where a change is proposed, which involves the release of employment floorspace or allocated
employment land, then the Council will expect supporting evidence to demonstrate that the site (or floorspace)
has no reasonable prospect of being taken up and therefore no harm to the local economy. This includes
demonstrating that there is no reasonable prospect that the floorspace can be re-occupied and, where
appropriate, the land redeveloped for a new employment use.

7.0.121 Where the loss of employment floorspace and/or land is proposed the Council expects applicants
to provide robust marketing information, indicating a proactive marketing campaign that demonstrates sites
cannot remain in an employment generating use.

7.0.122 Marketing evidence should:

1. Demonstrate that both the land and the premises have been widely advertised and marketed for a
wide range of economic uses for at least one continuous year immediately prior to submission of a
relevant planning application;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021136

Development management policies7

Page 158

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/The-Design-Of-Shopfronts-Signs-Advertisements-feb-2011.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/The-Design-Of-Shopfronts-Signs-Advertisements-feb-2011.pdf


2. Include offering the site for both freehold and leasehold interest at values reflective of the current
market. Information should be provided to demonstrate that the values sought are reflective of the
market; including benchmarking with similar properties (or land) in the market area.;

3. Include information detailing any interest received from potential buyers or tenants since the marketing
commenced. Where interest has been received, and that interest has not been pursued, this must be
explained;

4. Where sites are undeveloped, or property needs to be redeveloped, then viability testing of indicative
schemes should be provided; and

5. Include relevant information on the quality and vacancy level of the premises, and why the location is
considered inappropriateness for economic uses.

7.0.123 Sites allocated for employment use in this Plan that are not yet developed, should only be
considered for release through a local plan review. This reflects the fact that our allocated sites may not
come forward for development until later in the plan period. These development sites are our medium and
long-term ‘reservoir’ of sites intended to allow the economy to respond flexibly across the economic cycle,
and the local plan review process is the best place to make these judgements.

7.0.124 In exceptional cases, a release may be considered ‘mid plan’, but in which case we would expect
to see a much more prolonged period of marketing before concluding that the site has no reasonable
prospect (at least two years). Potential applicants are encouraged to seek the advice of the Council prior
to seeking planning permission as regards their proposed marketing strategy.

7.0.125 There may be cases where, on balance, a new or replacement employment use would not be
supported by nature of the site’s location or characteristics. Where applicants can clearly demonstrate that
the site is no longer appropriate for ongoing employment use, by nature of its access or other limiting
features, then marketing evidence will not be necessary. In preference, this should be agreed before the
application being made through the Council’s pre-application service.

7.0.126 Mixed-use redevelopment and renewal

7.0.127 Where an employment site cannot remain in employment use applicants should first consider
whether a mixed-use approach could offset part of the loss of employment generating space. That is before
considering a total loss.

7.0.128 In considering this approach applicants should aim to replace a quantum and quality of space
which is in demand. In parts of the Borough this may be to meet the demand for small unit industrial or
workshop space regardless of the fact that other uses (for example offices) could deliver more jobs as part
of any mixed-use redevelopment. In general, office based employment should not be used to offset the
loss of industrial land or floorspace. However, flexible space adaptable to provide office, workshop, light
industrial uses or indeed a mix is in demand and would be supported.

7.0.129 Where proposals for economic development uses come forward on sites that are not currently
allocated for, or in employment use, subject to other policy considerations the proposals will be supported
in principle.

7.0.130 Our policy approach gives general support to proposed new economic development while ensuring
that any loss of employment land is properly justified by evidence. This is because it is important for
socio-economic reasons that existing and new businesses are supported by ensuring that a suitable supply
of employment land and premises continues to be available. This policy therefore takes a cautious approach
towards the loss of employment land and premises, to ensure that a sufficient supply of sites continues to
exist to meet the needs of the local economy and local residents.

7.0.131 Recent legislation on extensions to permitted development rights allows the conversion of offices
and light industrial premises to residential uses. Changes arising from these rights will be monitored during
the plan period and the supply of floorspace will be managed to ensure that an appropriate supply of
premises and sites continue to be made available to support the needs of the local economy.

137The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 159



Policy DM 7

Loss of employment floorspace and land

1. Within existing employment areas there will be a strong presumption in favour of retaining premises
suitable for industrial, warehousing, office and similar types of uses (including premises, suitable for
medium, smaller and start-up businesses). Proposals for new premises suitable for these types of
uses will be supported.

2. Other uses will only be permitted where they are ancillary to the employment use, do not result in
the loss of existing employment premises or demonstrate an over-riding benefit for the economy of
the Borough.

3. Where a change is proposed from an economic land use to another use, development proposals
must provide credible and robust evidence of an appropriate period of marketing for economic use to
show that the proposals would not cause unacceptable harm to the local economy. (As set out in
paragraphs ** above.) A further consideration will be the significance to the local economy of the use
proposed to be lost.

4. Marketing evidence should prove that both the land and the premises have been widely advertised
and marketed for a wide range of economic uses for at least one continuous year immediately prior
to submission of a relevant planning application. The exercise should be formally agreed with the Local
Planning Authority prior to the period’s commencement and demonstrate that the price and terms on
which the land or premises were marketed were reasonable by comparison with similar examples in
the local area.

5. Information should be provided detailing any interest received from potential buyers or tenants since
the marketing commenced. Where interest has been received and that interest has not been pursued,
this must be explained. The requirement for marketing evidence applies when a proposal is made that
would result in the loss of an economic use or a net reduction in the quantity of employment land or
premises

6. Marketing evidence will be assessed within the context of:

a. the overall quality of the site as an employment location;

b. the level of occupation/vacancy of the site;

c. consideration of the suitability of conversion for start-up and micro businesses;

d. possible reasons why the site is considered inappropriate for employment use, and the possible
benefits from using the site for alternative uses; and

e. the achievement of other plan objectives.

7.0.132 The rural economy

7.0.133 In Swale, the rural areas are considerable generators of wealth including from agriculture,
land-based industries, tourism and the wide range of small to medium sized businesses that operate there.
The Council wish to support and nurture these businesses and create a prosperous, sustainable rural
economy that contributes to the overall prosperity of the Borough.

7.0.134 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) supports economic growth in rural areas to
create jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable new development. Local planning

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021138

Development management policies7

Page 160



authorities should support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in
rural areas, promote the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural
businesses, support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments and promote the retention and
development of accessible local services and community facilities. (NPPF, paragraph 83.)

7.0.135 The NPPF also states that when businesses are located adjacent or beyond existing settlements,
it is important to ensure that development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable
impact on local roads and improves sustainable transport options. It also encourages businesses to locate
on previously developed land or on sites that are physically well-related to existing settlements. (NPPF,
paragraph 84.)

7.0.136 Due to the dynamic nature and generally smaller scale of rural businesses it is not always possible
to identify the opportunities likely to arise in terms of the allocation of specific sites. This policy therefore
highlights the needs of specific sectors and the protection and expansion of rural services and that this will
be done in a responsive and flexible way. The support for the sustainable growth and expansion of
businesses and enterprises needs to be balanced with limiting and managing adverse impacts upon the
wider countryside. The policy is considered in the context of Policy ST 4 which, for larger scales of
employment growth, steers provision to the urban areas and village service centers.

7.0.137 It is not the purpose of this policy to define rural employment, as the variety of businesses that
can be successfully accommodated within rural areas are wide and always evolving. They will range from
home-based businesses, newly created businesses, land based businesses and those for whom the
attractive environment fits the ethos of the company concerned.

7.0.138 A factor affecting the development of the rural economy is the limited availability of land and
buildings. Such locations are often an attractive and more lucrative prospect for residential use. To retain
the availability of rural buildings for employment, the Council will only grant planning permission for their
conversion to residential use where substantial evidence is provided that demonstrates that there is no
demand for them to be used for employment, or that they are wholly unsuitable for any employment use.
Evidence of demand should include the results of proactive marketing of the building, normally with a
planning permission, as available for employment use, for at least 6 months. This is shorter than the 1 year
required for urban areas as sites here are scattered and more numerous and it is in the urban area where
we want to retain and make available jobs due to their more sustainable location.

7.0.139 The success of rural businesses relies increasingly heavily on the availability and reliability of
superfast broadband provision. Policy DM 13 ‘Provision of Broadband Infrastructure’ sets out the Council’s
expectations for the provision for adequate infrastructure on new developments and at the local level, the
delivery of broadband and mobile services, to support the changing needs of businesses and communities
in the Borough’s urban and rural communities alike, is a priority within the Swale Economic Improvement
Plan 2020-2023. The Council also works with Kent County Council to support the roll out of publicly funded
broadband provision across the Borough.

7.0.140 Rural Tourism

7.0.141 For the rural tourism sector, given Swale’s outstanding environment and its potential contribution
to the economy, the Council wishes to see an expansion of sustainable rural tourism initiatives that can
benefit local communities, economically and socially, as well as raising awareness and support for
conservation and enhancement of the Borough’s natural assets. Indicators of such business credentials
are likely to be:

how it will manage and market itself and how it will make its purchasing choices;
whether it communicates ideas via an environmental policy;
its choice and use of resources and how energy, water and waste is managed;
its relationship with local communities and its support of and contribution to the local economy;
the transport opportunities and choices available;
a spread of knowledge, management and awareness of the local environment and wider area, access,

139The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 161



landscape and wildlife; how it will identify, address, promote and support the local distinctiveness of
the area; and
will it be developed at a scale appropriate to the local community and environment.

7.0.142 For proposals involving existing tourism businesses, membership of the Green Tourism Business
Scheme ,the national sustainable tourism certification scheme for the UK, or similar national certification
schemes, will be taken as a demonstration of their sustainability credentials when planning applications
are being considered.

7.0.143 When considering proposals for tourism and visitor facilities, the Council will ensure that they
complement the existing services present within the locality and where appropriate support their use by
existing communities, as well as visitors. In the case of the many holiday parks located in the rural area,
their needs are considered more specifically by Policies DM 9.

7.0.144 The Swale Visitor Economy Framework 2018-2023 sets out the Council’s priorities for the tourism
sector. It supports growth of the visitor economy in Swale with benefits beyond providing experiences for
tourists, by improving the attractiveness of the place not just to visitors but also residents, investors and
incoming skilled workers. The Visitor Economy Framework Action Plan was agreed in October 2020 and
has six overarching destination challenges that were identified for Swale’s visitor economy:

To shift visitors’ perceptions of the area and increase awareness of the product offering
To give visitors to stay longer and spend more
To respond to visitor engagement with online and social content
To give visitors a reason to visit outside of the summer season
·To develop the visitor experience by creating packages and experiences
To persuade visitors to travel beyond London

7.0.145 Agricultural Sector

7.0.146 For the agriculture sector, the industry has highlighted the need for it to keep pace with the
changing context brought about by climate change, food security, food miles, the decline in pollinators,
global markets, major food retailers and changing legislation/guidance and Brexit. These may bring about
demands for facilities such as large-scale crop storage facilities and new growing technologies. This Policy
supports farmers to respond to these challenges. The Kent Downs AONB Unit Farm Diversification Toolkit,
can help farmers take a balanced and integrated approach to making changes on their farm. The Borough
also has a significant woodland resource which brings with it opportunities in terms of development and
diversification in respect of woodland products and renewable energy, sustainable woodland management
and/or as a resource for sustainable leisure and green tourism activities.

7.0.147 Key parts of rural economies, the vitality and viability of rural communities are their local services
and community facilities, including local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, schools,
public houses and places of worship. This Policy promotes and supports proposals for new services or the
innovative diversification or expansion of existing provision. The Council will look to the retention and
development of such services and facilities where they are, or can be made viable. Where development
proposals threaten the continued future of such uses, the Council will look to applicants to submit substantial
technical evidence to demonstrate the options that they have considered to retain the use, such as through
sharing of services or diversification, which will also include details of its viability.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021140

Development management policies7

Page 162

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18112817/Farm-Diversification-Toolkit.pdf


Picture 7.0.4 Traditional and modern farming methods side by side

7.0.148 Even if the site or building is currently vacant, evidence will need to show that it is neither viable
nor likely to become viable and
that alternative employment uses
have been robustly tested. This
will also include the applicant
having marketed the enterprise
or the property for its
commercial/community use for a
reasonable period (at least one
year) in a manner and at a price
that reflects that use.

7.0.149 Agricultural
practices are changing and
evolving but to achieve support
from this Policy, this change must
be sustainable, with proper regard
to environmental considerations
which will depend on the type of
development proposed. A specific
aim to limit the impact of changes
is a preference for new
development proposals to use
existing buildings, or where a new building is justified, on previously developed land as a first consideration.

7.0.150 The Council will have to be satisfied that such options have been fully explored before well
designed new buildings, appropriate to their context can be approved. For proposals to convert existing
buildings, the Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled The Conservation of Traditional Farm
Buildings[1]will remain a material consideration to the determination of some proposals.

7.0.151 [1] Or its successor

Policy DM 8

The rural economy

Planning permission will be granted for the sustainable growth and expansion of businesses and
enterprise in the rural area. Planning permission for residential development will not be permitted
where this would reduce the potential for rural employment and/or community facilities unless the
site/building(s) is adequately demonstrated as having no demand for such purposes, or its use would
be undesirable or unsuitable through an extensive, proactive marketing process, for at least 6 months.

Development proposals for rural based employment will:

1. For all proposals:

a. in the case of larger scales of development (500 sqm or above (without exceptional justification)),
be located at the village service centers and urban areas as defined by Policy ST 2 and in accordance
with Policy CP 4;

141The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 163



b. firstly consider the appropriate re-use of existing buildings or the development of other previously
developed land, unless such sites are not available or it is demonstrated that a particular location is
necessary to support the needs of rural communities or the active and sustainable management of
the countryside;

c. retain or enhance the rural services available to local communities and visitors without undermining
or resulting in the loss of existing services, unless demonstrated to be unviable for the existing use or
other employment/community use;

d. for new buildings and ancillary facilities, the design and layout will need to be sympathetic to the
rural location and appropriate to their context;

e. result in no significant harm to the historical, architectural, biodiversity, landscape or rural character
of the area; and

f. avoid scales of traffic generation incompatible with the rural character of the area, having regard to
Policy DM 10 and Policy DM 12.

2. For tourism and leisure:

a. in the case of green/sustainable tourism proposals, be demonstrated by reference to their principles;

b. provide for an expansion of tourist and visitor facilities in appropriate locations where identified
needs are not being met by existing facilities in the locality or where able to increase facilities available
to local communities as well as visitors; and

c. where relating to holiday parks, proposals are also in accordance with Policy DM 9.

3. For the agricultural/forestry sectors:

a. enable the diversification of a farm; or

b. extend the growing season or improve the reliability and availability of local crops; or

c. provide for the storage, distribution or added value activities in central hubs located close to crop
sources and the primary and secondary road networks; or

d. increase the availability of locally grown food sold direct to the consumer; or

e. increase the sustainable management of woodlands; or

f. increase the use of renewable energy sources in accordance with Policy DM 4.

Holiday Parks

7.0.152 1. In Swale, holiday parks are a significant part of the tourism offer and make a valuable
contribution to the local economy. Visitors have the potential to boost local communities, particularly in the
summer months, by creating seasonal employment opportunity and by supporting local shops, restaurants
and other businesses. The changing nature and flexibility of the leisure market and the higher aspirations
of holiday makers are leading to leisure providers continually developing new concepts to respond to
consumer needs and aspirations.

7.0.153 2. Whilst some parks have been modernised to meet changing needs, others are of poor quality
and are in need of improvement. Holiday parks are for short term tourism occupation for up to 10 months

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021142

Development management policies7

Page 164



of the year. Many of the holiday parks are located within open and/or coastal sensitive landscapes where
they have had negative visual impacts. Space available for parks is being squeezed by coastal cliff erosion
and flood risk.

7.0.154 3. Given the scale of existing provision on the Isle of Sheppey and its contribution to the current
poor condition and appearance of local landscapes, the Local Plan Review does not seek to allocate any
new sites. The expansion of existing sites outside the defined holiday areas will also not be permitted due
to the landscape and visual impacts likely to arise. Exceptionally, extensions to existing sites will be
permitted in specific local circumstances, such as where land on a site is being physically lost due to coastal
processes and where its replacement can be assimilated successfully into the landscape.

Policy DM 9

New holiday parks or extensions to existing parks

1. Planning permission will be granted for the upgrading and improvement of existing static holiday
caravan and chalet sites (including their conversion from one to the other) within the existing boundaries
of the Holiday Park areas as shown on the Proposals Map. Planning permission will not be granted
for any new static holiday caravans and chalets, or extensions, outside of the Holiday Park area on
the Isle of Sheppey as shown on the Proposals Map.

2. In circumstances where land is lost to coastal erosion, minor extensions to existing static holiday
caravan sites will be permitted where:

i. in accordance with Policies XX and XX relating to the coast and the coastal change management
area;

ii. it is demonstrated that on-site upgrading and improvement is not practical or viable;

iii. there is no overall increase in the existing number of accommodation units;

iv. it is part of a scheme to upgrade and improve the quality of tourist accommodation and other
amenities on the site;

v. it results in a significant and comprehensive improvement to the layout, design and appearance of
the site, together with an integrated landscape strategy that creates a landscape framework for both
the existing and proposed sites that will reduce their overall impact within the landscape in accordance
with Policy XX

vi. in accordance with Policy XX (occupancy of holiday parks); and

vii. there is no unacceptable impact on the local environment.

3. Where new or improved facilities are proposed within the existing boundaries of the Holiday Park
areas, as shown on the Proposals Map, planning permission will be granted provided they are:

i. of a type and scale appropriate to the site or park they are intended to serve;

ii. where feasible, made available for use by the local resident population; and

iii. in accordance with Policy XX (occupancy of holiday parks).

The occupancy of holiday parks

1. Most holiday parks in Swale have been restricted to an eight month period of occupation, with an
additional 11 day period allowed over Christmas and the New Year period for sites not at risk of
flooding. The limited occupancy period was imposed to ensure that these holiday parks were not used

143The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 165



as permanent (and sometimes sub-standard) housing, many of which would be in poorly accessible
parts of the Borough, and to protect the character or the rural area. Limited occupation also afforded
the opportunity to retain a period of tranquillity in rural and other areas. In areas at risk of flooding,
permanent occupation over the winter period could also result in risk to life.

2. Whilst these considerations remain relevant, to give more scope and incentive to enable
modernisation and upgrading to take place, the Council considers that there will be occasions when
a 10 month occupancy period will be acceptable, which will, in turn deliver tourism benefits and support
for the local economy.

3. Policy XX below sets out the parameters within which applications to extend occupancy of holiday
parks to a 10 month period will be permitted. Permanent occupation will continue to be resisted. For
the most part, Policy XX will apply to existing holiday parks, but will be used to guide the length of
occupancy that should be allowed in such cases.

4. Where land is liable to flooding, occupation will continue to be restricted in accordance with national
planning policy and guidance. Applications to extend occupancy on these sites will need to be supported
by an up to date Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) with mitigation measures where appropriate. In many
cases, it will not be possible to provide mitigation that adequately safeguards from the risk of flooding
over the winter months, and in these cases applications to extend the occupancy on these sites will
be resisted.

5. In cases where sites are either adjacent, or in close proximity to, the Swale or Medway Special
Protection Area, an application to extend the holiday season will need to be accompanied by an
assessment made under the Habitat Regulations in order to consider potential disturbance to
over-wintering birds.

Policy XX

The occupancy of holiday parks

Applications to extend occupancy of caravans and chalets to 10 months will be assessed against the
following criteria, all of which must be met:

i. The site is not at risk of flooding, unless, exceptionally, applications accompanied by a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) can satisfactorily demonstrate that the proposals would not result in a greater risk
to life or property and where an appropriate flood evacuation plan would be put in place;

ii. The amenity and tranquillity of the countryside and residential areas are safeguarded;

iii. The proposals are in accordance with Policies XX and XX relating to the coast and the coastal
change management area; and

iv. Where located adjacent to or in close proximity of the Special Protection Areas (SPAs), an
assessment has been undertaken to determine the level of disturbance to over-wintering birds and
identified mitigation measures, where appropriate.

v. The extension of a 10 month occupancy is subject to planning conditions safeguarding the holiday
accommodation from being used as sole or main residences as set out in appendix X Holiday Parks
- Conditions for planning permission.

Proposals for 12 month occupancy of holiday parks will not be permitted.

Appendix X Holiday Parks – Conditions for planning permission.

Conditions for planning permissions to be used in connection with the new policy on holiday homes.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021144

Development management policies7

Page 166



1. There must be a signed agreement between the park and all caravan/chalet owners stating:

a). the caravan/chalet is to be used for holiday and recreational use only and cannot be occupied as
a sole or main residence, or in any manner which might lead to any person to believe that it it being
used as the sole or main residence, and

b). the carvan/chalet cannot be used as a postal address, and

c). The caravan/chalet cannot be used for registering, claiming or receipt of any state benefit, and

d). the caravan/chalet cannot be occupied in any manner, which shall or may cause the occupation
thereof, to be or become a protected tenancy within the meaning of the rent acts 1968 and 1974, and

e). if the caravan/chalet owner is in breach of the above their agreement will be terminated and/or not
renewed upon expiry.

2. The park will:

a). Ensure all caravan/chalet owners, present and future, have a current signed agreement covering
the above points, and

b). hold copies of documented evidence of the caravan/chalet owners main residence and their identity,
which may comprise utility bills, council tax bill, passport, driving licence or similar document, and

c). require caravan/chalet owners to provide new documentation if they change their main residence,
and

d). send all written communications to the main residence of the caravan/chalet owner, and

e). not allow postal deliveries to the caravan/chalet or accept post on behalf of the caravan/chalet
owner at the park office, and

f). must seek to ensure that each caravan/chalet is to be used for holiday use only and is not occupied
as a sole or main residence, or in any manner which might lead any person to believe that it is being
used as the sole or main residence, of the owner or occupant, and

g). adhere to a code of practice as good or better than that published by the British Homes and Holiday
Parks Associatioin.

Managing Transport Demand and Impacts

7.0.155 The need to prioritise sustainable transport and active travel above private vehicle use is becoming
increasingly urgent. On 26th June 2019, Swale Borough Council declared a climate and ecological emergency
and now more than ever, development in the borough needs to contribute towards providing an efficient
and sustainable transport system that makes sustainable modes the most attractive and convenient form
of travel.

7.0.156 We are also in a period of significant technological advancement and travel pattern uncertainty.
This policy is intended to be sufficiently flexible to react appropriately to those changes.

7.0.157 Development or redevelopment can impact the transport network through both physical changes,
and changes to the number, type of mode of trips originating from a site. This can impact the safe and
efficient operation of the highway and public transport network.

145The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 167



7.0.158 This policy aims to ensure that development proposals maximise opportunities for access by
sustainable transport, responds to the emergence of technological advances and is designed to support
transport modes in line with the following hierarchy:

Picture 7.0.5 Development Transport Hierarchy

7.0.159 This policy also aims to ensure that developers submit an appropriate level of assessment to
enable the Council to assess the transport conditions before and after a development. Development
proposals should take all the appropriate steps to safely and efficiently integrate a development to the
transport network within its capacity, and/or to secure measures to enable access and capacity before a
development comes into use.

7.0.160 This policy supports the core objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) for
promoting sustainable transport by managing patterns of development at a site-specific level. The NPPF
states that transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of plan-making and development
proposals, and significant development should be focused in areas that are, or can be made to be,
sustainable through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes.

7.0.161 This policy forms a framework for considering development proposals in line with NPPF to ensure
that:

appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken up,
given the type of development and its location;
safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and
any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and
congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.

7.0.162 Development proposals should therefore be located and designed to minimise the need to travel
and maximise the choice and convenience of sustainable modes in line with Policy ST9 ‘Promoting
Sustainable Transport and ‘Active Travel’.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021146

Development management policies7

Page 168



7.0.163 All developments that have the potential to generate significant amounts of movement should
be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. These should be prepared in line with
Planning Practice Guidance for Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements (2014).

7.0.164 Thresholds for development requiring assessment are defined by the Swale Borough Council
Planning Validation Checklist:

7.0.165 Transport Assessment:

7.0.166 1 Residential developments of 40 dwellings or more, or

7.0.167 2 Developments (including non-residential) proposals of 2,500 square meters with a gross
floor space of 2,500m² or more

7.0.168 3 Where recommended as mitigation, a draft travel plan should also be submitted

7.0.169 Transport Statements:

7.0.170 4 Residential developments of 10 dwellings or more, or

7.0.171 5 Development (including non-residential) with a gross floor space of 1,000 m2 or more

7.0.172 6 Site has an area of 0.25 hectare or more and the development proposed will have limited
transport issues arising

7.0.173 7 Where recommended as mitigation, a draft travel plan should also be submitted.

7.0.174 The above thresholds are not exhaustive and the requirements for assessment should be
determined based on the unique nature of each site. The coverage and detail of assessment should reflect
the scale of the development and the extent of the transport implications of the proposal. This can be agreed
with the council following discussions with the Highway Authority at the Pre-Application stage.

7.0.175 Developers should demonstrate that a proposal will meet the needs of users in accordance with
the transport hierarchy in Figure **, and that the transport network (both highway and public transport) has
sufficient capacity to accommodate additional movements from the development.

7.0.176 Where a development is likely to result in capacity constraints, developers are required to detail
the specific amendments and mechanisms to mitigate the proposals. These should be agreed and
implemented prior to development, and the Council will seek to secure these through Planning Conditions,
Section 106 legal agreements or Community Infrastructure Levy as appropriate.

7.0.177 Following application of the above processes, NPPF (paragraph 109) states that development
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if the residual cumulative impacts of development
are 'severe'. Whilst ‘severe’ is not defined by the NPPF, DfT Circular 2/2013 states that continued safe
operation of the network is the prime consideration in terms of the operation of the strategic road network.

7.0.178 New development should be located minimise the need to travel for employment and services
and facilitate sustainable transport in accordance with Policy ST 9.

7.0.179 Development should be designed with active travel, especially walking and cycling at the forefront
and should be located within walkable distances to services and amenities. Development sites that lack
existing local services and amenities should incorporate proposals for such where the scale of development
warrants it. Mixed-use development or sites that have access to employment or community facilities without
the need for vehicular trips will be favoured to support this policy and Policy ST 9 principles of minimising
the need to travel.

7.0.180 Integration of walking and cycling not only requires consideration within the site layout, but also
requires comprehensive and cohesive links to the surrounding network, services and facilities. Development

147The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 169



layouts should be designed to be fully permeable to pedestrians and cyclists, and measures to reduce
traffic speed in residential areas should be integral to the design and layout. Existing public rights of way
through a development site should in the first instance be enhanced to improve connectivity to the wider
network and recreational value, or be retained on their established routes within green, overlooked corridors.
Local transport note 1/20 must be used as the standard for new cycle route design. Any proposed changes
to routes must be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Council and Kent County Council Public Rights
of Way Access that change to the network would enhance its recreational value.

7.0.181 Developments should take full advantage of public transport services in their vicinity. Sites that
have high public transport accessibility, or the ability to provide it, will be strongly favoured. Site layouts
should be designed to promote access to public transport, increase the attractiveness of these modes, and
capitalise on opportunities to strengthen transport interchanges. In line with Policy ST 9, developers will
be required to integrate improved public transport facilities where appropriate, such as access to bus stops,
shelters, passenger seating, waiting areas, signage and timetable information.

7.0.182 Developers should demonstrate through appropriate assessment that scheme proposals can
be accommodated within the existing or committed public transport capacity. Where capacity constraints
are predicted, developers should mitigate this through appropriate means, such as contributions towards
new or improved services in accordance with Policy ST 9.

7.0.183 The Council recognises the important role of rail and water transport in the movement of freight
and commercial use. Indeed, the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plans (Policy CSM 12) supports in
principle development proposals for new wharf and rail depots for importation operations, and this policy
requires that emissions associated with minerals and waste road transport movements are minimised as
far as practicable and by preference being given to non-road modes of transport. The Council is keen to
encourage greater use of rail and water transport and will usually support development which proposes
this.

7.0.184 We are in a period of significant transport innovation and technological advancement, whether
this be conversion of vehicular fleets to electric or hydrogen power, autonomous vehicles or on demand
transport provided directly to our homes via mobile phone apps. Accompanied with this there may also be
longer term travel demand changes that may occur as a legacy from the Covid-19 pandemic. These could
involve greater peak spreading of travel demand and a need for flexible working spaces within new homes
or communities. The council will ensure that this local plans policies can accommodate the adaptations to
the way we travel, work and shop wit the objective of reducing the need for private car dependency.

7.0.185 Direct access to the strategic road network and primary road network shown on Map ** will not
be supported in most cases. New direct access to the strategic road network will only be considered in
cases of strategic development, proposed through a local plan review, and only where appropriate access
arrangements can be achieved without detriment to network capacity or safety.

7.0.186 The Insets (Maps ** - **) show the Urban Road Hierarchy for Faversham, the Sheerness area
and Sittingbourne respectively.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021148

Development management policies7

Page 170



Picture 7.0.6 Swale Inter Urban Road Hierarchy

Picture 7.0.7 Urban road hierarchy for Faversham (Inset 1)

149The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 171



Picture 7.0.8 Urban Road Hierarchy for the Sheerness area (Inset 2)

Picture 7.0.9 Urban road hierarchy for Sittingbourne (Inset 3)

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021150

Development management policies7

Page 172



Policy DM 10

Managing transport demand and impact

1 All developments that have the potential to generate significant amounts of movement by any
mode should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Where recommended
as mitigation, a draft Travel Plan should be submitted, and a Full Travel Plan secured by planning
condition.

2 Development that has the potential to impact the strategic road network will require a Transport
Assessment regardless of level of trip generation. This will be determined on a case-by-case basis.

3 Development proposals must prioritise sustainable transport and ‘active travel’ by:

a. Minimising demand for private car journeys;

b. Demonstrating that sustainable transport modes have been prioritised in the design in
accordance with the Development Transport Hierarchy (Figure **);

c. Providing a fully permeable and connected development for walking, cycling and public
transport;

d. Creating an accessible development accommodating the needs of all users, including those
who are disabled or are mobility impaired;

a. Ensuring existing public rights of way are enhanced, or where diverted that new routes are
created in appropriate locations;

e. Realising all opportunities to enhance access by sustainable modes, appropriate to the
scale of development; and

f. Demonstrating that the public transport network has sufficient capacity to accommodate
the development, taking into account the cumulative impact of local committed development.

4 Development proposals must consider highway impacts by:

a. Demonstrating that the road network has sufficient capacity to support the development,
considering the cumulative impact of local committed development;

b. Ensuring that, where mitigation is required, environmentally acceptable improvements to
the network are agreed by the Borough Council and the Highway Authority and provided in
advance of severe safety or capacity highway issues being identified;

c. Demonstrating access arrangements can be achieved, accommodating the predicted level
of use and vehicle types, and without detriment to network capacity or safety; and

d. Avoiding new direct accesses to the strategic or primary distributor route network, apart
from cases of strategic development identified by the Local Plan.

5 Development proposals must support safe and sustainable freight and commercial operations
by:

a. Not resulting in the loss of usable wharfage or rail facilities;

b. Ensuring safe and efficient delivery and servicing that minimises the number of motor
vehicle journeys;

151The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 173



c. Providing supporting evidence that demonstrates the promotion or use of wharfs or rail
facilities when requested by the Planning Authority; and.

d. Providing layouts that accommodate emergency and utility vehicles.

6 Where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe following mitigation works, or
where a development will impact the continued safe and efficient operation of the local transport
network, the development will be refused.

7 All proposals for strategic development or where otherwise advised must demonstrate that they are
able to respond to emerging technologies by;

a. Including facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in line with Policies
DM3, 10 and 11;

b. Supporting intelligent priority for sustainable modes of travel;

c. Facilitating “on demand” public transport or car club facilities and/or alternative measures that
reduce the need for private car ownership;

d. Providing Broadband/connected communities infrastructure and house design that supports
Working from Home; and

e. Providing flexible parking arrangements that can be easily adapted into community open space
should demand for parking fall.

Parking

7.0.187 The Council is aiming for walkable neighbourhoods within sustainable communities by ensuring
integrated employment, residential and school uses in the towns and providing access to sustainable modes
of transport. Research has shown that less young people own a driving licence (9)and older people are
driving less (10). In addition, home working has been increasing and is set to further increase. However,
car ownership, although variable across different parts of the borough, is still a reality therefore there is a
need to park, not only cars but, all types of vehicles so the provision of well-designed parking set in the
context of attractive public realm is the important requirement.

7.0.188 Ensuring the appropriate level of car parking in new development involves striking a careful
balance. On the one hand, it is important that sufficient parking is provided so that there are no significant
knock-on effects on the safety and function of the public highway and public transport through on street
parking. On the other hand, the over provision of car parking, particularly within the vicinity of places of
work, can lead to less sustainable travel choices

7.0.189 The NPPF (para 102) requires that transport issues, including parking, are considered early in
the planning and design process as a means to create high quality places. In addition, the NPPF (paras
105 and 106) leaves minimum and maximum residential and non-residential parking standards to be
determined locally based on local transport conditions, type and mix of land uses, electric vehicle needs
and vehicle ownership while also (para 110) prioritising pedestrians, disabled and cyclists with the provision

9 Chatterjee, K., Goodwin, P., Schwanen, T., Clark, B., Jain, J., Melia, S., Middleton, J., Plyushteva, A., Ricci, M.,
Santos, G. and Stokes, G. (2018). Young People’s Travel – What’s Changed and Why? Review and Analysis.
Report to Department for Transport. UWE Bristol, UK.
www.gov.uk/government/publications/young-peoples-travel-whats-changed-and-why

10 Marsden, G. et al. (2018) All Change? The future of travel demand and the implications for policy and planning,
First Report of the Commission on Travel Demand, ISBN: 978-1-899650-83-5

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021152

Development management policies7

Page 174

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/young-peoples-travel-whats-changed-andwhy


of safe, secure and attractive environments. The Council has therefore published a Supplementary Planning
Document providing guidance on car and cycle parking standards and design including the requirements
for electric vehicle charging.

7.0.190 Design of parking provision in residential areas will be steered by the following: research into
residential car parking in Kent was made available by ‘Space to Park'’ , and design criteria relevant to
parking within both the National Design Guide and the Building for Life tool

Policy DM 11

Vehicle Parking

Development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Accord with the adopted Swale Parking Supplementary Planning Document, the National Design
Guide, Building for Life and Space to Park.

2. For residential development, development proposals will:

a. take into account the type, size and mix of dwellings and the need for visitor parking; and

b. provide efficient and attractive layout of development whilst ensuring that appropriate provision
for vehicle parking is integrated within an attractive, tree shaded public realm.

3. For non-residential uses, development proposals will take into account:

a. the accessibility of the development and availability of public transport;

b. the type, mix and use of the development proposed;

c. the need to maintain an adequate level of car parking within town centres to ensure that viability
of the centres is not compromised; and

d. to ensure appropriate provision for vehicle parking is integrated within an attractive, tree shaded
public realm.

4. Cycle parking facilities on new developments will be of an appropriate design and in a
convenient/easily accessible, safe, secure and sheltered location.

5. Development should make the following provision for electric vehicle charging points:

a. all new houses with dedicated off-street parking should provide charging points; and

b. Within communal car parks for residential or non-residential developments of at least 10
spaces, 10% of spaces should provide an active charging point.

Rural Lanes

7.0.191 Swale possesses a rich heritage of rural lanes that contribute to rural amenity, nature conservation
and the character of the landscape. Many are experiencing pressures from the rapid rise in rural traffic,
urbanisation and changes in the management of verges and the Council want to limit the effects of these.
A study undertaken in 1997 by Kent County Council identified the top 20% of these lanes against
environmental criteria, and these are shown on the Proposals Map. Only the top 20% are shown on the
proposals map but this policy applies to all lanes in rural Swale.

153The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 175

http://www.spacetopark.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
http://www.builtforlifehomes.org/go/building-for-life-12/car-parking


7.0.192 In order to safeguard these lanes, the Council will not permit development that would harm their
identified qualities, and will implement traffic restraints, speed restrictions, routing agreements with
businesses, and tree and hedgerow preservation orders. Development proposals may similarly bring forward
such proposals as mitigation of adverse impacts, together with measures such as landscape or historic
features restoration.

7.0.193 Given the age of the rural lanes study, applicants may be required to provide further evidence
as to the landscape, amenity, biodiversity, historic and archaeological importance of the lane(s) in question.
The Council will, when resources permit, update the Rural Lanes Study for Swale.

7.0.194 The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) unit have published Rural Streets
and Lanes: A Design Handbook (2009) which identifies the characteristics of the rural road network and
promotes its conservation and maintenance through detailed design guidance and case studies. This guide
has been adopted by Kent County Council and should be referenced for all relevant applications both within
and outside the AONB.

7.0.195 Quiet Lanes

7.0.196 The Council would like to designate some of Swale’s rural lanes as ‘Quiet Lanes’. Quiet Lanes
are defined as minor rural roads or networks of minor rural roads appropriate for shared use by walkers,
cyclists, horse riders and other vehicles. The aim of Quiet Lanes is to maintain the character of minor rural
roads by seeking to contain rising traffic growth. They must be rural in character, carry less than 1,000
vehicles per day and the 85th percentile traffic speed should be less than 35mph. Narrow, single–track
roads are the most suitable to be designated. The process for designating Quite Lanes involves community
involvement to help to define what lanes should be considered and then a formal consultation similar to
that required to introduce a Traffic Regulation Order. The Council aim to progress work, in conjunction with
Town and Parish Councils, to designate a number of Quite Lanes within Swale. They require investment
so implementation will be phased.

Policy DM 12

Rural Lanes

Planning permission will not be granted for development that would either physically, or as a result of
traffic levels, significantly harm the character of rural lanes. For those rural lanes shown on the Proposals
Map, development proposals should have particular regard to their landscape, amenity, biodiversity,
and historic or archaeological importance.

Provision of Broadband Infrastructure

7.0.197 The information and communications technology sector has undergone huge expansion and
change over recent years. As more services are accessed on-line, such as personal banking and shopping
as well as public services, health and educational services, the need for access to modern digital
infrastructure becomes more fundamental for the social and economic sustainability of communities.

7.0.198 Nationally, the Government has supported investment to extend superfast broadband coverage
(defined as download speeds of at least 24 megabits per second (Mbps)). This has been delivered through
a combination of market-led investment be infrastructure providers and programmes funded by Building
Digital UK (BDUK) and (across Kent) Kent County Council to retrofit superfast broadband provision into
existing business and residential properties where there are no plans for market-led investment. Following
The Future Telecoms Infrastructure Review in 2018, the Government has set a target of 15 million premises
to be connected to gigabit capable broadband infrastructure by 2025, with coverage across the whole of
the country by 2033.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021154

Development management policies7

Page 176

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113912/Rural-Streets-and-Lanes-a-design-handbook.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113912/Rural-Streets-and-Lanes-a-design-handbook.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-telecoms-infrastructure-review


7.0.199 At the local level, the delivery of broadband and mobile services, to support the changing needs
of businesses and communities in the Borough’s urban and rural communities alike, is a priority within the
Swale Economic Improvement Plan 2020-2023.

7.0.200 This recognises that the provision of improved broadband services, which are reliable, is essential
for sustainable long-term economic growth and the social well-being of residents. As of September 2020,
just over 4% of properties in Swale had access to full fibre connections (17.2% in the UK) (11). Provision
of high capacity broadband will support businesses and attract investment. It will also support how residents
choose to work and live, facilitating social inclusion and access to services and leisure opportunities. It also
has the potential to increase opportunities for home and remote working, reducing commuting journeys
and the need to travel, thereby contributing towards a reduction in our communities’ carbon footprint.

7.0.201 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear that LPA’s have role to play in supporting
the expansion and delivery of high quality communication infrastructure, including next generation access
(NGA) mobile technology (such as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections. (12)

7.0.202 To support national and local ambitions, Policy DM 13 seeks to support the availability of gigabit
capable broadband more widely across the Borough. The Policy requires new developments to provide
the required industry standard infrastructure to allow for the installation of gigabit capable broadband.
Wherever practical this should be through fibre to the premises (FTTP) technology. Applicants will be
expected to actively demonstrate how they have considered the need for gigabit capable broadband
infrastructure in their proposals, the digital requirements of the development and the level of connectivity
that can be achieved.

7.0.203 Requiring the installation of infrastructure at the point of build will future proof broadband provision
and avoid the need for retrofitting programmes in the future. Any costs of installing gigabit capable broadband
infrastructure will be balanced against the increased sales values likely to be achieved by providing fast
and reliable broadband speeds in the development.

7.0.204 However, the Council recognise there are parts of the Borough where the viability of provision
and the ability to connect to the network is more challenging than in urban areas. Outside of settlements
in Tiers 1 to 4 of the settlement hierarchy the Policy seeks the provision of FTTP infrastructure provision
on developments of five or more dwellings and schemes which would deliver 500sqm or more of floorspace.
Development proposals falling below these thresholds will be encouraged to provide FTTP infrastructure
wherever practical.

7.0.205 The Council also recognises that proposals may come forward where the policy requirements
cannot be fulfilled. In such cases, the applicant will need to submit evidence to justify any departure from
this policy. Such evidence could include (but is not limited to) evidence of viability, ability to provide the
appropriate physical trench or distance from the network.

7.0.206 Where the installation of FTTP is not deemed possible, including on sites below the thresholds,
the provision of other non-Next Generation Access technologies capable of delivering superfast broadband
should be delivered wherever practical.

Policy DM 13

Broadband Infrastructure Provision

All residential and non-residential developments will be expected to deliver gigabit capable broadband
infrastructure, using fibre to the premises (FTTP) technology, where:

11 Taken from ThinkBroadband’s local broadband information, accessed on 12 October 2020
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/E07000113

12 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 112

155The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 177

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s15675/FINAL%20EIP%20post%20COVID%20Adoption%20Draft%20003.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/E07000113


1. The site is allocated in this Local Plan; or
2. The site is within or adjoining the built-up area boundary of Sittingbourne, Faversham, Sheerness,

Queenborough and Rushenden, Minster, Halfway, Boughton, Eastchurch, Iwade, Leysdown,
Newington and Teynham; or

3. In all other parts of the Borough, the development (including through conversion or change of
use) is for five or more dwellings or, for non-residential developments, 500sqm or more of
floorspace.

For developments under the thresholds, the provision of FTTP should be delivered wherever practical.

Where it can be demonstrated that FTTP is not practical, viable or feasible then other non-Next
Generation Access technologies that can provide all-inclusive internet speeds in excess of 24Mpbs
should be delivered.

Clear evidence should be provided in support of a planning application to demonstrate why a
development proposal is not able to deliver FTTP.

Small and Medium Sites for Housing Development

7.0.207 Swale has a strong record of delivering small sites with an active and successful SME community
brining forward a range of developments across the Borough. They play a significant role in housing delivery
and are of national importance to the government’s commitment to delivering the homes needed across
the country. Small sites are those that deliver between 1 and 9 dwellings. Major development is classified
as development that delivers 10 or more dwellings. Emerging evidence suggests that there is significant
untapped potential for SMEs to contribute to housing supply through the development of sites that can
deliver between 10 and 60 dwellings. In general, national house builders favour developing sites of 60
dwellings or more and hold large land portfolios that they invest in over long periods of time. The SME
model does not follow this approach and, as a consequence, land is rarely promoted through the local plan
process. Land opportunities for SMEs tend to be immediate opportunities that come forward ad hoc. They
are usually located in rural fringe locations or on previously developed land, meaning sustainability factors
vary, creating further uncertainty and risk for development.

7.0.208 The Council is required to ensure a minimum of 10% of its housing requirement is met on sites
no larger than one hectare (as per paragraph 68 of the NPPF). Whilst the Council has sought to do this
through allocations and through keeping an up-to-date Brownfield Land register, there is scope for further
opportunities through support for windfall sites that can deliver sustainable development.

7.0.209 Windfall sites themselves cannot be allocated because they are opportunities that become
available outside of the local plan process. However, the Council seeks to support SMEs and communities
alike by providing parameters that would make small scale development acceptable on unallocated sites
in sustainable locations.

7.0.210 To achieve this, the Council will:

1. Support local communities with the preparation of their Neighbourhood Plans to identify a range of
sites that can accommodate between 1 and 60 dwellings;

2. Maintain an up-to-date Brownfield Land Register, including a Part 2 list of sites whereby a permission
in principle will be established (where appropriate);

3. Take a flexible approach to delivery of affordable housing on a site by site basis to negotiate the most
appropriate delivery to support viability and timely delivery of the site. This could include utlising the
opportunity to provide increased provision of First Homes or payment in lieu of on-site provision where
it can be justified by the specific circumstances;

4. Provide opportunities for custom build, self build and community-led housing projects on suitable sites,
including as part of strategic sites;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021156

Development management policies7

Page 178



5. Utilize Local Development Orders (LDOs) and Neighbourhood Development Orders (NDOs) to bring
forward suitable sites;

6. Prepare an SME Protocol process to allow for positive and productive discussions at the pre-application
stage, with a clear expectation of material to be submitted and timescales, and sufficient resources
including an SME related PPA fee.

7.0.211 The above measures will be monitored and reviewed through the Council’s Housing Delivery
Action Plan as required.cer to add content here....

Policy DM 14

Small and medium sites for housing development

In recognition of the important role small sites play and the value of SMEs to housing delivery in Swale,
the Council will support the development of unallocated sites (windalls) for housing providing the harm
of such proposals do not demonstrably outweigh the benefits; and where all of the following criteria
can be met:

I. It can be demonstrated that the proposals will deliver sustainable development.

II. The site is being brought forward by a recognized SME developer or for self-build or for a community
land trust initiative.

III. The site is not part of a larger site unless through specific proposals to sub-divide a larger site to
speed up the delivery of homes and includes SME builders as part of that delivery mechanism.

IV. The proposals are of an appropriate scale, layout and design to its location and is designed in a
way that preserves residential amenity, designated heritage assets and environmental assets.

V. Proposals include measures to increase biodiversity net gain by 20%

VI. All dwellings meet National Design Standards and deliver a range of carbon reduction design and
construction techniques as set out in Policy XX.

VII. The proposed development delivers a bespoke, high quality design approach that is locally distinctive
and sympathetic to the character of its location.

VIII. The provision of affordable housing will be provided on site unless there is clear evidence that
alternative form of recognised affordable housing provision as defined by the NPPF would be more
appropriate to secure the viability and delivery of the site.

Affordable Housing

7.0.212 1. The NPPF required local planning authorities to use their evidence base to ensure local plans
provide for the assessed needs for affordable housing and set policies to achieve this need. To fully
understand this need, the NPPF requires local authorities to prepare a Strategic HousingMarket Assessment
(SHMA) to fully assess what the housing needs are for the local area.

7.0.213 2. The definition of ‘affordable housing’ is set out in the glossary of the NPPF and includes a
range of products including those that are designed to assist first time buyers. This specifically includes
‘First Homes’ which is in the process of being introduced as discounted market housing for first time, locally
based buyers. The government expects 25% of the affordable provision on sites to be ‘First Homes’.

7.0.214 3. The Council’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy (2019 - 2023) sets out the housing aims,
objectives and vision for the Borough INSERT LINK.

157The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 179



7.0.215 4. The 2020 SHMA recommends that the Council pursues an overall housing target of 27.7%
and recognises that when setting the target, the full range of evidence, including the Whole Plan Viability
report (insert date), needs to be considered.

7.0.216 5. The Whole Plan Viability Report concludes that affordable housing provision is viable at 30%
on greenfield sites in the Borough in all areas. The viability on brownfield sites means that 20% is more
appropriate level of affordable housing provision.

7.0.217 6. Policy DM 15 below aims, as far as possible, to meet the recommendations of the 2020
Strategic Housing Market Assessment. The evidence base shows that the levels of affordable housing
sought in this policy can realistically be achieved and development proposals at the appropriate threshold
will be expected to deliver these levels.

7.0.218 7. To meet the identified need for affordable housing of different tenures, the Council will seek
an indicative target of 60% affordable/social rent and 40% intermediate products. The Council recognises
that the evidence base for different tenures may vary over time for various reasons including impacts of
the Covid pandemic and changes to the Council’s housing register that came into effect in December 2020.
The government is progressing with a range of initiatives to support home ownership and some schemes
such as ‘First Homes’ is progressing to provide opportunities for people with local connections to access
discounted market housing. This is likely to account for 25% of all affordable housing products on qualifying
developments.

7.0.219 8. The Council’s preference is for affordable housing to be provided on site. In the very rare and
exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, the Council may consider affordable housing provision
to be provided off-site. In such cases, it may be possible to require a commuted sum (or payment in lieu).
This option might be appropriate where provision on alternative site could be of higher quantum in order
to attract the interest of a registered housing provider, or where improvements to the quality of the existing
housing stock are considered more appropriate.

7.0.220 9. The Council will be preparing a ‘Housing’ Supplementary Planning Document that will set out
in more detail various approaches for undertaking commuted sums and the methodology for its calculation.
The SPD will also cover how the Council will cascade or commute any provision for use by a registered
provider, other provider in the event that a registered provider cannot undertake responsibility for delivering
and managing the provision, divert to another scheme or pool it until a registered provider is able to come
forward to support an appropriate project.

7.0.221 10. The evidence also identifies a need for affordable older person housing. The Housing SPD
will provide further amplification on how the Council will seek to support this. In the meantime, the Council
would favourably consider affordable accommodation for older people provided it was compliant with the
development strategy in this plan. This might include the development of alternative housing products,
such as Park Homes, and would be assessed against Policy DM 18.

7.0.222 11. There may be circumstances when a need arises for affordable pitches for Gypsies and
Travellers. Affordable pitch provision could come forward via a rural exceptions site, or if further evidence
to quantify the level of affordable need were to come forward through joint working with Kent County Council,
a site could be identified.

Policy DM 15

Affordable Housing

1. Residential development proposals will be required to make affordable housing provision as follows:

i. on sites of 15 or more dwellings on brownfield land within settlement confines, 20% of the total
dwellings will be in the form of affordable housing;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021158

Development management policies7

Page 180



ii. on sites of 10 or more on greenfield land, 30% of the total dwellings will be in the form of affordable
housing.

2. For sites of 10 or more dwellings, provision should be made on site in the first instance with a financial
contribution being negotiated to make up the full requirement as appropriate.

3. In exceptional circumstances, and in accordance with the Housing Supplementary Planning Document
to be prepared by the Borough Council, where proposals fall short of the policy target as a result of
viability considerations, an open-book approach will be taken and the onus will be on the
developer/landowner to clearly demonstrate the circumstances justifying a lower affordable housing
contribution. If on-site affordable housing provision cannot be delivered, affordable housing provision
may be commuted to a financial contribution to be used off-site, singly or in combination with other
contributions.

4. Where no registered provider is available, the full affordable housing provision requirement will be
cascaded to another provider and/or site or via a commuted sum, its calculation having regard to the
full amount of market housing that has been achieved on the site.

5. The Council will seek an appropriate tenure mix of affordable housing to include social rented,
affordable rent, intermediate rent and shared ownership affordable units in line with the identified needs
of the area.

Rural exceptions housing

7.0.223 The NPPF encourages local planning authorities to be responsive to local circumstances and
to plan housing development to reflect local needs, particularly for affordable housing, including through
rural exception sites where appropriate. The NPPF describes rural exception sites as being small sites
used for affordable housing in perpetuity where sites would not normally be used for housing. It explains
that local planning authorities should consider whether allowing some market housing in rural areas could
facilitate the provision of significant additional affordable housing to meet local needs. It makes clear that
in order to promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance
or maintain the vitality of rural communities.

7.0.224 There is a need to deliver a housing supply that is sufficient for, and matches the needs and
aspirations of, local households and those needing to move to the area. Together with rural housing
partners, the Council recognises that in order to tackle these challenges, there is a need to increase
affordable housing within rural areas and that a flexible approach to meeting local housing need is required.
Despite grant funding being available to support such schemes, it has been challenging to deliver in any
significant quantity within the Borough even where the Council has potentially accepted some unrestricted
market housing for sale, including local self build. This approach combined with the Council’s policies
within this Plan towards encouraging small sites developed out by SME builders and towards low cost Park
Home operators within the right locations, should further promote the opportunities for rural affordable
housing and to maintaining and enhancing sustainable rural communities.

7.0.225 There may be circumstances where a rural exception site could provide the affordable
accommodation to meet the needs of specific communities, such as Gypsies and Travellers or those in
need of an affordable housing product such as First Homes. The housing need would still have to be
evidence based but a flexible approach to meeting that particular housing need would be required.

7.0.226 The evidence required to accompany a planning application for rural exceptions scheme will
include:

i. An assessment of the benefits of any proposals focussing on the opportunities to deliver for local
village/parish housing need and evidence of the support of the local community or Parish Council

159The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 181



towards such provision. ‘Local person’ for the purposes of this assessment and the implementation
of Policy DM 16 means a person who meets any of the following criteria:

a. currently resident in the Parish
b. was previously resident in the Parish
c. is permanently employed in the Parish
d. is connected by close family still living in the Parish

ii. A thorough assessment of the potential suitable, available and achievable sites, having regard to
Policy ST 2 and other relevant policies;

iii. a robust and independently prepared and audited viability assessment, prepared on an ‘open book’
basis to demonstrate why market housing is required to make the scheme viable;

iv. an assurance that those homes provided as affordable will remain available (in perpetuity) for local
people and that this will be controlled via a legal agreement, a draft of which should accompany and
planning application.

Policy DM 16

Rural exception housing

Planning permission for affordable housing to meet local needs in rural areas will be granted provided:

1. The site accords with Policy ST 2 and/or is in a location where access to day to day services can
be conveniently and easily achieved;

2. The site and proposed development would not have any significant adverse impacts upon the
character of the settlement, the surrounding countryside and the amenity of the existing community;

3. A need for the scheme is clearly justified and evidenced by the applicant, to the satisfaction of the
Council, by providing the following to accompany a planning application:

a). an assessment of the benefits of any proposals focussing on the opportunities to deliver for local
village/parish housing need and evidence of the support of the local community or Parish Council
towards such provision. including

b). a thorough site options appraisal;

c). an assessment of the benefits of the proposals to meet local housing need;

d). a prepared statement of community involvement that has sought to include the significant input of
the parish council.

4. In addition, for schemes including unrestricted market housing/plots for sale, justification will be
provided by the applications to the number and type of dwellings proposed, which will be supported
by the housing needs assessment and through an appraisal of viability to show the minimum provision
of unrestricted market homes necessary to deliver a significantly greater proportion of local affordable
homes for that site.

5. Proposals will be subject to a legal agreement that provides for the permanent control and
management of any affordable housing to ensure its long term retention for local need.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021160

Development management policies7

Page 182



Open space, sport and recreation provision

7.0.227 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises that having access to a network of
high-quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and
well-being of our communities (13). The aim of this policy is to safeguard Swale’s existing facilities and make
for the provision and enhancement of open space, sport and recreation facilities as a result of new
development.

7.0.228 The NPPF advises that robust and up-to-date assessments of the need for these facilities,
including quantitative or qualitative deficits or surpluses, should be used in the preparation of planning
policies (14). The Council’s adopted 'Open Spaces and Play Area Strategy (2018-2022)'and 'Playing Pitch
Strategy (2015-2025)' insert link are both up-to-date and thorough assessments which have been carried
out since the adoption the last Local Plan. They are supported by an Open Spaces Technical Assessment
and a Playing Pitch Assessment.

7.0.229 Both strategies seek to identify key opportunities and strategic imperatives, plan for the delivery
of new facilities triggered by development, make improvements to existing facilities and provide working
documents that set standards for provision in terms of quantity, quality and accessibility. Other linked
strategies include the 'Swale Active Lives Framework (2017-2022)'which seeks to increase physical activity
in the community and the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy insert link and 'Swale Green Grid Strategy
(2016)' which aim to create a network of multi-functional green and blue spaces across the Borough.

7.0.230 Initially, Policy DM 17 protects existing open space, sport and recreation facilities, and these
should not be built on other than in exceptional circumstances. Furthermore, it seeks additional provision
and enhancement, where required as part of new development. Policy DM 17 also highlights the requirement
to address deficiencies, with reference to the strategies outlined above. For example, the Open Spaces
Technical Assessment demonstrates that the Sittingbourne area does not currently meet the standards for
allotment provision suggested by the National Society of Allotment and Leisure Gardeners.

7.0.231 The actual type and amount of provision required will be determined at planning application
stage, in the context of the specific details of the proposed development, and in consideration of the Council's
wider strategic aims. However, Policy DM 17 seeks to ensure that amounts do not fall below current
standards. Finally, in order to integrate such provision into the green and blue infrastructure network, Policy
DM 17 advocates for the multi-use and functioning of spaces to achieve benefits to communities and to
biodiversity (through the creation of natural habitats) in accordance with Policy ST 10.

Policy DM 17

Open space, sports and recreation provision

Proposals for residential and other development will, as appropriate:

1. Safeguard existing open space, sport and recreation provision;
2. Make provision for open space and recreation facilities in accordance with Table 7.0.2 to ensure

that amounts do not fall below current standards whilst ensuring that the location of new provision
does not result in increased levels of recreational pressure on internationally designated sites;

3. Make provision for sports facilities in accordance with the needs identified by the Council’s Open
Spaces and Play Area Strategy and Playing Pitch Strategy, whilst ensuring that the location of
new provision does not result in increased levels of recreational pressure on internationally
designated sites;

13 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 96
14 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 96

161The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 183

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Open%20Spaces%20Strategy/Open_Spaces_and_Play_Area_Strategy_2018-2022.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Your-Community/Active-Swale/Active-Lives-Framework-2017-2022-21-Feb-2018.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Green-Grid-Strategy-2016-WEB.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Green-Grid-Strategy-2016-WEB.pdf


4. Where it is not appropriate to make new provision on-site, make contributions to the off-site funding
of facilities to meet local deficiencies or to the qualitative or quantitative improvement of existing
provision; and

5. Provide for the multi-use of open space, sports and recreation facilities as appropriate, with
particular emphasis on contributing towards the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy, set out
in policy ST 10, so as to achieve benefits for both communities and biodiversity.

Distance from new
development

(1) (2) (3)
Proposed need (ha)

Quantity to maintain
existing levels of

provision (ha per 1000
population)

Type of space

2km of a destination site.
800m of a local site. 400m
of a neighbourhood site.

22.791.36Parks and gardens

2km of a destination site.
800m of a local site. 400m
of a neighbourhood site.

70.394.20Natural and semi-natural
greenspace

400m8.210.49Amenity greenspace

400m1.010.06Provision for children and
young people

800m3.020.18Allotments

Table 7.0.2 Open space and recreation standards

1. Destination site – large parks providing a range of facilities and features offering recreational, ecological,
landscape, cultural or green and blue infrastructure value which (in the case of parks and gardens) are
accessible by public transport. Includes areas recognised for a significant importance and biodiversity such
as local nature reserves, woodlands and country parks.

2. Local site – large areas, including a landscape setting, outdoor sports, children’s play, informal recreation
and areas of varied biodiversity such as coastal parks, country parks and community woodland.

3. Neighbourhood sites – pocket parks of less than 0.5ha which provide a landscape setting, informal space
of children’s play as well as space which provides varied biodiversity such as linear paths and small areas
of space.

Park Homes

7.0.232 A park home is a pre-fabricated dwelling constructed to a British Standard under controlled
workshop conditions before being transported to its location. They are timber framed and mounted onto
a steel frame. They have tough, durable weatherproof exterior and textured finish. They are put together
on site and connected to mains services (electricity, gas and drainage). They are usually single storey
pitched roof constructions, usually provided fully furnished with built-in cupboards and wardrobes, kitchen
with integrated appliances and central heating, double glazing and carpeting throughout as standard. The
relevant legal requirements, e.g. space standards, protections and so on are contained in the Mobile Homes
Act (2013).

7.0.233 In the last decade, the industry has modernised and homes are now required to be built to BS3632
standard that ensures properties have high specifications in terms of insultation, ventilation, sustainability,
room sizes and design elements (e.g. larger kitchens). The council declared a climate change emergency
and, as part of the local plan review, is looking to secure low and/or zero carbon dwellings. The potential
for park homes to achieve higher standards could be a possibility given the bespoke and made-to-order
nature of park home manufacturing.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021162

Development management policies7

Page 184



7.0.234 Park Homes are usually set within purpose-built enclaves and are particularly attractive to older
people who are retired or part-retired and seek to be part of a close-knit community. These parks are often
owned and managed by specific park home operators who take responsibility for the maintenance of
communal landscaped areas and often provide additional support such as an on-site manager who arranges
mini-bus transport to local supermarkets amongst other things. Park homes have the added advantage of
being on one level, making them suitable for people with limited mobility. They are also considerably quicker
to deliver as housing units when compared with traditional homes.

7.0.235 The Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)(July 2020) identified the need for
accommodation for older people during the plan period. Park Home provision has an important role to play
in delivering suitable accommodation to meet these needs. Any proposals brought forward would need to
meet expected standards in terms of siting, standards of construction and safety and protecting the amenity
of those living on the sites. Sites that are occupied by older people are typically favoured by older people
looking to downsize from their family homes and are usually retired or semi-retired. As a result, these sites
tend to have a lower impact on the highway network due to limited (or low) levels of commuting and are
less likely to have school age children that need to access education facilities. Good bus services, broadband
speed and local shops and services remain important considerations in terms of the sustainability credentials
of a site. For proposals that are for accommodation for the over 55 year olds, the Council may take a more
flexible approach to assessing the sustainability credentials of the location taking into consideration
broadband speeds, supermarket delivery services and where the proposals have the potential to support
existing shops and services that might otherwise be in decline

Policy DM 18

Park homes

Proposals for Park Homes will be required to demonstrate that:

i. the site is in a sustainable location with access to services and facilities (either physically accessible
or through virtual means);

ii. if the site is within an area at risk of flooding, the risk must be mitigated through design solutions to
the satisfaction of the Environment Agency and these solutions will not lead to other material planning
harm, e.g. unacceptable impacts on the amenity of others on the site.

iii. the proposals are in accordance with Policies XX and XX relating to the coast and the coastal
change management area.

iv. the accommodation that is the subject of the application complies or will comply within 12 months
of the granting of planning permission with standards BS3632 and meets the requirements of the
Caravan sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (as amended) and the Mobile Homes Act 2013
in terms of both standard and condition of the unit and external layout within the context of surrounding
area.

Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople accommodation

7.0.236 Swale is home to one of the largest Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople populations in
Kent and the wider South East with over 60 sites, and the aim of this policy is to ensure sufficient
accommodation provision for these communities in a fair fashion for all.

7.0.237 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires the housing needs for different groups
in the community to be assessed and reflected in planning policies (15), and for the travelling community,

15 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 61

163The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 185

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


the method for doing so is set out within Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) (16). The aim of the
PPTS is to promote community cohesion and to align site provision with that for mainstream housing, such
as requiring a demonstrable five-year supply. It requires local planning authorities to set their own targets
for pitch (in the case of Gypsies and Travellers) and plot (in the case of Travelling Showpeople) provision
as part of their overall housing figures (17).

7.0.238 In order to gain a greater understanding of the Borough’s need for pitch and plot provision, a
Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showperson Accommodation Assessment 2018 (GTAA) was
commissioned by the Council which has set the need for the plan period.

7.0.239 The Council has a proven track record of granting suitable planning permissions. Furthermore,
a significant proportion of future need will come from emerging households on existing sites who wish to
stay on those sites. As such, it is not considered necessary to allocate sites to meet the need at this time,
although this position will be reviewed periodically. Instead, Policy DM 19 is intended to act as a criteria-based
policy to guide planning applications for new sites that come forward, together with proposals for the
extension and/or intensification of existing sites.

7.0.240 In seeking to achieve sustainable development in line with the NPPF and PPTS, proposals for
new sites will need to demonstrate that they are sustainable economically, socially and environmentally.

Policy DM 19

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation

Part A: Retention of existing sites

Existing permanent sites and those granted planning permission will be safeguarded for use by Gypsies,
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople unless it can be demonstrated that the site is no longer suitable
for such use.

Part B: New sites and expanding and/or intensifying existing sites

Planning permission will be granted for new sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople,
or the expansion and/or intensification of existing sites provided that proposals:

1. Can establish that the applicants meet the definitions of gypsies, travellers and travelling
showpeople as set out within Annex 1 of Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015);

2. Provide a settled base which reduces the need to travel long distances for access to services
and facilities;

3. Can achieve an integrated co-existence between all communities;
4. Are of an appropriate size to meet the accommodation need identified, do not introduce a scale

of development that singly or cumulatively dominates the nearest settlement, and do not cause
significant harm to the character of an area, its landscape, or the capacity of local services;

5. Can, where appropriate, accommodate living and working in the same location, either through a
mixed-use site or on land nearby, whilst having regard to the safety and amenity of occupants
and neighbouring residents;

6. Cause no significant harm to the health and wellbeing of occupants or neighbouring residents by
noise, disturbance, vibration, air quality problems or other circumstances;

7. Cause no significant harm to the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, national/local landscape
or biodiversity designations and other natural or built environments that cannot be adequately
mitigated;

16 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG footnote 25
17 Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (August 2015), MHCLG paragraph 9

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021164

Development management policies7

Page 186

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-policy-for-traveller-sites
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning%20policy%202019/GTAA%202018.pdf


8. Provide landscaping to enhance the environment in a way that increases openness and avoids
exclusion and isolation from the rest of the community;

9. Provide for healthy lifestyles through open space, amenity areas for each pitch or plot and play
areas;

10. Would be safe from flooding by meeting both the sequential and exceptions tests in accordance
with national policy and Policy DM 36;

11. Achieve convenient pedestrian and/or vehicular access (including parking) without unacceptable
impacts on highway safety or the landscape; and

12. Where appropriate, include visitor or transit pitches and/or sufficient areas for future expansion.
Planning conditions may be used to limit the length of time that caravans can stop at transit sites
and on visitor pitches.

Dwellings for rural workers

7.0.241 The National Planning Policy Framework makes it clear that isolated homes in the countryside
should be avoided except in certain circumstances, one of these being the existence of an essential need
for a rural worker to live at, or near, their place of work in the countryside (18). The aim of Policy DM 20 is
to expand on this and set out the parameters in which such a scenario may be acceptable. Whether a new
dwelling is essential will depend on the needs of the enterprise concerned and not on the personal
preferences or circumstances of any of the individuals involved.

7.0.242 It may be just as convenient, and more sustainable, for such workers to live in an existing dwelling
near the site or in nearby towns and villages. The convenience and availability of such premises should
be examined first. It will then be necessary to consider if the need could be met by improving or converting
existing buildings on the site, providing such improvements are appropriate taking into account their scale,
appearance and the local context.

7.0.243 Where existing accommodation cannot be used or upgraded, there will be a functional test in
which proposals should provide evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live at, or in close proximity
to, their place of work to ensure the effective operation of a land-based based enterprise. This could be,
for example, where farm animals or agricultural processes require on-site attention 24 hours a day or to
deal with emergencies that could otherwise result in the serious loss of crops or products.

7.0.244 There will also be a financial test in which proposals should provide evidence of the degree to
which there is confidence that the enterprise will remain viable for the foreseeable future or that the provision
of an additional dwelling on site is essential for the continued vitality of a farming business through the farm
succession process. Any new dwelling permitted will need to be of an appropriate siting, scale, appearance
and design taking into account amenity and its countryside location.

7.0.245 In the case of a new enterprise, it may be more appropriate to grant a temporary permission for
accommodation, provided by a mobile home or other temporary structure, for a trial period, normally of 3
years. This enables the situation to be reviewed over time. Permission for a permanent dwelling should
not subsequently be granted unless the criteria above are met. The occupancy of any dwelling permitted
will be controlled by conditions to ensure that they are retained for use by persons solely, or last, employed
in these activities or their immediate dependents. Removal of some permitted development rights will also
normally be appropriate to prevent inappropriate extensions or uses.

7.0.246 In the absence of further national guidance on this issue, the Council will continue to have regard
to Annex A to the former 'Planning Policy Statement 7' in the determination of planning applications.

18 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 79a

165The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 187

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120920042515/http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/147402.pdf


Policy DM 20

Dwellings for rural workers

Planning permission will be granted for new, permanent rural worker dwellings in the countryside
where:

1. There is no suitable existing dwelling nearby or in a nearby settlement;

2. It is not possible to convert or upgrade an existing building at the site;

3. There is an evidenced, essential and functional need for a rural worker to be available on or
near the enterprise at most times of the day; and

4. There is a degree of confidence that the enterprise will remain viable for the foreseeable future
or that the provision of an additional dwelling on site is essential for the continued vitality of a
farming business through the farm succession process.

Where criteria 1-4 are met, the new dwelling should be sited as close as possible to existing buildings
on previously developed land, or if this is not possible, within the immediate locality on an acceptable
site.

Where there is a new enterprise which is not yet able to fully meet or evidence criteria 1-4, temporary
planning permission may be granted for a temporary structure for a trial period so that the situation
can be reviewed over time.

7.0.247 Extensions to, and the replacement of, dwellings in the countryside

7.0.248 It is reasonable for those living in the countryside to be able to extend or replace their existing
dwelling when more, or updated, living space is desired. The aim of this policy is to ensure that such
development does not harm the character of the countryside. Where planning permission is required, Policy
DM 21, in recognition of the tranquillity and beauty offered by Swale’s countryside, seeks to ensure that
extensions to, and the replacement of, dwellings in the countryside are of an appropriate scale, mass and
appearance.

7.0.249 The Council’s existing Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Designing an Extension: A Guide for
Householders’ remains a material consideration in the determination of proposals for extensions. Previous
versions of the Local Plan have included a policy limiting the size of extensions to an increase in floorspace
of no more than 60% above the floorspace of the original dwelling. Floorspace alone may not reflect the
impact of the development upon the character of the countryside, but this should be used as a guide, and
extensions that result in an increase in floorspace of more than 60% above that of the original are unlikely
to be acceptable. Planning permission will be granted in cases proposing modest extensions (considering
previous additions) of an appropriate scale, mass and appearance in relation to the original dwelling and
the location.

7.0.250 For replacement dwellings, planning permission will be granted if the proposed new dwelling is
of a similar size and proportion to the original, and of an appropriate scale, mass and appearance for the
location. In exceptional circumstances, planning permission may be granted for modestly larger dwellings,
and/or for dwellings not close to the original dwelling, but only where it constitutes the most effective use
of land, resulting in, for example, an improvement to its setting.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021166

Development management policies7

Page 188

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/Designing-an-Extension-feb-2011.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/Designing-an-Extension-feb-2011.pdf


Policy DM 21

Extensions to, and the replacement of, dwellings in the countryside

Extensions to dwellings in the countryside will be permitted, considering any previous additions, where
they are of an appropriate scale, mass and appearance in relation to the original dwelling and location.
As a guide, the total floorspace of the proposal, together with any previous additions, should not result
in an increase in floorspace of more than 60% above that of the original dwelling.

Replacement dwellings in the countryside will be permitted if the proposed new dwelling is of a similar
size and proportion to the original, and of an appropriate scale, mass and appearance in relation to
the location. In exceptional circumstances, planning permission may be granted for modestly larger
dwellings, and/or for dwellings not close to the original dwelling, but only where it constitutes the most
effective use of land.

7.0.251 Alterations and extensions

7.0.252 The National Planning Policy Framework is clear that development should be well designed with
a high standard of amenity for existing and future users (19). The aim of Policy DM 22 is to ensure that,
where planning permission is required, alterations and extensions to existing buildings reflect this.

7.0.253 Proposals should respond positively to the style and character of the building being altered and/or
extended, reflecting its scale andmassing, preserving features of interest, and reinforcing local distinctiveness
whilst safeguarding the amenity of adjacent residents. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance
entitled 'Designing an Extension – A Guide for Householders' is a material consideration in the determination
of proposals. For extensions to, and the replacement of, dwellings in the countryside, Policy DM
21 additionally applies. In cases involving heritage assets, Policies DM 38 and DM 39 additionally apply.

Policy DM 22

Alterations and extensions

Planning permission will be granted for alterations and/or extensions to existing buildings provided
they:

1. Are of a design and quality which responds positively to the style and character of the building
being altered and/or extended;

2. Are appropriately scaled in relation to the building and its surroundings;
3. Maintain or enhance (where applicable) the character of the street scene;
4. Reinforce or enhance (where applicable) local distinctiveness;
5. Preserve architectural, historic, landscape or nature conservation features of interest; and
6. Protect residential amenity.

7.0.254 Extending the garden of a dwelling in the countryside

7.0.255 An application for planning permission is required to extend the garden of a dwelling onto land
which is used for another purpose. In the countryside, outside the defined built-up area boundaries shown

19 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 127

167The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 189

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-Forms-and-Leaflets/Designing-an-Extension-feb-2011.pdf


on the Proposals Map insert link, this often involves the change of use of agricultural land or woodland.
The aim of this policy is to ensure that such proposals do not harm biodiversity or the character of the
landscape.

7.0.256 By enlarging residential curtilages, changing plot boundaries and introducing domestic uses to
land, extending gardens can gradually lead to urban characteristics such as sheds, garages and hardstanding
being introduced into areas in which the open and attractive landscape qualities are highly valued.
Furthermore, changes in landmanagement can diminish biodiversity. A specific issue occurs where woodland
may be singly or cumulatively taken into the curtilage of a dwelling, preventing its proper and sustainable
management. Such proposals will not normally be supported, especially within the designated landscapes
identified by Policy DM 25.

7.0.257 In recognition of the wish of some rural householders to extend their gardens, Policy DM 23
seeks to ensure that planning permission is only granted where there is no significant harm to landscape
character and biodiversity. The consideration of proposals will be guided by, amongst other relevant policies,
Policy DM 25 and Policy DM 39, and the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - the ‘Swale Landscape
Character and Biodiversity Appraisal’ which can be accessed in two parts - Part 1 and Part 2. Consideration
will also be given to the likely cumulative impacts of a single proposal if repeated by others in the locality.
A landscaping and/or land management scheme should be provided as appropriate to demonstrate how
it will support the aims of the above-mentioned SPD. In cases where planning permission is granted, a
planning condition will normally be imposed to remove permitted development rights for garden buildings
and other domestic works to protect the landscape from further urbanising features.

Policy DM 23

Extending the garden of a dwelling in the countryside

Proposals to extend the garden of a dwelling in the countryside will be permitted where:

1. It can be demonstrated that the proposal will not result in significant harm to landscape
character, the form of a settlement, biodiversity or inhibit the appropriate management of land;
and

2. A scheme of landscaping and/or land management is provided and implemented that will, as
required, conserve, enhance or restore the biodiversity and character of the land concerned.

7.0.258 Biodiversity and geodiversity conservation and biodiversity net gain

7.0.259 Swale has an extremely diverse natural environment, but nationally, we are faced with its
unprecedented decline. The conservation and enhancement of the natural environment is therefore at the
core of the Local Plan strategy, as set out by Policy ST 10. The aim of this policy is to expand on elements
of this strategy – namely the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity.

7.0.260 In seeking to achieve this, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that plans
should consider the hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites of importance for
biodiversity, wildlife corridors and the connections between them, and areas identified for habitat
management, enhancement, restoration or creation. Plans should also promote the conservation, restoration
and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species
(20).

7.0.261 Furthermore, and while the NPPF already promotes seeking net gains for biodiversity, the
forthcoming Environment Bill will strengthen this and introduce a mandatory approach to biodiversity net

20 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 174

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021168

Development management policies7

Page 190

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning%20Policy%202019/swale_lca_reva_nov_2011_Web_Part_1.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning%20Policy%202019/swale_lca_reva_nov_2011_Web_Part_2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


gain. A measurable increase in habitat value will be required, at an absolute minimum of 10%, compared
with a pre-development baseline. The Environment Bill will also require the production of a Local Nature
Recovery Strategy which should identify opportunities for promoting nature recovery and enhancement
and should be integrated within a National Nature Recovery Network.

7.0.262 Biodiversity and geodiversity within designated sites

7.0.263 Large areas of Swale are designated because they contain special habitats or support species
which are rare and/or threatened. Designation provides long term protection as well as opportunities to
introducemanagement measures to conserve features of particular importance. The hierarchy of designations
within Swale is set out below. Further detail on the range of sites, their statutory obligations, and their impact
on the planning system can be found in Circular 06/2005: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation.

7.0.264 Internationally designated sites

7.0.265 The most important sites for biodiversity have statutory protection under international legislation
and comprise Ramsar sites, Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and Special Areas of Conservation (SACs).
The NPPF also states that potential SPAs and SACs, listed or proposed Ramsar sites and sites identified,
or required, as compensatory measures for adverse effects on habitats sites, potential SPAs and SACs
and listed or proposed Ramsar sites should be given the same protection (21).

7.0.266 Ramsar sites are wetlands of international importance designated under the Ramsar Convention.
The designation provides for the conservation and good use of wetlands and for Swale, comprise the Swale
and the Medway Estuary and Marshes. They are designated for their high plant and invertebrate species
diversity and internationally important bird species.

7.0.267 Special Areas of Conservation are areas which have been given special protection under the
European Union’s Habitats Directive. They provide increased protection to a variety of wild animals, plants
and habitats. SACs are designated at Queendown Warren and the Blean complex. Queendown Warren is
designated for its chalk grassland and due to it supporting a number of orchid species. The Blean is
designated due to its ancient oak and hornbeam woodland and because it supports a good population of
the rare heath fritillary butterfly.

7.0.268 Special Protection Areas are areas classified under Directive 79/409 on the Conservation of Wild
Birds, also in accordance with Birds Directive of 1979. They are identified as being of international importance
for the breeding, wintering or migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds. For Swale, they comprise
the Swale SPA and the Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA (both designated for overwintering, on-passage
and breeding birds) as well as the Outer Thames Estuary SPA (designated for the red-throat diver).

7.0.269 In 2011, Local Authorities and conservation organisations across North Kent joined together
within the North Kent Environment Planning Group to identify the impacts of recreational disturbance on
wintering birds within the SPAs. Following a Visitor and Bird Disturbance Survey, a Strategic Access
Management andMonitoring Strategy (SAMMS) is now place which sets out a range of measures to mitigate
any disturbance to birds caused by increasing numbers of recreational visitors.

7.0.270 These strategic measures are funded by developer contributions, applied to all residential
development within 6km of the SPAs (the area mostly likely to result in increased recreational pressure on
them). These contributions are collected via Section 106 agreements, or, if implemented in the future, a
Community Infrastructure Levy. Some larger developments beyond the 6km radius, or those particularly
close to the SPA, may require additional mitigation.

7.0.271 Alternatively, developers can gather their own evidence and complete a Habitats Regulations
Assessment and implement bespoke mitigation measures. Such an assessment would have to consider
the impact of the proposal in combination with other proposed developments, the cost of which is likely to

21 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 176

169The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 191

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/biodiversity-and-geological-conservation-circular-06-2005
https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf
https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf


be higher than making a contribution to the implementation of the SAMMS. In most cases, it will not be
viable for a development to provide its own bespoke mitigation package. For further information, please
see Bird Wise .

7.0.272 If a development proposal is considered likely to have a significant effect on a protected habitats
site (either individually or cumulatively) then an Appropriate Assessment of the implications for the site will
be required under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. If the Council, in consultation
with other bodies, is unable to conclude that the proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the site,
then it will have to be refused. Applicants will therefore need to provide sufficient information as may be
required to undertake the assessment, including implementation of the mitigation hierarchy.

7.0.273 More generally, the Council will take a precautionary approach in requiring Habitats Regulations
Assessments to be prepared for individual development proposals until a strategic solution has been
prepared or where effects of a proposal are deemed to be uncertain. The Council will consider the need
for Habitats Regulations Assessments to be undertaken at the reserved matters stage for sites where
outline planning permission has already been granted.

7.0.274 Nationally designated sites

7.0.275 For Swale, nationally designated sites include Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), National
Nature Reserves (NNRs) and Marine Conservation Zones (MCZs).

7.0.276 Sites of Special Scientific Interest are the country’s best wildlife and geological sites and are
legally protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). For Swale, they comprise the
Swale and the Medway Estuary and Marshes, the Sheppey Cliffs and Foreshore (for geological as well as
nature conservation), Church Woods (Blean), Ellenden Wood, Queendown Warren (Hartlip) and a small
section of nearby Purple Hill.

7.0.277 National Nature Reserves represent many of the finest wildlife and geological sites in the country.
They are used to manage some of the most pristine habitats, rarest species and most significant geology
as well as promote public access to natural heritage. For Swale, they comprise the Swale, Elmley and
Blean Woods.

7.0.278 Marine Conservation Zones are a type of marine protected area, which exist alongside other
international and national designations to form an ecologically coherent network of marine protected areas.
The Medway Estuary was designated as an MCZ in 2013 and the Swale Estuary was designated as an
MCZ in 2016.

7.0.279 Development proposals within these nationally designated sites will only be permitted where
they are not likely to have an adverse effect on the site or its interests, either individually or in combination
with other developments, unless the benefits of the development clearly outweigh both the impacts it is
likely to have on the features of the designated site and its wider environmental network of sites.

7.0.280 Locally designated sites

7.0.281 Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) are for both people and wildlife. They are places with wildlife or
geological features that are of special interest locally. They offer people opportunities to study or learn
about nature or simply to enjoy it. For Swale, these include Oare Marshes, the South Bank of the Swale,
Seasalter Levels and Queendown Warren.

7.0.282 Local Wildlife Sites (LWSs) are identified by the Kent Nature Partnership and are administered
and monitored by Kent Wildlife Trust on behalf of the partnership. Site selection takes into account the
most important, distinctive and threatened species and habitats within a national, regional and local context,
making LWSs some of Kent’s most valuable urban and rural wildlife areas. There are 32 LWSs within
Swale, the majority of which contain habitats and species that are priorities under the county or UK
Biodiversity Action Plans (BAPs) and/or Biodiversity Strategies.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021170

Development management policies7

Page 192

https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/


7.0.283 Roadside Nature Reserves (RNRs) are roadside verges which have been specially designated
because they contain a scarce or declining Kent habitat or the presence of a rare or notable species.
Roadside nature reserves can link existing wildlife areas, helping to reconnect and restore landscape so
that wildlife is no longer struggling to survive in isolation. There are currently 13 in Swale, managed by Kent
County Council Highways and monitored by Kent Wildlife Trust.

7.0.284 Biodiversity and geodiversity outside of designated sites

7.0.285 Although the hierarchy of formally designated sites is of critical importance to the conservation
and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity, it must be recognised that important habitats and
protected species are not confined to them, and can be found on almost any site. The Council will therefore
seek their conservation and enhancement across the whole Borough.

7.0.286 Protected species

7.0.287 A series of international conventions, European directives and national laws protect species of
animals and plants in the UK, notably the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the Countryside and Rights
of Way Act 2000 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The status of species
on development sites must be assessed through appropriate surveys undertaken to clarify the constraints
and requirements that could apply to development on these sites.

7.0.288 The decline of pollinators is a global issue, but of particular importance to Swale given the reliance
placed upon them by its fruit industry. The Council will support the National Pollinator Strategy insert link
and look for opportunities through development proposals to enhance foraging habitat.

7.0.289 Landscape scale biodiversity networks

7.0.290 The NPPF encourages local plans to plan for the enhancement of natural capital at a landscape
scale. This is important as it enables wildlife to move through the landscape and species to colonise new
areas, increase their genetic diversity and adapt better to climate change. Designated sites contain the
most valuable habitats and species but links between these sites and the wider countryside are also
imperative as they enable larger areas of habitat to be restored and enhanced as well as allowing fragmented
habitats to be connected. Landscape scale biodiversity networks also secure natural habitat which can be
accessed by the local community. Research has shown that that access to the natural environment increases
mental and physical wellbeing.

7.0.291 The Council’s adopted supplementary planning document ‘The Swale Landscape and Biodiversity
Appraisal (2011)’ includes an assessment of the current distribution of priority habitats and identifies
opportunities for linking these areas to form a more coherent, extended and enhanced biodiversity network
to better cope with future environmental change.

7.0.292 Biodiversity Action Plans, Biodiversity Opportunity Areas, and the Kent Biodiversity Strategy

7.0.293 Biodiversity Action Plans (BAPs), for key habitats and species within Swale, were prepared at
the national, county and local levels (see Statement XX). They covered both designated and non-designated
sites and habitats and species populations outside these areas. Of these BAP habitats, Swale is particularly
important for its mudflats, sandflats, wetlands and grazing marsh. The Swale Biodiversity Action Plan
provides a basis for local action to conserve, protect and enhance the biodiversity of the Borough and
focuses on a number of BAP habitats of importance to the Borough.

Statement 2

Statement XX

Biodiversity Action Plan habitats in Swale

171The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 193



UKbiodiversity action plan habitats: chalk grassland, acid grassland, neutral grassland, wood-pasture
and parkland, vegetated shingle, maritime cliffs, reedbeds, arable field margins, coastal and floodplain
grazing marsh, intertidal mudflats (littoral sediment), saltmarsh, ponds, traditional orchards and
hedgerows.

Kent biodiversity action plan habitats: ancient and/or species rich hedgerows, built-up areas and
gardens, cereal field margins, coastal and floodplain grazingmarsh, coastal saltmarsh, coastal vegetated
shingle, standing open water, wet woodland, lowland calcareous grassland, maritime cliff and slope,
mixed broadleaved woodland and plantations, lowland wood-pasture and parkland, mudflats, old
orchards, reedbeds, and lowland meadow.

Swale biodiversity action plan habitats: orchards, estuary habitats, woodlands, wildflower grassland,
farmland, built-up areas and gardens.

For UK, Kent and Swale BAP species, see the relevant websites for further details

7.0.294 The Kent Nature Partnership is now working towards the Kent Biodiversity Strategy 2020 targets
which supersede the BAPs, however the BAP habitats remain relevant. The targets of the Kent Biodiversity
Strategy are expressed spatially through the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas.

7.0.295 Previous versions of the Kent Biodiversity Strategy were reflected spatially in a number of
Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (BOAs). They show where the greatest gains can be made from habitat
enhancement, restoration and recreation, as these areas offer the best opportunities for establishing large
habitat areas and/or networks or wildlife habitats. As such, they are useful for the development and delivery
of green and blue infrastructure and resilient ecological networks. The latest maps and statements were
issued in August 2015, however they are likely to be superseded once the Kent Nature Partnership has
adopted a new countywide Nature Recovery Network which is currently in development.

7.0.296 The BOAs encompass most of the designated sites and much of the BAP habitat in Kent and
Medway as well as identifying connections between these habitats and sites. Biodiversity Opportunity
Statements have been prepared to accompany each BOA, identifying specific targets and conservation
priorities to ensure delivery of the BOAs and promote opportunities to implement the Kent Biodiversity
Strategy. They indicate where the delivery of BAP targets should be focused to secure maximum benefits
to biodiversity. Four BOAs are identified for Swale:

Medway Gap and North Kent Downs;
North Kent Marshes;
Mid Kent Downs Wood and Scarp; and
The Blean

7.0.297 Biodiversity net gain

7.0.298 Biodiversity net gain is an approach to development that leaves biodiversity in a better state than
before. If a development has an impact on biodiversity, it encourages developers to provide an increase
in appropriate natural habitat and ecological features over and above that being affected in such a way
that the current loss of biodiversity through development will be halted and ecological networks can be
restored.

7.0.299 The Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan (2018) made a commitment to embed a ‘net
environmental gain’ principle for development to deliver environmental improvements locally and nationally.
In 2019, following consultation, the Government announced it would mandate net gains for biodiversity in
the Environment Bill. Now progressing, the Environment Bill will mandate that all development, with limited
exceptions for small applications and brownfield sites, will be required to provide a measurable minimum
of 10% biodiversity net gain (BNG). This will be measured against a baseline value of biodiversity and will

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021172

Development management policies7

Page 194



be calculated using the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric. Developers will be required to provide a BNG plan with
supporting calculations from the Metric, which should be accommodated within the rules of the existing
mitigation hierarchy, and offsite compensation should be considered as a last resort.

7.0.300 The Kent Nature Partnership are proposing adopting a 20% target across Kent. This is because
Kent has a wonderfully rich and varied biodiversity resource, the pressures on which are specific to Kent’s
location, such as its proximity to London, being a gateway to Europe, and the resulting significant and
unprecedented levels of growth it faces. The Council wholeheartedly supports this approach and will be
seeking a 20% BNG through this policy. The Council will continue to work with the Kent Nature Partnership
on the evidence base to support the 20% requirement. Viability evidence thus far indicates that a target of
20% rather than 10% has a minimal additional impact upon viability. A Biodiversity Baseline Study 2020
insert link has also been prepared which will help guide developers in their approach.

7.0.301 Local Nature Recovery Strategy

7.0.302 Local authorities will also be required by the Environment Bill to produce a Local Nature Recovery
Strategy, which should be integrated within a National Nature Recovery Network. It will be required to
include a biodiversity statement and map, which should:

Describe, identify andmap biodiversity features within the Local Authority Boundary, including nationally
designated sites, other nature reserves and wider areas of importance for biodiversity; and
Describe, identify andmap priorities and opportunities for promoting nature recovery and enhancement.

7.0.303 The Environment Bill does not explicitly link Local Nature Recovery Strategies and biodiversity
net gain, however it is implied in the 25 Year Environment Plan that biodiversity net gain should be used
to contribute to meeting the objectives of the National Nature Recovery network and therefore also local
ones.

7.0.304 The Council therefore commits to producing a Local Nature Recovery Strategy as required. The
Biodiversity Baseline Study is the starting point for this strategy.

7.0.305 Local supplementary planning documents

7.0.306 The following adopted supplementary planning documents should be taken into account when
formulating development proposals:

The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal (2011) insert link, which presents guidelines
on a character area basis for improvements to biodiversity
The Kent Design Guide insert link (and its successor, currently in progress), specifically the appendix
‘Making it happen – landscaping’, which demonstrates how developments can create features such
as bird roosting/nesting places, aids to hibernation, green and brown roofs, habitats on railways, road
and cycle path verges, connected hedgerows, wildlife underpasses and green bridges.

7.0.307 When submitting planning applications, the Council will, as appropriate, require the submission
of ecological assessments to determine the extent and importance of habitats and species present and to
make recommendations for their avoidance, mitigation and, as a last resort, compensation.

7.0.308 Other initiatives and resources

7.0.309 The Medway Swale Estuary Partnership insert link is a not-for-profit organisation whose work is
centred around the understanding, conservation and promotion of the estuary’s natural and historic
environments. It hosts the North Kent Catchment Improvement Group which is developing catchment
improvement plans for North Kent (estuarine and freshwater).

7.0.310 Local Nature Partnerships (LNPs) were set up through the Environment White Paper (2011).
Their purpose is to drive strategic and positive change to the local natural environment to benefit nature,
people and the economy. LNPs play a specific role in achieving the Government’s environmental objectives

173The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 195



locally, including identifying local ecological networks and in being local champions influencing local
decision-making. There are two LNP’s relevant to Swale, the Thames Gateway Local Nature Partnership
insert link and the Kent Nature Partnership insert link.

7.0.311 There are a number of resources available which applicants should use in developing their
planning applications. These include:

The ARCH Kent Habitat Survey 2012 presents data on the extent of natural habitats in Kent, identifies
areas of importance for wildlife and measures habitat changes since the Kent Habitat Survey of 2003.
Other out puts of the ARCH project were a Planning Screening tool to establish whether planning
applications require further ecological investigation, and a software tool which identifies where work
should take place to re-connect fragmented habitats. An online data portal on the ARCHwebsite insert
link gives access to the habitat data and enables queries by location or by habitat.
The Kent Landscape Information System (K-LIS) is a web-based map system that sits alongside
ARCH’s data portal and aims to enable better informed decision-making by providing detailed
information on Kent’s landscape and biodiversity. It contains details on countryside access, landscape
character and opportunities for habitat creation and landscape restoration and the 2012 Kent habitat
survey as well as areas designated for their conservation value.
The MAGIC website insert link, managed by Natural England, provides authoritative geographic
information about the natural environment from across government. Using an interactive, it presents
information on rural, urban, coastal and marine environments.

Policy DM 24

Biodiversity and geodiversity conservation and biodiversity net gain

Part A – For designated sites

Development proposals which have a direct or indirect effect on designated sites, as shown on the
Proposals Map insert link, will conserve and enhance them in a manner equal to the significance of
their biodiversity and geodiversity status as follows:

1. Within internationally designated sites (including candidate sites), the highest level of protection
will apply. The Council will ensure that development proposals only proceed when in accordance
with relevant Directives, Conventions and Regulations. Where the proposed development will
have an adverse effect on the integrity of a European site, planning permission will only be granted
in exceptional circumstances, where there are no less ecologically damaging alternatives, there
are imperative reasons of overriding public interest and where the damage can be fully
compensated.

2. Within nationally designated sites (including candidate sites) development will only be permitted
where it is not likely to have adverse effect on the site or its interests unless the benefits clearly
outweigh both the impacts it is likely to have on the features of the site and the wider environmental
network of sites.

3. Within locally designated sites (including candidate sites) development likely to have an adverse
effect will only be permitted where the damage can be avoided or adequately mitigated or when
its need outweighs the ecological interest of the site. Compensation will be sought for loss or
damage to locally designated sites.

Part B – For all sites

Development proposals will:

1. Apply national planning policy in respect of the conservation and enhancement of: a) the habitats,
species and targets in UK and local Biodiversity Action Plans and Biodiversity Strategies; b) linear

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021174

Development management policies7

Page 196



and continuous landscape features or those acting as stepping-stones for biodiversity; c) aged
or veteran trees and irreplaceable habitat, including ancient woodland and traditional orchards;

2. Be informed by, and further the guidelines and biodiversity network potential of the Council’s
Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal (2011) Supplementary Planning Document;

3. Support, where appropriate, the vision and objectives of the relevant environmental and biodiversity
management and action plans;

4. Be accompanied by appropriate surveys undertaken to clarify constraints or requirements that
may apply to development, especially where it is known or likely that the development sites are
used by species and/or contain habitats that are subject to UK or European law;

5. When significant harm cannot be avoided through consideration of alternative sites or adequate
mitigated provided on-site or within the immediate locality, compensatory measures will be
achieved within the relevant Biodiversity Opportunity Area, or other location as agreed by the
Council;

6. Unless exempt, provide a minimum 20% net gain in biodiversity against a pre-development
baseline; and

7. Actively promote the expansion of biodiversity within the design of new development and with
reference to the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy in Policy ST 10.

Conserving and enhancing valued landscapes

7.0.312 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the planning system should contribute
to enhancing the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and
recognise the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital
and ecosystem services. It requires plans to distinguish between the hierarchy of international, national
and locally designated sites and allocate land with the least environmental or amenity value, take a strategic
approach to maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats and green infrastructure and plan for the
enhancement of natural capital at a catchment or landscape scale across local authority boundaries .

7.0.313 The NPPF stresses the great weight that should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape
and scenic beauty in National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty which have the highest level
of protection and where the scale and extent of development should be limited .

7.0.314 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) explains how planning policies can conserve and enhance
landscapes, including nationally and locally designated landscapes and the wider countryside. It explains
that where landscapes have a particular local value policies should identify their special characteristics and
be supported by evidence. PPG gives guidance on criteria, avoidance, mitigation and cumulative impacts.
It explains the role of Management Plans in designated landscapes, landscape character assessments,
Natural England’s National Character Area profiles, landscape sensitivity assessments and landscape and
visual impact assessments.

7.0.315 The PPG also sets out the statutory duties of local planning authorities in relation to nationally
designated landscapes and how planning policies and decisions need to take account of their management
plans. It explains how development within these areas should be limited and located and designed in a
way that reflects their status as landscapes of the highest quality.

7.0.316 Government guidance on Areas of outstanding natural beauty: designation and management
explains that local authorities must make sure that all decisions have regard for the purpose of conserving
and enhancing the natural beauty of the AONB, the potential effect within the AONB and the land outside
its boundary. It explains where Natural England should be consulted and the role of the AONBManagement
Plan and gives links to other government guidance on how to review planning applications in protected
sites and areas.

7.0.317 Natural England's National Character Areas (NCAs) divide England into 159 distinct natural
areas each defined by their unique combination of landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity, cultural and

175The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 197



economic activity. Their boundaries follow natural lines in the landscape rather than administrative
boundaries, making them a good decision-making framework for the natural environment. Within these
NCAs, the Borough's varied landscape is reflected in three distinct broad character types - the flat, open
marshland of the Greater Thames Estuary, the orchards, arable land, woodland and dry valleys of the North
Kent Plain and the dipping slope, valleys and woodland of the North Downs. Each National Character Area
profile contains Statements of Environmental Opportunity which should be reflected in the aspirations of
planning applications.

7.0.318 The modern landscape of Swale is also a product of man-made influences over a long period
of time. The Kent Historic Landscape Characterisation Survey (2001) has identified a number of key
character areas in Swale:

Central North Downs: a zone at the highest point of the Borough with a mixed character of fields and
other types and a general north-east to south-west alignment;
Northern Horticultural Belt: a large wide area crossing the north Kent plain primarily defined by
horticultural activity with a predominance of orchards;
The Forest of Blean and areas that were formerly part of the Forest, and remains mostly woodland
today but where fields encroach into woodland;
The Northern Coast and Marshland: a visually distinctive area consisting of a relatively balanced mix
of reclaimed marsh and coastal landscape; and
The Isle of Sheppey: itself broken into three sub-areas consisting of reclaimed marsh, post-medieval
field systems and urban and industrial development.

7.0.319 The 2004 Landscape Character Assessment of Kent mapped the County’s landscape according
to its surviving historic character, looking at aspect of the landscape such as patterns of roads, paths and
trackways, hedges and field boundaries and changing vegetation and land-use.

The appraisal of landscape character and biodiversity

7.0.320 TheNPPF outlines the importance of protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and recognising
the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Natural England’s approach to landscape is that all
landscapes matter and that many are highly valued by local people, both those which have historical
significance to the community and those which are newly created or recognised. Natural England advocate
the use of a landscape character approach which not only helps us to understand our landscapes, but also
assists in informing judgements and decisions concerning the management of change . Natural England
also publish guidance on how to carry out and use landscape and seascape character assessments.

7.0.321 The Council has an adopted Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal
(2011) Supplementary Planning Document to ensure the protection and enhancement of the whole of the
Borough’s landscapes and habitats. It has identified and assessed the condition and sensitivity of 42
landscape character areas and sets out guidelines for action for all countryside across the Borough. It will
be used to determine whether development is appropriate and, if so, how it might be accommodated within
the landscape and mitigated sensitively. The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal values
all landscapes in the Borough and gives guidance for improvement and enhancement, including habitat
enhancements – providing a positive approach to the restoration and enhancement of landscapes. Planning
applications should take this document into account when preparing development proposals, in particular
emphasising the link between landscapes and biodiversity. The use of this document is a key element in
determining planning applications, in accordance with Policy DM 25.

7.0.322 The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019) examined 46 landscape sensitivity
assessment areas around the built up areas of Sittingbourne, Faversham, Sheerness/Queenborough,
Minster, Iwade, Teynham, Leysdown and Warden, Upchurch, Lower Halstow, Eastchurch, Bredgar,
Newington and Boughton and Dunkirk. Through an analysis of factors (topography and scale, natural
character, sense of time depth/historic landscape character, visual character, perceptual and experiential
qualities and character and setting of existing settlement) overall assessments of landscape sensitivity to
residential and employment development were made, ranging from low, through low-moderate, moderate,

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021176

Development management policies7

Page 198



moderate-high to high sensitivity. Alongside the overall assessment commentary was given and spatial
variations identified. The study also included general guidance for development within each area. The
findings and guidelines of this study should be referenced and taken into account for any development
within the assessment areas.

Landscape Designations

7.0.323 The NPPF looks to Local Plan to distinguish between the hierarchy of national and locally
designated sites. In Swale there are both national and local landscape designations.

7.0.324 These areas have been formally designated because they are landscapes of great value and/or
scenic beauty and because they have a particular value for the conservation of selected species, habitats,
historic and cultural assets. Within these designations priority will be given to the long term conservation
and enhancement of these landscapes relative to their status, whilst having regard to the economic and
social wellbeing of their communities.

National landscapes - the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

7.0.325 In 1968 a large part of the North Downs within the Borough was designated as part of the Kent
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The aim of this national designation was to conserve
and enhance the natural beauty of the landscape. The aim of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty Management Plan (currently under review) is to secure conservation and enhancement within the
AONB while supporting local communities. The plan is adopted by the relevant Kent Districts and London
Boroughs as a material consideration in planning applications and it is afforded similar weight to a
Supplementary Planning Document.

7.0.326 Accompanying the AONB management plan are a number of supporting guidance documents
which should be taken into account in relevant cases. These include the AONB's: Guidance on the selection
of and use of colour in development; Farm Diversification Toolkit; Kent Downs Farmsteads Guidance;
Managing Land for Horses; Rural Streets and Lanes - A Design Handbook; Position Statement on Renewable
Energy and its Companion Report as well as the Landscape Design Handbook. The AONBUnit also publish
guidance on specific aspects of land management, for example, chalk grassland, orchard, woodland and
hedgerow management.

7.0.327 The landscape of the Kent Downs is made up of 13 character areas. The character area of most
relevance to Swale is the Mid Kent Downs. Key characteristics and objectives for the Mid Kent Downs have
been defined by the AONB Unit and should be reflected in relevant planning applications.

7.0.328 In accordance with the NPPF the Council will refuse proposals for major development within the
AONB unless in exceptional circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that they are in the public
interest and based on an assessment of:

the need for the development, including national considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or
refusing it, on the local economy;
the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the need for it in some
other way; and
any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, and the extent
to which that could be moderated.

7.0.329 In terms of what may constitute 'major development', for the purposes of this Local Plan, it will
be a matter of judgement based on relevant circumstances, it will not be made by reference to the definition
of major development in the Development Management Procedure Order 2015 or for purposes of determining
whether an Environmental Impact Assessment is required.

177The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 199



Setting of the AONB

7.0.330 The importance of the setting of the Kent Downs has been emphasised by the AONBmanagement
plan and in development management decisions taken in Kent. Where referring to the AONB in this
document, this refers also to its setting. The setting is broadly speaking the land outside the designated
area which is visible from the AONB and from which the AONB can be seen, but may be wider when affected
by intrusive features including noise and light. Proposals which would affect the setting of the AONB are
not subject to the same level of constraint as those which would affect the AONB itself. The weight to be
afforded to setting issues will depend on the significance of the impact. Matters such as the size of proposals,
their distance from the AONB, incompatibility with their surroundings, movement, reflectivity and colour are
likely to affect impact. Where the qualities of the AONBwhich were instrumental in reasons for its designation
are affected, then the impacts should be given considerable weight in decisions .

7.0.331 Planning Practice Guidance explains how land within the setting of the AONB often makes an
important contribution to the maintenance of the designation’s natural beauty and that poorly located or
designed development can do significant harm, especially where there are long views or where the landscape
character within and adjoining the designated area is complementary. It stresses the need for sensitive
handling that takes potential impacts into account.

7.0.332 The Kent Downs AONB Joint Advisory Committee have produced a Setting Position Statement,
an advisory document which provides guidance on issues of setting, focusing on ensuring avoidance of
harm and the conservation and enhancement of the setting of the AONB through good design and mitigation
measures. It looks at:

the legislative and policy background (NPPF, PPG and Natural England guidance), and High Court
and appeal decisions
defining the setting (which may vary with different type of development, topography and height)
development likely to affect the setting (including impact on views, loss of tranquillity, increased traffic
flows and recreational pressure)
cumulative impacts
conserving and enhancing the setting of the AONB

7.0.333 Within Swale the dry valleys of the North Downs which share many of the special qualities of
the AONB, along with land adjacent to the AONB, are likely to be included within the setting of the North
Downs AONB.

7.0.334 To ensure impacts of development within the AONB and its setting are considered and addressed
from the earliest stages the AONB Unit welcome pre-application discussions.

Local Landscape Designations

7.0.335 Local Landscape designations in Swale were first designated around 40 years ago (as a Kent-wide
Strategic Landscape Areas) and their boundaries defined by successive Local Plans. In Swale, the Local
Plan of 2000 also identified Local Landscape Areas. These were reviewed by a 2003 landscape assessment
and were carried forward into the 2008 Swale Local Plan. Bearing Fruits, the 2017 adopted Local Plan for
Swale named these two levels of designation, Areas of High Landscape Value – Kent Level and Areas of
High Landscape Value – Swale Level respectively. In 2018 Swale commissioned the Swale Local Landscape
Designation: Review and Recommendations to review the two tiers of local landscape designation, to
develop criteria and examine all locally designated landscapes across the borough, to assess a Valued
Landscape consultation, to consider the designation of new areas, to recommend boundary changes to
local landscape designations and describe and evaluate their special qualities and significance in a set of
Statements of Significance.

7.0.336 The Swale Local Landscape Designation review recommended that one level of local designation
is retained for the borough covering the former Kent Level and Swale Level areas. This gives an equal
level of protection through planning policy and development management.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021178

Development management policies7

Page 200



7.0.337 The Local Landscape Designations (each with their own Statement of Significance) in Swale
are:

North Kent Marshes: Medway Marshes
North Kent Marshes: North Swale (Sheppey) Marshes
North Kent Marshes: South Swale Marshes
Kent Downs: Rodmersham, Milstead and Highsted Dry Valley
Kent Downs: Syndale Valley
Kent Downs: North Street Dip Slope
The Blean
Lower Halstow Iwade Ridge
Blean Edge Fruit Belt
Sheppey Court, Diggs Marshes and Barton's Point

7.0.338 They are explained with the Changes to the Proposals Map and identified as Areas of High
Landscape Value.

7.0.339 Within these Local Landscape Areas, Policy DM 25 requires development proposals to
be considered in relation to the extent to which they would protect the local landscape and enhance the
future appearance of the designated landscape and, where relevant, its nature conservation interest. The
qualities and recommendations in the Statement of Significance should be referenced and incorporated
into any development proposals. If, after adverse landscape impacts have been minimised/mitigated and
compensated for, further adverse impacts still remain, the Policy requires the social and/or economic
benefits of a proposal to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the local status of the designation for
planning permission to be granted.

Tranquillity

7.0.340 The NPPF explains that planning policies and decisions should identify and protect tranquil areas
which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value
for this reason as well as limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically
dark landscapes and nature conservation.

7.0.341 Tranquillity is a valuable resource that once lost is difficult to regain, it having benefits to health
and well-being as well as to green infrastructure and biodiversity. It is associated with quiet places,
surrounded by elements of nature and is most commonly found in an uncluttered and peaceful countryside,
but also within urban areas – for instance in a leafy urban square or park where birdsong is audible.
Tranquillity is also often associated with dark skies and the absence of light pollution from roads and built
up areas.

7.0.342 The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal 2011 highlighted tranquillity as
a feature of several areas of the Borough. The Local Landscape Designation’s Statements of Significance
also highlight tranquillity as a quality within local landscape designations. The Campaign to Protect Rural
England has drawn up a Tranquillity Map for Kent and using this data a Swale section of this map has been
developed as a pictorial guide to areas of relative tranquillity in Swale (see below - CPRE Map localised
by SBC). Although tranquillity exists in a broad brush fashion within the greener areas on the map, it will
not be locally uniform; likewise it may also be present locally beyond the identified more tranquil areas.
Applicants should demonstrate how development will affect tranquillity and aim to improve it when seeking
to comply both with national planning policy and Policy DM 25.

7.0.343 Map XXX Indicative and relative tranquillity in Swale (CPRE Map localised by SBC).

179The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 201



Picture 7.0.10

Policy DM 25

Conserving and enhancing valued landscapes

The value, character, amenity and tranquillity of the Borough’s landscapes will be protected,
enhanced and managed.

Part A. For all landscapes:

1. The scale, layout, build and landscape design of development will be informed by landscape and
visual impact assessment having regard to the Council's Landscape Sensitivity Assessment and
the Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD, including, as appropriate, their
guidelines, and the key characteristics, sensitivity, condition and capacity of character
area(s)/landscapes, taking opportunities to enhance the landscape where possible, including the
removal of visually intrusive features.

2. Development proposals will demonstrate the link between landscape protection and enhancement
and biodiversity protection and enhancement in all schemes.

3. Landscape and visual impact assessments will consider the cumulative impacts of both built and
permitted development, including impact from noise, lighting and traffic on tranquillity.

Part B. For designated landscapes areas:

Within the boundaries of designated landscape areas, as shown on the Proposals Map, the status
given to their protection, enhancement and management in development decisions will be equal with
the significance of their landscape value as follows:

1. The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is a nationally designated site and
as such permission for major developments should be refused unless exceptional circumstances
prevail as defined by national planning policy. Planning permission for any proposal within the
AONB will only be granted subject to it:

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021180

Development management policies7

Page 202



a. conserving and enhancing the special qualities and distinctive character of the AONB in
accordance with national planning policy;

b. furthering the delivery of the AONB’s Management Plan and its opportunities, having regard
to its supporting guidance documents;

c. minimising the impact of individual proposals and their cumulative effect on the AONB and
its setting, mitigating any detrimental effects, including, where appropriate, improving any
damaged landscapes relating to the proposal; and

d. being appropriate to the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the area or being
desirable for the understanding and enjoyment of the area.

2. The Areas of High Landscape Value are designated as being of significance to Swale, where
planning permission will only be granted subject to:

a. conservation and enhancement of the qualities of the landscape, as outlined in their
Statements of Significance, being demonstrated;

b. demonstration of how proposals will meet the requirements for these designations, as out
in their Statements of Significance;

c. avoidance, minimisation, mitigating and compensating adverse landscape impacts as
appropriate and,

d. when significant adverse impacts remain, that the social and or economic benefits of the
proposal significantly and demonstrably outweigh harm to the landscape value of the
designation.

Part C. For the settings of designated landscapes

The impact on the setting of designated landscapes (the AONB and Areas of High Landscape Value)
will be fully assessed, where relevant, and protected and enhanced commensurate with the status of
the designation.

Part D. For non-designated landscapes:

Non-designated landscapes will be protected and enhanced and planning permission will be granted
subject to:

1. the minimisation and mitigation of adverse landscape impacts; and
2. when significant adverse impacts remain, that the social and or economic benefits of the proposal

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the harm to the landscape character and value of the
area.

7.0.344 Kent Downs AONB

7.0.345 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that great weight should be given to
conserving and enhancing the landscape and scenic beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The
Borough of Swale contains part of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). These
areas are designated for the national importance of their landscape. For the Kent Downs, the management
plan has been adopted by the Council as a material consideration for decision-taking on planning
applications. Development proposals will be required to have regard to the policies in the Management
Plan.

7.0.346 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty are nationally designated and as such have the highest
status of landscape protection. The extent of the AONB is illustrated on the Proposals Map.

7.0.347 to add content here....

181The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 203



Policy DM 26

Kent Downs AONB strategy

1. Within the AONB, the conservation and enhancement of the historic and natural environment are
the primary planning aims. Major development within the AONB will only be permitted in exceptional
circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that it is in the public interest. Development within
the AONB and its setting will be permitted proved that:

i. the location, form, scale, materials and design will conserve or enhance the character of the landscape
and rural settlements; and

ii). the development would conserve or enhance the special qualities and condition of the distinctive
character and tranquillity of the AONB; and

iii). the development supports the adopted AONB Management Plan and any associated guidance.

iv). Unless allocated by the Local Plan Review, avoids the loss of high quality agricultural land.

2. Proposals are required to achieve net gains in biodiversity and natural/semi-natural greenspace
that enhances the setting of the settlement (or existing built form) with landscaping that reflects the
character of the locality.

The separation of settlements - Important Local Countryside Gaps

7.0.348 With the settlement strategy of the Local Plan focusing development pressures at the
major settlements in the Borough, there is a need to prevent the coalescence and the erosion of the intrinsic
character of settlements close by. The aims of this policy are to:

i. maintain the separate identities and character of settlements by preventing their merging; safeguard
the open and undeveloped character of the areas;

ii. prevent encroachment and piecemeal erosion by built development or changes to the rural open
character; and influence decisions on the longer-term development of settlements through the
preparation and review of Local Plans.

7.0.349 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes clear that planning policies and decisions
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment …recognising the intrinsic character
and beauty of the countryside . This is reinforced in Planning Practice Guidance which makes clear that
this approach applies to the wider countryside, as well as to designated landscapes .

7.0.350 The identity, character, and setting of settlements are formed, in part, by their physical separation
from one another. Whilst the use of Landscape Character Assessments assist in safeguarding the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside, in areas where development pressures could lead to coalescence
or erosion of settlement separation, the definition of those gaps provides additional emphasis when
considering allocations and development management issues.

7.0.351 Within Swale, Important Local Countryside Gaps (ILCGs) were defined and set out in the 2008
Local Plan and confirmed in Bearing Fruits, the 2017 adopted Swale Local Plan. These comprise gaps
between:

1. Sittingbourne and the satellite villages of Bapchild, Rodmersham Green, Tunstall, Borden, Chestnut
Street, Bobbing and Iwade;

2. Upchurch and the administrative boundary with Medway Council; and
3. Queenborough, Sheerness, Minster and Halfway.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021182

Development management policies7

Page 204



7.0.352 These gaps were considered robust for the Swale Local Plan in 2017. Limited development
within these gaps since 2017 means that these boundaries continue to be considered robust.

7.0.353 The Local Plan Review is seeing further development pressures across the borough. As such it
was considered necessary to consider the need for gaps around the settlements of Teynham and Faversham.
The Swale Important Local Countryside Gap study ADD LINK identified the need for the following gaps:

1. Faversham and the villages of Goodnestone, Ospringe and Oare;
2. Teynham and the villages of Lynsted and Bapchild

7.0.354 The boundaries of ILCGs are defined on the Proposals Map (see maps below) and follow
recognisable physical features, the defined built-up area boundaries or the boundaries of allocations or
potential allocations.

183The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 205



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Scale: NTSProposed Important Local Countryside Gaps - Faversham
DM27

Picture 7.0.11

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021184

Development management policies7

Page 206



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Scale: NTSProposed Important Local Countryside Gaps - Teynham
DM27

Picture 7.0.12

185The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 207



7.0.355 Not all forms of development are discouraged within the ILCGs. For instance, agriculture, waste
management and mineral recycling facilities, public open space, community woodland, nature reserves,
recreation, allotments and burial grounds are all uses which could be conducted provided that their purpose
are not undermined or the need to protect the countryside compromised. However, there may be instances
within ILCGs where even modest development could impact upon their purpose, particularly where there
may be:

i. actual (or the perception of) coalescence;
ii. the loss of a critical part of the gap;
iii. resultant pressure arising from a development or an allocation that would be difficult to contain; or
iv. where the extent of the land remaining undeveloped would not function as maintaining the sense of

separation.

Policy DM 27

The separation of settlements - Important Local Countryside Gaps

To retain the individual character and setting of settlements, the following Important Local
Countryside Gaps are defined on the Proposals Map as gaps between:

1. Sittingbourne and the satellite villages of Bapchild, RodmershamGreen, Tunstall, Borden, Chestnut
Street, Bobbing and Iwade;

2. Upchurch and the administrative boundary with Medway Council;

3. Queenborough, Sheerness, Minster and Halfway;

4. Faversham and the villages of Goodnestone, Ospringe and Oare;

5. Teynham and the villages of Lynsted and Bapchild

Within these gaps, unless allocated for development by the Local Plan, planning permission will not
be granted for development that would undermine one or more of their purposes.

7.0.356 Local Green Spaces

7.0.357 The National Planning Policy Framework states that local (and neighbourhood) plans should
allow communities to identify and protect green areas of particular importance to them (22). The aim of this
policy is to ensure that Local Green Space designations are protected from inappropriate development and
retained for enjoyment by local communities.

7.0.358 Local Green Space designations can be considered, during the plan-making process, where the
green space is:

reasonably close to the community it serves;
demonstrably special to the community, for example because of its recreational value, tranquillity,
heritage, beauty, or richness of wildlife; and
local in character and not an extensive tract of land.

22 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 99

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021186

Development management policies7

Page 208

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


7.0.359 An assessment of potential Local Green Spaces has been carried out against the defined criteria
and can be found published within the Local Plan’s evidence base. The sites in question have, for the most
part, been forward by local communities and represent diverse types and uses of land ranging from coastal
cliff tops to allotments and recreation grounds.

7.0.360 The sites designated as Local Green Spaces are shown on the Proposals Map insert link. The
Council can have no direct influence on the management of these sites, although clearly the Borough,
Parish and Town Councils wish to see their current use continue. However, Policy DM 28 will be used to
preserve these Local Green Spaces and prevent development which would conflict with their character
and use.

7.0.361 Local Green Space designations differ from village green registrations which are handled by
Kent County Council under separate legislation and outside the remit of national planning policy and the
Local Plan.

Policy DM 28

Local Green Spaces

Within designated Local Green Spaces, planning permission will not be granted other than for:

1. The construction of a new building providing essential facilities for outdoor sport or recreation,
cemeteries, allotments, the reasonable requirements of agriculture or forestry, or other community
uses related to the Local Green Space, where the character and use of the Local Green Space is
preserved;

2. The replacement, extension or alteration of an existing building where this does not result in a
disproportionate addition over and above the original building and maintains the character and use of
the Local Green Space;

3. The re-use of an existing building where this does not conflict with the character and use of the
Local Green Space; or

4. The carrying out of engineering or other operations required for public safety or to provide essential
infrastructure.

187The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 209



06
/0

1/
21

S
ca

le
: 

N
T

S
T

hi
s 

m
ap

 is
 r

ep
ro

d
uc

ed
 f

ro
m

 O
rd

na
n

ce
 S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l

w
ith

 t
he

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 o
f O

rd
na

n
ce

 S
ur

ve
y 

on
 b

eh
al

f 
of

th
e 

C
on

tr
o

lle
r 

of
 H

e
r 

M
aj

e
st

y'
s 

S
ta

tio
na

ry
 O

ffi
ce

.
©

 C
ro

w
n

 C
op

yr
ig

h
t. 

U
na

ut
h

or
is

ed
 r

ep
ro

du
ct

io
n 

in
fr

in
ge

s
cr

ow
n 

co
p

yr
ig

ht
 a

nd
 m

ay
 le

ad
 t

o 
pr

os
ec

ut
io

n
 o

r 
ci

vi
l

pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s.

 (
10

0
01

83
86

) 
(2

01
9)

L
o

ca
l 

G
re

e
n

 S
p

a
c

es
 -

 F
av

er
sh

a
m

 a
re

a

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021188

Development management policies7

Page 210



05
/0

1/
21

S
ca

le
: 

N
T

S
T

hi
s 

m
ap

 is
 r

ep
ro

d
uc

ed
 f

ro
m

 O
rd

na
n

ce
 S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l

w
ith

 t
he

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 o
f O

rd
na

n
ce

 S
ur

ve
y 

on
 b

eh
al

f 
of

th
e 

C
on

tr
o

lle
r 

of
 H

e
r 

M
aj

e
st

y'
s 

S
ta

tio
na

ry
 O

ffi
ce

.
©

 C
ro

w
n

 C
op

yr
ig

h
t. 

U
na

ut
h

or
is

ed
 r

ep
ro

du
ct

io
n 

in
fr

in
ge

s
cr

ow
n 

co
p

yr
ig

ht
 a

nd
 m

ay
 le

ad
 t

o 
pr

os
ec

ut
io

n
 o

r 
ci

vi
l

pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s.

 (
10

0
01

83
86

) 
(2

01
9)

L
o

c
al

 G
re

e
n

 S
p

ac
e

s 
- 

Is
le

 o
f 

S
h

e
p

p
ey

189The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 211



06
/0

1/
21

S
ca

le
: 

N
T

S
T

hi
s 

m
ap

 is
 r

ep
ro

d
uc

ed
 f

ro
m

 O
rd

na
n

ce
 S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l

w
ith

 t
he

 p
er

m
is

si
on

 o
f O

rd
na

n
ce

 S
ur

ve
y 

on
 b

eh
al

f 
of

th
e 

C
on

tr
o

lle
r 

of
 H

e
r 

M
aj

e
st

y'
s 

S
ta

tio
na

ry
 O

ffi
ce

.
©

 C
ro

w
n

 C
op

yr
ig

h
t. 

U
na

ut
h

or
is

ed
 r

ep
ro

du
ct

io
n 

in
fr

in
ge

s
cr

ow
n 

co
p

yr
ig

ht
 a

nd
 m

ay
 le

ad
 t

o 
pr

os
ec

ut
io

n
 o

r 
ci

vi
l

pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s.

 (
10

0
01

83
86

) 
(2

01
9)

L
o

c
al

 G
re

e
n

 S
p

ac
e

s 
- 

S
it

ti
n

g
b

o
u

rn
e 

a
re

a

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021190

Development management policies7

Page 212



7.0.362 Woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows

7.0.363 Swale’s woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows

7.0.364 Swale’s tree population in particular ancient woodland, traditional orchards and ancient hedgerows
contribute greatly to the borough’s character, local distinctiveness and beauty. These habitats, and trees
in general, are integral to providing cleaner air, filtered storm water and lower temperatures. Trees, shrubs
and other plants create an important habitats are of high biodiversity value and can be irreplaceable. Streets,
parks and gardens filled with trees can also have psychological benefits in reducing stress and providing
spaces for relaxation and contact with nature.

7.0.365 The value and benefits of trees are summarised in the diagram and, specific to Swale, include
the following:

7.0.366 Air quality - trees assist with improving air quality by acting as a kind of filter. Swale already
has areas of poor air quality that are under Air Quality Management. It is important to ensure that existing
trees are protected and that street tree planting in new development contributes to bettering air quality of
these new areas as well as across the borough.

7.0.367 Health - studies show that living next to trees positively influences health and well-being. As the
Council is proactively concerned with the health of Swale’s resident’s new tree planting in new development,
new woodlands or new tree planting in existing areas is expected.

7.0.368 Safety - research suggests that street trees improve driving safety further bolstering the need
for street trees in new development and, where possible, on existing streets.

7.0.369 Public amenity - the visual quality of a town is rated more positively the greater the amount of
roadside vegetation. The aim is to ensure Swale is attractive for its residents and visitors alike by protecting
existing woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows whilst also further extending the quantity and quality of
the same.

7.0.370 Hydrological effects - trees help reduce or prevent flooding. As a proportion of Swale is at risk
of flooding measures such as retention of existing vegetation which contributes flood protection and new
vegetation which assists with reduces flood risk such as storm water planters will be required.

7.0.371 Shading and cooling - a tree canopy is more effective than other green infrastructure at reducing
overall temperatures in towns. In response to the Council’s climate emergency tree planting is a key measure
to reduce temperatures in towns.

191The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 213



7.0.372 Carbon sequestration - trees store atmospheric carbon-dioxide mitigating global warming. In
response to the Council’s climate emergency measures which maximise the reduction of atmospheric
carbon such as new tree planting is expected.

7.0.373 Biodiversity - urban trees have considerable potential to sustain and enhance urban biodiversity.
Again in response to the Council’s climate emergency emphasis on biodiversity, including protection of and
expansion of woodland, tree planting and hedgerow protection and planting are key.

7.0.374 Social - more social interaction is observed in spaces with trees compared to treeless spaces
of the same size. Positive use of the borough’s green spaces for social interaction is encouraged.

7.0.375 Ancient and replanted woodland in Swale stretches from the Blean and across the North Downs.
Traditional orchards are found in the fruit belt of the Borough - which runs along the A2 corridor and stretches
into the North Downs - as well as in isolated locations on the Isle of Sheppey. Scrub is often undervalued
but is important as a habitat as well as a nursery for future woodland stocks. Many woodlands and old
orchards in Kent are no longer used for timber/fruit products in a way that would otherwise ensure their
positive long term management for flora and fauna. The Council is keen to support the innovative and
sustainable use and management of woodlands for such activities as renewable energy, but also as a
resource for education (e.g. forest/wild schools). Carefully planned appropriate development, the intended
purpose of which is to further the sustainable management of woodland/old orchards, may be supported
by the Council where in accordance with the Local Plan.

7.0.376 As well as the potential removal of woodland, development can threaten the sustainable
management of woodland. This might be as a result of increased recreational pressures from new residents,
the sub-division or lotting of woodland (or development associated with it), or the incorporation of woodland
into residential curtilages. Such impacts will need to be assessed as part of a planning application and
where the landscape and/or biodiversity interest of woodlands would be threatened, planning permission
will be refused unless the benefits of development in that location clearly outweigh these concerns.

7.0.377 Indigenous hedgerows are important for wildlife as they contain a variety of species, with some
containing ancient stock, as well as contributing to the ecological network. They are also important in
landscape terms as wildlife and historical features. Hedgerows should be retained and new lengths
established where affected by new development. Hedgerows also provide good screens.

7.0.378 Planting woodland, trees and hedges in new development can be an essential means to integrate
development into its context and enhance quality and character. They can also provide habitats, improve
air quality, provide rainwater attenuation and shade – thereby playing an important role in adapting to
climate change. New developments should set aside generous space for tree planting and hedgerows in
the open spaces, on the boundaries, on the streets and within the gardens and this should be incorporated
into applications. Trees and hedgerows should primarily be native trees of local provenance and should
include large tree species.

7.0.379 The NPPF (para 170) states that planning policies and decisions should recognise the benefit
of trees and woodland, enhance the natural environment and provide net gains for biodiversity. In addition,
planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which includes
public places such as all types of green spaces and tree lined streets.

7.0.380 The NPPF (para 174) states that planning permission should be refused for development resulting
in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland, and ancient or veteran
trees, unless “there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists”

7.0.381 The Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation)(England) Regulations 2012 introduced a
single set of procedures for all trees covered by tree preservation orders. Planning Practice Guidance 2014
gives advice on Tree Preservation Orders and trees in Conservation Areas. The Council is responsible for
making Tree Preservation orders either at its own initiative or in response to a request by any other party
where trees and hedges make a positive contribution to local amenity. Any works to trees within a
Conservation area or to trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) require consent from the Council.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021192

Development management policies7

Page 214



When development proposals are submitted that may affect woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows the
Council will require the submission of a tree survey in accordance with British Standards. Before permitting
development proposals the Council expects any existing trees or cover to have been protected as far as
is reasonable. Where it is accepted that development necessitates their removal, the Council will normally
require appropriate replacements to be planted. In the case of proposals affecting a tree subject to a Tree
Preservation Order, the Council will only permit it if it is in the interest of good arboricultural practice or
public safety. Again, in such cases, replacements will be required

7.0.382 This year the government consulted on new policies to expand tree cover both in the countryside
and urban areas, support woodlandmanagement and increase public engagement with trees and woodlands.
The England Tree Strategy is due to be published and an amendment to this policy may be required to
reflect the new government policy.

7.0.383 Supplementary PlanningGuidance (SPG), Planting on newDevelopments - A guide for Developers
and the Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal Supplementary Planning Document, 2011,
are both useful resources and should be referred to by applicants when applying for planning permission.
The Council aims to update the SPG in the for coming plan period which will set out its vision, goals and
strategy for tree planting across the borough.

7.0.384 The Trees and Design Action Group (TDAG) have published a series of useful guides which
should be referred to. In particular, the guide ‘Trees in Hard Landscapes’ provides technical information
to ensure successful planting in paved areas and car parks.

Policy DM 29

Woodland, orchards, trees and hedgerows

The Council will normally require new development to contribute to the overall tree population through
on-site structural planting, street trees and tree planting within open spaces maintained by on-going
management. Or through planning conditions and ‘Section 106 Agreements’ dedicated to the planting
of trees in the locality.

The Council seeks to ensure the protection, enhancement and sustainable management of woodlands,
orchards, trees and hedgerows. It will:

1. Support carefully planned appropriate development, the intended purpose of which is to further the
sustainable management of woodland and/or old orchards;

2. Ensure that development proposals take all reasonable opportunities to provide for;

a. a varied and sustainable tree population using native and native bee friendly species resilient to
climate change - species suitable for the planting location will be selected, with native species and
species resilient to climate change used where appropriate to maximise wildlife benefit;

b. new woodland, orchard, trees - particularly street trees - and hedgerow planting at a sufficient scale
to maintain and enhance the character of the locality and provide for an attractive living and working
environment;

c. new street trees which will be planted roads leading to new development to contirbute to shading,
air quality and flood attenuation, this includes maintaining single species avenues and using large
growing species where appropriate;

d. species selection which will reflect the type in use locally if resilient to climate change; natural
regeneration of trees will be encouraged where possible;

e. good standards of tree care and woodland management;

193The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 215

http://www.tdag.org.uk/guides--resources.html
http://www.tdag.org.uk/trees-in-hard-landscapes.html


f. appropriate long term management in which new woodlands will be managed as a long term
sustainable resource for the public, for recreation, education and nature conservation - this management
will be in-line with national and local Biodiversity Action Plans, and consistent with guidelines for
safeguarding European Protected species as produced by the Forestry Commission; and

g. good practice for the protection of trees in development sites the Council will impose planning
conditions to protect trees according to BS 5837 (2012) and subsequent revisions where appropriate;

3. Use Tree Preservation and Hedgerow Protection Orders to safeguard species which have a
significant impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the public. Where removal of trees
and hedgerows is unavoidable, the Council will require appropriate replacements as a condition of a
planning permission.

The Council will give consent for works to a tree or woodland protected by a Tree Preservation Order
provided it is satisfied that:

a) The long term health and appearance of the tree or woodland will not be impaired;

b) The works will not unjustifiably inhibit or prevent the full and natural development of the tree;

c) The work is necessary to its continued retention and consistent with good arboricultural practice;

d) In the case of woodland, the proposed work is consistent with the principles of sound woodland
management; and

e) There are sound arboricultural and/or safety reasons for the work.

Any unauthorised works to protected trees, both above and below ground, will be investigated and
enforcement action taken where expedient.

There will be a presumption against the removal or destruction of any hedgerow that is considered
important according to the HedgerowRegulations 1997. Any unauthorised works to important hedgerows
will be investigated and enforcement action taken where appropriate

4. Unless the need for, and benefits of development in a location clearly outweigh the adverse impacts,
planning permission will be refused where there:

a. is a loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, including ancient woodland, aged or veteran
trees and ancient hedgerows; or

b. would be an inability to secure the beneficial management of woodland, old orchards or hedgerows
for their landscape, historic or biodiversity interest (including as a result of their sub-division/lotting or
incorporation into a residential curtilage); or

c. would be a loss of trees (including individual trees, old orchards, fruit trees, hedgerows and woodland
scrub) that make an important contribution either to the amenity, historic, landscape, townscape or
biodiversity value of the site and/or the surrounding area

7.0.385 Agricultural land

7.0.386 Swale has some of the highest quality agricultural land in England and the aim of this policy is
to ensure that it is only developed when there is an overriding need, when alternative options have been
examined first and whilst having regard to other sustainability considerations.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021194

Development management policies7

Page 216



7.0.387 Agricultural land is classified by a grading system of 1-5, with Grade 1 being of the highest quality
and 5 the worst. Grades 1, 2 and 3a are defined as the best and most versatile (23). The National Planning
Policy Framework states that planning policies should take into account the economic and other benefits
of best and most versatile agricultural land (24). Where significant development of agricultural land can be
demonstrated as being necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of higher quality
(25).

7.0.388 Swale is one of the most productive agricultural areas in Kent due to the soils and favourable
climatic conditions. There is a broad belt of Grades 1 and 2 agricultural land running east to west around
the A2, with a large area of Grade 3 south of the M2 and smaller areas of Grades 2 and 3 on the Isle of
Sheppey. Around 80% of Swale’s land is classified as being suitable for some form of agriculture (grades
1-5), with the Borough containing approximately 17% of Kent’s Grades 1 and 2 resource.

7.0.389 Agriculture in Swale therefore continues to shape the nature and character of the countryside
and remains associated with a long history of fruit production as well as the wider mixture of arable crops
and livestock that we see today. As of 2016, more than 24,000 hectares of land is farmed in Swale (26) and
this shapes much of the diversity of the Borough’s environment, including internationally important estuarine
and coastal habitats in the North Kent Marshes, the central plain of orchards and arable land, the wooded
clay outcrop of The Blean and the southern woodlands and dry chalk valleys of the North Downs dip-slope.
In 2014, activity on best and most versatile land in Swale was estimated to support between £105 million
£225 million of output each year (27).

Picture 7.0.13 Farmed landscape near Faversham

7.0.390 Policy DM 30, in recognition of the
importance of the agricultural sector to the Borough
in terms of its identity, environment and economy,
looks to safeguard one of its most important
resources – its soils, and in particular, the proportion
of best and most versatile land that is present here.
Soil is an essential natural capital asset that provides
important ecosystem services, not just for
agriculture, but also as a store for carbon and water,
as a reservoir of biodiversity and as a buffer against
pollution.

7.0.391 Development of agricultural land should
be avoided in the first instance, but where this is
demonstrated as being an overriding necessity, and
having examined alternative options first, it should
be directed to areas of lower quality land in
preference to that of a higher quality. Therefore, the

presence of best and most versatile land on a site should have a strong influence on whether development
should be permitted.

23 Guide to assessing development proposals on agricultural land (January 2018), Natural England
24 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG paragraph 170b
25 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), MHCLG footnote 53
26 Farming Statistics (December 2017) DEFRA
27 Value of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land in Swale (October 2015) eftec

195The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 217

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


Policy DM 30

Agricultural land

Development on agricultural land will only be permitted when there is an overriding need that cannot
be met on land within the built-up area boundaries as shown on the Proposals Map insert link.
Development on best and most versatile agricultural land will only be permitted if:

1. The site is allocated for development by the Local Plan; or

2. There is no alternative site on land of a lower grade than 3a or the use of land of a lower grade
would significantly and demonstrably work against the achievement of sustainable development; and

3. The development would not result in the remainder of the agricultural holding becoming not viable
or lead to accumulated and significant losses of best and most versatile agricultural land.

The Coast

7.0.392 Swale’s 111km coastline, the longest of any Kent district, is one of the borough’s defining features
and an essential part of its green & blue infrastructure network. The coast combines a wide range of assets,
including:

Seaside resorts at Sheerness, Minster, Warden & Leysdown
Swathes of wetlands and marshes along The Swale and The Medway, designated internationally and
nationally for their biodiversity interest and representing a distinctive proportion of Kent’s ecological
sites
Marine Conservation Zones at the Medway and the Swale Estuaries
Geologically important cliffs on the north coast of Sheppey
Locally valued and designated, tranquil, remote and wild landscapes along the Swale and Medway
Estuaries
Creeks at Queenborough, Halstow, Funton, Milton, Conyer, Oare and Faversham
A Country Park at Milton Creek, Sittingbourne and Coastal Parks at Barton’s Point, Sheerness and
Leysdown
A long and rich history and built heritage, in particular at Queenborough, Sheerness and Faversham
A natural deep-water harbour and historic former naval dockyard at Sheerness Docks
A fishing port at Queenborough
Docks at Ridham with connections to the road and rail network
Quays and/or marinas at Queenborough, Otterham, Lower Halstow, Conyer, Oare and Faversham
Landing stages at Oare and Harty
Water sports along the north Sheppey coast and the borough’s creeks
The Saxon Shore Way and English Coastal Path

7.0.393 Swale’s coast faces particular threats, including from climate change (including coastal squeeze
of habitats, flooding and erosion) as well as the pressures of development generally. The policy aims to
balance the needs of development with those of the coast’s sensitive and changing environment, within
the context of a wide range of plans and policies at work along the coast. It is also important in meeting
the Local Plan’s vision of coastal rejuvenation.

The legal, policy and local context

7.0.394 The Marine Strategy Framework has been transposed into UK law, via the Marine Strategy
Regulations 2010. These regulations require the UK to take necessary measures to achieve or maintain

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021196

Development management policies7

Page 218



Good Environmental Status (GES) of our seas by 2020 through the development of a Marine Strategy. The
Marine Strategy, including the characteristics of Good Environmental Status, how they are monitored and
the programme of measures to achieve GES has to be reviewed every six years.

7.0.395 The Water Environment (Water Frameworks Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017
establishes a legal framework to protect and restore clean water and ensure long-term and sustainable
use.

7.0.396 The Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009:

1. requires a publicly accessible long-distance route and land for open-air recreation around the coast
of England

2. designates and protects Marine Conservation Zones (MCZs) which exist alongside European sites
(Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protected Areas (SPAs)), SSSIs and Ramsar
sites. The Marine Conservation Zones of within the borough are The Swale Estuary MCZ and The
Medway Estuary MCZ.

3. defines arrangements for the system of marine management and planning in the UK and the creation
of the Marine Management Organisation (MMO);

7.0.397 The UK Marine Policy Statement (MPS, 2011) is the framework for the marine planning system.
All public authorities taking authorisation or enforcement decisions that affect or might affect the UK marine
areas must do so in accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 and any relevant adopted
Marine Plan (in Swale the South East Inshore Marine Plan – see below) or the UK Marine Policy Statement
unless relevant considerations indicate otherwise.

7.0.398 The National Planning Policy Framework, (NPPF, 2019) requires planning policies and decisions
to contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment through maintaining the character of the
undeveloped coast, whilst improving public access to it where appropriate . It explains how policies and
decisions should take account of the UK Marine Policy Statement and marine plans and apply Integrated
Coastal Zone Management across local authority and land/sea boundaries, to ensure effective alignment
of the terrestrial and marine planning regimes . Integrated Coastal Zone Management is described in
Planning Practice Guidance as a process to allow a joined up and participative approach towards the
planning and management of different elements in coastal areas, following key principles, including: a long
term view; a holistic approach working with relevant bodies; working with natural processes and reflecting
local characteristics. Planning practice guidance sets out how local planning authorities should collaborate
with the Marine Management Organisation and adopt the principles of the Coastal Concordat (see below
for more detail on the MMO and the Coastal Concordat).

7.0.399 Work is well underway on the England Coast Path, a new National Trail around all of England’s
Coast. The sections relevant to Swale are 28 (Isle of Sheppey), 29 (Whitstable to Iwade) and 30 (Iwade to
Grain). Natural England hope to have all stretches approved and with works underway by the end of 2021.

7.0.400 The Government’s A Green Future: Our 25 Year Environment Plan to Improve the Environment
(2018) seeks to achieve good environmental status of our seas whilst allowing marine industries to thrive,
as well as to complete an ecologically coherent network of well-managed marine protected areas (MPAs).
It aims to improve ‘at least three quarters of our waters to be close to their natural state as soon as practical
by…reaching or exceeding objectives for rivers, lakes, coastal and groundwaters…whether for biodiversity
or drinking water… ’ It seeks to reduce the risk of harm to people, the environment and the economy from
natural hazards including flooding, drought and coastal erosion including by making sure everyone is able
to access the information they need to assess any risks to their lives and livelihoods, health and prosperity
posed by flooding and coastal erosion. It also promotes action to reduce the risk of harm from flooding and
coastal erosion including through the greater use of natural flood management solutions.

7.0.401 The Marine Management Organisation (MMO) delivers UK marine policy objectives for English
waters through statutory Marine Plans and other measures. Swale is within the South East Inshore Marine
Plan area. The draft South East Inshore Marine Plan was published in January 2020, at which point it

197The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 219



became a material consideration in planning decisions. It is due to be adopted in Spring 2021 and once
adopted it will become a statutory document. Under the Marine and Coastal Access Act, any authorisation
or enforcement decisions must be made in accordance with the marine plan. Any other decisions which
may impact the marine area must have regard to the marine plan. The East Inshore and East Offshore
Marine Plans and the South Inshore and Offshore Marine Plans are the adjacent plans to the South East
Inshore Marine Plan and should be considered where appropriate.

7.0.402 The MMO is also responsible for issuing marine licences which may be needed for activities
ranging frommooring private jetties to nuclear power plants and offshore windfarms. These may also require
consideration under TheMarineWorks (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2007 (as amended).
The MMO also issue consents under the Electricity Act 1989 (as amended) for offshore generating stations
(1-100 megawatts) and are a statutory consultee to the Planning Inspectorate for relevant nationally
significant infrastructure projects.

7.0.403 Early consultation with the MMO is advised to ensure the effect on coastal processes are
minimised or mitigated.

7.0.404 It should be noted that the boundary for marine plans extends up to the level of the mean high
water spring tide mark and therefore there will be overlap with terrestrial plans, which generally extend to
the mean low water springs mark.

7.0.405 TheMarine Information System is a new digital mapping service of plans, policies and information
relating to the marine environment. Please note that Google Chrome is recommended when using this
system.

7.0.406 The Coastal Concordat for England is an agreement between the Department for Environment,
Farming and Rural Affairs, the Department for Transport, the Department for Communities and Local
Government, the Marine Management Organisation, Natural England, the Environment Agency, the Local
Government Association and National Parks England. The concordat provides a framework within which
separate processes for consenting coastal developments in England can be better coordinated. It is expected
that all councils will be signed up to the Coastal Concordat by 2021.

7.0.407 The Isle of Grain to South Foreland and the Medway Estuary and Swale Shoreline Management
Plans (SMPs) have been prepared by the South East Coastal Group and identify sustainable long-term
management policies for Swale’s coast in the face of climate change and sea-level rise. Following on from
these the Environment Agency (EA) has now finalised and adopted the Medway Estuary and Swale Flood
and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy (MEASS). This strategy sets out the economic,
environmental and technical approach to managing flood and coastal erosion risk over the next 100 years.
The principal objectives of the strategy are to reduce flood and erosion risk to properties and infrastructure
in light of coastal change over the next 100 years and maintain the integrity of the Natura 2000 nature
protection sites at risk of coastal squeeze.

7.0.408 The Swale Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2020) determined the extent of flood risk in Swale.
More detail on this can be found in Policy DM 36, Flood Risk.

7.0.409 The Environment Agency’s National Coastal Erosion Risk Mapping Project aims to improve
public access to the latest knowledge on coastal erosion via an online information tool.

7.0.410 The North Sheppey Erosion Study (2011) assessed cliff erosion along the North Sheppey coast
from Minster to Leysdown, in particular undefended frontage where the Shoreline Management Policy is
for ‘no active intervention’. Cliff erosion is predicted to increase significantly over the next 100 years as a
result of climate change. It also looks at options for managing action. This study informed the development
of the borough’s Coastal Change Management Area, as set out in Policy DM 32.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021198

Development management policies7

Page 220



7.0.411 CC2150 Coastal Communities 2150 project aimed to develop community resilience to the risks
and opportunities presented by potential changes to the climate along the Kent coast through improving
knowledge and disseminating climate change projections, developing adaptation strategies and engaging
communities.

7.0.412 The North Kent Bird Disturbance Study examined the combined effects of development across
north Kent districts for their effects on the Special Protection Areas (SPA), with a particular focus on wintering
waterfowl, and established a mechanism to provide funding from development contributions for mitigation
along the north Kent Marshes. More details on this can be found in Policy ST 10.

7.0.413 The conservation objectives, published by Natural England, for the internationally and nationally
designated biodiversity sites which stretch along the Borough’s coast are a fundamental objective to be
considered in any development proposal along the coast. More detail on these designations is set out in
Policy DM 24.

7.0.414 The coastline of Swale lies within Natural England’s National Character Area profile 81. Greater
Thames Estuary. In summary, the environmental opportunities identified for this area are:

maintain and enhance the expansive, remote coastal landscape, maintain internationally important
habitats and their wildlife and underlying geodiversity, while addressing climate change and coastal
processes
work with landowners and managers to improve environmental quality, climate adaptation, prevention
of soil erosion and maintain historic character
maintain the tranquil and remote character of the estuary, whilst increasing opportunities for recreation
and enjoyment of the landscape
encourage a strategic approach to development that is informed by and makes a positive contribution
to local character, incorporates green infrastructure, promotes recreation and addresses climate
change while maintaining habitats, historic and geological features

7.0.415 Three of the borough’s Local Landscape Designations (the North Kent Marshes: MedwayMarshes,
the North Kent Marshes: South Swale and the North Kent Marshes: North Swale) run along the coast of
the borough. The Statements of Significance outline the qualities and attributes of these areas and the
requirements going forward – in essence to conserve and enhance the rich biodiversity, sense of remoteness
and wildness. These statements should be responded to in any development proposals for Swale’s coastline
along with other requirements for the landscapes of Swale, as outlined in Policy DM 25 Conserving and
enhancing valued landscapes.

7.0.416 The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal (2011) Supplementary Planning
Document is a key resource in ensuring the protection and enhancement of the whole of the Borough’s
landscapes and habitats, including at the coast. More detail on this can also be found in Policy DM 25.

7.0.417 The Swale Visitor Economy Framework and Action Plan has been developed by the Borough
Council in consultation with stakeholders. The Action Plan contains specific ‘deliverables’ to improve the
coastline, sea front and estuary offer across the borough – working with artists, the community, hospitality
and leisure providers. It seeks to promote the England Coast Path within the borough, for instance by
encouraging locals to take an entrepreneurial approach to initiatives that support increased coastal access.
It aims to improve cycle and walking infrastructure and opportunities including ‘Wildlife and Heritage Trails’
linking the Downs to the Coast. It also seeks to develop water activities such as sailing, wind surfing, wild
swimming, boat tours and increased moorings at Milton Creek, as part of that specific area’s wider
regeneration.

Policy application

7.0.418 Any development proposal for the coast in Swale should demonstrate how it has responded to
the plans, policies and studies outlined above.

199The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 221



7.0.419 This policy applies to both the developed and undeveloped coasts. The developed coast is
represented by that inside the defined built up area boundaries shown on the Proposals Map, whilst the
undeveloped coast is that beyond it, and its hinterland is defined as the land which directly relates to this
coastline in terms of landscape or land use.

7.0.420 The policy also references seascape and coastal processes. Seascape is defined in the Marine
Policy Statement, 2011, as landscapes with views of the coast or seas,

7.0.421 and coasts and the adjacent marine environment with cultural, historical and archaeological links
with each other. Coastal processes can be described as the processes of erosion, transportation and
deposition in which coasts are shaped by the sea and the action of waves.

Policy DM 31

The Coast

Planning permission will be granted for development proposals at or near the coast subject
to:

1. Demonstrating the protection, management and enhancement, as appropriate, of biodiversity,
landscape, seascape and coastal processes;

2. Maintaining or enhancing access to the coast where it can be appropriately managed;
3. Enabling wildlife to build resilience and adapt to the effects of climate change and contributing

towards the Local Plan's Green and Blue Infrastructure Plan and ensuring Biodiversity Net Gain
as required by Policy ST 10 and DM 24 ;

4. Supporting, where appropriate, sustainable and healthy fisheries and protection and enhancement
of the marine and coastal environment in line with the objectives of the South East Inshore Marine
Plan, the Marine Conservation Zones and the other relevant international and national biodiversity
designations;

5. Maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast; demonstrating conformity with the opportunities
identified in Natural England’s Greater Thames Estuary ‘Statements of Environmental Opportunity’
and the requirements set out in Swale’s Local Landscape Designation’s Statements of Significance
for the relevant coastal designation as well as the guidelines within the Swale Landscape Character
and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD;

6. Taking account of the policies and proposals of the Shoreline Management Plans, the Medway
Estuary and Swale Flooding and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and the South East
Inshore Marine Plan;

7. Reference, as appropriate, the deliverables of the Swale Visitor Economy Framework and Action
Plan;

8. Proposals within the built up area boundaries as defined on the Proposals Maps, contributing to
the rejuvenation of the developed coast, particularly where enhancing either existing industrial
and maritime infrastructure, coastal heritage, tourism or environmental management;

9. Proposals outside the built-up area boundaries, at the undeveloped coast and its hinterland,
supporting conservation, enhancement and net gain;

10. Compliance with Policy DM 32 for the Coastal Change Management Area.

Coastal Change Management

7.0.422 As a coastal borough, Swale is at the forefront of coastal change from erosion, coastal landslip
and permanent inundation. The aim of this policy is to reduce risk from coastal change by avoiding
inappropriate development in vulnerable areas or adding to the impacts of physical changes to the coast.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021200

Development management policies7

Page 222



7.0.423 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) specifies that the planning system should take
full account of coastal change . The NPPF requires local plans to identify as Coastal Change Management
Areas (CCMAs) any area likely to be affected by physical changes to the coast as well as be clear as to
what development will be appropriate in such areas, and in what circumstances, and make provision for
development and infrastructure that needs to be relocated away from Coastal Change Management Areas.
The NPPF also sets out when development may be appropriate in CCMAs (ie it needs to be safe, not
impact on coastal change, not compromise the character of the coast, provide wider sustainability benefits
and does not hinder the development of the England coastal path) and explains when the lifetime of the
planned development should be limited .

7.0.424 Planning Practice Guidance also gives advice on what comprises a CCMA, how to define a
CCMA, what development would be appropriate within a CCMA as well as guidance on vulnerability
assessments and what they should include, limiting the planning lifetime of development, the relocating of
development away from CCMAs and permitted development rights in a CCMA.

How has the CCMA been defined in Swale and what do the different erosion zones mean?

7.0.425 The Coastal Change Management Area has been defined as the areas of coastline likely to be
affected by physical changes to the coast, such as erosion, coastal landslip, permanent inundation (i.e.
land lost permanently to the sea) and accretion (land increasing due to addition of sediment). It has been
defined within Swale and shown on the Proposals Map with the agreement of the Environment Agency,
using the experience gathered from the relevant Shoreline Management Plans, the North Sheppey Erosion
Study, Swale's Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and the National Coastal Erosion Risk Mapping project.
More detail on these studies can be found in Policy DM 31 The Coast. The boundary of the Coastal Change
Management Area will be reviewed periodically and updated when evidence suggests this is necessary.

7.0.426 For further details on how the CCMA has been defined for Swale and to viewmore detailed maps
of the CCMA, see the Coastal Change Management Area Technical Paper No.1, Swale Borough Council,
2013 (Ref CD/085-085p). The definition of the boundary to the CCMA has been relatively high level in
nature. In cases where more detailed technical evidence is provided as part of a planning application, the
Council will consider these issues in consultation with the Environment Agency.

7.0.427 The CCMA includes an area along Sheppey’s north coast where erosion and landslip occurs.
This erosion area is separated into:

Erosion Zone 1 (defined as land between the low water mark and the 50 year indicative erosion line
on the Proposals Map); and
Erosion Zone 2 (defined as land between the 50 year indicative erosion line and the 100 year indicative
erosion line on the Proposals Map).

7.0.428 Within each zone different types of development may be appropriate. For example, within the
50 year zone, Erosion Zone 1, development directly related to the coast, but less permanent and readily
moveable, such as beach huts, cafés, car parks and sites for holiday caravans and camping may be
permitted. Within the 100 year zone, Erosion Zone 2, more substantial development may be appropriate,
although here proposals will need to be accompanied by an assessment of how the impact of coastal
change on the development and the service it provides will be managed.

7.0.429 Within both Erosion Zones 1 and 2, a Coastal Erosion Vulnerability Assessment will need to
accompany planning applications. This should include the requirements set out in Planning Practice
Guidance for vulnerability assessments as well as: the level of vulnerability to coastal erosion (as assessed
through site history, site inspection and site investigation) and how this will be mitigated; the predicted
lifetime of the development and the impact of coastal change on the development and the service it provides;
plans for managing the cessation or relocation of the development, including clearing the site; details of
responsible parties and what role they will play; and costs for managing the impact of coastal change on
the site and who will be responsible for these.

201The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 223



7.0.430 Some water-compatible development may be permitted within the CCMA. For the purposes of
this policy water-compatible development is defined as that set out in Table 2: Flood risk vulnerability
classification in Planning Practice Guidance

7.0.431 On a case by case basis, this policy (DM 32) sets out criteria for when provision needs to be
made for development and infrastructure to be relocated away from Coastal Change Management Area.
It also ensures that development in a CCMA is not impacted by coastal change by limiting the planned
life-time of the proposed development through temporary permission and restoration conditions where
necessary to reduce the risk to people and the development.

Policy DM 32

Coastal change management

Within the Coastal Change Management Area (CCMA), as defined on the Proposals Map, planning
permission will be granted for development proposals subject to:

1. It being demonstrated that the proposal will not result in an increased risk to life, nor a significant
increase in risk to property;

2. The proposal comprising:

a. essential infrastructure; or
b. a Ministry of Defence installation; or
c. an agricultural building(s); or
d. water-compatible development; or
e. (within Erosion Zones 1 or 2) a use as defined by criterion 3 or 4, below, as appropriate.

3. Proposals within Erosion Zone 1 being directly related to the coast and less permanent in nature,
construction and value; or

4. Proposals within Erosion Zone 2 may additionally be permitted when comprising:

a. commercial or leisure activities requiring a coastal location and providing substantial economic,
social and environmental benefits to the community; or

b. key community infrastructure, which has been demonstrated as needing to be sited within
the CCMA to provide the intended benefit to the wider community; or

c. the subdivision of properties, including residential subdivision; or;
d. domestic extensions to residential properties

5. Proposals within Erosion Zones 1 and 2, submitting a Coastal Erosion Vulnerability Assessment
demonstrating that the development will be safe throughout its planned lifetime and will not
increase risk to life or property elsewhere without the need for new or improved coastal defences;
and

6. A temporary planning permission being sought where necessary, together with, as appropriate,
a legal agreement to secure the long-term management of the site.

7. Proposals seeking to relocate development away from the CCMA will:

a. be forecast to be affected by erosion, landslip or permanent inundation within 20 years from
the date of the planning application, as determined by a Coastal Erosion Vulnerability
Assessment or Flood Risk Assessment;

b. be of a similar scale, nature and character as the development it is replacing and be of a
scale and design appropriate to its new context;

c. be located at an appropriate location inland from the CCMA and, where possible, remaining
close to the coastal community from which it was displaced;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021202

Development management policies7

Page 224



d. demonstrate that no suitable site is available within a built-up area boundary or on previously
developed land; and

e. at its current site, ensure that it is cleared, made safe or put to a temporary use beneficial
to the local community who will take long term responsibility for it.

Air Quality

7.0.432 Air pollution poses significant risk to human health and the environment and is an issue of concern
globally, as well as to residents, businesses and the Council within Swale. Swale Borough Council is
committed to improving air quality and protecting the health and amenity of the borough’s current and future
generations.

7.0.433 Land-use planning plays an important role in improving local air quality, strategically by setting
out the broad location for development and locally through individual planning applications. Air quality is a
material planning consideration in relevant planning decisions to ensure future problems are prevented.
There is also a synergy between efforts to address air quality and those to address climate change.

7.0.434 This policy aims to ensure that development within Swale does not lead to a detrimental impact
on air quality and that where air quality is affected, that development is not permitted unless appropriate
mitigation is provided and opportunities for improvements are sought. This policy also aims to ensure the
impact on air quality from individual, cumulative and committed schemes (both inside and outside the
borough) are proportionally addressed. All applications and decisions on air quality in the borough should
take account of national guidance and best practice, the presence of any Air Quality Management Areas,
Clean Air Zones (if declared), the borough’s Air Quality Action Plan and the Swale Air Quality and Planning
- Technical Guidance 2019 and updates.

The legal, policy and local context

7.0.435 Air quality in the UK is co-ordinated by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
(Defra). The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, 2007, provides an
over-arching strategic framework for air quality management. The strategy includes national Air Quality
Objectives (AQOs) and limit values for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulates (PM10 and PM2.5), along
with several other pollutants prescribed in the Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010.

7.0.436 Clean Air Strategy 2019 sets out the actions required across government and society to improve
air quality to protect health, the environment, secure clean growth, reduce emissions and monitor progress.
It complements other UK government strategies including the Clean Growth Strategy and the 25 Year
Environment Plan.

7.0.437 UK Air is Defra’s Air Information Resource and is a free to use database of air quality information
for the country which contains information on national air quality objectives, monitoring data and networks.
It also holds a comprehensive library of air quality information. Kent Air website is a useful resource for air
quality in Kent.

7.0.438 The Institute of Air Quality Management’s document Land-Use Planning & Development Control:
Planning For Air Quality, 2017 has been prepared to ensure that air quality is adequately considered in the
land-use planning and development control process and provides guidance as to how to reach sound
decisions on air quality and planning matters.

7.0.439 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) sets the scene for planning for air quality
in England. Paragraph 103 states that ‘Significant development should be focused on locations which are
or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport
modes. This can help to reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health’.

203The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 225



7.0.440 Paragraph 170 goes on to say: ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance
the natural and local environment by:….e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to,
being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water
or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local
environmental conditions such as air and water quality ’.

7.0.441 Paragraph 180 states ‘Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development
is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution
on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or
the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development’. Importantly, paragraph 181 goes on to
say that ‘Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant
limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management
Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities
to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel management,
and green infrastructure provision and enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be
considered at the plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be
reconsidered when determining individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new
development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality
action plan. ’.

7.0.442 Planning Practice Guidance on Air Quality (PPG) explains the legally binding limits for
concentrations of air pollutants and explains the air quality considerations that planning needs to address,
with regard to public health, habitats and biodiversity and the formation of ozone. The guidance sets out
Defra’s national assessment of air quality and the local air quality management (LAQM) regime which
requires each local authority to review and assess local air quality and explains when it is necessary to
declare Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs). The guidance also explains that air quality considerations
may also be relevant to habitats and species.

7.0.443 The PPG also sets out the role of plan-making with regard to air quality recognising that all
development plans can influence air quality, for example through what development is proposed and where,
and the provision for sustainable transport. Consideration of air quality issues at the plan-making stage
can ensure a strategic approach to air quality and help secure net improvements in overall air quality. The
guidance makes it clear that it is important to take into account AQMAs, Clean Air Zones and areas such
as sensitive habitats or designated sites of importance for biodiversity. Air quality is also an important
consideration in habitats assessment, strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal and
can help shape an appropriate strategy for a local plan.

7.0.444 The PPG also contains information on:

where information on air quality can be found
when air quality considerations could be relevant to the development management process
the decision-making process with regard to air quality (a flowchart)
the importance of engaging at an early stage with the planning and environmental health departments
when the Environment Agency might need to be involved
the specific issues that may need to be considered
information on the detail required in an air quality assessment and the importance of discussing
requirements with the local planning authority
detail on how air quality can be mitigated

Air Quality in Swale

7.0.445 Swale Borough Council has a statutory obligation to ensure air quality is reviewed and assessed.
If levels of air pollution exceed national Air Quality Objectives (AQOs), the Local Authority is required to
declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an Air Quality Action Plan, which sets out
the intended measures in pursuit of the AQOs. The emissions of particular concern in Swale are nitrogen
dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10), associated with traffic and congestion. Swale Borough Council

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021204

Development management policies7

Page 226



has a comprehensive monitoring network for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10 and
PM2.5).There are currently 6 AQMAs in Swale at Newington, Keycol Hill, St Paul Street (Sittingbourne),
East Street (Sittingboune), Teynham and Ospringe. These AQMAs are concentrated along the historic
Watling Street, now the A2, the main route through the borough. Details on these AQMAS can be found
on the air quality pages of the Council’s website.

7.0.446 The declaration of an AQMA does not mean that there will be no new development within that
area. Rather, it means that greater weight must be given to the consideration of air quality impacts and
their mitigation.

7.0.447 The AQAP sets both strategic and local measures targeted at improving air quality in the
designated AQMAs and across the borough as a whole. The Swale Borough Council Air Quality Action
Plan may evolve in response to funding, adaptation of measures and policy changes. Applicants should
refer to the latest, relevant AQAPs in their applications.

7.0.448 Swale Borough Council’s Air Quality and Planning - Technical Guidance (November, 2019 and
updates) has been adapted from the Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership’s Air Quality Planning
Guidance (December 2015) in response to changes in national planning policy, including updates to the
NPPF and the increased number of planning applications in Swale in which air quality has been a specific
issue. The document:

Explains how air quality is dealt with in planning applications in Swale, providing clarity and consistency
for developers, the local planning authority (LPA) and local communities.
Provides guidance on the requirements for Air Quality Statements.
Sets out the mitigation requirements expected for development, including standard mitigation for all
development.
Sets out when an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) is required, how this should be undertaken and how
it will be used to determine the air quality impacts of planning applications.
Explains the emissions mitigation assessment (including damage cost calculations) expected for
development with potential air quality impacts.

7.0.449 The guidance primarily focuses on air quality impacts from traffic emissions; however, dust also
contributes airborne particulate matter. It should be noted that the IAQM document ‘Guidance on the
assessment of dust from demolition and construction’ is the recommended text to refer to to ensure dust
generation is minimised where possible. The Environmental Protection team will recommend conditions to
an application on a case by case basis to ensure dust from all potential sources is addressed (eg a Dust
Management Plan).

7.0.450 An Air Quality Modelling Report of the emerging local plan has been prepared to inform the
Swale Local Plan Review. ADD LINK.

7.0.451 The Swale Borough Council Parking Standards SPD sets out local standards and design
aspirations for vehicle and cycle parking for new development in Swale. This document includes requirements
for parking for ultra low emission vehicles with the objective of improving air quality.

7.0.452 It is the intention of the Council to develop a Supplementary Planning Document on Sustainable
Design & Construction which will contain detail on how Air Quality will be dealt with by Swale Borough
Council. This will supplement or replace the borough’s Air Quality and Planning - Technical Guidance.

Policy application

7.0.453 Early engagement with Swale’s Development Management and Environmental Protection teams
as part of the pre-application process is recommended for all schemes that may have air quality impacts.
Design solutions for improving air quality should be an integral part of the overall design process.

7.0.454 An Air Quality Statement (AQS) is required for all developments (excluding householder
developments) and will need to be prepared to the satisfaction of the LPA. The Air Quality Statement is a

205The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 227



simple check list of questions on the type and size of development, whether it is within an AQMA, information
on parking, heating and layout and any proposed mitigation. If the AQS indicates that the proposed
development may give rise to an impact on local air quality, an Air Quality Assessment is likely to be
required. Details of what is required in an Air Quality Statement can be found in the Air Quality and Planning
- Technical Guidance.

7.0.455 For the purposes of this policy sensitive uses or receptors includes nurseries, schools, hospitals,
care facilities, residential uses and other similar uses.

7.0.456 Applicants should review the Air Quality and Planning - Technical Guidance to determine the
significance of their development and whether an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) is required. As good
practice, applicants should also contact the Environmental Protection Team at the pre-application stage to
discuss the application and requirements for an AQA.

7.0.457 Air quality assessments are required to consider the cumulative impact of known future
developments within an area. With considerable growth planned for Swale Borough and its neighbours it
is likely that this will need to include the air quality impacts from the developments contained in the Swale
Local Plan and neighbouring local plans alongside relevant existing and committed development. In addition,
all major development, or any development where air quality is likely to be a significant issue, is required
to undertake a Transport Assessment and prepare a Travel Plan as set out in Policy DM 10.

7.0.458 Air Quality Assessments should be carried out in line with guidance in the Air Quality and Planning
- Technical Guidance and the most up to date industry-prepared best guidance documents including IAQM’s
Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning For Air Quality , Defra’s Local Air Quality Management
(LAQM) Technical Guidance TG16 and Policy Guidance PG16. The latest available emission factors, LAQM
data, background maps and conversion factors shall be used.

7.0.459 Guidance may be updated to reflect changes in Government policy, good practice and advances
in air quality mitigation; the latest version of the relevant guidance should be consulted. The assessment
may be incorporated into the full Environmental Statement if required for an Environmental Impact
Assessment.

7.0.460 Consideration of air quality during both the development and operational phases will need to be
demonstrated.

7.0.461 Some developments may also require a permit under the Pollution Prevention and Control Act
1999. Under the Climate Levy Agreement some permits close to an AQMA may require stricter measures
beyond Best Available Practice (BAP) to ensure the Air Quality Standards are met. There are various control
measures included within the Air Quality and Planning - Technical Guidance.

7.0.462 The Air Quality and Planning - Technical Guidance sets out the mitigation measures that are
likely to be required, prioritising simple passive measures over active measures and mitigation on site
where possible. Mitigation may need to include measures that support and encourage sustainable travel
such as car clubs and investment in sustainable transport. Mitigation measures should be site specific,
discussed with the borough’s Environmental Protection Team and reference local air quality concerns,
policies and Action Plans.

7.0.463 Where mitigation cannot be achieved on or off site, offsetting a development’s air quality impact
by contributing to air quality improvements elsewhere will be required. The Council is investigating the
implementation of its own offsetting scheme which is likely to include a fund for pooled contributions towards
air quality offsetting. Any requirements for offsetting should use this scheme, when available, or contribute
to a pooled contributions fund, as advised by the Environmental Protection Team.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021206

Development management policies7

Page 228



Policy DM 33

Air Quality

Poor air quality has a detrimental effect on both human health and the environment. Air quality
should be considered in the early stages of a development in consultation with the Borough’s
Environmental Protection Team and with reference to Swale’s Air Quality and Planning -
Technical Guidance 2019 and updates, the ParkingStandardsSupplementary PlanningDocument
and any forthcoming relevant Supplementary PlanningDocuments. The following criteria should
be applied:

1. Proposals should demonstrate they include measures to improve air quality through location,
linkage, layout, land-use, landscaping and building design with passive solutions prioritised over
active measures.

2. All proposals (excluding householder applications) should demonstrate their impact on local air
quality in the form of an Air Quality Statement as set out in the borough’s Air Quality and Planning
- Technical Guidance, 2019 and updates.

3. All proposals should provide standard mitigation as set out in the borough’s Air Quality and
Planning - Technical Guidance, 2019 and updates.

4. Proposals either within, close to, or accessed via one of the Borough’s Air Quality Management
Areas (AQMAs) should demonstrate no adverse effect on air quality in an AQMA that is likely to
lead, in itself or in combination with other schemes, to an exceedance of air quality objectives.

5. Proposals which would introduce or intensify sensitive receptors’ exposure to poor air quality
within or close to AQMAs, or potential AQMAs, should clearly demonstrate measures that mitigate
air quality impacts.

6. Proposals will need to demonstrate that, in itself or in combination with other schemes, the
proposed development will not cause an air quality impact by leading to the likelihood of air quality
objective exceedances or the declaration of a new AQMA.

7. Air quality assessments should be carried out as required by the criteria set out in the borough’s
Air Quality and Planning - Technical Guidance and to the satisfaction of Swale’s Environmental
Protection Team.

8. Air quality assessments should reference the most relevant and accurate data and consider the
cumulative effects on air quality by including an assessment of relevant built and committed
developments both inside and outside the borough.

9. Mitigation measures for developments which have required an Air Quality Assessment need to
be site specific and be prepared with reference to the borough’s Air Quality and Planning -
Technical Guidance and in consultation with the borough’s Environmental Protection Team.

10. Developments that would increase air pollution, either alone or in combination with other relevant
developments already existing or permitted, will not be permitted unless detrimental effects are:

i. Mitigated, to the satisfaction of the borough’s Environmental Protection team and/or if necessary,

ii. Offset, by proportionally contributing to air quality improvements elsewhere; to the satisfaction
of the borough’s Environmental Protection Team and in accordance with Defra’s Emissions
Factor Toolkit, using the Council’s Offsetting or Pooled Contributions Scheme.

Offsetting measures should be linked to objectives in the borough’s Air Quality Action Plan, the Swale
Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy, Swale’s Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD), the Swale Transport Strategy and updates, the borough’s Climate and Ecological Emergency
Action Plan and the forthcoming Sustainable Design and Construction SPD and are likely to be secured
via planning obligations.

207The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 229



Pollution and Land Instability

7.0.464 This is a sister policy of DM 33 Air quality and DM 35 Water quality and water resources and
seeks to ensure that new development is appropriate for its location, doesn’t contribute to pollution and
land instability and seeks to improve environmental conditions and, where appropriate, bring land back to
productive use.

7.0.465 Minimising pollution is one of the issues stated in the National Planning Policy Framework’s
environmental objective, a key aspect of sustainable development. The NPPF sets out that planning policies
and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by ‘preventing new and
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected
by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability’ as well as ‘remediating and
mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land’ . The NPPF goes on to explain
how planning policies and decisions should ensure that sites are suitable for proposed uses, taking account
of ground conditions, land instability and contamination, are remediated to standard and that adequate site
investigation information is available to inform these assessments. It makes clear that responsibility for
securing safe development rests with the developer/landowner.

7.0.466 The NPPF states that planning should ensure that new development is appropriate for its location,
taking into account likely, including cumulative, effects of pollution on health, living conditions and the
natural environment as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or wider area to development impacts. It
sets out that planning policies and decisions should address noise, tranquility and light pollution and ensure
that new development can be appropriately integrated into existing businesses and community facilities,
highlighting that planning is about the acceptable use of land and should not duplicate other permitting
regimes.

7.0.467 Pollution, land contamination and unstable land issues are relevant within Swale, particularly
due to the legacy of past industrial uses and its economic strengths in manufacturing and distribution.
Pollution can be site specific, but is impacts can also be widespread, for instance downstream of sources,
effecting sites designated for their environmental quality. Pollution is also an important concern of residents.

Hazardous substances

7.0.468 Planning Practice Guidance explains planning controls relating to the storage of hazardous
substances and how to handle development proposals around hazardous establishments and the hazardous
substances consent process and regulatory framework. The Council holds a register of relevant sites.

Land contamination

7.0.469 Contamination can harm human health, property, water resources and the wider environment.
Planning Practice Guidance sets out where planning can deal with contamination where not dealt with by
other regimes. The guidance explains the role of site-specific investigations and explains where sources
of information as to whether a site might be contaminated can be found. Applications should check whether
an environmental permit is required.

7.0.470 PPG also explains the role to which local plans will need to consider contamination including
through sustainability appraisal and the choice of land allocations. The PPG sets out what contamination
risk assessments should include. PPG also sets out the level of detail required for applications for outline
planning permission and when planning permission should be refused on grounds of land contamination.
It also includes detail on planning conditions and planning obligations and detail on unacceptable risk. PPG
makes clear that as a minimum and after remediation, land should not be capable of being determined as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

7.0.471 The government’s Land contamination: risk register ADD LINK also gives guidance on the
assessment of unacceptable risk, decisions on options to manage risk and implement remediation where
needed.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021208

Development management policies7

Page 230



7.0.472 It should be remembered that some site investigations themselves may require planning
permission.

7.0.473 Any development on previously developed land in Swale should follow the guidelines contained
in the Council's Environmental Protection Team's Land Contamination: Planning Guidance Document,
2013. The Council's Contaminated Land Strategy (2016) should also be referred to by developers. ADD
LINK

7.0.474 Where development is approved on previously developed land and made subject to a land
contamination condition, the risk assessment undertaken should follow guidance contained in Land
Contamination: Risk Management Guidance on the government website.

Light pollution

7.0.475 Planning Practice Guidance advises how to consider light within the planning system. It explains
what light pollution considerations planning needs to address and when artificial lighting can become light
pollution which can harm people, wildlife and the night sky. Light pollution is particularly harmful in intrinsically
dark landscapes including nature reserves which support native nocturnal animals and can impact on
tranquility. It is important to consider design of lighting schemes early in scheme development as it can be
expensive to rectify later on.

7.0.476 The PPG also gives advice on what factors can be considered when assessing whether a proposal
might have implications for light pollution. These include the impact of existing development on proposed
development, the impact of new development on existing sites and impacts on specialist facilities/intrinsically
dark landscapes, safety concerns, impacts on species and habitats and use of smooth, reflective buildings
(which can affect wildlife). If these impacts are likely the PPG advises that the local planning authority and
applicant should consider:

where the light shines
when the light shines
how much light shines
possible ecological impacts

7.0.477 and it gives details of how to do this and links to best practice, including advice from the Bat
Conservation Trust and the Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers.

7.0.478 The impact of lighting from development can have a significant effect on tranquility. The Institute
of Lighting Professionals has produced free resources to enable lighting to be sympathetically integrated
into development, such as Guidance Notes for the reduction of obtrusive light ADD LINK which should be
referenced in relevant applications. The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, the Campaign
to Protect Rural England, the Campaign for Dark Skies and the Institute of Lighting Professionals has
collaborated to produce an information leaflet, Getting Light Right, designed to demonstrate how to install
their security lights effectively to reduce light pollution.

Noise and vibration

7.0.479 New development may create additional noise or could be sensitive to existing noise and as
such needs to be considered early on in the planning process. Planning Practice Guidance advises how
planning can determine and manage potential noise impacts in new development, seeking specialist
assistance where necessary. It explains what ‘observed effect levels’ are and how it can be established if
noise is a concern (citing the noise exposure hierarchy table), the factors involved (including cumulative
impacts, timing and effect on wildlife). It sets out how the risk of conflict between new and existing
development can be addressed, how to address effects (engineering, layout, conditions, mitigation) and
where other information can be found.

7.0.480 Assessing developments for noise and vibration - both from noise generated from new
developments affecting existing development and new development close to existing noise sources - can

209The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 231



be complex. The relevant British Standards and guidance, including BS4142, BS8233 and BS7445 need
to be considered. The Council’s Environmental Protection Team has published a guidance document,
Noise and Vibration: Planning Technical Guidance Document May 2020. Developers should refer to this
guidance, as well as the latest revised British Standards, in their planning applications.

Land stability

7.0.481 Land instability can result in landslides, subsidence or ground heave and failure to deal with this
issue could cause harm to health, property, infrastructure and the environment. Planning Practice Guidance
sets out advice on how to ensure that development is suitable to its ground condition and how to avoid
risks caused by unstable land or subsidence, explaining why planning authorities should be concerned
about land stability (minimising risk, ensuring development does not occur in unstable locations, and bringing
unstable land back to productive use) and the other regimes involved (eg Building Regulations). PPG
explains the role of plans in planning for land instability, where information on land instability can be found,
the planning mechanism that can be used to mitigate and minimise risks and the steps applicants should
take if they suspect land instability (including a flow chart), what a slope stability report and land stability
risk assessment report should contain and who should prepare them and the role of the Coal Authority.

Policy Application

7.0.482 Planning matters related to pollution prevention and land instability in Swale will be dealt with
via reference to the NPPF, Planning Practice Guidance and other relevant policies within this Plan, informed
by the technical advice of the Council’s Environmental Protection Team and the Environment Agency.
Applicants should refer to the advice in Planning Practice Guidance, as outlined above, and seek the advice
of the Council’s Environmental Protection Team at the pre-application stage.

Policy DM 34

Pollution and Land Instability

1. The responsibility for securing development safe from risks of pollution, land contamination and
land instability rests with the developer and or landowner.

2. Development will only be permitted where:

a. appropriate assessment of all risks by competent persons has been carried out to the
satisfaction of the Council’s Environmental Health Team;

b. it can be demonstrated that development is appropriate for its location and its layout, design,
and construction (including demolition) would not be damaging to the environment, wildlife,
property and sensitive receptors as a result of hazardous substances, land contamination,
noise, vibration or light pollution;

c. on land affected by contamination, it can be demonstrated that the contamination and land
gas can be satisfactorily managed or remediated so that it is suitable for the proposed end
use and will not impact on the groundwater environment, human health, buildings and the
wider environment, during demolition and construction phases as well as during the future
use of the site;

d. on unstable land, it can be demonstrated that it will be safe for its lifetime, will not lead to
risk to property, infrastructure, the public or wider environment and will seek to bring land
back into productive use.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021210

Development management policies7

Page 232



Water quality and water resources

7.0.483 Clean and plentiful water is essential to our health, the economy and the wider environment and
is a fundamental element of our natural capital. Water quality and water resources are intertwined issues
and are under increased pressure as a result of development’s increased demand for water, urban and
rural pollution, poor land management, unsustainable abstraction and the impacts of climate change. The
aim of this policy is to ensure that new development does not negatively impact the water environment and
takes opportunities to improve the water resource and water quality of Swale to benefit its economy, society
and environment. It should be read in conjunction with Policy DM 36, Flood Risk and DM 37, Sustainable
drainage.

7.0.484 The National Planning Policy Framework explains that ‘planning policies and decisions should
contribute and enhance the natural and local environment’, including by ‘recognising…the wider benefits
from natural capital and ecosystem services’ and by ‘preventing new and existing development from
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
…water…pollution…Development should, wherever possible help to improve local environmental conditions
such as ..water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin management plans’ .
It also states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for
its location taking into account the likely affects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living
conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to
impacts that could arise from the development ’.

7.0.485 Planning Practice Guidance’s chapter on water supply, wastewater and water quality sets out
the legal and policy framework for the water environment and explains how the planning system can plan
positively for water supply and quality. The PPG also explains the detail water quality assessments are
likely to include, as follows:

the likely impacts of the proposed development on water quantity and flow, river continuity and
groundwater connectivity, and biological elements
how the proposed development will affect measures in the river basin management plan to achieve
good status in water bodies to ensure local authorities discharge their duty to have regard to river
basin management plans, including in making planning decisions
how it is intended the development will comply with other relevant regulatory requirements relating to
the water environment, bearing in mind compliance will be secured through the Environment Agency’s
permitting responsibilities.

7.0.486 The Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan sets out what the government intends to do to
improve the environment and includes a goal to see ‘clean and plentiful water’, to ‘improve water quality’,
‘reverse the deterioration of groundwater’, see water use fall and achieve best practice improvement in
leakage reduction.

7.0.487 The Environment Agency’s Challenges and Choices Consultation 2020, highlights that ‘our
waters are threatened by the damage we are causing through development, industry, flood protection and
agriculture. The climate crisis and a growing population are adding to these pressures and without concerted
action will lead to irreparable harm to our planet, ourselves and future generations ’. ‘At the current rate of
progress it will take over 200 years to reach the government’s 25 Year Environment Plan target of at least
75% of waters to be close to their natural state ’ The document highlights a number of specific challenges
including: over-abstraction; chemicals in the water environment; non-native species; physical modifications;
plastics pollution; pollution from agriculture and rural areas as well as from urban areas; pollution from
wastewater.

7.0.488 The government, through DEFRA, encourages a catchment-based approach to improving the
quality of the water environment to achieve long-term, better outcomes through local understanding and
collaboration and transparent decision-making.

211The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 233



Water features in Swale

7.0.489 Water is a defining feature of the environment and landscape of Swale from its downs and
woodlands to the marshes. The principal water feature in the Borough is The Swale, a strip of sea which
separates the mainland from the Isle of Sheppey, designated a main river by DEFRA. There are tidal creeks
at Queenborough, Halstow, Funton, Milton, Conyer, Oare and Faversham as well as mulitple smaller creeks
on Chetney Marshes. Creeks and the The Swale are routinely monitored by the Environment Agency and
do not currently meet Water Framework Directive standard. There are no other distinctive rivers in Swale
but there are a series of spring-fed and surface water streams that flow from the North Downs into the
low-lying land of the Swale/Medwaymarshes and into the Swale. These streams are groundwater dependent,
so changes in water abstraction from the North Downs Chalk aquifer can affect stream flow. A number of
these streams are globally rare chalk streams. Reduced flow and pollution from agricultural source and
surface water run off are negatively affecting the environmental quality of these precious habitats. A WWF
report into chalk streams reports that more than three-quarters are failing to meet the required Water
Framework Directive ‘Good status’ .

7.0.490 Much of the land adjacent to The Swale is comprised of low-lying land drained for agriculture
(grazing marshes) or kept as wetlands (inter-tidal mud flats), designated internationally for their biodiversity
value. The habitat value of these designations depends on adequate water resource and quality aligned
with careful surface water management. The condition of the water environment is key to maintaining and
improving nature conservation across the borough and links to Policy ST 10. Conserving and enhancing
the natural environment.

7.0.491 The relevant river basin management plan for Swale is the Thames River Basin Management
Plan, 2015. This identifies water quality, in particular point source pollution from the water industry, rural
diffuse pollution and urban diffuse pollution as a priority issue.

7.0.492 Groundwater provides the overwhelming majority of Swale’s drinking water and is needed to
keep springs, streams and ditches across the borough healthy and flowing.

7.0.493 The Environment Agency (EA) protects groundwater sources (eg wells, boreholes and springs)
used to supply drinking water from pollution. The EA have defined Groundwater source protection zones
(SPZs) which show the level of risk to the source from contamination, following the principle that the closer
the activity to the water source, the greater the risk of pollution: inner zones (SPZ1) have a 50 day travel
time of pollutant to source, outer zones (SPZ2) have 400 day travel times and SPZ3 shows the total
catchment - the area around a supply source within which all groundwater ends at the abstraction point.
Policy DM 35 seeks to protect water quality including groundwaters in the borough.

7.0.494 The Environment Agency has produced maps of groundwater vulnerability zones. These maps
provide an assessment of the vulnerability of groundwater in overlying superficial rocks and those that
comprise the underlying bedrock. The maps show the vulnerability of groundwater at a location based on
the hydrological, hydrogeological and soil properties within a one-kilometre grid square. The Environment
Agency’s groundwater vulnerability map can be found on Defra’s Magic Interactive mapping website.

7.0.495 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (NVZs) are areas designated as being at risk from agricultural nitrate
pollution. The NVZ in Swale are shown on the following Environment Agency map. Certain rules must be
followed in relation in these areas.

7.0.496 Southern Water provide wastewater treatment across Swale. New development sites have a
legal right to connect to the surface and foul water sewers, but if there is a risk of flooding this is material
consideration in planning decisions. The closest point of contact from development sites to the sewage
systemmay not always have adequate capacity. If new development connects where capacity is insufficient,
both new and existing customers may experience problems such as poor drainage and/or foul water
flooding.

7.0.497 The water companies carry out capacity checks for allocations within the borough and have
identified areas where the existing sewerage and/or water supply network is insufficient to meet anticipated

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021212

Development management policies7

Page 234



demand. Whilst water companies have general duties to enable new development to connect to the water
supply and treatment network, it is very important that early dialogue with the appropriate water company
takes place to ascertain any water supply, drainage and treatment issues which may affect a site, including
ensuring that development proposals allow future access to drainage, sewerage and water supply
infrastructure for maintenance and up-sizing purposes.

7.0.498 This policy (DM 35) seeks to ensure new development is accompanied by adequate drainage
and sewerage infrastructure.

7.0.499 Swale lies within an area of serious water stress as classified by the Environment Agency
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-stressed-areas-2013-classification . Without adequate
planning, water resources and consequent pressures on the environment are likely to become more
stretched within Swale as the population continues to grow.

7.0.500 The water companies relevant to Swale are South East Water and Southern Water. Southern
Water provides wastewater treatment to the whole borough and supplies water to the Isle of Sheppey and
the west of the borough. South East Water provides water to Faversham and the east of the borough. Both
water companies which serve Swale are committed to putting in place the necessary mechanism to support
the development proposed by the Local Plan, following a twin-track approach of reducing demand and
developing new resources.

7.0.501 As identified above, the overwhelming majority of Swale’s water resource is from groundwater.
South East Water’s Water Resource Management Plan (WRMP) identifies the area’s high reliance on
groundwater as a challenge, particularly during extended periods of low rainfall. It acknowledges that the
Environment Agency has identified aquifers in their region as over abstracted and failing to meet the
requirements of the Water Framework Directive, which in turn means that the sustainability of some of
these abstractions is uncertain .

7.0.502 Increased population and development adds to pressures on water resources. As such both
water companies serving Swale are seeking to increase water efficiency. South East Water’s WRMP water
efficiency programme aims to see average customer water use reduce from 150 litres/person/day (l/p/d)
in 2017/18 to 139 l/p/d in 2025, 118 l/p/d in 2045 and 90 l/p/d in 2080. Southern Water’s campaign ‘Target
100’, as outlined in their WRMP, is a commitment to support customers to reduce personal water consumption
of an average of 100 litres each day by 2040 whilst they reduce leakage by 40% by the same date.

7.0.503 The National Infrastructure Commissions’ report Preparing for a drier future: England’s water
infrastructure needs recommends Defra set water companies a target to halve leakage from current levels
by 2050; and reduce per capita from current national average of 141 l/p/d, to 118 l/p/d by 2050.

7.0.504 All new development has a responsibility to seek to manage demand for water andmake efficient
use of this resource. New development also offers the ideal opportunity to include water saving and water
efficiency measures - such as smart technology, rainwater harvesting and greywater recycling – to enable
the average water efficiency targets (for both existing and new development across the region) to be met.
As such Policy DM 35 seeks to ensure that new development protects water resources to benefit the
environment and offers ambitious yet appropriate water efficiency targets.

7.0.505 Policy DM 21 of Bearing Fruits, the Swale Borough Local Plan 2017, promoted water efficiency
in new development, requiring new homes to be designed to achieve a minimum water efficiency of 110
litres per person per day, the most efficient level of the government's Housing: Optional Technical Standards
and a standard endorsed at the time by the two water companies within Swale, the Environment Agency
and the Catchment Partnership (the North Kent Catchment Improvement Group). This approach will continue
into the future for minor developments whilst for major developments a more ambitious water efficiency
target of circa 100 litres/person/day will be sought through BREEAM and Home Quality Mark assessment
methods under Policy DM 3, Mitigating and adapting to climate change through sustainable design and
construction.

213The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 235



Policy DM 35

Water Quality and Water Resources

1. All development must make efficient use of water resources and protect the yield of public water
supplies, groundwater and surface water and ensure long-term benefits to the local environment
and habitats.

a. For all minor residential development, all homes will achieve a minimum water efficiency of
110 litres per person per day, in line with the Government's Housing Optional Technical
Standard for water efficiency; and

b. For all major development, and for all minor development from 2025, higher water efficiency
targets will be achieved, as set out in Policy DM 3, Mitigating and adapting to climate change
through sustainable design and construction (using BREEAM and Home Quality Mark
Assessment methods).

2. All development shall take a catchment-based approach to protect water quality, including surface
water as well as safeguarding ground water source protection zones from pollution, to the
satisfaction of the borough’s Environmental Protection Team and the Environment Agency, as
appropriate.

a. Proposals for development within Groundwater Source Protection Zones will only be permitted
if there is no risk of contamination to groundwater sources. If a risk is identified, development
will only be permitted if adequate mitigation measures can be implemented.

b. Proposals for piled foundations must take account of disturbance to ground and threats to
water supply and prevent the creation of pathways from contaminatedmaterial to groundwater.

3. All development (except householder) must demonstrate that adequate water supply, drainage
and wastewater connection and treatment infrastructure, to serve the whole development over
its lifetime, is in place before construction commences and that these details have been approved
by the appropriate water company and funded by the development where relevant. Details should
include how works will be phased and ensure no occupation until all necessary works relating to
water and wastewater have been carried out.

4. All development must ensure connection to the sewerage system at the nearest point of capacity,
following advice from the service provider. Proposals must demonstrate that future unconstrained
access to the existing and future drainage, sewerage and water supply infrastructure for
maintenance and up-sizing purposes has been allowed for.

5. Where it is likely that a proposal would have a significant adverse impact on water resources or
water quality a detailed Water Quality Assessment will be required, as explained above and set
out in Planning Practice Guidance, to the satisfaction of the borough’s Environmental Protection
Team and the Environment Agency, as appropriate.

Flood Risk

7.0.506 As a coastal borough, Swale has the potential to flood from all sources of flooding, including
from rivers and the sea, surface water and sewers. This policy seeks to ensure that inappropriate
development in areas of flood risk is avoided and that where risks do exist, that development should be
made safe for its lifetime, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, taking into account the impacts of climate
change. It should be read alongside DM 35, Water quality and water resources and DM 37 Sustainable
drainage.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021214

Development management policies7

Page 236



7.0.507 New development offers the opportunity to offer multifunctional benefits – linking flood risk
management with biodiversity, amenity and recreational improvements, climate change mitigation and
adaptation as well as improved water quality and water resources. This policy advocates this multifunctional
approach.

The legal, policy and local context

7.0.508 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) explains that plans should take a proactive
approach to mitigating and adapting to climate change, taking into account the long-term implications for
flood risk, coastal change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from rising
temperatures in line with the objectives of the Climate Change Act 2008 . It also explains that planning
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by… e) preventing
new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely
affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should,
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into
account relevant information such as river basin management plans ;

7.0.509 The NPPF’s ‘Planning and Flood Risk’ explains that inappropriate development in areas at risk
of flooding should be avoided, but where development is necessary it should bemade safe without increasing
flood risk elsewhere. Strategic policies should be supported by Strategic Flood Risk Assessments and
manage flood risk from all sources, considering cumulative impacts and taking the advice of the other
relevant bodies including the Environment Agency, the Lead Local Flood Authorities and Internal Drainage
Boards. A sequential, risk-based approach to the location of development is advocated so as to avoid, if
possible, flood risk to people and property. The NPPF then goes on to explain the sequential and exception
tests and the need to safeguard land for flood management, to use opportunities to reduce the causes and
impacts of flooding and where necessary seek opportunities to relocate development to sustainable locations.
The NPPF also sets out the role local planning authorities should play when determining planning applications
in ensuring that flood risk is not increased, the purpose of site-specific flood risk assessments and the
criteria by which development can be allowed in areas at risk of flooding.

7.0.510 The NPPF is also clear in its promotion of sustainable drainage systems for major developments,
which should be prepared with the advice of the Lead Local Flood Authority, have appropriate minimum
operational standards, have maintenance arrangements in place for the lifetime of the development and
where possible, provide multifunctional benefits.

7.0.511 Alongside the NPPF sits the Planning Practice Guidance. This sets out in greater detail than the
NPPF how planning can take account of the risks associated with flooding and coastal change in plan-making
and the application process. It explains the approach to the Sequential and Exceptions tests, flood risk
assessments and managing and mitigating flood risk. It also explains the role of the relevant bodies and
the processes involved, as well as approaches to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding (including
through sustainable drainage systems and how these might be used) and how development can be made
safe from flood risk. It also contains important information on flood zones, flood risk vulnerability classification
and flood zone compatability and includes guidance on the preparation of strategic and site-specific flood
risk assessments.

7.0.512 TheWater Framework Directive aims to improve and integrate the way water bodies are managed
in Europe. It is designed to enhance the status of aquatic ecosystems and wetlands, promote the sustainable
use of water and reduce pollution including groundwater pollution.

7.0.513 TheWater Framework Directive requires a management plan for each river basin to be developed
every six years, in England by the Environment Agency. Swale is within the Thames River Basin District
(North Kent catchment) and its River Basin Management Plan, Water for Life and Livelihoods, defines the
particular issues for this catchment as water quality, physical modifications to rivers and invasive non-native
species. The plan looks to local authorities to help meet its objectives, for instance through the use of
sustainable drainage, the promotion of water efficiency, through spatial planning decisions, the incorporation
of green infrastructure and by working with the Catchment Partnership.

215The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 237



7.0.514 The Flood and Water Management Act (2010) takes forward the recommendations from the Pitt
Review of 2007. It establishes the Environment Agency as responsible for developing and applying a flood
risk management strategy for England and Wales which other relevant agencies must take into account.

7.0.515 The Act defines the Lead Local Flood Authority at county or unitary local authority level. For
Swale, Kent County Council (KCC) is the lead local flood authority. The lead local flood authorities have
responsibilities to investigate flooding incidents and maintain a register of structures and features which
have a significant effect on flood risk in their area. KCC have led the preparation of the Swale surface water
management plan (SWMP). The purpose of the SWMP is to identify what the local flood risk issues (from
surface runoff, groundwater and ordinary watercourses) are, what options there may be to alleviate the risk
and who should take these options forward. This is presented in an Action Plan agreed by partners including
the Local Authority and the Sewerage Undertaker.

Local studies

7.0.516 The Shoreline Management Plans (SMP) for Swale are the Medway Estuary and Swale and the
Isle of Grain to South Foreland. These plans, prepared by the South East Coastal Group, identify long-term
management policies for the coast. More information on these can be found in Policy DM 31 The Coast

7.0.517 In 2019-20 a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 was prepared to inform the preparation
of the Local Plan Review. This assessed flood risk from all sources, now and in the future and from
cumulative change. It gives guidance on the sequential and exception tests and sets out requirements for
site-specific flood risk assessments, as well as assisting emergency planning for Swale, helping to prioritise
and targets improvements to flood defences and consider opportunities to reduce flood risk to existing
communities. Comprehensivemapping has been prepared (includingmapping for a SurfaceWater Functional
Flood Zone) and along with the reports itself, is available on the Council’s website.

7.0.518 The SFRA identifies that whilst tidal flooding across Swale has the most severe consequences,
surface water is the most frequent cause of flooding and a smaller number of recorded flooding incidents
have involved fluvial, groundwater and sewer flooding, which are sometime concurrent. There are currently
four Flood Alert Areas and five Flood Warning Areas in the borough. There are tidal, coastal and fluvial
flood defences along the coastline and tidal watercourse of the borough. The SFRA gives detail of the
variable standard of protection and the condition of these assets.

7.0.519 The SFRA recognises that climate change will increase the chance of occurrence and severity
of extreme events and that development needs to be planned with this awareness, in particular the significant
consequences of storm surge events in the sea leading to high tide levels and potentially severe flooding.

7.0.520 The SFRA advocates the developments should demonstrate opportunities to create, enhance
and link green assets, and in doing so provide multiple benefits across several disciplines including flood
risk, biodiversity, amenity and recreation.

7.0.521 The SFRA highlights the importance of considering risks from groundwater early in the planning
process. Groundwater Flood Maps have been produced as part of the SFRA and the SFRA offers particular
guidance on risks from groundwater flooding. It outlines that for all development sites where there is a risk
of groundwater flooding (ie not in an area with no risk), a site-specific risk assessment for groundwater
flooding should be undertaken to fully inform the likelihood of groundwater flooding and so that the proposed
development can be implemented safely. Groundwater levels should be surveyed during winter or early
spring, and the amount of rainfall in the months prior to the testing should be assessed. Monitoring should
be undertaken, and a geotechnical engineer should then asses the results in an interpretative report and
give an assessment of the risk of shallow groundwater.

7.0.522 In consultation with the Environment Agency, and as part of the preparation of the Faversham
Creek Neighbourhood Plan, in 2010 Swale Borough Council made provision for consideration of Flood
Zone 3a(i) for the purpose of performing the Sequential and Exception Tests in Faversham Creek. Flood
Zone 3a(i) is land located at Faversham Creek having a 1 in 20 or greater annual probability of sea flooding
in a defended scenario, where the land is previously developed.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021216

Development management policies7

Page 238



7.0.523 This designation recognises the relatively confined nature of the floodplain at Faversham Creek,
which should enable safe access and escape in most instances, as well as the need for regeneration of
the creek. As such, whilst there is an acknowledgement of the high flood risk in these areas, the strict
national policy restrictions associated with functional floodplain (Flood Zone 3b) do not automatically apply.
All development proposals in Faversham Creek will need to meet the requirements of the SFRA and be
agreed by the Environment Agency as well as by Swale Borough Council.

7.0.524 Note Flood Zone 3a(i) is not demarcated on the SFRA mapping and will need to be agreed with
the Environment Agency in the preparation of a site-specific flood risk assessment. Guidance for site-specific
FRAs in Faversham Creek is provided in the SFRA.

7.0.525 In 2020 a Level 2 SFRA was carried out for a limited number of potential allocation sites across
the borough. At this time, the opportunity was taken to update the North Kent Coast modelling and mapping
of Swale’s Level 1 SFRA with the outputs from the UK Climate Change Projections 2018.

7.0.526 The SFRA should be referred to by applicants in the preparation of site-specific flood risk
assessments.

Consents and Permits

7.0.527 Some incidents of flooding along minor watercourses have occurred in the Borough as a result
of unauthorised works and blockages. To ensure that development does not increase the risk of flooding
or cause harm to the water environment, Land Drainage Consent or Flood Risk Activity Environmental
Permits and other consents may be required for works, for example, within 16 metres of watercourses. The
relevant authorities are:

Environment Agency - main rivers
Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board - ordinary watercourses within their boundaries
Kent County Council - ordinary watercourses which are outside the boundary of the internal drainage
board
Marine Management Organisation - for works including construction and dredging in English inshore
and offshore areas

Policy application

7.0.528 The policy set out in the NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance will be used when determining
planning applications relating to water, flooding and drainage, supplemented by Policies DM 35 (Water
quality and water resources) and DM 37(Sustainable drainage) As explained in the NPPF, a site specific
flood risk assessment will be required for all proposals of 1 hectare or greater in Flood Zone 1, all proposals
for new development in Flood Zones 2 and 3, or in an area within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage
problems or flooding from other sources and where development or a change of use to a more vulnerable
class may be subject to other sources of flooding.

7.0.529 In cases where flooding is an issue, the Council will seek the advice of the Environment Agency
and, where appropriate, the Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board (who are responsible for management
of the smaller watercourses in Swale), Kent County Council (the Lead Local Flood Authority), the Emergency
Services and its own Emergency Planners (who are responsible for establishing safe access and emergency
escape routes). It will also be guided by the coastal management policies within the Medway Estuary and
Swale and Isle of Grain to South Foreland Shoreline Management Plans and the Medway Estuary and
Swale flood and coastal risk management strategy.

7.0.530 The Council advises that applicants consider flood risk in the early stages of development, in
liaison with the relevant authorities.

217The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 239



Policy DM 36

Flood Risk

Development proposals will:

1. Seek opportunities to provide multifunctional benefits, linking flood risk management with strategies
for green and blue infrastructure, biodiversity net gain, improved health and wellbeing andmitigation
and adaptation to climate change;

2. Avoid inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding and where development would
increase flood risk elsewhere;

3. Accord with national planning policy and planning practice guidance, in particular with regard to
the application of the sequential and exception tests;

4. Provide site specific flood risk assessments, as required, carried out to the satisfaction of the
Environment Agency and, where relevant, the Lead Local Flood Authority and the Internal Drainage
Board in accordance with the guidance set out in the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment,
addressing risks from all forms of flooding, cumulative and long term impacts, taking account of
the most up to date and relevant data and guidance;

5. In accordance with Policy DM 37, use Drainage Strategies to demonstrate how surface water will
be managed for major development, to the satisfaction of the Lead Local Flood Authority;

6. Provide, as necessary, details of how development will be made safe from flooding including
details of what new flood mitigation, flood defences, resilience and resistance measures are to
be installed and details of how these will be maintained and managed for the lifetime of the
development, taking account of climate change;

7. Provide details of any necessary contributions to new flood defence or mitigation measures off
site;

8. Provide, as necessary, details of the adoption arrangements secured with the relevant public
authority or statutory undertaker;

9. Within areas at risk of flooding, submit a suitable flood warning and emergency plan that has
been approved by the relevant emergency planning regime and, where appropriate, the emergency
services.

Sustainable drainage

7.0.531 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) mimic natural drainage processes to reduce the effect of
surface water runoff from developments. They can provide multiple benefits including reducing flood risk,
improved water quality, groundwater recharge, opportunities for biodiversity, climate change adaptation,
urban cooling, carbon sequestration, contribution to a green and blue infrastructure network, enhanced
landscaping, health and wellbeing, recreational and educational benefits. This policy seeks to maximise
the opportunities for sustainable drainage within the borough with the aim reducing flood risk whilst achieving
multifunctional benefits. It should be read in conjunction with Policy DM 36, Flood Risk and DM 35, Water
quality and water resources, as well as Policy ST 10, Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

7.0.532 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights the priority which should be given
to sustainable drainage systems. It explains how major development is required to incorporate sustainable
drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate and it sets out the
requirements for these systems . Within areas at risk of flooding, it states that development should only be
allowed in the light of site-specific flood risk assessments which, amongst other things, should incorporate
sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate .

7.0.533 Planning practice guidance makes clear that local authorities and developers should seek
opportunities to reduce levels of flooding including through the application of sustainable drainage. It sets

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021218

Development management policies7

Page 240



out how sustainable drainage systems provide opportunities for reducing causes and impacts of flooding,
removing pollutants at source whilst providing benefits for amenity, recreation and wildlife. The guidance
explains when sustainable drainage should be considered and explains the sort of systems that could be
used, following the drainage hierarchy (where discharge into the ground and is best and to a combined
sewer is worst).

7.0.534 The guidance explains that local planning authorities will need to be satisfied that sustainable
drainage systems are appropriate and there are clear arrangement for ongoing maintenance. The advice
of flood risk management bodies, in particular the Lead Local Flood Authority (KCC in Kent) will be sought
by local planning authorities in making judgements on proposals. The judgement of what is reasonably
practicable should be by reference to technical standards published by Defra and take into account design
and construction costs.

7.0.535 The guidance also makes clear that systems need to ensure design takes account of construction,
operation, maintenance and access of all aspect of drainage systems (above and below ground). Climate
change impacts and other likely changes over the lifetime of the development (eg changes in impermeable
areas) should be designed into schemes. The guidance also advises local planning authorities on who to
consult, including, as appropriate, the Lead Local Flood Authority, the sewage undertaker, the Environment
Agency, the highway authority and the Internal Drainage Board.

7.0.536 The Water Environment Regulations 2003 make provision for the purpose of implementing in
river basin districts theWater Framework Directive (WFD) (Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament)
which established a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. These regulations will
remain in place until such time that UK law is revised to reflect changes in EU membership and require a
strategic planning process to be established for the purposes of managing, protecting and improving the
quality of water resources. This provides an opportunity to plan and deliver a better water environment,
focusing on ecology. The WFD drives water quality improvement planning in river catchments, through
River Basin Management Plans. Swale lies within the Thames river basin district: River Basin Management
Plan.

Requirements within Swale

7.0.537 Drainage must be considered at the earliest stages of the development process to ensure that
the most sustainable option can be delivered in all cases.

7.0.538 The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment for Swale includes detail on surface water management
and sustainable drainage systems. It outlines the role of the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and the
requirements for sustainable drainage. It advocates the role of guidance including Defra’s Non-technical
standards for SuDs document, 2015 (which provide advice and guidance on the design, maintenance and
operation of sustainable drainage systems) and the CIRIA SuDs Manual. The SFRA outlines the
consideration of groundwater vulnerability zones, groundwater source protection zones and nitrate vulnerable
zones in the preparation of sustainable drainage schemes and advocates early dialogue with KCC. The
SFRA also highlights the multifunctional benefits of sustainable drainage as well as the specific consideration
that should be given to opportunities for sustainable drainage in development around Iwade and Minster.

7.0.539 Importantly, the SFRA also highlights the role of Kent County Council (KCC) and their document,
Drainage and Planning Policy – a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Document, 2019. KCC are the
Lead Local Flood Authority for Swale and as such are responsible for managing local flood risk, including
from surface water, ground water and ordinary watercourses, and for preparing local flood risk management
strategies. The document, Drainage and Planning Policy sets out the policy requirements KCC has for
sustainable drainage. It also contains references to specific KCC guidance documents. As such the
Drainage and Planning Policy document should be referred to by all applicants where drainage is an issue.

7.0.540 Development has the potential to change surface water and groundwater flows, depending upon
how the surface water is managed within the development proposed. Applications for major development
should be accompanied by specific drainage strategies which should demonstrate that the drainage scheme

219The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 241



is in compliance with KCC's drainage policies as outlined in their strategy document, 2019. The strategy
document outlines the requirements for drainage strategies which can be submitted as part of Flood Risk
Assessments, or as standalone documents. The drainage strategy must also demonstrate that the proposed
surface water management proposal is consistent and integrated with any other appropriate planning policy
and flood risk management measures that are required. Incorporating sustainable drainage is easier if
planned at an early stage and as such KCC welcomes pre-application consultation.

7.0.541 Consultation with KCCmay also occur for planning applications that are not for major development
if they are in areas which may have a higher level of local flood risk or within areas that are 5 metres of an
ordinary watercourse. Consultation on flood risk could also occur with other risk management authorities
including the Environment Agency (tidal and fluvial flood risk). If a drainage scheme requires connection
to a public sewer, additional approval will be required from the appropriate sewerage undertaker.

7.0.542 Whilst consultation is not undertaken with KCC for minor development, applicants should be
aware that the NPPF priorities for sustainable drainage do apply to all development, irrespective of scale.
Developers of sites for minor development are encouraged to consider the policies outlined in KCC’s
Drainage and Planning Policy – a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Document. Applicants for these
smaller developments are directed to guidance and standing advice, referenced above and in the SFRA,
on best practice to help minimise flood risk.

7.0.543 Sustainable drainage schemes are generally appropriate for all sites, including contaminated
sites, sites at risk of coastal or fluvial flooding or with high groundwater, if considered early enough in
scheme design. Natural solutions are sought, where water is returned to where it would naturally go if the
development did not exist. Innovative solutions are welcomed including the use of rainwater harvesting
and green roofs which can help manage small rainfall events, help conserve water as a resource and bring
opportunities for biodiversity net gain.

7.0.544 As part of the SFRA Surface Water Functional Flood Zone mapping has been produced and is
available on the Council’s website. This should be referenced in any planning application for sustainable
drainage and along with the SFRA report itself.

7.0.545 It should also be noted that SuDS schemes can impact on heritage such as archaeology, building
foundations and historic drainage ditches. Therefore, when SuDS are planned it is important that any
potential impact on the historic environment is fully considered and any unavoidable damage mitigated.
Kent County Council’s Heritage Conservation group can offer further guidance.

7.0.546 The Environment Agency support the use of sustainable drainage systems and have issued the
following advice, to be taken into account in planning applications:

The collection and dispersal of clean surface water to ground to recharge aquifer units and prevent
localised drainage or surface systems flooding in heavy rainfall is encouraged. However, dispersal
into the ground through soakaways will always require a site-specific investigation and risk assessment.
There are areas where, due to shallow groundwater depths, infiltration to the ground might not be
possible. This is connected to the need of avoiding any direct discharge to groundwater, which must
not be done. If direct discharge is unavoidable, an alternative method of surface water drainage should
be sought.
In addition, there should be no discharge into land impacted by contamination or land previously
identified as being contaminated. There should be no discharge to made ground. Site impacted, or
potentially impacted, by contamination should be suitably assessed prior to any infiltration to the ground
being approved.

7.0.547 The Council is intending to develop a Sustainable Design and Construction SPD which is likely
to include advice on sustainable drainage. Once adopted any guidance outlined in this document should
be followed.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021220

Development management policies7

Page 242



Policy application

7.0.548 When planning, or specifying SuDS, early consideration of the potential multiple benefits and
opportunities will help deliver cost effective SuDS scheme with the best results. KCC, the Environment
Agency, the Internal Drainage Board and Southern Water, where relevant, should be contacted at
pre-application stage to inform the design process.

Policy DM 37

Sustainable Drainage

1. Development proposals should:

a. demonstrate that sustainable urban drainage has been considered from the earliest stages of
scheme development and that schemes seek to provide multiple benefits to the environment and
communities in terms of reducing the causes and impacts of flooding, improving water quality
(removing pollutants from run-off) and water resources (recharge to groundwater), adaptating to
climate change and enhancing biodiversity and amenity, as appropriate;

b. demonstrate how they link to the objective to provide 20% biodiversity net gain and enhance the
green & blue infrastructure network, in line with the objectives of Policy ST 10 and DM 24;

c. demonstrate that post development run-off rates account for the latest climate change allowances
as set by EA, for the lifetime of development, unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction
of the Lead Local Flood Authority that site specific run off rates are more appropriate. Run-off
rates will require a betterment value as agreed by the Lead Local Flood Authority;

d. demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Lead Local Flood Authority, how ongoing management
and maintenance will be ensured, taking account of climate change

e. comply with the requirements of any forthcoming Swale Sustainable Design and Construction
SPD.

2. Planning applications for major development should be accompanied by site-specific Drainage
Strategies to be approved by Kent County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. Drainage
strategies should demonstrate that drainage scheme proposed are in compliance with KCC’s sustainable
drainage policies, as set out in their Drainage and Planning Policy ADD LINK strategy document, as
follows:

a. Follow the drainage hierarchy
b. Deliver effective drainage design
c. Maintain existing drainage flow paths and watercourses
d. Seek to reduce and avoid existing flood risk
e. Provide drainage sustainability and resilience
f. Enable sustainable maintenance
g. Safeguard water quality
h. Design for amenity and multi-functionality
i. Enhance biodiversity

3. Provide, as relevant, details of the adoption arrangements secured with the relevant public authority
or statutory undertaker;

4. Integrate drainage measures within the planning and design of the project to ensure that the most
sustainable option can be delivered, especially where, exceptionally, development is to be permitted
in an area of flood risk.

7.0.549 Development involving listed buildings

221The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 243



7.0.550 Listed buildings are a finite resource and are provided with special statutory protection and
procedures requiring consent to alter them in a way that affects their character as a building of special
architectural or historic interest. Policy CP 8 provides a general presumption in favour of the preservation
of a listed building except where a convincing case can be made for alteration or, exceptionally, demolition.

7.0.551 Applicants must prepare a heritage statement and a design & access statement for any proposals
for listed building consent or for planning permission for development within the curtilage of a listed building.
The statements will be required to justify the proposals, demonstrating why works and/or development that
would affect the significance of a listed building are necessary or desirable. In all cases the policy seeks
to safeguard, and where possible, enhance the special interest and setting of listed buildings.

7.0.552 The council will use its statutory powers to ensure that listed buildings at risk from neglect or
decay are appropriately maintained and repaired

7.0.553 Extensions and alterations

7.0.554 Extensions and alterations should be sympathetic and not dominate the listed building in scale,
material, or situation. Often a building's immediate setting is important to its character, so gardens, yards,
other spaces, and boundary details are of value in their own right. Proposals to create off-street parking
provision can frequently be damaging to the setting of a listed building.

7.0.555 The significance of a listed building can be harmed by inappropriate repair, alteration or extension.
Proposals to repair, alter or extend a listed building must be justified and appropriate. Consequently, a high
level of professional skill and craftsmanship will be required in both the design and execution of any scheme.
Proposals to repair, alter or extend a listed building which harm its significance will not be permitted unless
there is a clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to, or the loss of a listed building will be firmly
resisted in all but the most exceptional of cases.

7.0.556 New development within the setting of a listed building may not always be appropriate if the
setting is particularly important to the significance of it. However, in all other instances, new development
within the setting of a listed building is required to be of good quality, contextually sensitive design. Proposed
new development within the setting of a listed building which would harm its significance will not be permitted
unless there is a clear and convincing justification, and substantial harm will be strongly resisted.

7.0.557 The best use for a listed building is usually the use for which it was originally designed, but the
overriding consideration is securing the future upkeep and conservation of the building. Thus, the Council
will support necessary and appropriate changes in use. Particular attention will be paid to ensuring that the
proposed use will not be harmful to the significance of the listed building and its surroundings, including a
careful assessment of any alterations associated with its proposed change of use.

7.0.558 Climate change

7.0.559 Proposals that aim to mitigate, and adapt to the effects of climate change should in the first
instance explore all opportunities of enhancing energy efficiency and forms of providing renewable energy
and improved adaptation to climate change without harming the significance of heritage assets.

7.0.560 Where conflict between climate change objectives and the conservation of heritage assets is
unavoidable, the public benefit of mitigating the effects of climate change will be weighed against any harm
to the significance of heritage assets, in accordance with the NPPF and the development management
policies and principles of the Swale Local Plan set out in the subsequent pages. The more significant the
heritage asset, the greater the degree of public benefit that will need to be demonstrably achievable to
justify even a low level of harm to the heritage asset. Heritage assets are of course finite resources and
with their embedded energy and in many cases, adaptability to re-use over a long period of time, they are
in many cases already inherently sustainable. As such, there will be instances where proposed alteration
in a particular way to help combat climate change will be firmly resisted to ensure that the significance of
the heritage asset isn’t compromised to an unacceptable degree. Listed buildings make up less than 1%

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021222

Development management policies7

Page 244



of the Borough’s stock of buildings, and as such, it is expected that the greater focus on combating climate
change will first and foremost be on that vast majority of buildings which can be adapted to help combat
climate change with little or no harm to their intrinsic character and associated appearance.

Policy DM 38

Development Involving Listed Buildings

Development proposals, including any change of use, affecting a listed building, and/or its setting, will
be permitted provided that:

1. The listed building's special architectural or historic interest, its setting and any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses, are preserved, paying special attention to the:

a. Design, including scale, materials, situation and detailing;

b. appropriateness of the proposed use of the building; and

c. desirability of removing unsightly or negative features or restoring or reinstating historic features.

2. When considering the impact of proposed works and/or a proposed development on the significance
of a listed building, great weight will be given to the building’s conservation (and the more important
the listed building, the greater the weight will be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Where a
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a listed building,
this harm will be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.

3. The total or part demolition of a listed building is wholly exceptional, and will only be permitted
provided that there is:

a. Evidence that any public benefits are substantial and these cannot otherwise be provided
without substantially harming the significance of a heritage asset;

b. Evidence that the nature and/or condition of the heritage asset precludes all reasonable uses
or re-uses of the asset;

c. Evidence of long-term redundancy and proactive marketing for all possible uses of the heritage
asset for a minimum of five years;

d. Evidence of applications, made to a professional standard, for grant funding to help secure
the conservation of the listed building;

e. Evidence that the asset cannot otherwise be brought back in to use without substantially
harming its significance;

f. Evidence that preservation through charitable or community ownership is not possible or
suitable; and

g. Evidence that the cost of maintaining and repairing the building outweighs its significance and
the value derived from its continued use.

4. If as a last resort, the Borough Council is prepared to consider the grant of a listed building consent
for demolition, it may, in appropriate circumstances, consider whether the building could be re-erected

223The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 245



elsewhere to an appropriate location. When re-location is not possible and demolition is permitted,
arrangements will be required to allow access to the building prior to demolition to make an appropriate
documentary record of it and to allow for the salvaging of materials and features.

Development affecting a conservation area

7.0.561 Conservation areas are areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character, or
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. The character of conservation areas can be
fragile, and their distinctive quality and character can be damaged by new development, or by other more
subtle means such as increased traffic, car parking, signs and noise, or piecemeal changes to key
architectural elements such as doors and windows. They are not, though, areas where change will not
occur. Development that makes a positive contribution to Swale’s local character and distinctiveness will
be encouraged. New development within, or adjacent to a conservation area, where appropriate, will be
expected to be of an appropriate use, of a very high standard of design, and to respond positively to the
grain of the historic area by preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the place.

7.0.562 Applicants must prepare a heritage statement and a design & access statement for any proposals
in or adjoining a conservation area that will need to include an objective assessment on the likely impact
of their proposals on the significance of any heritage assets or their settings.

7.0.563 The council will use its statutory powers to ensure that buildings and spaces within conservation
areas that are at risk from neglect or decay are appropriately maintained and repaired.

7.0.564 There are currently 28 conservation area appraisals prepared within Swale and these contain
useful guidance for applicants, borough residents, and public bodies. The council is committed to reviewing
existing older, and in some cases somewhat limited Conservation Area Appraisals and providing appraisals
for those currently lacking any form of appraisal as part of the initial 3-year Action Plan and subsequent
action plans outlined in the adopted Heritage Strategy.

7.0.565 Spaces and settings

7.0.566 The spaces and settings around and between buildings, other features and conservation areas,
together with views to and from the area, are important and should be protected from unsympathetic changes
and, where possible, enhanced.

7.0.567 Non-listed buildings (Heritage Assets)

7.0.568 Many buildings and features in a conservation area are not listed as being of special architectural
or historic interest. Nevertheless, they may make a valuable contribution to the character of a conservation
area individually, or as part of a group. In such cases, their demolition will only be permitted in exceptional
circumstances.

7.0.569 In reaching such a decision, the Council will examine the cost of maintaining and repairing the
building or feature in relation to its importance and the value derived from its use, the adequacy of efforts
to maintain the building in an acceptable use, and the merits of alternative proposals for the building. These
must demonstrably preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the area in a way that the former
building did not. Fundamentally, consent will normally only be given for demolition when a detailed scheme
for redevelopment has been agreed. Planning conditions and/or legal agreements will ensure that demolition
does not take place without the certainty of timely redevelopment.

7.0.570 Highway features

7.0.571 Many bridges, retaining walls, signs, footpaths, kerb lines, and milestones help to tell the story
of the Borough's development over time. Modern unsympathetic highway or traffic management works,
including signage, lighting and alterations to traffic flows, can have adverse impacts. Those carrying out

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021224

Development management policies7

Page 246



such works will therefore need to ensure that the protection of the character and setting of historic highway
features are given due consideration, particularly where they form a key positive element of a conservation
area

Policy DM 39

Development affecting a conservation area

Development (including changes of use and the demolition of unlisted buildings or other structures)
within, affecting the setting of, or views into and out of a conservation area, will be required to preserve
or enhance all features that contribute positively to the area's special character or appearance.
Furthermore, the Borough Council will expect development proposals to:

1) Respond positively to its conservation area character appraisal & management plan documents
where these have been prepared;

2) Retain the layout, form of streets, spaces, means of enclosure and buildings, and pay special
attention to the use of architectural detailing and materials, surfaces, landform, vegetation and land
use;

3) Remove features that detract from the character of the area and reinstate those that would enhance
it; and

4) Retain unlisted buildings or other structures that make, or could make, a positive contribution to the
character or appearance of the area.

Planning applications for development within or adjacent to a conservation area will be required to
include a Heritage Statement which demonstrates a clear understanding of the significance of the
conservation area, any related individual or group heritage assets affected by proposals and the impact
on heritage significance, as applicable.

Historic commercial premises such as shops and pubs in active use provide vitality (through window
displays and signage), which can make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of a
conservation area. As such, any new or replacement signage within conservation areas will be required
to be of the highest possible standard and contribute to a safe and attractive environment, and
advertisements (including hoardings, illumination of hoardings, illuminated fascia signs, free-standing
display panels, and estate agent boards) which require consent must not cause a public safety hazard
or contribute to clutter or a loss of amenity. Schemes submitted for approval will be expected to:

1) be of a high quality and sensitive to its visual appearance in relation to its siting (including the building
or structure on which it is to be sited) and the surrounding street scene, especially in the case of listed
buildings;

2) not contribute to an unsightly proliferation or clutter of signage in the vicinity;

3) not cause a hazard to pedestrians or road users;

4) not cause visual intrusion by virtue of light pollution into adjoining properties and avoid light pollution
of nearby wildlife habitats; and

5) not have flashing or visually jarring internal or external illumination and be appropriate and relevant
to the overall character and architectural detailing of the building(s).

225The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 247



New development within Swale’s conservation areas and their settings are required to be of high-quality
contextual design so that they conserve or enhance a conservation area’s significance. Harm to the
significance of a conservation area will not be permitted unless there is a clear and convincing
justification. Substantial harm to the significance of a conservation area will be strongly resisted.

Historic landscapes including parks and gardens

7.0.572 In landscape terms, most of the southern half of the borough lies within the Kent Downs Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) i.e. a rolling, hilly landscape, heavily wooded in places, although the
largest concentration of woodland lies at the eastern edge of the borough, where the large ancient woodland
of The Blean provides one of most ecologically and archaeologically rich areas of the borough. The northern
edge of the mainland and the southern edge of Sheppey consists of marshland, much of it still undrained
and largely still natural in form. On the mainland, the wide band of land lying between the Kent Downs and
the marshes is generally relatively flat, well drained and fertile as is the case for much of the land north of
the Sheppey Marshes, and this to a large degree broadly distinguishes the different landscape characters
of the Borough and the different types of countryside activities we still see taking place within them today.

7.0.573 The combination of Swale’s industrial past interlocking with its farming and coastal fringe
landscapes makes Swale’s heritage unusual and special.

7.0.574 Swale Borough today in part represents a beautiful and remarkable example of a post-industrial
landscape that has survived the ravages of various industries active during the 19th and early 20th centuries.

7.0.575 However, many still recognizable historic landscapes are pre-industrial and date back to the
medieval period or even earlier. These include the remnants of the medieval streetscape on the northern
fringes of Faversham at Abbey Farm, and the remains of the medieval settlement at Harty on the Isle of
Sheppey adjacent the medieval church of St. Thomas the Apostle. The medieval moat adjacent the grade
II* listed church at Harty is now scheduled for its high heritage significance.

7.0.576 Swale also retains footprints of past industrial activities or processes, such as the extraction of
brick earth and the associated construction of kiln buildings and drying/storage sheds. Where the kilns
(with their tall brick chimneys) and other processing/storage can no longer be seen in the landscape, the
tell tale signs in the landscape are the reduced ground levels where the brick earth has been extracted,
and this intervention to the landscape form can be seen in many parts of the Borough, but perhaps most
notably around the edges of Faversham.

7.0.577 Faversham would look entirely different to the way it does now if it hadn’t been for the brickfields
and the brickmaking that went with it. There are of course other types of extraction works that have taken
place within the Swale area and it can be seen that some extraction continues to this day to help meet the
needs of the construction industry. Historically, chalk was an important material needed for a number of
process, but notably in the production of lime, used for mortar. Many old hollows in the landscape can still
be seen, and at the Finch Drive area of the 1980s housing estate at Preston-next-Faversham, the housing
has been quite well integrated into the excavated area of land formerly used for chalk extraction and
associated lime manufacture.

7.0.578 In terms of other historic landscapes created by former industrial activities and processes, we
can look at the creeks where it is easy to find abandoned and sometimes crumbling wharf structures,
together with the remains of the barges and other types of vessels that historically moored up at, and sailed
to/from these wharfs. Cuttings in the landscape, are evident, where railway lines were laid and later
abandoned, such as on Sheppey where the bed of the old Sheppey Light Railway can now be walked from
Power Station Road to Scapsgate Road as a result of a successful claim for it to be added to the Definitive
Map as a public footpath.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021226

Development management policies7

Page 248



7.0.579 Perhaps the most striking historic landscape created by past industrial processes is the series
of waterways at Stonebridge Pond in Faversham. The reservoir of water here was not only used to work
the gunpowder mills, but the associated network of waterways that were created also provided the means
of moving unfinished powder by punt safely between the various processes of corning, pressing, dusting
and packing.

7.0.580 Away from the settlements, the rural landscape displays the remains of farmsteads, enclosures
and field ditches, woodland management features and the routes and trackways that have shaped the
settlement pattern in the Borough we see today. This is particularly notable in the area of The Blean Ancient
Woodland to the east of the Borough. Areas of Ancient Woodland have, by definition, remained undisturbed
since at least 1600AD. Therefore, this area is also rich in archaeological remains because of the limited
impact that activities have had on the ground levels. The Battle of Bossenden Woods (an area within The
Blean) is said to be the last battle which took place on English soil, and the scene of this event can be
accessed by permissible footpaths, although there is at present no sign or memorial to mark the site.

7.0.581 Other early features that can be seen in the Swale Borough Area creating historic landscapes
are burial mounds, castle mounds and salterns.

7.0.582 Whilst the castle no longer exists, the castle mound at Queenborough is a distinct feature in the
otherwise largely flat andmarshy landscape and this scheduledmonument serves to provide a vivid reminder
of the medieval origins of this settlement.

7.0.583 At Graveney marshes, in the northeast part of the Borough and on the edge of the Seasalter
Level can be found a series of six salterns. These structures were used for the production of salt from sea
water and the hummocky area of mounds visible today (rising to a height of approximately 6 metres above
surrounding ground levels) are the (since grown over) heaps of marsh clay waste discarded after brine
extraction. This historic feature is today protected by scheduling.

7.0.584 The borough also boasts of significant semi-natural landscapes created to serve the grand homes
of the landed gentry and big industrial business proprietors. The landscapes around four such grand houses
(namely Lees Court, Belmont House, Doddington Place and Mount Ephraim) are of significance because
of the striking nature of aspects of their designed landscapes, and are registered as Parks & Gardens of
Historic Interest by Historic England. Each of these properties displays a range of landscaping ranging from
the highly ornate to the more naturalistic in style in the vein of the most famous English landscape gardener,
Lancelot ‘Capability’ Brown.

7.0.585 Historic Parks and Gardens are a fragile and finite resource which can easily be damaged beyond
repair or lost forever. From town gardens and public parks to the great country estates, such places are
an important, distinctive, and much cherished part of our inheritance, and we have a duty of care towards
them.

7.0.586 In order to identify those sites which are of particular historic importance, Historic England is
enabled by government to compile the 'Register of Parks and Gardens of special historic interest in England'.
Inclusion in the Register recognises that the site is of national importance. They comprise a variety of
features including open space, flora, water features, cemeteries, archaeological remains and buildings.

7.0.587 Non-designated landscape sites are often less apparent than designated sites but nonetheless
play an important role, contributing to the character and distinctiveness of the Borough and providing a
focus for conservation and access projects, interpretation, education and research. Some are of equal
importance to designated heritage assets, designation often being a management tool rather than a
statement of significance. In such circumstances the asset must be subject to the policies for designated
assets.

7.0.588 Maintenance and repair are needed to tackle the inevitable decay and deterioration of landscape
design features and plantings that occurs because of age, neglect, wear and tear by users, pests and
diseases, and increasingly climate change impacts. Conservation Management Plans are an effective tool
in caring for, or managing change in, historic parks, gardens and other landscapes.

227The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 249

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technical-advice/parks-gardens-and-landscapes/maintenance-repair-and-conservation-management-plans-for-historic-parks-and-gardens/


7.0.589 Inclusion on the Register is a ‘material consideration’ in the planning process, meaning that
planning authorities must consider the impact of any proposed development on the landscape’s special
character.

Policy DM 40

Historic landscapes including parks and gardens

1. The Borough Council will seek to protect registered Historic Parks and Gardens, as shown
on the Proposals Map, or which are registered during the Plan period.

2. Development that would adversely affect the landscape character, layout and features of a
Historic Park and Garden, or its setting, will not be permitted.

3. Development that would adversely affect a non-Registered Historic Park or Garden will only
be permitted where the loss of significance is unavoidable.

The Council will promote the enjoyment of Swale borough’s landscape resource through the protection
and enhancement of landscape sites, monuments and historic landscape features, and will seek to
encourage and develop their educational, recreational and tourist potential through research, public
access, management and interpretation.

Where possible developers should seek to use Swale’s landscape assets to shape their development
proposals, provide interest and character and protect the assets.

The framework for the management and enjoyment of Swale’s landscape heritage is the Swale Heritage
Strategy (adopted 2020).

Development proposals affecting heritage assets with landscape interest must be accompanied by a
desk-based assessment, and if necessary by fieldwork, that:

1) Characterises the nature, extent and condition of the landscape in the development area;

2) Assesses the significance of the landscape and the contribution made by their setting;

3) Describes and assesses the impact of the development proposals on the landscape, it’s
significance, and setting; and

4) Describes how the landscape will be protected during development. Where this is not possible
the assessment should clearly justify why this is not possible and should describe the proposals
for mitigating any impacts.

Development proposals leading to substantial harm to the significance of Registered Parks and
Gardens, or other landscape-based heritage assets of comparable significance will normally be refused.

Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest Proposals for development within, affecting the setting
of, or conspicuous from a registered park or garden will be required to:

1) Protect, conserve and where appropriate enhance the significance, character and appearance
of the Park or Garden, including its setting and any special historic features;

2) Avoid subdivision resulting in new boundaries, land uses and development which fails to
protect the special historical significance of the park or garden;

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021228

Development management policies7

Page 250



3) Conserve and restore existing, or where possible reinstate lost features of historic or
architectural interest and/or significance, including existing trees and planting, other forms of
distinctive or historic landscaping and garden features which contribute to the significance and
special historic interest of the park or garden;

4) Where the Council considers it relevant, development proposals should be accompanied by
an appropriate Management Plan to secure the long-term conservation of the park or garden.

Where development proposals affect non-designated heritage assets with a landscape interest, the
Borough Council would expect the landscape to be preserved. Where this is not possible clear
justification will be required. Where the justification is accepted, a programme of recording may be
required to be carried out. The fieldwork will be appropriate to the significance of the landscape and
must be carried out by an appropriately qualified contractor following a written specification agreed by
the Borough Council. The programme will include all phases of desk-based and fieldwork, analysis,
publication of the results and deposition of the site archive in an appropriate repository.

Area of high townscape value

7.0.590 Outside the designated conservation areas, parts of the Borough may become of sufficient value
in the future to be worthy of conservation area designation. Within the urban areas, such areas may, in the
meantime, be subject to development pressures and other change. To the south of Sittingbourne town
centre areas of Victorian and Edwardian housing, parks cemeteries, trees and open spaces mark an
important period in the town's post-industrial expansion and many of its street trees are a poignant reminder
of the town's marking of The Great War. These characteristics are recognised by its identification as an
Area of High Townscape Value. The Council's objectives in this area are to encourage a high standard of
design of new development, the retention and reinstatement of original features and the preservation of
the spaces between buildings, landscaping and parks, alongside the retention and expansion of its street
trees.

Policy DM 41

Area of high townscape value

Within and adjacent to the Area of High Townscape Value, as defined on the Proposals Map, the
Borough Council will not grant planning permission for development proposals unless they provide for
the conservation or enhancement of the local historic and architectural character, together with its
greenspaces, landscaping and trees. In particular, development proposals will be required to:

1) Respond positively to its character appraisal, where such an appraisal has been provided;

2) Retain the layout, form of streets, spaces, means of enclosure and buildings, and pay special
attention to the use of architectural detailing and materials, surfaces, landform, vegetation and land
use;

3) Remove features that detract from the character of the area and reinstate those that would enhance
it; and

4) Retain unlisted buildings or other structures that make, or could make, a positive contribution to the
character or appearance of the area.

New development within the Area of High Townscape Value and within its immediate setting will be
required to be of high-quality contextual design so that it conserves or enhances its significance. Harm

229The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 251



to the significance of Area of High Townscape value will not be permitted unless there is a clear and
convincing justification. Substantial harm to the significance of area of high townscape value will be
strongly resisted.

Local Heritage List

7.0.591 A ‘locally listed heritage asset is a building, structure or feature which, whilst not listed by the
Secretary of State for its national importance, is considered by the Council, its residents, businesses, town
and parish councils and local amenity societies to be of local importance due to its architectural, historical,
artistic or environmental significance.

7.0.592 Heritage assets are added to the local list in recognition of their value as irreplaceable historic
assets which contribute to the quality of the local environment by enhancing the landscape and/or townscape
and sustaining a sense of distinctiveness. Groups of buildings or structures that contribute significantly to
the appearance of a landscape or townscape will also be eligible for inclusion on the local list which the
Council is currently in the process of developing.

7.0.593 Historic structures on the National Heritage List for England (NHLE) already have the status of
‘designated heritage asset’ in planning terms and their conservation is an objective of the National Planning
Policy Framework set out by central government. Some buildings on the Local List may, however, have an
Article 4 Direction applied to them. This may require a planning application to be submitted for certain
changes to them, including wholesale, or partial demolition.

7.0.594 The Council will consider the use of Article 4 Directions to remove specific permitted development
rights where a sufficiently strong case for such a measure can be clearly demonstrated. In particular, the
demolition of locally listed buildings outside a Conservation Area and the removal or alteration of locally
listed boundary treatments do not currently require planning permission and therefore could be specifically
considered for Article 4 Directions. Importantly, an Article 4 Direction does not pre-judge the acceptability
(or otherwise) of proposed works but instead simply brings them under the control of the Council as the
Local Planning Authority by requiring the submission of a planning application, so that a properly informed
decision can be made.

7.0.595 The purpose of the Local List is to ensure that care is taken over decisions affecting the future
of these locally important heritage assets, and that their special status is taken fully into account. Proposed
changes should respect the particular character and interest of the heritage asset, and any works carried
out should use appropriate detailing and/or materials and retain any features of special, noted interest.

7.0.596 It is not necessary to apply for Listed Building Consent for works to a locally listed heritage asset.
The usual planning controls will apply, except where an Article 4 Direction has been applied, and in all
cases, the special interest of these heritage assets will be a material consideration when deciding planning
applications.

7.0.597 Some works may not require planning permission but should still be carefully considered. The
removal of historic features or details can not only harm the special interest of the locally listed heritage
asset but can also adversely affect its financial value. Research has shown that buildings which retain their
historic features in good order hold their value better than those which have been unsympathetically altered.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021230

Development management policies7

Page 252



Policy DM 42

Development affecting a locally listed heritage asset

Development (including changes of use, alteration, extension and demolition) of locally listed heritage
assets should preserve or enhance all features that contribute positively to the asset’s special interest
and setting. In particular, the Council will expect development proposals affecting locally listed heritage
assets to:

1) support their retention, repair and reuse; and

2) be informed by a Heritage Statement which demonstrates a clear understanding of the
significance of the locally listed heritage asset(s) affected by proposals and the impact on their
significance.

Proposals for the demolition or removal of locally listed heritage assets (where formal applications are
required) will normally only be permitted where the applicant is able to demonstrate clear and convincing
evidence that the heritage asset is no longer of local importance, that it is beyond repair, restoration
or reuse, or that the proposed redevelopment or re-use of the area would produce benefits for the
community which would decisively outweigh the loss resulting from demolition or removal. Where a
required planning application proposes the demolition or removal of a locally listed heritage asset on
the grounds that it is beyond repair and/or not feasible to maintain in a beneficial manner, the supporting
evidence produced to assert such a position will be rigorously assessed

Scheduled Monuments and archeological sites

7.0.598 Swale has an extensive and important archaeological resource stemming from the Borough’s
strategic position. Half-way along the north coast of Kent, Swale has been an important conduit for transport
and communication between London and the open sea, and between inland Kent and the Thames Estuary.
Its small towns grew up along creeks cutting inland from the coast whereas its largest port, Sheerness,
reflects its wider, global maritime role.

7.0.599 Swale’s archaeological heritage covers a vast expanse of time – perhaps over half-a-million
years. There have been numerous finds of palaeolithic artefacts in Swale, many from gravel pits such as
at Teynham and Hartlip, Bapchild and Tonge, but also collected from the surface. Most of the evidence is
in the form of hand axes, as well as the remains of animals that lived alongside early humans such as
woolly mammoth and rhinoceros. Though such finds are ephemeral, they represent the great majority of
the period within which humans lived in Swale and have the potential to tell us much about humanity’s
remote past. The end of the last glaciation saw the emergence of new flint technologies reflected in numerous
finds of Mesolithic flints such as the chipping floor at High Halstow which produced over 1,000 flint finds
and another flint working site at Sittingbourne.

7.0.600 Permanent occupation in Swale seems to have begun in the Neolithic period, as perhaps
evidenced by occupation sites at High Halstow, Grovehurst and Kingsborough Manor on Sheppey. Means
of exchange are indicated by a possible log boat from Murston. Although burial monuments may well have
been constructed in the Neolithic, none have been found so far in Swale and it is not until the Bronze Age
that such sites are found, for example as at Shrubsoles Hill and the Aspire School where ring-ditches that
would have been constructed around burial mounds have been found. Settlement expanded and occupation
comprising huts, ditches and enclosures have been found at Kemsley, Shrubsoles Hill, Kingsborough
Manor, Neats Court and Iwade.

231The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 253



7.0.601 During the Iron Age, a salt-extraction industry seems to have emerged in the Borough as evidenced
by finds of kiln lining from Neats Court and High Halstow. Cremation became the main burial rite, as seen
in several cemeteries that were established across the Borough, for example at Milton Regis, Faversham,
and Borden.

7.0.602 During the Roman period, Swale played an important role. The main London to Dover (via
Canterbury) Road – Watling Street – ran roughly along the line of the A2 and along it were at least 20
Roman villas, for example at Blacklands, Bax Farm, Sheldwich and Borden. Many of these were close to
the creeks that penetrate inland and which were probably transportation routes for the major salt-making
and pottery fabrication industries in the area – the marshes north of Upchurch and Lower Halstow contain
very many salt and pottery manufacturing sites. Swale also had an extensive ritual landscape with a temple
at Boxted (scheduled monument), a walled cemetery near Sittingbourne, a Roman mausoleum at Stone
Chapel (scheduled monument) and a possible temple at Luddenham, as well as cremation and inhumation
cemeteries from across the Borough.

7.0.603 Numerous Roman settlement sites have also been found across Swale. During the Anglo-Saxon
period several important centres emerged. Faversham, Milton Regis and Minster became estate centres
and trading places and there were numerous small settlements across the Borough. Early churches were
also found at Teynham, Minster (being accompanied by a 7th century nunnery) and Newington. Early
cemeteries containing grave goods have also been found across the Borough including at Milton, Faversham
and the Meads, Sittingbourne.

7.0.604 Maritime trade is indicated by the Graveney Boat, which dates to the late 9th century and is now
in the National Maritime Museum. During the Medieval period, Faversham continued to be an important
centre focused on the Abbey (founded 1148) whilst Sittingbourne grew in importance and gradually overtook
Milton Regis. Queenborough was founded as an entirely new town and settlements spread across the
Borough. These are witnessed by the large number of churches and chapels, and high and low status
domestic buildings that still survive, as well as archaeological monuments such as salt mounds, deneholes,
field systems and fishtraps.

7.0.605 The Post Medieval period saw the rapid expansion of population and settlement in Swale. Key
industries were based here such as the nationally important gunpowder industry around Faversham,
ship-building in Sheerness and an emerging aviation industry on Sheppey, the archaeological remains of
which still survive. There is a wealth of surviving maritime heritage in the form of shipwrecks, barges (both
floating and hulks) docks and port installations. The continuing importance of the Borough in national and
international affairs is demonstrated by the wide range of military sites that still exist in Swale – ranging
from the 17th century defences of Sheerness to the stop lines dating from both World Wars. Many historic
structures relating to these themes still survive. Often, they have no statutory protection, such as most of
the World War structures, and are therefore highly vulnerable. Numerous historic parks and gardens also
came into being during this period.

7.0.606 The Borough’s archaeological heritage sites in a landscape that is also characterised by many
survivals from the past, are as described in the Historic Landscape Characterisation Survey (2001). The
landscape that is visible today is the result of many centuries of evolution and the pattern of roads, tracks,
field boundaries and hedgerows that gives the modern landscape its character is firmly rooted in the past.

7.0.607 The NPPF requires that planning authorities set out “a positive strategy for the conservation and
enjoyment of the historic environment.” The Swale Heritage Strategy (adopted March 2020) presents the
overarching strategy for the management of the historic environment in Swale. The Strategy contains a
detailed thematic review of the heritage of the Borough, identifies its vulnerabilities and opportunities and
makes recommendations for the future management of the heritage resource.

7.0.608 Individual archaeological sites will have their own particular vulnerabilities but the archaeological
resource of the Borough will generally be vulnerable to natural processes such as erosion and climate
change, rural activities such as ploughing and other agricultural techniques, construction and development,
including utilities, services and infrastructure works, change of use and general neglect. All of these serve

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021232

Development management policies7

Page 254



to degrade the archaeological resource and reduce its significance and potential for improving life in the
Borough. Swale Borough Council’s Swale Heritage at Risk register identifies 48 heritage assets currently
at risk in the Borough, including 8 of the Borough’s conservation areas.

7.0.609 Swale’s archaeological sites provide a great opportunity for enhancing life in the Borough. They
can contribute to creating a sense of place by connecting people with the past and adding interest and
character, thus helping new development integrate into historic townscapes and landscapes. Historic
England has provided guidance on how heritage can bring educational, health and well-being benefits.
Heritage sites also bring economic benefits through tourism, whether arising directly from people visiting
the monuments or indirectly by increasing the attractiveness of places containing archaeological sites.

7.0.610 The NPPF defines significance as ‘The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations
because of its heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic.
Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.’
Archaeological significance derives from whether the heritage asset ‘holds, or potentially holds, evidence
of past human activity worthy of expert investigation at some point.’ When preparing development proposals
that affect heritage assets it is essential that the heritage interest of the site is correctly assessed. When
the heritage interest is an archaeological site, the assessment should include a desk-based assessment
and, when necessary, archaeological fieldwork. The Borough Council can advise on the requirements of
the assessment and Historic England has produced guidance on writing Statements of Heritage Significance .

7.0.611 Swale’s archaeological resource includes both designated and non-designated heritage assets.
Designated heritage assets are those protected by law. These include Scheduled Monuments which are
mostly archaeological sites and monuments. Other designated assets will also have an archaeological
component. Listed Buildings, Registered Parks and Gardens, Protected Military Remains and Conservation
Areas all contain archaeological remains that must be treated appropriately within development control
processes.

7.0.612 Non-designated archaeological sites are often less visible than designated sites but nonetheless
play an important role, contributing to the character and distinctiveness of the Borough and providing a
focus for conservation and access projects, interpretation, education and research. Some are of equal
importance to designated heritage assets, designation often being a management tool rather than a
statement of significance. In such circumstances the asset must be subject to the policies for designated
assets. The Kent Historic Environment Record records almost 6,000 non-designated archaeological sites
and discoveries in the Borough.

7.0.613 There are several information resources for Swale’s archaeological heritage:

The Swale Heritage Strategy includes thematic reviews of the Borough’s heritage including a chapter
reviewing Swale’s archaeological heritage.
The Kent Historic Environment Record is the main database of archaeological discoveries and activities
and built heritage assets in Kent.
The National Heritage List for England contains information on all designated heritage assets.
Kent Farmsteads Guidance (2014, Historic England and Kent Downs AONB Team)
The Kent Gardens Trust are currently reviewing many of the Swale sites in the Kent Compendium of
Parks and Gardens .
‘Archaeologia Cantiana’ (the journal of the Kent Archaeological Society) and the ‘Kent Archaeological
Review’(the journal of the former Council for Kentish Archaeology)

233The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

7Development management policies

Page 255

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/statements-heritage-significance-advice-note-12/
https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/strategies-and-policies/swales-heritage-strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/HER
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list
https://www.kentgardenstrust.org.uk/research-projects/reports/?projId=11
https://www.kentgardenstrust.org.uk/research-projects/reports/?projId=11


Policy DM 43

Archaeological Heritage

The Council will promote the enjoyment of Swale borough’s archaeological resource through the
protection and enhancement of archaeological sites, monuments and historic landscape features, and
will seek to encourage and develop their educational, recreational and tourist potential through research,
public access, management and interpretation.

Where possible developers should seek to use Swale’s archaeological assets to shape their
development proposals, provide interest and character and protect the assets.

The framework for the management and enjoyment of Swale’s archaeological heritage is the Swale
Heritage Strategy 2020 - 2032 (adopted 2020).

Development proposals affecting heritage assets with an archaeological interest must be accompanied
by a desk-based assessment, and if necessary by archaeological fieldwork, that:

• Characterises the nature, extent and condition of the archaeological deposits in the development
area;

• Assesses the significance of the deposits and the contribution made by their setting;

• Describes and assesses the impact of the development proposals on the archaeological deposits,
their significance, and their setting; and

• Describes how the archaeological deposits will be protected during development. Where this is not
possible the assessment should clearly justify why this is not possible and should describe the proposals
for mitigating any impacts.

Development proposals leading to substantial harm to the archaeological interest of designated heritage
assets such as Scheduled Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens, Protected Military Remains
or other heritage assets of comparable significance will normally be refused.

Where development proposals affect non-designated heritage assets with an archaeological interest,
the Borough Council would expect the archaeological deposits to be preserved in-situ. Where this is
not possible clear justification will be required. Where the justification is accepted, a programme of
archaeological recording may be required to be carried out. The type/extent of fieldwork will be
appropriate to the significance of the archaeological deposits andmust be carried out by an appropriately
qualified contractor following a written specification agreed by the Borough Council. The programme
of recording will include all phases of desk-based assessment and fieldwork, post-excavation analysis,
publication of the results and deposition of the site archive in an appropriate repository.

The keeping and grazing of horses

Policy DM 44

The keeping and grazing of horses

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021234

Development management policies7

Page 256



8 Implementation and monitoring arrangements
8.0.1 This chapter sets out the council’s approach toward ensuring that the strategy of the Local Plan is
delivered, what the risks are and how they will be minimised.

Implementation

8.0.2 The successful implementation of the Local Plan vision and objectives cannot be achieved by the
council acting alone. A wide range of stakeholders have been involved at various stages in the preparation
of the Local Plan and the council will continue to work in partnership with public, private and voluntary
sector agencies to establish robust delivery mechanisms and make the most of funding opportunities in
order to deliver the strategy.

8.0.3 It is recognised that there are external factors, which will have an influence on delivering the Local
Plan strategy: from the implementation of plans and strategies produced at national and regional levels to
the decisions and actions of individual business. The Local Plan, however, provides a clear and robust
framework for development across the Borough and will have an important role in influencing investment
decisions and co-ordinating action to support the efficient and effective delivery of the strategy.

8.0.4 For the council, the principle means of delivering the policies and proposals of the Local Plan will
be through the development management process and the determination and implementation of planning
applications for the development and use of land and buildings over the plan period. This encompasses
pre-application discussions, the use of Planning Performance Agreements (PPAs) and tools such as design
review. Where appropriate the council will develop detailed guidance to support the implementation of
specific policies or site allocations. The Council already has a number of Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPDs) covering a variety of topics and which guide development, including at key regeneration locations
within the Borough such as the Queenborough and Rushenden Masterplan SPD. A new SPD concerning
development in Sittingbourne Town Centre is currently being progressed and SPDs on Sustainable Design
and Construction and Housing are planned. Details of existing SPDs, other planning guidance and SPDs
to be prepared are available on the council’s website.

8.0.5 Throughout the development of the Local Plan the council has worked in partnership with
infrastructure providers to identify infrastructure required to enable new development in Swale. The
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) identifies the critical infrastructure necessary to support delivery of the
Local Plan over the plan period, delivery timing and costs and potential barriers to implementation. The
Council will continue to work with infrastructure providers and other stakeholders in developing the IDP,
reviewing it on a regular basis to provide an up to date picture on the delivery of the identified infrastructure.

8.0.6 Neighbourhood Plans also have a role to play in the delivery of the Local Plan strategic policies,
co-ordinating implementation and delivery at a local level. A number of communities have sought to develop
their own plan and the council will continue to support those communities who wish to bring forward a
Neighbourhood Plan for their area.

8.0.7 Potential risks to delivery and the actions the council could take to mitigate these risks are:

1. Sites do not come forward for development quickly enough or anticipated delivery rates are not as
expected – the council would seek to engage with developers and landowners to identify the constraints
on individual site delivery and the actions needed to unlock the site and facilitate delivery. If appropriate,
actions to improve housing delivery would be identified through a Housing Action Plan.

2. Lack of sufficient funding and economic viability – the delivery of the Local Plan is dependent on the
availability of funding from both the private sector and public bodies. The IDP has also identified the
expected sources of funding for the necessary infrastructure to support growth. Where this has not
yet been secured the Council will work with partners to achieve this. The viability impacts of the Local
Plan policies have been tested through the Whole Plan Viability Assessment. This has found that
development of the proposed Local Plan allocations canmeet the policy and infrastructure requirements
in full. However, it is recognised that over the lifetime of the Plan individual sites may incur unforeseen

235The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

8Implementation and monitoring arrangements

Page 257



costs in their development or there may be variations in the wider economy and housing market, which
may restrict developers’ ability to provide affordable housing or contributions towards infrastructure
or indeed prevent some sites from being able to come forward for development at all. In these cases,
the council will be flexible in its approach.

3. Non delivery of critical and essential infrastructure – delivery risks can arise in relation to costs if they
are higher than anticipated or there is delay to the timing of infrastructure delivery. Risks to infrastructure
delivery are, where known, identified in IDP. In the event of a failure to deliver the necessary
infrastructure the council will engage with developers and providers to identify alternative sources of
funding and/or projects to mitigate development impacts.

4. Failure to meet key targets - pro-longed under performance in housing delivery would be a significant
risk to the successful delivery of the Local Plan growth strategy and the council may have to consider
a review of the Local Plan in such circumstances.

Monitoring

8.0.8 Successfully achieving the Local Plan vision and objectives is dependent on the extent to which
the Plan policies are being implemented effectively. All policies in the Local Plan will be monitored regularly
against policy specific indicators, as set out in the monitoring framework (Appendix *). This will help determine
if any action is necessary to ensure that the policies are achieving the intended policy outcomes, whether
they are having unintended consequences and whether they are still relevant or require a review.

8.0.9 The indicators in theMonitoring Framework includes existing indicators used tomeasure performance
and new indicators that will be used going forward. The indicators have been selected where information
is available to ensure that the policies can be monitored on a regular basis.

8.0.10 The housing trajectory set out in this plan will be used to monitor housing delivery. The housing
trajectory does not prescribe when sites should come forward but does make some assumptions regarding
likely delivery and anticipated rates of development taking into account available technical evidence, any
developer interest, how actively a site is being promoted and whether the site is already being progressed
through the development management process. The housing trajectory will be used for monitoring the
phasing of housing delivery and for calculating the five-year housing land position statement.

8.0.11 The main mechanism for reporting the monitoring information is the Authority Monitoring Report
(AMR), which will be published on a regular basis. In addition to the AMR, the council will also monitor
housing delivery through the annual Statement of Five Year Housing Supply. The Sustainability Appraisal
of the Local Plan also provides for monitoring and reporting of the significant environmental effects of
implementing the Local Plan within the AMR.

Reviewing the Local Plan

8.0.12 The Council are legally required to review the Local Plan at least once every five years from the
date of adoption to assess whether the Plan or any of its policies needs to be updated.

8.0.13 Monitoring of the policy indicators through the AMR will be a key consideration in determining
whether a review of the Local Plan, in whole or part, should be triggered. Other factors or changed
circumstances that could be a determining factor in triggering a review include:

Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework and legislation;
Updated assessments of housing and employment needs;
Performance in relation to sustainability appraisal indicators;
Cross boundary strategic issues.

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021236

Implementation and monitoring arrangements8

Page 258



9 Glossary of terms

237The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

9Glossary of terms

Page 259



10 Appendices

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021238

Appendices10

Page 260



10
.1
M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
am

ew
or
k

D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

C
on
si
de
rr
ev
ie
w
of
Lo
ca
l

P
la
n
if
su
st
ai
ne
d
un
de
r

de
liv
er
y
ag
ai
ns
t

re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

In
ab
ili
ty
to
de
m
on
st
ra
te

th
ro
ug
h
ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y

de
liv
er
y
of
ho
us
in
g

re
qu
ire
m
en
to
ve
rp
la
n

pe
rio
d

A
nn
ua
lly

D
el
iv
er
y
pe
ra
nn
um

in
lin
e

w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y

N
um

be
ro
fn
et
ad
di
tio
na
l

dw
el
lin
gs

P
ol
ic
y
S
T1
:D

ev
el
op
m
en
t

ne
ed
s
fo
rt
he

B
or
ou
gh

20
22

to
20
38

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

vi
a
bu
ild
in
g

co
nt
ro
lr
ec
or
ds
/N
H
B
C

re
co
rd
s/
si
te
vi
si
ts

C
um

ul
at
iv
el
y
ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

C
um

ul
at
iv
e
ho
us
in
g
ta
rg
et

m
et

P
ro
gr
es
s
ag
ai
ns
th
ou
si
ng

ta
rg
et
fo
rp
la
n
pe
rio
d

A
nn
ua
lly

A
tl
ea
st
a
5
ye
ar
su
pp
ly
of

ho
us
in
g
la
nd

(p
lu
s
bu
ffe
r)

N
um

be
ro
fy
ea
rs
ho
us
in
g

la
nd

su
pp
ly

N
o
in
cr
ea
se

in
em

pl
oy
m
en
tf
lo
or
sp
ac
e
on

al
lo
ca
te
d
si
te
s
ov
er
fiv
e

ye
ar
ro
lli
ng

pe
rio
d

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

M
ai
nt
ai
n
em

pl
oy
m
en
tl
an
d

su
pp
ly
to
de
liv
er
41

he
ct
ar
es

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

A
m
ou
nt
of
ne
w

em
pl
oy
m
en
tl
an
d

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

D
ire
ct
m
os
td
ev
el
op
m
en
t

to
m
os
ts
us
ta
in
ab
le

se
ttl
em

en
ts

N
um

be
ra
nd

pe
rc
en
ta
ge

of
ne
ta
dd
iti
on
al
dw

el
lin
gs

an
d
em

pl
oy
m
en
t

P
ol
ic
y
S
T2
:S

w
al
e’
s

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
tra
te
gy

an
d

se
ttl
em

en
th
ie
ra
rc
hy

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

vi
a
bu
ild
in
g

co
nt
ro
lr
ec
or
ds
/N
H
B
C

re
co
rd
s/
si
te
vi
si
ts

flo
or
sp
ac
e
co
m
pl
et
ed

w
ith
in
ea
ch

tie
r/s
et
tle
m
en
t

of
bo
ro
ug
h
hi
er
ar
ch
y

M
on
ito
re
d
th
ro
ug
h
ot
he
r

po
lic
y
in
di
ca
to
rs

P
ol
ic
y
S
T3
:D

el
iv
er
in
g

su
st
ai
na
bl
e
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

in
S
w
al
e

O
N
S
La
bo
ur
M
ar
ke
td
at
a

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

N
et
in
cr
ea
se

in
jo
bs

ov
er

ro
lli
ng

5
ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
fj
ob
s
cr
ea
te
d
by

in
du
st
ry

P
ol
ic
y
S
T4
:B

ui
ld
in
g
a

st
ro
ng
,c
om

pe
tit
iv
e

ec
on
om

y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

P
er
m
itt
ed

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

do
es

no
tr
ef
le
ct
ho
us
in
g

m
ix

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

D
el
iv
er
y
of
pl
an
ni
ng

pe
rm
is
si
on
s
fo
rh
ou
si
ng

pr
ov
id
es

m
ix
of
ho
us
in
g

th
at
ac
co
rd
s
w
ith

th
e

S
H
M
A

S
iz
e
an
d
ty
pe

of
ho
us
in
g

ap
pr
ov
ed

P
ol
ic
y
S
T5
:D

el
iv
er
in
g
a

w
id
e
ch
oi
ce

of
hi
gh

qu
al
ity

ho
m
es

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

vi
a
bu
ild
in
g

co
nt
ro
lr
ec
or
ds
/N
H
B
C

re
co
rd
s/
si
te
vi
si
ts

Le
ss

th
an

re
qu
ire
d

pe
rc
en
ta
ge

ac
hi
ev
ed

O
n
re
si
de
nt
ia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
75
%
of

P
er
ce
nt
ag
e
of
re
si
de
nt
ia
l

un
its

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

th
at
ar
e

ac
ce
ss
ib
ile

un
its

to
m
ee
tM

4(
2)

st
an
da
rd
s
an
d
25
%
of

un
its

to
m
ee
tM

4(
3)

st
an
da
rd
s

239The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 261



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at
w
er
e

re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s
of

P
ol
ic
y
S
T6

an
d
su
pp
or
te
d

on
ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
S
T6
:R

eq
ui
rin
g

go
od

de
si
gn

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at
w
er
e

re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s
of

P
ol
ic
y
S
T7

an
d
su
pp
or
te
d

on
ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
S
T7
:H

ea
lth

an
d

w
el
lb
ei
ng

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

D
is
cu
ss
io
ns

w
ith

in
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e
de
liv
er
y

N
o
pr
og
re
ss

on
de
liv
er
y
of

in
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e
in
lin
e
w
ith

id
en
tif
ie
d
tim

es
ca
le
s

A
nn
ua
lly

D
el
iv
er
y
of
in
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

tim
es
ca
le
s
se
to
ut
in

In
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e
D
el
iv
er
y

P
la
n

P
ro
gr
es
s
on

de
liv
er
y
of

in
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e

P
ol
ic
y
S
T8
:P

la
nn
in
g
fo
r

In
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e

D
is
cu
ss
io
ns

w
ith

de
liv
er
y

le
ad
s

le
ad
s
an
d
ot
he
rp
ar
tn
er
s

to
id
en
tif
y
is
su
es

ar
ou
nd

de
liv
er
y

In
ve
st
ig
at
e
m
ec
ha
ni
sm

s
to
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

N
o
ne
tl
os
s
of
co
m
m
un
ity

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
ac
ro
ss

th
e
di
st
ric
t

ov
er
th
e
pl
an

pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

in
vo
lv
in
g

co
m
m
un
ity

fa
ci
lit
ie
s

C
en
su
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

In
cr
ea
se

in
m
od
al
sh
ar
e

ov
er
10

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

W
al
ki
ng
,c
yc
lin
g,
bu
s
an
d

ra
il
m
od
al
sh
ar
e
fo
rt
ra
ve
l

P
ol
ic
y
S
T9
:P

ro
m
ot
in
g

su
st
ai
na
bl
e
tra
ns
po
rt
an
d

ac
tiv
e
tra
ve
l

to
w
or
k
jo
ur
ne
y

(e
xp
re
ss
ed

as
a

pe
rc
en
ta
ge

of
al
lt
rip
s)

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ic
io
ns

an
d

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

10
0%

of
el
ig
ib
le

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
to
m
ak
e

co
nt
rib
ut
io
n

C
on
tri
bu
tio
ns

m
ad
e
to

tra
ns
po
rt
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
to

su
pp
or
td
el
iv
er
y
of
ne
tw
or
k

m
on
ito
rin
g
of
S
ec
tio
n
10
6

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
id
en
tif
ie
d
in

ID
P
or
S
w
al
e
Tr
an
sp
or
t

S
tra
te
gy

A
gr
ee
m
en
ts
an
d
re
po
rte
d

th
ro
ug
h
an
nu
al

In
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e
Fu
nd
in
g

S
ta
te
m
en
t

N
at
ur
al
E
ng
la
nd

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ne
tl
os
s
of
de
si
gn
at
ed

w
ild
lif
e
si
te
s
or
pr
ot
ec
te
d

sp
ec
ie
s

C
ha
ng
e
in
ar
ea
s
of

bi
od
iv
er
si
ty
im
po
rta
nc
e

P
ol
ic
y
S
T1
0:
C
on
se
rv
in
g

an
d
en
ha
nc
in
g
th
e
na
tu
ra
l

en
vi
ro
nm

en
t

K
en
tW

ild
lif
e
Tr
us
t

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021240

Appendices10

Page 262



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

H
is
to
ric

E
ng
la
nd

H
er
ita
ge

at
R
is
k
R
eg
is
te
r

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

R
ed
uc
tio
n
in
nu
m
be
ro
f

he
rit
ag
e
as
se
ts
at
ris
k

N
um

be
ro
fh
er
ita
ge

as
se
ts

on
th
e
H
er
ita
ge

at
R
is
k

R
eg
is
te
r

P
ol
ic
y
S
T1
1:
C
on
se
rv
in
g

an
d
en
ha
nc
in
g
th
e
hi
st
or
ic

en
vi
ro
nm

en
t(
S
ee

al
so

in
di
ca
to
rs
fo
rP

ol
ic
ie
s

D
M
38

to
D
M
42
)

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

at
le
as
t1
8

m
on
th
s
pr
io
rt
o
fir
st

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

in
ho
us
in
g

tra
je
ct
or
y

A
nn
ua
lly

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

N
um

be
ro
fd
w
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

P
ol
ic
y
A
1:
E
xi
st
in
g

co
m
m
itt
ed

st
ra
te
gi
c

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

D
el
iv
er
y
of
ad
di
tio
na
l

em
pl
oy
m
en
tf
lo
or
sp
ac
e

ea
ch

ye
ar

A
m
ou
nt
of
flo
or
sp
ac
e

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

B
rin
g
si
te
s
fo
rw
ar
d
la
te
ri
n

pl
an

pe
rio
d
if
ap
pr
op
ria
te
,

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

5
ye
ar

ho
us
in
g
la
nd

su
pp
ly

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

at
le
as
t1
8

m
on
th
s
pr
io
rt
o
fir
st

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

in
ho
us
in
g

tra
je
ct
or
y

A
nn
ua
lly

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

N
um

be
ro
fd
w
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

P
ol
ic
y
A
2:
E
xi
st
in
g

co
m
m
itt
ed

ho
us
in
g

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

B
rin
g
si
te
s
fo
rw
ar
d
la
te
ri
n

pl
an

pe
rio
d
if
ap
pr
op
ria
te
,

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

5
ye
ar

ho
us
in
g
la
nd

su
pp
ly

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

flo
or
sp
ac
e
co
m
pl
et
io
n

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

w
ith
in
3
ye
ar
s
of

ad
op
tio
n

A
nn
ua
lly

D
el
iv
er
y
of
ad
di
tio
na
l

em
pl
oy
m
en
tf
lo
or
sp
ac
e

ea
ch

ye
ar

A
m
ou
nt
of
flo
or
sp
ac
e

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

on
ea
ch

al
lo
ca
tio
n

P
ol
ic
y
A
3:
E
xi
st
in
g

co
m
m
itt
ed

em
pl
oy
m
en
t

al
lo
ca
tio
ns

241The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 263



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

R
ev
ie
w
ci
rc
um

st
an
ce
s
fo
r

de
la
y
an
d
ta
ke

ac
tio
n

La
ck

of
pr
og
re
ss

in
co
m
pl
et
io
n
of
m
as
te
rp
la
n

A
nn
ua
lly

A
pp
ro
va
lo
fm

at
er
pl
an

by
S
w
al
e
B
or
ou
gh

C
ou
nc
il

w
ith
in
2
ye
ar
s
of
ad
op
tio
n

of
th
e
Lo
ca
lP
la
n

A
pp
ro
va
lo
fm

as
te
rp
la
n

P
ol
ic
y
M
U
1:
E
as
to
f

Fa
ve
rs
ha
m
ex
pa
ns
io
n

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

at
le
as
t1
8

m
on
th
s
pr
io
rt
o
fir
st

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

in
ho
us
in
g

tra
je
ct
or
y

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

N
um

be
ro
fd
w
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

flo
or
sp
ac
e
co
m
pl
et
io
n

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

w
ith
in
3
ye
ar
s
of

ad
op
tio
n

D
el
iv
er
y
of
ad
di
tio
na
l

em
pl
oy
m
en
tf
lo
or
sp
ac
e
in

lin
e
w
ith

ag
re
ed

ph
as
in
g

pl
an

A
m
ou
nt
of
em

pl
oy
m
en
t

flo
or
sp
ac
e
pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

R
ev
ie
w
ci
rc
um

st
an
ce
s
fo
r

de
la
y
an
d
ta
ke

ac
tio
n

La
ck

of
pr
og
re
ss

in
co
m
pl
et
io
n
of
m
as
te
rp
la
n

A
nn
ua
lly

A
pp
ro
va
lo
fm

at
er
pl
an

by
S
w
al
e
B
or
ou
gh

C
ou
nc
il

w
ith
in
2
ye
ar
s
of
ad
op
tio
n

of
th
e
Lo
ca
lP
la
n

A
pp
ro
va
lo
fm

as
te
rp
la
n

P
ol
ic
y
A
O
1:
Te
yn
ha
m

A
re
a
of
O
pp
or
tu
ni
ty

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

at
le
as
t1
8

m
on
th
s
pr
io
rt
o
fir
st

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

in
ho
us
in
g

tra
je
ct
or
y

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

N
um

be
ro
fd
w
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

flo
or
sp
ac
e
co
m
pl
et
io
n

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

w
ith
in
3
ye
ar
s
of

ad
op
tio
n

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

A
m
ou
nt
of
em

pl
oy
m
en
t

flo
or
sp
ac
e
pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

at
le
as
t1
8

m
on
th
s
pr
io
rt
o
fir
st

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

in
ho
us
in
g

tra
je
ct
or
y

A
nn
ua
lly

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

N
um

be
ro
fd
w
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

Po
lic
y
A4

:N
ea
m
es

Fo
rs
ta
l

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021242

Appendices10

Page 264



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

flo
or
sp
ac
e
co
m
pl
et
io
n

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

w
ith
in
3
ye
ar
s
of

ad
op
tio
n

A
nn
ua
lly

D
el
iv
er
y
of
ad
di
tio
na
l

em
pl
oy
m
en
tf
lo
or
sp
ac
e

ea
ch

ye
ar

A
m
ou
nt
of
flo
or
sp
ac
e

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

P
ol
ic
y
A
5:
La
m
be
rh
ur
st

Fa
rm

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ra
nd

ty
pe

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pe
rm
itt
ed

w
ith
in
re
ge
ne
ra
tio
n
ar
ea

P
ol
ic
y
R
eg
en

1:
Th
e
po
rt

of
S
he
er
ne
ss

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n
A
re
a

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ra
nd

ty
pe

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pe
rm
itt
ed

w
ith
n
th
e
re
ge
ne
ra
tio
n

ar
ea

P
ol
ic
y
R
eg
en

2:
Si
tti
ng
bo
ur
ne

To
w
n
C
en
tre

R
ev
ie
w
ci
rc
um

st
an
ce
s
fo
r

de
la
y
an
d
ta
ke

ac
tio
n

La
ck

of
pr
og
re
ss

in
co
m
pl
et
io
n
of
m
as
te
rp
la
n

A
nn
ua
lly

A
pp
ro
va
lo
fm

at
er
pl
an

by
S
w
al
e
B
or
ou
gh

C
ou
nc
il

w
ith
in
2
ye
ar
s
of
ad
op
tio
n

of
th
e
Lo
ca
lP
la
n

Ap
pr
ov
al
of
m
as
te
rp
la
n
fo
r

th
e
R
us
he
nd
en

So
ut
h
ar
ea

P
ol
ic
y
R
eg
en

3:
Q
ue
en
bo
ro
ug
h
an
d

R
us
he
nd
en

R
eg
en
er
at
io
n

A
re
a

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

Id
en
tif
y
pr
ob
le
m
s
an
d

ba
rr
ie
rs
to
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

vi
a
di
sc
us
si
on
s
w
ith

in
te
re
st
ed

pa
rti
es

N
o
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

re
ce
iv
ed

at
le
as
t1
8

m
on
th
s
pr
io
rt
o
fir
st

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

in
ho
us
in
g

tra
je
ct
or
y

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
n
lin
e
w
ith

ho
us
in
g
tra
je
ct
or
y
ph
as
in
g

N
um

be
ro
fd
w
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

w
ith
in
th
e
R
us
he
nd
en

S
ou
th
ar
ea

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
pa
rtn
er
s,

de
ve
lo
pe
rs
an
d

la
nd
ow

ne
rs
to
id
en
tif
y

m
ec
ha
ni
m
s
to
fa
ci
lit
at
e

an
d
ac
ce
le
ra
te
de
liv
er
y

243The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 265



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ra
nd

ty
pe

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
w
ith
in

re
ge
ne
ra
tio
n
ar
ea

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ra
nd

ty
pe

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
w
ith
in

N
ei
gh
bo
ur
ho
od

P
la
n
ar
ea

P
ol
ic
y
N
P
1:
Fa
ve
rs
ha
m

C
re
ek

N
ei
gh
bo
ur
ho
od

P
la
n

D
ev
el
op
m
en
t

M
an
ag
em

en
tP

ol
ic
y
–
no

in
di
ca
to
r

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
1:
G
en
er
al

de
ve
lo
pm

en
tc
rit
er
ia

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at
w
er
e

re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s
of

Po
lic
y
D
M
2
an
d
su
pp
or
te
d

on
ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
2:
A
ch
ie
vi
ng

go
od

de
si
gn

B
R
E
E
A
M
de
si
gn

st
ag
e

an
d
po
st
co
ns
tru
ct
io
n

ce
rti
fic
at
es

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
R
ev
ie
w

an
d
S
w
al
e
C
lim

at
e
an
d

A
nu
nu
al
ly

10
0%

of
el
ig
ib
le
bu
ild
in
gs

co
ns
tru
ct
ed

to
pr
es
cr
ib
ed

st
an
da
rd

P
ro
po
rti
on

of
no
n-
re
si
de
nt
ia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
m
ee
tin
g

B
R
E
E
A
M
Ve
ry
G
oo
d
or

E
xc
el
le
nt
st
an
da
rd

Po
lic
y
D
M
3:
M
iti
ga
tin
g
an
d

ad
ap
tin
g
to
cl
im
at
e
ch
an
ge

th
ro
ug
h
su
st
ai
na
bl
e
de
si
gn

an
d
co
ns
tru
ct
io
n

E
co
lo
gi
ca
lE
m
er
ge
nc
y

A
ct
io
n
P
la
n
P
ro
gr
es
s

R
ep
or
ts
.

In
te
rim

an
d
Fi
na
l

as
se
ss
m
en
tc
er
tif
ic
at
es

10
0%

of
re
si
de
nt
ia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
m
ee
tin
g

pr
es
cr
ib
ed

ra
tin
g

P
ro
po
rti
on

of
re
si
de
nt
ia
l

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
m
ee
tin
g

re
le
va
nt
H
om

e
Q
ua
lit
y

M
ar
k

S
ub
m
itt
ed

E
ne
rg
y
an
d

S
us
ta
in
ab
ili
ty
S
ta
te
m
en
ts

A
ll
el
ig
ib
le
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts

m
ee
tp
ol
ic
y
ta
rg
et

P
ro
po
rti
on

of
el
ig
ib
le

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
th
at
m
ee
t

ta
rg
et
of
:

a.
50
%
ca
rb
on

re
du
ct
io
n

b.
75
%
ca
rb
on

re
du
ct
io
n
(fr
om

20
25
)

c.
10
0%

ca
rb
on

re
du
ct
io
n
(fr
om

20
30
)

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
3
an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021244

Appendices10

Page 266



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

D
at
a
pu
bl
is
he
d
by

D
ep
ar
tm
en
tf
or
B
us
in
es
s,

E
ne
rg
y
an
d
In
du
st
ria
l

S
tra
te
gy

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
t5

an
d
10

ye
ar
s

R
ed
uc
tio
n
ov
er
5
an
d
10

ye
ar
s

B
or
ou
gh

pe
rc
ap
ita

re
du
ct
io
ns

in
C
O
²

em
is
si
on
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
4:
S
us
ta
in
ab
le

en
er
gy

pr
od
uc
tio
n,

di
st
rib
ut
io
n
an
d
st
or
ag
e

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

To
in
cr
ea
se

ge
ne
ra
tio
n
of

su
st
ai
na
bl
e
en
er
gy

in
B
or
ou
gh

N
um

be
ro
fs
us
ta
in
ab
le

en
er
gy

sc
he
m
es

pe
rm
itt
ed

A
ll
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
m
ee
tin
g

po
lic
y
th
re
sh
ol
ds

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at
w
er
e

re
fu
se
d
pl
an
ni
ng

pe
rm
is
si
on

du
e
to
no
t

pr
ov
id
in
g
an

ap
pr
op
ria
te

E
ne
rg
y
M
as
te
rp
la
n
in

ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

P
ol
ic
y

D
M
4

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
to
w
n

ce
nt
re
us
es

lo
ca
te
d

ou
ts
id
e
of
pr
im
ar
y

sh
op
pi
ng

ar
ea
s/
id
en
tif
ie
d

ce
nt
re
s

A
nn
ua
lly

To
di
re
ct
m
aj
or
ity

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
tt
o
pr
im
ar
y

sh
op
pi
ng

ar
ea
s,
to
w
n

ce
nt
re
s
an
d
lo
ca
ls
er
vi
ce

ce
nt
re
s
as

ap
pr
op
ria
te

A
m
ou
nt
of
ne
w

flo
or
ps
pa
ce

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

fo
rt
ow

n
ce
nt
re

us
es

in
:

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
5:
P
ro
po
sa
ls
fo
r

m
ai
n
to
w
n
ce
nt
re
us
es

a.
P
rim

ar
y
S
ho
pp
in
g

A
re
as

b.
ea
ch

id
en
tii
fe
d

ce
nt
re

c.
ot
he
rl
oc
at
io
ns

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
6
an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
6:
S
ho
pf
ro
nt
s,

si
gn
s
an
d
ad
ve
rti
se
m
en
ts

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

N
et
lo
ss

of
em

pl
oy
m
en
t

la
nd
/fl
oo
rs
pa
ce

af
te
r5

ye
ar
s

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
th
e
pl
an

pe
rio
d

M
in
im
is
e
lo
ss

of
em

pl
oy
m
en
t

la
nd
/fl
oo
rs
pa
ce

A
m
ou
nt
of
em

pl
oy
m
en
t

flo
or
sp
ac
e
lo
st
to

no
n-
em

pl
oy
m
en
tu
se
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
7:
Lo
ss

of
em

pl
oy
m
en
tf
lo
or
sp
ac
e

an
d
la
nd

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns
/p
er
m
is
si
on
s

an
d
flo
or
sp
ac
e

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
de
ve
lo
pm

en
tp
ro
po
sa
ls

pe
rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
8

A
m
ou
nt
an
d
ty
pe

of
em

pl
oy
m
en
tl
an
d

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

in
ru
ra
la
re
a
(b
y
lo
ca
tio
n)

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
8:
R
ur
al

ec
on
om

y

N
um

be
ro
fn
ew

or
im
pr
ov
ed

vi
si
to
re
co
no
m
y

fa
ci
lit
ie
s

245The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 267



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
9
an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

Po
lic
y
D
M
9:
H
ol
id
ay

pa
rk
s

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

A
ll
m
aj
or
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts

pe
rm
itt
ed

ar
e
su
pp
or
te
d

by
an

ap
pr
op
ria
te

as
se
ss
m
en
ti
n
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

th
e
P
ol
ic
y

N
um

be
ro
fa
pp
lic
at
io
ns

re
fu
se
d
du
e
to
no
t

pr
ov
id
in
g
a
Tr
an
sp
or
t

S
ta
te
m
en
to
rT

ra
ns
po
rt

As
se
ss
m
en
tin

ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
10

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
10
:M

an
ag
in
g

tra
ns
po
rt
de
m
an
ds

an
d

im
pa
ct
s

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
de
ve
lo
pm

en
tp
ro
po
sa
ls

pe
rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
11

N
um

be
ro
fa
pp
lic
at
io
ns

re
fu
se
d
du
e
to
no
t

co
m
pl
yi
ng

w
ith

th
e
S
w
al
e

P
ar
ki
ng

S
P
D

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
11
:P

ar
ki
ng

A
ll
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
to
m
ak
e

pr
ov
is
io
n
in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

po
lic
y

N
um

be
ro
fe
le
ct
ric

ve
hi
cl
e

ch
ar
gi
ng

po
in
ts
pr
ov
id
ed

in
as
so
ci
at
io
n
w
ith

ne
w

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
12

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
12
:R

ur
al
la
ne
s

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

10
0%

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts

m
ee
tin
g
po
lic
y
th
re
sh
ol
ds

N
um

be
ro
fn
ew

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pr
ov
id
in
g

FF
TP

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
13
:B

ro
ad
ba
nd

in
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ta
rg
et

Th
e
pr
op
or
tio
n
of
al
ln
ew

ho
us
in
g
pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

on
sm

al
la
nd

m
ed
iu
m
si
ze
d
si
te
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
14
:S

m
al
la
nd

m
ed
iu
m
si
te
s
fo
r

re
si
de
nt
ia
ld
ev
el
op
m
en
t

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
r

tri
gg
er
s
be
in
g
m
et
an
d

ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ts
th
at
m
ee
t

si
te
th
re
sh
ol
ds

pr
ov
id
e

re
qu
ire
d
af
fo
rd
ab
le

ho
us
in
g
pe
rc
en
ta
ge

N
um

be
ro
fa
ffo
rd
ab
le

dw
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

on
qu
al
ify
in
g

si
te
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
15
:A

ffo
rd
ab
le

ho
us
in
g

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

vi
a
bu
ild
in
g

co
nt
ro
lr
ec
or
ds
/N
H
B
C

re
co
rd
s/
si
te
vi
si
ts

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021246

Appendices10

Page 268



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
S
ec
tio
n
10
6

A
gr
ee
m
en
ts
an
d
re
po
rte
d

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

A
m
ou
nt
pa
id
in
fin
an
ci
al

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns

fo
rt
he

pr
ov
is
io
n
of
af
fo
rd
ab
le

ho
us
in
g

th
ro
ug
h
an
nu
al

In
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e
Fu
nd
in
g

S
ta
te
m
en
t

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ro
fa
ffo
rd
ab
le

dw
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

on
ru
ra
l

ex
ce
pt
io
n
si
te
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
16
:R

ur
al

ex
ce
pt
io
ns

ho
us
in
g

co
m
pl
et
io
ns

vi
a
bu
ild
in
g

co
nt
ro
lr
ec
or
ds
/N
H
B
C

re
co
rd
s/
si
te
vi
si
ts

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ne
tl
os
s
of
ex
is
tin
g

op
en

sp
ac
e
or
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
by

ty
pe

N
um

be
ro
fa
pp
lic
at
io
ns

in
vo
lv
in
g
lo
ss

of
ex
is
tin
g

op
en

sp
ac
e
or
re
cr
ea
tio
na
l

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
no
tm

ee
tin
g
po
lic
y

cr
ite
ria

Po
lic
y
D
M
17
:O

pe
n
sp
ac
e,

sp
or
ta
nd

re
cr
ea
tio
n

pr
ov
is
io
n

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

Le
ss

th
an

80
%
of
ne
w

ho
us
in
g
sc
he
m
es

pr
ov
id
e

op
en

sp
ac
e
(o
rf
in
an
ci
al

co
nt
rib
ut
io
n
in
lie
u
of

on
-s
ite

pr
ov
is
io
n)

O
pe
n
sp
ac
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
to

re
fle
ct
lo
ca
ls
ta
nd
ar
ds

A
m
ou
nt
of
op
en

sp
ac
e

in
cl
ud
ed

w
ith
in
ap
pr
ov
ed

ho
us
in
g
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pe
r

an
nu
m

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
S
ec
tio
n
10
6

A
gr
ee
m
en
ts
an
d
re
po
rte
d

E
nf
or
ce

ag
ai
ns
t

no
n-
co
m
pl
ia
nc
e
w
ith

S1
06

re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

C
on
tri
bu
tio
ns

no
tm

ad
e
in

lin
e
w
ith

S
10
6
tri
gg
er
s

N
o
ta
rg
et

A
m
ou
nt
of
op
en

sp
ac
e

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns

pr
ov
id
ed

fo
r

th
ro
ug
h
S1

06
co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns

th
ro
ug
h
an
nu
al

In
fra
st
ru
ct
ur
e
Fu
nd
in
g

S
ta
te
m
en
t

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ro
fp
ro
po
sa
ls
fo
r

ne
w
pa
rk
ho
m
es

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
18
:P

ar
k
ho
m
es

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

C
on
si
de
rt
he

ne
ed

to
al
lo
ca
te
sp
ec
ifi
c
si
te
s

th
ro
ug
h
a
Lo
ca
lP
la
n

re
vi
ew

In
ab
ili
ty
to
de
m
on
st
ra
te

as
se
ss
ed

ne
ed
s
w
ill
be

m
et

A
nn
ua
lly
an
d
cu
m
ul
at
iv
el
y

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

M
ee
ta
ss
es
se
d
ne
ed
s

ac
co
rd
in
g
to
S
w
al
e
G
TA

A
(2
01
8)

N
um

be
ro
fg
yp
sy

an
d

tra
ve
lle
rp
itc
he
s
an
d

Tr
av
el
lin
g
S
ho
w
pe
op
le

pl
ot
s
ap
pr
ov
ed

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
19
:G

yp
sy

an
d

tra
ve
lle
rs
ite
s

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ro
fu
ni
ts
pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d
co
m
pl
et
ed

Po
lic
y
D
M
20
:D

w
el
lin
gs

fo
r

ru
ra
lw

or
ke
rs

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s
an
d

ho
us
in
g
co
m
pl
et
io
ns

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ro
fr
ep
la
ce
m
en
t

dw
el
lin
gs

pe
rm
itt
ed

an
d

co
m
pl
et
ed

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
21
:E

xt
en
si
on
s

to
an
d
th
e
re
pl
ac
em

en
to
f

dw
el
lin
gs

in
th
e
ru
ra
la
re
a

247The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 269



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
21

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
22

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
22
:A

lte
ra
tio
ns

an
d
ex
te
ns
io
ns

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
23

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
23
:E

xt
en
di
ng

th
e
ga
rd
en

of
a
dw

el
lin
g
in

th
e
ru
ra
la
re
a

M
on
ito
rin
g
of
pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nn
ua
lly

A
ll
el
ig
ib
le
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts

to
ac
hi
ev
e
ne
tg
ai
n
in
lin
e

w
ith

po
lic
y

N
um

be
ro
fa
pp
lic
at
io
ns

ac
hi
ev
in
g
ne
tg
ai
n
of
20
%

in
bi
od
iv
er
si
ty

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
24
:B

io
di
ve
rs
ity
,

ge
ol
og
ic
al
co
ns
er
va
tio
n

an
d
bi
od
iv
er
si
ty
ne
tg
ai
n

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
25

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
25
:C

on
se
rv
in
g

an
d
en
ha
nc
in
g
va
lu
ed

la
nd
sc
ap
es

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
fa
pp
lic
at
io
ns

fo
r

m
aj
or
de
ve
lo
pm

en
tt
ha
t

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
26

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
26
:A

O
N
B

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

O
ne

or
m
or
e
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

th
at
w
ou
ld

un
de
rm
in
e
pu
rp
os
es

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

th
at
w
ou
ld
un
de
rm
in
e
on

pu
rp
os
e
of
ga
p

N
um

be
ra
nd

ty
pe

of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pe
rm
itt
ed

w
ith
in
Im
po
rta
nt

C
ou
nt
ry
si
de

G
ap
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
27
:I
m
po
rta
nt

Lo
ca
lC

ou
nt
ry
si
de

G
ap
s

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

O
ne

or
m
or
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
co
m
pl
et
ed

th
at
w
ou
ld
im
pa
ct
on

ch
ar
ac
te
ro
rl
oc
al

si
gn
ifi
ca
nc
e
of
LG

S

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
de
ve
lo
pm

en
tp
er
m
itt
ed

un
le
ss

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

po
lic
y

N
um

be
ro
fa
pp
lic
at
io
ns

m
ad
e
af
fe
ct
in
g
LG

S
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
28
:L
oc
al
G
re
en

S
pa
ce
s
(L
G
S
)

A
m
ou
nt
of
de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

pe
rm
itt
ed

w
ith
in

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021248

Appendices10

Page 270



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

de
si
gn
at
ed

LG
S
th
at

w
ou
ld
im
pa
ct
on

ch
ar
ac
te
r

or
lo
ca
ls
ig
ni
fic
an
ce

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
29

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
29
:W

oo
dl
an
ds
,

tre
es

an
d
he
dg
es

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
30

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
30
:A

gr
ic
ul
tu
ra
l

la
nd

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ro
fd
ev
el
op
m
en
ts

th
at
w
er
e
pe
rm
itt
ed

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

P
ol
ic
y

D
M
31

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
31
:T
he

C
oa
st

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

N
o
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to
po
lic
y

re
qu
ire
m
en
ts

A
nn
ua
lly

10
0%

of
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

in
ac
co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

po
lic
y

N
um

be
ra
nd

ty
pe

of
pe
rm
is
si
on
s
gr
an
te
d
in

C
oa
st
al
C
ha
ng
e

M
an
ag
em

en
tA

re
a

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
32
:C

oa
st
al

ch
an
ge

an
d
m
an
ag
em

en
t

P
la
nn
in
g
ap
pl
ic
at
io
n

de
ci
si
on
s

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

N
o
ta
rg
et

N
um

be
ro
fu
se
s
re
lo
ca
te
d

aw
ay

fro
m
C
oa
st
al

C
ha
ng
e
M
an
ag
em

en
t

A
re
a

S
w
al
e
A
ir
Q
ua
lit
y
A
nn
ua
l

S
ta
tu
s
R
ep
or
t

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio
n

N
o
sp
ec
ifi
c
tri
gg
er
–
w
ill

in
fo
rm

Lo
ca
lP
la
n
re
vi
ew

A
nu
nu
al
ly

R
ed
uc
tio
n
in
N
O
²l
ev
el
s

ov
er
pl
an

pe
rio
d

Le
ve
lo
fN

O
²e
m
is
si
on
s
in

A
Q
M
A
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
33
:A

ir
qu
al
ity

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
33

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
34

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

Po
lic
y
D
M
34
:P
ol
lu
tio
n
an
d

un
st
ab
le
la
nd

249The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 271



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

E
nv
iro
nm

en
tA

ge
nc
y

pu
bl
is
he
d
da
ta
on

ob
je
ct
io
ns

to
pl
an
ni
ng

on
th
e
ba
si
s
of
w
at
er
qu
al
ity

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

O
ne

or
m
or
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pe
rm
itt
ed

w
ith
ou
ta
pp
ro
pr
ia
te

co
nd
iti
on

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to
ad
vi
ce

of
E
nv
iro
nm

en
tA

ge
nc
y

w
ith
ou
ta
pp
ro
pr
ia
te

co
nd
iti
on

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

w
he
re
E
nv
iro
nm

en
t

A
ge
nc
y
ob
je
ct
ed

on
w
at
er

qu
al
ity

gr
ou
nd
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
35
:W

at
er

qu
al
ity

an
d
w
at
er

re
so
ur
ce
s

E
nv
iro
nm

en
tA

ge
nc
y

pu
bl
is
he
d
da
ta
on

ob
je
ct
io
ns

to
pl
an
ni
ng

on
th
e
ba
si
s
of
flo
od

ris
k

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

O
ne

or
m
or
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ts
pe
rm
itt
ed

w
ith
ou
ta
pp
ro
pr
ia
te

co
nd
iti
on

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

co
nt
ra
ry
to
ad
vi
ce

of
E
nv
iro
nm

en
tA

ge
nc
y

w
ith
ou
ta
pp
ro
pr
ia
te

co
nd
iti
on

N
um

be
ro
fp
la
nn
in
g

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

pe
rm
itt
ed

w
he
re
E
nv
iro
nm

en
t

A
ge
nc
y
ob
je
ct
ed

on
flo
od

ris
k
gr
ou
nd
s

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
36
:F
lo
od

ris
k

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
37

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
37
:S

us
ta
in
ab
le

dr
ai
na
ge

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
38

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
38
:

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ti
nv
ol
vi
ng

lis
te
d
bu
ild
in
gs

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
39
:

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ta
ffe
ct
in
g
a

co
ns
er
va
tio
n
ar
ea

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
39

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
40
:H

is
to
ric

la
nd
sc
ap
es

in
cl
ud
in
g

pa
rk
s
an
d
ga
rd
en
s

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
40

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
41
:A

re
a
of
hi
gh

to
w
ns
ca
pe

va
lu
e

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
41

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
42
:

D
ev
el
op
m
en
ta
ffe
ct
in
g
a

lo
ca
lly
lis
te
d
he
rit
ag
e
as
se
t

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021250

Appendices10

Page 272



D
at
a
So

ur
ce

A
ct
io
ns

an
d

C
on

tin
ge
nc
ie
s

Tr
ig
ge
r

M
on

ito
rin

g
Fr
eq
ue
nc
y

Ta
rg
et

In
di
ca
to
r

Po
lic
y

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
42

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

P
ol
ic
y
D
M
43
:S

ch
ed
ul
ed

M
on
um

en
ts
an
d

ar
ch
oa
go
lo
ci
al
si
te
s

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
43

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

Pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pe
al
de
ci
si
on
s

R
ev
ie
w
re
as
on
s
fo
rt
rig
ge
r

be
in
g
m
et
an
d
ta
ke

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ac
tio
n

M
or
e
th
an

20
%
of
ap
pe
al
s

ar
e
al
lo
w
ed

A
nn
ua
lly

N
o
m
or
e
th
an

20
%
of

re
fu
se
d
ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

ar
e

al
lo
w
ed

on
ap
pe
al
ov
er
5

ye
ar
pe
rio
d

N
um

be
ro
f

pl
an
ni
ng

ap
pl
ic
at
io
ns

th
at

w
er
e
re
fu
se
d
on

th
e
ba
si
s

of
P
ol
ic
y
D
M
44

an
d

su
pp
or
te
d
on

ap
pe
al

Po
lic
y
D
M
44
:T
he

ke
ep
in
g

an
d
gr
az
in
g
of
ho
rs
es

Ta
bl
e
10
.1
.1
M
on
ito
rin
g
Fr
am

ew
or
k

251The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 273



10.2 Recommended changes to the proposals map

10.2.1 Explanatory text to go here.....

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021252

Appendices10

Page 274



ELLIOTS PLACE 13.4m

1
02

1
04

10
0

108

7
8

9
0

H
e

rb
er

t D
a

n
e

Car Park

C
o

u
r t

INS

4 Library

1
to

32

Gatefield Lane

Surgery

1
8

7

2
0

17

3
2

N
E

W
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

7

9

P

14

TCB

PO

1 to 28

John Anderson C

G
A

R
F

IE
LD

P
LA

C
E

6

6

1

Filling

Station

6a

5

The Tun House

Posts

TCB

FB

Sta

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

7
to

10

Twr

El

R
O

A
D

Sub

Posts

Gange Mews

3
to

21

33to43

22 to 32

44 to 47

54

57

1

4
3

S
to

re

Exchange

House

The Tudor

The Old Bakery

The Old Corn

3a

Th
e

O
ld

G
ra

in

PH

5

1

8

6
91

90

9

89

88

86

6a

87

18

8

Club

1
6

27

3
9

5
6

4
4

GATEFIELD LANE

10Centre

Council

(Borough

Alexander

1a

Offices)

6

1

8
to

10

1 to 7

81

Jacob Yard

9

12

11

78

PH

78
a

76

12

Museum

14

75

79

TouristInformation
Centre

The Coach

4

House

24

28b

The Stables

15

73

72

74

18

P
R

E
S

T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

Tks

Wesley

House

TCB67
to

6
8

2
3

19

PH

19
a

20
to

22

2
3a

70

3

82

84
8

3

85

6

7

FAVERSHAM

8

6b

29

64

60
to

63

Hall

2
5

11
.9

m

2
6

2
7

2
8

Church

Garage

38
b

38

11.4m

39

38a

6
6

Nortide House

34

3
0

Li
m

e
s

P
la

ce
31

32

Bakery

37

1

6

39

57

40

58

59

PH

39a

6

11

39

40

9

17

12
to

15

10
11

a

Post

LB

45

M
ID

D
L

E
R

O
W

41

Bank

1

2

46

6

44

C
O

U
R

T
S

T
R

E
E

T

2

50

to

10

9

48

7

11

3

a

12

1

2

14

12

13

12

10

MARKET STREET

9.7m
M

A
R

K
E

T
P

LA
C

E

To
w

n
H

al
l

8

9.8m

48
11

a

7
7c

7b

Pp

11

5
a

1a

7a

2
3

Bank

TH
O

M
A

S
R

O
A

D

5

1
1c

1b

7

PARTRIDGE LANE6

8

2

4
5

TankBrewery

T
h

e

B
a r

n

C
he

q u
e

r s
5

B
a

ck
L

a
n

e

H
ug

h
P

la
ce

123

H
ug

h
H

o
us

e

1

16

1

15

1

PH

16a

Bank

PCs

4

2

5
B

ed
lin

gt
on

S
qu

ar
e

6

4

14

3

13

Car Park

3.7m

13

12

9

PH

11

10

6

5

114

116

1

8

7

The Ship

1 to 3

3

4

1

111

2

Court

LA
N

E

W
A

T
E

R

Street

A
rd

e
n

T
h

e
at

re

Car Park

Play Area

Posts

LESLIE SMITH
DRIVE

Swimming Pool

1

106

1

Beaute

West

107

17

105

N
O

R
T

H
LA

N
E

104

6.7m

Posts

102
103

LB

20

C
R

W
a

r d
B

d y

Garage

Mean High W Depot

Wharf

1

B
A

N
K

S
T

R
E

E
T

44

45

50

3

41

43

Ward Bdy

34

5c
&

5d

23

6

5

5b

1

11.4m

5a

U
N

IO
N

S
TR

E
E

T

11

14

6

Cross Lane

B
ac

k
L

an
e

3

9

El Sub Sta

F
B

Health Centre

Vicarage

2

36

19

Garage

W
ar

d
B

dy

Car Park

7

1

Hall

The Queen's

13

16

VICTORIA PLACE

15

14

20

13

14

F
B

11.0m

1

31

Cottage Hospital
Faversham

War Memorial

51

33

F
B

13

R
O

M
A

N
R

O
A

D

2

8

Cherry Croft

11.9m

23

33

D
O

R
S

E
T

P
LA

C
E

28

2

56

NE STREET

D
en

m
ar

k
H

al
l

Cross Lane

Sub Sta

43

53

El

1

3

10
to

12

Jacob Villas

7

4 to 6

9

ALBION

6

7.4m

PLACE

11

4

1

93

2328

96 9994 95

8.5m

5.5m

30

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Faversham Primary Shopping Area

253The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 275



FS

1
0

House

P
o

st O
ff ice

31
Ravelin

1 to 10

3

1

Bank

2 Surgery

House

6

Esplanad

2
.1

m

7

El Sub Sta

43

44

T
R

IN
IT

Y
R

LB

TCBs

Beachfield Lodge

1 to 8

E
l S

ub
S

ta

Shelter

SM

Sloping masonry

1

MILLENNIUM WTRINITY WAY

178180

1.8m

Hall

17
1

16
9

16
7

16
1

186

17
5

190

17
3

176
to

174

158

15
5

162

15
7

15
1

1.9m

160

15
3

P
H

Albion Place

P
osts

13
5

PH

21

13
1

13
7

148

13
3

Posts

12
3

12
5

12
1

H
IG

H
S

TR
E

E
T

140

P
osts

128

122

130

126

11
1

11
8P

osts

132

10
9 124

11
9

Sub Sta

Car Park

1

P
ortland

Terrace

El 11
7

Hall

17
5a

17
7

Masonic

3

2

38

43
35

to
32

30

21 17

11

1
G

ra
nv

ille
Vi

lla

21

16

H
A

R
R

IS
R

O
A

D

P
os

ts

21
a

37

to

84

86

25b

1
a

R
O

Y
A

L
R

O
A

D

25a

PH

29

3.0m

11

1

27

25

Club

7

6

Jacobs House

Stone

1 to 27

22

Hall

C
h

u
rch

H
o

ly
T

rinity

Car Park

Post

E
l S

ub
S

ta

16

SHEERNESS

Social

11 79

2

13 3

Centre

DELAMARK ROAD

21

Posts

Car Park

13 to 15

Post

110
to

116

104

Bank

to

10
3

10
1

10
7

10
5

108

90
to

102

88

Post
4

4

85

86

Bank

1412

82
84

10

95

87
to

93

95a

97

Posts

Posts

99

1
2

Clock

Tower Crescent
Clock

3

3.1m

Tower

3

Club

77

1 to 7

House
Britannia

73

1

69
67

80

65

ROSE
STREET

H
eritage

C
entre

High Stre
et Pass

age

PCs

2

El S
ub Sta

6

Car Park

8
10

Posts

810

4

Facto
ry

2.4m

6

H
are

S
treet

33 23

Stone

18

45

35

BEACH
STREET

64

2

PH

58

68
61

57

59

Bell A
lle

y

62

60

Bell Alle
y

Mill
Rides

(1
to

23)

64

62a

62

1.5m

Shelter

Coast Study Centre

Posts

Sand and Shingle

Mean High Water

Leisure Complex

Car Park

SM

BEACH
STREET

Posts

Play Area

Lifeguard

Station

S
tone

R
am

p

Playground

Posts

9

8

El Sub Sta

Garage

73

87

GRANVILLE
ROAD

1.5m

68

82

G
R

AN
VIL

LE
PL

A
C

E

105

Exchange

Wood

50
Telephone

W
OOD

STREET

42

Hall

44

El S
ub

Sta

MILLENNIUM WAY

9

Court

49

59

58

17

18

23

15

27

G
R

AN
VILLE

R
O

AD
14

26

15

Seashells

1.8m

38

39

Nursery

2

Pharm
acy

68

Surgery

3

66

26

83 to
81

37
to

39

57
to

59

84

ROSE
STREETe

6

1.8m

76

ESS

Primary School

Rose Street

59

63

82

68

32

Offices

Council

54

56

52

47

38 to 42

48

46

51to55

1.9m

Posts

Clarence Row

Library

53a

53

7

13

1

Stone

Sprin
g

Gard
en Passage

C
hurch

U
nited

R
eform

ed

26

Factory28

2.1m

HOPE
STREET

Car Park

5

43

1

47
a

45

3

41

Posts

to

34

36

35
33

Reg
ents

Place

Bank

3127

HIGH STREET

29

25

Beach Te
rra

ce

7

1

O
xford

A
rcade

28

Posts

Posts

9

2.4m

16

12

18

1

20

3

24

14

30

34
36

M
ILLE

N
N

IU
M

W
AYP

EP
Y

S
AV

EN
U

E

2

10

8

PH

6

4

El S
ub Sta

VIC
TORY

STREET
11

13

19

9

11

610

23

7

8

True
Briton Alley

RUSSELL STREET

Car Park

TCB

ub
Sta

Police Station

ent O
ffices

TCBs

Posts

2.7m

1

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Sheerness Primary Shopping Area

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021254

Appendices10

Page 276



El Sub Sta

8.9m

4.7m

4.5m

Ppg Sta

Depot

5.8m

LB

C
R

O
W

N
Q

U
A

Y
L

A
N

E

Works

Ambulance
Station

Grid

House

C
R

O
W

N
Q

U
A

Y
L

A
N

E

El Sub Sta

Sand Drag

Garage

WB

El Sub Sta

Fire Station

ST MICHAEL'S ROAD

Thompson Hall

Meth Ch

Wesley

Car Park

EUROLINK WAY

Posts

SL

SL

Car Park

Car Park

El Sub Sta

Shelter

St Michaels House

Mast (communication)

FB

Warehouse

Bargebrick

House

K
IL

N

C
L

O
S

E

M
IL

LF
IE

LD

16.2m

STAN
HO

PE
AVEN

UE

18.0m

Post

16.2m

School Playing Field

B
E

LL
R

O
A

D

Council Offices

Shelter

Swale House

Posts

TH
E

B
U

R
R

S

1 to 66

9.8m

Car Park

Riverbourne Court

Shelter

Shelter

TCB

Cinema

8.4m

Hall

St Michael's Church

Car Park

6.8m

11.9m

The Press

Car Park

El Sub

Sta

Centre

Bell House

TH E BUT TS

PH

Kingdom

Club

Hall

B
A

N
K

S
Y

A
R

D

12

G
R

A
F

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

Car
Park

Sta

Sub

El

P

LB

HIGH STREET

PH

Car Park

Post

Tank

El Sub Sta

Superstore

R
O

M
A

N
S

Q
U

A
R

E

Club

18.0m

AVE NUE OF RE MEMBRANCE

L
IO

N
Y

A
R

D

Bank

R
O

M
A

N
S

Q
U

A
R

E

Posts

Car Park

El Sub Sta

Bank

Bank

AVENUE

Library

Car Park

C
E

N
T

R
A

L

Post

PCs

Meml

S
itt

in
g

bo
u

rn
e

U
n i

te
d

R
e

fo
rm

ed
C

hu
r c

h

War

Swimming Pool

Town Hall

Theatre

House

Central

21.3m

(secondary)

Borden

Grammar School

Tynan

B
er

ry
S

t r
ee

t

Shelter

Post Office

Head

SITTINGBOURNE

El Sub Sta

Bank

El Sub Sta

Police Station

Kent County Council

Divisional Office

21.9m

Telephone Exchange

Church

Baptist

21.9m

STATION STREET

Posts

Posts

Saxon Burial Ground

Car Park

FB

Princes Street
Retail Park

TCBs

LB

El Sub Sta

PCs

Car Park

El Sub Sta

Sittingbourne Station

El Sub Sta

Sta

Sub

El

MILTON ROAD

M
IL

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

6.1m

Shelter

Shelter

Sittingbourne Retail Park

Posts

M
ILL

W
AY

THE WALL

Restaurant

S
TA

T
I O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

Kember

PH

FO UNTAIN STREET

Station View

Court

Sunnested

A
V

E
N

U
E

O
F

R
E

M
E

M
B

R
A

N
C

E

Posts

Pavilion

Glovers Crescent

Posts

Berwyn

Lighting Columns

School Court

Playground

School House

Lighting Columns

A
L

B
A

N
Y

R
O

A
D

Recreation Ground

D Fn

P
E

M
B

U
R

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

17.9m

PH

Pembury Court

15.4m

D
O

V
E

R
S

T
R

E
E

T

LB

ESS

Court

Trinity

P
A

R
K

R
O

A
D

17.9m

Club

STREET

D
O

V
E

RCar Park

ST MICHAEL'S ROAD

Church

Trinity
Holy

Hall

Tank

REET

Hall

Car Park

Hall

Middleton Court

ALBANY ROAD

A
L

B
A

N
Y

R
O

A
D

St Stephen's

22.6m

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Sittingbourne Primary Shopping Area

255The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 277



PH

75

The Coach

4

House

24

28b

The Stables

1573

72

74

18

P
R

E
S

T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

Tks

Wesley
House

TCB67
to

68

23

19

PH

19a
20

to
22

23a

70

29

64

60
to

63

Hall

25

11
.9

m

26
27

28

Church

Garage

38
b

38

11.4m

39

38a

66

Nortide House

34

30

Li
m

es
P

la
ce

31
32

Bakery

37

1

6

39

57

40

58

59

PH

1

B
A

N
K

S
T

44
45

50

3

41

43

Ward Bdy

5c
&

5d23

6

5

5b

1

11.4m

5a

U
N

IO
N

S
TR

E
E

T

Vicarage

36

19

Garage

W
ar

d
B

dy

1

13

A PLACE

14

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Faversham Secondary Shopping Frontage
(Preston Street)

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021256

Appendices10

Page 278



3

13

12

9

PH

11

10

114

1

111

2

Court

LA
N

E

W
A

T
E

R

Street

Car Park

LESLIE SMITH DRIVE

1

106

1

Beaute

West

107
17

105

N
O

R
T

H
LA

N
E

104

6.7m

Posts

102
103

LB

20

C
R

W
ar

d
B

dy

3

10
to

12

Jacob Villas

7

4 to 6

9

ALBION
PLACE

1

23

99

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Faversham Secondary Shopping Frontage
(West Street)

257The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 279



6
2a

1

Marine Heights

S
ton

es

Post

Posts

Stone

1 to 10

Club

2
2

23

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

13

31

S
T

R
O

D
E

12

4

11

2

Mean Low Water

Sand and Shingle

Shelter

1

Church

Baptist

Crescent

Strode

2

FS

11

1
0

15

14

House

P
o

st O
ff ice

31

37

Ravelin
1 to 10

BROADWAY
39

2.3m

3

C
o

m
m

unity
C

hurch
S

h
epp

ey

1

32a
32

Sub

Sta

El

Bank

2 Surgery

House

6

Esplanade

Oyster

2
.1

m

4

7

1 to 3

Terrace

El Sub Sta

43

44

T
R

IN
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

LB

TCBs

Beachfield Lodge

1 to 8

E
l S

ub
S

ta

Shelter

SM

Sloping masonry

25

LB

214

220

30

Tower
Fire Station

Trinity

Courtyard

1a

Dut
na

lls
Ope

ni
ng

208

198
200

1

202

Car Park

1

Hall

MILLENNIUM WAY
TRINITY WAY

188

178

Garage

180

23

1.8m 1
7

Hall

Club

17
1

16
9

16
7

16
1

186

17
5

190

17
3

176
to

174

158

15
5

162

15
7

15
1

1.9m

160

15
3

P
H

Albion Place

P
osts13

5

PH

21

13
1

13
7

148

13
3

Posts

12
3

12
5

12
1

H
IG

H
S

TR
E

E
T

140

P
osts

128

122

130

126

11
1

11
8P

osts

132

10
9

124

11
9

Sub Sta

Car Park

1

P
ortland

Terrace

El 11
7

1.8m

19
7

20
1

20
319

9

TCB

210
212

PH

Hall

17
5a

17
7

Masonic

3

10

1.6m

2

18
5

38

43
35

to
32

30

21 17

11

1
G

ra
nv

ille
Vi

lla

21

16

H
A

R
R

IS
R

O
A

D

P
os

ts

21
a

37

to

84

86

25b

1
a

R
O

Y
A

L
R

O
A

D

25a

PH

29

3.0m

11

1

27

25

Club

7

6

Jacobs House

Stone

1 to 27

22

Hall

C
h

u
rch

H
o

ly
T

rinity

Car Park

Post

E
l S

ub
S

ta

16

SHEERNESS

Social

11 79

2

13 3

Centre

DELAMARK ROAD

21

Posts

Car Park

13 to 15

Post

110
to

116

104

Bank

to

10
3

10
1

10
7

10
5

108

90
to

102

88

Post
4

4

85

86

Bank

1412

82
84

10

95

87
to

93

95a

97

Posts

Posts

99

1
2

Clock

Tower Crescent
Clock

3

3.1m

Tower

3

Club

77

1 to 7

House

Britannia

73

1

69
67

80

65

ROSE
STREET

H
eritage

C
entre

High Stre
et Pass

age

PCs

2

El S
ub Sta

6

Car Park

810

Posts

810

4

Facto
ry

2.4m

6

H
are

S
treet

33 23

Stone

18

45
35

BEACH
STREET

64

2

PH

58

68

61

57

59

Bell A
lle

y

62
60

Bell Alle
y

Mill

Rides

(1
to

23)

64

62a

62

1.5m

Shelter

Coast Study Centre

Posts

Sand and Shingle

Groynes

Mean High Water

Leisure Complex

Car Park

SM

Sloping masonry

BEACH
STREET

Posts

Play Area

Car Park

Lifeguard
Station

Sand and Shingle

P
ip

e

Boulders
Ramp

SM

S
tone

Posts

R
am

p

1

2

Playground

Posts

9

8

Superstore

El Sub Sta

Garage

73

87

GRANVILLE
ROAD

1.5m

68

82

G
R

AN
VIL

LE
PL

A
C

E

105

Exchange

W
ood

50

Telephone

W
OOD

STREET

42

Hall

44

El S
ub

Sta

MILLENNIUM WAY

9

Court

49

59

58

17

18

23

15

27

G
R

AN
VILLE

R
O

AD
14

26

15

Seashells

1.8m

38

39

Nursery

2

Pharm
acy

68

Surgery

3

66

26

83 to
81

37
to

3

57
to

59

84

ROSE
STREET

1.8m

76

Primary School
Rose Street

63

82

68

32Offices
Council

54

56

52

47

38 to 42

48

46

51to55

1.9m

Posts

Clarence Row

Library

53a

53

7

13

1

Stone

Sprin
g

Gard
en Passage

C
hurch

U
nited

R
eform

ed

26

Factory28

2.1m

HOPE
STREET

Car Park

5

43

1 47
a

45

3

41

Posts

to

34

36

35
33

Reg
ents

Place

Bank

3127

HIGH STREET

29

25

Beach
Terr

ace

7

1

O
xford

A
rcade

28

Posts

Posts

9

2.4m

16

12

18

1

20

3

24

14

30

34
36

M
ILLE

N
N

IU
M

W
AYP

Y
S

AV
EN

U
E

2

10

8

PH

6

4

El S
ub Sta

VIC
TORY

STREET
11

13

19

9
11

610

23

7

8

True
B riton

A lley

RUSSELL STREET

Car Park

TCB

TCBs

Posts

2.7m

1

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Sheerness Secondary Shopping Frontage

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021258

Appendices10

Page 280



259The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 281



The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021260

Appendices10

Page 282



261The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 283



The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021262

Appendices10

Page 284



263The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 285



The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021264

Appendices10

Page 286



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Faversham Town Centre Boundary

265The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 287



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Sheerness Town Centre Boundary

The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021266

Appendices10

Page 288



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office.
© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil
proceedings. (100018386) (2019)

Sittingbourne Town Centre Boundary

267The Swale Local Plan Review February 2021

10Appendices

Page 289



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LOCAL PLAN SUPPORTING STUDY 

Swale Borough Council 

 

 

 

AUTUMN 2020 

 

INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY 

PLAN 

(IDP) 

Page 291



Page 292



Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11 Introduction

22 Background

43 National Context

43.1 National Planning Policy Framework

43.2 Planning Practice Guidance

64 Sub-Regional Context

85 Local Plan Context

85.1 Scale and Distribution of Growth

85.2 Spatial Distribution

126 Neighbourhood Plans

137 Engagement

137.1 Infrastructure and Service Providers

147.2 Site Developers/Promoters

147.3 Duty to Cooperate

158 Document Structure and Infrastructure Delivery Schedule

169 Funding and Delivery

1810 Social Infrastructure

1810.1 Healthcare

2010.2 Education

2310.3 Social Provision

2411 Physical Infrastructure

2411.1 Roads

2411.1.1 Swale Highway Model and Swale Transport Strategy

2511.1.2 Strategic Highways

2811.1.3 Local Highways

2911.2 Public and Sustainable Transport

2911.2.1 Rail

2911.2.2 Walking and Cycling

2911.2.3 Bus Provision

3011.3 Utilities

3011.3.1 Electricity

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Contents

Page 293



11.3.2 Gas 30

3111.3.3 Water Infrastructure

3211.3.4 Broadband

3211.4 Waste

3412 Appendix 1: Infrastructure Delivery Schedule

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Contents

Page 294



1 Introduction
1.0.1 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) establishes what additional infrastructure and service needs
are required to support the level of development proposed in the Swale Local Plan over the period to 2038.
The IDP will help ensure that the identified additional infrastructure and service needs are delivered in a
timely, co-ordinated and sustainable way.

1.0.2 The IDP has been prepared following engagement and discussion with infrastructure providers
and service delivery organisations throughout the preparation of the Local Plan. Based on discussions with
infrastructure and service providers the IDP:

provides a baseline position establishing current infrastructure provision, identifying any shortfalls and
potential constraints to development; and
sets out specific infrastructure and service requirements in respect of the council's proposed growth
strategy contained in the Regulation 19 Local Plan (Publication Plan). It also identifies, where
appropriate, the specific infrastructure requirements for individual development site allocations included
in the Regulation 19 Local Plan.

1.0.3 An Implementation and Delivery Schedule (IDS) was produced to support the 2017 adopted Local
Plan (Bearing Fruits 2031). Given that a number of the site allocations in the adopted Local Plan have been
carried over into the reviewed Local Plan, several of the infastructure projects identified in the IDS remain
relevant. Through engagement with those infrastructure providers and service delivery organisations
identified in the IDS as being the lead delivery agency, an up to date position on the delivery of these
infrastructure projects has been established and is reflected in the IDP.

1.0.4 The IDP, therefore, draws together the latest evidence and information available to the council with
regard to identifying the key site specific infrastructure requirements for the site allocations, both those
originally included in the adopted Local Plan and the additional allocations identified through the Local Plan
Review process. These are also reflected in the schedule of infrastructure requirements.

1.0.5 The Infrastructure Delivery Schedule will also be used to inform the council's annual Infrastructure
Funding Statement (IFS). This will set out details of developer contribution receipts(1) and projects and the
infrastructure that has or will be provided using this funding.

1 from Section 106 and Section 278 Agreements

1Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

1Introduction

Page 295



2 Background
2.0.1 Infrastructure can be grouped into three main areas:

Physical infrastructure such as: transport infrastructure (roads, public transport, cycling and walking
routes); gas and electricity infrastructure, water supply and waste water treatment;
Social infrastructure such as: primary and secondary schools, healthcare, emergency services, libraries,
sports and recreational facilities, community facilities, cultural services; and
Green infrastructure such as: open space, allotments, formal and informal green space, green and
blue infrastructure corridors.

2.0.2 Different types of infrastructure are also required to support different scales of development within
an area:

On site infrastructure is necessary to enable the delivery of a specific development. This includes
roads, walk/cycleways, gas pipes, electricity cabling, water supply and waste water disposal;
At a neighbourhood level infrastructure is required to mitigate the impact of the development and
support the day to day needs of the new population. This can include schools, community facilities
and GP surgeries, sports facilities; and
At a strategic level, larger pieces of infrastructure to support development growth across a wider or a
strategic site. This can include electricity sub-stations, strategic highway network improvements,
hospitals, sewerage treatment works.

2.0.3 Some types of infrastructure will be fundamental to the delivery of the Local Plan development
strategy and to support the intended levels and locations of growth. The IDP does not, therefore, include
every infrastructure scheme or project planned in the Borough. Rather the IDP focuses on the infrastructure
required to support the development proposed in the emerging Local Plan and does not include: the provision
of infrastructure that would be part of the normal site development process i.e. water supply or water
treatment, unless the issue is strategic affecting a number of sites and/or impacting on delivery times; open
space or recreation/sports provision in accordance with relevant standards(2), or affordable housing provision.

2.0.4 It is important to note that the IDP is a mechanism to identify the future infrastructure requirements
of development proposed in the Regulation 19 Local Plan. It does not seek to address deficiencies in
existing infrastructure provision although there may be circumstances where supporting growth might be
most effectively achieved through upgrading existing facilities, for instance through extending existing
schools. The focus of the IDP will be on the new infrastructure that will be key to the delivery of the planned
growth set out in the Regulation 19 Local Plan or the successful development of individual allocations rather
than the improvement to or remedying infrastructure deficiencies in existing provision.

2.0.5 This IDP update, therefore, considers the following types of infrastructure:

Social Infrastructure

Health care
Education
Social provision

Physical Infrastructure

Transport (highways, sustainable and public transport)
Water supply and treatment
Utilities (electricity, gas)
Broadband
Waste facilities

2 As set out in and Policy DM 17, Regulation 19 Local Plan (February 2021)

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan2

Background2

Page 296



2.0.6 Identifying infrastructure over the plan period of a local plan can be difficult as few infrastructure
providers actively plan for that length of timeframe and, therefore, identification of infrastructure needs in
the later years of the plan period may be subject to change. In addition, infrastructure needs may be
influenced by changes in technology and changes to the arrangements for the planning and delivery of
infrastructure.

2.0.7 It is also clear that where growth is planned for through significant new developments there may
not be the certainty and/or funding secured for any necessary strategic infrastructure at the time the plan
is produced. Therefore, whilst the council will need to be clear on the infrastructure needed to deliver growth
in the early stages of the plan period and to be able to demonstrate that this is deliverable in a timely
manner, in the later stages of the plan period there is a degree of flexibility in that for any strategic
infrastructure requirements the council will need to demonstrate these are not beyond what could reasonably
be considered to be achievable within the timescales envisaged.

2.0.8 As such planning for infrastructure is a continuous and iterative process and the IDP can only
represent the council's understanding of the infrastructure required to support the development proposed
at the time the IDP is prepared. The IDP will, therefore, be a 'live' document that will be updated at appropriate
stages during and beyond the plan making process to reflect the latest available information on infrastructure
requirements and provision.

3Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

2Background

Page 297



3 National Context

3.1 National Planning Policy Framework

3.1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) provides the national planning policy
context for plan making. In achieving sustainable development, identifying and co-ordinating the provision
of infrastructure is highlighted in the overarching economic objective (paragraph 8).

3.1.2 The NPPF also indicates:

Plans should be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between plan makers and
infrastructure providers (paragraphs 16 and 25);
Strategic policies should make sufficient provision for (amongst other things) transport,
telecommunications, water supply, wastewater, flood risk and coastal change management, energy,
community facilities such as health, education and cultural infrastructure) and green infrastructure
(paragraph 20);
Strategic policies should look ahead over a minimum 15 year period form adoption, to anticipate and
respond to long term requirements and opportunities, such as those arising from major improvements
in infrastructure (paragraph 22);
There should be effective and on-going joint working between strategic policy making authorities and
relevant bodies in helping to determine where additional infrastructure is necessary (paragraph 25);
Plans should set out the contribution expected from development, such as that needed for education,
health, transport, flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure (paragraph 34);
Planning policies should seek to address potential barriers to investment such as inadequate
infrastructure and services (paragraph 81);
Planning policies should set out how high quality digital infrastructure, essential for economic growth
and social well-being, will be delivered and upgraded over time (paragraph 112);
The capacity of existing infrastructure and availability of services is referenced as a key consideration
for achieving appropriate densities (paragraph 122c).

3.1.3 The NPPF also places considerable emphasis upon viability at the plan making stage and that the
contributions expected from development should not undermine the deliverability of the plan. A Whole
Plan Viability Assessment(3) has been undertaken and is a key element of the evidence relating to the
delivery of the Local Plan.

3.2 Planning Practice Guidance

3.2.1 The national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides more detailed guidance on the
implementation of the NPPF.

3.2.2 In respect of the role and function of the Local Plan in delivering infrastructure, it reiterates a number
of the points made in the NPPF around identifying what infrastructure is required and how it can be funded
and brought forward and undertaking early discussions with infrastructure and service providers to identify
requirements and opportunities for addressing infrastructure deficits(4).

3.2.3 Where large scale developments, such as new settlements or significant extensions to existing
villages and towns are proposed, the PPG(5) provides guidance on how it can be demonstrated there is a
reasoanble prospect they can be developed within a set timescale. It states that strategic policy making
authorities should engage with infrastructure providers so they are aware of the nature and scale of such
proposals, and work collaboratively with them to ensure the infrastructure requirements are not beyond
what could reasonably be considered to be achievable within the planned timescales.

3 Swale Whole Plan Viability Assessment, Aspinall Verdi (December 2020)
4 Planning Practice Guidance, paragraph: 059 Reference ID: 61-059-20190315
5 Planning Practice Guidance, paragraph 060 Reference ID: 061-060-20190315

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan4

National Context3

Page 298



3.2.4 The PPG also provides guidance on plan making and viability(6). It states that plans should set out
the contributions expected from development, including the infrastructure needed. The IDP is, therefore,
intended to fulfil the requirement of identifying the infrastructure required to support the growth planned in
the Borough over the plan period.

6 Planning Practice Guidance, paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 10-001-20190509

5Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

3National Context

Page 299



4 Sub-Regional Context

The South East Local Enterprise Partnership

4.0.1 Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) play a central role in determining local economic priorities and
investment to drive economic growth and improve infrastructure in their area. They are able to access
investment to support infrastructure developments that unlock wider economic growth, create jobs and
build houses through Growth Deals with Central Government.

4.0.2 The South East LEP (SELEP) covers an area encompassing the local authority areas of East
Sussex, Kent, Medway, Southend and Thurrock. The latest Growth Deal for the south east was agreed in
February 2017. Several projects in the Borough have benefitted from funding from the SELEP local growth
funding.

Transport for the South East

4.0.3 Transport of the South East (TfSE) was established in 2017 as a shadow sub-national transport
body covering 16 transport authority and five LEP areas together with stakeholders representing protected
landscapes, transport operators, district and borough authorities and national agencies including Network
Rail and Highways England. The role of TfSE is to strategically influence future investment in road and rail
in the south east with the aim of unlocking the potential for growth where the lack of transport infrastructure
has been a barrier to sustainable development. TfSE are seeking to become a statutory sub-national
transport body, submitting a proposal to formalise their role to Government in July 2020. In October 2020,
the Transport Secretary announced the outcome of this submission, advising TfSE that he was not, for the
present time, going to progress TfSE's request for statutory status or the transfer of powers.

4.0.4 TfSE published its thirty year Transport Strategy in June 2020(7) with the key aims of growing the
economy of the south east through the delivery of a safe, sustainable and integrated transport system and
transforming the quality of transport and door-to-door journeys for residents, businesses and visitors. The
strategy proposes a shift away form the current focus on planning for vehicles to one based on providing
for people and places. Instead of expanding the network to address congestion, the approach would see
increased investment in public transport alternatives, developing integrated land use planning policies,
adopting emerging transport technologies, and adopting demand management policies.

4.0.5 To deliver the Transport Strategy, a number of corridor studies are planned. These will be used to
identify interventions on the transport network leading to the development by April 2022 of a Strategic
Investment Plan (SIP), which will set transport infrastructure investment across the South East up to 2050.
Swale Borough is included within two of the planned corridor study areas:

Inner Orbital Study - this includes the key economic hubs of Reading, Gatwick and key locations in
Kent and will investigate how the east-west links between them could be improved
South East Radial Study (Kent, Medway and East Sussex)

4.0.6 The Inner Orbital Study is due to commence in December 2020 and is timetabled to report towards
the end of 2021. The South East Radial Study is timetabled to commence in April 2021, although this is
dependent on the availability of grant funding for 2021/22 from the Department of Transport being confirmed,
with a report expected by April 2022.

Kent County Council

4.0.7 Kent County Council (KCC) are responsible for the delivery of significant elements of infrastructure
in its role as local highway authority, lead local flood authority, education authority, waste disposal authority
and in the provision of libraries and social care.

7 Transport Strategy (June 2020), Transport for the South
East https://transportforthesoutheast.org.uk/transport-strategy/

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan6

Sub-Regional Context4

Page 300

https://transportforthesoutheast.org.uk/transport-strategy/


4.0.8 KCC have prepared a Growth and Infrastructure Framework (GIF)(8) to provide a view of emerging
development and infrastructure requirements to support growth across Kent and Medway. This was based
on adopted or emerging Local Plans: in the case of Swale, this was the adopted Local Plan.

4.0.9 The GIF also provides a strategic framework for identifying and prioritising investment across a
range of infrastructure. The GIF Update (2018) estimated that the infrastructure required to deliver planned
growth across Kent and Medway to 2031 would cost £16.38 billion (bn), with transport infrastructure
accounting for 60% of this cost. However, the GIF indicated that 24% of the total infrastructure required
was neither secured nor expected from developer contributions or investment by infrastructure providers:
this left a funding gap of £3.96bn.

8 Kent and Medway Growth and Infrastructure Framework Update (2018)
KCChttps://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/growth-and-infrastructure-framework-gif

7Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

4Sub-Regional Context

Page 301

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/growth-and-infrastructure-framework-gif


5 Local Plan Context
5.0.1 Bearing Fruits 2031 is the council's current Local Plan, providing policies and site allocations to
meet the requirements of the Borough up to 2031. It was adopted in July 2017. The Inspector found that
to allow the Local Plan to proceed to adoption, it had to include a commitment to an early review of the
Plan to allow for transport modelling and to agree mitigation schemes to address the effect of the planned
development beyond 2022 on the strategic road network (SRN) and local highway network. The concern
related to the harmful impact the necessary mitigation required at key junctions on the A249 would have
on the traffic flow and safety on the local highway network, resulting in increased queuing and congestion
on parts of the A2 corridor between Teynham and Newington. Further transport modelling has now been
undertaken (see Section 11).

5.0.2 The council commenced a review of the Local Plan in early 2018, with consultation on key issues
and how these could be addressed through a review of the Local Plan. The council approved the publication
of the Regulation 19 Local Plan in January 2021. It is proposed that the Local Plan be submitted for
examination in summer 2021 with adoption in 2022/23.

5.0.3 The Council's strategy for infrastructure planning in the Regulation 19 Local Plan is to deliver
sustainable growth that makes best use of infrastructure together with delivering new infrastructure needed
to support and sustain the Borough's communities. Policy ST 8 sets out how the council will secure developer
contributions for the infrastructure necessary to mitigate the impacts arising from development or phase of
development. Policy ST 9 sets out the key transport improvements that will be required during the plan
period, including strategic and local road network improvement schemes. The individual site allocation
policies set out the requirements for comprehensive masterplanning (where this is appropriate for the sites
concerned) and the infrastructure requirements to be addressed by the developments.

5.1 Scale and Distribution of Growth

5.1.1 In the adopted Local Plan, the Borough's objectively assessed housing need was based on 776
dwellings per annum (dpa) or 13,192 dwellings over the 17 year plan period.

5.1.2 Since the adoption of the current Local Plan in 2017, the method by which the Borough's annual
housing need figure is calculated has changed, now being based on the Government's 'standard
methodology'. This identifies the minimum number of homes expected to be planned for and is based on
projected household growth over a ten-year period with an adjustment to take account of affordability. Using
the standard method(9), the housing need figure for the Borough is 1,038 dwellings per annum, which
equates to approximately 17,000 dwellings over the plan period (to 2038).

5.1.3 The Employment Land Review(10) identifies a need for 41 hectares of new employment land over
the plan period for B2/B8 uses (industrial and storage and distribution) and 15 hectares for B1 uses (offices
and light industry)(11).

5.2 Spatial Distribution

5.2.1 The Local Plan spatial strategy sets out the overall approach to the distribution of development in
the Borough over the plan period (to 2038) and has been informed by a range of technical evidence.

5.2.2 Historically, development has been focussed on Sittingbourne as the Borough's principal settlement
and, to a lesser extent, the western edge of the Isle of Sheppey reflecting that part of the Borough's location
on the eastern edge of the Thames Gateway growth corridor. Faversham and the rest of Swale have
experienced a more modest scale of growth. From an infrastructure perspective the key issue arising from

9 Future Housing Needs in Swale, Peter Brett Associates (September 2019, revised June 2020)
10 Swale Employment Land Review (August 2018), Peter Brett Associates with Aspinall

Verdihttps://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/local-plan-review-evidence/economy-and-employment#h2
11 As from September 2020, B1 uses fall within a wider commercial, business and service uses class (Class E)

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan8

Local Plan Context5

Page 302

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/local-plan-review-evidence/economy-and-employment#h2


this approach has been the need to address issues around connectivity, accessibility and highway network
capacity. As a consequence, several highway improvement schemes were identified in the adopted Local
Plan IDS.

5.2.3 The spatial strategy in the reviewed Local Plan distributes development across the Borough so that
there is a more even spread of development between Sittingbourne/west Sheppey triangle and
Faversham/rest of the Borough. The spatial strategy seeks to distribute growth across the Borough and,
in accordance with the spatial distribution, site allocations have been identified in the following locations.

Swale Local Plan Site Allocations

CapacitySite NameSite Reference

EmploymentHousing

Floorsapce to
be determined

850Rushenden SouthRegen 3

76,074 (B
uses)

-Neatscourt, QueenboroughA1¹(1)

7,500
(B1/B2/B8
uses)

-Land at West Minster, SheernessA2¹

5,600
(B1/B2/B8
uses)

-Land at Cowstead Corner,
Queenborough

A3¹

-37The Foundry, Rushenden RoadA20.11¹

-22Nil Desperandum, Alsager AvenueA21.6¹

-6Manor RoadA20.10¹

-62Junction of Scocles Road and Elm
Lane (The Slips)

A21.3¹

-140Belgrave RoadA13¹

-97Plover RoadA11¹

-12Preston Skreens, Minster RoadA20.8¹

-540 (in plan
period)

Barton Hill DriveA12¹

145,985 (B
uses)

-Ridham and KemsleyA1¹

8,000
(B1/B2/B8
uses)

-Land south of Kemsley MillA2¹

-30Land north of Key Street,
Sittingbourne

A21.1¹

-30Manor Farm, SittingbourneA21.2¹

-106Land at north east SittingbourneMU2¹

-420 (in plan
period)

South west SittingbourneMU3¹

-1100 (in plan
period)

Land at north west SittingbourneMU4¹

9Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

5Local Plan Context

Page 303



Swale Local Plan Site Allocations

CapacitySite NameSite Reference

EmploymentHousing

-75152 Staplehurst Road, SittingbourneA20.2¹

-1035 High Street, Milton RegisA20.4¹

-267Crown Quay Lane (Phase II)A9¹

-60Orbital, Staplehurst Road,
Sittingbourne

A20.1¹

10 hectares600Land east of FavershamMU1b

-240Land north of Graveney RoadMU1a

To be
determined

2500Land south east of FavershamMU1c

6,300 (B uses)-Land at Selling RoadA5¹

7,000 (B uses)-Land at Graveney Road, FavershamA6¹

-60Land at Lady Dane FarmMU6¹

-320Preston Fields, Salters Lane(2)A16¹

-40Weston Works, Brent HillSW/034¹

-12Faversham Police StationA20.7¹

-11Ordnance Wharf, Flood LaneSSPP02¹

-7Standard Quay/Fentimans YardSSPP08/10¹

-15Bysingwood Primary SchoolA20.6¹

-35Land at Ham Road, FavershamA21.11¹

-16South East Coast Oil ServicesSSPP06¹

-5Standard HouseSSPP09¹

-10Swan Quay/Frank and Whittome,
Belvedere Road

SSPP04/05¹

-30Land south of Sellling Road, Neames
Forstal

A4

-30Land at Monica Close, Neames
Forstal

A4

-30Land south of Selling Road, Neames
Forstal

A4

-300Land at Frognall Lane, TeynhamMU4¹

-13Land adj Mayfield, London Road,
Teynham

A21.14¹

-30Land at Barrow Green Farm,
Teynham

A21.15¹

-16Bull Lane, BoughtonA21.13¹

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan10

Local Plan Context5

Page 304



Swale Local Plan Site Allocations

CapacitySite NameSite Reference

EmploymentHousing

-15Land off Colone's Lane, BoughtonA21.11¹

-6Land south of Colonel's Lane,
Boughton

A21.12¹

-10Former Bus Depot, Shellness RoadA20.12¹

-21Iwade Fruit and ProduceA20.13¹

-10Iwade Village CentreA20.14¹

-62North of Iwade VillageA17¹

-440Land east of IwadeA17¹

-70Land south east of Iwade (Pond
Farm)

A17¹

-15North of High Street, EastchurchA21.10¹

Floorspace to
be determined

-Lamberhurst FarmA5

Table 5.2.1 Swale Local Plan Site Allocations

1. Sites with ¹ against them were originally allocated in adopted Local Plan
2. This includes the proposed extension to orginal allocation to accommodate 70 dwellings

5.2.4 The following broad locations are also identified in the Local Plan. In the case of Faversham, sites
will be identified in the Faversham Neighbourhood Plan(12), which is currently being prepared.

Swale Local Plan Housing Broad Locations

Expected Housing NumbersBroad Location

200Sheerness Town Centre

850Sittingbourne Town Centre

200Faversham

1,100Teynham Area of Opportunity

Table 5.2.2 Swale Local Plan Housing Broad Locations

12 https://www.favershamtowncouncil.gov.uk/Neighbourhood_Plan__31464.aspx

11Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

5Local Plan Context

Page 305

https://www.favershamtowncouncil.gov.uk/Neighbourhood_Plan__31464.aspx


6 Neighbourhood Plans
6.0.1 The Regulation 19 Local Plan establishes the strategy for the pattern and scale of development
across the Borough. The majority of these will be delivered through allocations made in the Local Plan.

6.0.2 However, the Faversham Neighbourhood Plan group had indicated a desire to determine their own
allocations through the preparation of the Faversham Neigbourhood Plan(13). It is expected that the
Neighbourhood Plan will deliver around 200 dwellings within the Neighbourhood Plan area and this figure
has been accounted for in the assessment of infrastructure requirements for Faversham.

13 https://www.favershamtowncouncil.gov.uk/Neighbourhood_Plan__31464.aspx

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan12

Neighbourhood Plans6

Page 306

https://www.favershamtowncouncil.gov.uk/Neighbourhood_Plan__31464.aspx


7 Engagement

7.1 Infrastructure and Service Providers

7.1.1 Discussions have taken place with a variety of infrastructure providers to gain an understanding of
what infrastructure is needed to support growth over the plan period.

7.1.2 An Infrastructure and Utilities Workshop was held in June 2018 and was attended by neighbouring
local authorities and a range of organisations involved in the provision and/or delivery of infrastructure
including representatives from Highways England, the local Clinical Commissioning Groups, Southern
Water, Network Rail and KCC (education, highways). The workshop provided an opportunity for an initial
discussion about infrastructure constraints and potential barriers to growth in the Borough. As context for
the discussion it was highlighted that the assessment of the future housing need figure for the Borough
(based on the standard method) would likely result in it increasing significantly over that provided for in the
adopted Local Plan (assessed as 1,080 dwellings per annum at the time of the workshop). Attendees
provided feedback on the implications of this for infrastructure capacity and provision and on any issues
arising from a continuation of the adopted Local Plan development strategy and potential alternate
development strategies. At this early stage, infrastructure providers did not identify any 'show stoppers'.

7.1.3 In May 2020, each infrastructure provider and service delivery organisation were contacted requesting
their further engagement on the IDP. They were specifically asked to provide an updated position on any
significant infrastructure capacity/delivery issues that may limit growth or options for growth across the
Borough, advise of any plans or investment strategies that could inform the preparation of the IDP and
provide details of any key infrastructure investments and improvements planned to serve Swale Borough.

7.1.4 Lead delivery agencies were also requested to review the infrastructure projects identified in the
adopted Local Plan IDS and confirm whether the projects remained current or provide updated details if
the projects had progressed/further information was available.

7.1.5 In July 2020, the views of infrastructure providers were sought on the implications of potential
growth scenarios. Specifically, they were asked to identify what:

the key infrastructure issues associated with the level and distribution of development proposed in
each of the growth options;
the infrastructure constraints of each option. For example, significant lead in/timing constraints,
significant funding or complex delivery issues;
the infrastructure opportunities each growth option offered. For example, whether it would make good
use of existing infrastructure or capacity or the opportunity to deliver new facilities as part of
development; and
new or improved infrastructure would be needed to support the additional development requirements
in the locations set out in the growth options.

7.1.6 In November 2020, infrastructure providers were provided with a spreadsheet that outlined the
allocations being considered for inclusion in the Regulation 19 Local Plan together with details of the
expected housing and/or employment yield. Infrastructure providers were asked to identify any infrastructure
or service delivery projects relating to the proposed allocations either on a site specific basis or broader
settlement-wide context. In doing so, they were asked to provide details of project timescales, costs actual
or potential sources of funding, whether land would need to be allocated or safeguarded to ensure delivery
of the infrastructure and details of such land, and whether these infrastructure projects would supersede
any projects currently identified in the IDS.

7.1.7 At the stage of commenting on the growth options, the infrastructure required to mitigate the impacts
of development was assessed at a relatively high level. As specific development sites were identified, some
utility providers were able to provide a more detailed assessment of their respective networks to identify

13Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

7Engagement

Page 307



any gaps in infrastructure to support the planned growth or reinforcement works required to ensure supply
to specific sites. It should be noted, however, that precise utility requirements for individual allocations can
only be determined through developers making a development enquiry to the relevant utility provider.

7.2 Site Developers/Promoters

7.2.1 Meetings have been held with site developers/promoters of proposed allocations in the Local Plan,
particularly the larger site allocations, to discuss progress on bringing sites forward.

7.2.2 Where site promoters have provided technical evidence or other site information related to
infrastructure requirements this has been used, where appropriate, to inform the IDP preparation.

7.2.3 Whilst most of the information in the IDP has been provided through engagement with infrastructure
providers it has also been informed by a number of technical studies undertaken by the council as part of
the Local Plan evidence base. This includes matters related to transport and strategic development options
(formerly know as new garden communities)(14).

7.3 Duty to Cooperate

7.3.1 There is a legal duty on local planning authorities to engage constructively, actively and on an
ongoing basis with neighbouring local authorities and other bodies on strategic matters. The identified
strategic matters, the bodies engaged and the outcome of that engagement is set out in the council's Duty
to Cooperate Statement, which has been published alongside the Regulation 19 Local Plan. The strategic
matters relevant to planning for infrastructure include:

impact on the strategic road network (M2 Junctions 5 and 7) arising from proposed development sites
(Highways England, KCC and adjoining local authorities)
cross boundary education provision (KCC and Canterbury City Council)

7.3.2 There is also an expectation that the identification and delivery of infrastructure will be undertaken
through effective collaboration with infrastructure providers from early in the plan making process. As set
out in Section 7.1, the council has engaged with infrastructure providers and will continue to do so to ensure
that the IDP provides the most up to date picture of the infrastructure needs of the Borough and monitoring
progress in the delivery of infrastructure projects, their costs and funding.

14 Second Assessment of New Garden Communities, Peter Brett Associates
(Octobrer2019)https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan14

Engagement7

Page 308

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf


8 Document Structure and Infrastructure Delivery Schedule
8.0.1 The IDP sets out for each infrastructure type an overview of the current level of provision, an analysis
of infrastructure capacity issues that may occur as a result of the delivery of the planned Local Plan growth
and the infrastructure required to enable this growth to be delivered.

8.0.2 The Infrastructure Delivery Schedule (Appendix 1) sets out details of infrastructure projects, the
lead agencies that would be involved in implementation, an overview of the risks and contingencies
associated with each project and, where known, delivery timescales, costs and potential sources of funding.
Where appropriate the projects identified are linked to specific sites.

8.0.3 In preparing the Schedule, the projects listed in the adopted Local Plan IDS have been reviewed
and updated with those projects that have been completed removed.

15Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

8Document Structure and Infrastructure Delivery Schedule

Page 309



9 Funding and Delivery
9.0.1 Infrastructure requirements will be funded and delivered by a variety of different mechanisms. Some
infrastructure projects may be funded by the infrastructure provider themselves or through developer
contributions secured through the planning process.

9.0.2 Themain ways over which the planning system can have a direct influence on securing infrastructure
provider are:

Section 106 Agreements - used to secure site specific infrastructure through negotiation with the
developer and only where it is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms,
directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the
development. Provision may be made either through the making of a financial contribution or by the
developer delivering provision on site, for example building a school. The Section 106 Agreement will
set out trigger points for the delivery of infrastructure or payment of a financial contribution;
Section 278 Agreements - completed between the developer and highway authority (Kent County
Council) where development requires work to be carried out on the existing adopted highway; and
Planning conditions - provide an important mechanism for providing essential on site design
requirements and critical infrastructure within the site. They can also be used to prohibit the occupation
of the development or it commencing until supporting infrastructure has been provided (Grampian
condition).

9.0.3 Whilst it is expected most, if not all, site specific infrastructure will be able to be funded by the above
mechanisms other sources of potential funding may be available, including:

Direct funding and provision by statutory undertakers - under their legal obligations and statutory
functions. This could be secured through the service providers capital investment programmes or
through established procedures (developer charges) whereby the service provider works with the
developer to ensure appropriate on site infrastructure, and where necessary off site infrastructure, is
in place;
Central government funding pots - such as the Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF). The HIF is a
capital grant programme awarded on a competitive basis to local authorities to provide funding for
new infrastructure that will unlock new homes in areas of housing demand;
Local Enterprise Partnership Growth Fund;
Local Authority's Capital Programme;
Borrowing;
Private sector funding;
Forward funding - often used in order to deliver infrastructure early.

9.0.4 In 2010, the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced to enable local authorities, if they
chose to do so, set a local charge against certain types of new development to raise funding to deliver the
necessary supporting infrastructure in their area. Unlike S106 contributions, CIL contributions are
non-negotiable and whereas Section 106 contributions can only be collected to mitigate the impacts of a
specific development, CIL is collected towards general infrastructure and the council can decide what it is
spent on and where it is spent regardless of which development it originated from.

9.0.5 At the time Bearing Fruits 2031 was prepared, it was envisaged that the council would proceed
with the introduction of CIL although the viability assessment undertaken at the time indicated a challenging
viability situation over significant areas of the Borough, where only a modest or no CIL charge would be
possible if development were to remain deliverable. Therefore, as it was unclear whether implementing
CIL would be of benefit to Swale in terms of providing sufficient funding to deliver the required infrastructure,
combined with anticipated changes to the practice on developer contributions (which the Government were
consulting on at the time), proceeding with a charging schedule was paused in 2017.

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan16

Funding and Delivery9

Page 310



9.0.6 In reviewing the Local Plan, the WPVA has reassessed whether it would be viable for development
to support CIL. The WPVA found that only certain types of development would be viable to charge CIL and
in the case of residential development, depending on the percentage of affordable housing provision sought,
this would still only be a modest charge.

9.0.7 Sometimes different funding sources have to be combined to pay for new infrastructure. The
Infrastructure Delivery Schedule shows which funding sources could potentially contribute to each
infrastructure project.

9.0.8 Due to funding constraints it may not be possible to secure the delivery of all the infrastructure
identified. As such, some element of prioritisation of infrastructure provision is necessary depending on the
degree to which it is required to deliver development.

9.0.9 The provision of infrastructure has been categorised as either:

Critical - delivery of identified infrastructure is critical to enable growth and without it development
cannot commence
Necessary - the identified infrastructure is necessary to support and/or mitigate impact arising from
the develoment but the precise timing and phasing is less critical and development may be able to
commence ahead of its provision
Important - delivery of the identified infrastructure is important to build sustainble communities but
timing and phasing is not critical over the plan period

9.0.10 It is also possible that the prioritisation of specific elements of infrastructure may change over time
i.e. move from 'important' to 'critical'.

9.0.11 In addition to understanding the infrastructure needs to support planned growth, it will also be
important to understand the phasing of growth and what impact this may have on the need for phased
funding and delivery of infrastructure. The housing trajectory will, therefore, be key to understanding when
sites are expected to come forward and the impact of this on infrastructure delivery.

9.0.12 Where available the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule includes information on potential funding
sources. However, where this has yet to be determined the council will continue to work with service
providers and other agencies to identify possible sources of funding for the infrastructure.

17Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

9Funding and Delivery

Page 311



10 Social Infrastructure
10.0.1 This section provides information on health, education and social infrastructure following discussions
with the relevant service providers.

10.0.2 For the purposes of the IDP health care includes GP services and hospitals. It does not take into
account wider primary care service needs such as dentists, pharmacies, opticians and community health,
although these services will be imapcted by the demand from population growth. This is dependant on the
commissioning intentions of the appropriate NHS commissioning body.

10.1 Healthcare

Background

10.1.1 Inequalities in health are a significant concern in Swale and there are signficant differences between
those in the more deprived areas of the Borough and the more affluent: life expectancy is about 9 years
lower for men and four years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Swale than those in the least
deprived areas. It is important that community needs are supported through appropriate physical and social
infrastructure and by other facilities and key services which contribute to improving the wellbeing and the
overall quality of life experienced by residents.

10.1.2 In April 2020, the two Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) that covered Swale (Swale CCG
and Canterbury and Coastal CCG) merged with the six othe CCGs covering Kent and Medway to form the
Kent and Medway CCG.

10.1.3 GP practices within the CCG area are divided into primary care networks (PCN). These group
practices to work together to strengthen GP services in partnership with other community, mental health,
social care, pharmacy, hospital and voluntary services. There are currently PCNs covering Sheppey,
Sittingbourne and Faversham.

10.1.4 The Sheppey and Sittingbourne PCNs have collectively seen a 5.2% rise in registered patients
in the three years to January 2020. The breakdown by individual PCN is set out in the table below. The
main reason for the large variation between PCN list size change is due to the closure of three practices
and dispersal of patient registrations to new practices.

Swale Primary Care Network Practice Size

Percentage
Increase Since
2017

Combined
Registered Patient
List

Number of
Practices

PCN

4.447,373(1)6Sheppey

-1.4(3)36,931(2)4Sittingbourne East

1631,583(4)5Sittingbourne West

-31,447(5)2Faversham

Table 10.1.1 Swale Primary Care Network Practice Size

1. As at January 2020
2. As at January 2020
3. Decrease due to closure of a surgery in 2018 and not all patients remaining within the Sittingbourne East PCN

boundary
4. As at January 2020
5. As at January 2018

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan18

Social Infrastructure10

Page 312



10.1.5 GP practices in Swale have some of the highest patient/full time equivalent GP ratios in the country.
In July 2019, the ratio of patient/FTEGP in Swale CCGwas 2,608 (4th percentile) and the ratio for Canterbury
and Coastal CCG was 2,051 (2nd percentile). This compares to a national average of 1,721 patients/FTE
GPs.

10.1.6 The CCG has an agreed process to securing Section 106 developer contributions(15). Under this
process the CCG will asses the impact on local practices whose catchment covers the development to
inform a response to a planning application. Where practices are affected by a large stragegic development,
the CCG also engages directly with the practices. Historically, the focus on securing developer contributions
has been on GP infrastructure due to the direct impact population growth has on practice list sizes and
premises requirements. But the CCG will also, where there is scope to do so, seek to agree with the LPA
the use of developer contributions funding for other uses such as equipment and IT and digital improvements.

10.1.7 The CCG will either identify one or more named practices as the expected recipient of the funding
for improvements or extensions to existing preimses or alternatively where a strategic solution is required,
detail the requirement for new premises either to replace existing GP premises or provide additional capacity.

10.1.8 Historically, healthcare contributions in Kent have been based on a forumla applied to the number
of dwellings in each development. This is based on assumed occupancy by dwelling size multiplied by
£360 per person. Where the dwelling sizes are know the occupancy rates used are:

1 bed unit - 1.4 persons
2 bed unit - 2 persons
3 bed unit - 2.8 persons
4 bed unit - 3.5 persons
5 bed unit - 4.8 persons

10.1.9 Where the dwelling sizes are not known, an assumed occupancy of 2.4 persons is used. The
approach to calculating contributions is to be reviewed by the CCG during 2020/21, which may result in
local variations across the County.

Proposed/planned provision

10.1.10 Both Swale and Canterbury and Coastal CCGs published estate strategies(16), which define at
PCN level the priorities for general practice development over a five year period to respond to population
growth and ensure the estate is 'fit for purpose'. The most recent strategies focus on planning for population
growth and the impact this has on the capacity of general practice premises and the requirement for
improvements to existing facilities or the need for purpose built facilities. The strategies are used by Kent
and Medway CCG in assessing the impact of proposed developments on local practices and responding
to planning applications. The priorities identified in the strategies are:

Maximising use of Sheppey Community Hospital site
Expansion of Sheppey Healthy Living Centre
Re-opening of Warden Bay branch surgergy
Maximising use of Sittingbourne Community Hospital site
Expansion of Memorial Medical Centre
Extension to Chestnuts Surgery
Relocation of existing Lakeside and Milton Regis premises to a new building
Extension to Meads Medical Practice
Extension to Newton Road Surgery
Reconfiguration of Faversham Health Centre

15 Kent and Medway CCG 'Section 106 and CIL Principles and Process - General Practice (June 2020) (see pages
41 to 53 of PCC Committee meeting on 18 June 2020)

16 Swale CCG 'General Practice Estates Strategy and Priorities (February 2020) and Canterbury and Coastal CCG
'Estates Strategy and Implementation Plan (April 2018)

19Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

10Social Infrastructure

Page 313



10.1.11 These proposals are reflected in the schemes included in the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule
(Appendix 1). The strategies were prepared in the conxtext of the scale and location of housing included
in the adopted Local Plan. Following discussions with Kent and Medway CCG on the development now
proposed across the Borough, the CCG have indicated that there will be a requirement for additional
provision in Teynham (through the expansion of The Surgery, Teynham) to accommodate the pressures
on capacity arising from the scale of development proposed in the village.

10.2 Education

Background

10.2.1 Education covers nursery, primary (ages 4 -11), secondary (ages 11 - 16), further education (post
16) and special education provision.

10.2.2 KCC, as the Local Education Authority (LEA), have a statutory duty to ensure sufficient primary
and secondary places are available to meet the educational needs of the County's population, regardless
of whether schools are maintained by the local authority, have academy status or are free schools.

10.2.3 KCC's approach to school place planning is set out in the Commissioning Plan for Education
Provision, a five year rolling plan updated annually using the latest demographic information. The latest
version of the Commissioning Plan covers the period 2021-2025 (17).

10.2.4 The additional need for school places from housing growth is influenced by a number of factors
including the location of development, the rate at which dwellings are built and children reach school age
and the types and mix of housing built. The additional pupil numbers generated by the Local Plan housing
growth needs to be considered against any surplus capacity in existing school provision. Account is taken
of existing capacity prior to seeking developer contributions. Where surplus capacity, above the operating
surplus, is expected to exist after the needs of the indigenous population are served, this is available to
support the need arising from new housing. In cases where services are not expected to be able to cope
with the indigenous population's needs the costs of increasing service capacity are identified and costed,
but these costs are not passed onto developers. Developers are asked only to contribute to needs arising
from additional housing which cannot be accommodated within a surplus service capacity in the area.

10.2.5 The Government Guidance 'Securing Developer Contributions for Education' (18), indicates LEAs
should seek developer contributions to support the funding of school places, nursery places, sixth form
provision and special education needs provision, commensurate with the need arising from the development.

10.2.6 There are some general principles that KCC apply in determining overall needs and costs of
education provision:

New primary schools are preferred to be two forms of entry (FE) (420 places) with a nursery
New secondary schools are preferred to be between 6FE and 8FE
Where land is required for a new school on site, it is expected that the developer will provide a fit for
purpose site at no cost
Where a need for a new school is identified against a site, other sites that benefit will be required to
contribute towards both land and build costs
The benchmark cost per pupil for primary school expansion is £19,340 and new schools £22,969
The benchmark cost per pupil for secondary school expansion is £26,628 and new schools £27,920

17 KCC Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent
2021-2025 https://www.kent.gov.uk/education-and-children/schools/education-provision/education-provision-plan

18 Securing Developer Contributions for Education (November 2019), Department for Education and Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local
Government https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delivering-schools-to-support-housing-growth

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan20

Social Infrastructure10

Page 314

https://www.kent.gov.uk/education-and-children/schools/education-provision/education-provision-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delivering-schools-to-support-housing-growth


Early Years Education

10.2.7 The provision of Eary Years education is complex being a mix of maintained (local authority run),
private, voluntary and independant facilities and childminders. The assessment of sufficiency for childcare
places in KCC's Commissioning Plan indicates that for Swale there is a deficiency of childcare places, with
notable deficiences identified in Sheerness/Queenborough/Halfway, Central Sheppey, Sittingbourne East
and Sittingbourne North.

10.2.8 However, the Commisisoning Plan notes that five new providers have recently started to operate
within the Borough with three providing places in planning areas of greatest need: Sittingbourne South,
Sittingbourne East and Sheerness, Queenborough and Halfway.

10.2.9 In terms of future provision, where housing developments are proposed in areas where there is
an indicative deficit of places or where the size of a development means that it will require new provision,
KCC will either seek developer funding to provide nursery provision, which may include securing community
rental or leasehold accommodation availability for private, voluntary or independent sector providers of 0-4
childcare. When a new school is delivered a nursery space is now included in the design, with KCC working
to identify early years provision and the most appropriate way to deliver this.

Special Education Needs and Disability

10.2.10 The demand for places for pupils with special education education needs and disabilities (SEND)
has been rising. In 2020, there were 1,777 pupils in Swale with Education, Health and Care plans (EHCs),
this is nearly 6% of the Borough's total 5 - 19 year old population and an increase of over 16% compared
to the previous year.

10.2.11 KCC's strategy for SEND includes the commissioning of new special schools, expansions of
existing schools and the establishment of satellites and specialist resource provision (SRP). In Swale future
provision currently includes the commissioning of 150 specialist school places and 50 SRP places.

10.2.12 In respect of the development now proposed across the Borough, KCC have indicated that there
will be a need for a mixture of SEN provision, including:

the expansion of the new SEN school on the Isle of Sheppey for primary SEN provision;
a new SEN school;
contributions towards specialist resource provision in newmainstream primary and secondary schools.

Primary Education

10.2.13 Primary places are planned on the basis of ten school planning group areas within Swale Borough.
Forecasts in the Commissioning Plan 2020 - 2025 indicate that over the five year period there will be surplus
capacity across Swale overall but that there are differences between the school planning groups.

10.2.14 Pressure on places arising are forecast to be experienced in the Sittingbourne East and
Sittingbourne North school planning areas. In the case of Sittingbourne East a slight pressure for Year R
places is forecast in 2023. The Commissioning Plan also indicates that new housing developments in the
planning area may increase the pressure on places and it is proposed to expand Sunny Bank Primary
School by 0.5FE to meet this need when it arises. A phased expansion of Teynham Primary School will
also be required when the proposed housing in the locality is brought forward. In Sittingbourne North it is
expected that the forecast deficit in school places could be managed through surplus capacity in adjacent
planning groups until new primary provision was provided on the Quinton Road (NW Sittingbourne) as part
of an all-through school. Across the Faversham school planning groups a surplus capacity is forecast.
However, it is highlighted that with developments in Faversham being built out this is likely to reduce in a
shorter time frame and, with surplus capacity being to the west of the town, additional capacity will be
required in eastern Faversahm. In addition, the adopted Local Plan IDS also identified a need for additional
capacity in several locations as set out below (with an updated position):

21Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

10Social Infrastructure

Page 315



Expansion by 1FE of Bysing Wood School, Faversham (delivered)
Expansion of Warden Bay Campus by 1FE (no longer planned)
Expansion by 1FE of Regis Manor Primary School (delivered)
New 2FE school within Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area (project revised - see
below)
New 2FE school on the North West Sittingbourne mixed use allocation
New 1FE school on Lady Dane Farm, Faversham allocation

10.2.15 The Commissioning Plan reflected the housing development planned to come forward through
the adopted Local Plan. Following discussion on the development now proposed across the Borough,
KCC have indicated that there will also be a requirement for the following education provision:

New 3FE school within Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area (the requirement is now
for a 3FE rather than 2FE school)
Expansion of existing primary schools in Sheerness
New 2FE school in north Sittingbourne
Expansion of St Mary's County Primary School, Faversham
Three new 2FE primary schools in Faversham (this is dependant on the mix of housing to be provided
on the south east Faversham site with the potential for two of the 2FE schools being replaced by one
3FE school)
Expansion by 1FE Teynham Primary School

Secondary Education

10.2.16 There are five planning groups for secondary school places within Swale Borough or which cross
the Borough boundary. Three of these are non-selective (Faversham, Isle of Sheppey and Sittingbourne)
and two are selective (Sittingbourne and Sheppey and Canterbury and Faversham).

10.2.17 Forecasts set out in the Commissioning Plan indicate that there will be significant pressure for
secondary school places across all the planning groups. The exception is the Isle of Sheppey non-selective
planning group where although forecasts show a continuing surplus of places, this decreases in number
over the five year period. The forecast surplus places are a direct result of the increasing number of pupils
travelling off the Isle of Sheppey for their education. This results in additional pressure on places in the
Sittingbourne non-selective planning group schools.

10.2.18 The adopted Local Plan IDS identified a need for the following secondary provision:

New 6FE school on North West Sittingbourne mixed use allocation (over 2 phases)

10.2.19 Since then, KCC have also identified the need for the expansion of several existing schools to
provide additional secondary places arising and these are reflected in the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule.

10.2.20 Following discussion on the development now proposed across the Borough, KCC have indicated
that there will also be a requirement for the following education provision:

New 4FE school on site to east of Faversham

Sixth Form and Further Education

10.2.21 One of the key providers of post-16 training in Kent is school sixth forms. The current
Commissioning Plan does not include an assessment of capacity. However, an assessment in the previous
Commissioning Plan of capacity in non-selective and selective schools indicated that across Swale there
is sufficient capacity in non-selective provision, with the exception of the Faversham area where a deficit
in provision was forecast from 2022/23. In the case of selective school provision, there was a need for
additional provision in the Canterbury and Faversham planning area (from 2021/22) and Sittingbourne and
Sheppey, although the need here was required from 2024/25.

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan22

Social Infrastructure10

Page 316



10.3 Social Provision

10.3.1 The development proposed in the Local Plan will result in additional demand upon social care
services, community learning, library and youth services. No specific projects have been identified for
inclusion in the IDP.

10.3.2 However, where there is no spare capacity to meet the additional demands arising from new
developments, KCC will seek a developer contribution towards the provision of additional facilities locally
to mitigate development impacts. The developer contributions sought are currently (all index linked):

social care - £146.88 per dwelling
community learning - £16.42 per dwelling
library services - £55.45 per dwelling
youth services - £65.50 per dwelling

23Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

10Social Infrastructure

Page 317



11 Physical Infrastructure

11.1 Roads

11.1.1 Within the Borough, Highways England (HE) is responsible for the national strategic road network
(SRN). Most other roads are managed and maintained by KCC, as the local highway authority, but there
are also a number of private roads.

11.1.2 The road network in Swale is focused east/west along the M2/A2 corridor with the A249 and A251
providing the main north/south routes. Traffic and transport capacity issues are significant limitations of the
existing network and at key junctions between the local and strategic highway network giving rise to capacity
issues at peak hours, typically queuing from slip roads onto the main carriageway of the strategic road
network (SRN).

11.1.3 To address these issues, a number of committed highway improvement projects across the
Borough to the SRN and the local road network are already planned, funded through a mix of public funding
and developer contributions. These will provide capacity and operational improvements and will facilitate
existing development commitments and allocations in the adopted Local Plan and are summarised below.

11.1.4 The Inspector who examined the Bearing Fruits Local Plan was satisfied that the level of growth
in the first part of the plan period could be accommodated on the local road network. Beyond this there
were implications in delivering the full housing need figure for both the strategic and local road network that
would require the implementation of improvement works. At the time of the examination, the nature of
improvement works had not been determined, but the Inspector did not consider this to be a showstopper
to the Local Plan being adopted. The Inspector, therefore, found the Local Plan sound subject to a
commitment to undertake an early review of the Local Plan to address the highway capacity issues. To
support the Local Plan review, further transport modelling (see below) has been undertaken to assess and
identify the necessary mitigation measures to accommodate the further development planned through the
Local Plan review.

11.1.1 Swale Highway Model and Swale Transport Strategy

11.1.1.1 The Swale Highway Model (SHM) was commissioned to test the traffic impacts of new
developments and transport infrastructure across Swale and undertaken jointly with KCC. The Local Model
Validation Report (June 2018) describes the detail behind the model build. The initial Local Plan Future
Scenario Testing Report (May 2019) tested four future scenarios, selected to test a range of potential
alternative development distributions and different levels of improvement to the highway network, and
reflecting the uplift in the housing numbers required (as determined by the standard methodology).

11.1.1.2 Additional scenarios were modelled in April 2020 with new development assumptions and
mitigation measures(19) and reported in the Local Plan Model Rerun Summary Report (April 2020). The
two reports cover the findings of the highway modelling work in detail.

11.1.1.3 The intention of the modelling assessment is to establish any key capacity constraints on the
highway network to delivering the planned level of growth in the Borough over the plan period, evidence
the extent of the problems and enable solutions to be found to those issues. The modelling work has
identified a number of network improvements, which are set out in the sections below and/or the Infrastructure
Delivery Schedule. These are in addition to already committed schemes. Whilst mitigation measures have
been identified and tested in respect of the growth scenarios, following the identification of the preferred
site allocations further modelling is to be undertaken in order to identify additional, if any, transport mitigation
measures that may be required. This work is expected to be completed by late spring 2021 and will be
reported in a third Local Plan Model Testing Report.

19 These are detailed in two Technical Notes. Technical Note for Modelling Key Assumptions (Swale LP TN_Key
modelling input assumptions_v4_Sensitivity Test) and Technical Note for Mitigation Measures (Mitigations Swale
Highway Model v2 (Wallend Farm changes))

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan24

Physical Infrastructure11

Page 318



11.1.1.4 A key infrastructure requirement, therefore, will be the junction and corridor improvements
identified below and in the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule. It is expected that developer contributions will
be needed to contribute towards the funding of the majority of these improvements. It should be noted that
as the highway modelling is strategic in nature, additional junction/network improvements may be required
following more detailed transport assessments of the transport impacts of individual development proposals.

11.1.1.5 The Swale Transport Strategy 2022 - 2038 provides a framework to guide the development of
transport based improvements and interventions within the Borough for the period up to 2038 and supports
the Swale Local Plan Review. The objectives of the Strategy are to:

provide a detailed policy framework, consistent with both national and regional transport planning
policy;
support Swale's Local Plan Review, taking account of committed and planned development;
Identify the transport improvements and solutions that are required to accommodate the ancticipated
changes in travel demand and promote a shift towards sustainable and active travel;
provide a funding and delivery mechanism for the identified transport improvements and actions; and
promote sustainable travel as a measure to address localised air quality concerns and the global
climate crisis.

11.1.1.6 The Strategy identifies schemes and projects, whose implementation will be dependent upon
the rate of development coming forward, the identification of funding and the availability of resources. Where
relevant these schemes and projects have been referenced in the IDP and/or included in the Infrastructure
Delivery Schedule.

11.1.2 Strategic Highways

11.1.2.1 Within the Borough, the M2 and A249 (spur from the M2 to Sheerness) form the SRN with the
wider motorway network of the M20, M25 and M26 a short distance away. There are three motorway
junctions within the Borough: Junctions 5 (J5) to the south west of Sittingbourne, Junction 6 (J6) to the
south of Faversham and Junction 7 (J7) to the south east of Faversham.

11.1.2.2 There are consistently significant delays on the M2 between J5 and J6. J5 along with J7 are
identified within the top 50 casualty locations on the SRN nationally. The A249 between the A2 and M2
carries the lightest traffic flows on the SRN but has a low rate of journey reliability. Improving safety and
congestion issues at J5 and J7 of the M2 are identified as key challenges in the Highways England Kent
Corridor to M25 Route Strategy(20).

11.1.2.3 HE have commented that the Isle of Sheppey and wider Borough is effectively a cul-de-sac
resulting in all but very localised traffic normally making use of the SRN. As such, future development needs
to carefully consider the transport implications and associated infrastructure issues on the SRN and local
highway network, including the M2/A2/A249 corridor. As the major roads are linked across the Borough
the cumulative impact across all major junctions needs to be considered. HE have also indicated the need,
due to known capacity issues within the Borough, for the phasing of large scale development with the
timescales for the delivery of planned junction improvements or improvements identified as a consequence
of bringing forward the reviewed Local Plan. They also emphasise that this should be combined with
maximising the move to sustainable transport use: this is addressed in the Swale Transport Strategy.

M2 Junction 5

11.1.2.4 Highways England have proposals to undertake improvements to the A249 Stockbury Roundabout
at J5, as it is currently operating over capacity. At certain times of the day there are high levels of congestion
and delays on the A249 southbound (towards Maidstone), northbound (towards Sittingbourne) and on the
approaches to the junction and on the exit slip road from the M2 westbound towards Stockbury roundabout.

20 Kent Corridor to M25 Corridor Study (March 2017), Highways
Englandhttps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/600312/Kent_Corridors_to_M25_Final.pdf

25Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11Physical Infrastructure

Page 319

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/600312/Kent_Corridors_to_M25_Final.pdf


11.1.2.5 Congestion is expected to worsen in the future due to the planned development and population
growth. In addition, traffic is diverting away to alternative rural routes to avoid the congestion, putting undue
pressure on local roads not suited to larger volumes of traffic and increasing safety risks. The junction is
also one of the top 50 national casualty locations on England's major 'A' roads and motorways(21).

11.1.2.6 The scheme proposes to:

replace the existing roundabout with a new grade-separated interchange to provide free flowing
movement on the A249;
new slip roads onto the M2 for traffic travelling on the A249 southbound and northbound;
the existing connection from the Maidstone Road to the A249 Stockbury Roundabout to be closed
and Maidstone Road to be re-routed to link with Oad Street;
the existing junction of Oad Street with the A249 to be closed. A new link to be provided south of the
existing Oad Street to connect directly with the A249 Stockbury Roundabout; and
The Honeycrock Hill junction with the A249 to be closed for safety reasons.

11.1.2.7 The aims of the scheme are to:

improve journey times: reducing delays meaning people will have quicker and more reliable journeys;
make journeys safer: improving the junction will improve safety for all road users;
support economic growth: increasing capacity at the junction will support the future housing and
employment growth in the area;
help cyclists and pedestrians working with the local authorities aim to improve facilities for pedestrians,
cyclists and other non-motorised users; and
deliver high standards of highway design: resulting in a scheme that is in keeping with the local
environment, minimising environmental impacts and where feasible make conditions better.

11.1.2.8 The necessary Orders for the improvement scheme were published in June 2019 and the Public
Inquiry into the Orders opened on the 9th November and closed on the 3rd December 2020. On the
assumption that it is consented, the approximate scheme opening date is 2023.

11.1.2.9 The scheme is identified in the national Road Investment Strategy 2 (RIS2) as a committed
scheme for the period 2020/21 to 20024/25. The forecast cost of the scheme is £91.91 million (including
costs of compulsory acquistion of the land required for the scheme). In addition to the RIS2 funding, KCC has
submitted an application for a grant to the Major Roads Network programme (MRN), which it is anticipated
will be determined in late 2020/early 2021. In addition, to applying for MRN funding, KCC has committed
to providing £1.6 million towards the costs of the scheme from its own resources and £900,000 from SELEP.
In the event that the MRN application is unsuccessful Highways England will meet the shortfall from its
general budget.

11.1.2.10 Taking into account committed developments all the current safety led capacity at J5 has been
allocated. As such Highways England currently seek to restrict, through the imposition of a Grampian
condition on a planning permission, occupancy of developments that may be permitted until the completion
and opening of the scheme to traffic. Following scheme completion, J5 will have capacity to support the
delivery of growth planned in the adopted Local Plan but further assessment will be required to determine
how much, if any, of the further growth now planned for through the Regulation 19 Local Plan could be
accommodated. Transport modelling/strategy??

M2 Junction 6

21 There were 111 personal injury accidents between January 2011 and December 2015 and nearly half occurred
during morning and evening peak periods

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan26

Physical Infrastructure11

Page 320



11.1.2.11 J6 is not a well used junction due to its layout and proximity to J7 and there is currently some
spare capacity at the junction. There is, however, a risk of traffic on the A2/A251 queuing back to J6 and
Highways England have highlighted the possible need for additional mitigation over and above that currently
planned in the KCC A2/A251 junction improvement scheme (see below).

M2 Junction 7

11.1.2.12 J7 (Brenley Corner), where the M2 and A2 meet, is a pinchpoint on the strategic transport
route for traffic travelling onto Canterbury and Dover, particularly for HGVs travelling to the Dover port. The
junction is currently operating at capacity level with the current configuration of the junction regularly creating
peak hour congestion as traffic on the SRN mixes with traffic on the local road network leading to queuing
on the approach roads. The capacity of the junction, therefore, is not only a constraint to development
locally but also more widely across north and east Kent, particularly development in local authority areas
along the M2/A2 corridor and also has wider strategic impacts on the economy of the south east.

11.1.2.13 There is currently no committed national improvement scheme to mitigate the above issues
although KCC have proposals for minor improvements to the local roads approaching the junction. An
improvement scheme to remove the congestion due to the gyratory, creating a continuous M2/A2 route
and providing for a free flow of traffic is planned. The scheme has been included as a pipeline scheme in
the national Road Investment Strategy 2 (RIS2) for development during 2020 - 2025, with potential delivery
beyond 2025, although there is no commitment to the scheme ultimately being included in RIS3 for funding
and taken through to construction. Highways England have indicated that until firm proposals for an
improvement scheme come forward the RIS2 proposals cannot be relied on to mitigate the development
planned for in the Local Plan and there will be a need to assess impacts and mitigation measures at a local
level; this work is ongoing.

A249 Junctions

11.1.2.14 There are improvement schemes proposed for three junctions on the A249, at Key Street,
Bobbing and Grovehurst Road. The aim of the improvements is to reduce congestion, improve journey
time reliability and provide additional road capacity for planned new housing as well as improve facilities
for pedestrians and cyclists. The schemes proposed for each junction are summarised below.

A249 Key Street - the scheme would involve an extension of the existing roundbout to the west with
partial signal control of the north bound off slip and a new south bound on slip which would intersect
with a roundabout on Chestnut Street, serving the proposed development of the adjacent land. Initial
works (Phase 1) were implemented in 2020. Phase 2 is at design stage(22) and the outline programme
for these improvements would see construction start in March 2022 and completion in March 2024. The
scheme is being funded by HIF grant funding and S106 developer contributions(23).
A249 Grovehurst Road – the junction currently experiences significant/severe congestion and the
remaining safety led capacity has been allocated to permitted developments. As such Highways
England currently seek to restrict, through the imposition of a Grampian condition, occupancy of
developments that may be permitted until the completion and opening of the scheme to traffic. The
improvement scheme would see the removal of the existing 'dumb bell' roundabout arrangement and
construction of a new gyratory utlising the existing bridge together with a new bridge and extensions
to the A249 slip roads, resolving the issue of traffic queuing from the slip roads onto the main

22 Public consultation on the Key Street and Grovehurst Road junctions was held virtually between December 2020
and January
2021https://kccconsultations.inconsult.uk/consult.ti/A249swalejunctionimprovements/consultationHome

23 KCC were awared £38.1m of HIF Forward Funding in December 2019 to undertake highway improvements to
the A249 junctions at Key Street and Grovehurst Road. A Grant Determination Agreement has now been
completed but the funding is conditional on the improvements to M2 J5 being approved. A condition of the HIF
allocation is that further S106 contributions, that would have been used to support highway improvements at
Key Street and Grovehurst Road should be recycled back into other housing enabling highway and infrastructure
improvements within Swale

27Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11Physical Infrastructure

Page 321

https://kccconsultations.inconsult.uk/consult.ti/A249swalejunctionimprovements/consultationHome


carriageway at peak hours. Outline designs have been developed with construction anticipated to
commence in 2022 with completion in March 2024. The scheme is HIF funded.
A249 Bobbing – the junction currently experiences significant congestion during the peak hours. An
improvement scheme for this junction to increase capacity forms part of the planning application(s)
for the development of the NorthWest Sittingbournemixed use allocation. Transport assessment work
in connection with the planning application indicates that 100 dwellings could be completed before
the requirement for an interim mitigation scheme with full mitigation required before occupation of the
450th dwelling.

11.1.3 Local Highways

11.1.3.1 Local transport policy is the responsibility of KCC and as such joint woking is required to ensure
that land use planning and transport are aligned as closeley as possible.

11.1.3.2 The fourth Local Transport Plan (LTP4)(24) covers a wide range of transport related priorities to
2031. LTP4 is built around delivering resilient transport infrastructure and improving reliability of the county's
transport network to support economic growth and demand from a growing population. The LTP priorities
are identified as strategic, countywide and local. One of the strategic priorities of signfiicance to the Local
Plan is the updgrading of the M2 junctions to improve capacity and provide for the free flow of traffic.

11.1.3.3 The key highway improvement schemes on the local road network are summarised below. This
does not include improvements required to facilitate development of individual site allocations, which are
listed in the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule.

A2/A251 Junction

11.1.3.4 The A2/A251 priority junction provides the primary access for Faversham and eastern Swale
to the SRN. The junction caters for significant volumes of traffic and is currently operating over capacity in
peak periods with serious levels of congestion and delay. This is a constraint to key strategic housing
allocations in the Faversham area and to the economic wellbeing of the town. The proposed scheme
replaces the existing priority junction arrangement with a new signalised junction, which will include a
controlled pedestrian crossing across the A2 eastern arm.

11.1.3.5 The scheme is at design stage and a start on site is anticipated for July 2021.

A2500 Lower Road/A249 Roundabout

11.1.3.6 To improve congestion and increase safety a scheme to widen the approach arm from the A2500
Lower Road from 1 to 2 lanes, increasing turning capacity, is planned. The scheme is being delivered as
Section 278 works and is currently anticipated to be undertaken in 2022.

A2 Corridor

11.1.3.7 The A2 suffers from high levels of congestion, particularly from the roads that feed into it.
Reducing the congestion on this route is key to achieving a number the aims of the Swale Transport Strategy.
To address these issues the council, working with KCC, will develop an A2 Mitigation Strategy to manage
the flows of traffic on the A2 and the roads that feed on to it, especially where there are air quality, traffic
congestion and road safety issues.

24 Local Transport Plan 4: Delivering Growth without Gridlock 2016 -
2031https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/local-transport-plan

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan28

Physical Infrastructure11

Page 322

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/local-transport-plan


11.2 Public and Sustainable Transport

11.2.1 Rail

11.2.1.1 Rail services are currently provided by Southeastern rail. The competition for the South Eastern
rail franchise (which would have run from April 2019) was termined by the Department for Transport (DfT)
in August 2019. In March 2020, Govia (the operating company) were awarded a Direct Award Contract to
continue operating the South Eastern rail franchise until October 2021, with the option to extend the contract
until March 2022. Reflecting the DfTs response to the Covid-19 pandemic to support and sustain necessary
rail services, this was a management contract with all revenue and cost risk transferred to the Government
for a limited period. The contract included options to boost capacity in the short term as additional rolling
stock became available and partnership with Network Rail to develop longer term capacity, rolling stock
and punctuality strategy for the South Eastern network beyond 2022.

11.2.1.2 Within the Borough, there are stations at Newington, Sittingbourne, Teynham, Faversham and
Selling, with high speed Southeastern trains stopping at Sittingbourne and Faversham. The branch line
between Sittingbourne and Sheerness is a community rail line providing a half hourly passenger service,
with inter stops at stations at Kemsley, Swale and Queenborough.

11.2.1.3 Network Rail are currently investigating improvements to service frequency at Newington,
Teynham and Selling stations from an hourly to half hourly service. This is due to be completed by Autumn
2021.

11.2.1.4 The development proposed in the Local Plan at settlements served by a rail station may provide
a catalyst for increased patrongage which could also support improved facilities, particularly at smaller
stations where there are currently limited passenger facilities. Further discussions will be held with
Southeastern rail to establish the level and type of infrastructure that may be required.

11.2.1.5 Some Local Plan allocations are in locations where deveopment may have an impact on the
operation of level crossings in the vicinity of the site through increased pedestrian traffic using the level
crossing. Network Rail's preferred solution would be the closure of crossings. The impact of development
on the use of level crossings will require consideration as part of a Transport Assessment and, if required,
the idenification of appropriate mitigation measures.

11.2.1.6 The IDS (2017) contained a number of public transport projects, which have been updated.

11.2.2 Walking and Cycling

11.2.2.1 The Swale Transport Strategy has identified a number of measures to support sustainable travel,
particularly walking and cycling. In addition, a number of the allocated sites will require the provision of new
walking and cycling links to facilitate walking and cycling and connecting the sites to local services
and facilities. These are identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule.

11.2.3 Bus Provision

11.2.3.1 Swale's bus network covers the Borough well with several routes and frequencies, although a
number of these are subsidised in order to ensure bus routes are available for those in locations which
need them. There has, however, been a reduction in bus usage over the last six years and there is a lack
of adult passengers during peak travel times. Through the Swale Quality Bus Partnership a number of
improvements to routes and services have been implemented and there is a need to build on these to
develop to develop a robust, high quality network.

11.2.3.2 The Swale Transport Strategy 2022 - 2038 sets out a number of measures aimed at increasing
the modal share for travel to work journeys by bus to 5% over the plan period. Developers of all major sites
will be required to take into account bus service provision and allocations will need to be appropriately
masterplanned to ensure prioritised bus access within and into/out of sites and the provision of bus

29Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11Physical Infrastructure

Page 323



infrastructure. It is likely that there will also be a requirement on developers to support services, which may
be through the extension of existing routes, to esnure residents of the new developments have the option
of bus travel from the earliest opportunity.

11.3 Utilities

11.3.1 This section provides an update in respect of the following utilities: electricity, gas, water and
telecommunications infrastructure.

11.3.1 Electricity

11.3.1.1 National Grid Electricity Transmission (NGET) owns and maintains the electricity transmission
system in England, distributing the energy to the electricity network operators, so it can reach homes and
businesses. National Grid have confirmed that specific development proposals are unlikely to have a
signficant direct effect upon National Grid's electricity transmission infrastructure.

11.3.1.2 UK Power Networks (UKPN) are the Distribution Network Operator covering Swale and have a
duty to supply electricity to sites. The projected increased in load growth associated with the level and
location of proposed development in the Local Plan has been discussed with UKPN. Connections can be
made from the site allocations to existing supplies but the following capacity issues have been identified,
although none are considered to be a risk to development.

Queenborough and Rushenden - there is a 6.6kV main sub-station in the vicinity of the Rushenden
South site that has available headroom to serve the development proposed. However, should there
be several large developments in the area reinforcement may be required
Sheerness - the area is served by a 6.6kVmain sub-station which has headroom. There are no capacity
issues, therefore, for smaller developments although large one off developments may require
reinforcement
Sittingbourne - there are two 11kV main sub-stations serving the area both of which have headroom.
Reinforcement of the extra high voltage (EHV) network may be required at some point to provide
additional capacity depending on loading requirements, for example to serve larger industrial
developments
Faversham - the east of Faversham is served by an 11kv main sub-station that has recently been
upgraded to give a large increase in headroom and the 'second comer' regime(25)may apply depending
on when developments come forward and seek a connection to the network
Lamberhurst Farm - there may be a need for significant reinforcement but this will depend on the type
of employment users that occupy the development and whether there is sufficient network capacity
for their likely loading requirements
Rural areas - local network reinforcement would be required

11.3.1.3 The above are caveated, however, in that each site would need to be considered on its own,
taking into account the current network at the time a planning application was made and when more detailed
development proposals, particularly for employment sites, and the likely loading requirements are known.
In those settlements where reinforcement would be required if more than one site came forward this would
be on a first come first served basis, with reinforcement applying to subsequent applications. Developers
should discuss their development proposals with UKPN at the earliest opportunity.

11.3.2 Gas

11.3.2.1 National Grid Gas plc owns and operates the high pressure gas transmission system across
the UK. Gas then leaves the transmission system and enters the four gas distribution networks where
pressure is reduced for public use.

25 This applies where a connectee who subsequently connects to and benefits from infrastructure paid for by an
earlier connectee should pay for its share of the costs and therefore be liable for a second comer payment. This
applies to connections within ten years of the upgrade.

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan30

Physical Infrastructure11

Page 324



11.3.2.2 SGN, are the gas distribution company covering the south east. There are two network grids
covering the Borough: Ashford and Medway. SGN have indicated the following reinforcement schemes
would be required to support the level of growth proposed in the Local Plan:

Kingsferry Bridge - development within the Queenborough and Rushenden Regeneration Area triggers
the need for reinforcement of the mains at Kingsferry Bridge
Faversham - development to the south east of Faversham would, depending on where a connection
to the network was made, trigger the need for reinforcement of the gas network on the eastern side
of Faversham

11.3.3 Water Infrastructure

11.3.3.1 Water and water recycling infrastructure is funded from a combination of a water company's
business plan, which is funded through customer bills, and developer charges directly sought by the water
company to fund connections and improvements to supply water serving new development and to ensure
the site drains effectively.

11.3.3.2 The Borough is served by two water companies: Southern Water (covering the whole Borough
for wastewater treatment and providing water supply on the western side of the Borough, including the Isle
of Sheppey) and South East Water (providing water supply in the eastern side of the Borough).

11.3.3.3 Both companies have published Water Resource Management Plans (WRMP)(26). These are
statutory plans that all water companies have to produce every five years. They look at least 25 years
ahead to forecast how much water will be available and how much it will be needed in the future to meet
demand. If demand is greater thatn the water available, these plans identify the most cost effective solutions
to fill the gap. The WRMPs have taken account of planned growth but will not reflect additional demands
as a consequence of the local plan review.

11.3.3.4 In addition, water companies work on a five year business planning cycle through which funding
for new resource developments or improvments are secured. Proposals for the five year period are contained
in the published five year Asset Management Plans (AMP). The AMP covers the building and modernising
of water pipes to ensure a reliable supply, the reduction of the number of overflows from sewers and
improvement of water and wastewater treatment works to deal with growing population and climate change.
The current AMP period is 2020 - 2025.

11.3.3.5 The water companies have commenced preparation of new Drainage and Wastewater
Management Plans. These are strategic plans, which will set out how the water companies intend to extend
and maintain a robust and resilient drainage and wastewater system over a 25 year period. Draft Plans are
due to be published for consultation in the summer 2022.

Water Supply

11.3.3.6 The north west of the Borough, including the Isle of Sheppey, is within Southern Water's Kent
Medway WRZ (supplied from a mixture of groundwater and water from rivers), whilst the remainder of the
Borough is located in the South East Water's WRZ8, where drinking water is supplied by groundwater and
imported water from Southern Water.

11.3.3.7 Neither water company has identified issues with the supply of water over the plan period.

26 South East Water Resources Management Plan 2020 - 2080
(2019) https://corporate.southeastwater.co.uk/news-info/publications/wrmp19-wrmp/and SouthernWater Water
Resources Management Plan 2020 - 2070 (December 2019)
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-story/water-resources-planning/water-resources-management-plan-2020-70

31Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11Physical Infrastructure

Page 325

https://corporate.southeastwater.co.uk/news-info/publications/wrmp19-wrmp/
https://www.southernwater.co.uk/our-story/water-resources-planning/water-resources-management-plan-2020-70


Waste Water Treatment

11.3.3.8 There are five wastewater treatment works (WwTW) serving the Borough: Eastchurch, Motney
Hill, Teynham, Queenborough and Faversham.

11.3.3.9 The Kent Water for Sustainable Growth Study (2017)(27) commissioned by KCC, assessed the
impact of growth on the water environment and identified sustainable measures required to manage water
environment impacts to 2031. The Study made an assessment of the growth planned (in the adopted Local
Plan) compared to the available headroom at the WwTWs. This showed that there was sufficient permitted
capacity at the Eastchurch, Motney Hill and Teynham WwTWs to accept the planned level of growth. The
headroom as the Faversham WwTW was already limited and at Queenborough WwTWs the available
headroom capacity would be used by 2024, requiring Southern Water to apply for new discharge permits.
More stringent quality conditions would be required relating to Biological Oxygen Discharge to ensure no
deterioration in the water quality of the Swale Estuary. However, the Study concluded that this could be
achieved through conventional treatment and that a technical solution would be feasible.

11.3.3.10 Following assessment of the site allocations proposed in the Regulation 19 Local Plan, Southern
Water have advised that there will be a need for reinforcement of the wastewater network in order to provide
capacity for development in Sheerness, Sittingbourne, Faversham, Teynham and Neames Forstal.

11.3.3.11 Southern Water have also advised that there is limited capacity at the Faversham WwTW and
there will be a need to upgrade the WwTW to accept all the development proposed in the Regulation 19
Local Plan. Funding for the upgrade would be taken through the next AMP cycle covering 2025 - 2030.
The timing of development may need to be phased inline with the delivery of the WwTW upgrade.

11.3.4 Broadband

11.3.4.1 Delivery of broadband and mobile services, to support the changing needs of businesses and
communities in the Borough’s urban and rural communities alike, is a priority within the Swale Economic
Improvement Plan 2020-2023. This recognises that the provision of improved broadband services, which
are reliable, is essential for sustainable long-term economic growth and the social well-being of residents.

11.3.4.2 The majority of the Borough has good standard of access to broadband services, with over 95%
of the Borough able to access superfast broadband (of more than 30Mps). However, just over 4% of
properties in Swale had access to full fibre connections (17.2% in the UK). Provision of high capacity
broadband will support businesses and attract investment. It will also support how residents choose to work
and live, facilitating social inclusion and access to services and leisure opportunities. It also has the potential
to increase opportunities for home and remote working, reducing commuting journeys and the need to
travel, thereby contributing towards a reduction in our communities’ carbon footprint.

11.3.4.3 To support the provision of broadband infrastructure, Policy DM 13 in the Regulation 19 Local
Plan seeks to secure the installation of gigabit capable broadband infrastructure as part of new developments.

11.4 Waste

11.4.1 KCC is the waste disposal authority operating household waste recycling centres (HWRC) and
waste transfer stations (WTS) across the County. In Swale HWRCs are located at Sittingbourne, Faversham
and Sheerness, with a WTS co-located with the Sittingbourne HWRC.

11.4.2 Discussions with KCC suggest that there would be a need for increased operational capacity
through the extension of the Sheerness and Faversham HWRCs and the relocation of the Sittingbourne
HWRC onto a new site which would enable the expansion of the WTS. These projects are reflected in the
Infrastructure Delivery Schedule.

27 Kent Water for Sustainable Growth Study (May 2017),
AECOM https://www.medway.gov.uk/downloads/file/2374/kent_water_for_sustainable_growth_2017

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan32

Physical Infrastructure11

Page 326

https://www.medway.gov.uk/downloads/file/2374/kent_water_for_sustainable_growth_2017


11.4.3 KCC would also seek developer contributions towards waste infrastructure improvements. This
is currently £183.67 per dwelling (index linked).

33Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

11Physical Infrastructure

Page 327



12 Appendix 1: Infrastructure Delivery Schedule
See separate schedule

Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan34

Appendix 1: Infrastructure Delivery Schedule12

Page 328



Appendix 1: Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Infrastructure Delivery Schedule

Infrastructure 

Category

Project 

Reference

Infrastructure 

Project

Project description Location Trigger for Timing of 

Delivery

Short Term

2020 - 2025

Medium Term

2025 - 2030

Long Term

from 2030

Indicative cost 

(£)

Funding secured 

(£)

Potential Funding 

Sources

Delivery Lead Delivery partners 

and stakeholders

Priortisation

1 - Critical

2 - Necessary

3 - Important

Contributing sites Comments (including risks and contingencies)

PI/01 M2 J5 Improvements to slip roads and junction 

approaches to increase junction capacity 

and improve safety

M2 J5/A249 

Stockbury 

Roundabout

Dependant on scheme 

being consented 

following Inquiry

x £91,000,000 £91,000,000 RIS1/RIS2 funding

MRN funding

SELEP (LGF)

KCC

Highways England KCC 1 Scheme is subject to outcome of the Public Inquiry into the Orders which took place during November and 

December 2020.

Grampian conditions on recent planning applications to ensure development does not take place before 

improvement scheme is implemented

PI/02 M2 J7 Junction improvement to increase 

capacity and free flow of traffic

M2 J5/A2 Brenley 

Corner

£100,000,000 RIS3 funding

S106/S278

Highways England KCC

Developers

1 Identified in RIS2 as pipeline scheme but no commitment to scheme being funded.

Cost is estimated

Sites in Local Plan will need to 'wash their face' in terms of mitigation impacts on J7. Subject to current 

modelling to determine what capacity there may be before mitigation required and nature of any interim 

scheme pending RIS3 

PI/03 A249/A2 Junction improvements Key Street Junction x £6,000,000 HIF

S106

KCC Highways England

Developers

1 Initial works implemented in 2020.  Further works are anticipated to be completed by 2024.

PI/04 A249/B2005 Junction improvements Grovehurst Road 

Junction

x £33,000,000 HIF

S106

KCC Highways England

Developers

1 Designs being finalisesd with planning application to be submitted in 2022

PI/05 Bobbing junction Junction improvements x Not known S278 KCC Highways England

Developers

1 Works are linked to NW Sittingbourne application via  S278.  Anticipated implementation by 2028.

PI/06 Queenborough 

Road/Sheppey 

Way/A2500 

roundabout

Widen Lower Road between Barton Hill 

Drive and Cowstead Corner

x Not known at 

this stage

S278 KCC Developers 2 To be provided as Section 278 works

PI/07 A2/A251 Replacement of priority junction with 

signalised junction to improve capacity

x £1,680,000 £1,680,000 S106, SELEP (LGF), KCC KCC Developers 2 Cost is estimate based on design work to date.

Implementation anticipated by 2021

PI/08 Mill Lane Widening of Mill Lane Between Milton 

Road and St Paul's 

Street

To be determined by 

Transport Assessment

Not known at 

this stage

S278 KCC Developers 2 Crown Quay Lane 

(A9)

Scheme to be assessed when planning application for Phase 2 of Crown Quay Lane allocation is submitted

PI/09 A2 junctions, 

Teynham

Junction improvements to increase 

capacity and facilitate development

Station Road, 

Lynsted Road, 

Claxfield Road, The 

Crescent and 

Conyer Road

To be determined by 

Transport Assessment

x x Not known at 

this stage

£350,000 S106 KCC Developers 2 Teynham allocations

PI/10 A2 Teynham New junction and access road West of Frognal 

Lane

Start of build out of site x Not known at 

this stage

Development cost Developer KCC 2 Frognal Lane 

allocation (MU4)

Junction is required to provide acceptable access to Frognal Lane allocation without which development of 

site cannot be achieved
PI/11 Frognal Lane and 

Lower Road, 

Teynham

Traffic management measures x Not known at 

this stage

S106/S278 KCC Developer 2 Frognal Lane 

allocation (MU4)

PI/12 Love Lane and A2, 

Faversham

Installation of traffic signals x £350,000 £350,000 S106/S278 KCC Developer 2 Lady Dane Farm 

allocation (MU5)

Implementation expected in 2021

PI/13 Brogdale Road/A2, 

Faversham

Junction improvement to local road 

network

x £350,000 £350,000 S106/S278 KCC Developer 2 Perry Court Farm 

allocation (MUX2)

A251 Perry Court roundabout implemented 2019. 

A2/Brogdale Road works to be implemented 2020
PI/14 Grovehurst Road 

new link road

New link road from local road network Grovehurst Road to 

land south of 

Bramblefield Road

To be determined by 

masterplan

Not known at 

this stage

S278 KCC Developer 2 NW Sittingbourne 

allocation (MU1)

Scheme anticipated in 2021 following determination of planning application

PI/15 Head 

Hill/Whitstable 

Road/Staple Street 

Road

Replace junction with roundabout x Not known at 

this stage

S106, KCC KCC Developers 3 Scheme identified in Swale Transport Strategy 2022 - 2038

PI/16 A249/A2500 

junction

Junction capacity improvements x Not know at this 

stage

HE, S106 HE KCC, Developers 2 Scheme identified in Swale Transport Strategy 2022 - 2038

PI/17 B2600/Sonora Road Junction capacity improvements x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developers 2 Scheme identified in Swale Transport Strategy 2022 - 2038

PI/18 A2 Mitigation 

Strategy

Manage traffic on A2 and roads that flow 

onto it

x x x £1,000,000 - 

£2,000,000

S106 KCC Developers 2 Cost is an estimate and depends on land values and availability

PI/19 Teynham Southern 

Link Road

New link road to serve development to 

south of Teynham

To be determined by 

masterplan

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106/S278 KCC Developers 2 Teynham allocations Nature of road to be considered as part of modelling

PI/20 A2 roundabout New roundabout to provide access to 

land at Lady Dane Farm

East of Faversham x Not known at 

this stage

Development cost Developer KCC 2 Lady Dane Farm 

(MU1b)  
PI/21 Graveney Road 

roundabout

New roundabout to provide secondary 

access to land at Lady Dane Farm

East of Faversham x Not known at 

this stage

Development cost Developer KCC 2 Lady Dane Farm 

(MU1b) and 

Graveney Road 

(MU1a)
Parking

PI/22 Station Road, 

Teynham

Residents off street parking x Not known at 

this stage

Development cost KCC Developer 2 Station Road, 

Teynham allocation 

(AX7)

Scheme required to reduce congestion

PI/23 Lower Road, 

Teynham

Residents off street parking x Not known at 

this stage

Development cost KCC Developer 2 Barrow Green Farm 

allocation (A14)

Scheme required to reduce congestion

PI/24 Cycling and walking 

improvements

Various measures to improve existing 

and provide new cycling and pedestrian 

links/infrastructure to encourge non-car 

usuage

Various locations as 

identified in Swale 

Transport Strategy

x x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developers 2 Schemes/locations identified in Swale Transport Strategy 2022 - 2038

PI/25 Western Link Pedestrian and cycle link to improve 

connectivity with the town centre

Western Link to 

Lower Road, 

Faversham

x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developer 3 Western Link 

allocation (A12)

Implementation anticipated from 2021

PI/26 Barton Hill Drive Pedestrian and cycle link to improve 

connectivity 

West of Barton Hill 

Drive to Parsonage 

Chase, Minster

x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developer 3 Barton Hill Drive 

allocation (AX1)

Requires third party agreement.

Implementation expected from 2024

PI/27 Queenborough and 

Rushenden 

Regeneration Area

Pedestrian links Between 

Queenborough and 

Neatscourt

By occupation of 250th 

dwelling

x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC KCC

Developer

3

PI/28 Milton Creek 

connectivity

Pedestrian and cycle link through 

country park alongside creekside

To be determined by 

masterplan

x £700,000 S106 KCC Developer 3 Crown Quay 

allocation (A9)

Anticipated from 2022

PI/29 NW Sittingbourne Pedestrian and cycling improvements To be determined by 

masterplan

Not known at 

this stage

S278 KCC Developer 3 NW Sittingbourne 

allocation (MU1)
PI/30 Queenborough and 

Rushenden 

Regeneration Area

Traffic calming/environmental 

enhancements to local road network

Main Road, 

Queenborough

By occupation of 

1000th dwelling

x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developer 3

PI/31 East Faversham Pedestrian and cycling routes linking 

sites East of Faversham with town centre 

and rail station

Start of build out of 

sites

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developers 2 Sites within east of 

Faversham 

expansion (MU 1)

£38,600,000

P
H

Y
SI

C
A

L 
IN

FR
A

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E

To be determined

Highways - Strategic Road Network

Highways - Local Highway Network

Cycling and Walking

1

P
age 329



Appendix 1: Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Infrastructure Delivery Schedule

Infrastructure 

Category

Project 

Reference

Infrastructure 

Project

Project description Location Trigger for Timing of 

Delivery

Short Term

2020 - 2025

Medium Term

2025 - 2030

Long Term

from 2030

Indicative cost 

(£)

Funding secured 

(£)

Potential Funding 

Sources

Delivery Lead Delivery partners 

and stakeholders

Priortisation

1 - Critical

2 - Necessary

3 - Important

Contributing sites Comments (including risks and contingencies)
P

H
Y

SI
C

A
L 

IN
FR

A
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
E

PI/32 Teynham Enhancement of pedestrian and cycling 

routes

Start of build out of 

sites

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developers 2 Sites within 

Teynham Area of 

Opportunity (AO 1)

PI/33 Neames Forstal Pedestrian and cycling link between sites 

and Selling Primary School

Start of build out of 

sites

x Not known at 

this stage

S106 KCC Developers 2 Sites at Neames 

Forstal (A 4)

There are several options as to how this link may be provided and the preferred approach will be determined 

through the development management process

Public Transport
PI/34 Sheerness, 

Queenborough and 

Kemsley Halt rail 

stations

Improvements to station facilities, public 

transport, pedestrian and cycling links

x Not known at 

this stage

S106 Rail operator Network Rail

Developers

3 Allocations within 

proximity of stations

On going discussions with rail operator regarding need for improvement to facilities in other locations 

PI/35 Quality Bus 

Partnership

Bus priority and punctuality 

improvements

Various locations  x x x £540,000 £540,000 KCC

Bus operators

S106

KCC Bus operators

Developers

3

PI/36 Extension of bus 

services in 

Faversham and 

Sheerness to serve 

new development

Faversham

Sheerness

x Not known at 

this stage

KCC

Bus operators

S106

KCC Bus operators

Developers

2

PI/37 Faversham 

Wastewater 

Treatment Works

Updgrade to WwTW to provide 

additional capacity

To be phased in line 

with development

x Not know at this 

stage

Southern Water AMP Southern Water Developers

Environment Agency

2

PI/38 Foul sewerage 

network

Reinforcement of network Sheerness, 

Sittingbourne, 

Faversham, Neames 

Forstal, Teynham

To be phased in line 

with development

x x x Not know at this 

stage

Agreements between 

utility companies and 

developers

Southern Water Developers

Environment Agency

2

PI/39 Gas network Reinforcement of gas network Kingsferry Bridge

Faversham

Capacity improvements 

will be implemented as 

sites come forward

x Not know at this 

stage

SGN

Agreements between 

utility companies and 

developers

SGN Developers 3 Timing of reinforcement at Kingsferry Bridge is dependant on housing coming forward within the 

Queensbourough and Rushenden Regeneration Area

PI/40 Electricity network Reinforcement of electricity network Capacity improvements 

will be implemented as 

sites come forward

x x x Not know at this 

stage

UKPN

Agreements between 

utility companies and 

developers

UKPN Developers 3

PI/41 Sheerness HWRC Extension of site Not dependant on the 

Local Plan

x £750,000 KCC capital funding

S106

KCC SBC 3 HWRC extension would be onto land owned by KCC

PI/42 Faversham HWRC Extension of site Not dependant on the 

Local Plan

x £1,250,000 KCC capital funding

S107

KCC SBC 3 HWRC extension would be onto land owned by KCC

PI/43 Sittingbourne 

HWRC/WTS

Relocation of HWRC site and expansion 

of WTS

Not dependant on the 

Local Plan

x £7,000,000 KCC capital funding

S108

KCC SBC 3 The relocation of the HWRC would required the identification of a suitable 1 hectare site. The cost of this is £5 

million

Relocation of the HWRC would facilitate the extension of the WTS onto the land currently occupied by the 

HWRC

SI/01 Provision of new 

3FE school

Queenborough and 

Rushenden 

regeneration area

Actutal timing to be 

agreed through 

planning application 

process and secured 

through condition on 

planning permission or 

S106

x £15,000,000 KCC capital funding  

HCA forward funding 

S106

KCC HCA

Developers

2 Sites within 

Queenborough and 

Rushenden 

Regeneration area

No delivery date for starting this project - dependant on housing coming forward and need in the area

Requires provision of land

SI/02 Sheerness Primary 

Schoools

Expansion of existing schools Sheerness x x £928,400 KCC capital funding  

S106 

KCC Developers 2 Teynham allocations Currently at feasibility stage to rebuild school and to expand by 1FE

SI/03 Sunny Bank Infant 

and Junior School, 

Sittingbourne

Amalgamation of Infant and Junior 

schools and expansion to 2FE

x £4,200,000 £1,323,386 KCC capital funding  

S106 

KCC Developers 2 NE Sittingbourne 

(MU1) and Crown 

Quay Lane (A9) 

Planning permission granted in July 2020 for almalgamation of Sunny Bank Infant and Junior onto the Junior 

Site

Expansion to 2FE required from 2022 or 2023
SI/04 Teynham Parochial 

CE Primary School

Expansion of existing primary school 

from 1FE to 2FE

Teynham x £8,000,000 £1,411,869 KCC capital funding  

S106 

KCC Developers 2 Teynham allocations Currently at feasibility stage to rebuild school and to expand by 1FE

SI/05 Primary provision of 

2FE in new all 

through school 

(phase 1)

NW Sittingbourne x £10,200,000 £9,793,033 KCC capital funding 

S106 

KCC Developers 2 NW Sittingbourne 

(MU1) and Iwade 

(AX4 and A13)

Requires provision of land. £1,704,052 developer contribution secured for this

SI/06 Primary provision of 

new 2FE school

North Sittingbourne x £10,200,000 KCC capital funding 

S106 

KCC Developers 2 Requires provision of land

SI/07 Primary provision of 

new 2FE school

East of Faversham x £10,200,000 KCC capital funding 

S106 

KCC Developers 2 Graveney Road 

(MU1a), Lady Dane 

Farm (MU1b)

Requires provision of land

SI/08 Primary provision of 

two new 2FE 

schools

South East 

Faversham

x £20,400,000 KCC capital funding 

S106 

KCC Developers 2 South east 

Faversahm (MU1c)

Requires provision of land

Depending of the mix of housing to be provided requirement for two 2FE schools could be replaced by one 

3FE school (£15,300,000)

SI/09 Provision of new  

1FE to 2FE school

Lady Dane Farm, 

Faversham (Phase 

2)

x £5,400,000 KCC capital funding.  

S106

KCC Developers 2 Lady Dane Farm 

(MU5) and North of 

Graveney Road 

(AX3)

School site has not currently been identified.

SI/10 St Mary's County 

Primary School

Expansion of premises x £928,400 KCC capital funding 

S106 

KCC Developers 2

P
H

Y
SI

C
A

L 
IN

FR
A

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E
SO

C
IA

L 
IN

FR
A

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E

Water and Utility Services

Education - Primary (including SEN provision)

Waste

Actutal timing to be 

agreed through 

planning application 

process and secured 

through condition on 

planning permission or 

S106

2

P
age 330



Appendix 1: Swale Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Infrastructure Delivery Schedule

Infrastructure 

Category

Project 

Reference

Infrastructure 

Project

Project description Location Trigger for Timing of 

Delivery

Short Term

2020 - 2025

Medium Term

2025 - 2030

Long Term

from 2030

Indicative cost 

(£)

Funding secured 

(£)

Potential Funding 

Sources

Delivery Lead Delivery partners 

and stakeholders

Priortisation

1 - Critical

2 - Necessary

3 - Important

Contributing sites Comments (including risks and contingencies)
P

H
Y

SI
C

A
L 

IN
FR

A
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
E

SI/11 Secondary provision 

of 6FE at new all 

through school 

(over 2 phases)

NW Sittingbourne x x £27,000,000 £24,407,357 KCC capital funding  

S106

KCC Developers 2 NW Sittingbourne 

(MU1)

Requires the provision of land.

£9,215,602 developer contributions secured for this

	 

SI/12 Secondary provision 

of 4FE new school

East of Faversham x £26,000,000 KCC capital funding  

S106

KCC Developers 2 Graveney Road 

(MU1a), Lady Dane 

Farm (MU1b), south 

east Faversham 

(MU1c)

Costs estimated

SI/13 The Abbey School, 

Faversham

Expansion of existing school by 2FE x £6,900,000 £2,015,283 S106 KCC Developers 2 1FE expansion required by 2021/22 and further 1FE expansion by 2024/25

SI/14 Queen Elizabeth 

Grammar School, 

Faversham

Expansion of existing school by 1FE x £4,000,000 £267,435 S106 KCC Developers 2 Feasibility study commissioned

Expansion required by 2023/24

SI/15 Westlands 

Secondary Schoool 

Expansion of existing school by up to 

1.5FE

Unknown £1,133,286 S106 KCC Developers 2

SI/16 Bordon Grammar 

School

Expansion of existing school by 1FE x £3,500,000 S106 KCC Developers 2 Costs estimated

Expansion required by 2022/23
SI/17 Highstead Grammar 

School

Expansion of existing school by 1FE x £3,500,000 £941,800 S106 KCC Developers 2 Costs estimated

Expansion required by 2022/23
Education - SEN

SI/18 Expansion of 

Sheppey SEN School

Provision of primary SEN provision x Not known at 

this stage

KCC capital funding  

S106

KCC 2

SI/19 Provision of new 

SEN school

Expansion of premises x x Not known at 

this stage

KCC capital funding  

S106

KCC Developers 2

Health Care
SI/20 Sittingbourne 

Memorial Hospital

Maximise use of hospital site, including 

reconfiguration of the existing building 

where required

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 A collaborative approach to balance requirements for both general practice and community services is 

required to respond to both population growth and local needs.

Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy.
SI/21 Memorial Medical 

Centre, 

Sittingbourne 

(located within 

Sittingbourne 

Memorial Hospital)

Expansion of premises x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Priority in the CCG GP Estates Strategy

SI/22 Chestnuts Surgery, 

East Street

Extension to existing premises x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

SI/23 Grovehurst Practice, 

Sittingbourne

Further work to be undertaken to define 

future premises opportunity and plans

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

SI/24 Greenporch Surgery Relocation to new building x x Not known at 

this stage

GP led scheme Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

Follows merger of Lakeside Surgery and Milton Regis Surgery
SI/25 Meads Health 

Centre

Extension to existing purpose built 

premises

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

SI/26 Sheppey Community 

Hospital

Maximise use of the Community Hospital 

site, including reconfiguration of the 

existing building where required

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 A collaborative approach to balance requirements for both general practice and community services is 

required to respond to both population growth and local needs.

Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

SI/27 Sheppey Healthy 

Living Centre 

(including branch 

surgery based on 

the Sheppey 

Community Hospital 

site)

Extension x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

SI/28 Warden Bay Re-open and increase clinical capacity for 

one of the St Georges Medical Practice 

branch sites

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 To re-open surgery building and support population growth associated with the Local Plan. 

Priority in CCG GP Estates Strategy

Plans in development

SI/29 Newton Place 

Surgery or 

Faversham Medical 

Practice, Faversham

Reconfiguration/extension of existing 

practice

x £1,200,000 S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2 Business case in development for the extension of Newton Place. Extension is to be modular in design to 

enable further extension as demand increases. 

Plans are also being developed to increase clinical space within Faversham Medical Practice.

SI/30 The Surgery, 

Teynham

Extension/reconfiguration of existing 

premises to be considered

x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 monies

NHS Capital

GP led scheme

Kent and Medway CCG Developers

GP practices

2

SI/31 Library provison Refurbishment or improvement of 

premises, additional stock and 

equipment

Borough wide x x x Not known at 

this stage

KCC capital funding

S106

KCC Developers 3

SI/32 Youth services Additional resources and equipment Borough wide x x x Not known at 

this stage

KCC capital funding

S107

KCC Developers 3

SI/33 Community learning Additional provision Borough wide x x x Not known at 

this stage

KCC capital funding

S108

KCC Developers 3

SI/34 Social care Additional provision Borough wide x x x Not known at 

this stage

KCC capital funding

S109

KCC Developers 2

GI/01 On site open space 

provision

Various Provision as sites come 

forward

x x x Not known at 

this stage

S106 SBC Developers 3 All allocations Provision to be made in accordance with Council's adopted open space standards

Actutal timing to be 

agreed through 

planning application 

process and secured 

through condition on 

planning permission or 

S106

SO
C

IA
L 

IN
FR

A
ST

R
U

C
TU

R
E

GREEN 

INFRASTRUCTURE

Open Space Provision

Social Provision

Education - Secondary and Further (including SEN provision)

3

P
age 331



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

TRANSPORT STRATEGY 

2022 - 2037

 

        

Page 333



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 i 

 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 

Rev V01 V02  

Reason First draft  Second draft 
 

Prepared by Alice Stewart-Cox Alice Stewart-Cox  

Date 08.12.2020 14.01.2021  

Reviewed by Ben Meekings   

Date 09.12.2020   

Authorised by    

Date    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 334



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 ii 

 

FOREWORD BY COUNCILLOR MIKE BALDOCK, DEPUTY LEADER 

By 2037, Swale will have over 13,000 new homes and 10,900 new jobs in the 

Borough. With this comes an increase in population. With more people in the 

borough, the transport network needs to be able to cope without causing further 

harm to our environment. Furthermore, a national climate emergency has been 

declared in the UK and Swale cannot ignore this. In 2019 Swale declared a climate 

and ecological emergency and one of the main purposes of this is the reduction of 

carbon emissions in the borough. Swale has a commitment to reach zero carbon by 

2030. Transport has a huge part to play in achieving this. 

Congestion remains a challenging problem in a rural borough like Swale and one 

which will need to be addressed if those who have an essential need to use cars – 

because they cannot switch to walking, cycling or public transport – are to be able to 

travel around the borough successfully. Issues related to poor air quality are high on 

the agenda, and if Swale is to meet the minimum EU standards for air quality, we 

need to reduce the emissions associated with transport.  

This new Transport Strategy is our most radical yet and seeks to ensure that 

sustainable and active travel become real choices for people in the borough so that 

the borough can become a less car dependent place. We need to go further to 

radically change the way we move about, and to ensure that travel becomes 

healthier, safer, and more affordable than ever. This Transport Strategy supports the 

growth set out in the Local Plan Review and Swale’s vision to bring forward new 

development to meet local needs and have contributed to supporting low 

carbon/zero carbon and renewable energy initiatives, enhance the natural 

environment through biodiversity net gain, ensuring quali ty design and place making 

capitalising on the borough’s extensive natural and heritage assets.   

We will take every opportunity in this changing world to be creative and bold in our 

approach to deliver what Swale and Kent needs to boost its economy and deliver 

growth and jobs whilst addressing the transport and environmental challenges faced 

in the borough. This Strategy will be delivered in partnership by Swale Borough 

Council and Kent County Council (KCC) as they Highways Authority.  

 

 

 

 

Page 335



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 iii 

 

 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Swale Transport Strategy has an important role to play in transforming Swale 

into a more sustainable borough which supports the boroughs growth without 

harming the local environment. The Strategy’s overall vision is to:  

 

Deliver a sustainable transport network in Swale that creates an attractive, 

green and vibrant borough. The transport strategy will enable and encourage 

people to travel sustainably and actively, nurture healthy lifestyles, create 

less polluted places and upgrade the transport network to meet the boroughs 

needs. 

 

The Strategy has six overarching objectives which will meet this aim, these are:  

 

Objective 1  To promote active and sustainable travel enabling 

residents to take up these modes 

Objective 2  To reduce and mitigate the impact of poor air quality 

related to transport whilst striving for net zero 

Objective 3  To improve the journey time reliability and resilience 

across the transport network 

Objective 4  To support the economic growth and development 

projected in the Local Plan Review 

Objective 5  To consider the needs of all users across the transport 

network  

Objective 6  To substantially reduce all road casualties and progress 

towards zero killed and seriously injured (KSI) casualties 

 

Part of the evidence base for this Strategy is the Transport Model. The model has 

been used to forecast the development and traffic growth in the borough from a base 

year (2017). In the ‘Do Something’ scenario, the allocated development can be 

accommodated with a number of mitigations set out in this Strategy. The mitigations 

Page 336



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 iv 

 

are needed in order to create a 20% drop in vehicle journeys. The model will be run 

again in 2021 including the preferred sites set out on the Local Plan Review. The 

chapters within this Strategy contain seven key strands which aim to achieve this 

and Swale’s vision for the borough.  

1) Enabling Sustainable and Active Travel 

The aim is to enable residents in Swale to use alternative modes of travel to the 

private car, helping to create borough wide mode shift.  

Actions: 

⚫ Provide safe, pleasant and direct walking and cycling routes 

⚫ Public realm improvements 

⚫ Pedestrian and cyclist priority 

⚫ 20mph zones 

⚫ Secure Cycle parking 

⚫ Cycling promotion events 

⚫ Partnership with QBP to provide bus priority 

⚫ Partnership with Network Rail to improve rail services, reliability, 

integration with other modes, facilities and information. 

 

2) Parking Strategy  

The Aim is to manage the availability of car parking in the borough to balance the 

impact of car use with the need to provide access to services, communities and 

opportunities.  

Actions:  

⚫ Annually review parking fees to ensure the cost of public transport is 

not a deterrent. TO BE AGREED WITH PARKING TEAM 

⚫ Ensure the continued provision of EV charging and bays. 

⚫ Investigate new technologies and systems to improve the efficiency of 

kerbside usage and implement these if effective. 

⚫ Review and implement disabled parking bays for those who need them 

⚫ Implement the newly adopted Parking Standards Strategy 

 

 
3) Managing the Network 

Ensure the Network in the borough is running reliably and journey times are reliable.  

Actions: 
 

⚫ Ensure the continued management of the network to ensure minimal 

delay and congestion from new developments and demand. 

Page 337



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 v 

 

⚫ To ensure the network is able to operate effectively in the event of 

necessary or unexpected highway closure 

⚫ Create an A2 mitigation strategy to manage the flows of traffic on the 

A2 and the roads that feed on to it. 

⚫ The creation of new links to improve the resilience of the network e.g. 

Teynham/Ospringe 

 

 
4) Reducing Travel Demand 

Reduce the demand for travel in single occupancy car journeys through the 

promotion of travel reduction and shared travel providers.  

Actions:  
⚫ Support development which has sustainability at its core. 

Developments which facilitate sustainable modes of transport and 

minimises the need to travel will be supported. 

⚫ Support car sharing in the borough through online platforms and travel 

plans 

⚫ Support the use of car clubs in the borough and encourage operators 

into the borough 

⚫ Continue to require development proposals that have significant 

transport implications to have a robust travel plan that is monitored.  

 
5) Road Danger Reduction 

The aim is to reduce the number of casualties in the borough, particularly KSIs. The 

borough will aim for Vision Zero in adult and child casualties. 

 Actions: 

⚫ Provide 20mph schemes in the borough which are holistic and include 

traffic calming measures 

⚫ Monitor and measure risk posed and respond to the identified risks 

through taking appropriate action 

⚫ Prioritise traffic reduction on residential streets along with priority 

crossings and protected cycle routes on roads leading to schools, 

parks or other amenities which children wish to access 

⚫ Work on initiatives with local communities such as speed watch 

⚫ Ensure that road safety education and training is available within the 

borough 

 
6) Air Quality 

Page 338



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 vi 

 

The aim is to eliminate the dangerous air quality exceedances in the borough and 

stabilise the adverse effect of transport and its infrastructure on the natural and built 

environment and on local communities.  

 Actions: 

⚫ Support introduction of a Clean Air Zone 

⚫ Place the tackling of emissions from existing buildings and new 

developments at the forefront of planning policy and decision making 

⚫ Continue to invest in low emission Electric Vehicle charging 

infrastructure 

⚫ Support the delivery of the Air Quality Action Plan and associated 

documents.  

 
7) Freight 

The aim is to ensure the freight network is Swale is not causing any further adverse 

effects to the borough.  

 Actions:  

⚫ Encourage HGV’s to use the primary route network, where possible 

⚫ Provide clear advice in respect of freight implications of new 

development proposals 

⚫ Work with the freight industry to enable the sustainable movement of 

goods whilst ensuring the negative impacts of freight traffic are 

minimised 

⚫ Encourage a shift from road-borne freight to less environmentally 

damaging modes, including rail, water and pipelines where feasible 

⚫ Support improvements in HGV provision in the county, including 

overnight parking in appropriate locations. Utilising traffic management 

powers, where appropriate to do so, to manage access and egress 

from specific locations. 

⚫ Support the Swale Freight Management Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339



  

 
Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 vii 

 

 

 

 

Page 340



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 8 
 

CONTENTS PAGE PAGE NO. 

1. INTRODUCTION 12 

1.1 The role of the Transport Strategy 12 

1.2 Political context 13 

1.3 Legal Duties 14 

2. CONTEXT 15 

2.1 Social context 15 

2.2 Transport Context 18 

2.3 Significant Successes 2014-2022 23 

3. EXISTING PLANS AND STRATEGIES 25 

3.1 National Planning Policy 25 

3.2 Kent County Policy 27 

3.3 Local Swale Borough Council Policy 31 

4. KEY CHALLENGES 35 

4.1 Existing Travel Patterns 35 

4.2 Planned Development 43 

4.3 Transport Model 44 

4.4 Air Quality 45 

4.5 Road Safety 49 

4.6 Summary of Key Challenges in Swale 51 

5. TRANSPORT STRATEGY 53 

5.1 Vision 53 

5.2 Strategic Objectives 54 

5.3 Approach 54 

5.4 Key sites and mitigations 56 

5.5 Existing allocations 60 

5.6 Transport mitigations associated with the major developments 60 

Page 341



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 9 
 

5.7 Infrastructure Delivery Plan 61 

6. ENABLING SUSTAINABLE AND ACTIVE TRAVEL 62 

6.1 Walking 62 

6.2 Cycling 67 

6.3 Travel by bus 74 

6.4 Travel by Rail 78 

7. PARKING STRATEGY 83 

7.2 Existing Provision 83 

7.3 Tariffs 85 

7.4 Future Demand and Provision 85 

7.5 On-street Parking 87 

7.6 Electric Vehicle Parking 88 

7.7 Blue Badge 89 

7.8 Parking Standards 89 

8. MANAGING THE NETWORK 91 

8.1 Problem areas 91 

8.2 Key network 91 

8.3 Key Schemes 92 

8.4 Minimising Disruption 93 

8.5 Performance Monitoring 94 

9. REDUCING TRAVEL DEMAND 96 

9.2 Sustainable Development 97 

9.3 Car Sharing 97 

9.4 Car Clubs 98 

9.5 Workplace and residential travel plans 99 

9.6 Education Travel Plans 100 

9.7 Personalised Travel Planning 101 

Page 342



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 10 
 

9.8 Flexible / Home-based Working 102 

9.9 Workplace and Road User Charging 103 

10. ROAD DANGER REDUCTION 105 

10.1 20mph schemes 105 

10.2 Road Danger Reduction Analysis 106 

10.3 Children 109 

11. AIR QUALITY 112 

11.1 Air Quality in Swale 112 

11.2 Air Quality Council Policy 114 

11.3 Low Emissions Zones 115 

11.4 Planning Guidance 115 

11.5 Measures to Improve Air Quality 116 

12. FREIGHT 118 

12.2 Water Freight 119 

12.3 Rail Freight 119 

12.4 Main problems caused by freight traffic 119 

12.5 Freight Action Plan for Kent 2012-2016 121 

12.6 Swale Borough Council Draft Freight Management Plan, 2016 (FMP) 122 

12.7 Routeing 123 

12.8 Impact on Communities 124 

12.9 Planning Guidance 125 

13. ACTION PLAN 127 

13.1 Enabling Sustainable and Active Travel 127 

13.2 Parking Strategy 130 

13.3 Managing the Network 130 

13.4 Reducing Travel Demand 131 

13.5 Road Danger Reduction 132 

Page 343



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 11 
 

13.6 Air Quality 132 

13.7 Freight 133 

14. DELIVERY PLAN 134 

14.1 Sources of funding 134 

14.2 Infrastructure Delivery Plan 137 

15. MONITORING SUCCESS 146 

15.1 Introduction 146 

15.2 Active Travel and Mode Share 147 

15.3 Road Safety 148 

15.4 Freight 149 

15.5 Air Quality and Emissions 149 

15.6 Journey Times 149 

APPENDIX A – SWALE MODELLING REPORT 151 

APPENDIX B – PUBLIC CAR PARKS 152 

QUALITY 155 

 

Page 344



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 12 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

This Strategy replaces the Swale Transportation Strategy 2014-2031 and provides a 

supporting evidence base to the Swale Local Plan Review (2022-2038). It has been 

prepared to provide the transport policy framework for Swale to the year 2038. 

1.1 The role of the Transport Strategy 

1.1.1 The Borough of Swale is located on the centre of the North Kent Coastline 

and is predominantly rural in nature. There are three main urban areas, 

comprising Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheerness. Each of these distinct 

areas has different transport needs and challenges, and as such, this 

Strategy aims to provide a balanced and focussed approach to identifying 

the most appropriate solutions for the borough as a whole.  

1.1.2 This Strategy provides a framework to guide the development of transport-

based improvements and interventions within the borough for the period up 

to 2038. It identifies a number of priority schemes and projects, whose 

implementation will be dependent upon the rate of development coming 

forward, the identification of funding and the availability of resources. It is 

therefore a ‘living’ document which can be adjusted in accordance with 

changing circumstances. 

1.1.3 The Strategy will form an open and accountable statement of intent and 

ambition, seeking to inform decision making at a local level to ensure 

resources are used effectively and efficiently. It will demonstrate to the 

Government that a sound approach to local spatial planning and transport 

planning is being promoted. The heart of the strategy is to set out how 

transport can help deliver a positive vision for Swale by delivering transport 

objectives that contribute strongly to a vision that prioritises a sense of 

place, better accesses and an improved quality of life 

1.1.4 The main functions of the Strategy are to: 

⚫ Provide a detailed policy framework, consistent with both national and 

regional transport planning policy; 

⚫ Support Swale’s Local Plan Review, taking account of committed and 

planned development; 

⚫ Identify the transport improvements and solutions that are required to 

accommodate the anticipated changes in travel demand and promote a 

shift towards sustainable and active travel; 

⚫ Provide a funding and delivery mechanism for the identified transport 

improvements and actions; and 

⚫ Promote sustainable travel as a measure to address localised air 

quality concerns and the global climate crisis. 

Page 345



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 13 
 

1.2 Political context 

1.2.1 Kent County Council (KCC) is the strategic authority for Kent and is 

responsible for the management and maintenance of all non-strategic roads 

in the county (strategic roads being the responsibility of Highways England). 

In addition, KCC plans and delivers improvements to the local highway 

network, for which funding is received from the Government through a range 

of mechanisms. KCC has a local transport plan (LTP4 Deliver ing Growth 

without Gridlock) which sets out the vision for transport from 2016 to 2031 at 

both a local and countywide scale. 

1.2.2 Highways England is the Government company charged with operating, 

maintaining and improving England’s motorways and major A-roads. They 

set out a long-term programme for these roads within the Road Investment 

Strategy, which proposes £15.2 billion to be invested in over 100 major 

schemes to enhance, renew and improve the network. 

SBC is the local authority responsible for the borough. Through the Local Plan, SBC 

are responsible for meeting Government targets for housing and employment 

growth, in particular through the allocation of land for development. The Local 

Plan sets out the spatial strategy and vision for the borough, which is:  

Generally, new development would come forward to meet local needs and 

have contributed to supporting low carbon/zero carbon and renewable energy 

initiatives, enhance the natural environment through biodiversity net gain, 

ensuring quality design and place making capitalising on the borough’s 

extensive natural and heritage assets. 

 At Sittingbourne, a re-focussed town centre aimed at securing a vital and 

viable retail heart supported by leisure and dinning opportunities, whilst 

enabling new high density residential and community activity.  This has been 

achieved by wider regeneration, public realm improvements, and reconfigured 

and improved transport connections at and around the town. 

 At Faversham, a thriving market town and heritage designation that has 

successfully managed 21st century demands.  It has been achieved by 

enabling sympathetic and symbiotic growth whilst reducing congestion and air 

quality issues along the A2. 

 At Sheerness, Minster and Queenborough, the promotion of coastal and port 

rejuvenation making most use of its heritage assets whilst supporting the 

needs of the local communities. 

Page 346



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 14 
 

 At our rural and maritime communities, enable development to maintain and 

improve local services to cater for the local daily needs of its residents and to 

support vibrant communities whilst maintaining the quality of the local 

countryside environments in which they are set and protecting their heritage.  

1.2.3 In terms of transport, SBC is responsible for on and off-street parking 

enforcement, the provision and maintenance of car parks, street cleaning, 

the licensing of taxis and private hire vehicles, the provision of bus shelters, 

monitoring of air quality and the preparation of a Local Plan.  

 

1.3 Legal Duties 

1.3.1 The Equality Duty 2010 – this is to help public bodies consider how different 

people will be affected by their activities and to ensure this forms part of 

their policy and decision-making processes. It applies to all public authorities 

named in Section 19 of the Equality Act, including government departments, 

health bodies, local authorities, transport authorities, schools and the police.  

1.3.2 The Public Sector Equality Duty (and The Equality Act) – As part of the 

Equality Act 2010, a legal duty was placed on public bodies and others 

carrying out public functions to ensure that they consider the needs of all 

individuals in their day to day work - known as the Public Sector Equality 

Duty. It covers a number of protected characteristics and requires councils 

not to discriminate on the basis of age and ability. Therefore, the roads we 

live on, or use to get about, need to be usable for all ages and abilities.  

1.3.3 Health and Social Care Act 2012 – required local authorities took on a 

number of public health responsibilities in April 2013. This is of relevance, 

given the strong links between road safety and public health. 

 

Page 347



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 15 
 

2. CONTEXT 

This Chapter sets out the current social and transport context and how this has 

changed over time. Some significant successes from 2014-2022 are identified to 

highlight the progress made since the adoption of the previous Transport Strategy.  

 

2.1 Social context 

2.1.1 Swale Borough is located to the north of Kent, forming part of the North Kent 

Coast and the Thames Gateway. The borough covers an area of 

approximately 364 square kilometres and is predominantly rural in nature, 

with three main urban areas: Sittingbourne; Faversham; and Sheerness. The 

Isle of Sheppey is isolated from the mainland by the Swale, and is linked by 

the A249 bridge, which was opened in 2006. Swale also enjoys good links to 

Kent, London and mainland Europe, through both road and rail networks. 

Figure 1 below demonstrates the higher population density within the main 

urban areas in the borough. 

Figure 1: Swale population density (2011 census) 

Page 348



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 16 
 

 

2.1.2 Swale has the third largest district population in Kent1, with some 150,100 

people as of 20192. Population growth in Swale is largely fuelled by in-

migration, but its indigenous population is ageing. By virtue of its location on 

the Thames Estuary, the borough is an important part of what is a national 

priority area for growth. Swale is home to more than 4,600 businesses and 

has an economy providing some 49,000 jobs3. With regard to the borough’s 

labour market profile, 76.1% of the population is economically active, with 

4.9% unemployed. Figure 2 below shows unemployment percentages across 

the borough. Swale suffers from deprivations in part, with areas on the Isle 

of Sheppey more deprived than the rest of the borough, as seen in Figure 3.  

 

1 Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 
2 Office for National Statistics 
3 Swale Regeneration Framework 2018 

Figure 2: Unemployment percentages in Swale (2011 census) 

Page 349



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 17 
 

 

2.1.3 Sittingbourne is the main town in the borough, acting as a population, 

employment and service centre for the borough. The town has been a focus 

for much investment, with a major industrial presence, complimented by a 

growing technical and scientific base3.   

2.1.4 Faversham is a historic market town, with an economy built on local 

industries such as brewing, as well as tourism. Being smaller in nature, 

Faversham experiences a high proportion of out-commuting (46%) of which 

many are travelling to Canterbury. 

2.1.5 The Isle of Sheppey has seen significant investment associated with the 

major port at Sheerness and at the HCA scheme at Queenborough and 

Rushenden. The Island also attracts high levels of tourists each year, 

Figure 3: Index of Multiple Deprivation in Swale (2011 census) 

Page 350



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 18 
 

particularly to areas such as Leysdown, which provides a traditional seaside 

resort with a range of amusements, souvenir shops and eateries. The Isle of 

Sheppey experiences significant levels of off-island commuting (59% of the 

resident workforce3) and is also home to some of the borough’s most 

deprived communities. 

2.1.6 As noted, much of Swale is rural in nature, with 60% of the borough 

designated for international, national and local biodiversity and landscape 

value. Whilst this is largely beneficial, the decline of amenities in rural areas 

is causing an increasing need to travel, which presents challenges to those 

who do not have access to a car, in particular elderly and disabled residents.  

2.1.7 In the 2016 Local Area Perception survey undertaken by Swale Borough 

Council, residents highlighted that the level of traffic congestion and road / 

pavement repairs were the two features most in need of improvement in 

Swale4. The level of traffic congestion has seen the biggest increase as a 

feature in need of improvement over the last two years and was most 

pronounced in the Sheppey and Sittingbourne areas. 

2.1.8 Like many local authorities in Kent, Swale experiences issues with air quality 

and pollution. There are six designated Air Quality Management Areas 

(AQMAs) within the borough, in Newington, Ospringe (extended), East Street 

(Sittingbourne), St Paul’s Street (Sittingbourne), Teynham , and Keycol Hill 

(Sittingbourne). The boroughs AQMA’s are discussed in more detail in 

Chapter 16 of the strategy, relating to Air Quality.  

 

2.2 Transport Context  

2.2.1 The borough is well served by a range of transport networks, offering 

connections at a county, national and international level. The A2 / M2 

corridor forms part of the Trans European Transport Network (TEN-T) and 

provides one of the key gateways to Europe from the UK. The M2 motorway 

is managed by Highways England and routes east to west through the 

borough. The A2 is managed by KCC routeing to the north of the M2 through 

key urban areas including Sittingbourne, Bapchild, Teynham and 

Faversham. 

2.2.2 Three motorway junctions are present within the borough, each of which 

experiences congestion at peak times. The M2 junction 5 is located to the 

southwest of the borough, and connects the M2 with the A249, which routes 

north to the Isle of Sheppey, and south towards Maidstone. This junction 

 

4 SBC Policy Briefing: Local Area Perception Survey 2016 

Page 351



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 19 
 

experiences significant congestion, has one of the poorest safety records in 

the country, and is considered to be the single greatest transport constraint 

in the borough. Existing proposals from Highways England for M2 junction 5 

improvements are subject to a public inquiry which started in November 

2020. 

2.2.3 Junction 6 of the M2 is located just south of Faversham, connecting the 

motorway with the A251 Ashford Road, which connects with the A2 to the 

north, to the south it routes towards Ashford. Whilst this junction generally 

does not suffer congestion, there are sometimes bottlenecks at the junction 

between the A251 and the A2 impacting on the motorway junction which can 

cause safety issues.  

2.2.4 Junction 7 of the M2 is also known as Brenley Corner and is located to the 

east of Faversham. This junction connects the M2 with the A2 and the A299 

Thanet Way. This junction suffers from congestion at peak times, particularly 

eastern A2 arm. Highways England are currently seeking developer 

contributions towards an improvements scheme in this location. At the time 

of writing Swale and KCC are awaiting RIS2/3 outcomes. In the meantime, 

we expect developers to design an interim scheme to deal with their 

potential impacts as there is a significant challenge to adhere to a necessary 

reduction on overall trip rates. As such a design to be used for the purpose 

of establishing a S106 contribution towards M2J7 strategic improvement and 

or bring forward interim scheme if not included in RIS3 (or ear lier 

Government commitment.) 

2.2.5 The A249 is a trunk road, operated by Highways England but actively 

managed under a Design Build Finance Operate (DBFO) contract. This 

routes from Maidstone, via the M2, up to Sheerness. The A249 connects to 

the Isle of Sheppey via the Sheppey Crossing, which is a four-lane bridge 

routeing over The Swale. 

2.2.6 Passenger rail services in the district are currently provided by 

Southeastern, under the Integrated Kent Franchise, which covers the 

majority of Kent’s rail services, including High Speed. Southeastern operate 

the primary rail network within Swale, with regular services departing the 

borough to London, Ramsgate, Margate and Dover Priory. High Speed 

services to London St Pancras can be accessed from both Sittingbourne and 

Faversham. A dedicated line provides a route between Sittingbourne and 

Sheerness-on-Sea. 

2.2.7 Bus services in the borough are operated by Arriva, Stagecoach and 

Chalkwell, with a number of supplementary commercial services, including 

Page 352



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 20 
 

dedicated school services. A range of commuter coach services also offer 

routes to London.  

2.2.8 The deep-water port at Sheerness provides a gateway to mainland Europe 

for freight trade with both national and international markets. It is well 

located close to the River Medway which as the largest catchment area in 

Southern England and its reach and strategic location is attractive for freight 

transport.  Figure 4 below shows the existing transport network in the 

borough. 

2.2.9 The 2011 Census data shows that there is a considerable variation in car 

ownership across the Borough. Lower levels are found in the central parts of 

the urban areas of Faversham (Abbey, Davington Priory and St. Ann’s 

wards), Sheerness (Sheerness East and Sheerness West wards) and 

Sittingbourne (Chalkwell, Murston and Roman wards). These locations are 

characterised by a greater proportion of flatted accommodation and on-street 

Figure 4: Swale Transport Network 

Page 353



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 21 
 

parking restrictions in town centres, with a greater mix of house types at the 

edge of town centres. The highest levels of car ownership are found in the 

most rural parts of the Borough where the choice of travel modes and 

accessibility to local services by means other than the private car is reduced. 

It is also worth noting that the levels of car ownership identified in the 2011 

Census show an increase when compared to the 2001 Census, with the 

average car per household for the Borough increasing from 1.21 in 2001 to 

1.29 in 2011. The next census in 2021 will highlight the latest trends in car 

ownership for the borough. Figure 5 below shows the car ownership levels 

across the borough. 

 

2.2.10 Swale currently has three signed cycle routes: 

Figure 5: Households with no access to a car (2011 census) 

Page 354



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 22 
 

⚫ National Cycling Route 1 passes through Faversham and Sittingbourne, 

partly following the route of the A2. The overall route connects Dover 

and the Shetland Islands;  

⚫ National Route 174 or ‘The Sheerness Way’ is a looped route which 

includes Barton’s Point Coastal Park, the Queenborough Lines, and 

Sheerness Sea Front; and  

⚫ The Isle of Harty Trail is a flat, circular recreational tourist route which 

is mainly traffic-free. The route takes in local attractions such as 

Leysdown Beach and the RSPB Raptor View Point.  

2.2.11 A map of these routes is shown below in Figure 6.  

2.2.12 Cyclists can also legally make use of the PROW network as they can use 

Public Bridleways, Restricted Byways and Byways Open to All Traffic. 

Walkers and cyclists can also use a number of shared-use paths in Swale 

Figure 6: Signed cycle routes in Swale 

Page 355



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 23 
 

which are free of motor traffic. Cyclists can also use cycle lanes signed on or 

off carriageway or shared use pedestrian, cyclist’s routes and pavements.  

2.2.13 Swale also has a number of popular walking routes including the Saxon 

Shore Way, a national recreational route which passes through Swale along 

the North Kent coast and marshes. The route runs for 160 miles from 

Gravesend to Hastings. Locally promoted trails such as those covered by the 

Food Trails project in Faversham, Newnham, Sheldwich, Boughton, Oare 

and Teynham. There are also routes in Perry Wood, Elmley National Nature 

Reserve and Barton’s Point Coastal Park. Some of the town centres have 

also created specific routes to encourage visitors such as the Sittingbourne 

Cats Trail and guided walks in Faversham. Natural England is progressing 

plans to improve access to the coast in Swale, including around the Isle of 

Sheppey, as part of their project to create a national trail, the England Coast 

Path.  

 

2.3 Significant Successes 2014-2022 

2.3.1 Outlined below are a number of recent successes achieved since the 

adoption of the previous transport strategy that are helping to shape the 

future transport network in Swale.  

 

⚫ A249 HIF bids 

⚫ Brenley Corner RIS2 successful bid 

⚫ J5 M2 upgrade work 

⚫ Sittingbourne TC road improvements scheme 

⚫ Thomsett Way, Queenborough 

⚫ Barton Hill Drive roundabout  

⚫ Intelligent traffic lights at East Street junction Faversham.  

⚫ Ham Road junction and public realm improvements. 

⚫ New pedestrian and cycling signalised crossings at Brenley Corner  

 

Faversham town centre 20mph limit 

2.3.2 Over the summer of 2020, a new trial town-wide 20mph limit in Faversham 

was implemented as part of plans to increase walking and cycling. This 

scheme is one of various active travel initiatives to encourage more cycling 

and walking in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic in Kent, funded by the 

Government’s active travel fund. Studies that show 20mph schemes 

encourage healthier transport choices such as walking and cycling, and they 

can increase levels of walking and cycling by about a fifth. 

Page 356



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 24 
 

Publication of the Swale Cycling and Walking Guidance 2018-2022 

2.3.3 The publication of this guidance document outlined a number of shared use 

routes in Swale which are safe and attract interest from cyclists and walkers. 

Promotion of infrastructure can encourage more people to walk and cycle to 

work or school, which has added benefits of improving air quality and 

enhancing local economy by reducing congestion. The document Includes an 

action plan to work towards delivering a safe and connected network. 

Sittingbourne town centre regeneration  

2.3.4 In March 2015, Swale Borough Council’s planning committee resolved to 

grant planning approval for Phase 1 of the Spirit of Sittingbourne scheme. 

This involved the delivery of an integrated transport interchange and 

improvements to the public realm in the vicinity of Sittingbourne railway 

station. The regeneration includes improvements to the road network, 

realignment of St Michael’s Road and an integrated transport interchange in 

front of Sittingbourne station to allow a safer pedestrian experience in the 

town centre.  

A2500 Lower Road 

2.3.5 The A2500 Lower Road is an important route between the A249 in Sheppey 

and the east part of the Isle of Sheppey. It is also the primary through route 

to the three prisons on the island. The objectives of the scheme were to: 

⚫ Phase 1 - a new roundabout at Barton Hill Drive 

⚫ Phase 2 - a new shared footway  

⚫ Phase 3 - widen a 1.1km section of the A2500 Lower Road 

2.3.6 Construction for Phase 1 was completed January 2019 and Phase 2 in 

February 2020. Phase 3 is due to be delivered on commencement of the 

approved Barton Hill Drive development by the developer of that application. 

 

Page 357



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 25 
 

3. EXISTING PLANS AND STRATEGIES 

3.1 National Planning Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

3.1.1 The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how 

these should be applied. It provides a framework within which locally 

prepared plans for housing and other developments can be produced and is 

a material consideration in planning decisions.  

3.1.2 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. Chapter 2 sets out a requirement for significant development 

to be focused on locations which are, or can be made sustainable, by 

providing walking, cycling and public transport as genuine options or through 

reducing the need to travel. 

3.1.3 Opportunities for building infrastructure which broadens travel options should 

be identified and protected as part of large-scale development.  

3.1.4 Chapter 9 of the NPPF suggests that new development should give priority 

first to pedestrian and cycle movements; and second to facilitating access to 

high quality public transport. Development should also address the needs of 

people with protected characteristics under the Equality Act including older 

people and those with disabilities or reduced mobility in relation to all modes 

of transport. 

3.1.5 New places should be safe, secure and attractive, minimise the scope for 

conflict between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles and avoid street clutter. 

Space is required for the efficient delivery of goods and access by service 

and emergency vehicles. Provision for the charging of electric vehicles 

should also be incorporated. 

Gear Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking 2020 

3.1.6 The Gear Change document published by the Department for Transport 

(DfT) outlines the major benefits associated with encouraging more people in 

the UK to travel more actively. The main themes within the document are: 

⚫ Better streets for cycling and people - Newly available funding will 

help Local Authorities to create infrastructure that can provide safe, 

coherent, direct and continuous cycle routes to people, whilst 

maintaining adequate space for pedestrian movement. 

⚫ Putting cycling and walking at the heart of transport, place-making 

and health policy - New strategic and local A-road schemes will need 

to incorporate new or improved cycling and walking infrastructure. 

There will be a focus on implementing these schemes in areas with 

Page 358

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 26 
 

poor health and low physical activity rates. New housing and business 

developments will also be centred around sustainable travel, to make 

cycling and walking a much more viable option. 

⚫ Empowering and encouraging Local Authorities - The government 

wants to give local authorities new powers in order to have more 

control over their cycling and walking strategies, as well as make the 

majority of an additional £2 billion investment available.  

⚫ Enabling people to cycle and protecting them when they do  - If 

possible, new cycle routes should be physically protected from traffic, 

either with full kerb-segregation, or ‘lighter-touch’ methods such as 

planters or wands. 

3.1.7 A new funding body and inspectorate Active Travel England will act as a 

repository for expertise to help and advise Local Authorities and 

stakeholders during the design and planning of proposed schemes.  

Clean Growth Strategy 2017 

3.1.8 This strategy published by the Department for Business, Energy, and 

Industrial Strategy (BEIS) outlines plans to cut greenhouse gas emissions 

whilst maintaining affordable energy supply and increasing economic 

productivity. 

3.1.9 A large part of this document discusses ‘accelerating the shift to low carbon 

transport’, and some of the policies relating to this theme include:  

⚫ Plans for the public sector to lead the way in transitioning to zero 

emissions vehicles, including a £100 million programme to retrofit 

buses with new low emission technology 

⚫ Invest £1.2 billion to make cycling and walking the natural choice for 

shorter journeys, as part of the Cycling and Walking Investment 

Strategy 

⚫ Create cost-effective options to shift freight from road to rail networks 

⚫ Heavy investment to support electric vehicle charging infrastructure 

National Clean Air Strategy 2019 

3.1.10 In terms of the transport sector, the National Clean Air Strategy published by 

the Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) outlines 

how encouraging a modal shift will play a key role in reducing emissions.  

3.1.11 Improving public transport provision can help reduce road congestion, as 

well as providing important connections between key public services and the 

residents they serve. 

Page 359

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 27 
 

3.1.12 Action is being taken to encourage use of the cleanest modes of transport 

for passengers and freight, including active travel.  

 

3.2 Kent County Policy 

Local Transport Plan 4 – Delivering Growth Without Gridlock 2016 – 2031 

3.2.1 The Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) was prepared by KCC. The Plan includes 

details on how KCC will meet their ambition for Kent which is “to deliver safe 

and effective transport, ensuring that all Kent’s communities and businesses 

benefit, the environment is enhanced and economic growth is supported”. 

This ambition will be realised through five targeted, overarching policies:  

Outcome 1: Economic growth and minimised congestion  - ‘Policy: 

Deliver resilient transport infrastructure and schemes that reduce 

congestion and improve journey time reliability to enable economic 

growth and appropriate development, whilst meeting demand from a 

growing population.’ 

Outcome 2: Affordable and accessible door-to-door journeys - 

‘Policy: Promote affordable, accessible and connected transport to 

enable access for all to jobs, education, health and other services.’  

Outcome 3: Safer travel - ‘Policy: Provide a safer road, footway and 

cycleway network to reduce the likelihood of casualties and encourage 

other transport providers to improve safety on their networks.’ 

Outcome 4: Enhanced environment - ‘Policy: Deliver schemes to 

reduce the environmental footprint of transport and enhance the 

historic and natural environment.’ 

Outcome 5: Better health and wellbeing - ‘Policy: Provide and 

promote active travel choices for all members of the community to 

encourage good health and wellbeing and implement measures to 

improve local air quality.’ 

3.2.2 With reference to Swale, the plan outlines congestion issues at key junctions 

on the M2 and the A2500 on the Isle of Sheppey. Improved access to 

services particularly in rural districts like Swale are increasingly important to 

prevent the isolation of residents. 

Kent Environment Strategy (2016) 

3.2.3 The Kent Environment Strategy outlines KCC’s plan to ensure that the 

quality of the region’s diverse environment is not adversely impacted by the 

‘unprecedented’ growth expected in the area. The protection of natural 

assets whilst committing to sustainable growth is of great importance.  

3.2.4 The three main themes of the Council’s strategy are as follows:  

Page 360

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/local-transport-plan
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-environment-strategy


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 28 
 

⚫ Building the foundations for delivery 

⚫ Making the best use of existing resources and avoiding, or minimising 

negative impacts 

⚫ Working towards a sustainable future 

3.2.5 The strategy emphasises the importance of reducing car use to take the 

strain off the existing infrastructure, improve air quality and reduce noise 

pollution. 

3.2.6 New transport infrastructure requires space and resources, and so new 

schemes must contribute to environmental protection. This will help maintain 

the assets that local resident’s value.  

Growth and Infrastructure Framework 

3.2.7 The Growth and Infrastructure Framework discusses the importance of 

transport infrastructure planning to remedy the impacts of a rapidly rising 

population – KCC has seen of the fastest rates of housing delivery in the 

country.  

3.2.8 The main aims include: 

⚫ Reducing congestion and overcrowding on public transport  

⚫ Constructing more housing -in areas with flourishing communities 

⚫ Embracing technologies, including future energy and enhanced digital 

connectivity 

Freight Action Plan 

3.2.9 The Freight Action Plan aims to mitigate the impacts of the immense amount 

of road freight that uses roads within Kent. Congestion and air and noise 

pollution are exacerbated by the large volumes of freight traffic that use the 

M2/A2 and M20/A20 corridors.  

3.2.10 The plan acknowledges the benefit of freight arriving from mainland Europe, 

however, there needs to be a plan to encourage freight onto inter-urban 

roads and away from local and residential routes.  

Rail Action Plan for Kent 

3.2.11 The Rail Action Plan for Kent sets out the principal objectives to ensure that 

the Integrated Kent Franchise (IKF) delivers a rail service that fully meets 

the needs of the County’s commuters, residents and visitors. It recommends 

that further improvements to several routes in the County be included in the 

new franchise specification and that ticket prices offer better value for 

money. As part of the plan, several timetable changes have occurred which 

Page 361

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/growth-and-infrastructure-framework-gif
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/freight-action-plan
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/rail-policies-in-kent/rail-action-plan-for-kent


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 29 
 

have increased the frequency of direct services into London, such as 

Sheerness to Victoria.  

3.2.12 The Plan encourages residents, businesses and freight operators to make 

the most out of the High-Speed rail links, and the wider rail network to 

maximise its potential as a gateway to London, the wider country, and 

mainland Europe. 

Road Casualty Reduction Strategy 

3.2.13 The Road Casualty Reduction Strategy outlines the most cost-effective ways 

of reducing the number of people Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) on Kent 

roads. The strategy was published in 2014 and was updated in 2017. 

3.2.14 The goal was to cut KSIs by 33% by 2020 and reduce child KSIs by 40%. 

Active travel formed part of the strategy to enable residents to live longer 

and healthier lives.  

3.2.15 A primary focus will be education to help change the way people drive, to 

reduce erratic behaviour and promote individual responsibility.  There is also 

an emphasis on data and intelligence focused enforcement.  

3.2.16 The key interventions that will seek to achieve the Strategy’s objectives are:  

⚫ Education training and publicity (encouraging safer driving, riding and 

walking) 

⚫ Enforcement (targeting inappropriate and excess speed) 

⚫ Engineering (delivering highway safety schemes and improving 

maintenance 

⚫ Engagement (enhancing and extending delivery of all interventions)  

Active Travel Strategy 

3.2.17 The Kent Active Travel Strategy makes active travel a priority for decision-

makers during the planning process. Especially where short journeys are 

concerned, the Council want to make walking and cycling viable options. To 

do this, the barriers that currently restrict people from taking up active travel 

need to be addressed. 

3.2.18 Some of the targets the strategy set out to achieve by 2021 are: 

⚫ 2 in 3 primary children and 1 in 3 secondary school children to travel 

actively to school 

⚫ 40% of people who live within 5km of their workplace to commute 

actively, with an increase of 10% for key cycle route usage 

⚫ Reduce congestion on highways by providing better, safer walking and 

cycling environments.  

Page 362

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0012/14520/Road-Casualty-Reduction-Strategy-for-Kent.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/active-travel-strategy


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 30 
 

3.2.19 Strategies include ensuring new routes are designed to be suitable for 

everyone to walk or cycle and implementing better parking and storage 

facilities for all types of cycles.  

Vision for Kent 2012-2022 

3.2.20 The Vision for Kent describes how a strong economy underpins its success 

and will allow the residents to flourish.  

3.2.21 This is a countywide strategy for the social, economic, and environmental 

wellbeing of Kent’s communities. It has been written around three major 

ambitions:  

⚫ Help the Kent Economy Grow - by supporting businesses to be 

successful, improving the transport network, and by the provision of 

high-speed broadband 

⚫ Tackling Disadvantage - by fostering aspiration rather than 

dependency. This includes the provision of comprehensive, reliable, 

and affordable public transport services to increase access to 

education and employment opportunities 

⚫ Putting the Citizen in Control - by involving people in making decisions 

and working with them to design services that meet their needs and 

suit them. 

3.2.22 Their delivery plan includes developing the County’s infrastructure; securing  

the success of key transport projects will be an important part of that. It 

reiterates points made in the Rail Action Plan to maximise High Speed travel 

in Kent and make the most of Kent’s unique position in the UK as a gateway 

to mainland Europe.  

SELEP 

3.2.23 Kent is included in the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) 

with Medway, Essex, Southend, Thurrock and East Sussex, which together 

comprise the largest strategic enterprise partnership outside of London. In 

July 2014 a growth deal was agreed with the Government for £442.2million 

to be invested in the South East LEP area. £84.1million was awarded for 

2015/16, and as part of the Government’s on-going commitment to the South 

East LEP it provided an indicative award of a further £358.2million of funding 

from 2016/17 onwards. The deal will help to create up to 35,000 jobs, allow 

more than 18,000 homes to be built and generate up to £100 million in public 

and private investment. 

3.2.24 The proposed Thanet Parkway project will provide a new railway station 2 

miles west of Ramsgate and has acquired funding through SELEP and the 

Local Growth Fund (LGF). This will improve connectivity between London 

Page 363

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/5475/Vision-for-Kent-2012-2022.pdf
https://www.southeastlep.com/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 31 
 

and the wider Kent area, as well as providing additional access to High 

Speed and mainline rail services. This will provide more access to areas 

surrounding Swale.  

3.2.25 The Kent Strategic Congestion Management programme has delivered 

improvements to increase the efficiency of the county’s highway network, 

including the M2 and A2 corridors. For example, within Swale Borough, 

improvements to the A2/A251 junction near Faversham are set to improve 

local air quality and journey time reliability upon expected completion in 

Autumn 2021.  

3.2.26 The Spirit of Sittingbourne scheme that is in con trol of the town’s 

regeneration was awarded funding through SELEP. Construction is 

underway on the project that will see the arrival of an integrated transport 

interchange as well as improvements to the roads around the railway station. 

The project also includes the provision of retail and leisure outlets, with a 

new Travelodge opened in February 2020. The original expected completion 

date was Autumn 2020 but is still ongoing. 

 

3.3 Local Swale Borough Council Policy 

Adopted Local Plan (Bearing Fruits 2031) 26 th July 2017 

3.3.1 As part of the plan’s ‘Core Planning Policies’, section 5.2 is dedicated to 

‘Promoting Sustainable Transport’. An efficient transport network can be 

pivotal in forming the foundation for a strong economy. In Swale, greater 

connectivity to employment, education, services and facilities can help the 

borough release its economic potential. Transport policies will need to 

contribute to healthier communities. 

3.3.2 With over 13,000 new households proposed throughout the borough, key 

infrastructure improvements are needed to ensure the transport network can 

provide improved connectivity with raised capacity.  

3.3.3 The plan identifies the key transport schemes in Swale Borough:  

⚫ Sittingbourne Town Centre regeneration 

⚫ M2 Junction 5 improvements 

⚫ Grovehurst, Key Street and Bobbing junctions on the A249 

⚫ Roundabout at Lower Road/Barton Hill Drive on Sheppey 

3.3.4 The plan requires that transport assessments be submitted alongside 

development proposals that could generate significant transport movements; 

this includes the Sittingbourne regeneration. This will serve to ensure new 

developments consider sustainable transport modes and are aware of the 

Page 364



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 32 
 

impacts that the development will have on the transport network and air 

quality. This will feed into the above development sites chosen at Planning 

Committee in November 2020. 

Swale Cycling and Walking Guidance Statement 2018-2022 

3.3.5 Much like the regional policy context, local policies in the Cycling and 

Walking Statement emphasise the importance of a strong economy which 

can enable local communities to flourish. By enabling people to walk and 

cycle more, the borough discusses the benefit this would have on the local 

economy. This is alongside the health and wellbeing benefits.  

3.3.6 Other objectives include: 

⚫ Cleaning paths and routes 

⚫ Increasing safety for cyclists and walkers 

⚫ Improving cycle parking facilities 

⚫ Increasing tourism in the borough  

⚫ Improving air quality 

Swale Borough Council Parking Standards 2020 

3.3.7 With a considerable amount of new development, particularly housing 

development, the Swale Parking Standards provide guidance on parking 

standards within the borough. The standards help support planning 

applications within the borough to ensure adequate parking provision, 

maintain highway safety, and encourage sustainable transport modes. 

3.3.8 Consideration is offered to parking in a range of contexts: residential; non-

residential; Ultra Low Emission Vehicle; parking for the disabled; cycles; and 

powered two-wheelers. 

Swale Freight Management Plan (prepared by KCC) 

3.3.9 To address the strain that freight is putting on Swale’s road network, the 

Swale Freight Management Plan outlines actions that Swale BC can take to 

mitigate the harmful impacts of congestion, noise and air pollution.  

3.3.10 The plan references the need to rethink the routes that lorries use in the 

area so that they avoid unsuitable roads that have previously been used as 

‘rat runs’ or shortcuts. The issues caused by HGV’s are accentuated in 

Swale because of the high volume of freight in an area that is mainly very 

rural.  

3.3.11 The key transport schemes associated with freight management are:  

⚫ M20 parking plans (to provide a solution to Operation Stack) 

⚫ M2 Junctions 5 and 7 

Page 365

https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/strategies-and-policies/cycling-and-walking-pathways
https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/strategies-and-policies/cycling-and-walking-pathways
https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/publications/planning-and-planning-policy/local-planning-guidance
https://www.kentair.org.uk/Pagesfiles/Swale_BC_Consultation_Draft_Freight_Management_Plan_v29-12-2016.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 33 
 

⚫ Lower Thames Crossing 

⚫ A249 junction improvements 

Air Quality Action Plan 2018-2022 

3.3.12 A document published as required by the Local Air Quality Management 

framework, the Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) outlines the strategic and 

local actions that will be taken to improve air quality in Swale Borough 

between 2018 and 2022.  

3.3.13 The monitoring programme that was run by Swale BC led to the declaration 

of six Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) within the borough, where 

NO2 levels exceeded the annual air quality objective level. These locations 

are as follows: 

⚫ Newington 

⚫ Ospringe Street, Faversham (encompasses 2) 

⚫ East Street, Sittingbourne 

⚫ St Pauls Street, Milton, Sittingbourne 

⚫ Teynham 

⚫ Keycol Hill, Sittingbourne 

3.3.14 Strategic targets outlined in the document: 

⚫ Emission and volume reductions from the HGV fleets 

⚫ Encourage alternative modes to car use 

⚫ Less congestion in AQMAs 

Climate and ecological Emergency Declaration and Action Plan 2020 

3.3.15 Swale Borough Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan  was adopted 

in April 2020 which committed to reducing CO2 emissions in the borough.  

3.3.16 There are multiple actions within the Action Plan aimed at improving air 

quality and transport and this strategy directly links with this new Emergency 

Action Plan. Swale has a commitment to reach zero carbon by 2030, this is a 

very ambitious climate change target, however transport is one of the 

biggest contributors in Swale and therefore this Strategy directly takes step 

to reach this goal.  

Corporate Plan 

3.3.17 This document outlines the council’s strategic priorities from 2020-2023. 

These can be broken down into four priorities: 

⚫ Building the right homes in the right places and supporting quality jobs 

for all; 

⚫ Investing in our environment and responding positively to global 

challenges; 

Page 366

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s11020/Appendix%20I%20AQAP_SwaleBC_2018%20nv%202.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 34 
 

⚫ Tackling deprivation and creating equal opportunities for everyone; and 

⚫ Renewing local democracy and making council fit for the future.  

Page 367



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 35 
 

4. KEY CHALLENGES 

The purpose of this Strategy is to improve the quality of life for Swale’s residents and 

visitors by ensuring the council builds sustainable transport infrastructure to support 

development (rather than car-based development) as the  population grows within the 

borough, as well as addressing existing issues where possible. This chapter identifies 

and specifies challenges and quantifies them where data is available.  

4.1 Existing Travel Patterns 

National Trends 

4.1.1 Traffic congestion and the associated frustration, costs and delays are 

issues faced by many when going about their everyday lives. The UK is 

recognised as being the third most congested country in Europe and on 

average, UK motorists spent 31 hours per year in congestion during peak 

hours5. 

4.1.2 However, a positive trend has begun to emerge and nationally, traffic levels 

have been decreasing. The average number of trips taken by people in 

England during 2019 is comparable to the number of trips in 1972/73, 

following a reduction since the late 1990s.6 

4.1.3 There has been a 13% decrease in the number of trips taken by car drivers 

between 2002 and 2019 and the number of average trips, distance travelled, 

and average time of travel have also decreased in the same time period.  

4.1.4 Despite the falling levels of traffic use, there is still a high level of congestion 

on the UK’s road network. The most recent DfT data suggests that on 

average, people are still spending at least 35 minutes a day travelling by 

car.7 This is a significant amount of time and an increased rate of reduction 

in private vehicle travel is essential to continue to reduce congestion levels, 

improve air quality and health to overall improve the quality of life for UK 

residents.  

4.1.5 The 2019 DfT data showed that just 10% of the UKs trips are by public 

transport. This is a very small percentage and illustrates that significantly 

more work must be done to encourage the uptake of public transport use. 

 

5 https://inrix.com/press-releases/scorecard-2017-uk/ 
6 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
6276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf  
7 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
6276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf  

Page 368

https://inrix.com/press-releases/scorecard-2017-uk/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/906276/national-travel-survey-2019.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 36 
 

4.1.6 Between 2014 and 2019, people in England made 14% more walking trips, 

and spent 12% longer walking, per year. Whilst this is a step in the right 

direction, we need much more rapid increases in active travel if we are to cut 

casualties and congestion levels and improve air quality and health in the 

UK.  

4.1.7 Overall, the national picture shows that more needs to be done to enable 

walking, cycling and public transport use and reduce private motor vehicle 

use. This Transport Strategy document provides policies and objectives for 

improving the modal split for the residents of Swale.  

Swale Trends  

4.1.8 The private car is the largest single component of traffic and journeys to and 

from work are the biggest contributors to peak hour congestion. Statistical 

data obtained from the 2011 Census in relation to these two factors helps 

identify the key challenges and shape the strategy approach as set out in 

chapter seven. 

4.1.9 Table 1 shows that the 2011 Census data for the proportion of households 

with one or more cars available has increased to just under 80%, which is an 

increase on 2001 figures and now makes Swale identical to the Kent 

average. Kent car ownership as a whole is higher than the national average 

(80% of households compared with 74% nationally).  

4.1.10 The rate of increase in car ownership in Swale has been twice the national 

rate of increase over this period and a total 72,421 cars/vans are owned by 

Swale residents. This is the third highest figure in Kent (behind Maidstone 

and Canterbury). There is a theory that by looking at past growth in vehicle 

ownership we can predict future growth and demand. However, some 

countries have high levels of wealth and car ownership and low levels of car 

use, for example the Netherlands. Just because many residents own cars, it 

does not have to follow that they have high levels of car use. The key is to 

provide alternatives. 

Table 1: Car ownership compared with population in Kent (2011 census) 

Area Number of Cars 

or Vans in the 

Area 

Total Population 

in the Area 

Percentage 

of Cars/Vans 

per 

Population  

Maidstone  90,872 155,143 59% 

Canterbury  73,833 151,145 60% 

Page 369



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 37 
 

Swale  72,421 135,835 53%  

Sevenoaks 71,838 114,893 63% 

Tonbridge and 

Malling  

71,258 120,805 59% 

Ashford 68,054 117,956 58% 

Tunbridge Wells 64,474 115,049 56% 

Thanet 62,110 134,186 46% 

Dover  57,730 111,674 52% 

Shepway 56,461 107,969 52% 

Dartford 51,131 97,365 53% 

Gravesham  50,774 101,720 50% 

Kent 790,956 1,463,740 54% 

 

4.1.11 Figure 7 shows the spatial variation between car ownership levels in Swale. 

The highest levels of car ownership are found in the most rural parts of the 

Borough where the choice of travel modes and accessibility to local services 

by means other than the private car is reduced.  

Page 370



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 38 
 

 

4.1.12 The 2011 Census also provides data on the method of travel to work; car 

commuting increased from 60% to 70% in Kent between 2001 and 2011. 

Commuters to London were the exception to this pattern where the 

proportion of those driving remained fairly constant at 38%, train at 46% and 

bus at 11%. 

4.1.13 The method of travel to work for Swale residents largely reflects the Kent 

data, with 70.5% of residents travelling to work by car (drive or passenger in 

a car or van). The second most popular method is walking with just over an 

11% share. Figure 8 below shows the travel to work mode share.  

Figure 7: Households with no access to a car in Swale (2011 census) 

Page 371



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 39 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.1.14 There has been an increase in out-commuting, particularly by car, to other 

Kent districts, with Medway, Maidstone and Canterbury being the most 

popular destinations. London commuting has risen only slightly, and whilst 

car commuting has also increased in absolute terms on this route, train and 

bus use have maintained their proportionate share of commuters. These 

figures therefore suggest increasing pressure on the strategic and interurban 

road network. 

4.1.15 The method of travel to work data for Swale has been compared against the 

national average. Table 2 shows that car ownership is higher in Swale than 

the national average (although now similar to the Kent average), and that 

although walking and cycling in Swale is about the same as the national 

average, use of public transport is lower.  

 

Table 2 Method of travel to work comparison table (2011 census) 

Method of 

travel to 

work 

St Michael’, 

Sittingbourne 

St Ann’s, 

Faversham 

Minster 

Cliffs, 

Sheppey 

Swale England 

 Nr % Nr % Nr % Nr % % 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Work
mainly

from home
5%

Train 6.9% Bus 2% Motorcycle
0.9%

Car or van
65%

Passenger
in a car or
van 5.5%

Cycle 2.2% Walk
11.3%

Other 1.2%

Method of Travel to Work in Swale (2011 Census)

Figure 8: Method of travel to work (2011 census) 

Page 372



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 40 
 

Work mainly 

from home 

 

139 4.6 140 5.4 168 5 3165 5 5.4 

Train  

 

306 10 264 10.1 73 2.2 4329 6.9 5.3 

Bus  

 

50 1.6 45 1.7 67 2 1258 2 7.5 

Motorcycle  

 

23 0.8 15 0.6 36 1.1 588 0.9 0.1 

Car or van  

 

1857 60.8 1537 59 2521 75.1 40843 65 57 

Passenger in 

a car or van  

158 5.2 105 4.1 216 6.4 3455 5.5 5 

Cycle 

 

48 1.6 76 2.9 57 1.7 1385 2.2 3 

Walk  

 

432 14 396 15.3 182 5.4 7086 11.3 10.7 

Other 

 

 1.4  0.9  1.1  1.2 6 

Percentage 

of 

population 

who do not 

own a car  

 20  21.9  13.5  20 26 

Page 373



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 41 
 

 

4.1.16 Walking, cycling and public transport use is low in Minster Cliffs ward while 

car use is common. Walking and cycling rates in the urban wards in 

Faversham and Sittingbourne are higher than the district average and higher 

than the national average but the use of public transport is just below 

average. Across the whole district there is considerable potential for more 

bus use. 

4.1.17 Table 2 demonstrates that use of the private car drops when developments 

are accessible by a range of transportation modes and when they are sited 

close to local amenities. The mix and scale of development can reduce the 

need to travel if employment, schools and amenities are nearby. A suitable 

scale of development can help to establish bus routes by initial pump 

Figure 9: Car journeys to work in Swale (2011 census) 

Page 374



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 42 
 

priming and can pay for highway improvements where pinch points would 

constrain growth. 

 

COVID-19 and Travel Behaviour  

4.1.18 The COVID-19 pandemic saw the UK enter into a lockdown period from 

March – June 2020 and further local and national lockdowns since then. The 

lockdowns have resulted in a change in travel behaviour throughout the 

country and traffic levels and public transport in Swale dropped significantly 

under the level expected under normal conditions.  Air quality improved 

during the lockdown as people were largely confined to their homes and 

neighbourhoods. 

4.1.19 As the country proceeds through the pandemic and numerous local 

lockdowns future travel behaviour is unknown and difficult to predict. Whilst 

there may be an increase in people working from home (and travelling less), 

there may also be a decrease in public transport use as people avoid 

crowded interior spaces such as buses and train carriages where COVID-19 

can be easily transmitted, an increase in private vehicle use and a slower 

uptake in clean vehicles as a result of the economic downturn. These are all 

potential scenarios, but future travel behaviour is unknown at this stage. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

0
9

/0
3

/2
0

1
6

/0
3

/2
0

2
3

/0
3

/2
0

3
0

/0
3

/2
0

0
6

/0
4

/2
0

1
3

/0
4

/2
0

2
0

/0
4

/2
0

2
7

/0
4

/2
0

0
4

/0
5

/2
0

1
1

/0
5

/2
0

1
8

/0
5

/2
0

2
5

/0
5

/2
0

0
1

/0
6

/2
0

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
5

/0
6

/2
0

2
2

/0
6

/2
0

2
9

/0
6

/2
0

0
6

/0
7

/2
0

1
3

/0
7

/2
0

2
0

/0
7

/2
0

2
7

/0
7

/2
0

0
3

/0
8

/2
0

1
0

/0
8

/2
0

1
7

/0
8

/2
0

2
4

/0
8

/2
0

3
1

/0
8

/2
0

Cars Light Commercial Vehicles Heavy Goods Vehicles

All motor vehicles National Rail Bus (excl. London)

Figure 10: National transportation impact of the first UK national lockdown (source:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-use-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-
pandemic) 

Page 375

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-use-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-use-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 43 
 

4.1.20 Recent DfT/Govt traffic data confirms the national transportation impact of 

the first national lockdown and shows the transport trends from March 2020 

– August 2020. Figure 10 shows that there was a sudden decrease in traffic 

use across the UK during the recent COVID-19 shut-down, followed by an 

increase in private vehicle usage. However, public transport has not shown 

to be recovering as quickly. 

 

4.2 Planned Development 

4.2.1 Population growth in Swale is forecast to continue and substantial house 

building is planned in both Swale and neighbouring authority areas. Between 

2017 and 2031 an additional 13,192 new homes are planned to be built and 

10,900 new jobs created in the local area.  

4.2.2 The Kent and Medway Growth and Infrastructure Framework (2017) has 

forecast a population increase of 381,800 in Kent between 2011 and 2031. 

This population growth will mean more trips on our network each day. The 

Swale Transport Strategy will help deliver the Local Plan as well as those of 

neighbouring authorities. 

4.2.3 Population growth will require substantial improvements to Kent’s transport 

infrastructure. We will take every opportunity in this changing world to be 

creative and bold in our approach to deliver what Kent needs to boost its 

economy and deliver real growth and real jobs 

4.2.4 Major new developments are proposed at locations listed in Table 7 and 

Figure 15 in Chapter 5 ‘Transport Strategy’.  Given their scale they will 

require some new highway infrastructure improvements as well as 

enhancements to sustainable and active transport. All new developments are 

required to have a travel plan in place with robust modal shift targets and 

specific measures to bring this about.  

4.2.5 Transport policies have an important role to play in facilitating development 

and in contributing to wider environmental and health objectives. It is 

nevertheless recognised that different policies and measures will be needed 

in different communities and that sustainable transport solutions will vary 

between urban and rural areas. 

4.2.6 In common with much of Kent, the extensive rural communities in Swale tend 

to be less well served by public transport and therefore can be isolated from 

the main town centres. This is very evident on the Isle of Sheppey, where 

east-west travel is challenging and links to the mainland are largely 

dependent upon the Sheerness- Sittingbourne branch line and local bus 

Page 376



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 44 
 

routes. This vital link must be maintained whilst securing improved options to 

access services.  

4.2.7 Chapter seven sets out the transport objectives and overall vision which will 

facilitate the planned development and provide enhanced transport facilities 

for Swale residents. 

 

4.3 Transport Model  

4.3.1 In order to assess the transport implications of future development, Swale 

Borough Council and KCC updated the existing SATURN highway model for 

the borough in 2020. The Swale Highway Model (SHM) was developed for 

2017 (base year), 2027 and 2037 reference case (forecast years) to test the 

traffic impacts of both new developments and transport infrastructure across 

Swale. The SATURN highway network is set out below, with the main 

settlements highlighted in Figure 11. 

 

 

 

Modelling Results 

4.3.2 A modelling report entitled ‘Local Plan Model Rerun Summary Report – 

Draft’ has been prepared and can be found in Appendix 1 of this Strategy.  

Figure 11: SATURN Highway Network 

Page 377



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 45 
 

4.3.3 The Swale Highway Modelling result have highlighted the following key 

challenges:  

⚫ The need to increase the modal spit in the borough to reduce pressure 

on the network; 

⚫ The need to improve public transport services and active travel 

facilities;  

⚫ The need to achieve a 20% trip reduction by 2037 as part of the 

mitigation measures package. 

 

Another run of the highway model will be run early 2021 with the preferred 

development sites and the results will be inputted into here when finalised.  

 

4.4 Air Quality 

National Air Quality 

4.4.1 Poor air quality is the largest known environmental risk to public health in 

the UK8. Investing in cleaner air and doing more to tackle air pollution are 

priorities for the EU and UK governments, as well as for Swale Borough 

Council.  

4.4.2 Road transport accounts for a third of NOx emissions and is the main source 

in heavily trafficked urban areas. The European Environment Agency 

estimates that road transport contributes to excessive concentrations about 

70% for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and about 30% for particulate matter (PM) 9. 

4.4.3 Diesel fuelled vehicles can emit up to four times more nitrogen oxides and 

up to more than twenty times more particulate matter than petrol fuelled 

vehicles. Diesel engine exhaust includes soot, aerosols such as ash 

particulates, metallic abrasion particles, sulphates, silicates and n itrogen 

oxides. 

4.4.4 The black carbon element of diesel emissions has a particularly adverse 

effect on human health. The adverse health effects of diesel particulates are 

linked to cancer, heart and lung damage, and mental functioning. Exposure 

has also been linked with acute short-term symptoms such as headache, 

 

8 Public Health England (2014) Estimating local mortality burdens associated with particular air 
pollution. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/estimating-local-mortality-burdens-associated-with-
particulate-air-pollution  
9 https://www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/air-quality-and-transport/road-vehicles-and-air-
quality  

Page 378

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/estimating-local-mortality-burdens-associated-with-particulate-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/estimating-local-mortality-burdens-associated-with-particulate-air-pollution
https://www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/air-quality-and-transport/road-vehicles-and-air-quality
https://www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/air-quality-and-transport/road-vehicles-and-air-quality


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 46 
 

nausea, coughing, difficult or laboured breathing, irritation of the eyes, nose 

and throat and the onset of asthma in vulnerable individuals.  

4.4.5 Consequently, there is a need for the council to discourage residents and 

visitors from using the most polluting vehicles, with a focus on diesel 

vehicles.  

4.4.6 The current UK air quality objectives (AQOs) and air quality standards (AQS) 

are provided in Table 4. These are the standards established in the UK Air 

Quality Strategy (UKAQS)10 2007.  

Table 4: Air Quality standards 

Pollutant 
Averaging 

Period 

Air quality 

standard 

(μg.m-3) 

Air quality 

objective 

Objective: 

to achieve 

the 

standard by 

Nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) 

1 hour 200 

200 μg.m-3 not 

to be exceeded 

more than 18 

times a year 

31 

December 

2005 

Annual 40 40 μg.m-3 

31 

December 

2005 

Particulate 

Matter (PM10) 

24 hour 50 

50 μg.m-3 not 

to be exceeded 

more than 35 

times a year 

31 

December 

2004 

Annual 40 40 μg.m-3 

31 

December 

2004 

Particulate 

Matter (PM2.5) 
Annual 25 25 μg.m-3 2020 

 

 

10 Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (Volumes 1 and 2) July 
2007. 

Page 379



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 47 
 

Air Quality in Swale 

4.4.7 Pollutants omitted by motorised vehicles – most notably nitrogen dioxide 

(NO2) /nitric oxide (NO) together known as NO2, and particulate matter (PM) 

– have serious detrimental impacts on human health including respiratory 

illnesses and impairing cognitive development in the young.  

4.4.8 Exposure to air pollution is particularly harmful to those least likely to be 

responsible for the air pollution; pregnant women and children (women drive 

approximately half the number of miles per year as men11 and children, of 

course, do not drive at all). People living in deprived areas are also more 

affected by poor air quality, partly because these areas are often near busy 

roads. 

4.4.9 The main sources of particulate matter are traffic emissions, including 

resuspension of particles from brake or tyre wear.  

4.4.10 Swale Borough Council has an extensive network of air quality monitors and 

endeavours to address air quality across the borough.  

4.4.11 Despite this, Swale has ongoing exceedances of the legal limits for Nitrogen 

Dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10) and as a result six Air Quality 

Management Areas (AQMAs) have been declared and Swale have a current 

Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP).  

4.4.12 AQMAs have been declared in the following locations (and shown on Figure 

11): 

⚫ AQMA 1: Newington, (A2 / High St) - declared in 2009 

⚫ AQMA 2: Ospringe Street, Faversham (A2 / Ospringe) - declared in 

June 2011 and revised (as AQMA 6) in May 2016 

⚫ AQMA 3: East Street, Sittingbourne (A2 / Canterbury Road) - declared 

January 2013 

⚫ AQMA 4: St Paul’s Street, Milton, Sittingbourne (B2006) - declared 

January 2013 

⚫ AQMA 5: Teynham (A2 / London Rd) - declared December 2015 

⚫ AQMA 7: Keycol Hill, Sittingbourne – declared October 2020 

 

11 Department for Transport, Understanding the drivers of road transport: current trends in and factors behind road use, 2015 

Page 380

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/395722/understanding-the-drivers-road_travel.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 48 
 

 

4.4.13 The 2020 Air Quality Annual Status Report highlights that there continues to 

be a number of exceedances of the annual objective monitored by NO2 

diffusion tubes across the Borough.  

4.4.14 In 2019, a total of 14 exceedances of the annual mean air quality standard 

for NO2 were monitored in 2019, which occurred in AQMA 1, AQMA 4, AQMA 

6 and at Keycol Hill / Key Street.  

4.4.15 AQMA’s 1, 3, 5 and 6 are situated on the A2 which is a major transport 

corridor through Swale, with AQMA  4 located within Sittingbourne urban 

centre. Monitoring in the vicinity of Key Street / Keycol Hill, Sittingbourne, 

which is an area of concern, shows that annual mean concentrations of NO 2 

exceeded the annual objective at several locations. 

4.4.16 Exceedances in PM10 were also identified in the St Pauls Street AQMA and 

in 2019 the daily mean limit value of 50 µgm-3 was exceeded on 42 days. 

Figure 12: Swale AQMAs 

Page 381



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 49 
 

The exceedances in this location is predominately linked to issues of lorries 

going through the St Pauls AQMA relating to the Eurolink business park.  

4.4.17 Technologies are developing that are reducing the level of pollution vehicles 

emit from exhausts, the UK is shifting towards electric vehicles. However, 

around 85% of fine particulate pollution from vehicles does not come from 

traditional fuel types and exhausts, and so a reduction in vehicle usage is 

the only measure that will improve air quality further.   

4.4.18 Furthermore, electric cars produce about the same particle emissions as 

petrol and diesel cars12. Evidence suggests electric vehicles may not reduce 

levels of PM as much as expected due to their increased weight (electric 

vehicles are 24% heavier than their conventional counterparts).  

4.4.19 EVs also do not address the over-arching impacts and costs of car-

dependency; road injuries and deaths, congestion, car-dominated spaces, 

inequality, ill-health or community severance. However, the uptake of EVs, 

when used in conjunction with other air quality improvement actions, can be 

part of the solution towards cleaner air. 

4.4.20 More and better walking, cycling, public transport and urban spaces are 

required to improve air quality, health and well-being.   

 

4.5 Road Safety  

4.5.1 Kent Police records the details of all road traffic collisions within the county 

that result in personal injury. This information is used to identify crash 

clusters and common road user behaviours to direct remedial measures and 

monitor casualty trends.  

4.5.2 Investigation into the road casualties in the borough between June 2015 and 

June 2020 has been undertaken. The collision data shows that the there are 

a high level of vehicle collisions along the A2 but collisions occur all over the 

borough, with no obvious collision hotspots.  

4.5.3  Table 5 below summaries the results:  

Table 5: Accident data for Swale 

 
Total Number of Accidents between June 2015 – June 

2020  

Fatal  21 

 

12 Timmers, V.R. and Achten, P.A., 2016. Non-exhaust PM emissions from electric vehicles. Atmospheric Environment, 134, pp.10-17 

Page 382



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 50 
 

Serious 287  

Slight 1,496 

 

4.5.4 Pedestrians and cyclists are particularly vulnerable to the threat posed by 

traffic and other users ad obstacles in the highway Regarding active travel 

modes, there is also a high level of accidents as summarised below:  

4.5.5 Cycle Collisions: 

⚫ 1 fatal collision; 

⚫ 31 serious collisions; 

⚫ 132 slight collisions.  

4.5.6 Pedestrian Collisions: 

⚫ 6 fatal collisions; 

⚫ 51 serious collisions; 

⚫ 164 slight collisions.  

4.5.7 The distribution of cycle collisions can be seen below. The same pattern of 

cyclist and pedestrian accidents have been identified and the collisions are 

clustered around the main urban centres of Sittingbourne, Faversham and 

Sheerness.  

 

 

 

Page 383



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 51 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.5.8 There is therefore a need to reduce the number of people killed and 

seriously injured (KSI) on Swale’s roads. This Transport Strategy will 

introduce measures to reduce the collision rate for drivers, cyclists and 

pedestrians.  

 

4.6 Summary of Key Challenges in Swale 

4.6.1 Table 6 below summaries the key transportation challenges in the borough 

as highlighted within this chapter. These challenges form the basis for the 

policies and objectives set out in the following chapters.  

Table 6: Key Challenges Summary Table 

Challenges in Swale  Issues  

High Levels of Car Ownership  

72,421 cars/vans are owned by Swale 

residents (average of 1.29 cars per 

household) (2011 Census Data) 

Figure 13: Cycle collisions between 2015 and 2020 

Page 384



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 52 
 

High Levels of Car Use for Commuting  

70.5% of residents travel to work by car 

(sum of those driving and passengers) 

(2011 Census Data) 

Low Levels of Public Transport Use for 

Commuting  

Only 8.9% of residents travel to work by 

bus or train (2011 Census Data).  

Low Levels of Commuting by Active 

Travel Modes 

13.5% of residents travel cycle or walk to 

work (2011 Census Data) 

Unknown Impact of COVID-19 on Travel 

Behaviour  

Initial national trends indicate that private 

vehicle use will return to pre-COVID-19 

levels but public transport has not shown 

to be recovering as fast.  

High Levels of Planned Development and 

Economic Growth  

Between 2017 and 2031 an additional 

13,192 new homes are planned to be built 

and 10,900 new jobs created in the local 

area. Traffic modelling shows the level of 

development is not possible without 

transport mitigation measures.  

 

Page 385



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 53 
 

5. TRANSPORT STRATEGY 

This chapter will set out the long-term transport vision for the borough. The Swale 

Local Plan sets out the vision and overall development strategy for the area between 

2022 and 2038 and identifies a requirement for 13,192 new homes and the creation of 

10,900 new jobs in this period. In order to manage the transport implications of this 

planned growth, and meet the vision of this Strategy, a number of objectives have 

been set.  Consideration will be given to the borough as a whole, with a more focussed 

approach taken to a number of key areas. 

 

5.1 Vision 

5.1.1 Our strategy to 2038 acknowledges that predicting and providing fully for 

increased demand for road travel by car and freight vehicles, in the form of 

highway capacity improvements, is neither affordable, nor desirable from an 

environmental or economic perspective.  

5.1.2 It is vital that journeys made by sole-occupancy private vehicles make up a 

smaller proportion of transport mileage in future, and that more journeys are 

by means of transport that take up less road capacity or do not use roads at 

all. This is necessary simply to accommodate all the journeys that people 

and goods need to make.  

5.1.3 This plan does include road schemes to connect new developments, but we 

will be seeking to make best use of existing capacity taking advantage of 

smarter methods, mindful that any additional capacity has the potential to 

generate additional car traffic. 

5.1.4 In responding to the context of Swale and the transport challenges and 

opportunities discussed in the previous chapters, a new vision for Swale is 

set out below.  

 

Our vision is to deliver a sustainable and active transport network in swale 

that creates an attractive, green and vibrant borough. The transport strategy 

will enable and encourage people to travel sustainably, nurture healthy 

lifestyles, create less polluted places and upgrade the transport network to 

meet the boroughs needs. 

5.1.5 The Swale Transport Strategy will help to deliver our vision for Swale over 

the next 15 years. An ambitious programme of measures to increase the 

modal share of sustainable travel in the borough. Policies and initiatives set 

Page 386



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 54 
 

out in this strategy which change the way people travel and goods are 

transported, prioritising and enabling walking, cycling and public transport 

while reducing inessential vehicle use, are key to delivering the objectives of 

the Strategy.  

 

5.2 Strategic Objectives 

5.2.1 We have developed six overarching strategic objectives which are set out 

below. All the policies set out in this Strategy lead to achieving these 

objectives.  

 

Objective 1  To promote active and sustainable travel enabling 

residents to take up these modes 

Objective 2  To reduce and mitigate the impact of poor air quality 

related to transport whilst striving for net zero 

Objective 3  To improve the journey time reliability and resilience 

across the transport network 

Objective 4  To support the economic growth and development 

projected in the Local Plan  

Objective 5  To consider the needs of all users across the transport 

network  

Objective 6  To substantially reduce all road casualties and progress 

towards zero killed and seriously injured (KSI) casualties 

 

5.3 Approach 

5.3.1 The approach taken for this strategy is based on a transport hierarchy set 

out in Figure 13 below. Whilst this hierarchy provides a basis for 

development in the borough it also provides the basis which this strategy 

aims to approach all transport related decisions in the borough. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 387



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 55 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.3.2 Swale’s previous transport strategy set out four overarching objectives. 

These were:  

⚫ Encourage the use of sustainable means of travel as an alternative to 

the private car; 

⚫ Removal of pinch points which are barriers to development and growth;  

⚫ Reduce the need to travel and supporting independence; and 

⚫ Reduce the number of people killed or seriously injured on the district’s 

roads.  

5.3.3 These objectives are still appropriate and have been encompassed within 

the six new objectives within this strategy.  

5.3.4 This transport strategy proposes to take a more holistic approach than 

previously taken. Whilst the previous transport strategy was successful in 

focussing on where major transport development is due to take place, this 

strategy will focus equally on major transport developments as well as 

measures to increase road safety, reduce transport -based emissions and 

increase active and sustainable travel amongst others.  

Figure 14: Swale Transport Hierarchy 

Page 388



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 56 
 

 

5.4 Key sites and mitigations 

5.4.1 Based on early modelling undertaken for the Local Plan, the council has 

identified a number of key strategic sites within the borough, where 

development will be subject to development briefs and masterplans. These 

sites will be included in the rerun of the Transport Model in 2021. They are 

listed in Table 7 and Figure 15 below and are subject to change through the 

Local Plan process. A number of transport mitigations have been suggested 

and these alongside the allocations, making up the preferred option for  the 

borough, will be modelled again in 2021. 

Table 7: Local Plan Sites 

Site Ward Yield Residential  Employment Mixed 

Used 

Land at 

Graveney 

Road, East 

of 

Faversham 

Boughton & 

Watling 240 Y 

 

 

Land at Lady 

Dane Farm 

Bougton/Co

urtenay/Watl

ing 600  

 

Y 

South East 

Faversham 

Watling/Bou

ghton/Court

enay 2,500  

 

Y 

Land East of 

Selling Road 

(2) 

Boughton & 

Courtenay 30  

 

 

Land 

Adjacent 

Monica 

Close 

Boughton & 

Courtenay 30 Y 

 

 

Land East of 

Selling Road 

Boughton & 

Courtenay 30 Y 

 

 

Page 389



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 57 
 

Land West 

of Frognal 

Lane 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 630  

 

Y 

Land at 

Claxfield 

Road (Site 2) 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 15 Y 

 

 

Land at 

Claxfield 

Road (Site 1) 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 180 Y 

 

 

Land South 

of London 

Road/West 

of Lynsted 

Lane 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 60 Y 

 

 

Land south 

of Dover 

Castle Inn, 

A2 London 

Road/Cellar 

Hill 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 50 Y 

 

 

Land at 

Barrow 

Green Farm, 

London 

Road 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 100 Y 

 

 

Land at 

Lamberhurst 

Farm 

(EMPLOYME

NT USE) 

Boughton & 

Courtenay 0  

Y 

 

Land at The 

Port of 

Queenborou

gh 850  

 

Y 

Page 390



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 58 
 

Sheerness, 

Rushenden 

Road 

Land at 

Cellar Hill 

Teynham & 

Lynsted 12 Y 

 

 

 

 

 

5.4.2 Modelling has been undertaken on the sites set out in the Local Plan. The 

scenarios tested have been set out in Chapter 6. There are several big Local 

Plan housing development sites within the modelling scenario 1054 (set out 

in more detail in Key Challenges chapter), including: 

⚫ Rushenden Marshes 

⚫ Sittingbourne Town Centre 

⚫ East Faversham Expansion (East Lady Dane, Duchy Fav) 

5.4.3 Rushenden Marshes - The key site at Rushenden comprise of 670 homes. 

From the 2011 census Journey to work data, the car trip mode share is 

Figure 15: Local Plan Sites 

Page 391



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 59 
 

76.4%. The existing plans for the development focus the development 

around the existing town centres.  

5.4.4 Sittingbourne Town Centre - The key sites at Sittingbourne Town Centre 

comprise of 850 homes. The latest 2011 car trip mode share in this area is 

57%. The existing plans for the development focus the development between 

the High Street and the railway station / bus hub. A trip rate reduction of 

20% on currently modelled car trip rates has been suggested for the 

development. 

5.4.5 East Faversham Expansion - The key sites East of Faversham comprise of 

a total of 3,600 homes (2,500 Duchy development and 1,100 East Lady 

Dane). The latest 2011 car trip mode shares for these zones are 60.9% and 

77%). The existing plans for the development focus on the development of 

urban extensions to the east of Faversham. A 50% car mode share target 

should be applied to all development to the east of Faversham to reflect their 

higher aspiration on connectivity for non-car modes. This will require a 

joined up strategy by providing quality walk, cycle, and bus links that 

connect to Faversham as well as links to the wider area.  

5.4.6 The following provides a more detailed breakdown on the individual sites:   

5.4.7 Preston Fields - 70 additional dwellings on to the allocation from the 

adopted LP to facilitate the provision of a link road from the SE Faversham 

(Duchy) site, across Preston Fields, through the currently being built out 

Perry Court development and onto the as yet unknown. 

5.4.8 SE Faversham - A large mixed-use strategic development of 2,500 

dwellings and employment (being provided at a level of 1 job per 1 house) 

with a 2-3 FE primary school, community provision and a sports hub. 

5.4.9 Lady Dane Farm - A large mixed-use strategic development of 600 

dwellings and about 15ha of employment with a 2 FE primary schools and a 

secondary school.  

5.4.10 Graveney Road - 240 dwellings. 

5.4.11 (The 3 sites above have 1 shared policy so that they can be planned 

holistically, particularly in relation to cycle and walking linkages between the 

three and their services and facilities, including the town centre and the 

railway station and the wider countryside.) 

5.4.12 Rushenden Marshes - A large mixed-use strategic development of 850 

dwellings and an element employment.   

5.4.13 Selling (3 sites) - 90 dwellings across the 3 sites in a rural location. The 

developers are proposing providing a pedestrian and cycle connection from 

Page 392



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 60 
 

the site to the existing primary school and pub in Selling.  This will be off 

road and slightly longer than the existing footpath. 

5.4.14 Teynham (6 sites) - An ‘area of opportunity’ of 1,100 dwellings north of the 

A2 and 305 dwellings south of the A2, with the provision of a new ‘movement 

corridor’ to alleviate pressure on the existing A2 and the AQMA.  

5.4.15 Lamberhurst Farm - An employment allocation at an existing employment 

location in the countryside. It will focus on improving the site’s position in the 

countryside and it’s active and sustainable travel planning for both 

employees and goods in and out of the site.. 

 

5.5 Existing allocations 

5.5.1 There are several existing committed employment allocations which will also 

influence travel in the borough, including Ridham and Kemsley in 

Sittingbourne and Neatscourt on the Isle of Sheppey. Alongside this are the 

employment allocations from the 2017 Local Plan which are yet to be built 

out and are therefore carried forward. These include:  

⚫ Land south of Kemsley Mill  

⚫ Land at West Minster, Sheerness  

⚫ Land at Cowstead Corner, Queenborough  

⚫ Land at Selling Road, Faversham  

⚫ Land at Graveney Road, east of Faversham 

 

5.6 Transport mitigations associated with the major developments 

5.6.1 A number of mitigations have been set out which are associated to the major 

developments in the Local Plan, these are set out in the Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan in Chapter 16. These interventions will:  

⚫ support the connectivity and accessibility for sustainable transport 

modes for the new Local Plan developments at Rushenden Marshes. 

⚫ will reduce car trips from the East of Faversham to ensure there is 

enough capacity on the surrounding highway links and junctions.  

⚫ reduce local car trip demand for commuting, retail, and education trips 

including from new Local Plan developments in Sittingbourne Town 

Centre.  

5.6.2 There are a number of key wider mitigations that can be designed as a result 

of the new development in the Local Plan. The three primary initiatives are 

summarised below. They complement the largest housing developments 

proposed through the Local Plan 

 

Page 393



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 61 
 

5.7 Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

5.7.1 An Infrastructure Delivery Plan within this strategy has captured the 

schemes and interventions which will mitigate the developments sites 

detailed above.  This identifies the key elements of infrastructure that are 

required to support the level and distribution of development being 

proposed. It is critical that the necessary infrastructure is delivered to ensure 

that the development programme is not delayed significantly. 

It is likely that the large transport infrastructure measures that are directly linked to 

the development sites will be delivered under Section 106 agreements. The council 

will ensure that appropriate thresholds, trigger points and phasing programmes are 

included within these legal agreements in order to manage the impact on the 

highway network. 

Page 394



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 62 
 

6. ENABLING SUSTAINABLE AND ACTIVE TRAVEL 

The main focus of this Transport Strategy will be to reduce private vehicle use through 

the promotion of active and sustainable modes of travel. The majority of UK car 

journeys are short – around a quarter of car trips are less than 2 miles, and nearly 

60% are less than 5 miles13 – so there is enormous scope to reduce car use and 

support sustainable travel. Walking and cycling present a great alternative to the car 

over short distances, with public transport facilitating those journeys further afield. 

This chapter will set out the key measures required to enable travel by these modes.  

 

6.1 Walking  

The 2011 Census data shows that walking represents 11.3% of journeys to work 

across the borough. The target within this Strategy is to increase this mode share to 

15% by 2037. 

6.1.1 Whilst walking represents 11.3% of work journeys in the borough, walking 

forms a key part of almost every journey taken, there are few places that 

cannot be reached by foot in some way. Pedestrian activity encompasses 

journeys for work, school, leisure and more. Footways, pedestrian areas, 

alleyways, paths and bridleways are used for a variety of types of trip in the 

borough. Walking is the cheapest, healthiest and most accessible form of 

transport available to most people. It also presents a chance to meet other 

people, stop and chat, so helps to foster a sense of community within a local 

area. Walking is therefore placed at the top of Swale’s transport hierarchy. 

 

13 Department for Transport, NTS0308: Average number of trips by trip length and main mode: England, 

July 2018 

Policy 1 - Walking 

a. The council will enable walking in the borough by providing pleasant, safe, 
accessible, well connected and direct walking routes. The walking routes will be 
focussed within town centres, in strategic links, as well as linkages for public 
transport, amenities and leisure needs. Walking initiatives will also be supported 
and promoted to those who live, work and study in Swale. 

b. The council will aim to increase the walking mode share for journeys to work from 
11.3% to 15% by 2038.  

c. To reduce severance through appropriately located crossing facilities that prioritise 
walking. 

d. Reallocate road space as necessary to provide safe walking routes.  

Page 395

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/733109/nts0308.ods


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 63 
 

 

Access for all  

6.1.2 Whilst walking is in many ways the most accessible form of transport for 

many, current conditions in the borough are not always conducive to 

walking. But the Equality Act 2010 places certain responsibilities on the 

public sector under the Public Sector Equality Duty to make reasonable 

adjustments to the existing built environment and to incorporate equality into 

the design of new infrastructure. The needs of pedestrians vary depending 

on many factors including age, pregnancy, physical mobility and confidence. 

Journeys which some see as straightforward may be more challenging to the 

elderly, those with disabilities, wheelchair users and people with pushchairs.  

6.1.3 The needs of these users need to be met in order to reduce the barriers to 

walking. The council, in partnership with KCC and other Swale departments, 

will aim to improve the following:  

⚫ Pedestrian priority at junctions 

⚫ Rephasing of signals to provide priority 

⚫ Wayfinding  

⚫ Better street lighting 

⚫ Upkeep of pavements 

⚫ Dropped kerbs and tactile paving 

⚫ Removal of unnecessary street furniture  

⚫ Provision of pedestrian ramps during works 

 

6.1.4 KCC will undertake assessments on each of the above.  

6.1.5 KCC’s guidance and policy for inclusive design provides guidance on making 

the pedestrian environment accessible for all people. This document should 

be a reference point for all local planners, developers and consultants during 

the early stages of scheme design.  

6.1.6 Addressing barriers to walking, such as lack of priority crossings and 

severance caused by busy roads in Swale will be needed to create a more 

walkable, liveable borough. All highways, urban realm, building 

developments and other relevant schemes will need to be designed to 

prioritise people on foot.  

Health benefits  

6.1.7 Transport choices can have huge impacts on public health. Lack of exercise 

and obesity are associated with a number of other adverse health outcomes 

such as obesity, heart disease, stroke, cancer and Type 2 Diabetes. 

Page 396



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 64 
 

Diabetes and obesity are also associated with increased COVID-19 mortality 

rates14 and these health issues can be improved through exercise such as 

walking or cycling. Parts of Swale have some of the highest levels of 

childhood obesity, diabetes levels and respiratory complications in adults 

within Kent, with the isle of Sheppey typically having higher rates than the 

rest of the borough15.  

6.1.8 Sustainable transport choices and ‘active travel’ (travel requiring a person to 

exercise - such as walking and cycling) in particular allow people to build 

activity into their daily lives. Currently 60.5% of primary school children, and 

33.7% of secondary school children actively travel to school16, whilst 13.5% 

of adults actively travel to work. It can benefit health and wellbeing by 

incorporating physical activity into everyday rout ine as well as reduce the 

number of vehicles on the road and improve air quality. This is particularly 

pertinent with the UK Government’s recent advice for people to walk and 

cycle where possible as the COVID-19 pandemic continues.  

Better walking environments 

6.1.9 As discussed in Chapter 12 on Road Safety, pedestrians are vulnerable 

users of the transport network. Pedestrians are exposed to danger from 

traffic (especially where highways design falls short), uneven footways, 

unattractive pedestrian environments with poor lighting, overgrown 

vegetation and indirect routes which can discourage people from walking a 

journey which could be a walkable distance. The council aims to reduce the 

risks posed to pedestrians and enhance walking environments by:  

⚫ Ensuring the needs of all pedestrians are met in all planned 

developments, transport improvements and maintenance schemes in 

line with the transport hierarchy and Equality Act duties 

⚫ Introducing traffic management schemes reducing the amount of 

driving in Swale 

⚫ Building new/improved pedestrian crossings which follow pedestrian 

desire lines 

⚫ Improving the urban realm 

⚫ Improving street lighting 

⚫ Creating new footways and walking links to amenities 

 

14 Williamson, E.J., Walker, A.J., Bhaskaran, K., Bacon, S., Bates, C., Morton, C.E., Curtis, H.J., 
Mehrkar, A., Evans, D., Inglesby, P. and Cockburn, J., 2020. Factors associated with COVID-19-
related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature, 584(7821), pp.430-436. 
15 2011 Census data  
16 KCC Active Travel Strategy https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-
policies/transport-and-highways-policies/active-travel-strategy  

Page 397

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/active-travel-strategy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/active-travel-strategy


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 65 
 

⚫ Providing traffic calming measures which help reduce vehicle speeds 

and ensure vehicle speeds are appropriate 

⚫ Introducing further enforcement measures for the current trial 20mph 

zone in residential areas in Faversham.  

⚫ Providing safer walking routes to schools including the investigation for 

school streets. 

Healthy Streets  

6.1.10 In addition to the above, the Healthy Streets indicators will be used to help 

assess streets for the needs of pedestrians we will integrate the principles of 

the London’s Healthy Streets, and other best practice examples, into the 

development and delivery of walking and cycling schemes and outlined 

below and in Figure 16: 

⚫ Inclusive streets suitable for all regardless of age, gender or ability  

⚫ Easy to safely navigate and connect people to places 

⚫ Provide shade, shelter and places to stop and rest 

⚫ Walkable and provide options for cycling 

⚫ Low levels of noise and air pollution 

⚫ Enhancing streets to improve quality of life, support social interaction 

and enable active lifestyles 

⚫ Create a sense of security 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 16: Healthy Streets Indicators 

Page 398



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 66 
 

Current walking links  

6.1.11 Swale has a number of leisure walking routes which are key to promoting 

walking in the borough. These include The Saxon Shore Way as well as 

several locally promoted trails such as those covered by the Food Trails 

project in Faversham, Newnham, Sheldwich, Boughton, Oare and Teynham. 

There are also routes in Perry Wood, Elmley National Nature Reserve and 

Barton’s Point Coastal Park. Some of the town centres have also created 

specific routes to enable visitors such as the Sittingbourne Cats Trail and 

guided walks in Faversham. 

Walking initiatives  

6.1.12 The council will support and undertake several initiatives which enable 

walking. A focus on safe, comfortable and direct walking routes to schools is 

vital. These can be supported by pedestrian training, walking buses, school 

travel plans as well as development of school streets where location and 

context is appropriate. Additionally, other measures directed at adults will 

include workplace and residential travel plans. The council will also continue 

to promote leisure walks in the borough.  

6.1.13 The Council will also work with Town and Parish Councils and other local 

groups to help to facilitate walking initiatives across the borough and ensure  

that they link into the existing and planned network. 

School Travel 

6.1.14 Infrastructure initiatives such as school streets will be investigated across all 

schools. School streets have proven to provide safe and calm traffic free 

areas outside schools, with an increase in the quality of the air. School 

streets in other authorities have also shown an increase in walking, scooting 

and cycling amongst pupils and staff.  

6.1.15 The council will investigate the feasibility of providing school streets across 

the borough. This will be done through two approaches. The first approach 

will be for KCC to assess all existing schools on the feasibility to be a school 

street. KCC as the Transport Authority will use a criteria-based approach to 

assess schools. This will include items such as proximity to an AQMA, 

school’s participation with their school travel plan, and road safety statistics. 

All school locations may not be feasible as school streets, however the 

assessment of the conditions outside schools may provide an opportunity for 

safer school zones, e.g. the implementation of a safe crossing if needed.  

6.1.16 Development areas coming forward in the borough will provide an 

opportunity for the council to work with developers to provide school street 

Page 399



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 67 
 

style measures outside of new schools from the start. There are a number of 

schools within the Local Plan allocations, in particular the East of Faversham 

site where three schools are allocated. The nature of the East of Faversham 

site, being the other side of the A2 from the main town will mean that 

sustainable travel, as well as school travel will be imperative for reducing car 

trips.   

 

6.2 Cycling 

The 2011 Census data shows that cycling represents 2.2% of journeys to work across 

the borough. The target within this strategy is to increase this  mode share to 5% by 

2037. 

6.2.1 The percentage of those cycling to work in the borough varies within the 

three main town centres. Sittingbourne and Sheerness show similar levels at 

1.6% and 1.7% respectively, whereas 2.9% of residents in Faversham cycle 

to work17.  

6.2.2 Much like walking, cycling is an accessible and cheap form of transport, 

particularly for shorter and medium length trips. It is a healthy way to get 

around and provides environmental benefits. The DfT’s recent Gear Change 

document sets out the Government’s commitment to creating modal shift 

towards walking and cycling and states that 58% of car journeys in the UK 

are under 5 miles, and in more urban areas, more than 40% of journeys were 

under 2 miles18. Distances such as these have a huge potential to be shifted 

to cycle trips. The provision of a safe cycle network with protected routes on 

main roads coupled with low traffic residential streets is shown to lead to 

more cycling and more walking19. 

6.2.3 Swale has several local amenities in close proximity such as employment 

centres, schools, retail centres, and public transport hubs which in terms of 

distance could be accessed by cycle – if the right conditions were built.  

6.2.4 The propensity to cycle tool has been used to better understand the potential 

for uplift in cycling levels for both commuting and for school travel. The 

figures below show the current propensity levels (based on 2011 census) 

and the potential levels under the Go Dutch scenario -this scenario assumes 

 

17 2011 Census data  
18 DfT Gear Change 2020  
19 Aldred, R., Croft, J. and Goodman, A., 2019. Impacts of an active travel intervention with a cycling 
focus in a suburban context: One-year findings from an evaluation of London’s in-progress mini-
Hollands programme. Transportation research part A: policy and practice, 123, pp.147-169. 

Page 400



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 68 
 

high ‘Dutch’ level standards of cycling infrastructure. The ‘Go Dutch’ 

scenario indicates that with major investment in cycling infrastructure there 

is a potential for 40-50% of trips to school to be cycled in some areas20.  

 

6.2.5 The Propensity to Cycle Tool illustrates that with Dutch level infrastructure 

indicates 4-14% of trips to work could be cycled as shown in Figures 17 and 

18. 

 

 

20 Propensity to Cycle tool 2020 https://www.pct.bike/  

Figure 17: PCT School travel 2011 census data and Go Dutch Scenario illustrating potential levels of 
cycling to school 

Figure 18: PCT Commuting 2011 census data and Go Dutch Scenario illustrating potential levels of cycling 
to work 

Page 401

https://www.pct.bike/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 69 
 

 

 

Current cycling links 

6.2.6 Swale currently has three signed cycle routes.  

⚫ National Cycle Route 1 loosely follows the A2 through Faversham and 

Sittingbourne. It connects to the Shetland Islands.  

⚫ National cycle Route 174 also known as ‘The Sheerness Way’ includes 

Barton’s Point Coastal Park, the Queensborough Lines and Sheerness 

Sea Fort. 

⚫ The Isle of Harty Trail is a mainly traffic free route. It takes in local 

attractions such as Leysdown Beach and the RSPB Raptor Viewpoint.  

6.2.7 A map of the above cycle routes is within Chapter 2 – Context. 

6.2.8 In addition to these dedicate routes, cyclists are allowed to use Public Rights 

of Way (PROW) routes. This includes Public Bridleways, Restricted Byways 

and Byways Open to All Traffic. However not all these routes are designed 

for cycling or may be inaccessible by bike at particular times of year. These 

are therefore sometimes seen as more leisure routes than commuting routes 

for users. However, they provide important infrastructure within the borough 

which can help lead to an overall uptake in people cycling for all reasons 

including cycle tourism.  

New Infrastructure  

6.2.9 Swale council will aim to provide cycle facilities on all main routes; cycling 

infrastructure must be designed to comply with the latest guidance which is 

Policy 2 - Cycling 

a. The council will enable cycling in the borough by providing pleasant, safe and 
direct cycling routes. The cycling routes will be focussed within town centres, for 
strategic links between urban settlements, as well as linkages for public transport, 
amenities, and leisure needs. cycling initiatives will also be supported and 
promoted to those live, work and study in Swale. 

b. The council will allocate road space on the network which supports bicycle 
journeys. 

c. Allocated employment sites in the Local Plan review will be required to provide 
cycle parking and showering facilities where occupancy is expected to be above 
50 employees.  

d. The council will aim to increase the cycling mode share for journeys to work from 
2.2% to 5% by 2038.  

Page 402



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 70 
 

currently Local Transport Note 1/20 (Department for Transport, 2020) 21. 

Although some off-road routes are identified, the aim is to deliver a 

comprehensive network of cycle friendly routes within the available road 

space, with features such as traffic restraint, traffic calming, environmental 

improvements and 20mph zones supplemented by cycling facilities including 

cycle friendly crossings. 

6.2.10 Priority will be given to the main urban areas and links to surrounding 

settlements which generate significant amounts of commuting. In particular,  

Faversham, Sittingbourne and Sheerness. Key cycle routes will link 

residential areas with town centres, railway stations, schools, shops, places 

of work, bus stations, leisure facilities and other public services. These 

areas are the locations where car travel has the highest potential to be 

reduced through the uptake of active modes like cycling.  

6.2.11 The provision of a safe cycling network is key to enabling cycling in the 

borough. Potential new routes should:  

⚫ Be protected from motor traffic, both at junctions and on the stretches 

of road between them 

⚫ Be separated from pedestrians where possible 

⚫ Ensure cyclists are treated as vehicles and not pedestrians 

⚫ Join together in a cohesive manner whilst reducing the barriers to 

cycling, such as crossing busy roads 

⚫ Feel direct and be useable by all bike users 

⚫ To be designed for all ages and accessibility levels 

⚫ Have clear signage. 

6.2.12 Town and Parish Councils within the borough are keen to work on projects 

which provide new cycling infrastructure as well as promote cycling. The 

council will work with the Town Parish Councils to achieve these aims. 

Developments will need to address these barriers even if at some distance 

from the immediate vicinity of the development. 

Safety  

6.2.13 Our aim is to produce an environment which enables all ages and abilities to 

cycle. With fear of traffic being the major deterrent to cycling for 80% adults 

(Pooley, 2011)22 solutions which provide protection and continuity without 

 

21 LTN 1/20: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
6344/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf 
22 Pooley, C., 2011. Understanding Walking and Cycling. Lancaster Environment Centre, 
Lancaster University. 

Page 403



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 71 
 

delays are likely to be attractive for the majority. This will mean re-allocating 

road space to cycling, re-organising parking, potentially reducing on-street 

car parking and reducing or cutting through traffic on residential streets and 

other roads by installing modal filters and bus gates.  Near misses are also a 

deterrent to cycling.  

6.2.14 For most roads there are solutions to making them cycle-friendly whether 

that is reducing through traffic or building protected cycle routes. 

Inclusive cycling 

6.2.15 Cycling take-up is unequal in the UK; children, women, older people, ethnic 

minorities and the disabled are generally less likely to cycle. This is usually 

because the road environment is unsuitable for most to be, and feel safe.  

6.2.16 The Department for Transport estimates that only 2% of children cycle to 

school nationally. A Bikeability survey showed that up to 80% of children 

would prefer to cycle to school23. The provision of protected and safe 

infrastructure can reduce the risks and threat of traffic and create a more 

inclusive environment. Presence of children, women, older people, and 

disabled cycling are just as important a measure of success as cycling 

numbers.  

6.2.17 Women also make approximately four times as many ‘escort education’ trips 

as men (Department for Transport, 2016)24 so are more likely to have the 

added complication and responsibility of cycling with children which 

heightens safety concerns. A physical environment which may be acceptable 

to a single person without responsibility for others becomes unacceptable 

when cycling with children (Pooley, 2011). While most people, regardless of 

gender, prefer not to interact with motor traffic while cycling, women place 

greater importance on being separated from traffic (Aldred et al., 2016)25. 

6.2.18 With this in mind, the council has identified actions relating to children 

cycling to school independently; this will require comprehensive, safe cycle 

networks to be built on residential streets and around schools. These will 

need to meet the level of service set out in LTN 1/20. 

 

 

 

23 Cycling UK (2020): https://www.cyclinguk.org/article/cycling-guide/school-run-cycling 
24 Department for Transport, (2016a). ‘Average number of trips (trip rates) by  age, gender 
and purpose: England, 2016’. National Travel Survey. Table NTS0611  
25 Aldred, R., Woodcock, J. and Goodman, A., (2016). ‘Does More Cycling Mean More 
Diversity in Cycling?’, Transport Reviews, 36:1, pp. 28 -44 

Page 404



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 72 
 

Health 

6.2.19 Cycling as part of the daily routine can benefit health and both physical and 

mental wellbeing. As discussed in 8.1. Walking, active travel can help to 

reduce obesity and heart disease amongst others. Cycling to work is linked 

with a 45% lower risk of developing cancer, and a 46% lower risk of 

cardiovascular disease (CVD), compared to commuting by car or public 

transport26. Whilst undertaking just 20 minutes of activity a day can cut the 

risk of developing depression by 31%27 - 20 minutes is a cyclable distance. 

Areas of Swale, such as The Isle of Sheppey have some highest levels of 

obesity, heart disease, stroke, cancer, Type 2 Diabetes and physical activity 

levels. 

6.2.20 The recommended amount of physical activity for adults is that ‘over a week, 

activity should add up to at least 150 minutes (2½ hours) of moderate-

intensity activity, in bouts of 10 minutes or more (one way to approach this is 

to do 30 minutes on at least 5 days a week)’. For children, the 

recommendation is that ‘all children and young people should engage in 

moderate- to vigorous intensity physical activity for at least 60 minutes and 

up to several hours every day’. 

6.2.21 Cycling is the fourth most common recreational and sporting activity 

undertaken by adults in Britain. Therefore, an increase in cycling is a great 

way adults and young people can achieve the recommended levels of 

physical activity.  

Cycle parking 

6.2.22 Alongside the implementation of infrastructure to create a cycle network in 

the borough, safe and secure cycle parking for both home locations and at 

local centres and destinations is needed. This includes appropriate facilities 

within workplaces such as showers, lockers, and parking; these will be 

secured through workplace travel plans. A sufficient number of secure and 

covered cycle parking spaces must be provided in order to reduce the car 

dependency within new residential developments; these will be secured 

through the planning process. In addition to this the council will aim to 

significantly increase the provision new public cycle parking stands across 

the borough in locations with connected amenities such as town centres, 

transport hubs and retail areas. 

 

26 Cycling UK (2020):  https://www.cyclinguk.org/campaigning/views-and-briefings/health-and-cycling 
27 DFT Gear Change 2020  

 

Page 405



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 73 
 

Provision of cycle options  

6.2.23 Cycle hire has proven to be popular in many cities and towns in the UK. 

Whilst Swale is more of a rural location, it does have some key town centres 

and destinations which could provide demand. Electric bike hire may suit 

Swale due to the distances involved and topography. Swale is on the 

doorstep of a number of local leisure routes, particularly along the coast with 

a number of hilly locations and therefore bike hire could benefit visitors or 

residents who don’t have access to a bike. The Council will investigate 

appropriate cycle hire options which could fit in with the location and 

communities in Swale. There is a particular opportunity for this in new 

developments.  

6.2.24 In addition to cycle hire, several local authorities, particularly in London have 

set up ‘try-a-bike’ loan schemes. This allows residents to try a bike for free 

for a month to see if they would like a bike themselves or what type of bike 

might work for them. Any provision of this service by Swale will include 

adaptive cycles.  

Integration with public transport 

6.2.25 Being able to switch between cycling and taking the train or bus is an 

important part of enabling modal shift. This is particularly the case with the 

sites coming forward in the Local Plan which may be a 10-20-minute walk 

from a train station, in particular East of Faversham, Teynham and 

Rushenden Marshes.  Cycle parking is available at most train stations, and 

cycles can be carried on to most trains outside of weekday peak hours (7am 

to 10am going into London and 4pm to 7pm leaving London). Typically, 

cycles are not allowed on buses, due to capacity issues. The councils will 

work with bus and rail companies to improve the integration of cycling with 

public transport, including improvements to secure and covered cycle 

parking at stations. 

Promotion of cycling 

6.2.26 Softer promotional measures can help increase trips by bicycle if done in 

conjunction with changes to highways infrastructure 

6.2.27 The council will therefore enable cycling through a range of promotional 

methods including; 

⚫ The promotion and provision of free cycle training to all who live, work 

and study in the borough. This includes school Bikeability training as 

well as scooter training for primary schools; 

Page 406



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 74 
 

⚫ Dr Bike mechanic sessions to enable people to keep their bikes in good 

working order; 

⚫ Promotion of local cycle map and apps, cycling information on the 

Swale website, cycling information packs, publicity for new routes 

which are available to all; 

⚫ Events including charity and recreational rides, support for National 

Bike Week, commuter challenges, car free days etc; 

⚫ Cycle registration schemes, cycling on prescription, integration with 

other campaigns promoting health and environmental issues; 

Monitoring 

6.2.28 The council will appraise all proposed schemes that involve significant 

changes to the transport network. This will ensure that positive measures for 

both safety and convenience are considered for cycling throughout the 

various stages of design and implementation. 

6.2.29 In order to demonstrate and build on the success following investment in 

cycle routes and improvements, it is important to be able to measure 

increases in usage. Cycle counters will be installed on new and existing 

routes (to be identified) to monitor cycling levels. This data can provide 

useful local information on the most popular routes to inform future schemes.  

 

6.3 Travel by bus 

The 2011 Census data shows that bus and coach travel represent 2% of journeys 

to work across the district. The target within this Strategy is to increase this mode 

share to 5% by 2037 

6.3.1 Bus travel in Swale plays an important role in enabling modal shift away 

from the private car. The local bus network is especially important as it is a 

lifeline to many people, especially those who are too young or old to drive, 

have a disability or cannot afford to run a motor vehicle, as well as for 

people who want to travel sustainably. Car ownership in Swale is high with 

80 per cent of the population owning a car, however that does leave a 

certain percentage of the population more reliant on public transport 

services. It also plays a role for children travelling to school or elsewhere in 

the borough. 

6.3.2 A lack of access to services, employment, education or training can cause 

social exclusion, leading to lower educational attainment, higher offending 

rates, substance abuse, health problems and generally poorer social and life 

skills. Therefore, the provision of bus services is vital to support the 

Page 407



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 75 
 

independence of the district’s population. UK wide bus passengers make 

shopping and leisure trips to the value of £27.2 billion per annum of which 

£21.5 billion is spent in town and city centres. 

6.3.3 Bus use across the UK for travel, shopping and leisure has dropped 

significantly in the COVID-19 pandemic. The case in Swale is no different, 

where patronage has been in decline for the last 6 years. The network 

suffers from a lack of adult passengers during the peak, with the majority of 

peak passengers being made up by school children, this is largely down to 

the bus taking longer or the same time as car travel due to congestion.  

6.3.4 At present, we cannot be sure if use will return to previous levels, however, 

bus travel will still play an important role for Swale and therefore partnership 

working with the Bus Quality Partnership is vital. The council will work 

closely to promote bus use in the borough.   

Bus Network 

6.3.5 Swale’s bus network covers the borough well with several routes and 

frequencies. Since the COVID-19 pandemic there has been a drop in 

frequency and patronage on services. Ensuring frequency and patronage 

returns to pre-COVID-19 levels will help ensure an inclusive, sustainable 

transport offer post COVID-19. KCC and Swale are committed to supporting 

the bus companies in getting back to pre-COVID-19 levels if not beyond.  

6.3.6 A number of bus routes are subsidised by the council in order to ensure that 

bus routes are available for those in the locations which need them. A total 

of £730,000 per annum is spent on the subsidy of the bus network in Swale. 

There have been significant pressures on bus subsides in recent years and 

they have therefore been reduced. Table 8 below shows the routes which 

are supported by KCC.  

 

Table 8: Subsided bus routes 

Service No Route 

332 Deans Bottom – Stockbury – Yelstead – Sittingbourne 

Schools 

360 Leysdown – Eastchurch – Minster – Sheerness – West 

Minster 

8, 9, 343, 344, 345 Sittingbourne Rurals 

Page 408



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 76 
 

662, 664, 666 Teynham – Faversham, Conyer – Lynstead, Faversham - 

Shedwich 

367 Sheerness – Minster – Eastchurch – Warden Point 

326/327 Sittingboure – Upchurch – Rainham – Gillingham - Chatham 

660 Faversham to Stalisfeld 

334 Sheerness – Iwade – Sitingbourne – Detling Hill - Maidstone 

334/341 Sheerness – Iwade – Sitingbourne – Detling Hill - Maidstone 

666 Faversham - Ashford 

 

 

The Swale Quality Bus Partnership 

6.3.7 The Quality Bus Partnership (QBP) in Swale works to provide a service for 

Swale residents and visitors. The QBP has been in place since 2012 and has 

improved the infrastructure, including branding, on several bus routes, 

including the 333 and 349 as well as the Sittingbourne Town Network. The 

QBP has introduced a forum to discuss local bus services and customer 

comments. 

6.3.8 Other improvements undertaken by the QBP have involved:   

⚫ increasing the number of clearways at bus stops, reducing obstructions 

by other vehicles 

⚫ improving bus services 

⚫ investing half a million pounds in new busses on services 333 and 334 

through partnership with Arriva and Kent County Council 

⚫ introducing a service to Eden Village, Sittingbourne, supported through 

developer funding 

⚫ improving services for Thistle Hill in Minster, on the Isle of Sheppey, 

funded by developer’s Section 106 contributions 

Policy 3 – Bus travel 

a. The council will enable bus travel in the borough working with the Bus Quality 
Partnership. Buses in Swale will be reliable, frequent, integrate well with other 
modes, provide sufficient coverage of the borough and will be accessible by all.  

b. The council will aim to increase the bus travel mode share for journeys to work 
from 2% to 5% by 2037.  

Page 409



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 77 
 

Infrastructure Improvement and Bus Priority measures 

6.3.9 Working closely in partnership with the QBP will be vital in getting bus 

frequency and patronage up to normal levels following the COVID-19 

pandemic. Bus priority measures are needed in the borough in order to make 

bus journey times competitive enough to encourage people to use the bus. 

Swale will facilitate a forum to initiate some network and routing efficiencies 

to prioritise buses through either bus only route or lanes and signal priority. 

Swale’s work on the Local Plan Review sites and modelling will be an 

important starting point look to see where such priorities are needed and 

might work best. 

Fares and Ticketing 

6.3.10 The cost of using buses in Swale is a key component of making them a 

competitive, attractive mode of travel. The current cost on an Arriva day 

ticket in Swale is £6 and Chalkwell day ticket in Swale is £4.50, to travel 

within Swale and Medway a day ticket is £6. Both provide student prices 

(age 17 and above), which is vital for travel to school and higher education 

in the borough. The KCC Travel Saver is promoted for young people 11-16 

years old). For most children’s journeys this pass will save around 50% of 

what you might pay for an annual season ticket from a bus operator. This 

pass can be used by both children and an accompanying adult on school 

journeys only.  

6.3.11 Being able to board and pay for a bus in a cashless manner will provide 

benefits for passengers whilst also reducing the time taken for passengers to 

board the bus and the subsequent delays to traffic, particularly in town 

centres. Arriva currently provides cashless ways for using their buses, 

including storing tickets and return tickets on phone apps, contactless 

payment with a debit or credit card as well as the Arriva connect smart cards 

where journeys and passes can be paid for an uploaded onto the cards. The 

‘Plus Bus’ ticket, which is a discounted bus pass purchased with a train 

ticket, will continue to be promoted, particularly to tourists visiting the 

borough. 

Access for all 

6.3.12 Free travel on buses, after 9:30am weekday (excluding bank holidays) is 

provided for all residents of pension age as well as disabled residents.  

6.3.13 Bus stops should be located in the most convenient locations for the people 

who need to use them. They should have bus shelters for protection with 

proper accessibility and clearways operating throughout the period of service 

Page 410



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 78 
 

so that buses can pull in and out of stops easily with minimal delays. The 

Council also work with the Bust Quality Partnership to introduce real time 

information at bus stops.  

Bus promotion and information 

6.3.14 Providing clear and up to date information for existing and potential bus 

users plays an important part in helping to encourage bus patronage. 

Improvements will include the provision of tailored journey time information 

to passengers at bus stops, on websites and in real time via smart phones. 

Ways to improve the promotion of branded tickets (for example explorer, 

nightrider, megarider) that offer discounts over standard sing le and return 

fares will be explored by the QBP partners. 

 

6.4 Travel by Rail 

The 2011 Census data shows that travel by rail represents 6.9% of journeys to 

work across the district. The target within this strategy is to increase this mode 

share to 9% by 2037. 

6.4.1 The rail network in the borough has an important role in providing a 

sustainable mode of transport for many journeys. This also largely includes 

commuting journeys into larger centres outside of the borough, such as 

Canterbury and London. 6.9% of journeys to work in the borough are by rail; 

this is higher than England’s average. However, in some areas in Swale, rail 

commuting represents a higher share with 10% of Sittingbourne residents 

and 10.2% of Faversham residents travelling to work by train; both of these 

stations provide direct links into London.  

6.4.2 Figure 19 below shows the train stations in Swale within the wider 

Southeastern Rail Network. Sittingbourne, Teynham and Faversham are all 

well located for travel to smaller rural stations within the borough as well as 

to larger centres such as London and Canterbury. Teynham in particular is 

an area which has been allocated for growth within the Local Plan and so an 

uptake in journeys from that station in the future is expected. Much like the 

bus network in Swale, the rail network has been affected by the COVID-19 

pandemic and so ensuring that people continue to use rail in the borough is 

important in creating mode shift away from the private car.  

Page 411



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 79 
 

 

 

Policy 4 – Rail travel 

a. The council will enable rail travel in the borough by working in partnership with rail 
operators and Network Rail to improve rail services, reliability, integration with 
other modes, facilities and information.  

b. The council will aim to increase the rail travel mode share for journeys to work 
from 6.9% to 9% by 2038.  

c. Improve connections for non-motorised traffic access to stations. 
d. To work with operators to improve facilities and accessibility at Faversham, 

Teynahm, Kemsley and Queenborough.  

Page 412



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 80 
 

 

 

Figure 19: Train 
stations in Swale 
within the wider 
Rail Network

P
age 413



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 81 
 

 

Planned changes 

6.4.3 The COVID-19 crisis has drastically reduced demand for rail travel in the 

UK, and it is currently uncertain when previous levels of demand for rail 

travel will return. The emergency timetable operated by Southeastern during 

the emergency provided a basic hourly or half-hourly frequency on most 

routes in Kent, and even these services carried a minimum number of 

passengers. Planning for a new service network during such an emergency 

carries the danger of ignoring the long-term demand which, while perhaps 

less than some original forecasts, is still predicted to increase substantially 

by 2031, especially on HS services. 

Level Crossings 

6.4.4 Level crossings in the borough can sometimes cause delays on the road and 

rail network. There are 22 level crossings in the borough. A number of these 

are open to the public, via public rights of way and therefore can pose a 

safety threat to residents and visitors.  

6.4.5 Network Rail are currently working with Persimmon Homes to seek the 

closure of Vicarage crossing (NW of Sittingbourne) due to the concern over 

the high amount of usage that will come from the housing estate north of the 

crossing. The council will work with Network Rail and developers to seek to 

provide alternative routes for crossings in these areas.  

6.4.6 Network Rail also have concerns around the impact of some of the 

developments in Teynham along Lower Road. These have the potential to 

create more pedestrian use over Teynham West footpath crossing due to the 

location of the station. Teynham West is already a very high-risk crossing 

with high train speeds and vulnerable use. Network Rail have already started 

to look at the feasibility of closure for this crossing and the Council will 

discuss the impact of the proposed allocations on the safety of the crossing 

with Network Rail. 

Transport hubs 

6.4.7 With future housing and employment growth in the area predicted, as 

discussed in Chapter 6, ensuring train stations can be transport hubs is vital 

in enabling modal shift away from the private car. This includes the need for 

provision of safe and secure cycle parking, clearly lit walkways and 

platforms, a feeling of safety, integration with buses i.e. nearby bus s tops, as 

well as the provision of walking and cycling routes to and from stations from 

local housing, employment areas and amenities. Car parking is provided at 

Page 414



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 82 
 

both Sittingbourne and Faversham the daily cost for car parking is £5.90 and 

£5.70 respectively. 

6.4.8 The promotion of integrating rail travel with active travel is important in 

ensuring that car journeys decrease of the period of this Transport Strategy. 

Being able to take bicycles on trains will be promoted by the council. The 

Council will work with Network Rail to improve access to platforms for 

pedestrians and cyclists.  

Ticketing and fares 

6.4.9 Ticketing on Southeastern Rail is compatible with contactless payment in 

London locations on the route. Season tickets are widely used by those 

commuting further afield and payment through phone apps is also widely 

used. Season tickets, National Rail railcards, and the Southeastern ‘The 

Key’ payment system is available. Southeastern fares rose in 2020 in line 

with Retail Price Index (RPI) of 1.6%. This has not been altered by the 

COVID-19 pandemic.  

Access for all 

6.4.10 Step free access is provided at all stations in the borough other than 

Faversham, which has a degree of step free access. Step free access is vital 

to ensuring all people, regardless of mobility are able to access rail services. 

Page 415



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 83 
 

7. PARKING STRATEGY 

Parking is a vital strand of the Transport Strategy, since the availability, cost and 

location of parking all influence the level of car use. Guidance within the 2020 SBC 

Parking Standards considers parking for all vehicle types and a careful balance is 

struck between providing sufficient parking facilities to ensure safe operation of the 

public highway without encouraging travel by car. 

 

7.1.1 Our Parking Policy details our approach to the ongoing development and 

delivery of parking management in Swale. Parking management is an 

important transport planning tool, enabling us to influence how people may 

choose to travel, with the aim of encouraging them to use more sustainable 

forms of transport, We also recognise the importance of providing  

appropriate levels of parking for those who are less mobile to access key 

facilities and services where they are less accessible by public transport, 

walking and cycling. 

7.1.2 Parking management covers time restrictions, parking charges, controlled 

parking zones, residents parking permits and blue badges. Parking charges 

provide us with the opportunity to set appropriate parking prices that allow 

us to fund maintenance of public car parks, manage parking demand, 

provide new infrastructure such as electric charging points. 

7.1.3 Parking left unmanaged, would soon become disruptive to the transport 

networks and services, as people would park for convenience, rather than 

considering other people’s needs. This could lead to increased pressures on  

neighbourhoods, and movement could be affected to the detriment of road 

safety.  

7.1.4 Ambitious new parking standards are set out in the Local Plan, including the 

provision of electric vehicle charging points. Further details of our parking 

standards for new development and our approach to the provision and 

management of public car parks and on-street parking is set out within this 

section. 

 

7.2 Existing Provision  

7.2.1 There are 37 council owned car parks in Swale containing a total of 2,660 

spaces mixed between short and long stay car parks, from free parking up to 

£10 for 4 hours.  Spaces are mainly located on the Isle of Sheppey with over 

half of the carparks found here. 

Page 416



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 84 
 

7.2.2 Faversham: Faversham contains five car parks, with nearly 500 spaces. Car 

parks are situated within walking distance of the town centre, occupying 

prime locations.  

7.2.3 Sittingbourne: 12 car parks are available in Sittingbourne, containing 700 

spaces.  

7.2.4 Isle of Sheppey: The Isle of Sheppey contains 20 carparks containing 

nearly 1,500 spaces. 10 of the carparks are free.  Car parks on the Isle of 

Sheppey are primarily found along the coast, this insinuates the use of 

primarily visitors to the area. 

7.2.5 Figure 20 and Appendix B summarise the Council’s off-street parking 

provision om Swale. 

 

Figure 20: Public Car Parks in Swale 

Page 417



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 85 
 

7.3 Tariffs 

7.3.1 Over half of the car parks in Swale charge 50p for 30 minutes, and £4 up to 

4 hours (Table 9 above). The most expensive car park costs £10 for 4 hours.  

7.3.2 Season tickets are available to stay in the long stay council owned car parks 

in Swale. Fees depend on whether users want to use the car parks in more 

than one town. For multiple towns it costs £250 for a three-month season 

ticket. Alternatively, to park in one town:  

⚫ pay £235 for a three-month season ticket 

⚫ pay £88 for a monthly season ticket  

 

7.3.3 Swale constantly monitor parking usage, overall travel demand and 

economic results to check that the parking strategies are both appropriate 

and balanced, considering the environmental, economic and social needs of 

the whole community. 

7.3.4 Public transport will likely fail to become the preferred method of travel if 

there is not a price and convenience incentive to switch from private cars.  

To facilitate this, Swale will review parking tariffs in conjunction with public 

transport fares to ensure the fares complement each other and encourage a 

greater uptake in public transport use through price and convenience 

incentives.   

7.3.5 Parking in Swale is moderately priced compared to other coastal areas 

within Kent such as Dover and Folkestone and Hythe.  

7.3.6 In other rural leisure/ tourist areas fees start at around £1.20 an hour 

(Folkstone and Hythe) or £1.30 an hour (Dover) and provide little to no free 

parking except overnight. They display all day parking which benefits visitors 

planning to spend the full day, whereas Swale does not offer  all day parking 

prices (or display them online). 

7.3.7 Commuter parking near towns and train stations is free in Folkestone and 

Hythe, and Dover, whereas Swale charges in the majority of inner area car 

parks. 

 

7.4 Future Demand and Provision 

7.4.1 The future demand for parking will be dependent on many factors, including 

the amount and location of new development, the economic climate both 

nationally and locally, the cost and availability of sustainable modes of 

transport compared with the cost of driving and parking, and the 

Page 418



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 86 
 

attractiveness of the city centre compared with other competing centres and 

the on-line retail alternative. 

7.4.2 We are in a period of significant transport innovation and technological 

advancement, with the continual growth of electric and ultra-low emission 

vehicles, development of autonomous vehicles, and on-demand transport 

provided directly to our homes via mobile phone apps. There is also the 

potential for significant long-term changes in travel demand as a legacy from 

the COVID-19 pandemic.  

7.4.3 All of these changes make future parking demand difficult to predict however 

it is clear that car ownership habits will change, whether towards lower-

emission vehicles or lower private vehicle ownership. 

7.4.4 Despite this, the expected growth over the next 15 years will have the 

potential to, conversely, increase parking demand.  Within the Swale Visitor 

Economy Framework, outcomes were identified to support the growth of 

Swale’s visitor economy to the benefit of local businesses and communities 

making the most of their local resources and assets.  A key action identified 

was “To increase the number of car and coach parking facilities to improve 

access to the coast as well as town centres” between 2018 and 2023. Swale 

will investigate the possibility of having a flexible use so these spaces as an 

alternative use outside of the tourist season.  

7.4.5 The Local Plan, currently being written, sets out the future direction for the 

borough and it is clear that the focus will be on providing residential and 

mixed-use development. Some sites listed in the Local Plan could increase 

the demand of parking. 

7.4.6 These ambitions will inevitably lead to an increased desire for people to visit 

the town centres and indeed this will be a key success criterion. 

7.4.7 Demands on parking may change following the pandemic with public 

transport being a less favourable mode of transport, and an increase in 

staycations. This would affect the investment and infrastructure needed to 

accommodate drivers and visitors.  

7.4.8 Current parking might be identified for investment / development in the future 

given their prime town centre locations. Swale will commit to detailed Town 

Centre Parking Strategies if parking capacity is affected in the future. 

Reductions would be informed by demand as the future changes and travel 

habits become known and more predictable. Swale will commit to 

accommodating off-street parking demand whilst also trying to encourage a 

reduction in demand. 

Page 419



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 87 
 

7.4.9 Due to the growing number of vehicles in towns, urban traffic congestion is 

becoming more common. Improvements to parking efficiency can help 

drivers finding places to park in car parks. There are new technologies that 

can enable ‘smart’ car parks; 

⚫ Bookable spaces through apps 

⚫ Variable message signing 

⚫ Variable signing within car parks to signal available spaces 

7.4.10 These can reduce vehicle circulation within town centres and within car 

parks.  Improvements to congestion, air quality, and improved efficiency of 

use of spaces.  

 

 

7.5 On-street Parking 

7.5.1 Swale Borough Council is responsible for on-street parking and aims to 

consider parking issues holistically, as changes in respect of parking supply 

or tariffs on-street have direct implications off-street, and vice-versa.  

7.5.2 There are three Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ) within Swale. These are in 

Sittingbourne, Faversham, and Sheerness, with preference given to 

residents who purchase permits. Maps of these can be found in the Parking 

Standards SPD (or appendices). 

7.5.3 Parking permits are required to park in a permitted street. A residential 

parking permit costs £45 and can be applied for over the phone, taking 14 

days if successful. Permits need to be renewed annually online, costing £10 

and will be received through the post in seven days.  

7.5.4 Visitor Parking Vouchers are available for residents living in a Zone A or 

Zone B permitted street. There are two services available depending on 

whether they are parking for under or over 1 hour. 

7.5.5 Single vouchers can be bought for £1.10 for up to 1 hour for non-permit 

holders, books of ten vouchers for £10 for permit holders. If visitors are 

going to park for over an hour, ten visitor vouchers are available in a book 

Policy 5 – Parking Tariffs and Provision 

a. The council will review annually parking fees to ensure the use of public 

transport.   

b. The council will review the change in the demand of parking over the next 

years to ensure parking is available for those who need it. 

Page 420



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 88 
 

for £11. Vouchers are available from Co-Op, Forbes Road, Faversham, Kent, 

ME13 8BG. 

7.5.6 Swale commits to regular reviews of on-street parking demand and stress 

and residents will be enabled to apply for the implementation of a Controlled 

Parking Zone where demand is leading to parking congestion. These will be 

undertaken holistically with regard for Off-Street parking tariffs, and public 

transport fare costs.  Swale aims to set tariffs to meet the needs of residents 

and visitors, whilst also ensuring private car travel is not incentivised above 

more sustainable modes. 

  

7.6 Electric Vehicle Parking 

7.6.1 Swale Borough Council declared a climate and ecological emergency on 26 

June 2019. The purpose of the declaration was to draw attention to the 

urgent need to reverse the decline in biodiversity in Swale and to take 

effective action to reduce carbon emissions in the borough. The declaration 

sets the goals for carbon emissions from the council’s operations to be 

carbon neutral by 2025 and for the borough to be carbon neutral by 2030.  

7.6.2 Since the declaration, progress has been made against their targets 

completing the following:  

⚫ plans to replace the Council’s diesel vehicles with electric vehicles  

⚫ installed charging points for electric vehicles in car parks in 

Sittingbourne and Faversham 

⚫ drawn up plans for electric vehicle charging points to be installed in 

public car parks in Sheerness 

7.6.3 Standards for Ultra Low Emission Vehicles have been drawn up within the 

Parking Standards Swale Parking Document 2020. These include:  

⚫ New developments to provide infrastructure to cater for future demand 

of ULEZs 

⚫ Justification and discussion of the charger types, between slow and 

faster chargers.  

⚫ Each dwelling with on-plot parking should provide an electrical outlet 

within close proximity of the parking space. 

⚫ ULEV For non-residential use off-street parking Swale has 

recommended 10% Active Charging Spaces with all other spaces to be 

provided as Passive Charging Spaces.  

⚫ In situations where it is not possible to meet demand for ULEV parking 

on-site, a financial contribution towards the provision of on-street 

charging points may be sought. 

Page 421



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 89 
 

⚫ ULEV parking spaces should be signed and marked for Electric Vehicle 

Charging Only. 

7.6.4 Further details on Swales commitment to Electric Vehicles and Parking can 

be found in the Electric Vehicle Strategy. INSERT LINK WHEN FINIALISED 

 

7.7 Blue Badge 

7.7.1 The Blue Badge scheme is the national parking concession scheme for 

people with a disability, allowing significant parking concessions to badge 

holders, and establishes powers for specially designated bays to be 

allocated for their use, both on-street and in car parks. 

7.7.2 There are two types of disabled parking bay:  

⚫ enforceable which includes signage stating 'Disabled Badge Holders 

Only' 

⚫ advisory which doesn't include signage 

⚫ Bays can be requested via the Swale Parking and Streets webpage; 

once an application has been received a public consultation with take 

place allowing residents to provide any comments. 

7.7.3 New Blue Badge standards are contained within the Parking Standards SPD, 

with a move towards prioritizing Blue Badge parking and minimizing non-

essential car use.  

 

7.8 Parking Standards 

7.8.1 Ambitious new parking standards have been published as a supplementary 

planning document (SPD) in April 2020. This document provides guidance 

on parking standards within the Borough, with the aim of establishing a more 

appropriate and effective response to parking issues relating to new 

development across the Borough. The SPD is a material planning 

consideration in the determination of planning applications by Swale 

Borough Council (SBC) and should be considered in conjunction with the 

adopted Local Plan (with particular reference to Policy DM 11).  

7.8.2 The new guidance considers parking for all types of developments and seeks 

to balance the need to provide an appropriate parking provision, ensure the 

safe operation of the public highway and encourage travel by sustainable 

modes where practical. It also considers the design of the public realm, 

aiming to complement good parking practice with good master planning and 

urban design. 

Page 422



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 90 
 

7.8.3 Detailed guidance for parking for non-residential uses is available with the 

aim of establishing a more appropriate and effective response to parking 

issues relating to new development across the Borough. This covers 

deliveries and servicing, mixed use developments, hotels, retirement 

communities and continuing car facilities, schools, and commuter parking.  

7.8.4 Guidance for residential use has been set out in to avoid parking dominance 

as the result of driveways and on plot parking, covering many topics 

including layout and design, public realm, parking courts, driveways and 

visitor and van parking. It also outlines the advisory parking standards in 

Edge of Town Centre locations where on-street parking controls are present 

within 200 meters of the site and recommended standards where such 

restrictions are absent and/ or non-continuous.   

 

Policy 6 – Parking 

a. The council will manage the parking provision across the Borough, in public car parks, 
on street parking and across new developments, to influence sustainable travel choices, 
encourage sustainable patterns for travel and provide for those who are less mobile. 

b. The council will ensure the continued provision of EV charging and bays. 
c. The council will review and implement disabled parking bays for those who need them. 
d. The council will investigate new technologies and systems to improve the efficiency of 

kerbside usage and implement these if effective. 

Page 423



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 91 
 

8. MANAGING THE NETWORK 

There is a growing awareness of the impact that increasing car use has on many 

aspects of our lives and more people are looking to reduce their car use either due to 

environmental concerns, financial reasons or as part of a healthier lifestyle. 

Nevertheless, the private car is, and will continue to remain, the most popular mode 

of transport for the foreseeable future and we cannot ignore those who need to use a 

vehicle for a number of reasons.  

This strategy looks at ways of managing the existing network to reduce delay and 

disruption to vehicle users in conjunction with improving choice and promoting 

alternatives. 

8.1 Problem areas 

8.1.1 The key transport issues outlined in the previous transport strategy are set 

out below. (this section will be updated following a review of the outputs from 

the Local Plan modelling).  

⚫ Congestion at M2 Junction 5 currently acts as a barrier to further 

development in Swale – a scheme is in place for this.  

⚫ M2J7 capacity as a barrier to development to the east of the Borough 

and beyond to Canterbury and Dover 

⚫ Capacity improvements required at A249 Key Street and Grovehurst 

interchanges – a scheme is in place for this.  

⚫ Rural areas of the borough are remote from main centres and less well 

served by public transport   

⚫ Public transport tends to be inaccessible to the mobility impaired  

⚫ Traffic congestion with school/ employment commuting into 

Sittingbourne, causing rural rat-runs in the south of town and air quality 

issues.  

⚫ Transport interchange between cycle routes, bus services, and train 

services is poor, therefore encouraging the use of cars to rail stations, 

which add to problems with parking and congestion  

⚫ Not enough uptake of sustainable transport  

⚫ Constrained viability of new developments to provide significant 

infrastructure contributions.  

8.2 Key network 

8.2.1 Major rail and roads radiating out from London mean the Borough well 

served by links to the Capital. Central London is just 40 miles away, thus a 

number of Swale residents commute to and from London on the 

Southeastern Line, including Highspeed. Swale is connected to a good 

motorway network at the M2, with the M20, M25 and M26 a short distance 

Page 424



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 92 
 

away.  The Isle of Sheppey, isolated from the mainland by The Swale and 

linked by the A249 bridge which was opened in 2006, is surrounded by the 

marshland of The Swale and Medway estuaries. 

8.2.2 The A2/ M2 corridor forms part of the Trans European Transport Network 

(TEN-T) and is one of the gateways to Europe. Traffic flows at the western 

end of the route as it approaches the M25 are almost 140,000 vehicles per 

day. In the length of the M2 between Faversham and Sittingbourne, traffic 

flows are approximately 14,000 vehicles per day in 2019. (TfL GB Road 

Traffic Counts, 2019).  

8.2.3 Along the A2 to/from Dover a flow of nearly 38,000 vehicles per day passes 

along the Boughton Bypass, including 3500 HGVs 

8.2.4 On the border of Swale on the A299 47500 vehicles, including 1800 HGVs 

travel to and from Margate and Ramsgate.  

 

8.3 Key Schemes 

8.3.1 A number of regeneration and growth initiatives are planned or already 

underway in and around Swale which will support future economic growth 

and employment. Large schemes could add pressure and increase disruption 

on major road networks.  

8.3.2 Over 5000 extra residents or employers could be travelling on the network 

due to these developments, along with the large number of construction 

vehicles throughout development build-out. However, Policy DM10 of the 

new Local Plan Review requires new developments that have the potential to 

generate significant amounts of movement, and require mitigation, to have a 

Travel Plan in place with robust modal shift targets and specific measures to 

reduce vehicle trip generation.  

8.3.3 Transport modelling has occurred for developments within Swale, showing 

that morning traffic flows increased in Sittingbourne TC and Faversham TC, 

and on the A2 WB from M2 J7 to Sittingbourne but flows decreased slightly 

along the A249.The evening flows show a similar pattern as there is an 

increase in flows around Sittingbourne and Faversham. There is also wider 

reassignment of traffic from the M20 in both directions to/from the M2, 

resulting in increased flows along the M2 in both directions.  

8.3.4 Several junctions in Isle of Sheppey, Sittingbourne town centre and 

Faversham town centre, also junctions along A249 and Head Hill/Whitstable 

Road/Staple St Road junction show heavy congestion, especially in the 

morning peak.  

Page 425



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 93 
 

8.3.5 The model showed that a series of mitigation measures that were 

subsequently proposed and tested, led to an overall network performance 

improvement in the region. 

8.3.6 The A2 suffers from high levels of congestion, particularly from the roads 

that feed onto it. Reducing the congestion on this route will be key to 

achieving a number of the aims in this Strategy. Therefore, Swale will work 

with Kent Highways, as the Highways Authority, on an A2 Mitigation Strategy 

to manage the flows of traffic on the A2 and the roads that feed on to it, 

especially where there are air quality, traffic congestion and road safety 

issues.  This will cost an estimated £1-2m (depending on land values and 

land availability.) 

 

8.4 Minimising Disruption 

8.4.1 KCC has a network management duty to ensure the ‘expeditious movement 

of traffic’ on Kent’s highway network. The county council aims to provide a 

safe and reliable highway network, combined with accurate and widely 

available information to ensure that people can make informed choices about 

how and when to travel. 

 

⚫ Kent Permit Scheme - The Kent Permit Scheme minimizes disruption 

on Kent’s road network by planning and scheduling all work on the 

publicly maintainable highways. Introduced in 2010 by the county 

council, it improves KCC’s ability to manage these works and avoid 

overlapping roadworks. Promoters can receive a fixed penalty notice if 

they work without a valid permit or are in breach of permit conditions. 

Works on private streets do not require a permit al though permission 

should be sought from the street owner before any works take place 

⚫ Kent Lane Rental Scheme - KCC have been given powers by the DfT 

to charge companies who need to close a road or lane for highway 

works on the most traffic sensitive roads to encourage those 

undertaking works to carry them out in the least disruptive manner. 

Utility companies and other operators who wish to close roads or 

restrict them for works to take place are charged up to £2,000 per day 

for disrupting the busiest roads on the network at peak times. The 

revenue received is used to cover the operating costs of the scheme 

and any surplus can fund congestion busting measures 

⚫ Streetworks Register - As part of the Traffic Management Act 2004, 

there is a requirement to maintain a register to record all skip and 

scaffolding licences, such that their effect can be co-ordinated through 

Page 426



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 94 
 

the Street Works Register. KCC has already developed a GIS based 

register to co-ordinate road works. This information is made available 

via the internet and is in a format that can be used by adjoining local 

transport authorities, utility companies, and national agencies. The 

county council plans to widen the scope of this register to incorporate 

planned events and other activities on the highway, inc luding skips and 

scaffolding. 

⚫ Events and Incidents - Kent has a number of large venues which 

operate regular events, including Brands Hatch, the County 

Showground and Leeds Castle. Multi-agency co-ordinating groups are 

in place to manage the impacts of these events on the transport 

network and this practice has also been applied to larger events such 

as the Tour de France and the Open Golf Championship.  

⚫ Traffic Regulations - Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) are used to 

regulate, restrict or prohibit the use of a road. KCC has conducted a 

countywide review to ensure that the information contained in each 

TRO matches the markings and signing in place. KCC are developing a 

TRO management system so that TRO information may be shared with 

other stakeholders and partners. Future powers obtained under the 

Traffic Management Act 2004 will allow the civil enforcement of further 

moving traffic offences, such as stopping inside box junctions, stopping 

in a restricted area and failing to comply with a mandatory direction 

sign. 

 

8.5 Performance Monitoring 

8.5.1 As the Highways Authority, KCC has a duty to continually; 

⚫ identify congestion and disruption to traffic flow; 

⚫ monitor the effectiveness of actions; and, 

⚫ assess their performance in managing the network. 

8.5.2 KCC will undertake monitoring of network performance both pre and post -

implementation of improvement schemes, as well as more generally to 

continually identify problem areas for intervention. 

8.5.3 The key challenges in monitoring network performance are that there are 

many ways in which this can be done some of which are data intensive and 

can be costly. This data and analysis is vital to gain a better understanding 

of network behaviour and make more informed decisions about where and 

how to improve network operation. 

8.5.4 The table below details what data we propose to collect and how it will be 

analysed to inform performance levels.  

Page 427



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 95 
 

 

Table 9: Methods of performance monitoring 

Data Type  Collection Method Analysis 

Traffic volumes 

and speeds 

TADU traffic counters Monitor current levels of demand and 

measure growth against forecast  

Journey 

times/delay 

ANPR cameras at key 

locations 

Monitor changes in travel times at peak 

periods to inform signal timings and 

provide accurate information to share 

with road users to make better 

decisions 

Public 

Transport 

journey time 

reliability and 

service levels 

Bus GPS data and 

ANPR 

Identify sources and scale of delay to 

bus services and measure average 

journey times 

Cyclist numbers Camera counter 

surveys 

Monitor cycling usage and growth and 

measure change following investment 

in improved infrastructure provision 

 

 

 

Policy 7 – Network Management 

a. The Council and KCC will ensure the continued management of the network to 

ensure minimal delay and congestion from new developments and demand.  

b. The Council will work with Kent Highways, on an A2 mitigation strategy to 

manage the flows of traffic on the A2 and the roads that feed on to it. 

c. To provide a more resilient highway network able to adapt to modal shift and 

maintenance.  

Page 428



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 96 
 

9. REDUCING TRAVEL DEMAND 

 

9.1.1 Whilst it is necessary to enable sustainable forms of travel, there is also a 

huge benefit in reducing the need to travel for many. With regard to single 

occupancy car travel, 2011 census data shows that 65% of people in Swale 

drive to work and 5.5% of people are a passenger in a car or a van. In 2018, 

62% of all car journeys were single occupancy, this figure has stayed largely 

static over the past 10 years28. Figure 21 below shows the locations in Swale 

which have the highest levels of residents driving to work. As expected, 

more rural areas near Sittingbourne and on the Isle of Sheppey have the 

highest levels, whereas Sittingbourne and Faversham have the lowest.  

 

 

28 Statistica 2020: https://www.statista.com/statistics/314733/single-occupant-car-journeys-in-england 

Figure 21: Journeys to work by car (2011 census) 

Page 429



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 97 
 

9.1.2 Whilst homeworking for some may have been a rare occurrence, the COVID-

19 pandemic has shown that many office workers have largely been working 

from home for months. Though many jobs aren’t office based in Swale and 

require workers to be there in person, there is a necessity to reduce single 

occupancy car travel.   

9.1.3 Where a journey is necessary using other modes in line with the transport 

mode hierarchy should be the priority. Walking, cycling, taking public 

transport and car sharing all occupy less road space. This means that 

essential users who need their vehicle for certain journeys will encounter a 

less congested road network.  

9.2 Sustainable Development 

9.2.1 Swale’s Local Plan policy ST 9 ensures that sustainable development is built 

into the planning process and that developments are assessed on transport 

basis ensuring that development proposals maximise opportunities for 

access by sustainable transport, and are designed to support  transport 

modes in line with the transport development hierarchy.  

9.2.2 To further support this, both Swale and KCC will use their planning policies 

and powers to facilitate sustainable transport development by:  

⚫ Locating development near existing transport hubs and facilities;  

⚫ Ensure walking and cycling facilities are provided in all new 

developments; 

⚫ Provide mixed use developments to enable shorter commuting journeys 

which can be undertaken by sustainable modes or that do not involve 

travel. 

⚫ Promote amenities within large developments so that residential uses 

and amenities are within walking and cycling distance.  

 

 

9.3 Car Sharing 

9.3.1 Car sharing provides many with an opportunity to share car journeys in a 

more environmentally friendly way if walking, cycling or public transport 

Policy 8 – Sustainable development 

The council will support development which has sustainability at its core. 

Developments which facilitate sustainable modes of transport and 

minimises the need to travel will be supported. The council will resist 

development that does not support sustainable development.  

Page 430



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 98 
 

options are not available to them. It has an important role to play in the 

overall transport strategy and the need to reduce the number of overall 

journeys driven in the borough.  

9.3.2 5.5% of work journeys in Swale are as a passenger in a car or a van. It is 

understood that many people will need to travel to their workplace by car 

and this strategy will aim to increase the number of people sharing car 

journeys to work, therefore reducing single occupancy car journeys.  

9.3.3 Swale will promote car sharing in the borough through a number of ways. 

The Kent Journey Share initiative has over 5,000 members who actively look 

to share lifts across the county. It is a free service which links drivers with 

passengers who wish to make similar journeys. Car sharing will also be 

promoted through any workplace travel plans in the borough. Some 

workplace locations in Swale are more rural and therefore car sharing 

through workplace travel plans provide a suitable structure for the increase 

in car sharing.  

 

9.4 Car Clubs 

9.4.1 Car clubs allow residents to effectively hire a car but for much shorter 

journeys / durations. This provides residents with access to a car when it is 

necessary without having to own or have the maintenance fees of owning a 

car. Car clubs themselves own and maintain vehicles, this means that cars 

can be booked for short time slots, from as little as 30 minutes. Users pay a 

membership to be part of the club, membership varies but is much cheaper 

than personal car ownership. Not owning a car leads to a less car dependent 

lifestyle with more sustainable modes being used more often29.  

9.4.2 The use of Car Club vehicles offers a number of benefits:  

⚫ Cost – the costs associated with private vehicle ownership such as 

depreciation, insurance and tax are taken care of as part of the 

membership; and  

⚫ Greener – often the cars operated by Car Clubs are greener, more 

efficient vehicles, usually utilising electric and hybrid electric 

capabilities. In addition, the annual Carplus survey of Car Clubs for 

England and Wales (excluding London) found that in 2015/2016, of the 

27,585 Car Club members, 16% had sold or disposed of a car, resulting 

in the removal of 4,414 cars from the road. 

 

29 TfL (2005-2012) London Travel Demand Survey: TfL  

Page 431



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 99 
 

9.4.3 Whilst no car clubs currently operate in Swale, they can be hugely beneficial 

in large scale residential developments as policies on personal car parking 

can be put in place to discourage personal car ownership. These locations 

will also have a large pool of potential members to help with the ongoing 

success of schemes. The allocated Local Plan Review sites discussed in the 

strategy are ideal for this and the council will enter into discussion with 

developers on car clubs when sites come forward. In residential 

developments car club operators can provide free membership for one or two 

years to new residents to encourage longer term membership and low 

personal car ownership, leading to more sustainable journeys associated 

with that development and potentially the wider community.  

9.4.4 To support a Car Club presence within the area, Swale Borough and KCC 

will work with Car Club providers to establish a presence in the Borough.  

SBC will also encourage developers to contribute towards Car Club vehicles 

where appropriate and viable. Ideally electric and/or hybrid cars with on-

street EV charging will be provided. A target of 10 spaces by 2025 and then 

a 10% increase in spaces each year to 2038 has been agreed. Initial spaces 

will be located within residential developments to encourage low car 

ownership and sustainable travel. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9.5 Workplace and residential travel plans 

9.5.1 A travel plan is a population wide strategy for travel behaviour change that 

can be applied to any setting (Education, Workplace, Residential), that 

includes the evidence and rationale to secure commitment and funding to 

support the promotion of sustainable and active travel.  

9.5.2 Specifically, a travel plan is a package of measures that aims to reduce car 

use to and from any given site. This may target a place that people travel to 

(e.g. a workplace, school, place of worship, transport interchange, stadium), 

or a place that people travel from (e.g. residential development). Travel 

plans can be highly effective in encouraging sustainable travel and reducing 

the need to travel.  

Policy 9 – Car Sharing and Clubs 

a. The council will support car sharing in the borough through online platforms 

and travel plans.  

b. The council will support the use of car clubs in the borough and encourage 

operators into the borough.  

Page 432



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 100 
 

9.5.3 Most travel plans arise as a requirement of planning permission though 

some are written where reducing car parking provision and supporting 

modes like walking and cycling can bring financial, environmental and health 

benefits for workplaces, residential developments, amenities and educational 

settings. They are required via planning permission as well as planning 

obligations in Swale. It is important that travel plans which are required as 

part of a planning approval are sufficiently robust with appropriate measures 

in place to address failure to meet agreed targets. In Swale those required  

via planning are monitored to ensure that targets for travel associated with 

that development are met or adjusted accordingly.  

9.5.4 There is already a planning requirement for all new developments in Swale 

likely to generate significant travel movement to submit travel plans as part 

of their planning permission. Swale will work in partnership with KCC to 

target those organisations in the borough which are generating high volumes 

of traffic, notably those impacting on the 5 AQMAs. 

9.5.5 Travel plans are bespoke and should be tailored to the specific needs of 

each site so that they are effective. All measures should seek to deliver the 

objectives and Swale’s sustainable transport aims, of which these could 

include but are not limited to: 

⚫ Welcome / Travel packs;  

⚫ Promotion of Cycle Skills Training;  

⚫ Formation of a travel plan steering group;  

⚫ Promotion of Led and Health Walks within the borough. 

⚫ Promotion of cycling events in Swale 

 

9.6 Education Travel Plans 

9.6.1 Much like workplace and residential travel plans, educational travel plans 

can be highly effective in enabling sustainable travel for trips associated with 

schools and educational settings. A school travel plan will promote safer, 

active and sustainable travel to school, with the main emphasis being on 

reducing the number of children being driven to and from school which could 

help: 

⚫ reduce the number of car journeys to school 

⚫ establish positive active journeys to school 

⚫ improve both mental and physical health through physical activity  

⚫ promote independence and improve safety awareness 

⚫ reduce the environmental impact of the journey to school and improve 

air quality 

Page 433



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 101 
 

9.6.2 Travel plans help schools to gather information on travel-related issues 

which may affect pupils and parents on the journey to and from school. 

Schools are then able to gather the information and evidence required to 

make decisions and prioritise the measures and/or initiatives to be 

implemented to help improve the travel issues faced by the school.  

9.6.3 A range of travel options and ideas can be put into a travel plan,  including: 

⚫ walking initiatives such as walking buses 

⚫ park & stride 

⚫ Bikeability - cycle training 

⚫ cycling/scooting facilities - shelters and lockers 

⚫ car sharing 

⚫ school buses 

⚫ infrastructure measures such as school streets 

⚫ parking initiatives 

9.6.4 There are a number of schools in the borough who are within or near the 5 

AQMAs, where travel plans can help to provide an extra benefit.  

9.6.5 All new schools in Swale will need to provide a travel plan which is in line 

with the Transport mode hierarchy.  

9.6.6 Figure 22 below shows the mode share of school travel for all Primary 

Schools in Swale.  

 

9.7 Personalised Travel Planning 

Figure 22: Swale Primary Schools Travel data 

Page 434



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 102 
 

9.7.1 Personalised travel planning provides residents with tailored advice on how 

they can travel more sustainably through understanding their personal trip 

requirements. This is often offered as part of residential or workplace travel 

plans and can include:  

⚫ A personalised journey plan 

⚫ Local walking and cycling maps which include a person’s residential 

and workplace locality 

⚫ Comparisons on cost and time for different modes and their benefits  

⚫ Health benefits of non-car modes 

9.7.2 Personalised travel planning can often be encompassed within workplace 

and residential travel plans.   

 

9.8 Flexible / Home-based Working 

9.8.1 Flexible and home-based working has been thrust into the light in 2020 for 

many people, owing to the COVID-19 pandemic. Employers who provide 

more flexible work patterns and the option of home-based work can lead to 

reduced commuting journeys.  

9.8.2 The provision of flexible working patterns often mean that employees are 

able to travel out of peak hours which can mean less busy roads if cycling or 

using the bus and train carriages with lower occupancy. These can 

encourage people to travel by more sustainable modes.  

9.8.3 5% of residents in Swale worked mainly from home before Covid-19. There 

has been no data collected in the borough on current working levels, 

however it is anticipated to be much higher with the COVID-19 restrictions.  

An aim of this strategy is to increase the prevalence of home working, even 

for some days of the week, to 15% of the mode share in commuting 

journeys. The provision of agile working equipment and fast broadband are 

both key in enabling traditionally office-based workers to work from home. 

The council will encourage employers to provide agile working equipment to 

Policy 10 – Travel Plans 

The council will continue to require development proposals that have 

significant transport implications to have a robust travel plan that is 

monitored.  The benefits of travel plans will be promoted to large employers 

in the borough who may not be obliged under planning to provide travel 

plans as well as in educational settings, particularly in and near AQMAs.  

Page 435



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 103 
 

their employees enabling home working. This can be an action within 

workplace travel plans. However, it should be noted that the borough has a 

large amount of people working in industrial settings and in factories and 

workplaces where working from home is not conducive to the job roles. 

Swale has a small office sector so working from home is limited to a small 

percentage of the population.  

9.8.4 KCC and SELEP have a commitment to providing a digital infrastructure 

network of fast broadband across the borough which is essential to the 

functioning of modern life. This has been further demonstrated in the 

COVID-19 pandemic, as more people have worked from home, and there 

has been an increasing reliance on digital communications for work, 

education and household activities.  

9.8.5 Over the past decade, much progress has been made in bringing broadband 

connectivity to those (mainly rural) areas where the costs of connectivity 

make commercial delivery unviable. Through the Kent and Medway 

Superfast Broadband programme, funded through BDUK, 138,000 superfast 

broadband connections were delivered, meaning that around 96% of 

premises in the county now have connectivity at 30 Mbps or more30. To help 

bridge the gap with more rural locations in Swale, KCC and the government 

are also providing further vouchers for more rural residents and businesses 

to help them with setting up fast broadband.  

9.8.6 In addition, house builders will be encouraged to provide high quality internet 

connections and consider incorporating dedicated workspaces within homes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9.9 Workplace and Road User Charging 

 

30 Digitally Connecting Rural Kent and Medway : 
https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2019/09/Digitally-Connecting-Rural-Kent-and-Medway.pdf 

Policy 11 – Flexible and home-based working 

a. The council will continue to work with KCC and SELEP to provide fast 

broadband within all homes, allowing for home working.  

b. The council will lobby employers to provide agile working equipment and 

home based and flexible working for employees enabling the reduction of 

commuting trips and increasing the share of people in the borough working 

from home.   

c. Ensure all new developments include fast broadband.  

Page 436

https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2019/09/Digitally-Connecting-Rural-Kent-and-Medway.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 104 
 

9.9.1 Road user charging schemes can help to reduce car journeys as well 

improve air quality. The Ultra-Low Emissions Zone (ULEZ) in London has 

proven to do so with a 44% reduction of vehicles in the zone 10 months after 

implementation31. A number of UK cities are currently working on bringing 

Clean Air Zones forward.  

9.9.2 The UK government’s HGV Road User Levy has been in place across the UK 

since 2014 and does have an effect on Swale due to the volume of cargo 

which enters and exits the UK from the port of Sheerness. The levy has 

recently been suspended until July 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

9.9.3 Workplace parking levies on employers in Swale could reduce the number of 

private vehicles entering the borough. Such a scheme has been introduced 

in Nottingham, where employers with 11 or more parking spaces now have 

to pay the city council £424 a year per space (as of 2020). The scheme 

currently raises £9 million and has paid for transport improvements, most 

notably the extension of the city’s tram network and supporting the bus 

network32. Workplace parking levies are also currently being considered in a 

number of other urban areas in the UK due to the benefits they can realise.  

9.9.4 A workplace parking levy could be investigated as part of the potential Clean 

Air Zone in the borough. The introduction of any form of workplace parking 

levy would need to be implemented with a package of measures such as the 

ones included within a workplace travel plan. The benefits of such a scheme 

would mean that any revenue collected from the scheme could be ringfenced 

to fund walking, cycling, and public transport infrastructure improvements .  

 

 

 

31 ULEZ Monitoring Report 2020: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ulez_ten_month_evaluation_report_23_april_2020.pdf  
32Nottingham Workplace parking Levy: https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-
growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-
workplace-parking-levy/  

Policy 12 – Workplace and road user charging 

a. The council are investigating the feasibility of a Clean Air Zone in the 

borough, building upon the current AQMA’s in Swale.  

b. The council will look into the possibility of workplace parking levy linked to a 

Clean Air Zone and assess the benefits they could bring.  

Page 437

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ulez_ten_month_evaluation_report_23_april_2020.pdf
https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/
https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/
https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 105 
 

10. ROAD DANGER REDUCTION 

Reducing casualties is a priority for Kent County Council and Swale Borough Council 

Kent successfully met the government’s targets for casualty reduction for 2010. Kent’s 

current 20mph policy focuses on lowering speeds to help reduce road casualties. This 

chapter explores the existing road safety data and safety improvement schemes in 

Swale and identifies policies to further improve road safety in the borough.  

   

10.1 20mph schemes 

10.1.1 A trial 2omph scheme was implemented in 2020 in Faversham. A holistic 

approach to 20 mph schemes is required to enable wider benefits to be 

realised by 20mph schemes to achieve greater value for money. For 

example, lower speeds can play a part in making the road environment more 

walkable and cyclable which can in turn reduce car-dependency thereby 

improving air quality, health and community cohesion. “Feedback from focus 

group participants . . . suggests that slower speeds are important in terms of 

creating a safe and attractive environment for walking and cycling, but other 

infrastructure improvements are also required to encourage greater use of 

these modes. A small proportion of participants said it was now easier to 

cross the road.”33   

10.1.2 Stats 19 casualty data provides collision information, and the highlighting of 

casualty clusters can be useful as part of the assessment in determining 

where to allocate 20mph funding. However, minor injuries, cyclist casualties 

and single vehicle collisions are not always included. Also, casualty clusters 

may not represent the most hazardous areas which people may avoid 

completely if they are too frightening to use. 

10.1.3 Data on subjective experience of road environments may be a more valid 

measure than Stats 19. “Near misses” are found to be more common than 

collisions and more strongly associated than collisions with perceived traffic 

risk (Sanders, 2015). Individuals experience road environments in different 

ways; women who cycle report more incidents of unsafe passes (Aldred, 

2015) and adult males are more likely to take physical risks (Byrnes, 1999). 

A road environment which demands risk-taking when walking or cycling 

(e.g.: no crossing or only a painted cycle lane with no physical protection 

from traffic) may be viewed differently depending on age or gender. And 

 

33 Atkins, AECOM and Maher M., ‘20mph Research Study: Process and Impact Evaluation Technical 

Report’, November 2018, pp126-127 

Page 438



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 106 
 

environments which are bad for walking and cycling tend to be poor in other 

respects – unpleasant, polluted and inaccessible except by car.  

 

10.2 Road Danger Reduction Analysis 

10.2.1 The traditional road safety analysis is based on reviewing existing 

casualties. It often focusses on measures concerning those injured, for 

example, injury risk per head of population for people using different modes 

of transport.  

10.2.2 But the presence or absence of collisions is not necessarily a good 

barometer for safety. People adapt to the risk posed by motor vehicles so 

road safety policies aimed at simply cutting collisions may not address the 

underlying threat posed. For example, absence of cycle casualties may be 

due to the hostile road environment deterring people from cycling; if nobody 

cycles, there will be no cycle casualties.  

10.2.3 Furthermore, focussing on casualty numbers can mask differences in 

walking, cycling and car occupant casualties. "By 2017, deaths of car 

occupants had declined by 55% compared to 2005 (most of the change 

happening between 2005 and 2010). However, for people walking or cycling, 

the reduction was less: 30% and 32% respectively”  34(Aldred, 2019). The 

casualty data suggests that roads are still dangerous environments for 

people on foot or bicycle involved in collisions even at low speeds. Over 

time, the UK population has adapted to the threat of motor vehicles by 

avoiding cycling with fear of traffic being the major deterrent to cycling for 

80% adults (Pooley, 2011).35  

10.2.4 Levels of harmful, polluting transport and levels of activity – walking, cycling, 

children playing, people talking to their neighbours – are needed for a 

 

34 Aldred, A., ‘Repsonse to Select Committee Inquiry on Road Safety’ April 2019. [internet: accessed 03.06.2019] 
http://rachelaldred.org/writing/response-to-select-committee-inquiry-on-road-safety/ 
35 Pooley, C., Tight, M., Jones, T., Horton, D., Scheldeman, G., Jopson, A., Mullen, C., 

Chisholm, A., Strano, E. and Constantine, S., (2011). ‘Understanding walking and cycling: 

Summary of key findings and recommendations’.  

Policy 13 - Infrastructure 

Ensure any new infrastructure within the Borough provides or improves walking and 

cycling safety. 

 

Page 439

http://rachelaldred.org/writing/response-to-select-committee-inquiry-on-road-safety/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 107 
 

clearer picture. The most accurate measure of a road’s safety is whether 

people, in all their diversity, can use their roads. 

10.2.5 A growing field analyses the impact that the use of different transport modes 

has on other road users, for instance, injuries to others per-km driven.36 This 

field is commonly known as road danger reduction. It is an important 

approach given ‘near universal agreement that society should take stronger 

measures to prevent its members from doing things that endanger others 

than […] things that endanger only themselves’37 

10.2.6 Analysis has been undertaken of the vehicles and drivers (by vehicle type) 

posing most harm to pedestrians in Swale.  The results are presented in 

Table 10 below:  

Table 10: Pedestrian casualties by injury severity and vehicle type involved, 

2015-2020, Swale 

 Fatal Serious KSI Slight Total 

Pedal Cycle 0 0 0 3 3 

P2Ws 0 0 0 7 7 

Car 3 43 46 142 188 

Vans / Goods Vehicle 0 5 5 16 21 

HGVs 2 1 3 1438 17 

Bus or Coach 0 1 1 5 6 

Other 0 2 2 2 4 

Total 5 52 57 189 246 

 2% 21% 23% 77% 100% 

 

10.2.7 The data shown in Table 10 is broadly in line with the English data on risk 

posed. The majority of pedestrians were injured by car drivers (76%). Three 

 

36 Aldred, R., Johnson, R., Jackson, C. and Woodcock, J., 2020. How does mode of travel affect risks 

posed to other road users? An analysis of English road fatality data, incorporating gender and road 
type. Injury prevention. 
37 Evans, L., 2000. Risks older drivers face themselves and threats they pose to other road users. 

International journal of epidemiology, 29(2), pp.315-322. 
38 11 of the 14 slight injuries occurred in one incident when an HGV tyre burst throwing debris towards a group 
of pedestrians. 

Page 440



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 108 
 

of the 188 pedestrians injured by car drivers were killed. Two pedestrians 

were killed by HGV drivers. Lorries pose the highest risk to others (when 

considered per-vehicle kilometre), while cycles pose the lowest39. 

10.2.8 Overall, between 2015 and 2020 there were 209 motorcyclists injured of 

which 7 were fatalities and 61 were serious injuries. However, of the 61 

serious injuries to motorcyclists, 20% (12) did not involve any other road 

users. Furthermore, evidence on risk posed shows that “Motorcycles pose a 

substantially higher per-km risk to others than cars”40. 

10.2.9 The age and gender of drivers involved in pedestrian casualties is illustrated 

in Figure 23 below. In 66% (128) of cases pedestrians were injured/killed by 

male drivers, and in 34% (67) of cases pedestr ians were injured/killed by 

female drivers. The 35-44 age group posed the most risk in numbers though 

further analysis would be required to see if this is proportionate or not to the 

amount of driving this age category undertakes. Male drivers aged 65+ were 

involved in the most pedestrian injuries – again, further analysis would be 

required to see if this is proportionate or not to the amount of driving this age 

category undertake. 

10.2.10 Overall, this data from Swale reflects the national picture with males more 

likely to pose risk to others per kilometre than female road users (this 

considers the fact that males drive more kilometres per year overall than 

women). 

10.2.11 The policy implication of this and the English data is that the Council must 

take measures to reduce disproportionate risks posed by the more 

dangerous vehicles, for instance, by discouraging motorcycling. Given higher 

risk posed to others by men across modes analysed, Council policymakers 

will also consider how to reduce persistent large gender imbalances in jobs 

involving driving. 

 

 

39 Aldred, R., Johnson, R., Jackson, C. and Woodcock, J., 2020. How does mode of travel affect risks 

posed to other road users? An analysis of English road fatality data, incorporating gender and road 
type. Injury prevention. 
40 Ibid. 

Policy 14 – Monitoring of risks posed 

Monitor and measure risk posed by various modes. Work with partners to 

provide targeted road safety training. 

 

Page 441



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 109 
 

 

10.3 Children 

10.3.1 Low-income residents, disabled people and children suffer disproportionately 

when it comes to injuries caused by road crashes. A study based on the 

National Travel Survey showed that nationally, for every mile walked, a low-

income pedestrian is three times more likely to be injured by a motor vehicle 

than someone from a high-income household. Disabled people are five times 

more likely to be injured than non-disabled people.41 

10.3.2 Children in Swale aged between 10 and 14 are more likely to be injured than 

pedestrians in any other age group; of the 234 pedestrians injured or killed 

in Swale in 5 years, 29% (68) were children aged 10-14.  Children of this 

age were also disproportionately likely to be severely injured with 26% of 

serious injury pedestrian casualties being children aged 10-14 (14 of the 

total 54 serious pedestrian injury casualties).  

10.3.3 Speeds and traffic volumes on roads where children live or might live need 

to be substantially reduced through design and enforcement. Council plans 

 

41 Aldred, R. Road injuries in the National Travel Survey: under-reporting and inequalities in injury risk. Project 
Report. Department of Planning and Transport, University of Westminster, London. April 2018 

Figure 23: Age and gender of drivers involved in pedestrian casualties 2015-2020 in Swale 

Page 442



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 110 
 

to reduce rat running, severance and vehicle speeds would help enable 

more active travel amongst children while reducing their exposure to road 

danger. 

10.3.4 Children depend on walking and cycling as their  only independent means of 

transport. Facilitating safe walking and cycling has a particularly positive 

impact on the lives of children for whom (as non-drivers) active travel has 

great significance as a means of accessing friends, places of education and 

activities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10.3.5 Locations of child pedestrian casualties can be seen overleaf.  

 

 

 

Figure 24: Pedestrian casualties by 5-year bands 2015-2020 in Swale 

Policy 15 – Traffic reduction 

Prioritise traffic reduction on residential streets along with priority crossings 

and protected cycle routes on roads leading to schools, parks or other 

amenities which children wish to access. 

Page 443



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 111 
 

 

Figure 26: Reported casualties, children injured by drivers while walking, 2015 -
2020, Swale 

Figure 25: Reported casualties. Children injured by drivers while cycling, 2015-
2020, Swale 

Page 444



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 112 
 

11. AIR QUALITY 

This Chapter explores this existing air quality data and sets out the transport options 

to enhance quality of life, reduce emissions and improve air quality in Swale .   

11.1 Air Quality in Swale 

11.1.1 Poor air quality is the largest known environmental risk to public health in 

the UK.42 The government is working closely with local authorities to reduce 

emissions from transport where traffic is causing elevated NO2 

concentrations. Due to increased levels of traffic on roads and in urban 

areas, reducing air pollution in towns is an important focus.  

11.1.2 Vehicles cause air pollution through emissions of nitrogen ox ides (NOX) and 

particulate matter (PM). Emissions from private cars, taxis and goods 

vehicles are a significant concern, particularly the effects on human health 43. 

Local Authorities have a statutory duty to review and assess the air against 

the UK Air Quality Objectives (AQO).  

11.1.3 Swale has a comprehensive air quality monitoring network and modelling 

identified a number of areas in close proximity to busy roads that did not 

meet national air pollution targets. Due to the identified exceedances, six Air 

Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) have been declared the borough.  

11.1.4 Swale have also prepared an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) identifying 

measures which will improve air quality across the borough, with a particular 

focus within the AQMAs.  

11.1.5 Swale therefore already has measures in place to tackle the air quality 

exceedances. However, much more must be done to reduce the amount of 

dangerous exceedances as air pollution is increasingly linked to a number of 

adverse health effects. It is recognised as a contributing factor in the onset 

of respiratory illness, heart disease and cancer. Air pollution particularly 

affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, as well as 

those with existing heart and lung conditions. 

Transport and Air Quality  

11.1.6 A source apportionment exercise was carried out by Swale Borough Council 

at three AQMA locations (Key Street, Newington and Ospringe) in early 

2018.  This identified that within the AQMA’s, the percentage NOx source 

contributions were as follows:  

 

42 Public Health England (2014) Estimating local mortality burdens associated with particular air pollution. 
43 https://www.mumsforlungs.org/about-air-pollution1  

Page 445

https://www.mumsforlungs.org/about-air-pollution1


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 113 
 

Table 11: Breakdown in Vehicle NO2 emissions 

 

11.1.7 The traffic data taken from across all AQMA locations showed on average 

that 82% vehicle movements were cars, with 15% being LGV and 3% 

combined OGVs.  

11.1.8 The NOx source apportionment study highlighted that targeting key vehicles 

types such as LGVs and OGVs are likely to produce the substantial NOx 

reductions within the AQMAs. The policies set out in this chapter set to 

address these exceedances by focusing on car use reduction in addition to 

focusing on freight patterns and vehicle upgrades.  

 

 

 

 
East Street 

AQMA  

Newington 

AQMA  

Ospringe and 

Teynham 

AQMA 

St Pauls AQMA 

Petrol Cars 6.8% 6.8% 8.2% 7.0% 

Diesel Cars 51.3% 50.3% 62.8% 53.6% 

Petrol LGVs 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Diesel LGVs 20.4% 22.5% 9.4% 15.4% 

Rigid HGVs 11.4% 12.2% 8.2% 14.5% 

Artic HGVs 8.1% 6.0% 10.3% 6.6% 

Buses/Coaches 1.3% 1.4% 0.3% 2.4% 

Motorcycles 0.2% 0.4% 0.2% 0.1% 

Full Hybrid 

Petrol Cars 
0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 

Plug-In Hybrid 

Petrol Cars 
0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 

Full Hybrid 

Diesel Cars 
0.3% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 

Page 446



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 114 
 

11.2 Air Quality Council Policy 

Air Quality Action Plan 

11.2.1 The Swale Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan (2018-2022) was 

adopted in 2019 with the aim of identifying the strategic and local actions 

Swale will take to improve air quality.   

11.2.2 Some of these measures have been implemented, others are currently being 

investigated and others rejected as unfeasible at this time. Many of the 

measures are set out elsewhere in this Strategy but a number of the 

proposed schemes are set out below: 

 
⚫ HGV “Clear Air Quality Corridor” 

⚫ Air Quality and Low Emission Strategy  

⚫ Local school and business travel plans;  

⚫ Pinch-point parking alternatives (red-route); 

⚫ “20 is plenty” zones; 

⚫ Quiet delivery zones; 

⚫ Local EV car clubs.  

Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan  

11.2.3 The Council Swale Borough Council Climate and Ecological Emergency 

Action Plan was adopted in April 2022 which committed to reducing CO2 

emissions in the borough.  

11.2.4 There are multiple actions within the Action Plan aimed at improving air 

quality and transport and this strategy directly links with this new Emergency 

Action Plan.  

11.2.5 Regarding CO2 and transport, between 2005-2014 transport emissions had 

fallen by 7%. However, between 2016 and 2017 Swale has seen a 0.21% 

increase in transport CO2 emissions. Currently only 24% of commuter 

journeys are made by public transport, walking or cycling and this must 

increase to reduce surface transport related emissions44. 

Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy (in development)  

11.2.6 An Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy is currently in development and will sit 

alongside this strategy once complete. The objective of this document is to 

fulfil the aim of the Swale Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan 

(April 2020): ‘To develop an EV charging strategy including publicly 

 

44https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-
Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf  

Page 447

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 115 
 

accessible fast and rapid chargers, in council and private car parks (e.g. 

hotels, shopping centres), and working with KCC for on-street charging.’ 

11.2.7 Electric vehicles (EVs) have the potential to offer great benefits to Swale 

residents, businesses and visitors in terms of health, the environment and 

reduced running costs over the lifetime of the vehicle. Electric vehicles are 

part of the tool kit for decarbonising transport emissions. However, although 

EVs offer improvements on CO2 and NO2 emissions, they continue to emi t 

damaging PM due to tire wear.45 

 

11.3 Low Emissions Zones 

11.3.1 In London the Low Emission Zone (LEZ) operates to discourage the use of 

polluting heavy diesel vehicles and encourage people to drive vehicles which 

omit fewer pollutants. The LEZ covers most of Greater London and is in 

operation 24 hours a day, every day of the year. It is enforced by cameras at 

the entry points to determine whether the vehicle meets the LEZ emissions 

standards, is exempt, is registered for a discount, or has already paid the 

daily charge. 

11.3.2 Swale have also commissioned a study into the introduction of a Clean Air 

Zone (CAZ) along the A2. Initial feasibility studies indicate that a non-

charging CAZ is the most feasible and effective scheme along the A2 to 

tackle the high NO2 levels.  

11.3.3 The non-charging CAZ is likely to include a package of measures to 

encourage mode shift towards active travel, public transport and EV use. 

Pinch points on the A2 will also be removed  

 

11.4 Planning Guidance  

11.4.1 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership (KMAQP) have prepared an Air 

Quality and Planning technical guidance aimed at local authorities, 

developers and consultants. It provides advice on how to deal with planning 

applications that could have an impact on air quality and human health. It is 

hoped that this guidance document will also help to inform the development 

of air quality and planning policies and provide a valuable source of 

information for local authorities.  

 

45 Timmers, V.R. and Achten, P.A., 2016. Non-exhaust PM emissions from electric vehicles. Atmospheric 
Environment, 134, pp.10-17. 
 

Page 448



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 116 
 

11.4.2 If the procedures in this guidance are followed, it will help to ensure 

consistency in the approach to dealing with air quality and planning across 

Kent. The guidance document can be downloaded free from 

www.kentair.org.uk. 

11.4.3 Consequently, all major developments in Swale will be required to undertake 

an emissions mitigation assessment to determine the appropriate level of 

mitigation required from a development. An overriding consideration is to 

ensure that the air quality in existing AQMAs does not worsen by the 

introduction of a development and/or that there is no additional air pollution 

burden from a development(s) which could create new AQMAs. 

 

11.5 Measures to Improve Air Quality  

11.5.1 A number of measures aimed at improving air quality in the borough have 

been set out below, predominately relating to the discouragement of private 

vehicle use, improvements to low emission vehicle infrastructure and 

enhancement to freight management in the borough. 

11.5.2 Research shows that 22% of commuter journeys in Swale could be by cycle 

(assuming good cycling infrastructure, such as protected cycleways, more 

crossings and the uptake of e-bikes). Better walking routes can encourage 

more journeys on foot and improve health. Six in ten drivers would shift to 

public transport if its quality improved46.  

11.5.3 This Strategy will also continue to support the Freight Management Plan and 

aim to reduce the number of polluting LGVs and OGVs in the borough.  

11.5.4 The measures set out in Table 12 below set out how the council will aim to 

improve air quality and eliminate exceedances of NO2 and PM10, 

culminating in policy 16: 

Table 12: Air Quality and Transport Actions 

 

46https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-
Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf  

Action Details  

Promote public transport 

alternatives and 

sustainable travel 

alternatives to private 

car use   

 

⚫ Provide a safer road, footway and 

cycleway network  

⚫ Invest in enhancing public transport 

(bus, train) facilities  

⚫ Invest in clean-air walking and cycle 

ways  

Page 449

http://www.kentair.org.uk/
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/Climate-Change-and-Ecological-Emergency/SBC%20CEE%20Action%20Plan%20Final%20with%20illustrations.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 117 
 

 

 

 

Reduce single 

occupancy car use 

⚫ Support car hire / share schemes  

 

Continue to invest in low 

emission Electric Vehicle 

charging infrastructure 

 

⚫ Support Local Low Emission Vehicle 

car-clubs  

⚫ Promote low emission transport 

⚫ Procurement of alternative refuelling 

infrastructure by increasing the number 

of electric charging points 

 

 

Place the tackling of 

emissions from existing 

buildings and new 

developments at the 

forefront of planning 

policy and decision 

making 

 

⚫ Encourage clean-air travel planning   

⚫ Require Delivery and Service plans to 

be provided for new and existing sites  

⚫ Increase the number of School and 

Business Travel Plans in the borough 

⚫ Support the implementation of air 

quality planning conditions 

 

Support the Swale 

Freight Management 

Plan 

⚫ Continue feasibility studies into 

alternative HGV routing  

⚫ Encourage low emission/electric HGVs 

and all delivery vehicles  

 

Support Investigation 

into a Clean Air Zone  

⚫ Continue feasibility studies into a non-

charging Clean Air Zone along A2 (with 

a focus on HGVs/LGVs) 

Policy 16 – Air Quality  

We will aim to eliminate the dangerous air quality exceedances in the borough and 

stabilise the adverse effect of transport and its infrastructure, on the natural and 

built environment and on local communities. 

Page 450



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 118 
 

12. FREIGHT 

12.1.1 A key aspect of managing traffic on the network is managing the movement 

of freight and logistics vehicles. Effective freight and logistics operations are 

important to local and national economy, we therefore aim to support these 

operations but in a way that does not compromise the natural environment 

and quality of life for residents.  

12.1.2 Overall trends in domestic road freight indicate a general increase from 2014 

onwards as shown in Figure 27 below. Spikes in growth are usually 

attributed to weather related events and economic events that affect the 

national economy. International road freight activity has also been on the 

rice since 201747. 

 

Figure 27: Trend in goods moved, goods lifted and vehicle kilometres by GB-registered HGVs, 
DfT Domestic Road Freight Statistics, 2018  

 

12.1.3 Kent is a gateway to continental Europe with several large ports including 

The Port of Sheerness and therefore a reliable and well connected transport 

network is needed to maintain this status so Kent, as a vital part of the 

 

47 DfT, 2019, International Road Freight Statistics, United Kingdom, 2018,  

Page 451



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 119 
 

greater South East, can compete on an international stage and complement 

London as a growth corridor.  

12.1.4 Swale’s ready access to the motorway and trunk road network (A249, M2 

and A2) and to the ports at Sheerness, Dover and the Channel Tunnel, 

combined with the availability of land, has encouraged the growth of 

distribution depots and similar operations, alongside manufacturing and 

other industries. All of these generate freight movements, almost entirely by 

road and much of it in HGV’s, adding to significant volumes of through traffic 

on roads in the Borough. 

 

12.2 Water Freight 

12.2.1 Swale is also home to the deep-water port at Sheerness which provides a 

gateway to mainland Europe for freight trade with both international and 

national markets. Canterbury, Ashford, Maidstone and The Medway Towns 

surround Swale creating a high demand on transport infrastructure owing to 

leisure, retail and employment opportunities within these locations. Ridham 

docks is also located on the Swale and Medway River serving the industrial 

areas off Swale Way. It currently processes approximately 1,230,000 of 

tonnage annually.  

 

12.3 Rail Freight 

12.3.1 The Kent LTP4 discusses the issues surrounding freight including the need 

to seek alternative solutions to cope with the increased pressure on Kent’s 

Strategic Road network. The Kent LTP4 suggest that Freight trains can 

reduce pressure on the road network and produce far fewer carbon 

emissions and air pollutants per tonne of haulage. The Kent LTP4 supports 

the growth of rail freight where possible but understands the limitations 

relating to capacity on the rail network for additional paths for freight traffic. 

 

12.4 Main problems caused by freight traffic   

Road traffic congestion 

12.4.1 Freight and logistics trends also indicate a resulting growth of Light Goods 

Vehicles (LGV’s), as well as a growth of HGV’s including the use of 

inappropriate or unsuitable routes. Whilst the Primary Route Network is 

designed to cater for high flows of HGVs, access to the final destination via 

local roads can have major impacts on the environment and on congestion in 

both town centres and rural areas.   

Page 452



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 120 
 

12.4.2 The rise in LGV movements locally in Swale is less marked than elsewhere, 

nonetheless there has been an increase. There are also more deliveries 

being made by small vehicles and cars, particularly to people’s homes. 

These are trends that are likely to continue with the growth of internet 

shopping and increased demand for fast and efficient delivery of goods. The 

alternatives of rail freight as discussed earlier in this section are limited. 

12.4.3 As traffic grows spare capacity on the whole road network is reduced, 

making it less able to cope with regular demand. 

Air Quality   

12.4.4 There is a well-established relationship between traffic levels and air quality, 

including the importance of freight traffic’s contribution to pollution. By way 

of example, in the Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) at Newington and 

Ospringe, road traffic contributes about 85% of NOx concentration, with 

heavy goods vehicles contributing 30-35% and light goods vehicles 15%, 

cars about 30% and buses 3-4%48. Additionally, the St. Pauls AQMA have 

high levels of particulate matter (PM) associated with the Eurolink Business 

Park and is being investigated further by the borough. 

12.4.5 Swale has particular problems because of the high proportion of heavy 

goods vehicles in the traffic mix on key routes, in particular on the A249 and 

the roads approaching the A249 from the nearby industrial and commercial 

areas. The A2 also carries significant volumes of HGV’s. The road network 

in Swale is such that the A2 provides the only reasonably practical east -west 

link to certain parts of the Borough, such as between Sittingbourne and 

Faversham. Goods traffic is forced to use the road to access businesses 

operating from these areas.  

12.4.6 Vehicle emissions can seriously affect the health of those exposed to this 

pollution. It is linked to increased incidence of lung cancer and heart 

disease. Also linked to low birthweight babies where mothers in the AQMAs 

have smaller children with less developed lungs for life. Addressing this is a 

key aim of this FMP and Freight Action Plan for Kent through the various 

actions proposed to reduce freight vehicle emissions, directly or indirectly. 

These health impacts also need to be taken into account in the location of 

new development as this will affect how many people are exposed to the 

emissions, for example in new housing developments. Swale’s Air Quality 

Action plan, 2019 as discussed in more detail in Chapter 11 of this Strategy 

sets out several measures/actions to improve air quality which relate to 

 

48 SBC Freight Management Plan, 2016 

Page 453



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 121 
 

freight movement including ‘HGV clean air quality corridor’, continued 

support to the Swale FMP and support investigations into clean air zones.  

Lorry Parking  

12.4.7 Overnight lorry parking in Kent is a major issue with a high demand for lorry 

parking spaces because of its connectivity to continental Europe attracting 

high volumes of cross channel freight. Swale is reported to have the highest 

proportion of inappropriately parked HGV’s with a large number parked in 

close proximity to Sheerness Port49. Many lorries operate from and return to 

base at the end of each day. However, there are some lorries which operate 

over longer distances where they need to stop from time to time. Driver’s 

hours are regulated for good safety reasons, so they need to stop 

periodically for the driver to have a break, including overnight. There are a 

limited number of official lorry parks across the whole country and where 

they exist it costs the driver money (which may or may not be reimbursed by 

their employer) to stop overnight. 

Lorries on unsuitable roads  

12.4.8 Some freight vehicles has no choice with regards to its route because of the 

location of its origin or destination, which results in the use of roads such as 

the A2 which are not well suited to significant flows of heavy vehicles (e.g. 

for depots on the A2 between Sittingbourne and Faversham and towards the 

eastern end of Sittingbourne and western end of Faversham). The M2 is only 

two lanes each way which makes using less suitable roads more of a 

problem in Swale than in some other parts of the country50.  

12.4.9 There are many other issues in addition to those identified above caused by 

freight traffic that can be read in more detail in Swale’s FMP. 

 

12.5 Freight Action Plan for Kent 2012-2016 

12.5.1 In 2012 KCC adopted a Freight Action Plan which has been prepared to 

mitigate the impact of freight on the county’s residents, workers and visitors. 

It focuses on road freight as KCC recognises that it has little influence on rail 

freight. The action plan can be read and downloaded at the following link 

Freight action plan - Kent County Council. 

 

49 Freight Action Plan for Kent, KCC, 2012 
50 SBC Freight Management Plan, 2016 

Page 454

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/freight-action-plan


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 122 
 

12.5.2 The Plan identifies actions that can be taken by KCC, Swale and its partners 

to mitigate the impact of freight on the county’s road network and residents’ 

quality of life through six objectives. 

 

⚫ Objective 1: To find a long-term solution to Operation Stack 

⚫ Objective 2: To take appropriate steps to tackle the problem of 

overnight lorry parking in Kent 

⚫ Objective 3: To effectively manage the routing of HGV traffic to ensure 

that such movements remain on the Strategic Road Network for as 

much of their journey as possible 

⚫ Objective 4: To take steps to address problems caused by freight traffic 

to communities 

⚫ Objective 5: To ensure that KCC continues to make effective use of 

planning and development control powers to reduce the impact of 

freight traffic 

⚫ Objective 6: To encourage sustainable distribution 

12.5.3 KCC intends to work with hauliers, distributors and other freight generators, 

affected communities and other interested parties through a Freight Quality 

Partnership for Kent to resolve local issues and establish agreed working 

practices that successfully balance the needs of industry with the needs of 

residents. 

12.5.4 KCC have already delivered several initiatives to mitigate the impact of 

freight movements through the county. Specifically, Swale Borough Council 

set up a pilot ECO Stars scheme in 2016 with a number of large operators 

based in the Borough. The ECO Stars scheme provides public recognition 

for operators who are actively taking steps to improve efficiency, reduce fuel 

consumption and reduce their impact on local air quality. The scheme 

provides support for operators in better fuel management and driver training. 

 

12.6 Swale Borough Council Draft Freight Management Plan, 2016 (FMP) 

12.6.1 This Freight Management Plan (FMP) for Swale Borough Council has been 

developed as part of a programme of work undertaken by the Borough to 

tackle various transport, planning and environmental problems, particularly 

air quality. The programme started in 2013.  

12.6.2 It is uncommon for local authorities which are not transport authorities in 

their own right to produce an FMP. However, authorities like Swale have a 

very real interest and responsibility in relation to the issue of freight 

movements through its statutory planning responsibilities and because of 

Page 455

https://www.kentair.org.uk/Pagesfiles/Swale_BC_Consultation_Draft_Freight_Management_Plan_v29-12-2016.pdf


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 123 
 

their impact on the environment and the health of their residents. It is 

notable that within the Borough there is a significant proportion of 

businesses with a major involvement in freight transport operations by both 

sea and road. Freight traffic was also implicated in the designation of five 

AQMAs in the Borough. Freight was responsible for about a third of the 

traffic-related pollution in these AQMAs.  

12.6.3 The release of this Plan coincides with KCC updating its Freight Action Plan 

(as described earlier within this section) and is largely complementary to 

those plans, having similar aims to streamline the flow of goods through the 

Borough and reduce the environmental impact of that movement.  

12.6.4 FMP activities have included: 

⚫ traffic counts and the apportionment of pollutants;  

⚫ detailed assessment of the pollutants from traffic in the Air Quality 

Management Areas;  

⚫ smarter driving campaigns;  

⚫ successfully piloting the ECO Stars award scheme to help freight 

operators improve their efficiency and reduce the emissions from their 

fleets; and  

⚫ other educational campaigns in partnership with KCC Highways and 

Transport Sections.  

12.6.5 The Borough Council recognises the significance of freight traffic’s 

contribution to air pollution and the FMP helps address that concern.  

 

12.7 Routeing 

12.7.1 It is preferable for HGV’s to use main roads since they can accommodate 

large volumes of heavier and wider vehicles and are normally located away 

from local communities. Problems occur when these vehicles leave these 

roads and get stuck in pinch points or damage buildings. Drivers can stray 

due to reliance on their satellite navigation systems. KCC has developed an 

online freight journey planner holding all information on weight, width and 

height restrictions, and various other data to recommend a suitable route to 

drivers. KCC will work with sat-nav companies to update their mapping data 

with lorry appropriate routes. The Freight Journey Planner for Kent can be 

found at https://www.lorryroute.com/. Routing plans will also continue to be a 

planning requirement for the construction of new developments when 

submitting a planning application or included as a planning condition which 

is discussed in more detail later within this section.  

Page 456

https://www.lorryroute.com/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 124 
 

12.7.2 KCC will review HGV signing across the county to ensure that it is clear and 

appropriate and will develop a zoning system in urban areas with signage to 

direct HGVs to industrial estates and town centres by the most suitable 

routes. Online leaflets in a variety of languages aimed at foreign drivers 

(commercial and tourist) to offer advice on how to drive on UK roads have 

also been distributed at the Ports and Eurotunnel. 

 

12.8 Impact on Communities 

12.8.1 Where the HGV destination is located away from main roads, there is no 

choice but for them to use local roads and lanes. KCC will continue to use 

weight and height restrictions where there is a risk of damage to the network 

or buildings, or where there is a large negative impact on a local community. 

A lorry watch scheme which uses local volunteers to record the details of 

vehicles contravening weight limits is included on the interactive freight map 

(described earlier within this section). 

12.8.2 Deliveries to shops in urban centres can cause problems for local residents 

and shoppers. Deliveries are often restricted in town centres outside of peak 

hours and there is a concern about pedestrian/ vehicle conflicts outside of 

this period. A solution adopted in other cities, which could be considered for 

Sittingbourne and Faversham town centres, is using a ‘consolidation centre’ 

for the transfer of goods from HGVs to smaller vehicles for final distribution. 

There is also an option of providing bespoke solutions such as e-cargo bikes  

e-cargobikes.com (e-cargobikes.com) which provide last mile delivery 

services to grocers and retailers throughout the UK, and has recently been 

taken up by some London based Councils as part of their Delivery and 

Service Plan to tackle their climate emergency. Restrictions through Air 

Quality Management Areas within the borough could also be investigated as 

part of the FMP.  

12.8.3 Overnight lorry parking in laybys and on estate roads is a common 

occurrence which affects the M2/ A2. There are a number of commercial 

overnight ‘truck stops’ in Kent, which offer secure parking, controlled exit 

and entry, WC/showers and various freight services. Unfortunately, the low-

cost margins that many international hauliers work within means that they 

choose not to use these and instead park up in inappropriate locations. KCC 

is investigating various sites for a truck stop, combined with powers to 

prohibit this inappropriate parking so that overnight lorry parking takes place 

with minimal impact on Kent and its communities. Where appropriate new 

larger scale employment or mixed-use developments will be requested to 

provide overnight parking facilities.  

Page 457

https://e-cargobikes.com/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 125 
 

12.9 Planning Guidance 

12.9.1 The council can influence the movement of freight through its powers in 

preparing local plans and granting planning permission developments 

generating freight movements which should be located where there is easy 

access to the Strategic Road Network, having regard for the preferred freight 

routing. 

12.9.2 When planning applications are submitted, developments are assessed for 

all reasonable access, including by HGVs. KCC is a statutory consultee in 

these processes and can recommend that the council imposes conditions on 

planning consents and/or enters into legally binding agreements with 

developers. These conditions/agreements can be for the construction and/or 

the operational phases of the site where a legal agreement or condition can 

be used to designate lorry routes that construction traffic is obliged to use. 

KCC can also ensure that pre and post-construction surveys are carried out 

to assess any damage done to the surrounding roads and have it rectified by 

the developers. 

12.9.3 New developments that are deemed to have a significant impact on the 

surrounding transport network are required to produce a Transport 

Assessment that examines the extent of any impact and identifies mitigation 

measures. This could include, for example, upgrading a junction to 

accommodate large vehicles. 

12.9.4 An Operators’ Licence is the “legal authority needed to operate goods 

vehicles in Great Britain” and relates to sites at which heavy goods veh icles 

are based and from which they operate. The licence process grants KCC 

limited rights of objection, which can be made on the grounds of safety on 

the highway at the point of access to the site; and on environmental 

grounds, such as degradation of grass verges and excessive noise on 

approach roads for local residents. For objections on environmental grounds, 

KCC will work with Swale and also with the applicants to negotiate a 

solution. 

12.9.5 Delivery times tend to be market-driven and vary between operators. Some 

commercial operations will use out-of-hours deliveries to avoid any impact 

on the customer shopping experience whereas others may depend on stock 

levels rather than time. In appropriate situations, KCC will investigate 

limiting sites to night-time deliveries in order to spread freight traffic 

throughout the day. 

Page 458



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 126 
 

 

 

Policy 17 – Freight - The council will to manage fright and logistics by:  

a. Encouraging HGV’s to use the primary route network, where possible. 
b. Providing clear advice in respect of freight implications of new development proposals. 
c. Working with the freight industry to enable the sustainable movement of goods whilst 

ensuring the negative impacts of freight traffic are minimised. 
d. Encouraging a shift from road-borne freight to less environmentally damaging modes, 

including rail, water and pipelines where feasible 
e. Supporting improvements in HGV provision in the county, including overnight parking, 

in appropriate locations. Utilising traffic management powers, where appropriate to do 
so, to manage access and egress from specific locations. 

f. Working with KCC to identify appropriate sites for HGV parling within the Swale area 
as part of an HGV parking enforcement strategy. 

g. To promote the inclusion of suitable overnight HGV parking facilities within major 
employment or mixed-use development allocations.  

Page 459



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 127 
 

13. ACTION PLAN 

The following Action Plan identifies the actions and improvements which have been discussed in previous chapters and 

support the objectives of this Strategy. 

13.1 Enabling Sustainable and Active Travel 

Walking actions 

Provide safe, pleasant and direct walking routes 

Focus walking routes in town centres, as well as linkages for public transport, amenities and leisure needs  

Pedestrian priority at junctions 

Wayfinding within town centres and to amenities and services 

Better street lighting 

Upkeep of pavements 

Dropped kerbs and tactile paving 

Removal of unnecessary street furniture 

Provision of pedestrian ramps during works 

Ensuring the needs of all pedestrians are met in all planned developments, transport improvements and 

maintenance schemes in line with the transport hierarchy and Equality Act duties  

Introducing traffic management schemes reducing the amount of driving in Swale 

Building new/improved pedestrian crossings which follow pedestrian desire lines 

P
age 460



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 128 
 

Providing traffic calming measures which help reduce vehicle speeds and ensure vehicle speeds are appropriate  

Introducing further enforcement measures for the current 20mph zones in residential areas and investigate 20mph 

zones for other major built up areas.  

Providing safer walking routes to schools including the investigation for school streets.  

Design schemes in line with the Healthy Streets indicators 

Set out a criterion for assessing schools for potential school streets or school improvements  

Work with developers to provide school streets within new schools 

Cycling actions 

Provide safe, pleasant and direct cycling routes 

Focus routes in town centres, rural locations, as well as linkages for public transport, amenities and leisure needs  

Allocate road space on the network to support bicycle journeys 

Aim to provide cycle facilities on all main routes 

Design cycling infrastructure to comply with the latest guidance (currently LTN 1/20)  

Supplement routes with traffic calming measures, environmental improvements, 20mph zones and cycling facilities 

such as cycle friendly crossings 

Routes will be protected from motor traffic, both at junctions and on the stretches of road between them  

Routes will be separated from pedestrians where possible 

P
age 461



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 129 
 

Ensure cyclists are treated as vehicles and not pedestrians 

Routes should join together in a cohesive manner 

Designed to be accessible and usable for all ages and accessibility levels  

Provide 30 new public cycle parking stands per year 

Investigate cycle hire options in the borough 

Work with public transport operators to provide better integration between cycling and public transport 

Promotion and provision of free cycle training to all who live, work and study in the borough. This includes school 

Bikeability training as well as scooter training for primary schools 

Provide Dr Bike mechanic sessions to enable people to keep their bikes in good working order 

Promotion of local cycle map and apps, cycling information on the Swale website  

Bus travel actions 

Work with the QBP to provide a network which is reliable, frequent, integrate well with other modes, provide 

sufficient coverage of the borough and will be accessible by all.  

Work with QBP to understand where new bus priority measures and bus infrastructure is needed.  

Continue to promote the benefits of bus travel in Swale.  

Rail actions 

Work in partnership with rail operators and Network Rail to improve rail services, reli ability, integration with other 

modes, facilities and information. 

P
age 462



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 130 
 

Work with Network Rail to provide services relating to the Local Plan 

Work with Network Rail to overcome any concerns regarding level crossings 

Work with rail operators to improve facilities at Faversham, Teynham, Kemsley and Queenborough stations  

 

13.2 Parking Strategy 

Parking actions 

The council will review annually parking fees to ensure the use of public transport.  

The council will review the change in the demand of parking over the next years to ensure parking is available for 

those who need it. 

The council will manage the parking provision across the Borough, in public car parks, on street parking and across 

new developments, to influence sustainable travel choices, encourage sustainable patterns for travel and provide 

for those who are less mobile. 

The council will ensure the continued provision of EV charging and bays.  

The council will review and implement disabled parking bays for those who need them. 

The council will investigate new technologies and systems to improve the efficiency of kerbside usage and 

implement these if effective. 

 

13.3 Managing the Network 

P
age 463



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 131 
 

Network actions 

The council will ensure the continued management of the network to ensure minimal delay and congestion from 

new developments and demand.  

The Council will work with Kent Highways, as the Highways Authority, on an A2 mitigation strategy to manage the 

flows of traffic on the A2 and the roads that feed on to it, especially where there are air quality, traffic congestion 

and road safety issues.  This will cost an estimated £1-2m (depending on land values and land availability.) 

Improve the resilience of the network.  

The council will support key highways projects to come forward through developer funding in relation to Local Plan 

allocations.  

 

 

13.4 Reducing Travel Demand 

Travel Demand actions 

Support development which has sustainability at its core. Developments which facilitate sustainable modes of 

transport and minimises the need to travel will be supported.  

Support car sharing in the borough through online platforms and travel plans 

Support the use of car clubs in the borough and encourage operators into the borough. 

Continue to require development proposals that have significant transport implications to have a robust travel plan 

that is monitored. 

P
age 464



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 132 
 

The benefits of travel plans will be promoted to large employers in the borough who may not be obliged under 

planning to provide travel plans as well as in educational settings, particularly in and near AQMAs.  

Work with KCC and SELEP to provide fast broadband within all homes, allowing for home working.  

Investigate the feasibility of a Clean Air Zone in the borough, these would be built upon the current AQMA’s in 

Swale. 

Look into the possibility of workplace parking levy linked to a Clean Air Zone and assess the benefits they could 

bring. 

 

13.5 Road Danger Reduction 

Road safety actions 

Provide 20mph schemes in the borough which are holistic and include traffic calming measures 

Enable high levels of walking and cycling through infrastructure in conjunction with low levels of casualties.  

Monitor and measure risk posed. Discourage those modes / drivers which pose most risk to other road users per 

vehicle-kilometre 

Prioritise traffic reduction on residential streets along with priority crossings and protected cycle routes on roads 

leading to schools, parks or other amenities which children wish to access.  

 

13.6 Air Quality 

Air Quality actions 

P
age 465



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 133 
 

Aim to eliminate the dangerous air quality exceedances in the borough and stabilise the adverse effect of transport 

and its infrastructure, on the natural and built environment and on local communities  

Introduce a non-charging Clean Air Zone 

Place the tackling of emissions from existing buildings and new developments at the forefront of planning policy 

and decision making 

Continue to invest in low emission Electric Vehicle charging infrastructure 

Support the Swale Freight Management Plan 

 

13.7 Freight 

Freight actions 

Encourage HGV’s to use the primary route network, where possible  

Provide clear advice in respect of freight implications of new development proposals  

Work with the freight industry to enable the sustainable movement of goods whilst ensuring the negative impacts of 

freight traffic are minimised 

Encourage a shift from road-borne freight to less environmentally damaging modes, including rail, water and 

pipelines where feasible 

Support improvements in HGV provision in the county, including overnight parking, in appropriate locations. 

Utilising traffic management powers, where appropriate to do so, to manage access and egress from specific 

locations. 

P
age 466



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 134 
 

14. DELIVERY PLAN 

This Chapter identifies the sources of funding that the Council utilises in order to 

support the range of schemes proposed. While funding from Central Government has 

decreased significantly in recent years, the Council is continuously identifying new 

and innovative sources of funding. 

 

14.1 Sources of funding  

Major Schemes 

14.1.1 The government Growth Deal provides money to the South East Local 

Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) for projects which drive Kent’s economic 

and business growth. The SELEP Accountability Board is responsible for 

making decisions and funding approvals for all schemes awarded funding as 

part of the growth deal bids to central Government. Swale Borough Council 

has received funding for the A2500 Lower Road, Isle of Sheppey and the 

Sittingbourne town centre regeneration. In February 2017 Government 

confirmed an allocation of investment into the South East LEP (SELEP) area 

of £102.65 million, Round 3 of the Growth Deal Programme. The allocation 

of Local Growth Fund Round 3 will help deliver projects identified by SELEP 

Federated Boards as priorities for investment, projects that will help create 

jobs, support businesses and create new growth opportunities.  These 

include the M2 Junction 5 scheme which has been committed, the M2 

Junction 7 ROS2 which has been committed and the prospects for RIS 3 

following a KCC priority allocation.  

Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) 

14.1.2 In July 2017, the Department for Communities and Local Government 

launched the £2.3 billion Housing Infrastructure Fund to unlock up to 

100,000 new homes across the country. The HIF is aimed at providing grant 

funding to provide new homes in areas with the greatest need for housing, 

and fund vital physical infrastructure. Kent County Council secured £38.1 

million of investment in November 2019 to improve the existing severe levels 

of congestion at the Grovehurst Roundabout at Kemsley and at Key Street 

roundabout which links the A2 with the A249 at Bobbing. The HIF fund also 

provides a recycling of funding for further investment into the Borough.  

Revenue Funding 

14.1.3 Whilst capital funding is used by local authorities to construct and maintain 

highway assets, revenue funding is used to cover continuous costs, such as 

concessionary fares and socially necessary bus services. Swale and KCC 

Page 467

http://www.southeastlep.com/
http://www.southeastlep.com/


  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 135 
 

receive most of their revenue funding from Government as part of the Local 

Government Finance Settlement. This lays out the Government’s proposals 

for funding local authorities in England in the coming financial year through 

central grants and redistribution of business rates. 

14.1.4 While majority of local authorities are set to see exactly the same 

percentage change in settlement funding relative to the previous year (a 

1.6% increase in cash terms), after adjusting for inflation, this essentially 

means no changes from the previous year (a -0.2% decrease). This is in 

contrast to the settlements of the past ten years, which have all seen cash-

terms decreases in funding. The County and District Councils must therefore 

seek to limit the ongoing revenue liability of their activities. This can be 

achieved through investment in assets with low maintenance requirements 

and strengthened partnerships with public transport operators aimed at 

improving the commercial viability of services. 

Developer contributions 

14.1.5 Any new development creates demand for travel which places pressure on 

both the transport system and the environment. While sustainable 

development policies look to reduce this impact as much as possible, all new 

development still needs to make a fair and proportionate contribution to 

measures that mitigate its impact on the surrounding area.  

14.1.6 Swale and KCC requires that the direct transport impact of all but the 

smallest development proposals should be assessed at planning application 

stage, either through the submission of a Transport Statement or, if the 

transport impact is likely to be significant, a Transport Assessment, to 

provide a basis for identifying and agreeing any required mitigation 

measures. One method of securing these developer contributions is through 

a Section 106 Agreement (Town and Country Planning Act 1990) where the 

developer agrees to pay towards the external costs of their development e.g. 

subsidies for new or existing bus services, or agrees to carry out works on 

the highway such as a new access. In 2019/20, there were 14 Section 106 

agreements signed with a total value of £264,925.89 in financial 

contributions from developers. 

 

Active Travel Fund 

14.1.7 The DfT announced the Active Travel Fund in May 2020 as part of the work 

to combat the COVID-19 pandemic. The grant funding supports local 

transport authorities with producing cycling and walking facilities . KCC were 

awarded £1.6million from the first round of the fund, which include schemes 

Page 468



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 136 
 

being implemented on a trial basis. Some of this funding has been put 

towards implementing a trial 20-mph limit zone in Faversham town centre, 

created as part of plans to increase walking and cycl ing. 

 

Page 469



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 137 
 

 

14.2 Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 

Ref Location Description Estimated 

cost 

Potential funding 

source 

 Sheerness 

 Queenborough Road/ Sheppey 

Way/ A2500 Roundabout  

Widen the approach arm from A2500 Lower Road from 1 

lane to 2 lanes to increase the turning capacity. 

TBC KCC, S106/S278 

 1 Minster Road/ A250 Halfway 

Road junction 

Review signal optimisation at the junction. TBC KCC, S106 

 A249 between Rushenden / 

Neats Court Retail Park and 

the Sheppey Way / 

Queenborough Road 

New cycle and pedestrian crossing across. This will 

connect with the cycle/walk upgrades along the A2500 

Lower Road. 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Queenborough and Cromwell 

Road 

Invest in Sheerness Way walk and cycle route to improve 

connectivity from Rushenden/ Queenborough to 

Sheerness and rest of Isle of Sheppey. Key location for 

improvement is connections across the railway from 

Queenborough around Cromwell Road. Existing crossing 

bridge narrow. Potential opportunities for a wider bridge 

further north between Cromwell Road and New Road. 

TBC KCC, S106 

P
age 470



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 138 
 

 Sheerness rail stations Ensure all stations on Sheerness rail branch are step free 

and stations are accessible to all non-car modes to 

enable people to connect to local rail by non-car modes. 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Sheerness bus service Financial support for turn up and go level bus service (3-4 

buses an hour) linking Rushenden/Queenborough to 

Sheerness. Potentially designate Whiteway Road as bus-

only through access to Queenborough. Maintain bus link 

to Sittingbourne. 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Queenborough to Sheerness Provide an off-road cycle route between Queenborough 

and sheerness.  

TBC TBC 

 Rushenden to Queenborough Safe and secure walking links from Rushenden to 

Queenborough station. Links to the station will enable 

people to travel sustainably between future housing in 

Rushenden. 

  

 Bridge Road to Sheerness-on- 

Sea railway station 

Install walking and cycling bridge, with appropriate route 

transitions, over The Moat to connect shared path east of 

Blue 

Town High Street with Tesco Superstore.  

Install pedestrian crossing facilities at roundabout for 

Tesco Superstore. 

TBC TBC 

P
age 471



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 139 
 

Widen footways and designate shared use. Removal of 

existing taxi bays. 

Upgrade pelican crossing to toucan and reduce crossing 

stages to one. 

 Whiteway Road Implement high quality bi-directional cycle 

track in marshland to the east of Whiteway 

Road. 

TBC TBC 

 Scrapsgate Road to Halfway 

Road Cycle route 

Implement traffic calming and resurfacing where 

necessary on Power Station Road. 

Provide off road cycling and walking link through green 

space at the end of Power Station Road to Scrapsgate 

Road. Upgrade the existing footpath to a bridleway.  

TBC TBC 

 Sheerness High Town Centre Pedestrianise north west section of High Street, with 

exemptions for disabled access/parking. Allow loading 

access 

outside of peak times. 

Improve priority crossings for pedestrians and cyclists on 

Millennium Way 

TBC TBC 

 A249/A2500 Junction Junction capacity improvements.  TBC HE, S106 

P
age 472



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 140 
 

 Sheerness 20mph zone Investigate a 20mph zone TBC KCC/SBC/S106 

 Sittingbourne 

 A249 Sheppey Way/ B2006 

Gyratory 

Signalise CB approach arm from A249 Southbound offslip 

road (junction 11) 

TBC KCC, S106 

 A249 Grovehurst Road/ B2005 

Gyratory 

Implementation of HIF scheme TBC KCC, HIF, S106 

 A249 to M2 Junction 5 Highways England RIS 2 scheme TBC HE, KCC, S106 

 B2205 / B2006 corridor 

between Iwade, Kemsley, and 

Sittingbourne 

Develop high-quality segregated cycle link to support the 

local walk and cycle trips in the area.  

TBC KCC, S106 

 Teynham-Sittingbourne 

Cycleway 

Investigate the possibility of making cycling safer and 

more appealing, perhaps through a dedicated cycle lane 

on Lomas Road, to enable links between development at 

Teynham and the services and facilities at Sittingbourne. 

Mandatory cycle lane inbound between Rectory Rd and 

East St. Dedicated off-road cycle route between Teynam 

Station and Tonge Mill, through the new/existing Teynham 

allocations. 

Traffic calming of Lower Road between Teynham and 

Tonge with cycle priority. 

TBC KCC, S106 

P
age 473



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 141 
 

 East St Bus gate Investigate a bus only route on East Street (Westbound) 

between West Lane and Crown Quay Lane. 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Chalkwell Road Environmental 

improvements. 

Environmental and traffic control improvements to 

improve traffic flow and pedestrian facilities along 

Chalkwell Road.  

TBC KCC, S106 

 A2 Teynham improvements  Environmental improvement to the A2 through Teynham 

including parallel all movement (Southern) links between 

Lynsted Lane and Frognal Gardens Access Roundabout. 

Creation of an all movement (Northern) links between 

Donald Moor Avenue to Frognal Gardens Access 

Roundabout. 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Grovehurst Road parallel link Route through NW Sittingbourne site to facilitate access 

including bus route 

TBC KCC, S106 

 B2006/Sonora Road  Junction capacity improvements TBC KCC, S106 

 Iwade – Sittingbourne/Eurolink 

Cycle way 

Creation of a new cycleway between Iwade and 

Sittingbourne and Eurolink facilitated through the NW 

Sittingbourne development and enhancing routes along 

Sheppey Way. 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Great East Hall link to Stone’s 

Farm 

Investigate a potential link between these sites. TBC KCC/S106 

P
age 474



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 142 
 

 Sittingbourne 20mph zone Investigate a Sittingbourne 20mph zone TBC KCC/SBC/S106 

Faversham 

 A251 and B2041 Signalise A2/A251 junction and investigate further 

improvements 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Head Hill/Whitstable 

Road/Staple St Road 

Convert junction to a roundabout. TBC KCC, S106 

 Faversham rail cycle links Create a cohesive, comprehensive network of walk and 

cycle paths both within new Local Plan developments and 

connecting the new development to central Faversham 

and railway station 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Faversham bus links Pay for bus extension from central Faversham to new 

developments to provide turn up and go connection to the 

town centre – Reflect within lower car trips generated 

from new Local Plan developments in the model. 

TBC TBC 

 Faversham 20mph Provide permanent physical 20mph traffic calming 

measures in Faversham to ensure speed enforcement 

which will make cycling and walking safer. 

TBC TBC 

 East of Faversham Work with developers east of Faversham to develop a 

comprehensive local walk, cycle, and bus priority network 

to link the new developments to Faversham town centre 

TBC S106 

P
age 475



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 143 
 

 Cycle route through proposed 

development on the old goods 

yard at the end of Jubilee 

Way   

This could link the East of Faversham site with the railway 

station and there is a current PA in that could enable this.  

TBC S106 

 Link East of Faversham 

development to Brenley corner 

off road for cyclists  

This could be implemented by the allocations in the 

vicinity to encourage cycling to the wider countryside and 

to Whitstable and Canterbury. 

 

TBC S106 

 Preston Street junction 

pedestrian improvements 

Priority crossing point on Preston Street/ Stone Street 

junction.  

TBC TBC 

 Abbey Fields to East Street Upgraded crossings, footway updated to allow shared 

pedestrian and cycle facilities, and cycle signage.  

TBC TBC 

 Land at Lady Dane Farm to 

Preston Street 

Update and widen footpaths with dropped kerbs and 

investigate possible improvements to the long bridge like 

wheeling ramps and CCTV and some vegetation 

clearance to improve safety. would work. 

TBC TBC 

 Lower Road to Hazebrouck 

Road 

Open all movement connection between the two roads TBC KCC/S106 

 Water Lane alternative access Investigation of creation of a new access for Water Lane, 

closing existing vehicular connection to the A2.  

TBC KCC/S106 

P
age 476



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 144 
 

 The Mall cycle priority route 

and priority crossing  

Reconfiguration of highway to implement two-way cycle 

route 

TBC KCC/S106 

 Perry Court/Abbey School – 

The Mall Cycle route 

Creation of a two-way off-road cycle route on the South 

side of the A2 connecting to a signalised crossing facility 

at the A2/A251 junction. 

TBC KCC/S106 

 Lower Road to Ospringe 

Brickworks link 

Creation of a Westbound only vehicular link from Lower 

Road to Western Link through Ospringe Brickworks, 

reconfiguration of internal highway. Retained 

ped/cycleway facility. 

TBC KCC/S106 

 East Street  Filtered permeability against the flow of traffic for cyclists 

out of East Street from the pedestrian area to the traffic 

lights. 

TBC KCC/FTC/S106 

 M2/J7 Improvements through RIS2&3 for capacity improvements 

at M2 J7. 

TBC RIS3/S106 

 Faversham cycling and 

walking improvements 

A variety of projects to link with the emerging 

Neighbourhood Plan and FTCs work on cycling and 

walking 

TBC FTC/SBC/S106 

 General 

 Sheerness to Sittingbourne Upgrade Sheppey Way link to increase bus and cycle 

demand linking between Sheerness and Sittingbourne 

TBC KCC, S106 

P
age 477



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 145 
 

 Sittingbourne to Faversham Develop an east-west cycle corridor parallel to the A2 

linking Sittingbourne to Faversham using existing side 

roads 

TBC KCC, S106 

 Brenley Corner to Boughton  

 

A dedicated cycle route down Canterbury Road from 

Brenley Corner to Boughton. Would need to be subject, 

and in agreement with, the emerging Boughton and 

Dunkirk Neighbourhood Plan 

TBC S106, Boughton 

and Dunkirk NP 

 Bus priority measures Linked to proposed allocations in the LPR TBC TBC 

 Bus infrastructure measures  Linked to proposed allocations in the LPR TBC TBC 

 Further mitigations to come 

out of Local Plan 

As a result of the final transport model run. TBC TBC 

 School Streets/ zones  Provide school street infrastructure outside schools. Safer 

crossings also be investigated where school streets are 

not feasible. Based on school street criteria.  

TBC TBC 

 A2 AQ/flow capacity corridor 

improvements 

A suite of measures to promote Public Transport between 

Sittingbourne and Faversham and improve the air quality 

of the A2 corridor 

TBC TBC 

 Railway bridges Improving accessibility of all railway bridges for all users.  TBC KCC/S106 

P
age 478



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 146 
 

15. MONITORING SUCCESS 

 

15.1 Introduction 

15.1.1 In this section, targets will be set so that the strategies and policies 

discussed in the preceding chapters can be monitored. This can ensure that 

this strategy’s success can be judged until its expiry in 2037. This will 

provide direction in finding solutions to the key challenges that Swale faces 

in the coming years. This strategy has aimed to set out the necessary plans 

to improve connectivity within Swale and beyond, to encourage more people 

to take up active travel and to reduce the negative impacts the transport 

network has on the natural environment.  

15.1.2 This strategy has an overall vision to:  

Deliver a sustainable transport network in Swale that creates an attractive, 
green and vibrant borough. The transport strategy will enable and 

encourage people to travel sustainably, nurture healthy lifestyles, create 
less polluted places and upgrade the transport network to meet the 

boroughs needs 

15.1.3 Six overarching objectives have been set out in this strategy to achieve the 

vision. The objectives are:  

 

Objective 1  To promote active and sustainable travel enabling 

residents to take up these modes 

Objective 2  To reduce and mitigate the impact of poor air quality 

related to transport whilst striving for net zero  

Objective 3  To improve the journey time reliability across the 

transport network 

Objective 4  To support the economic growth and development 

projected in the Local Plan  

Objective 5  To consider the needs of all users across the transport 

network  

Objective 6  To substantially reduce all road casualties and progress 

towards zero killed and seriously injured (KSI) casualties 

15.1.4 In order to monitor the progress of achieving those objectives and therefore 

the strategy’s vision, the following list contains the themes that will help the 

borough monitor the progress of this strategy: 

⚫ Active Travel and Mode Share  

⚫ Road Safety 

Page 479



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 147 
 

⚫ Freight 

⚫ Air Quality and Emissions 

⚫ Journey times 

15.1.5 Within each theme, a number of performance indicators are outlined. These 

will be crucial in measuring and quantifying the success of the strategy. 

 

15.2 Active Travel and Mode Share 

15.2.1 As discussed in the Strategy, The Local Plan show an increase of over 

13,000 homes in the borough. To ensure that these do not create an 

increase in car journeys and therefore a negative effect on the road network, 

air quality and quality of life of Swale residents then a shift towards more 

sustainable modes is needed. The modelling report concluded that a 20% 

reduction in car trips is required to ensure development does not have a 

negative effect on the borough.  

15.2.2 Therefore, in order to keep the number of vehicle journeys made in 2037 the 

same as in 2011, the mode share of car journeys to work would need to drop 

by 31.2% in real terms. The following mode share targets are set out below 

in Table 13.  

 

Table 13: Mode share targets for 2037 

Transport mode 2011 mode share (%) 2037 target mode share 

(%) 

Driving a car or van 65 44.7 

Walk 11.3 15 

Cycle 2.2 5 

Bus 2 5 

Train 6.9 9 

Working mainly at 

home 

5 15 

Passenger in car or 

van 

5.5 5.5 

Other  1.3 1.3 

Page 480



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 148 
 

Total 100 100 

 

15.2.3 Specific modal share targets will be set as part of the planning process 

taking into account the mix, scale, location and proximity to public transport 

infrastructure and cycling and walking routes for new developments.  

15.2.4 Achieving the trip reduction targets and sustainable mode share increases 

will require strong political will from those who govern Swale and Kent. The 

investment and implementation of the schemes set out in the Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan as well as the actions and policies listed in the Action Plan will 

be needed to help ensure the targets are met.  

 

15.3 Road Safety 

15.3.1 Road safety becomes increasingly important with an increase in active 

travel, as the number of opportunities for conflict increases. It is therefore 

imperative that an effective plan for education all road users is in place, to 

make them aware of the dangers of certain driving behaviours.  

15.3.2 Kent County Council has a statutory duty to record personal injury collisions 

that are reported on Kent’s roads. Personal injury collision and casualty 

statistics are provided by Kent Police and are used to illustrate trends and 

target measures to reduce both collisions and casualties.  

15.3.3 The following targets align with those set out in the Kent County Council 

Road Danger Reduction Strategy. Achieving Vision Zero is a long-term 

aspiration of this strategy which hoped to lead to zero KSIs in the Borough.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reduce the number of people Killed or Seriously Injured (KSI) on Swale’s 

roads to the lowest possible number of KSIs, aspiring to Vision Zero by 

2037. 

 

 

Page 481



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 149 
 

15.4 Freight 

15.4.1 The movement of freight through Swale exemplifies importance of the 

borough being a key route between the UK and the continental Europe. This 

strategy has outlined the importance of ensuring Swale’s infrastructure can 

handle the volume of freight now and in the future, and that the routes being 

taken to transport freight are appropriate. 

 

15.5 Air Quality and Emissions 

15.5.1 Alongside EU and UK limits, pollution in well populated areas needs to be 

monitored very closely. Rebalancing mode share in Swale and phasing out 

the use of the more polluting vehicles will help to address air quality issues 

particularly in town centres to improve the health of residents. The 6 AQMAs 

in Swale were declared due to potential exceedances of the EU NO2 limit of 

an annual average of 40μg/m3. The target for Swale therefore reflects this. 

The council will monitor other areas in the borough and declare new AQMAs 

where necessary.  

15.5.2 Swale’s forthcoming EV Strategy ADD LINK WHEN FINALISED will provide 

targets to increase the proportion of electric and hybrid fleet and public 

transport vehicles in the Borough. This is will reduce the number of 

particulates coming from vehicle exhausts, specifically PM 2.5
 and PM10.  

 

15.6 Journey Times 

15.6.1 Improving bus journey times and reliability will make bus travel an attractive 

option and will help in creating mode shift away from the private car. Car 

journey times will also be measures through ANPR and cordon counts where 

appropriate.  

a. Increase the proportion of rail freight traveling through the borough.  
b. Reduce the number of HGVs travelling on residential roads in the borough.  
c. Identify sites for HGV parking within the Borough as part of an Enforcement 

strategy 

 

Reduce NO2 levels to below an annual average of 40μg/m3 to comply with 

the EU limits on air quality in all areas across the Borough.  

 

Page 482



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 150 
 

Reduce the journey time in the peak period for buses in the borough, 

particularly for key routes to the town centres.  

 

Page 483



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 151 
 

 

Appendix A – Swale Modelling Report  

  

P
age 484



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 152 
 

 

Appendix B – Public Car Parks  

Location Name Spaces Description Types of Spaces Cost 

Faversham Central Car Park 219 short stay, pay and display car park 11 disabled spaces 

1 motorcycle space 

7 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Faversham Institute Road Car Park 40 short stay, pay and display car park 1 disabled space 

3 bicycle spaces 

Over 4 hours, 

£10 

Faversham Ospringe Road Car Park 30 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

Faversham Partridge Lane Car Park 55 long stay, pay and display car park 1 motorcycle space Up to 4 hours, £4 

Faversham Queens Hall Car Park 142 long stay, pay and display car park 3 disabled spaces 

1 motorcycle space 

1 bicycle space 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Albany Road Car Park 104 short stay, pay and display car park 5 disabled spaces 

1 motorcycle space 

4 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Bell Road Car Park 24 long stay, pay and display car park 2 disabled spaces Up to 4 hours, £4 

P
age 485



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 153 
 

Sittingbourne Central Avenue Car Park  60 short stay, pay and display car park 4 disabled spaces 

1 motorcycle space 

4 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Cockleshell Walk Car Park 86 long stay, pay and display car park 6 disabled spaces Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Crown Quay Lane Car Park 42 short stay, pay and display car park 3 disabled spaces 

1 motorcycle space 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Grafton Road Car Park 10 free, free to park, car park 4 disabled spaces Free 

Sittingbourne Milton High Street 10 short stay, pay and display car park 2 bicycle spaces Up to 2 hours, £2 

Sittingbourne Shortlands Road Car Park 35 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

Sittingbourne Spring Street Car  72 long stay, pay and display car park 
 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Swale House 72 short stay, pay and display car park 1 disabled space Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne Swallows Car Park 86  a short stay, pay and display car 

park 

6 disabled spaces 

20 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sittingbourne The Forum Car Park 86 short stay, pay and display car park 6 disabled spaces 

2 motorcycle spaces 

4 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Albion Place Car Park 16 long stay, pay and display car park 2 disabled spaces 
 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Beach Street Car Park 94 long stay, pay and display car park 2 disabled spaces 

3 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £5 

Sheppey Beachfields Car Park 76 short stay, pay and display car park 2 disabled spaces 

12 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Bridge Road Car Park 47 long stay, pay and display car park 
 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Cliff Drive Car Park 20 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Coastal Park Car Park 100 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

P
age 486



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 154 
 

Sheppey Cross Street Car Park 82 long stay, pay and display car park 6 disabled spaces 

3 motorcycle spaces 

2 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Halfway Car Park 41 free, pay and display car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Hope Street Car Park 9 short stay, pay and display car park 1 disabled space Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Jetty Car Park 6 free, pay and display car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Minster Abbey Car Park  17 free, pay and display car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Park Road Car Park 25 free, pay and display car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Queenborough Library Car 

Park 

44 free, pay and display car park 2 disabled spaces Free 

Sheppey Rose Street Car Park 169 short stay, pay and display car park 8 disabled spaces 

3 motorcycle spaces 

2 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Seathorpe Avenue Car Park 20 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Shellness Road Car Park 250 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey Ship On Shore 80 free, free to park, car park 
 

Free 

Sheppey The Promenade Car Park 272 long stay, pay and display car park 4 disabled spaces Up to 4 hours, 

£2.10 

Sheppey Trinity Place Car Park 57 short stay, pay and display car park 5 disabled spaces 

3 bicycle spaces 

Up to 4 hours, £4 

Sheppey Trinity Road Car Park 62 long stay, pay and display car park 2 disabled spaces Up to 4 hours, £4 

P
age 487



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 155 
 

Quality 

It is the policy of Project Centre to supply Services that meet or exceed our clients’ 

expectations of Quality and Service. To this end, the Company's Quality 

Management System (QMS) has been structured to encompass all aspects of the 

Company's activities including such areas as Sales, Design and Client Service. 

By adopting our QMS on all aspects of the Company, Project Centre aims to achieve 

the following objectives: 

1. Ensure a clear understanding of customer requirements; 

2. Ensure projects are completed to programme and within budget; 

3. Improve productivity by having consistent procedures; 

4. Increase flexibility of staff and systems through the adoption of a 

common approach to staff appraisal and training; 

5. Continually improve the standard of service we provide internally and 

externally; 

6. Achieve continuous and appropriate improvement in all aspects of the 

company; 

Our Quality Management Manual is supported by detailed operational 

documentation. These relate to codes of practice, technical specifications, work 

instructions, Key Performance Indicators, and other relevant documentation to form 

a working set of documents governing the required work practices throughout the 

Company. 

All employees are trained to understand and discharge their individual 

responsibilities to ensure the effective operation of the Quality Management System.  

 

 

 

 

Page 488



  

Swale Borough Council – Transport Strategy 2022-2037 156 
 

  

 

Page 489



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Plan Panel 19 January 2021  Appendix iv 
 

Addendum to the Swale Borough Council Statement of Community Involvement (2018) 

 
Temporary changes in respect of availability of planning policy documents for 
inspection 
 
COVID-19 Crisis 
 
During these unprecedented times, we will be unable to operate community consultation on 
planning policy documents and a variety of application types in the precise way set out in the 
Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement. 
The temporary changes outlined have been made to protect the health of our communities and 
follows national advice and guidelines. The changes are set out below. 
 

Planning Policy 
Engaging with the Community 
Owing to the closure of libraries and Council offices to the public at the current time, the Council 
cannot deposit consultations in these locations nor can physical copies of documents be viewed at 
the present time. 
Hard copies or extracts from documents may be available at cost on request. 
Consultations will continue to be published on our website and we continue to notify interested 
parties by email and letter and receive comments through the online response system. 
Officers can be contacted via email (LPcomments@swale.gov.uk) or phone (01795 417014) during 
this period but will not be available to meet at the Council Offices. 
 
Responding to Consultations 
Responses to consultations on planning documents can be done electronically using the online 
response system. Responses can also be made in writing and posted to the Council at the usual address. 
 

Page 491



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Swale Borough Council 

Swale Important Local 
Countryside Gaps 
  
Draft final report 
Prepared by LUC 
January 2021 
 

 

  

 
 

Page 493



 

      
Bristol 
Edinburgh 
Glasgow 
London 
Manchester 
 
landuse.co.uk 

Land Use Consultants Ltd 
Registered in England 
Registered number 2549296 
Registered office: 
250 Waterloo Road 
London SE1 8RD 
 
100% recycled paper 

Landscape Design 
Strategic Planning & Assessment 
Development Planning 
Urban Design & Masterplanning 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
Landscape Planning & Assessment 
Landscape Management 
Ecology 
Historic Environment 
GIS & Visualisation 

 

 
 

 

Swale Borough Council 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
  

Project Number 
11326 
 

 

 

Version  Status  Prepared  Checked  Approved  Date 

1.   Draft report  K Ahern 

A Knight 

 K Ahern  K Ahern  14.12.2020 

2.   Draft final report  K Ahern 

A Knight 

 K Ahern  K Ahern  12.01.2021 

 
 

Page 494



Contents 

Contents 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I i 

Chapter 1 
Introduction 1 

Project aims 1 
Background and policy context 1 

Chapter 2 
Methodology 4 

Methodology 4 
Key stages and tasks 4 
Limitations 7 

Chapter 3 
Important Local Countryside Gap 
Assessments 9 

Teynham and Lynsted 10 
Teynham and Bapchild 15 
Faversham and Goodnestone 20 
Faversham and Oare 25 
Faversham and Ospringe 31 
 

 

Contents  

Page 495



 Chapter 1  
Introduction 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I 1 

Project aims 
 The aim of the Important Local Countryside Gaps study 

is to undertake an independent review of the land around the 
settlements of Faversham and Teynham. It will provide an 
evidence base on the role these areas play in providing a 
sense of separation between settlements; safeguarding the 
open and undeveloped character of the land; and guarding 
against coalescence. 

 This study does not review the existing Important Local 
Countryside Gaps in the current Local Plan: Bearing Fruits 
(adopted 2017) as these were found to be sound at the 
previous Local Plan Examination.  

 The sense of separation provided between settlements 
relates to the character of the gap as well as its size. Small 
gaps can be effective in maintaining settlement separation if 
they have a rural character and provide separation, perhaps 
as a result of a distinct topography, presence of vegetation 
which limits inter-visibility between the settlements, or 
containing a distinct landscape feature. On the other hand, 
large gaps may not be effective if they have a suburban 
character, lack vegetation or have clear inter-visibility between 
the settlements, and lack any other features that might provide 
a sense of separation such as a distinct topographical or 
landscape feature. 

Background and policy context 
 Protection of existing settlement pattern and gaps is not 

specifically mentioned in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF 2019), nor the associated PPG. However, 
the concept of settlement gaps is broadly consistent with the 
NPPF, in that: “Strategic policies…should make sufficient 
provision for …conservation and enhancement of the natural 
built and historic environment, including landscapes and green 
infrastructure” (NPPF paragraph 20) and “Planning policies 
and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by…protecting and enhancing valued 
landscape”’ (NPPF paragraph 170).  

 In Swale, Important Local Countryside Gaps were 
defined and set out in the 2008 Local Plan. The boundaries 
were reviewed and updated in Technical Paper 6 in 2014, and 
confirmed in Bearing Fruits, the 2017 adopted Local Plan.  

-  

Chapter 1   
Introduction 
 
 

Page 496



 Chapter 1  
Introduction 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I 2 

 The purpose of the Important Local Countryside Gaps, 
as defined in Policy DM 25 of the Swale Local Plan (2017) are 
to: 

 maintain the separate identities and character of 
settlements by preventing their merging; 

 safeguard the open and undeveloped character of the 
areas; 

 prevent encroachment and piecemeal erosion by built 
development or changes to the rural open character; and 

 influence decisions on the longer-term development of 
settlements through the preparation and review of Local 
Plans.  

 The current defined settlement gaps are below, and 
illustrated on Figure 1.1: 

 Sittingbourne and the satellite villages of Bapchild, 
Rodmersham Green, Tunstall, Borden, Chestnut Street, 
Bobbing and Iwade; 

 Upchurch and the administrative boundary with Medway 
Council; and 

 Queenborough, Sheerness, Minster and Halfway. 

 These settlement gaps have been successful at fulfilling 
the function for which there were intended given the 
considerable pressure for new development experienced in 
the borough, notably for housing. As the policy has been 
accepted at the Local Plan Examination in 2017, the existing 
gaps are deemed to be robust, and will not form part of this 
review. 

 In preparing evidence for the current Local Plan Review 
and in the light of the emphasis on a more even distribution of 
development across the whole borough this study provides 
evidence on the need for and boundaries of additional ILCGs 
around the settlements of Faversham and Teynham. 

  

Page 497



Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021 CB: EB:Packham_B LUC Fig1_1_11326_r0_Existing_Gaps  07/01/2021
Source: Swale Borough Council

Swale Borough Council Boundary
Important Local Countryside Gap

0 1 2
km Map scale 1:110,000 @ A3

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps
Swale Borough Council

Fig 1.1: Existing Important Local Countryside Gaps

P
age 498



 Chapter 2  
Methodology 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I 4 

Methodology 
 An essential element in reviewing areas for local 

designation is the adoption of a consistent, systematic, and 
transparent process. 

 There is currently no prescribed method for assessing 
‘gap’ designations. Strategic gap policies have generally been 
found sound at Examination when they are supported by 
robust and up-to-date evidence to justify the extent or purpose 
of the gaps identified and are focused on protecting specific 
areas between settlements (rather than all rural areas outside 
settlements). 

 The criteria-based approach used in this study draws 
from LUC’s experience in undertaking similar reviews 
elsewhere in the UK and lessons learned from our 
involvement in Local Plan examination, as well as the specific 
requirements of the Council. It was drawn up in discussion 
with Swale BC Planning Officers.  

Key stages and tasks 
 The areas between the following settlements have been 

assessed for their potential to be included within the Important 
Local Countryside Gaps policy: 

 Faversham and Ospringe 

 Faversham and Goodnestone 

 Faversham and Oare 

 Teynham and Bapchild 

 Teynham and Lynsted 

 In agreeing the extent of the study area for Faversham, 
a ‘green belt’ around the whole of the settlement was 
considered to be inappropriate with the M2 proving a firm 
southern boundary and separation to the outlying hamlets in 
the wider rural area. The absence of an Important Local 
Countryside Gap designation south of the M2 does not 
suggest that these are suitable areas for future development.  

 The following key tasks were undertaken, to confirm the 
new Important Local Countryside Gaps, and identify their 
characteristics. 

-  

Chapter 2   
Methodology 
 
 

Page 499



 Chapter 2  
Methodology 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I 5 

Evaluation criteria 

 The evaluation criteria were developed by LUC drawing 
on previous strategic gap studies, which have been assessed 
as robust through the Local Plan examination process. They 
have been refined to reflect the particular landscape and 
settlement pattern of Swale.  

 Each of the Important Local Countryside Gap 
assessments were undertaken using the criteria set out in 
Table 2.2:.  

Desk review 

 The desk review involved a two-step evaluation. The 
potential gaps were assessed against the criteria set out in 
Table 2.2:, to understand how the identity of the adjacent 
settlements and the landscape and visual characteristics of 
the gap contribute to its character as open and undeveloped 
land. Each criterion was given a rating as set out in Table 2.1: 
with commentary on whether the area meets, does not meet 
or partially meets criteria for designation. 

Table 2.1: Ratings 

Key 

Fully meets  

Partially meets  

Does not meet  

 
 Sources of information used for the desk study include: 

 1:25,000 OS mapping 

 Conservation Area Appraisals 

 Google Earth 

 Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal 

 Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

 The gaps were evaluated against practical 
considerations, as set out in Table 2.3: including their extent, 
boundaries and potential for enhancement. 

 The issues were summarised, concluding whether the 
area meets the criteria for designation as an Important Local 
Countryside Gap. 

Field verification 

 Field checking was undertaken in December 2020 to 
review information on the ground and test and refine the draft 
Important Local Countryside Gap assessment and 
boundaries. The field survey was undertaken from roads and 
public rights of way. 

Final report and boundaries for the Proposals Map 

 The outputs of the evaluation exercise are presented in 
Chapter 3. 

 GIS maps of the proposed gaps and their boundaries 
were mapped at 1:25,000, and provided as a separate output 
as Shapefiles. These will form part of the Proposals Map for 
the Local Plan. The boundaries generally follow recognisable 
physical features, the defined built-up area boundaries or the 
boundaries of committed development or allocations. (See 
note on boundaries below). 

 
Table 2.2: Important Local Countryside Gap assessment criteria 

Criterion Explanation Indicators of a weak gap Indicators of a strong gap 

Existing settlement 
identity and pattern 

Assess the extent to which 
the settlements or 
neighbourhoods that lie 
adjacent to the gap have an 
individual townscape 
character and identity that 
contribute to existing 
settlement pattern. 

The individual townscape 
character, form and pattern 
of the settlements or 
neighbourhoods that lie 
adjacent to the gap are not 
distinct. 

Loss or partial loss of the 
gap would not adversely 
affect the existing settlement 
pattern. 

The individual townscape 
character, form and pattern 
of the settlement or 
neighbourhoods that lie 
adjacent to the gap are 
distinct.  

The presence of 
Conservation Areas, Listed 
Buildings are indicators of 
individual settlement 
character. 

The gap plays a role in 
settlement separation and 
pattern. 

Page 500



 Chapter 2  
Methodology 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 6 

Criterion Explanation Indicators of a weak gap Indicators of a strong gap 

Landscape character Assess the landscape 
character of the area 
between the settlements or 
neighbourhoods and any 
land use and landscape 
features within the gap that 
contribute to its character as 
open and undeveloped land.  

There are significant man-
made features or urban land 
uses that contribute to the 
developed character of the 
landscape.  

The area lacks typical 
elements of rural vegetation 
e.g. farmland, hedges, trees 
etc, which contribute to an 
undeveloped character. 

The area has a suburban 
character and residential 
areas outside defined 
settlement boundaries 
weaken the perception of the 
gap as ‘countryside’. 

Existing rural land uses 
contribute to the open and 
undeveloped character of 
the landscape, e.g. 
agriculture, horticulture, 
forestry.  

The landscape has 
significant landscape 
features that contribute to its 
undeveloped character. 

There is a low density or 
absence of development. 

Visual character Assess the visual character 
of the area between 
settlements and any views to 
settlements or from 
settlements into the open 
countryside that contribute to 
that character and provide 
visual separation between 
settlements or 
neighbourhoods. 

Views to and from the 
settlement do not contribute 
positively to the visual 
character of the area. 

There is a clear inter-visibility 
between the settlements due 
to a lack of vegetation. 
Intervisibility alone does not 
indicate a weak gap and this 
criteria interplays with 
settlement identity and 
pattern e.g. intervisibility of 
contrasting settlement types 
may contribute to a stronger 
gap function. 

 

Views to and from the 
settlement contribute 
positively to the visual 
character of the area (e.g. 
views mentioned in the 
Landscape Character 
Assessment/ Conservation 
Area appraisal). 

There are limited/no views 
between settlements. 
Landscape elements, such 
as hills, ridges, and/or tall 
vegetation within the gap 
contribute to the sense of 
visual separation between 
the settlements. 

Alternatively, where there is 
intervisibility or a narrow 
gap, the view shows clearly 
differing settlement character 
and identity e.g. between an 
expanding urban edge and 
distinct rural village.  

Open vistas and long views 
may also indicate a strong 
gap where they are an 
important part of the 
character of the landscape 

 

Page 501



 Chapter 2  
Methodology 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 7 

Table 2.3: Practical considerations 

Criterion Explanation Indicators 

Gap extent Assess the role of the extent of the gap 
in maintaining physical separation 
between settlements or 
neighbourhoods. 

What is the physical extent of the area 
between settlements? What are the key 
routes between settlements? 

Appropriateness of distances will vary 
from area to area and are intrinsically 
linked to characteristics and features of 
the landscape which sits between 
settlements i.e. gaps should have the 
sense of leaving one settlement, 
moving through the gap before entering 
a different settlement.  

The gap is less than 2km away from a 
neighbouring settlement  

The gap should be of sufficient size to 
make it practical to develop policies for 
its protection, management and 
planning. 

A distance further than 2km could be 
considered too great to prevent the 
coalescence of two settlements.  

Boundary defensibility Boundaries of the existing Important 
Local Countryside Gaps should follow 
physical features on the ground, taking 
into account potential new boundary 
features that may alter the risk of 
settlement coalescence. 

Review the pressures on the land 
between the settlements from draft 
allocations and promoted sites.  

The gap is not subject to draft 
allocation, or future infrastructure 
projects. 

Potential for enhancement Review existing environmental 
designations (both national and local 
level ecological and cultural heritage 
designations|), priority habitats and 
recreational features (including PRoW, 
cycle paths, open access 
land/registered common land, 
allotments, amenity green spaces) to 
provide an indication of the value of the 
landscape.  

Other sources of information include 
Swale Blue/Green Infrastructure. 

Use this to consider the potential 
enhancements to existing open space, 
wildlife areas, cultural heritage and 
access to the countryside (via PRoW 
etc).  

Presence of green space and 
recreational values- highly accessible 
green space, presence of PRoW, 
recreational facilities e.g. sports 
pitches, play areas and parks 

Ecological values (environmental 
designations indicting higher Green 
Infrastructure value (indicated through 
the presence of SSSI, SINCs, National 
and Local Nature Reserves, Ancient 
Woodland etc). 

 
 These indicators work in combination, and an Important 

Local Countryside Gap will not need to fulfil all the criteria 
equally. The assessments are based on professional 
judgement, taking account of the complex interplay between 
the criteria, as well as instances where some criteria might be 
more important to a particular Important Local Countryside 
Gap. 

Limitations 
 This is a strategic-level study undertaken at a scale of 

1:25,000.  

  The gap boundaries are chosen to be functional, 
defensible and pragmatic and where possible following 
defined features on the ground including roads, tracks field 
boundaries or occasionally rights of way. This means that the 

Page 502



 Chapter 2  
Methodology 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I 8 

gaps may include some areas that are not critical to a gap 
function but are included for practical reasons. 

 Similarly, the boundaries of the gaps are taken up to the 
existing settlement edge represented by built 
development/settlement boundary or the extent of proposed 
allocations. In many cases, the proposed allocations create 
the need for designation of a new Important Local Countryside 
Gap. The definition of a critical area of gap away from the 
existing settlement edges would not be practical or defensible. 

 Finally, it should be noted that an Important Local 
Countryside Gap is not a landscape quality designation and 
gaps may include degraded elements or features including for 
example abandoned land, areas of polytunnel/glasshouses, 
quarries or limited development. The key requirement is that 
overall, they have a rural/countryside character and are not 
developed.  

Page 503



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 

LUC  I 9 

 

 This chapter presents the results of the study of the five 
potential Important Local Countryside Gaps against the 
agreed assessment criteria.

-  

Chapter 3   
Important Local Countryside 
Gap Assessments 
 
 

Page 504



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 10 

Teynham and Lynsted 
Location and context designations 

 

Representative photos 

 

 

 
Mature orchards and shelterbelts provide enclosure along public rights 
on way within the gap  The landscape is more open and expansive in the north of the gap, 

with clear views of the edge of Teynham, development along the A2 
and industrial development at Sittingbourne 

Page 505



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 11 

Summary information 

Location and extent of area The area lies to the south of Teynham and north of Lynsted 

Landscape character context LCA 26: Lynsted Enclosed Farmlands around the village of Lynsted and to the 
east comprising mixed farmland, orchards and pasture 

LCA 29: Rodmersham Mixed Farmlands to the west and north comprising areas of 
more open arable farmland 

The area forms part of the fruit belt landscape that descends northwards from the 
lower dip slope of the Kent Downs.  

 
Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

Existing settlement identity and pattern 

Fully meets 

Lynsted is a historic village with a linear form which is still intact. 
The farms in Lynsted parish were prosperous, and there are a 
number of Listed Buildings dating from before 1650, including 
the Grade I listed church of St Peter and St Paul. The whole 
village is covered by a Conservation Area, which extends up 
Lynsted Lane. The Conservation Appraisal states that Lynsted 
“is one of the Borough’s most attractive villages”.  

Teynham is a linear settlement formed along the A2 London 
Road, which has grown to encompass Cellarhill to the east and 
expanded north from the 1960s. There are a number of Listed 
Buildings along the A2, and the eastern edge of the village is 
designated as part of the Cellar Hill, Lynsted and Greenstreet 
Conservation Area, which covers a group of important timber-
framed medieval buildings. Teynham is contained between the 
A2 London Road to the south and Lower Road and the railway 
line to the north. 

Teynham and Lynsted have distinct, separate identities and 
characters. The rural landscape between Teynham and Lynsted 
plays an important role in the separation of these settlements, 
and in maintaining the settlement pattern. When travelling 
between the settlements, for example along Lynsted Lane, there 
is a clear sense of leaving and arriving at each and a transition 
from countryside to settlement.  

Landscape character 

Fully meets 

The majority of the area between Teynham and Lynsted is in 
agricultural use - the land between Lynsted Lane and Mill Lane 
(Claxfield Road) to the north of Lynsted is in use as traditional 
orchards, with windbreak hedges and mature orchards providing 
a small-scale enclosed landscape character. North of footpath 
ZR260, closer to the settlement edge of Teynham, the land is in 
arable use and is much more open. The land east of Lynsted 
Lane is in smallholding use, including sheep grazing south of 
Bogle Road.  

There is a strong network of shelterbelts and hedgerows 
throughout the area, which provide a rural character. The dry 
valley which runs to the east of Lynsted is noted in the 
Conservation Area Appraisal as an attractive local feature and is 
a noticeable landscape feature extending between Lynsted and 
Teynham. 

The historic hamlet of Bogle lies at the crossroads of Lynsted 
Lane and Bogle Road within the gap area. There is an early 20th 
century small development at Batteries Close, and some modern 

Page 506



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 12 

Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

infill houses along Lynsted Lane, which gives the perception of 
more development, particularly in the north closest to Teynham. 

The area as a whole maintains an open rural, and undeveloped 
character, despite some linear development along the 
connecting lanes. Overall, the lanes retain a winding rural 
quality. 

Visual character 

Fully meets 

Narrow lanes with strong hedgerows, combined with the 
orchards, create an enclosed character south of footpath ZR260. 
The Conservation Area Appraisal for Lynsted notes that “the 
overall combination of buildings, topography and trees results in 
a fairly enclosed village environment”.  

North of footpath ZR260 the landscape is much more open, and 
there are views to the edge of Teynham, north-east to the 
transport depot at Radfield and beyond to the paper mill at 
Sittingbourne. There are also longer distance views north to the 
Isle of Sheppey. East of Lynsted Lane the views are more 
enclosed by topography, hedgerows and shelterbelts. 

There are no views from within Lynsted village to Teynham or 
from Teynham to Lynsted reinforcing the rural character of the 
area. 

 

Practical considerations 

Considerations Commentary 

Gap extent The gap between Teynham and Lynsted is around 1.2km. The main routes 
between Teynham are along Mill Lane (Claxfield Road) and Lynsted Lane by road. 
Drivers along these roads have the perception of leaving one settlement and 
travelling to another, despite the presence of some linear development. 

Public footpath ZR259 runs directly between the two settlements, and users of the 
footpath have a distinct sense of travelling between two settlements, including 
emerging from the more enclosed southern section of the footpath to the open 
section in the north, with views of the edge of Teynham. 

Boundary defensibility There are three potential allocations to the south of Teynham: SLA18/153, 
SLA18/116 and SLA18/122. The northern boundary of the potential gap will run 
along the southern settlement boundary of Teynham and the southern boundary of 
these potential allocations. The boundary to the west is defined along Mill Lane 
(Claxfield Road) - if the boundary were further west the area would not function as 
maintaining the gap between Lynsted and Teynham.  

The eastern boundary is more difficult to define with fewer physical features on the 
ground. The footpaths are however permanent mapped features and delineate an 
appropriate eastern boundary that defines the gap but does not include extensive 
areas of land around Nouds which maintain a strong rural character but do not 
fulfil a ‘gap’ function.  

In order to be a clear and defensible boundary, the eastern boundary is defined to 
follow footpath ZR277 from the north-east corner of Lynsted, and then take 
footpath ZR268 to meet the south-eastern settlement boundary of Teynham. 
Although there has been coalescence, a rural gap to the west of Cellarhill will 
retain its separate character from the rest of Teynham. A rural setting is also 
important to the Listed Buildings at Cellarhill, particularly as the Conservation Area 
is on Historic England’s Heritage at Risk Register. The south-eastern boundary of 
the gap will cut through the dry valley, which continues to the north. The eastern 
slopes of the dry valley are not included within the gap extent; however, this does 

Page 507



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 13 

Considerations Commentary 

not diminish the importance of this landscape feature as part of the setting of 
Lynsted. 

The southern boundary is the northern settlement boundary of Lynsted, where a 
marked transition from village to countryside is experienced. 

Potential for enhancement There are no national or local level ecological designations within the area 
between Teynham and Lynsted. There are small areas of priority habitat traditional 
orchard around Cellarhill east of Lynsted Lane. Conservation and sensitive 
management of these should be encouraged, and the possibility of extending the 
traditionally managed orchards should be explored. Other relevant enhancements 
noted in the LCA include the restoration and extension of the hedgerow network, 
and provision of field margins/buffers within arable fields 

There are a number of Listed Buildings on Mill Lane (Claxfield Road), Lynsted 
Lane and Cambridge Lane, including in the historic hamlet of Bogle, which is 
designated as a Conservation Area. The setting of these heritage assets should 
be enhanced. 

Lynsted Lane, Mill Lane (Claxfield Road) and Cambridge Lane are designated as 
Rural Lanes, which contribute to the rural amenity, nature conservation and 
character of the landscape. There are opportunities to enhance the rural 
characteristics of these roads. There are a number of public rights of way in the 
gap between Teynham and Lynsted, which can be enhanced to increase access 
to and enjoyment of the countryside. 

Although not within the gap itself, enhancements to further integrate the transport 
depot at Radfield into the landscape should be explored, as it is prominent in 
views to the southern edge of Teynham. This could include planting a more natural 
buffer. The potential allocations south of Teynham should include buffering with 
hedgerows, tree planting and community orchards, to maintain the rural character 
of the gap between Lynsted and Teynham. 

Summary and recommendations 

 The analysis above indicates the area between Lynsted and Teynham meets the criteria for designation as an Important 
Local Countryside Gap, as the area has a rural character which separates the two settlements. Teynham and Lynsted each 
have a distinct character and identity, and people travelling between the settlements, whether on foot or by vehicle, have an 
experience of leaving one distinct settlement and travelling to another. Lynsted has an attractive rural village character, and 
between Teynham and the northern boundary of the village there is a notably transition from countryside to the village. 

 There are no views between Lynsted and Teynham, which contributes to their character as separate settlements. The 
area between the settlements is in agricultural use and it retains a rural countryside character with an absence of 
urbanising/urban fringe influences. 

 There are opportunities to extend the priority habitat traditional orchard throughout the area, and potential for improved 
buffering of the transport depot at Radfield and of the potential allocations south of Teynham. There is a strong public right of 
way network which can be enhanced to increase access and enjoyment of the countryside. 

  

Page 508



SLA18/025

SLA18/123

SLA18/122

SLA18/116

SLA18/153

SLA18/106

SLA18/010

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Teynham
 to Lynsted

Teynham to Lynsted Local Countryside Gap

Other Proposed Local Countryside Gap

Swale Borough Settlement Boundaries

Potential Allocations Oct 2020

0 0.5 1 km

P
age 509



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 15 

Teynham and Bapchild 
Location and context designations 

 

Representative photos 

 

 

 
Newly planted fruit growing and the prominent transport depot at 
Radfield, adjacent to the Teynham settlement boundary  Arable fields adjacent to Bapchild settlement edge, looking north 

towards A2 

Page 510



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 16 

Summary information 

Location and extent of area The area lies north and south of the A2, between Teynham to the east and 
Bapchild to the west. 

Landscape character context LCA 29: Rodmersham Mixed Farmlands 

LCA 31: Teynham Fruit Belt 

These are both part of the Fruit Belt landscapes that extend along the lower dip 
slope between the North Downs and Estuary, with intensive arable farming and 
horticulture.  

 
Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

Existing settlement identity and pattern 

Fully meets 

Teynham is a linear settlement formed along the A2 London 
Road, which has grown to encompass Cellarhill to the east and 
expanded north from the 1960s. There are a number of Listed 
Buildings along the A2, both within the settlement boundary and 
along the A2 to the west of Teynham. Teynham is contained 
between the A2 London Road to the south and Lower Road and 
the railway line to the north. The western part of the settlement 
contains linear industrial and residential development along the 
A2 and a proposed housing allocation (SLA18/122) 
consolidating development east of Claxfield Farm, south of the 
A2 and to Frognal at Lower Road north of the A2 (SLA18/025), 
creating a more consolidated extended edge to Teynham.  

Bapchild was a linear settlement along the A2, which has grown 
south of the A2 during the 20th century. Bapchild is largely 
contained by the A2 to the north, although housing extends on 
Hempstead Lane north of the A2. Panteny Lane provides the 
eastern extent and Church Street the western settlement 
boundary. There are three Listed Buildings on the A2 in the 
west, and the Grade I listed church of St Lawrence in the south-
west. The eastern settlement edge is contained by residential 
development along Panteny Lane south of the A2, and 
Hempstead Lane north of the A2. Hempstead House Hotel is 
located within the settlement boundary and marks the approach 
to Bapchild along the A2 from the east. 

There is linear and employment development at Radfield west of 
the settlement boundary of Teynham, which reduces the 
undeveloped nature of the gap to an extent.  

Bapchild and Teynham are perceived as distinct separate 
settlements along the A2 London Road, despite occasional 
intervening development. 

Landscape character 

Partially meets 

The majority of the undeveloped area between Teynham and 
Bapchild is in agricultural use, with intensive fruit growing and 
mature orchards between Mill Lane (Claxfield Road) and Dully 
Road, and arable land west of Dully Road. North of the A2 are 
unmanaged fields, orchards and the Bapchild Cricket Club pitch, 
which although is not a ‘natural’ feature, provides an open green 
space along the A2.  

Residential houses along the A2 and employment development 
at Radfield in the east and Hempsted Farm in the west, locally 
weaken the perception of the gap as ‘countryside’. 

Visual character Fully meets The linear settlement pattern of Teynham and inclined 
topography result in very limited views between Teynham and 

Page 511



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 17 

Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

Bapchild along the A2 or from the southern edge of Bapchild 
east towards Teynham, contributing to their sense of 
separateness. 

To the north and south of the A2 the views are generally 
enclosed, although there are some open views north to the 
marshes of the Swale and south towards the Kent Downs 
AONB. There are open expansive views to the east of footpath 
ZR196, as the fruit growing has not matured, and more enclosed 
views to the west due to the mature orchards, with filtered views 
towards the residential edge of Bapchild through areas of fruit 
trees and some more open views to Teynham particularly the 
large, exposed farm building and industrial development near 
Radfield.  

 

Practical considerations 

Considerations Commentary 

Gap extent The gap between the settlement boundaries of Teynham and Bapchild is 1.2km, 
however the perception of the gap is smaller due to development along the A2. 
The function of the gap between the two settlements is to preserve an 
undeveloped corridor either side of the A2, to avoid the perception of continuous 
coalescence of development from Sittingbourne to Teynham. 

The A2 is the main route between the settlements, and despite the short distance 
between them, there is a sense of leaving one settlement and travelling to another 
when travelling along the road. 

There are no public rights of way which run directly between Teynham and 
Bapchild. Users of footpath ZR196 which runs south of Radfield have views of 
both settlements, and a sense of being in an undeveloped countryside area 
between the settlements.  

Boundary defensibility There are two potential allocations between Teynham and Bapchild, both adjacent 
to Teynham, SLA18/123and SLA18/025.  

The gap to the north of the A2 is defined along the western boundary of the 
potential allocation at Teynham, along restricted byway ZR195, and along the 
railway line in the north which provides a defensible physical boundary. The north-
western boundaries are defined by Church Road and Hempstead Lane at Tonge, 
and along the existing settlement boundary of Bapchild to the A2. Although the 
area east of Tonge is not integral to maintaining the separation of Bapchild and 
Teynham, the existing Important Local Countryside Gap between Bapchild and 
Sittingbourne lies to the west of Church Road/Hempstead Lane and leaving a 
small area of land outside the gap designation would be an anomaly and therefore 
it is included here. 

South of the A2, the eastern boundary of the gap follows the settlement boundary 
of Teynham down Mill Lane (Claxfield Road), and then turns west along the field 
boundary. The area to the south does not meet the purpose of maintaining the gap 
between Teynham and Bapchild, and so although there is no physical boundary to 
follow, the boundary of the gap continues across the field to join Dully Road at 
Haywood. The boundary continues along footpath ZR682 to the settlement 
boundary of Bapchild and continues north along Panteny Lane and around 
Hempstead Hotel to meet the A2. Alternatives for this southern boundary are 
presented below. 

It is recognised that this Important Local Countryside Gap does include areas of 
more developed land at Hempstead Farm and Radfield, as to exclude these areas 

Page 512



Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

LUC  I 18 

Considerations Commentary 

would weaken the gap in the areas adjacent to the settlements which offer 
greatest potential for enhancement. 

Potential for enhancement There are no national or local level ecological designations within the area 
between Teynham and Bapchild, and there are no recorded priority habitats. 

Enhancements noted in the LCA include the restoration and extension of the 
hedgerow network, and provision of arable field margins/buffers to improve habitat 
connectivity at the local scale. The conservation and sensitive management of 
older, traditional orchards for biodiversity should be a priority. 

Creation and management of a green rural frontage, including woodland screening 
to the proposed development sites to the west of Teynham is a key opportunity to 
help integrate development into the countryside. 

There is a cluster of Listed Buildings at Radfield, and the setting of these heritage 
assets should be enhanced, particularly where they are in close proximity to the 
existing employment development. 

Dully Road and Mill Lane (Claxfield Road) to the south of the A2 and Lower Road 
to the north of Teynham are designated as Rural Lanes, which contribute to the 
rural amenity, nature conservation and character of the landscape. There are 
opportunities to enhance the rural characteristics of these roads, through gapping 
up of hedgerows and reducing road signage/clutter where possible. 

The roadsides along the A2 should be enhanced, with further planting and 
replacement of hedgerows. Further enhancements are recommended to integrate 
the transport depot at Radfield into the landscape, including planted buffers/tree 
screening. 

Summary and recommendations 

 The analysis above indicates the area between Teynham and Bapchild is a small gap between two distinct settlements 
threatened by linear development and coalescence along the A2. The expansion of Teynham westwards in the form of new 
housing allocations means that an Important Local Countryside Gap is now desirable in this location. It is recommended that the 
area is designated as an Important Local Countryside Gap to avoid the coalescence of Teynham and Bapchild. Although the 
main threat to coalescence is along the A2 corridor, the proposed gap extends north and south of the A2, to ensure that the 
settlements remain separate.  

 The map below indicates the boundary. These are drawn to the existing settlement edges recognising that the gap does 
include areas of more developed countryside at Hempstead Farm and Radfield. It would be difficult to justify excluding these 
small areas from the gap.  

There is no physical boundary to define the southern boundary and the map below shows two options: 

i) the essential gap south of the A2 (shown with dotted line)

ii)the wider gap defined by physical boundaries along Dully Road, Wood Street and Mill Lane (Claxfield Road), which includes a 
southern area of countryside that does not specifically fulfil a gap function.

Page 513



SLA18/025

SLA18/123

SLA18/122

SLA18/116

SLA18/153

SLA18/106

SLA18/010

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Teynham
 to B

apchild
Teynham to Bapchild Local Countryside Gap 

Other Proposed Local Countryside Gap 

Existing Local Countryside Gaps

Swale Borough Settlement Boundaries 

Potential Allocations Oct 2020

0 0.5 1 km

P
age 514



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 20 

Faversham and Goodnestone 
Location and context designations 

 

Representative photos 

 

 

 
Extant hop fields, which provide a rural setting to the eastern edge of 
Faversham  Rural setting to the Grade I listed Church of St Bartholomew, 

Goodnestone 

Page 515



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 21 

Summary information 

Location and extent of area The area lies to the east of Faversham and to the west of Goodnestone. 

Landscape character context LCA 20: Faversham and Ospringe Fruit Belt 

LCA 21: Graveney Arable Farmlands 

These are both part of the Fruit Belt landscapes that extend along the lower dip 
slope between the North Downs and Estuary, with a mix of intensive arable 
farming and horticulture.  

 
Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

Existing settlement identity and pattern 

Fully meets 

Faversham is historic market town and port, which grew around 
the small navigable waterways of Faversham and Oare in the 
north of the town. Faversham was an important settlement in the 
Saxon period and became a member of the Cinque Port 
Confederation in the 11th century as a limb of Dover. Unusually 
for the area, Faversham developed separately to the 
Canterbury-London route (now the A2). Although Faversham 
has expanded to the A2 and beyond in the south, the original 
settlement pattern is still legible. Much of the heritage of 
Faversham is still intact, and the town is covered by several 
Conservation Areas. 

The eastern part of Faversham contains historic features within 
the Preston-next-Faversham and Faversham Conservation 
Areas, including Faversham Cemetery, together with 19th and 
20th century housing. A new housing development east of Love 
Lane is currently under construction. The eastern edge of 
Faversham is therefore now modern residential development 
and has expanded considerably in recent years.  

Goodnestone is a small hamlet grouped around Head Hill Road 
and Goodnestone Lane, which originated as a Saxon settlement. 
The whole of Goodnestone is covered by a Conservation Area, 
which includes the Grade I listed church of St Bartholomew and 
Grade II* listed Goodnestone Court. 

The two settlements are separate and distinct, with the modern 
residential edge of the market town contrasting with the small 
historic hamlet at Goodnestone which is perceived as part of the 
wider rural area. 

Landscape character 

Fully meets 

The area between Faversham and Goodnestone is in varied 
agricultural use, with areas of fruit growing, arable and pasture. 
There are extensive polytunnels north and south of Whitstable 
Road, which are noticeable manmade features in the landscape, 
enclosed by shelterbelts of poplar and alder. 

There is limited development within the gap area – there are 
some scattered farm buildings however these do not 
compromise the sense of undeveloped land within the gap. Oast 
houses at School Farm and along Head Hill contribute to the 
rural landscape character, as do the extant hop fields and 
mature cherry orchards which provide a distinctive rural setting 
to the immediate east of Faversham. 

Visual character Fully meets The Conservation Area Appraisal for Goodnestone states that 
orchards and hop fields are significant typically Kentish features 

Page 516



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 22 

Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

around the settlement, although these have declined in recent 
years. There remains a strong rural character at Goodnestone. 

High hedgerows along Graveney Road, Whitstable Road and 
Head Hill Road limit views between the edge of Faversham and 
Goodnestone. A hop field south of School Farm provides a 
strong rural screening element close to the expanding edge of 
Faversham. 

The recent eastward expansion of Faversham means that there 
are some views to development from this area, e.g. along 
footpath ZR495 (Swale Heritage Trail) reinforcing the need for a 
‘gap’  

 

Practical considerations 

Considerations Commentary 

Gap extent The gap between Faversham and Goodnestone is 1.5km. 

Graveney Road/Whitstable Road are the main routes between the settlements, 
and when travelling along the road there is a perception of leaving the settlement 
at Faversham and being within a rural landscape. Goodnestone is a small hamlet 
with a distinct sense of place, centred around the medieval court and church and 
vernacular settlement along Head Hill and is wholly rural in character. 

The Swale Heritage Trail runs from the north-eastern edge of Faversham to 
Goodnestone, and users of the route travel through undeveloped countryside. 

Boundary defensibility There are two potential allocations which will expand the settlement boundary of 
Faversham to the east – SLA18/135 north of Graveney Road/Whitstable Road and 
SLA18/09 to the south of Graveney Road/Whitstable Road. 

The boundary of the gap to the north follows the railway line as a defensible 
physical boundary. The north-eastern boundary follows footpath ZR492 to 
Goodnestone Lane, which marks the main area of settlement at Goodnestone. 
The eastern boundary then follows Head Hill to its junction with Graveney 
Road/Whitstable Road. The undeveloped land to the east of Head Hill is important 
as a rural landscape but it does not have a function in maintaining the separation 
of Goodnestone and Faversham and its therefore excluded from the gap. 

The southern boundary of the gap follows Graveney Road/Whitstable Road to the 
eastern boundary of potential allocation SAL18/135, which will mark the new 
settlement edge of Faversham.  

Faversham has extended considerably to the east, and the proposed allocations 
mean that an Important Local Countryside Gap is now a requirement in this area 
to maintain the separation of Faversham and Goodnestone.  

Potential for enhancement There are no national or local level ecological designations within the area 
between Faversham and Goodnestone, although the Graveney Dykes and 
Pasture Local Wildlife Site lies to the north of Goodnestone. There are small areas 
of priority habitat deciduous woodland and traditional orchard in the landscape 
between the two settlements. 

Enhancements noted in the LCA include the restoration and extension of the 
hedgerow network, and provision of arable field margins/buffers to improve habitat 
connectivity at the local scale. The conservation and sensitive management of 
older, traditional orchards for biodiversity should be a priority.  

There are Listed Buildings at Homestall House and Ewell Farmhouse, and the 
setting of these heritage assets should be enhanced. The rural setting of 

Page 517



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 23 

Considerations Commentary 

Goodnestone church should also be conserved. The aim should be to maintain a 
distinctive landscape setting to Faversham including strengthening locally 
important land uses of traditional orchards and hops.  

In some areas the polytunnel structures have degraded the landscape and here 
the shelterbelt hedges and field margins are important in providing integration and 
landscape structure and should be enhanced.  

Creation and management of a strong green rural buffer, including woodland 
screening to the proposed development sites to the east of Faversham is a key 
opportunity to help integrate development into the countryside.  

Graveney Road, Homestall Lane and Head Hill Road are designated as Rural 
Lanes, which contribute to the rural amenity, nature conservation and character of 
the landscape. There are opportunities to enhance the rural characteristics of 
these roads, including through gapping up hedgerows and reducing unnecessary 
road signs and lighting. 

Summary and recommendations 

 The analysis above indicates the area between Faversham and Goodnestone meets the criteria for designation as an 
Important Local Countryside Gap. Faversham and Goodnestone each have a different and distinct character, and the gap is a 
rural, undeveloped landscape. The rural surroundings and setting of both Faversham and Goodnestone are an important part of 
their character and should be conserved as a ‘gap’.  

 The extension of Faversham eastwards and the opening up of views to the new residential edge further enhances the 
need for a gap. Further development of infill along Graveney Road/Whitstable Road or Head Hill would erode the sense of a gap 
in this location.  

 The area between the settlements is in agricultural use, and there are opportunities to extend the priority habitat traditional 
orchard and deciduous woodland throughout the area. There is a good public right of way network which can be enhanced to 
increase access and enjoyment of the countryside. 

  

Page 518



SLA18/135

SLA18/091SLA18/226

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Faversham
 to G

oodnestone
Faversham to Goodnestone Local Countryside Gap

Swale Borough Settlement Boundaries

Potential Allocations Oct 2020

0 0.5 1 km

P
age 519



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 25 

Faversham and Oare  
Location and context designations 

 

Representative photos 

 

 

 
The sloping Oare Creek valley, although small, provides a clear 
separation between Oare and the industrial edge of Faversham  View to the western settlement edge of Oare, across the rising slopes 

of the Oare Creek Valley and Oare Meadow nature reserve 

Page 520



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 26 

Summary information 

Location of area The area lies between the village of Oare and the western settlement edge of 
Faversham, including the new residential development at Faversham Lakes. 

Landscape character context LCA 08: Luddenham and Conyer Marshes 

LCA 17: Stone Arable Farmlands 

LCA 36: Doddington and Newnham Dry Valleys 

The area is at the confluence of a number of character areas where the dry chalk 
valley descending from the downs meets the Oare Creek and marshes on the 
Swale. The village of Oare is located on the edge of the arable farmlands on the 
old coastline forming a ridge rising up to the west of the creek and marshes. To 
the east of the creek the farmland contains flooded pools of former gravel 
workings, scrub and woodland, boatyards and isolated industrial uses.  

 
Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

Existing settlement identity and pattern 

Fully meets 

Faversham is historic market town and port, which grew around 
the small navigable waterways of Faversham and Oare in the 
north of the town. Faversham was an important settlement in the 
Saxon period and became a member of the Cinque Port 
Confederation in the 11th century as a limb of Dover. Unusually 
for the area, Faversham developed separately to the 
Canterbury-London route (now the A2). Although Faversham 
has expanded, the original settlement pattern is still legible. 
Much of the heritage of Faversham is still intact, and the town is 
covered by several Conservation Areas. To the west there has 
been significant development and infill, merging Faversham with 
Davington. The western edge of Faversham comprises 
commercial/industrial warehouses along Oare Road and the 
Western Link, with recent residential development at Faversham 
Lakes extending east of Oare Road. This development is in the 
view from Oare.  

Oare is a small village on the former coastal ridge to the west of 
Oare Creek. The 13th century church of St Peter is on the north-
eastern edge of the village. Oare is a linear settlement along 
The Street – most of the buildings date from the 1800s, with 
some modern infill between The Street and Colegates Road. 
Oare Creek maintains a strong sense of separation from 
Faversham. The character of the village is strongly related to the 
open views across the marshes, moored boats on the creek and 
open land to the water to the east. The marshes and creek form 
an important setting to Oare. 

Although the distance between the settlements is small, they 
have distinct and separate identity and character, with Oare 
being a distinct rural village on the western side of the creek in 
contrast to the large market town of Faversham to the east. 

Landscape character 

Fully meets 

The land between Faversham and Oare contains Oare 
Road/The Street, Oare Creek, wetlands and valley slope to the 
east and wetland meadow to the west. The wetland habitats to 
the west of Oare Road are designated as Oare Meadow nature 
reserve, managed by the Kent Wildlife Trust. Oare Creek and 
the valley slopes are part of the Swale Ramsar, SSSI and SPA. 
There is a children’s playground at the top of the slope, at the 
settlement edge of Oare. 

Page 521



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 27 

Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

The valley slopes of Oare Creek are undeveloped and open, 
with wetland characteristics and priority habitat grazing marsh 
and saltmarsh. Flooded pools formed by former gravel works lie 
to the south-east of Oare Creek, and although these are 
manmade features, they support the wider marshland and 
contribute to the open character of the landscape. There is some 
enclosure on the Faversham side of Oare Creek by trees and 
scrub, which also screens the industrial development/tip site. 

Youngboats dock yard is situated adjacent to Oare Creek, which 
partially diminishes the perception of an undeveloped gap when 
travelling along Oare Road, although the land use and presence 
of boats is compatible and there is a distinct sense of crossing a 
rural valley gap. 

Oare Creek and the associated sloping valley provides an 
undeveloped setting to Oare, and a clear landscape boundary 
between the village of Oare and the edge of Faversham. 

Visual character 

Partially meets 

The large commercial warehouses on the western industrial 
edge of Faversham are visible from Oare, and do not contribute 
positively to the visual character of the village. There are longer 
views across Oare Creek and marshes to the north east which 
are critical to the rural character and setting of Oare, particularly 
in views from the east where the village and St Peter’s Church 
can be seen perched on the old coastline above open valley 
slopes.  

Although the warehouses are prominent in some views from 
Oare, they do not occupy the whole of the view to the east, and 
the sloping valley sides of Oare Creek between the settlements 
provides an undeveloped foreground. From many parts of Oare 
the warehouses are less visible, and the spire of St Mary of 
Charity within Faversham can be seen, emphasising the 
separation of the settlements.  

The new residential development of Faversham Lakes is also 
visible in places and further reinforces the need for the gap 
designation. Intervening areas of open water, scrub and trees 
help retain the sense of a gap south of Oare Road and screen 
the industrial development/tip site in these views. 

 

Practical considerations 

Considerations Commentary 

Gap extent The gap between Oare and the edge of Faversham at its narrowest is 120m along 
Oare Road although widens out along the valley. 

The Street/Oare Road is the main route between the settlements. Although the 
gap is small, people on The Street/Oare Road have a sense of travelling between 
settlements, particularly when crossing Oare Creek.  

Promoted walks run along the road between Oare and Faversham, including the 
Swale Heritage Trail. Public rights of way cross the open land to the west of The 
Street, linking Oare to the Western Link. Crossing Oare Creek and the Western 
Link give users of these public rights of way a strong sense of travelling between 
settlements leaving the market town and industrial edge of Faversham, crossing 
the distinctive creek and entering the small rural village of Oare. 

Page 522



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 28 

Considerations Commentary 

Boundary defensibility There are no potential allocations in this area. Faversham has recently expanded 
to the west at Faversham Lakes, east of Oare Road.  

The gap boundary is proposed as follows: 

 Along the Faversham settlement boundary on Western Link, and north along 
restricted byway ZF3A and a field boundary to the south-western settlement 
boundary of Oare.  

 Along the Oare settlement boundary to the north-eastern point of Oare, and 
south along a track and a field boundary to Oare Creek. Note that this track 
means that the gap does not extend as far north as the church, although the 
slopes here are vital as the setting of Oare and the church.  

 To the east, the boundary crosses the creek and runs along the existing track 
to meet the Faversham settlement boundary at The Lakes development. It 
includes the works/tip site, but it is noted that this is well screened by tree and 
scrub cover in the wider landscape.  

Potential for enhancement The area between Faversham and Oare is internationally designated as part of 
The Swale SPA and Ramsar site, and nationally as part of The Swale SSSI. The 
SSSI is in a favourable condition.  

The lower-lying areas are within flood zone 3, and the Shoreline Management 
Plan along Oare Creek, as part of unit E4 23, is for managed realignment over the 
next century.  

There are priority habitat mudflats and coastal saltmarsh on Oare Creek east of 
The Street/Oare Road. Priority habitat coastal floodplain grazing marsh lies either 
side of The Street/Oare Road. The meadow wetland to the west of The Street is 
designated as Oare Meadow nature reserve, and supports a number of wetland 
species and is popular for birdwatching. 

Enhancements noted in the LCA include the restoration and extension of grazing 
marsh and wetland habitats, and the restoration of the hedgerow network to 
improve habitat connectivity at the local scale.  

Grove Cottage and Grove House are Listed Buildings along the public right of way 
linking the Western Link and Oare. Oare gunpowder works lies to the south-west 
and is a Scheduled Monument. Although not within the gap, the landscape 
provides a rural setting to these heritage assets, which should be enhanced. 

Oare Meadow to the west of The Street is designated as a Local Green Space and 
is managed to conserve its valley/wetland character. 

The Street/Oare Road is designated as a Rural Lane, which contributes to the 
rural amenity, nature conservation and character of the landscape. There are 
opportunities to enhance this road, and increase its rural character, particularly the 
junction between The Street/Oare Road and the Western Link. This could include 
reducing signage, lighting and street clutter where possible, narrowing the 
roadway, and improving planting along the verges of The Street/Oare Road and 
the Western Link. 

In the future there may be opportunities to further enhance access linkages for 
pedestrians (Saxon Shore Way) along the eastern side of the creek, currently 
shared with heavy goods vehicles using the tip site. There may also be 
opportunities for wider natural restoration and management of this area.  

Green buffers and appropriate tree and scrub planting is important for all 
developments to help enhance the marshland setting.  

Page 523



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 29 

Considerations Commentary 

The settlement at Oare should continue to be perceived as a distinct linear 
settlement on the ridge with undeveloped slopes down to the creek – avoiding 
consolidation of buildings on the open slopes. 

The key function of the gap should be to prevent further consolidation of built 
development on the eastern edge of Oare and west of the Faversham Lakes 
residential development. The aim should be to maintain this as a rural area with 
low key developments limited to those associated with the creek and estuary 
(fisheries and boating). The sense of Oare as a distinct settlement on the valley 
ridge overlooking the creek should be maintained. 

Summary and recommendations 

 The analysis above indicates the area between Faversham and Oare meets the criteria for designation as an Important 
Local Countryside Gap, as the area between the settlements is important in maintaining the separation of Faversham and Oare. 
The settlements each have a very different character and identity, and despite the small size of the area, the valley of the Oare 
Creek is an important landscape feature providing a strong sense of separation between Faversham and Oare. The area is 
designated internationally, nationally and locally for its wetland habitats, which affords some protection from development. 
However, further designation as an Important Local Countryside Gap would emphasise the importance of maintaining the 
separate character and identity of the two settlements. 

  

Page 524



Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Faversham to Oare
Faversham to Oare Local Countryside Gap
Swale Borough Settlement Boundaries

0 0.5 1 km

P
age 525



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 31 

Faversham and Ospringe 
Location and context designations 

 

Representative photos 

 

 

 
Flat arable landscape looking towards the new settlement edges of 
Faversham  View down the dry nailbourne valley to Ospringe from the A2, across 

horse paddocks and mature orchards 

Page 526



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 32 

Summary information 

Location and extent of area The area lies to the east of Ospringe and the new south-western boundary of 
Faversham represented by residential development along Brogdale Road. 

Landscape character context LCA 20: Faversham and Ospringe Fruit Belt, which extends from the southern 
boundary of the town to the foot of the Kent Downs dip slope, with a mix of arable 
fruit and hop production.  

 
Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

Existing settlement identity and pattern 

Partially meets 

Faversham is historic market town and port, which grew around 
the small navigable waterways of Faversham and Oare in the 
north of the town. Faversham was an important settlement in the 
Saxon period and became a member of the Cinque Port 
Confederation in the 11th century as a limb of Dover. Unusually 
for the area, Faversham developed separately to the 
Canterbury-London route (now the A2). Although Faversham 
has expanded to the A2, and more recently, beyond, in the 
south, the original settlement pattern is still legible. Much of the 
heritage of Faversham is still intact, and the town is covered by 
several Conservation Areas. The historic town was clearly 
distinct from the smaller settlements of Ospringe and Preston 
located south close to the Roman road. Preston is now fully 
contained within the settlement area, and Ospringe partially. 
Expansion southwards means that the settlement edge in 
relation to this gap is modern comprising 20th and 21st century 
housing and glasshouses immediately south of residential 
development at Ospringe Place on the A2 London Road. 

Ospringe was a prominent place in the Saxon era, focussed 
around the church and Queens Court manor house. The London 
to Canterbury road (now the A2) was a principal route from 
London to Canterbury Cathedral and the Kentish ports, and 
Ospringe developed along the road in response to travelling 
trade. There are a number of Listed Buildings clustered along 
the A2, at Queens Court and on Water Lane to the church, 
which marks the southern boundary of Ospringe as it extends in 
linear form south form the A2 along the minor valley. The whole 
of Ospringe is designated as a Conservation Area. 

Although historically distinct and separate settlements, the 
expansion of Faversham in the 20th century has resulted in 
coalescence between the south of Faversham and the north of 
Ospringe. Despite this, as stated in the Ospringe Conservation 
Area Appraisal: “Ospringe still retains a strongly distinctive and 
special character quite different from that of the much larger 
town”. 

Landscape character 

Fully meets 

The King George V Recreation Ground lies north of the A2. It is 
an open, undeveloped space, although does not appear as 
‘countryside’ as it is in recreational use. 

The land immediately south of the A2 is in use as horse 
paddocks and a mature cherry orchard. There are glasshouses 
in the east adjacent to the Faversham settlement boundary 
screened by tall coniferous shelterbelts. 

Further south towards the M2 land use is a mix of arable and 
pasture and includes orchard and a small, abandoned quarry. 

Page 527



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 33 

Assessment criteria Rating Commentary 

There is a distinct dry valley between Water Lane and Vicarage 
Lane, which had an intermittent stream or nailbourne running 
through it. The valley landform is a characteristic feature of the 
southern edge of Ospringe, and provides a landscape barrier 
between the village and the arable land to the east, as well as a 
rural setting to Ospringe church prominently located on the 
valley side. 

There is limited development within the area – a small row of 
houses on Mutton Lane and at Dormers on Brogdale Road, and 
a telecoms tower between Vicarage Lane and Brogdale Road. 
Historic farms and houses on Water Lane contribute to the rural 
character of this area. 

Visual character 

Fully meets 

The dry nailbourne valley east of Water Lane provides a sense 
of enclosure in views from Water Lane, which is reinforced by 
overhanging trees and hedgerows on Vicarage Lane and Mutton 
Lane. 

Views in the north of the area from footpath ZF11 are open, with 
the edge of Ospringe visible to the west down the valley slope. 
Views from bridleway ZF15 to the north and south-east are also 
open, with the new settlement edge of Faversham clearly visible. 
Development to the east of Brogdale Road is largely screened 
by roadside vegetation.  

Despite their proximity there are limited views from the south-
eastern boundaries of Faversham to Ospringe across the 
undeveloped rural landscape. 

From the ‘gap’ views between settlements emphasis the 
distinction of Ospringe – with views of the roofscape extending 
south along the minor valley in contrast to the more modern 
edge of Faversham.  

 

Practical considerations 

Considerations Commentary 

Gap extent The gap between Faversham and Ospringe is narrow, and ranges from 170m 
along the A2 to 600m in the south. As noted in the Conservation Area Appraisal 
for Ospringe there has already been some coalescence between the south of 
Faversham and north of Ospringe along the A2 in the west. 

The A2 London Road is the main route between Faversham and Ospringe. The 
open space either side of the road from the King George V Recreation Ground 
and fields, as well as views looking down the sloping land to the roofscapes of 
Ospringe, provide a sense of distinct settlements, despite the small distance. 

Public rights of way ZF11 and ZF15 run through the gap, and users of these paths 
have a perception of travelling between settlements, particularly because there is 
limited intervisibility between Faversham and Ospringe in the gap. 

Further south the landscape has a distinct rural character and provides a setting 
for the church, and although recognised as important in its own right is not 
considered to perform a specific ‘gap’ function between Faversham and Ospringe. 

Boundary defensibility There are no potential allocations in or adjacent to this area. 

The proposed gap boundaries are as follows: 

Page 528



 Chapter 3  
Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments 
 

Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps 
January 2021 

 
 

LUC  I 34 

Considerations Commentary 

To the north along the existing settlement boundary of Faversham to encapsulate 
the King George V Recreation Ground, then follows the settlement boundary of 
Ospringe to the west.  

To the east the boundary extends along the settlement boundary of modern 
housing at Ospringe Place and the newly built residential development along 
Brogdale Road. The existing glasshouses are included as part of the gap although 
it is recognised that these have a more developed character. The boundary 
extends south along Brogdale Road to the housing at Dormers. 

The southern boundary is formed by the minor lane/bridleway ZF15 which cuts 
across to Vicarage Lane following the rural lane network along Vicarage Lane and 
Water Lane to meet the settlement edge, with the gap encompassing Queens 
Court Farm and Mount View. This includes the telecoms tower and small quarry 
within the gap.  

As noted above the dry valley to the south has an important landscape function 
but does not fulfil a gap function and is therefore excluded. 

Potential for enhancement There are no national or local designations in this area. There are areas of priority 
habitat traditional orchard to the east of Water Lane. 

Enhancements noted in the LCA include the restoration and extension of the 
hedgerow network, and provision of arable field margins/buffers to improve habitat 
connectivity at the local scale. The conservation and sensitive management of 
older, traditional orchards for biodiversity should be a priority. The site of the 
former quarry should be enhanced to provide landscape and wildlife value. 

The Ospringe Conservation Area extends into the gap between Ospringe and 
Faversham, and the setting of the Conservation Area should be enhanced. There 
are Listed Buildings at Queen Court Farm and Laurel Cottage, on the corner of 
Mutton Lane. The rural setting to these heritage assets should be enhanced. 

The King George V Recreation Ground is designated as a Local Green Space, 
and The Mount is a Grade II listed building in within the open space, formerly the 
Office for the Ministry of National Insurance. 

Water Lane is designated as a Rural Lane, which contributes to the rural amenity, 
nature conservation and character of the landscape. 

Enhancement of the modern settlement edge of Faversham to the east should be 
encouraged including the creation of native tree screening buffers to integrate 
development, and removal of conifer belts where possible.  

There is potential for enhancements to the A2 to make it more pleasant for 
pedestrians and connect the King George V Recreation Ground to the fields south 
of the A2. 

Summary and recommendations 

 The analysis above indicates the area between Faversham and Ospringe meets the criteria for designation as an 
Important Local Countryside Gap. It is a small area, and Faversham and Ospringe have to some extent already coalesced in the 
north. However, both settlements still have a distinct character and Ospringe is still perceived as a distinct and separate village, 
and therefore a countryside gap should be maintained to prevent further coalescence.  

  

Page 529



SLA18/178

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2021

Faversham
 to O

springe
Faversham to Ospringe Local Countryside Gap

Swale Borough Settlement Boundaries

Potential Allocations Oct 2020

0 0.5 1 km

P
age 530



 

   
  
  
Draft Version 1  

 Local Plan Viability Study 

  

 

 
 

Swale Borough Council    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 23 December 2020 

  
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 531



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 

Quality Assurance   
Date of Report  23 December 2020  

Version  Draft  

Filename and path  S:\_Client Projects\2005_Swale BC_WPV\_Reports\Main report\201224_Swale 
WPV_draft_Versio 1 Client Issue.docx  

Prepared by  Edward Tyler, Consultant  

Stuart Cook, Director 

 

Checked by 

Date 

 Stuart Cook, Director 

December 2020  

Authorised by 

Date 

  

   

Limitation   
  This report has been prepared on behalf of and for the exclusive use 

of Aspinall Verdi Limited’s Client and it is subject to and issued in 
connection with the provisions of the agreement between Aspinall 
Verdi Limited and its Client. Aspinall Verdi Limited accepts no liability 
or responsibility whatsoever for or in respect of any use of or reliance 
upon this report by any third party. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 532



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 
 

Contents     
Executive Summary     

Report   

1 Introduction 2 

Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) 5 
MHCLG – planning system reform consultations 5 

2 National planning policy context 7 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019) 7 
Planning Practice Guidance for CIL 12 

3 Methodology 14 

Viability modelling best practice 14 
What to test? 15 
Development appraisal inputs 16 
Benchmark (threshold) land value 17 
Viability modelling approach 20 
Stakeholder engagement 21 

4 Local Plan context 22 

Policy costs inputs & assumptions 22 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 27 
Technical Guidance 28 
Guidance Documents 29 
Management Plan 29 

5 Developing viability scenarios 31 

Residential typologies 31 
Build-to-Rent typology 40 
Older persons accommodation typology 40 
Holiday park accommodation typology 41 
Non-residential typologies 42 

6 Appraisal inputs & assumptions 44 

Value inputs 44 
Build costs inputs & assumptions 48 
Timescales 54 
Land value assessment 61 

7 Viability testing results 68 

Residential 68 
Older persons accommodation 70 
BTR accommodation 70 
Holiday park accommodation 71 
Retail uses 71 
Employment uses 72 

8 Recommendations 73 

Introduction 73 
Residential – policy recommendations 73 
BTR 77 

Page 533



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

Older persons accommodation 77 
Holiday park accommodation 77 
Retail 78 
Employment 79 
CIL recommendations 79 

 

Tables & Figures   

Figure 3-1 Elements required for a viability assessment 14 

Figure 3-2 Balance between RLV and TLV 15 

Table 3-1 Example of development appraisal sensitivity tables 20 

Table 4-1 Policy costs inputs & assumptions 23 

Figure 5-1 Value heatmap 32 

Figure 5-2 Value zones used in viability testing 33 

Table 5-1 Value zone by electoral ward 33 

Table 5-2 Proposed sale values in viability testing 34 

Table 5-3 Analysis of unit sizes of recently delivered schemes 34 

Figure 5-3 National minimum space standards 35 

Figure 5-4 Distribution of residential development growth against value zones 36 

Table 5-4 SHELAA potential allocations sites in higher value zone 37 

Table 5-5 SHELAA brownfield sites in higher value zone 38 

Table 5-6 Generic scenarios testing 38 

Table 5-7 Residential development dwelling mix – schemes with planning permission 39 

Table 5-8 Market and affordable housing mix 39 

Table 5-9 Flatted and mixed typology mix used in viability 40 

Table 5-10 Build to rent accommodation scenarios 40 

Table 5-11 Older persons accommodation scenario 41 

Table 5-12 Holiday lodge accommodation scenario 41 

Table 6-1 Market value appraisal inputs 44 

Table 6-2 Build to rent – rent & yield inputs 45 

Figure 6-1 Knight Frank gross to net rent leakage 46 

Table 6-3 Build to rent capital values 46 

Table 6-4 Older persons accommodation value inputs 46 

Table 6-5 Older persons accommodation value inputs 47 

Table 6-6 Non-residential rents and yields appraisal inputs 47 

Table 6-7 Appraisal build cost inputs & assumptions 49 

Table 6-8 General needs appraisal timing inputs 56 

Table 6-9 Appraisal timing assumptions 60 

Table 6-10 Employment and retail scenarios timescales 60 

Page 534



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

Table 6-11 No. of planned greenfield and brownfield sites 61 

Table 6-12 Achieved agricultural land values 62 

Table 6-13 Brownfield land sold 64 

Table 6-14 Land value development appraisal inputs 65 

Table 7-1 Greenfield viability results - surpluses 68 

Table 7-2 Greenfield / brownfield viability results - surpluses 69 

Table 7-3 Brownfield viability results - surpluses 70 

Table 7-4 Older person accommodation - viability testing results 70 

Table 7-5  Holiday park accommodation - viability testing results 71 

Table 7-5  Retail - viability testing results 71 

Table 7-6  Employment - viability testing results 72 

Table 8-1  Policies included in viability testing 73 

Table 8-2  Potential policy options – funded through greenfield surplus generated 74 

Table 8-3  Potential policy options – funded through brownfield surplus generated 76 

Table 8-4  Potential policy options – funded through surplus generated 78 

Table 8-4  Surplus for CIL – residential development 79 

Table 8-4  Surplus for CIL – residential development 80 

 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – Policy Review 

Appendix 2 – Property Market Report 

Appendix 3 – Dwelling Mix Analysis 

Appendix 4 – BCIS Costs 

Appendix 4 – Appraisals Residential 

Appendix 5 – Appraisals Older Persons Accommodation 

Appendix 6 – Appraisals BTR Accommodation 

Appendix 7 – Appraisals Holiday Park Accommodation 

Appendix 8 – Appraisals Retail Uses 

Appendix 9 – Appraisals Employment Uses 

 

 

Page 535



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

Executive Summary 

ES 1 TBC once report agreed with client.  

Page 536



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 2 

  

 
 

1 Introduction 

 The main objective in this viability assessment is to provide Swale Borough Council (the ‘Council’) 

with an evidence base to assist in identifying the viability impacts of emerging planning policies 

as the new draft Local Plan is developed.  

 The existing Local Plan; Bearing Fruits, sets out the vision for Swale Borough:  

It is 2031 and Swale is known by the fruits of its endeavours.  

We have harnessed our assets – a strategic location, diverse communities and an outstanding 

natural environment – and are a sustainable, flourishing place in which to enjoy life and do 

business, with:  

• Sittingbourne transformed into an attractive, competitive and prosperous town, with a 

thriving centre that residents across the Borough are proud to use;  

• Sheerness and Queenborough as beacons of coastal rejuvenation leading the way to 

success for all communities on the Isle of Sheppey;  

• Faversham, a thriving market town and heritage destination that has grown organically; 

and Successful rural communities across the downs, farmed plains and coast as places of 

innovation; nurturing enterprise, local produce and greater self-reliance.1 

 To achieve the vision the Local Plan sets out 12 core objectives:  

1) Adapt to climate change with innovation, reduced use of resources, managed risk to our 

communities and opportunities for biodiversity to thrive. 

2) Use our coastal assets to support a strong economy and a sustainably managed 

environment. 

3) Support economic success and improve community wellbeing with a network of maintained, 

protected and improved natural assets in town and country. 

4) Conserve and enhance our historic and natural assets as the means to drive regeneration, 

tourism, and environmental quality and to reverse declines in their condition. 

5) Strive for high quality design to bring a better quality of life, opportunities for healthy living 

and self-confidence to our communities. 

6) Be flexible, provide choice and support sectors that can build on our strengths, diversify our 

economy, promote investment in skills, and develop our distinct opportunities in pursuit of 

greener and pioneering technologies. 

 
1 Swale Borough Council, Bearing Fruits 2031 - The Swale Borough Local Plan, adopted July 2017 

Page 537



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 3 

  

 
 

7) Bring economic growth, regeneration and community development, especially to our most 

deprived communities.  

8) Support our farming and food sectors so that they are at the forefront of increasing food 

security, reducing food miles and increasing local food consumption.  

9) Provide the right housing to support demographic change and housing needs to regenerate 

and build stronger, greener communities.  

10) Develop tourism and culture to support regeneration, employment growth, communities and 

environmental management. 

11) Improve prosperity and environmental quality with efficient and sustainable transport 

networks. 

12) Ensure timely delivery of the services and infrastructure to support strong communities. 

 To ensure the objectives in the draft Local Plan can be delivered the Council is seeking:  

• a robust evidence base that determines that the viability of the policies and proposals 

(including site allocations/typologies) set out in the local plan review are viable and can be 

delivered and that this is prepared in accordance with national policy, guidance and best 

practice; and 

• evidence whether or not Swale Borough Council can or should proceed with a Community 

Infrastructure Levy. 

 The viability assessment is be based on the ‘viability standards’ outlined in the revised National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), the Local Housing 

Delivery Group publication ‘Viability Testing Local Plans’, 2012; the Royal Institution of Chartered 

Surveyors (RICS) ‘Financial Viability in Planning 1st Edition’, 2012.; and the RICS Financial 

viability in planning: conduct and reporting. 1st Edition, May 2019.  

 The remainder of this report is structured as follows: 

Section 2 – National Planning 

Policy Context 

This section sets out the statutory requirements for the 

Local Plan and CIL viability including the NPPF, CIL 

Regulations and PPG. 

Section 3 – Methodology This section sets out our methodology to establish the 

viability of the various land uses and development 

typologies used in the testing.  We also set out the 

professional guidance used when undertaking the 

economic viability appraisals.  

Page 538



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 4 

  

 
 

Declaration  

 In accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Financial viability in planning: 

conduct and reporting 1st edition, May 2019 we declare the following:  

Objectivity, impartiality and reasonableness 

 We can confirm that we have undertaken our financial viability assessment with objectivity, 

impartiality and without interference. In doing so we have made reference to all appropriate 

sources of information to form our conclusions and recommendations.  

Conflict of interests 

 We confirm that we have undertaken a conflict of interest check in relation to this instruction and 

we are not aware of any deemed conflicts in relation to this instruction.  We confirm that we are 

not acting on behalf of any party in relation to scheme specific viability testing in the Borough.  

Not formal valuations  

 This report and the accompanying appraisals have been prepared in line with RICS valuation 

guidance. However, it is first and foremost a supporting document to support the delivery of the 

Section 4 – Local Plan Context This section sets out the details of the emerging planning 

policies of the draft Local Plan and their associated costs. 

In addition, we set out details of the existing Community 

Infrastructure Charging Schedule. 

Section 5 – Developing viability 

scenarios 

 

This section sets out each of our scenarios that we have 

used in the viability testing and how they have been 

devised.  

Section 6 – Appraisal inputs & 

assumptions  

This section sets out our viability inputs and assumptions 

that have been used in the development appraisals.  

Also, the assessment of greenfield and brownfield land 

values that have been used in the viability testing.  

Section 7 – Viability testing results This section sets out our viability testing results across all 

the scenarios.  

Section 8 –Recommendations In the final section we set our policy recommendations 

based on our evidence gathered and the results of our 

viability testing. 

Page 539



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 5 

  

 
 

draft Local Plan. The appraisals are not a formal ‘Red Book’ (RICS Valuation, Global Standards 

2017) valuation and should not be relied upon as such. 

Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) 

 The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19), declared by the World Health Organisation 

as a “Global Pandemic” on 11 March 2020, has impacted global financial markets. Travel 

restrictions have been implemented by many countries. 

 Market activity is being impacted in many sectors. As at the date of the report, AspinallVerdi 

consider that we can attach less weight to previous market evidence for comparison purposes, 

to inform opinions of value.  Indeed, the current response to COVID-19 means that we are faced 

with an unprecedented set of circumstances on which to base a judgement. 

 Our appraisals are therefore reported on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as per 

Valuation Practice Statement 3 and Valuation Practice Guidance Applications 10 of the RICS 

Red Book Global. Consequently, less certainty – and a higher degree of caution – should be 

attached to our appraisals than would normally be the case. Given the unknown future impact 

that COVID-19 might have on the real estate market, we recommend that the Council keep the 

appraisals under frequent review. 

MHCLG – planning system reform consultations 

 On the 06 August 2020, the government opened two consultations where they have suggested 

major changes to the UK planning system in the coming years. The two consultations are due to 

close in October and we currently do not know when any changes are likely to be implemented. 

  The first proposes changes to our current system to speed up housing delivery in the short term. 

The second looks longer term and proposes a complete overhaul to the existing system. We 

summarise both these White Paper documents as follows:  

Changes to the current planning system consultation2 

 This document outlines a number of changes to the existing planning system. The four main 

points are listed below.  

• changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need. 

• securing of “First Homes” through developer contributions in the short term until the 

transition to a new system. 

• supporting small and medium-sized builders by temporarily lifting the small sites threshold 

below which developers do not need to contribute to affordable housing. 

 
2 MHCLG, Changes to the current planning system consultation, August 2020 

Page 540



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 6 

  

 
 

• extending the current Permission in Principle to major development.  

 The potential change with the greatest impact on this viability study would be the increase in the 

threshold for small sites which need to contribute towards affordable housing: 

Planning for the future consultation3 

 This document outlines considerable long-term changes to the UK planning system. The outcome 

of this consultation will likely mean changes to primary legislation rather than just the NPPF.  

 A number of significant changes are proposed not least including the way local authorities’ 

evidence and create local plans. Amongst other things the way viability is considered in the 

planning system will be transformed with proposals including the removal of S106 agreements 

and CIL. These would be replaced with a single consolidated ‘Infrastructure Levy’ which would 

include all planning gain developer contributions – including affordable housing.  

 These changes could have a significant impact on the Swale Borough Local Plan and this viability 

assessment. We don’t know what future plans may look like under the new system but it is likely 

that viability assessments such as this will change considerably. 

  

 
3 MHCLG, Planning for the Future – White Paper, August 2020 

Page 541



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 7 

  

 
 

2 National planning policy context  

 Our economic viability appraisal has been carried out having regard to the NPPF and PPG. We 

set out the pertinent points of these documents as follows:  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019)  

 The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected 

to be applied. It was first published on 27 March 2012 and the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

& Local Government (MHCLG) issued a revised version in July 2018 which was updated again 

in February 2019 to reflect the introduction of the standard method for assessing local housing 

need. 

Plans should be deliverable  

 The NPPF requires local plans to be deliverable, paragraph 16 of the revised NPPF states: ‘Plans 

should:  

Plans should:  

a) be prepared with the objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable development;   

b) be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable;  

c) be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between planmakers and 

communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and operators and 

statutory consultees;  

d) contain policies that are clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker 

should react to development proposals;   

e) be accessible through the use of digital tools to assist public involvement and policy 

presentation; and  

f) serve a clear purpose, avoiding unnecessary duplication of policies that apply to a particular 

area (including policies in this Framework, where relevant).’4 

Planning contribution/obligations   

 The setting of development contributions should not place the delivery of the plan at risk: 

‘Plans should set out the contributions expected from development. This should include setting 

out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required, along with other infrastructure 

 
4 MHCLG, February 2019, National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 16 

Page 542



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 8 

  

 
 

(such as that needed for education, health, transport, flood and water management, green and 

digital infrastructure). Such policies should not undermine the deliverability of the plan.’’5 

 The NPPF states that planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the 

following tests:  

‘a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

b) directly related to the development; and  

c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.’6  

Affordable housing 

 The NPPF sets a 10 units threshold for seeking affordable housing contributions, except in 

designated rural areas:  

‘Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments that are not 

major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower 

threshold of 5 units or fewer).’7 

 The NPPF defines major development as follows:  

‘For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site has an area of 

0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential development it means additional floorspace of 1,000m2 

or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as otherwise provided in the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.’’8 

 Where affordable housing is sought, local planning authorities should seek at least 10% provision 

where there is identified need:  

‘Where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and 

decisions should expect at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home ownership, 

unless this would exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area, or significantly 

prejudice the ability to meet the identified affordable housing needs of specific groups. 

Exemptions to this 10% requirement should also be made where the site or proposed 

development:  

a) provides solely for Build to Rent homes;  

b) provides specialist accommodation for a group of people with specific needs (such as purpose-

built accommodation for the elderly or students);  

 
5 Ibid, paragraph 34 
6 Ibid, paragraph 56 
7 Ibid, paragraph 63 
8 Ibid, page 68 

Page 543



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 9 

  

 
 

c) is proposed to be developed by people who wish to build or commission their own homes; or  

d) is exclusively for affordable housing, an entry-level exception site or a rural exception site.’9 

Vacant building credit  

 The NPPF allows for affordable housing obligations to be reduced if there are any existing 

buildings on site:  

‘To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or 

redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate 

amount.’’10 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 Alongside the NPPF, updates to the PPG 'Viability and plan-making' were also applied. The 

guidance is now much more prescriptive on the methodology to determine the land value and as 

such Chapter 3 details our approach to land value taking into account those revisions. Chapter 4 

goes on to outline how costs and values in development appraisals should be determined. 

Viability to be resolved at planning making stage  

 The PPG builds on the NPPF in that viability matters should be resolved at the plan making stage 

rather than decision-making stage, thus placing further weight on viability assessments early in 

the process:  

‘Policy requirements, particularly for affordable housing, should be set at a level that takes 

account of affordable housing and infrastructure needs and allows for the planned types of sites 

and development to be deliverable, without the need for further viability assessment at the 

decision making stage.’11 

Setting of policy requirements for contributions 

 The PPG explains that Plans should set out the contributions expected from development.  The 

contributions should ‘include setting out the levels and types of affordable housing provision 

required, along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport, 

flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure).’12 

 
9 Ibid, paragraph 64 
10 Ibid, paragraph 63 
11 MHCLG, 09 May 2019, Planning Practice Guidance, Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 10-002-20190509 
12 Ibid, Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 10-001-20190509  

Page 544



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 10 

  

 
 

 When setting policies these will need to be informed through evidence based on the infrastructure 

and affordable housing need for the area. There is also a need for clarity of policy requirements 

so that these can be reflected in the land value:  

‘These policy requirements should be informed by evidence of infrastructure and affordable 

housing need, and a proportionate assessment of viability that takes into account all relevant 

policies, and local and national standards, including the cost implications of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and section 106. Policy requirements should be clear so that they can 

be accurately accounted for in the price paid for land. To provide this certainty, affordable housing 

requirements should be expressed as a single figure rather than a range. Different requirements 

may be set for different types or location of site or types of development.13’  

 In setting planning policy requirements local authorities need to have regard to the impact these 

have on development viability: ‘The role for viability assessment is primarily at the plan making 

stage. Viability assessment should not compromise sustainable development but should be used 

to ensure that policies are realistic, and that the total cumulative cost of all relevant policies will 

not undermine deliverability of the plan.’14 

 The PPG also places an emphasis on addressing education requirements when considering 

viability at plan-making stage:  

‘When considering viability it is recommended that plan makers and local authorities for education 

work collaboratively to identify which schools are likely to expand, and where new schools will be 

needed as a result of planned growth. 

It is important that costs and land requirements for education provision are known to inform site 

typologies and site-specific viability assessments, with an initial assumption that development will 

provide both funding for construction and land for new schools required onsite, commensurate 

with the level of education need generated by the development.’15 

 Ultimately the PPG is clear that total cumulative costs of policies should not render development 

unviable:  

‘The total cumulative cost of all relevant policies should not be of a scale that will make 

development unviable. Local planning authorities should set out future spending priorities for 

developer contributions in an Infrastructure Funding Statement.’16  

 

 

 
13Ibid, Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 10-001-20190509  
14 Ibid, Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 10-002-20180724  
15Ibid, Paragraph: 029 Reference ID: 10-029-20190509 
16 Ibid 

Page 545



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 11 

  

 
 

Need for engagement  

 The PPG places a greater emphasis on engagement at plan-making stage, from both plan 

makers and stakeholders: 

‘Plan makers should engage with landowners, developers, and infrastructure and affordable 

housing providers to secure evidence on costs and values to inform viability assessment at the 

plan making stage. 

It is the responsibility of site promoters to engage in plan making, take into account any costs 

including their own profit expectations and risks, and ensure that proposals for development are 

policy compliant. Policy compliant means development which fully complies with up to date plan 

policies. A decision maker can give appropriate weight to emerging policies. It is important for 

developers and other parties buying (or interested in buying) land to have regard to the total 

cumulative cost of all relevant policies when agreeing a price for the land. Under no 

circumstances will the price paid for land be a relevant justification for failing to accord with 

relevant policies in the plan.’17 

Planning Practice Guidance for Housing For Older & Disabled People 

 There is a separate section of the PPG to help guide Councils in preparing policies on housing 

for older and disabled people (published 26 June 2019). The PPG recognises the necessity to 

plan for the housing needs of disabled people: 

‘The provision of appropriate housing for people with disabilities, including specialist and 

supported housing, is crucial in helping them to live safe and independent lives. Unsuitable or 

unadapted housing can have a negative impact on disabled people and their carers. It can lead 

to mobility problems inside and outside the home, poorer mental health and a lack of employment 

opportunities. Providing suitable housing can enable disabled people to live more independently 

and safely, with greater choice and control over their lives. Without accessible and adaptable 

housing, disabled people risk facing discrimination and disadvantage in housing. An ageing 

population will see the numbers of disabled people continuing to increase and it is important we 

plan early to meet their needs throughout their lifetime.’18 

 Where an identified need exists, planning policies can set out the proportion of new housing that 

will be delivered to the following standards: 

‘M4(1) Category 1: Visitable dwellings (the minimum standard that applies where no planning 

condition is given unless a plan sets a higher minimum requirement) 

 
17 Ibid, Paragraph: 006 Reference ID: 10-006-20190509 
18 MHCLG, 26 June 2019,  Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 63-002-20190626 

Page 546



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 12 

  

 
 

M4(2) Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings 

M4(3) Category 3: Wheelchair user dwellings 

Planning policies for accessible housing need to be based on evidence of need, viability and a 

consideration of site specific factors.’19 

 The PPG recognises the diversity of specialist housing, stating: 

‘There is a significant amount of variability in the types of specialist housing for older people. The 

list above provides an indication of the different types of housing available, but is not definitive. 

Any single development may contain a range of different types of specialist housing.’20 

 In regards to how the viability of specialist housing for older people should be addressed, the 

PPG states the following:  

‘Viability guidance sets out how plan makers and decision takers should take account of viability, 

including for specialist housing for older people. Plans should set out the contributions expected 

from development. This should include setting out the levels and types of affordable housing 

provision required, along with other infrastructure. Plans can set out different policy requirements 

for different types of development. These policy requirements should be informed by evidence of 

infrastructure and affordable housing need, and a proportionate assessment of viability that takes 

into account all relevant policies and local and national standards, including the cost implications 

of Community Infrastructure Levy and section 106. 

Viability guidance states that where up to date policies have set out the contributions expected 

from development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable. 

It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a 

viability assessment at the application stage. Such circumstances could include types of 

development which may significantly vary from standard models of development for sale (for 

example housing for older people).’21 

Planning Practice Guidance for CIL 

 There is a separate section of the PPG for CIL. The CIL PPG was first published in June 2014 

and last updated in March 2019.  The PPG is intended to provide clarity on the CIL Statutory 

Regulations which were first introduced in April 2010 and amended in February 2011, November 

2012, April 2013, February 2014, and March 2015.22 The Regulations have never been 

consolidated. 

 
19 MHCLG, 26 June 2019, Paragraph: 009 Reference ID: 63-015-20190626 
20 Ibid, Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 63-015-20190626 
21 Ibid, Paragraph: 015 Reference ID: 63-015-20190626 
22 https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/pas-topics/infrastructure/cil-regulations-and-dclg-documents  

Page 547

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability


  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 13 

  

 
 

 The PPG requires that ‘charging authorities should think strategically in their use of the levy to 

ensure that key infrastructure priorities are delivered to facilitate growth and the economic benefit 

of the wider area’.23  Also, ‘when deciding the levy rates, an authority must strike an appropriate 

balance between additional investment to support development and the potential effect on the 

viability of developments.’24 (our emphasis) 

Other developer contributions 

 The PPG acknowledges that infrastructure can be funded in a number of ways i.e. CIL, S106, 

and Section 278.  But local authorities need to be clear of their ‘infrastructure needs and what 

developers will be expected to pay for through which route. 

Authorities can choose to use funding from different routes to fund the same infrastructure. 

Authorities should set out in infrastructure funding statements which infrastructure they expect to 

fund through the levy and through planning obligations (see regulation 121A).’25 

 Because the levy is intended to provide infrastructure to support development across the area it 

is acknowledged that there might be a need for some site-specific mitigation, which could be 

captured outside CIL through a Section 106 Obligation.  

Can the levy be paid ‘in kind’ rather than in cash? 

 The charging authority can accept ‘land and/or infrastructure to be provided, instead of money, 

to satisfy a charge arising from the levy.’26 

 Such an agreement is subject to the Charging Authority discretion. If a Charging Authority wished 

to adopt this approach ‘of accepting infrastructure payments, they must publish a policy document 

which sets out conditions in detail. This document should confirm that the authority will accept 

infrastructure payments and set out the infrastructure projects, or types of infrastructure, they will 

consider accepting as payment (this list may be the same list provided for the purposes of 

regulation 123).’27 

  

 
23 MHCLG, 01 September 2019, PPG CIL, Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 25-012-20190901 
24 Ibid, Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 25-010-20190901 
25 MHCLG, 01 September 2019, PPG, Paragraph: 169 Reference ID: 25-169-20190901 
26 Ibid, Paragraph: 133 Reference ID: 25-133-20190901 
27 Ibid, Paragraph: 134 Reference ID: 25-134-20190901 

Page 548



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 14 

  

 
 

3 Methodology 

 In this section of the report, we set out our methodology to establish the viability of the various 

land uses and development typologies to use in the testing. We also set out the professional 

guidance that we have had regard to in undertaking the economic viability appraisals.   

Viability modelling best practice 

 The general principle is that affordable housing, CIL and other planning obligations will be levied 

on the increase in land value resulting from the grant of planning permission.  However, there are 

fundamental differences between land economics and every development scheme is different. 

Therefore, in order to derive planning contributions (including CIL) and understand the 

‘appropriate balance,’ it is important to understand the micro-economic principles which underpin 

the viability analysis. 

 The uplift in value is calculated using a Residual Land Value (RLV) appraisal Figure 3-1 illustrates 

the principles of a RLV appraisal. 

 
Source Harman Report28 (June 2012) 

 Our specific appraisals for each of the land uses and typologies are set out in the relevant section 

below. 

 In order to advise on the ability of the proposed uses/scheme to support affordable housing, other 

policy obligations and CIL we have benchmarked the residual land values from the viability 

 
28 Local Housing Delivery Group, Local Government Association / Home Builders Federation / NHBC, 20 June 2012, Viability 
Testing Local Plans, Advice for planning practitioners, Edition 1 (the ‘Harman’ report) page 30 

Figure 3-1 Elements required for a viability assessment 

Page 549



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 15 

  

 
 

analysis against existing or alternative land use relevant to the particular typology – the Threshold 

Land Value. 

 A scheme is viable if the total of all the costs of development including land acquisition, planning 

obligations, CIL and profit are less than the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the scheme.  

Conversely, if the GDV is less than the total costs of development (including land, S106s, CIL 

and profit) the scheme will be unviable. 

 If the balance is positive, then the policy is viable.  If the balance is negative, then the policy is 

not viable and the CIL and/or affordable housing rates should be reviewed.   

 This approach is summarised on the diagram in Figure 3-2.   

 
Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

What to test?  

 For plan wide viability testing it is not necessary to test every proposed development site but to 

base the testing on the ‘type of sites’ which are reflective of the development proposed over the 

plan period – this is known as testing of ‘typologies.’ Where there are key sites (strategic sites) 

that are fundamental to the delivery of the plan these need to be considered separately. The PPG 

explains this as follows: 

‘Assessing the viability of plans does not require individual testing of every site or assurance that 

individual sites are viable. Plan makers can use site typologies to determine viability at the plan 

making stage. Assessment of samples of sites may be helpful to support evidence. In some 

Figure 3-2 Balance between RLV and TLV 

Page 550



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 16 

  

 
 

circumstances a more detailed assessment may be necessary for particular areas or key sites 

on which the delivery of the plan relies.’29 

What is meant by a typology approach to viability? 

 Typologies for the viability testing are to be based on the proposed development in the plan to 

ensure the testing represents the type of development coming forward. In doing so it is 

appropriate to consider ‘shared characteristics such as location, whether brownfield or greenfield, 

size of site and current and proposed use or type of development.’30 

Viability testing of key sites  

 The PPG considers key sites as those sites that are crucial to the delivery of the plan ‘…for 

example, large sites, sites that provide a significant proportion of planned supply, sites that 

enable or unlock other development sites or sites within priority regeneration areas.’31 

Development appraisal inputs 

 In devising the inputs to use in the appraisals, it is acceptable to use standardised inputs, rather 

than relying on site specifics: ‘All viability assessments, including any undertaken at the plan-

making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national planning guidance, including 

standardised inputs, and should be made publicly available.’32 

Gross Development Value  

 The Gross Development Value is the cumulative value of the completed development. For plan 

wide viability assessments ‘…average figures can be used, with adjustment to take into account 

land use, form, scale, location, rents and yields, disregarding outliers in the data.’33 

Development costs  

 The PPG explains, as with values, cost should also reflect local market conditions, it also places 

an emphasis to identify development costs at plan-making stage: Local market development 

costs could relate to dealing with local ground conditions, environmental mitigation, flood risk, 

design requirements, sustainability etc. The PPG states ‘As far as possible, costs should be 

identified at the plan making stage. Plan makers should identify where costs are unknown and 

identify where further viability assessment may support a planning application.’ 34 

 
29 MHCLG, 05 May 2019, PPG, Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 10-004-20190509 
30 Ibid, Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 10-003-20180724 
31 MHCLG, 24 July 2018, PPG, Paragraph 005 Reference ID: 10-005-20180724 
32 MHCLG, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019. Paragraph 57 
33 Ibid, Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 10-011-20180724  
34 MHCLG, 05 May 2019, PPG, Paragraph 014 Reference ID: 10-014-20190509 

Page 551



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 17 

  

 
 

Benchmark (threshold) land value 

 Benchmark land value, also referred to as threshold land value, has been subject to much debate 

in recent years due to trying to establish the most appropriate method to determine it for planning 

purposes. The two most common approaches have been Existing Use plus and Market Value 

adjusted for policy. The latter, although a more market facing approach, has faced criticism35 

because practitioners have not been adjusting land values fully for policy. The PPG now provides 

a clear single method (Existing Use plus premium) in determining land value:  

‘To define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value should be established 

on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, plus a premium for the landowner. 

The premium for the landowner should reflect the minimum return at which it is considered a 

reasonable landowner would be willing to sell their land. The premium should provide a 

reasonable incentive, in comparison with other options available, for the landowner to sell land 

for development while allowing a sufficient contribution to fully comply with policy requirements. 

Landowners and site purchasers should consider policy requirements when agreeing land 

transactions. This approach is often called ‘existing use value plus’ (EUV+)’36 

 The PPG also sets out the factors that should be considered when establishing the land value:  

• ‘be based upon existing use value  

• allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those building their own 

homes) 

• reflect the implications of abnormal costs; site-specific infrastructure costs; and 

professional site fees’ 

Viability assessments should be undertaken using benchmark land values derived in accordance 

with this guidance. Existing use value should be informed by market evidence of current 

uses, costs and values. Market evidence can also be used as a cross-check of benchmark 

land value but should not be used in place of benchmark land value. There may be a 

divergence between benchmark land values and market evidence; and plan makers should be 

aware that this could be due to different assumptions and methodologies used by individual 

developers, site promoters and landowners. 

This evidence should be based on developments which are fully compliant with emerging or up 

to date plan policies, including affordable housing requirements at the relevant levels set out in 

the plan. Where this evidence is not available plan makers and applicants should identify and 

evidence any adjustments to reflect the cost of policy compliance. This is so that historic 

 
35 Sayce, S, et al, January 2017, Viability and the planning system: the relationship between economic viability testing, land 
values and affordable housing in London 
36 MHCLG, 05 May 2019, PPG, Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 10-013-20190509 

Page 552

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#para015
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#para015


  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 18 

  

 
 

benchmark land values of non-policy compliant developments are not used to inflate values over 

time. 

In plan making, the landowner premium should be tested and balanced against emerging 

policies. In decision making, the cost implications of all relevant policy requirements, 

including planning obligations and, where relevant, any Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

charge should be taken into account.’’37 

 Despite the clarity the PPG brings, there is still uncertainty on how the premium is calculated. 

This was highlighted in the research undertaken by Sarah Sayce: ‘Overall, the ‘EUV plus’ 

approach was favoured by the majority of respondents, despite the recognition that the premium 

element can be difficult to assess in some circumstances.’38 

 The PPG explains ‘The premium should provide a reasonable incentive for a land owner to bring 

forward land for development while allowing a sufficient contribution to fully comply with policy 

requirements. 

Plan makers should establish a reasonable premium to the landowner for the purpose of 

assessing the viability of their plan. This will be an iterative process informed by professional 

judgement and must be based upon the best available evidence informed by cross sector 

collaboration.’39 

 In helping to inform the professional judgement, a balance needs to be struck between the 

competing interests (developers, landowners and the aims of the planning) ‘to secure maximum 

benefits in the public interest through the granting of planning permission.’40 

 In considering suitable premiums to apply we are mindful of the following:  

• The Harman Report 41 - was published in response to the introduction of viability becoming 

more prominent in the planning system post the introduction of the NPPF. Although the 

Harman Report pre-dates the current iteration of the PPG on viability it does recommend 

the EUV plus approach to determine land value for planning purposes. The Harman report 

also advocates that when assessing an appropriate Benchmark Land Value, consideration 

should be given to ‘the fact that future plan policy requirements will have an impact on land 

values and owners’ expectations.’ 42 Harman, does acknowledge that reference to market 

values will provide a useful ‘sense check’ on the Benchmark Land Values that are being 

used in the appraisal model; however, ‘it is not recommended that these are used as the 

 
37 MHCLG, 09 May 2019, PPG, Paragraph: 014 Reference ID: 10-014-20190509 
38 Sayce, S, et al, January 2017, viability and the planning system: the relationship between economic viability testing, land values 
and affordable housing in London, page 6 
39 MHCLG, 09 May 2019, PPG, Paragraph: 016 Reference ID: 10-016-20190509 
40 MHCLG, 24 July 2018, PPG, 3.21 Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 10-010-20180724 
41 Local Housing Delivery Group Chaired by Sir John Harman, 20 June 2012, Viability Testing Local Plans, Advice for planning 
practitioners 
42 Ibid, page 29 

Page 553



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 19 

  

 
 

basis for input into a model.’43 It also acknowledges that for large greenfield sites, ‘land 

owners are rarely forced or distressed sellers, and generally take a much longer term view 

over the merits or otherwise of disposing of their asset.’44 It refers to these ‘prospective 

sellers’ as ‘potentially making a once in a lifetime decision over whether to sell an 

asset that may have been in the family, trust or institution’s ownership for many 

generations.’45 In these circumstances, Harman states that for these greenfield sites that 

‘the uplift to current use value sought by the landowner will invariably be significantly 

higher than in an urban context and requires very careful consideration.’46 

• HCA Area Wide Viability Model - although now a dated document, the HCA Area Wide 

Viability Model (Annex 1 Transparent Viability Assumptions) provides guidance on the size 

of the premium. The guidance states that ‘Benchmarks and evidence from planning 

appeals tend to be in a range of 10% to 30% above EUV in urban areas. For greenfield 

land, benchmarks tend to be in a range of 10 to 20 times agricultural value’.47 

• Inspector's Post-Hearing Letter to North Essex Authorities – the Inspector’s letter is 

in relation to, amongst other things, the viability evidence of three proposed garden 

communities in North Essex.  The three Garden Communities would provide up to 43,000 

dwellings in total.  The majority of land for the Garden Communities is in agricultural use, 

and the Inspector recognised that the EUV for this use would be around £10,000 per gross 

acre.  In this case, the Inspector was of the opinion that around a x10 multiple (£100,000 

per gross acre) would provide sufficient incentive for a landowner to sell. But given ‘the 

necessarily substantial requirements of the Plan’s policies’ a price ‘below £100,000/acre 

could be capable of providing a competitive return to a willing landowner’.48 The Inspector, 

however, judged that ‘it is extremely doubtful that, for the proposed GCs, a land price below 

£50,000/acre – half the figure that appears likely to reflect current market expectations – 

would provide a sufficient incentive to a landowner. The margin of viability is therefore likely 

to lie somewhere between a price of £50,000 and £100,000 per acre.’49 

Conclusion on approach to land value  

 Current guidance is clear that the land value assessment needs to be based on Existing Use plus 

Premium and not a Market Value approach. Although the assessment of the Existing Use can be 

informed by comparable evidence the uncertainty lies in how the premium is calculated. 

Whatever is the resulting land value (i.e. Existing Use plus Premium) the PPG is clear that this 

 
43 Ibid 
44 Ibid, page 30 
45 Ibid 
46 Ibid  
47 HCA, August 2010, Area Wide Viability Model (Annex 1 Transparent Viability Assumptions) 
48 Planning Inspectorate,15 May 2020, Examination of the Shared Strategic Section 1 Plan - North Essex Authorities, Paragraph 
204  
49Ibid, Paragraph 205  

Page 554



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 20 

  

 
 

must reflect the cost of complying with policies: ‘the total cost of all relevant policy requirements 

including contributions towards affordable housing and infrastructure, Community Infrastructure 

Levy charges, and any other relevant policies or standards. These costs should be taken into 

account when defining benchmark land value.’ 50 Furthermore, there is a need to ensure that the 

maximum benefits in the public interested are secured once any future granting of planning 

permission is made.  

Viability modelling approach  

 We have undertaken viability testing using a bespoke Microsoft Excel model. The model 

calculates the viability surplus/deficient for each scenario with results displayed in a series of 

tables. The viability model treats the Benchmark Land Value as a viability input i.e. costs to the 

development rather than a comparison between a residual land value and Benchmark Land 

Value. The benefits of this approach are that land payments can be phased in the cashflow with 

appropriate interest accrued. The accompany sensitivity tables (see example in Table 3-1) work 

on the basis that the variables run through the appraisals to generate multiple results of 

surplus/deficient against the given variables.  The example in Table 3-1 assumes a baseline 

position of 30% affordable housing and £0 per unit S106 - this produces a surplus of £2.25 6 

million. This same surplus is circled in the sensitivity results table because they represent the 

same assumption in the appraisal.  We can see through the sensitivity testing that should S106 

increase to £10,00 per unit (as an appraisal input) the deficit decreases to £1.449 million.  

 
Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

 
50 MHCLG, 24 July 2018, PPG, Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 

BALANCE

Surplus/(Deficit) 902,304 £ per ha 365,158 £ per acre 2,255,761

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

AH - % on site 30%

Balance (RLV - TLV) 2,255,761 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

-                   2,886,241 2,571,001 2,255,761 1,940,521 1,625,281 1,310,042 994,802

2,500               2,684,488 2,369,248 2,054,008 1,738,768 1,423,528 1,108,289 793,049

5,000               2,482,735 2,167,495 1,852,255 1,537,015 1,221,776 906,536 591,296

7,500               2,280,982 1,965,742 1,650,502 1,335,262 1,020,023 704,783 389,543

10,000              2,079,229 1,763,989 1,448,749 1,133,510 818,270 503,030 187,790

Site Specific S106 13,000              1,837,125 1,521,886 1,206,646 891,406 576,166 260,927 (54,313)

0 15,000              1,675,723 1,360,483 1,045,244 730,004 414,764 99,524 (215,716)

17,500              1,473,970 1,158,730 843,491 528,251 213,011 (102,229) (417,468)

20,000              1,272,217 956,978 641,738 326,498 11,258 (303,982) (619,221)

22,500              1,070,464 755,225 439,985 124,745 (190,495) (505,735) (820,974)

25,000              868,712 553,472 238,232 (77,008) (392,248) (707,487) (1,022,727)

27,500              666,959 351,719 36,479 (278,761) (594,001) (909,240) (1,224,480)

30,000              465,206 149,966 (165,274) (480,514) (795,753) (1,110,993) (1,426,233)

32,500              263,453 (51,787) (367,027) (682,267) (997,506) (1,312,746) (1,627,986)

35,000              61,700 (253,540) (568,780) (884,019) (1,199,259) (1,514,499) (1,829,739)

37,500              (140,053) (455,293) (770,533) (1,085,772) (1,401,012) (1,716,252) (2,031,492)

40,000              (341,806) (657,046) (972,285) (1,287,525) (1,602,765) (1,918,005) (2,233,245)

42,500              (543,559) (858,799) (1,174,038) (1,489,278) (1,804,518) (2,119,758) (2,434,997)

45,000              (745,312) (1,060,551) (1,375,791) (1,691,031) (2,006,271) (2,321,511) (2,636,750)

47,500              (947,065) (1,262,304) (1,577,544) (1,892,784) (2,208,024) (2,523,264) (2,838,503)

50,000              (1,148,817) (1,464,057) (1,779,297) (2,094,537) (2,409,777) (2,725,016) (3,040,256)

Table 3-1 Example of development appraisal sensitivity tables 

Page 555



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 21 

  

 
 

Stakeholder engagement 

 Due to the timescales and the implications of the global pandemic, it has not been possible at 

this stage to undertake a formal stakeholder consultation. We have had one to one discussions 

with members of the Council to discuss aspects such as carbon reductions and increased use of 

renewables. We have also seen information regarding the proposed land use schedule at the 

Rushenden South site. Following the publication of this report and any representations made, it 

may be appropriate to undertake stakeholder engagement at that stage. 

  

Page 556



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 22 

  

 
 

4 Local Plan context 

 As part of our viability testing, we have reviewed both the existing policies and where available, 

the relevant draft policies coming forward that Swale Borough Council is envisaging.  

Policy costs inputs & assumptions 

 We have undertaken our policy assessment through a ‘traffic light system’: policies marked red 

(high impact) are presumed to have a direct impact on viability and have been incorporated into 

the economic appraisal. Where a policy is considered to have medium risk (amber colour), 

generally it has an indirect impact on viability and has been factored into the study through the 

property market cost and value inputs and assumptions. Our assessment has been undertaken 

on the existing adopted policies from the current Local Plan and any unfolding draft policies 

coming forward. A summary is set out in Table 4-1 on how the costs are reflected in our appraisals 

and our full planning policy analysis is in Appendix 1. 

Page 557



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2002 

 

 23 

  

 
 

 

Element Cost Comment 

Existing policy – Swale Borough Council, Kent County Council and SPD’s 

Social care £147 per dwelling Kent County Council general site requirements. 

Library services £55 per dwelling As above 

Community learning and 
youth services  

£82 per dwelling As above 

Waste and recycling £184 per dwelling As above 

Health care £360 per occupant Kent County Council general site requirements, based on Kent and Medway CCG 
occupant calculations for S106 health contributions. 

Play provision £690 per dwelling SBC Developer Contributions SPD. 

Primary school costs £ Variable Cost depends on local requirements, as identified in Kent County Council general 
site requirements. 

Secondary school costs £5,176 per ‘applicable’ 
house 

£1,294 per ‘applicable’ 
flat 

As per Kent County Council correspondence. 

Swale Borough Council – Adopted Local Plan 

Policy DM21 – Water 
flooding and drainage 

£9 per dwelling Policy requires all homes to achieve water efficiency of 110 litres per person per 
day.  Based Department of Communities and Local Government Housing 

Standards Review Cost Impact, September 2014 by EC Harris. 

Table 4-1 Policy costs inputs & assumptions 

P
age 558



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2002 

 

 24 

  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

Future policy options – pending consideration by Swale Borough Council 

Affordable housing Variable Treated as a viability output, commentary in the report as to the level that could be 
achievable.  

Housing accessibility M4(2), £1,400 per 
dwelling 

M4(3), £10,307 per 
dwelling 

M4(2) cost is based on the MHCLG Raising accessibility standards for 
new homes consultation paper (2020). Previously set at £521 per unit 

based on the DCLG Housing Standards Review. 

M4(3) cost is based on the DCLG Housing Standards Review, Final 
Implementation Impact Assessment, March 2015, paragraphs 153 and 157. 

20% biodiversity net gain £1,128 per dwelling Based on: Biodiversity net gain and local nature recovery strategies, 2019 
Impact Assessment by DEFRA, using the central estimate cost per 

dwelling for the South East.  

To achieve 20% biodiversity net gain – 19% increase in cost. 

£948 + additional £180 per unit = £1,128 

‘When analysing the impact of changing the level of net gain required, we 
show that doubling (to 20%) and halving (to 5%) the net gain percentage 

increases costs to developers by 19% and decreases costs by 10% 
respectively in both a 10 year and 40-year appraisal period.’ 

Mitigating and adapting to 
climate change through 
sustainable design and 

construction 

Up to £10,000 per 
dwelling to achieve: 

 100% reduction in 
operational carbon and, 
75% of total operational 

energy demand from 
renewable energy 

Carbon reduction mitigation measures and their associated costs is 
dependent on the technology solution used – these are outlined as follows:  

Cost based on MHCLG The Future Homes Standard 2019 
Consultation on changes to Part L: Impact Assessment: 

20% reduction in CO2 based on 2013 standards, £2,557 per dwelling 
(assuming fabric, gas boiler and wastewater heat recovery system). 

31% reduction, £4,850 per dwelling (adds in PV panels) 

There are alternative energy efficiency costs based on research by 
Currie & Brown, Cost of Carbon Reduction in New Buildings, 2018: 

P
age 559



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2002 

 

 25 

  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

10% reduction using fabric installation, £2,100 per dwelling and a further 
23% reduction achieved using an air source heat pump (ASHP), £4,200 

per dwelling  

48% reduction using PV installation, £4,700 per dwelling. 

72% reduction, £7,300 per dwelling (achieved by onsite reduction PV). 

Zero regulated carbon, £6,800 - £10,100 per dwelling (varies on house 
type). Achieved by a combination of measures. 

The Council has confirmed that to achieve their carbon reduction and 
renewables goals and element of double counting is allowed e.g. PVs or 
ASHP will help meet both goals.     

Sustainable energy 
production, distribution and 

storage 

Included in the 
professional fees 

All development over 100 dwellings or 3,000m2 will be accompanied by 
an Energy Masterplan. This will set out how energy will be generated, 

distributed and stored across the site and, where appropriate, connect to 
existing or planned heat networks. 

Electric charging points £500 per dwelling 
housing schemes 
assumed wallbox 

£10,000 per multi car 
park charge point for 

flatted schemes – 
assumed for every 4 

dwellings 

Cost for the unit per dwelling based on discussions with the Councils’ 
consultant; SquareGain and information provided by Energy Savings 

Trust and the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV). 

Cost for multi-car park schemes based on cost advice by Swindon 
Borough Council for their Whole Plan Wide Viability study we are advising 

on. 

Air quality assessments Included in professional 
fees 

Based on our experience of other studies.  

SuDs Cost to deliver included 
in external cost 

allowance, with SuDs 
delivered in the 

difference between the 

Based on our experience of other studies e.g. North Kesteven in 
Lincolnshire were one of the first authorities to introduce SuDs. Recent 
site visits of new build schemes in the area have shown us that SuDs 

have been delivered through the landscaping solution for the site.  

P
age 560



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2002 

 

 26 

  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

gross to net allowance 
developable area.  

P
age 561



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 27 

  

 
 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

 The Council has a number of SPDs which provide more detail than that set out in the Local Plan 

of what needs to at development management stage – the SPDs are set out as follows:  

• Parking Standards, May 2020 – this SPD provides guidance on parking standards within 

the Borough.  The aim of the SPD is to establish a more appropriate and effective response 

to parking issues relating to new development across the Borough.  

• Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD (2011) Part 1 & 2 – the 

purpose of the appraisal is to provide a framework for Development Control decisions on 

matters of landscape character and the second element is to protect and enhance 

biodiversity within the LDF and in Development Control decisions. 

• Stones Farm Development Brief SPD (May 2011) – the SPD sets out the development 

parameters for the Stone Farm site.  

• Queenborough and Rushenden Masterplan SPD (November 2010) – the SPD sets out 

the masterplan for the regeneration of the Queenborough and Rushenden area.  

• Sittingbourne Town Centre and Milton Creek Masterplan SPD (September 2010) - the 

SPD sets out the masterplan for the regeneration of the Sittingbourne Town Centre and 

Milton Creek areas. 

• Developer Contributions SPD (November 2009) – the purpose of this SPD is to provide 

guidance to developers submitting planning applications in respect of the Council’s 

expectations for developer contributions. 

• Area Action Plan 8 - Queenborough and Rushenden Development Framework and 

Statement of Community Involvement – sets out the long-term vision of the circa 161 

hectares of land and buildings on both sides of Queenborough Creek, the existing 

residential and business communities at Rushenden and the employment land allocation 

at Neatscourt.  

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

 The Council has a number of SPGs which are used to provide detail on certain standards and 

approaches of which developers should normally take account –these are as follows:  

• The Conversion of Buildings into Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation – the 

purpose of this SPG is to provide developers with guidance on the criteria the Council will 

take into account when determining planning applications for change of use of buildings 

into flats and house of multiple occupation.   

• Listed Buildings - A Guide for Owners and Occupiers – the purpose of this SPG, 

amongst other things, is to provide information of the different types of listing categories 

Page 562



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 28 

  

 
 

for buildings, the controls and consents for any works, and to highlight grants may be 

available for works. 

• The Conservation of Traditional Farm Buildings – the SPG provides a definition of 

traditional farm buildings and explains that the first priority is for their continued use. It then, 

amongst other things, sets out the principles of conversion for these types of buildings.   

• The Design of Shop fronts, Signs and Advertisements – the SPG provides a guidance 

to the criteria the Council will use when considering planning applications for shopfronts 

and advertisements. 

• Designing an Extension - A Guide for Householders – the SPG outlines points to 

consider when proposing an extension in order to protect and enhance the appearance of 

the property.  

• Planting on New Developments - A Guide for Developers – the SPG explains in detail 

the Council’s requirements in respect of planting on larger developments.  

• The Erection of Stables and Keeping of Horses** - the SPG sets out the Council’s 

requirements for the standard expected for those buildings connected with the keeping of 

horses and other related matters.  

• Conservation Areas – the SPG describes the purpose of conservation area designation. 

It also sets out the implications for development in the conservation area.  

Technical Guidance  

 The Council has prepared the Air quality and planning, technical guidance, November 2019. The 

technical guidance has been prepared in conjunction with the Kent and Medway Air Quality Air 

Quality Partnership. The Technical Guidance is a response to updates in the NPPF. As set out 

in the guidance, the document aims to:  

• ‘Explain how air quality is dealt with in planning applications in Swale, providing clarity and 

consistency of the process for developers, the local planning authority (LPA) and local 

communities. 

• Explain the standard mitigation requirements expected for all development. 

•  Explain the emissions mitigation assessment (including damage cost calculations) 

expected for development with potential air quality impacts. 

• Set out when an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) is required, how this should be undertaken 

and how it will be used to determine the air quality impacts of planning applications.’51 

 
51Swale Borough Council, November 2019, Air quality and planning Technical guidance, pages 2 & 3 

Page 563



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 29 

  

 
 

Guidance Documents 

 The Council has guidance documents to assist parties involved in the development of renewable 

energy – the documents are set out as follows:  

• The development of domestic and medium scale solar PV arrays up to 50kW and 

solar thermal – the guidance document focuses on PV arrays of domestic scale. The 

purpose of this guidance document is to provide planning advice in respect of solar photo 

voltaic (PV) and roof mounted solar thermal installations with a capacity of up to 50kW, or 

approximately 200- 250 solar PV panels.52 

• The development of large scale (>50kW) solar arrays – the guidance document focuses 

on commercial scale solar arrays. The purpose of this guidance document is to provide 

planning advice in respect of solar photo voltaic (PV) installations with a capacity in excess 

of 50kW. Planning advice in respect of solar PV.53 

 In addition, the Council has other guidance documents:  

• Lynsted Parish Design Statement – the aims and objectives of the design statement are: 

o ‘To analyse the parish of Lynsted, the visual character of the landscape, the 

settlement pattern, building and space, and its system of roads and paths. 

o To distil the essence of what makes the Parish unique and distinct, and to provide 

guidance as to how this can be conserved into the future. 

o To involve all individuals, groups and organisations that have an interest in the parish 

and its future. 

o To prepare an action plan that includes surveys, consultation, workshops, 

discussion, publicity and the timely production of a statement that is attractive, well 

illustrated and easy to read.’54 

• Abbott Laboratories Ltd - Development Brief – this document sets out the development 

parameters for Abbott Laboratories land, east of Whiteway Road, Queenborough.  

• Ospringe design statement – the statement is intended to influence the design and 

development in the parish.   

Management Plan  

 The Council explains that part of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 

falls within Swale Borough. For those local authorities areas that contain part of an AONB the 

 
52 Swale Borough Council, July 2014, The development of domestic and medium scale solar PV arrays up to 50kW and solar 
thermal, page 1 
53 Swale Borough Council, July 2014, The development of large scale (>50kW) solar arrays, page 1 
54 Swale Borough Council, 30th April 2002, Lynsted Parish Design Statement, page 3 

Page 564



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 30 

  

 
 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 requires them to prepare a Management Plan.  The 

Management Plan sets out the policy of the local authorities for the management and 

enhancement of the AONB over a five year period.  The current Kent Downs AONB Management 

Plan was adopted by the Council in 2014, and is currently being reviewed to roll it forward to 

2025. 

 In addition to the Management Plan the Kent Downs AONB has provided a number of 

publications which provide guidance on conserving and enhancing the landscape – these are as 

follows:  

• Kent Downs AONB Guidance on the selection and use of colour in development – 

Guidance 

• Kent Downs AONB Guidance on the selection and use of colour in development – Survey 

• Kent Downs AONB Farm Diversification Toolkit 

• Kent Downs AONB Farmstead Guidance 

• Landscape Design Handbook 

• Managing Land for Horses – a guide to good practice in the Kent Downs AONB 

• Kent Downs AONB Rural Streets and Lanes: a design handbook 

  

Page 565



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 31 

  

 
 

5 Developing viability scenarios  

 We now set out the scenarios to use in our viability testing. As we have explained in Chapter 3 it 

is not necessary to test every proposed development (or in the case of Regulation 18 potential 

development) in the plan but a typology is acceptable  

 Typologies for the viability testing are to be based on the proposed development in the Plan to 

ensure the testing represents the type of development coming forward. In doing so it is 

appropriate to consider ‘shared characteristics such as location, whether brownfield or greenfield, 

size of site and current and proposed use or type of development.’55 

Residential typologies  

 As we demonstrate in this section the Borough’s potential residential allocations will come 

forward over a relatively small number of sites. As we are not dealing with a large number of sites 

to potentially test, we have agreed with the Council to assess all of the planned sites using 

standardised appraisal inputs. We have supplemented the potential residential allocations with a 

number of generic typologies, which represent any windfall development and potential 

development anticipated Sittingbourne town centre – further details of the sites are set out in this 

chapter.   

Establishing the value zones  

 We have sought to devise value zones to vary the value inputs in our testing. Our detailed 

analysis of the residential market is set out in Chapter 2 of the Property Market Report in 

Appendix 2. As illustrated in the heatmap in Figure 5-1  and supported by the Property Market 

Report, there is some price variation across the Borough on a price per unit basis. With lower 

values area (depicted in blue) found around the Isle of Sheppey, in particular Sheerness, and 

towards the urban area of Sittingbourne.  The south of the Borough, along the M2 corridor higher 

values are achieved. With some particular higher values achieved along the Kent Downs Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty.  

  

 
55 Ibid, Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 10-004-20190509 

Page 566



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 32 

  

 
 

 

 
Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

 The lowest value areas identified in our analysis are on the Isle of Sheppey and within central 

Sittingbourne. The highest value areas are found in Faversham and in more rural areas. 

Consultation with agents and developers have confirmed that the heatmap in Figure 5-1 is 

reflective of the price variation across the Borough. 

 Based on the evidence of sale values, we concluded in the Property Market Report in Appendix 

2 that there is justification to vary the viability testing across two value zones – see Figure 5-2.  

  

Figure 5-1 Value heatmap  

Page 567



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 33 

  

 
 

 
Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

 In establishing the value zones in Figure 5-2, we have also been mindful of the pattern of the 

proposed development (further details set out in Figure 5-4).  For the analysis of the value zones, 

ward boundaries have been used, as not only do they provide a clear definable boundary they 

represent the ‘best fit’ for the variation in property prices. 

 The lower value zones comprise those wards in the Isle of Sheppey and Sittingbourne. The higher 

value zone is spread across the remainder of the Borough. The electoral wards for each value 

area are set out in Table 5-1.  

Value zone Wards 

Lower value area Homewood, Woodstock, Roman, Chalkwell, Milton Regis, Murston, 

Kemsley, Sheppey East, Sheppey Central, Minster Cliffs, 

Queenborough and Halfway, Sheerness West 

Higher value area Bobbing, Iwade and Lower Halstow, Hartlip Newington and 

Upchurch, Borden and Grove Park, The Meads, West Downs, 

Figure 5-2 Value zones used in viability testing  

Table 5-1 Value zone by electoral ward 

Page 568



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 34 

  

 
 

Value zone Wards 

Teynham and Lynsted, East Downs, Priory, St. Ann’s, Abbey, 

Watling, Broughton and Courtenay 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

 The values adopted in each of these zones are set out in Table 5-2 – details of how these values 

are derived are set out in the Property Market Report in Appendix 2.  

Typology Unit Size sqm Unit Price £psm 

Lower value area 

1-bed flat 50 £175,000 £3,500 

2-bed flat 60 £210,000 £3,500 

2-bed house 70 £240,000 £3,428 

3-bed house 90 £330,000 £3,666 

4-bed house 120 £430,000 £3,583 

Higher value area 

1-bed flat 50 £195,000 £3,900 

2-bed flat 60 £235,000 £3,917 

2-bed house 70 £265,000 £3,786 

3-bed house 90 £370,000 £4,111 

4-bed house 120 £465,000 £3,875 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

 In devising the appropriate unit sizes in Table 5-2, we have had regard to our market analysis  

(summarised in Table 5-3) and to national minimum space standards (see Figure 5-3).   

No. of Bedrooms Minimum unit size (sqm) Maximum unit size (sqm) 

1 bed flat  40 60 

2 bed flat  61 72 

Table 5-2 Proposed sale values in viability testing  

Table 5-3 Analysis of unit sizes of recently delivered schemes  

Page 569



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 35 

  

 
 

No. of Bedrooms Minimum unit size (sqm) Maximum unit size (sqm) 

1 bed house n/a n/a 

2 bed house 63 76 

3 bed house 77 118 

4 bed house 91 150 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

 

 
Source:  MHCLG, Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (March 

2015) 

  

Figure 5-3 National minimum space standards 

Page 570



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 36 

  

 
 

Pattern of proposed residential development  

 The next step is to see how those sites being promoted in the draft Strategic Housing Land 

Availability Assessment (SHLAA) relate to the value zones proposed and whether they comprise 

greenfield or brownfield sites (to allow further variation of the viability inputs).  

 We have overlaid these sites with our two value zones - see  Figure 5-4. The analysis shows that 

there are larger developments proposed on greenfield sites on the urban fringes of Sittingbourne 

and Faversham. One large site is also located in the Isle of Sheppey and is part greenfield, part 

brownfield. The smaller sites are also in similar edge of town locations. 

 
Source: AspinallVerdi, Swale Borough Council, QGIS, Ordnance Survey 

  

Figure 5-4 Distribution of residential development growth against value zones  

Page 571



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 37 

  

 
 

Potential residential sites in the higher value zone  

 Table 5-4 sets out those sites that fall in the higher value zone. All sites identified are greenfield 

in nature.  The gross densities proposed are relatively wide ranging, between 10 dph and 60 dph.  

Dwellings per gross hectare are either based on information provided by the Council or through 

dividing the gross site are by the number of proposed units.  

Site name SHLA

A 

Total no. 

of units 

Gross density 

(dph) 

Gross site 

area (ha) 

Land at Cellar Hill 18/010 12 24 0.50 

Chilton Manor Farm, Highstead 

Road 

18/021 180 25 7.2 

Land west of Frognal Lane 18/025 630 26 24.23 

Land at Lady Dane Farm 18/091 600 14 42.86 

Land adjacent Monica Close, 

Neames Forstal 

18/093 30 43 0.70 

Land east of Selling Road, 

Neames Forstal* 

18/094 30 60 0.50 

Land east of Selling Road, 

Neames Forstal 

18/096 30 30 1.00 

Land at Barrow Green Farm, east 

Teynham 

18/106 100 13 7.69 

Land south of London Road / 

West of Lynsted Lane 

18/116 60 10 6.00 

Land to the north of Claxfield 

Farm 

18/122 180 30 6.00 

Land to the east of Claxfield Farm 18/123 15 30 0.50 

Land at Graveney Road 18/135 240 29 8.28 

Land south of Dover Castle Inn / 

Cellar Hill 

18/153 50 36 1.39 

Land at Preston Fields 18/178 70 22 3.18 

Land south east of Faversham 18/226 2,500 19 131 

*60 dph so more flats included in the mix  

Source: Swale Borough Council, AspinallVerdi (2020) 

Table 5-4 SHELAA potential allocations sites in higher value zone 

Page 572



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 38 

  

 
 

Potential residential sites in the lower value zone 

 As shown in Table 5-5  there is only one potential allocation in the lower value area. This is 

Rushenden South that we understand to be part brownfield and part greenfield.  

Site name  SHLAA Total no. of 

units 

Gross density 

(dph) 

Gross site 

area (ha) 

Rushenden South 18/113 850 6 141.67 

Source: Swale Borough Council, AspinallVerdi (2020) 

Generic residential typologies in the lower value zone 

 Given the low number of potential allocations in the lower value zone, we have agreed with the 

Council to test a number of generic typologies to reflect potential development in any windfall 

development and potential development anticipated Sittingbourne town centre- these scenarios 

are also scheduled in Table 5-6.  

No. of Units Gross dwellings per hectare Gross site area ha  

Greenfield – lower value zone 

15 30 0.50 

30 30 1.00 

75 30 2.50 

Brownfield – lower value zone 

15 100 0.15 

30 60 0.50 

Source: AspinallVerdi (2020) 

 For the generic brownfield sites, we have varied the development densities to reflect examples 

of flatted schemes (100 dph) and a mixed housing and flatted scheme (60 dph). In doing so we 

have also varied the dwelling mix. 

  

Table 5-5 SHELAA brownfield sites in higher value zone  

Table 5-6 Generic scenarios testing  

Page 573



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 39 

  

 
 

Dwelling types and mix 

 At this stage, there is  little evidence available to support dwelling mixes other than what has 

been delivered by the market. Therefore, we have referred to the local housing market to support 

our dwelling mix assumptions.  

 Table 5-7 summarises dwelling mix of schemes with planning permission, with further details in 

Appendix 3. The summary focuses on the dwelling mix for market housing where clearly defined 

in the schemes list in Appendix 3.  The mix percentage for each of the typologies appear wide-

ranging in Table 5-7 but in reality, the focus is predominantly 3-bed and 4-bed dwellings 

Typology  Mix percentage 

1 bed 6% - 27% 

2 bed 13% - 41% 

3 bed 26% - 54% 

4 bed 5% - 51% 

5 bed 4% 

Source: Swale Borough Council, planning portal (September 2020) 

 As for affordable housing, this is based on a tenure split of 60% affordable rent, 15% shared 

ownership and 25% First Homes. The proportion of First Homes as a tenure split is fixed at 25% 

as per the recent policy consultation response56. As for the remainder, we have placed greater 

weight on affordable rent delivery as we understand that this is a policy ambition of the Council. 

Our proposed dwelling mixes are set out in Table 5-8. 

Typology Open market housing mix Affordable housing mix 

2 bed House 27.0% 45.0% 

3 bed House 35.0% 30.0% 

4 bed House 30.0% 0.0% 

1 bed Flat 8.0% 25.0% 

2 bed Flat 0.0% 45.0% 

Source: AspinallVerdi (September 2020) 

 
56 MHCLG, 2019, First Homes: Summary of responses to the consultation and the Government’s response 

Table 5-7 Residential development dwelling mix – schemes with planning permission    

Table 5-8 Market and affordable dwelling mixes  

Page 574



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 40 

  

 
 

 In our viability testing, we assume that flatted development and mixed development (flatted and 

housing) will come forward differently to the greenfield development identified earlier. Again, in 

line with market delivery, we have adopted the mix as set out in Table 5-9, and applied this in our 

testing.  

Typology Market units 

flatted 

Affordable 

units flatted 

Market units 

mix housing 

& flat   

Affordable units 

mix housing & 

flat   

4 bed house - - 30% - 

3 bed house - - 35% 30% 

2 bed flat 77% 33% 27% 45% 

1 bed flat 23% 32% 8% 25% 

Source: AspinallVerdi (September 2020) 

Build-to-Rent typology   

 At present, there are no specific requirements or allocations involving build to rent (BTR) 

properties across Swale Borough to base on testing upon.  Therefore, we have based our testing 

on a generic 150-unit scenario which we would expect the market to deliver based on our 

experience of similar schemes. From recent consultation with established BTR providers, we 

understand that a minimum unit threshold required to make BTR schemes viable is 150 units and 

described by one operator as the ‘industry standard’ number.  Based on our analysis of the 

market we have tested a BTR scenario as set out in Table 5-10.   

No. of units Development 

density per net ha 

Dwelling mix 

150 – brownfield  100 70% 1-Bed / 30% 2-Bed  

150 – greenfield 75 70% 1-Bed / 30% 2-Bed  

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Older persons accommodation typology   

 The existing Local Plan is silent on the exact need for retirement housing in the Borough, aside 

from identifying that there is a need. New build retirement housing in Swale usually takes the 

form of age-restricted flatted accommodation with shared communal facilities, or C2 use 

Table 5-9 Flatted and mixed typology mix used in viability   

Table 5-10 Build to rent accommodation scenarios 

Page 575



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 41 

  

 
 

sheltered housing. Based on the analysis contained in our Property Market Report in Appendix 

2 we have tested the scenarios set out in Table 5-11.   

Scenario Type of specialist 

accommodation 

No. of 

units 

Development 

density per net ha 

Dwelling mix 

Single value 

– brownfield  

Over 55 flatted 

accommodation  

50 120 70% 1-Bed & 

30% 2-Bed 

Single value 

– greenfield 

Over 55 flatted 

accommodation  

50 80 70% 1-Bed & 

30% 2-Bed 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Holiday park accommodation typology   

 The existing Local Plan has specific policies relating to the development of holiday parks in 

Swale. Planning permission is granted for holiday parks with up to 10 months occupancy per 

year. The Local Plan identifies that the holiday park is most characterised by chalets and lodges 

in Swale. The existing Local Plan does not seek to allocate any new sites on the Isle of Sheppey 

due to landscaping issues. Due to the restrictions on new sites, we have tested one single 

greenfield scenario to reflect the potential development that would come forward in the new Local 

Plan.  

 Based on the analysis contained in our Property Market Report in Appendix 2 we have tested the 

scenarios set out in Table 5-12.  

Scenario No. of units Development density per net ha Dwelling mix 

Single value 

– greenfield  

25 50 100 % 2-Bed 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

  

Table 5-11 Older persons accommodation scenario 

Table 5-12 Holiday lodge accommodation scenario 

Page 576



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 42 

  

 
 

 

Non-residential typologies 

 With regards to the commercial property, there is less price variation across a local authority with 

values predominantly driven by the quality of unit, lease length and strength of occupier (i.e. 

covenant).   

Retail typologies  

 In determining convenience scenarios, we have had regard to the following occupier 

requirements:  

• Tesco typically only seek sites for their express format i.e. circa 2,200 sqft in main urban 

areas 

• Waitrose stores tend to vary greatly in their format, dependent on the location and size of 

the site with examples in their portfolio of between 2,500 – 56,000 sqft 

• Aldi and Lidl:  

o Prominent sites in town, district, edge of centre or out of town locations 

o Unit sizes flexible on design and scale between 14,000 and 26,500 sqft 

o 1.3 -1.5 acres plus for standalone units or up to 4 acres for mixed-use sites 

o Iceland’s requirements for this format is 10 – 15,000 sqft size units located on out-of-

town retail parks. 

 Based on current occupier requirements we have tested the following scenarios:   

• Express – 350 sqm, with 20% site coverage  

• Budget – 2,500 sqm, with 35% site coverage  

 As set out in our Market Report in Appendix 2 the comparison retail market is in a state of flux 

with currently limited new store requirement to base our viability testing. Based on general take-

up identified in our Market Report in Appendix 2, we have assumed the following scenarios: 

• Smaller format – town centre 

o 250 sqm Gross Internal Area (GIA) 

o Site coverage 40% 

• Larger format – town centre 

o 500 sqm GIA 

o Site coverage 40% 

 All retail scenarios are tested on the basis of brownfield development.  

Page 577



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 43 

  

 
 

Employment typology   

 To reflect the planned employment growth, we have tested office and industrial development as 

follows:   

• Office B1(a) 

o 1,000 sqm GIA – 85% gross to net  

o Site coverage 40%  

• Industrial/warehousing  

o B1c/B2 – 200 sqm  

o B2/B8 – 1,000 sqm 

o B2/B8 – 5,000 sqm  

o B8 strategic distribution – 15,000 sqm  

 All employment scenarios have a site coverage of 40%, with testing greenfield sites.   

Page 578



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 44 

  

 
 

6 Appraisal inputs & assumptions 

 This section of the report sets out the inputs and assumptions that we have used in the 

development appraisals. First, we outline the values used across all uses, then build costs and 

then finally land values.  

Value inputs  

Residential market value inputs & assumptions 

 Based on the analysis contained within Chapter 2 of the Property Market Report in Appendix 2 

we have used the sales values set out in Table 6-1. These were informed by a comprehensive 

analysis of market evidence and are reflective of new build achieved sale values, both on a unit 

and a £psm basis, in each of the value zones.  

 The value data collated demonstrated that prices across the Borough were variable. In line with 

the recommended approach stipulated in Paragraph 011 of the Viability PPG, we have 

disregarded any outliers in the data. Furthermore, given the wide range of unit sizes for each 

typology delivered in the Borough we have not averaged out the values as this could distort the 

analysis e.g. averaging values on a £psm then applying the average to the unit sizes in the study 

could result in very high/very low unit prices not seen in the Borough.  Through an iterative 

process, we have considered proposed unit sizes, proposed development densities and sold 

prices (on a unit basis and £psm) to formulate our opinion of values to use. With our values falling 

in the range of evidence gathered in the Property Market Report in Appendix 4.  

Typology Unit Size sqm Unit Price £psm 

Lower value area 

1-bed flat 50 £175,000 £3,500 

2-bed flat 60 £210,000 £3,500 

2-bed house 70 £240,000 £3,428 

3-bed house 90 £330,000 £3,666 

4-bed house 120 £430,000 £3,583 

Higher value area 

1-bed flat 50 £195,000 £3,900 

2-bed flat 60 £235,000 £3,917 

Table 6-1 Market value appraisal inputs  

Page 579



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 45 

  

 
 

Typology Unit Size sqm Unit Price £psm 

2-bed house 70 £265,000 £3,786 

3-bed house 90 £370,000 £4,111 

4-bed house 120 £465,000 £3,875 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

Affordable housing value inputs & assumptions 

 A common approach to determining affordable housing values for plan-wide assessments is to 

apply a transfer value at a fixed percentage of open market value (OMV). This provides certainty 

to the developer when considering the viability of schemes, but also to Registered Providers 

(RPs) as it demonstrates the level of offer required to secure the affordable elements.  

 Our transfer values have been informed through consultations with RPs across the Borough to 

ensure the percentages are reasonable in the context of recent affordable housing offers. We 

received the following range of quotes for the different tenures. Our percentage transfer values 

have been based on the following rates: 

• Affordable rent at 45% of market values 

• Shared ownership at 75% of market values 

• First Homes at 70% of market values 

BTR value inputs & assumptions 

 Table 6-2 sets out the value inputs used in our BTR appraisal; this is based on the analysis 

contained in our Property Market Report (see Appendix 2). 

No. of Beds Unit Size sqm Rent / month Annual Rent Yield 

1 55 £775 £9,300 4.0% 

2 70 £900 £10,800 4.0% 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

 In our appraisal, we have assumed 25.8% allowance for management, maintenance and other 

costs associated with running the business. This is known as ‘leakage’ and our allowance is 

based on recent evidence published by Knight Frank – see Figure 6-1.  

 

 

Table 6-2 Build to rent – rent & yield inputs 

Page 580



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 46 

  

 
 

 
Source: Knight Frank (2019) 

 We have adjusted our rents to account for this leakage and then capitalised the net rent by a 

yield of 4.0% (evidenced in Property Market Report, Appendix 4), as shown in Table 6-3.  

No. of Beds Annual Rent Net Rent @ 25.8% Yield Capital Value 

1 £9,300 £6,900 4.0% £172,500 

2 £10,800 £8,014 4.0% £200,350 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

Holiday park accommodation value inputs & assumptions 

 Table 6-3 sets out the value inputs used in our older persons appraisals; this is based on the 

analysis contained in our Property Market Report (see Appendix 2). 

Typology Unit Size sqm Unit Price £psm 

2-bed lodge 75 £215,000 £2,867 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

  

Figure 6-1 Knight Frank gross to net rent leakage 

Table 6-3 Build to rent capital values 

Table 6-4 Older persons accommodation value inputs  

Page 581



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 47 

  

 
 

Older persons accommodation value inputs & assumptions 

 Table 6-5 sets out the value inputs used in our older persons appraisals; this is based on the 

analysis contained in our Property Market Report (see Appendix 2). 

Typology Unit Size sqm Unit Price £psm 

1-bed flat 55 £247,500 £4,500 

2-bed flat 70 £330,000 £4,714 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

Non-residential value inputs & assumptions 

 Based on the analysis contained within of our Market Report (Appendix 2) we have used the 

rents, yield and rent-free/void periods as set out in Table 6-6. The values represent new build 

accommodation.  

Scenario GIA sqm Rent psf Yield Rent free/void 

Convenience - Express 350 £23 5.00% 9 

Convenience - Budget 2,000 £21 4.50% 9 

Comparison - Smaller 

format – town centre 

250 £15 9.00% 18 months 

Comparison- larger 

format – town centre 

500 £10 8.00% 18 months 

Office 1,000 £18 8.00% 12 

B1c/B2 200 £10.00 7.50% 9 

B2/B8 small 1,000 £9.00 7.00% 9 

B2/B8 large 5,000 £7.00 6.50% 9 

B2/B8 large 15,000 £7.50 5.50% 12 

Source: Property Market Report in Appendix 2 (December 2020) 

Table 6-5 Older persons accommodation value inputs  

Table 6-6 Non-residential rents and yields appraisal inputs 

Page 582



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 48 

  

 
 

Build costs inputs & assumptions 

 When considering costs to include in the appraisals the PPG explains they ‘should be based on 

evidence which is reflective of local market conditions. As far as possible, costs should be 

identified at the plan making stage’.57 

 The PPG lists the following costs to include in the viability assessment:  

• build costs based on appropriate data, for example that of the Building Cost Information 

Service 

• abnormal costs, including those associated with treatment for contaminated sites or listed 

buildings, or costs associated with brownfield, phased or complex sites. These costs 

should be taken into account when defining benchmark land value 

• site-specific infrastructure costs, which might include access roads, sustainable drainage 

systems, green infrastructure, connection to utilities and decentralised energy. These costs 

should be taken into account when defining benchmark land value 

• the total cost of all relevant policy requirements including contributions towards affordable 

housing and infrastructure, Community Infrastructure Levy charges, and any other relevant 

policies or standards. These costs should be taken into account when defining benchmark 

land value 

• general finance costs including those incurred through loans 

• professional, project management, sales, marketing and legal costs incorporating 

organisational overheads associated with the site. Any professional site fees should also 

be taken into account when defining benchmark land value 

• explicit reference to project contingency costs should be included in circumstances where 

scheme specific assessment is deemed necessary, with a justification for contingency 

relative to project risk and developers return’.58 

 Based on the guidance set out in the PPG we have used the build costs inputs and assumptions 

as set in Table 6-7 in our appraisals. Where site specific costs are greater than assumed this will 

need to be reflected in a reduced land value. 

 
57 MHCLG, 24 July 2018, PPG, Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 10-012-2018072 
58 Ibid. 

Page 583



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 49 

 
  

 
 

 

Element Cost Comment 

Residential - build cost – 
houses 

£1,221 psm ‘Build costs based on appropriate data for example that of the Building Cost 
Information Service.’59 

Based on Median ‘generally’ Estate Housing BCIS costs re-based for Swale, 5 year 
sample. A copy of the BCIS data is enclosed in Appendix 4.  

Residential - build cost – 
flats 

£1,371 psm  Based on Median ‘generally’ Flats BCIS costs re-based for Swale 5 year sample. A 
copy of the BCIS data is enclosed in Appendix 4. 

Sheltered accomodation £1,371 psm As above, but different gross to net is reflected in appraisals. 

Build cost holiday lodge  £600 psm Based on research, the cost of Mountain Lodge Homes. 

Convenience retail - build 
costs 

£1,510 psm BCIS Median ‘generally’ BCIS build costs for hypermarkets and supermarkets, re-
based to Kent, with the default period in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – 

details contained in Appendix 4. 

Comparison retail build costs 
- high street 

£1,242 psm Based on Median ‘generally’ shops BCIS costs re-based to Kent, with the default 
period in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – details contained in Appendix 4. 

Comparison retail build costs 
- warehouse  

£889 psm Based on Median ‘generally’ retail warehouse BCIS costs re-based to Kent, with the 
default period in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – details contained in 

Appendix 4. 

Office build costs £1,946 psm BCIS median build costs ‘generally’ for offices, re-based to Kent, with the default period 
in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – details contained in Appendix 4. 

B1c/B2 – 200 sqm – build 
costs  

£ 1,286 psm BCIS Median build costs warehouse/stores ‘up to 500 sqm’, re-based to Kent, with the 
default period in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – details contained in 

Appendix 4. 

 
59 MHCLG, 24 July 2018, PPG, Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 
 

Table 6-7 Appraisal build cost inputs & assumptions 

P
age 584



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 50 

 
  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

B1c/B2 – 1,000 sqm 

– build costs 

 

£891 psm BCIS Median build costs warehouse/stores ‘500 to 2000 sqm, re-based to Kent, with the 
default period in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – details contained in Appendix 
4. 

B2/B8 – 5,000 sqm – 

build costs 

£694 psm BCIS Median build costs warehouse/stores ‘Over 2000 sqm GFA (15)re-based to Kent, 
with the default period in order to ensure a sufficient sample 

B8 strategic distribution – 
15,000 sqm 

£694 psm BCIS Median build costs warehouse/stores ‘Over 2000 sqm GFA (15)re-based to Kent, 
with the default period in order to ensure a sufficient sample size – details contained in 

Appendix 4. 

External works for services 
and infrastructure  

15% of BCIS Plot externals will include driveways, gardens, internal estate roads and utilities up to 
main highway. External works will vary, depending on site requirements. Costs based 

on industry norms and other schemes coming forward in the Borough.   

Site prep/infrastructure  £17,000 per dwelling  

For strategic sites: 

£22,000 per dwelling 

Costs are in relation to opening up the site, including; site prep, spine road, site 
servicing, site preparation etc.  At this stage we do not know the infrastructure 

requirements for these sites therefore at this stage we have included a cost allowance, 
typically associated with strategic sites as a cautionary approach until further details 
are known. Costs based on strategic infrastructure cost range set out in the Harman 

Report.60 

Site abnormals – applied to 
brownfield development only 

£110,000 per net 
developable acre 

Site abnormals will vary significantly from site to site. We have assumed our allowance 
includes the cost for demolition and remediation. We have had regard to HCA (now 
Homes England) guidance on dereliction, demolition and remediation costs March 
2015, along with comparable and other schemes coming forward in the Borough.   

Statutory Planning Fees 
(Residential) 

Based on national 
formula. 

Based on national formula. 

 
60 Local Housing Delivery Group Chaired by Sir John Harman, 20 June 2012, Viability Testing Local Plans, Advice for planning practitioners, page 44 

P
age 585



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 51 

 
  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

Planning Application 
Professional Fees, Surveys 

and reports  

Calculated as a three 
times multiplier to 
national formula 

above.  

Calculated as a three times multiplier to national formula above. 

Professional fees 10% of BCIS build cost Typically ranges between 8% - 12%, based on industry norms and other schemes 
coming forward in the Borough.   

Contingency  5% of BCIS build cost Typically ranges between 3% - 5%, based on industry norms and other schemes 
coming forward in the Borough.   

Residential - Sale Agents 
Costs  

1.5% Source: Page 35 Harman report and comparable schemes 

Residential - Sale Legal 
Costs 

0.5% As above. 

Residential - Marketing and 
Promotion 

1.5% As above. 

Older Persons - Marketing 
and Promotion 

5% market value Comparable scheme analysis shows higher costs over ‘general needs market housing’. 
Cost allowance assumed still in line with the Harman report (P.35) but at higher end. 

Marketing and Promotion 1.00% GDV Ditto 

Profit on market housing  20.0% on GDV  ‘For the purpose of plan making an assumption of 15-20% of gross development value 
(GDV) may be considered a suitable return to developers in order to establish the 

viability of plan policies. Plan makers may choose to apply alternative figures where 
there is evidence to support this according to the type, scale and risk profile of planned 

development.’61 

Profit on affordable housing 6.0% on GDV ‘A lower figure may be more appropriate in consideration of delivery of affordable 
housing in circumstances where this guarantees an end sale at a known value and 

 
61 MHCLG, 05 May 2019, PPG, Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 10-018-20190509  

P
age 586



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 52 

 
  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

reduces risk. Alternative figures may also be appropriate for different development 
types.’61  

Profit on retail, office and 
industrial  

20% of build costs Commercial development is assessed by way of profit on costs and not GDV to reflect 
the developer who sells the completed scheme onto an investor.   

Profit on BTR 13% on GDV   BTR can be assessed on Internal Rate of Return (IRR) basis rather than profit on GDV 
or cost. The IRR varies greatly from scheme to scheme and developer to developer. As 

this is assessment is non-developer specific we have used a reasonable benchmark 
profit assessed on GDV base on other schemes we have recently assessed.  

Interest  7.5% Gross interest inclusive of fees. Industry norms and other schemes coming forward in 
the Borough.  

SDLT on land value  5.0% Slabbed figure.  

Agents fee on land value  1.0% Industry norms and other schemes coming forward in the Borough.   

Legal fee on land value  0.5% As above. 

Letting Agents Costs 10.0% rental value Based on industry norms and other schemes coming forward in the Borough. 

Letting Legal Costs 5.0% rental value Ditto 

Investment Sale Agents 
Costs 

1.0%GDV Ditto 

Investment Sale Legal Costs 0.50% GDV Ditto 

Gross to net of general 
needs flats 

85% Based on schemes we have analysed previously 

Gross to net of BTR 80%  

 

BTR schemes have more communal space than general needs housing. Based on 
schemes we have analysed previously.  

P
age 587



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 53 

 
  

 
 

Element Cost Comment 

Gross to net of elderly 
accommodation  

75% Due to these types of schemes providing communal facilities the gross to net area ratio 
is reduced when compared to general needs flatted developments. Based on schemes 

we have analysed previously this is around 75% compared.  

P
age 588



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 54 

   

 
 

Timescales 

 Timescales reflect both the development period and the sales period. These are inputs are 

reflected in the appraisals through the cashflow.  

Residential timescales  

 Table 6-8 sets out our timing inputs used in the general needs residential appraisals, the 

underlying assumptions are as follows: 

• Land payment(s) 

o Sites up to 240 dwellings size assumed single land payment upfront 

o Sites over 240 dwellings -assumed phased land payments 

• Lead-in period - represents the time to obtain planning permission.  

o Sites up to 99 dwellings - 12-months to obtain planning permission.  

o Sites 100 – 240 dwellings - 18-months to obtain planning permission. 

o Sites over 240 dwellings - 24-months to obtain planning permission. 

• Site prep/infrastructure – following granting of planning permission developer will 

prepare the site and deliver initial infrastructure to open up the site: 

o Sites up to 99 dwellings – 6-months of works and then dwelling build begins. The 

period is the same number of months as dwelling build but as works commence 6-

months prior to dwelling build begins, these work end 6-months before end of 

dwelling build.  

o Sites 100 dwellings plus - 9-months of works and then dwelling build begins. The 

period is the same number of months as dwelling build but as works commence 9-

months prior to dwelling build begins, these work end 9-months before end of 

dwelling build.  

o Strategic site 3,500 dwellings - 12-months of works and then dwelling build begins. 

The period is the same number of months as dwelling build but as works commence 

12-months prior to dwelling build begins, these work end 12-months before end of 

dwelling build. 

• Dwelling build period – it is assumed developers will build to sale.  

• Sales period – vary as stated in Table 6-8. All sales commence 9-months after dwelling 

build period commences.  

• Affordable dwellings disposal period - it is assumed that the sales of the affordable 

housing units occur during the build period, in line with how the market operates on a 

“golden brick” payment basis.  

Page 589



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 55 

   

 
 

• Section106 existing  

o Sites up to 99 dwellings – paid on the occupation of first dwellings – single payment  

o Sites 100 – 240 dwellings – paid on the occupation of first dwellings – 3-monthly 

concurrent payments   

o Sites over 240 dwellings – paid on the occupation of first dwellings – 6-monthly 

concurrent payments   

o Strategic site – paid on the occupation of first dwellings – 48-monthly concurrent 

payments   

• Section 106 proposed – timed monthly during dwelling build period as most of these costs 

will be delivered on-site during this period 

 

Page 590



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 56 

   

   
 

 

Site name Referen
ce no. 

No. of 
units 

Land 
payment(

s) 

Lead-in 
period 
(obtain 

p/p) 

Site 
prep/infrastructur

e  

Dwelling build 
period 

Sales period  

Greenfield – higher value area   

Land at Cellar Hill 

 

18/010 12 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 – 25 Months 20 – 31 Months 29 – 40 

(1 per month) 

Land to the east of 
Claxfield Farm 

18/123 15 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 25 Months 20 - 31 Months 29 – 40 

(1.25 per month) 

Land adjacent 
Monica Close, 

Neames Forstal 

18/093 30 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 28 Months 20 - 34 Months 29 – 43 

(2 per month) 

Land east of 
Selling Road, 

Neames Forstal* 

18/094 30 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 28 Months 20 - 34 Months 29 – 43 

(2 per month) 

Land east of 
Selling Road, 

Neames Forstal 

18/096 30 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 28 Months 20 - 34 Months 29 – 43 

(2 per month) 

Land south of 
Dover Castle Inn / 

Cellar Hill 

18/153 50 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 31 Months 20 - 37 Months 29 – 46 

(3 per month) 

Land south of 
London Road / 

West of Lynsted 
Lane 

18/116  60 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 33 Months 20 - 39 Months 29 – 48 

(3 per month) 

Table 6-8 General needs appraisal timing inputs 

P
age 591



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 57 

   

   
 

Site name Referen
ce no. 

No. of 
units 

Land 
payment(

s) 

Lead-in 
period 
(obtain 

p/p) 

Site 
prep/infrastructur

e  

Dwelling build 
period 

Sales period  

Land at Preston 
Fields 

18/178 70 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 – 37 Months 20 - 43 Months 29 – 52 

(3 per month) 

Land at Barrow 
Green Farm, east 

Teynham 

18/106 100 Month 1 Months 2-
19 

Months 20 – 52 Months 29 - 61 Months 38 – 70 

(3 per month) 

Land to the north 
of Claxfield Farm 

18/122 180 Month 1 Months 2-
19 

Months 20 – 79 Months 29 – 88 Months 38 – 97 

(3 per month) 

Chilton Manor 
Farm, Highstead 

Road 

18/021 180 Month 1 Months 2-
19 

Months 20 – 79 Months 29 – 88 Months 38 – 97 

(3 per month) 

Land at Graveney 
Road 

18/135 240 Month 1 Months 2-
19 

Months 20 - 99 Months 29 – 108 Months 38 – 117 

(3 per month) 

Land at Lady Dane 
Farm 

18/091 600 Month 1 

Month 51 

Month 101 

Months 2-
25 

Months 26 - 175 Months 35 – 184 Months 44 – 193 

(4 per month) 

 

Land west of 
Frognal Lane 

18/025 630 Month 1 

Month 51 

Month 101 

Months 2-
25 

Months 26 - 183 Months 35 – 192 Months 44 – 201 

(4 per month) 

Land south east of 
Faversham 

18/226 2500 Month 1 

Month 28 

Month 55 

Months 2-
25 

Months 26 - 203 Months 38 – 215 Months 47 – 224 

(based on garden 
communities) 

P
age 592



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 58 

   

   
 

Site name Referen
ce no. 

No. of 
units 

Land 
payment(

s) 

Lead-in 
period 
(obtain 

p/p) 

Site 
prep/infrastructur

e  

Dwelling build 
period 

Sales period  

Month 82 

Month 109 

Month 136 

Month 163 

Month 190 

Greenfield – lower value zone   

Generic typology n/a 15 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 25 Months 20 - 31 Months 29 – 40 

(1.25 per month) 

Generic typology n/a 30 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 28 Months 20 - 34 Months 29 – 43 

(2 per month) 

Generic typology n/a 75 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 – 38 Months 20 - 44 Months 29 – 53 

(3 per month) 

Brownfield – lower value zone   

Generic typology n/a 15 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 25 Months 20 - 31 Months 29 – 40 

(1.25 per month) 

Generic typology n/a 30 Month 1 Months 2-
13 

Months 14 - 28 Months 20 - 34 Months 29 – 43 

(2 per month) 

Greenfield/brownfield – lower value zone   

P
age 593



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 59 

   

   
 

Site name Referen
ce no. 

No. of 
units 

Land 
payment(

s) 

Lead-in 
period 
(obtain 

p/p) 

Site 
prep/infrastructur

e  

Dwelling build 
period 

Sales period  

Rushenden South  850 Month 1 

Month 51 

Month 101 

Month 151 

Months 2-
25 

Months 26 - 167 Months 35 – 176 Months 44 – 185 

(6 per month from 
x2 outlet) 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

P
age 594



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 60 

   

   
 

BTR timescales 

 In our BTR testing, we have assumed that the development would be sold to an investor on 

practical completion of the units, our timescales are as follows:  

• Lead in period: 12 months 

• Build period: 24 months 

• Sales period: 1 month 

Older person timescales 

 For older persons housing our disposal timescales have been extended compared to general 

needs housing to reflect the narrow market that can access these units, with sales commencing 

on build complete on the units. The timescales are set out in Table 6-9.  

Scenario Type of 

specialist 

accommodation 

No. of 

units 

Lead in 

period 

Build period Sale 

period 

Single 
value – 

brownfield  

Over 55 flatted 
accommodation  

55 12 months 12 months 18 months 

(commence 
at build 

complete) 

Single 
value – 

greenfield 

Over 55 flatted 
accommodation  

50 12 months 12 months 18 months 

(commence 
at build 

complete) 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Non-residential timescales 

 Table 6-10 sets out the timescales used in the non-residential testing appraisals. It is assumed 

the investments of the completed schemes are sold on build complete of the units. 

Scenario GIA sq m Lead in period Development period 

Convenience retail - 
Express 

350 6 months 9 months 

Convenience retail - 
Budget 

2,500 12 months 12 months 

Table 6-9 Appraisal timing assumptions 

Table 6-10 Employment and retail scenarios timescales 

Page 595



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 61 

   

   
 

Scenario GIA sq m Lead in period Development period 

Comparison retail - 
Smaller format 

250 6 months 9 months 

Comparison retail -
Larger format 

500 6 months 9 months 

Office 1,000 6 months 12 months 

B1c/B2 200 6 months 12 months 

B2/B8 small 1,000 6 months 12 months 

B2/B8 large 5,000 6 months 12 months 

B8 15,000 6 months 12 months 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Land value assessment  

 As we have set out in Chapter 3 of this report the recommended approach to establishing land 

value for planning purposes is the EUV plus method. It is therefore important to understand the 

types of sites coming forward and then make an assessment of values with reference to 

comparable evidence.  

Residential sites – land value assessment  

 Table 6-11 shows that the vast majority of residential planned growth will come forward on 

greenfield sites.  

Type of site No. of sites Total no. of units 

Greenfield sites 18 5,742 

Brownfield sites 2 45 

Part greenfield/brownfield 1 850 

Source: AspinallVerdi (September 2020) 

Residential sites – greenfield land value assessment  

 We would consider the majority of the sites existing land use to be agricultural, therefore we have 

undertaken an assessment of sold prices for agricultural land to form the basis of Existing Use 

Value.  Table 6-12 shows that agricultural land has traded across between £6,204 and £11,090 

Table 6-11 No. of planned greenfield and brownfield sites 

Page 596



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 62 

   

   
 

per gross acre (£15,330 and £27,404 per gross hectare). With larger sites of over 74 acres (30 

hectares) the achieved price range is narrower and between £6,722 and £7,632 per gross acre 

(£16,611 and £18,858 per gross hectare). 

Sold 
date  Address 

Size 
acres Size ha Description 

Sold 
price per 

acre 
Sold price per 

hectare 

Nov-
19 

Pleasant 
Farm, 

Lenham 

315.41 127.64 Buildings comprising 
four storage barns, 

grade 2 & 3 arable land 
with some pasture & 

woodland 

£7,197 £17,784 

May-
18 

Podkin Land, 
West Side of 
High Halden, 

Ashford, 
TN26 3HS 

34.95 14.14 Bare land £7,153 £17,676 

Mar-
18 

Land at Ewell 
Minnis 

34.77 14.07 Entitlements included £8,628 £21,321 

Nov-
17 

Land at Hall 
Place, Leigh 

331 133.95 Open market, bare land £6,722 £16,611 

Oct-
17 

Land at 
Kemsing 

95 38.44 Open market, bare land £7,632 £18,858 

Sep-
17 

Goose Farm, 
St. Mary in 
the Marsh, 

Kent 

48.56 19.65 Bare land £10,811 £26,716 

Dec-
17 

Land in 
Rolvenden 

Layne, 
Cranbrook, 

Kent 

45.94 18.59 Bare land £6,204 £15,330 

Sep-
17 

Goose Farm, 
St. Mary in 
the Marsh, 

Kent 

33.62 13.61 Bare land £10,857 £26,828 

Mar-
17 

Part Rookery 
Farm 

30.19 12.22 Single parcel of Grade 1 
arable land 

£9,937 £24,555 

Sep-
17 

Goose Farm, 
St. Mary in 
the Marsh, 

Kent 

25.54 10.34 Bare land £10,767 £26,607 

Dec-
17 

Land at 
Rolvenden 

Layne, 

18.73 7.58 Bare land £8,809 £21,769 

Table 6-12 Achieved agricultural land values  

Page 597



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 63 

   

   
 

Sold 
date  Address 

Size 
acres Size ha Description 

Sold 
price per 

acre 
Sold price per 

hectare 

Cranbrook, 
Kent 

Sep-
17 

Goose Farm, 
St. Mary in 
the Marsh, 

Kent 

10.37 4.20 Bare land £11,090 £27,404 

Source: RICS/RAU Farmland Market Directory of Land Prices, H&2 2019, H1 & H2 2018, H1 
2017 

Residential sites – brownfield land value assessment  

There is a wide range of potential brownfield sites that could come forward for development. 

Table 6-13 shows sold prices for brownfield land across Swale Borough, these are mainly 

employment sites. There is a lack of recently recorded evidence on property database CoStar, 

so we have also considered quoting. The analysis of Table 6-13 shows that prices per gross acre 

range between £271,429 - £1,406,250.  

Page 598



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 64 

    

 

 

 

Address Existing 
use  

Deal 
date 

Sold or 
asking 
price 

Gross 
area ha 

Gross 
area 

acres 

Price per 
gross ha 

Price per 
gross acre 

Comment 

Neats Court Retail 
Park, 

Queenborough, 
Kent, ME11 5AR 

Retail 
park 

Jan-17 £5,874,856 2.55 6.29 £2,307,912 £933,999 The property is let to seven retailers: 
Sports Direct, B&M, Iceland, The 
Original Factory Shop, Pep & Co, 

Cancer Research and Poundland at 
a current rental of £851,510 per 

annum.  

Styles Close, 
Eurolink Business 

Park, 
Sittingbourne, 

ME10 3BF 

Industrial Dec-
19 

£2,596,600 2.17 5.36 £1,197,052 £484,440 Sold as part of a portfolio to an 
investor body. 

Mainstream House, 
Bonham Drive, 

Eurolink Industrial 
Estate, ME10 3RY 

Industrial Oct-19 £1,800,000 0.52 1.28 £3,474,844 £1,406,250 D1, B1 or B8 use. 1980's building, let 
on a 10-year term from May 2016 

with tenant break 2021. Rent passing 
is £116,700. 

Cambray Works, 
Sittingbourne, ME9 

8QL 

Industrial Jun-17 £950,000 1.42 3.5 £670,700 £271,429 A private UK investor has purchased 
the freehold interest as an 

investment. The asking price was 
£950,000. The 7,245 sqft (673.1 

sqm) industrial retail property is let to 
B.W.May & Sons Ltd for a term to 
expire 2031 and produces a total 

annual rental income of £72,000. The 
sale also includes one acre of vacant 
land with development potential, as 

well as a dilapidated flint barn of 
around 500 sqft. 

Source: CoStar (November 2020) 

Table 6-13 Brownfield land sold  

P
age 599



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 65 

    

 
 

Residential sites – conclusion land value assessment  

 Table 6-14 represents the greenfield and brownfield land values used in our viability assessment; 

this is based on our analysis of achieved and quoting land prices, the PPG and the type of 

development proposed.  

 Greenfield land values in the higher value zone is based on £100,000 per gross acre (£247,100 

per gross hectare). These values represent between 16 and 9 times an existing use value of 

between £6,204 and £11,090 per gross acre (£15,330 and £27,404 per gross hectare).  When 

compared to sites over 30 hectares, the value represents between 14 and 13 times an existing 

use value of between £6,722 and £7,632 per gross acre (£16,611 and £18,858 per gross 

hectare). As outlined in Table 6-12.   

 Brownfield land values are based on £400,000 per gross acre (£988,400 per gross hectare) 

benchmark land value, inclusive of a 10% landowner premium. 

As for the Rushenden South site, we have assessed the existing use value of this site as both 

greenfield and brownfield. According to the agricultural land classification map, the greenfield 

section of this site is classified as Grade 5; Land with very severe limitations which restrict use to 

permanent pasture or rough grazing, except for occasional pioneer forage crops62. In which case, 

we have applied a lower greenfield existing use value to this site, of £3,000 per acre within our 

greenfield and brownfield blended land value. 

 The premiums applied above the existing use values are reasonable given the maximum benefits 

in the public interest through the granting of planning permission. Should the residual sum exceed 

the benchmark land value once all abnormal and policies costs are taken account for in the 

appraisal, then there is scope for the landowner to secure a higher premium and/or the developer 

a higher profit. Should any site specific assessments incur any additional costs that have not 

been allowed for in our benchmark land value assessments then these costs we need to be 

reflected in a reduced land value than that stated in Table 6-14.  

No. of Units Gross dph Gross site 

area ha 

Total site 

value 

Land value 

gross ha 

Land value gross 

acre 

Greenfield – higher value zone 
   

12 24 0.50 £123,550 £247,100 £100,000 

15 30 0.50 £123,550 £247,100 £100,000 

30 30 1.00 £247,100 £247,100 £100,000 

30 43 0.70 £172,395 £247,100 £100,000 

 
62 Natural England, 2018, Guide to assessing development proposals on agricultural land 

Table 6-14 Land value development appraisal inputs 

Page 600



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 66 

    

 
 

No. of Units Gross dph Gross site 

area ha 

Total site 

value 

Land value 

gross ha 

Land value gross 

acre 

30 60 0.50 £123,550 £247,100 £100,000 

50 36 1.39 £343,194 £247,100 £100,000 

60 10 6.00 £1,482,600 £247,100 £100,000 

70 22 3.18 £786,227 £247,100 £100,000 

100 13 7.69 £1,900,769 £247,100 £100,000 

180 25 7.20 £1,779,120 £247,100 £100,000 

180 30 6.00 £1,482,600 £247,100 £100,000 

240 29 8.28 £2,044,966 £247,100 £100,000 

600 14 42.86 £10,590,000 £247,100 £100,000 

630 26 24.23 £5,987,423 £247,100 £100,000 

2500 17 147.06 £36,338,235 £247,100 £100,000 

Greenfield – lower value zone 

15 30 0.50 £123,550 £247,100 £100,000 

30 30 1.00 £247,100 £247,100 £100,000 

75 60 2.50 £617,750 £247,100 £100,000 

Brownfield – lower value zone 

15 100 0.15 £148,260 £988,400 £400,000 

30 60 0.50 £494,200 £988,400 £400,000 

Greenfield/brownfield – lower value zone 

850 6 141.67 £33,610,851 £237,253 £96,015 

Source: AspinallVerdi (September 2020) 

BTR – land value assessment  

 It is assumed that BTR will come forward on both brownfield and greenfield sites. Again, we have 

used the same land value assumptions used for general needs housing as follows:  

• Brownfield land value of £988,400 per gross hectare (£400,000 per gross acre). 

• Greenfield land value of £247,100 per gross hectare (£100,000 per gross acre).  

Older persons accommodation - land value assessment  

 It is envisaged that older persons accommodation development will come forward on both 

brownfield and greenfield sites. We have therefore used the same land value assumptions used 

for general needs housing as follows:  

• Brownfield land value of £988,400 per gross hectare (£400,000 per gross acre). 

Page 601



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 67 

    

 
 

• Greenfield land value of £247,100 per gross hectare (£100,000 per gross acre).  

Holiday park accommodation - land value assessment  

 It is envisaged that older persons accommodation development will come forward on both 

brownfield and greenfield sites. We have therefore used the same land value assumptions used 

for general needs housing as follows:  

• Greenfield land value of £247,100 per gross hectare (£100,000 per gross acre).  

Convenience & comparison retail - land value assessment   

 It is assumed that convenience and comparison retail will come forward on brownfield sites, and 

we have used an existing use plus premium land value of £988,400 per gross hectare (£400,000 

per gross acre) based on our assessment of land values.  

Offices & industrial - land value assessment   

 We have assumed that employment uses will predominantly come forward on greenfield sites. 

We have assumed a greenfield land value of £247,100 per gross hectare (£100,000 per gross 

acre), again this is based on our assessment of land value in representing a premium above 

agricultural existing use land values. 

 

  

Page 602



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 68 

    

 
 

7 Viability testing results 

 We set out below a summary of our viability findings for all the scenarios tested.  

Residential  

 Our residential viability testing is set out in Appendix 4. The Council have advised that they wish 

to understand the available surpluses to fund potential new policies versus changes in affordable 

housing provision.  

Greenfield sites (higher and lower value zone) 

 Table 7-1 sets out the results of our viability testing of greenfield sites with affordable housing 

varying between 30% and 40% with the surpluses expressed as a cost per dwelling.  As shown 

in Table 7-1 the surpluses are wide ranging because the results are sensitive to the changes in 

the appraisal inputs. Therefore, despite some inputs being “standardised” across scenarios 

development densities and timescales have an impact on the viability results.  

Site name SHLAA 

Ref. 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 

30% AH 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 

35% AH 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 40% 

AH 

Greenfield – higher value zone 
  

Land at Cellar Hill 18/010 £42,500 £37,500 £32,500 

Chilton Manor Farm, 

Highstead Road 
18/021 £34,000 £28,000 £24,000 

Land west of Frognal 

Lane 
18/025 £42,000 £36,000 £33,000 

Land at Lady Dane 

Farm 
18/091 £27,000 £21,000 £18,000 

Land adjacent Monica 

Close, Neames Forstal 
18/093 £48,000 £42,000 £39,000 

Land east of Selling 

Road, Neames Forstal* 
18/094 £35,000 £30,000 £25,000 

Land east of Selling 

Road, Neames Forstal 
18/096 £45,000 £40,000 £35,000 

Land at Barrow Green 

Farm, east Teynham 
18/106 £26,000 £22,000 £18,000 

Table 7-1 Greenfield viability results - surpluses  

Page 603



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 69 

    

 
 

Site name SHLAA 

Ref. 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 

30% AH 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 

35% AH 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 40% 

AH 

Land south of London 

Road/ west of Lynsted 

Lane 

18/116 £20,000 £16,000 £12,000 

Land to the north of 

Claxfield Farm 
18/122 £42,000 £39,000 £33,000 

Land to the east of 

Claxfield Farm 
18/123 £40,000 £37,500 £32,500 

Land at Graveney Road 18/135 £36,000 £32,000 £26,000 

Land south of Dover 

Castle Inn/ Cellar Hill 
18/153 £42,500 £37,500 £35,000 

Land at Preston Fields 18/178 £30,000 £26,000 £22,000 

Land south east of 

Faversham 
18/226 £21,000 £18,000 £12,000 

Greenfield – lower value zone 

15 Generic  £25,000 £22,500 £17,500 

30 Generic £25,000 £22,500 £17,500 

75 Generic £27,500 £22,500 £17,500 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Greenfield / brownfield sites (lower value zone) 

 Table 7-2 sets out the results of our viability testing of the single proposed site in the lower value 

zone. Development viability is particularly challenging due to the nature of the site, and to enable 

viable development affordable housing needs to be reduced.  

Site name SHLAA Ref. Surplus per dwelling @ 

10% AH 

Greenfield / brownfield – lower value zone 

Rushenden South 18/226 £2,000 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

  

Table 7-2 Greenfield / brownfield viability results - surpluses  

Page 604



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 70 

    

 
 

Brownfield sites (lower value zone) 

 Table 7-3  sets out the results of our viability testing of the generic brownfield sites in the lower 

value zone. The testing shows that flatted development is currently unviable (15-dwelling 

scenario) but mixed housing and flatted development is viable (30-dewlling scenario), with 

surpluses available to fund future policies.  

Site name SHLAA 

Ref. 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 

30% AH 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 

35% AH 

Surplus per 

dwelling @ 40% 

AH 

Brownfield – lower value zone 

15 Generic Unviable Unviable  Unviable  

30 Generic £24,000 £19,500 £13,500 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Older persons accommodation  

 As with general needs housing the Council wishes to understand the available surpluses to fund 

potential new policies versus changes in affordable housing provision for older persons 

accommodation. Our viability testing for older persons accommodation is set out in Appendix 5. 

Older persons accommodation is less viable than general needs accommodation due to the 

higher marketing costs and longer sales periods (increases interest costs). Table 7-4 shows 

greenfield development is viable at lower levels of affordable housing. Brownfield development 

is only marginally viable at 0% affordable housing, this is due to the higher benchmark land value 

and the cost of site clearance. 

No. of 
units 

Land use Density 
dph 

Surplus per dwelling 
@ 15% AH 

Surplus per dwelling 
@ 20% AH 

50 Greenfield 80 £3,500 £1,000 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

BTR accommodation  

 Our viability testing for build to rent is set out in Appendix 6. Our results show that build to rent is 

unviable in the higher value zone, even where affordable housing is reduced. This is due to the 

weak sales values of flatted development and the sale period after construction.  

Table 7-3 Brownfield viability results - surpluses  

Table 7-4 Older person accommodation - viability testing results 

Page 605



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 71 

    

 
 

Holiday park accommodation  

 Again, for holiday park accommodation we have set out the available surpluses to fund potential 

new policies versus changes in affordable housing provision. Our viability testing for holiday park 

accommodation is set out in Appendix 7. Our results show that holiday park accommodation is 

viable.  

Typology Land use Units Surplus per 
unit at 30% AH 

Surplus at 
35% AH 

Surplus at 
40% AH 

Holiday park 
accommodation 

Greenfield 20 £14,000 £8,000 £2,000 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Retail uses 

 Our viability testing results for convenience and comparison retail are set out in Appendix 8. Our 

results show that convenience retail is viable before any policy costs.  The comparison retail uses 

are unviable which is not surprising given the current uncertainty in the market present. 

Typology Land use Size (sqm) Max. surplus sum Max. surplus £ psm 

Convenience 
retail budget 

Greenfield 350 £221,949 £600 

Convenience 
retail express 

Greenfield 2,500 £1,181,596 £400 

Convenience 
retail budget 

Brownfield 350 £47,994 £100 

Convenience 
retail express 

Brownfield 2,500 £329,900 £100 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

  

Table 7-5  Holiday park accommodation - viability testing results 

Table 7-6  Retail - viability testing results 

Page 606



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 72 

    

 
 

 

Employment uses  

 Our viability testing results for industrial and office uses are set out in Appendix 9. Our results 

show that office and industrial development is currently unviable on a speculative basis with the 

exception of B8 strategic industrial uses. The testing does not reflect the economics of an owner-

occupier solution which may be viable given the individual circumstances of the site and occupier 

funding/building requirements.  

Typology Land use Size (sqm) Max. surplus sum Max. surplus £ psm 

B8 strategic 
distribution 

Greenfield 15,000 £447,243 £30 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

  

Table 7-7  Employment - viability testing results 

Page 607



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 73 

    

 
 

8 Recommendations  

Introduction  

 The following recommendations are based on the evidence set out in this viability report and the 

objectivities set out in the Council’s draft Local Plan:  

Residential – policy recommendations  

 In our recommendations for residential development, we have set out a “mix and match” 

approach depending on the weight the Council wish to give to affordable housing versus other 

potential future policy asks.  

 In our mix and match approach, we have sought to utilise all the surplus from the least viable 

scenario. As shown in our viability results, many scenarios produce much larger surpluses 

therefore allowing a “viability buffer.”  

 In our appraisals we have already taken into account existing policy costs contained within the 

adopted Local Plan; Bearing Fruits and any other known SPD or guidance. The included costs 

are outlined in Table 8-1. These costs are included in our appraisals and therefore the surpluses 

outlined above are inclusive of these.  

Element Cost 

Affordable housing Viability output 

10% biodiversity net gain £948 per dwelling 

Water efficiency - limit water usage to 110 
litres/person/day 

£9 per dwelling 

Air quality assessments Included in professional fees 

SuDs Included in external allowance / gross to net 
allowance 

Secondary schools £5,176 per ‘applicable’ house and, £1,294 
per ‘applicable’ flat 

Primary schools £ variable on local requirements 

Social care £147 per dwelling 

Library services £55 per dwelling 

Community learning £16 per dwelling 

Youth services £66 per dwelling 

Waste and recycling £184 per dwelling 

Health care £360 per occupant 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Table 8-1  Policies included in viability testing  

Page 608



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 74 

    

 
 

Greenfield (higher and lower value zone) 

 The viability results have shown that surpluses available on greenfield sites to fund potential 

policies are as follows: 

• 30% affordable housing - £20,000 - £48,000 per dwelling  

• 35% affordable housing – £16,000 – £42,000 per dwelling 

• 40% affordable housing - £12,000 - £39,000 per dwelling 

 Taking the lowest surplus on a per dwelling basis listed above we have outlined in Table 8-2 a 

“package” of future policies in addition to those listed in Table 8-1 against a given level of 

affordable housing. In reality, there are multiple iterations available of the package of policies. 

Therefore, they should only be seen as a guide and the Council is free to alter the package based 

on their priorities. Based on our analysis the maximum future package of policies equate to 

£14,407 per dwelling.  

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 30% AH 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 35% AH 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 40% AH 

Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling  

Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling  

Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling 

Biodiversity net gain from 

10% to 20% - £180 per 

dwelling  

Biodiversity net gain from 

10% to 20% - £180 per 

dwelling  

M4 (2) on 100% of total 

units - £1,400 per dwelling 

when the cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

M4 (2) on 75% of total 

units - £1,050 per dwelling 

when cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

M4 (2) on 90% of total units 

- £1,260 per dwelling when 

cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

Zero regulated carbon - 

£10,100 per dwelling (could 

meet renewable targets 

depending on zero carbon 

solution) 

M4 (3) on 25% of total 

units - £2,577 per dwelling 

when cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

M4 (3) on 10% of total units 

- £1,037 per dwelling when 

cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

 

Zero regulated carbon - 

£10,100 per dwelling 

(could meet renewable 

targets depending on zero 

carbon solution) 

Zero regulated carbon - 

£10,100 per dwelling (could 

meet renewable targets 

depending on zero carbon 

solution) 

 

Table 8-2  Potential policy options – funded through greenfield surplus generated 

Page 609



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 75 

    

 
 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 30% AH 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 35% AH 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 40% AH 

£14,407 per dwelling total £13,077 per dwelling total £12,000 per dwelling total 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

 It is clear from Table 8-2 that the Council’s future policy requirements can be met in full at 30% 

affordable housing, but at 40% affordable housing this becomes more challenging. This is 

because the total package of policy ask exceeds the least viable scenario tested at 40% 

affordable housing. 

 The use of the least viable scenario to measure the surplus available for policy asks is a 

conservative approach, but by doing so builds in an appropriate viability buffer across the board 

that can absorb economic and market changes, particularly in times of uncertainty and potentially 

fund a CIL.  

Brownfield (lower value zone) 

 Brownfield development is identified to come forward in the lower value zone. The viability results 

have shown that surpluses available to fund potential policies are as follows: 

• Housing development (Rushenden) viable 10% affordable housing & £2,000 per dwelling 

surplus 

• Mixed housing & flatted development is viable:  

o 30% affordable housing – £3,000 per dwelling surplus  

o 20% affordable housing - £13,500 per dwelling surplus  

o 10% affordable housing - £18,000 per dwelling surplus  

• Flatted development is unviable 

 Again, we outline a policy package in Table 8-3 that could be achieved taking account of the 

development surpluses that we have outlined in our results above. Again, this is a mix and match 

approach and we have provided an example that uses the majority of the surpluses that we have 

identified. For example, at 10% and 20% affordable housing the majority of the full policy asks 

can be absorbed by the surpluses generated from mixed flatted and housing scenarios, the 

difference being that only 10% of units can be M4(3) standard at 20% affordable housing, rather 

than the preferred 25% which the Council has suggested is their evidence-based target.  

 

Page 610



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 76 

   

 

 

 

Rushenden South 10% 

AH  

10% AH mixed housing & 

flats 

20% AH mixed housing & flats 30% AH - mixed housing 

& flats  

Electric charge - £500 

per dwelling  

Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling  

Electric charge - £500 per dwelling  Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling  

M4 (2) on 100% of total 

units  - £1,400 per 

dwelling when cost 

averaged across all 

dwelling 

Biodiversity net gain from 10 to 

20% - £180 per dwelling  

Biodiversity net gain from 10 to 20% - 

£180 per dwelling  

Biodiversity net gain from 

10 – 20% - £180 per 

dwelling 

 
M4 (2) on 75% of total units - 

£1,050 per dwelling when cost 

averaged across all dwellings 

M4 (2) on 90% of total units - £1,260 

per dwelling when cost 

averaged across all dwellings 

10% reduction in CO2 

using fabric installation - 

£2,100 per dwelling  

 
M4 (3) on 25% of total units - 

£2,577 per dwelling when cost 

averaged across all dwellings 

M4 (3) on 10% of total units - £1,037 

per dwelling when cost 

averaged across all dwellings 

 

 
Zero regulated carbon - 

£10,100 per dwelling (could 

meet renewable targets 

depending on zero carbon 

solution) 

Zero regulated carbon - £10,100 per 

dwelling (could meet renewable 

targets depending on zero carbon 

solution) 

 

£1,900 per dwelling 

total  

£14,407 per dwelling total  £13,077 per dwelling total  £2,780 per dwelling total  

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Table 8-3  Potential policy options – funded through brownfield surplus generated 

P
age 611



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 77 

   

 
 

BTR  

 Build to rent is currently unviable; we recommend that because BTR does not form the bulk of 

development the Council should not seek anything too onerous in terms of policy. This could help 

ensure viable development in future. 

Older persons accommodation  

 For older persons accommodation development, we make the following recommendations: 

• Greenfield development - can support the existing policy costs at 20% affordable 

housing, with a small surplus of £1,000 per unit to fund any emerging policy asks. We 

would advise the Council to take a flexible approach with this type of development to 

ensure that development remains, particularly with affordable housing requirements. For 

the time being this type of development can not fund any further policy asks than what is 

already in place. 

• Brownfield development – is more marginal then greenfield. Brownfield development can 

support all the policy costs only when affordable housing is not sought, but there is almost 

no surplus available for additional policy requirements. We again urge flexibility with this 

type of development and the affordable housing requirement.  

 We must highlight that this surplus is not subject to any viability buffer and any changes (i.e., in 

the market, abnormal costs or land value) would likely absorb this entire surplus. 

Holiday park accommodation  

 The viability results have shown that surpluses available on holiday park accommodation are as 

follows: 

• 30% affordable housing - £14,000 per dwelling  

• 35% affordable housing – £8,000 per dwelling 

• 40% affordable housing - £2,000 per dwelling 

 Again, we outline a policy package in Table 8-4  that could be achieved taking account of the 

development surpluses that we have outlined in our results above. Again, this is a mix and match 

approach and we have provided examples that best use the majority of the surpluses that we 

have identified. In this assessment, zero carbon can only be achieved when affordable housing 

is at 30%.  Should affordable housing be at 40% then there is little scope to fund a full package 

of future policy asks. The future policy asks use all of the surplus generated, therefore leaving no 

viability buffer to absorb future changes in the market. Therefore, we would advise not all of the 

viability surplus is used and a reduced package of future policies is sought than those listed Table 

8-4.  

Page 612



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 78 

   

 
 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 30% AH 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 35% AH 

Policy package per 

dwelling @ 40% AH 

Biodiversity net gain from 

10% to 20% - £180 per 

dwelling  

Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling  

Electric charge - £500 per 

dwelling 

M4 (2) on 75% of total 

units - £1,050 per dwelling 

when the cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

Biodiversity net gain from 

10% to 20% - £180 per 

dwelling  

M4 (2) on 100% of total 

units - £1,400 per dwelling 

when the cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

M4 (3) on 25% of total 

units - £2,577 per dwelling 

when the cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

M4 (2) on 90% of total units 

- £1,260 per dwelling when 

the cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

 

Zero regulated carbon - 

£10,100 per dwelling 

(could meet renewable 

targets depending on zero 

carbon solution) 

M4 (3) on 10% of total units 

- £1,037 per dwelling when 

the cost 

averaged across all 

dwellings 

 

 48% reduction using PV 

installation, £4,700 per 

dwelling 

 

£13,907 per dwelling total £7,667 per dwelling total £1,900 per dwelling total 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Retail  

 For retail, we make the following recommendations: 

• Convenience retail – has a development surplus available to support existing policy 

requirements but this is varied depending on the size of the development and the 

brownfield or greenfield nature of the site. We recommend the Council takes a flexible site 

by site approach when determining what policy requirements to seek on these 

developments. 

• Comparison retail - development is unviable in the current market and the outlook 

appears poor; we recommend that the Council should not seek anything too onerous in 

terms of the policy to help ensure viable development.  

Table 8-4  Potential policy options – funded through surplus generated 

Page 613



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 79 

   

 
 

Employment 

 As with comparison retail, office and industrial development are currently unviable except for 

strategic distribution. 

 Strategic distribution developments are viable before policy requirements. However, we 

recommend that the Council should not seek anything too onerous in terms of policy to help 

encourage this type of development.  

CIL recommendations  

 Based on the surpluses that we have identified; we are able to provide an indication as to which 

types of development could support a CIL charge in Swale Borough.  

Greenfield (higher and lower value zone) 

 Our findings take any surplus available after applying the policy ask identified in Table 8-2. The 

difference in remaining surplus after policy asks can then be put toward an indicative CIL charge 

(after accounting for affordable housing, where CIL is not chargeable). This analysis leads to our 

results in Table 8-5, which outlines the maximum surplus for CIL across 30%, 35% and 40% 

affordable greenfield housing scenarios. Guidance advises that not all of the available surplus 

should be used to allow a sufficient “viability buffer”. There is no set formula to determine a 

suitable buffer, but we typically see this around 30% - 40%.  

Affordable housing 30% 35% 40% 

Surplus identified £20,000 £16,000 £12,000 

Policy package £14,407 £13,077 £12,000 

Remaining surplus £5,593 £2,923 £0 

Surplus after AH £7,990 £4,497 £0 

Max surplus for CIL psm £87.80 £49.42 £0.00 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

Residential development Brownfield (lower value zone) 

 In performing the same analysis as above, our results for the brownfield sites in Table 8-5 are 

much lower as expected. The only scenario that supports a reasonable CIL charge is mixed 

housing and flats at 10% affordable housing, with a maximum surplus of £44 psm.  

  

Table 8-5  Surplus for CIL – residential development 

Page 614



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 80 

   

 
 

Affordable 

housing 

Rushenden 

South 10% AH  

10% AH mixed 

housing & flats 

20% AH mixed 

housing & flats 

30% AH - mixed 

housing & flats  

Surplus identified £2,000 £18,000 £13,500 £3,000 

Policy package £1,900 £14,407 £13,077 £2,780 

Remaining 

surplus 

£100 £3,593 £423 £220 

Surplus after AH £90 £3,234 £338 £154 

Max surplus for 

CIL psm £1.22 £43.87 £5.81 £3.45 

Source: AspinallVerdi (December 2020) 

 The CIL Regulations do not allow to vary CIL charges between greenfield and brownfield land 

uses but does allow between uses, size or zones. Given that all of the planned growth greenfield 

development falls in the higher value zone, and the difference in viability between greenfield and 

brownfield development, we would recommend varying the charges between the higher and 

lower value zones.  

BTR development 

 There is no scope the support a CIL charge for this type of development.  

Older persons accommodation  

 This type of development is marginally viable and therefore there is no scope the support a CIL 

charge for this type of development. 

Holiday park accommodation  

 There is scope for a CIL charge on this type of development, the maximum surpluses for a CIL 

are as follows:  

• £225 psm at 30% affordable housing 

• £150 psm at 35% affordable housing 

• £50 psm at 40% affordable housing 

Retail (convenience)  

 There is scope for a CIL charge on this type of development, the maximum surpluses for a CIL 

are as follows: 

• Convenience budget: £100 psm  

• Convenience express: £125 psm 

Table 8-6  Surplus for CIL – residential development 

Page 615



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

 81 

   

 
 

 Again, any CIL charge will require a suitable buffer therefore any proposed rate would be less 

than the maximum sums stated. The CIL Regulations do allow to vary charges by size but given 

the maximum surpluses available are broadly similar we would not recommend varying a charge 

on this basis.  

Retail (comparison)  

 There is no scope the support a CIL charge for this type of development. 

Employment  

 Only strategic distribution can viably support a potential CIL, with a maximum surplus available 

of £30 psm.  

Page 616



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

 

Appendix 1 – Policy Review 
 
  

Page 617



 
 

Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

    

Strategic Planning Policies 

Policy ST 1 – Delivering 
sustainable development 
in Swale 

Low Strategic policy which sets out the need for 
sustainable development and ensure 
compliance with the NPPF. 

This is a current requirement and it is 
assumed all planned development we be 
delivered in a sustainable manner.  

Policy ST 2 – 
Development targets for 
jobs and homes 2014-
2031 

Low Strategic policy which identifies land to 
meet two key development targets over the 
plan period: 

1) 130,000 sqm B class employment 
floorspace 

2) 13,192 (779 dwellings per annum).  

The Council has committed to review the 
Local Plan to be adopted by April 2022. 

Assume development will be delivered in 
manner to meet the policy.  We have tested 
a range of scenarios required by the 
Council that reflect the planned growth in 
the area and consider the settlement 
hierarchy. 

Policy ST 3 – The Swale 
settlement strategy 

Low  Strategic policy that promotes development 
in the settlement strategy naming 
Sittingbourne as the main urban centre and 
focus for growth, followed by Faversham 
and Sheerness and other rural centres. 

 

Assume development will be delivered in 
manner to meet the policy.  We have tested 
a range of scenarios required by the 
Council that reflect the planned growth in 
the area and consider the settlement 
hierarchy. 

Policy ST 4 – Meeting the 
Local Plan development 
targets 

Low  Strategic policy that outlines all allocated 
sites for housing, referencing the Proposals 
Map with broad locations and the minimum 
quantum of housing expected to be 
delivered on each site.  

A range of typologies have been developed 
to reflect different residential mixes. 

  

Policy ST 5 – The 
Sittingbourne area 
strategy 

Low Strategic policy that outlines what 
development proposals in Sittingbourne will 
deliver.   

A range of typologies have been developed 
to reflect different residential mixes. 

Policy ST 6 – The isle of 
Sheppey area strategy 

Low Strategic policy that outlines what 
development proposals on the Isle of 
Sheppey will deliver.   

A range of typologies have been developed 
to reflect different residential mixes. 

P
age 618



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

Policy ST 7 – The 
Faversham and Kent 
Downs strategy 

Low Strategic policy that outlines what 
development proposals in the Faversham 
area and Kent Down will deliver.   

A range of typologies have been developed 
to reflect different residential mixes. 

Core Planning Policies 

Policy CP 1 – Building a 
strong, competitive 
economy 

Low Core planning policy that outlines how the 
public, private and voluntary sectors will 
deliver the economic strategy. 

A range of typologies have been developed 
to reflect different residential mixes. 

Any site-specific or policy requirements to 
meet the economic strategy are assumed to 
be funded through S.106. 

Policy CP 2 – Promoting 
sustainable transport 

Medium Core planning policy that sets expectations 
surrounding sustainable forms of transport, 
where development minimises the need to 
travel for employment. Development will 
support new transport infrastructure and will 
integrate walking and cycling routes. 

Cost of providing the infrastructure is 
considered to be delivered through the 
infrastructure cost allowance made in the 
appraisal.  

Policy CP 3 – Delivering a 
wide choice of high-
quality homes 

Medium Core planning policy that sets expectations 
surrounding the delivery of a wide choice of 
high-quality homes that extend 
opportunities for home ownership and 
create sustainable, inclusive and mixed 
communities.   

Viability testing considers a range of 
different typologies and unit mixes. 

Design requirements are not considered an 
onerous cost over and above that provided 
in BCIS. 

Policy CP 4 – Requiring 
good design 

Medium Core planning policy that sets expectations 
surrounding the of high-quality designs.  

As above. 

Policy CP 5 – Health and 
wellbeing 

Medium Core planning policy that sets expectations 
surrounding the promotion and protection of 
the health of Swale’s population and to 
reduce health inequalities.  

Cost of providing community 
services/facilities, open space, 
sport/recreation, allotments, healthier 
transport options and health facilities is 
considered to be delivered through site-
specific S.106 and/or CIL as appropriate. 

Open space will be delivered land through 
the gross to net developable area. 

P
age 619



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

Cost of providing an Environmental Impact 
Assessments is assumed to be covered 
within the professional fees. 

Policy CP 6 – Community 
facilities and services to 
meet local needs 

Medium Core planning policy that sets out the role 
the Council will play in working with 
developers and public agencies to identify 
deficiencies in infrastructure.  

Cost of providing the infrastructure is 
considered to be delivered through site-
specific S.106 or CIL.  

Policy CP 7 – Conserving 
and enhancing the natural 
environment - providing 
for green infrastructure 

Medium Core planning policy that requires the 
Council to work with partners and 
developers to ensure the protection, 
enhancement and delivery, as appropriate, 
of the Swale natural assets and green 
infrastructure network and its associated 
strategy. 

Cost of providing the and enhancing the 
green infrastructure and biodiversity is 
considered to be delivered through site-
specific S.106 or CIL and the land through 
the gross to net developable area. 

Policy CP 8 – Conserving 
and enhancing the 
historic environment 

Low Core planning policy that manages 
development affecting heritage assets and 
the preparation of a Heritage Strategy.  

Development proposals with national 
planning policy in respect of heritage and 
any heritage strategy which identified local 
management strategies and respects 
conservation areas.  

 

Not considered separately in our testing as 
assumed that the planned developments do 
not involve heritage assets. 

Development Management Planning Policies 

Policy DM1 – Maintaining 
and enhancing the vitality 
and viability of town 
centres and other areas 

Low Development management policy which 
sets out the protection of retail and 
shopping frontages. Any development that 
results in the loss of these will be resisted. 

Not considered separately in our testing.  

Policy DM2 – Proposals 
for main town centre uses 

Low Development management policy which 
sets out the location of town centres and 
the retail hierarchy as defined in the 
Proposals Map. 

Viability testing considers a range of 
different typologies and unit mixes. 

P
age 620



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

Policy DM3 – The rural 
economy  

Low Development management policy which 
sets out how planning permission will be 
granted for sustainable rural growth and 
expansion of businesses in the rural area. 

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM4 – New holiday 
parks or extensions to 
existing parks 

Low Development management policy which 
sets out how planning permission will be 
granted for new or existing holiday parks 
with respect to Holiday Park areas. On the 
Isle of Sheppey. 

Viability testing considers the testing of 
holiday parks. 

Policy DM5 – The 
occupancy of holiday 
parks 

Low Development management policy which 
restricts occupancy of holiday parks to 10 
months a year. 

As above. 

Policy DM6 – Managing 
transport demand and 
impact 

Low Development management policy which 
requires development proposals generating 
a significant amount of transport 
movements will be required to support their 
proposal with the preparation of a Transport 
Assessment (including a Travel Plan). 

The Highways Agency may also require a 
Transport Assessment if development is 
deemed to impact on the strategic road 
network. 

The cost of Transport Assessments is 
covered by professional fees. 

Policy DM7 – Vehicle 
parking 

Medium Development management policy which will 
continue to apply extant Kent County 
Council vehicle parking standards to new 
development proposals until the Swale 
Borough Parking Standards SPD is 
adopted. 

We have reviewed the recently adopted 
SPD. It is assumed that on-site parking 
costs will be covered through external costs 
allowances. 

Cost of providing electric charge points is 
considered to be delivered through any 
viability surplus identified.  

Policy DM8 – Affordable 
housing 

Medium Development management policy outlines 
affordable housing requirements in Swale 
Borough. The % rates are as follows: 

• Isle of Sheppey – 0% 

Appraisal tests whether this policy is viable 
along with sensitivity testing at other 
affordable housing percentages and tenure 
mix. 

P
age 621



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

• Sittingbourne town, urban 
extensions and Iwade – 10% 

• Strategic site at NW Sittingbourne – 
10% 

• Faversham town and urban 
extensions – 35% 

• All other rural areas – 40% 

• All areas – 0% affordable older 
person housing 

Policy DM9 – Rural 
exceptions housing 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the requirements for affordable 
housing to meet local needs in rural areas. 

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM10 – Gypsy and 
Traveller sites 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the safeguarding of existing and 
proposed Gypsies and Travellers sites, 
unless it is demonstrated the site is no 
longer suitable for such use. 

As above. 

Policy DM11 – Extensions 
to, and replacement of, 
dwellings in the rural area 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the requirement when rebuilding or 
replacing an existing dwelling in the rural 
areas. 

As above. 

Policy DM12 – Dwellings 
for rural workers 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the requirements to achieve 
planning permission for new, permanent, 
rural worker dwellings in the countryside.  

As above. 

Policy DM13 – Extending 
the garden of a dwelling 
in the rural area 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the requirements to achieve 
planning permission to extend the garden of 
a dwelling in the rural area or to use land as 
amenity land.  

As above. 

Policy DM14 – General 
development criteria 

Medium Development management policy which 
requires development proposals to accord 

Viability testing considers a range of 
different typologies and unit mixes that we 

P
age 622



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

with polices in the adopted Development 
Plan and to include sufficient information to 
enable to Council to determine the 
application in conjunction with the Local List 
of requirements.  

assume to be compliant with individual 
polices within the Development Plan. 
Advice is provided on whether existing and 
potentially new policies are viable. 
Depending on the outturn of the testing the 
Council may need to revise the policies 
accordingly.  

Policy DM15 – New 
shopfronts, signs and 
advertisements 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the requirements for development 
involving shopfronts conserving the 
character of the affected building.  

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM16 – Alterations 
and extensions 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the requirements for development 
involving alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings.  

As above. 

Policy DM17 – Open 
space, sports and 
recreation provision 

Medium Development management policy which 
outlines the requirements for open space, 
sports pitches and facilities in accordance 
with national policy. The policy makes 
provision for open space and sports 
facilities in terms of site requirements and 
refers to a need for off-site funding if there 
is no on site provision.  

Open space will be delivered land through 
the gross to net developable area. Cost of 
providing the space or facilities will also be 
delivered through a combination of external 
works allowance and site-specific S.106 or 
CIL. 

 

Policy DM18 – Local 
green spaces 

Medium Development management policy which 
identifies the location of Local Green Space 
designations and sets out the requirements 
when development on these designations is 
acceptable.   

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM19 – 
Sustainable design and 
construction 

High Development management policy which 
outlines that development will need to 
address and adapt to climate change in 
accordance with national planning policy 
and guidance.  

The policy is prescriptive on some 
measures employed to achieve this, 

Our testing assesses the viability of this 
policy. Various costs have been identified 
for different levels of carbon reduction 
based on the technology used. As this is an 
emerging policy, the cost of achieving this 
policy is assessed through the viability 
surplus generated. Depending on the 

P
age 623



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

including use of materials to increase 
energy efficiency, promotion of waste 
reduction, upgrading existing structures, 
design buildings that are adaptable to 
change and re-use over time. Demonstrate 
the network of green infrastructure and 
biodiversity and the encouragement of 
mixed-use development.  

outcome of the testing, advice is provided 
on how the policy can viably be 
implemented.  

 

Policy DM20 – 
Renewable and low 
carbon energy 

High Development management policy which 
requires the development of renewable and 
low carbon energy sources. 

As above. 

Policy DM21 – Water, 
flooding and drainage 

High Development management policy which 
outlines requirements for development in 
areas that may be at risk of flooding or 
increase flood risk elsewhere.  

Most sites are not affected by floodrisk. Any 
surface run-off will be accommodated 
through SuDs. Where floodrisk is an issue 
with Rushden then mitigation measures will 
need to be met through the 
infrastructure/site prep allowance made. If 
this is not sufficient then any additional cost 
will have to be reflected in a reduced land 
value.  

Policy DM22 – The coast Low Development management policy which 
outlines requirements for development at or 
near to the coast.  Includes requirements to 
maintain, enhance and protect the coast. 
Also enabling wildlife to adapt to the effects 
of climate change.  

Cost of providing any enhancement, 
protection of management of the coasts 
natural assets is considered to be delivered 
through site-specific S.106 or CIL.  

 

Policy DM23 – Coastal 
change management 

Medium Development management policy which 
outlines requirements for development at or 
near to the coast. Includes requirements to 
maintain, enhance and protect the coast. 
Also enabling wildlife to adapt to the effects 
of climate change.  

Not considered separately in our testing as 
the development coming forward does not 
infringe upon any of the protected coastal 
areas with the exception of Rushenden 
South. Any mitigation measures are to be 
delivered through site-specific S.106 or CIL. 

Policy DM24 – 
Conserving and 

Low Development management policy which 
requires the value, character, amenity and 
tranquillity of the Borough’s landscapes to 

All measures to deliver this policy are 
assumed to be covered through general 
build cost / design allowance. 

P
age 624



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

enhancing valued 
landscapes 

be protected, enhanced and, where 
appropriate, managed. 

Specific areas include: 

• The Kent Downs AONB and areas 
of High Landscape Value (Kent 
and Swale Level).  

• Non-designated landscapes 

• All others landscapes 

Policy DM25 – The 
separation of settlements 
- Important Local 
Countryside Gaps 

Low Development management policy which 
requires character and setting of 
settlements to be retained and outlined 
Important Countryside Gaps in the 
Proposals Map. 

 

Viability testing considers a range of 
different typologies and unit mixes. Our 
testing is based on proposed allocations 
which are assumed to meet this policy. 

Policy DM26 – Rural 
lanes 

Low Development management policy which 
does not permit planning permission for 
development that would physically or as a 
result of traffic levels harm the character of 
rural lanes. 

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM27 – The 
keeping and grazing of 
horses 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines when planning permission will be 
granted for development involving the use 
of land for the keeping or grazing of horses.   

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM28 – 
Biodiversity and 
geological conservation 

Medium Development management policy which 
outlines proposals will conserve, enhance 
and extend biodiversity, provide for net 
gains in biodiversity where possible, 
minimise any adverse impacts and 
compensate where impacts cannot be 
mitigated.   

Cost to achieve a 10% biodiversity net gain 
have been identified and are in our 
appraisals. The Council has asked us to 
assess increasing biodiversity net gain to 
20%, the additionality would need to be 
funded through any surplus generated, and 
advice is provided in the report whether this 
is possible.  

P
age 625



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

Policy DM29 – 
Woodlands, trees and 
hedges 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines the need for the Council to seek to 
ensure the protection, enhancement and 
sustainable management of woodlands, 
orchards trees and hedges. 

Cost of landscaping or any environmental 
requirements relating to this policy will be 
provided through the external cost 
allowance.  

 

Policy DM30 – Enabling 
development for 
landscape and 
biodiversity enhancement 

Low Development management policy which 
outlines when proposals can exceptionally 
come forward that would contravene 
planning policy that protects the 
countryside.   

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM31 – 
Agricultural land 

Low Development management policy outlining 
where development on agricultural land will 
be permitted when there is an overriding 
need that cannot be met on land within the 
built-up area boundaries. 

 

Development on the most productive 
agricultural land will no be permitted unless 
allocated, there is no alternative suitable 
site or the development results in the 
remainder of the agricultural holding not 
becoming viable or leads to significant 
losses of high quality agricultural land.  

Our testing is based on proposed 
allocations which are assumed to meet this 
policy. 

Policy DM32 – 
Development involving 
listed buildings 

Low Development management policy outlining 
when the development of listed buildings 
will be acceptable.  

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM33 – 
Development affecting a 
conservation area 

Low Development management policy outlining 
what is required by development that is 
within, affecting the setting of, or views into 
and out of a conservation area.   

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM34 – Scheduled 
Monuments and 
archaeological sites 

Low Development management policy outlining 
that development will not be permitted 

Not considered separately in our testing. 

P
age 626



Draft planning policy Impact on viability Local plan viability implications How have these costs been dealt with in 
the study 

which would adversely affect a Schedule 
Ancient Monument in the Proposals Map. 

A balance will be considered for non-
designated heritage assets.  

Policy DM35 – Scheduled 
Monuments and 
archaeological sites 

Low Development management policy outlining 
the need to protect registered and non-
registered Historic Parks and Gardens and 
resist development that would adversely 
affect these assets.  

Not considered separately in our testing. 

Policy DM36 – Area of 
high townscape value 

Low Development management policy outlining 
the need to protect Area of High 
Townscape Value. 

Not considered separately in our testing. 

 

P
age 627



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 2 – Property Market Report 

  

Page 628



 

   
   
 APPENDIX 2 

 
 

 

Draft    

 Property Market Report  
   

 

Swale Borough Council   
  
  

  
  
December 2020  

   
   
   

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 629



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
 

 
 

Quality Assurance   
Date of Report  December 2020  

Version  Draft  

Filename and path  S:\_Client Projects\2005_Swale BC_WPV\_Reports\Market report\201218_Market 
Report_Draft.docx  

Prepared by  

 

Lawrence Owho, Consultant 

Edward Tyler, Consultant  

 

Checked by 

Date 

 Stuart Cook, Director 

December 2020  

Authorised by 

Date 

  

   

Limitation   
  This report has been prepared on behalf of and for the 

exclusive use of Aspinall Verdi Limited’s Client and it is 
subject to and issued in connection with the provisions of 
the agreement between Aspinall Verdi Limited and its 
Client. Aspinall Verdi Limited accepts no liability or 
responsibility whatsoever for or in respect of any use of 
or reliance upon this report by any third party. 

   

 
 
  

Page 630



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
 

 
 

Contents     
     

Report   

1 Introduction 5 

Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) 5 

2 Residential market 9 

Introduction 9 
Residential market overview 9 
Kent average property prices 10 
Swale overview 10 
New build sale prices 15 
New build quoting prices 18 
Residential agent consultation 20 
Residential Market Conclusion 22 

3 Build to Rent market assessment 24 

Introduction 24 
Market rents overview 24 
Swale BTR market 25 
BTR Yields 26 
Conclusion 26 

4 Older person accommodation 27 

Introduction 27 
Specialist housing premiums 29 
Conclusion 30 

5 Holiday park accommodation 31 

Introduction 31 
Swale Borough, park home new build quoting prices 31 
Conclusion 32 

6 Retail market assessment 33 

Introduction 33 
Retail market overview 33 
Convenience sector 33 
Comparison retail 37 
Conclusion 38 

7 Industrial market 40 

Introduction 40 
Industrial market Swale 41 
Conclusion 44 

8 Office market 46 

Introduction 46 
Office rents 47 
Office yields 48 
Conclusion 49 

 

Page 631



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
 

 
 

Tables & Figures   

Figure 2-1 Monthly gross domestic product and components index 6 

Figure 2-1 Study Boundary
 Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Figure 2-2 Average property prices 10 

Table 2-1 Property values by type, Kent 10 

Figure 2-3 Swale residential values by ward boundary 12 

Figure 2-4  Swale residential values expressed as a heatmap 14 

Table 2-2 Analysis of new build sold prices – Tylman Place 15 

Table 2-3 Analysis of new build sold prices – Mill Place 16 

Table 2-4 Analysis of new build sold prices – Regent Quay 16 

Table 2-5 Analysis of new build sold prices – Watling Place 16 

Table 2-6 Analysis of new build sold prices – KingsBorough Manor 17 

Table 2-7 Analysis of new build sold prices – Nelson Vue 17 

Table 2-8 New build quoting prices 18 

Table 2-9 Proposed sale prices across Swale Borough 21 

Table 2-10 Proposed housing development - sale prices 22 

Table 4-1 Park home quoting prices Swale 32 

Figure 5-1 Great Britain Grocery market share 12 weeks ending 22/04/18 & 29/11/20 34 

Table 5-1 Convenience retail occupational transactions 35 

Table 5-2 Convenience retail investment transactions 36 

Table 5-3 Comparison retail occupational transactions 37 

Table 5-4 Comparison retail investment transactions 38 

Table 6-1 Industrial occupational transactions 42 

Table 6-2 Industrial investment transactions 43 

Table 6-3 B8 Industrial occupational transactions 43 

Table 6-4 Strategic Distribution investment transactions 44 

Table 7-1 Achieved office rents 47 

Figure 7-1 Office investment transactions 48 

 

Appendices  Appendix 2.1 – Residential sale value evidence 

 

 

Page 632



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
5 

  
 

 

1 Introduction  

1.1 This market report has been used to inform our assumptions for the Swale Borough Council Local 

Plan viability testing. This report draws on data from recognised published data such as CoStar, 

Land Registry, Rightmove.co.uk, Primelocation, Zoopla, commercial agent reports, Energy 

Performance Certificates (EPCs), and the Council planning portal.  

1.2 Our market assessment considers the following markets: 

• General needs residential 

• Older persons accommodation  

• Holiday park accommodation 

• Retail (comparison and convenience) 

• Industrial and Distribution 

• Office  

Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) 

1.3 The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19), declared by the World Health Organisation 

as a “Global Pandemic” on 11 March 2020, has impacted global financial markets. Many 

countries have implemented travel restrictions. As of 5 November 2020 England, is facing a 

second national lockdown and an extension to the furlough scheme. Market activity is being 

impacted in many sectors; however, the exact consequences of the Covid-19 outbreak are 

unknown and we are faced with an unprecedented set of circumstances on which to base a 

judgement. There is therefore a higher degree of uncertainty than would normally be the case. 

We have conducted our market research based on the existing available evidence and our 

assumptions are based on a ‘business as normal’ approach. The assumptions used may be 

subject to change and we recommend that the conclusions of this report be kept under review. 

Impact on the UK economy  

1.4 The pandemic has a significant impact on the UK economy, shows that since lockdown the UK 

economy (gross domestic product (GDP)) has shrank for two consecutive quarters and had 

entered a technical recession for the first time in 11-years. The recession ended after the third 

quarter as these was a GDP bounce back as lockdown eased. 

 

 

 

Page 633



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
6 

  
 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

1.5 As shown in Figure 2-1, all sectors have been affected by the pandemic through pausing in 

trading. Of the sectors highlighted, construction suffered the largest fall in monthly GDP 

comparatively.  

1.6 The ONS completes the ongoing analysis of the impact of Covid-19 on the economy. As of 

September 2020, the main points are as follows1:  

• Monthly gross domestic product (GDP) rose by 1.1% during September 2020 but was 8.2% 

below February 2020 levels. 

• September 2020 saw the fifth consecutive month of growth, but the rate of recovery has 

slowed each month since the largest rise of 9.1% in June 2020. 

• Across services, the monthly growth was driven professional services, education and 

health, while accommodation and food and beverage service activities declined. 

• Of the 51 service industries, 10 had September 2020 output levels that were less than 80% 

of that recorded in February 2020. 

• Within manufacturing, there was widespread growth, but this was largely offset by a fall in 

the pharmaceutical industry; aircraft production and motor vehicle manufacturing saw 

respective September 2020 output levels that were 26.2% and 21.1% below those of 

February 2020. 

 
1 ONS, 2020. Coronavirus and the impact on output in the UK economy: September 2020 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

J
a
n

-1
9

F
e

b
-1

9

M
a

r-
1

9

A
p

r-
1
9

M
a

y
-1

9

J
u
n

-1
9

J
u
l-

1
9

A
u

g
-1

9

S
e

p
-1

9

O
c
t-

1
9

N
o

v
-1

9

D
e

c
-1

9

J
a
n

-2
0

F
e

b
-2

0

M
a

r-
2

0

A
p

r-
2
0

M
a

y
-2

0

J
u
n

-2
0

J
u
l-

2
0

A
u

g
-2

0

S
e

p
-2

0

In
d
e
x
 2

0
1
8
 =

 1
0
0

Monthly gross domestic product Construction Services Manufacturing

Figure 2-1 Monthly gross domestic product and components index 

Page 634



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
7 

  
 

 

• Construction output grew by 2.9% in September 2020, driven by increases in both new 

work (2.7%) and repair and maintenance (3.4%); this is the fifth consecutive month of 

growth but the lowest rise in that time. 

• Quarter 3 (July to Sept) 2020 saw a rise of 15.5% in GDP following a fall of 19.8% in 

Quarter 2 (Apr to June) 2020; Quarter 3 GDP was 9.7% below Quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2019 

levels. 

 

1.7 Future prospects are uncertain and media coverage suggests that there is growing concern that 

a second recession is likely in 2021. This is dependent on a number of variables, not least the 

success of recent vaccine rollouts. 

Impact on the property market  

1.8 We are only now seeing some data on the impact coronavirus is having on the property market 

but not insignificant quantum to draw robust analysis - this is because the market has effectively 

been held in abeyance and with the time-lag of recording data the full impacts will not be known 

for several months to come.  

1.9 Since the easing of the initial lockdown, there was pent up demand in the market. The 

government also introduced some measures to stimulate the property market, including headline 

moves such as mortgage holidays, and stamp duty holiday. These measures have been 

successful in the short term with housing price increases during 2020. But the outlook is less 

certain after the stamp duty holiday ends and when the foreign investment tax (2% stamp duty 

levied to foreign buyers of UK property) also comes into force in April 2021. The pressures of 

Brexit and the full fallout of Covid-19 are yet to be seen. At the time of writing, in October 2020 

the average house price in the UK is £245,443, and the index stands at 128.73. Property prices 

have risen by 0.7% compared to the previous month, and risen by 5.4% compared to the previous 

year2 

Impact on property market assessment  

1.10 Most of our property market research was undertaken up to July 2020. The initial lockdown in 

March 2020 was much more impactful on estate agencies. Before finalising this report, we have 

reviewed our property market data to ensure there have not been any significant swings in local 

property sales and prices. Through this review, it is clear due to the market effectively being held 

in abeyance for many months, there is no new data (for new build properties) which provides 

 
2 HM Land Registry, 2020, UK House Price Index 

Page 635



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
8 

  
 

 

evidence support changes to our original analysis based on data collected and analysed up to 

July 2020.  

  

Page 636



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
9 

  
 

 

2 Residential market 

Introduction 

2.1 This section deals with the residential market in Swale Borough Council.  For context, we firstly 

provide an overview of market conditions at a national, regional and local scale. We then analyse 

second-hand sales evidence and new-build development data in terms of achieved and asking 

prices to ensure the value assumptions and inputs adopted within the financial appraisals are 

robust.  

Residential market overview 

2.2 Following the global financial crisis, the residential market in England & Wales has generally been 

in a period of growth. The growth was initially seen in London, which responded to the quickest 

to the financial crisis. This growth then rippled out to the southeast and regions. But this growth 

in values has not been spread equally across England & Wales. Those regions that have 

performed well are located within an hour’s commute to London, commonly known as the ‘golden 

hour’ for commuters. As London has faced affordability issues, those locations within an hour 

commute have become more attractive as they often better value money for those wishing to 

buy, or upsize.  

2.3 In more recent years, the market has become more unstable due to; changes in Stamp Duty 

Land Tax (SDLT), the referendum vote to the leave the European Union (EU), and the 

subsequent negotiations, and the General Election which led to the Conservative party having a 

reduced majority. Uncertainty is set to continue with the impact of coronavirus and fears of a 

“hard Brexit” now becoming reality.  

Average property prices  

2.4 Figure 2-1 shows the average property prices (new and re-sales) for England, Kent and Swale 

Borough.  

2.5 Since 2009, the England average price has increased by around 55%, from £159,000 to 

£247,000. In the same period, prices across Kent have grown at a higher rate of 72%, from a 

higher average price; the difference in average prices in Kent and England is currently around 

£46,000 (or 18%). The average prices in Swale are lower than the average prices in England and 

Kent and this has been further widened by the Covid-19 crisis as prices dropped by 7% between 

December 2019 and March 2020. Compared to Kent, average prices are currently 20% lower, at 

£234,096. 

  

Page 637



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
10 

  
 

 

 
Source: Land Registry, accessed July 2020 

Kent average property prices 

2.6 Table 2-1 shows average property prices for Kent, split by typology. The analysis shows that the 

difference between the average unit price for detached and semi-detached is significant at around 

£200,000 (or 62%) this is despite the difference in £ psf being only 4% - this would indicate that 

the average size of a detached property is relatively large compared to semi-detached. The 

remaining typologies all rise on a £ psf basis from detached to flats, demonstrating that generally, 

the smaller properties are more expensive. 

Property type Avg. current 
value 

Avg. £ per sq ft. Avg. # 
beds 

Avg. £ paid (last 
12m) 

Detached £520,039 £335 3.6 £511,507 

Semi-
detached 

£320,381 £320 3.1 £344,120 

Terraced £248,854 £301 2.8 £274,451 

Flats £194,223 £302 1.8 £201,593 

Source: Zoopla, accessed July 2020 

Swale overview  

2.7 Analysis has been undertaken of Land Registry data of sold prices for re-sales on a price per unit 

basis over the last two years across Swale Borough.  

£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

£200,000

£250,000

£300,000

£350,000

England

Kent

Swale

Figure 2-1 Average property prices 

Table 2-1 Property values by type, Kent 

Page 638



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
11 

  
 

 

2.8 The map in Figure 2-2 shows property prices grouped in value bands analysed against ward 

boundaries. The analysis shows higher values on a price per unit basis are located in rural areas 

or Faversham. The lowest value area is in Sheerness on the Ilse of Sheppey, with the centre of 

Sittingbourne also lower value. 

Page 639



  Appendix 2 – Property  Market Report  
 

 

  
12 

  
 

 

 
Source: Land Registry Sale Value data, Basemap Ordnance Survey online (August 2020) 

Figure 2-2 Swale residential values by ward boundary 

P
age 640



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
13 

  
 

 

2.9 The map in Figure 2-3 is the same Land Registry data expressed a ‘heatmap.’ The data is not 

‘fixed’ against ward boundary boundaries thus allowing for finer grain analysis of the areas of 

higher, mid and lower values. The red/orange colours represent higher average prices and the 

blue colours represent the lower values. The analysis shows an emphasis on the lower values 

on the isle of Sheppey concentrated on Sheerness. Sittingbourne is also lower value when 

compared to rural areas. Faversham is a generally higher value than the other major settlements 

in the Borough. The south-east of the Borough, around Selling, Leaveland and Baldesmere have 

the highest values with the area. There is also a pocket of higher value in the west of the Borough 

on the Borough boundary around Rainham. 

Page 641



  Appendix 2 – Property  Market Report  
 

 

  
14 

  
 

 

 
Source: Land Registry Sale Value data, Basemap Ordnance Survey online (August 2020) 

Figure 2-3  Swale residential values expressed as a heatmap  

P
age 642



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
15 

  
 

 

New build sale prices 

2.10 New build sale values have been analysed using Land Registry Data, this data has been 

analysed on a £ psm basis through cross-referencing with EPC data. The EPC certificate data 

provides evidence of the unit sizes but does not record the number of bedrooms per property. 

Evidence of the number of beds has been taken from the Council’s planning portal, Rightmove, 

Zoopla and Prime Location; although, it has not been possible to reconcile all property types. 

Where the number of beds for the property is known, this has been recorded. Where the number 

of beds is not known this has been left ‘blank’ in our analysis. The tables of the new build sold 

prices summarise sale values for each typology and number of beds. We also display tables 

including all properties sold for the unit typology – this includes those where the number of beds 

is not known i.e. total sales per typology. The data covers approximately two years of sales (July 

2018 – July 2020), the full analysis is contained in Appendix 3.1. 

2.11 There is a reasonable amount of transactional data to analyse through overall there appears to 

be a larger variety of schemes currently being marketed that have recently transacted. 

Faversham 

2.12 Table 2-2 shows new build sold prices for the development of Tylman Place, to the east of 

Faversham. The development consisted of 1, 2, 3 and 4-bedroom flats and houses and was built 

by Bellway Homes. Sale prices in each type of unit are reasonable consisted apart from 3-bed 

semi-detached which vary significantly both on a per unit and a £psm basis.  

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold 
value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Flat 1 2 51 £180,000 £185,995 £3,529 £3,647 

Flat 2 9 72 £209,995 £214,995 £2,917 £3,028 

Semi 
Detached 

3 14 92 £311,995 £375,000 £3,391 £4,213 

Terraced 3 3 92 £334,995 £342,995 £3,641 £3,696 

Semi 
Detached 

4 4 117 £375,000 £424,995 £3,346 £3,632 

Detached 4 2 113 £379,995 £448,995 £3,585 £3,742 

Source: Land Registry, Swale Borough Council planning portal, accessed July 2020 

Sittingbourne  

2.13 Table 2-3 shows new build sold prices for Mill Place, a development by located in Sittingbourne. 

It is an Abbey New Homes development and has delivered a mix of 1, 2 3, and 4-bedroom 

Table 2-2 Analysis of new build sold prices – Tylman Place  

Page 643



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
16 

  
 

 

properties. The new build sold prices show that there is a narrow price range on a psm basis and 

a unit price basis due to units being similar in size and all terraced. 

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold 
value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Flat 1 5 46 £154,995 £160,000 £3,229 £3,636 

Flat 2 15 62 £185,000 £192,500 £2,891 £3,115 

Terraced 2 9 61 £225,000 £235,495 £3,689 £3,861 

Terraced 3 24 82 £245,000 £279,995 £2,917 £3,480 

Terraced 4 8 120 £295,000 £334,995 £2,418 £2,839 

Source: Land Registry, Swale Borough Council planning portal, accessed July 2020 

2.14 Table 2-4 shows new build sold prices for the Regent Quay development at Crown Quay Lane, 

Sittingbourne. It is a Redrow development that consists of 3 and 4 bedroom detached and semi-

detached properties. Analysis of new build sold prices were again tight due to the type and size 

of dwellings delivered. Values were notably higher on a psm basis for than the terraced properties 

at Mill Place. 

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Terraced 4 13 120 £359,995 £429,995 £2,835 £4,038 

Semi 
Detached 

3 10 91 £329,995 £399,995 £3,434 £4,444 

Semi 
Detached 

4 4 119 £329,995 £344,995 £2,638 £3,063 

Detached 3 1 104 £334,995 £334,995 £3,221 £3,221 

Detached 4 4 119 £334,995 £337,495 £2,657 £3,018 

  Source: Land Registry, Swale Borough Council planning portal, accessed July 2020 

2.15 Table 2-5 shows new build sold prices for the Watling Place development to the west of 

Sittingbourne close to Newington. This Persimmon Homes development delivered a mix of 2, 3 

and 4-bedroom properties. The analysis shows that the small 2 bed terraced properties achieved 

the highest £ psm – though the units appear smaller than average. The larger 4-bedroom units 

achieved the lowest price on a psm basis. 

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Terraced 2 8 52 £214,950 £289,950 £4,202 £4,519 

Table 2-3 Analysis of new build sold prices – Mill Place 

Table 2-4 Analysis of new build sold prices – Regent Quay 

Table 2-5 Analysis of new build sold prices – Watling Place 

Page 644



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
17 

  
 

 

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Semi 
Detached 

3 3 86 £299,950 £300,000 £3,488 £3,488 

Semi 
Detached 

4 1 108 £360,000 £360,000 £3,333 £3,333 

Detached 3 3 90 £359,950 £362,950 £3,966 £4,044 

Detached 4 3 108 £354,950 £422,950 £3,349 £3,962 

Source: Land Registry, Swale Borough Council planning portal, accessed July 2020 

Isle of Sheppey 

2.16 Table 2-6 shows new build sold prices for KingsBorough Manor, a development on the Isle of 

Sheppey between Minster on Sea and East Church. This Jones Homes development focused on 

larger executive style homes containing a mix of 4 and 5 bed detached properties. Due to the 

size nature of the unit types these properties have achieved some of the highest sold prices in 

the area with all recent transactions over £515,000.  

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold 
value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Detached 4 6 157 £515,000 £600,000 £3,065 £4,412 

Detached 5 5 189 £575,000 £650,000 £3,042 £3,439 

Source: Land Registry, Swale Borough Council planning portal, accessed July 2020 
 

2.17 Table 2-7 shows new build sold prices for development Nelson Vue in Queenborough on the 

south-west corner of the Ilse of Sheppey. This development was delivered by Keepmoat Homes. 

The data in Table 2-7 shows that property prices appear lower than others considered in Swale.  

Typology No. of 
beds 

Number 
of sales 

Average 
size 
Sqm 

Sold 
value 
min 

Sold 
value 
max 

£psm 
Min 

£ psm 
Max 

Terraced 3 2 77 £229,500 £240,000 £3,000 £3,144 

Detached 3 2 80 £260,000 £262,500 £2,917 £3,028 

Semi 
Detached 

2 8 63 £200,000 £205,000 £3,175 £3,254 

Detached 4 3 94 £265,000 £269,500 £2,819 £2,867 

Semi 
Detached 

3 16 71 £227,500 £255,000 £3,125 £3,536 

Semi 
Detached 

4 6 97 £252,500 £275,000 £2,573 £2,926 

Table 2-6 Analysis of new build sold prices – Kingsborough Manor 

Table 2-7 Analysis of new build sold prices – Nelson Vue  

Page 645



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
18 

  
 

 

Source: Land Registry, Swale Borough Council planning portal, accessed July 2020 
 

New build quoting prices  

2.18 Comparable analysis of new build available properties has been undertaken to gain an 

understanding of the location of new build schemes and their quoting prices – this is set out in 

Table 2-8. There is a relatively large volume of new build housing schemes currently on the 

market.  

2.19 The analysis of quoting prices shows that there is are no 1 bedroom and a few 2 bedrooms new 

build units currently being advertised in the area. The 2-bed flats are between £213,000 and 

£315,000. The 3-bed properties in the range between £310,000 and £475,000, 4-bed properties 

range between £368,950 and £750,000 and 5-bed properties range between £469,950 and 

£750,000. Generally, there is a range of volume and local housebuilders active in the area. 

Address Developer Typology Quoting prices 

Faversham 

Kingsmead, Love 
Lane, Faversham, 
ME13 8BJ 

Crest Nicholson A development of 2, 
3 and 4- bedroom 
properties 

2 bedroom semi: £315,000 

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£387,000 - £410,000 

 

4 bedroom detached: 
£420,000 - £505,000 

Tylman Place, 
Graveney Road, 
Faversham, Kent, 
ME13 8UJ 

Bellway Homes A development of 1, 
2, 3 and 4-bedroom 
properties 

2 bedroom flat: £214,995 

 

3 bedroom semi: £339,995 
- £344,995 

 

4 bedroom semi: £369,995 
- £399,995 

 

4 bedroom detached: 
£430,000 - £454,995 

Perry Court, 
Brogdale Road, 
Ospringe, ME13 

David Wilson A development of 3 
and 4-bedroom 
properties 

3 bedroom terraced: 
£351,995 – £354,995 

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£354,995 – £394,995 

 

4 bedroom detached: 
£489,995 - £559,995 

Davington Fields, 
Western Link 
Road, Faversham, 
ME13 7WB 

Bovis Homes A development of 2,3 
and 4-bedroom 
properties 

3 bedroom semi: £319,995  

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£369,995  

 

Table 2-8 New build quoting prices  

Page 646



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
19 

  
 

 

Address Developer Typology Quoting prices 

4 bedroom detached: 
£434,995 - £454,995 

Faversham Lakes, 
Faversham, Kent 

Anderson A development of 2, 
3, 4 and 5-bedroom 
properties 

2 bedroom semi: £287,000 

 

3 bedroom semi: £365,000 
– £377,000 

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£365,000 – £395,000 

 

4 bedroom detached: 
£610,000  

 

5 bedroom detached: 
£710,000 

The Old School 
Field, London 
Road, Dunkirk 

Woodchurch 
Homes 

A development of 3 
bedroom properties 

3 bedroom semi: £385,000 
– £400,000 

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£475,000  

 

Sittingbourne 

Thornhill Gardens, 
Bapchild, 
Sittingbourne, 
ME9 9BF 

Fernfield Homes A development of 4 
and 5-bedroom 
properties 

4 bedroom terraced: 
£410,000  

 

  4 bedroom semi: 
£600,000  

 

4 bedroom detached: 
£750,000  

 

5 bedroom detached: 
£850,000 

Regent Quay, 
Crown Quay 
Lane, 
Sittingbourne, 
ME10 

Redrow  A development of 3 
and 4-bedroom 
properties 

2 bedroom flat: £212,995  

 

3 bedroom end terraced: 
£389,995  

 

4 bedroom end terraced: 
£394,995  

 

4 bedroom terraced: 
£384,995  

Davington Fields, 
Western Link 
Road, Faversham, 
ME13 7WB 

Bovis Homes A development of 2,3 
and 4-bedroom 
properties 

3 bedroom semi: £319,995  

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£369,995  

 

Page 647



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
20 

  
 

 

Address Developer Typology Quoting prices 

4 bedroom detached: 
£434,995 - £454,995 

Watling Place, 
High Street, 
Newington, ME9 

Persimmon 
Homes 

A development of 3, 
4 and 5-bedroom 
properties 

3 bedroom semi: £311,950  

 

3 bedroom detached: 
£359,950 - £364,950 

 

4 bedroom semi: £368,950 

 

 5 bedroom detached: 
£479,950 

Sheppey Way, 
Iwade, 
Sittingbourne 

- A development of 3 
and 4-bedroom 
properties 

3 bedroom semi: £325,000 
- £335,000 

 

4 bedroom detached: 
£475,000 

 

High Oaks, 
Newington, Kent 

Ashbyrne Homes A development of 5-
bedroom properties 

5 bedroom detached: 
£750,000 

 

Isle of Sheppey 

Belgrave Place, 
Minster-on-Sea, 
Belgrave Road, 
Minster On Sea, 

Sheerness, ME12 

Keepmoat Homes A development of 2,3 
and 4-bedroom 
properties 

3 bedroom semi: £310,000 

 

 4 bedroom detached: 
£336,000 

Leysdown, 
Sheerness 

- A development of 2-
bedroom properties 

2 bedroom bungalow: 
£200,000  

 

KingsBorough 
Manor, Hustlings 
Drive Eastchurch 
Isley of Sheppey 
ME12 

Jones Homes A development of 4 
and 5-bedroom 
properties 

4 bedroom detached: 
£625,000 

Source: Developer websites, Rightmove, accessed July 2020, AspinallVerdi 

Residential agent consultation 

2.20 Telephone consultations have been undertaken with local estates agents active across the 

Borough, to supplement the desk-based research. We have chosen to target agents based in 

Sittingbourne, Faversham, and the Isle of Sheppey due to their status as key areas for 

development identified in the Local Plan. Below are the summarised responses: 

• Agents stated that prices in Sittingbourne and the Isle of Sheppey are similar, although 

Sittingbourne is considered more desirable for many prospective buyers. 

Page 648



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
21 

  
 

 

• Faversham is the highest value town in the Borough with good amounts of development 

occurring in recent years. 

• It is currently a buyers’ market and houses are significantly in demand than houses in the 

Borough 

• While the Covid-19 pandemic affected the market in its early months, the market has since 

bounced back in part due to the government’s stamp duty regulations. 

2.21 Agents gave a broad indication of what values they could achieve for new build properties across 

the Swale area. In some cases, these bandings are large as there is a geographical variation 

over the area. Some specific developments may exceed the higher banding but the bulk of new 

development is within the range. 

Address Typology Agents quoting unit prices 

Sittingbourne  2 bed flatted £200,000 - £215,000 

2 bed terraced £210,000 - £230,000 

2 bed semi-detached £230,000 - £250,000 

3 bed semi-detached £320,000 - £350,000 

3 bed detached £330,000+ 

4 bed detached £375,000+ 

Faversham 2 bed flatted £215,000 - £240,000 

2 bed semi-detached £270,000 - £300,000 

3 bed semi-detached £350,000 - £375,000 

3 bed detached £380,000+ 

4 bed detached £450,000+ 

Isle of Sheppey 2 bed terraced £200,000 - £220,000 

2 bed semi-detached £210,000 - £230,000 

3 bed terraced £260,000 - £300,000 

3 bed semi-detached £25,000 - £320,000 

4 bed detached £350,000+ 

Source: Residential agents Swale, November 2020 

 

 

 

 

Table 2-9 Proposed sale prices across Swale Borough  

Page 649



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
22 

  
 

 

Residential Market Conclusion 

Conclusion 

2.22 In conclusion, there appears to be a diverse market in terms of values in Swale with the highest 

values being achieved in rural areas on the mainland, particularly around Faversham. This being 

said the Jones Homes development near Minster on Sea, Isle of Sheppey is high value due to 

the executive nature of the housing. This appears to be more of a one-off development and is 

not likely to be similar to the bulk of development coming forward in Sheppey in the Future. 

Sittingbourne is also lower value though the difference in new build sale price data is not as 

extreme as the maps (which include second had data) in Figure 2-2 and Figure 2-3 suggest. 

2.23 We have found that there is a lack of data for flatted sales. Two new build schemes have delivered 

flatted development in the Borough. These are Tylman Place in Faversham (higher value area) 

and Mill Place in Sittingbourne (lower value area). The evidence at Tylman Place shows lower 

sales values for flatted units on a £ psm basis when compared to other housing types, this is 

unusual. However, this evidence is at the lower range of our agent consultation findings. So, for 

the higher value zone, we have placed weight on both the evidence available and our agent 

consultation in reaching our sale values. As for the 1-bed units across both value zones, there 

does not appear to be any difference between the two in our sales analysis. For that reason we 

have adopted the same sale price for 1-bed flats across both value zones. It is difficult to 

distinguish in such detail due to the lack of data.  

2.24 Moreover, based on the evidence available, 2-bed houses are generally less expensive on a psm 

basis than 3-bed homes. This goes against our usual expectations where smaller properties have 

a higher sale value on a psm basis. In this instance, we have followed the evidence available as 

appropriate but are aware of this element. 

2.25 Based on our market analysis of sold prices, quoting prices and consultations with local estates 

agent we propose to test two value zones using the values set out in Table 2-10 with the zones 

defined in Figure 2-4.  

Typology Unit size unit price £psm 

Lower value area 

1-bed flat 50 £180,000 £3,600 

2-bed flat 60 £200,000 £3,333 

2 bed house 70 £240,000 £3,429 

3 bed house 90 £330,000 £3,667 

Table 2-10 Proposed housing development - sale prices 

Page 650



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
23 

  
 

 

Typology Unit size unit price £psm 

4 bed house 120 £430,000 £3,583 

Higher value area 

1-bed flat 50 £180,000 £3,600 

2-bed flat 60 £215,000 £3,583 

2 bed house 70 £270,000 £3,857 

3 bed house 90 £360,000 £4,000 

4 bed house 120 £465,000 £3,875 

Source: AspinallVerdi 

 

 

 

 

  

Figure 2-4 Value zones for viability testing  

Page 651



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
24 

  
 

 

3 Build to Rent market assessment  

Introduction  

3.1 As households have been priced out of being able to purchase homes, residents have been 

forced into the private rental sector. In a bid to raise accommodation standards and reduce the 

number of rogue landlords the government has been seeking to encourage investors/developers 

to deliver Build to Rent (BTR) housing. The Government in 2012 launched the BTR Fund to 

deliver schemes by offering finance/grants.  Many benefits have been identified in relation to the 

BTR model, such as the provision of higher quality management other than an individual private 

landlord; tenants are offered longer tenancies on more favourable terms and higher-standard 

amenities are often provided, such as on-site gyms, communal lounges and cinema rooms.  

3.2 Savills report that since 2013 the sector has expanded rapidly, with over 30,000 homes 

completed and a further 110,000 planned which are to be built, let and managed by professional 

investors as homes to rent. Investment in BTR totalled £2.6bn in 2018 – an 11% increase from 

2017 and the highest level since 20143. 

Market rents overview  

3.3 The UK rental market has performed inconsistently over the past few years. There has been a 

broad slowdown in the UK annual growth rate in the period between 2016 – 20184, however 

recent reports are generally showing growth in rental prices across the country. The Office of 

National Statistics5 report that: 

• Private rental prices paid by tenants in the UK rose by 1.4% in the 12 months to November 

2020, unchanged since October 2020. 

• Private rental prices grew by 1.4% in England, 1.6% in Wales and 0.6% in Scotland in the 

12 months to November 2020. 

• The South West was the English region to see the highest annual growth in private rental 

prices (2.3%), while the South East saw the lowest (0.9%). 

3.4 The November 2019 RICS Residential Market Survey reported that landlord instructions are 

falling. Near term rental growth expectations remain slightly positive, with most parts of the UK 

anticipated to see an increase. As an exception, for the third consecutive month London 

respondents expect rents to fall over the coming three months. 

 
3 Savills, 2019. Build to Rent 
4 ONS, 2019. Index of Private Housing Rental Prices. 
5 Office for National Statistics, 2020. Index of Private Housing Rental Prices, UK. November 2020. 

Page 652



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
25 

  
 

 

Naturally, the BTR sector is exposed to the impacts of Covid-19, as any other industry might. 

However, a market report in October 20206 has shown that the BTR sector is one of the most 

resilient managed real estate sectors with rent collection averaging 94.1% in September; an 

attractive proposition to investors. Nonetheless, the number of mortgage products, particularly 

with high LTV rations have fallen dramatically for this type of product since March. As with many 

other sectors, the future is uncertain. 

Swale BTR market   

Achieved rents 

3.5 Table 3-1 shows achieved monthly rents for new and second-hand properties across Swale from 

October 2019 to September 2020. 

Type Sample Mean Lower 
Quartile 

Median Upper 
Quartile 

Studio 20 £541 £485 £550 £595 

1-Bed 160 £659 £600 £650 £750 

2-Bed 370 £795 £725 £795 £850 

3-Bed 310 £944 £850 £900 £1,015 

4 or more Bed 60 £1,291 £1,100 £1,300 £1,400 

Source: ONS, accessed December 2020 

3.6 The data shows that the difference in median monthly rents increases in conjunction with the size 

of the property. The largest difference is between 3- and 4 or more-bedroom properties, of £400 

pcm. 

Asking rents 

3.7 Due to a lack of BTR development, we have not been able to find any evidence of asking rents 

in Swale. Of the flats that are available to let, these do not share any likeness to BTR 

specification. We have looked further afield to Maidstone and Ashford where there are units listed 

which are closer in specification to BTR. Though there are units in Canterbury, these are mostly 

aimed at students and not considered comparable. Table 3-2 shows the current quoting rents for 

these units.  

 

 
6 Knight Frank, 2020, Build to Rent Monthly Market Update - October 2020 

Table 3-1 – Swale Borough Achieved Monthly Rents 

Page 653



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
26 

  
 

 

Location Type Size Quoting Rent 

Victoria Point, Ashford  1-Bed 52 sqm (561 sq ft) £800 - £895 

 2-Bed 70 sqm (753 sq ft) £1,050 - £1,100 

McKenzie Court, Maidstone 1-bed n/a £825 

 2-bed n/a £900 

Source: Rightmove, accessed December 2020 

3.8 Current asking rents for flatted accommodation with specifications akin to build to rent properties 

range from £800 - £895 pcm for a 1 bed and £900 - £1,100 for a 2 bed. The asking rents shown 

in Table 3-2 are higher per unit type than the median rents recorded from the VOA data for Swale 

in Table 3-1. We accept that this is likely due to the fact that the quoting rents in Table 3-2 are 

located in higher value areas than Swale.  

BTR Yields 

3.9 There is no evidence of yields in Swale for BTR, we have therefore reviewed evidence from 

market reports and forecasts for build to rent yields - see Table 3-3.  

Source Net Yield 

Bidwells 7 3.14% 

Knight Frank 8 4.00% - 4.25% 

CBRE 9 3.75% 

KentReliance 10 4.10% 

Sources: Knight Frank, Bidwells, KentReliance & CBRE, accessed August 2020 

Conclusion 

3.10 Based on the above evidence we have proposed to test the following: 

• 1-Bed: £775 pcm (£9,300 pa) 

• 2-Bed: £900 pcm (£10,800 pa) 

• Net Yield: 4.0% 

  

 
7 Bidwells, 2019. Our View on Build To Rent. Cambridge yield. 
8 Knight Frank, 2019. Residential Yield Guide December 2019. South East Prime (NIY). 
9 CBRE, 2020. United Kingdom Residential Investment Marketview Q2 2020. Outer London/ South East prime yields. 
10 KentReliance, 2019. Buy to Let Britain Report. Average yield for the east region. 

Table 3-2 – Current Listing Rents by type 

Table 3-3 – Build to rent yields 

Page 654



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
27 

  
 

 

4 Older person accommodation  

Introduction  

4.1 With an ageing population, the demand for forms of specialist accommodation for the elderly is 

growing. This type of specialist accommodation usually takes the form of retirement living 

(typically over 55 accommodations), housing with support, and housing with care. We define 

these below: 

• Age restricted-exclusive / sheltered / retirement housing – this is an accommodation that 

is built specifically for sale or rent to older people e.g. McCarthy and Stone or Churchill 

properties. They comprise self-contained units (apartments) with communal facilities and 

a live-in or mobile scheme manager and alarm call systems in case of emergency. 

• Assisted living/extra care / very sheltered housing - this is similar to sheltered housing but 

is designed to enable residents to retain their independence as they grow older and their 

need for support and/or care increases. Residents still occupy their own self-contained 

home within blocks of flats, estates of bungalows or retirement ‘villages’ but often enjoy 

enhanced communal accommodation and occupants may also be offered individual care 

and assistance from support staff, within the complex, 24 hours per day.  

• Close care or assisted living housing – This is normally situated within the grounds of a 

care home and takes the form of self-contained, independent flats or bungalows. Units may 

be rented or purchased by the occupier. Residents will also have access to the care home’s 

other facilities and will normally have some form of direct communication with the care 

home for emergencies. There may well be an arrangement whereby the care home 

management will buy-back the property if it becomes necessary for them to move into the 

care home. 

• Care homes / residential care homes – living accommodation for older people who employ 

staff that provides residents with personal care, such as washing and dressing. Residents 

normally occupy their single rooms but have access to other communal facilities. 

• Care homes with nursing/nursing homes – Similar to a residential home but they offer the 

full-time service of qualified nursing. Such accommodation is suited to residents who are 

physically or mentally less capable and require a higher level of care.  

 

4.2 Figure 4-1 shows the supply of retirement living units in 2018 and demonstrates that the majority 

of supply is delivered through age-restricted/exclusive or sheltered housing for sale. With extra 

care schemes, the tenure split is more widely spread with social rented and shared ownership 

options. 

 

Page 655



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
28 

  
 

 

 

 
Source: Knight Frank, accessed November 2018 

4.3 Our focus is on age-restricted as these are more likely to be developed by the private sector and 

are most similar to C3 use housing. C2 use residential institutions such as residential care homes 

and nursing homes are specialist developments (valued on a turnover or ‘profits’ basis) and are 

not considered in this analysis. Some of these schemes are developed by housing associations 

and others by the private sector and/or charities and all will have a different status in terms of 

liability for Affordable Housing, (for example, Charitable Organisations are exempt from CIL). 

4.4 More recently, forecast research in Figure 4-2 shows there will be a three-fold increase in the 

number of specialist seniors housing Build to Rent units delivered in the next five years, driven 

by some housing with care operators allocating a proportion of their pipeline to this market. The 

movement in the market is geared more toward housing with care or extra care. 

 
Source: Knight Frank, accessed December 2020 

 

 

 

Figure 4-1 Supply of retirement living units in 2018 

Figure 4-2 UK Seniors housing forecasts – total units 

Page 656



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
29 

  
 

 

Specialist housing premiums  

4.5 Research by the Retirement Housing Group 11 (RHG) indicates that sheltered housing values 

carry a premium over general needs housing – this analysis is set out in Table 4-1.  

Typology Assumption 

Sheltered 
housing unit 

prices 

In higher-value areas - 

• 10-15% premium to private market 1 – 2-bed flats 

Or, in lower-value areas (with no apartment scheme comparables) – 

• 75% value of a 3-bed semi-detached house for a 1-bed sheltered 
housing unit, and 

• 100% value of a 3-bed semi-detached house for a 2-bed sheltered 
housing unit 

Source: Retirement Housing Group 2013 

RHG rule of thumb 

4.6 There are only a few examples of recent new build flatted sales, one in Sittingbourne and another 

in Faversham we have therefore applied to both flatted and housing values to help provide range.  

• 1-bed sheltered housing rule of thumb: 

o For a 1-bed flat higher value zone, based on 15% premium on £180,000 = £207,000 

o For a 3-bed semi-detached house in lower value, 75% of £330,000 = £247,500 

• 2-bed sheltered housing rule of thumb: 

o For a 2-bed flat higher value zone, based on 15% premium on £215,000 = £247,250 

o For a 3-bed detached house, 100% of £330,000 = £330,000 

4.7 Due to the level of services provided and the type of product, the values of sheltered housing do 

not necessarily follow the residential value zones that we have identified. There is very limited 

evidence available to show recent development and the types of product do not vary widely, so 

prices remain similar, independent of location. Therefore, we have assumed one value zone for 

this type of testing.  

New build sold prices – Swale Borough  

4.8 There are few new-build sales of over 55 accommodation in the area in recent years. We have 

therefore also considered properties currently being marketed.  

 
11 RHG Retirement Housing Group, 2013, Retirement Housing Viability Base Data/ Churchill Retirement Living and McCarthy and 
Stone, 2013, Briefing Paper for CIL Practitioners Retirement Housing and the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Table 4-1 Sheltered housing and ECH sales values premiums 

Page 657



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
30 

  
 

 

Marketed properties – Swale and the wider area  

4.9 There is one new build scheme being marketed and so we have also looked beyond Swale, at 

Maidstone. Churchill Retirement Living is currently selling a new-build development in 

Sittingbourne and Maidstone. These schemes and their marketed prices are outlined in Table 

4-2. The 1-bed properties are marketed between £247,950 and £338,000 and the 2-bed 

properties are marketed between £354,950 and £400,000. Asking prices in Maidstone are 

notably stronger than Sittingbourne and we have placed more weight on the evidence in 

Sittingbourne. When we cross-reference the quoting prices with our rule of thumb approach 

above, they values are akin to the 3-bed values in the lower value zone (either 75% of value for 

1-bed and 100% of value for 2-beds).   

Site Address Type Size 
sqm 

Quoting price 

Beatrice Lodge, Sittingbourne 1 bed n/a £247,950 

2 bed n/a £354,950 

Kings Lodge, Maidstone 1 bed n/a £299,950 – £338,000 

2 bed n/a £350,000 - £400,000 

Source: Rightmove, accessed December 2020 

Conclusion  

4.10 Based on our market analysis we proposed to test a single value zone using the values set out 

in Table 4-3. A single value zone is appropriate as this is where allocations, and windfall 

development, is most likely to come forward as over 55 accommodation. We have accounted for 

the rule of thumb approach and the new build marketed properties in determining our final sale 

values. 

No. of bed Unit size sqm Unit price £ psm 

1 55 £247,500 £4,500 

2 70 £330,000 £4,714 

Source: AspinallVerdi 2020 

  

Table 4-2 New-build marketed properties 

Table 4-3 Proposed sale prices  

Page 658



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
31 

  
 

 

5 Holiday park accommodation 

Introduction 

5.1 The holiday lets market is performing well in Britain since the weak currency is forcing some 

families to opt for “staycation”.12 Moreover, the travel restrictions brought about by Covid-19 may 

also increase the “staycation” preference. 

5.2 Savills report that 2017 was a ‘particularly strong year for the UK holiday and home park market, 

which encompasses touring parks, holiday static parks and residential parks. This was driven 

predominantly by domestic investment as the popularity of staycations continued to increase.’13  

5.3 According to Sykes Staycation Index14, bookings for their holiday cottages soared by 36% in 

2018, with 66% of British people holidaying in the UK, further echoing the Savills report. 

5.4 Due to the improvements in the market Savills report that ‘the average “per pitch” value has 

steadily risen across the board since 2014; the residential park value has risen from £23,000 to 

£31,00013. More recent research shows that this figure has now risen to £23,000 to £50,00015. 

5.5 We understand that the main area of focus for existing holiday park accommodation in Swale is 

on the Isle of Sheepy with many purpose build parks already present on the island. However, 

there are no new build schemes currently advertised here and so we have looked further afield. 

Our research will focus on park homes. 

Swale Borough, park home new build quoting prices  

5.6 The holiday lodge market in the Borough is narrow, with purpose-built holiday villages with 

minimum fixed-term tenancies of around 10 months/year. Table 5-1 shows the most recent new 

build quoting prices for a holiday lodge accommodation in Swale and Maidstone. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
12 Moore, C., 2017, Britain's holiday rental market booms. 
13 Savills, 2018, The sun is likely to shine on the holiday and home park market in 2018 
14 Donoghue, G, 2019, The Sykes Staycation Index 2019 
15 Sanderson Weatherall, 2020, Holiday & Caravan Park 2020 Market Report 

Page 659



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
32 

  
 

 

 

Site address Scheme 

description 

Quoting prices Description 

Shore Drive, 

Vicarage 

Lane, 

Rochester, 

Kent 

2-bed holiday 

lodge 

785 sqft/73 sqm 

Over 50’s only 

£180,000 - £240,000 

 

Franklins 

Avenue, 

Ringlestone, 

Kent 

2-bed holiday 

lodge 

958 sqft/89 sqm 

£220,000 

 

Charing, Kent 2 bed holiday 

lodge 

800 sqft/74 sqm 

£199,750 

 

Source: Rightmove, accessed December 2020 

Conclusion  

5.7 Based on our analysis an appropriate capital value to use in the viability testing is a single sale 

value of £215,000 (£2,867 psm) for a 2-bed unit at 75 sqm for caravan/lodge accommodation as 

set out in Error! Reference source not found..  

  

Table 5-1 Park home quoting prices Swale  

Page 660



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
33 

  
 

 

6 Retail market assessment  

Introduction  

6.1 In our assessment of the retail sector, we consider both convenience and comparison retail 

because they both have different market drivers.  

Retail market overview  

6.2 Before the Covid-19 pandemic, the retail market was going through a structural change. The 

structural changes in the retail market were being caused by the growth in online sales and falling 

footfall in town centres. Retailers were also facing cost pressures from business rates and the 

national living wage.  During the Covid-19 outbreak, many retailers have had to close or limit 

customer access due to social distancing measures introduced by the government. Many 

retailers have sought to take advantage of the Coronavirus Act 202016 and not paid rent – CoStar 

reported that only 41% of March 2020 quarter date rent was collected and 40% June 2020 quarter 

date.17 

Convenience sector  

6.3 The convenience retail sector has seen a significant change since the financial crisis. In the years 

following 2008, supermarkets appeared to have weathered the economic storm with most 

operators aggressively expanding (commonly referred to as the race for space). Operators were 

able to competitively bid for sites as they were taking advantage of other sectors in the property 

market is much weaker. During this period of growth, there was a strong appetite from operators 

to open large-format stores of up to circa 11,150 sqm (123,785 sqft). This format providing a 

mixture of convenience and comparison retail. 

6.4 In more recent years shopping patterns have changed significantly: there is more reliance on 

online shopping combined along with customers supplementing a ‘big’ shopping trip with regular 

smaller shops during the week. Also, some customers are splitting their shopping trips between 

the big four supermarkets (Tesco, Sainsbury’s, Asda and Morrisons) and discounters such as 

Aldi and Lidl. This resulted in supermarket operators shifting away from large format stores  

6.5 The convenience retail market appears to have performed relatively well during the outbreak with 

many reporting a higher volume of sales than they would experience during Christmas. At some 

points, demand has appeared to outstrip supply, with the likes of Ocado temporarily suspending 

 
16 'Coronavirus Act 2020' which received royal assent on 25 March 2020 introduced new legalisation ‘that no right of re-entry or 
forfeiture may be enforced due to non-payment of rent until the end of the 'relevant period' (30 June 2020 (unless extended)).’  
The Coronavirus Act 2020 has provided the flexibility to allow tenants not to make their quarter day payment in March.   
17 CoStar, 2 July 2020, Forty six per cent of June Quarter Day commercial rent now collected 

Page 661



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
34 

  
 

 

their ordering application and restricted access to their website. The pressures faced by 

supermarkets during the Covid-19 lockdown are; maintaining social distancing in their physical 

stores, through restricting customers numbers; maintain supply chains (resulting in less choice 

of items and restricting the number of purchasers, and increasing capacity for home deliveries to 

meet demand. The pressure for retailers to have an online presence has been felt during the 

pandemic more than ever before. Even Marks and Spencer, who have traditionally only sold 

groceries in-store, have invested in Ocado to provide this service.  

6.6 Figure 6-1 shows how the changes in the market have affected the relevant supermarket 

operators market share in recent years. The big four have been losing market share whereas the 

budget operators of Lidl and Aldi have gained market share along with online delivery service 

Ocado.  

 

 
Source: Kantar WorldPanel, December 2020 

6.7 Due to the changes in the market, operators are now more selective in the types of and locations 

of stores the seek to open. Tesco typically only seeks sites for their express format i.e. circa 200 

sqm (2,200 sqft) in main urban areas ideally close to transport hubs, The likes of Asda, Morrisons 

and Sainsbury’s focus on the main urban areas where there is a perceived market gap. Aldi and 

Lidl have been a bit more aggressive which has led them to increase their market share.  

6.8 Lidl18 seek sites with a minimum of 1.5 acres to accommodate a store totalling between 14,000-

26,500 sqft (1,300-2,460 sqm). In terms of location, the sites would ideally have main road 

frontage with easy access and be situated within town, district or edge of centre or out of town 

 
18  Lidl.co.uk/en/Site-Requirements, accessed February 2019 

Figure 6-1 Great Britain Grocery market share 12 weeks ending 22/04/18 & 29/11/20 

Page 662



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
35 

  
 

 

locations. Aldi19 also has similar requirements in terms of location and size, with a minimum of 

1.5 acres to accommodate 18,000 - 20,000 sqft of space and 100+ car parking spaces.  

6.9 The Borough well represented with supermarkets:  

• Sittingbourne – is well represented with supermarkets. Asda has 4,700 sqm superstore, 

Sainsbury’s has a 5,700 sqm superstore, Morrisons has a 6,700 sqm superstore and 

Tescos have two express format stores. Also, Lidl, Aldi, Iceland, Co-Operative, Budgens 

and M&S Foodstore are all present in the town.   

• Faversham – is also well represented with supermarkets. Tesco has a 4,700 sqm 

superstore, Sainsbury’s has a 4,500 sqm superstore and Morrisons has a 2,500 sqm store. 

Also, Co-Operative and Costcutters are all present in the town.   

• Sheerness - is well represented with supermarkets. Tesco has 6,500 sqm superstore, and 

Morrisons has a 5,200 sqm superstore. Also, Aldi, Iceland, Co-Operative, Londis and 

Costcutters are all present in the town.   

Convenience retail rents 

6.10 There has been a lack of new letting activity for supermarkets in the Borough recorded on CoStar, 

therefore, we have considered transactions in the wider Kent area. Table 6-1 shows that rents 

achievable range between £21 psf up to £29 psf.  

Lease 
start date 

Address Tenant Size sqft Rent £ 
psf 

Comment 

17/07/2019 Dadson Way, Ramsgate Sainsbury's 121,364 £21.34 Effective 
rent, 40-

year lease 

18/06/2019 29 High St, Canterbury Sainsbury's 3,846 £28.60 25-year 
lease 

12/02/2019 Dadson Way, Ramsgate Sainsbury's 121,364 £21.00 25-year 
lease 

Source: CoStar, accessed July 2020 

Convenience retail yields  

6.11 There is little evidence of recent convenience retail transactions in the Borough recorded on 

CoStar, therefore, we have considered Kent and the wider South East market (excluding 

London). Table 6-2 shows that net initial yields are as a low as 4.0% with cap and collar RPI rent 

reviews.  

 
19 Aldi.co.uk/about-aldi/property/required-towns, accessed February 2019  

Table 6-1 Convenience retail occupational transactions 

Page 663



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
36 

  
 

 

 

Date of 
transaction 

Address Tenant Size 
sqft 

Yield Comment 

Nov 2019 17 Martin Hardie 
Way, Tonbridge 

Co-Op 1,766 N/a 1970’s built unit. Sold 
at £600 psf 

Feb 2020 Medway Queen, 
Churchill Avenue, 

Chatham 

A.F. 
Blakemore 
& Son Ltd 
(t/a SPAR) 

3,574 5.81% Let until 2034 with no 
breaks.  RPI linked rent 
reviews every 5th year, 

next review in 2023. 
Passing rent £19.71 psf 

Q3-2019 Canterbury  Aldi 13,050 5.4% FH.  Built in 1982 but 
recently refurbished 
internally.  20-year 

lease until July 2032, 
break July 2027.  Next 
rent review 2022.  RPI 
linked, subject to a cap 

of 3% per annum 
compounded.   

Feb 2019 2-4 Fitzalan 
Road, Horsham, 

RH13 6AA 

Co-op 5,678 6.50% n/a 

Sep 2019 61-69 
Perrymount 

Road, Haywards 
Heath, RH16 

3DR 

Waitrose 46,036 4.07% n/a 

Mar 2019 Ham Road, 
Shoreham by 

Sea, BN43 6PA 

Co-op 35,648 6.75% n/a 

Aug 2018 Wolverton Works, 
Milton Keynes 

Lidl 28,041 4.84% FH. Built in 2018. 5 
yearly rent reviews to 
OMRV, capped at 2% 
per annum. Part of a 
wider regeneration 

scheme 

May 2018 Bedford Aldi 20,972 4.00% FH. 5 yr reviews to RPI 
(1% and 3% collar & 

cap). Next review 2023 
shows yield 4.56% 

assuming RPI at 2.70% 
per annum. Adjacent 

Sainsbury’s store. 

Source: CoStar, accessed July 2020, Savills, 2019  

Table 6-2 Convenience retail investment transactions 

Page 664



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
37 

  
 

 

Comparison retail  

6.12 Before the global pandemic, the shift from bricks to clicks was being significantly felt in the 

comparison sector. Many well-known names were lost e.g. BHS, Poundworld, Maplin and Toys 

‘R’ Us and entering CVAs or administration e.g. New Look, Debenhams and House of Fraser.   

6.13 As the high street started to re-open in the summer of 2020 we have seen further changes which 

include:  

• Intu – one of the UK’s largest shopping centre owners, with the likes of Trafford Centre and 

Lakeside entered administration. 

• All Saints – the fashion retailer has agreed on a CVA which has resulted in them changing 

to turnover rents rather than fixed rents. 

• Go Outdoors -  entered administration end of June 2020 and was bought by JD Sports and 

the business will be restructured and reports they will be seeking to significantly cut rents 

to avoid store closures. 

• Acardis Group – includes stores such Topshop, Miss Selfridge and Wallis entered into 

administration at the end of November 2002.  

• Oasis and Warehouse – entered administration in April 2020 with all of its 92 stores closes 

and 400 concessions terminated. The brands and e-commerce platforms were sold in June 

2020 online fashion retailer Boohoo. 

Swale comparison retail  

6.14 In the Borough the comparison retail offer is found primarily in the towns of Sittingbourne 

(principal town), Faversham and Sheerness.  Also, there are a number out retail parks 

Sittingbourne Retail Park (occupiers include Halfords and Pets at Home); Spring Retail Park 

(occupiers include Home Bargains); and Neats Court Retail Park (occupiers include B&M and 

Sports Direct).  

6.15 There is no recent new build retail evidence for yields or rents listed on CoStar for the area, a 

reflection of no new development recently occurring. We have reviewed the second hand units 

that have recently sold. Table 6-3 shows some transactions across the Borough. The majority of 

the transactional evidence contains smaller units up to 2,000 sqft. Rents are wide ranging from 

£6.70- £27.30, however, the majority of rents are below £10 psf. 

Date of 
transaction 

Address Tenant Size 
sqft 

Rent £ 
psf 

Comment 

Aug 2020 Community Hall Building, 
150-152 London Road,  

ME9 9QH 

n/a 1,794 £6.70 

 

n/a 

Table 6-3 Comparison retail occupational transactions 

Page 665



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
38 

  
 

 

Jan 2020 121 High Street, 
Sittingbourne, ME10 

4AQ 

Humairaz 4,107 £8.09 

 

Let on a 15-year 
term with 10-
year tenant 
break and 5 
yearly rent 

reviews 

Sep 2019 46 Court Street, 
Faversham, ME13 7AL 

Debra 832 £16.82 

 

Let on a 10-year 
term with 3-year 

tenant break 
and 5-year rent 

review 

Sep 2019 89 High Street, Milton 
Regis, ME10 2AR 

n/a 944 £9.00 

 

Let on a 5-year 
term 

Mar 2019 Suite 4 Thames House - 
1-6 Roman Square, 

Sittingbourne, ME10 4BJ 

Demelza 1,647 £7.89 

 

Let on a 10-year 
term with 5-year 

rent review 

Source: CoStar, accessed November 2020 

6.16 There is limited evidence of recent investment deals in Swale recorded on CoStar, most of the 

evidence is again based in town centres in and around the Kent area. The evidence in Table 6-4 

shows that sales achieved yields between 6.03%- 10.11%. 

Date of 
transaction 

Address Tenant Size 
sqft 

Yield  

09/01/2020 82-84 High Street, 

Sittingbourne, Kent 
ME10 4PH 

Betfred 4,861 7.00% Auction 
sale, 

fully let 

16/10/2019 66 Preston Street, 
Faversham, Kent, 

ME13 8PG 

WH Breading 1,825 6.03% n/a 

Under Offer 49-55 High Street, 
Kent 

ME12 4BN 

Poundstretcher/Vacant 44,000 10.11% Auction 
sale, 

Vacant 
first 
floor 

Source: CoStar, accessed November 2020 

Conclusion 

6.17 Based on the above evidence we have proposed to test the following: 

• Convenience retail budget format store 2,500 sqm (26,910 sqft)  

o Rent £226 psm (£21 psf) 

Table 6-4 Comparison retail investment transactions 

Page 666



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
39 

  
 

 

o Yield 5.50% 

• Convenience retail express format store 350 sqm (3,767 sqft) 

o Rent £247 psm (£23 psf) 

o Yield 5.75% 

• Comparison small town centre store 250 sqm (2,691 sqft) 

o Rent £161 psm (£15 psf) 

o Yield 9% 

• Comparison Large town centre store 500 sqm (5,382 sqft) 

o Rent £107 psm (£10 psf) 

o Yield 8% 

  

Page 667



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
40 

  
 

 

7 Industrial market  

Introduction 

7.1 In the years before the recession caused by the Global Financial Crisis, the industrial market saw 

a wave of speculative development, fuelled by easy access to finance. Much of the new space 

that resulted remained on the market as occupier demand weakened in the recession, so 

speculative development came to a halt. In more recent years supply has tightened against 

demand, due to the economic recovery, the increase in online shopping (which needs warehouse 

space) and some industrial units being lost to higher-value residential uses.  

7.2 Due to the tight nature of the funding markets, speculative development is generally only 

occurring in ‘super-prime’ areas such as parts of the M1 corridor, Heathrow, etc. Those areas 

have very strong occupier demand from blue-chip covenants, who are prepared to commit to 

longer-term leases (typically more than 10 years), therefore the perceived risk is low. Elsewhere, 

speculative development is generally occurring only for larger units that can be occupied by these 

large national /international firms.  

7.3 The economics for small and mid-sized units is different from large-scale distribution units, both 

in terms of cost and values. Smaller and mid-sized units do not benefit from economies of scale 

for build costs as large units do. Covenant strength of occupiers of smaller units is generally 

weaker and result in less secure income, which is guaranteed for shorter periods due to shorter 

lease terms, and hence lower capital values. Consequently, small and medium-sized 

development typically occurs only on existing employment sites - where infrastructure is currently 

in place; or as part of larger strategic schemes, whereby the large-scale distribution units can pay 

for the infrastructure to service the smaller and medium-sized units.  

7.4 Concerning small and mid-size units, the lack of speculative development has led to an 

imbalance in the market, with some occupiers having to wait for the build to suit opportunities, or 

taking second-hand space to satisfy immediate requirements although they would prefer new 

space. With a lack of suitable medium-sized space, occupiers across the country are struggling 

to find suitable space for business expansion. This is having a knock-on effect, with smaller units 

not experiencing ‘natural’ levels of market churn, therefore not freeing up space for SMEs and 

start-ups. 

7.5 Since the coronavirus lockdown, the industrial market appears to be performing well. Demand 

for online retail has increased significantly and manufactures have sought to re-purpose space 

to respond to the government’s need for protective equipment. That said, the long term future is 

still marred by Brexit prospects.  

Page 668



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
41 

  
 

 

Industrial market Swale 

7.6 The Swale area has a number of industrial estates with units ranging in age and specification, 

much of this is focused around Sittingbourne and Sheerness/Queenborough. There are also units 

located in Faversham and the rural parts of the Borough. There has been some new build 

development in the last 10 years according to CoStar, but what has come forward are small scale 

industrial units between 1,000 sqft and 10,000 sqft located around Sittingbourne. The majority of 

the industrial stock in the area is second-hand.  

7.7 Traditionally Swale was considered more affordable than Medway or Maidstone. But in recent 

years a lot of the Borough’s supply has reduced, increasing rents and bringing them more in line 

with surrounding areas. Therefore, the Borough is competing for occupiers with those 

neighbouring areas. Within the sub-regional market, some footloose occupiers will take space as 

and when it becomes available, rather than seek to choose one location over another. 

7.8 The area benefits from local trade counter services, automotive services, some general 

manufacturing and storage. 

Light/general industrial (B1c/B2)  

7.9 Swale Borough benefits from a diverse mix of blue-collar and white-collar employment, giving it 

a varied and robust economy. The wide-ranging employment sectors include:  

• Advanced engineering/manufacturing  

• General manufacturing  

• Research and Design  

• Storage  

• Distribution  

• Building supplies and trade counters 

7.10 Demand for industrial space in Swale is from a mix of local and some regional companies, looking 

to service regional and local markets. Across the Borough, there is a general need for units to be 

flexible Demand does not come from one specific sector but the food production has historically 

shown the most demand. Table 7-1 shows that rents industrial range between £6.50 psf and 

£9.96 psf.  

  

Page 669



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
42 

  
 

 

Lease 
signed 

date  

Address Tenant Size sqft Rent £ 
psf 

Comment  

12/06/2020 Unit 7 Stadium 
Business Park, 
Castle Road, 

Eurolink Estate, 
ME10 3BG 

WG Motorparts  2,174 £6.50 Second hand 
space. 23% 

discount from 
asking rent of 

£8.42 psf  

01/11/2019 2 Eurolink 
Gateway, Castle 
Road, ME10 3AG 

Unknown 16,914  

(including 
6,000 sqft 
mezzanine 

store) 

£7.50 2000’s steel 
portal framed 
building. 10-
year lease  

04/08/2020 A2 Smeed Dean 
Centre, Castle 

Road, 
Sittingbourne, 

ME10 3EW 

Unknown  1,030 £9.96 6-year lease  

01/07/2019 Unit 10 Fairway 
Business Park, 
Castle Road, 
Sittingbourne, 

ME10 3FB 

UK Performance 
Cars 

1,933 £9.28 n/a 

28/06/2019 Unit 61, Mill Way, 
Sittingbourne, 

ME10 2PD 

Dulux  3,842 £9.53 10-year 
lease, 5-year 
tenant break 
and rent free 
period spread 
over the term 

15/04/2019 C Trinity Trading 
Estate, Mill Way, 

Sittingbourne, 
ME10 2PD 

City Plumbing 
Supplies  

4,853 £9.60 10-year 
lease, tenant 

break and 
rent free 

period spread 
over term – 

Effective rent: 
£9.36 

Source: CoStar, accessed November 2020 

7.11 There is limited evidence of investment transactions recorded on CoStar so we have also 

considered evidence from the neighbouring Boroughs. Table 7-2 shows investment transactions 

are achieving between 5.9% and 11.87% yields. Due to the lack of available data on CoStar, we 

have also reviewed the Knight Frank Yield Guide20 which states that Secondary Estates are at a 

yield of 6.25%+, within the range of the recent transactions. 

 
20 Knight Frank, 2019, Investment yield guide November 2020 

Table 7-1 Industrial occupational transactions 

Page 670



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
43 

  
 

 

Date of 
transaction 

Address Tenant Size 
sqft 

Net Initial 
Yield 

Comment 

01/08/2020 Units 1-10, Phase 
2, New Road 

Industrial Estate, 
Grace Road, 

Sheerness, ME12 
1DB 

Multi-let 11,950 11.78% Fully 
occupied 

21/07/2019 Bonham Drive, 
Swale, ME10 3RY 

DHL 21,872 5.9% Let to DHL 

Source: CoStar, accessed November 2020 

Strategic Distribution (B8) 

7.12 Swale has not traditionally been an attractive area for logistics occupiers due to the geographical 

constraints of the area i.e. coastline to the east. But, due to land constraints in and around 

London, Swale has become more attractive to occupiers although the focus of the market is still 

smaller industrial units.  

7.13 Demand for strategic industrial space in Swale is usually from supermarkets (e.g. Morrisons 

900,000 sqft unit at Ridham/Kemlsey and Aldi’s 672,000 sqft unit at Neat’s Court, Isle of Sheppey) 

of seeking distribution hubs but increasingly, online retailers are seeking appropriate spaces with 

good connectivity.  There are no recent strategic distribution deals recorded on CoStar, therefore 

we have considered the neighbouring Boroughs. Table 7-1 shows that rents range between £3.19 

psf and £7.50 psf.  

Lease 
signed 

date  

Address Tenant Size sqft Rent £ 
psf 

Comment  

01/10/2020 Unit 1B Stoke 
Road, Rochester, 

ME3 9GX 

Noatum 
Maritime 

150,000 £7.50 New build 
space, 15-
year lease  

19/07/2019 Suite Unit 20 
Redwall Lane, 

Maidstone, ME17 
4BA 

Berry Gardens 200,263  

 

£6.49 New build 
space. 15-
year lease 

with 2 months 
rent free 
period. 

Effective rent 
- £6.38 

22/01/2019 Marley Plumbing 
and Drainage, 
Dickley Lane 

Tarkett  152,172 £3.19 10-year lease 
with three 

yearly mutual 
break options 

Table 7-2 Industrial investment transactions 

Table 7-3 B8 Industrial occupational transactions 

Page 671



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
44 

  
 

 

Lease 
signed 

date  

Address Tenant Size sqft Rent £ 
psf 

Comment  

Maidstone, ME17 
2DE 

and 5 yearly 
rent review.  

Source: CoStar, accessed December 2020 

Investment Yields 

7.14 There is no evidence of investment transactions recorded on CoStar so we have also considered 

evidence from the neighbouring counties. Table 7-2 shows an investment transaction achieved 

a yield of 5.22%. Due to the lack of available data on CoStar, we have also reviewed the Knight 

Frank Yield Guide21 which states that Secondary Distribution is at a yield of 5.5%, within the 

range of the recent transaction. 

Date of 
transaction 

Address Tenant Size 
sqft 

Net Initial 
Yield 

Comment 

13/08/2018 Eastern Avenue, 
West Thurrock, 

RM20 3LW 

Wincanton 160,000 5.22% Built in 1999, 
Let to 

Wincanton at 
£7.51 psf  

Source: CoStar, accessed December 2020 

Conclusion 

7.15 Based on the above evidence propose the following rents, yields, and scenarios to use in the 

viability testing:  

• Industrial units 200 sqm (2,153 sqft)  

o Rent £108 psm (£10.00 psf) 

o Yield 7.50% 

• Industrial/distribution units 1,000 sqm (10,764 sqft)  

o Rent £97 psm (£9.00 psf) 

o Yield 7.00% 

• Industrial/distribution units 5,000 sqm (53,820 sqft)  

o Rent £75 psm (£7.00 psf) 

o Yield 6.50% 

 
21 Knight Frank, 2019, Investment yield guide November 2020 

Table 7-4 Strategic Distribution investment transactions 

Page 672



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
45 

  
 

 

• Strategic Distribution 15,000 sqm (161,460 sqft)  

o Rent £81 psm (£7.50 psf) 

o Yield 5.50% 

 

  

Page 673



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
46 

  
 

 

8 Office market  

Introduction 

8.1 Similar to the residential market, the full impact of Covid-19 on the office market is unknown. With 

the government encouraging working from home measures, many offices have been left 

unoccupied or at greatly reduced occupancy. Companies have been forced to embrace video 

conferencing and other measures to ensure business continuity.  

8.2 What has emerged to date is that: 

• Leasing decisions deferred – due to the uncertain world economic outlook companies have 

deferred the decision making in taking new space, this is more apparent with micro-

businesses and SME’s whose current focus is dealing with the immediate fallout and 

business continuity.   

• Tenants seeking to defer rent payments – the 'Coronavirus Act 2020' which received royal 

assent on 25 March 2020 introduced new legalisation ‘that no right of re-entry or forfeiture 

may be enforced due to non-payment of rent until the end of the 'relevant period' (30 June 

2020 (unless extended)).’22 The Coronavirus Act 2020 has provided the flexibility to allow 

tenants not to make their quarter day payment in March.   

• Increase in office occupier tenant incentives – Knight Frank indicates that ‘Lease 

incentives, however, have drifted: 21-24 months on some 10-year leases, instead of 18-

21 months in the West End and nearer 24 months in the City, which were previously at 21-

24 months.’23 

8.3 Typically, new office development is only financially viable in major towns and cities. Generally, 

new development requires a pre-let in place to a blue-chip covenant – i.e. on a long lease to a 

high-quality tenant that is likely always to pay its rent and adhere to its obligations. This structure 

gives sufficient security to the investment to enable funding to be obtained. For example, office 

take-up in 2019 to the end of September was 1.8m sq ft, of which 90% of the take-up was Grade 

A.24 Only 460,000 sq ft of speculative schemes are expected to complete in 2019, well below the 

5-year average of 1.0m sq ft delivered per annum in the South East25. 

8.4 In recent years the main drivers of demand for new office space have been from finance, 

professional services, Technology, Media and Telecommunications (TMTs) and flexible 

workspace providers. Since the referendum to leave the European Union there has been a slight 

 
22 https://www.rpc.co.uk/perspectives/rpc-big-deal/covid-19-and-commercial-tenants-rights-regarding-rent/ 
23 Knight Frank, June 2020, COVID-19 What we know, what we expect, what we question 
24 BNP Paribas, 2019 Q3, South East Offices Review,  
25 Ibid 

Page 674



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
47 

  
 

 

cooling of office demand from the finance and professional services, but demand from TMTs and 

flexible workspace providers remains robust. 

Swale office market 

8.5 Swale is primarily seen as an industrial location rather than a recognised office market. In Swale 

and the surrounding Boroughs, the largest occupiers are usually public-sector council offices. 

Other larger occupiers are few and most are usually located in the area for historic reasons. With 

London so close to Swale most occupiers prefer to be located in the capital or recognised office 

locations nearby. 

8.6 Even within Kent, Swales office market is comparably small. This is a result of the size of the 

market, in comparison to industrial, its proximity to London, and its context within Kent. Within 

the wider county, most occupier activity is focused on the larger towns of Maidstone and Ashford, 

or the purpose built out of town business parks, like Kings Hill (Maidstone) and Discovery Park 

(Sandwich).  

8.7 The Swale Borough has minimal office stock, with the majority of the accommodation found in 

Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheerness. The stock is generally dated; often located above 

shops in the town centre, with small units to service local companies.  The most recent example 

of speculative office development occurring in the Borough has been at Conqueror Court. This 

completed in 2008 in a time when development finance was accessible and the balance to 

between build costs and rents/yields was more favourable. Occupiers of Conqueror Court include 

C.T. Associates (Accountants) and HEM Ultrasound (NHS and Private diagnostic ultrasound 

scans).  

Office rents 

8.8 Table 8-1 sets out achieved rents for the area recorded on CoStar. Rents for second-hand units 

range from £13.79 psf to £18 psf, and we would expect some price premium for new build stock. 

However, there is no currently no new build stock in Swale. 

Lease 
signed 

date 

Address Tenant Size sqft Rent £ 
psf 

Comment 

18/09/2020 5 Park Road, 
Sittingbourne, ME10 

1DR 

SC Kent 418 £15.79 3-year lease, no 
rent reviews or 
break options 

26/05/2020 Unit 10, Conqueror 
Court, Staplehurst 

Road, Sittingbourne, 
ME10 5BH 

Unknown 2,693 £16.00 - 

Table 8-1 Achieved office rents 

Page 675



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
48 

  
 

 

Lease 
signed 

date 

Address Tenant Size sqft Rent £ 
psf 

Comment 

07/06/2019 Unit 10, Conqueror 
Court, Staplehurst 

Road, Sittingbourne, 
ME10 5BH 

Bridgers Law 750 £15.60 Out of town 
offices, 5 year 
lease with  2 

months rent free 
– Effective rent: 

£15.00 psf 

05/07/2019 B6 Smeed Dean 
Centre, Castle Road, 
Sittingbourne, ME10 

3EQ 

Unknown 359 £13.79 6 year lease 

07/06/2019 Unit, Conqueror 
Court, Staplehurst 

Road, Sittingbourne, 
ME10 5BH 

WeCare 
Physiotherapy 

2,548 £18.00 5 year lease, 3 
months rent free 

at the start 

Source: CoStar, accessed November 2020 

Office yields 

8.9 There is no evidence of recent office investment activity recorded on CoStar, we have therefore 

looked at the wider Kent area. Figure 8-1 shows these investment transactions, with yields 

between 3.64%-8.25%, in addition to this the Knight Frank Secondary Asset Yield Guide provides 

a 6.50% yield for offices in SE towns (tertiary).26 

Date of 
transaction 

Address Tenants Size 
sqft 

Yield  Comment 

01/04/2019 22 Mount Ephraim, 
Tunbridge Wells,  

Cripps Pemberton 
Greenish 

38,180 5.39% Modern 
Grade A 
Offices 
built in 
2016 

01/08/2019 Eureka Park, Ashford, 
TN25 4AZ 

RIFT Ltd  10,314 8.25% Modern 
Grade A 
Offices in 
Eureka 
Park  

Source: CoStar, accessed November 2020 

 
26 Knight Frank, 2020, Investment yield guide November 2020 

Figure 8-1 Office investment transactions 

Page 676



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
49 

  
 

 

Conclusion  

8.10 Based on our analysis of the office market an appropriate rent is £18 psf and yield of 8.00%, at 

a size of 1,000 sqm (10,764 sq ft). 

 

Page 677



  Appendix 2 – Property Market Report  
 

 

  
 

  
 

 

Appendix 2.1 – Residential sale value evidence 
 

 

 
  

Page 678



London | Leeds | Liverpool

Property | Infrastructure | Planning 
Development | Regeneration

www.aspinallverdi.co.uk

Page 679



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 3 – Dwelling Mix Analysis 

  

Page 680



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 4 – BCIS Costs 
 

  

Page 681



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 5 – Appraisals Residential 
  

Page 682



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 6 – Appraisals Older Persons Accommodation 
 

  

Page 683



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 7 – Appraisals BTR Accommodation 
 

  

Page 684



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 8 – Appraisals Holiday Park Accommodation 
 
  

Page 685



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 9 – Appraisals Retail Uses 
 

  

Page 686



  Local Plan Viability Study  
Swale Borough Council    

December 2020 

 

  
 

 
 

Appendix 10 – Appraisals Employment Uses 
 

 

Page 687



London | Leeds | Liverpool

Property | Infrastructure | Planning 
Development | Regeneration

www.aspinallverdi.co.uk

Page 688



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of 
the Swale Local Plan Review 

Interim SA Report 
Non-technical Summary 
 
January 2021 

 

   

Page 689



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary AECOM 

 

Quality information 

Prepared by Checked by Verified by Approved by 

Chris McNulty 

Senior consultant 

Mark Fessey, 

Associate Director 

Steve Smith, 

Technical Director 

Steve Smith, 

Technical Director  

    

 

 

Prepared for: 

Swale Borough Council 

 

 

Prepared by: 

AECOM Limited 

Aldgate Tower 

2 Leman Street 

London E1 8FA 

United Kingdom 

aecom.com 

 

 

© 2020 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.   

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) in accordance with its contract Swale Borough 

Council (the “Client”) and in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles and the established budget.  

Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless 

otherwise expressly stated in the document.  AECOM shall have no liability to any third party that makes use of or 

relies upon this document. 

 

Page 690



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 1 

 

Introduction 
AECOM is commissioned to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in support of the emerging Swale Local Plan 

Review (LPR).  Once in place, the LPR will establish a spatial strategy for growth over the period 2022 to 2038, 

building on the adopted Local Plan (2017), which covers the period 2014 to 2031.  The LPR will allocate sites to 

deliver the strategy and establish the policies against which planning applications will be determined.   

SA is a mechanism for considering and communicating the likely effects of an emerging plan, and alternatives, with 

a view to minimising adverse effects and maximising the positives.   

Central to the SA process is preparation of an SA Report for publication alongside the Draft Plan; however, at the 

current time an Interim SA Report presents targeted information to inform decision-making on the part of Swale 

Borough’s elected councillors.  This report is the Non-technical Summary (NTS) of the Interim SA Report. 

This Interim SA Report / NTS 

This Interim SA Report presents an appraisal of alternative growth scenarios for Swale Borough, i.e. alternative 

spatial approaches to providing for new homes through the LPR.   

This Interim SA Report is structured so as to answer three questions in turn: 

1) What has plan-making / SA involved up to this point? 

- Establishing growth scenarios 

2) What are the SA findings at this stage? 

- Appraising growth scenarios 

3) What happens next? 

Each of these questions is answered in turn below.  Firstly though there is a need to set the scene further by 

answering the question: What’s the scope of the SA? 

What’s the scope of the SA? 

The scope of the SA is reflected in a list of topics and objectives, as well as an underpinning understanding of key 

issues, as established through evidence-gathering including consultation on a Scoping Report in 2018.1 

Taken together, this understanding of key topics, objectives and issues indicates the parameters of SA, and 

provides a methodological ‘framework’ for appraisal.  A list of the topics and underpinning objectives is presented 

in Table 3.1 of the main report.  In summary, the following topics form the back-bone to the framework: 

• Air quality 

• Biodiversity 

• Climate change mitigation 

• Communities 

• Economy and employment 

• Flood risk 

• Heritage 

• Housing 

• Land 

• Landscape 

• Transport 

• Water 

 
1 The Scoping Report is available at: swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/local-plan-review/local-plan-review  Page 691

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/local-plan-review/local-plan-review


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 2 

 

Plan-making / SA up to this point 
The aim here is to explain a process that led to establishment of the growth scenarios that are a focus of appraisal 

at the current time.  Figure A presents a summary of the process. 

Figure A: Establishing growth scenarios – process overview 

 

Context and Local Plan objectives 

A large amount of work has been completed by the Council since commencing the LPR process in 2017.  This 

includes: a consultation entitled Looking Ahead; publication of a Garden Communities Prospectus and subsequent 

detailed work to explore the four garden community options submitted by developers for consideration; an ongoing 

process of engagement with key stakeholder organisations; and completion of a wide range of evidence studies. 

The evidence generated has fed into work to establish growth scenarios, both directly and indirectly, in the sense 

that evidence has informed the establishment of LPR objectives which, in turn, are an important starting point for 

the establishment of growth scenarios.  Any growth scenario that would self-evidently not align with the LPR 

objectives can be deemed ‘unreasonable’, and not considered further.  

Strategic issues and options 

Discussion in this section of the report (Section 5) is split under two headings: 

• Quanta (how much?) – there is strong evidence that the LPR must provide for Local Housing Need (LHN), as 

understood from the Government’s Standard Methodology (as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance, as 

updated in December 2020), which is 1038 dwellings per annum.  However, there is also a need to consider 

the risk (albeit small) of the LPR needing to provide for higher growth in order to meet unmet housing needs 

arising from West Kent, where there are constraints to growth (in particular Green Belt and AONB), pressures 

in respect of unmet needs arising from London and emerging Local Plans facing challenges. 

• Broad distribution (where?) – firstly, there is a need to note that a wide range of evidence-base studies have 

been prepared of relevance to the matter of how new development (both housing and employment), should be 

distributed across Swale Borough, and important evidence was also gathered through the Looking Ahead 

consultation (2018).  Appendix II of the main report presents a review. 

Secondly, an important consideration is the spatial strategy reflected in the adopted Local Plan, as broadly 

rolling this forward is an option for the LPR.  The question of whether to depart from the adopted Local Plan 

spatial strategy, and if so to what extent, was explored through consideration of broad growth scenarios in July 

2020, and an appraisal of the broad growth scenarios is presented in Appendix III of the main report. 

Ultimately, the conclusion reached is that there are strong arguments for focusing LPR growth at the Faversham 

area, as a counter-balance to the strategy in the adopted Local Plan (this is known as Broad Growth Scenario 

C, and elected members provided a ‘steer’ in support of this approach in mid-2020) and, as part of this, there 

is support for strategic growth at Faversham.  However, in the view of Council officers (in discussion with 

AECOM) there is also a need to remain open to the option of a more balanced distribution of LPR growth, and 

the possibility of two strategic growth locations, specifically one at Faversham and another at Sittingbourne.  

Page 692



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 3 

 

Site options 

A large number of site options have been submitted to the Council by land-owners and developers, and a process 

of Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) has been completed by the Council in order to identify 

a shortlist of sites that are available, deliverable and potentially suitable for allocation.  The SHLAA provides an 

important input to the process of establishing growth scenarios (i.e. alternative packages of sites). 

Within Swale Borough, as within other local authority areas, there is an important distinction to be made between 

strategic and non-strategic sites.  Strategic sites are those with a housing capacity above circa 1,000 homes and 

which will be associated with economies of scale that can enable delivery of a good mix of uses (e.g. retail and 

employment as well as a good mix of homes) and enable delivery of new or upgraded infrastructure (e.g. new road 

infrastructure, community infrastructure, green infrastructure).   

Section 6 of the main report considers strategic and non-strategic site options in turn.  In summary: 

• Strategic site options – four strategic site (or ‘garden community’) options were submitted to the Council 

following publication of the Prospectus in 2018.  These have been examined in detail since that time,2 and 

Appendix IV of the main report presents a comparative appraisal.  In light of the appraisal, Council officers (in 

discussion with AECOM) concluded that: one of the options is quite clearly not suitable for allocation through 

the LPR, namely North Street, which would involve a new settlement to the south of Faversham; another option 

can be ruled-out on balance, albeit recognising that the scheme could deliver transformation benefits in terms 

of employment land and transport infrastructure, namely Southeast Sittingbourne; and the other two options 

should be taken forward for detailed consideration through the appraisal of growth scenarios, namely East / 

southeast of Faversham and Bobbing.  Further discussion is presented in Section 6.2 of the main report. 

N.B. there is also the question of site-specific options (i.e. options for specific sites), for example alternative site 

‘red line boundaries’ and alternative conceptual masterplans.  See Section 6.2 of the main report. 

• Non-strategic site options – the SHLAA is the main vehicle for considering the merits of non-strategic sites in 

isolation; however, a supplementary piece of analysis has been completed, with the findings presented within 

Appendix V of the main report.  Specifically, Appendix V presents the findings of a quantitative GIS-based 

exercise, which has involved examining the spatial relationship (i.e. proximity to / percentage intersect) between 

all SHLAA sites and a range of constraint (e.g. flood zones, designated heritage assets) and opportunity (e.g. 

GP surgeries) features for which data is available in digitally mapped form across the Borough as a whole.  The 

analysis does not aim to rule sites in/out, but simply aims to provide information to supplement the SHLAA, and 

inform consideration of site options within each of the Borough’s sub-areas in turn (see below). 

Sub-area scenarios 

Having gone through a process of building ‘top down’ (quanta and broad distribution) and ‘bottom-up’ (strategic 

and non-strategic site options) understanding, the next step was to draw understanding together to establish growth 

scenarios for each of the Borough’s sub-areas in turn.  This is the focus of Section 7 within the main report. 

There is no set way of dividing the Borough into sub-areas; however, for the purposes of the task at hand, it was 

considered appropriate to explore growth scenarios for: Sittingbourne; Faversham; West Sheppey; Teynham; 

Newington; Eastchurch; Leysdown; Boughton; Iwade; and Tier 5 settlements and the rural area. 

For each sub-area the aim is to arrive at a conclusion on the sub-area growth scenarios that should be taken 

forward to Section 8 of the main report, where the final step in the overall process (as summarised in Figure A) 

sees the sub-area growth scenarios combined into a single set of borough-wide growth scenarios. 

As a further point on methodology, it is important to note that this work was undertaken subsequent to a decision 

on an emerging preferred growth scenario by the Swale Borough Cabinet on 28th October 2020 (as informed by 

the Local Plan Panel steer of 8th October).  As such, the emerging preferred growth scenario for each sub-area 

was taken as a starting-point. 

In summary, the decision was to take forward the emerging preferred scenario plus: 

• one or more higher growth scenarios for Sittingbourne, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown; and 

• one or more lower growth scenarios for Faversham, West Sheppey and Teynham. 

Table A presents a summary.  

 
2 See swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options  Page 693

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 4 

 

Table A: Summary of sub-area scenarios (number of homes; emerging preferred scenario highlighted) 

Sub-area Sub-area scenarios taken forward to Section 8 

Sittingbourne 850 1,350 3,350 

Faversham 1,000 3,400 - 

West Sheppey 0 650 850 

Teynham 0 350 1,100 

Newington 0 200 - 

Eastchurch 0 65 - 

Leysdown 0 100 - 

Boughton 20 - - 

Iwade 0 - - 

Tier 5 settlements 90 - - 

Growth scenarios for appraisal  

The final task was to draw together the understanding generated in order to arrive at a single set of reasonable 

borough-wide growth scenarios for the LPR.  In practice, this meant exploring ways of combining the sub-area 

scenarios, also mindful of housing supply from commitments (i.e. sites with planning permission and/or an 

allocation in the adopted Local Plan that are expected to deliver in the LPR plan period, i.e. post April 2022) and 

windfall sites (i.e. sites that are neither an existing commitment nor an LPR allocation). 

There are many potential combinations of the sub-area scenarios; however, it is possible to immediately rule out 

those combinations that would deliver too few or too many homes.  When seeking to understand the number of 

homes that must be delivered through the sub-area scenarios in combination, there is a need to take into account 

not only the total number of homes needed in the plan period, but also supply from commitments (11,000 homes), 

supply from windfall sites (1,530 homes) and the need for a supply buffer of at least 10%.  On this basis, there is a 

need for combinations of sub-area scenarios to deliver at least 5,740 homes.3   

Section 8 of the main report goes through a process of considering ways to combine the sub-area scenarios in 

order to deliver at least 5,740 homes, concluding that there are five reasonable growth scenarios – see Table B, 

Table C and the subsequent maps. 

Table B: Summary of the reasonable scenarios 

Scenario Description Total homes 

1 The emerging preferred growth scenario 18,840 

2 Scenario 1 but with higher growth at Sittingbourne (Bobbing) / lower at Faversham 18,940 

3 Scenario 1 but with lower risk urban extensions (UEs) in place of higher risk 18,755 

4 Both strategic growth locations; lower growth scenarios elsewhere 19,390 

5 Scenario 1 plus lower risk urban extensions (UEs) 20,355 

 
3 Calculated as: LHN (1,038 dpa x 16 years = c.16,600) + 10% buffer (1,660) – completions (11,000) – windfall (1,530) Page 694



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 

Non-technical summary  5 
 

Table C: The reasonable growth scenarios (with constant elements of supply greyed-out) 

Growth scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

5 

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs Source of housing supply 

Commitments 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 

Windfall 1,530 1,530 1,530 1,530 1,530 

A
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

Sittingbourne 

Town centre  850 850 850 850 850 

Urban extensions - - 500 - 500 

Garden comm (Bobbing) - 2,500 - 2,500 - 

Faversham 
Urban extensions - 1,000 - - - 

Garden comm (E/SE) 3,400 - 3,400 3,400 3,400 

West Sheppey 

Sheerness - - - - - 

Minster / Halfway - - 650 - 650 

Q’borough / Rushenden 850 850 - - 850 

Tier 4 
settlements  

Teynham 1,100 1,100 350 - 1,100 

Newington - - 200 - 200 

Eastchurch - - 65 - 65 

Leysdown - - 100 - 100 

Boughton 20 20 20 20 20 

Iwade - - - - - 

Tier 5 
settlements 

Neames Forstal 90 90 90 90 90 

Elsewhere - - - - - 

Total homes in the plan period (2022-2038) 18,840 18,940 18,755 19,390 20,355 

Total homes per annum 1178 1184 1172 1212 1272 

% supply buffer above LHN (1038 per annum) 13% 14% 13% 17% 23% 

 Provide for LHN 
Possibly provide for 

higher growth 
Provide for higher 

growth (unmet needs) 

P
age 695



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 

Non-technical summary  6 
 

Scenario 1: The emerging preferred scenario 

 

P
age 696



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 

Non-technical summary  7 
 

Scenario 2: Scenario 1 but with higher growth at Sittingbourne (Bobbing) / lower at Faversham 

 

P
age 697



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 

Non-technical summary  8 
 

Scenario 3: Scenario 1 but with lower risk urban extensions (UEs) in place of higher risk 

 

P
age 698



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 

Non-technical summary  9 
 

Scenario 4: Both strategic growth locations; lower growth scenarios elsewhere 

 

P
age 699



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 

Non-technical summary  10 
 

Scenario 5: Scenario 1 plus lower risk UEs 

 

P
age 700



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 11 

 

SA findings at this stage 
Part 2 of the Interim SA Report presents an appraisal of the five reasonable growth scenarios in respect of the 

established SA framework.  It also presents a statement prepared by officers, in response to the appraisal. 

Appraisal of the reasonable growth scenarios 

Summary appraisal findings are presented in Table D.  Within each row of the table, the performance of each of 

the growth scenarios is categorised in terms of significant effects (using red / amber / light green / green)4 and the 

scenarios are also ranked in order of preference (where 1 is judged best). 

Table D: Summary appraisal of the reasonable growth scenarios 

Scenario Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario 5 

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

SA topic Rank of preference and categorisation of effects 

Air quality 
 

3 2 2 4 

Biodiversity 2 3 
  

2 

Climate 

change 

mitigation  
2 2 

 
2 

Communities 
 

3 3 3 2 

Economy & 

employment  
3 4 4 2 

Flood risk 2 2 
  

2 

Heritage 2 3 3 
 

3 

Housing 4 3 2 3 
 

Land 
   

2 3 

Landscape 2 3 3 
 

4 

Transport 
 

2 2 2 3 

Water 
  

2 
 

3 

 
4 Red indicates a significant negative effect; amber a negative effect that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; 
light green a positive that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; and green a significant positive effect. Page 701



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 12 

 

Overall appraisal conclusions 

It is immediately apparent that Scenarios 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) and 4 (two strategic growth 

locations) perform well in a number of respects, as indicated by the number of stars and green scores assigned 

(particularly Scenario 1) and the relatively low number of red scores assigned (particularly Scenario 4).   

However, it does not necessarily follow that it is a straightforward choice between Scenarios 1 and 4, when 

deciding which is best performing overall.  This is because the appraisal does not make any assumptions 

regarding the weight that is attributed to each topic in the decision-making process.  For example, the decision-

maker might decide to give particular weight to housing objectives, which could mean favouring Scenario 5. 

Having made these opening remarks, the following bullet points summarise the performance of the broad growth 

scenarios in respect of each element of the SA framework in turn: 

• Air quality – higher growth is not supported given air quality constraints affecting Swale (and neighbouring 

authorities), particularly along the A2 corridor and along the B2006 in Sittingbourne.  Scenario 1 performs 

well because strategic growth to the east and southeast of Faversham gives rise to relatively limited 

concerns.  With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk under all 

scenarios.  The Air Quality Modelling Report explains that air quality is set to improve significantly over the 

plan period; however, air quality is currently a priority issue for the Council. 

• Biodiversity - Scenarios 3 and 4 are judged to perform best, as allocation of site SLA18/113 at Rushenden 

would be avoided (albeit it is recognised that detailed work is underway to understand the potential to avoid 

and mitigate biodiversity concerns associated with the site, and HRA work has concluded no likelihood of 

significant adverse effects to the SPA).  Scenario 2 performs poorly, on the basis that strategic growth to the 

east and southeast of Faversham is judged to be preferable to strategic growth at Bobbing.  With regards to 

significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk in respect of the three worst performing 

scenarios.  It is recognised that the best performing scenarios (Scenarios 3 and 4) could lead to significant 

positive effects, particularly given the potential for strategic growth locations to support achievement of 

biodiversity net gain; however, there is no certainty at the current time, given the available evidence. 

• Climate change mitigation – whilst it is challenging to differentiate the scenarios, on balance Scenarios 1 

(the emerging preferred scenario) and 4 (two strategic growth locations) are judged to be best performing.  

Scenario 1 may be preferable from a transport emissions perspective, whilst Scenario 4 may be preferable 

from a built environment emissions perspective.  With regards to effect significance, there is a need to 

balance an understanding that climate change mitigation is a global consideration, such that local actions 

can only ever have a limited effect on the baseline, with the fact that there is a highly ambitious local net zero 

target in place.  On balance, it is considered appropriate to flag a concern with all scenarios.  This reflects a 

view that the 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that decarbonisation must be a key driving factor 

influencing spatial strategy, site selection and development of site-specific proposals. 

• Communities - Scenario 1 is judged to perform most strongly, as strategic growth at Faversham would 

deliver a much needed new secondary school, and, more generally, there would be good potential to 

masterplan and deliver a new community, or series of new communities, in line with established best practice 

principles.  However, there is some uncertainty at the current time, in the absence of detailed evidence, 

including an up-to-date masterplan.  Scenarios 2 to 4 perform poorly, as there would either be problematic 

piecemeal expansion at Faversham (Scenario 2) or a missed opportunity at Queenborough/Rushenden 

(Scenarios 3 and 4).  There is also a concern regarding growth locations in combination impacting on existing 

community infrastructure capacity under Scenario 5.  With regards to the significance of effects, it is 

appropriate to highlight Scenario 1 as performing significantly better than the other scenarios.  Scenario 1 is 

clearly designed to ensure that housing growth brings with it community benefits.  The only stand-out concern 

is in respect of the proposal to support growth of 90 homes at Neames Forstal, which is a village with a very 

limited offer of local services and facilities.  The other scenarios would all lead to mixed effects. 

• Economy and employment - Scenario 1 performs most strongly given the assumed employment land 

supply at the proposed mixed us allocations, albeit there is some uncertainty.  Relative to Scenario 1: 

Scenarios 2 and 4 perform less well, as there would be a loss of 10 ha of employment land at either 

Faversham or Rushenden, with the resulting shortfall only partly addressed by strategic growth at Bobbing; 

and Scenario 3 performs least well, because there would be a loss of 10ha of supply at Rushenden (also 

potentially some missed opportunity at Teynham).  With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag 

a degree of risk under all scenarios, and predict that the worst performing scenario would lead to significant 

negative effects.  These conclusions are reached in light of the headline targets set out in the Employment 

Page 702



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 13 

 

Land Review (ELR, 2018), albeit certain ELR targets are a range and require careful interpretation.  It is also 

important to consider that the national and regional situation may have moved-on somewhat since the ELR.   

• Flood risk - the key consideration is in respect of site SLA18/113 at Rushenden.  Further work may find 

there to be exceptional circumstances that serve to justify growth in this area, taking account of the detailed 

nature of the flood risk and an in-depth understanding of the potential to support regeneration objectives for 

Queenborough/Rushenden; however, at the current time it is appropriate to ‘flag’ a significant risk. 

• Heritage - Scenario 4 performs best as it would involve a focus at two strategic growth locations with limited 

historic environment sensitivity.  Scenario 1 also performs well on a similar basis, i.e. there would be a focus 

of growth at strategic sites; however, there is a concern around constraints at Teynham being a barrier to 

strategic growth.  Scenarios 2, 3 and 5 perform poorly as there would be a need to allocate a number of 

urban and village extensions with historic environment sensitivities.  With regard to significant effects, it is 

appropriate to take a precautionary approach, and flag a notable degree of risk under Scenario 1, and the 

strong possibility of significant negative effects under Scenarios 2, 3 and 5.   

• Housing - it is appropriate to highlight Scenario 5 as best performing, as it is a higher growth scenario 

comprising a good mix of sites.  Scenario 3 also performs well, as there would be a good mix of sites, 

including sites assumed to be associated with relatively low delivery risk, and certain sites thought likely to 

be able to deliver early in the plan period.  Scenarios 2 and 4 are joint third best performing.  Focusing on 

Scenario 4, whilst there would be a major reliance on strategic sites (with associated delivery risk), there 

would be a 17% supply buffer (also, both strategic sites are proposing to deliver 40% affordable housing).  

Finally, Scenario 1 performs least well, as the scenario associated with both a lower supply buffer and a 

focus on sites with delivery risks.  With regards to significant effects, it is certainly fair to highlight Scenario 

5 as representing a highly proactive approach to responding to delivery challenges and risks.  Housing needs 

could be met under the other scenarios, although there is a degree of uncertainty in respect of Scenario 1. 

• Landscape - Scenario 4 is judged to perform best.  Scenario 1 performs second best, although there are 

concerns associated with growth at Rushenden, and also a degree of concern associated with growth at 

Teynham.  Scenarios 2 and 3 are judged to perform on a par, with certain of the urban/village extensions in 

question giving rise to a degree of concern.  Scenario 5 gives rise to a concern, as a higher growth option, 

although the effect could be to prevent a situation whereby there is a need to accept windfall development 

in sensitive locations and/or the effect could be to reduce pressure for growth in sensitive locations in 

neighbouring authorities.  With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a risk under all but the 

best performing scenario, including on the basis of the need to allocate at least one site within a locally 

designated landscape. 

• Transport - Scenario 1 is judged to perform best, followed by those scenarios involving strategic growth at 

Bobbing and then Scenario 3, which would involve more dispersed growth.  Scenario 5 (higher growth) is 

judged to perform least well, although there could be some potential for growth locations along shared 

transport corridors (e.g. the Lower Road on the Isle of Sheppey) to pool funding to deliver strategic transport 

upgrades, for example junction upgrades, cycle routes and improved bus services.  With regards to 

significant effects, emerging transport modelling work is serving to suggest that Scenario 1 will not lead to 

severe impacts on the strategic road network, but it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk for the other 

scenarios, and flag a particular risk under Scenario 5, given known constraints in the west of the Borough. 

• Water - there would appear to be some wastewater treatment capacity constraints locally, as evidenced by 

recent pollution events (breaches of discharge permits); however, it is not possible to highlight concerns with 

any particular sites, or parts of the Borough, on the basis of the available evidence.  It is therefore appropriate 

to flag a concern with Scenario 5, as a higher growth scenario, and also Scenario 3 which involves a degree 

of dispersal to locations distant from a WwTW.  It is not possible to predict significant negative effects, 

because there tends to be good potential to deliver upgrades to wastewater treatment capacity ahead of 

growth; however, given the uncertainties at the current time, it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk under 

all growth scenarios.  It will be for the Environment Agency to comment further. 

  

Page 703



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 14 

 

Officers response to the appraisal 

As discussed, it is not the role of the appraisal to arrive at a conclusion on which of reasonable growth scenarios 

is best, or ‘most sustainable’ overall.  Rather, it is the role of the plan-making authority to arrive at that conclusion, 

informed by the appraisal.  The following statement explains officers’ reasons for supporting Growth Scenario 1, 

in-light of the appraisal: 

Scenario 1 is judged to perform well overall in that it aligns well with a range of priority objectives, and whilst 

there are clear tensions and challenges, it is not possible to envisage an alternative strategy that would perform 

better overall.  The appraisal serves to highlight Scenario 4 as potentially having a degree of overall merit, 

however the view of officers is that a strategy involving two garden communities would involve a high degree 

of delivery risk, and it is important to note that when the elected councillors of the Local Plan Panel considered 

broad growth scenarios on 30th July 2020 there was no support for a strategy involving two garden communities.   

The appraisal highlights several stand-out risks; however, it is important to note that the appraisal is undertaken 

largely blind to the policy framework within the LPR that will guide delivery.  In this light, officers do not judge 

any of the highlighted risks and drawbacks to be unacceptable (‘showstoppers’).  Taking key matters in turn: 

• Biodiversity – the proposed policy is seeking to accord with best practice nationally, and biodiversity net gain 

is being prioritised as one of the key ‘policy asks’ of developers; 

• Flood risk - latest understanding is that there is good potential to reduce risk to an acceptable level through 

masterplanning and design measures, and there is a need to support growth at Queenborough and 

Rushenden if long standing regeneration objectives are to be realised; 

• Heritage – the Council’s heritage specialists have been closely engaged as part of the spatial strategy, site 

selection and policy writing process, and there is scope for further strengthening of policy if necessary; 

• Housing – the evidence suggests the proposed supply can meet needs, and whilst there are inevitably risks, 

these need to be balanced against a desire not to over-allocate, with resulting issues and impacts. 

• Landscape – a key concern relates to growth at Rushenden; however, there is confidence in the potential to 

address concerns through masterplanning and design. 

Next Steps 

Publication of the Proposed Submission LPR and SA Report 

The aim of this Interim SA Report is to inform a decision on whether to publish the LPR for consultation, under 

Regulation 19 of the Local Planning Regulations.  Should a decision be made to publish the LPR, then there will 

be a need to prepare the SA Report for publication alongside the LPR.  Table E explains the information that will 

be presented in the SA Report, in comparison to the information presented in this Interim SA Report.   

Table E: Structure and information presented within this Interim SA Report versus the forthcoming SA Report 

Part Question This Interim SA Report The SA Report 

1 
What has plan-making / SA 

involved up to this point? 
Establish growth scenarios 

Establish and appraise growth 

scenarios 

2 
What are the SA findings at 

this stage? 
Appraise growth scenarios Appraise the LPR 

3 Next steps? Finalise and publish the LPR Submission and examination 

  

Page 704



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Non-technical summary 15 

 

Submission, examination and adoption 

Once the period for representations on the Proposed Submission LPR / SA Report has finished, the main issues 

raised will be identified and summarised, and a decision made regarding whether the plan is considered ‘sound’.  

Assuming that the LPR is considered to be sound, it will then be submitted to Government, alongside the summary 

of issues raised through consultation and other supporting documentation, including the SA Report. 

An examination in public will then be held, overseen by one or more appointed Planning Inspectors.  The 

Inspector(s) will consider whether the plan is legally compliant and sound, in light of the available evidence, 

including representations received at the Regulations 19 stage, the SA Report and (in all likelihood) further 

evidence gathered through hearings.  The Inspector(s) will then either report back on the Plan’s soundness or 

identify the need for modifications.  If there is a need for modifications these will be prepared and then subjected 

to consultation, alongside SA if necessary. 

Once found to be ‘sound’ the LPR will be adopted by the Council.  At the time of adoption a ‘Statement’ must 

published that explains the ‘story’ of plan-making / SA and sets out ‘the measures decided concerning monitoring’.   

Monitoring 

The SA Report must present ‘measures envisaged concerning monitoring’, albeit mindful that decisions on 

monitoring must be taken by Swale Borough Council (the last Authority Monitoring Report was published in 2017). 

At the current time it is too early to make any firm recommendations in respect of areas for monitoring / potential 

monitoring indicators; however, it is fair to highlight that monitoring efforts could potentially focus on:  

• Emerging proposals at all LPR growth locations, ahead of planning applications, with a view to ensuring that 

proposals reflect strategic priorities, including in respect of: 

─ the declared climate emergency and the urgent need to decarbonise ahead of the 2030 net zero target; 

─ the declared local ecological emergency and the aims of the Environment Bill, including in respect of 
taking a strategic approach to nature recovery and environmental net gain. 

• Air quality at key locations likely to see increased traffic due to LPR growth – again, monitoring in the short term 

could serve to inform forthcoming planning applications at LPR growth locations; 

• Employment land requirements – given that the Employment Land Review is now over two years old, and the 

regional and national economic context and baseline situation will have evolved since that time;  

• Flood risk – the Council might report annually on the number of homes in flood risk zones; 

• Housing – there is a need to closely monitor affordable housing delivery, including tenure split; 

• Water – ongoing consideration should be given to any risk of capacity breaches. 

Page 705



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of the 
Swale Local Plan 

 

Interim SA Report 
 
January 2021 

 

Page 707



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
      AECOM 

 

Quality information 

Prepared by Checked by Verified by Approved by 

Chris McNulty, 
Senior consultant 

Mark Fessey, 
Associate Director 

Mark Fessey, 
Associate Director 

Steve Smith, 
Technical Director 

Steve Smith, 
Technical Director  

    

 
 

Prepared for: 

Swale Borough Council 
 
 

Prepared by: 

AECOM Limited 
Aldgate Tower 
2 Leman Street 
London E1 8FA 
United Kingdom 
aecom.com 
 
 
© 2020 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.   

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) in accordance with its contract Swale Borough 
Council (the “Client”) and in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles and the established budget.  
Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, 
unless otherwise expressly stated in the document.  AECOM shall have no liability to any third party that makes 
use of or relies upon this document. 

   

Page 708



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
      AECOM 

 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction ...................................................................................................... 1 

2 What’s the plan seeking to achieve? ............................................................... 2 

3 What is the scope of the SA? .......................................................................... 3 
 

Part 1: What has plan-making / SA involved up to this stage? ................................... 5 

4 Introduction to Part 1 ....................................................................................... 6 

5 Strategic issues and options ............................................................................ 8 

6 Site options .................................................................................................... 17 

7 Sub-area scenarios ....................................................................................... 21 

8 Reasonable growth scenarios ....................................................................... 25 
 

Part 2: What are the appraisal findings at this stage? .............................................. 33 

9 Introduction to Part 2 ..................................................................................... 34 

10 Growth scenarios appraisal ........................................................................... 34 
 

Part 3: What are the next steps? .............................................................................. 62 

11 Plan finalisation ............................................................................................. 63 

12 Monitoring ...................................................................................................... 63 
 

Appendix I: Review of evidence ............................................................................... 64 

Appendix II: Broad growth scenarios ........................................................................ 89 

Appendix III: Strategic site options .......................................................................... 111 

Appendix IV: Site options GIS analysis .................................................................. 127 

Appendix V: Sub area scenarios ............................................................................ 135 

 

Page 709



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Introduction 1 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

1.1.1 AECOM is commissioned to undertake Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in support of the emerging Swale 

Local Plan Review (LPR).  Once in place, the LPR will establish a spatial strategy for growth over the 

period 2022 to 2038, building on the adopted Local Plan, which covers the period 2014 to 2031.  The LPR 

will allocate sites to deliver the strategy and establish the policies against which planning applications will 

be determined.   

1.1.2 SA is a mechanism for considering and communicating the likely effects of an emerging plan, and 

alternatives, with a view to minimising adverse effects and maximising the positives.  SA of Local Plans is 

a legal requirement.1 

1.2 SA explained 

1.2.1 It is a requirement that SA is undertaken in-line with the procedures prescribed by the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, which were prepared in order to transpose into 

national law the EU Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive.     

1.2.2 In-line with the Regulations, a report (known as the SA Report) must be published for consultation 

alongside the draft plan that essentially “identifies, describes and evaluates” the likely significant effects 

of implementing “the plan, and reasonable alternatives”.  The report must then be considered alongside 

consultation responses when finalising the plan. 

1.3 This Interim SA Report 

1.3.1 This is not the SA Report, but rather an Interim SA Report presenting targeted information on reasonable 

alternatives only (i.e. it does not also deal with an appraisal of the Draft Plan). 

1.3.2 The aim of this report is to present information on reasonable alternatives in order to inform a decision by 

Swale Borough Council’s elected councillors on whether to publish the LPR for consultation.  If a decision 

is made to publish the LPR for consultation, then the SA Report will be prepared and published alongside.   

Structure of this report 

1.3.3 SA reporting always essentially involves answering three questions in turn.2  Table 1.1 sets out these 

questions and the information presented in this report as well as the information to be presented in the 

forthcoming SA Report (should elected councillors decide to publish the LPR for consultation). 

Table 1.1: Structure of this Interim SA Report and the forthcoming SA Report 

Part Question This Interim SA Report The SA Report 

1 
What has plan-making / SA 
involved up to this point? 

Establish reasonable alternatives 
Establish and appraise 
reasonable alternatives 

2 
What are the SA findings at 
this stage? 

Appraise reasonable alternatives Appraise the Local Plan Review 

3 Next steps? Finalise the Local Plan Review Publication and examination 

1.3.4 Before answering the first question, there is a need to further set the scene by answering:  

• What is the plan seeking to achieve? 

• What is the scope of the SA? 

 
1 Since provision was made through the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 it has been understood that local planning 
authorities must carry out a process of Sustainability Appraisal alongside plan-making.  The centrality of SA to Local Plan-making 
is emphasised in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019).  The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
Regulations 2012 require that an SA Report is published for consultation alongside the ‘Proposed Submission’ plan document 
2 See Appendix I for further explanation of how regulatory requirements are being / will be met.   Page 710



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Introduction 2 

 

2 What’s the plan seeking to achieve? 

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 The aim here is to explain more fully the context to plan preparation and the plan vision / objectives. 

2.2 The plan area and plan period 

2.2.1 The LPR covers the entirety of Swale Borough and aims to cover the period 2022 to 2038.  The beginning 

of the plan period is set at 2022 in light of paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 

which explains that Local Plans should be reviewed at least once every five years.   

2.2.2 An important point to note is that there is a large supply of housing that is already committed, in that it is 

set to come forward at a site already planning permission and/or an allocation in the current Local plan.  

A small proportion of this will come forward in 2021, but the great majority is expected to deliver housing 

in the period 2022 to 2038.  These sites will be ‘rolled-forward’ into the new LPR, such that the task of the 

LPR can be thought of as building on a baseline position characterised by existing committed supply. 

2.3 Legislative and policy context 

2.3.1 The Local Plan is being prepared under the Town and Country (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 and 

underpinning primary legislation.  It must reflect current government policy, as set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) and must also be 

prepared mindful of Government’s online Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).  In particular, the NPPF 

requires local authorities to take a positive approach to development, with an up-to-date local plan that 

meets objectively assessed development needs, as far as is consistent with sustainable development.   

2.3.2 The plan is also being prepared taking account of objectives and policies established by various 

organisations at the national and more local levels, in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate established 

by the Localism Act 2011.  For example, context is provided by the strategic policies of Kent County 

Council, the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and environmental bodies including the 

Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England.  Swale BC must also cooperate with 

neighbouring areas in respect of ‘larger than local’ considerations, including planning for housing needs, 

capitalising on growth opportunities across the Thames Gateway and planning for the Kent Downs AONB. 

2.3.3 Finally, it is important to note that the plan will be prepared mindful of any ‘made’ or emerging 

Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs), with a made Neighbourhood Plan for Faversham Creek and 

several others in preparation.  NDPs must be in general conformity with the Local Plan, which means that 

made and emerging NDPs may need to be reviewed to bring them into line with the emerging plan; 

however, it is equally the case that all NDPs will be taken into account when preparing the Local Plan. 

2.4 Plan aims and objectives 

2.4.1 The objectives of the Local Plan are as follows: 

• Provide for homes and jobs that are best suited to meet identified local needs; 

• Support and sustain communities across the borough, big and small, by planning to meet identified 

needs, including needs for community facilities and infrastructure; 

• Protect and manage our resources to address climate change through delivering sustainable growth 

that supports urban and rural economies and makes the best use of infrastructure; 

• Locate development in the least constrained parts of the borough in reasonable proximity to transport 

hubs; 

• Provide a mixed portfolio and locations of sites, big and small to meet a range of needs throughout the 

duration of the plan period up to 2038; 

• Deliver a level of investment and growth at key locations to facilitate significant improvements to support 

infrastructure e.g. schools, healthcare and highways and active travel options to benefit communities; 

• Focus development on the contribution that larger sites can deliver in a proportionate way to meet wider 

plan objectives and ensure delivery in the plan period. 
Page 711



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Introduction 3 

 

3 What is the scope of the SA? 

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 The aim here is to introduce the broad scope of the SA, meaning the breadth of sustainability issues and 

objectives taken into account as part of the appraisal of reasonable alternatives and the emerging LPR. 

3.2 Consultation on the scope 

3.2.1 The Regulations require that: “When deciding on the scope and level of detail of the information that must 

be included in the Environmental Report [i.e. the IIA Report], the responsible authority shall consult the 

consultation bodies”.  In England, the consultation bodies are the Environment Agency, Historic England 

and Natural England.3  As such, these organisations were consulted on the SA scope in 2019; this involved 

publication of a Scoping Report, which was then subsequently updated to reflect comments received.4 

Evolution of the SA scope 

3.2.2 The SA scope should not be set in stone, following consultation and finalisation of the Scoping Report, 

but rather must continue to evolve over time to reflect latest understanding of issues and objectives, in 

light of latest evidence, and also to reflect the emerging scope of the plan in question / plan options.  In 

the case of the Swale LPR SA process the SA scope has continued to evolve since 2018, but only to a 

limited extent.  The scope has not evolved to the extent that further scoping consultation is required. 

3.3 The SA framework 

3.3.1 Table 3.1 presents the list of topics/objectives that represents the core of the SA framework established 

in 2018.  Minor adjustments to objectives have been made since the Scoping Report. 

Table 3.1: The SA framework 

Topic Objective 

Air quality 

• Support the achievement of air quality improvement objectives within the Borough’s 5 

designated AQMAs. 

• Seek to minimise air pollution more generally, such as through supporting or enabling 

the use of low emission technologies and encouraging sustainable modes of transport 

such as walking and cycling.  

Biodiversity 

• Minimise, and avoid where possible, impacts to biodiversity, both within and beyond 

designated and non-designated sites of international, national or local significance. 

• Achieve biodiversity net gain including through the long term enhancement and creation 

of well-connected, functional habitats. 

Climate change 
mitigation 

• Minimise per capita greenhouse gas emissions from transport, industry and the built 

environment. 

• Deliver high standards of energy efficiency and water efficiency in new development. 

Communities 

• Support good access to existing and planned community infrastructure for new and 

existing residents. 

• Promote and support healthy communities, including through increasing access to green 

infrastructure and open space. 

 
3 In-line with Article 6(3) of the SEA Directive, these bodies were selected because ‘by reason of their specific environmental 
responsibilities, [they] are likely to be concerned by the environmental effects of implementing plans and programmes.’ 
4 See https://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-General/Planning-Policy/Looking-Ahead/FINAL-Swale-SA-Scoping-Report-
DECEMBER-2018.pdf   Page 712

https://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-General/Planning-Policy/Looking-Ahead/FINAL-Swale-SA-Scoping-Report-DECEMBER-2018.pdf
https://archive.swale.gov.uk/assets/Planning-General/Planning-Policy/Looking-Ahead/FINAL-Swale-SA-Scoping-Report-DECEMBER-2018.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Introduction 4 

 

Topic Objective 

Economy and 
employment 

• Support the achievement of economic growth objectives, including in targeted growth 

sectors and established employment sectors. 

• Support a strong, diverse and resilient economy that provides opportunities for all. 

• Support and enhance the vitality of the Borough’s town centres including through the 

identification of further regeneration opportunities where appropriate. 

• Support provision of further education facilities in the Borough where practicable. 

Flood risk 

• Avoid and mitigate flood risk by directing development away from the areas of the 

Borough at the highest risk of flooding. 

• Deliver Sustainable Drainage Systems and other measure with a view to future proofing 

and building climate change resilience.  

• Support the priorities identified in the Medway Estuary and Swale Shoreline 

Management Plan and the Isle of Grain to South Foreland Shoreline Management Plan. 

Heritage 
• Conserve and enhance heritage assets and contribute to the maintenance of historic 

character through design, layout and setting of new development.  

Housing 

• Support timely delivery of market housing and affordable housing. 

• Promote an appropriate mix of housing types and tenures.   

• Cater for existing and future residents’ needs as well as the needs of different groups in 

the community. 

Land 
• Promote the efficient and sustainable use of natural resources, including supporting 

development which avoids the best and most versatile agricultural land.  

Landscape 

• Protect and enhance the character and quality of the Borough’s landscapes and 

townscapes through appropriate design and layout of new development. 

• Protect and enhance the Kent Downs AONB where possible. 

• Preserve important open gaps between settlements. 

Transport 

• Promote sustainable transport use, including supporting the creation of additional 

walking and cycling routes, and reduce the need to travel, particularly by private vehicle. 

• Support strategic transport schemes. 

Water 

• Promote sustainable forms of development which minimise water consumption and 

wastewater flows. 

• Maintain and enhance the quality of both surface and ground water resources where 

possible consistent with the aims of the Water Framework Directive. 

• Promote efficient and sustainable use of natural resources.  

 

Page 713



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 5 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 1: What has plan-making / SA 
involved up to this stage? 

 

  

Page 714



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 6 

 

4 Introduction to Part 1 
4.1.1 The aim here is to introduce the information set out in this part of the report, i.e. provided in order to 

answer the question: What has plan-making / SA involved up to this stage? 

4.2 Overview 

4.2.1 Plan-making has been underway since 2017.  Key steps have included a consultation entitled Looking 

Ahead, publication of a Garden Communities Prospectus, consultation on the SA Scoping Report (as 

discussed in Section 3, above) and a wide-ranging programme of engagement with the Council’s Local 

Plans Panel (LPP), Duty to Cooperate Partners and other select stakeholder organisations. 

4.2.2 However, the aim here is not to relay the entire ‘story’ of plan-making.  Rather the aim is to explain steps 

taken to establish the reasonable alternatives that are a focus of appraisal in Part 2.5   

4.2.3 Specifically, the aim is to explain a process of establishing reasonable alternative approaches to growth, 

or ‘growth scenarios’.  More specifically, the aim is to explain the process set out in Figure 4.1. 

Figure 4.1: Establishing growth scenarios – process overview 

 

Why focus on growth scenarios? 

4.2.4 The legal requirement is to examine reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives of the 

plan.6  Following discussion of plan objectives with officers, it was determined appropriate to focus on 

spatial strategy, i.e. the spatial approach to delivering development to meet needs and wider plan 

objectives.  Establishing a spatial strategy is clearly an overarching objective of the Local Plan.7   

4.2.5 The decision was made to refer to the spatial strategy alternatives as growth scenarios. 

What about site options? 

4.2.6 Whilst individual site options invariably generate a high degree of interest, they are not reasonable 

alternatives, in light of the legal definition.6  If the LPR was setting out to allocate one site, then site options 

would be reasonable alternatives, but that is not the case.  Rather, the objective of the LPR is to allocate 

a package of sites, hence reasonable alternatives must be in the form of alternative packages of sites.   

4.2.7 Appraising alternative packages of sites amounts to scrutinising a discrete choice open to the Council, 

and the aim is that this should enable engagement and debate.  This can be hampered where there is a 

focus on site options without an understanding of how they would be delivered in combination. 

 
5 Presenting this information is in line with the regulatory requirement to present “an outline of the reasons for selecting the 
alternatives dealt with” in the SA Report (N.B. this is not the SA Report). 
6 Regulation 12(2) requires that reasonable alternatives are defined in light of “the objectives and geographical scope of the plan”.   
7 It was also considered appropriate to focus on ‘spatial strategy’ given the potential to define alternatives that are meaningfully 
different, in that they will vary in respect of ‘significant effects’.  This approach is in line with the SEA Regulations, and the Planning 
Practice Guidance is clear that SA “should only focus on what is needed to assess the likely significant effects of the plan”.  More 
broadly, spatial strategy has implications for all or most Local Plan objectives, and invariably generates a high degree of interest.  Page 715



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 7 

 

4.2.8 A focus on alternative packages of sites creates an inherent challenge for the SA process, because there 

is a huge number of site packages that could feasibly be allocated in the LPR.  However, the process set 

out in Figure 4.1 is designed with the objective of addressing this challenge. 

4.2.9 Consideration is naturally given to the merits of individual site options as part of the process .  However, 

this is a proportionate level of analysis with the aim of contributing to “an outline of the reasons for selecting 

the alternatives dealt with” (Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations), as opposed to formal appraisal. 

What about employment land? 

4.2.10 The process of establishing reasonable growth scenarios has been housing-led; however, there is also a 

need to ensure sufficient supply of employment land under all scenarios, in light of the targets set by the 

Employment Land Review (2018).  This matter is discussed further in Section 8. 

Whose responsibility? 

4.2.11 It is important to be clear that: selecting reasonable alternatives (growth scenarios) is the responsibility of 

the plan-maker (Swale BC), with AECOM acting as advisors.  In contrast, appraising the reasonable 

alternatives (Part 2 of this report) is the responsibility of AECOM. 

4.3 Structure of this part of the report 

4.3.1 This part of the report is structured as follows: 

• Section 5 – explores strategic issues and options with a bearing on growth scenarios 

─ with supplementary analysis in Appendices I and II; 

• Section 6 – explores site (and site-specific) options with a bearing on growth scenarios; 

─ with supplementary analysis in Appendices III and IV; 

• Section 7 – explore growth scenarios for individual sub-areas within the Borough;  

─ with supplementary analysis in Appendix V; 

• Section 8 – draws upon the preceding sections to establish reasonable growth scenarios. 

Limitations 

4.3.2 Limitations to the analysis presented in this part of the report, and the supporting appendices, include: 

• GIS analysis – the GIS analysis of site options presented in Section 6 and Appendix IV is inherently 

limited and does not aim to be a formal appraisal of reasonable alternatives; 

• Sub-area scenarios – the analysis presented in Appendix V stops short of appraising growth scenarios 

for any of the sub-areas, but the level of analysis is considered proportionate to the task; 

• Evidence – evidence to inform an understanding of baseline issues and opportunities, and site-specific 

proposals, is invariably imperfect and evolving.  This is discussed in the ‘methodology’ sections, below. 

4.3.3 The analysis in this part of the report is considered proportionate to the task of arriving at reasonable 

alternatives / growth scenarios for formal appraisal (in Part 2). 

Commenting on this part of the report 

4.3.4 Comments are welcomed on: 

• the decision to focus on growth scenarios (this section); and  

• the process that led to the establishment of growth scenarios, as set out across Sections 5 to 8. 

4.3.5 It is important that any concerns with the process of arriving at reasonable alternatives are raised early, 

such that there is an opportunity to respond proactively.    

Page 716



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 8 

 

5 Strategic issues and options 

5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 The aim of this section of the report is explore the strategic issues and options with a bearing on the 

establishment of reasonable growth scenarios.  Specifically, this section of the report explores: 

• Quantum – how many new homes should the Local Plan provide for? 

• Distribution – which broad areas within the Borough are more suited and less suited to growth? 

5.2 Quantum 

Background 

5.2.1 A central tenet of plan-making process is the need to A) establish housing needs; and then B) develop a 

policy response to those needs.  The Planning Practice Guidance explains:8 “Housing need is an 

unconstrained assessment of the number of homes needed in an area. Assessing housing need is the 

first step in the process of deciding how many homes need to be planned for. It should be undertaken 

separately from assessing land availability, establishing a housing requirement figure and preparing 

policies to address this such as site allocations.” 

5.2.2 With regards to (A), the NPPF (para 60) is clear that establishment of Local Housing Need (LHN) should 

be informed “by a local housing need assessment, conducted using the standard method… unless 

exceptional circumstances justify an alternative approach which also reflects current and future 

demographic trends and market signals.”  

5.2.3 With regards to (B), many authorities will respond to assessed LHN by providing for LHN in full or, in other 

words, setting a housing requirement that equates to LHN, and a housing supply through policies 

sufficient to deliver the housing requirement (at a suitable rate/trajectory over time), which will invariably 

mean putting in place a ‘buffer’ to mitigate against the risk of some elements of the supply not delivering 

in the timescales anticipated (this can be a particular risk with complex strategic sites).  However, under 

certain circumstances it can be appropriate to set a housing requirement that is above or below LHN. 

LHN for Swale Borough 

5.2.4 A standard method for calculating LHN was first published in September 2017 and at the time writing 

remains largely unchanged.9  However, there have been some notable changes to guidance in respect of 

the data that should be utilised as an input to the method.  Specifically, following a consultation in late 

201810 the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) was updated to require that the household growth 

projections used as an input to the Standard Method must be the 2014-based projections, rather than the 

more recent 2016-based or 2018-based projections.  The PPG explains that the change was made in 

order to:11 “provide stability… ensure that historic under-delivery and declining affordability are reflected, 

and to be consistent with the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes.”  

Updates to the PPG in late 2020 confirmed that the 2014-based projections should still be used. 

5.2.5 The standard method derived LHN for Swale is 1,038 dwellings per annum (dpa).  This figure was 

confirmed by two studies presented to the Swale Borough Local Plan Panel on 9th July 2020.12  It is worth 

noting that this is an ‘uncapped’ figure, meaning that Step 3 of the standard method (“Capping the level 

of any increase”) does not having any bearing; see discussion at paragraph 2.38 of the Swale Housing 

Market Assessment, 2020).13  As such, there are no arguments for exploring an ‘uncapped’ LHN figure. 

 
8 Reference ID: 2a-001-20190220 at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments 
9 A fourth step was added to the standard method in December 2020, namely the “Cities and urban centres uplift”; however, 
this has no bearing on LHN for Swale (although there are feasibly implications for unmet needs; see Table 5.1). 
10 See www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-
assessing-local-housing-need  
11 See paragraph 4 and 5 at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments 
12 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2321&Ver=4  
13 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s14870/HMA%20for%20Swale%20Appendix%201.pdf  Page 717

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2321&Ver=4
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s14870/HMA%20for%20Swale%20Appendix%201.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 9 

 

Providing for above LHN? 

5.2.6 All Local Plans must consider the implications of Paragraph 010 of the PPG on Housing and Economic 

Needs Assessment, which explains that: 

“The government is committed to ensuring that more homes are built and supports ambitious authorities 

who want to plan for growth.  The standard method for assessing local housing need provides a minimum 

starting point in determining the number of homes needed in an area.  It does not attempt to predict the 

impact that future government policies, changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on 

demographic behaviour.  Therefore, there will be circumstances where it is appropriate to consider 

whether actual housing need is higher than the standard method indicates. 

This will need to be assessed prior to, and separate from, considering how much of the overall need can 

be accommodated…  Circumstances where this may be appropriate include, but are not limited to 

situations where increases in housing need are likely to exceed past trends because of: growth strategies 

for the area that are likely to be deliverable… (e.g. Housing Deals); strategic infrastructure improvements 

that are likely to drive an increase in the homes needed locally; or an authority agreeing to take on unmet 

need from neighbouring authorities…  There may, occasionally, also be situations where previous levels 

of housing delivery in an area, or previous assessments of need… are significantly greater than the 

outcome from the standard method.  Authorities will need to take this into account when considering 

whether it is appropriate to plan for a higher level of need than the standard model suggests.” 

5.2.7 However, in the Swale context arguments for providing for ‘above LHN’ are limited: 

• There is no Housing Deal, or any equivalent growth strategy in place.  

• There is no evidence to suggest locally arising housing need is in excess of the LHN figure.   

• With regards to “strategic infrastructure improvements that are likely to drive an increase in the homes 

needed locally”, there is nothing committed or ‘on the horizon’; however, strategic housing and 

employment growth to the southeast of Sittingbourne (including expansion of Kent Science Park), 

alongside a new motorway junction, is an option for consideration (discussed below).  A very large 

number of new jobs could be supported, which could lead to problematic in-commuting from outside the 

Borough (Employment Land Review, 2020) in the absence of sufficient accompanying housing growth. 

• With regards to unmet need from neighbouring areas, the key point to note is that statements of common 

ground are in place with all directly neighbouring authorities confirming that Swale is not called on to 

provide for unmet need.  However, there is also a need to look beyond neighbouring authorities to 

consider the whole of West Kent, where there are extensive NPPF footnote 6 constraints,14 pressures 

in respect of unmet needs emanating from London and emerging Local Plans facing challenges – see 

Table 5.1.  In this light, it is fair to conclude that there is some risk of unmet needs arising prior to 

submission, which should be factored-in when establishing reasonable growth scenarios.   

5.2.8 A final consideration is providing for affordable housing needs, with the PPG stating:15 “An increase in 

the total housing figures included in the plan may need to be considered where it could help deliver the 

required number of affordable homes.”  It is inherently challenging to conclude that affordable needs serve 

as a reason for providing for ‘above LHN’, as additional affordable housing may not be deliverable in the 

absence of need/demand for market housing; regardless, in the Swale context there is no argument for 

providing for above LHN in light of affordable housing needs.  As explained by the Swale Housing Market 

Assessment (2020): “The total annual affordable housing need in Swale of 287 per year represents 27.7% 

of the annual dwelling growth of 1,038 in the Borough as assessed using the Standard Method.  Subject 

to viability, it is reasonable to presume the affordable housing need identified in the model will be 

addressed by the dwelling growth identified by the Standard Method and no adjustment is required… to 

increase affordable provision.” 

  

 
14 NPPF footnote 6 lists protected areas or assets of particular importance that can provide a strong reason for restricting the 
overall scale, type or distribution of development in the plan area.  Green Belt and AONB are the key constraints in West Kent. 
15 See paragraph 024 at: gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments  Page 718

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 10 

 

Table 5.1: Progress on neighbouring Local Plans 

Area LPA Commentary 

London 

The Publication London Plan (2020) provides for 52,000 dpa, a reduction on the 

Draft London Plan (2017) and below the need figure of 66,000 dpa established 

by the London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).   

West Kent  

(Green Belt) 

Dartford 

A Preferred Options consultation document was published in January 2020, 

setting out (paragraphs B7 and B8) that it should be possible to meet and 

possibly even modestly exceed the established LHN figure. 

Gravesham 

A Regulation 18: Stage 2 consultation document was published in October 

2020, setting out that it may be possible to meet LHN, but that this would require 

significant Green Belt release, and hence discussions are ongoing with 

neighbouring authorities that share a housing market area - namely Dartford 

and Medway – in respect of capacity to provide for unmet needs (para 1.6.9). 

Sevenoaks 

The District falls entirely within the Metropolitan Green Belt (as per Dartford and 

Gravesham), is also heavily constrained by the Kent Downs AONB, and has 

limited capacity within settlements.  This led the Council (following a Green Belt 

Review) to submit a Local Plan providing for below LHN.  However, the 

Inspector’s Report (2020) concluded that the Plan could not be adopted due to 

a failure of the Duty to Cooperate in respect of unmet needs.   

West Kent  

(Partial GB) 

Medway 

The Development Strategy consultation document (2018) presented four 

‘scenarios’, none of which would provide for LHN (although there was 

uncertainty at the time regarding whether to plan for LHN or a lower ‘OAHN’ 

figure).  However, the Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA, 2019) 

serves to identify potential capacity to provide for LHN.   

Tonbridge 

and Malling 

Following submission of the Local Plan in January 2019, the Inspectors wrote 

to the Council in December 2020, suggesting a likelihood that the Council had 

failed the Duty to Cooperate in respect of providing for unmet needs arising from 

Sevenoaks.  It is also important to note that, should the plan need to be 

withdrawn, or should it be found unsound, any new Local Plan will need to 

provide for an LHN figure of c.840 dpa, as opposed to the OAHN figure of 696 

dpa used as the basis for the submitted plan (because it was submitted in the 

transitional window following publication of the new NPPF in 2018). 

Mid-west 

Kent 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

In short, there is confidence that the emerging Local Plans for Tunbridge Wells 

and Maidstone, which together with Swale might be considered to comprise a 

‘Mid-west Kent’ cluster, will provide for LHN, specifically: 

• Tunbridge Wells – despite 75% of the Borough comprising Green Belt and/or 

AONB, the Draft Local Plan (2019) proposed providing for LHN (by 

identifying a supply amounting to LHN plus a buffer of 9%); 

• Maidstone – the north of the Borough falls within the AONB, but there are 

large parts not subject to NPPF footnote 6 constraints.14  The Draft Local 

Plan (December 2020) proposes to provide for LHN, and notably includes a 

new Garden Settlement on the boundary with Medway, very closely linked 

to the Medway Towns, serving to highlight the close links to Medway. 

Maidstone 

East Kent 

Ashford 

In short, there is no risk of unmet needs from East Kent: 

• Ashford - the Local Plan was adopted in 2019, and large parts of the 

Borough are not subject to NPPF footnote 6 constraints.14 

• Canterbury - the Local Plan Review is at a very early stage of preparation, 

with an initial consultation on ‘Issues’ held in 2020.14  There are parts of the 

Borough not subject to NPPF footnote 6 constraints, hence there can be 

confidence that the Local Plan will provide for LHN in full.  Furthermore, 

whilst it is recognised that Canterbury City itself relates quite closely to the 

eastern part of Swale (where there are constraints), there are also good 

transport links to parts of Thanet District and Dover District to the east, 

where there are few NPPF footnote 6 constraints. 

Canterbury 

Page 719



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 11 

 

Providing for below LHN? 

5.2.9 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states: “… strategic policies should, as a minimum, provide for objectively 

assessed needs for housing and other uses, as well as any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring 

areas, unless: i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a strong reason for restricting the overall scale, type or distribution of development 

in the plan area; or ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.” [emphasis added] 

5.2.10 In the case of Swale, there are parts of the Borough that are constrained by the “assets of particular 

importance” listed by the NPPF; however, there are also parts of the Borough that are not constrained by 

these assets.  Furthermore, there is a need to consider that a lower growth strategy would lead to ‘unmet 

need’ having to be provided for elsewhere within a constrained sub-region (see Figure 5.1), for example: 

• Medway Council is partly constrained by Green Belt and AONB, whilst the Hoo Peninsula is not well 

connected to Swale.  There is also a need to consider the possibility of Medway being asked to provide 

for unmet need from neighbouring authorities to the west that are more constrained. 

• Those parts of Maidstone Borough and Ashford District that relate most closely to Swale Borough are 

constrained by the Kent Downs AONB.   

• The western part of Canterbury City Council is constrained by the Blean Woodlands complex. 

5.2.11 A further consideration is the inherent transport and traffic constraints affecting Swale, as a coastal 

authority traversed by two dominant east-west routes (i.e. without the benefit of radial routes taking traffic 

in a variety of directions), plus with the Isle of Sheppey inherently constrained in transport terms.  The 

significance of this constraint was recognised by a report prepared by Stantec in 2019, which stated:16 “… 

we are acutely aware that Swale as a Borough may have grounds not to meet housing need in full in the 

next plan.  Highways are the key concern with the possibility that the local network has reached saturation 

and/or no strategic investment is made in the M2 and its junctions.”   

5.2.12 However, the latest situation is that the need to provide for LHN in full is accepted.  Notably, the officers 

report to the October 6th Local Plan Panel meeting began with the following statement: “The Local Plan 

Review will update the adopted Local Plan ‘Bearing Fruits’ and will need to include enough additional land 

to meet the development needs of the Borough for the period 2022 to 2038.”17 

Conclusion on housing quanta 

5.2.13 When seeking to establish reasonable growth scenarios there is a need to focus attention on provision for 

the established LHN figure.  As for higher growth, there is little reason to suggest that any of Swale’s 

neighbouring authorities will request that Swale provides for unmet need; however, it is nonetheless 

prudent and proactive to explore modest higher growth.  This matter is returned to below, within Section 

5.5.  As for lower growth, there is no reasonable need to explore this matter further.  

 
16 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-
%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf  
17 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2323  Page 720

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2323


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 12 

 

Figure 5.1: Key strategic barriers to exporting unmet needs to other authorities in the sub-region 

 

P
age 721



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 13 

 

5.3 Broad distribution 

Introduction 

5.3.1 This is a second section examining strategic issues and options relevant to establishing reasonable growth 

scenarios.  This section considers: the adopted Local Plan; the 2018 Looking Ahead consultation; recent 

targeted evidence-gathering; and the 2020 ‘steer’ on a preferred broad growth scenario. 

The adopted Local Plan spatial strategy 

5.3.2 Sections 3 and 4 of the adopted Local Plan set out the spatial strategy and key diagram.  The spatial 

strategy is described as responding to priorities including: building a strong, competitive economy; 

ensuring the vitality of town centres; supporting a prosperous rural economy; promoting sustainable 

transport; supporting high quality communications infrastructure; delivering a wide choice of high quality 

homes; promoting healthy communities; meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change; and conserving and enhancing the natural environment and historic environment. 

Figure 5.2: The adopted Local Plan Key Diagram 

 

5.3.3 Importantly, Table 4.2.1 of the Local Plan splits the Borough into two planning areas and sets out that 

growth in the plan period should be directed primarily to one of these areas – see Table 5.2.   

Table 5.2: Split of growth in the plan period (2014 to 2031) between the two planning areas 

Planning area Proportion of housing growth 2014-2031 

Thames Gateway (Sittingbourne and Isle of Sheppey) 85% 

Faversham and the rest of Swale 15% 

5.3.4 Within this broad framework, the spatial strategy within the adopted Local Plan also takes careful account 

of the settlement hierarchy set out in Table 4.3.1, with the top four tiers of the hierarchy as follows: 

• Tier 1 – Sittingbourne 

• Tier 2 – Sheerness and Faversham 

• Tier 3 – Minster / Halfway and Queenborough / Rushenden (the ‘West Sheppey Triangle’) 

• Tier 4 – Boughton, Eastchurch, Iwade, Leysdown, Newington, Teynham. 

Page 722



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 14 

 

2018 consultation on Looking Ahead 

5.3.5 The consultation posed 46 questions, with a total of 3,308 responses received from 283 parties.  

Responses were received from several organisations with a borough-wide interest/remit, including the 

Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England.  A brief response was received from 

Maidstone Borough (confirming that the aim should be for both authorities to provide for LHN in full), with 

no responses received from other neighbouring authorities or Kent County Council.  Detailed responses 

were received from several Parish Councils, primarily those associated with Sittingbourne area, including 

Teynham and Newington.  Officers reported the findings of the consultation to the Local Plan Panel in 

October 2018.18  Issues and opportunities raised through the consultation are discussed in Appendix I. 

5.3.6 A Garden Communities Prospectus was also published at this time, which lead to developers submitting 

four garden community (or ‘strategic site’) options, as discussed below in Section 5.4.19  It is also important 

to note that the decision to publish the Prospectus was made in light of an earlier report on Choices for 

housing growth.20  This report, amongst other things: went through a ‘sieving’ process to identify 

locations potentially suitable for a new settlement; constructed and tested growth scenarios; and 

recommended setting out a ‘design brief’ for a new settlement, to inform site-specific proposals. 

Recent targeted evidence-gathering 

5.3.7 A range of evidence studies have been prepared to inform the LPR, many of which serve to identify 

strategic spatial issues and opportunities relevant to the task of establishing reasonable growth scenarios.  

These evidence studies have been reported to the Local Plan Panel over the past two or more years.21   

5.3.8 Appendix I presents a review under the following headings: 

• Air quality – drawing on the Air Quality Modelling Report (2020); 

• Biodiversity - drawing on a Biodiversity Baseline Study (2020); 

• Climate emergency – noting that Swale BC declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in 2019, 

followed by publication of a Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan (2020), followed by 

publication of a Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy (2020); 

• Economy and Employment – drawing on the Employment Land Review (2018) and more recent 

evidence published at sub-regional and national scales; 

• Flood risk – drawing on the Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2019) and a subsequent report 

on applying the ‘sequential test’ (2020); 

• Green and blue infrastructure – drawing on the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy (2020); 

• Heritage – drawing on the Heritage Strategy and Action Plan (2020); 

• Housing – drawing on the LHN Study (2020) and the Housing Market Assessment (2020); 

• Infrastructure – drawing on the Infrastructure Delivery Plan Scoping Study (2020); 

• Kent Downs AONB – drawing on the draft AONB Management Plan (2020); 

• Landscape – drawing on the Landscape Designation Review (2018); the Landscape Sensitivity 

Assessment (2019); and the Important Local Countryside Gaps report (2020); 

• Neighbourhood Planning – drawing on the regular updates presented to the Local Plan Panel; 

• Settlement hierarchy – drawing on the Settlement Hierarchy Study (2020); 

• Transport – drawing on the Local Plan Transport Model Re-run (2020); and 

• Viability – drawing on the Viability Report (2020).   

  

 
18 A review of responses is available here: services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2094&Ver=4  
19 See swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options  
20 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s8862/Appendix%20I%20to%20PBA%20Report%20Item%208Feb18.pdf  
21 Details of the Panel meetings are available at: services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=216  Page 723

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2094&Ver=4
https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s8862/Appendix%20I%20to%20PBA%20Report%20Item%208Feb18.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=216


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 15 

 

The 2020 ‘steer’ on a preferred broad growth scenario 

5.3.9 In July 2020 the Swale Borough Local Plan Panel considered a report by officers entitled “Vision and 

Development Growth Options”,22 central to which was analysis of five broad growth scenarios, which 

essentially varied in respect of the extent to which there would be a departure from the strategy set out in 

Bearing Fruits (see Table 5.2).  The officers’ report also presented a discussion of the sites that could 

possibly deliver each of the broad distribution alternatives, drawing upon the evidence provided by the: 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA, 2020; discussed further below).   

5.3.10 A key assumption of the officers’ report was a need to plan for a good mix of sites, both in respect of type 

(e.g. large versus small) and location.  As explained in the report: “A strategy dominated by small to 

medium sized sites may not generate the critical mass required for significant improvements to 

infrastructure… which could benefit existing communities as well as new residents...  A strategy dominated 

by a few larger sites would bring in to question whether the short to medium term housing needs of the 

borough would be adequately addressed given the long lead in times for significant delivery to come 

forward and the impact this has on meeting shorter term five year supply of housing.  A supply of 

small/medium sites would also need to be allocated to maintain the rolling five year target.” 

5.3.11 The broad growth scenarios set out in the officers’ report are summarised below.  The scenarios benefited 

from being mutually exclusive, such that members were presented with a discrete choice; however, the 

corollary is that there were limits to the number of supply variables and options that could be reflected 

across the scenarios.  The following bullet points discuss the limitations of the broad growth scenarios: 

• The scenarios reflect a degree of emphasis on one of the four strategic site options (Southeast 

Faversham), as opposed to testing all of the potential combinations of strategic site options.  The report 

explained a planning basis for this, namely that Southeast Faversham directly adjoins the settlement 

whilst the other three options are technically located within the Borough’s rural area (albeit closely related 

to either Sittingbourne or Faversham).  Also, by this point in the process officers had begun to focus on 

Southeast Faversham as the best performing of the four strategic site options, in light of much detailed 

evidence gathering and analysis over the preceding two years (as discussed further below).   

• Scenario E could feasibly have been broken down to reflect all of the potential/reasonable strategic site 

combinations.  However, this was considered unnecessary, given the amount of attention given to the 

various competing strategic site options over the preceding two years.   

• The scenarios lend themselves to exploring options for Sittingbourne and Faversham, but less to options 

for Sheerness / Queenborough / Rushenden / Minster / Halfway and the tier 4 settlements.  

5.3.12 Ultimately, the Local Plan Panel provided a clear “steer” in support of Scenario C – see Table 5.4.   

Table 5.3: Summary of the July 2020 broad growth scenarios (TG = Thames Gateway; Fav = Faversham) 

Broad growth scenario Choice between small sites23 Strategic site(s) 

A Roll forward Bearing Fruits (BF) 
• TG – very little choice 

• Fav – good choice 
• None 

B 
Faversham focus  

… to begin to counter-balance BF 

• TG – little choice 

• Fav – little choice 
• None 

C 
Further Faversham focus  

… to mostly counter-balance BF 

• TG – good choice 

• Fav – good choice 
• SE of Faversham 

D 
Further Faversham focus still  

… to fully counter-balance BF 

• TG– very good choice 

• Fav – little choice 
• SE of Faversham 

E Strategic sites 

• TG– good or very good choice 

• Fav – good or very good choice 

• One or two out of the four 

options (no more than one 

in each planning area) 

 
22 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2372&Ver=4  
23 It was not possible to define the approach to small sites with any certainty.  We define a ‘good choice’ as a situation whereby 
there would be the potential to select only the best performing of the SHLAA ‘suitable’ sites for allocation, whilst ‘little choice’ is 
defined as a situation whereby all ‘suitable’ SHLAA sites are required as well as potentially certain ‘unsuitable’ SHLAA sites. Page 724

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2372&Ver=4


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 16 

 

Table 5.4: Local Plan Panel views on the July 2020 broad growth scenarios (preferred scenario in bold) 

Broad growth scenario First choices Second choice 

A Roll forward Bearing Fruits (BF) 2 1 

B Faversham focus  1 2 

C Further Faversham focus  6 0 

D Further Faversham focus still  0 4 

E Strategic sites 0 0 

Combination of scenarios 2 2 

None 0 2 

5.3.13 The Local Plan Panel “steer”, in respect of Broad Growth Scenario C was then accepted by the Swale 

Borough Council Cabinet on 23rd September 2020.24 

Broad growth scenarios appraisal 

5.3.14 Subsequently, an appraisal of the five broad growth scenarios against the established SA framework was 

completed – see Appendix II.  In light of the appraisal, the Council (in discussion with AEOCM) decided 

that, in addition to taking forward Scenario C (as per the Cabinet decision), there was also a need to give 

further consideration to scenarios involving: a more even distribution of LPR allocations across the two 

broad planning areas; and two strategic site options (one in each planning area), as per Scenario E.  

Conclusion on broad distribution  

5.3.15 This section has reviewed strategic spatial influences, as understood from the adopted Local Plan; the 

2018 Looking Ahead consultation; recent targeted evidence-gathering; the 2020 ‘steer’ on a preferred 

broad growth scenario; and work to appraise alternative broad growth scenarios (Appendix II).   

5.3.16 There is a range of sometimes competing spatial priorities; however, certain key messages do come 

through quite strongly, which can feed into work to explore settlement/sub-area options (Section 7) and, 

ultimately, the establishment of borough-wide reasonable growth scenarios (Section 8).   

5.3.17 Headline considerations include: 

• There is a clear need to allocate a range of sites, in terms of both size and spatial distribution. 

─ There is a strong argument for supporting one or more strategic growth locations.   

─ With regards to tier 5 settlements, whilst there is a need to support village vitality, there are limited 

arguments for Local Plan allocations, where poor transport connectivity serves to suggest a need for 

modest growth only, such that Neighbourhood Plans are well placed to allocate sites.   

• With regards to the broad balance of growth between the two planning areas, there is a clear need to 

give considerable weight to Broad Growth Scenario C; however, the appraisal presented in Appendix II 

serves to highlight, firstly, that there is also a need to explore options that would involve a more even 

spread of allocations across the two planning areas, and, secondly, the possibility of supporting two 

strategic allocations / garden communities (one in each of the two planning areas). 

• There are a range of infrastructure and environmental issues and opportunities to respond to through 

the spatial strategy, including with a view to supporting strategic infrastructure upgrades and responding 

to the declared climate and ecological emergency.  There is also a need to deliver new employment land 

and employment opportunities more widely, in line with the findings of the Employment Land Review 

(2018) and latest understanding of national and sub-regional objectives. 

  
 

24 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2308  Page 725

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2308


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 17 

 

6 Site options 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 A large number of site options have been submitted to the Council, and a process of Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) has been completed in order to identify a shortlist of sites that are 

available and deliverable, and potentially suitable for allocation.  The SHLAA provides an important input 

to the process of establishing growth scenarios (i.e. alternative packages of sites). 

6.1.2 Within Swale Borough, as within other local authority areas, there is an important distinction to be made 

between strategic and non-strategic sites.  Strategic sites are those with a housing capacity above circa 

1,000 homes and which will be associated with economies of scale that enable delivery of a good mix of 

uses (also a good mix of homes), potentially to include employment land, and/or enable delivery of new 

or upgraded infrastructure (e.g. new road infrastructure, community infrastructure, green infrastructure).   

6.1.3 This section firstly considers in detail the pool of available / deliverable / potentially suitable strategic 

sites, before giving more light-touch consideration to the pool of available non-strategic sites. 

6.2 Strategic site options 

Background 

6.2.1 Close consideration has been given to the possibility of allocating one or more strategic sites since 

commencement of the LPR.  An early step, on the part of the Council, was to commission and consider a 

report on Choices for Housing (February 2018),25 which was followed by publication of a Swale New 

Garden Communities Prospectus (April 2018), which was a call for land-owners to submit sites for 

schemes in line with the Council’s expectations.  This was concurrent with the Looking Ahead consultation 

(discussed in Section 5.3), which sought views on the role that new garden communities might play in the 

LPR.  Further garden community / strategic site focused work completed in 2018 included: workshops 

with landowners/developers, infrastructure providers and environmental bodies; a Member Q&A session 

with scheme promoters; and a Member coach tour to Cambridgeshire, to view new community examples. 

6.2.2 Ultimately four strategic site options were identified necessitating detailed consideration in 2018, and all 

four have continued to evolve since that time.  Figure 5.5 shows the current proposed ‘red line boundaries’ 

for each strategic site, and the following bullet points aim to present an introductory overview: 

• Southeast Sittingbourne (also known as Highstead Park) –  comfortably the largest of the strategic 

site options, with the proposal in 2018 being for 11,500 homes plus other uses,26 although this was 

reduced to 8,000 in 2019 (at the ‘Stage 2 Submissions’ stage)27 and the subsequently revised upwards 

to 9,250 homes.28  A key aspect would be a new motorway junction and M2/A2 link road. 

• North Street (south of Faversham) – this is the second largest of the submitted schemes, proposed for 

circa 5,000 homes plus other uses to include a secondary school.29  This site is notable for limited work 

having been progressed / presented to the Council by the site promoter since 2019. 

• East / Southeast Faversham – a smaller site proposed for circa 2,500 homes plus other uses was 

submitted in 2018 and examined in 2019;30 however, latest understanding is that the scheme would be 

brought forward alongside additional land to the north (of the A2), and also in combination with the 

committed Preston Fields scheme to the west, leading to a combined scheme of c.3,400 homes.31 

• Bobbing – also proposed for circa 2,500 homes plus other uses.32  Since 2018 the site boundary has 

evolved significantly (essentially shifting to the north); however, the proposal remains for 2,500 homes.33  

  

 
25 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s8862/Appendix%20I%20to%20PBA%20Report%20Item%208Feb18.pdf  
26 See services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/SE-Sittingbourne-Prospectus-Submission.pdf  
27 See discussion at: swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options  
28 See highstedpark.co.uk/  
29 See services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/North-Street-Sheldwich-Faversham-Prospectus-
Submission.pdf  
30 See services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/SE-Faversham-Prospectus-Submission.pdf  
31 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s15712/LPR%20site%20selection.pdf  
32 See services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/Bobbing-Prospectus-Submission.pdf  
33 See bobbingplans.uk/masterplan  Page 726

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s8862/Appendix%20I%20to%20PBA%20Report%20Item%208Feb18.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/SE-Sittingbourne-Prospectus-Submission.pdf
https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options
https://www.highstedpark.co.uk/
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/North-Street-Sheldwich-Faversham-Prospectus-Submission.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/North-Street-Sheldwich-Faversham-Prospectus-Submission.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/SE-Faversham-Prospectus-Submission.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s15712/LPR%20site%20selection.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning-general/prospectus-submissions/Bobbing-Prospectus-Submission.pdf
https://www.bobbingplans.uk/masterplan


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 18 

 

Figure 5.3: The strategic site options 

 

Stantec reports 

6.2.3 A work-stream led by Stantec forms an important evidence-base for the examination of the four competing 

strategic site options.  The work has led to two outputs, namely: 

• Assessment of submissions (February 2019) – examined the four schemes submitted following the 

Prospectus in turn, and recommended a range of further work;34 

• Assessment of Stage 2 submissions (October 2019) – considered changes made to the four schemes 

following the earlier assessment, and reached overall conclusions on each of the four schemes.35 

6.2.4 The process was notable involving ongoing dialogue with scheme promoters to obtain further information 

and clarification, with a view to elaborating the schemes to a point where they could be assessed on a 

reasonably level playing field, whilst recognising that some schemes were more developed than others.  

There was a particular focus on ensuring clarity and realism in respect of viability and deliverability. 

6.2.5 Two headline conclusions from the September 2019 Report were as follows: 

• North Street – stands out as performing relatively poorly.  As stated at paragraph 10.15 of the report: “… 

we think this is too risky, as currently scoped, for it to be taken forward as a reasonable option with the 

Councils backing. This is particularly the case because there are other less risky sites, within less 

sensitive landscapes, which could be progressed.”   

• Southeast Sittingbourne is associated with risks and drawbacks over-and-above Bobbing and Southeast 

Faversham.  This is evident from the summary “Comparative risk matrix” presented at paragraph 9.19. 

 
34 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2142/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Mar-
2019%2019.00%20Local%20Plan%20Panel.pdf?T=10  
35 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-
%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf  Page 727

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2142/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Mar-2019%2019.00%20Local%20Plan%20Panel.pdf?T=10
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2142/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Mar-2019%2019.00%20Local%20Plan%20Panel.pdf?T=10
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 19 

 

Strategic site options appraisal 

6.2.6 Despite the Stantec work serving to suggest that North Street and potentially also Southeast Sittingbourne 

perform relatively poorly, and hence are not likely to be suitable for allocation in the LPR, the decision was 

made in late 2020 to subject all four strategic site options to appraisal – see Appendix III.   

N.B. the appraisal considers the latest “East and Southeast Faversham”, as opposed to the smaller 

“Southeast Faversham” scheme considered through the Stantec work. 

6.2.7 In light of the appraisal presented in Appendix III, the Council (in discussion with AECOM) was able to 

reach the following conclusions: 

• An immediate conclusion is that North Street can be ruled out at this stage in the process, i.e. it need 

not feed into work to consider sub-area scenarios in Section 7 (or, in turn, borough-wide growth 

scenarios in Section 8).  This is because East and southeast Faversham is a preferable option, and 

there is no potential to allocate both sites within the LPR, given their proximity.   

• A second conclusion is that both Bobbing and E/SE Faversham warrant being taken forward for further 

consideration (Section 7).  Both options are associated with pros and cons, but are judged to have a 

sufficient degree of merit overall, mindful of the drawbacks to alternatively delivering growth at 

Sittingbourne and/or Faversham via piecemeal urban extensions. 

• Finally, there is a need to consider Southeast Sittingbourne.  This is a more marginal conclusion; 

however, on balance the option of strategic growth at Southeast Sittingbourne can be ruled-out at this 

stage.  This is because Bobbing is a preferable option, and there is no potential to allocate both sites 

within the LPR, given their proximity and the risk of in combination impacts.   

Options for strategic growth in at Southeast Sittingbourne have been subject to detailed consideration 

since 2018,36 and latest proposals are given detailed consideration through the appraisals presented in 

Appendices III and IV of this report, which serve to highlight that growth could deliver transformational 

benefits in respect of transport and economy/employment objectives.  However:  

─ there are risks and uncertainties around viability and therefore deliverability;  

─ the viability challenges mean that no more than 20% affordable housing can be expected;  

─ the scale of growth necessary to fund the new strategic link road and motorway junction leads to 

concerns in respect of landscape objectives; and  

─ the required scale of growth is beyond that necessary for the LPR, particularly given the need to also 

deliver growth at Faversham and elsewhere in the Borough, and arguably focus growth at Faversham.   

A note on site-specific options 

6.2.8 As discussed, schemes for each of the four strategic site options evolved through 2018 and 2019, and 

continued to evolve through 2020 to varying extents.  In particular, Southeast Faversham became East 

and Southeast Faversham in late 2020, which is considered a positive step, including as this evolution 

appears to have unlocked the potential to make land available for a secondary school. 

6.2.9 Whilst there is a pragmatic need to ‘draw a line’ at some point in what is already a lengthy process, there 

is also a need to question whether certain of the schemes could continue to evolve, or even transform into 

something significantly different.  No site-specific ‘reasonable alternatives’ have been proposed, or are 

evident to the extent that they warrant formal appraisal; however, within sections below there is some 

discussion of how alternative site boundaries and/or alternative development configurations within current 

site boundaries could potentially lead to benefits in terms of certain sustainability objectives.  The 

discussion reflects a view that there can be merit to ‘comprehensive’ planning at landscape scales and 

with a long-term perspective, rather than planning with a focus on land ownership scales. 

  

 
36 There is also a longer history to exploring options for a Sittingbourne Southern Relief Road, see highstedpark.co.uk/timeline. Page 728

https://www.highstedpark.co.uk/timeline/


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 20 

 

6.3 Non-strategic site options 

Introduction 

6.3.1 The SHLAA is the main vehicle for considering the merits of non-strategic sites in isolation; however, a 

supplementary piece of analysis has been completed, with the findings presented within Appendix IV.   

6.3.2 Specifically, Appendix IV presents the findings of a quantitative GIS-based exercise, which has involved 

examining the spatial relationship (i.e. proximity to / percentage intersect) between all SHLAA sites and a 

range of constraint (e.g. flood zones, designated heritage assets) and opportunity (e.g. GP surgeries) 

features for which data is available in digitally mapped form across the Borough as a whole. 

N.B. this section is a work in progress, and will be finalised for the SA Report. 

Appraisal of non-strategic site options 

6.3.3 The following is a brief discussion of key findings: 

• 70% of SHLAA sites intersect either grade 1 or grade 2 agricultural land. 

• Air quality management areas - four SHLAA sites intersect or abut an AQMA, and a further five are within 

50.  The average distance is c.3,400m. 

• Special Protection Area - eight SHLAA sites intersect an SPA, and a further 14 are within 400m.  The 

average distance is c.2,400m. 

• Special Areas of Conservation - one SHLAA site is c.280m from an SAC, with the next closest site over 

1km distant.  The average distance is c.7,200. 

• SSSI – ten SHLAA sites intersect or abut a SSSI, and a further ten are within 200m.  The average 

distance is c.2,100m. 

• GP surgery – 41 SHLAA sites are within 400m of a GP surgery (19%).  The average distance is 

c.1,350m. 

• Primary school – 155 SHLAA sites are within 800m of a primary school (72%).  The average distance is 

c.660m. 

• Secondary school – 37 SHLAA sites are within 800m of a secondary school (17%).  The average 

distance is c.2,900m. 

• Rail station - 44 SHLAA sites are within 800m of a rail station (21%).  The average distance is c.2,200m. 

• Flood zone 2 – 51 SHLAA sites intersect flood zone 2, of which 22 intersect by more than 50%. 

• Conservation areas – 51 SHLAA sites intersect or abut a conservation area, and a further 21 are within 

100m.  The average distance is 932m. 

• Grade 1 listed building – eight SHLAA sites are within 50m of a grade 1 listed building, and a further 10 

are within 100.  The average distance is c.1,150m. 

• Grade 2* listed building – 11 SHLAA sites are within 50m of a grade 2* listed building, and a further 10 

are within 100.  The average distance is c.1,130m. 

• Garde 2 listed building - 82 SHLAA sites are within 50m of a grade 2 listed building, of which 54 are 

within 25.  The average distance is c.219m. 

• Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty – 24 SHLAA sites intersect the AONB, and a further 23 are within 

1km.  The average distance is c.4,200m. 

Conclusion on non-strategic site options 

6.3.4 It is not possible to sift out site options purely on the basis of GIS analysis alone; however, all constraints 

highlighted through the GIS analysis feed into the discussion of site options by sub-area, below. 

  

Page 729



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 21 

 

7 Sub-area scenarios 

7.1 Introduction 

7.1.1 Discussion has so far focused on A) ‘top down’ considerations around housing quanta and broad 

distribution; and B) ‘bottom-up’ consideration of site options.  The next step is to consider each of the 

Borough’s sub-areas in turn, exploring how sites might be allocated in combination. 

7.1.2 For each sub-area the aim is to arrive at a conclusion on sites and growth scenarios that should be taken 

forward to Section 8 of this report, where the final step in the overall process (as summarised in Figure 

5.1) sees the sub-area growth scenarios combined into a single set of borough-wide growth scenarios. 

7.1.3 This section presents summary conclusions, supplemented by more detailed analysis in Appendix V.   

What sub-areas? 

7.1.4 Sub-areas considered here are: Sittingbourne; Faversham; West Sheppey; Teynham; Newington; 

Eastchurch; Leysdown; Boughton; Iwade; tier 5 settlements and the rural area.  This structure reflects a 

view that the West Sheppey settlements can be considered collectively, and that there would be relatively 

little to be gained from individually examining tier 5 settlements or sub-divisions of the rural area. 

When was this work undertaken? 

7.1.5 This work was undertaken subsequent to a decision on an emerging preferred growth scenario by the 

Swale Borough Cabinet on 28th October 2020.  As such, the emerging preferred growth scenario is the 

starting-point for each of the sub-area discussions, below. 

7.2 Sittingbourne 

7.2.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

Sittingbourne Town Centre as a broad area for the delivery of around 850 homes.  There also is a need 

to explore higher growth scenarios, recognising that Sittingbourne is the Borough’s main settlement, and 

in light of the discussion of high-level issues and options presented in Sections 5 and 6, above. 

7.2.2 A first port of call is the two urban extension options to the south of Sittingbourne (sites 18/017 and 18/021) 

that were presented as options at the Local Plan Panel meeting of 8th October, which together would 

deliver around 380 additional homes.37  Furthermore, there is considered to be the potential for modest 

growth at Bobbing,38 to the west of Sittingbourne, where most land is available and the SHLAA finds three 

sites to be potentially suitable (one for employment).  The precise site(s) to allocate can reasonably be 

left undefined at this stage (site selection would be suited to a Neighbourhood Plan); however, on balance, 

it is considered appropriate to assume delivery of circa 120 homes.  This brings the total number of 

additional homes under this scenario to 500.  This is higher growth scenario 1.   

7.2.3 Secondly, there is the option of strategic growth at Bobbing (i.e. support for the strategic site option 

discussion in Section 6.2, above).  This would deliver c.2,500 homes (in the plan period), over-and-above 

the emerging preferred growth scenario.  This is higher growth scenario 2. 

7.2.4 In conclusion, three growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.3 Faversham 

7.3.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to support 

strategic growth to the east / southeast of the town, delivering c.3,400 homes.  There is a need to explore 

scenarios involving smaller scale urban extensions, in place of strategic growth to the east / southeast, 

which in practice means exploring lower growth scenarios. 

  

 
37 Two further urban extension options were presented to 8th October meeting, but these are located to the east of Sittingbourne, 
which is a more challenging direction for growth.   
38 Borden is also notable as a small village closely linked to Sittingbourne where there is a high density of promoted sites, including 
one site that is found to be potentially suitable through the SHLAA.    Page 730



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 22 

 

7.3.2 Five urban extension options have been identified that are judged to perform relatively well, for the 

purposes of arriving at growth scenarios, namely sites 18/030, 18/062, 18/077, 18/091 and 18/135.  The 

combined yield of these sites, according to the SHLAA, is 1,065 homes; however, it is considered 

appropriate to round this figure down to 1,000 homes.  This is lower growth scenario 1. 

7.3.3 In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.4 West Sheppey 

7.4.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

site 18/113 for 850 homes.  Whilst this site has the potential to support regeneration objectives for 

Queenborough/Rushenden, it is subject to a range of constraints and delivery challenges.  As such, there 

is a need to explore scenarios involving non-allocation. 

7.4.2 One other site has been identified as performing relatively well, for the purposes of arriving at growth 

scenarios, namely site 18/038, to the southeast of Minster, albeit it might involve somewhat piecemeal 

expansion, with resulting ‘planning gain’ opportunities missed.  The capacity of this site is c.650 homes, 

hence its allocation in place of site 18/113 would mean lower growth.  This is lower growth scenario 1.   

7.4.3 Additionally, there is the option of nil allocations, particularly given concerns regarding junction capacity 

under scenarios where there is also higher growth at Sittingbourne.  This is lower growth scenario 2. 

7.4.4 In conclusion, three growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8.   

7.5 Teynham 

7.5.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to support 

an ‘area of opportunity’ at Teynham, expected to deliver around 1,100 homes.  There is a need to explore 

lower growth scenarios involving one or more discrete allocations, in place of an area of opportunity. 

7.5.2 Four site options have been identified that are judged to perform relatively well, for the purposes of arriving 

at growth scenarios, namely sites 18/106, 18/116, 18/122 and 18/123.39  The combined yield of these sites 

is c.350 homes.  This is lower growth scenario 1. 

7.5.3 Additionally, there is the option of nil allocations, given: committed growth; A2 traffic and air quality issues; 

and few clear infrastructure opportunities short of delivering a bypass.  This is lower growth scenario 2. 

7.5.4 In conclusion, three growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.6 Newington 

7.6.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

nil sites.  There is a need to explore higher growth scenarios, recognising that Newington is a tier 4 

settlement that is well connected by road and rail. 

7.6.2 One site has been identified that is judged to perform relatively well, for the purposes of arriving at growth 

scenarios, namely site 18/229, with a capacity of c.200 homes.  This is higher growth scenario 1. 

7.6.3 In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.7 Eastchurch 

7.7.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

nil sites.  There are limited strategic arguments for allocation at Eastchurch, recognising its rural location; 

however, as a tier 4 settlement there is a need to remain open to the option of allocation.   

7.7.2 One site option has been identified that is judged to perform relatively well, for the purposes of arriving at 

growth scenarios, namely site 18/063, which would yield c.65 homes.  This is higher growth scenario 1. 

 
39 There are three other sites supported by the SHLAA, but judged to be less preferable on balance.  Page 731



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 23 

 

7.7.3 In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.8 Leysdown 

7.8.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

nil sites.  There are limited strategic arguments for allocation at Leysdown, as per Eastchurch; however, 

there is an argument for housing growth in support of village vitality objectives, e.g. with a view to 

supporting shops and services outside of the tourism season. 

7.8.2 One site option has been identified that is judged to perform relatively well, for the purposes of arriving at 

growth scenarios, namely site 18/121.  The SHLAA records the yield of this site as 135 homes; however, 

parts of the site is constrained by flood risk, hence it is considered appropriate to assume a lower yield of 

c.100 homes.  This is higher growth scenario 1. 

7.8.3 In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.9 Boughton 

7.9.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

one site for 20 homes.  This site is relatively firmly supported (there is a history of unimplemented planning 

permissions), hence there is no reasonable need to explore scenarios involving non-allocation of this site.   

7.9.2 As for possible higher growth scenarios, there is only one site highlighted by the SHLAA as potentially in 

contention; however, on balance, there is not considered to be a reasonable need to explore a higher 

growth option involving additional allocation of this site, for the reasons set out in Appendix V. 

7.9.3 In conclusion, one growth scenario should be taken forward to Section 8 (i.e. growth can reasonably be 

held constant across the borough-wide growth scenarios). 

7.10 Iwade 

7.10.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

nil sites.  Three sites at Iwade are identified as potentially suitable for allocation by the SHLAA; however, 

there is considered to be a strong case for non-allocation at Iwade through the LPR, on the basis that 

Iwade is set to see significant growth through committed sites. 

7.10.2 In conclusion, one growth scenario should be taken forward to Section 8. 

7.11 Tier 5 settlements and the rural area 

7.11.1 The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate 

three adjacent sites at Neames Forstal to deliver 90 homes in total.  These sites were not supported by 

the SHLAA, and there remain question-marks regarding suitability for allocation, as discussed in Appendix 

V; however, there would be relatively little to be gained through exploring non-allocation further through 

the appraisal of borough-wide growth scenarios.  As such, and on balance, there is not considered to be 

a reasonable need to take forward scenarios involving non-allocation of any of these sites to Section 8. 

7.11.2 With regards to higher growth scenarios, attention focuses on the possibility of additionally allocating one 

of the sites identified as potentially suitable for allocation by the SHLAA.  However, on balance, it is not 

considered appropriate to explore a higher growth scenario involving additional allocation of one or more 

of these sites, given that: there are limited strategic arguments for growth at any of the lower order 

settlements in question; there are question-marks regarding the suitability of certain of these sites; and 

there is the potential to allocate sites at lower order settlements through Neighbourhood Plans. 

7.11.3 Finally, there is a need to give special mention to site 18/154 (Lamberhurst Farm), which is proposed as 

an employment allocation, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, but which is being promoted as 

a mixed use scheme involving 300 homes.  It is noted that there was some support for a mixed use 

scheme at the 8th October meeting; however, on balance the site is considered more suitable for 

employment, and it is not considered necessary to take forward the option of a mixed-use scheme. 

7.11.4 In conclusion, one growth scenario should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Page 732



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 24 

 

7.12 Conclusion on sub-area scenarios 

7.12.1 Table 7.1 presents a summary of the sub-area scenarios taken forward to Section 8.   

7.12.2 In summary, the decision was to take forward the emerging preferred scenario plus: 

• one or more higher growth scenarios for Sittingbourne, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown; and 

• one or more lower growth scenarios for Faversham, West Sheppey and Teynham. 

Table 7.1: Summary of sub-area scenarios (number of homes; emerging preferred scenario highlighted) 

Sub-area Sub-area scenarios taken forward to Section 8 

Sittingbourne 850 1,350 3,350 

Faversham 1,000 3,400 - 

West Sheppey 0 650 850 

Teynham 0 350 1,100 

Newington 0 200 - 

Eastchurch 0 65 - 

Leysdown 0 100 - 

Boughton 20 - - 

Iwade 0 - - 

Tier 5 settlements 90 - - 

  

Page 733



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 25 

 

8 Reasonable growth scenarios 

8.1 Introduction 

8.1.1 Having gone through a process (as summarised in Figure 5.1) involving consideration of strategic 

issues/options, site and site-specific options and sub-area specific scenarios, the final task was to draw 

together the understanding generated in order to arrive at a single set of reasonable growth scenarios. 

8.1.2 In practice, this involved exploring ways of combining the sub-area scenarios that emerge from Section 

7, also mindful of housing supply from commitments (i.e. sites with planning permission and/or an 

allocation in the adopted Local Plan that are expected to deliver in the LPR plan period, i.e. post April 

2022) and windfall sites (i.e. sites that are neither an existing commitment nor an LPR allocation). 

What about employment land supply? 

8.1.3 The process of establishing reasonable growth scenarios has been housing-led; however, there is also a 

need to ensure sufficient supply of employment land under all scenarios, in light of the targets set by the 

Employment Land Review (2018).  This matter is discussed further in Box 8.1, at the end of this section. 

8.2 Combining sub-area scenarios 

8.2.1 There are many potential combinations of these sub-area scenarios; however, it is possible to immediately 

rule out those combinations that would deliver too few or too many homes.   

8.2.2 When seeking to understand the number of homes that must be delivered through the sub-area scenarios 

in combination, there is a need to take into account not only the total number of homes needed in the plan 

period (as discussed in Section 5.2), but also supply from commitments (11,000 homes),40 supply from 

windfall sites (1,530 homes)41 and the need for a supply buffer of at least 10%.   

8.2.3 On this basis, there is a need for combinations of sub-area scenarios to deliver at least 5,740 homes.42   

8.2.4 The first port of call is the emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th 

October.  The sub-area scenarios in combination (see highlighted cells in Table 8.1) would deliver 6,310 

homes (in total, and all more-or-less in the plan period), which would lead to a total supply of 18,840 

homes, which amounts to LHN (c.16,600) plus a supply buffer of 13%.  This would likely mean that the 

housing requirement is set at LHN.  This is reasonable growth scenario 1. 

8.2.5 The next step is to vary the emerging preferred growth scenario by supporting the lower growth scenario 

for Faversham, namely 1,000 homes through urban extensions in place of 3,400 homes through strategic 

growth to the east and southeast.  Given the sub-areas scenarios presented in Table 8.1, an immediately 

apparent way to make up for the decreased number of homes at Faversham would be to support high 

growth at Sittingbourne, namely 2,500 homes via strategic growth at Bobbing.  Assuming that growth at 

the other sub-areas remains as per the preferred scenario, then the total supply would amount to 18,940 

homes in the plan period, which amounts to LHN plus a supply buffer of 14%.  This would likely mean that 

the housing requirement is set at LHN.  This is reasonable growth scenario 2. 

8.2.6 The next step is to vary the emerging preferred growth scenario by supporting the lower growth scenarios 

at West Sheppey and Teynham, on the basis that the emerging preferred growth scenarios here give rise 

to a degree of delivery risk and sustainability challenges.  Supporting the lower growth scenarios at West 

Sheppey and Teynham results in 950 fewer homes, and there is logic to addressing this shortfall by 

supporting: the higher growth scenarios at Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown; and the middle growth 

scenario at Sittingbourne.  This is on the basis that growth at Sittingbourne, Newington, Eastchurch and 

Leysdown, under these scenarios, would involve a collection of more ‘traditional’ urban extensions thought 

likely to be associated with fairly low delivery risk (overall).  This is reasonable growth scenario 3.   

  

 
40 At the time of writing the precise commitments figure is still under review, but is known to be c.11,000 homes. 
41 Calculated as 127 dwellings per annum for last 12 years of plan. 
42 Calculated as: LHN (1,038 dpa x 16 years = c.16,600) + 10% buffer (1,660) – completions (11,000) – windfall (1,530) Page 734



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 26 

 

8.2.7 Under the above three scenarios it would likely be appropriate to set the housing requirement as LHN, i.e. 

1,038 dwellings per annum.  However, as discussed in Section 5.2, there is also a need to consider 

modestly higher growth options, given a risk (albeit small) of the LPR needing to provide for unmet needs.   

8.2.8 A first port of call is to support the highest growth scenarios for both Sittingbourne and Faversham.  This 

is a reasonable option to explore; however, it is difficult to decide what growth scenarios to assume for 

other sub-areas.  On balance, it is considered appropriate to assume the lowest growth scenario for all 

other sub-areas, leading to a total supply of 19,390 homes, which amounts to LHN plus a supply buffer of 

17%.  This could enable a housing requirement set at a level slightly above LHN; however, this is 

uncertain, as a large supply buffer would be called for.  This is reasonable growth scenario 4. 

8.2.9 Secondly, there is a need to explore a scenario involving the emerging preferred growth scenario, following 

the Cabinet decision of 28th October, plus the additional modest urban extension options identified at 

Sittingbourne, Minster, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown, leading to a total supply of 20,355 homes, 

which amounts to LHN plus a supply buffer of 23%.  This could well enable the housing requirement to be 

set at a level slightly above LHN.  This is reasonable growth scenario 5. 

The reasonable growth scenarios 

8.2.10 The five reasonable growth scenarios that emerge from the discussion above are set out in summary in 

Table 8.2 and in detail in Table 8.3 and across the subsequent maps.  Many other growth scenarios can 

be envisaged, but are judged to be unreasonable in light of the analysis set out above.43   

Table 8.2: Summary of the reasonable growth scenarios 

Scenario Description 
Housing 

requirement 

1 The emerging preferred scenario LHN 

2 Scenario 1 but with higher growth at Sittingbourne (Bobbing) / lower at Faversham LHN 

3 Scenario 1 but with lower risk urban extensions (UEs) in place of higher risk LHN 

4 Both strategic growth locations; lower growth scenarios elsewhere Above LHN? 

5 Scenario 1 plus lower risk UEs Above LHN 

Box 8.1: Discussion of employment land supply under the reasonable growth scenarios 

As discussed in Section 5.3, there is a need to provide for around 15 ha of new land for offices and light industrial 

uses in the east of the Borough, plus there is a need to consider allocation of 40 ha for warehousing. 

Under Growth Scenario 1 new employment land supply would be delivered at Faversham (at least 20 ha); 

Rushenden (10 ha) and Lamberhurst Farm (at least 2 ha), such that the 15 ha target would be exceeded.  The 

warehousing target would not be met, but this leads to limited cause for concern, as the target is described in 

the ELR as ‘marginal’, plus the target is for the longer term and need only be met if suitable sites are available.  

Employment land supply would be tighter under Growth Scenario 3 because there would be a loss of 10ha of 

supply at Rushenden; however, the 15 ha ELR target would still be exceeded.  There would be an argument for 

allocating one or more additional employment sites, but it is not clear what site(s) might be allocated in practice, 

hence this is left as an open-ended possibility, for the purposes of defining growth scenarios.44   

There is also a need to consider Growth Scenarios 2 and 4, under which there would be a loss of 10 ha of 

employment land at either Faversham or Rushenden, but with the shortfall partly addressed by strategic growth 

at Bobbing.  The current proposal for Bobbing is to deliver a fairly modest area of “flexible employment space” 

at the southeast corner of the site; however, there might feasibly be potential for additional employment land, 

should it be required.  This might be either within or outside of the current red line boundary.  An employment 

hub stretching either side of the railway might be envisaged, potentially to include site 18/007.   

 
43 A stand-out near-miss growth scenario would see support for the ‘urban extension’ scenarios at Sittingbourne and Faversham 
(i.e. no garden community) alongside the high growth scenarios elsewhere.  This would deliver a total supply of 17,955 homes 
(LHN + 8%); however, this scenario was judged to be unreasonable because of support for a garden community. 
44 Sites that might be considered for allocation include: 18/007 (Land east of Sheppey Way, Bobbing; 1 ha) – however, suited to 
offices rather than industry; 18/018 (Land off Lower Road, Minster; 4 ha) – however, viability / deliverability on Sheppey is 
challenging; 18/105 (Halfway Egg Farm, Featherbed Lane, Sittingbourne; 2.9 ha) – promoted for retail, but the option of 
employment land might be explored, given its location adjacent to the A249 Grovehurst junction.   Page 735



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 27 

 

Table 8.3: The reasonable growth scenarios (with constant elements of supply greyed-out) 

Growth scenario Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario 5 

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 
Source of housing supply 

Commitments 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 11,000 

Windfall 1,530 1,530 1,530 1,530 1,530 

A
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

Sittingbourne 

Town centre  850 850 850 850 850 

Urban extensions - - 500 - 500 

Garden comm (Bobbing) - 2,500 - 2,500 - 

Faversham 
Urban extensions - 1,000 - - - 

Garden comm (E/SE) 3,400 - 3,400 3,400 3,400 

West Sheppey 

Sheerness - - - - - 

Minster / Halfway - - 650 - 650 

Q’borough / Rushenden 850 850 - - 850 

Tier 4 
settlements  

Teynham 1,100 1,100 350 - 1,100 

Newington - - 200 - 200 

Eastchurch - - 65 - 65 

Leysdown - - 100 - 100 

Boughton 20 20 20 20 20 

Iwade - - - - - 

Tier 5 
settlements 

Neames Forstal 90 90 90 90 90 

Elsewhere - - - - - 

Total homes in the plan period (2022-2038) 18,840 18,940 18,755 19,390 20,355 

Total homes per annum 1178 1184 1172 1212 1272 

% supply buffer above LHN (1038 per annum) 13% 14% 13% 17% 23% 

What housing requirement would be set? LHN LHN LHN Above LHN? Above LHN 

P
age 736



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 28 

 

Reasonable growth scenario 1: The emerging preferred scenario 

 

P
age 737



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 29 

 

Reasonable growth scenario 2: Scenario 1 but with higher growth at Sittingbourne (Bobbing) / lower at Faversham 

 

P
age 738



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 30 

 

Reasonable growth scenario 3: Scenario 1 but with lower risk urban extensions (UEs) in place of higher risk 

 

P
age 739



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 31 

 

Reasonable growth scenario 4: Both strategic growth locations; lower growth scenarios elsewhere 

 

P
age 740



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 1 32 

 

Reasonable growth scenario 5: Scenario 1 plus lower risk UEs 

 
 
 

P
age 741



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 33 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 2: What are the appraisal 
findings at this stage? 

  

Page 742



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 34 

 

9 Introduction to Part 2 
9.1.1 The aim of this part of the report is to present an appraisal of the reasonable growth scenarios... 

10 Growth scenarios appraisal 

10.1 Appraisal methodology 

10.1.1 Appraisal findings are set out under 12 separate headings, with each heading dealing with a specific 

sustainability topic (see Section 3).  A final section then presents summary findings and conclusions. 

10.1.2 Each of the topic-specific discussions begins with a table that seeks to both categorised the performance 

of each of the reasonable growth scenarios in terms of significant effects (using red / amber / light green 

/ green)45 and rank the reasonable growth scenarios in order of preference.     

10.1.3 Further points on methodology are as follows: 

• Significant effects – the aim is to identify, describe and evaluate significant effects in respect of each 

element of the established appraisal framework in turn.46  A final concluding section considers significant 

effects ‘in the round’, but does not aim to reach an overall conclusion on the sustainability of each of the 

growth scenarios, or place them in an overall order of preference.  Any attempt to do so necessitates 

assigning weight to each element of the appraisal framework, which is outside of the scope of SA (it is 

a task for the decision-maker, informed by SA findings). 

• Methodology – conclusions on significant effects and relative performance are reached on the basis of 

available evidence and understanding of key issues and opportunities, mindful of the guidance 

presented within the Schedules 1 and 2 of the SEA Regulations, and the Planning Practice Guidance.  

This is not an exact science, given the nature of the scenarios under consideration, but rather involves 

making assumptions and applying professional judgement.  Appraisal ‘workings out’ are presented only 

to a limited extent, with a view to ensuring an appraisal narrative that is relatively concise and accessible. 

• Evidence – it is not possible to list all of the evidence sources that are drawn-upon as part of the 

appraisal; however, it is appropriate to highlight that extensive use has been made of: the evidence-

base studies commissioned by the Council since 2018; materials submitted and made available (on 

websites) by strategic site promoters; and two reports prepared by Stantec in 2019, namely Assessment 

of Submissions (Feb 2019)34 and  Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (Oct 2019).35 

A key consideration is the extent to which it is appropriate to take account of materials submitted by site 

promoters, in respect of proposals for bringing forward sites (e.g. mix of uses, areas of greenspace) and 

directing limited funds to measures aimed at mitigation (e.g. infrastructure upgrades) and ‘planning gain’ 

(e.g. affordable housing).  The Stantec work is notable for exploring site specific proposals in detail, and 

there is certainly a need to take site specific proposals into consideration here; however, there is a need 

to apply caution, as site specific proposals are subject to change, and there is a need to avoid unduly 

biasing in favour of development schemes for which more work has been undertaken.   

A note on constants 

10.1.4 As can be seen from Table 8.3, certain allocations are a constant across the reasonable growth scenarios, 

namely: Sittingbourne town centre (850 homes), Sheerness (0 homes), Boughton (20 homes), Iwade (0 

homes), Neames Forstal (90 homes) and other tier 5 and smaller settlements (0 homes).  Allocation of 

Lamberhurst Farm for employment is also a constant across the growth scenarios. 

10.1.5 Allocations that are a constant across the growth scenarios are not a focus of the appraisal, given the 

need to focus on differentiating the growth scenarios.  However, account is taken of the ‘constants’ when 

reaching a conclusion on significant effects for each growth scenario, and all proposed allocations will be 

a focus of the forthcoming appraisal of the LPR as a whole. 

 
45 Red indicates a significant negative effect; amber a negative effect that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; 
light green a positive that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; and green a significant positive effect. 
46 The appraisal framework was established mindful of the list of topics suggested as potentially appropriate to include within the 
scope of SA at paragraph 6 of Schedule 2 within the SEA Regulations.  In this way paragraph 6 of Schedule 2 has ‘fed in’. Page 743



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 35 

 

10.2 Appraisal findings 

10.2.1 The appraisal of reasonable growth scenarios is presented below under 12 headings. 

Air quality 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario 5 

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

 

3 2 2 4 

Discussion 

Air quality is currently a widespread issue along the A2, given the number of homes and other ‘sensitive receptors’ 

located in proximity to this busy road, with AQMAs designated at Rainham (to the west of Swale), Newington, 

Keycol (declared in December 2020), Sittingbourne, Teynham and Ospringe, and other sensitive locations (typically 

junctions) highlighted by the Swale Air Quality Modelling Report (2020).  Another AQMA is located along the B2006 

in Sittingbourne, where HGV traffic is a particular issue, and the Air Quality Modelling Report also highlights the 

A251 (which links Faversham to Ashford) as problematic. 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is tentatively 

supported, from an air quality perspective, including because there would be: two motorway junctions in close 

proximity; delivery of services, facilities and employment onsite that supports trip internalisation; good potential 

to walk or cycle to Faversham railway station, including via new walking/cycling infrastructure; and some 

potential to walk/cycle to the town centre (beyond the rail station), albeit it would be somewhat distant, at greater 

than 2km from certain points of the site (noting barriers, including the railway line).   

However, a higher growth strategy for Teynham gives rise to a cause for concern, given Teynham’s distance 

from a motorway junction and, in turn, its reliance on the A2 for journeys to higher order settlements that will 

inevitably involve passing through at least one AQMA.  The aspiration is for higher growth to support delivery 

of a village bypass, which is much needed from a perspective of wishing to address traffic and air pollution 

within the village centre, including within the designated AQMA; however, the potential for growth to ‘unlock’ 

land to deliver a bypass is far from clear, given the constraints that exist, including the conservation area. 

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is not supported, from an air quality perspective.  This is particularly the case because 

Bobbing gives rise to concerns regarding increased traffic along the problematic B2006, which would be a 

primary route for accessing Sittingbourne town centre.  The AQMA here was recently (December 2020) 

amended to include particulate matter (PM10) after the monitoring stations registered an increase in pollution 

levels.  Also, there is a need to consider the AQMA at Newington and the recently (December 2020) designated 

AQMA at Keycol Hill, on the A2.  Some traffic from Sittingbourne and Bobbing seeking to access the Medway 

Towns will take the A2 route, rather than the longer route via the M2.  

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver c.1,000 

homes under this scenario, these give rise to limited cause for concern, although: the modest urban extension 

to the south would presumably involve a new junction onto the A2 very close (near adjacent) to the Ospringe 

AQMA; and the new community at the circa 840 home expansion to the east would be at least 1.5km distant 

from the town centre, with the railway a barrier to movement.  The cycling route would likely be via the B2040, 

which is distant from the southern part of the site, and along which there is no cycle path/lane. 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne (also Bobbing), Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would 

replace growth at Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  Key considerations relate to: 

─ Sittingbourne – the two urban extensions are fairly well-located, in terms of supporting access to the town 

centre and other key destinations by walking, cycling and public transport, and avoiding increased traffic 

through the AQMAs and other known air pollution hotspots.  Bobbing is constrained, as discussed above; 

however, the quantum of homes assumed under this scenario is modest.  

Page 744



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 36 

 

─ Newington – the site in question, known as Pond Farm, has been closely scrutinised in the past in respect 

of the potential for development to lead to unacceptable air quality impacts.  The access point onto the A2 

would presumably avoid the Newington AQMA, and the rail station would be within walking distance (under 

800m); however, traffic bound for higher order centres would pass through at least one AQMA.  It is 

recognised that air quality in some locations may have improved since the appealed planning application 

was dismissed in 2016/17, and the site promoters have presumably explored ways to mitigate concerns; 

however, equally, the Keycol Hill AQMA was designated only in December 2020. 

─ Teynham – the assumption here is that urban extensions to the village would deliver 350 homes (over and 

above existing committed sites) and that it would not be possible to deliver a village bypass.  Development 

along Lynsted Lane would be avoided, recognising that the junction of Lynsted Lane and the A2 is highly 

problematic; however, concerns regarding increased traffic within and through AQMAs would remain. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – there is little reason to suggest that strategic growth at both E/SE 

Faversham and Bobbing would lead to an in-combination impact on any air pollution hotspot.   

The assumption, under this scenario, is that support for two strategic growth locations would be accompanied 

by a lower growth strategy at other locations, including at Teynham (where the assumption is that there would 

be nil LPR allocations).  This approach is supported, on balance, from an air quality perspective. 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – assuming that the effect of this scenario is to provide for 

genuine higher growth (as opposed to seeking to provide for LHN with a large supply buffer, and thereby 

minimise the risk of problematic windfall schemes), then this scenario gives rise to an inherent concern, on the 

basis that Swale is a constrained Borough.  Equally, the specifics of this high growth strategy give rise to cause 

for concern.  In particular, a higher growth strategy for the Isle of Sheppey (allocations totalling 1,665 homes) 

in combination with allocations for 500 homes at Sittingbourne (plus town centre regeneration) and higher 

growth strategies for Newington and Teynham could well give rise to in-combination impacts on one or more 

air pollution hotspots in the west of the Borough.   

In conclusion, Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario), is judged to perform best on balance, although it is 

a challenge to differentiate this scenario from Scenarios 3 and 4, which also have merit in certain respects.   

With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk under all scenarios.  The Air 

Quality Modelling Report explains that air quality is set to improve significantly over the plan period; however, air 

pollution is currently a priority issue for the Council.47 

Biodiversity 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

2 3 

  

2 

Discussion 

A key issue for the Borough as a whole is avoiding impacts to the Swale and Medway SPA/Ramsar sites (“North 

Kent Estuaries European sites”), including via increased recreational pressure and/or development of land that is 

functionally linked to the European sites (e.g. fields used for foraging or roosting by significant wildfowl or wading 

bird populations); however, growth opportunities in problematic locations are quite limited (more so than was the 

case for the adopted Local Plan).  Aside from the internationally designated sites, nationally designated SSSIs are 

a limited constraint to growth at locations potentially in contention for allocation; however, locally important habitats 

are a widespread constraint, and there is also a need to recognise landscape-scale constraints and opportunities. 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is supported, from 

biodiversity perspective.  This land is notably unconstrained in biodiversity terms, with very limited onsite priority 

habitat and limited designated land in close proximity.  However, the northern extent of the scheme (beyond the 

Graveney Road) gives rise to a degree of concern.  This is because: adjacent land to the north (on the opposite 

side of the railway, but easily accessible via a public footpath) comprises the Abbey Fields Local Wildlife Site 

(LWS); the walking route to the SPA would be c.2.25km and the driving route to the SPA could be attractive to 

 
47 See https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/news-and-campaigns/latest-news/keycol-hill-aqma-approved  Page 745

https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/news-and-campaigns/latest-news/keycol-hill-aqma-approved


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 37 

 

dog walkers, via Goodnestone.  A further consideration is the likelihood of growth leading to a degree of 

increased recreational pressure on the Blean Woodlands SAC to the east, potentially in combination with growth 

in Canterbury District; however, the part of the SAC in closest proximity is managed as a National Nature 

Reserve, and the car park is on the eastern edge, well over 10 km distant. 

N.B. other sites that form part of Scenario 1 are discussed below. 

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is not supported, from a biodiversity perspective.  This is for two reasons.  Firstly, the site is 

slightly closer to the SPA, and whilst it is not clear that this is a particularly accessible or sensitive part of the 

SPA, there is a need to consider in-combination impacts given committed growth at Iwade and Northwest 

Sittingbourne (also the potential for the Bobbing scheme to expand in the future).  Secondly, the proposal is for 

development to largely envelop a small ancient woodland (Rook Wood).  Whilst the proposal includes large 

areas of greenspace, within which it will be possible to deliver targeted habitat creation, there is a need to 

consider the possibility that having to compensate for impacts to Rook Wood could lead to a challenge in respect 

of achieving an overall (and sufficient) biodiversity net gain at an appropriate landscape scale. 

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver around 

1,000 homes under this scenario, there is a degree of concern associated with: expansion to the east 

(particularly land north of Graveney Road, see discussion above); and the two assumed modest urban 

extensions to the north of the town, which would more-or-less complete the northern expansion of the town as 

far as the flood risk zone and/or land locally designated for its biodiversity value.  This land is well connected 

to the SPA/Ramsar by public right of way, and the fact that adjacent land is either known to be of local 

importance for biodiversity (Abbey Fields LWS), or managed for biodiversity (Oare Gravel Works), could 

potentially suggest a likelihood of the land being functionally linked to the SPA/Ramsar. 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  Key considerations relate to: 

─ Sittingbourne – land to the south of Sittingbourne, broadly speaking, is associated with a high density of 

small dispersed habitat patches (including traditional orchard habitat, which is a priority) that may function 

as one or more ecological networks.  However, the two urban extensions assumed here are thought to give 

rise to limited concerns.  Both are in fairly close proximity to existing woodland or traditional orchard habitat 

patches, and both are thought to be currently used for fruit growing; however, it is not possible to suggest 

that land used for intensive fruit growing is likely to contribute to landscape scale ecological connectivity. 

Finally, with regards to Bobbing, the areas that would come into contention for modest growth are 

unconstrained in strategic biodiversity terms, with very limited priority habitat in this area. 

─ Isle of Sheppey – replacing site SLA18/113 at Rushenden (850 homes plus employment land) with site 

18/038 to the southeast of Minster (650 homes) is quite strongly supported, from a biodiversity perspective.  

Site SLA18/113 is shown by the nationally available dataset to include significant priority wetland habitat 

and is adjacent to the SPA (indeed, the SPA intersects the site, to a small extent), which gives rise to a 

significant concern.48  Detailed work has been undertaken by the site promoters, and through the LPR 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) process, to understand the potential to bring the site forward 

without impacting the SPA or functionally linked areas, and the HRA is able to conclude the likelihood of 

being able to avoid significant adverse effects to the SPA, on the assumption that prescribed steps are taken 

through the planning application process.  However, concerns do naturally remain, in light of the need to 

follow the mitigation hierarchy, i.e. seek to avoid effects ahead of relying on mitigation, where possible.  A 

key concern to emerge, through the HRA process, is the potential for development to result in coastal 

squeeze, noting that the medium to long term strategy for this land set out in the Medway and Swale 

Shoreline Management Plan (SMP)49 is managed realignment, and thus enabling habitats to shift in 

accordance with sea level rise and climate change.  In addition, the Medway Estuary and Swale Flood and 

Coast Management Strategy50 identifies that the current through to 2118 management policy for BA8.5: 

Rushenden Marshes is “No Active Intervention”, i.e. current sea defences will not be maintained.  However, 

the situation is not clear, as the majority of the frontage is not currently defended, and is artificially raised as 

 
48 The Biodiversity Baseline Study (2020) states: “This entire site falls within the Swale Nature Recovery Priority Area. A large 
portion of the site is classified as Open Mosaic Habitat on Previously Developed Land, Floodplain Wetland Mosaic and coastal 
saltmarsh priority habitats. The portion of the site not classified as priority habitat is of high strategic significant for connecting 
areas of priority habitat and should be prioritised for habitat restoration through [biodiversity net gain] projects. Due to the large 
proportion of high distinctiveness habitats on site it will be technically and financially challenging to deliver [biodiversity net gain].” 
49 See https://se-coastalgroup.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/medway-estuary-to-swale/   
50 See https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-
strategy/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy  Page 746

https://se-coastalgroup.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/medway-estuary-to-swale/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 38 

 

the land has been historically used to deposit dredged material.  The HRA recommends that managed 

realignment options should be explored within the site boundary alongside development, and so there is a 

possibility that development could support maintenance and creation of habitat, i.e. a long term net gain. 

─ Teynham and Newington – both villages are historically very strongly associated with fruit growing, and 

there remain remnant patches of traditional orchard priority habitat, most notably at Teynham.  However, a 

strategic approach to growth at Teynham could support a strategic approach to achieving biodiversity net 

gain at an appropriate landscape scale, whilst site 18/229 at Newington appears to be quite unconstrained 

(it is currently used for intensive fruit growing), and would likely deliver significant onsite green infrastructure 

(the assumed yield amounts to 15 dwellings per hectare).  The possibility of delivering new onsite habitat to 

buffer the adjacent woodland (which is about 20 years old) and recreation ground might be envisaged. 

─ Eastchurch and Leysdown – both settlements are thought to be relatively unconstrained.  The Sheppey 

Cliffs and Foreshore SSSI is nearby, but is assumed to have limited sensitivity to modest housing growth. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – there is little reason to suggest that strategic growth at both E/SE 

Faversham and Bobbing would lead to an in combination biodiversity impact.   

The assumption is that support for two strategic growth locations would be accompanied by a lower growth 

strategy at other locations, including at Rushenden (i.e. site SLA18/113 would not be allocated). 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – a higher growth strategy does not necessarily give rise to a 

cause for concern, as additional growth might not lead to increased risk of in-combination impacts (there would 

be a need to investigate SPA concerns associated with a higher growth strategy for Sheppey) and as there 

would be flexibility to assist with meeting any unmet needs arising from elsewhere in a constrained sub-region.   

In conclusion, Scenarios 3 and 4 are judged to perform best, as allocation of site SLA18/113 at Rushenden would 

be avoided (albeit it is recognised that detailed work has been completed, and further work remains underway, to 

understand the potential to avoid and mitigate biodiversity concerns associated with the site, and there could be 

options that would achieve an overall biodiversity net gain).  Scenario 2 performs poorly, on the basis that strategic 

growth to the east and southeast of Faversham is judged to be preferable to strategic growth at Bobbing.   

With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk in respect of the three worst 

performing scenarios (Scenarios 1, 2 and 5).  It is recognised that the best performing scenarios (Scenarios 3 and 

4) could lead to significant positive effects, particularly given the potential for strategic growth locations to support 

achievement of biodiversity net gain; however, there is no certainty at the current time, given the available evidence. 

Climate change mitigation 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

 

2 2 

 

2 

Discussion 

There is a need to consider greenhouse emissions from both transport and the built environment.   

In respect of transport emissions, issues and opportunities are quite well understood, and the recent Energy 

White Paper (2020) presents a helpful overview of strategic priorities, namely: modal shift to public and active 

transport; place based solutions (“why emissions occur in certain locations”); decarbonising how we get goods 

(including transforming “last mile deliveries”); and decarbonisation of vehicles, including charging infrastructure and 

energy system readiness.  A national Transport Decarbonisation Plan is due in spring 2021 and, ahead of that, a 

recent study has explored national priorities, with a focus on the links between planning and transport, and ensuring 

effective collaboration between local planning authorities and transport authorities at the county and sub-regional 

level.51  Also, the TCPA has recently prepared a guide setting out the particular opportunities associated with 

‘garden communities’.52  There are certainly opportunities associated with strategic growth locations in more viable 

locations over-and-above piecemeal growth in less viable locations; however, it is also crucial to consider proximity 

and existing ‘sustainable transport’ links between new homes and key destinations.   

 
51 See tps.org.uk/news/tps-launches-its-state-of-the-nation-report  
52 See tcpa.org.uk/guidance-for-delivering-new-garden-cities  Page 747

https://tps.org.uk/news/tps-launches-its-state-of-the-nation-report
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/guidance-for-delivering-new-garden-cities


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 39 

 

With regards to built environment emissions, there are strong arguments for supporting a focus of growth at one 

or more strategic sites and focusing growth where viability is highest, with a view to facilitating: low and zero carbon 

(LZC) infrastructure, including heat networks (which require strategic planning and typically necessitate higher 

densities and a fine grained mix of uses); buildings designed to achieve net zero regulated emissions (or otherwise 

ambitious levels of regulated emissions);53 an ambitious approach to unregulated emissions, including embodied 

and other non-operational emissions, including by supporting modern methods of construction (e.g. offsite 

construction of modular homes); and ‘smart energy systems’ – seen as a priority within the Energy South 2 East 

Local Energy Strategy (2020) and the recent Energy White Paper (2020), which includes a major focus on 

delivering a ‘Smart Electricity System’.  Another consideration, in respect of built environment emissions, is the 

need to consider the possibility of locating growth in proximity to strategic heat sources (also locations with strategic 

heat demand, e.g. leisure centres), with a view to facilitating delivery of heat networks; however, no particular 

opportunities are known to exist in the Swale context (see discussion of Sittingbourne town centre in Appendix I).  

A further consideration, in respect of built environment emissions, is the possibility of strategic growth locations 

supporting the use of hydrogen, including potentially for heating.  Hydrogen is a major focus of the recent Ten Point 

Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution (2020) and the Energy White Paper (2020), and a Hydrogen Strategy is due 

in 2021; however, opportunities remain uncertain at the current time, and are likely to be longer term.  

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is tentatively 

supported, given the inherent opportunities associated with strategic growth locations, and because the site is 

well-related to a higher order settlement with a rail station, and noting the commitment to deliver a good mix of 

uses onsite and ensure a focus on walking/cycling infrastructure.  However, concerns and questions remain:  

─ Faversham is a second tier settlement, proximity to Faversham town centre is not ideal and two motorway 

junctions will be in close proximity (albeit potentially supportive of rapid bus services to Canterbury, 

Whitstable/Herne Bay and other locations to the east);  

─ There is uncertainty regarding potential to deliver growth to the south of the A2 in combination with growth 

to north of the A2, as a combined strategic scheme that leads to additional economies of scale and potential 

to deliver sustainable transport and LZC infrastructure, and other climate change focused measures; and  

─ There is a degree of uncertainty regarding the extent to which the masterplanning and design ethos of the 

scheme is supportive of minimising emissions (see discussion below, under ‘Communities’). 

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is not supported, from a climate change mitigation perspective, as this location is thought to 

be less suited to minimising transport emissions.  Sittingbourne town centre and rail station would be over 2.5 

km distant via the problematic B2006), and whilst the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 submissions (2019)35 

states that the latest proposal “refocuses its emphasis on Newington Station with routes through the site to it 

and car parking to be provided and a shuttle bus”, this is not entirely evident from the latest proposals on the 

scheme website, with the ‘Connectivity Plan’ focusing only on links within this site.  Whilst the possibly of growth 

at Bobbing and Rushenden (also noting committed growth at Iwade, NW Sittingbourne and SW Sittingbourne) 

supporting ‘sustainable transport’ interventions along the A249 corridor might be envisaged, no particular 

opportunities have been highlighted. 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  In respect of build environment emissions, it is fair to highlight 

that more piecemeal growth could result in some opportunities missed (although the site at Rushenden is 

subject to delivery and viability challenges, such that funds available for low carbon measures could be limited).   

With regards to transport emissions, it is difficult to draw strong conclusions.  On hand additional growth at 

Sittingbourne is potentially supported; however, on the other hand: 

─ Growth at Minster, Eastchurch and Leysdown, in place of growth at Rushenden could lead to additional 

transport emissions.  Queenborough has a rail station, and is thought to be quite well connected to 

Sheerness and Sittingbourne by bus and cycle routes (and/or there is good potential for enhancement).  

 
53 Regulated emissions are those covered by the building regulations.  It is common for Local Plan policies to require levels of 
emissions below the Building Regulations requirement, and potentially even to require net zero regulated emissions for major 
schemes (which almost invariably necessitates offsetting).  At the current time the Government is consulting on a Future Homes 
Standard, which would be a national requirement set out in the Building Regulations.  The Government’s proposal is that Local 
Plan policies would no longer be able to require levels of emissions below the Building Regulations (Future Homes Standard); 
however, there would still be the potential for the promoters of individual development schemes to choose take a best practice 
approach, including by achieving net zero regulated emissions. Page 748



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 40 

 

Also, Queenborough/Rushenden is an employment growth and regeneration area, such that the potential 

to reach destinations by walking/cycling is set to improve over time.  The site at Minster would relate closely 

to the recent Thistle Hill development, which has come forward alongside community infrastructure; 

however, the site is not particularly well connected to Minster or higher order settlements, including noting 

that there is no footpath or cycle lane along either Scoccles Road or Lower Road (which suffers from 

problematic traffic, likely to discourage cycling).  Finally, Eastchurch and Leydown are associated with very 

limited potential to access a higher order centre by bus or cycling. 

─ Lower growth at Teynham is not supported, on balance, from a transport emissions perspective, given the 

rail station (albeit there would also be additional growth at Newington under this scenario, which also has a 

rail station).  Also, there is a possibility – albeit highly uncertain - of strategic growth at Teynham supporting 

the aspiration of delivering a cycling link between Sittingbourne and Faversham.  

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – a focus of growth at two strategic sites is supported, from a 

perspective of seeking to minimise built environment emissions, albeit neither of these strategic schemes have, 

to date, demonstrated that any particular locational opportunities exist, nor demonstrated a particular ambition.  

There is little reason to suggest that decarbonisation would be masterplanning / design / funding priority.   

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – a higher growth strategy does not necessarily give rise to an 

inherent concern, given that the focus must be on per capita emissions more so than total emissions (albeit the 

2030 net zero target relates to total borough-wide emissions).  However, the assumption is that additional 

growth would be achieved through additional allocation of small or modest-sized urban extensions, which would 

be unlikely to deliver strategic low carbon infrastructure (e.g. a heat network), and might not be well-suited to 

achieving building-level emissions standards over-and-above Building Regulations.  Furthermore, certain of the 

urban extensions in question give rise to concerns from a transport emissions perspective, as discussed.  

However, having said this, there is a strong possibility that a high growth strategy for the Isle of Sheppey 

(allocations totalling 1,665 homes) could support strategic investment in transport infrastructure in support of 

improved bus services, greater opportunities for cycling, electric vehicle charging and more. 

In conclusion, it is inherently challenging to differentiate the reasonable growth scenarios, including because there 

are tensions between objectives around minimising built environment emissions on the one hand and, on the other 

hand, minimising transport emissions.  In the absence of modelling or other detailed analysis, there is a need to 

weigh-up competing objectives on the basis of professional judgement, in order to arrive at an overall conclusion.   

On this basis, Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) and Scenario 4 (two strategic growth locations) are 

judged to be joint best performing.  It is not possible to differentiate the other scenarios with any confidence. 

With regards to effect significance, there is a need to balance an understanding that climate change mitigation is a 

global consideration, such that local actions can only ever have a limited effect on the baseline, with the fact that 

there is a highly ambitious local net zero target in place.  On balance, it is considered appropriate to flag a concern 

with all scenarios.  This reflects a view that the 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that decarbonisation must 

be a key driving factor influencing spatial strategy, site selection and development of site-specific proposals. 

Communities 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

 

3 3 3 2 

Discussion 

There is a need for growth to avoid creating or exacerbating issues around community infrastructure capacity, and 

support growth strategies that would deliver new or upgraded community infrastructure, both to ‘consume the 

smoke’ of new communities and in response to any existing known issues or opportunities.   

Beyond this, there is a need to support high quality community infrastructure provision; for example, there is a 

focus nationally on masterplanning and designing new communities with health and wellbeing as a central 

consideration, including via access to gardens, sports facilities, greenspace and countryside.54   

 
 54E.g. see england.nhs.uk/ourwork/innovation/healthy-new-towns; and tcpa.org.uk/guidance-for-delivering-new-garden-cities  Page 749

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/innovation/healthy-new-towns/
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/guidance-for-delivering-new-garden-cities


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 41 

 

Beyond the matter of ensuring access to high quality community infrastructure, there are also wide ranging other 

‘communities’ considerations, for example, supporting regeneration in the Thames Gateway part of the Borough.  

Also, traffic congestion is often a key issue for many communities.  However, it is considered appropriate for this 

section to focus primarily on matters relating to capacity of / access to community infrastructure. 

In light of the above points, perhaps the key consideration relates to support for growth via strategic sites well 

suited to delivering new and upgraded community infrastructure, as opposed to growth via more ‘piecemeal’ urban 

extensions, where opportunities can be missed, despite mechanisms for gathering funds for infrastructure.55  

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is supported, from a 

‘communities’ perspective, particularly as the scheme would certainly enable delivery of a new secondary 

school (specifically, serviced land in an appropriate location would be made available).  Following discussions 

with Kent County Council (KCC), secondary school capacity is understood to be a significant issue in this part 

of the Borough, given limited surplus capacity at the two existing secondary schools (one grammar and one 

non-selective), limited potential for expansion (particularly the grammar school, which is in a constrained central 

location) and committed growth (noting that catchment areas stretch to include Canterbury District).  KCC has 

been actively exploring potential locations for a new secondary school, but options are limited.  Latest 

understanding is that the secondary school would come forward at the site directly to the east of Faversham.  

Another important consideration, in respect of strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham, relates to 

engagement, joint working and stewardship.  Focusing on Southeast Faversham, the Stantec Assessment of 

Stage 2 submissions (2019) finds: “The essence of this scheme is the use of the Duchy model and product.  

This is a now well-established and high profile approach which is the only example received where the 

landowner takes control of the design process in considerable detail so as to ensure that it is implemented in 

accordance with agreed principles and detail…   As part of this, the Promoter would retain the ability to enforce 

ongoing covenants over design quality and estate management standards…  Some of the evidence studies for 

this scheme is in hand, but it is the early public engagement work through use of the Enquiry by Design process 

promoted by the Princes Trust, which is by far and away the most advance of all the schemes.  In addition, two 

classicist architects have been appointed to develop the detailed design principles and as a result, the 

promoters are considerably further along the route of addressing design issues than the other proposals.  

However, the principles being advocated are not entirely synonymous with the Garden Community Principles 

and there could be tensions between them that might lead to trade-offs.  Setting a clear approach in the Local 

Plan and any Supplementary Design Guidance is likely to be important going forward to resolve these issues.”   

This finding of the Stantec work is in many ways encouraging; however, there is perhaps a concern regarding 

an early focus on detailed design to the detriment of effective planning to realise strategic infrastructure, 

environmental and socio-economic objectives, including at the Faversham scale and wider scales.  It is also 

noted that no updated proposals or evidence has been made publicly available to update the August 2018 

submission following the Garden Communities Prospectus (although the promoter did engage well with Stantec 

as part of the ‘assessment of submissions’ process).  There is no website for this scheme, unlike Bobbing. 

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is not supported, from a ‘communities’ perspective.  The proposed scheme is notably smaller, 

with no secondary school proposed (although the committed school at NW Sittingbourne would be in close 

proximity, and presumably would have capacity over-and-above that needed to meet committed housing growth 

at Sittingbourne and Iwade), and there is a need to factor-in the possibility of the scheme expanding in the 

future.  Also, relative viability challenges in this part of the Borough could constrain potential to deliver new high 

quality community infrastructure, relative to E/SE Faversham.   

Also Bobbing - a historic village (six listed buildings, including a grade 1 listed church) with a primary school - 

would be largely enveloped by the scheme, although development would deliver a bypass of the village, serving 

to greatly reduce traffic through the village, along Sheppey Way.   

Also, the package of urban extensions at Faversham under this scenario (c.1,000 in total) gives rise to a 

significant concern, given the secondary school capacity constraint.  There would be significant growth to the 

east under this scenario, as per Scenario 1; however, it is not clear (and considered unlikely) that land would 

be made available for a secondary school (unlike under Scenario 1) given reduced economies of scale. 

 
55 All new development is expected to contribute towards the cost of new infrastructure.  Infrastructure funding by developers is 
most often secured through planning obligations (either through a Section 106 agreement or Section 278 Highway agreement 
with Kent County Council) or the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL); however, there is no CIL in place for Swale.  On-site 
infrastructure will be secured based on the needs of each proposal and delivered directly by the developer or through financial 
contributions and/or the provision of land.  Off-site infrastructure will be secured through developer contributions. Page 750



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 42 

 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  Key considerations relate to: 

─ Rushenden – the aim is for a major mixed use development here to support regeneration at Queenborough/ 

Rushenden, which is a well-established regeneration priority area (Policy Regen 2 of the adopted Local 

Plan).  In addition to new high quality homes and employment opportunities, growth at this scale (850 

homes) would typically enable delivery of targeted new community infrastructure (e.g. perhaps a primary 

school for Rushenden), and there is also an opportunity around new green/blue infrastructure delivery, as 

understood from the Green and Blue Infrastructure Strategy (2020), and recognising the coastal location.  

However, details of the proposed scheme are not known at the current time, and are subject to change 

given the need for further work to address constraints and delivery challenges. 

─ Teynham – as discussed, the aspiration to deliver a village bypass, to the benefit of the village centre, would 

not be realised under this scenario, and there might be lower likelihood of delivering a new A2 cycle link.  

More generally, there is a need to consider the possibility of achieving a critical mass of housing growth at 

Teynham alongside new employment land (in particular, the committed new employment land at Frognal 

Land) and improvements to the village centre.  The Settlement Hierarchy Study (2020) serves to suggest 

that Teynham is already the best served of the tier 4 settlements (see the Settlement Audit Matrix), and the 

possibility of Teynham moving up a tier in the hierarchy can be envisaged. 

─ Sittingbourne – there is an anecdotal concern that recent and committed growth at Sittingbourne is putting 

pressure on infrastructure; however, it is difficult to pin-point specific issues.  There are four secondary 

schools to the south of the A2 (two grammar schools and two non-selective schools), which is the part of 

Sittingbourne that would likely be a focus of growth, and the NW Sittingbourne strategic allocation is set to 

deliver a new secondary school (although not in the short term). 

─ Leysdown – there is an argument for housing growth in support of village vitality objectives, e.g. with a view 

to supporting shops and services outside of the tourism season.  The Settlement Hierarchy Study (2020) 

explains: “Leysdown and the surround have a unique tourism offer but otherwise would benefit from more 

diverse employment opportunities, public transport improvements and support for local services.” 

─ Minster – it is not clear what community infrastructure would be delivered by the 650 home scheme assumed 

under this scenario.  The site is notably adjacent to Thistle Hill, which is a new community that has come 

forward over the past thirty years (near completion) alongside new community infrastructure. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – on one hand, a focus of growth at two strategic sites is supported, 

from a perspective of seeking to bring forward new strategic community infrastructure to ‘consume the smoke’ 

of new housing/communities.  However, on the other hand, growth related opportunities elsewhere would be 

missed, e.g. Rushenden and Leysdown.   

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – a higher growth strategy potentially gives rise to a degree of 

concern, as additional growth could lead to increased risk of in-combination impacts (pressures on community 

infrastructure), particularly at Sittingbourne and on the Isle of Sheppey.  However, it is not possible to pinpoint 

specific concerns. 

In conclusion, Scenario 1 is judged to perform most strongly, as strategic growth at Faversham would deliver a 

much needed new secondary school, and, more generally, there would be good potential to masterplan and deliver 

a new community, or series of new communities, in line with established best practice principles.  However, there 

is some uncertainty at the current time, in the absence of detailed evidence, including an up-to-date masterplan. 

Scenarios 2 - 4 perform poorly, as there would either be problematic piecemeal expansion at Faversham (Scenario 

2) or a missed opportunity at Queenborough/Rushenden (Scenarios 3 and 4).  There is also a concern regarding 

growth locations impacting on existing community infrastructure capacity in combination under Scenario 5. 

With regards to the significance of effects, it is appropriate to highlight Scenario 1 as performing significantly better 

than the other scenarios.  Scenario 1 is clearly designed to ensure that housing growth brings with it community 

benefits.  The only stand-out concern is in respect of the proposal to support growth of 90 homes at Neames 

Forstal, which is a village with a very limited offer of local services and facilities.  Three adjacent sites are being 

promoted as a combined scheme that would also deliver a new footpath link to Selling (c. 1.5km to the west), where 

there is a primary school and other facilities; however, there is a need for further work to confirm deliverability of 

the footpath link (which will be within the AONB).   

The other scenarios would all lead to mixed effects. 

Page 751



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 43 

 

Economy and employment 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

 

3 4 4 2 

Discussion 

The Employment Land Review (ELR) sets out the amount of new employment land that must be delivered through 

allocations in the LPR (having factored-in existing committed supply and likely future losses of existing employment 

land, e.g. loss to housing), breaks down the overall requirement according to a series of employment land types 

and indicates where in the Borough delivery of each type of employment land should be focused.   

The headline recommendation of the ELR is as follows: 

“A) Up to 40ha of new land for industrial uses is allocated. This should be in the West of the Borough 

(Sittingbourne, Isle of Sheppey) on sites that are market attractive for larger warehouses.     

B) Up to 15 of new land for offices and light industrial uses is allocated. This should be focused to the east of 

the Borough in or around Faversham on one or more sites.” 

However, it is important to note that there is a considerable range that underpins recommendation (A).  Specifically, 

the figure decreases if a lower “5-year ‘margin’” is assumed, meaning an assumption that future losses of industrial 

land will not follow past trends.  There is a strong argument for assuming a lower 5-year margin, because past 

trends (see Table 5.2 of the ELR) are skewed by an abnormally large loss in 2011 (Sittingbourne Paper Mill).  

Furthermore, the ELR is clear that if the margin does need to be provided for, then it “does not necessarily need to 

be provided today because the logic of the margin is that it may only be needed towards the end of the plan period”.   

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - there is good potential to bring forward new employment land 

as part of a strategic urban extension to the E/SE of Faversham.  Specifically, there is the potential to deliver 

c.10ha of new industrial land to the east of Faversham and another c.10ha to the southeast (adjacent to M2 

J7), as well as smaller scale ‘pockets’ of employment throughout the scheme (this aligns with the emerging 

design ethos).  On this basis, ELR recommendations in respect of locally arising demand for offices, light 

industrial and industrial land would be met; however, opportunities to deliver large-scale new industrial land in 

well-connected locations in the west of the Borough, with a view to providing for the long term needs of footloose 

strategic warehousing and distribution operators serving London and the Southeast, could be missed.  The new 

industrial land at E/SE of Faversham (in particular the 10ha employment area adjacent to M2 J7) could prove 

attractive to strategic warehousing and distribution uses; however, this is unclear.  The ELR explains: 

“Although Faversham is an untested market for larger unit demand (which fuels the need for additional land) 

such a highly accessible area is likely to be in demand.  The part of the area (closest to the motorway unction) 

would be particularly attractive to strategic warehouse operators (min area 10 ha), because of the excellent 

access to the M2.  But should areas in the west of the Borough come forward these are likely to be preferable 

given they are closer to the M25 and benefit from better north / south access (A429).”  

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is not supported, from an ‘economy and employment’ perspective, as it could be challenging 

to meet borough-wide employment land targets.  Whilst there is merit to the location of the site in the west of 

the Borough in theory (given recommendation A of the ELR), the current scheme proposal includes limited new 

employment land, and would certainly not support warehousing.  Specifically, the current proposal is to deliver 

a fairly modest area of “flexible employment space” at the southeast corner of the site.  There might feasibly be 

potential for additional employment land, should it be required (see further discussion in Box 8.1). 

There is also a need to factor-in concerns regarding traffic at the A249 junctions with the B2006 and M2, with 

the concern being that traffic could affect the functioning of existing, committed and potential future employment 

areas at Sittingbourne (Eurolink HGVs use the B2006 junction) and Sheppey.   

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver around 

1,000 homes under this scenario, it is fair to assume that expansion to the east would deliver 10 ha of new 

employment land, as per Scenario 1; however, there is some uncertainty. 

Page 752



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 44 

 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  This approach is not supported, because the Rushenden 

scheme, as currently proposed, would deliver significant new employment land (complimenting the existing/ 

committed employment area at Neats Court), and there is also the potential for new employment land to come 

forward alongside new housing at Teynham (potentially complimentary to the committed new employment 

area).  It is not thought likely that the ‘replacement’ urban extensions would deliver significant new employment. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – as discussed, meeting the employment land targets set out in the 

ELR could prove challenging, because the potential to deliver new employment land as part of a strategic 

scheme at Bobbing is seemingly lower than as part of a mixed use scheme at Rushenden. 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – a higher growth strategy is not supported, on balance.  The 

additional growth locations in question would deliver limited new employment land, but would give rise to 

concerns regarding traffic congestion in the west of the Borough. 

In conclusion, Scenario 1 performs most strongly.  New employment land supply would be delivered such that 

ELR target (B) would be met, and target (A) possibly met in part.  Relative to Scenario 1: Scenarios 2 and 4 perform 

less well, as there would be a loss of 10 ha of employment land at either Faversham or Rushenden, with the 

resulting shortfall only partly addressed by strategic growth at Bobbing; Scenario 3 performs least well, because 

there would be a loss of 10ha of supply at Rushenden (also potentially some missed opportunity at Teynham).  

However, in practice, there would be the potential to allocate one or more additional employment sites.56   

With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk under all scenarios, and predict that the 

worst performing scenario (Scenario 3) would lead to significant negative effects.  These conclusions are reached 

in light of the headline targets set out in the ELR, albeit some targets are a range and require careful interpretation.  

It is also important to consider that the national and regional situation may have moved-on since the ELR  

Flood risk 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

2 2 

  

2 

Discussion 

Large parts of the Borough are constrained by flood risk, as set out within the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

(SFRA, 2019); however, most potential growth locations suitably avoid the flood risk zones.   

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE Faversham gives rise to limited 

concerns, from a flood risk perspective.  Perhaps the key point to note is that Preston Fields - an existing Local 

Plan allocation that would see intensification of development as part of the E/SE Faversham scheme - is 

associated with a shallow valley, within which there is a band of surface water flood risk associated with ‘pools’ 

to the north of the site (due to linear infrastructure in the form of the A2 and railway), and which becomes an 

area of fluvial flood risk further to the north (i.e. downhill), affecting the Cyprus Road area of Faversham.   

However, this scenario also sees an allocation for 850 homes at Rushenden, where flood risk is a significant 

constraint, as it is for much of the western part of Sheppey, with the notable exceptions of Rushenden itself and 

the historic core of Queenborough, where the land is slightly raised (see figure, below).  Some parts of the site 

are somewhat raised; however, this is due to past use as a landfill, which could be a constraint to housing. 

  

 
56 Sites that might be considered for allocation include: 18/007 (Land east of Sheppey Way, Bobbing; 1 ha) – however, suited to 
offices rather than industry; 18/018 (Land off Lower Road, Minster; 4 ha) – however, viability / deliverability on Sheppey is 
challenging; 18/105 (Halfway Egg Farm, Featherbed Lane, Sittingbourne; 2.9 ha) – promoted for retail, but the option of 
employment land might be explored, given its location adjacent to the A249 Grovehurst junction.   Page 753



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 45 

 

Figure 10.1: Elevation of land at Queenborough and Rushenden57 

 

The site has been the subject of a Level 2 SFRA (currently in draft), which concludes “part of the site is within 

Flood Zone 3b where more vulnerable development is not permitted.  However, the site area is quite large and 

it may be possible to adopt a sequential approach to the site layout with more vulnerable development located 

outside of Flood Zone 3a or 3b.”  It is understood that detailed work is ongoing, in respect of avoiding and 

mitigating flood risk, plus there would be a need for further detailed flood risk assessment work at the planning 

application stage.  As part of this, it is expected that options for managed retreat / coastal realignment will be 

explored (see discussion above, under biodiversity).  However, concerns remain.   

The following are select quotes from the Level 2 SFRA: 

─ “… the majority of the site flooded in February 1953 as a result of the overtopping of defences…  This 

dataset has been used to define Flood Zone 2 at this site, however it should be noted that changes in both 

sea level and ground levels since 1953 are likely to have resulted in a change to flood risk at this site... 

─ “The site is shown to be very sensitive to the impacts of climate change in comparison to the present day, 

with significant increases in flood extents across the site for both the 2080 and 2120 epochs for both higher 

central and upper end allowances for climate change.  Flooded areas of site also include the existing 

industrial estate along Argent Road with depths indicated to be in excess of 1m…  The 2120 epoch shows 

the most significant increase in flood extent, with the majority of the eastern side of the site and a large 

proportion of the centre of the site indicated to be within these flood extents in addition to areas where there 

are existing dwelling in Rushenden.  The centre of the site is not within these extents, however it is unclear 

whether safe access and egress would remain in the event of flooding and there is a risk that development 

could be cut off from surrounding infrastructure.  A commitment would be required to the improvement in 

the standard of existing defences so that proposed development would be safe for its intended life.  

─ The provisions should seek to improve the safety of the existing community in Rushenden.”  

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – with regards to strategic growth at Bobbing, a key consideration is 

the northern extent of the site, where a shallow valley is associated with surface water flood risk channel, which 

then becomes a fluvial flood risk channel at the northern extent of the site, and then affects a significant number 

of existing homes downstream in Iwade.  The emerging masterplan shows areas of greenspace and SuDS at 

the northern extent of the site, in response to the flood risk issue; however, there is also a proposed housing 

area, which possibly gives rise for a cause for concern around growth leading to increased surface water runoff 

and, in turn, increased flood risk downstream.  The Swale Level 1 SFRA (2019) explains: 

“The Iwade catchment is an area identified by Kent County Council where the effective implementation of SuDS 

features is likely to be key to enabling future development. There is a history of flooding in Iwade that is 

exacerbated by large areas of flow paths being culverted, with future development likely to have a reasonably 

significant impact on flood risk. As such, it is important that SuDS features and landscaping in potential 

developments are designed to attenuate surface water before it enters the Iwade Stream. Potential 

development in the Iwade catchment will only be permitted if it is demonstrable that betterment of runoff rates 

will be achieved.” 

 
57 This figure is one of a range of figures presented as part of the draft Level 2 SFRA for site 18/113 (JBA, 2020) Page 754



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 46 

 

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, the sites in question would encroach very close 

to the flood risk zone that constrains land to the north of Faversham (also an area of SPA, wider biodiversity 

and landscape sensitivity), and there is a need to consider the risk of flood risk zones extending under climate 

change scenarios; however, on balance there would appear to be the potential for limited further northward 

expansion of Faversham, from a flood risk perspective. 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  The site in question at Leysdown partially intersects the fluvial 

flood risk zone, but there would appear to be good potential to leave areas at risk as greenspace.  With regards 

to surface water flood risk, there are notable channels flowing from south to north at both Newington and 

Teynham, and at both settlements there appear to be issues around surface water pooling where its flow is 

hindered by infrastructure (namely the A2 and the railway); however, at all of the sites in question there should 

be good potential to deliver green and blue infrastructure within site boundaries in response to any flood risk 

that is found to exist, following detailed assessment at the planning application stage. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – there is no reason to suggest that strategic growth at both E/SE 

Faversham and Bobbing would lead to an in-combination flood risk impact.   

The assumption under this scenario is that support for two strategic growth locations would be accompanied 

by a lower growth strategy elsewhere, including at Rushenden (i.e. site SLA18/113 would not be allocated).. 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – this higher growth strategy does not give rise to any particular 

concern, over-and-above any site specific concerns (discussed above).  There would not be any additional risk 

of sites acting in combination to worsen flood risk.  Higher growth strategies can sometimes be supportive of 

investment in interventions to manage flood risk, for example new strategic flood storage areas; however, it is 

not possible to highlight any particular opportunities in this instance. 

In conclusion, the key consideration is in respect of site SLA18/113 at Rushenden.  Further work may find there 

to be exceptional circumstances that serve to justify growth in this area, taking account of the detailed nature of 

the flood risk and an in-depth understanding of the potential to support regeneration objectives for Queenborough/ 

Rushenden; however, at the current time it is appropriate to ‘flag’ a significant risk. 

Heritage 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

2 3 3 

 

3 

Discussion 

A key consideration is the risk of development being directed to parts of the Borough associated with one or more 

conservation areas or clusters of listed buildings indicating historic settlement, with a need to take into account the 

grade of listed buildings and also the extent of their setting, for example parish churches are often in prominent 

locations, and rural farmsteads can also have an extensive setting.  Furthermore, there is a need to consider ways 

in which designated assets relate to one another as part of historic landscapes. 

Other important designated heritage and historic environment assets in the Borough include scheduled monuments 

and registered parks/gardens, and both can be associated with extensive settings or clear positions within historic 

(or ancient) landscapes; however, these assets tend to be located in parts of the Borough unlikely to come into 

contention for growth.   

Another important consideration for planning is the location of non-designated assets and archaeology, as 

understood from the Kent Historic Environment Record; however, it is difficult to use this dataset for strategic 

planning at this (very high) level, because the dataset shows a very large number of assets and does not categorise 

assets according to significance. 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is tentatively 

supported, from heritage perspective.  Faversham is highly sensitive to growth, with the Swale Heritage 

Strategy (2020) explaining: “It is no coincidence that Faversham has the highest concentration of historic 

Page 755



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 47 

 

buildings in the area and also the most viable commercial and residential economic markets in the Borough”.  

However, in this context, there is potentially merit to a strategic urban extension to the E/SE of the town, as the 

effect should be to alleviate pressure for growth in sensitive locations elsewhere.  This suggestion reflects an 

understanding that land to the E/SE of Faversham is relatively unconstrained in historic environment terms, 

given 20th and 21st Century expansion focused in this direction (although it is important to recognise the 

presence of the small Preston-next-Faversham Conservation Area, at the junction of Salter’s Lane and the A2).  

Also, there could be good potential to deliver a new community that supports Faversham as a thriving market 

town and visitor/tourist destination.  However, there are other risks and uncertainties, including around:  

─ Traffic (including through the Ospringe Conservation Area);  

─ A new retail offer competing with Faversham town centre; 

─ Impacts to the historic agricultural and horticultural landscape setting of the town, including as experienced 

by motorists approaching along the A2 from the east, with the Swale Landscape Sensitivity (2020) 

explaining: “The time-depth of the landscape relates predominantly to the continuity of agriculture and fruit 

cultivation within the area, together with the presence of scattered historic farmsteads, with occasional 

pasture and traditional orchards.  Some areas of orchard have been lost in recent decades, together with 

field boundaries, resulting in more open, larger arable fields, particularly in the north and east of the area.”  

─ Impacts to landscapes that link the town to surrounding historic settlements and landscapes, in particular 

Goodnestone and the marshes to the northeast.  Key considerations include views from footpaths and cycle 

routes, and the rural landscape setting of the three closely linked historic farmsteads located between the 

expanding eastern edge of Faversham and Goodnestone.  One of the farmsteads is associated with a grade 

2* listed building and another associated with two grade 2 listed buildings.  The third farmstead is not 

associated with any listed buildings, but is visible on the pre-1900 OS map.  

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – strategic growth at Bobbing is thought to give rise to relatively limited 

concerns, from a heritage or historic environment perspective.  The new settlement would envelop the string of 

ten listed buildings that stretches between Bobbing in the south (where there is a grade 1 listed church) and 

Howt Green in the north; however, there is no designated conservation area; the historic character of this area 

is presumably somewhat affected by the nearby A429; and development would deliver a bypass of Bobbing.  

Development would envelop only one historic farmstead (with one grade II listed building), although the 

possibility of further expansion (in the future) encroaching upon two further farmsteads can be envisaged. 

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver around 

1,000 homes under this scenario, the two sites to the north would abut the extensive Faversham Conservation 

Area but are likely to have relatively limited visual connectivity.  However, sensitivities do exist, particularly given 

extensive views across flat, marshland-edge landscapes that potentially hold historic environment value, 

including views from public rights of way.  The Swale Landscape Sensitivity (2020) states the following in 

respect of one of the locations in question: “The wider views and visual relationship with the surrounding 

marshland and tidal creek (including a boat yard) and the local landmark of St. Mary’s Church, Faversham on 

the skyline provide a relatively strong sense of place.  The disused 19th century sewage pumping station and 

brick works buildings also have some historic and visual interest, the small surviving chimney of which forms a 

local landmark and contributes to the sense of past industry around the tidal creek area.” 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  Key considerations relate to: 

─ Sittingbourne – the southern-most urban extension would be in close proximity to the series of conservation 

areas associated with the parishes of Borden and Tunstall, and the possibility of a southern access point at 

the edge of the Tunstall Conservation Area is potentially a cause for concern.  The site appears to be 

currently in use for fruit growing, which is the traditional land use of this area, with the Landscape Sensitivity 

Assessment (2019) explaining that the ‘time-depth’ of the broad landscape to the south of Sittingbourne 

“relates predominantly to the continuity of agriculture and fruit cultivation within the area [and other factors]”.  

The site relates quite well to the existing urban edge in built form terms; however, footpaths surround the 

site, and the existing urban edge appears suitably ‘soft’, in that it mostly comprises mature back gardens. 

─ Minster – site SLA18/038 likely contributes to the setting of grade II listed Scoccles Court, which was 

associated with an extensive rural setting prior to development of Thistle Hill, over the past decade or so.  

There is also a need to consider the possibility of long distance of views across this site, across historic 

landscapes, including towards Minster, which is associated with raised ground to the north. 

Page 756



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 48 

 

─ Newington – the historic core of Newington is located approximately 300m to the east; however, there is a 

grade 2 listed farmhouse adjacent to the site.  There would be potential to mitigate impacts through 

masterplanning and design measures; however, the farmhouse might currently serve to mark a transition 

between village and countryside (albeit noting 20th Century frontage housing on the opposite side of the A2, 

and other development along the A2 to the west).  The site appears to be currently in use for fruit growing, 

which is the traditional land use of this area, with the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019) explaining 

that the ‘time-depth’ of the broad landscape to the southwest of Newington “relates predominantly to the 

continuity of  fruit cultivation within the area [and other factors].” 

─ Eastchurch – an extension to the village to the northwest could well have an effect on the setting of the 

small historic village core, which is nearby (within 200m) and includes a grade 1 listed church.    

─ Leysdown – the site in question has little or no historic environment sensitivity. 

─ Rushenden – the site in question appears to have limited sensitivity (although there are landscape 

sensitivities), and regeneration of Queenborough/Rushenden is supported from a heritage perspective.  The 

Queenborough Conservation Area is the only conservation area on Sheppey outside of Sheerness, with the 

Swale Heritage Strategy describing Queenborough as a ‘planned medieval town’ with a castle (the castle 

mound is a scheduled monument).  The Strategy also describes Sheerness and Queenborough as “beacons 

of coastal rejuvenation leading the way to success for all communities on the Isle of Sheppey”. 

─ Teynham – the lower growth strategy under this scenario is potentially supported, as there would be reduced 

risk of impacts to the conservation area.  Under a higher growth scenario (Scenarios 1, 2 and 5) there could 

be modest housing growth within the conservation area, plus there would be a risk of impacts from a village 

bypass (although a bypass might also reduce traffic in that part of the conservation area associated with the 

A2).  There are also two grade 2* listed buildings, to the west of the village (outside of the conservation 

area), that are adjacent to potential development sites, one of which is assumed to come forward under this 

lower growth scenario.  It is noted, however, that the sites in question are not currently used for fruit growing. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – there is no reason to suggest that strategic growth at both E/SE 

Faversham and Bobbing would lead to an in-combination historic environment impact.   

The assumption under this scenario is that support for two strategic growth locations would be accompanied 

by a lower growth strategy at other locations, including at Teynham (where the assumption is that there would 

be nil LPR allocations).  This approach is potentially supported, given that most potential growth locations are 

constrained either by the conservation area or one of the two grade 2* listed buildings to the west of the village. 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – this higher growth strategy gives rise to limited concerns over-

and-above the site specific concerns discussed above.  Higher growth to the west of the Borough could mean 

increased traffic impacting on conservation areas along the A2, but the significance of any such effect is unclear. 

In conclusion, Scenario 4 performs best as it would involve a focus at two strategic growth locations with limited 

historic environment sensitivity.  There has already been work undertaken to understand and respond to the historic 

environment sensitivities at the two strategic sites in question (see Appendix C of the October 2019 Stantec 

Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions)35 and, moving forward, there would be good potential to avoid and mitigate 

impacts through masterplanning, design and other measures (e.g. interpretation), working with Historic England.   

Scenario 1 also performs well on a similar basis, i.e. there would be a focus of growth at strategic sites.  However, 

there is a concern around constraints at Teynham being a barrier to strategic growth.   

Scenarios 2, 3 and 5 perform poorly as there would be a need to allocate a number of urban and village extensions 

with historic environment sensitivities.  It is a challenge to differentiate these scenarios, for example weighing up 

the cumulative impacts of extensions to Faversham under Scenario 2 versus a package of dispersed extensions 

under Scenarios 3 and 5 (plus there is a need to factor-in the growth-related opportunity at Rushenden). 

With regard to significant effects, it is appropriate to take a precautionary approach, and flag a notable degree of 

risk under Scenario 1, and the strong possibility of significant negative effects under Scenarios 2, 3 and 5.  There 

would be a need to engage Historic England prior to allocating a number of the urban/village extensions in question.   

  

Page 757



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 49 

 

Housing 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

4 3 2 3 

 

Discussion 

All five of the reasonable growth scenarios would involve a total housing land supply in excess of Local Housing 

Need (LHN), with the buffer ranging between 13% and 23%.  A ‘supply buffer’ is important given the risk of 

unforeseen delays to supply, i.e. the risk of sites not coming forward for development as anticipated and/or not 

delivering homes at the rate anticipated.  The size of buffer required is dependent on the ‘riskiness’ of the sites that 

make-up the supply, with strategic sites tending to be at relatively high-risk of delay, due to the range and 

complexity of the issues involved, for example around delivering required infrastructure upgrades.   

Also, in addition to the question of how many homes are provided for over the plan period, there is a need to ensure 

a steady (or otherwise acceptable) trajectory of housing delivery across the plan period, including in the early years 

of the plan period.  This necessitates a supply comprising a good mix of sites, both in terms of size/complexity and 

geographic location.  In this respect, it is important to recall that there is a very good mix of committed sites following 

the adopted Local Plan (and windfall sites that have come forward since the adopted Local Plan).  As discussed in 

Section 8, committed sites are expected to deliver around 11,000 homes in the LPR plan period (2022 to 2038). 

On one hand it is difficult to conclude that delivery risk is a ‘housing’ consideration for this assessment, as the 

NPPF puts in place mechanisms to redress unanticipated shortfalls in housing delivery (the presumption in favour 

of sustainable development); however, on the other hand, delivery risk is an important issue in Swale, with a desire 

to resist windfall schemes in unplanned locations.   

As stated within the officer’s report to the 29th October 2018 Local Plan Panel (which reported back on the Looking 

Ahead consultation):58 “Perhaps the single greatest influence on delivery levels will be the settlement strategy and 

the choice of sites that will be pursued by the next Local Plan.  Here, matters such as the viability of specific parts 

of the Borough and the ability of infrastructure to be in place at the right time will be key considerations.”  Viability 

need not necessarily constrain delivery if development costs are kept low, but this can lead to tensions with wider 

objectives, for example affordable housing and decarbonisation. 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) – there would be a focus of growth at sites associated with delivery 

risks and uncertainties; however, the proposed supply buffer of 13% serves to reduce concerns.   

Furthermore, E/SE of Faversham is thought to be associated with relatively low risk, for a strategic growth 

location of this scale.  The Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (2019) drew the following conclusion 

in respect of Southeast Faversham:  “Of the four schemes promoted this is clearly the lowest ‘risk’.  It is 

essentially an extension to Faversham and is more developed than the other three schemes, with fewer 

significant barriers to delivery within a short timetable.  It has also been shown to be viable.  There has been a 

commitment to accelerate the delivery rate which means the pace of delivery is more in line with the Council’s 

objectives.  However, there remains uncertainty about Junction 7…”   

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – strategic growth at Bobbing also gives rise to relatively limited 

delivery concerns, for a strategic growth location, with Stantec (2019) finding: “This site is reasonably low risk 

and is very viable, its landscape impact can be mitigated, and it has the potential to come forward quickly.”   

Under this scenario there would also be a package of urban extensions to Faversham that are assumed to be 

associated with low delivery risk, and potentially able to deliver in the early part of the plan period.    

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of 

urban/village extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would 

replace growth at Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  This approach is quite strongly supported, 

from a housing perspective, as the urban/village extensions in question are thought likely to be associated with 

low delivery risk, relative to Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area. 

  

 
58 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2094  Page 758

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2094


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 50 

 

Also, the Rushenden scheme is expected to deliver only around 10% affordable housing, and whilst viability is 

also a challenge to delivering housing elsewhere on Sheppey (notably Leysdown), it is possible that more than 

10% affordable housing could be achieved.59 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – is tentatively supported, because there would be a larger supply 

buffer (LHN plus 17%) and both strategic sites are currently proposing 40% affordable housing.  However, there 

would still be significant delivery risk given reliance on two strategic growth locations, albeit both are relatively 

low risk strategic sites, and the two sites are distant from one another.  Further considerations are: 

─ Risks and uncertainties - there is a need for considerable further work ahead of bringing forward both 

strategic sites, meaning that additional development costs could emerge leading to a need to reconsider 

the mix of housing, including affordable housing (and the mix of affordable housing), that can be delivered.  

At Bobbing there is notable uncertainty regarding the extent of transport infrastructure upgrades required to 

support the scheme; whilst at E/SE Faversham there remains uncertainty ahead of further detailed work in 

respect of masterplanning, infrastructure delivery and viability, taking account of local market conditions 

(there will be a need to deliver housing at a pace that avoids any concerns around local saturation). 

─ Growth beyond the plan period - one or both of the strategic sites could be expanded further so as to deliver 

additional housing beyond the plan period, with this having been discussed as an option for Bobbing.  

However, it is difficult to suggest this is a notable ‘positive’, from a housing perspective, as housing needs 

beyond the plan period can be met through a future Local Plan Review. 

─ Specialist accommodation - there can be good potential to integrate specialist accommodation, including 

Gypsy and Traveller Pitches (for which there is a need locally), as part of strategic development schemes; 

however, neither of the strategic sites are known to have made any firm proposals. 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – supply would amount to LHN plus 17%, and there would be a 

good mix of sites, both in terms of the size/complexity and geographic spread.  As such, there would be flexibility 

to either: A) set the housing requirement at LHN, with a large supply buffer; or B) set a housing requirement in 

excess of LHN (e.g. LHN plus 7%, leaving a supply buffer of 10%).   

Approach (A) would lead to a very low risk of the housing requirement not being met at any point in the plan 

period, i.e. a situation whereby the presumption in favour of sustainable development could apply and there is 

a need to allow windfall schemes in unplanned and potentially problematic locations.   

Approach (B) could help to address any unmet needs arising from the wider sub-region (specifically, locations 

that are suitably well connected to Swale); however, current understanding is that there are no such unmet 

needs (see discussion in Section 5.2). 

In conclusion, it is appropriate to highlight Scenario 5 as best performing, as it is a higher growth scenario 

comprising a good mix of sites.  Scenario 3 also performs well, as there would be a good mix of sites, including 

sites assumed to be associated with relatively low delivery risk, and certain sites thought likely to be able to deliver 

early in the plan period.  Scenarios 2 and 4 are joint third best performing.  Focusing on Scenario 4, whilst there 

would be a major reliance on strategic sites (with associated delivery risk), there would be a 17% supply buffer 

(also, both strategic sites are proposing to deliver 40% affordable housing).  Finally, Scenario 1 performs least well, 

as the scenario associated with both a lower supply buffer and a focus on sites with delivery risks. 

With regards to significant effects, it is certainly fair to highlight Scenario 5 as representing a highly proactive 

approach to responding to delivery challenges and risks.  Housing needs could be met under the other scenarios, 

although there is a degree of uncertainty in respect of Scenario 1. 

  

 
59 Variations in development viability are reflected in Policy DM8 (Affordable Housing) of the adopted Local Plan, which requires 
0% affordable housing on Sheppey and 10% affordable housing at Sittingbourne, in comparison to 35% affordable housing at 
Faversham and 40% affordable housing in the rural area.  The situation is thought to have improved, and the LPR will adjust the 
affordable housing policy accordingly; however, there will still be a need to account for variations in viability.  Page 759



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 51 

 

Land 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

   

2 3 

Discussion 

A key consideration is the need to avoid loss of best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land, particularly that 

which is of the highest quality nationally, namely grade 1 land.  Swale has an extensive resource of grade 1 land.   

The belt of grade 1 agricultural land in the Borough – known as the fruit belt – is centred on the A2 corridor, hence 

it is very challenging to deliver growth whilst avoiding loss of BMV land, including that which is grade 1.  Sheppey 

is relatively unconstrained, with low-lying land shown by the nationally available dataset as being non-BMV (grade 

4) and higher ground shown as grade 3 (which may or may not be BMV); however, there are barriers to growth. 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE Faversham would result in the loss 

of high quality agricultural land, with the national low resolution dataset indicating that virtually all of the land is 

likely to be of grade 1 quality.  None of the land has been surveyed in detail, other than the committed Preston 

Fields part of the site (it is typically the case that detailed survey work is undertaken as part of planning 

applications, but it can be undertaken to inform Local Plans), which was found to mostly comprise grade 1 land.  

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is marginally supported, as the low resolution national dataset shows a small proportion of 

the site to comprise land of either grade 2 (still BMV) or grade 3 (potentially BMV) quality.  Also, a portion of the 

site has been surveyed in detail and found to be of grade 3b quality (non-BMV). 

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver around 

1,000 homes under this scenario, all are currently farmed and likely to comprise BMV quality land.  Two sites 

have been surveyed in detail, showing one to comprise grade 1 quality land (the low resolution national dataset 

indicates that it is urban land) and the other to comprise grade 3a land (the national dataset indicates grade 1).   

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  Key considerations relate to: 

─ Sittingbourne – the national dataset indicates a swath of grade 2 land to the south of Sittingbourne; however, 

the urban extension to the south of Sittingbourne assumed under this scenario has been partly surveyed in 

detail and been found to comprise grade 1 quality land (it is currently used for fruit growing).  As for the other 

urban extension assumed under this scenario, which is to the southeast of Sittingbourne, this has been 

surveyed in detail and found to comprise a mixture of grade 1 (BMV) and grade 3b (non-BMV) quality land.  

It is currently used in part for fruit growing. 

─ Bobbing – the assumption under this scenario is that one or more modest sites would be allocated, 

potentially through a Neighbourhood Plan.  The entire area in question is likely to comprise grade 1 land. 

─ Minster – whilst the site in question has not been surveyed in detail, much of the adjacent land at Thistle 

Hill was surveyed in detail prior to development and found to be of grade 3b quality.  

─ Teynham and Newington – both villages are strongly associated with grade 1 quality land (although detailed 

survey work at Teynham has found there to be some grade 2 quality land) and historical imagery (available 

for 1940 and 1960)60 shows near ubiquitous fruit growing; however, of the sites in contention for allocation, 

it appears that only the site at Newington is currently used for fruit growing. 

─ Eastchurch and Leysdown – the national dataset indicates grade 3 quality land.  The Eastchurch site has 

been surveyed in detail and found to comprise grade 3a quality land (i.e. BMV).    

 
60 See https://webapps.kent.gov.uk/KCC.KLIS.Web.Sites.Public/Default.aspx or Google Earth Page 760

https://webapps.kent.gov.uk/KCC.KLIS.Web.Sites.Public/Default.aspx


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 52 

 

─ Rushenden – the national dataset indicates that the site is a mixture of grade 4 and grade 5 quality land.  

Part of the site comprises a former landfill (dredged materials, as opposed to waste), hence development 

could enable remediation and therefore represent a good use of despoiled or contaminated land. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – as discussed, both sites would involve significant loss of BMV 

agricultural land.  Further considerations relate to the assumed nil growth Teynham (extensive BMV land) and 

Rushenden (extensive non-BMV land).   

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – a higher growth strategy for Swale naturally gives rise to a 

cause for concern, given the sensitivity of Swale in the regional and national context; however, higher growth 

would be partly achieved allocation of additional sites on the Island of Sheppey, which is less sensitive. 

In conclusion, it is appropriate to conclude that all of the reasonable growth scenarios would lead to significant 

negative effects, due to significant loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, including grade 1 land that is 

of the highest quality nationally.  On balance, it is appropriate to place the scenarios in an order of preference 

according to the total quantum of growth supported. 

N.B. a further consideration is the extent of minerals safeguarding areas across the Borough;61 however, these are 

very extensive, covering the majority of land along the A2 corridor.  The Isle of Sheppey is less constrained; 

however, it is difficult to confidently and meaningfully differentiate the growth scenarios in respect of impacts to 

minerals safeguarding areas.  In practice, the presence of a safeguarding area does not necessarily mean that 

extraction would be viable, and it can be possible to extract minerals prior to development.62   

Landscape 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

2 3 3 

 

4 

Discussion 

There is a wide range of evidence to take into account, when considering the landscape merits of Swale LPR 

growth scenarios.  In addition to avoiding impacts to the Kent Downs AONB, and its setting, there is a need to 

avoid impacts to locally designated landscapes and countryside gaps, as understood from the Landscape 

Designation Review (2018) and the Important Local Countryside Gaps study (2020).  Additionally, the Landscape 

Sensitivity Assessment (2019) examines the sensitivity of all landscape parcels surrounding the main settlements.  

More broadly, there is a need to consider topography across the Borough, historic landscape character and 

important views, including from roads and public rights of way.  There is also a need to be mindful of wide ranging 

ecosystem services delivered by landscape units (see discussion in Appendix II). 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is supported, from a 

landscape perspective, in light of the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019), which finds the entire site to 

fall within a parcel of moderate sensitivity (parcel FM1), which equates to relatively limited sensitivity in the 

context of the Borough and, in particular, Faversham.  The assessment notes that the “presence of major road 

infrastructure and heavy traffic” has a significant impact on “the sense of rurality and tranquillity”.  Despite this, 

however, the assessment also finds that the area “retains a strongly agricultural character” and that this 

character together with the “visual exposure of the area” results in a degree of sensitivity.  It is important to 

recognise that development would breach a longstanding settlement boundary feature to the southeast of the 

town, namely the A2 which has historically marked the limit of the southern extent of the town (with the town 

centre focused on the creek, more so than the road and railway); however, existing Local Plan allocations have 

already breached the boundary of the A2 to the south of the town.  Furthermore, expansion to the southeast 

has the benefit of being able to draw upon the M2 (with the AONB beyond) as a new strong/defensible long-

term boundary.  Having said this, the current proposal falls short of comprehensively planning for land as far as 

similarly defensible boundaries to the east (either the A299 or, should employment be a suitable use 

 
61 See kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-
policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy#tab-1  
62 See further discussion at: mineralproducts.org/19-release20.htm Page 761

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy#tab-1
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy#tab-1
https://mineralproducts.org/19-release20.htm


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 53 

 

surrounding the motorway junction, the need to maintain a landscape buffer to Boughton) and the northeast 

(flood risk and heritage including farmsteads and the Goodnestone Conservation Area).   

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – strategic growth at Bobbing is also supported, from a landscape 

perspective.  The site is distant from the AONB and associated with broad landscape units assigned ‘moderate’ 

and ‘low-moderate’ sensitivity scores by the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  The southern part of the site 

is more sensitive, given existing narrow settlement gaps; however, the current proposal is for development to 

extend only as far south as the railway line, meaning that, whilst the Bobbing settlement gap would be eroded 

or lost, the gap(s) between Sittingbourne and Newington would not be affected.  In this respect, it is important 

to note that an earlier masterplan proposed a large area of parkland to the south of the railway.  Finally, it is 

important to note that the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (2019) identifies the potential for the 

scheme to expand beyond its current ‘red line boundary’ (see page 15 of the report).  There is an argument for 

comprehensive long-term planning for this part of the Borough, rather than piecemeal growth.  The possibility 

of comprehensively planning for the entire area of land between the A249 in the east, the A2 in the south, the 

Lower Halstow – Iwade Ridge in the west and Iwade in the north might be envisaged, with a view to securing 

infrastructure, environmental protection/enhancement and employment land.   

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver around 

1,000 homes under this scenario, it is thought likely that it would be possible to avoid impacts to the most 

sensitive landscapes around the town.  Two modest extensions to the north would impact on expansive views 

across marshland-edge landscapes, including from public rights of way, but there would be little or no further 

risk of further urban creep in the future, given the extent of flood risk zones.  The modest urban extension to 

the south would be well contained in the landscape, but is still associated with a degree of sensitivity as this is 

a ‘gateway’ location on the approach to Faversham from the west.  Further expansion to the east would be into 

a landscape with relatively low sensitivity, in the Faversham context, but ‘urban sprawl’ might be a concern. 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  Key considerations relate to: 

─ Sittingbourne – both of the urban extensions assumed under this scenario fall within landscape parcel SE4, 

which extends across much of the southern edge of Sittingbourne, and is judged to have overall moderate-

high sensitivity, with a key conclusion: “The landscape has a distinctive dry valley in the east, evidenced by 

its local landscape designation, and a rolling and undulating landform in the centre and west.  There is a 

strong rural character through much of the area, and a resource of valued natural features and semi-natural 

habitats.  There are high levels of enclosure and a well-defined urban edge to Sittingbourne.  It is in close 

proximity and partially visible from the AONB which lies to the south of the M2.”  The site to the southeast 

is potentially most sensitive, as it is located on the edge/crest of the Rodmersham dry valley, which is a 

locally designated landscape, with a bridleway passing along the edge of the site, from which there might 

well be an appreciation of the valley and the fruit growing heritage of the area.  Sensitivities in respect of 

the site to the south have already been discussed above, under ‘heritage’. 

─ Bobbing – the assumption under this scenario is that one or more modest sites would be allocated, 

potentially through a Neighbourhood Plan.  There are certain sites that are quite well contained in the 

landscape, and it is considered likely that modest expansion of the village could occur without problematic 

expansion uphill towards Keycol / Keycol Hill. 

─ Minster - the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) identifies all land surrounding Minster as having 

moderate-high sensitivity to housing growth, with inherent sensitivities associated with the raised rolling 

landscape of Sheppey’s clay “backbone”.  The site in question is not one of the more sensitive parts of the 

wider landscape parcel; however, there are still likely to be sensitive views across the site, both north 

towards Minster on higher ground, and south across the Swale.  There could be merit to strategic planning 

for the broad area south of Minster/Halfway, drawing on lessons learned from Thistle Hill, and avoiding 

piecemeal expansion that could lead to environmental and socio-economic opportunities missed. 

─ Newington and Teynham – sensitivities associated with the villages have already been discussed above, 

including associated with their fruit growing heritage; however, the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

(2019) serves to indicate that, in the Borough context, there is a degree of relative landscape capacity at 

both villages.  There is a notable concern associated with further expansion of Teynham to the east; 

however, the assumption is that any further expansion would not break the prominent north/south ridgeline 

(associated with public footpaths).  There are also challenges associated with expansion of Teynham to the 

west, given the need to maintain a settlement gap to Bapchild (this is explored within the Local Countryside 

Gaps study, 2020), and the possibility of delivering the final section of the Sittingbourne Northern Relief 

Road is a related consideration.  With regards to expansion to the SW of Teynham, there is a degree of 

Page 762



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 54 

 

sensitivity, given views across this land from footpaths and Claxfield Road, which is designated as a rural 

lane.  In contrast, views across the potential village extension to the SW of Newington may be more limited.  

─ Eastchurch – the proposed site does not relate very well to the existing village, and would give rise to 

landscape concerns given topography, limited landscape features to bound expansion and ‘moderate-high’ 

landscape sensitivity.  

─ Leysdown – has low-moderate landscape sensitivity and the site in question is in use as a holiday park. 

─ Rushenden – despite partly comprising a former landfill, the site is thought to be associated with 

considerable landscape sensitivity, as it forms the western extent of the North Swale (Sheppey) Marshes 

locally designated landscape.  Furthermore, there is a likelihood of a mixed use scheme, and the Landscape 

Sensitivity Assessment identifies this area as having a high sensitivity to employment development. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – as discussed, both strategic sites are supported, from a landscape 

perspective, and support for two strategic sites would enable lower growth elsewhere, including at Rushenden.   

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – a higher growth strategy does give rise to concerns, given 

sensitivities associated with the sites that would come into contention for additional allocation (over-and-above 

Scenario 1).  Whilst the AONB is not likely to be a constraint to higher growth, there would be concerns around 

impacts to locally designated landscapes, important settlement gaps, landscapes judged to have moderate-

high sensitivity by the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment and other landscapes with a degree of sensitivity, 

including in light of historic landscape character.  However, under this scenario the effect could be to prevent a 

situation whereby there is a need to accept windfall development in sensitive locations and/or the effect could 

be to reduce pressure for growth in sensitive locations in neighbouring authorities.  It is recognised that other 

neighbouring authorities in the sub-region equally face landscape constraints, for example undeveloped land 

around the edge of the Medway Towns is likely to be associated with inherent sensitivity.  

In conclusion, Scenario 4 is judged to perform best.  Scenario 1 performs second best, although there are 

concerns associated with growth at Rushenden, and also a degree of concern associated with growth at Teynham.  

Scenarios 2 and 3 are judged to perform on a par, with certain of the urban/village extensions in question giving 

rise to a degree of concern.  Scenario 5 gives rise to a concern, as a higher growth option, although the effect could 

be to prevent a situation whereby there is a need to accept windfall development in sensitive locations and/or the 

effect could be to reduce pressure for growth in sensitive locations in neighbouring authorities. 

With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a risk under all but the best performing scenario, including 

on the basis of the need to allocate at least one site within a locally designated landscape. 

Transport 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

 

2 2 2 3 

Discussion 

Transport connectivity and traffic congestion is a key issue in Swale, given the inherent constraints that exist.  The 

Borough is very well connected by rail; however, main settlements and potential growth locations feed onto a limited 

number of strategic road corridors, including the A2 which passes through the centre of settlements (the only 

bypasses are at Sittingbourne town centre and Boughton).  Enabling longer distance trips via the M2 rather than 

the A2 is an important objective, but there are junction constraints, and just three junctions serving the Borough, 

which contrasts to four serving the Medway towns. 

The following bullet points consider the reasonable growth scenarios in turn: 

• Scenario 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is tentatively 

supported, from transport perspective.  Key statements made by the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 

Submissions (2019) include: 

─ “The primary issue is the M2 J7 [Brenley Corner] which currently operates above capacity.  Greater detail 

is required to understand the impact and mitigation… it is recognised that because the Duchy own the land 

there is the opportunity to address issues at J7, although this is not currently proposed as part of the 

scheme.”   Page 763



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 55 

 

─ “The proposal appears to rely on the upgrades to Brenley Corner, however, the extent to which highway 

capacity is an existing constraint on development in this location will need further investigation and may be 

being under appreciated…”  

─ “While there is mention of the Preston Fields link [to M2 J6], which has the potential to mitigate some impact 

on the A2/A251 junction, it has not yet been evaluated or agreed with the Private Finance developer.” 

─ “The proposal seeks improvements and benefits provided in terms of traffic calming along the A2, as well 

as securing enhancing cycle and pedestrian links.  Whilst it is understood that the promoter has experience 

of calming a major A road at Poundbury, the situation at Faversham is different, with the A2 continuing to 

need to function as a major through route.  The full success of any ‘calming’ may be predicated on achieving 

a road link between the A2 and A251/J6.  This is a matter which has yet to be resolved and secured as part 

of this scheme.”    

In short, there is merit in the location and the proposed scheme, as has been discussed above under other 

headings, but there is a concern regarding capacity at M2 J7 and the potential to achieve a link to M2 J6.  It 

may be that the latest proposal, which involves bringing forward a combined scheme involving growth both to 

the east and southeast of Faversham, leads to greater potential to deliver timely road infrastructure upgrades, 

but there is no certainty in this respect. 

Additional evidence, in respect of E/ SE Faversham, comes from the April 2020 re-run of the Swale Transport 

Model (discussed in Appendix I), which serves to highlight limited concerns regarding the capacity at junctions 

in the area (see Table C in Appendix I). 

• Scenario 2 (Bobbing + Faversham UEs) – replacing strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham with strategic 

growth at Bobbing is not supported, from a transport.  Stantec conclude: “There is a risk of a ‘showstopping’ 

highways issue here – associated with the local network, A249 and the not fully funded J5 improvements.”  The 

latest situation is that M2 J5 improvements are expected to commence in 2021; however, the question of 

headroom is uncertain, and other concerns remain.  Stantec suggest that: “The proposal refocuses its emphasis 

on Newington Station with routes through the site to it and car parking to be provided and a shuttle bus.”  

However, there is no discussion of links to Newington Station on the scheme website.   

With regards to the package of urban extensions at Faversham, that are together assumed to deliver around 

1,000 homes under this scenario, these are all broadly supported, although expansion to the east would not be 

particularly well linked to the town centre, as has been discussed above. 

• Scenario 3 (E/SE Faversham + low risk UEs) – under this scenario the assumption is that a package of urban 

extensions at Sittingbourne, Minster, Teynham, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown would replace growth at 

Rushenden and the Teynham opportunity area.  A detailed discussion is presented above, under climate change 

mitigation, although it is difficult to draw an overall conclusion as to whether this approach is supported. 

• Scenario 4 (E/SE Faversham + Bobbing) – a focus at strategic sites is supported in theory, as strategic 

concentrations of growth can support investment in road infrastructure and sustainable transport measures, 

plus there is greatest potential to deliver mixed use schemes that lead to a degree of self-containment / trip 

internalisation.  However, as discussed, there are concerns regarding the proposed Bobbing scheme. 

• Scenario 5 (Preferred scenario + low risk UEs) – assuming that the effect of this scenario is to provide for 

genuine higher growth (as opposed to seeking to provide for LHN with a large supply buffer, and thereby 

minimising the risk of problematic windfall schemes), then this scenario potentially gives rise to an inherent 

concern, on the basis that Swale is a constrained Borough.  Equally, the specifics of this high growth strategy 

give rise to cause for concern.  In particular, a higher growth strategy for the Isle of Sheppey (allocations totalling 

1,665 homes) in combination with allocations for 500 homes at Sittingbourne (plus town centre regeneration) 

and higher growth strategies for Newington and Teynham could well impact in-combination on problematic 

junctions on the strategic road network, in particular M2 J5 (A249),63 the A249 junctions (in particular the 

Bobbing junction) and junctions along the A2500 Lower Road on Sheppey (although a higher growth strategy 

for Sheppey could assist with securing funds for strategic upgrades).  If the Swale LPR were to make any 

 
63 The adopted Local Plan (2017) explains: “The main strategic risk to the plan overall relates to any significant deferral in the 
improvement to Junction 5 of the M2”.  Highways England consulted on upgrade options in 2017 (see 
highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/m2-junction-5-improvements) and identified a preferred option, but there have been 
funding challenges.  The September 2019 Stantec report explained that the scheme was still “not fully funded”, and discussions 
have continued through 2020.  However, latest understanding is that upgrades will commence in 2021.  A planning inquiry closed 
on 4th December 2020; however, this is specifically in respect of one element of the proposes scheme (a flyover), as opposed to 
the scheme as a whole.  There is also a need to consider the possibility that the M2 may see increase traffic following the Lower 
Thames Crossing and potentially given an increase in traffic to/from ports, in light of emerging national ports strategy. Page 764

http://www.highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/m2-junction-5-improvements


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 56 

 

provision for unmet needs arising from elsewhere there would also be a need to give careful consideration to 

where the needs are arising from, so as to avoid risk of problematic long distance travel by car. 

In conclusion, Scenario 1 is judged to perform best, followed by those scenarios involving strategic growth at 

Bobbing, and then followed by Scenario 3, which would involve more dispersed growth.  Scenario 5 (higher growth) 

is judged to perform poorly, although there could be some potential for growth locations along transport corridors 

(e.g. the Lower Road on the Isle of Sheppey) to pool funding to deliver strategic transport upgrades, for example 

junction upgrades, cycle routes and improved bus services. 

With regards to significant effects, emerging transport modelling work is serving to suggest that Scenario 1 will not 

lead to severe impacts on the strategic road network, but it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk for the other 

scenarios, and flag a particular risk under Scenario 5, given known constraints in the west of the Borough. 

Water 

Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario  

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

  

2 

 

3 

Discussion 

An important strategic consideration is waste-water treatment capacity.  The latest Stantec report includes a section 

on utilities capacity, which overall highlights very limited concerns, concluding:  

“There are no significant abnormal issues that have been identified that cannot be overcome.  Although there is a 

capacity issue with Water Treatment works in the area, which applies equally to all proposals and has to be 

addressed as part of the water companies statutory duty.”   

However, there is a need to apply caution, in the sense that there is a need to minimise any residual risk of capacity 

breaches (in respect of either treated or untreated effluent), with resultant water quality impacts.64  In turn, there 

are arguments for directing growth to locations where there is existing capacity at the receiving Wastewater 

Treatment Works (WwTW), as opposed to relying on timely capacity upgrades.   

There is some evidence to suggest that capacity at Faversham WwTW is a particular concern.  In particular, the 

Kent Water Sustainable Growth Study (2017) noted that headroom capacity at Faversham WwTW would be 

exceeded by planned growth to 2031 (as set out in the adopted Local Plan), hence there would be a need for 

upgrades.  However, as part of the assessment of the Southeast Faversham strategic site option, the Stantec 

Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (2019) explains:  

“The Sewage Treatment Works (STW) in Faversham is currently operating above its allowable discharge.  

However, there are solutions available to address the absence of capacity in the interim. The sewage discharge 

from the site can be temporarily pumped, for up to 2 years by the Water company, before the STW has been 

upgraded to sufficient capacity.   We understand that this is an issue but can be managed. Further details of… 

costs, options and works duration [are being discussed].” 

Further considerations are as follows: 

• Bobbing - it is unclear whether there is a need for a new pumping station, though the promoter has suggested 

that costs of any network reinforcement that may be required would not be borne by Southern Water.  

• Rushenden – the site in question is near adjacent to the large Queenborough WwTW; 

• Teynham and Eastchurch have a WwTW, whilst it appears (from the Ordnance Survey map) that Newington 

and Leysdown do not.  In the case of Newington, whilst details of sewage treatment are not known, the location 

of the village could serve to suggest that wastewater treatment could be a constraint to growth. 

  

 
64 N.B. as discussed within the Swale LPR Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) report, there are relatively limited concerns 
around sewage effluent impacting the North Kent Estuaries European sites from treated sewage effluent.  This is because these 
estuaries have a high sediment load, low water temperatures and high wave action.  As such, smothering macroalgal growth, 
which has caused issues for European sites on the south coast, is not considered a threat to achievement of conservation 
objectives for these European sites.  Page 765



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 57 

 

• In March 2020 Southern Water pleaded guilty to 51 sewage pollution charges, including permit breaches at 

Eastchurch, Queenborough, Sittingbourne and Teynham WwTW.  The charges cover historic events alleged to 

have taken place between 2010 and 2015, and it is understood that another investigation by the Environment 

Agency is under way that covers pollution incidents after 2015.65 

As for other ‘water’ considerations: 

• Pollution to surface water in the vicinity of growth locations – whilst there may be variation in water quality 

across the Borough’s surface water bodies, it is inherently difficult to differentiate the growth scenarios, because 

there is very good potential to deal with water pollution arising from development schemes through Sustainable 

Drainage Systems (SuDS).  Water pollution from breaches of capacity at WwTWs is considered to be a much 

more important strategic consideration for the LPR. 

• Pollution to groundwater in the vicinity of growth locations – groundwater source protection zones are 

associated with the parts of the Borough associated with a chalk geology, with Sheppey, Bobbing, and most 

land at Faversham (bar land directly to the south) falling outside of a source protection zone.  However, it is 

again the case that there is very good potential to suitably avoid/mitigate impacts through the development 

management process.  Groundwater source protection zones can be a particular constraint for polluting 

developments (e.g. heavy industry, petrol stations). 

• Water resources – water scarcity is an issue that applies across the Borough as a whole, hence it is a challenge 

to differentiate the growth scenarios.  It would not be appropriate to highlight a concern with scenario 5 on the 

basis that it is a higher growth strategy, as genuine higher growth (as opposed to aiming to provide for LHN by 

supporting a strategy that involves a large supply buffer) would only be supported if there are unmet needs 

arising from elsewhere within the sub-region where water scarcity is equally an issue. 

In conclusion, there would appear to be some wastewater treatment capacity constraints locally, as evidenced by 

recent pollution events (breaches of discharge permits); however, it is not possible to highlight concerns with any 

particular sites, or parts of the Borough, on the basis of the available evidence.  It is therefore appropriate to flag a 

concern with Scenario 5, as a higher growth scenario, and also Scenario 3 which involves a degree of dispersal to 

locations distant from a WwTW.   

With regards to effect significance, it is not possible to predict significant negative effects, because there tends to 

be good potential to deliver upgrades to wastewater treatment capacity ahead of growth; however, given the 

uncertainties at the current time, it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk under all growth scenarios.  It will be for 

the Environment Agency to comment further.  

 
65 See https://www.ft.com/content/3efb3e7b-3388-4f27-85ac-44b00aa1fd37  Page 766

https://www.ft.com/content/3efb3e7b-3388-4f27-85ac-44b00aa1fd37


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 58 

 

10.3 Summary and conclusions 

10.3.1 The matrix below draws together and summarises appraisal findings from Section 10.2. 

Table 10.1: Summary appraisal of the reasonable growth scenarios 

Scenario Scenario 1 

Preferred scenario 

Scenario 2 

Bobbing 

Faversham UEs 

Scenario 3 

E/SE Faversham 

Low risk UEs 

Scenario 4 

E/SE Faversham 

Bobbing 

Scenario 5 

Preferred scenario 

Low risk UEs 

SA topic Rank of preference and categorisation of effects 

Air quality 

 

3 2 2 4 

Biodiversity 2 3 

  

2 

Climate 
change 
mitigation  

2 2 

 

2 

Communities 

 

3 3 3 2 

Economy & 
employment 

 

3 4 4 2 

Flood risk 2 2 

  

2 

Heritage 2 3 3 

 

3 

Housing 4 3 2 3 

 

Land 

   

2 3 

Landscape 2 3 3 

 

4 

Transport 

 

2 2 2 3 

Water 

  

2 

 

3 

Overall summary and conclusions 

It is immediately apparent that Scenarios 1 (the emerging preferred scenario) and 4 (two strategic growth 

locations) perform well in a number of respects, as indicated by the number of stars and green scores assigned 

(particularly Scenario 1) and the relatively low number of red scores assigned (particularly Scenario 4).   

Page 767



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 59 

 

However, it does not necessarily follow that it is a straightforward choice between Scenarios 1 and 4, when 

deciding which is best performing overall.  This is because the appraisal does not make any assumptions 

regarding the weight that is attributed to each topic in the decision-making process.  For example, the decision-

maker might decide to give particular weight to housing objectives, which could mean favouring Scenario 5. 

Having made these opening remarks, the following bullet points summarise the performance of the broad growth 

scenarios in respect of each element of the SA framework in turn: 

• Air quality – higher growth is not supported given air quality constraints affecting Swale (and neighbouring 

authorities), particularly along the A2 corridor and along the B2006 in Sittingbourne.  Scenario 1 performs 

well because strategic growth to the east and southeast of Faversham gives rise to relatively limited 

concerns.  With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk under all 

scenarios.  The Air Quality Modelling Report explains that air quality is set to improve significantly over the 

plan period; however, air quality is currently a priority issue for the Council. 

• Biodiversity - Scenarios 3 and 4 are judged to perform best, as allocation of site SLA18/113 at Rushenden 

would be avoided (albeit it is recognised that detailed work is underway to understand the potential to avoid 

and mitigate biodiversity concerns associated with the site, and HRA work has concluded no likelihood of 

significant adverse effects to the SPA).  Scenario 2 performs poorly, on the basis that strategic growth to the 

east and southeast of Faversham is judged to be preferable to strategic growth at Bobbing.  With regards to 

significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk in respect of the three worst performing 

scenarios.  It is recognised that the best performing scenarios (Scenarios 3 and 4) could lead to significant 

positive effects, particularly given the potential for strategic growth locations to support achievement of 

biodiversity net gain; however, there is no certainty at the current time, given the available evidence. 

• Climate change mitigation – whilst it is challenging to differentiate the scenarios, on balance Scenarios 1 

(the emerging preferred scenario) and 4 (two strategic growth locations) are judged to be best performing.  

Scenario 1 may be preferable from a transport emissions perspective, whilst Scenario 4 may be preferable 

from a built environment emissions perspective.  With regards to effect significance, there is a need to 

balance an understanding that climate change mitigation is a global consideration, such that local actions 

can only ever have a limited effect on the baseline, with the fact that there is a highly ambitious local net zero 

target in place.  On balance, it is considered appropriate to flag a concern with all scenarios.  This reflects a 

view that the 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that decarbonisation must be a key driving factor 

influencing spatial strategy, site selection and development of site-specific proposals. 

• Communities - Scenario 1 is judged to perform most strongly, as strategic growth at Faversham would 

deliver a much needed new secondary school, and, more generally, there would be good potential to 

masterplan and deliver a new community, or series of new communities, in line with established best practice 

principles.  However, there is some uncertainty at the current time, in the absence of detailed evidence, 

including an up-to-date masterplan.  Scenarios 2 to 4 perform poorly, as there would either be problematic 

piecemeal expansion at Faversham (Scenario 2) or a missed opportunity at Queenborough/Rushenden 

(Scenarios 3 and 4).  There is also a concern regarding growth locations in combination impacting on existing 

community infrastructure capacity under Scenario 5.  With regards to the significance of effects, it is 

appropriate to highlight Scenario 1 as performing significantly better than the other scenarios.  Scenario 1 is 

clearly designed to ensure that housing growth brings with it community benefits.  The only stand-out concern 

is in respect of the proposal to support growth of 90 homes at Neames Forstal, which is a village with a very 

limited offer of local services and facilities.  The other scenarios would all lead to mixed effects. 

• Economy and employment - Scenario 1 performs most strongly given the assumed employment land 

supply at the proposed mixed us allocations, albeit there is some uncertainty.  Relative to Scenario 1: 

Scenarios 2 and 4 perform less well, as there would be a loss of 10 ha of employment land at either 

Faversham or Rushenden, with the resulting shortfall only partly addressed by strategic growth at Bobbing; 

and Scenario 3 performs least well, because there would be a loss of 10ha of supply at Rushenden (also 

potentially some missed opportunity at Teynham).  With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag 

a degree of risk under all scenarios, and predict that the worst performing scenario would lead to significant 

negative effects.  These conclusions are reached in light of the headline targets set out in the Employment 

Land Review (ELR, 2018), albeit certain ELR targets are a range and require careful interpretation.  It is also 

important to consider that the national and regional situation may have moved-on somewhat since the ELR.   

• Flood risk - the key consideration is in respect of site SLA18/113 at Rushenden.  Further work may find 

there to be exceptional circumstances that serve to justify growth in this area, taking account of the detailed 

nature of the flood risk and an in-depth understanding of the potential to support regeneration objectives for 

Queenborough/Rushenden; however, at the current time it is appropriate to ‘flag’ a significant risk. 

Page 768



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 60 

 

• Heritage - Scenario 4 performs best as it would involve a focus at two strategic growth locations with limited 

historic environment sensitivity.  Scenario 1 also performs well on a similar basis, i.e. there would be a focus 

of growth at strategic sites; however, there is a concern around constraints at Teynham being a barrier to 

strategic growth.  Scenarios 2, 3 and 5 perform poorly as there would be a need to allocate a number of 

urban and village extensions with historic environment sensitivities.  With regard to significant effects, it is 

appropriate to take a precautionary approach, and flag a notable degree of risk under Scenario 1, and the 

strong possibility of significant negative effects under Scenarios 2, 3 and 5.   

• Housing - it is appropriate to highlight Scenario 5 as best performing, as it is a higher growth scenario 

comprising a good mix of sites.  Scenario 3 also performs well, as there would be a good mix of sites, 

including sites assumed to be associated with relatively low delivery risk, and certain sites thought likely to 

be able to deliver early in the plan period.  Scenarios 2 and 4 are joint third best performing.  Focusing on 

Scenario 4, whilst there would be a major reliance on strategic sites (with associated delivery risk), there 

would be a 17% supply buffer (also, both strategic sites are proposing to deliver 40% affordable housing).  

Finally, Scenario 1 performs least well, as the scenario associated with both a lower supply buffer and a 

focus on sites with delivery risks.  With regards to significant effects, it is certainly fair to highlight Scenario 

5 as representing a highly proactive approach to responding to delivery challenges and risks.  Housing needs 

could be met under the other scenarios, although there is a degree of uncertainty in respect of Scenario 1. 

• Landscape - Scenario 4 is judged to perform best.  Scenario 1 performs second best, although there are 

concerns associated with growth at Rushenden, and also a degree of concern associated with growth at 

Teynham.  Scenarios 2 and 3 are judged to perform on a par, with certain of the urban/village extensions in 

question giving rise to a degree of concern.  Scenario 5 gives rise to a concern, as a higher growth option, 

although the effect could be to prevent a situation whereby there is a need to accept windfall development 

in sensitive locations and/or the effect could be to reduce pressure for growth in sensitive locations in 

neighbouring authorities.  With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a risk under all but the 

best performing scenario, including on the basis of the need to allocate at least one site within a locally 

designated landscape. 

• Transport - Scenario 1 is judged to perform best, followed by those scenarios involving strategic growth at 

Bobbing and then Scenario 3, which would involve more dispersed growth.  Scenario 5 (higher growth) is 

judged to perform least well, although there could be some potential for growth locations along shared 

transport corridors (e.g. the Lower Road on the Isle of Sheppey) to pool funding to deliver strategic transport 

upgrades, for example junction upgrades, cycle routes and improved bus services.  With regards to 

significant effects, emerging transport modelling work is serving to suggest that Scenario 1 will not lead to 

severe impacts on the strategic road network, but it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk for the other 

scenarios, and flag a particular risk under Scenario 5, given known constraints in the west of the Borough. 

• Water - there would appear to be some wastewater treatment capacity constraints locally, as evidenced by 

recent pollution events (breaches of discharge permits); however, it is not possible to highlight concerns with 

any particular sites, or parts of the Borough, on the basis of the available evidence.  It is therefore appropriate 

to flag a concern with Scenario 5, as a higher growth scenario, and also Scenario 3 which involves a degree 

of dispersal to locations distant from a WwTW.  It is not possible to predict significant negative effects, 

because there tends to be good potential to deliver upgrades to wastewater treatment capacity ahead of 

growth; however, given the uncertainties at the current time, it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk under 

all growth scenarios.  It will be for the Environment Agency to comment further. 

  

Page 769



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 2 61 

 

Officers response to the appraisal 

10.3.2 As discussed, it is not the role of the appraisal to arrive at a conclusion on which of reasonable growth 

scenarios is best, or ‘most sustainable’ overall.  Rather, it is the role of the plan-making authority to arrive 

at that conclusion, informed by the appraisal.  The following statement explains officers’ reasons for 

supporting Growth Scenario 1, in-light of the appraisal: 

Scenario 1 is judged to perform well overall in that it aligns well with a range of priority objectives, and 

whilst there are clear tensions and challenges, it is not possible to envisage an alternative strategy that 

would perform better overall.  The appraisal serves to highlight Scenario 4 as potentially having a degree 

of overall merit, however the view of officers is that a strategy involving two garden communities would 

involve a high degree of delivery risk, and it is important to note that when the elected councillors of the 

Local Plan Panel considered broad growth scenarios on 30th July 2020 there was no support for a strategy 

involving two garden communities.   

The appraisal highlights several stand-out risks; however, it is important to note that the appraisal is 

undertaken largely blind to the policy framework within the LPR that will guide delivery.  In this light, officers 

do not judge any of the highlighted risks and drawbacks to be unacceptable (‘showstoppers’).  Taking key 

matters in turn: 

• Biodiversity – the proposed policy is seeking to accord with best practice nationally, and biodiversity net 

gain is being prioritised as one of the key ‘policy asks’ of developers; 

• Flood risk - latest understanding is that there is good potential to reduce risk to an acceptable level 

through masterplanning and design measures, and there is a need to support growth at Queenborough 

and Rushenden if long standing regeneration objectives are to be realised; 

• Heritage – the Council’s heritage specialists have been closely engaged as part of the spatial strategy, 

site selection and policy writing process, and there is scope for further strengthening of policy if 

necessary; 

• Housing – the evidence suggests the proposed supply can meet needs, and whilst there are inevitably 

risks, these need to be balanced against a desire not to over-allocate, with resulting issues and impacts. 

• Landscape – a key concern relates to growth at Rushenden; however, there is confidence in the potential 

to address concerns through masterplanning and design. 

 

Page 770



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 3 62 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 3: What are the next steps? 
  

Page 771



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Part 3 63 

 

11 Plan finalisation 

11.1 Publication of the LPR and SA Report 

11.1.1 The aim of this Interim SA Report is to inform a decision on whether to publish the LPR for consultation, 

under Regulation 19 of the Local Planning Regulations.  Should a decision be made to publish the LPR, 

then there will be a need to prepare the SA Report for publication alongside the LPR.   

11.1.2 Table 1.1 (in Section 1 of this report) explains the information that will be presented in the SA Report, in 

comparison to the information presented in this Interim SA Report.  The SA Report published for 

consultation alongside the draft plan (which for Local Plans means the proposed submission version 

published under Regulation 19 of the Local Planning Regulations) must present the information required 

under Regulations 12(2) and 12(3) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations [2004], with the aim of informing consultation and plan finalisation. 

11.2 Submission, examination and adoption 

11.2.1 Once the period for representations on the Proposed Submission LPR / SA Report has finished the main 

issues raised will be identified and summarised, and a decision made regarding whether the plan is 

‘sound’.  Assuming that the LPR is considered to be sound, it will then be submitted to Government, 

alongside the summary of issues raised through consultation and other supporting documentation, 

including the SA Report. 

11.2.2 An examination in public will then be held, overseen by one or more appointed Planning Inspectors.  The 

Inspector(s) will consider whether the plan is legally compliant and sound, in light of the available evidence, 

including representations received at the Regulations 19 stage, the SA Report and (in all likelihood) further 

evidence gathered through hearings.  The Inspector(s) will then either report back on the Plan’s soundness 

or identify the need for modifications.  If there is a need for modifications these will be prepared and then 

subjected to consultation, alongside SA if necessary. 

11.2.3 Once found to be ‘sound’ the LPR will be adopted by the Council.  At the time of adoption a ‘Statement’ 

must published that explains the ‘story’ of plan-making / SA process and sets out ‘the measures decided 

concerning monitoring’.   

12 Monitoring 
12.1.1 The SA Report must present ‘measures envisaged concerning monitoring’, albeit mindful that decisions 

on monitoring must be taken by Swale Borough Council (the last Authority Monitoring Report was 

published in 2017) 

12.1.2 At the current time it is too early make firm recommendations in respect of areas for monitoring / potential 

monitoring indicators; however, it is fair to highlight that monitoring efforts could potentially focus on:  

• Emerging proposals at all LPR growth locations, ahead of planning applications, with a view to ensuring 

that proposals reflect strategic priorities, including in respect of: 

─ the declared climate emergency and the urgent need to decarbonise ahead of the 2030 net zero target; 

─ the declared local ecological emergency and the aims of the Environment Bill, including in respect of 

taking a strategic approach to nature recovery and environmental net gain. 

• Air quality at key locations likely to see increased traffic due to LPR growth – again, monitoring in the 

short term could serve to inform forthcoming planning applications at LPR growth locations; 

• Employment land requirements – given that the Employment Land Review is now over two years old, 

and the regional and national economic context and baseline situation will have evolved since that time;  

• Flood risk – the Council might report annually on the number of homes in flood risk zones; 

• Housing – there is a need to closely monitor affordable housing delivery, including tenure split; 

• Water – ongoing consideration should be given to any risk of hydraulic capacity breaches or risks to the 

status of receiving water courses. Page 772



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 64 

 

Appendix I: Review of evidence 

Introduction 

The aim of this appendix is to present a review of key evidence gathered through evidence-base studies prepared in order to 

inform the Local Plan Review.  In particular, there is a focus on evidence with implications for spatial strategy.   

This section is structured under a list of thematic topics reflective of evidence work undertaken.  Evidence gathered through 

the Looking Ahead consultation (2018) is also discussed, as appropriate. 

Air quality 

An Air Quality Modelling Report was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 8th October 2020.  The study modelled ‘air quality 

dispersion’ for two Local Plan scenarios, essentially a lower growth and higher growth scenario, where the latter scenario 

would involve a quantum of homes broadly in line with local housing needs (LHN).  

With regards to methodology, the study  

• Focuses on impacts at ‘sensitive locations’, defined as “locations outside buildings or other natural or man-made structures 

above or below ground where members of the public are regularly present and might reasonably be expected to be 

exposed over the relevant averaging period of the objectives.” 

• Draws upon the Swale Highway Model (SHM), which developed by Sweco for 2017 (base year), 2027 and 2037 reference 

case (forecast years) to test the traffic impacts of both new developments and transport infrastructure across Swale.  

• Has clear limitations, including in respect of the sites assumed to deliver the two growth scenarios.  The conclusion of the 

study also explains: “Overall, the model performed well but overall, the model could be improved by model adjustment...” 

Key conclusions include: 

• Air quality is improving, with the 2027 reference case scenario – which assumes no new growth through the LPR – showing 

that, by 2027, there will be no locations where there are exceedances of the NO2 annual mean air quality objective.   

• However, at the current time air quality remains a concern at several locations – see Table A. 

• The higher growth Local Plan scenario would lead to a worsening of air quality at 116 of the 155 sensitive receptors 

(compared to 90 under the lower growth scenario), including all ten of the locations where air quality is of greatest concern 

(see Table A). 

However, the impact is small (below 1% at 63 of the 116 sensitive receptors that see a worsening).  The highest worsening 

(4.7%) would be along the A2 at Teynham; however, air quality in this location (18.4 micrograms per cubic metre) would 

be well within the ‘air quality standard’ (40 micrograms per cubic metre). 

Table A: Summary of locations where air quality is of greatest concern 

Known air pollution hotspots 
Designated 
AQMA? 

Includes a top ten problematic sensitive receptor, as 
identified by the Air Quality Modelling Report? 

2019 2037 Local Plan scenario 

East Street, Sittingbourne (A2) Yes Yes (49) Yes (27) 

Ospringe Street, Faversham (A2) Yes Yes (42) Yes (26) 

Ashford Road, Faversham (A251) No Yes (37) Yes (21) 

Water Lane, Ospringe No Yes (36) Yes (19) 

Canterbury Road, Sittingbourne (A2) No Yes (35) Yes (20) 

St Paul’s Street, Sittingbourne (B2006) Yes Yes (34) Yes (20) 

Newington (A2) Yes Yes (33) No 

Teynham (A2) Yes Yes (33) Yes (19) 

  

Page 773



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 65 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Whilst air pollution is decreasing at an increasing rate, and all areas in the Borough will likely meet the nationally defined ‘air 

quality standard’ for nitrogen dioxide at the end of the plan period under any reasonably foreseeable scenario, there remain 

air pollution hotspots that should be addressed.  In addition to the five AQMAs (four along the A2; one along the B2006 at 

Sittingbourne), the Air Quality Modelling Report identifies hotspots at other locations, notably including the A251 south of 

Faversham.  The two stand-out problematic locations in the Borough appear to be the A2 in Sittingbourne (east of the town 

centre) and the A2 at Ospringe.  The B2006 AQMA at Sittingbourne is also of note, as this is a route taken by HGV travelling 

to/from the Eurolink industrial estate, on route to/from the M2. 

Biodiversity 

A Biodiversity Baseline Study was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 8th October 2020.  The study aims to inform 

preparation of a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS), which will soon be a requirement following enactment of the 

Environment Bill.  Under the Environment Bill the intention is that LNRSs should, in turn, be used to inform delivery of 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) and the national Nature Recovery Network (NRN).  The report recommends that:  

“In anticipation of the Environment Bill, SBC should develop a LNRS to guide the formulation of its Local Plan, particularly for 

the allocation housing sites, specific policy for delivering BNG, and general policy on biodiversity...” 

A central finding of the study is that the LNRS “should cover three Nature Recovery Priority Areas centred on the Swale 

Estuary, the North Downs and Blean, with an additional Borough-wide strategy for Traditional Orchard Priority Habitat.”   

The implication is: 

• Site options intersecting or associated with a Priority Area must be closely scrutinised; however, such sites can be suitable 

for development where there is confidence that site will “include provisions to avoid negative impacts on habitat networks 

and [deliver on] opportunities for creating and enhancing habitat through onsite BNG and Green Blue Infrastructure in 

order to meet LNRS targets.”  It is fair to say that this is quite a stringent test, which will lead to implications for development 

density and lead to costs, which could potentially lead to viability implications and, in turn, delivery challenges.66 

• Where there BNG cannot be achieved onsite, and hence there is a need for offsite habitat enhancement, or creation, in 

order to deliver BNG, these offsite measures should be targeted so as to deliver LNRS objectives for the Priority Areas.  

Importantly, the study recommends that the Borough Council prepares “a register of potential BNG sites, analysis of likely 

demand for offsite BNG and identification of where BNG can be used to meet other policy targets relating to climate change 

and green and blue infrastructure.”   

The spatial framework of Priority Areas is important; however, these areas affect a small proportion of SHLAA sites, and an 

even smaller proportion of those SHLAA sites that are genuinely in contention for allocation.  When considering the merits of 

site options not associated with a Priority Area there is a need to avoid impacts to habitats and habitat networks, in particular 

those identified by the study as higher priority (particularly on the basis of higher ‘distinctiveness’).  Targeted growth away 

from priority/distinctive habitats and habitat networks will lead to greater potential to achieve BNG onsite and, in turn, less 

need for offsite measures to achieve BNG.  This represents a suitability precautionary approach at the current time, 

recognising that a LNRS has not yet been prepared, nor has work been undertaken to identify a register of BNG sites. 

Figure A shows all habitats classified according to distinctiveness.  It is difficult to generalise about potential growth locations 

that potentially give rise to a cause for concern in light of these figures; however, it is considered appropriate to highlight: 

• Land to the north of both Sittingbourne and Faversham – constrained by the Swale Priority Area; however, in practice 

these areas are constrained in several respects (including flood risk) such that there is limited or no growth potential; 

• West Sheppey ‘Triangle’ – as above; 

• Boughton - is constrained by the Blean Woodlands Priority Area to the east; 

• North downs – the Priority Area stretches north to constrain land to the SE of Sittingbourne and S/SW of Faversham. 

• Sittingbourne area – outside of the Swale Priority Area (which contains land to the north) and North Downs Priority Area 

(which constrains land to the southeast) there is a notable density of distinctive habitat patches (including but not limited 

to Traditional Orchard habitat, which is a priority) that may function as one or more ecology networks, such that intervening 

land may have a degree of sensitivity even where the onsite habitat is itself low distinctiveness.  However, it is noted that 

limited land in this area is locally designated as a Local Wildlife Site (LWS). 

 
66 The study discusses a good practice example of taking a proactive approach to development within a Priority Area, explaining: “KWT are 
currently undertaking work at the site “Land East of Iwade” [a Bearing Fruits allocation], which represents a good example of how, with 
carefully considered master planning to maximise opportunities, a development on the edge of an identified Nature Recovery Priority Area 
can provide substantial benefits for biodiversity.” Page 774



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 66 

 

Figure A: Habitats classified according to distinctiveness 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Ahead of preparing a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) and, as part of this, establishing a register of Biodiversity Net 

Gain (BNG) sites, there is a need to take a precautionary approach to spatial strategy and site selection.  This should involve 

avoiding impacts to priority/distinctive habitats and ecological networks, such that there will be greater potential to achieve 

BNG onsite when the BNG metric is applied at the planning application stage and, in turn, there will be less call for offsite 

habitat enhancement and creation as a means of delivering BNG.  Many of the more constrained parts of the Borough are not 

in realistic contention for growth; however, it is considered appropriate to highlight the following areas of sensitivity that could 

potentially be impacted: north of Sittingbourne and Faversham (the Swale Priority Area (PA)); West Sheppey ‘Triangle’ (the 

Swale PA); Boughton (the Blean Woodlands PA); southeast of Sittingbourne (North Downs PA); south / southwest of 

Faversham (North Downs PA); and the broad area around Sittingbourne (outside of the Swale PA and the North Downs PA 

there is a notable density of distinctive habitat patches, including Traditional Orchard habitat, which is a priority). 

Climate emergency  

Swale Borough Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency on 26 June 2019, with the aim of the Borough achieving 

net zero emissions by 2030.67  A Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan was then published on 22 April 2020, and a 

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy was published in June 2020.   

The Action Plan (2020) includes a table of ten priority actions, with one identified as being a matter for planning.  This relates 

to setting policy for achieving building emissions standards over-and-above the requirements of Building Regulations, with a 

75% improvement required from 2025 and a 100% improvement (i.e. net zero regulated emissions) required from 2028.  This 

is a matter for spatial strategy and site selection primarily in so far as it is a matter for development viability (discussed below), 

and in so far as there is a need to realise opportunities to deliver heat networks (discussed below).68   

It is also important to note that two ‘transport’ priority actions are identified, which are clearly of relevance to the LPR, namely: 

1) Install EV charging points across the Borough; and 2) Improve facilities and incentives for walking and cycling.  With regards 

to (1), this is a matter for spatial strategy and site selection primarily in so far as it is a matter for development viability 

(discussed below).  With regards to 2) this is clearly a matter of paramount importance for spatial strategy and site selection.  

Moving on to the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy (2020), the Strategy: 

• Draws heavily on the Energy South 2 East Local Energy Strategy (2020) – see Figure B; and then 

• Identifies ten priorities. 

A good proportion of the priorities are of relevance to the LPR spatial strategy – see Table B. 

Finally, Figure C presents existing large scale renewable heat/power generation installations in the Borough (N.B. the recently 

consented 350 MW Cleeve Hill Solar Park scheme is not shown).  Swale is something of a ‘hotspot’ for wind and solar farms; 

however, there are limited implications for spatial strategy / site selection (recalling that wind and solar farms feed into the 

national grid, rather than powering local communities).   

 
67 See swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/news-and-campaigns/latest-news/cee-update  
68 Also, it is important to note that the Government consulted on a Future Homes Standard in October 2019 which, if implemented, would see 
a rapid ratcheting-up of the CO2 emissions standards required through Building Regulations alongside a change to the Planning Practice 
Guidance removing the ability of Local Plans to require standards over-and-above Building Regulations. Page 775

https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/news-and-campaigns/latest-news/cee-update


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 67 

 

Finally, it can be seen that Sittinbourne (Kemsley Paper Mill) is home to Kent’s largest CHP scheme, which is fuelled by both 

waste and gas.  Latest understanding is that there is a very limited role for gas CHP moving forward (at least for heating 

homes), because decarbonisation of the national grid now favours electric heating solutions. 

Figure B: Overview of the Energy South 2 East Local Energy Strategy (2020) 

 

Table B: Links between K+M Energy and Low Emissions Strategy priorities and the LPR spatial strategy 

Kent and Medway priority 
Links to Energy 

S 2 E themes? 
Relevance to LPR spatial strategy and site selection? 

Set an emission reduction 

pathway to 2050 (inc. 5 year 

carbon budgets), so that 

decision makers understand 

where action and resources 

should be targeted. 

All 

Yes.  Whilst there is no short term carbon budget for Swale, or 

agreed decarbonisation trajectory, there is undoubtedly an urgent 

need to decarbonise in the short term if the Borough is to remain on 

course to achieve net zero by 2030 (twenty years ahead of the 

national and county-wide target).  Opportunities missed in the short-

term will result in the need for a steeper decarbonisation trajectory 

later in the 2020s, which might become unachievable.   

Public sector decision-

making 
All 

Limited.  The Borough Council is well placed to deliver and 

facilitate delivery of low carbon interventions, potentially leading to 

spatial opportunities to be realised through the LPR spatial strategy.  

The regeneration of Sittingbourne town centre potentially represents 

a decarbonisation opportunity of note, e.g. a higher growth strategy 

could potentially be supportive of delivering a heat network. 

Page 776



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 68 

 

Kent and Medway priority 
Links to Energy 

S 2 E themes? 
Relevance to LPR spatial strategy and site selection? 

Ensure integration into Local 

Plans and planning; 

develop a clean growth 

strategic planning policy and 

guidance framework. 

All 

Yes.  The Kent and Medway framework is yet to be developed; 

however, in the interim, the Energy South 2 East list of priority 

themes and project models provides a good framework for LPR 

spatial strategy and site selection.  In particular: 

• Heat networks – require a strategic approach to concentrating 

growth in proximity to heat sources and heat demand loads; 

• Off-gas grid homes – only small scale schemes delivering in the 

short term are likely to seek gas connection. 

• Hydrogen – is a focus of the Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 

Revolution (2020), with demonstrator communities sought. 

• Energy efficiency – this has implications for spatial strategy in so 

far as it has implications for viability, which varies spatially. 

• Renewable energy – beyond supporting heat networks and 

renewable energy (heat pumps and solar PV) at the development 

scale, the LPR could identify sites or areas suitable for large scale 

renewables (solar farms); however, there are limited implications 

for spatial strategy / site selection.  Solar car parks are another 

consideration of strategic importance. 

• Smart energy systems – in order to reduce the pressure on the 

national grid that will result from renewables, EVs and the 

electrification of heating there is a need for localised whole 

system approaches linking renewable heat/power, battery 

storage, EV charging and demand management.  The Energy 

Superhub Oxford initiative represents current best practice. 

• Transport revolution – of great relevance to LPR spatial strategy. 

Establish a trusted Kent and 

Medway carbon offset 

scheme and renewable 

energy investment fund 

Heating; 

Renewable 

generation; smart 

energy systems 

Limited.  In the absence of an investment fund the LPR spatial 

strategy must seek to realise opportunities as far as possible.  The 

absence of a trusted carbon offset fund also serves to highlight the 

importance of seeking to minimise reliance on offsetting. 

Building retrofit 

programme 

No (outside 

scope) 

Limited.  Retrofitting existing buildings for energy efficiency and 

electric heating solutions is of crucial importance to achieving net 

zero; however, there is little or no role for LPR spatial strategy. 

Set up a smart connectivity 

and mobility modal shift 

programme. 

Transport 

revolution 

Yes.  Beyond minimising need to travel and maximising 

accessibility to destinations by ‘sustainable transport’ modes, there 

is a need to support strategic growth locations supportive of smart 

connectivity and ‘future of mobility’ objectives. 

Set up an opportunities and 

investment programme for 

renewable electricity and 

heat energy generation. 

Heating; 

Renewable 

generation; smart 

energy systems 

Yes.  As discussed, heat networks require strategic planning, and 

the same can be said for realising local ‘whole system’ approaches 

that will be crucial in order to minimise pressure on the national grid. 

Green infrastructure No Yes.  Discussed below. 

Support low carbon 

business 

Energy savings 

and efficiency 

Limited.  The LPR must provide new employment space suited to 

local needs, including the needs of low carbon businesses.  The 

LPR should also support low carbon infrastructure, for which there 

is expected to be a great demand nationally for skilled labour (e.g. 

builders, engineers, fitters, assessors). 

Communications No 
Yes.  The LPR could support flagship net zero schemes supportive 

of the borough-wide net zero aspiration. 

 Page 777



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 69 

 

Figure C: Existing large scale renewable heat/power generation in Kent69 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

The Local Plan spatial strategy must proactively seek to minimise per capita emissions from both transport and the built 

environment, given the ambitious target of achieving net zero emissions at the Borough-scale by 2030.  There is no target 

decarbonisation trajectory / carbon budget in place; however, it seems clear that opportunities missed early in the 2020s could 

lead to a required decarbonisation trajectory later in the decade that is unachievable.  The LPR will have an effect on only a 

very small proportion of the Borough’s emissions in 2030; however, there are important opportunities to be realised.  Strategic 

planning for decarbonisation is a fast moving policy area;70 however, at the current time, the five priority themes of a recent 

strategy document prepared by the three Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) that cover the southeast of England present a 

useful framework for testing the LPR.  In summary, these are: heating; efficiency; power; systems; and transport.71  The Kent 

and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy (2020) also provides an important framework, although it equally serves to 

highlight that the LPR is progressing in advance of work to establish county-wide strategies, programmes, investment 

frameworks etc (also a carbon offsetting fund) that will feed into Local Plans in years to come.  Within this context, the LPR 

spatial strategy must distribute growth with a view to minimising per capita transport and built environment emissions, and, as 

part of this, consideration should be given to concentrations of growth / growth at scale, which can lead to particular 

opportunities, as explored through a recent study for the TCPA as part of their series on Garden City Standards.72  

Economy and employment 

Firstly, by way of background, the adopted Local Plan summarises the strategic employment locations as follows: 

• Town centres - with Sittingbourne town centre a particular focus of growth and change (Policy Regen 1); 

• Sittingbourne - Ridham, Kemsley and Eurolink associated with the Milton Creek area to the north of the town and linking 

to the M2 primarily via the A249, including via the recently delivered Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road (although HGV 

traffic through Sittingbourne and along the A2 remains an issue); and Kent Science Park in a rural location to the south of 

the town, linking to M2 J5 via minor roads (the focus of Policy Regen 4 of the adopted Local Plan). 

 
69 Renewable Energy for Kent: Baseline carbon emissions and projected domestic electricity and gas demands (AECOM, 2017) 
70 The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution explains that the Government will soon publish strategies and plans including the 
following: Net Zero Strategy; Heat and Buildings Strategy; Energy White Paper; Transport Decarbonisation Plan; Hydrogen Strategy. 
71 See southeastlep.com/our-strategy/energy-south2east  
72 See tcpa.org.uk/guidance-for-delivering-new-garden-cities  Page 778

http://www.southeastlep.com/our-strategy/energy-south2east
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/guidance-for-delivering-new-garden-cities


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 70 

 

• Isle of Sheppey - Neatscourt located on the A249 to the east of Queenborough and forms part of the Queenborough and 

Rushenden regeneration area (Policy Regen 2); and Port of Sheerness, a “major” port and the focus of Policy Regen 3 of 

the adopted Local Plan. 

• Faversham - the main industrial area is at the north west extent of the town, with the brewery complex toward the centre 

of the town another employment hub, and several other smaller existing and committed hubs around the edge of the town. 

An immediate point to note is the limited potential to further expand the Borough’s largest employment hubs to the north of 

Sittingbourne and Faversham, because of flood risk and environmental constraints.  This potentially suggests a need to 

consider new locations well linked to the strategic road network. 

Issues and opportunities were explored through the Swale Employment Land Review (ELR, 2018), with findings including:73  

• Port of Sheerness - the Port has added space to its portfolio in recent years and there is unmet demand for new port 

related uses.  However, the port land is outside of normal planning controls, and it is difficult to estimate how much land 

outside the port may be needed.  In summary the future of this part of the economy is dependent on continued close 

working between the port operator and the Council.   

There is also a need to consider recent changes to the national context, e.g. support for ports through the National 

Infrastructure Strategy (2020; including a Port Infrastructure Fund) and the Freeports consultation and prospectus (2020).74 

• Kent Science Park at Sittingbourne – is a highly constrained site and unable to grow.  There are active proposals being 

promoted by the owners to address these constraints, including a new junction of the M2 and new local access, supported 

by major housing growth.  It is important to consider these aspirations; however, an expanded Science Park would face 

“fierce” competition from elsewhere (new ‘non-Science Park’ uses would be deliverable).  The ELR also finds: “The scale 

of new jobs being promoted in this one area (>10,000)… may require a shift in commuting to fill all jobs envisaged.”    

• Existing employment land - existing sites generally remain attractive for ongoing employment use.  For industrial property, 

whilst the vacancy rate is so low there is no rationale to proactively release property.  For office demand vacancy rates are 

higher, but not so high to suggest that there is an oversupply of property which needs to be addressed by proactively 

releasing sites from the stock. 

• Warehousing and distribution – the study concludes that “if Swale is able and willing to identify new sites for this market, 

it is quite likely to attract demand”, and it is important to note that demand may have increased since 2018.  However, 

there are concerns, including in respect of low employee densities. 

• Targets for new land –  

─ Strategic industrial land – the ELR recommends 40 ha of new land mostly on sites capable for accommodating large 

unit demand (i.e. warehousing) with a focus on the west of the Borough.   However, should sites not be available then 

the evidence suggests circa 20 ha is needed to meet local needs (i.e. excluding strategic warehousing), given the 

existing pipeline of committed supply.   

Also, the figure decreases if a lower “5-year ‘margin’” is assumed, meaning an assumption that future losses of 

industrial land will not follow past trends.  There is a strong argument for assuming a lower 5-year margin, because 

past trends (see Table 5.2 of the ELR) are skewed by an abnormally large loss in 2011 (Sittingbourne Paper Mill).  

Furthermore, the ELR is clear that if the margin does need to be provided for, then it “does not necessarily need to be 

provided today because the logic of the margin is that it may only be needed towards the end of the plan period”.   

─ Offices and light industrial uses - up to 15 ha of new land focused to the east of the Borough in or around Faversham.  

There is scope for Faversham to compete with Canterbury by providing a quality supply, including flexible edge of town 

‘courtyard’ type developments as per the two recent schemes (the Foundry and Eurocentre).  There may also be some 

small scale warehouse demand to cater for last mile delivery to service the growing population in Faversham and 

possibly Canterbury. 

• Roads infrastructure – the ELR concludes: “For Sittingbourne; as part of our consultations, we have repeatedly been told 

that the western side of the Borough is a good location for growth partly because it is a cost efficient location to buy and 

develop land.  But, also because firms can still access markets outside of Swale.  A robust transport network has been 

vital to securing a new generation of warehouses in Swale.  But this transport network is reaching capacity with access 

onto the M2 acting as strategic ‘pinch point’ at Sittingbourne.  Improvements are planned at Junction 5 which may relieve 

the junction and benefit both Sittingbourne sites and also those on the Isle.  However, this will not automatically address 

the local network and the lack of any ‘orbital’ route around the town that avoids the town centre.  Consultees noted that 

Eurolink is a market attractive site but is effectively a ‘cul de sac’….   In the longer term a new M2 junction and southern 

link road may be part of the solution.  This will certainly open up the Science Park which cannot be expanded without major 

investment in the local network.  But we also note that should this be developed then it opens a large amount of market 

 
73 See services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning%20policy%202019/employmentlandreview.pdf  
74 See gov.uk/government/publications/freeports-bidding-prospectus  Page 779

https://services.swale.gov.uk/assets/planning%20policy%202019/employmentlandreview.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/freeports-bidding-prospectus


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 71 

 

attractive land for commercial development which is highly likely to attract additional logistics demand.  Faversham does 

not, as yet, suffer the same transport and connectivity problems.  It is also the case that commercial development here 

tends to be smaller scale, meeting local needs, and less dependent on the strategic network.  However, there are concerns 

that the network here will struggle to absorb demand for housing and commercial growth without some improvements to 

the local junctions – with accessibility to Canterbury being important given we think that Faversham could attract more 

demand for commercial property from Canterbury should additional land be allocated in the town.” 

Following on from the point made above regarding attracting demand from Canterbury, another point made by the ELR is that 

Swale has traditionally been seen as a more affordable location for businesses to locate relative to neighbouring Medway and 

Maidstone.  In this respect it is also important to note that Maidstone BC has shown an interest in the economic ambitions of 

Swale BC,75 in the sense that the option of unmet needs from Maidstone BC being provided for in Swale BC might be explored.  

However, the latest situation is that the draft Maidstone Local Plan (2020) proposes to provide for employment needs in full, 

including through a “prestigious business park at Junction 8 of the M20”.  As for Medway Council, a statement of common 

ground is in place setting out that Swale BC is not being asked to provide for unmet needs; however, it is recognised that 

there is background pressure, with the possibility of 

unmet needs emanating from London and West Kent. 

Further important recent context comes from the Kent & 

Medway Economic Partnership’s Economic Renewal 

and Resilience Plan (2020).76  The Plan focuses on 

responding proactively to the Covid-19 Pandemic over 

the period to 2020, concluding a need to focus on 

renewal and resilience. 

The Kent & Medway Economic Partnership is also 

supportive of the South East Local Enterprise 

Partnership’s Economic Strategy Statement (2019).  

The Statement includes a focus on the Thames 

Gateway, explaining: “Parts of the South East also have 

particularly strong links to London’s future growth. In 

particular, a shared strategy for the Thames Gateway has been advanced for many years, most recently within the recent 

report of the Thames Estuary 2050 Growth Commission and with the development of more recent initiatives such as the 

Thames Estuary Production Corridor.”  The Statement goes on to explain that there is a need to: “Work with partners to 

develop a new economic narrative for the Thames Estuary”. 

There is a focus on decarbonisation, and also the future of mobility “with implications for… the way in which we plan towns, 

cities and transport systems.”  There is also a notable focus on ‘creating places’, including so as to put settlements “on the 

‘front foot’ in responding to new technology and changing work patterns”, and there is also a focus on delivering “quality of life 

and quality of place”, including: 

• Develop the ‘economic narrative’ both for our Garden Communities and other major settlements,  

• Maximise investment in those assets that deliver long term quality of place and distinctiveness. 

• Create places that will be successful for the long term, valuing the ‘natural capital’ and environmental quality that we enjoy 

in the South East, embedding it in place making and making the best use of technology to ensure that our communities 

are smart, resilient and sustainable.  

Key messages for spatial strategy 

A primary objective for the LPR spatial strategy is to allocate new land for employment.  As a minimum there is a need to 

provide for around 15 ha of new land to the east of the Borough, including around Faversham, for offices and light industrial 

uses.  However, there is also a need to consider allocation of a significant amount of land in the west of the Borough to respond 

to the ‘larger-than-local’ need for warehousing in locations well linked to ports and London.  It is difficult to conclude on the 

basis of the evidence available that there is an objective need for the LPR to allocate land for warehousing; nevertheless, 

there is a need to consider whether there are available and suitable sites.  Finally, beyond allocating land for employment, 

there is a need to consider wider aims and objectives, including as set out within the Kent & Medway Economic Renewal and 

Resilience Plan (2020), which is focused on responding to the Covid-19 pandemic over the period to 2022; and also the South 

East Local Enterprise Partnership’s Economic Strategy Statement (2019), which includes a focus on the Thames Gateway, 

and also on “creating places” fit for the future. 

 
75 See paragraph 2.67 at: 
services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s11009/FINAL%20Looking%20Ahead%20consultation%20results%20Covering%20Item%20D
P%20amends.pdf  
76 kmep.org.uk/documents/Renewal_and_Resilience_Plan_-_August_2020.pdf  Page 780

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s11009/FINAL%20Looking%20Ahead%20consultation%20results%20Covering%20Item%20DP%20amends.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s11009/FINAL%20Looking%20Ahead%20consultation%20results%20Covering%20Item%20DP%20amends.pdf
http://kmep.org.uk/documents/Renewal_and_Resilience_Plan_-_August_2020.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 72 

 

Flood risk 

A Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 29th November 2019, and then 

a report on applying the ‘sequential test’ on 11th June 2020.   

A key output of the SFRA is a map of flood zones (Figure E), which immediately serves to highlight areas unsuitable for new 

housing (flood zone 3b) and areas where housing could only be judged to be a suitable land use following the Exceptions Test 

having been passed, i.e. after it having been demonstrated that the benefits of housing in that location outweigh the flood risk 

disbenefit (following a detailed, site specific examination of flood risk).  These zones cover much of Sheppey and most of the 

land to the north of Sittingbourne, Teynham and Faversham.   

Also, the study identifies “surface water functional flood zones” associated with around seven dry valleys emanating from the 

Kent Downs, which the study treats as the equivalent to flood risk zone 3.   

The study also identifies a small number of areas as falling within flood risk zone 2, where housing is a suitable use so long 

as it can be demonstrated that the sequential test has been passed, i.e. it can be demonstrated that there are not alternative 

locations at lower flood risk where development would achieve broadly the same aims and objectives.   

Finally, another key map output of the study shows the extent of land at risk of a 1 in 200 year tidal flooding event in 2070 

under a climate change scenario, with the area at risk broadly corresponding to the area currently understood to fall within 

flood risk zone 3.  

In light of the SFRA, a key aim for the spatial strategy is to direct growth away from flood risk zones as far as possible, mindful 

of risks and uncertainties associated with climate change.  As part of this, there is a need to take a precautionary yet 

proportionate approach to taking into account site specific proposals / likely approaches to developing sites, both with respect 

to avoiding and mitigating flood risk and delivering benefits that might serve to outweigh residual flood risk, mindful that the 

NPPF (paragraph 163) sees an important role for site specific flood risk assessments in support of planning applications.   

Finally, the LPR should take a proactive approach to addressing flood risk that goes beyond simply directing growth away 

from flood risk zones.  Paragraphs 155 to 161 of the NPPF, which deal with flood risk and Local Plans, notably raise: 

• Cumulative impacts in, or affecting, local areas susceptible to flooding – although it is inherently challenging, in practice, 

to suggest that any given development, let alone developments in-combination, will lead to increased downstream flood 

risk, given the potential to design developments so as to store water and slow surface water runoff.   

• Safeguarding land from development that is required, or likely to be required, for current or future flood management – 

such land will typically be in flood zone 3b, where there is limited potential for development, but can potentially be in flood 

zone 3a, where there is some potential for development, hence there can be merit in safeguarding through the Local Plan.  

A related consideration is the need to fund such flood management interventions and, in particular, new Flood Storage Areas 

(FSAs) in the flood plain, which can be a spatial strategy / site selection consideration, in that strategic growth in proximity 

may be able to fund interventions of this nature, in particular where the effect is to create a new area of open / green space 

that is of recreational value.  However, it is not clear that opportunities present themselves in the Swale context (in particular, 

it is not clear that FSAs could be an appropriate response to the surface water functional flood zones shown in Figure E). 

Managed coastal retreat / coastal realignment essentially equates to creation of an FSA, and there are opportunities in Swale 

Borough; however, there are limited implications for the LPR, as potential locations will invariably be some way distant from 

locations under consideration for growth.  A further consideration is the possibility of growth supporting investment in coastal 

defences; however, it is not clear that this is an appropriate objective for the LPR spatial strategy. 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Extensive flood risk affects the Borough’s coastline and that part of the Borough associated with the Swale, and there are also 

around seven dry valleys emanating from the Kent Downs associated with surface water functional flood zones.  There is a 

need to avoid flood risk as far as possible, taking account of the risks and uncertainties associated with climate change, albeit 

mindful that steps can be taken to avoid and mitigate flood risk at the site level.  There is also a need to recall that development 

in areas at risk of flooding can be appropriate in exceptional circumstances, which is an important consideration on the Isle of 

Sheppey, where there can be a need to balance flood risk and regeneration objectives.  Finally, there is a need to be mindful 

of proactive approaches to addressing flood risk through Local Plans, for example supporting investment in new flood storage 

areas; however, it is not clear that any opportunities present themselves that might serve to have a bearing on the LPR spatial 

strategy. 

  

Page 781



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 73 

 

Figure D: Watercourses in Swale (from the Green and Blue Infrastructure Study, 2020) 

 

Figure E: Map of flood zones 

 

Page 782



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 74 

 

Green and blue infrastructure 

A Green and Blue Infrastructure Study was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 20th September 2020.  Many of the assets 

and initiatives discussed are of limited relevance for the LPR because they relate to the coastal zone, the AONB or the Blean 

Woodlands, i.e. locations that will not be a focus of growth through the LPR.  Other matters discussed are considerations for 

masterplanning and urban design (and, in turn, development management policy) more so than spatial strategy and site 

selection; however, the Study does also serve to highlight a range of relevant issues and opportunities.   

By way of context, it is also important to examine what was achieved through the adopted Local Plan (2017).  A range of 

strategic green infrastructure has been delivered, or is being delivered, as a result of the Local Plan spatial strategy.  Most 

notable is the extensive area of new country park and other accessible natural greenspace that is being delivered as a result 

of the strategic expansion of Iwade, and which will link to existing strategic green infrastructure (including Milton Creek Country 

Park) to the north of Sittingbourne – see Figure F.  Also of particular note is the Oare Gravel Works allocation, to the north of 

Faversham, where a central aim of the allocation is “conservation, enhancement, and long term management of the site's 

ecological and heritage assets”.  In both cases the land that is a focus of green infrastructure enhancement could never have 

alternatively been developed, given the extent of constraints (including flood risk and SPA); however, it is nonetheless the 

case that funds raised through development will serve to deliver major green infrastructure benefits over-and-above a baseline 

situation whereby the land would be subject to less management and be less accessible to the public. 

Figure F: Two key allocations in the adopted Local Plan delivering new strategic green and blue infrastructure 

 

Potential opportunities to be realised through LPR spatial strategy and site selection include: 

• New strategic green grid routes – the Swale BC Green Grid Study (2016) identified the potential for four new routes linking 

Newington, Sittingbourne (2) and Teynham to the AONB to the south, via villages with pubs and places of interest. 

• Sheppey – stands out on the basis that A) there are extensive areas where communities experience high levels of multiple 

deprivation; and B) whilst there is extensive green and blue infrastructure, much of it has low multifunctionality. 

• Blue infrastructure – Boughton stands out as a settlement associated with a watercourse (as opposed to a dry valley), 

namely the White Drain, which the Study identifies as being associated with a significant enhancement opportunity. 

• Links to biodiversity and flood risk objectives – as discussed above.  For example, the Study identifies a possible Nature 

Recovery Network for Swale – see Figure G. 

  

Page 783



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 75 

 

Figure G: Existing international, national and locally designated sites plus adjacent land potentially suitable for enhancement 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

There is a need to realise opportunities for growth to deliver or facilitate delivery of strategic green and blue infrastructure.  

Inspiration can be taken from the achievements of the adopted Local Plan; however, opportunities might be harder to come 

by for LPR, in that there will be a need to look beyond enhancing land subject to flood risk and SPA constraint, recognising 

limited further growth opportunity to the north of Sittingbourne and Faversham.  The Isle of Sheppey could well warrant being 

a focus of efforts to deliver enhanced strategic green and blue infrastructure, given a prevalence of communities that 

experience relatively high levels of multiple deprivation, and given limited existing green and blue infrastructure offering high 

multifunctionality.  Creation of new walking / cycling / green links between the A2 settlements and the AONB is another 

strategic opportunity potentially to be explored. 

Heritage 

A Heritage Strategy and Action Plan as presented to the Local Plan Panel on 3rd September 2020.   

• Aviation & defence – with a particular focus on Shepway given the strategic importance of Sheerness Docks and the role 

of Eastchurch in the early history of aviation. 

• Industrial heritage – including brickmaking (northern mainland part of the Borough); gunpowder manufacturing 

(Faversham); brewing (Faversham); and paper making (Sittingbourne). 

• Maritime and transport heritage – including barge traffic and boatbuilding (widespread, but most notably Milton Regis); 

Cinque Port (Faversham); bridges and ferries (Sheppey); roads and pilgrims (Watling Street; the A2); Victorian and 

Edwardian Railway expansion (Sittingbourne and Faversham);  

• Agricultural, horticultural and rural heritage – most famously fruit and hop growing and picking; but also marshland farming 

and mixed farming and woodland management in the Kent Downs AONB. 

• Towns and high streets – for example, Sheerness developed around the Royal Naval Dockyard and in part as a Victorian 

and Edwardian seaside resort; and Queenborough was a planned medieval town following the building of a castle. 

Page 784



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 76 

 

• Villages and hamlets – “A good example of a village and series of smaller hamlets with heritage interest can be found 

within the parish of Borden (immediately southwest of Sittingbourne).” 

• Churches, chapels and memorials – including scheduled monuments and many grade 1 listed parish churches, often 

prominent within the landscape. 

• Historic landscapes – including, but not limited to, the grounds of four grand houses (Lees Court, Belmont House, 

Doddington Place and Mount Ephraim) now on the national Register of Parks and Gardens. 

• Archaeology – “Swale has an incredibly rich and varied archaeological resource. This richness is a legacy of its strategic 

location at the mouth of the Thames and Medway rivers, it lying astride the principle conduit of people and trade between 

the continent and London, together with its varied geography including coast, marshland and chalk downs which have 

been exploited by peoples since ancient times.” 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

There is the potential for spatial strategy and site selection to support the conservation and enhancement of both historic 

assets and historic landscapes.  As set out in the Heritage Strategy, there is the potential to support “positive management of 

the borough’s heritage, and capitalizing on the physical and economic regeneration this can bring.” 

Housing 

Two studies were presented to the Local Plan Panel on 9th July 2020, one dealing with Local Housing Needs (LHN), with 

limited implications for spatial strategy, and the other presenting a Housing Market Assessment.  The Housing Market 

Assessment reaches conclusions on the following matters with implications for spatial strategy and site selection: 

• Tenure split – around 28% of new housing delivered will need to be affordable, that is available for below market rates to 

those able to demonstrate that they cannot meet their needs in the market.  This has implications for spatial strategy in so 

far as it has implications for viability, which varies spatially.  It is challenging to deliver 28% affordable housing on Sheppey 

in particular (indeed, the Policy DM8 of the adopted Local Plan requires 0% affordable housing on Sheppey). 

• House-size split – there is a clear need for family sized homes more so than flats – see Figure H.  This has implications 

for site selection and density assumptions. 

• Specialist accommodation – including for disabled and older people.  Strategic sites can have the benefit of delivering 

specialist accommodation alongside typical market and affordable housing.    

Figure H: Requirement for all new housing in Swale over the plan period 

 

There is also a need for new Gypsy and Traveller pitches, drawing on the Swale Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment (GTAA, 2018).  The GTAA concluded (for the period 2017 to 2038): “… a cultural need for 76 pitches and a PPTS 

need for 59 pitches (after considering the households who met the definitions of travelling set out in the PPTS).  The Local 

Plan should acknowledge this level of need. However, taking into account turnover on local authority sites and the potential 

expansion/intensification of existing sites… the cultural need could be reduced to 14 pitches and PPTS need addressed 

(however this would be dependent on a turnover of 8 pitches on Council sites… and an additional 54 pitches becoming 

available on existing authorised sites).”  The GTAA also identified the need for one new Travelling Showperson plot.   

  

Page 785



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 77 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

In addition to meeting the overall housing target, there is also a need to deliver an appropriate mix of housing, in respect of 

both tenure (affordable housing) and size (family housing); and there is also a need for specialist accommodation including to 

meet the needs set out within the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA, 2018).  These considerations 

can serve to suggest a need to focus housing in locations where development viability is highest, and potentially favour 

strategic sites.  

Infrastructure  

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan Scoping Study was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 11th June 2020.  As an initial point, 

it is important to make the distinction between: 

• current infrastructure issues and opportunities that could be exacerbated or addressed as a result of the LPR; and 

• the infrastructure needs / issues that will be generated as a result of the LPR. 

This point is borne out from the following statement made as part of the report by officers to members reporting on the findings 

of the Looking Ahead consultation explains:13 “[T]he reality will be that the vast majority of future infrastructure provision will 

be developer led.  The degree to which this will be a continuance of an infrastructure bolt-on approach or a more settlement 

wide approach will be a matter dependent upon the next Local Plan settlement strategy.” 

The June 2020 report to members explains:  

“The initial stage of preparation is also looking at an overview of current infrastructure quality and capacity to identify any 

infrastructure issues which could be barriers to growth. This is drawing from the responses to the 2018 ‘Looking Ahead’ 

consultation, the outcomes of a workshop held with infrastructure providers in June 2018 (see Section 5) and completed and 

emerging Local Plan evidence base reports, such as the ongoing traffic modelling work.  The ‘Looking Ahead’ consultation 

and infrastructure workshop identified the following key infrastructure issues as matters to be addressed: M2 Junction 7; M2 

Junction 5/A249; Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road; A2 and A249 corridors; Education provision, particularly the provision 

of secondary school places; Primary healthcare provision; Rail station improvements.”   

Taking each of these matters in turn: 

• M2 Junction 5/A249 - the National Road Investment Strategy (RIS 2, 2020) committed to commencing an upgrade, and 

this work is due to complete by 2024/26.77  The extent of headroom capacity for growth beyond that which is committed is 

unclear, and topography constrains and further upgrade.  

There is a need to note the proposal for a new Junction 5a to the south of Sittingbourne to serve an expanded Sittingbourne 

Science Park and significant housing growth, which is another one of the strategic site options discussion in Section 6.   

For completeness, there is also a need to note Junction 6 (A251).  This is a more minor junction which operates 

satisfactorily.  New strategic site options nearby (south of Faversham) are a consideration for this Local Plan (see Section 

6), which might need to deliver non-strategic upgrades, likely in the form of signalisation.  

• M2 Junction 7 (A2 / A229, known as Brenley Corner) - RIS 2 identifies upgrades as a ‘pipeline’ scheme for the future.  

There is also an ambition for ‘interim’ upgrades, as discussed in the adopted Local Plan; however, the timetable is 

uncertain.  This is a national accident hotspot.78 

• Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road - the adopted Local Plan safeguards land within which route options might be explored 

to deliver the final section of the NRR, which would link the Sittingbourne industrial and commercial areas, including the 

Eurolink estate, to the A2 in the vicinity of Bapchild.  The value of this final section in combination with a new road linking 

to a new M2 junction to the southeast of Sittingbourne is clear, in that it would relieve pressure on Sittingbourne town 

centre (the A2) and the B2006 (another air pollution hotspot), and this is an option for the Local Plan (discussed below); 

however, the value of the final NRR section on its own is less clear, with no plans to bring forward the scheme. 

• A2 corridor – the A2 is a central spine road directly serving all of Swale’s main settlements other than Iwade and those on 

the Isle of Sheppey.  Only Boughton and Sittingbourne town centre are effectively bypassed, which leads to major issues 

with traffic, including HGVs, passing through town and village centres.  Air pollution is one such issue, with AQMAs declared 

at Newington, Sittingbourne, Teynham and Ospringe (southern extent of Faversham), as well within Rainham in Medway, 

immediately to the west of Swale.  Teynam is one location where there is an aspiration for a bypass or relief road. 

 
77 See highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/south-east/m2-junction-5-improvements/  
78 See 
assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/600312/Kent_Corridors_to_M25_Final.pdf  

 Page 786

https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/south-east/m2-junction-5-improvements/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/600312/Kent_Corridors_to_M25_Final.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 78 

 

• A249 corridor - the adopted Local Plan discusses committed improvements at the Key Street (southwest of Sittingbourne) 

and Grovehurst (northwest of Sittingbourn / Iwade) and states that the Bobbing junction (west of Sittingbourne) may also 

need to be reassessed.79 

For completeness, there is also a need to note the A2500 Lower Road, Sheppey, which is known for suffering problematic 

traffic congestion in the summer tourism season, adding to issues of rural isolation for residents of eastern Sheppey.  The 

adopted Local Plan discusses a programme of improvements, with significant funding generated from housing growth (in 

particular the 620 home Barton Hill Drive scheme); however, there remains an aspiration for further  upgrades.  

• Education provision – following discussions with Kent County Council (KCC), secondary school capacity is understood to 

be a significant issue in this part of the Borough, given limited surplus capacity at the two existing secondary schools (one 

grammar and one non-selective), limited potential for expansion (particularly the grammar school, which is in a constrained 

central location) and committed growth (noting that catchment areas stretch to include Canterbury District).  KCC has been 

actively exploring potential locations for a new secondary school, but options are limited.  Latest understanding is that the 

secondary school would come forward at the site directly to the east of Faversham.  

• Primary healthcare provision – there is currently limited understanding of locations in the Borough where there is a need 

to improve access to primary healthcare; however, Newington stands out as a higher order settlement lacking a GP surgery, 

and that there is no GP surgery within the rural part of the Borough, to the south of the M2.  There is also understood to 

be a desire to explore the option of a general hospital locally.  A 2018 workshop with Swale Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) found that primary care is the key issue, with GP lists in Swale significantly higher than the national average (2,500 

versus 1,800), but that “acute hospital provision [is] an issue, with travel from Swale a particular concern.”80 

• Rail station improvements - the Borough is very well served by rail, with the nine stations mostly serving the higher order 

settlements, with the notable exception of Selling Station at Neames Forstall (nearby to the village of Selling).  The Kent 

Routes Study (2018) identified the possibility of a new rail link between Faversham and Ashford, to relieve pressure on the 

problematic A251; however, the conclusion reached is that commuting for employment between the two towns is currently 

insufficient to warrant giving the link further consideration (plus there are topography and environmental challenges). 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Delivering new and upgraded strategic infrastructure to ‘consume the smoke’ of new development, as well as potentially to 

address existing issues / realise opportunities, is a key issue for spatial strategy and site selection, and can suggest a need 

to concentrate growth such that economies of scale are achieved that serve to generate the required funds.  Furthermore, 

there is a need to take careful account of the likelihood and timing of very strategic infrastructure upgrades that are largely 

outside the control of the LPR, most notably motorway junction upgrades, and also liaise with County-level, sub-regional and 

national organisations in respect of plans and aspirations for new very strategic infrastructure. 

Kent Downs AONB  

The draft AONB Management Plan was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 3rd September 2020.   

Focusing on the section dealing with “vibrant communities”, there is a notable focus on the House of Lords Select Committee 

on Rural Economy, including the following quote: 

"Rural communities and the economies in them have been ignored and underrated for too long. We must act now to reverse 

this trend, but we can no longer allow the clear inequalities between the urban and rural to continue unchecked. A rural strategy 

would address challenges and realise potential in struggling and under-performing areas, and allow vibrant and thriving areas 

to develop further. Doing nothing is not an option." 

Another highly relevant quote from the Government’s Landscape Review (2019) is also presented: “One thing stood out, 

talking to people in the course of this review and examining the responses to our call for evidence. They worry that 

longstanding communities feel under great pressure, and point in particular to house prices and jobs.”  

In addition to housing and jobs, another key matter of relevance to the LPR is the maintenance of village services and facilities, 

with the Management Plan explaining: “There has been long run concern about the decline in community and village services 

such as village shops, post offices, churches and pubs. Consequently the loss of such assets can trigger the creation of 

community run enterprises which in themselves are a community development catalyst and can be a vehicle to support a 

sustainable local economy which supports landscape character there are several examples across the AONB of successful 

community run facilities working alongside more ‘traditional’ businesses.” 

 
79 See https://kccconsultations.inconsult.uk/consult.ti/A249swalejunctionimprovements/consultationHome  
80 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s11012/Appdx%20IIIa%20Infrastructure%20Workshop%20Note%2012jun18.pdf  Page 787

https://kccconsultations.inconsult.uk/consult.ti/A249swalejunctionimprovements/consultationHome
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s11012/Appdx%20IIIa%20Infrastructure%20Workshop%20Note%2012jun18.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 79 

 

The plan does not call for new market housing, let alone Local Plan allocations.  Rather, it calls for (sensitively located and 

designed) “affordable housing for (i) those with proven local needs, and (ii) workers whose activities directly contribute to the 

purposes of the AONB designation.”  There is also strong support for the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans. 

The section of the Plan dealing with “sustainable development” is of relevance, including discussion of remoteness, tranquillity 

and dark skies.  These are described as recurring themes, and the Plan points out support in the NPPF (paragraph 180) for 

protecting areas of tranquillity.  The section on sustainable development lists a range of issues and threats, including: 

“Cumulative loss of landscape features, tranquillity and character and suburbanisation has been experienced in the AONB 

due to incremental poorly located, designed and badly screened development, leisure uses, intensive agricultural and forestry 

practices, pressure from traffic and significant levels of urban growth and development.” 

Finally, the Plan presents helpful analysis of changing attitudes to towards the AONB over time, as understood from surveys 

going back 15 years.  The analysis serves to highlight significantly increased concern regarding maintenance of tranquillity 

and dark skies, and increased concern regarding rural lanes and other highways is also of note. 

Looking Ahead consultation 

By way of further context, it is important to note the following statement made within the 28th October 2018 report to the Local 

Plan Panel, which sought to communicate key messages received through the Looking Ahead consultation (2018): 

“There was recognition that designations can prevent new development being located in the most sustainable areas and can 

put extra pressure on undesignated land. It was considered that some development in the AONB could be less damaging that 

outside an AONB.” 

Also, the detailed report presented to the Local Plan Panel, which presented a lengthy table summarising key messages 

received through the Looking Ahead consultation, explained: 

“[The Kent Downs AONB Unit is not] opposed to any new housing in the AONB, particularly if development increased the 

supply of affordable housing for those with proven local needs. However, it would need to relate well to existing villages, be 

of a limited scale and complimentary to local character in form, setting, scale and contribution to settlement pattern. Advocate 

the use of landscape capacity studies to ascertain the capacity of AONB villages. Opportunities for growth at Neames Forstal 

are considered very limited.” 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

There is a need to avoid major development in the AONB unless there are exceptional circumstances, and no such 

circumstances have been suggested in the Swale context.  The LPR could consider the possibility of modest allocations in 

the AONB, with a view to addressing local housing needs and potentially also supporting rural employment and the 

maintenance of rural services and facilities; however, there does not appear to be support for this approach within the Kent 

Downs AONB Management Plan, given the potential role of Neighbourhood Plans.  Neames Forstal is a key location for 

consideration, recognising that it has a rail station.  Finally, there is a need to consider constraint posed by the setting of the 

AONB, which extends north of the M2 to include extensive areas of land to the south of A2 settlements that come into 

consideration as potential locations for growth. 

Landscape 

Three landscape studies have been prepared recently to inform the LPR: a Landscape Designation Review (2018); a 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019); and an Important Local Countryside Gaps study (2020).  Also, an important starting 

point for considering landscape is  topography locally and the landscape character areas – see Figures I and J. 

The Landscape Designations Review examined all of the existing locally designated landscapes, which fall into two tiers (Kent 

level and Swale level), before concluding that all of these locally designated areas should be taken forward through the LPR, 

and that several of the existing local designations should be extended.  The study also proposed that there should be just one 

level of local landscape designation (as opposed to two).  Figure K shows the proposed local landscape designations. 

Much of the land falling within a proposed local designation is subject to wide ranging constraint (notably flood risk and SPA); 

however, areas of note are: 

• Blean Edge Fruit Belt – constrains land north and south of Boughton, including land east of Selling Station; 

• Lower Halstow - Iwade Ridge – could feasibly serve to ‘frame’ growth to the east at Bobbing / Iwade; 

• Kent Downs: Rodmersham, Milstead and Highsted dry valleys – is a constraint to growth southeast of Sittingbourne; 

• Kent Downs: Syndale Valley - is a constraint to growth southeast of Sittingbourne; 

• Kent Downs: North Street Dip Slope – is a constraint to the new settlement option to the south of Faversham; 

Page 788



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 80 

 

• North Kent Marshes - the vast bulk of this area is not in realistic contention for growth; however, a site to the southwest of 

Rushenden is under consideration as a potential location for growth; 

• The Blean – constrains Dunkirk and other land to the east of Boughton. 

The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment examined landscape parcels surrounding the main settlements, in the knowledge that 

these are locations that naturally come into consideration as potential locations for growth.  Findings are presented in Figures 

L and M, with the following points of particular note: 

• East of the Borough – is highly constrained, other than land to the east / southeast of Faversham; 

• Land to the west of Bobbing – is a notable area of limited constraint; also the Leysdown area. 

• Newington and Teynham – area associated with a mixed picture, with some areas of limited sensitivity. 

Finally, with regards to the Important Local Countryside Gaps study, this examined five potential Important Local Countryside 

Gaps that might be designated through the LPR, in addition to the existing designated Important Local Countryside Gaps, 

which (the study explains) can safely be rolled forward into the LPR.  Figure N shows the existing and potential new 

designations.  With regards to potential new designations, the study finds that all meet the criteria for designation, although 

there is a slight question mark regarding the Faversham to Ospringe gap, as this is “a small area, and Faversham and Ospringe 

have to some extent already coalesced.” 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Landscape sensitivity/capacity outside of the AONB varies significantly across the Borough.  Some of the more sensitive areas 

are also constrained in wider respects, such that they are not realistically in contention for significant growth through the LPR; 

however, there are some sensitive landscapes that must be considered as potential locations for growth given wider LPR 

objectives, perhaps most notably land to the southeast of Sittingbourne.  A ‘landscape-led’ approach to spatial strategy and 

site selection would serve to suggest a need to focus particular attention on the Bobbing area, Leysdown, land to the east and 

southwest of Faversham and also potentially some areas around Newington and Teynham. 

Figure I: Variation in topography across the Borough (source: SFRA) 

 
  

Page 789



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 81 

 

Figure J: Landscape character areas across the Borough 

 

Figure K:: The AONB and proposed local landscape designations 

 Page 790



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 82 

 

Figure L: Sensitivity to housing 

 

Figure M: Sensitivity to employment 

 

Page 791



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 83 

 

Figure N: Existing and potential new Important Local Countryside Gaps 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Landscape sensitivity/capacity outside of the AONB varies significantly across the Borough.  Some of the more sensitive areas 

are also constrained in wider respects, such that they are not realistically in contention for significant growth through the LPR; 

however, there are some sensitive landscapes that must be considered as potential locations for growth given wider LPR 

objectives, perhaps most notably land to the southeast of Sittingbourne.  A ‘landscape-led’ approach to spatial strategy and 

site selection could involve a focus of attention on the Bobbing area, Leysdown, land to the east and southeast of Faversham 

and also potentially some areas around Newington and Teynham, which are areas that the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

finds to be relatively unconstrained in the borough-wide context. 

Neighbourhood Planning 

The most recent neighbourhood planning update was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 9th July 2020.  

Most importantly, a Faversham Neighbourhood Plan is in the early stages of development, led by Faversham Town Council.  

There are a number of sites within the confines of the settlement that are available and potentially suitable for development, 

and there is an expectation that the Neighbourhood Plan will be well placed to allocate one or more sites, thereby providing 

for a significant number of homes. 

A Neighbourhood Plan is also under preparation for Boughton-Under-Blean and Dunkirk.  This is a constrained part of the 

Borough, where it is a challenge to identify larger sites that are suitable for development; hence the Neighbourhood Plan 

should be well placed to allocate one or more sites to deliver a modest number of homes. 

Hernhill and Minster are also designated areas for neighbourhood planning purposes; however, neither Neighbourhood Plan 

is known to be advancing.  It is perhaps surprising that no other parish councils are seeking to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan; 

however, it is fair to assume that interest in neighbourhood planning will continue to increase over the plan period, and that a 

proportion of the Parish Councils in the Borough will bring forward Neighbourhood Plans that allocate land for homes to meet 

local needs and support village vitality. 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

There is an expectation that the emerging Faversham Neighbourhood Plan will provide for a significant number of homes 

within the town, and it may be the case that the emerging Boughton-Under-Blean and Dunkirk Neighbourhood Plan is able to 

provide for some new homes in this constrained part of the Borough.  It is not possible to point to any other emerging 

Page 792



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 84 

 

Neighbourhood Plans that are likely to deliver new homes, or that have any other implications for the spatial strategy / site 

selection; however, it is fair to assume that, over the plan period, a proportion of the Parish Councils in the Borough will bring 

forward Neighbourhood Plans that allocate land for homes to meet local needs and support village vitality. 

Settlement hierarchy 

A Settlement Hierarchy Study was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 3rd September 2020.  The study broadly confirmed 

that the existing settlement hierarchy (see paragraph 5.3.4, above) remains robust.   

Leysdown is of note as its current position in the hierarchy is somewhat marginal; specifically, there is an argument for moving 

Leysdown to tier 5.  On one hand this could indicate a need to restrain growth to a level below that which might otherwise be 

considered appropriate for a tier 4 settlement; however, on the other hand, there is an argument for seeking to support 

investment in the town via housing growth, such that its tier 4 status is reinforced, given the population size of the village and 

the population of the rural area that it serves in combination with Eastchurch, namely the East Sheppey area, where there 

accessibility to higher order centres / rural isolation is an issue.  The Settlement Hierarchy Study explains:  

“Leysdown and the surround have a unique tourism offer but otherwise would benefit from more diverse employment 

opportunities, public transport improvements and support for local services.” 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

There is invariably a need to take the settlement hierarchy as a starting point when distributing growth, although there can be 

good reasons for departing from the hierarchy to an extent, including in instances where the effect of a ‘high growth strategy’ 

will be that a settlement moves up a tier in the hierarchy.  Leysdown is of note as its current position in the hierarchy is 

somewhat marginal, with its offer possibly having decreased over time.  The LPR could potentially seek to respond to this by 

promoting additional growth in support of retention/enhancement of services, facilities and retail. 

Transport  

A Local Plan Transport Model Re-run report was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 11th June 2020.  Two scenarios 

involving provision for 1,054 dwellings per annum were modelled: a ‘do minimum’ scenario; and a ‘do something’ scenario 

that assumed implementation of mitigation measures, including junction upgrades and trip reduction measures.   

Whilst it is clearly the case the traffic hotspots identified by the model reflect the distribution of sites assumed to deliver the 

strategy (see Figure O), it is likely to be the case that many of the hotspots would exist under many or all of the reasonably 

foreseeable distribution scenarios.  Problematic junctions highlighted through model are shown in Table C. 

Table C: Problematic junctions highlighted through the April 2020 model re-run81 

Area Junction 

Weighted volume over capacity (V/C) 

Do minimum 
scenario 

Do something 
scenario 

AM PM AM PM 

Maidstone M20 J7  106 104 106 103 

Ashford A2042 Faversham Road/Trinity Road  104 86 105 85 

Faversham East Street/B2040 98 88 88 92 

Sheppey Minster Road/ A250 Halfway Road 97 91 80 85 

Sittingbourne B2006/ B2005  84 91 81 91 

Sheppey A249/A2500  91 68 91 71 

Faversham A2 London Road/Western Link  83 91 73 88 

Faversham A2/A251 Ashford Road  74 96 37 56 

Sheppey A2500 Lower Road/Barton Hill Drive  90 89 88 81 

 
81 Junctions shown in the table are those shown to have a weighted V/C ratio of over 90 in either of the 1,054 dwelling scenarios. Page 793



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 85 

 

Figure O: Locations assumed to deliver growth in the April 2020 model re-run 

 

When developing the model, one important consideration was the trip rate internalisation that could be assumed for strategic 

sites / growth locations.  The model assumed: 

• Rushendon - 8 -10% reduction on currently modelled car trip rates for the location; 

• Sittingbourne town centre - 20% reduction on currently modelled car trip rates for the location; 

• East / southeast of Faversham - 18% - 35% reduction on currently modelled car trip rates for the location. 

With regards to the “do something” scenario, Figure P shows the mitigation measures that were assumed.  These mitigation 

measures should be taken to be indicative (only) of what might prove appropriate for the LPR in practice. 

Furthermore, the report recommends a wide range of additional mitigation measures, including: 

• Sheppey - build a new cycle and pedestrian crossing across the A249 to improve the connection between Rushenden / 

Neats Court Retail Park and the Sheppey Way / Queenborough Road cycling corridor, connecting with the ongoing 

cycle/walk upgrades along the A2500 Lower Road; 

• Shepppey – invest in Sheerness Way walk and cycle route to improve connectivity from Rushenden/Queenborough to 

Sheerness and rest of the Isle of Sheppey; 

• Sheppey - financial support for turn up and go level bus service (3-4 buses an hour) linking Rushenden/Queenborough to 

Sheerness. Potentially designate Whiteway Road as bus-only through access to Queenborough; 

• Sheppey - ensure all stations on Sheerness rail branch are step free and stations are accessible to all non-car modes to 

enable people to connect to the local rail by non-car modes; 

• Faversham - create a cohesive, comprehensive network of walk and cycle paths both within new Local Plan developments 

and connecting the new development to central Faversham and railway station; 

• Faversham - pay for bus extension from central Faversham to new developments to provide turn up and go connection to 

the town centre (N.B. assumes a strategic growth location); 

• Sittingbourne - develop high quality segregated cycle link along B2205 / B2006 corridor between Iwade, Kemsley, and 

Sittingbourne to support the local walk and cycle trips in the area; 

• Sheppey / Sittingbourne - upgrade Sheppey Way to improve bus and cycle links between Sheerness and Sittingbourne;  

• A2 corridor - develop an east-west cycle corridor parallel to the A2 linking Sittingbourne to Faversham.  Figure Q shows 

the current extent of the National Cycle Network in the Borough. 

Page 794



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 86 

 

Figure P: Mitigation measures assumed under the ‘do something’ scenario 

 

Figure Q: Current extent of the cycle network (from Green and Blue Infrastructure Study) 

  

Page 795



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 87 

 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

There is a need for past transport model runs to feed into spatial strategy and site selection, and once the preferred strategy 

emerges, then there will be a need to run that through the model, with a view to confirming that the LPR will not lead to 

unacceptable traffic impacts, and also with a view to making fine tuning adjustments to the spatial strategy / mitigation strategy.  

Finally, it is important to note that modelling work undertaken to date highlights: M20 J7 (Maidstone) as the most problematic 

junction relevant to the LPR; the importance of achieving self-containment / trip internalisation at strategic growth locations 

(and variation in the potential to achieve this between strategic growth locations); and a wide range of opportunities to deliver 

enhancements to bus routes and walking/cycling infrastructure, for example an easily commutable cycle route between 

Sittingbourne and Faversham. 

Viability  

A draft Viability Report was presented to the Local Plan Panel on 2nd December 2020.  Set out below are the two key maps 

from the report, which serve to highlight significant spatial variation in viability across the Borough.  By way of further context, 

it is important to note the following statement made within the 28th October 2018 report to the Local Plan Panel, which sought 

to communicate key messages received through the Looking Ahead consultation (2018): 

“Perhaps the single greatest influence on delivery levels will be the settlement strategy and the choice of sites that will be 

pursued by the next Local Plan.  Here, matters such as the viability of specific parts of the Borough and the ability of 

infrastructure to be in place at the right time will be key considerations.” 

A spatial strategy that focuses growth at those locations with greater viability will lead to greater opportunity to fund delivery 

of measures including:  

• affordable housing;  

• building CO2 emission standards above the do-minimum (up to ‘net zero’ standard);  

• electric charge points;  

• levels of biodiversity net gain above the do minimum;  

• accessibility standards above the do minimum (e.g. wheelchair accessible). 

Key messages for spatial strategy 

Viability varies significantly across the Borough and, by way of context, it is important to note the following statement made 

within the 28th October 2018 report to the Local Plan Panel, which sought to communicate key messages received through 

the Looking Ahead consultation (2018): “Perhaps the single greatest influence on delivery levels will be the settlement strategy 

and the choice of sites that will be pursued by the next Local Plan.  Here, matters such as the viability of specific parts of the 

Borough and the ability of infrastructure to be in place at the right time will be key considerations.”  A spatial strategy that 

focuses growth at those locations with greater viability (also with least need to deliver costly infrastructure upgrades in support 

of growth) will lead to greater opportunity to fund delivery of measures including: affordable housing; building CO2 emission 

standards above the do-minimum (up to ‘net zero’ standard); electric charge points; levels of biodiversity net gain above the 

do minimum; accessibility standards above the do minimum (e.g. wheelchair accessible). 

Page 796



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 88 

 

Figure R: Variation in average house prices 

 

Figure S: Summary of viability zones 

  
Page 797



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 89 

 

Appendix II: Broad growth scenarios 

Introduction  

The aim of this appendix is to present an appraisal of the broad growth scenarios that were considered by the Swale Borough 

Council Local Plans Panel on 30th July 2020, and which are discussed in Part 1 of this report (Section 5.3), as part of the wider 

discussion of establishing reasonable growth scenarios for appraisal (Part 2).  Table A presents the broad growth scenarios. 

Table A: The July 2020 broad growth scenarios 

Broad growth scenario Small sites82 Strategic site(s) 

A 
Roll forward Bearing Fruits (BF) 

i.e. 85% focus on Thames Gateway 

• TG – very little choice 

• Fav – good choice 
• None 

B 
Faversham focus  

… to begin to counter-balance BF 

• TG – little choice 

• Fav – little choice 
• None 

C 
Further Faversham focus  

… to mostly counter-balance BF 

• TG – good choice 

• Fav – good choice 
• SE of Faversham 

D 
Further Faversham focus still  

… to fully counter-balance BF 

• TG– very good choice 

• Fav – little choice 
• SE of Faversham 

E Strategic sites 

• TG– good or very good choice 

• Fav – good or very good choice 

• One or two out of the four 

options (no more than one in 

each planning area) 

A note on Southeast Faversham 

At the time of establishing the broad growth scenarios in July 2020 “Southeast Faversham” was understood to be one of the 

four strategic site options in consideration.  Specifically, the focus was on the scheme submitted by the Duchy of Cornwall 

following the Garden Communities Prospectus (2018).  However, latest understanding is that growth to the southeast of 

Faversham would be delivered in combination with growth to the east.  Specifically, understanding is that landowners can and 

would work together to bring forward a combined masterplan and to deliver strategic infrastructure (notably a secondary 

school).  There remains some uncertainty in respect of how this would happen in practice; however, for the purposes of this 

appraisal it is considered appropriate to assume a combined scheme.  This is referred to as East / southeast of Faversham. 

Appraisal methodology 

Appraisal findings are presented below within 12 separate tables, with each table dealing with a specific sustainability topic 

(see Section 3).  Within each table the performance of each of the broad growth scenarios is categorised in terms of significant 

effects (using red / amber / light green / green)83 and the broad growth scenarios are also ranked in order of preference.   

Further points on methodology are as follows: 

• Significant effects – the aim is to identify, describe and evaluate significant effects in respect of each element of the 

established appraisal framework in turn.84  A final concluding section considers significant effects ‘in the round’, but does 

not aim to reach an overall conclusion on the sustainability of each of the broad growth scenarios, or place them in an 

overall order of preference.  Any attempt to do so necessitates assigning weight to each element of the appraisal 

framework, which is outside of the scope of SA (it is a task for the decision-maker, informed by SA findings). 

 
82 It was not possible to define the approach to small sites with any certainty.  We define a ‘good choice’ as a situation whereby there would 
be the potential to select only the best performing of the SHLAA ‘suitable’ sites for allocation, whilst ‘little choice’ is defined as a situation 
whereby all ‘suitable’ SHLAA are required as well as potentially certain ‘unsuitable’ SHLAA sites. 
83 Red indicates a significant negative effect; amber a negative effect that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; light green a 
positive that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; and green a significant positive effect. 
84 The appraisal framework was established mindful of the list of topics suggested as potentially appropriate to include within the scope of SA 
at paragraph 6 of Schedule 2 within the SEA Regulations.  In this way paragraph 6 of Schedule 2 has ‘fed in’. Page 798



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 90 

 

• Methodology – conclusions on significant effects and relative performance are reached on the basis of available evidence 

and understanding of key issues and opportunities, mindful of the guidance presented within the Schedules 1 and 2 of the 

SEA Regulations.  This is not an exact science, given the nature of the scenarios under consideration, but rather involves 

making assumptions and applying professional judgement.  Appraisal ‘workings out’ are presented only to a limited extent, 

with a view to ensuring an appraisal narrative that is relatively concise and accessible. 

• Evidence – it is not possible to list all of the evidence sources that are drawn-upon as part of the appraisal; however, it is 

appropriate to highlight that extensive use has been made of: the evidence-base studies commissioned by the Council 

since 2018; materials submitted and made available (on websites) by strategic site promoters; and two reports prepared 

by Stantec in 2019 , namely: 

─ Assessment of Submissions (February 2019) – examined the four schemes submitted following the prospectus in turn, 

and recommended a range of further work;85 

─ Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (September 2019) – considered changes made to the four schemes following the 

earlier assessment, and reached overall conclusions on each of the four schemes.86 

A key consideration is the extent to which it is appropriate to take account of materials submitted by site promoters, in 

respect of proposals for bringing forward development (e.g. mix of uses, areas of greenspace) and directing limited funds 

to measures aimed at mitigation (e.g. infrastructure upgrades) and ‘planning gain’ (e.g. affordable housing).  The Stantec 

work is notable for exploring site specific proposals in detail, and there is certainly a need to take site specific proposals 

into consideration here; however, there is a need to apply caution, as site specific proposals are subject to change, and 

there is a need to avoid unduly biasing in favour of development schemes for which more work has been undertaken.   

Appraisal findings 

The tables below presents appraisal findings in relation to the July 2020 broad growth scenarios (BGS). 

Air quality 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

2 4 3 4 

 

Discussion 

It is very difficult to suggest that either Sittingbourne or Faversham is more constrained in respect of air quality.  However, 

once the location of available development site options is taken into account, there is reason to suggest that a high growth 

strategy for Sittingbourne (BGS-A) is preferable to a high growth strategy for Faversham (BGS-D).   

This is because BGS-D could necessitate a focus of growth in the Ospringe area, and it is difficult to envisage a strategic 

transport solution that would avoid increased traffic impacting on the AQMA (including because the largest of the Bearing 

Fruits allocations to the south of Faversham (Land at Perry Court) is now building-out and providing only access roads).   

Under BGS-A high growth at Sittingbourne could involve sites that are either in quite close proximity to the railway station or 

can access M2 J5 without passing through an air quality problem area; however, any further expansion to the east would give 

rise to a concern, as this area (along with Teynham) is the part of the A2 corridor most distant from an M2 junction. 

As for BGS-B, there would be the potential to avoid the most problematic sites at Sittingbourne; however, higher growth at 

Faversham (without strategic growth to the east / southeast) could necessitate growth in the Ospringe area, and hence give 

rise to concerns of a similar magnitude to those discussed above, in respect of BGS-D.   

As for BGS-C, this would involve a strategic growth location to the east / southeast of Faversham, which is tentatively 

supported from an air quality perspective, including because there would be: two motorway junctions in close proximity; 

delivery of services, facilities and employment onsite that supports trip internalisation; good potential to walk or cycle to 

Faversham railway station, including via new walking/cycling infrastructure; and some potential to walk/cycle to the town centre 

(beyond the rail station), albeit it would be somewhat distant, at greater than 2km from certain points of the site. 

 
85 See services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2142/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Mar-
2019%2019.00%20Local%20Plan%20Panel.pdf?T=10  
86 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-
%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf  Page 799

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2142/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Mar-2019%2019.00%20Local%20Plan%20Panel.pdf?T=10
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g2142/Public%20reports%20pack%2014th-Mar-2019%2019.00%20Local%20Plan%20Panel.pdf?T=10
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s13308/Appendix%20I%20-%20PBA%20REPORT%202nd%20stage%20assessment%20Sept%202019.pdf


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 91 

 

Finally, as for BGS-E, there is tentative support for a strategy involving a focus at one or two strategic sites.  The four competing 

strategic site options are discussed in detail in Appendix III, but in summary: Southeast Sittingbourne represents a 

considerable opportunity; Southeast Faversham performs well (as discussed); North Street gives rise to a degree of concern 

regarding air pollution impacts on sensitive receptors (homes; also school children) along the A251 and at the A251/A2 

junction; whilst Bobbing gives rise to considerable concerns regarding increased traffic along the problematic B2006.    

In conclusion, BGS-B and BGS-D perform poorly, as there is a strong likelihood of increased traffic through Ospringe, which 

is an air pollution hotspot.  It is fair to highlight BGS-E as performing best, on the assumption that there would be a focus of 

growth at the two best performing strategic sites.   

With regards to significant effects, it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk under all growth scenarios.  The Air Quality 

Modelling Report explains that air quality is set to improve significantly over the plan period (for example, air pollution in the 

Ospringe area is set to halve); however, air pollution is currently a priority issue for the Council, with a new AQMA declared at 

Keycol in December 2020, and the existing AQMA at St Paul’s Street in Sittingbourne  amended to include particulate matter 

(PM10) after the monitoring stations registered an increase in pollution levels.87 

Biodiversity 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

 

2 

 

2 

 

Discussion 

A primary consideration is the risk of expansion north of Sittingbourne or Faversham impacting on the Swale and Medway 

SPA/Ramsar sites (“North Kent Estuaries European sites”), including via increased recreational pressure and/or development 

of land that is functionally linked to the European sites (e.g. fields used for foraging or roosting by significant wildfowl or wading 

bird populations); however, growth opportunities in these areas are very limited.  This contrasts to the adopted Local Plan, 

which allocated significant growth at Iwade, Northwest Sittingbourne, Northeast Sittingbourne and at Oare Gravel Works.   

In particular, at Sittingbourne (high growth under BGS-A) there is very limited potential for further significant growth in proximity 

to the SPA.  A potential growth location that gives rise to a notable degree of concern is east of Sittingbourne, between the 

A2 and the railway (this was an option put to the 29th October 2020 Local Plan Panel); however, the land is subject to wide-

ranging constraints/issues (e.g. settlement coalescence; heritage) and, in any case, the land is c.800m from the SPA/Ramsar 

at its closest point, not well connected by public right of way (PROW), and not particularly well connected by road.88 

Another consideration at Sittingbourne, aside from the SPA/Ramsar constraint, is the notable density of distinctive habitat 

patches to the south of the town (including traditional orchard habitat, which is a priority) that may function as one or more 

ecological networks (as discussed in Appendix I).  Under BGS-A there could well be pressure to allocate one or more modest 

sites in this area; however, it is difficult to suggest that this would necessarily give rise to a significant concern. 

A final consideration, in respect of BGS-A, is that there would be a need for modestly higher growth on the Isle of Sheppey.  

It is difficult to confidently discuss spatial implications; however, it is important to point out that the entire western part of the 

Island, where growth opportunities are focused, is subject to a degree of SPA/Ramsar constraint, and that one of the sites in 

contention for allocation (SLA18/113) is flagged by the Biodiversity Baseline Study (2020) as notably constrained.89 

At Faversham, under BGS-B and BGS-D there could well be a need to allocate one or two modest urban extensions to the 

north of the town, which would more-or-less complete the northern expansion of the town as far as the flood risk zone and/or 

land locally designated for its biodiversity value.  This land is well connected to the SPA/Ramsar by PROW, and the fact that 

adjacent land is either known to be of local importance for biodiversity (Abbey Fields LWS) or managed for biodiversity (Oare 

Gravel Works) could potentially suggest a likelihood of the land being functionally linked to the SPA/Ramsar. 

As for strategic growth to the east / southeast of Faversham (BGS-C and BGS-D), this land is notably unconstrained in 

biodiversity terms, in that there is very limited onsite priority habitat and limited designated land either in close proximity or 

 
87 See https://swale.gov.uk/news-and-your-council/news-and-campaigns/latest-news/keycol-hill-aqma-approved 
88 Little Murston Nature Reserve is a short drive from Bapchild, but there does not appear to be any car parking and, whilst there is a public 
right of way around the perimeter, the site itself is not thought to be publicly accessible, as it is managed for wildfowling. 
89 The study states: “This entire site falls within the Swale Nature Recovery Priority Area. A large portion of the site is classified as Open 
Mosaic Habitat on Previously Developed Land, Floodplain Wetland Mosaic and coastal saltmarsh priority habitats. The portion of the site not 
classified as priority habitat is of high strategic significant for connecting areas of priority habitat and should be prioritised for habitat restoration 
through BNG projects. Due to the large proportion of high distinctiveness habitats on site it will be technically and financially challenging to 
deliver BNG for this proposed development and therefore alternative sites should be considered.” Page 800



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 92 

 

easily accessible.  However, if a strategic scheme were to extend north beyond the Graveney Road / as far as the railway line 

(to Whitstable), then this would give rise to degree of concern.  This is because: adjacent land to the north (on the opposite 

side of the railway, but easily accessible via a public footpath) comprises the Abbey Fields LWS; the walking route to the SPA 

would be c.2.25km and the driving route to the SPA would be via Goodnestone.  A further consideration is the likelihood of 

growth leading to a degree of increased recreational pressure on the Blean Woodlands SAC to the east, potentially in 

combination with growth in Canterbury District; however, the part of the SAC in closest proximity is managed as a National 

Nature Reserve, and the car park is on the eastern edge, well over 10 km distant. 

Finally, as for BGS-E, there is a need for caution as one of the four sites in contention - Southeast of Sittingbourne - is notably 

constrained.  This is because there would likely be a need for a focus of growth in the Highstead / Rodmersham Green area, 

where there is a high density of woodland (including ancient woodland) and traditional orchard priority habitat that is shown 

by the Biodiversity Baseline Study (2020) to comprise a northern promontory of the North Downs Priority Area (also, the study 

highlights connectivity between traditional orchard habitat patches as a priority).  Development is not necessarily precluded 

within priority areas; however, taking a precautionary approach it is appropriate to flag a risk of development in this area 

worsening ecological connectivity between habitat patches at the landscape scale (also potentially direct impacts to habitat 

patches, e.g. from recreational pressure).   

There is also a degree of concern associated with strategic growth to the east / southeast of Faversham if it is assumed to be 

the case that growth would extend north as far as the railway, as discussed above.   

Bobbing is also associated with biodiversity constraint.  This is for two reasons.  Firstly, the site is slightly closer to the SPA, 

and whilst it is not clear that this is a particularly accessible or sensitive part of the SPA, there is a need to consider in-

combination impacts given committed growth at Iwade and Northwest Sittingbourne (also the potential for the Bobbing scheme 

to expand in the future).  Secondly, the proposal is for development to largely envelop a small ancient woodland (Rook Wood).  

Whilst the proposal includes large areas of greenspace, within which it will be possible to deliver targeted habitat creation, 

there is a need to consider the possibility that having to compensate for impacts to Rook Wood could lead to a challenge in 

respect of achieving an overall (and sufficient) biodiversity net gain at an appropriate landscape scale. 

North street is thought to be subject to lower strategic biodiversity constraint.  Finally, in respect of the strategic sites, it is 

important to note that the summary matrix presented at page 63 of the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (2019) 

assigns all four proposed schemes a ‘green’ score in respect of potential to achieve net gain(s).  However, there is a need for 

caution, looking beyond generic statements to question the extent to which the proposal is to direct scarce funds to biodiversity 

and other environmental mitigation/enhancement schemes, and also ensure a focus on inherent locational issues and 

opportunities, i.e. recognise that not all sites are equal in respect of potential to achieve biodiversity net gain. 

In conclusion, BGS-B and BGS-D perform poorly, as there could be a need to allocate constrained sites to the north of 

Faversham, and it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of a risk (however small) of SPA/Ramsar impacts.  It is difficult to 

confidently differentiate the other scenarios.  BGS-C arguably performs relatively well; however, there is a concern associated 

with strategic growth to the east / southeast of Faversham extending north as far as the railway line. 

Climate change mitigation 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 4 

 

3 2 

Discussion 

There is a need to consider greenhouse emissions from both transport and the built environment; however, in respect of 

transport there is inevitable cross-over with discussion below under the ‘Air quality’, ‘Communities’ and ‘Transport’ headings. 

With regards to built environment emissions, there are strong arguments for supporting a focus of growth at one or two 

strategic sites and focusing growth where viability is highest, with a view to facilitating:  

• low and zero carbon (LZC) infrastructure, including heat networks (which require strategic planning and typically 

necessitate higher densities and a fine grained mix of uses);  

Page 801



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 93 

 

• buildings designed to achieve net zero regulated emissions (or otherwise ambitious levels of regulated emissions);90  

• an ambitious approach to unregulated emissions, including embodied and other non-operational emissions, including by 

supporting modern methods of construction (e.g. offsite construction of modular homes); and  

• ‘smart energy systems’ – seen as a priority within the Energy South 2 East Local Energy Strategy (2020) and the recent 

Energy White Paper (2020), which includes a major focus on delivering a ‘Smart Electricity System’.   

Another consideration, in respect of built environment emissions, is the need to consider the possibility of locating growth in 

proximity to strategic heat sources (also locations with strategic heat demand, e.g. leisure centres), with a view to facilitating 

delivery of heat networks; however, no particular opportunities are known to exist in the Swale context.  A more ambitious 

approach to growth at Sittingbourne town centre, including higher densities, could feasibly help to facilitate one or more heat 

networks; however, there is little reason to suggest that this would be viable or achievable, with no obvious strategic heat 

sources to explore (the proximity of Milton Creek and associated industrial areas could feasibly represent an opportunity). 

A further consideration, in respect of built environment emissions, is the possibility of strategic growth locations supporting the 

use of hydrogen, including potentially for heating.  Hydrogen is a major focus of the recent Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 

Revolution (2020) and the Energy White Paper (2020), and a Hydrogen Strategy is due in 2021; however, opportunities remain 

uncertain at the current time, and are likely to be longer term.  

Finally, there is a need to briefly review latest site specific proposals.  The summary matrix presented at page 63 of the latest 

Stantec report assigns all four proposed schemes a ‘green’ score in respect of ‘green proposals’.  However, there is a need 

for caution, looking beyond generic statements / ‘warm words’ to question the extent to which the proposal is to direct scarce 

funds to decarbonisation measures, and masterplan, design and build with decarbonisation as a priority (e.g. high density 

development in proximity to any strategic heat sources).  The Stantec report potentially serves to identify Southeast 

Sittingbourne as standing-out, in that funds are being used to work with specialist consultants to “embrace new technology 

and move towards carbon neutrality”, and the scheme website makes the following encouraging statement: “By focusing at a 

strategic level from the outset we can take a holistic approach to the scheme to design for a carbon neutral future.  The 

scheme will utilise solar panels connected to home battery systems networked to central battery storage to maximise the use 

of renewable energy and provide for energy neutral homes when assessed across a 12-month period. 

With regards to transport emissions, place-specific considerations include: 

• Sittingbourne - is the Borough’s highest order centre, with a good town centre and retail offer, an extensive employment 

offer and a very good rail service; however, certain of the available sites to the south of the town are not very well linked 

by public or active transport, such that is could be difficult to achieve modal shift.   

• Faversham – is a second tier settlement, but there is an identified opportunity to enhance the employment offer, and there 

is good potential to reach Canterbury and other locations in Kent by public transport.   

Maintaining a focus on Faversham, strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is tentatively supported, given the inherent 

opportunities associated with strategic growth locations, and because the site is well-related to a higher order settlement 

with a rail station, and noting the commitment to deliver a good mix of uses onsite and ensure a focus on walking/cycling 

infrastructure.  However, concerns and questions remain (discussed further in Appendix III). 

• Sheppey – which would see moderately higher growth under BGS-A, is less well connected / more likely to be associated 

with entrenched car dependency; however, Queenborough/Rushenden (one of the locations under close consideration for 

growth) benefits from a rail station, and there is also a good cycle route to Sittingbourne (partly off-road).   

• Other strategic site options (Bobbing, Southeast Sittingbourne and North Street) are all less well related to a higher order 

centre than is the case for East / Southeast of Faversham, with North Street potentially standing-out as performing poorly, 

as it is relatively poorly related to Faversham, i.e. a second tier settlement.  Southeast Sittingbourne potentially stands-out 

as performing well, as residents would be able to walk/cycle to employment at an expanded Kent Science Park; however, 

on the other hand, there is a concern that an expanded Kent Science Park (in combination with a new motorway junction) 

could attract long distance commuting by car, given skills levels locally.  As for Bobbing, there is a concern regarding 

connectivity to Sittingbourne town centre (over 3km distant, via the problematic B2006), and whilst the latest Stantec report 

states that the latest proposal “refocuses its emphasis on Newington Station with routes through the site to it and car 

parking to be provided and a shuttle bus” this is not entirely evident from the latest proposals on the scheme website. 

In conclusion, it is inherently challenging to differentiate the broad growth scenarios, including because there can be tensions 

between objectives around minimising built environment emissions on the one hand and, on the other hand, minimising 

 
90 Regulated emissions are those covered by the building regulations.  It is common for Local Plan policies to require levels of emissions 
below the Building Regulations requirement, and potentially even to require net zero regulated emissions for major schemes (which almost 
invariably necessitates offsetting).  At the current time the Government is consulting on a Future Homes Standard, which would be a national 
requirement set out in the Building Regulations.  The Government’s proposal is that Local Plan policies would no longer be able to require 
levels of emissions below the Building Regulations (Future Homes Standard); however, there would still be the potential for the promoters of 
individual development schemes to choose take a best practice approach, including by achieving net zero regulated emissions. Page 802



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 94 

 

transport emissions.  In the absence of modelling or other detailed analysis, there is a need to weigh-up competing objectives 

on the basis of professional judgement, in order to arrive at an overall conclusion.   

On this basis, it is considered appropriate to highlight BGS-C as performing best, because there would be a focus of growth 

at a strategic urban extension that is well-related to a higher order settlement, albeit there are issues and uncertainties, as 

discussed above.  It is considered appropriate to highlight BGS-E as second best performing, given the opportunities 

associated with strategic growth; however, there is a very high degree of uncertainty, given that the locations in question are 

not ideal from a transport connectivity perspective and/or there would be viability challenges.   

With regards to effect significance, there is a need to balance an understanding that climate change mitigation is a global 

consideration, such that local actions can only ever have a limited effect on the baseline, with the fact that there is a highly 

ambitious local net zero target in place.  On balance, it is considered appropriate to flag a concern with all of the broad growth 

scenarios.  This reflects a view that the 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that decarbonisation must be a key driving 

factor influencing spatial strategy, site selection and development of site-specific proposals.   

Communities 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 5 

 

3 2 

Discussion 

Perhaps the key consideration relates to support for growth via strategic sites well suited to delivering new and upgraded 

community infrastructure, as opposed to growth via more ‘piecemeal’ urban extensions, where opportunities can be missed 

and issues can arise, despite mechanisms for gathering and directing funds for infrastructure.91  

This serves to suggest inherent concerns with BGS-A and BGS-B.  More specifically: 

• BGS-A – there is an anecdotal concern that recent and committed growth at Sittingbourne is putting pressure on 

infrastructure; however, it is difficult to pin-point specific issues.  With regards to secondary school capacity, which is often 

a key strategic consideration, there are four secondary schools to the south of the A2 (two grammar schools and two non-

selective schools), which is the part of Sittingbourne that would likely be a focus of growth, and the North West 

Sittingbourne strategic allocation is set to deliver a new secondary school (although not in the short term). 

Another consideration, in respect of BGS-A, is that there would be a degree of increased pressure for growth on the Isle 

of Sheppey; however, it is difficult to suggest that this necessarily gives rise to community infrastructure concerns.  There 

are not known to be any issues or opportunities in respect of secondary school provision (the Oasis Academy Sheppey is 

split across two sites, at Sheerness and Minster), and there is a good network of primary schools and doctor’s surgeries 

across the Island, including the rural east (Eastchurch and Leysdown).  There is an identified need to support growth at 

Queenborough/Rushenden (as far as possible, given constraints, notably flood risk), in order to support well-established 

regeneration objectives; however, it is difficult to suggest that this would be more likely under BGS-A. 

• BSG-B – following discussions with Kent County Council (KCC), secondary school capacity is understood to be a 

significant issue in this part of the Borough.  In turn, there is clear support for BGS-C, which would certainly enable a new 

secondary school to be delivered as part of a strategic urban extension to the east / southeast of Faversham.  Latest 

understanding is that the secondary school will come forward at the site directly to the east of Faversham, which could 

also form part of the growth strategy under BGS-A; however, it is assumed that it would be much more challenging to 

deliver a secondary school on the site under BGS-A.92  

 
91 All new development is expected to contribute towards the cost of new infrastructure.  Infrastructure funding by developers is most often 
secured through planning obligations (either through a Section 106 agreement or Section 278 Highway agreement with Kent County Council) 
or the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL); however, there is no CIL in place for Swale.  On-site infrastructure will be secured based on the 
needs of each proposal and delivered directly by the developer or through financial contributions and/or the provision of land.  Off-site 
infrastructure will be secured through developer contributions. 
92  Under BGS-A the site in question, known as Land at Lady Dane Farm, would deliver an urban extension of c.600 homes, and would likely 
be planned and delivered in conjunction with a smaller site to the north (Land at Graveney Road), with the combined scheme delivering 
around 840 homes.  However, under BGS-C these two sites would also be delivered in combination with Southeast Faversham, with the 
combined scheme delivering in the region of 3,340 homes.  This would generate economies of scale that would, it is assumed, enable delivery 
of the new secondary school (or, more specifically, make it viable for the land to be made available for a new secondary school). Page 803



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 95 

 

There is also considered to be a good degree of support for BGS-D, as this would also enable delivery of a new secondary 

school via a strategic urban extension to the east / southeast of Faversham, although under this scenario there would also be 

additional ‘piecemeal’ urban extensions to the town, which would deliver relatively little in the way of infrastructure. 

Finally, as for BGS-E, a focus at strategic sites is broadly supported; however, there is considerable variation between the 

four strategic site options, in respect of potential to deliver new/upgraded community infrastructure, including due to variations 

in development viability across the Borough.  In particular, viability is a constraint to growth in the Sittingbourne area, and 

therefore an issue for the Bobbing and Southeast Sittingbourne strategic site options.  In practice, the scale of growth 

envisaged for Southeast Sittingbourne is such that there would be good potential to deliver new and upgraded community 

infrastructure (despite costs for major transport infrastructure upgrades), including a secondary school, and the possibility of 

delivering a further education facility for Sittingbourne has been suggested.  The proposed scheme is notably smaller, with no 

secondary school proposed (although the committed school at NW Sittingbourne would be in close proximity, and presumably 

would have capacity over-and-above that needed to meet committed housing growth at Sittingbourne and Iwade), and there 

is a need to factor-in the possibility of the scheme expanding in the future.   

Finally, in respect of the four competing strategic site options, the latest Stantec report serves to highlight key issues around: 

A) impacts to existing communities; and B) engagement, joint working and stewardship.  These matters are discussed in detail 

in Appendix III. 

In conclusion, a key consideration is the need to deliver a new secondary school at Faversham to meet existing and 

committed future needs.  This serves as a reason to conclude that BGS-C will lead to significant positive effects, and BGS-B 

would lead to significant negative effects.  However, there is a degree of uncertainty regarding the proposed East / Southeast 

of Faversham strategic urban extension at the current time, in the absence of evidence, including an up-to-date masterplan. 

It is also appropriate to flag a degree of opportunity associated with BGS-E, although there is considerable uncertainty, given 

viability constraints in the Sittingbourne area, competing costs and uncertainty regarding the deliverability of site specific 

proposals.  As for BGS-A, it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk associated with piecemeal expansion at Sittingbourne 

‘loading pressure’ onto existing community infrastructure. 

Economy and employment 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 3 2 3 

 

Discussion 

There is a need to reflect the targets set out in the Employment Land Review (ELR), although certain of the targets are in the 

form of a range, with this particularly the case for the matter of delivering significant new land for warehousing / distribution. 

The following bullet points consider each of the broad growth scenarios in turn: 

• BGS-A (Roll forward Bearing Fruits) – it is difficult to envisage any of the available non-strategic sites at Sittingbourne 

delivering significant new employment land; however, there would also be modestly increased growth on Sheppey under 

this scenario, where there is one available site in contention for allocation of a mixed use scheme, namely 18/113 (South 

of Rushenden), which is well-suited to delivering up to 10ha of new employment land (unconfirmed, given a need for further 

masterplanning work to reflect constraints) at a location fairly well linked to the A249.  At Faversham there would be 

relatively low growth, under this scenario; however, one or more of the non-strategic allocations could potentially come 

forward as a mixed use scheme, delivering new offices and/or light industrial uses.   

• BGS-B (Faversham focus) – broadly as per BGS-A, although there could be greater potential to bring forward employment 

land at Faversham at mixed-use sites.  It is fair to assume that the LPR would be able to provide for new offices and light 

industrial land in accordance with recommendation (B) of the ELR. 

• BGS-C (Further Faversham focus) – there is good potential to bring forward new employment land as part of a strategic 

urban extension to the east / southeast of Faversham.  Specifically, there is the potential to deliver c.10ha of new industrial 

land to the east of Faversham and another c.10ha to the southeast (adjacent to M2 J7), as well as smaller scale ‘pockets’ 

of employment throughout the scheme (this aligns with the emerging design ethos).  On this basis, ELR recommendations 

in respect of locally arising demand for offices, light industrial and industrial land would be met; however, opportunities to 

deliver large-scale new industrial land in well-connected locations in the west of the Borough, with a view to providing for 

the long term needs of footloose strategic warehousing and distribution operators serving London and the Southeast, could 

Page 804



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 96 

 

be missed.  The new industrial land at East / southeast of Faversham (in particular the 10ha employment area adjacent to 

M2 J7) could prove attractive to strategic warehousing and distribution uses; however, this is unclear.  The ELR explains: 

“Although Faversham is an untested market for larger unit demand (which fuels the need for additional land) such a highly 

accessible area is likely to be in demand.  The part of the area (closest to the motorway unction) would be particularly 

attractive to strategic warehouse operators (min area 10 ha), because of the excellent access to the M2.  But should areas 

in the west of the Borough come forward these are likely to be preferable given they are closer to the M25 and benefit from 

better north / south access (A429).” 

• BGS-D (Further Faversham focus still) – performs broadly as per BGS-C, as it is difficult to assume that any of the 

additional small scale urban extensions to Faversham under this option would deliver significant new employment land. 

N.B. there is also one notable site at the far eastern extent of the Borough (adjacent to Canterbury Borough) that is 

available for development as an employment only scheme, namely 18/154 (Lamberhurst Farm); however, it is difficult to 

assume that delivery of this site would be more likely under this broad growth scenario. 

• BGS-E (Strategic sites) – the key point to note is that strategic growth to the Southeast of Sittingbourne represents a 

very significant opportunity, from an ‘economy and employment’ perspective.  This matter is explored in detail within the 

ELR, as well as within the two New Garden Communities: Assessment of submissions reports prepared by Stantec in 

2019.  There would be benefits three broad respects: 1) there could be significant expansion of Kent Science Park; 2) 

there would be the potential to deliver new strategic warehousing and distribution uses adjacent to a (new) motorway 

junction in the west of the Borough, thereby fully reflecting ELR recommendations; and 3) the scheme would deliver the 

final (eastern) section of the Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road (SNRR) and continue the link road south, beyond the A2 

as far as a new junction 5a of the M2, thereby supporting the functioning of Eurolink industrial area and potentially unlocking 

further expansion.93  Economic benefits would clearly be felt at a larger than local scale, with the site promoters suggesting 

that Eurolink and Kent Science Park collectively comprise the biggest business centre in Kent.  There are additional 

considerations to factor-in, when considering the merits of strategic growth to the Southeast of Sittingbourne from an 

‘economy and employment’ perspective, in particular around the possibility of growth here detracting from growth 

elsewhere in the Borough (Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheppey) and in the neighbouring authorities of Medway and/or 

Maidstone (e.g. the emerging Maidstone Local Plan proposes a “prestigious business park at Junction 8 of the M20”); 

however, for the purposes of this appraisal, it is appropriate to flag a significant opportunity.   

With regards to the final two strategic site options that would come into contention under this broad growth scenario: the 

current Bobbing proposal includes limited new employment land, and there is also a need to factor in concerns regarding 

traffic at the A249 junctions with the B2006 and M2, with the concern being that traffic could affect the functioning of 

existing, committed and potential future employment areas at Sittingbourne (Eurolink HGVs use the B2006 junction) and 

Sheppey; the proposal for North Street includes notably more employment land, including a “traditional employment/ 

business area close to M2 on north of site”, but there would be no potential to deliver strategic warehousing/distribution.  

In conclusion, the ELR serves to highlight a significant opportunity associated with Southeast Sittingbourne, hence it is 

appropriate to flag BGS-E as having the potential to result in significant positive effects; however, there is uncertainty in the 

absence of detailed work to explore what could be achieved (viably) and implications for the wider Borough and elsewhere.  

BGS-C also performs well, as the employment land strategy could align with ELR recommendations at a good (or, at least 

acceptable) extent.  The other broad growth scenarios do not perform poorly, as the employment land strategy could reflect 

ELR recommendations in part. 

Flood risk 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 3 2 

  

 
93 The ELR identifies an area of search, and explains: “This area would make a logical extension to the Borough's principle employment area 
- for industrial / warehousing but also potentially the flexible office/light industrial units that are in demand in the area.  Employment use in this 
location would achieve co-locational benefits from proximity to all the other industrial businesses at Eurolink, and sharing the available 
infrastructure.  However, the road infrastructure is the major constraint, and the suitability of the area is contingent on completion of the new 
link road, and most probably a new access road south of the town (to the M2).  We understand there are already congestion issues at Eurolink, 
and further expansion without solving the access constraint could hinder the efficient operation of the whole Eurolink area.  For this area to 
be taken further the local access (northern relief road) would need to be committed (with other associated upgrades to the local network) and 
delivered alongside the new employment.”  However, there is very limited land remaining outside of the flood risk zone / area of SPA sensitivity, 
and there are heritage constraints associated with Tonge Parish, including the setting of the grade 1 listed parish church. Page 805



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 97 

 

Discussion 

Large parts of the Borough are constrained by flood risk, as set out within the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA, 2019); 

however, there would be good potential to select sites outside of flood risk zones under all of the broad growth scenarios.   

The main concern relates to the increased emphasis on the Isle of Sheppey under BGS-A; however, it is difficult to assume 

that modestly higher growth would necessitate allocation of one or more sites constrained by flood risk, given available sites 

on the island that are unconstrained by flood risk.  There are strong arguments for focusing growth at locations within the flood 

risk zone at Queenborough/Rushenden, in order to support regeneration; however, it is difficult to suggest that there would 

necessarily be an increased emphasis on growth here under BGS-A. 

A second consideration relates to the likelihood of one or two small urban extensions to the north of Faversham under BGS-

B and BGS-D.  The sites in question would encroach very close to the flood risk zone that constrains land to the north of 

Faversham (also an area of SPA, wider biodiversity and landscape sensitivity), and there is a need to consider the risk of flood 

risk zones extending under climate change scenarios; however, on balance there would appear to be the potential for limited 

further northward expansion of Faversham, from a flood risk perspective. 

Finally, there is a need to consider sites that intersect one of the Surface Water Functional Flood Zones associated with the 

series of dry valleys that characterise the central and southern parts of the Borough.  These flood zones are a notable 

constraint to strategic growth to the southeast of Sittingbourne; however, the SFRA explains: 

“This SFRA introduces the concept of Surface Water Functional Flood Zones within dry valleys where there are significant 

overland flow paths.  For development sites located in Surface Water Functional Flood Zones, all types of development 

could be compatible, providing the FRA can demonstrate that the proposal will be safe from flooding for its lifetime and does 

not increase flood risk elsewhere.” 

In conclusion, it is appropriate to highlight those broad growth scenarios involving less growth directed to the Isle of Sheppey 

as performing well; however, this is highly uncertain, as there is the potential to deliver growth on the island whilst avoiding 

growth in a flood risk zone, and growth in the flood risk zone on the island is a very specific matter for consideration (as a 

potential ‘exceptional circumstance’) given potentially overriding regeneration objectives.  Significant negative effects are not 

predicted, but it is considered appropriate to flag a notable degree of concern associated with BGS-A.  

Heritage 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

2 3 

 

3 

 

Discussion 

The following bullet points consider each of the broad growth scenarios in turn: 

• BGS-A (Roll forward Bearing Fruits) – whilst there is little certainty, an increased focus of growth at Sittingbourne under 

this broad growth scenario could necessitate one or more significant allocations to the south of Sittingbourne which, broadly 

speaking, is a relatively sensitive area from a heritage perspective.  This area comprises five parishes (also accounting for 

Bredgar Parish, to the south of the M2) historically associated with the fertile soils of a transitional landscape between 

downland to the south and Sittingbourne / the Swale to the north.  Each parish has a grade 1 listed church, and there are 

seven conservation areas across the area as a whole, as well as several small clusters of listed buildings and historic 

farmsteads.  It is also important to note that the nationally available dataset of priority habitat shows a high density of 

traditional orchard habitat patches (the great majority of which appear to still be present on the ground, as understood from 

aerial imagery), and the Kent Historic Environment shows numerous areas with a ‘horticulture’ historic character. 

Another possibility, under BGS-A, is increased pressure for further expansion to the east of Sittingbourne, potentially 

expanding the town as far as Bapchild and Tonge, both historic parishes with a grade 1 listed church, although Bapchild’s 

character is now dominated by 20th Century housing, and only Tonge is associated is a designated conservation area.  

Finally, there is a need to consider the implications of modestly increased growth on the Isle of Sheppey under this broad 

growth scenario.  Sheppey is associated with wide ranging heritage constraints and opportunities, as explored in detail 

within the Swale Heritage Strategy (2020).  Most of potential growth locations are thought to be of relatively limited 

sensitivity, on the basis that they would comprise further extensions to the extensive 20th and 21st century development; 

however, there is a need to consider open views across marshland landscapes, including distant views to Minster Abbey.   

Page 806



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 98 

 

• BGS-B (Faversham focus) – under this broad growth scenario there would be decreased pressure to allocate problematic 

sites at Sittingbourne (and Sheppey), but there would be increased pressure to allocate non-strategic urban extensions to 

Faversham, which is very highly constrained from a historic environment perspective; indeed, Faversham’s heritage value 

is of at least regional renown, and maintaining this role is central to the vision for the Borough (as understood from the 

adopted Local Plan).  In light of these sensitivities, there is a need to consider potential directions of growth in turn: 

─ North: the possibility of one or two modest urban extensions, to more-or-less complete the expansion of Faversham 

as far as the flood risk zone / area of SPA constraint, potentially gives rise to relatively limited concerns from a historic 

environment perspective, with sites abutting the extensive Faversham Conservation Area but likely to have relatively 

limited visual connectivity.  However, sensitivities do exist, particularly given extensive views across flat, marshland-

edge landscapes that potentially hold historic environment value, including views from public rights of way.  The Swale 

Landscape Sensitivity (2020) states the following in respect of one of the locations in question: “The wider views and 

visual relationship with the surrounding marshland and tidal creek (including a boat yard) and the local landmark of St. 

Mary’s Church, Faversham on the skyline provide a relatively strong sense of place.  The disused 19th century sewage 

pumping station and brick works buildings also have some historic and visual interest, the small surviving chimney of 

which forms a local landmark and contributes to the sense of past industry around the tidal creek area.” 

─ East: much of the 20th and 21st Century expansion of Faversham has been to the east, hence further expansion 

potentially gives rise to relatively limited concerns, from a historic environment perspective (N.B. see further discussion 

below regarding landscape concerns, including in respect of ‘urban sprawl’).  However, there is a need to consider the 

rural setting of Faversham, including as experienced by motorists approaching along the A2 from the east, with the 

Swale Landscape Sensitivity (2020) explaining: “The time-depth of the landscape relates predominantly to the 

continuity of agriculture and fruit cultivation within the area, together with the presence of scattered historic farmsteads, 

with occasional pasture and traditional orchards.  Some areas of orchard have been lost in recent decades, together 

with field boundaries, resulting in more open, larger arable fields, particularly in the north and east of the area.”  A 

further consideration is encroachment of the eastern edge of the town towards historic farmsteads,94 and impacts to 

views from cycling routes and public footpaths that link Faversham to the Goodnestone Conservation Area and the 

marshland walking and cycling routes beyond. 

─ South: Faversham historically extended between the marshes and creekside industry in the north and the A2 in the 

south, with Ospringe and Syndale Park – both designated conservation areas – to the south of the A2; however, the 

built form of the town is evolving, with the adopted Local Plan allocating two sites to the south of the A2 (either side of 

the A251) that will together deliver nearly 600 homes plus new employment land.  Under this broad growth scenario 

there would be pressure for further non-strategic expansion to the south of the A2, and this pressure would most likely 

concentrate on the sector of land falling between Ospringe in the west and the Brogdale Road in the east.  This area 

is clearly constrained by the Ospringe Conservation Area to the west and the Faversham Conservation Area to the 

north, plus there is a need to consider contribution to a historic landscape strongly associated with fruit cultivation, as 

well as impacts to important links between Faversham and the rural landscape to the south of the M2, including the 

Whitehill and Painters Forstall Conservation Areas and the national fruit collection at Brogdale Farm. 

─ West: there is thought to be limited realistic potential for expansion to the west; however, there could be the possibility 

of a modest urban extension to the north of the A2, potentially expanding the western edge of the town in this area as 

far as the B2045 ‘Western Link’.  There are no listed buildings in this area; however, this land (in particular the western 

part) contributes to an attractive rural setting to the western edge of Faversham, in combination with the highly visible 

landscaped grounds of the Syndale Park Conservation Area to the south of the A2.  Furthermore, the Ordnance Survey 

map indicates the site of a Roman burial ground, and the Kent Historic Environment suggests this as the possible site 

of the Roman Station (mansio) of Durolevum, noting that the A2 is a Roman road (Watling Street). 

• BGS-C (Further Faversham focus) – as noted by the Swale Heritage Strategy (2020): “It is no coincidence that Faversham 

has the highest concentration of historic buildings in the area and also the most viable commercial and residential economic 

markets in the Borough”.  In this context, there is potentially merit to a strategic urban extension to the east / southeast of 

the town, from a historic environment perspective, in order to alleviate pressure for growth in sensitive locations elsewhere.  

This suggestion reflects an understanding that land to the east and southeast of Faversham is relatively unconstrained in 

historic environment terms, and also an understanding that there would be good potential to avoid and mitigate historic 

environment impacts by taking a strategic approach to masterplanning, landscaping and design.  There could also be good 

potential to deliver a new community - with associated employment, services, facilities, retail and infrastructure upgrades 

- that supports Faversham as a thriving market town and visitor/tourist destination.  However, there are wide ranging risks 

and uncertainties, including around traffic (including through the Ospringe Conservation Area), a new retail offer competing 

with Faversham town centre, impacts to the historic agricultural and horticultural landscape setting of the town and impacts 

to landscapes that link the town to surrounding historic settlements and landscapes, in particular Goodnestone and the 

 
94 One of the farmsteads is associated with a grade 2* listed building and another associated with two grade 2 listed buildings.  The third 
farmstead is not associated with any listed buildings, but is visible on the pre-1900 OS map. Page 807



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 99 

 

marshes to the northeast.  A key consideration is the integrity of the three closely linked historic farmsteads located 

between the expanding eastern edge of Faversham and Goodnestone.94 

• BGS-D (Further Faversham focus still) – it is fair to conclude that BGS-D performs worse than BGS-C; however, in practice 

it could be possible to deliver one or two modest urban extensions with limited historic environment impact. 

• BGS-E (Strategic sites) – of the other three strategic site options (in addition to east / southeast of Faversham, which is 

discussed above), it is Southeast Sittingbourne that stands-out as most constrained.  Unlike the other new settlement 

options, there is the potential to draw upon a valley topography to framework growth, which arguably leads to benefits in 

respect of alignment with historic settlement pattern (and containment); however, the corollary is growth would be in 

proximity to existing historic environment assets.  The current proposed masterplan seeks to take a ‘landscape led 

approach’ and avoid impacts as far as possible, including by avoiding development in proximity to the only conservation 

area in the vicinity (Rodmersham Green); however, tensions remain nonetheless, most notably at the northern extent of 

area, where a new link road would cut through the Tonge Conservation Area, and in the central area, where development 

would abut the hamlet of Rodmersham, where there is a cluster of four listed buildings including a grade 1 listed church, 

which the Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) describes as “an important local landmark and skyline feature”.  

The further statement made by the Assessment, as part of a discussion of ‘time depth’, is also of note: “It is evident that 

there have been changes in land cover in recent years, with the conversion of areas of commercial orchards to arable, 

and vice versa, for example along Church Street and Pitstock Road.  However, this does not change the fundamental 

character of the landscape.  The loss of some areas of traditionally managed orchards has adversely affected the historic 

and scenic character of the landscape, although more intensive commercial orchards remain an important feature which 

contributes to a distinctive sense of place”.  Finally, with regards to the other two strategic site options: 

─ North Street: the new settlement would envelop grade 1 listed Copton Manor, as well as the cluster of six grade 2 

listed buildings, and also encroach upon the historic hamlet of Newhouse Farm / Gosmere (eleven listed buildings) 

and the Sheldwich Conservation Area to the south, which is associated with raised ground within the Kent Downs 

AONB.  The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) explains: “The time-depth of the landscape relates 

predominantly to the continuity of agriculture, fruit and hop cultivation within the area, together with the presence of 

many scattered historic houses, farmsteads and associated barns, oasts, stables and granaries in the Kentish 

vernacular styles (including timber framed, weather boarded and red brick), some with parkland containing notable 

mature trees, pasture and traditional orchards…   Some areas of traditionally managed orchards have been lost in 

recent years, together with field boundaries, resulting in more open, larger fields.”  It also notes that there is evidence 

that the very large ‘prairie’ field in the vicinity of Copton has never been enclosed.  However, there are also potential 

benefits from a bypass of North Street. 

─ Bobbing: is seemingly the least constrained of the strategic site options, in historic environment terms.  The new 

settlement would envelop the string of ten listed buildings that stretches between Bobbing in the south (where there is 

a grade 1 listed church) and Howt Green in the north; however, there is no designated conservation area; the historic 

character of this area is presumably somewhat affected by the nearby A429; and development would deliver a bypass 

of Bobbing.  Development would envelop only one historic farmstead (with one grade II listed building), although the 

possibility of further expansion (in the future) encroaching upon two further farmsteads can be envisaged. 

In conclusion, the broad growth scenarios involving a focus on further piecemeal urban extensions give rise to a significant 

degree of concern, and it is appropriate to highlight BGS-B and BGS-D as performing worst, as Faversham is very sensitive, 

in historic environment terms.  It is suggested that negative effects would be notably less significant under BGS-C and BGS-

E; however, this conclusion is subject to the views of Historic England.   

Of the strategic site options under consideration, Southeast of Sittingbourne and North Street give rise to the greatest concern; 

however, under BGS-E it could be possible to focus growth at the two strategic site options subject to more limited constraint.   

  

Page 808



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 100 

 

Housing 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 3 2 

 

5 

Discussion 

It is assumed that all of the broad growth scenarios would deliver the same number of new homes in the plan period, and it is 

not possible to suggest that housing need is particularly acute in any one part of the Borough (rural housing needs are a 

specific topic worthy of consideration, but outside the scope of this current appraisal).  BGS-E could well involve allocating 

one or more sites that continue to deliver homes beyond the plan period (this would certainly be the case for Southeast 

Sittingbourne and North Street, and potentially Bobbing); however, it is difficult to suggest this is a notable ‘positive’, from a 

housing perspective, as housing needs beyond the plan period can be met through a future Local Plan Review. 

In turn, it is appropriate to focus attention on differentiating the scenarios in respect of the potential to deliver a good mix of 

housing types, sizes and (most importantly) tenures.  There are inherent uncertainties, and in many ways this is a detailed 

consideration for the planning application stage; however, in the Swale context it is a strategic consideration because housing 

mix is a factor of development viability, which varies significantly across the Borough.   

The headline point to note is that development viability is lower at Sittingbourne and on the Isle of Sheppey (BGS-A) than at 

Faversham (BGS-B).  However, there is also some finer-grained variation of note (as understood from the house prices ‘heat 

map’ presented in Appendix I).  In particular, it is notable that the parishes south of Sittingbourne are associated with much 

higher house prices than Sittingbourne itself, and within Faversham there are areas of notably lower house prices either side 

of the town centre / conservation area.  These variations in development viability are reflected in Policy DM8 (Affordable 

Housing) of the adopted Local Plan, which requires 0% affordable housing on Sheppey and 10% affordable housing at 

Sittingbourne, in comparison to 35% affordable housing at Faversham and 40% affordable housing in the rural area.  The LPR 

will adjust the affordable housing policy; however, there will still be a need to account for variations in viability.   

As for the four competing strategic site options, three are currently proposing to deliver 40% affordable housing, whilst one 

– Southeast Sittingbourne – is proposing to deliver 20% (having previously proposed 10-20%).  The proposed approach at 

Southeast Sittingbourne reflects an understanding that there will be other funding priorities, in particular major transport 

upgrades.  It is also noted that Southeast Sittingbourne is the only one of the strategic site options to include a clear 

commitment to delivering specialist housing (“retirement living and self-build opportunities for local people”), which is assumed 

to represent a development cost (i.e. these uses are thought to be less viable than market housing with affordable), but this 

is not entirely clear, in any case, this proposal could be subject to change.   

None of the strategic site promoters have proposed making land available for Gypsy and Traveller pitches (or Travelling 

Showpeople plots), which is an approach that is quite common nationally, where there is an established local need. 

Finally, in respect of the strategic site proposals, it is important to recognise that additional development costs could emerge 

leading to a need to reconsider the mix of housing, including affordable housing, that can be delivered.  For example, at 

Bobbing there is uncertainty regarding the extent of transport infrastructure upgrades required to support the scheme, and 

there is a relatively high degree of uncertainty regarding North Street because this scheme has been less fully worked-up.  

A further consideration, related to viability, is delivery risk.  It is difficult to conclude that this is a ‘housing’ consideration, as 

the NPPF puts in place mechanisms to redress unanticipated shortfalls in housing delivery (the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development).  Furthermore, there is the potential for the LPR to proactively address delivery risk, under all 

scenarios, by putting in place a land supply that is perhaps 10%, 15% or 20% above the housing requirement, as a contingency 

for unanticipated delays to delivery (‘supply buffer’).  However, in the Swale context delivery risk is considered to be an 

important issue, which should be considered here.  As stated within the officer’s report to the 28th October 2018 Local Plan 

Panel: “Perhaps the single greatest influence on delivery levels will be the settlement strategy and the choice of sites that will 

be pursued by the next Local Plan.  Here, matters such as the viability of specific parts of the Borough and the ability of 

infrastructure to be in place at the right time will be key considerations.”  Viability need not necessarily constrain delivery if 

development costs are kept low, but this can lead to tensions with wider objectives, for example affordable housing.  Having 

made these introductory remarks,  it is appropriate to comment on variation in delivery risk between the four competing 

strategic site options.  This is a focus of the Stantec work, from which an order of preference emerges:  

  

Page 809



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 101 

 

• East and SE Faversham – “Of the four schemes promoted this is clearly the lowest ‘risk’.  It is essentially an extension to 

Faversham and is more developed than the other three schemes, with fewer significant barriers to delivery within a short 

timetable.  It has also been shown to be viable.  There has been a commitment to accelerate the delivery rate which means 

the pace of delivery is more in line with the Council’s objectives.  However, there remains uncertainty about Junction 7…” 

• Bobbing – “This site is reasonably low risk and is very viable, its landscape impact can be mitigated, and it has the potential 

to come forward quickly.” 

• North Street – “To address the transport and landscape concerns could result in a very different scale of proposal.  This is 

unlike the other three sites where we think, if taken forward, it is likely that a proposal similar to that proposed today could 

be taken forward, ie with the scale of homes promoted, the general layout and package of infrastructure.”  

• Southeast Sittingbourne – “… remains the highest risk due to the timing, delivery and cost of the new junction 5A which 

all have implications on the viability and mean it can only delivery 20% affordable housing.” 

In conclusion, it is appropriate to highlight a notable degree of risk associated with BGS-E, given delivery risks associated 

with a strategy that relies on two strategic sites.  Under this scenario there would still be a large supply of homes from sites 

that are already committed (Swale Borough is in a strong position, with commitments expected to deliver around 11,000 

homes in the LPR plan period) and from future windfall sites; however, an element of delivery risk nonetheless.  In practice 

there would be good potential to manage this risk by additionally allocating a package of low risk urban / settlement extensions 

to deliver early in the plan period; however, for the purposes of this appraisal it is appropriate to ‘flag’ a notable risk. 

BGS-A also performs relatively poorly given viability challenges in the west of the Borough; however, there is considerable 

uncertainty.  It could well be that schemes are able deliver a good mix of housing, to include a good proportion of affordable 

housing, if housing objectives are prioritised above other policy requirements, for example minimising CO2 emissions.   

BGS-D performs most strongly, as there would be: a focus of growth at Faversham, where development viability is highest; a 

spread of growth between a strategic site (with inherent associated economy of scale benefits and inherently good potential 

to deliver a strong housing mix) and additional smaller urban extensions assumed to be associated with low delivery risk and 

able to deliver early in the plan period, thereby alleviating concerns around delay to delivering the strategic site would lead to 

a shortfall in housing supply early in the plan period (albeit, as discussed, the NPPF puts in place mechanisms to redress 

shortfalls against the plan delivery trajectory); and support for a strategic site (East / southeast of Faversham) where the 

current proposal is to prioritise affordable housing (at 40%, albeit the proposed breakdown of affordable housing tenures is 

not known) although there is uncertainty at the current time, ahead of further detailed work in respect of masterplanning and 

viability, taking account of local market conditions (there will be a need to deliver housing at a pace that avoids any concerns 

around saturation of the local housing market) and including detailed work to understand the costs of required infrastructure.   

Land 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

 

2 2 2 

 

Discussion 

A primary consideration is the need to avoid the loss of best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land, particularly that 

which is of the highest quality nationally, namely grade 1 land.  Swale has a very extensive resource of grade 1 land.   

The belt of grade 1 agricultural land in the Borough – known as the fruit belt – is centred on the A2 corridor, hence it is very 

challenging to identify any realistic broad growth scenario that would direct growth away from the area of agricultural land 

constraint.  Sheppey is relatively unconstrained, with low-lying land shown by the nationally available dataset as being non-

BMV (grade 4) and higher ground shown as grade 3 (which may or may not be BMV); however, BGS-A would involve only a 

modestly increased focus of growth at Sheppey, recognising that there are wide ranging barriers to growth on the Island. 

As for the strategic site options, it appears to be East / Southeast Faversham that is most constrained, with the nationally 

available dataset showing almost all of the land to be of grade 1 quality, and in the knowledge that land in this part of the 

Borough has always been intensively farmed for agriculture and fruit cultivation.  Southeast Sittingbourne is potentially the 

least constrained, as the nationally available dataset shows the southern part of the site to mostly comprise grade 2 quality 

land; however, it is important to recall that the dataset is very low resolution (e.g. with Teynham and Newington not recognised 

as comprising non-agricultural land).  Only a small part of the Borough has been surveyed in detail, to establish the grade of 

agricultural land with certainty, and very little of the land within the strategic site options (Bobbing is a notable exception, where 

an area of land has been surveyed in detail and found to be of non-BMV (grade 3b) quality).  Page 810



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 102 

 

In conclusion, it is appropriate to conclude that any reasonable broad growth scenario would lead to significant negative 

effects, due to significant loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, including grade 1 land that is of the highest quality 

nationally.  It is appropriate to highlight BGS-A and BGS-E as performing best, given areas of lower quality agricultural land 

on Sheppey and within the two new settlement options at Sittingbourne; however, this is fairly marginal and uncertain, given 

a lack of detailed survey work having been completed. 

N.B. a further consideration is the extent of minerals safeguarding areas across the Borough; however, these are very 

extensive, and cover the majority of land along the A2 corridor that comes into contention for growth (Southeast Sittingbourne 

potentially stands-out as being subject to relatively low constraint).  As such, it is not considered appropriate to differentiate 

the broad growth scenarios in respect of impacts to minerals safeguarding areas.  In practice, the presence of a safeguarding 

area does not necessarily mean that extraction would be viable, and it can be possible to extract minerals prior to 

development.95   

Landscape 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 4 2 3 

 

Discussion 

There is a wide range of evidence to take into account, when considering the landscape merits of broad growth scenarios.  In 

addition to avoiding impacts to the Kent Downs AONB and its setting, there is a need to avoid impacts to locally designated 

landscapes and countryside gaps, as understood from the Landscape Designation Review (2018) and the Important Local 

Countryside Gaps study (2020).  Additionally, the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019) examines the sensitivity of all 

landscape parcels surrounding the main settlements.  More broadly, there is a need to consider topography across the 

Borough, historic landscape character and important views, including from roads and public rights of way.  There is also a 

need to be mindful of wide ranging ecosystem services delivered by landscape units (see stand-alone discussion, below). 

Because there is such a wide range of evidence to take into account, the discussion here is high-level, with further detailed 

discussion presented within Appendices III and V. 

Having made these initial points, the following bullet points consider each of the broad growth scenarios in turn: 

• BGS-A (Roll forward Bearing Fruits) – whilst there is little certainty, an increased focus of growth at Sittingbourne under 

this broad growth scenario could necessitate one or more significant allocations to the south of Sittingbourne.  This area 

(parcel SE4) is judged to have overall moderate-high sensitivity, with a key conclusion: “The landscape has a distinctive 

dry valley in the east, evidenced by its local landscape designation, and a rolling and undulating landform in the centre 

and west.  There is a strong rural character through much of the area, and a resource of valued natural features and semi-

natural habitats.  There are high levels of enclosure and a well-defined urban edge to Sittingbourne.  It is in close proximity 

and partially visible from the AONB which lies to the south of the M2.”  However, it could be the case that one or more 

locations for modest urban extensions can be identified that are subject to relatively little landscape constraint. 

Another possibility, under this broad growth scenario, is that there could be increased pressure for further expansion to 

the east of Sittingbourne, likely to the north of the A2, where parcel SE1 is judged to have moderate sensitivity.  This could 

involve revisiting the proposals for strategic open space and landscaping set out in the conceptual masterplans for the 

Stones Farm and NE Sittingbourne allocations within the adopted Local Plan, and there would be wide range constraints 

and issues to consider (not least Tonge Conservation Area and the grade 1 listed church to the north); however, from a 

purely landscape perspective, there could be a degree of opportunity around completing the expansion of the town in this 

direction, and then maintaining a landscape gap to Teynham (which has recently been identified as warranting designation 

as an important countryside gap, albeit landscape character is somewhat weak).  Having said this, the Sensitivity 

Assessment (2020) notes: “The area south of the railway line around Tonge has a higher sensitivity due its smaller scale, 

higher scenic quality and greater prevalence of valued historic and natural features.” 

Also, under this broad growth scenario, there could be moderately increased pressure for growth on the Isle of Sheppey, 

where all of the landscape parcels that would likely come into contention are judged to have a moderate-high sensitivity 

to housing, bar the two landscape parcels at Leysdown and Warden, which have low-moderate sensitivity.  There could 

be the potential for one or more LPR allocations in the Leysdown area; however, any growth would be of a modest scale.  

A more likely situation is that land in the vicinity of Rushenden comes into contention for growth, given better connectivity 

 
95 See further discussion at: mineralproducts.org/19-release20.htm Page 811

https://mineralproducts.org/19-release20.htm


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 103 

 

and the need for growth to support regeneration objectives.  This does give rise to concerns, from a landscape perspective, 

as land here forms the western extent of the North Swale (Sheppey) Marshes locally designated landscape.  Furthermore, 

there is a likelihood of a mixed use scheme, and the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment identifies this area as having a 

high sensitivity to employment development. 

• BGS-B (Faversham focus) – there would be decreased pressure to allocate problematic sites at Sittingbourne (and 

Sheppey), but there would be increased pressure to allocate non-strategic urban extensions to Faversham, which, in short, 

is associated with a high degree of landscape sensitivity, as evidenced by five of the seven landscape parcels surrounding 

the town having a high sensitivity rating.  However, under this scenario there could be the potential to direct growth to 

modest urban extensions with relatively limited landscape sensitivity, in the context of a wider landscape parcel with high 

(or moderate-high) sensitivity.  Also, the bulk of growth would likely be directed to the east of the town, where the landscape 

has only moderate sensitivity, although there are concerns in respect of built form and ‘urban sprawl’. 

• BGS-C (Further Faversham focus) – growth would be directed to a strategic urban extension to the E/SE of the town, a 

strategy that is tentatively supported from a landscape perspective, as the landscape in this area has moderate sensitivity 

(in stark contrast to the high sensitivity parcels that surround most of the town).  See further discussion in Appendix III. 

• BGS-D (Further Faversham focus still) – it is fair to conclude that BGS-D performs worse than BGS-C, due to the need for 

one or more non-strategic urban extensions in addition to strategic urban extension assumed under BGS-C; however, 

there could be the potential for one or more modest urban extensions to Faversham that give rise to limited concerns. 

• BGS-E (Strategic sites) – of the other three strategic site options (in addition to E/SE of Faversham, which is discussed 

above), it is Bobbing that stands-out as least constrained, on the basis that it would comprise land with moderate-low and 

moderate sensitivity.  See further discussion in Appendix III.   

With regards to the other two strategic site options, a detailed discussion is presented in Appendix III, with the following 

considered to be key points: 

─ Southeast Sittingbourne: would likely impact on five landscape parcels to the east and southeast of Sittingbourne, 

including two that have moderate-high sensitivity and one that has high sensitivity, namely the Rodmersham and 

Milstead Dry Valley, which is a locally designated landscape.  The current masterplan proposals are described as 

‘landscape led’; however, it is challenging to understand what this means in practice, in the absence of detailed work 

to explore the relative merits of alternatives.  See further discussion in Appendix III. 

A further discrete consideration is impacts to the AONB.  The latest Stantec report states: “The AONB Unit consider 

that their concerns can be mitigated and therefore do not have a strong objection.”  However, the latest situation is that 

that AONB Unit has updated its position, stating: “… the proposed new motorway junction, located partially within the 

AONB, represents a major development that would be contrary to planning policy and due to its nature, could not be 

satisfactorily mitigated in terms of impact on the AONB.  Therefore, the Unit continues to object to the proposal.”96 

─ North Street: performs poorly as it entirely comprises landscape parcels identified as having high sensitivity.  This is a 

locally designated landscape, with a close association to the AONB, which is adjacent on three sides.   

In conclusion, it is appropriate to highlight BGS-E as performing well, because there is potentially something of a landscape 

opportunity to be realised through strategic growth directed to both Bobbing and East / southeast of Faversham.  The potential 

to comprehensively plan for the very long term future growth of the Borough’s two main settlements can be envisaged; 

however, in neither case are the current proposals considered to respond to the opportunity in full.  As such, it is not possible 

to predict positive effects.  Also, there is a need to apply caution when drawing conclusions in respect of BGS-E, as there are 

inherent concerns associated with North Street, and also concerns associated with the current proposal for Southeast 

Sittingbourne, including AONB concerns.   

As for the other broad growth scenarios, BGS-C is judged to perform relatively well, given the focus of growth at E/SE of 

Faversham, whilst those scenarios involving numerous ‘piecemeal’ urban extensions give rise to a cause for concern, albeit 

there is thought to be some capacity.  Notably negative effects are highlighted for the two worst performing scenarios taking 

a precautionary approach, and given a general view that this would be a continuation of the spatial growth strategy seen over 

recent decades, which has arguably led to a significant erosion of landscape character. 

  

 
96 See swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options  Page 812

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 104 

 

Box A: Inter-relating issues and impacts at landscape scales 

Whilst this current appraisal of broad growth scenarios must necessarily involve considering issues and impacts to a large 

degree in ‘silos’, there is also a need to recognise the extent to which issues and impacts inter-relate at a variety of scales, 

perhaps most notably at landscape scales.  For example, the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan discusses a complex 

web of issues and opportunities that require management and planning ‘in the round’; and the Swale estuary and marshlands 

is another iconic landscape associated with a wide range of ‘natural capital’ stocks and ‘ecosystem service’ flows, leading to 

benefits in terms of biodiversity, climate change, heritage, health, jobs, food production and more.   

The Nature Recovery Priority Areas are a good starting point for holistic consideration of issues and opportunities. 

The North Downs  

There is limited likelihood of growth directly impacting on the AONB, although: growth to the south of either Sittingbourne or 

Faversham leads to a need to a consider impacts to the setting of the AONB; and there is also a need to consider the 

possibility of modest growth at Neames Forstal, given that it has a rail station.  In turn, perhaps a foremost consideration is 

the possibility of strategic growth serving to deliver of facilitate strategic enhancements and therefore benefits, for example: 

• South of Sittingbourne – growth in the vicinity of Kent Science Park could feasibly deliver strategic enhancements to the 

dry valley(s) between Sittingbourne and Bedmonton / Wormhill / Frinsted / Torry Hill in Maidstone Borough.  The dry valley, 

which splits into three dry valleys at Bottom Pond, is associated with a very high density of ancient woodland, and Milstead 

– adjacent to the east – is associated with two very large woodlands as well as Torry Hill Park (in private ownership); 

however, it appears that the woodlands in this area have limited accessibility.  There could be the potential to: deliver 

circular walks and cycle routes; work with landowners to increase public accessibility; and deliver land management 

initiatives aimed at minimising surface water run-off and therefore risks of flash flooding. 

• North Street – two dry valleys strongly link the west of Faversham and Ospringe to the AONB, with both valleys associated 

with a high density of woodlands and heritage assets.  Land to the south of Faversham is more distant from high points 

in the AONB than is the case for land to the south of Sittingbourne; however, this does not detract from the strategic value 

of these valleys.  The possibility of strengthening landscapes to the west and southwest of Faversham as part of a 

comprehensive approach to planning for the town’s expansion might be envisaged.  For example, an aim might be to 

deliver a circular cycle route that follows and then links the two valleys, also taking in historic villages; and possibly linking 

with Milstead and the dry valleys south of Sittingbourne.  There could also be an opportunity to link the series of four 

country estates (three of which are on the list of registered parks and gardens; all grade II) that are a feature of Kent 

Down dip slope south of Sittingbourne / Faversham.97   

Swale Marshes 

A key opportunity could be around strategic expansion to the east of Faversham serving to strengthen and enhance the 

marshlands, and associated historic hamlets and farmsteads on raised land, that lie between Favesham and 

Seasalter/Whitstable, mindful of issues and opportunities associated with the committed Cleve Hill Solar Farm.  A national 

cycle route already links Faversham to Whitstable; however, there could be opportunities to further enhance accessibility.  

The concept of ‘rewilding’ could also feasibly be explored, including with a view to adding to the local tourism offer.  The Kent 

Wildlife Trust is supportive of re-wilding in appropriate parts of the County – see kentwildlifetrust.org.uk/wilderblean.    

On Sheppey the option of strategic growth on a par with that under consideration for Sittingbourne and/or Faversham is not 

considered to be a realistic option for the LPR; however, there could be significant growth nonetheless.  Attention focuses on 

the west of the Island, given that this is the area most suited to growth, and also given that the extensive marshes in the 

central and eastern parts of the islands are associated with limited growth-related opportunity (given distance and limited 

accessibility, plus they are already well-managed, with two extensive National Nature Reserves).  The Green and Blue 

Infrastructure Study (2020) identifies some targeted opportunities for enhancement, and also serves to highlight the Isle of 

Sheppey as experiencing notable health deprivation and having limited access to multifunctional green and blue 

infrastructure.  One identified opportunity area of note is located to the southwest of Rushenden. 

The Blean 

The Boughton and Dunkirk area is heavily constrained, and hence not likely to be a focus of strategic growth.  A new 

settlement is being promoted, but is not considered to be in realistic contention for allocation.98  As such, the key landscape 

area for consideration is the Blean Edge Fruit Belt locally designated landscape, which covers land to the north and south of 

Boughton, to the west of the Blean woodlands.  The value of this landscape – both in-and-of-itself and as a strategic gap 

between Faversham and Boughton - would increase under a scenario involving strategic growth southeast of Faversham, to 

include strategic employment growth at M2 J7.  Also, there is also a need to consider the possibility of growth at Neames 

 
97 The Lees Court Estate is notable for also managing extensive land to the north of Faversham – see www.leescourtestate.com. 
98 See winterbournefields.com/  Page 813

https://www.kentwildlifetrust.org.uk/wilderblean
http://www.leescourtestate.com/
http://winterbournefields.com/


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 105 

 

Forstal.  Alongside any strategic interventions focused on the locally designated landscape there should also be consideration 

given to land in the vicinity of Boughton Church Conservation Area, which falls outside of the locally designated landscape. 

Faversham 

The discussion above serves to highlight the possibility of comprehensively planning for the long-term future growth of 

Faversham alongside strategic planning for the surrounding landscapes of: the Swale marshlands and marshland edge 

landscapes to the north – to which Faversham relates very closely; dip slope dry valleys to the southwest; and the fruit belt 

landscape that separates Faversham and Boughton / Neames Forstal to the southeast.  This leaves one final sector to the 

south, where it is more challenging to suggest that this landscape should be a focus of protection / conservation / 

enhancement in the long-term.  This is something of an open ‘plateau’ type landscape between valleys to the east and west, 

historically sparsely settled, with very limited priority habitat and high points in the AONB some way distant, plus there is a 

need to consider that this area is potentially quite well connected to both Faversham and Ashford.   

Other settlements 

Faversham is perhaps the stand-out example of a settlement in Swale Borough where there is the potential to plan 

strategically for growth alongside strategic planning for surrounding landscapes, with a view to leveraging funding to secure 

and enhance natural capital and ecosystem services, to the benefit of the growing population (and populations more widely), 

but any other settlement that is a focus of strategic growth might benefit from this approach.   

For example, a scenario might be envisaged where, as a quid pro quo for accepting major growth at those locations around 

Sittingbourne that are less sensitive from an environmental perspective (also recalling that there is a committed high growth 

strategy for Iwade), government funding might be made available to support both protection and enhancements of sensitive 

landscapes to the south and southeast of the town as well as delivery of a new motorway junction and southern link road. 

As for the Isle of Sheppey, the island is largely characterised by two distinct geographies, namely the marshes and the raised 

‘clay spine’ to the north.  This could indicate a strategic planning opportunity, crucially to include major transport upgrades.  

This could be a matter to explore at the sub-regional scale, as part of work focused on the wider Thames Gateway, with 

strategy for the Isle of Sheppey  considered ‘in the round’ along with strategy for the Isle of Grain and South Essex. 

Conclusion 

Large scale ‘zoning’ of land uses, with a view to securing natural capital and ecosystem service benefits, is potentially in-line 

with emerging thinking on planning for the natural environment alongside growth.  For example, locally prepared Local Nature 

Recovery Strategies under the Environment Bill will come together to deliver a national Nature Recovery Network, the Wildlife 

Trusts are calling for a new planning designation of Wild Belts and the concept of targeted ‘rewilding’ is also gaining traction.  

However, there are also arguments for allowing settlements and surrounding landscapes to evolve more organically over 

time and, in this respect, it is notable that the recent Planning White Paper proposes that Local Plans should plan for a time 

horizon of ten years, rather than the current fifteen years.   

Transport 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

4 4 

 

3 2 

Discussion 

The following bullet points consider each of the broad growth scenarios in turn: 

• BGS-A (Roll forward Bearing Fruits) – a key consideration is junction capacity on the strategic road network, and a primary 

consideration is capacity at M2 J5 (A249), in respect of which the adopted Local Plan (2017) explains: “The main strategic 

risk to the plan overall relates to any significant deferral in the improvement to Junction 5 of the M2”.   

Highways England consulted on upgrade options in 2017 (see highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/m2-junction-5-

improvements) and identified a preferred option, but there have been funding challenges.  The September 2019 Stantec 

report explained that the scheme was still “not fully funded”, and discussions have continued through 2020.  However, 

latest understanding is that upgrades will commence in 2021.  A planning inquiry closed on 4th December 2020; however, 

this is specifically in respect of one element of the proposes scheme (a flyover), as opposed to the scheme as a whole.   

Page 814

https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/m2-junction-5-improvements
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/m2-junction-5-improvements


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 106 

 

Additionally, there is a need to consider the three A249 junctions to the west of Sittingbourne.  In particular, there are 

concerns regarding the Bobbing junction, given that the other two junctions have funding for upgrades in place (also, the 

Grovehurst junction, which serves Iwade, is not likely to serve LPR growth). 

In short, there are concerns regarding junction capacity, the timing of upgrades and also the headroom that will exist 

following upgrades (including headroom at M2 J5, recognising that the M2 may see increase traffic following the Lower 

Thames Crossing and potentially given an increase in traffic to/from ports). 

In light of these points, BGS-A gives rise to notable concerns, as piecemeal growth would ‘load pressure’ onto the strategic 

road network.  Other points, including taking account of potential growth locations, are discussed above under Air quality, 

Climate change mitigation and Communities. 

• BGS-B (Faversham focus) – as discussed above, under Air Quality, BGS-B could necessitate a focus of growth in the 

Ospringe area, which gives rise to concerns from a transport perspective, given the likelihood of increased traffic on the 

A2, including through AQMAs.  As discussed, it is difficult to envisage a strategic transport solution that would avoid 

increased traffic impacting on the Ospringe AQMA and, in any case, concerns would remain regarding westbound traffic 

towards Sittingbourne impacting on AQMAs.  Additionally, there is a concern regarding capacity M2 J7, discussed below. 

• BGS-C (Further Faversham focus) – transport issues associated with strategic growth at Southeast Faversham (as 

opposed to E/SE of Faversham) are discussed in detail in the latest Stantec report.  In short (see further discussion in 

Appendix III), there is merit in the location and the proposed scheme, as has been discussed above under other headings, 

but there is a concern regarding capacity at M2 J7 and the potential to achieve a link to M2 J6.  It may be that the latest 

proposal, which involves bringing forward a combined scheme involving growth both to the east and southeast of 

Faversham, leads to greater potential to deliver timely road infrastructure upgrades, but there is no certainty in this respect. 

• BGS-D (Further Faversham focus still) – gives rise to significant concerns given that piecemeal growth, in addition to 

strategic growth to the east / southeast, would give rise to concerns in respect of traffic on the A2 and at M2 J7. 

• BGS-E (Strategic sites) – a detailed discussion is presented in Appendix III; however, in summary there is least concern 

with E/SE Faversham.  As for the other sites, the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 submissions (2019) concludes:  “… in 

general and subject to further modelling it is likely that appropriate mitigation could be achieved.  However, there are 

concerns about [Southeast Sittingbourne] in relation to the costs and delivery of the junction and Highways England believe 

junction 5a cannot start before Junction 5 works have finished.  There are concerns about the current scale of [North 

Street], on the A251, for which mitigation may not be agreeable or financially viable and also concerns that [Bobbing] will 

have significant implications on the local highway network which may not be capable of mitigation.” 

N.B. with regards to what might be learned from further modelling, one important consideration is the impact of strategic 

growth in Swale on junctions outside of the Borough – see discussion in Appendix I, which serves to highlight junctions in 

Ashford and Maidstone Boroughs (linked to Swale) as important considerations for the LPR.  

The following quote from the latest Stantec report is also an important consideration: “We would also note that for highways 

especially there is a ‘chicken and egg’ issue. Highways England (and others) are unlikely to view Swale as a priority for 

investment unless they can see measurable benefits of doing so….  Councils with active proposals for development in 

emerging plans are able to access funding not available to those who do not.”  There could be an argument to suggest 

that public sector funding will be more forthcoming where there is strategic growth, including because there will tend to be 

good potential to effectively channel developer funds to bolster public sector funds. 

In conclusion, it is difficult to differentiate those broad growth scenarios involving dispersed growth across smaller sites (BGS-

A and BGS-B) and those involving a concentration of growth at one or two strategic sites.  There is limited evidence in respect 

of BGS-A and BGS-B; however, the latest Stantec report does explain that: “Any and all new housing proposals, whether as 

small extensions, or large new communities, in Swale will run against these same constraints.  As noted in the analysis above, 

given the local network constraints large proposals such as these may be preferable over small sites because these offer the 

opportunity to internalise trips and also provide more substantial off-site investment.  For example, it is unlikely a new public 

transport link to Newington [Bobbing] would be achievable from a collection of smaller sites in the same broad area.”  

Overall, it is considered appropriate to highlight BGS-C as best performing, primarily on the basis that Stantec find Southeast 

of Faversham strategic site option to give rise to the fewest concerns, albeit the proposal is now to deliver a “East / southeast 

Faversham” scheme.  Additional evidence, in respect of BGS-C, comes from the April 2020 re-run of the Swale Transport 

Model (discussed in Appendix I), which examined an approach to growth at Faversham similar to that assumed under BGS-

C and serves to highlight limited concerns regarding the capacity at junctions in the area (see Table C in Appendix I). 

It is considered appropriate to highlight BGS-E as second best performing, given the potential for Southeast Sittingbourne to 

deliver transformational transport benefits, albeit there is uncertainty regarding delivery.  It is fair to highlight BGS-A and BGS-

B as jointly worst performing, as there is insufficient evidence to differentiate them. 

Page 815



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 107 

 

With regards to effect significance, there are uncertainties and concerns regarding all of the broad growth scenarios, and it is 

fair to flag the risk of significant negative effects for the two worst performing scenarios. 

Water 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 

Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 

focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 

focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

? ? ? ? ? 

Discussion 

An important strategic consideration is waste-water treatment capacity.  The latest Stantec report includes a section on utilities 

capacity, which overall highlights very limited concerns, concluding:  

“There are no significant abnormal issues that have been identified that cannot be overcome.  Although there is a capacity 

issue with Water Treatment works in the area, which applies equally to all proposals and has to be addressed as part of the 

water companies statutory duty.”   

However, there is a need to apply caution, in the sense that there is a need to minimise any residual risk of capacity breaches 

(in respect of either treated or untreated effluent), with resultant water quality impacts.99  In turn, there are arguments for 

directing growth to locations where there is existing capacity at the receiving Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW), as 

opposed to relying on timely capacity upgrades.   

There is some evidence to suggest that capacity at Faversham WwTW is a particular concern.  In particular, the Kent Water 

Sustainable Growth Study (2017) noted that headroom capacity at Faversham WwTW would be exceeded by planned growth 

to 2031 (as set out in the adopted Local Plan), hence there would be a need for upgrades.  However, as part of the assessment 

of the Southeast Faversham strategic site option, the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (2019) explains:  

“The Sewage Treatment Works (STW) in Faversham is currently operating above its allowable discharge.  However, there 

are solutions available to address the absence of capacity in the interim. The sewage discharge from the site can be 

temporarily pumped, for up to 2 years by the Water company, before the STW has been upgraded to sufficient capacity.   We 

understand that this is an issue but can be managed. Further details of… costs, options and works duration [are being 

discussed].” 

Further considerations are as follows: 

• Bobbing - it is unclear whether there is a need for a new pumping station, though the promoter has suggested that costs 

of any network reinforcement that may be required would not be borne by Southern Water.  

• In March 2020 Southern Water pleaded guilty to 51 sewage pollution charges, including permit breaches at Eastchurch, 

Queenborough, Sittingbourne and Teynham WwTW.  The charges cover historic events alleged to have taken place 

between 2010 and 2015, and it is understood that another investigation by the Environment Agency is under way that 

covers pollution incidents after 2015.100 

In conclusion, it is considered appropriate to highlight uncertain negative effects for all scenarios.  Whilst there can be merit 

to focusing growth at strategic sites, and there is some evidence to suggest that wastewater treatment is a particular constraint 

in the Faversham area, it is not possible to differentiate the broad growth scenarios with certainty, on the basis of the evidence 

available.  It can also be the case that urban extensions benefit from proximity and existing links to WwTWs. 

As for other ‘water’ considerations: 

• Pollution to surface water in the vicinity of growth locations – whilst there may be variation in water quality across the 

Borough’s surface water bodies, it is inherently difficult to differentiate broad growth scenarios, because there is very good 

potential to deal with water pollution arising from development schemes through Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS).  

Water pollution from breaches of capacity at WwTWs is considered to be a much more important strategic consideration. 

• Pollution to groundwater in the vicinity of growth locations – groundwater source protection zones are associated with the 

parts of the Borough associated with a chalk geology, with Sheppey, Bobbing, and most land at Faversham (bar land 

 
99 N.B. as discussed within the Swale LPR Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) report, there are relatively limited concerns around 
sewage effluent impacting the North Kent Estuaries European sites from treated sewage effluent.  This is because these estuaries have a 
high sediment load, low water temperatures and high wave action.  As such, smothering macroalgal growth, which has caused issues for 
European sites on the south coast, is not considered a threat to achievement of conservation objectives for these European sites.  
100 See https://www.ft.com/content/3efb3e7b-3388-4f27-85ac-44b00aa1fd37  Page 816

https://www.ft.com/content/3efb3e7b-3388-4f27-85ac-44b00aa1fd37


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 108 

 

directly to the south) falling outside of a source protection zone.  However, it is again the case that there is very good 

potential to suitably avoid/mitigate impacts through the development management process.  Groundwater source 

protection zones can be a particular constraint for polluting developments (e.g. heavy industry, petrol stations). 

• Water resources – water scarcity is an issue that applies across the Borough as a whole. 

Conclusions 

The matrix below draws together the conclusions from the preceding twelve topic-specific appraisal tables. 

 

BGS-A: 

Roll forward Bearing 
Fruits 

BGS-B: 

Faversham focus 

BGS-C: 

Further Faversham 
focus 

BGS-D: 

Further Faversham 
focus still 

BGS-E: 

Strategic sites 

Rank of preference and categorisation of effects 

Air quality 2 4 3 4 

 

Biodiversity 
 

2 

 

2 

 

Climate change 
mitigation 

4 4 

 

3 2 

Communities 4 5 

 

3 2 

Economy and 
employment 

4 3 2 3 

 

Flood risk 4 3 2 

  

Heritage 2 3 

 

3 

 

Housing 4 3 2 

 

5 

Land 
 

2 2 2 

 

Landscape 4 4 2 3 

 

Transport 4 4 

 

3 2 

Water ? ? ? ? ? 

  

Page 817



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 109 

 

Overall appraisal conclusions 

It is immediately apparent that scenarios A and B are assigned relatively few stars (indicating highest rank of preference) 

and green scores, and more red scores than is the case for scenarios C to E.  Focusing on scenarios C to E, it is apparent 

that Scenario D has fewer stars, fewer green scores and more red scores than is the case for scenarios C and E.   

However, it does not necessarily follow that it is a straightforward choice between BGS-C and BGS-E, when seeking to 

decide which is best performing overall.  This is because the appraisal does not make any assumptions regarding the 

weight that is attributed to each topic in the decision-making process.  For example, the decision-maker might decide to 

give particular weight to Air quality, Biodiversity, Housing and Land objectives, which could mean favouring BGS-A overall. 

Having made these opening remarks, the following bullet points summarise the performance of the broad growth scenarios 

in respect of each element of the SA framework in turn: 

• Air quality – BGS-B and BGS-D perform poorly, as there is a strong likelihood of increased traffic through Ospringe, 

which is an air pollution hotspot.  The Air Quality Modelling Report suggests that air pollution in Ospringe could roughly 

halve by the end of the plan period; however, it is nonetheless appropriate to flag a notable degree of risk.  It is fair to 

highlight BGS-E as performing best, on the assumption that there would be a focus of growth at the two best performing 

strategic sites, namely Southeast Sittingbourne and East / southeast of Faversham. 

• Biodiversity – BGS-B and BGS-D perform poorly, as there could be a need to allocate constrained sites to the north of 

Faversham, and it is appropriate to flag a notable degree of a risk (however small) of SPA/Ramsar impacts.  It is difficult 

to confidently differentiate the other scenarios.  BGS-C arguably performs relatively well; however, there is a concern 

associated with strategic growth to the east of Faversham extending north as far as the railway line. 

• Climate change mitigation –  it is inherently challenging to differentiate the scenarios, including because there can be 

tensions between objectives around minimising built environment emissions on the one hand and, on the other hand, 

minimising transport emissions.  However, on balance it is considered appropriate to highlight BGS-C as performing 

best, because there would be a focus of growth at a strategic urban extension that is well-related to a higher order 

settlement, albeit there are a range of issues and uncertainties.  With regards to the other broad growth scenarios, it is 

considered appropriate to highlight BGS-E as second best performing, given the opportunities associated with strategic 

growth; however, there is a very high degree of uncertainty, given that the locations in question are not ideal from a 

transport connectivity perspective and/or there would be viability challenges.  With regards to effect significance, it is 

difficult to draw conclusions; however, on balance it is considered appropriate to flag a concern with all scenarios, even 

that which is best performing.  This reflects a view that Swale Borough’s 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that 

decarbonisation must be a primarily driving factor influencing spatial strategy and site selection.   

• Communities – a key consideration is the need to deliver a new secondary school at Faversham to meet existing and 

committed future needs.  This serves as a reason to conclude that BGS-C will lead to significant positive effects, and 

BGS-B would lead to significant negative effects.  However, there is a degree of uncertainty ahead of detailed site-

specific proposals.  It is also appropriate to flag a degree of opportunity associated with BGS-E, although there is 

considerable uncertainty, given viability constraints in the Sittingbourne area, competing costs and uncertainty regarding 

the deliverability of site specific proposals.  As for BGS-A, it is appropriate to flag a degree of risk associated with 

piecemeal expansion at Sittingbourne ‘loading pressure’ onto existing community infrastructure. 

• Economy and employment – the Employment Land Review (ELR) serves to highlight a significant opportunity 

associated with Southeast Sittingbourne, hence it is appropriate to flag BGS-E as having the potential to result in 

significant positive effects; however, there is uncertainty in the absence of detailed work to explore what could be 

achieved (viably) and implications for the wider Borough and elsewhere.  BGS-C also performs well, as the employment 

land strategy could align with key recommendations from the ELR.   

• Flood risk – it is appropriate to highlight those broad growth scenarios involving less growth directed to the Isle of 

Sheppey as performing well; however, this is highly uncertain, as there is the potential to deliver growth on the island 

whilst avoiding growth in a flood risk zone, and growth in the flood risk zone on the island is a very specific matter for 

consideration (as a potential ‘exceptional circumstance’) given potentially overriding regeneration objectives.  

Significant negative effects are not predicted, but it is considered appropriate to flag a concern in respect of BGS-A.  

• Heritage – the broad growth scenarios involving a focus on further piecemeal urban extensions give rise to a significant 

degree of concern, and it is appropriate to highlight BGS-B and BGS-D as performing worst, as Faversham is highly 

constrained.  Negative effects could be notably less significant under BGS-C and BGS-E; however, this conclusion is 

subject to the views of Historic England.  Of the strategic site options under consideration, Southeast of Sittingbourne 

and North Street give rise to the greatest concern.   

Page 818



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 110 

 

• Housing – it is appropriate to highlight a concern with BGS-E, given reliance on strategic sites leading to delivery risks.  

BGS-A also performs relatively poorly given viability challenges; however, there is considerable uncertainty.  BGS-D 

performs most strongly, as there would be: a focus of growth at Faversham, where development viability is highest; a 

spread of growth between a strategic site and smaller urban extensions assumed able to deliver early in the plan period; 

and support for a strategic site where the current proposal (to be confirmed) is to prioritise affordable housing.   

• Land – it is appropriate to conclude that any reasonable broad growth scenario would lead to significant negative effects, 

due to significant loss of best and most versatile agricultural land, including grade 1 land that is of the highest quality 

nationally.  It is appropriate to highlight BGS-A and BGS-E as performing best; however, this is marginal and uncertain. 

• Landscape – it is appropriate to highlight BGS-E as performing well, because there is potentially something of a 

landscape opportunity to be realised through strategic growth directed to both Bobbing and East / southeast of 

Faversham.  The potential to comprehensively plan for the very long term future growth of the Borough’s two main 

settlements can be envisaged; however, in neither case are the current proposals considered to respond to the 

opportunity in full.  As such, it is not possible to predict positive effects (plus there is a need to apply caution when 

drawing conclusions in respect of BGS-E, as there are concerns associated with North Street and SE Sittingbourne).  

As for the other scenarios, BGS-C is judged to perform relatively well, given the focus of growth at East / southeast of 

Faversham, whilst those scenarios involving numerous ‘piecemeal’ urban extensions give rise to a cause for concern. 

• Transport – it is difficult to differentiate those broad growth scenarios involving dispersed growth across smaller sites 

(BGS-A and BGS-B) and those involving a concentration of growth at one or two strategic sites.  However, an overriding 

consideration is that piecemeal urban extensions can lead to opportunities missed in respect of delivering strategic 

transport infrastructure upgrades, and in respect of supporting ‘trip internalisation’.  In respect of the strategic site 

options, all are associated with challenges, but East / Southeast of Faversham may give rise to fewest concerns.  This 

leads to a conclusion that BGS-C performs best.  It is considered appropriate to highlight BGS-E as second best 

performing, given the potential for Southeast Sittingbourne to deliver transformational transport benefits, albeit there is 

uncertainty regarding deliverability.  With regards to effect significance, there are uncertainties and concerns regarding 

all of the broad growth scenarios, and it is fair to flag the risk of significant negative effects for the two worst performing. 

• Water – focusing on the matter of capacity at Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTWs), it is considered appropriate to 

highlight uncertain negative effects for all scenarios.  Whilst there can be merit to focusing growth at strategic sites, and 

there is some evidence to suggest that wastewater treatment is a particular constraint in the Faversham area, it is not 

possible to differentiate the broad growth scenarios with certainty, on the basis of the evidence available.   

  

Page 819



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 111 

 

Appendix III: Strategic site options 

Introduction 

The aim of this appendix is to present an appraisal of the four competing strategic site options discussed in Section 6.2. 

Appraisal methodology 

Appraisal findings are presented below within 12 separate tables, with each table dealing with a specific sustainability topic 

(see Section 3).  Within each table the performance of each of the strategic site options is categorised in terms of significant 

effects (using red / amber / light green / green)101 and the strategic site options are also ranked in order of preference.   

Other points on methodology discussed in above, in respect of the appraisal of broad growth scenarios (Appendix II) also 

apply to the appraisal of strategic site options. 

Appraisal findings 

The tables below presents appraisal findings in relation to the strategic site options. 

Air quality 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

 

3 

 

2 

Discussion 

Despite all options being in proximity to problematic A2 corridor, they are likely to have different degrees of dependency upon 

it.  The northern extent of Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) is adjacent to the A2 and would likely facilitate direct access to 

it.  However, Option 1 would also have potential to deliver a new junction to the M2 which runs adjacent to the site’s southern 

extent, which would likely provide primary east-west connectivity for non-local traffic generated from new development at the 

site.  This could have the effect of minimising the overall level of traffic using the A2 for journeys other than to local destinations, 

which would help limit adverse effects on AQMAs at Sittingbourne, Teynham and Ospringe.  There could be potential to 

provide or enhance sustainable transport connections to services at central Sittingbourne, and the scale of the site suggests 

that local services would likely be provided within the site, helping minimise the need to travel to meet day-to-day needs. 

Similarly, the eastern extent of Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) is adjacent to junction 7 of the M2, which could also provide 

the primary east-west axis for traffic generated by development on site, minimising the level of traffic funnelled along the A2 

corridor through the Ospringe, Tenyham and Sittingbourne AQMAs.  Additionally, the option’s close proximity to services at 

central Faversham could present opportunities to ensure residents can access these services by modes other than the car, 

helping minimise additional emissions from local travel within Faversham.   

Option 4 (North Street) would be served by junction 6 of the M2, again suggesting that the majority of east-west traffic would 

be unlikely to flow to the A2 and impact the AQMAs.  However, the option’s greater distance from existing services and facilities 

at central Faversham serves to suggest that many needs would continue to be met by private car, potentially loading new 

vehicle movements onto the local road network in central Faversham.  In particular, there could be potential for heightened 

pollution from queuing traffic at the junction of the A251 and the A2, as traffic from Option 4 would pass through this junction 

to access the town centre.  Whilst this is not an AQMA, it is a not air pollution problem area, given the nearby school. 

Option 2 (Bobbing) appears to have greatest potential to directly increase traffic flows through one or more AQMAs.  

Specifically, traffic travelling eastwards into central Sittingbourne or westwards towards Newington and Rainham would flow 

towards the AQMAs at St Paul’s Street, Newington High Street and Rainham respectively.  Whilst this would be mitigated to 

an extent by provision of public transport, it is unlikely that the B2006 would provide an attractive option for walking or cycling 

to town centre services at Sittingbourne and so a degree of car dependency is likely to remain for access to some.  

 
101 Red indicates a significant negative effect; amber a negative effect that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; light green a 
positive that is of note but with limited or uncertain significance; and green a significant positive effect. Page 820



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 112 

 

It is recognised that the promoter of Option 1 suggests development at the option will “impact positively” on air quality at the 

Borough’s AQMAs.  The rationale behind this centres on the same argument as has been discussed above, namely facilitating 

travel via the M2, rather than the A2, and by delivering a good degree of self-containment / trip internalisation.  The promoter 

of Option 2 says that air quality issues arising from new development could be mitigated via provision of enhanced public 

transport facilities in relation to travel to both Sittingbourne and Rainham.  No specific discussion of air quality is presented by 

the promoters of Options 3 or 4.  

In conclusion, it is considered that by virtue of their potential to support walking and cycling to local services and to direct 

longer distance car journeys away from the Borough’s AQMAs, Options 1 and 3 perform most strongly in relation to air quality.  

Option 4 performs less strongly, as although it is unlikely to directly generate traffic which flows through one or more AQMAs, 

its location is considered likely to embed a degree of dependency on emissions-generating transport modes.   

Option 2 is found to perform least strongly, as it is considered unlikely to support walking and cycling to higher tier services 

and whilst there could be potential to expand existing bus services to serve the option, it is likely that accessing many services 

would be most conveniently achieved via car, generating traffic which would flow through AQMAs to both the east and the 

west.  However, significant negative effects are not predicted, given good potential for mitigation, and also noting that air 

quality is improving over time and set to improve significantly over the plan period, due to the switchover to electric vehicles. 

Biodiversity 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

3 2 

  

Discussion 

With regards to internationally designated sites: 

• Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) – the current proposal is to deliver significant growth to the north of the A2, where the 

SPA would be in relative proximity, although it is not clear that there would be good connectivity by road or PROW. 

• Option 2 (Bobbing) – the northern extent of the site would be around 2km from the SPA, and whilst it is not clear that this 

is a particularly accessible or sensitive part of the SPA, there is a need to consider in-combination impacts given committed 

growth at Iwade and Northwest Sittingbourne (also the potential for the Bobbing scheme to expand in the future).   

• Option 3 (E/SE Faversham) - the walking route to the SPA would be c2.25km; and the driving route to the SPA would be 

via Goodnestone.  A further consideration is the likelihood of growth leading to a degree of increased recreational pressure 

on the Blean Woodlands SAC to the east, potentially in combination with growth in Canterbury District; however, the part 

of the SAC in closest proximity is managed as a National Nature Reserve, and the car park is on the eastern edge, well 

over 10 km distant. 

• Option 4 (North Street) – is also within driving distance of the Blean Woodlands.  The site promoters of Option 4 highlight 

the potential to “provide a mitigation package” for the Blean Complex SAC, though details are not provided. 

The Borough has several nationally important Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), though the four options are mostly 

fairly distant.  This is again on the basis that the majority of the Borough’s SSSIs, and those in neighbouring areas, are 

clustered along the coastline.  The Church Woods, Blean SSSI – and the National Nature Reserve at the same location – are 

the principal exceptions to this, though it is considered that recreational pressure is less significant in relation to these 

designations than in relation to the Blean Complex SAC. 

In terms of effects on lower-tier designations, Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) stands out as having potential for adverse 

effects as the expansive scale of the site means it envelops a number of local sites.  First, development under Option 1 would 

likely include a focus of growth at the Highstead / Rodmersham Green area, where there is a high density of woodland, 

including the ancient woodlands of Highstead Wood, Box Wood and Cromer’s Wood.  This could lead to degradation of the 

ancient woodland itself, as well as its role in sustaining the wider habitat network. 

Option 1 also includes the Highstead Quarries Local Wildlife Site (LWS) - which is adjacent to the existing built area of 

Sittingbourne - and the option also nearly encircles the Cromer’s Wood LWS at Woodstock to the south.  The uneven (and 

potentially unstable) nature of the land around the former quarry suggests that development is unlikely to come forward in the 

immediate vicinity of this LWS, though the Cromer’s Wood LWS has a largely open and undeveloped periphery, and it may 

be important to retain this as far as possible through the development process to maintain habitat connectivity. 

Page 821



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 113 

 

The Biodiversity Baseline Study (2020) identifies that broad areas of traditional orchard priority habitat within Option 1 are a 

strategic priority at the borough-scale, and there is understood to have been significant loss of this habitat over recent decades.  

Therefore, whilst there could be potential adverse effects to habitat connectivity at a landscape scale from strategic growth at 

Option 1, there could equally be an opportunity to seek to deliver habitat enhancement.  The Biodiversity Baseline Study notes 

that these opportunities could include providing habitat linkages between Highstead Wood and Cromer’s Wood. 

Areas of ancient woodland are also evident within and adjacent to Option 2 (Bobbing) and adjacent to Option 4 (North Street).  

At Option 2, it could be feasible to incorporate an appropriate development buffer around the Rooks Wood ancient woodland 

at its centre, though it is appropriate to highlight the potential for harm to the woodland itself from activities such as trampling 

underfoot, and of harm to its wider habitat connectivity which could be severed by encircling development.  

At Option 4 (North Street), a small area of the Badgin Wood ancient woodland is adjacent to the site’s south west boundary, 

though in practice it is considered that the southern extent of the site would likely incorporate a landscape or natural buffer as 

proposed by the site promoter, which would provide appropriate mitigation.  The Biodiversity Baseline Study notes in relation 

to land at Option 4 that “onsite Biodiversity Net Gain provision should seek to increase the extent of deciduous woodland and 

other key habitats” suggesting that although the site has a range of sensitivities, there could be opportunities to deliver positive 

effects through the development process via habitat enhancement. 

Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) appears to have very limited sensitivity in relation to lower tier designations, as there are 

no designated sites within or adjacent to it.  Very small, localised areas of priority habitat are evident at two separate areas of 

deciduous woodland near the A2.  In this context there could be good opportunities to seek a biodiversity net gain through 

Option 3, and it is noted that the site promoter has proposed “ecological enhancements” on site to establish new habitats. 

In conclusion, Option 1 stands out as having potential for adverse effects on habitats of at least local significance, including 

several areas of ancient woodland.  The theoretical potential for seeking a net gain in biodiversity through the development 

process must be balanced against the potential for adverse effects of significant urbanisation on the area’s habitat networks 

and individual biodiversity assets, and it is considered that on balance Option 1 could give rise to adverse effects overall. 

Option 3 and 4 both have limited sensitivity in relation to biodiversity designations, and could offer opportunities to deliver a 

net gain in biodiversity through the development process through on and off site habitat creation.  Option 2 includes the Rooks 

Wood area of ancient woodland near its centre, and whilst this could be protected through buffering, its role in the wider habitat 

network may be at risk of harm through the urbanisation of its surrounding area.  

On balance therefore, it is considered the Option 1 performs poorly in relation to biodiversity, whilst Options 3 and 4 perform 

most strongly and broadly on a par with one another.  Option 2 is found to perform less strongly than Options 3 and 4. 

Significant negative effects are not predicted, recognising that strategic sites can and should be masterplanned so as to deliver 

extensive and high-quality on-site green infrastructure, and can also potentially direct funds to targeted offsite habitat 

enhancement or creation initiatives, in support of strategic / landscape scale objectives.   

All of the schemes in question have made high-level commitments, including around ensuring that at least 50% of the total 

site area is brought forward as open-space; however, at the current time it is not clear that any stand-out opportunities or 

proposals exist, hence significant positive effects are not predicted. 

Climate change mitigation 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

 

2 

 

2 

Discussion 

As discussed in Appendix II, whilst strategic growth can give rise to a range of opportunities in respect of delivering measures 

in support of built environment decarbonisation, there is limited evidence to suggest that any of the sites in question are 

associated with particular locational opportunity, and limited evidence of scheme proposals being developed with 

decarbonisation as a priority objective (Southeast Sittingbourne stands-out as performing relatively well in this respect, as 

discussed in Appendix II). 

With regards to transport emissions:   

• Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) - strategic growth to the E/SE of Faversham is tentatively supported, given the inherent 

opportunities associated with strategic growth locations, and because the site is well-related to a higher order settlement 

Page 822



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 114 

 

with a rail station, and noting the commitment to deliver a good mix of uses onsite and ensure a focus on walking/cycling 

infrastructure.  However, concerns and questions remain. 

• Other options (Bobbing, Southeast Sittingbourne and North Street) are all less well related to a higher order centre than is 

the case for E/SE of Faversham, with North Street potentially standing-out as performing poorly, as it is relatively poorly 

related to Faversham, i.e. a second tier settlement.  Southeast Sittingbourne potentially stands-out as performing well, as 

residents would be able to walk/cycle to employment at an expanded Kent Science Park; however, on the other hand, 

there is a concern that an expanded Kent Science Park (in combination with a new motorway junction) could attract long 

distance commuting by car, given skills levels locally.  As for Bobbing, there is a concern regarding connectivity to 

Sittingbourne town centre (over 3km distant, via the problematic B2006), and whilst the latest Stantec report states that 

the latest proposal “refocuses its emphasis on Newington Station with routes through the site to it and car parking to be 

provided and a shuttle bus” this is not entirely evident from the latest proposals on the scheme website. 

In conclusion, it is inherently challenging to differentiate the strategic site options, including because there can be tensions 

between objectives around minimising built environment emissions on the one hand and, on the other hand, minimising 

transport emissions.  In the absence of modelling or other detailed analysis, there is a need to weigh-up competing objectives 

on the basis of professional judgement, in order to arrive at an overall conclusion.   

On this basis, it is considered appropriate to highlight two options as joint best performing: 

• Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) – the scheme proposals are encouraging, but are nonetheless high-level and potentially 

subject to change, recalling that scheme viability is challenging, as understood from the proposal to deliver only 20% 

affordable housing; also, there are certain question-marks regarding potential to minimise per capita transport emissions.  

• Option 3 (East and SE of Faversham) would involve a strategic urban extension to a higher order settlement.  However, 

concerns and questions remain: Faversham is a second tier settlement, proximity to Faversham town centre is not ideal 

and two motorway junctions will be in close proximity (albeit potentially supportive of rapid bus services to Canterbury, 

Whitstable/Herne Bay and other locations to the east); there is uncertainty regarding potential to deliver growth to the 

south of the A2 in combination with growth to north of the A2, as a combined strategic scheme that leads to additional 

economies of scale and potential to deliver sustainable transport and LZC infrastructure, and other climate change focused 

measures; and There is a degree of uncertainty regarding the extent to which the masterplanning and design ethos of the 

scheme is supportive of minimising emissions (see discussion below, under ‘Communities’). 

With regards to effect significance, there is a need to balance an understanding that climate change mitigation is a global 

consideration, such that local actions can only ever have a limited effect on the baseline, with the fact that there is a highly 

ambitious local net zero target in place.  On balance, it is considered appropriate to flag a concern with all strategic site options, 

even that which is best performing.  This reflects a view that the 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that decarbonisation 

must be a primary driving factor influencing site selection and development of site-specific proposals. 

Communities 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

2 3 

 

4 

Discussion 

As discussed in Appendix II, a key consideration is in respect of delivering, or supporting delivery of targeted upgrades to 

community infrastructure, particularly strategic community infrastructure, with secondary school capacity discussed as a 

key matter.102  As discussed in Appendix II, there is considerable variation between the competing strategic site options: 

• Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) - viability is a constraint to growth in the Sittingbourne area; however, the scale of 

growth envisaged for Southeast Sittingbourne is such that there would be good potential to deliver new and upgraded 

community infrastructure (despite costs for major transport infrastructure upgrades), including a secondary school, and 

the possibility of delivering a further education facility for Sittingbourne has been suggested.  

• Option 2 (Bobbing) - is significantly smaller, with no secondary school proposed (although the committed new school at 

Northwest Sittingbourne would be in close proximity, and presumably would have headroom capacity, i.e. capacity over-

and-above that needed to meet committed housing growth at Sittingbourne and Iwade). 

 
102 A typical approach is to make services land available or the school, as opposed to building the school. Page 823



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 115 

 

• Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) - would certainly enable delivery of a new secondary school.  Following discussions 

with Kent County Council (KCC), secondary school capacity is understood to be a significant issue in this part of the 

Borough, as discussed in Appendix II.  

• Options 4 (North Street) – proposes delivery of a secondary school; however, latest understanding is that any scheme 

would need to be smaller than that proposed by the site promoters, in order to reflect constraints, which could have a 

bearing on viability and, in turn, potential to deliver (make land available for) a secondary school. 

Beyond the matter of strategic community infrastructure delivery, the latest Stantec report serves to highlight the following: 

• Impacts to existing communities – there is greatest concern in respect of the envelopment of Bobbing, which is a historic 

village (six listed buildings, including a grade 1 listed church) with a primary school, although development would deliver 

a bypass of the village, serving to greatly reduce traffic through the village, along Sheppey Way).  There are also similar 

concerns in respect of North Street, which is a settlement not much smaller than Bobbing (if at all), but which has no church 

or any other community facilities (there are, however, six listed buildings).  Development would deliver a bypass of the 

village; however, there are concerns regarding traffic through Sheldwich, to the south.  With regards to Southeast 

Sittingbourne, the current proposal is to avoid growth in proximity to the main rural community at Highstead / Rodmersham 

Green (notably larger than Bobbing), and the secondary school plus sports facilities would be located nearby; however, 

development would encroach on the small historic hamlet of Rodmersham (with a grade 1 listed church), plus there is a 

need to consider Bapchild and Tonge (both historic parishes) at the northern extent of the scheme; furthermore, there are 

concerns regarding ‘rat running’ to Sittingbourne town centre through villages and residential areas.  Finally, East and SE 

Faversham gives rise to relatively limited concerns, regarding impacts to existing communities. 

• Engagement, joint working and stewardship – this is another matter that is a focus of the Stantec work, with the 

summary risk matrix at paragraph 9.19 of the most recent report serving to highlight that East and SE Faversham stands-

out as performing well.  There is a need to exercise a degree of caution, as the points made by Stantec relate specifically 

to Southeast Faversham (i.e. the scheme promoted by the Duchy of Cornwall); however, as explained by Stantec: 

“The essence of this scheme is the use of the Duchy model and product.  This is a now well-established and high profile 

approach which is the only example received where the landowner takes control of the design process in considerable 

detail so as to ensure that it is implemented in accordance with agreed principles and detail…   As part of this, the Promoter 

would retain the ability to enforce ongoing covenants over design quality and estate management standards…  Some of 

the evidence studies for this scheme is in hand, but it is the early public engagement work through use of the Enquiry by 

Design process promoted by the Princes Trust, which is by far and away the most advance of all the schemes.  In addition, 

two classicist architects have been appointed to develop the detailed design principles and as a result, the promoters are 

considerably further along the route of addressing design issues than the other proposals.  However, the principles being 

advocated are not entirely synonymous with the Garden Community Principles and there could be tensions between them 

that might lead to trade-offs.  Setting a clear approach in the Local Plan and any Supplementary Design Guidance is likely 

to be important going forward to resolve these issues.” 

This is in many ways encouraging, from a ‘communities’ perspective.  However, there is a concern regarding an early 

‘inward’ focus on detailed design to the detriment of effective planning to realise strategic infrastructure, environmental and 

socio-economic objectives, including at the Faversham scale and wider scales (e.g. landscape scales), and with a long-

term perspective.  It is also noted that no updated proposals or evidence has been made publicly available to update the 

August 2018 submission (see swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options), although the Duchy of 

Cornwall did engage well with Stantec through 2019 ‘assessment of submissions’ process.  There is no website for this 

scheme, unlike Southeast Sittingbourne and Bobbing. 

In conclusion, a key consideration is the need to deliver a new secondary school at Faversham to meet existing and 

committed future needs.  This serves as a reason to support Option 3 (East and SE Faversham).  However, there is a degree 

of uncertainty regarding the scheme at the current time, in the absence of evidence, including an up-to-date masterplan. 

It is also appropriate to flag a degree of opportunity associated with the other options, in particular Southeast Sittingbourne. 

  

Page 824

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 116 

 

Economy and employment 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

 

4 2 3 

Discussion 

There is a need to reflect the targets set out in the Employment Land Review (ELR), although certain of the targets are in the 

form of a range, with this particularly the case for the matter of delivering significant new land for warehousing / distribution. 

In light of the ELR, Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) represents a very significant opportunity, from an ‘economy and 

employment’ perspective.  This matter is explored in detail within the ELR, as well as within the two New Garden Communities: 

Assessment of submissions reports prepared by Stantec in 2019.  There would be benefits three broad respects: 1) there 

could be significant expansion of Kent Science Park; 2) there would be the potential to deliver new strategic warehousing and 

distribution uses adjacent to a (new) motorway junction in the west of the Borough, thereby fully reflecting ELR 

recommendations; and 3) the scheme would deliver the final (eastern) section of the Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road 

(SNRR) and continue the link road south, beyond the A2 as far as a new junction 5a of the M2, thereby supporting the 

functioning of Eurolink industrial area and potentially unlocking further expansion.93  Economic benefits would clearly be felt 

at a larger than local scale, with the site promoters suggesting that Eurolink and Kent Science Park collectively comprise the 

biggest business centre in Kent.   

However, there are additional considerations to factor-in, when considering the merits of strategic growth to the Southeast of 

Sittingbourne from an ‘economy and employment’ perspective, in particular around the possibility of growth here detracting 

from growth elsewhere in the Borough (Sittingbourne, Faversham and Sheppey) and in the neighbouring authorities of 

Medway and/or Maidstone (e.g. the emerging Maidstone Local Plan proposes a “prestigious business park at Junction 8 of 

the M20”); however, for the purposes of this appraisal, it is appropriate to flag a significant opportunity.   

There are also highly significant employment land proposals as part of Option 3 (East and SE Faversham).  There is the 

potential to deliver c.10ha of new industrial land to the east of Faversham and another c.10ha to the southeast (adjacent to 

M2 J7), as well as smaller scale ‘pockets’ of employment throughout the scheme (this aligns with the emerging design ethos).  

On this basis, ELR recommendations in respect of locally arising demand for offices, light industrial and industrial land would 

be met; however, opportunities to deliver large-scale new industrial land in well-connected locations in the west of the Borough, 

with a view to providing for the long term needs of footloose strategic warehousing and distribution operators serving London 

and the Southeast, could be missed.  The new industrial land at East / southeast of Faversham (in particular the 10ha 

employment area adjacent to M2 J7) could prove attractive to strategic warehousing and distribution uses; however, there is 

unclear.  The ELR explains: “Although Faversham is an untested market for larger unit demand (which fuels the need for 

additional land) such a highly accessible area is likely to be in demand.  The part of the area (closest to the motorway unction) 

would be particularly attractive to strategic warehouse operators (min area 10 ha), because of the excellent access to the M2.  

But should areas in the west of the Borough come forward these are likely to be preferable given they are closer to the M25 

and benefit from better north / south access (A429).” 

Option 4 (North Street) includes proposals for “medium/high density office” space, along with a “traditional employment/ 

business area close to M2 on north of site”, as well as a range of E-class employment uses in the form of mixed-use 

development at local centres within the site.  Another consideration is the potential to support the economic role of Faversham 

town centre and other existing employment locations in the town, with Option 3 potentially preferable to Option 4 in this respect, 

given greater potential to walk and cycle to destinations within Faversham. 

Development proposed under Option 2 (Bobbing) includes more limited new employment land proposals, with seemingly 

limited or no potential to address the ELR’s recommendation in respect of delivering new warehousing space in the west of 

the Borough.  There is also a need to factor-in concerns regarding traffic at the A249 junctions with the B2006 and M2, with 

the concern being that traffic generated at Option 2 could affect the functioning of existing, committed and potential future 

employment areas at Sittingbourne (Eurolink HGVs use the B2006 junction) and Sheppey. 

In conclusion, it is considered that Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) stands out as strongest performing, with significant 

positive effects predicted; however, there is uncertainty in the absence of detailed work to explore what could be achieved 

(viably) and implications for the wider Borough and elsewhere.  East and SE Faversham also performs well, given the potential 

to deliver major new employment land well linked to both Faversham and the M2.  Option 2 (Bobbing) is found to perform 

most weakly as it proposes the smallest overall quantum of employment land; however, none of the options perform poorly, 

as there would be the potential to support a borough-wide strategy in line with ELR targets and recommendations. 

Page 825



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 117 

 

Flood risk 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

2 2 2 

 

Discussion 

Although large parts of the Borough as a whole are constrained by flood risk, it is apparent that none of the strategic site 

options are substantially affected by fluvial flood risk.  Fluvial flood risk affects Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) and Option 

2 (Bobbing; to a small extent); however, this is in the form of one or more narrow channels, with good potential to incorporate 

flood zones into areas of open space.  For example, the Southeast Sittingbourne site promoter proposes that “flood areas will 

be incorporated within the masterplan such that they will not impact the existing flood risk regime”.  

In terms of surface water flood risk, all options are affected by corridors of risk, some of which is ‘high’, i.e. an annual chance 

of flooding of greater than 3.3%.  However, none of the options appear affected by widespread areas of risk, rather the areas 

of risk are either narrow channels or isolated pockets.  This suggests that the affected areas could either be incorporated into 

open space or mitigated through measures such as SuDS (where possible).  

In terms of the proportion of total site area affected by surface water flood risk, Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) is 

considered to perform most strongly on the basis that it appears to have the smallest proportion affected overall.  The affected 

areas under Option 3 are discrete and could be comfortably accommodated within the final site layout.  Option 4 (North Street) 

is considered to have the next strongest performance, as the main area affected comprises a narrow corridor through the 

centre of the site in a north-south alignment.  Although this is a prominent alignment within the site, the size and shape of the 

affected area would be unlikely to present a technical or design obstacle and could be feasibly incorporated into the future 

site layout.  Option 2 (Bobbing) is considered to perform least strongly in relation to surface water flood risk, as widespread 

areas of risk, not just narrow channels, are evident within the site itself and at its periphery.  Most notably, a large expanse of 

the site’s west is within an area of high surface water flood risk, with further areas of medium and lower risk extending beyond.  

A channel of high risk runs throughout the site in a north east-south west alignment, whilst a substantial ‘pool’ of high risk is 

evident north of Parsonage Lane in the site’s east.  Other isolated areas of high risk are pepper-potted throughout the site, 

contributing to its weaker relative performance. 

A further consideration is the matter of avoiding increased flows of water leading to increased risk of down-stream flood risk: 

• Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) - there are parts of east Sittingbourne downstream fall within the fluvial flood risk zone, 

but there is good potential to buffer the flood risk zone within the site, given that the flood risk zone is associated with the 

valley which, in turn, is associated with landscape constraint.   

• Option 2 (Bobbing) - a shallow valley is associated with surface water flood risk channel, which then becomes a fluvial 

flood risk channel at the northern extent of the site, and then affects a significant number of existing homes downstream 

in Iwade.  The emerging masterplan shows areas of greenspace and SuDS at the northern extent of the site, in response 

to the flood risk issue; however, there is also a proposed housing area, which possibly gives rise for a cause for concern 

around growth leading to increased surface water runoff and, in turn, increased flood risk downstream.  The Swale Level 

1 SFRA (2019) explains: 

“The Iwade catchment is an area identified by Kent County Council where the effective implementation of SuDS features 

is likely to be key to enabling future development. There is a history of flooding in Iwade that is exacerbated by large areas 

of flow paths being culverted, with future development likely to have a reasonably significant impact on flood risk. As such, 

it is important that SuDS features and landscaping in potential developments are designed to attenuate surface water 

before it enters the Iwade Stream. Potential development in the Iwade catchment will only be permitted if it is demonstrable 

that betterment of runoff rates will be achieved.” 

• Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) - perhaps the key point to note is that intensification of development (specifically, an 

additional 70 homes and potentially also a new link road) within the existing Preston Fields allocation (located at the 

southwest extent of the proposed East and SE Faversham scheme, between Salters Lane and the A251) is associated 

with a shallow valley within which there is a band of surface water flood risk which is associated with ‘pools’ to the north of 

the site (due to linear infrastructure in the form of the A2 and railway) and becomes an area of fluvial flood risk further 

downstream, affecting the Cyprus Road area of Faversham.   

A final consideration relates to the potential to deliver strategic flood risk attenuation measures, potentially in the form of 

strategic Flood Storage Areas (FSAs), such that the effect of development is to reduce existing flood risk.  However, it is not 

clear that any strategic opportunities present themselves (opportunities might typically exist where there is the potential to 

Page 826



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 118 

 

deliver new open space of the scale of a country park, leading to wide-ranging benefits / value creation beyond flood risk).  As 

discussed, the masterplan proposals for Bobbing include significant areas of new accessible open space in that part of the 

site that is sensitive from a flood risk perspective, but there is little reason to suggest that the effect will be to significantly 

reduce downstream flood risk affecting Iwade. 

In conclusion, Option 4 (North Street) stands out as notably unconstrained, whilst it is difficult to differentiate the other 

strategic site options with any confidence.  Significant effects are not anticipated under any of the options, given the likely 

levels of risk involved, and good potential to address flood risk through masterplanning/design and SuDS. 

Heritage 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

3 

 

2 3 

Discussion 

Appendix II presents a detailed discussion of heritage issues and impacts, highlighting the following: 

• Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) - unlike the other new settlement options, there is the potential to draw upon a valley 

topography to framework growth, which arguably leads to benefits in respect of alignment with historic settlement pattern 

(and containment); however, the corollary is growth would be in proximity to existing historic environment assets.  The 

current proposed masterplan seeks to take a ‘landscape led approach’ and avoid impacts as far as possible, including by 

avoiding development in proximity to the only conservation area in the vicinity (Rodmersham Green); however, tensions 

remain nonetheless, most notably at the northern extent of area, where a new link road would cut through the Tonge 

Conservation Area, and in the central area, where development would abut the hamlet of Rodmersham, where there is a 

cluster of four listed buildings including a grade 1 listed church, which the Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) 

describes as “an important local landmark and skyline feature”.  The further statement made by the Assessment, as part 

of a discussion of ‘time depth’, is also of note: “It is evident that there have been changes in land cover in recent years, 

with the conversion of areas of commercial orchards to arable, and vice versa, for example along Church Street and 

Pitstock Road.  However, this does not change the fundamental character of the landscape.  The loss of some areas of 

traditionally managed orchards has adversely affected the historic and scenic character of the landscape, although more 

intensive commercial orchards remain an important feature which contributes to a distinctive sense of place”.  

• Option 2 (Bobbing) - is seemingly the least constrained of the strategic site options, in historic environment terms.  The 

new settlement would envelop the string of ten listed buildings that stretches between Bobbing in the south (where there 

is a grade 1 listed church) and Howt Green in the north; however, there is no designated conservation area; the historic 

character of this area is presumably somewhat affected by the nearby A429; and development would deliver a bypass of 

Bobbing.  Development would envelop only one historic farmstead (with one grade II listed building), although the 

possibility of further expansion (in the future) encroaching upon two further farmsteads can be envisaged. 

• Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) - as noted by the Swale Heritage Strategy (2020): “It is no coincidence that Faversham 

has the highest concentration of historic buildings in the area and also the most viable commercial and residential economic 

markets in the Borough”.  In this context, there is potentially merit to a strategic urban extension to the east / southeast of 

the town, from a historic environment perspective, in order to alleviate pressure for growth in sensitive locations elsewhere.  

This suggestion reflects an understanding that land to the east and southeast of Faversham is relatively unconstrained in 

historic environment terms, and also an understanding that there would be good potential to avoid and mitigate historic 

environment impacts by taking a strategic approach to masterplanning, landscaping and design.  There could also be good 

potential to deliver a new community - with associated employment, services, facilities, retail and infrastructure upgrades 

- that supports Faversham as a thriving market town and visitor/tourist destination.  However, there are wide ranging risks 

and uncertainties, including around traffic (including through the Ospringe Conservation Area), a new retail offer competing 

with Faversham town centre, impacts to the historic agricultural and horticultural landscape setting of the town and impacts 

to landscapes that link the town to surrounding historic settlements and landscapes, in particular Goodnestone and the 

marshes to the northeast.  A key consideration is the integrity of the three closely linked historic farmsteads located 

between the expanding eastern edge of Faversham and Goodnestone.94 

• Option 4 (North Street) - the new settlement would envelop grade 1 listed Copton Manor, as well as the cluster of six 

grade 2 listed buildings, and also encroach upon the historic hamlet of Newhouse Farm / Gosmere (eleven listed buildings) 

and the Sheldwich Conservation Area to the south, which is associated with raised ground within the Kent Downs AONB, 

as well as the Grade II listed Lees Court Registered Park and Garden.  The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

(2020) explains: “The time-depth of the landscape relates predominantly to the continuity of agriculture, fruit and hop 

Page 827



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 119 

 

cultivation within the area, together with the presence of many scattered historic houses, farmsteads and associated barns, 

oasts, stables and granaries in the Kentish vernacular styles (including timber framed, weather boarded and red brick), 

some with parkland containing notable mature trees, pasture and traditional orchards…   Some areas of traditionally 

managed orchards have been lost in recent years, together with field boundaries, resulting in more open, larger fields.”  It 

also notes that there is evidence that the very large ‘prairie’ field in the vicinity of Copton has never been enclosed.  

However, there are also potential benefits from a bypass of North Street. 

In conclusion, Option 1 (Southeast of Sittingbourne) and Option 4 (North Street) give rise to the greatest concern, whilst 

Option 2 (Bobbing) gives rise to the least concerns (potentially of a very similar magnitude to Option 3).  Significant negative 

effects are not predicted at this stage; given good potential to respond to the historic environment constraints through sensitive 

masterplanning and design; however, there is considerable uncertainty ahead of receiving the views of Historic England.   

Housing 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

4 2 

 

3 

Discussion 

As discussed in Appendix II, a key consideration is variation in respect of proposals around affordable housing delivery.  At 

the current time, three of the strategic site options are proposing to deliver 40% affordable housing, whilst one – Southeast 

Sittingbourne – is proposing to deliver 20% (having previously proposed 10-20%).   

The proposed approach at Southeast Sittingbourne reflects viability constraints and an understanding that there will be other 

funding priorities, in particular major transport upgrades.  It is also noted that Southeast Sittingbourne is the only one of the 

strategic site options to include a clear commitment to delivering specialist housing (“retirement living and self-build 

opportunities for local people”), which is assumed to represent a development cost (i.e. these uses are thought to be less 

viable than market housing with affordable), but this is not entirely clear, in any case, this proposal could be subject to change.   

None of the strategic site promoters have proposed making land available for Gypsy and Traveller pitches (or Travelling 

Showpeople plots), which is an approach that is quite common nationally, where there is an established local need. 

Appendix II also goes on to discuss variation in delivery risk, drawing on work completed by Stantec in 2019, on the basis of 

which an order of preference emerges: 

• East and SE Faversham – “Of the four schemes promoted this is clearly the lowest ‘risk’.  It is essentially an extension to 

Faversham and is more developed than the other three schemes, with fewer significant barriers to delivery within a short 

timetable.  It has also been shown to be viable.  There has been a commitment to accelerate the delivery rate which means 

the pace of delivery is more in line with the Council’s objectives.  However, there remains uncertainty about Junction 7…” 

• Bobbing – “This site is reasonably low risk and is very viable, its landscape impact can be mitigated, and it has the potential 

to come forward quickly.” 

• North Street – “To address the transport and landscape concerns could result in a very different scale of proposal.  This is 

unlike the other three sites where we think, if taken forward, it is likely that a proposal similar to that proposed today could 

be taken forward, ie with the scale of homes promoted, the general layout and package of infrastructure.”  

• Southeast Sittingbourne – “… remains the highest risk due to the timing, delivery and cost of the new junction 5A which 

all have implications on the viability and mean it can only delivery 20% affordable housing.” 

In conclusion, it is appropriate to place the strategic site options in an overall order of preference as per the bullet points 

above.  Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) performs well, both in the sense that the proposal is to deliver 40% affordable 

housing (although the breakdown of affordable housing tenures is not known) and in the sense that there is low delivery risk; 

however, there remains uncertainty ahead of further detailed work in respect of masterplanning and viability, taking account 

of local market conditions (there will be a need to deliver housing at a pace that avoids any concerns around saturation of the 

local housing market) and including detailed work to understand the costs of required infrastructure.   

N.B. it is important to recognise that any of the strategic site options could be subject to unforeseen costs that affect viability.  

For example, at Bobbing there is uncertainty regarding the extent of transport infrastructure upgrades required to support the 

scheme, and there is a high degree of uncertainty regarding North Street because this scheme is less fully worked-up.  

  

Page 828



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 120 

 

Land  

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

 

2 3 2 

Discussion 

A key consideration in the context of Swale is to minimise and avoid where possible the loss of ‘best and most versatile’ 

(BMV) agricultural land.  In light of this, it is important to recognise that only a fraction of the Borough’s agricultural land 

quality has been surveyed in detail, to establish the grade of agricultural land with certainty, and very little of the land within 

the strategic site options (Bobbing is a notable exception, where an area of land has been surveyed in detail and found to be 

of non-BMV (grade 3b) quality).  

Nevertheless, Swale is within Kent’s ‘fruit belt’ and the quality and productiveness of its soils is reflected at a lower resolution 

in the nationally available dataset.  This dataset shows a band of grade 1 and grade 2 land, i.e. the very highest quality BMV 

land, which runs laterally east-west through the centre of the Borough, underlying many of the Borough’s key settlements.  

Therefore, it is notable that all four of the strategic site options are located near settlements in this central corridor, as all are 

substantially underlain by grade 1 land and all are predominantly in productive agricultural use.  This gives rise to significant 

potential for the loss of BMV land through the development process at all four of the options.  There is no meaningful 

opportunity to mitigate against the effects of losing high quality soils.  

Differences between the strategic site options are fairly marginal, but it appears to be East / SE Faversham that is potentially 

most constrained, with the nationally available dataset showing almost all of the land to be of grade 1 quality.  Southeast 

Sittingbourne is potentially the least constrained, as the nationally available dataset shows the southern part of the site to 

mostly comprise grade 2 quality land; however, it is important to recall that the dataset is very low resolution (e.g. with Teynham 

and Newington not recognised as comprising non-agricultural land).   

In conclusion, all four options are considered likely to give rise to significant adverse effects in relation to the loss of ‘best 

and most versatile’ agricultural land, including significant areas of grade 1 land which is a scare resource nationally.  East / 

SE Faversham is potentially most constrained, and Southeast Sittingbourne potentially the least constrained; however, 

differences are quite marginal. 

N.B. a further consideration is the extent of minerals safeguarding areas across the Borough; however, these are very 

extensive, and cover the majority of land along the A2 corridor (Southeast Sittingbourne potentially stands-out as being subject 

to relatively low constraint).  As such, it is not considered appropriate to differentiate the broad growth scenarios in respect of 

impacts to minerals safeguarding areas.  In practice, the presence of a safeguarding area does not necessarily mean that 

extraction would be viable, and it can be possible to extract minerals prior to development.95 

Landscape 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

2 

  

3 

Discussion 

Beginning with Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) there are wide-ranging considerations: 

• A primary consideration is impacts to the AONB.  The latest Stantec report states: “The AONB Unit consider that their 

concerns can be mitigated and therefore do not have a strong objection.”  However, the latest situation is that that AONB 

Unit has updated its position, stating: “… the proposed new motorway junction, located partially within the AONB, 

represents a major development that would be contrary to planning policy and due to its nature, could not be satisfactorily 

mitigated in terms of impact on the AONB.  Therefore, the Unit continues to object to the proposal.”103 

• It is the largest of the strategic site options, and its location at fringe of Sittingbourne ensures that it makes a considerable 

contribution to the landscape setting of Sittingbourne and several distinct smaller settlements at the Sittingbourne fringe.  

 
103 See swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options  Page 829

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/sd-options


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 121 

 

The site falls within a designated Important Local Countryside Gap (ILCG), the purposes of which is “to retain the individual 

character and setting of settlements”.  Although it is noted that the site promoter has proposed retain some degree of 

landscape buffering between the areas of new development and the existing settlements to help preserve their identity, it 

is considered likely that urbanisation of the area would erode the perceived and actual gap between settlements.   

• Similarly, the site partially intersects the recently proposed ILCG between Teynham and Bapchild, as per the Swale 

Important Local Countryside Gaps report (2020).  The report proposes a new ILCG designation “to avoid the coalescence 

of Teynham and Bapchild” and safeguard “the essential gap south of the A2”.    

• The Rodmersham, Milstead and Highstead Dry Valley locally designated landscape constrains the southern half of the 

site.  The ‘statement of significance’ (2020) notes that the area is “a topographically distinct landscape with a strong sense 

of place and rural character”, but that “the quality has deteriorated notable on the edge of Sittingbourne”.  There could be 

opportunities to restore this landscape quality where it has deteriorated in order to strengthen the integrity of the landscape 

as a whole; though in practice it is considered that strategic scale of development under Option 1, even where it results in 

piecemeal enhancements, would be unlikely to lead to a higher quality cohesive natural landscape overall.  

• The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019) finds that the landscape parcels within Option 1 (parcels SE2 and 

SE3 of the study) have ‘moderate high’ and ‘high’ sensitivity in the landscape respectively.  This finding is on the basis that 

“much of the landscape” has “a high degree of visual prominence, and provides a rural landscape providing separation 

between Sittingbourne and Bapchild”.  This adds further weight to the notion that development under Option 1 would have 

significant potential to alter the established pattern of development at the south eastern periphery of Sittingbourne, with 

adverse effects on the landscape setting – and individual identity of – a range of smaller settlements.     

• The current masterplan proposals are described as ‘landscape led’, and it is recognised that the scheme has evolved 

considerably and repeatedly over recent years, with the latest Stantec report explaining that efforts have been made to 

avoid the valley and valley slopes, and that proposals have “move[d] way from a necklace approach”.  However, there is 

a need to understand the pros and cons of achieving the required scale of growth whilst containing growth west of a line 

that runs between Bapchild, Rodmersham, Rodmersham Green and Kent Science Park, thereby achieving a scheme that 

is more contained in landscape terms, in that it remains ‘facing’ Sittingbourne and avoids ‘breaking over’ into the valley to 

the east.  Under the current proposal there could be a concern regarding long term sprawl at the edge of Sittingbourne 

and also in the Teynham/Lynstead area, which might be argued for as involving ‘infilling’ or ‘rounding off’.   

It is apparent that Option 4 (North Street) also has significant sensitivity within the landscape, with the site occupying a ‘notch’ 

into the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Beauty (AONB).  This is a relatively low-lying part of the AONB, with high points in 

the AONB some way distant to the south (this contrasts with the situation south of the M2 at Sittingbourne); however, there is 

little doubt that the site contributes to the setting of the AONB.  For example, the south western boundary of the site is marked 

by Plumford Road, a rural lane associated with quite expansive countryside views, and it seems quite clear that the landscape 

north of the road (within the site) is contiguous with the landscape to the south (within the AONB).  Similar landscape contiguity 

is evident either side of Newhouse Lane which marks the south eastern boundary of the site.  It is noted that the site promoter’s 

prospectus response proposes softening the southern boundary via planted screening and by incorporating sports pitches 

rather than built development at the southern extent.  However, this would still represent a substantial departure from the 

prevailing rural character inherent in the landscape at present.    

This is underscored by the Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019) which finds that Option 4 falls within two separate 

parcels (i.e. FM2 and FM3), both of which are concluded to be of ‘High’ sensitivity to development, the highest rating of the 

five tier sensitivity scale.  The study highlights sensitivity in relation to the AONB, concluding that there are “many open and 

visually exposed areas that have a visual relationship with the AONB” and reinforces the notion that sensitivity is widespread 

within the parcels, noting that “there are no notable variations in overall sensitivity” within the area.  

Option 4 is also notable for being located entirely within the proposed Local Landscape Area (LLA) of Kent Downs – North 

Street Dip Slope.  The LLA ‘statement of significance’ (2020) again reiterates that the area of Option 4 has inherent landscape 

value and sensitivity, finding that the area provides part of the “visual setting and the rural context for the AONB” and noting 

that the landscape “is relatively open”, which “allows long views”.  The LLA suggest that the key requirement is “to conserve 

and enhance landscape quality and condition”.  This again suggests that development on a strategic scale would run counter 

to such a requirement and would give rise to significant negative effects in relation to landscape.  

By contrast, Option 2 (Bobbing) is distant from the AONB and associated with broad landscape units assigned ‘moderate’ 

and ‘low-moderate’ sensitivity scores by the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment.  The southern part of the site is more 

sensitive, given existing narrow settlement gaps; however, the current proposal is for development to extend only as far south 

as the railway line, meaning that, whilst the Bobbing settlement gap would be eroded or lost, the gap(s) between Sittingbourne 

and Newington would not be affected.  In this respect, it is important to note that an earlier masterplan proposed a large area 

of parkland to the south of the railway.  Finally, it is important to note that the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions 

(2019) identifies the potential for the scheme to expand beyond its current ‘red line boundary’ (see page 15 of the report).  

There is an argument for comprehensive long-term planning for this part of the Borough, rather than piecemeal growth.  The 

Page 830



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 122 

 

possibility of comprehensively planning for the entire area of land between the A249 in the east, the A2 in the south, the Lower 

Halstow – Iwade Ridge in the west and Iwade in the north might be envisaged, with a view to securing infrastructure, 

environmental protection/enhancement and employment land.   

With regards to Option 3 (East and SE Faversham), the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2019), which finds the entire site 

to fall within a parcel of moderate sensitivity (parcel FM1), which equates to relatively limited sensitivity in the context of the 

Borough and, in particular, Faversham.  The assessment notes that the “presence of major road infrastructure and heavy 

traffic” has a significant impact on “the sense of rurality and tranquillity”.  Despite this, however, the assessment also finds that 

the area “retains a strongly agricultural character” and that this character together with the “visual exposure of the area” results 

in a degree of sensitivity.  It is important to recognise that development would breach a longstanding settlement boundary 

feature to the southeast of the town, namely the A2 which has historically marked the limit of the southern extent of the town 

(with the town centre focused on the creek, more so than the road and railway); however, existing Local Plan allocations have 

already breached the boundary of the A2 to the south of the town.  Furthermore, expansion to the southeast has the benefit 

of being able to draw upon the M2 (with the AONB beyond) as a new strong/defensible long-term boundary.  Having said this, 

the current proposal falls short of comprehensively planning for land as far as similarly defensible boundaries to the east 

(either the A299 or, should employment be a suitable use surrounding the motorway junction, the need to maintain a landscape 

buffer to Boughton) and the northeast (flood risk and heritage including farmsteads and the Goodnestone Conservation Area).   

In conclusion, it is appropriate to flag a risk of significant negative effects under Option 1 and Option 4.  By contrast, Options 

2 and 3 are found to have relatively limited potential for adverse effects in relation to landscape.  However, both Option 2 and 

Option 3 would bring forward development which breaches an existing natural settlement boundary (i.e. the A249 at Bobbing 

and the A2 at Faversham), and there could be a need for further work to ensure that opportunities for long-term strategic 

planning for landscape units are realised.   

Transport 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

 

3 

 

2 

Discussion 

There is good potential to differentiate the strategic site options on the basis of the analysis set out in New Garden 

Communities: Assessment of Stage 2 submissions (Stantec, 2019).   

• Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) – as has been discussed, there is a major opportunity, with Stantec concluding that: 

“Kent County Council’s initial impression is that as a completed development, through delivery of the SSRR and SNRR, 

there are likely to be significant transport benefits, both in journey times and removing congestion on the A249 corridor 

and through Sittingbourne Town Centre.”  However, Stantec strike a major note of caution, with the primary issue being 

delivery of Junction 5a.  Whilst the proposal to fund the junction without reliance on public funds is strongly supported, and 

the scheme promoters are to be commended for having provided details of the private funding arrangements, it is 

nonetheless the case that there is “uncertainty around the junction timing, funding and delivery.  Should the J5a costs 

increase, there is limited viability in the proposals to absorb these.”  Stantec also discuss several other matters: 

“The new Southern and Northern Relief Roads are very significant pieces of infrastructure and modelling evidence is 

required to understand the implications for traffic flows.  It is recognised that these could be a ‘game-changer’, but it is 

necessary to clearly demonstrate the evidence for the level of development and corresponding infrastructure.” 

“There is significant concern about the impact on the rural lanes surrounding the development and their use as cut throughs 

to reach Sittingbourne Town Centre.  The model will need to demonstrate how this is to be prevented.  The promoters are 

actively looking at ways to address this.”   

“… we are aware that here has been pressure from Highways England for a more extensive improvement to the highways 

network – including a possible new local road to the south of Sittingbourne to relieve the M2 of local traffic.  Should this be 

required then the impact on the AONB may be very different.” 

• Option 2 (Bobbing) - Stantec conclude that: “There is a risk of a ‘showstopping’ highways issue here – associated with 

the local network, A249 and the not fully funded J5 improvements.”  The latest situation is that M2 J5 improvements are 

expected to commence in 2021; however, the question of headroom is uncertain, and other concerns remain.  Stantec 

suggest that: “The proposal refocuses its emphasis on Newington Station with routes through the site to it and car parking 

to be provided and a shuttle bus.”  However, there is no discussion of links to Newington Station on the scheme website.   

Page 831



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 123 

 

• Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) – key statements made within the Stantec report include: 

─ “The primary issue is the M2 J7 [Brenley Corner] which currently operates above capacity.  Greater detail is required 

to understand the impact and mitigation… it is recognised that because the Duchy own the land there is the opportunity 

to address issues at J7, although this is not currently proposed as part of the scheme.”   

─ “The proposal appears to rely on the upgrades to Brenley Corner, however, the extent to which highway capacity is an 

existing constraint on development in this location will need further investigation and may be being under 

appreciated…”  

─ “While there is mention of the Preston Fields link [to M2 J6], which has the potential to mitigate some impact on the 

A2/A251 junction, it has not yet been evaluated or agreed with the Private Finance developer.” 

─ “The proposal seeks improvements and benefits provided in terms of traffic calming along the A2, as well as securing 

enhancing cycle and pedestrian links.  Whilst it is understood that the promoter has experience of calming a major A 

road at Poundbury, the situation at Faversham is different, with the A2 continuing to need to function as a major through 

route.  The full success of any ‘calming’ may be predicated on achieving a road link between the A2 and A251/J6.  This 

is a matter which has yet to be resolved and secured as part of this scheme.”    

In short, there is merit in the location and the proposed scheme, as has been discussed above under other headings, but 

there is a concern regarding capacity at M2 J7 and the potential to achieve a link to M2 J6.  It may be that the latest 

proposal, which involves bringing forward a combined scheme involving growth both to the east and southeast of 

Faversham, leads to greater potential to deliver timely road infrastructure upgrades, but there is no certainty in this respect. 

• Option 4 (North Street) - there are a range of issues, including: 

─ “The Highways Authority have significant concerns about the impact of this proposal and consider that it is too great in 

scale.  They suggest a smaller new village approach in the north western side would be more appropriate.”    

─ “The realignment of the A251 causes a number of potential issues, specifically how its role as a primary distributor 

route is retained and reconciled with its diversion through a new residential settlement.”   

─ “There are potential significant impacts on the local road network, and specifically the relationship between the rural 

roads and AONB.”  In this respect, the possibility of rural ‘rat running’ towards Canterbury can be envisaged. 

─ The M2 is a significant barrier to walking, with none of the north/south routes (Salters Lane, Selling Road and Brogdale 

Road) having pavements or being suitable for cycling. 

─ There are also concerns about the northern section of the A251, including the M2 J6 interchange and the A2 junction. 

─ On the plus side, there would be good be good potential for the development to be served by high frequency bus 

services operating between Faversham and Ashford (indeed, the site is potentially best performing in this respect). 

The Stantec report (2019) also makes the following overarching statement: 

“… in general and subject to further modelling it is likely that appropriate mitigation could be achieved.  However, there are 

concerns about [Southeast Sittingbourne] in relation to the costs and delivery of the junction and Highways England believe 

junction 5a cannot start before Junction 5 works have finished.  There are concerns about the current scale of [North Street], 

on the A251, for which mitigation may not be agreeable or financially viable and also concerns that [Bobbing] will have 

significant implications on the local highway network which may not be capable of mitigation.” 

In short, Stantec find Southeast of Sittingbourne strategic site option to give rise to the fewest concerns, albeit the proposal is 

now to deliver an “East and SE Faversham” scheme.  Additional evidence, in respect of East and SE Faversham, comes from 

the April 2020 re-run of the Swale Transport Model (discussed in Appendix I), which serves to highlight limited concerns 

regarding the capacity at junctions in the area (see Table C in Appendix I). 

In conclusion, it is considered appropriate to highlight Southeast of Sittingbourne as performing as well as East and SE 

Faversham, given the potential to deliver transformational transport benefits, albeit there is considerable uncertainty regarding 

deliverability.  Mindful of the alternative to strategic growth, which is a strategy involving piecemeal urban extensions, it is 

considered appropriate to conclude a degree of opportunity associated with the two best performing options.  It is also 

appropriate to flag a degree of risk associated with the worst performing option. 

  

Page 832



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 124 

 

Water 

Option 1 

Southeast Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

? ? ? ? 

Discussion 

An important strategic consideration is waste-water treatment capacity.  The latest Stantec report includes a section on utilities 

capacity, which overall highlights very limited concerns, concluding:  

“There are no significant abnormal issues that have been identified that cannot be overcome.  Although there is a capacity 

issue with Water Treatment works in the area, which applies equally to all proposals and has to be addressed as part of the 

water companies statutory duty.”   

However, there is a need to apply caution, in the sense that there is a need to minimise any residual risk of capacity breaches 

(in respect of either treated or untreated effluent), with resultant water quality impacts.104  In turn, there are arguments for 

directing growth to locations where there is existing capacity at the receiving Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW), as 

opposed to relying on timely capacity upgrades.   

There is some evidence to suggest that capacity at Faversham WwTW is a particular concern.  In particular, the Kent Water 

Sustainable Growth Study (2017) noted that headroom capacity at Faversham WwTW would be exceeded by planned growth 

to 2031 (as set out in the adopted Local Plan), hence there would be a need for upgrades.  However, as part of the assessment 

of the Southeast Faversham strategic site option, the Stantec Assessment of Stage 2 Submissions (2019) explains:  

“The Sewage Treatment Works (STW) in Faversham is currently operating above its allowable discharge.  However, there 

are solutions available to address the absence of capacity in the interim. The sewage discharge from the site can be 

temporarily pumped, for up to 2 years by the Water company, before the STW has been upgraded to sufficient capacity.   We 

understand that this is an issue but can be managed. Further details of… costs, options and works duration [are being 

discussed].” 

Further considerations are as follows: 

• Southeast Sittingbourne – there have been “extensive discussions” with Southern Water about the provision of a new 

pumping station to connect with the existing network and carry flows to Sittingbourne WwTW.   

• Bobbing - it is unclear whether there is a need for a new pumping station, though the promoter has suggested that costs 

of any network reinforcement that may be required would not be borne by Southern Water.  

• East and Southeast Faversham - the site promoters recognise that “development is likely to require the upgrading of the 

Faversham WwTW”.    

• North Street - the need for WwTW upgrades at Faversham is again acknowledged, and a “collaborative approach with 

Southern Water” is proposed in order to model likely demand and devise a “programme of investment” to be carried out.   

• In March 2020 Southern Water pleaded guilty to 51 sewage pollution charges, including permit breaches at Eastchurch, 

Queenborough, Sittingbourne and Teynham WwTW.  The charges cover historic events alleged to have taken place 

between 2010 and 2015, and it is understood that another investigation by the Environment Agency is under way that 

covers pollution incidents after 2015.105 

In conclusion, it is considered appropriate to highlight uncertain negative effects for options.  Whilst there is some evidence 

to suggest that wastewater treatment is a particular constraint in the Faversham area, and it is noted that Option 4 (North 

Street) is some distance from Faversham WwTW, which could present challenges, it is not possible to differentiate the 

strategic site options with certainty, on the basis of the evidence available.   

As for other ‘water’ considerations: 

• Pollution to surface water in the vicinity of growth locations – whilst there may be variation in water quality across the 

Borough’s surface water bodies, it is inherently difficult to differentiate the strategic site options, because there is very good 

 
104 N.B. as discussed within the Swale LPR Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) report, there are relatively limited concerns around 
sewage effluent impacting the North Kent Estuaries European sites from treated sewage effluent.  This is because these estuaries have a 
high sediment load, low water temperatures and high wave action.  As such, smothering macroalgal growth, which has caused issues for 
European sites on the south coast, is not considered a threat to achievement of conservation objectives for these European sites.  
105 See https://www.ft.com/content/3efb3e7b-3388-4f27-85ac-44b00aa1fd37  Page 833

https://www.ft.com/content/3efb3e7b-3388-4f27-85ac-44b00aa1fd37


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 125 

 

potential to deal with water pollution arising from development schemes through Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS).  

Water pollution from breaches of capacity at WwTWs is considered to be a much more important strategic consideration. 

• Pollution to groundwater in the vicinity of growth locations – groundwater source protection zones are associated with the 

parts of the Borough associated with a chalk geology, which serves to constrain Southeast Sittingbourne and North Street.  

However, it is again the case that there is very good potential to suitably avoid/mitigate impacts through the development 

management process.  Groundwater source protection zones can be a particular constraint for polluting developments 

(e.g. heavy industry, petrol stations). 

• Water resources – water scarcity is an issue that applies across the Borough as a whole. 

Conclusions 

The matrix below draws together the conclusions from the preceding twelve topic-specific appraisal tables. 

 

Option 1 

Southeast 
Sittingbourne 

Option 2 

Bobbing 

Option 3 

East and SE 
Faversham  

Option 4 

North Street 

Rank of preference and categorisation of effects 

Air quality 

 

3 

 

2 

Biodiversity 3 2 

  

Climate change 
mitigation 

 

2 

 

2 

Communities 2 3 

 

4 

Economy and 
employment 

 

4 2 3 

Flood risk 2 2 2 

 

Heritage 3 

 

2 3 

Housing 4 2 

 

3 

Land 

 

2 3 2 

Landscape 2 

  

3 

Transport 

 

3 

 

2 

Water ? ? ? ? 

Overall appraisal conclusions 

It is immediately apparent that Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) is assigned the most stars (indicating highest rank of 

preference) and has joint fewest red scores (significant negative effects).  However, it does not necessarily follow that 

Option 3 is best performing overall.  This is because the appraisal does not make any assumptions regarding the weight 

that is attributed to each topic in the decision-making process.  For example, the decision-maker might decide to give 

particular weight to ‘economy and employment’ objectives, then Option 1 might be considered to be best performing overall. 

Having made these opening remarks, the following bullet points summarise the performance of the broad growth scenarios 

in respect of each element of the SA framework in turn: 

• Air quality – Option 2 (Bobbing) performs poorly given relatively limited potential to support good links to a higher order 

centre by walking, cycling and public transport, and the likelihood of generating increased traffic flows through AQMAs.  

Page 834



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 126 

 

However, significant negative effects are not predicted, given good potential for mitigation, and because air quality is 

improving over time and set to improve significantly over the plan period, due to the switchover to electric vehicles. 

• Biodiversity – Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) stands out as having potential for adverse effects on habitats of at 

least local significance, including several areas of ancient woodland.  Option 2 (Bobbing) is also notably constrained by 

Rooks Wood, which is an ancient woodland.  Significant negative effects are not predicted, recognising that strategic 

sites can and should deliver strategic enhancements.  All four schemes have made high-level commitments, including 

around ensuring that at least 50% of the total site area is brought forward as open-space; however, at the current time 

it is not clear that any stand-out opportunities or proposals exist, hence significant positive effects are not predicted. 

• Climate change mitigation –  two options are judged to perform relatively well:  

─ Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) – the proposals for minimising built environment emissions are encouraging, but 

are nonetheless high-level and potentially subject to change, recalling that scheme viability is challenging; also, 

there are certain question-marks regarding potential to minimise per capita transport emissions. 

─ Option 3 (East and SE of Faversham) – performs well from a perspective of minimising transport emissions, as it 

would involve a strategic urban extension to a higher order settlement.  However, Faversham is a second tier 

settlement, proximity to Faversham town centre is not ideal and two motorway junctions will be in close proximity 

(although this could support good bus connectivity with Canterbury and beyond).  Also, there is uncertainty regarding 

potential to deliver growth to the south of the A2 in combination with growth to north of the A2, as a combined 

strategic scheme that leads to additional economies of scale and potential to deliver LZC infrastructure and other 

climate change focused measures; and there is a degree of uncertainty regarding the extent to which the 

masterplanning and design ethos of the scheme is supportive of minimising emissions. 

It is challenging to reach a conclusion on effect significance; however, on balance, it is considered appropriate to flag a 

concern with all strategic site options.  This reflects a view that the 2030 net zero target date is so ambitious that 

decarbonisation must be a primary driving factor influencing site selection and site-specific proposals. 

• Communities – a key consideration is the need to deliver a secondary school at Faversham to meet existing and 

committed future needs.  This serves as a reason to support Option 3 (East and SE Faversham); however, there is 

some uncertainty, given the evidence available.  It is also appropriate to flag a degree of opportunity associated with 

the other options, in particular Southeast Sittingbourne. 

• Economy and employment – Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) could realise a significant opportunity; however, there 

is uncertainty in the absence of detailed work to explore what could be achieved (viably) and implications for the wider 

Borough and elsewhere.  Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) also performs well, given the potential to deliver major 

new employment land well linked to both Faversham and the M2.  Option 2 (Bobbing) is found to perform most weakly 

as it proposes the smallest overall quantum of employment land; however, none of the options perform poorly, as there 

would be the potential to support a borough-wide strategy in line with the Employment Land Review recommendations.   

• Flood risk – Option 4 (North Street) stands out as notably unconstrained, whilst it is difficult to differentiate the other 

strategic site options with any confidence.  Significant effects are not anticipated under any of the options, given the 

likely levels of risk involved, and good potential to address flood risk through masterplanning/design and SuDS.  

• Heritage – Option 1 (Southeast of Sittingbourne) and Option 4 (North Street) give rise to the greatest concern, whilst 

Option 2 (Bobbing) gives rise to least concerns.  Significant negative effects are not predicted at this stage; given good 

potential to respond to the historic environment constraints through sensitive masterplanning and design. 

• Housing – Option 3 (East and SE Faversham) performs well, both in the sense that the proposal is to deliver 40% 

affordable housing and in the sense that there is low delivery risk; however, there remains uncertainty ahead of further 

detailed work in respect of masterplanning and viability, including detailed work to understand infrastructure costs.   

• Land – all four options would result in significant loss of ‘best and most versatile’ agricultural land, including significant 

areas of grade 1 land which is a scare resource nationally.  East / SE Faversham is potentially most constrained, and 

Southeast Sittingbourne potentially the least constrained; however, differences are quite marginal. 

• Landscape – both Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) and Option 4 (North Street) give rise to wide-ranging landscape 

concerns, including around the potential for AONB impacts.  By contrast, Options 2 and 3 are found to have relatively 

limited potential for adverse effects in relation to landscape, although both schemes are associated with sensitivities..   

• Transport – Option 3 (East and Southeast Faversham) is associated with a relatively high degree of certainty regarding 

the potential to deliver growth without leading to capacity issues on the strategic road network, although there remains 

a degree of uncertainty, both in respect of capacity at junction 7 of the M2, and around the potential to achieve a road 

link to the A251 and junction 6 of the M2.  It is also appropriate to highlight Option 1 (Southeast Sittingbourne) as 

performing well, as growth could deliver transformational transport benefits; however, deliverability is uncertain.  

• Water - whilst there is some evidence to suggest that wastewater treatment is a particular constraint in the Faversham 

area, it is not possible to differentiate the strategic site options with certainty, on the basis of the evidence available.   

Page 835



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 127 

 

Appendix IV: Site options GIS analysis 

Introduction 

The aim of this appendix is to present GIS analysis of all site options.  As discussed in Section 6.3, this was one element of work that fed into the establishment of reasonable 

alternatives (‘growth scenarios’) for appraisal.  This appendix is a work in progress, and will be finalised in time for the SA Report. 

Appraisal methodology 

The table below presents the findings of a quantitative GIS-based exercise, which has involved examining the spatial relationship (i.e. proximity to / percentage intersect) between 

all SHLAA sites and a range of constraint (e.g. flood zones, designated heritage assets) and opportunity (e.g. GP surgeries) features for which data is available in digitally mapped 

form across the Borough as a whole. 

Under each heading, sites are scored on a red / amber / green scale, where red indicates a greater degree of constraint and green indicates a lower degree of constraint.  The 

score assigned primarily reflects how the site in question performs relative to other site options.  Further explanation will be provided in the SA Report. 

Appraisal findings 

The table below presents an analysis of all SHLAA sites, grouped by location.  Further analysis will be presented within the SA Report. 

Table A: GIS analysis of SHLAA sites 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g

 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g

 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g

 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/138 Land at Fox Hill/School Lane Bapchild 6                  

SLA18/097 Tonge Country Park, Hempstead Lane Bapchild 6                  

SLA18/005 Land Rear of The Street and Hempstead Lane Bapchild 4                  

SLA18/026 Land off Hempstead Lane Bapchild 2                  

SLA18/159 Land West of Mustards Road Bay View 3                  

SLA18/146 Lime Kiln Shaw, Lime Kiln Road Bexon/Milstead 0                  

SLA18/224 Land at Bobbing Bobbing 418                  

P
age 836



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 128 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/224a Land at Bobbing Bobbing 203                  

SLA18/101 Land at Hill Farm Bobbing 18                  

SLA18/001 Land West of Sheppey Way Bobbing 4                  

SLA18/009 Church Farm, Sheppey Way Bobbing 1                  

SLA18/007 Land East of Sheppey Way Bobbing 1                  

SLA18/069 Land Adjacent 8 Bobbing Hill, Key Street Bobbing 0                  

SLA18/144 Land at Starveacre Lane and Hearts Delight Borden 26                  

SLA18/143 Land at Home Farm Borden 12                  

SLA18/053 Blue House Field, Rear of Mountview Borden 5                  

SLA18/118 Land North of/Adjacent to 124 Borden Lane Borden 1                  

SLA18/047 Land at Street Farm, Pond Farm Road Borden 1                  

SLA18/142 Land at The Nurseries, Pond Farm Road Borden/Oad Street 3                  

SLA18/158 Wellbrook Farm (site B) Boughton 17                  

SLA18/082 Land North of The Street/Canterbury Road Boughton 5                  

SLA18/157 Wellbrook Farm (Site A) Boughton 3                  

SLA18/085 Land Rear of 142-146 The Street Boughton 2                  

SLA18/150 The Former Garden Hotel (no 169), The Street Boughton 1                  

SLA18/002 Land West of Kaine Farm House, Breach Lane Breach 1                  

SLA18/073 Land West of The Street Bredgar 11                  

SLA18/110 Land West of Bredgar, Wrens Road Bredgar 10                  

SLA18/084 Land at Gibbens Farm, The Street Bredgar 7                  

SLA18/048 Land Opposite Rookery Close, Primrose Lane Bredgar 2                  

SLA18/117 Land Adjacent Westfield, Swanton Street Bredgar 2                  

SLA18/074 Land North of Bexon Lane Bredgar 1                  

SLA18/049 Firs Farm, Deans Hill Road Bredgar 0                  

SLA18/066 Land at Parsonage Farm, The Street Bredgar 0                  

SLA18/050 Land at Danaway, Maidstone Road Danaway 1                  

SLA18/083 Land off Dargate Road Dargate 2                  

SLA18/104 Land at The Street Doddington 2                  

SLA18/072 Former Doddington Primary School, The Street Doddington 1                  

SLA18/012 Land at Hopes Hill Doddington 1                  

P
age 837



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 129 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/089 Land at Home Farm,. The Street Doddington 0                  

SLA18/090 Land at Former Gas Yard, The Street Doddington 0                  

SLA18/156 Foresters Lodge Farm Dunkirk 69                  

SLA18/155 Land off of Canterbury Road Dunkirk 5                  

SLA18/136 Land North of Canterbury Road Dunkirk 1                  

SLA18/162 Bossenden Farm Frontage Land Dunkirk 1                  

SLA18/163 Oakside Park, London Road Dunkirk 0                  

SLA18/063 Land North of Eastchurch Eastchurch 35                  

SLA18/189 Land nth of HIgh Street, Eastchurch Eastchurch 1                  

SLA18/223 Land at Ashford Road, North Street, Sheldwich Faversham 310                  

SLA18/226 South East Faversham Faversham 131                  

SLA18/065 Land East of Abbey Farm Faversham 53                  

SLA18/028 Land at Queen Court Farm, Faversham Faversham 44                  

SLA18/091 Land at Lady Dane Farm Faversham 43                  

SLA18/167 Land West of Western Link Faversham 36                  

SLA18/178 Preston Fields, Canterbury Road, Faversham Faversham 14                  

SLA18/221 Land at Lady Dane Farm, Love Lane Faversham 11                  

SLA18/135 Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham Faversham 8                  

SLA18/152 Land south of A2 London Road/West of Water Lane Faversham 8                  

SLA18/062 39 Abbey Fields Faversham 8                  

SLA18/077 Land at Ham Road Faversham 6                  

SLA18/149 Land at Oare Gravel Works, Ham Road Faversham 5                  

SLA18/019 Syndale Park, London Road Faversham 4                  

SLA18/081 Land at London Road and Western Link Faversham 3                  

SLA18/114 Land at Brent Road Faversham 3                  

SLA18/108 Land at Brett House, Bysing Wood Road Faversham 3                  

SLA18/068 Land at Perry Court Farmhouse, Brogdale Road Faversham 3                  

SLA18/107 Land East of Faversham Industrial Estate, Graveney Road Faversham 2                  

SLA18/235 Land at Perry Court Farm, London Road, Faversham Faversham 2                  

SLA18/079 Queens Court Farm Yard, Water Lane Faversham 2                  

SLA18/030 Land at Lion Field, London Road Faversham 1                  

P
age 838



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 130 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/174 Land at Ham Farm, Ham Road Faversham 1                  

SLA18/194 Bysingwood Primary School, Hazebrouck Road Faversham 1                  

SLA18/078 Lady Dane Farm Buildings, Love Lane Faversham 1                  

SLA18/169 97-103 Ashford Road Faversham 1                  

SLA18/029 Swan Quay, Belvedere Road Faversham 0                  

SLA18/060 Land at Wallend, Lower Road Halfway 36                  

SLA18/165 Land East of Queenborough Halfway 27                  

SLA18/080 Land at Halfway Road, Halfway Houses Halfway 6                  

SLA18/176 Land at Belgrave Road Halfway 5                  

SLA18/088 Land South West of Belgrave Road Halfway 2                  

SLA18/064 Land at Highfield Road Halfway 2                  

SLA18/186 Halfway Houses Primary School, Southdown Rd Halfway 2                  

SLA18/209 Land at Minster Academy, Admiral Walkm Minster Halfway 1                  

SLA18/133 Land at Bartletts Close, Halfway Halfway 1                  

SLA18/111 Hartlip Industrial Estate Hartlip 6                  

SLA18/003 Gardening World, Lower Hartlip Road Hartlip Hill 2                  

SLA18/057 Church Farm, Kays Lane Hernhill 1                  

SLA18/154 Land at Lamberhurst Farm Highstreet 23                  

SLA18/232 Land at Stickfast Lane Howt Green 115                  

SLA18/004 Land at Pheasant Farm (West), Sheppey Way Howt Green 2                  

SLA18/219 Land East of Iwade Iwade 67                  

SLA18/054 Land South and South-West of Iwade Iwade 25                  

SLA18/105 Halfway Egg Farm, Featherbed Lane Iwade 3                  

SLA18/037 Land South of Dunlin Walk Iwade 1                  

SLA18/187 Iwade fruit & produce Iwade 0                  

SLA18/188 IwadeVillage Centre II Iwade 0                  

SLA18/129 Keycol Farm, Keycol Hill Keycol 7                  

SLA18/166 Land rear of Solna, Keycol Hill Keycol 3                  

SLA18/109 Land Adjacent St Clements School, Leysdown Road Leysdown 4                  

SLA18/181 Shellness Rd & Park Avenue Leysdown 0                  

SLA18/121 Seaview Park, Warden Bay Road Leysdown/Warden 5                  

P
age 839



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 131 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/173 Former Funton Brickworks Lower Halstow 7                  

SLA18/140 Callum Park, Basser Hill Lower Halstow 2                  

SLA18/008 Land South of School Lane Lower Halstow 1                  

SLA18/036 Southfield, Wardwell Lane Lower Halstow 0                  

SLA18/126 Southern Plot opp Westfield Cottages, Breach Lane Lower Halstow 0                  

SLA18/145 Church House, Church Path Lower Halstow 0                  

SLA18/130 Land North of The Valance Lynsted 4                  

SLA18/034 Land West of The Street Lynsted 3                  

SLA18/132 Medlar House, Lynsted Lane Lynsted 1                  

SLA18/102 Milstead Manor Farm, Manor Road Milstead 1                  

SLA18/177 Land at Cowstead Farm, Lower Road (was also SW/184) Minster 30                  

SLA18/038 Land East of Scocles Road Minster 27                  

SLA18/059 Land Adjacent to Kingsborough Farm, Eastchurch Road Minster 17                  

SLA18/033 Windy Gap, Chequers Road Minster 13                  

SLA18/018 Land off Lower Road Minster 5                  

SLA18/198 Plover Road (Thistle Hill), Minster Minster 4                  

SLA18/171 Between 11 & Sunset, Southsea Avenue Minster 3                  

SLA18/131 Land adj. Allocation A12 Minster 3                  

SLA18/011 Land Rear of 66 Scrapsgate Road Minster 2                  

SLA18/234 Land at Plough Road, Minster, ME12 4JF Minster 2                  

SLA18/031 Land at Plough Road Minster 1                  

SLA18/067 Land off Elm Lane Minster 1                  

SLA18/141 Land West of Martindale, Elm Lane Minster 1                  

SLA18/193 Land at Minster County Primary School Minster 0                  

SLA18/161 Plough Leisure Caravan Park Minster/Eastchurch 1                  

SLA18/093 Land Adjacent Monica Close Neames Forstall 1                  

SLA18/096 Land East of Selling Road (2) Neames Forstall 1                  

SLA18/094 Land East of Selling Road Neames Forstall 1                  

SLA18/229 Land at Pond Farm, Newington Newington 13                  

SLA18/076 Land at Ellen's Place, High Street Newington 2                  

SLA18/075 Land at St Mary's View Newington 1                  

P
age 840



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 132 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/103 Land South of Oak Hill Newington 1                  

SLA18/015 High Oak Hill Farm, High Oak Hill, Iwade Road Newington 1                  

SLA18/100 148 High Street Newington 1                  

SLA18/228 Land adj Newington Manor, Bull Lane Newington 0                  

SLA18/124 Land at The Tracies Newington 0                  

SLA18/127 Land SW of Boyse's Hill Farm Newington/Keycol 12                  

SLA18/115 Land at 18 The Courtyard, Seed Road Newnham 0                  

SLA18/160 Land at Norton Ash Garden Centre Norton Ash 9                  

SLA18/023 Bowl Reed, Oad Street Oad Street 2                  

SLA18/024 Land Adjacent to Bowl Reed, Oad Street Oad Street 2                  

SLA18/035 Land East of Painters Farm, Painters Forstal Road Painter's Forstall 1                  

SLA18/086 Churchmans Farm, Stalisfield Road Painter's Forstall 0                  

SLA18/220 West of Rushenden Road Q’borough/Rush 11                  

SLA18/207 South of Queenborough Creek Q’borough/Rush 7                  

SLA18/214 Former Istil site Rushenden Road/Thomsett Way Q’borough/Rush 4                  

SLA18/199 West Street, Queenborough Q’borough/Rush 1                  

SLA18/180 Nil Desperandum Rushenden Hill Q’borough/Rush 1                  

SLA18/061 Land at Queenborough Road Q’borough/Rush 1                  

SLA18/032 Neats Court, Queenborough Road Q’borough/Rush 0                  

SLA18/179 The Foundary, Rushenden Road Q’borough/Rush 0                  

SLA18/113a Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushdenden Road Q’borough/Rush Not yet subject to analysis due to altered site boundary (see detailed appraisal in Section 10) 

SLA18/027 Land at Radfield Farm, London Road Radfield 3                  

SLA18/172 Otterham Quay, Otterham Quay Lane Rainham 4                  

SLA18/098 Land at Otterham Quay Lane Rainham 2                  

SLA18/052 Rushett Farm Buldings, Rushett Lane Rushett 0                  

SLA18/147 Land at Forstal Farm (West), Selling Road Selling 11                  

SLA18/095 Norham Farm, Selling Road Selling 2                  

SLA18/092 Land West of Norham Farm, Selling Road Selling 1                  

SLA18/148 Land at Forstal Farm (East), Selling Road Selling 7                  

SLA18/014 Danley Farm, Drove Road Sheerness 51                  

SLA18/134 Stocks Paddock Sheldwich 0                  

P
age 841



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 133 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/225 South East Sittingbourne Sittingbourne 804                  

SLA18/137 Land between A2 Bapchild and Northern Relief Road Sittingbourne 92                  

SLA18/182 Land North of Quinton Road (See SW/022) Sittingbourne 61                  

SLA18/218 North East Sittingbourne Sittingbourne 51                  

SLA18/217 Land West of Wises Lane (see also SW/437) Sittingbourne 34                  

SLA18/017 Land at Ufton Court Farm, Starveacre Lane Sittingbourne 27                  

SLA18/139 Land at South-West Sittingbourne Sittingbourne 12                  

SLA18/184 Land at Pheasant Farm, east of Sheppey Way, Bobbing Sittingbourne 10                  

SLA18/215 Crown Quay Lane Sittingbourne 8                  

SLA18/021 Chilton Manor Farm, Highsted Road Sittingbourne 7                  

SLA18/112 Land at Sittingbourne Golf Centre, Church Road Sittingbourne 6                  

SLA18/185 Land at Great Grovehurst Farm Sittingbourne 5                  

SLA18/233 Land adjacent to Cryalls Lane, Sittingbourne Sittingbourne 4                  

SLA18/222 Land at Manor Farm, Key Street Sittingbourne 2                  

SLA18/195 152 Staplehurst Road Sittingbourne 2                  

SLA18/175 Land north of Key Street, Sittingbourne Sittingbourne 2                  

SLA18/208 Former McDonald's Mailing Centre, Staplehurst Road Sittingbourne 2                  

SLA18/016 Land Rear of Bramblefield Lane and Grovehurst Road Sittingbourne 1                  

SLA18/230 Sittingbourne Adult education , College Rd Sittingbourne 1                  

SLA18/227 45 Key Street Sittingbourne 0                  

SLA18/196 35, High Street, Milton Regis Sittingbourne 0                  

SLA18/201 Central Avenue Sittingbourne TC 1                  

SLA18/216 Bell House, Bell Road Sittingbourne TC 1                  

SLA18/200 Swale House and environs Sittingbourne TC 1                  

SLA18/170 Former Bus Depot, East Street Sittingbourne TC 0                  

SLA18/056 Land West of Mount Farm Cottages, Staplestreet Staplestreet 0                  

SLA18/183 Land at Frognal Lane Teynham 31                  

SLA18/025 Land West of Frognal Lane Teynham 24                  

SLA18/106 Land at Barrow Green Farm, London Raod Teynham 13                  

SLA18/116 Land South of London Road/West of Lynsted Lane Teynham 6                  

SLA18/122 Land at Claxfield Road (Site 1) Teynham 6                  

P
age 842



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 134 

 

SHLAA ref. Name / address Location 

H
e
c
ta

re
s
 

A
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 

A
ir

 q
u
a
lit

y
 m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

 

S
p
e
c
ia

l 
A

re
a
 o

f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

 

S
S

S
I 

G
P

 S
u
rg

e
ry

 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

T
ra

in
 s

ta
ti
o
n

 

F
lo

o
d
 z

o
n
e
 2

 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a

 

G
ra

d
e
 1

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

* 
lis

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

G
ra

d
e
 2

 l
is

te
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 

R
e
g
is

te
re

d
 p

a
rk

 o
r 

g
a
rd

e
n

 

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 m

o
n

u
m

e
n
t 

K
e
n
t 

D
o
w

n
s
 A

O
N

B
 

SLA18/190 Land East of Station Road Teynham 4                  

SLA18/236 Land to the north of Vigo Cottage, Lynsted Lane, Teynham Teynham 3                  

SLA18/055 Land at Lynsted Lane Teynham 2                  

SLA18/153 Land south of Dover Castle Inn, A2 London Road/Cellarhill Teynham 1                  

SLA18/213 BarrowGreen Farm, Barrow Green, Teynham Teynham 1                  

SLA18/010 Land at Cellar Hill Teynham 1                  

SLA18/123 Land at Claxfield Road (Site 2) Teynham 1                  

SLA18/237 Land to the north of Vigo Cottage, Lynsted Lane, Teynham Teynham 0                  

SLA18/022 Land at Hearts Delight Road Tunstall 7                  

SLA18/044 Land adj. Filmer House, Wren's Road and Hearts Delight Road Tunstall/Borden 8                  

SLA18/164 Land South of Hearts Delight, Hearts Delight Road Tunstall/Borden 5                  

SLA18/046 Land South of Hearts Delight, Hearts Delight Road Tunstall/Borden 2                  

SLA18/045 Land Opposite Uplands, Hearts Delight Road Tunstall/Borden 1                  

SLA18/043 Land Adjacent Sunnyside, Wren's Road Tunstall/Borden 1                  

SLA18/042 Land Adjacent Wren's Oast, Sutton Baron Road Tunstall/Borden 1                  

SLA18/013 Land East of Chaffes Lane Upchurch 6                  

SLA18/119 Land at Long Field Upchurch 2                  

SLA18/087 Land Adjoining/Rear of Jubilee Fields Upchurch 2                  

SLA18/099 Land South of 93 Chaffes Lane Upchurch 1                  

SLA18/051 Land at Wetham Green Upchurch 1                  

SLA18/151 Land at Warden, South of Knoll Way Warden 7                  

 
 
 

 

P
age 843



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 135 

 

Appendix V: Sub area scenarios 

Introduction 

The aim of this appendix is to present a discussion of growth scenarios for the following sub-areas: 

• Sittingbourne 

• Faversham 

• West Sheppey 

• Teynham 

• Newington 

• Eastchurch 

• Leysdown 

• Boughton 

• Iwade 

• Tier 5 settlements and the rural area 

The conclusions from each sub-area discussion are presented in Section 7 of the main body of the report which, in turn, feeds 

into the establishment of borough-wide reasonable growth scenarios (Section 8). 

Methodology 

For each sub-area the aim is to discuss sites in contention for allocation, consider how sites might potentially be brought 

forward in combination (‘growth scenarios’), and then arrive at a conclusion on reasonable growth scenarios to take forward. 

Key sources of evidence include: 

• the Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)106 

• the GIS analysis presented in Appendix IV;  

• the discussion of sites presented in the Officers Report to the 8th October Local Plan Panel;107 and  

• discussion with officers. 

  

 
106 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/mgAi.aspx?ID=8571  
107 See https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2323  Page 844

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/mgAi.aspx?ID=8571
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=216&MId=2323


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 136 

 

Sittingbourne 

Sittingbourne is the Borough’s main settlement, and a significant settlement in the wider sub-region, including because of 

major employment centres at Eurolink and Kent Science Park (to the south of Sittingbourne).  For these reasons, and because 

land has been available subject to limited constraint, Sittingbourne has seen significant growth over recent years and decades, 

and there is significant committed growth.  Perhaps most notable is committed strategic growth to the north of the town, where 

over 1,500 homes will come forward at Northwest Sittingbourne and over 550 homes at the closely linked settlement of Iwade. 

It is also important to note that Sittingbourne town centre is in the process of significant transformation and regeneration.  In 

2019, the Council’s multi-storey car park opened, freeing up small and under-used surface car parks for re-development.  In 

addition, the multi-million pound entertainment complex, hotel and public realm improvements have sparked further investment 

with small scale residential, retail and leisure development completed or in the pipeline. 

As a final introductory point, it is important to note that Sittingbourne’s expansion has encroached on the surrounding parishes 

of Bobbing, Borden, Tunstall, Rodmersham, Bapchild and Tonge.  Within these parishes the main rural settlements are 

Bobbing, Borden, Tunstall, Rodmersham Green and Bapchild (all of which have a primary school).  These are rural 

settlements, but are appropriately considered here, because they all relate closely to Sittingbourne. 

A shortlist of potential growth locations and site options are discussed in Table A, with Figure A presenting a summary in 

respect of those taken forward to the next stage (borough-wide growth scenarios) versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Table A: Potential growth locations and site options at Sittingbourne 

Potential growth location 
Supported 

by SHLAA? 
Discussion 

Town 

centre 

SLA18/170 

SLA18/200 

SLA18/201 

Yes, but not 

deliverable” 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision 

of 28th October, is to allocate Sittingbourne town centre as a broad area 

for the delivery of around 850 homes.   

This quantum of homes reflects the sites identified in the SHLAA, mindful 

that site deliverability can be addressed through the committed 

Sittingbourne Town Centre Planning and Urban Design Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD).  A considerable amount of work has already 

been completed to explore masterplanning principles for the town centre, 

identifying areas suitable for housing, including the eastern and western 

gateways to the high street, ‘backland’ areas well connected to the high 

street by alleyways, St Michael’s Avenue and Eurolink Way, and there is 

confidence that growth locations will be identified through the SPD.  The 

vision for the town centre is to consolidate the retail offer, whilst 

supporting residential, cultural and leisure uses, which aligns with the 

recent national changes to the town centre planning use class orders 

(i.e. introduction of the new class E use class, which includes retail 

alongside other uses, to support evolution of high streets).   

In short, the 850 homes figure is considered to be suitably conservative 

figure.  Whilst there are viability challenges, there is considered to be 

good potential to deliver at least this number of homes, hence there are 

limited arguments for exploring a lower growth approach.  Equally, there 

are limited arguments for exploring higher growth.  The merits of 

potential higher growth options can be suggested in theory (e.g. 

delivering low carbon infrastructure); however, in practice, there is a 

need for town centre planning to be driven by detailed work on 

masterplanning, design, site availability/assembly etc. 

Strategic 

site  

SLA18/225 SE 

Sittingbourne 

Caveated 

support 

Ruled out for the reasons given in Section 6.2.  

SLA18/224 / 224a 

Land at 

Bobbing108 

Taken forward for the reasons given in Section 6.2.   

N.B. the proposal is to assume a scheme broadly in line with that 

proposed by the site promoter; however, see discussion in Appendix III. 

  

 
108 The larger site was submitted through the SHLAA and the smaller site as part of subsequent work to explore strategic site options. Page 845



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 137 

 

South 

SLA18/017 Land 

at Ufton Court  
Yes Were presented as options to the 8th October Local Plan Panel, who 

recommended allocation of SLA18/021; however, the decision was 

subsequently made at 28th October Cabinet to not allocate the site. SLA18/021 

Chilton Manor Fm 
Yes 

East 

SLA18/137 Land 

between A2 

Bapchild and 

existing NRR 

Yes 

Also, presented as options to the 8th October Local Plan Panel; however, 

considered to be less suitable than the two ‘South’ sites, above.   

Reasons are given in the Officers report to the LPP meeting.  More 

broadly, any further expansion to the east of Sittingbourne (beyond the 

two allocations in the adopted Local Plan) would need to be very carefully 

considered, with a view to: avoiding coalescence with Bapchild and 

Tonge (both historic parishes with grade 1 listed churches); respecting 

landscape sensitivity (most notably to the south of the A2); avoiding 

‘sprawl’ towards Teynham; and ensuring delivery of the final segment of 

the Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road.  At the current time there is no 

certainty regarding what a scheme might involve, and whilst the potential 

transport benefits of delivering the new road link are recognised, it is far 

from clear that benefits would outweigh the disbenefits.  

SLA18/138 Land 

at Fox Hill/ School 

Lane 

Yes 

Bobbing 

18/001 West of 

Sheppey Way  
Yes 

Presented to the LPP Panel with a recommendation for non-allocation; 

however, for the purposes of establishing growth scenarios, there is 

considered to be potential for modest growth at Bobbing, given: village 

services and facilities, good links to higher order centres and a dispersed 

built form potentially suited to consolidation.  One or both of the sites 

supported by the SHLAA could be suitable for allocation, and potentially 

that part of 18/101 east of the electricity pylons and rising land to Rook 

Lane / Keycol.  Sites other than those in the SHLAA might also feasibly 

be explored, potentially through a Neighbourhood Plan.  

18/009 Church 

Farm 
Yes 

18/101 Land at 

Hill Farm 
No 

Borden 

SLA18/143 Land 

at Home Farm 
Yes 

Borden is one tier higher than Bobbing in the settlement hierarchy (albeit 

the local offer is very similar, as understood from Settlement Hierarchy 

Study, 2020), but this broad area, to the south of Sittingbourne, is 

considered to be subject to higher landscape, heritage and biodiversity 

constraint.  There is a high density of promoted sites, and one or more 

might be found to be suitable (in whole or in part) upon further 

investigation (potentially through a Neighbourhood Plan).  However, for 

the purposes of the LPR, it is not considered necessary to take forward 

a scenario that sees any allocation(s) at Borden.  This decision is made 

mindful of the constraints to growth, the nearby committed site at South 

West Sittingbourne and also nearby site 18/017 (discussed above).  

Other sites No 

Bapchild 

SLA18/138 Land 

at Fox Hill/ School 

Lane 

Yes 

Bapchild is a tier 5 settlement, as per Borden, and overall has a better 

local offer than Borden, as understood from Settlement Hierarchy Study. 

SLA18/138 has been discussed above, as a possible (albeit unlikely) 

component of strategic expansion to the east of Sittingbourne, but might 

alternatively be considered as an extension to Bapchild.  It is, however, 

subject to constraints, including in terms of landscape (moderate-high 

sensitivity), coalescence / gap to Sittingbourne (the site would split the 

field that forms the bulk of the gap) and heritage (grade 1 listed church). 

SLA18/026 is potentially less constrained overall, but relates less well to 

the village, is further from Sittingbourne, would be more visible from the 

A2 and comprises grade 1 agricultural land (adjacent land parcels have 

been surveyed in detail) currently used for orchards (not priority habitat).  

In conclusion, it is not considered necessary to take forward a scenario 

that sees any allocation(s) at Bapchild, in light of site specific constraints 

and strategic considerations, including a general view that further growth 

in this part of the A2 corridor – over-and-above the adopted Local Plan 

allocations - must be carefully considered, rather than piecemeal. 

SLA18/026 Land 

off Hempstead 

Lane 

Yes 

Page 846



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 138 

 

Other sites supported by the SHLAA but not discussed in the rows above are: SLA18/016 (small site with access 

constraints); SLA18/007 (suitable for employment only, discussed in Box 8.1); and sites that are committed (SLA18/175, 

SLA18/182, SLA18/184, SLA18/195, SLA18/208, SLA18/217, SLA18/218, SLA18/222). 

Figure A: Potential growth locations taken forward at Sittingbourne 

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate Sittingbourne town 

centre as a broad area for the delivery of around 850 homes.  There is a need to explore higher growth scenarios, in light 

of the discussion presented in Sections 5 and 6 of this report. 

A first port of call is the two urban extension options to the south of Sittingbourne (18/017 and 18/021), which together would 

deliver c.380 homes.  Furthermore, as discussed in Table A, there is considered to be the potential for growth at Bobbing.  

The precise number of homes and sites to allocate can reasonably be left undefined (there would be merit to taking forward 

allocation(s) through a Neighbourhood Plan); however, on balance, it is considered appropriate to assume delivery of circa 

120 homes.  This brings the total number of additional homes under this scenario to 500.  This is higher growth scenario 1.   

Secondly, there is the option of strategic growth at Bobbing.  This would deliver an additional circa 2,500 homes (possibly with 

additional growth beyond the plan period).  This is higher growth scenario 2. 

In conclusion, three growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report.   

Faversham 

Faversham is a tier 2 settlement in the adopted settlement hierarchy, alongside Sheerness.  Environmental constraints to 

growth are well understood, perhaps most notably heritage constraints; however, the adopted Local Plan allocates several 

significant sites, most notably mixed use urban extensions to the north (c.370 homes), east (c.350 homes) and south (c.650 

homes).  Committed growth to the south is of particular note, as growth here will lead to a significant change to the urban form 

of the town.  Faversham historically extended between the marshes and creek-side industry in the north and the A2 in the 

south, but committed sites mean that there is now more potential to consider expansion of the town as far south as the M2. Page 847



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 139 

 

A shortlist of potential growth locations and site options are discussed in Table B, with Figure B presenting a summary in 

respect of those taken forward to the next stage (borough-wide growth scenarios) versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Table B: Potential growth locations and site options at Faversham 

Potential growth location 
Supported 

by SHLAA? 
Discussion 

Urban 

and small 

sites 

SLA18/078 

SLA18/114 

SLA18/169  

SLA18/235 

Yes 

A Faversham Neighbourhood Plan is in preparation, and would be well 

placed to allocate one or more of these urban or small sites, and/or 

identify further sites, including with a view to supporting town centre 

vitality (see discussion of Sittingbourne town centre, above); however, 

the safe option (at the current time) is not to assume any supply. 

East and 

southeast 

SLA18/226 South 

East Faversham 

Caveated 

support 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision 

of 28th October, is to support strategic growth to the east / southeast, 

delivering around 3,400 homes across these four sites.  SLA18/226 is 

the central component, having been examined as a stand-alone garden 

community option since 2018.  SLA18/091 would comprise a 600 home 

extension to the committed Lady Dane Farm scheme, and there is 

understood to be good potential to masterplan and deliver the scheme 

in combination with SLA18/226.  SLA18/135 is a smaller site at the 

northern extent of the combined scheme, and would extend an existing 

allocation by 240 homes (it is also important to note that the western 

extent of the site is an existing employment allocation - SLA18/107 - but 

is now proposed for residential).  SLA18/178 is an existing allocation, 

where the proposal is now to deliver an additional 70 homes on the 

southern part of the site (instead of leaving this land undeveloped), 

potentially enabling a link road between the A251 and SLA18/226.   

A lower growth scenario can also be envisaged involving expansion to 

the east only, via sites SLA18/091 and SLA18/135.   

There is also a reason to suggest that the additional 70 homes at 

SLA18/178 should be assumed under this lower growth scenario; 

however, for the purposes of arriving at growth scenarios, it is assumed 

that the primary justification for the additional 70 homes is to enable 

delivery of the link road to SLA18/226. 

Finally, it is considered important to note the possibility of a higher growth 

scenario involving comprehensive planning for the entire land parcel 

bounded by: Faversham Creek to the northwest (to include site 

SLA18/062); the flood zone / local wildlife sites / Goodnestone 

Conservation Area in the north; the A299 in the east; the M2 to the south; 

and the A251 to the southwest.  Additional homes could lead to 

economies of scale in support of additional infrastructure, to include 

strategic green infrastructure to protect and buffer heritage and 

biodiversity assets; and the potential to ‘unlock’ strategic employment 

land in the vicinity of M2 Junction 7 might also be envisaged.  See further 

discussion of strategic planning at landscape scales in Appendix II. 

SLA18/091 Land 

at Lady Dane Fm 
Yes 

SLA18/135 Land 

at Graveney Road 
Yes 

SLA18/178 

Preston Fields 
Yes 

North 

Street 

SLA18/223 Land 

at Ashford Road, 

North Street, 

Sheldwich 

No New settlement option ruled out for the reasons given in Section 6.2.  

  

Page 848



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 140 

 

North 

SLA18/065 East 

of Abbey Farm 
Yes 

Land to the north is considered the next port of call, as there are two 

sites considered to be relatively unconstrained, in the Faversham 

context, namely SLA18/062 and SLA18/077.  Modest extensions here 

could more-or-less complete the expansion of Faversham north as far 

as the flood risk zone / zone of SPA and wider biodiversity sensitivity. 

SLA18/065 is considered the least suitable of the three sites.  It would 

extend SLA18/062 to include an area of land that is heavily constrained 

in flood risk and biodiversity terms. 

SLA18/062 39 

Abbey Fields 
Yes 

SLA18/077 Land 

at Ham Road 
Yes 

South 

(north of 

the A2) 

SLA18/081 Land 

at London Road 

and Western Link 

Yes 

Both sites are quite well contained in built form terms, but the western 

site contributes to an attractive rural setting to the western edge of 

Faversham, in combination with the highly visible landscaped grounds of 

the Syndale Park Conservation Area to the south of the A2.  

Furthermore, the Ordnance Survey map indicates the site of a Roman 

burial ground, and the Kent Historic Environment suggests this as the 

possible site of the Roman Station (mansio) of Durolevum, noting that 

the A2 is a Roman road (Watling Street). 

SLA18/030 Land 

at Lion Field 
Yes 

South 

(south of 

the A2) 

SLA18/028 Land 

at Queen Court 

Farm, Faversham 

Yes 

As discussed, the existing Local Plan includes three allocations to the 

south of the A2, which essentially comprise those sites considered to be 

least constrained at the time of preparing that Local Plan.  Uncommitted 

land to the south of the A2 is constrained in historic environment and 

landscape terms, particularly given: the Ospringe Conservation Area to 

the west; the Faversham Conservation Area to the north; a wider historic 

landscape associated with fruit cultivation; and impacts to important links 

between Faversham and the rural landscape to the south of the M2, 

including the Whitehill and Painters Forstall Conservation Areas and the 

national fruit collection at Brogdale Farm.  There are also road access 

and air quality constraints, particularly given the Ospringe AQMA.  

Also, the officers’ report to the 8th November Local Plan Panel makes the 

following important statement in resepct of the largest of these sites 

(SLA18/028): “Site promoters have been unable to demonstrate 

collaboration with the land available to the west and north west that might 

provide an opportunity for a link road from the A2 at Ospringe to the A251 

Ashford, meaning that the site would most likely be developed in isolation 

rather than as a more cohesive approach that could potentially yield the 

benefit of a bypass that could relieve traffic on the A2 and better walking 

and cycling links with the town centre.” 

SLA18/152 Land 

south of A2/ West 

of Water Lane 

Yes 

SLA18/068/235 

Land at Perry 

Court Farm 

Yes 

West 

SLA18/167 West 

of Western Link 
Yes Both sites are constrained in landscape terms, with the western edge of 

Faversham defined by the Syndale Valley local landscape designation.  

Additionally, the larger site would impact on the setting of Syndale 

Conservation Area, and the smaller site mostly falls in flood risk zone 2. 
SLA18/108 Land 

at Brett House 
Yes 

Other sites supported by the SHLAA but not discussed above are committed (SLA18/149, SLA18/174, SLA18/194). 

  

Page 849



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 141 

 

Figure B: Potential growth locations taken forward at Faversham 

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to support strategic growth to 

the east / southeast, delivering around 3,400 homes.  There is a need to explore scenarios involving smaller scale urban 

extensions, in place of strategic growth to the east / southeast, which in practice means exploring lower growth scenarios.  

Higher growth could feasibly be achieved by more comprehensive expansion to the east; however, the land in question was 

not considered through the SHLAA and is not known to be available, so this option is ruled out on delivery grounds. 

Focusing on lower growth scenarios, five urban extension options have been identified that are judged to perform relatively 

well, for the purposes of arriving at growth scenarios, namely sites 18/030, 18/062, 18/077, 18/091 and 18/135.  The combined 

yield of these sites, according to the figures presented in the report to the 8th October Local Plan Panel meeting, is 1,065 

homes; however, it is considered appropriate to round this figure down to 1,000 homes.  This is lower growth scenario 1. 

Other lower growth scenarios can obviously be envisaged that would involve a selection of the five urban extension options 

that feature in lower growth scenario 1.  One possible scenario, of note, would involve allocating only the three smaller urban 

extensions to the north and south, with further expansion to the east resisted, including due to concerns around ‘urban sprawl’.  

However, expansion to the east would comprise a mixed use scheme, to include at least 10 ha of new employment land, 

which is an important consideration in light of the employment land targets set by the ELR (2018).  Furthermore, there is a 

need to recall the 2020 decision by Cabinet, in respect of focusing growth at Faversham through the LPR. 

In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

West Sheppey 

Sheerness is a tier 2 settlement in the settlement hierarchy, whilst Minster/Halfway and Queenborough/Rushenden together 

comprise tier 3 of the settlement hierarchy.  Together, these linked settlements comprise the ‘West Sheppey Triangle’.   

The adopted Local Plan makes a series of housing allocations at Minster/Halfway, with Barton Hill Drive by far the largest 

scheme (now with permission for 700 homes).  There are also three very small allocations at Queenborough/Rushenden, and 

much of area is designated as an area of regeneration, as part of which there is support for significant housing growth.  There 

are no allocations at Sheerness, but the Port of Sheerness area is designated as an area of regeneration.  The focus is on 

safeguarding the port function and encouraging investment in infrastructure that supports water and rail freight connections. Page 850



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 142 

 

A shortlist of potential growth locations and site options are discussed in Table C, with Figure C presenting a summary in 

respect of those taken forward to the next stage (borough-wide growth scenarios) versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Table C: Potential growth locations and site options in the West Sheppey Triangle 

Potential growth location 
Supported 

by SHLAA? 
Discussion 

Sheerness N/a 

There is support for housing growth in Sheerness, and this could form 

part of plans for regeneration of the Port and Blue Town area; however, 

the safe option (at the current time) is not to assume any supply. 

Queen-       

borough / 

Rush’den 

SLA18/113 Land 

at Port of S’ness, 

Rushdenden  

No 

Since the SHLAA conclusion the Council has worked closely with the 

site promoters to explore options for this site, and it now forms part of 

the emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision 

of 28th October.  The proposal is to deliver 850 homes and around 10 

ha of additional employment, and take additional steps aimed at 

supporting regeneration; however, there are a range of delivery and 

environmental challenges to overcome, including flood risk.  

SLA18/199 

SLA18/207 

SLA18/214 

SLA18/220 

Yes 

Fall within the regeneration area and are listed within the supporting text 

to Policy Regen 2 of the adopted Local Plan as having the potential to 

deliver up to 1,180 homes.  They are shown in Figure C (below) as 

commitments; however, given delivery and environmental challenges 

(including almost complete coverage of flood risk zone 3), the safe 

option (at the current time) is not to assume any supply. 

East and 

Southeast 

of Minster 

SLA18/038 East 

of Scocles Road 
Yes 

Over the past 30 years a major new community has come forward in the 

Thistle Hill area, to south of Minster / north of the A2500 Lower Road / 

east of Barton Hill Drive / west of Scocles Road.  Housing development 

has supported investment in infrastructure, including community and 

green infrastructure, and final elements of the long-committed scheme 

are still building-out.  Additionally, the most recent Local Plan allocated 

perhaps a final parcel of land in the Thistle Hill area, for 97 homes, and 

a site adjacent to the east (north of Elm Lane), for 50 homes.   

SLA18/038 was given close consideration through the plan-making / SA 

process, when preparing the adopted Local Plan, but was ultimately 

ruled-out as ‘unreasonable’, including as nearby Barton Hill Drive was 

judged to be preferable, and the view was that both sites could not come 

forward in combination.  For the purposes of the LPR, which looks to 

2038 rather than 2031, it is considered reasonable to explore the option 

of allocating SLA18/038, including as it is a larger site potentially suited 

to delivering planning gain.  However, allocation of this site alone might 

still represent something of a piecemeal approach to growth in this area.  

A more strategic and comprehensive approach could be preferable, 

including with a view to respecting landscapes of ‘moderate-high’ 

sensitivity and delivering increased capacity along the Lower Road.109   

On the basis of this discussion, SLA18/067 performs less well, as a 

much smaller site that would involve piecemeal expansion. 

SLA18/067 Land 

off Elm Lane 
Yes 

  

 
109 The Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) identifies all land surrounding Minster as having moderate-high sensitivity to housing 
growth, with inherent sensitivities associated with the raised rolling landscape of Sheppey’s clay “backbone”.  However, the study also 
discusses important spatial variation.  Firstly, it is important to note that the landscape parcel directly to the southeast of Minster Abbey is 
judged to have ‘high’ sensitivity to employment development (i.e. taller/bulkier buildings); and, secondly, the following is an important quote 
describing spatial variation in landscape sensitivity within the broad landscape parcel (MR2) that falls between the southern edge of 
Minster/Halfway and the A2500 Lower Road: “Key spatial variations are the distinctive landforms of Barrows Hill and Furze Hill to the west 
which have higher sensitivity, the retention of an open rural setting along the A2500 and the relationship to the adjacent marshes, plus the 
role of the slopes as a rural setting to Minster Abbey, notably in the area south of Woottons Farm rising from the A2500, which are especially 
sensitive. There may be areas of lower sensitivity on lower lying land to the west associated with existing development.”  Page 851



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 143 

 

West of 

Minster / 

south of 

Halfway 

SLA18/165 Land 

East of 

Queenborough 

Yes 

There is merit to growth in this area – west of Minster / south of Halfway 

/ west of Queenborough / north of the Lower Road (or the flood risk zone) 

– including as it is relatively well-connected in the Sheppey context.  This 

is reflected in four adopted Local Plan allocations, including Barton Hill 

Drive, which now has planning permission for 700 homes.   

There could be merit to taking a strategic / comprehensive approach to 

further growth in this area, including with a view to addressing landscape 

and other environmental constraints and opportunities, and maximising 

infrastructure delivery benefits.  This could mean avoiding development 

of raised land (Barrows Hill and Furze Hill; see footnote discussion, 

below), which could offer an opportunity to deliver new strategic green 

infrastructure, and also land to the south of the Lower Road (site 

SLA18/060), across which there are long ranging views to Sittingbourne.   

However, all of the sites supported by the SHLAA would involve 

piecemeal growth.  SLA18/165 is notable as a large site, but would 

involve development of land rising towards Barrows Hill.    

N.B. it is noted that a more comprehensive scheme for Barton Hill Drive 

(1,400 homes, rather than the committed 700 home scheme) is now 

being promoted, to include additional infrastructure delivery and low 

carbon measures (a net zero scheme is proposed); however, this was 

not submitted in time to be considered through the SHLAA. 

SLA18/088 Land 

South West of 

Belgrave Road 

Yes 

SLA18/064 Land 

at Highfield Road 
Yes 

SLA18/133 Land 

at Bartletts Close, 

Halfway 

Yes 

SLA18/060 Land 

at Wallend, Lower 

Road 

No 

Park homes (also relevant to 

the Leysdown area) 

An “Interim Policy Statement on “Use of caravans/chalets as permanent residences” 

was presented to the Local Plans Panel on 7th May 2020.  This proposed a shift in 

approach, specifically support for: “Proposals for the conversion/redevelopment of 

holiday accommodation on holiday parks in the Borough to permanent residence (12 

months of the year) will be granted provided that all of the following criteria are met…” 

There is the option of taking forward this interim policy through the LPR, which could 

lead to a significant supply of new homes on the Isle of Sheppey.  There are good 

reasons for seeking to enable conversion/redevelopment to permanent residence, 

including because such sites can often be suited to the over 55s looking to downsize 

from family-sized housing.  However, there is a need to apply caution, as given the 

location of some existing park homes sites (e.g. risk of flooding; accessibility to services 

and facilities) and constraints to ensuring good living standards onsite. 

On balance, there is not considered to be a need to build this into growth scenarios. 

Other sites supported by the SHLAA but not discussed in the rows above are: SLA18/171 (a constrained greenfield site 

within the settlement confines of Minster, potentially suited to Local Greenspace designation); SLA18/141 (a small site on 

the eastern edge of Minster); SLA18/018 (proposed for non-residential uses, discussed in detail in the officers’ report to the 

8th October Local Plan Panel); and sites that are committed (SLA18/131, SLA18/176, SLA18/177, SLA18/179, SLA18/180, 

SLA18/186, SLA18/193, SLA18/198, SLA18/209). 

Page 852



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 144 

 

Figure C: Potential growth locations taken forward in the West Sheppey triangle 

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate site 18/113 for 850 

homes.  This site has the potential to support regeneration objectives for Queenborough/Rushenden, but is subject to a range 

of constraints and delivery challenges.  As such, there is a need to explore scenarios involving non-allocation of this site.110 

One other site has been identified as performing relatively well, for the purposes of arriving at growth scenarios, namely site 

18/038, to the southeast of Minster.  The capacity of this this site is c.650 homes, hence allocation of this site in place of site 

18/113 would involve modestly lower growth directed to West Sheppey (but there are also options for allocations in the eastern 

part of the Island, as discussed below).  This is lower growth scenario 1.   

Additionally, there is the option of nil allocations, particularly given concerns regarding capacity on the A249 and at junction 5 

of the M2 under scenarios where there is also higher growth in the Sittingbourne area.  This is lower growth scenario 2. 

In conclusion, three growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Teynham 

Teynham is one of six tier four settlements in the Borough.  It benefits from a range of local services and facilities and good 

connectivity to Sittingbourne and Faversham by road and rail, although AQMAs are a significant constraint.   

The adopted Local Plan allocates four sites to deliver a total of around 410 homes, with 260 proposed at a mixed use extension 

of the village to the west.  This is notably more than the 115 homes directed to Newington, which is a similar settlement. 

 
110 This conclusion could be questioned, as the two main constraints – flood risk and proximity to / links with the SPA – are relatively ‘black 
and white’, meaning that they either will be addressed through the planning application process, such that the site can be judged sustainable 
and suitable for development, or will not be addressed, such that the site is not developed.  This site could lend itself to further work to explore 
site-specific alternatives. Page 853



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 145 

 

As a final introductory point, it is important to note that all agricultural land surrounding the village is shown by the nationally 

available (low resolution) dataset to be of grade 1 quality (although much of the land has been surveyed in detail, which shows 

there to be some grade 2 quality land). 

A shortlist of potential growth locations and site options are discussed in Table D, with Figure D presenting a summary in 

respect of those taken forward to the next stage (borough-wide growth scenarios) versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Table D: Potential growth locations and site options at Teynham 

Potential growth location 
Supported 

by SHLAA? 
Discussion 

Northwest 

SLA18/025 Land 

West of Frognal 

Lane 

Yes 

This site would extend the 260 home mixed use scheme that is an 

allocation in the adopted Local Plan.  There would be good accessibility 

to the rail station (there is a footpath along Lower Road, west of Frognall 

Lane); however, there is heritage constraint, in the form of two listed 

buildings (one grade 2*), and new homes would, to some extent, be 

separated from the rest of the village by the committed employment 

area, sports pitches and open space.  There is also a need to consider 

the landscape gap to Bapchild and Sittingbourne. 

SLA18/225 SE 

Sittingbourne 
Yes 

It is important to note the extensive SE Sittingbourne site extends to 

include site SLA18/025 and the committed area of open space to the 

west of Frognal Lane (south of SLA18/025).  However, the latest 

proposals for SLA18/225 appear to leave the open space undeveloped. 

Northeast 

SLA18/106 Land 

at Barrow Green 

Farm, London Rd 

Yes 

This site would extend and link the two existing modest allocations to the 

east of the village, and would benefit from very good accessibility to the 

rail station.  The assumption is that only the western part of the site would 

be developed, delivering around 100 homes.  This is an important 

consideration given a ridgeline running north/south through the centre of 

the site, associated with public footpaths. 

Southeast 

(Lynsted 

Lane) 

SLA18/055 Land 

at Lynsted Lane 
Yes 

Lynsted Lane is understood to constrained by its problematic junction 

with the A2, which is located in the centre of the village, with the AQMA 

covering that part of the A2 immediately to the east. 

This is understood to be a key issue, with the officers’ report presented 

to the October 8th Local Plan Panel making clear that this is the least 

suitable of the sites judged to be suitable through the SHLAA. 

Southeast 

(Cellar 

Hill) 

SLA18/010 Land 

at Cellar Hill 
Yes 

Cellar Hill is covered by the conservation area, although the officers’ 

report presented to the October 8th Local Plan Panel highlights that there 

could be potential for sensitive development nonetheless.  

SLA18/153 Land 

south of Dover 

Castle Inn, 

A2/Cellarhill 

Yes 

Southwest 

SLA18/116 Land 

South of London 

Road/West of 

Lynsted Lane 

Yes 

Land between Claxfield Road and Lynstead Lane is judged to have 

relatively low landscape sensitivity in the borough-wide context, 

according to the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020); however, 

there is a degree of sensitivity, given views across this land from 

footpaths and Claxfield Road, which is designated as a rural lane.  There 

is also heritage constraint, with a grade 2* listed farmhouse adjacent to 

the west of SLA18/122, and further listed buildings to the south.   

Focusing on adjacent sites 116 and 122, the proposal is to deliver 

modest housing growth abutting the village, with both sites gaining 

access onto Claxfield Road (as opposed to Lynsted Lane).  However, 

there is limited potential to make use of existing field boundaries, hence 

the possibility of further expansion south over time can be foreseen. 

SLA18/122 Land 

at Claxfield Road 

(Site 1) 

Yes 

SLA18/123 Land 

at Claxfield Road 

(Site 2) 

Yes 

Other sites supported by the SHLAA but not discussed in the rows above are committed (SLA18/183, SLA18/190, 

SLA18/213). 

Page 854



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 146 

 

Figure D: Potential growth locations taken forward at Teynham 

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to support an ‘area of 

opportunity’ at Teynham, expected to deliver around 1,100 homes.  As explained in the officers report to the 8th November 

Local Plan Panel: “To maximise opportunities for more comprehensive placemaking, the sites have… been considered as a 

whole with a view to identifying and considering their potential cumulative effect and what infrastructure provision should form 

part of any allocations to support existing and new communities in this location.” 

There is also a need to explore scenarios involving one or more discrete allocations, in place of an area of opportunity, which 

in practice means exploring lower growth scenarios.  On balance, it is suggested that growth to the northeast and southwest 

should be the first port of call; however, this is marginal, as the site to the northwest (Site 18/025) and the two sites to the 

southeast (SLA18/153 and SLA18/010) may also be suitable.  The combined yield of the sites to the northeast and southwest 

is c.350 homes.  This is lower growth scenario 1. 

Additionally, there is the option of nil allocations, given: committed growth; A2 traffic and air quality issues; and few clear 

growth related opportunities short of delivering a bypass.  This is lower growth scenario 2. 

In conclusion, three growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Newington 

Newington is one of six tier four settlements in the Borough.  It benefits from a range of local services and facilities and good 

connectivity to Sittingbourne and the Medway towns by road and rail, although AQMAs are a significant constraint.   

The adopted Local Plan allocates one site to deliver 115 homes.  This is notably fewer than the 410 homes (plus employment 

land) directed to Teynham, which is a similar settlement. 

As a final introductory point, it is important to note that all agricultural land surrounding the village is shown by the nationally 

available (low resolution) dataset to be of grade 1 quality. 

Page 855



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 147 

 

A shortlist of potential growth locations and site options are discussed in Table E, with Figure E presenting a summary in 

respect of those taken forward to the next stage (borough-wide growth scenarios) versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Table E: Potential growth locations and site options at Newington 

Potential growth location 
Supported 

by SHLAA? 
Discussion 

North 

SLA18/075 Land 

at St Mary's View 
Yes 

Land to the north of the railway line is constrained in landscape and 

heritage terms, with the land rising to the north, towards the conservation 

area and grade 1 listed church.  Road accessibility is a constraint, with 

Church Lane a narrow road meeting the A2 within an AQMA.  

SLA18/224 is a western outpost of the very large site originally submitted 

by the promoters of a new garden community at Bobbing; however, there 

has subsequently been no discussion of bringing forward this land.  It 

benefits from being well contained, potentially with limited landscape 

sensitivity, but the Church Lane constraint applies, and there is currently 

no access to the rail station from the north. 

SLA18/224 / 224a 

Land at 

Bobbing111 

Caveated 

support 

Southwest 
SLA18/229 Land 

at Pond Farm 
Yes 

An application for 140 homes (plus a care facility) on this site was 

dismissed at appeal in 2017, primarily on air quality and landscape 

grounds.  However, it is considered appropriate to explore the option of 

allocation through the LPR, given that: air quality is improving (or, at 

least, set to improve); and the Swale Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

(2020) identifies land to the south of Newington as relatively 

unconstrained, in the borough-wide context.  There could also be the 

possibility of delivering an element of planning gain, with the scheme 

dismissed at appeal in 2017 having proposed to make land available for 

a healthcare facility, and noting the village recreation ground adjacent to 

the south.  Latest understanding is that a scheme for around 200 homes 

is being proposed.  This amounts to 15 dwellings per hectare on 

average, suggesting good potential to deliver onsite green infrastructure, 

including in order to buffer the listed building to the northeast of the site. 

Southeast 

SLA18/076 Land 

at Ellen's Place 
Yes 

There could be potential for expansion of the village in this direction, 

noting that the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) identifies land 

south of the A2 as relatively unconstrained, in the borough-wide context.  

Options for strategic expansion can be envisaged, utilising existing 

landscape features and avoiding encroachment on rising ground 

towards Keycol.  However, the two sites in question would represent 

piecemeal growth, and would not relate well to the existing built form.  It 

is not clear that they could be delivered effectively in combination (they 

appear to be separated by a mature hedgerow), hence the western site 

would seemingly require access onto the A2 within the AQMA.  Also, this 

site (SLA18/100) was dismissed on appeal in 2018 on grounds of harm 

to the open, rural character and appearance of the countryside. 

SLA18/100 148 

High Street 
Yes 

Other sites supported by the SHLAA but not discussed in the rows above are committed SLA18/228 (as small site in the 

conservation area) and SLA18/124 (which is committed). 

 
111 The larger site was submitted through the SHLAA and the smaller site as part of subsequent work to explore strategic site options. Page 856



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 148 

 

Figure E: Potential growth locations taken forward at Newington  

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate nil sites.  There is a 

need to explore higher growth scenarios, recognising that Newington is a tier 4 settlement that is well connected by road and 

has a rail station. 

One site option has been identified that is judged to perform relatively well, for the purposes of arriving at growth scenarios, 

namely site18/229, which would deliver around 200 homes.  This is higher growth scenario 1.  The next port of call would 

be land to the southeast, and at least one of the sites in question appears to be subject to limited constraint, but allocation 

would represent piecemeal growth and the site does not relate well to the existing built form of the village. 

In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Eastchurch 

Eastchurch is one of six tier four settlements in the Borough.  It benefits from a range of local services and facilities, but is not 

very well connected to higher order centres, given its location towards the east of the Isle of Sheppey, a limited bus service 

and traffic issues on the island, particularly in the summer tourism season.  The adopted Local Plan allocates one site to 

deliver 15 homes.   

There is only one SHLAA site at Eastchurch, namely SLA18/063 (Land North of Eastchurch).  This is a large site that could 

feasibly more than double the size of the village; however, a smaller scheme is now being promoted, for 65 homes.  Any 

scheme here would not relate very well to the existing village, and would give rise to landscape concerns given topography, 

limited potential landscape features to bound expansion and ‘moderate-high’ landscape sensitivity.  There is also a need to 

consider the setting of the small historic village core, which includes a grade 1 listed church.   

  

Page 857



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 149 

 

Other than land to the north, the only other potential direction of growth would appear to be land to the east, given designated 

local greenspace to the west and the visual prominence of Pump Hill to the south.  However, the large field to the east of the 

village is not available, and also has moderate-high landscape sensitivity, with the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

explaining: “The area east of Eastchurch is particularly sensitive in relation to the setting of the historic area at Shurland.” 

Figure F presents a summary of those taken forward to the next stage versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Figure F: Potential growth locations taken forward at Eastchurch and Leysdown  

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate nil sites.  There are 

limited strategic arguments for allocation at Eastchurch, recognising its relatively isolated location on the Isle of Sheppey; 

however, as a tier 4 settlement there is a need to remain open to the option of allocation, should sites be available and suitable.   

One site option has been identified that is potentially suitable for allocation (for the purposes of arriving at growth scenarios), 

namely site 18/063, which would yield c.65 homes.  This is higher growth scenario 1. 

In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Leysdown 

Leysdown is one of six tier four settlements in the Borough.  It benefits from a range of local services and facilities, but is not 

very well connected to higher order centres, given its location towards the east of the Isle of Sheppey, a limited bus service 

and traffic issues on the island, particularly in the summer tourism season.  Leysdown is heavily associated with tourism, as 

is evident from the extent of holiday parks  (shown on the adopted Local Plan policies map).  The adopted Local Plan allocates 

one site to deliver 10 homes.   

  

Page 858



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 150 

 

Leysdown is of note as its current position in the hierarchy is somewhat marginal; specifically, there is an argument for moving 

Leysdown to tier 5.  On one hand this could indicate a need to restrain growth to a level below that which might otherwise be 

considered appropriate for a tier 4 settlement; however, on the other hand, there is an argument for seeking to support 

investment in the town via housing growth, such that its tier 4 status is reinforced.  The Settlement Hierarchy Study (2020) 

explains: “Leysdown and the surround have a unique tourism offer but otherwise would benefit from more diverse employment 

opportunities, public transport improvements and support for local services.” 

There is only one site at Leysdown supported by the SHLAA, namely SLA18/121 (Seaview Park, Warden Bay Road).  One 

other site is also available, but comprises designated Local Greenspace. 

Focusing on SLA18/121, the site currently comprises a holiday park, such that it includes a strong element of brownfield land.  

A housing scheme would not adjoin an existing settlement boundary, but would occupy a potentially suitable location between  

the existing settlement confines of Leysdown, Warden and Bay View. 

Finally, there is a need to consider the possibility of further housing growth through conversion of park homes (see discussion 

in Table C, above); however, on balance this is not considered to be a reasonable option to take forward. 

Figure F, above, presents a summary of those taken forward to the next stage versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate nil sites.  There are 

limited strategic arguments for allocation at Leysdown, as per Eastchurch; however, there is an argument for housing growth 

in support of village vitality objectives, e.g. with a view to supporting shops and services outside of the tourism season. 

One site option has been identified that is potentially suitable for allocation (for the purposes of arriving at growth scenarios), 

namely site 18/121.  The SHLAA records the yield of this site as 135 homes; however, parts of the site are constrained by 

flood risk, hence it is considered appropriate to assume a lower yield of c.100 homes.  This is higher growth scenario 1. 

In conclusion, two growth scenarios should be taken forward to Section 8. 

Boughton 

Boughton is one of six tier four settlements in the Borough.  It benefits from a range of local services and facilities, and is quite 

well connected by road and bus to Faversham and Canterbury.  It also relates closely to Dunkirk, which is a tier 5 settlement 

a short distance to the east.  However, it is subject to heritage, biodiversity and landscape constraint, with the Landscape 

Sensitivity Assessment (2020) notably finding all four landscape parcels surrounding the village to have ‘high’ sensitivity.  The 

adopted Local Plan allocates three sites to deliver 37 homes.   

The SHLAA supports two sites, one of which (SLA18/150, the Former Garden Hotel) is now proposed for allocation (20 

homes).  The site falls within the conservation area and includes a grade 2 listed building, with several others in close proximity; 

however, the site includes an element of brownfield land, and there is understood to be good potential to bring forward a 

scheme that is sympathetic to the clear heritage sensitivities.  Also, as noted by the SHLAA, there is a history of unimplemented 

planning permissions. 

The other site supported by the SHLAA - 18/085 (Land Rear of 142-146 The Street) – also includes an element of brownfield 

land, but is considered to be notably less suitable, given the landscape and heritage sensitives (noting the location of public 

rights of way), and question-marks regarding safe vehicular access.  It is also important to note that a Neighbourhood Plan is 

in preparation, which could consider allocation of this site. 

Of the sites not supported by the SHLAA, SLA18/082 (Land North of The Street/Canterbury Road) is of note as a larger site, 

where development could serve to round-off the built form.  However, the site is sensitive in landscape terms noting reference 

in the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (2020) to “a strongly rural and scenic backdrop and immediate setting to Boughton, 

which is apparent in views from… Boughton Street, with rolling orchards adjoining these routes”.  The site is also visible from 

Staple Street, which is a route leading to Staplestreet Conservation Area and Mount Ephraim (house and gardens), which is 

grade 2 listed on the national register of parks and gardens, and a visitor destination.  It is also noted that the conservation 

area extends south to include an oast house located a short distance from the northern edge of the site, and seemingly visible 

across the site. 

Figure G presents a summary of those taken forward to the next stage versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Page 859



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 151 

 

Figure G: Potential growth locations taken forward at Boughton 

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario is to allocate one site for 20 homes.  This  site that is quite firmly supported, hence 

there is no reasonable need to explore scenarios involving non-allocation of this site.   

As for possible higher growth scenarios, there is only one site highlighted by the SHLAA as potentially in contention; however, 

on balance it is not considered appropriate to explore a higher growth option involving additional allocation of this site given 

that: there are limited strategic arguments for growth at Boughton; a Neighbourhood Plan is in preparation (which could 

consider allocation of this site); and there are question-marks regarding the site in landscape, heritage and access terms. 

In conclusion, one growth scenario should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Iwade 

Iwade is one of six tier four settlements in the Borough.  It benefits from a range of local services and facilities, and is quite 

well connected by road, bus and cycle routes to Sittingbourne.   

Iwade has undergone major expansion over the past 20 years with significant further development planned through existing 

unimplemented allocations.  Another important consideration is the Grovehurst junction to the A249, where committed 

improvements are only likely to support the level of development that is currently planned. 

The SHLAA supports three sites, including a large site to the southwest of the village.  However, there are strong strategic 

arguments for not directing further growth to Iwade at the current time, given the scale of committed growth.  Also, there is a 

need to consider the possibility of strategic planning for growth to the south of Iwade in combination with growth at Bobbing. 

Figure G presents a summary of those taken forward to the next stage versus those ruled out at this stage. 

Page 860



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 152 

 

Figure H: Potential growth locations taken forward at Iwade 

 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate nil sites.  Three sites 

at Iwade are identified as potentially suitable for allocation by the SHLAA; however, there is considered to be a strong case 

for non-allocation at Iwade through the LPR, on the basis that Iwade is set to see significant growth through committed sites. 

In conclusion, one growth scenario should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Tier 5 settlements and the rural area 

There are arguments for supporting growth at villages, with a view to meeting locally arising housing needs and supporting 

village vitality; however, tier 5 and smaller villages are suited to only modest growth, such that Neighbourhood Plans are well 

placed to allocate sites.  Whilst interest in Neighbourhood Planning amongst parish councils in the Borough is currently limited, 

there is a good chance that Neighbourhood Plans will come forward in the plan period to deliver housing in rural areas. 

A number of tier 5 settlements have already been discussed above, including Borden and Bapchild, which are associated with 

Sittingbourne.  Of the remaining tier 5 settlements, the Settlement Hierarchy Study (2020) serves to highlight the range of 

services and facilities available locally varies considerably, with a relatively good offer at: 

• Bredgar – notable for being associated with three large available sites (3 to 7 ha); however, all sites at Bredgar are judged 

to be unsuitable by the SHLAA, including because Bredgar is located within the AONB. 

• Selling – there are two adjacent small sites, which seemingly could be delivered in combination; however, both are judged 

to be unsuitable by the SHLAA, including because Selling is located within the AONB. 

• Upchurch – has comfortably the best offer of local services and facilities of the tier 5 settlements, plus there is a (limited) 

bus service, including to nearby (c.4km) Rainham Station.  The SHLAA supports one site - SLA18/119 (Land at Long Field) 

– however, the site does not relate very well to the built form of the village, and a footpath crosses the site. 

  

Page 861



SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 153 

 

The next port of call is SLA18/154 (Lamberhurst Farm), as this is a large site judged to be suitable by the SHLAA.  Located 

on the border with Canterbury, it is now proposed as an employment allocation, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October; 

however, it is being promoted as a mixed use scheme involving 300 homes.  It is noted that there was some support for a 

mixed use scheme at the 8th October Local Plan Panel meeting; however, on balance this option is not taken forward.  The 

site sits in a gap between locally important landscapes, and there is potentially an opportunity to deliver community 

infrastructure to the benefit of Dargatem, Highstreet and Yorkletts (there is notably no primary school in this area); however, 

a 300 home scheme would not be likely to deliver new community infrastructure of any significance.  Also, the site is adjacent 

to common land (Victory Wood, a Woodland Trust nature reserve) and in close proximity to the Blean Woodlands SAC. 

There is only one other site in the rural area judged to be suitable through the SHLAA, namely SLA18/161 (Plough Leisure 

Caravan Park), which is located adjacent to the recent Kingsborough Manor development, between Minster and Eastchurch 

(see Figure C, above); however, this site is being promoted for park homes, i.e. a specific consideration not suited to being 

explored through the appraisal of growth scenarios. 

Having considered all of the better served tier 5 settlements, and all of the sites supported by the SHLAA, the next port of call 

is Neames Forstal (see Figure B, above).  This is because the village benefits from a rail station; however, the offer of local 

services and facilities is very limited, and the western edge of the village falls within the AONB.  Three adjacent sites are being 

promoted for a combined scheme, which would also deliver a new footpath link to Selling (c. 1.5km to the west), where there 

is a primary school and other facilities.  The SHLAA judges these sites to be unsuitable, including due to the AONB constraint; 

however, the emerging proposal, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to deliver a combined scheme of 90 homes 

that responds to the AONB constraint.  As explained within the officers report to the 8th November Local Plan Panel, the two 

sites adjacent to the AONB are not considered likely to contribute significantly to the setting of the AONB, whilst the site within 

the AONB would only be developed in part, so as to round-off the village edge.  

Finally, there is a need to note SLA18/156 (Foresters Lodge Farm).  A new settlement is being promoted (see 

www.winterbournefields.com), however, the site is constrained in a number of respects, perhaps most notably in terms of 

landscape and biodiversity, as discussed within the officers’ report to the 8th October Local Plan Panel. 

Conclusion 

The emerging preferred growth scenario, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, is to allocate three adjacent sites 

at Neames Forstal to deliver 90 homes in total.  These sites were not supported by the SHLAA, and there remain question-

marks regarding suitability for allocation; however, there would be relatively little to be gained through exploring non-allocation 

further through the appraisal of borough-wide growth scenarios.  As such, and on balance, there is not considered to be a 

reasonable need to take forward scenarios involving non-allocation of any of these sites. 

With regards to higher growth scenarios, attention focuses on the possibility of additionally allocating one of the sites identified 

as potentially suitable for allocation by the SHLAA.112  However, on balance, it is not considered appropriate to explore a 

higher growth scenario involving additional allocation of one or more of these sites, given that: there are limited strategic 

arguments for growth at any of the lower order settlements in question; there are question-marks regarding the suitability of 

certain of these sites; and there is the potential to allocate sites at lower order settlements through Neighbourhood Plans. 

Finally, there is a need to give special mention to site 18/154 (Lamberhurst Farm), which is proposed as an employment 

allocation, following the Cabinet decision of 28th October, but which is being promoted as a mixed use scheme involving 300 

homes.  It is noted that there was some support for a mixed use scheme at the 8th October meeting; however, on balance it 

is not considered necessary or appropriate to take forward the option of a mixed-use scheme to Section 8. 

In conclusion, one growth scenario should be taken forward to Section 8 of the main report. 

Conclusion on sub-area scenarios 

Figure I presents a summary of those sites that feature in the sub-area scenarios and are therefore ‘taken forward’ to borough-

wide reasonable growth scenarios.  Table F presents a summary of the sub-area scenarios. 

In summary, the decision was to take forward the emerging preferred scenario plus: 

• one or more higher growth scenarios for Sittingbourne, Newington, Eastchurch and Leysdown; and 

• one or more lower growth scenarios for Faversham, West Sheppey and Teynham. 

  

 
112 In summary, SHLAA suitable sites in the rural area are found at: Bobbing (discussed under Sittingbourne), Bapchild (discussed under 
Sittingbourne), Borden (discussed under Sittingbourne), Kinsborough Manor (Sheppey), Lamberhurst Farm and Upchurch. Page 862

http://winterbournefields.com/


SA of the Swale Local Plan Review  Interim SA Report 

 

 
Appendices 154 

 

Figure I: Summary of sites taken forward to borough-wide reasonable growth scenarios 

 

Table F: Summary of sub-area scenarios (number of homes; emerging preferred scenario in bold) 

Sub-area Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 

Sittingbourne 850 1,350 3,350 

Faversham 1,000 3,400 - 

West Sheppey 0 650 850 

Teynham 0 350 1,100 

Newington 0 200 - 

Eastchurch 0 65 - 

Leysdown 0 100 - 

Boughton 20 - - 

Iwade 0 - - 

Tier 5 settlements 90 - - 
 

Page 863



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Swale Borough Council Local 
Plan 

 
Habitats Regulations Assessment 
 
 
 
 
  

  

 

 

January 2021 

 

   

Page 865



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 
 

Quality information 

Prepared by  Checked by  Verified by  Approved by 

 

 

      

Isla Hoffmann Heap 
Senior Ecologist 

 Dr James Riley 

Technical Director 

 Dr Max Wade 

Technical Director 

 Dr James Riley 

Technical Director 

 

 
Revision History 

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

0 15/01/21 Draft JR James Riley Technical 
Director 

      

      

      

 
 
Distribution List 

# Hard Copies  PDF Required Association / Company Name 

   

   

   

   

 
  

Page 866



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 
 

 

Prepared by: 

    
 
AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited 
Midpoint, Alencon Link 
Basingstoke 
Hampshire RG21 7PP 
United Kingdom 
 
T: +44(0)1256 310200 
aecom.com 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 
© 2021 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.   

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of our 
client (the “Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the 
budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. 
Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been 
checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. 
No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written 
agreement of AECOM. 

  

Page 867



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 
 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction ............................................................................. 7 

Background ................................................................................................................ 7 

Legislative Context ..................................................................................................... 7 

Scope of the Project ................................................................................................... 8 

The Layout of this Report ........................................................................................... 9 

Quality Assurance ...................................................................................................... 9 

2. Methodology ......................................................................... 10 

Introduction .............................................................................................................. 10 

Description of HRA Tasks ......................................................................................... 10 

HRA Task 1 – Likely Significant Effects (LSE) .......................................................... 10 

HRA Task 2 – Appropriate Assessment (AA) ............................................................. 11 

HRA Task 3 – Avoidance and Mitigation .................................................................... 11 

Geographical Scope of the HRA .............................................................................. 12 

The ‘in combination’ scope ....................................................................................... 12 

Plans ........................................................................................................................ 12 

3. Pathways of Impact ............................................................... 14 

Introduction .............................................................................................................. 14 

Recreational Pressure .............................................................................................. 14 

Bird Disturbance Study ............................................................................................. 16 

North Kent Visitor Survey ......................................................................................... 17 

Functionally Linked Land .......................................................................................... 17 

Visual and Noise Disturbance .................................................................................. 19 

Atmospheric Pollution ............................................................................................... 21 

Local Air Pollution ..................................................................................................... 24 

Water Resources ...................................................................................................... 26 

Water Quality ............................................................................................................ 27 

Coastal Squeeze ...................................................................................................... 28 

4. Test of Likely Significant Effects ............................................ 29 

Introduction .............................................................................................................. 29 

Discussion ................................................................................................................ 29 

The Swale SPA/Ramsar and Medway Estuary & Marshes SPA/Ramsar ................. 29 

Recreational Pressure .............................................................................................. 29 

Functionally Linked Land and Visual and Noise Disturbance ................................... 30 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 31 

Water Quality ............................................................................................................ 32 

Coastal Squeeze ...................................................................................................... 33 

Queendown Warren SAC ......................................................................................... 34 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 34 

Blean Complex SAC................................................................................................. 34 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 34 

North Downs Woodlands SAC ................................................................................. 35 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 35 

Page 868



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 
 

5. Appropriate Assessment ....................................................... 36 

The Swale SPA/Ramsar and Medway Estuary & Marshes SPA/Ramsar ................. 36 

Recreational Pressure .............................................................................................. 36 

Functionally Linked Land and Visual and Noise Disturbance ................................... 37 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 41 

Coastal Squeeze ...................................................................................................... 45 

North Downs Woodlands SAC ................................................................................. 45 

Air Quality ................................................................................................................. 45 

6. Conclusions and a Summary of Recommendations and 
Considerations ............................................................................... 47 

Conclusions .............................................................................................................. 47 

Appendix A Internationally Designated Sites ................................. 50 

Figure A1: Location of Internationally Designated Sites ........................................... 50 

The Swale SPA and Ramsar Site ............................................................................. 51 

Reason for Designation ............................................................................................ 51 

Conservation Objectives of the SPA ......................................................................... 52 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures .................................................................... 53 

Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar Site .............................................. 53 

Reason for Designation ............................................................................................ 53 

Conservation Objectives of the SPA ......................................................................... 54 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures .................................................................... 54 

The Outer Thames Estuary SPA .............................................................................. 54 

Reason for Designation ............................................................................................ 54 

Conservation Objectives .......................................................................................... 55 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures .................................................................... 55 

Queendown Warren SAC ......................................................................................... 55 

Reason for Designation ............................................................................................ 55 

Conservation Objectives .......................................................................................... 55 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures .................................................................... 56 

The Blean Complex SAC ......................................................................................... 56 

Reason for Designation ............................................................................................ 56 

Conservation Objectives .......................................................................................... 56 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures .................................................................... 56 

North Downs Woodlands SAC ................................................................................. 56 

Reason for Designation ............................................................................................ 56 

Conservation Objectives .......................................................................................... 57 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures .................................................................... 57 

Appendix B Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Policy .... 58 

Appendix C Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Site 
Allocations ..................................................................................... 73 

Appendix D Air Quality Data (provided by SWECO) ...................... 86 

 

Page 869



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
 
 

Figures 

Figure 1: The legislative basis for Appropriate Assessment ....................................... 8 

Figure 2. Four Stage Approach to Habitats Regulations Assessment. Source 
EC, 2001. ................................................................................................................. 10 

Figure 3Traffic contribution to concentrations of pollutants at different distances from 
a road (Source: DfT) ................................................................................................. 24 

Figure 4 Areas of water stress within England ......................................................... 26 

 

Tables 

Table 1 Physical scope of the HRA .......................................................................... 12 

Table 2. Habitat Preferences and Diet of Bird Features of the Medway Estuary and 
Marshes SPA / Ramsar and The Swale Estuary SPA / Ramsar Sites ...................... 18 

Table 3 Main sources and effects of air pollutants on habitats and species ............. 22 

Table 4 Potential Linking Impact Pathways Linking the Plan to an International 
Designated Site ........................................................................................................ 29 

Table 5 Summary of the Key Air Quality Data for the closest part of the international 
site to the modelled road for each modelled transect ............................................... 43 

Table 8 Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Policy ..................................... 58 

Table 9: Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Site Allocations ...................... 74 

 

Page 870



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
7 
 

1. Introduction 

Background 
1.1 Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 

amended), an Appropriate Assessment is required where a plan or project is 
likely to have a significant effect upon an internationally designated wildlife site, 
either individually or ‘in combination’ with other projects or plans.  

1.2 AECOM was appointed by Swale Borough Council to undertake a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment of The Swale Local Plan Review (Regulation 19) 
February 2021 (hereafter referred to as the ‘Plan’). The objective of this 
assessment was to identify any aspects of the Plan that would cause an 
adverse effect on the integrity of internationally designated sites that are part of 
the Bern Convention Emerald Network. These are Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs), Special Protection Areas (SPAs), candidate Special 
Areas of Conservation (cSACs), potential Special Protection Areas (pSPAs) 
and Ramsar sites, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects, 
and to advise on appropriate policy mechanisms for delivering mitigation where 
such effects were identified.  

Legislative Context  

1.3 The UK left the EU on 31 January 2020 under the terms set out in the 
European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020 (“the Withdrawal Act”). This 
established a transition period, which ended on 31 December 2020. During this 
transition period, the Withdrawal Act retained the body of existing EU-derived 
law within our domestic law. During the transition period EU law applied in the 
UK. From 1 January 2021, the UK is no longer a member of the European 
Union. However, Habitats Regulations Assessment will continue as set out in 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 
20191.  

1.4 The need for Appropriate Assessment (Figure 1) is set out in the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended).  

1.5 The HRA process applies the ‘Precautionary Principle’2 to international sites. 
Plans and projects can only be permitted having ascertained that there will be 
no adverse effect on the integrity of the international site(s) in question. Plans 
and projects with predicted adverse impacts on international; sites may still be 
permitted if there are no alternatives to them and there are Imperative Reasons 
of Overriding Public Interest (IROPI) as to why they should go ahead. In such 
cases, compensation would be necessary to ensure the overall integrity of the 
site network.  

 
1 these don’t replace the 2017 Regulations but are just another set of amendments 
2 The Precautionary Principle, which is referenced in Article 191 of the Treaty on the Functioning of 
the European Union, has been defined by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 
Organisation (UNESCO, 2005) as: “When human activities may lead to morally unacceptable harm [to 
the environment] that is scientifically plausible but uncertain, actions shall be taken to avoid or 
diminish that harm. The judgement of plausibility should be grounded in scientific analysis”. 

Page 871



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
8 
 

1.6 In order to ascertain whether or not site integrity will be affected, an Appropriate 
Assessment should be undertaken of the plan or project in question: 

Figure 1: The legislative basis for Appropriate Assessment 

 
1.7 Over time the phrase ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ (HRA) has come into 

wide currency to describe the overall process set out in the Habitats Directive 
from screening through to IROPI. This has arisen in order to distinguish the 
process from the individual stage described in the law as an ‘Appropriate 
Assessment’.  

1.8 In spring 2018 the ‘Sweetman’ European Court of Justice ruling3 clarified that 
‘mitigation’ (i.e. measures that are specifically introduced to avoid or reduce a 
harmful effect on a international site that would otherwise arise) should not be 
taken into account when forming a view on likely significant effects. Mitigation 
should instead only be considered at the Appropriate Assessment stage. This 
HRA has been cognisant of that ruling. 

Scope of the Project 
1.9 There is no guidance that dictates the physical scope of an HRA of a Plan 

document in all circumstances. Therefore, in considering the physical scope of 
the assessment, we were guided primarily by the identified impact pathways 
(called the source-pathway-receptor model) rather than by arbitrary ‘zones’. 
Current guidance suggests that the following international sites be included in 
the scope of assessment: 

• All sites within the boundary of Swale Borough; and, 

• Other sites shown to be linked to development within the authority 
boundary through a known impact ‘pathway’ (discussed below). 

1.10 Briefly defined, impact pathways are routes by which the implementation of a 
policy within a Local Plan document can lead to an effect upon an 
internationally designated site. An example of this would be new residential 
development resulting in an increased population and thus increased 
recreational pressure, which could then affect international sites by, for 
example, disturbance of wintering or breeding birds.  

1.11 Guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) states that the HRA should be ‘proportionate to the geographical 
scope of the [plan policy]’ and that ‘an AA need not be done in any more detail, 

 
3 People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (C-323/17) 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) 
 

The Regulations state that: 
“A competent authority, before deciding to … give any consent for a plan 
or project which is likely to have a significant effect on a European site … 
shall make an appropriate assessment of the implications for the site in 
view of that sites conservation objectives… The authority shall agree to 
the plan or project only after having ascertained that it will not adversely 
affect the integrity of the European site”. 

Page 872



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
9 
 

or using more resources, than is useful for its purpose’ (MHCLG, 2006, p.6). 
More recently, the Court of Appeal ruled that providing the Council (competent 
authority) was duly satisfied that proposed mitigation could be ‘achieved in 
practice’ to satisfy that the proposed development would have no adverse 
effect, then this would suffice. This ruling has since been applied to a planning 
permission (rather than a Core Strategy document). In this case the High Court 
ruled that for ‘a multistage process, so long as there is sufficient information at 
any particular stage to enable the authority to be satisfied that the proposed 
mitigation can be achieved in practice it is not necessary for all matters 
concerning mitigation to be fully resolved before a decision maker is able to 
conclude that a development will satisfy the requirements of Reg 61 of the 
Habitats Regulations’. 

The Layout of this Report 
1.12 Chapter 2 of this report explains the methodology by which this HRA has been 

carried out, including the three essential tasks that form part of HRA. Chapter 3 
provides detailed background on the main impact pathways identified in relation 
to the Local Plan and the relevant international sites (see Appendix A for detail 
on the international sites). Chapter 4 undertakes the screening assessment of 
Likely Significant Effects (LSEs) of the Plan’s policies (see Appendix B for the 
screening tables of Plan policies and Appendix C for the screening tables of 
the Plan’s site allocations). The Appropriate Assessment is undertaken in 
Chapter 5. The conclusions arising from the HRA process so far are provided 
in Chapter 6. 

Quality Assurance 
1.13 This report was undertaken in line with AECOM’s Integrated Management 

System (IMS). Our IMS places great emphasis on professionalism, technical 
excellence, quality, environmental and Health and Safety management. All staff 
members are committed to establishing and maintaining our certification to the 
international standards BS EN ISO 9001:2008 and 14001:2004 and BS 
OHSAS 18001:2007. In addition, our IMS requires careful selection and 
monitoring of the performance of all sub-consultants and contractors.  

1.14 All AECOM Ecologists working on this project are members (at the appropriate 
level) of the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management 
(CIEEM) and follow their code of professional conduct (CIEEM, 2017). 

 

Page 873



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
10 

 

2. Methodology 

Introduction 
2.1 The HRA has been carried out with reference to the general EC guidance on 

HRA4; Natural England has produced its own internal guidance5. These have 
been referred to in undertaking this HRA. 

2.2 Figure 2 below outlines the stages of HRA according to current EC guidance. 
The stages are essentially iterative, being revisited as necessary in response to 
more detailed information, recommendations and any relevant changes to the 
plan until no significant adverse effects remain. 

 

Figure 2. Four Stage Approach to Habitats Regulations Assessment. Source EC, 2001. 

Description of HRA Tasks 

HRA Task 1 – Likely Significant Effects (LSE) 

2.3 Following evidence gathering, the first stage of any Habitats Regulations 
Assessment is a Likely Significant Effect (LSE) test - essentially a risk 
assessment to decide whether the full subsequent stage known as Appropriate 
Assessment is required. The essential question is: 

”Is the project, either alone or in combination with other relevant projects and 
plans, likely to result in a significant effect upon European sites?” 

2.4 The objective is to ‘screen out’ those plans and projects that can, without any 
detailed appraisal, be concluded to be unlikely to result in significant adverse 

 
4 European Commission (2001): Assessment of plans and projects significantly affecting Natura 2000 
Sites: Methodological Guidance on the Provisions of Article 6(3) and 6(4) of the Habitats Directive. 
5 http://www.ukmpas.org/pdf/practical_guidance/HRGN1.pdf 

Page 874



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
11 

 

effects upon international sites, usually because there is no mechanism for an 
adverse interaction. This stage is undertaken in Appendix B and Appendix C 
of this report and summarised and discussed in Chapter. 

HRA Task 2 – Appropriate Assessment (AA) 

2.5 Where it is determined that a conclusion of ‘no Likely Significant Effect’ cannot 
be drawn, the analysis has proceeded to the next stage of HRA known as 
Appropriate Assessment. Case law has clarified that ‘Appropriate Assessment’ 
is not a technical term. In other words, there are no particular technical 
analyses, or level of technical analysis, that are classified by law as belonging 
to appropriate assessment rather than determination of likely significant effects.  

2.6 By virtue of the fact that it follows the screening process, there is a clear 
implication that the analysis will be more detailed than undertaken at the 
previous stage. One of the key considerations during Appropriate Assessment 
is whether there is available mitigation that would entirely address the potential 
effect. In practice, the Appropriate Assessment would take any policies or 
allocations that could not be dismissed following the high-level screening 
analysis and assess the potential for an effect in more detail, with a view to 
concluding whether there would actually be an adverse effect on site integrity 
(in other words, disruption of the coherent structure and function of the 
international site(s)). 

2.7 Also, in 2018 the Holohan ruling6 was handed down by the European Court of 
Justice. Among other provisions paragraph 39 of the ruling states that ‘As 
regards other habitat types or species, which are present on the site, but for 
which that site has not been listed, and with respect to habitat types and 
species located outside that site, … typical habitats or species must be 
included in the appropriate assessment, if they are necessary to the 
conservation of the habitat types and species listed for the protected area’ 
[emphasis added]. This has been considered in relation to The Swale and 
Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar sites which supports mobile 
bird species. 

HRA Task 3 – Avoidance and Mitigation 

2.8 Where necessary, measures are recommended for incorporation into the Plan 
in order to avoid or mitigate adverse effects on international sites. There is 
considerable precedent concerning the level of detail that a Local Plan 
document needs to contain regarding mitigation for recreational impacts on 
international sites.  The implication of this precedent is that it is not necessary 
for all measures that will be deployed to be fully developed prior to adoption of 
the Plan, but the Plan must provide an adequate policy framework within which 
these measures can be delivered. 

2.9 In evaluating significance, AECOM has relied on professional judgement as 
well as the results of previous stakeholder consultation regarding development 
impacts on the international sites considered within this assessment, and 
bespoke assessments (such as traffic modelling and air quality modelling).  

 
6 Case C-461/17 

Page 875



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
12 

 

2.10 When discussing ‘mitigation’ for a Local Plan document, one is concerned 
primarily with the policy framework to enable the delivery of such mitigation 
rather than the details of the mitigation measures themselves since the Local 
Plan document is a high-level policy document.  

Geographical Scope of the HRA 
2.11 There are no standard criteria for determining the ultimate physical scope of an 

HRA. Rather, the source-pathway-receptor model should be used to determine 
whether there is any potential pathway connecting development to any 
international sites. In the case of Swale Borough, it was determined that for the 
initial coarse screen the following international Sites required consideration: 

Table 1 Physical scope of the HRA 

International Site Reason for inclusion 

The Swale SPA/Ramsar Within the Swale Borough boundary 

Medway Estuary & 
Marshes SPA/Ramsar 

Within the Swale Borough boundary 

Queendown Warren SAC Within the Swale Borough boundary 

Blean Complex SAC Partially within the Swale Borough boundary 

Outer Thames Estuary 
SPA 

Immediately adjacent to the Swale Borough boundary 

North Downs 
Woodlands SAC 

Located 3.6km south west of the Swale Borough 
Boundary  

 

2.12 This was based upon a search of surrounding international sites and based on 
the vulnerabilities of the interest features of the international sites. All the above 
sites were subjected to the initial screening exercise. It should be noted that the 
presence of a conceivable pathway linking the Borough to an international site 
does not mean that likely significant effects will occur. 

The ‘in combination’ scope 
2.13 It is a requirement of the Regulations that the impacts and effects of any land 

use plan being assessed are not considered in isolation but in combination with 
other plans and projects that may also be affecting the international site(s) in 
question. In practice, ‘in combination assessment’ is of greatest importance 
when the Local Plan would otherwise be screened out because the individual 
contribution is inconsequential. It is neither practical nor necessary to assess 
the ‘in combination’ effects of the Local Plan within the context of all other plans 
and projects within the region. The principal other plans and projects that we 
are considering are: 

Plans 

• South East Water – adopted Water Resources Management Plan, 2019.  

Page 876



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
13 

 

• Medway Local Plan 2003. It is noted that Medway plan to publish a draft 
Local Plan (2019-2027) in 2021 – however no detail is available.  

• Canterbury Local Plan (to 2031), Adopted 2017. 

• Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, Site Allocations and a 
Development Management Policies Document Regulation 18 (December 
2020). 

• Ashford Local Plan 2030, adopted February 2019 

• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, adopted September 2020. 

• Kent Local Transport Plan (LTP4): Delivering Growth without Gridlock 
(2016-2031); 

• Environment Agency and Defra - River Basin Management Plan Thames 
River Basin District, December 2009. 

2.14 It should be noted that, while the broad potential impacts of these other projects 
and plans has been considered, we have not carried out full HRA on each of 
these plans – we have however drawn upon existing HRAs that have been 
carried out for surrounding authorities and plans.  

2.15 Within this document, each Policy and allocated site within the Local Plan is 
subjected to HRA screening and is summarised in Appendix B and C 
respectively. Likely Significant Effects are then scrutinised in more detail in the 
main body of the report. 

  

Page 877



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
14 

 

3. Pathways of Impact 

Introduction 
3.1 The following impact pathways are considered relevant to the Swale Borough 

Local Plan:  

• Recreational Pressure 

• Atmospheric Pollution 

• Water Resources 

• Water Quality 

• Functionally Linked Land 

• Visual and Noise Disturbance 

• Coastal Squeeze 

3.2 In carrying out an HRA it is important to avoid confining oneself to effectively 
arbitrary boundaries (such as Local Authority boundaries) but to use an 
understanding of the various ways in which Land Use Plans can impact on 
international sites to follow the pathways along which development can be 
connected with international sites, in some cases many kilometres distant. 
Briefly defined, pathways are routes by which a change in activity associated 
with a development can lead to an effect upon an international site.  It is also 
important to bear in mind CLG guidance which states that the AA should be 
‘proportionate to the geographical scope of the [plan policy]’ and that ‘an AA 
need not be done in any more detail, or using more resources, than is useful for 
its purpose’ (CLG, 2006, p.67). 

3.3 The following pathways of impact were considered relevant to the HRA of the 
Swale Borough Local Plan. 

Recreational Pressure 

3.4 Potentially damaging levels of recreational pressure are already faced by many 
international sites.  Recreational use of a site has the potential to: 

• Cause disturbance to sensitive species such as wintering wildfowl; 

• Prevent appropriate management or exacerbate existing management 
difficulties; 

• Cause damage through erosion, trampling and fragmentation; and 

• Cause eutrophication as a result of dog fouling. 

3.5 Different types of international sites (e.g. coastal, heathland, chalk grassland) 
are subject to different types of recreational pressures and have different 

 
7 Department for Communities and Local Government. 2006.  Planning for the Protection of European Sites:  
Appropriate Assessment.  http://www.communities.gov.uk/index.asp?id=1502244 

Page 878

http://www.communities.gov.uk/index.asp?id=1502244


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
15 

 

vulnerabilities. Studies across a range of species have shown that the effects 
from recreation can be complex. 

3.6 Disturbance effects for birds can have an adverse effect in various ways, with 
increased nest predation by natural predators as a result of adults being 
flushed from the nest and deterred from returning to it by the presence of 
people and dogs likely to be a particular problem.  A literature review on the 
effects of human disturbance on bird breeding found that 36 out of 40 studies 
reported reduced breeding success as a consequence of disturbance8.  The 
main reasons given for the reduction in breeding success were nest 
abandonment and increased predation of eggs or young.  Over years, studies 
of other species have shown that birds nest at lower densities in disturbed 
areas, particularly when there is weekday as well as weekend pressure9. 

3.7 Studies have shown that birds are affected more by dogs and people with dogs 
than by people alone, with birds flushing more readily, more frequently, at 
greater distances and for longer (Underhill-Day, 2005).  In addition, dogs, rather 
than people, tend to be the cause of many management difficulties, notably by 
worrying grazing animals, and can cause eutrophication near paths.  Nutrient-
poor habitats are particularly sensitive to the fertilising effect of inputs of 
phosphates, nitrogen and potassium from dog faeces10. 

3.8 Underhill-Day (2005) summarises the results of visitor studies that have 
collected data on the use of semi-natural habitat by dogs.  In surveys where 
100 observations or more were reported, the mean percentage of visitors who 
were accompanied by dogs was 54.0%. 

3.9 However, these studies need to be treated with care.  For instance, the effect of 
disturbance is not necessarily correlated with the impact of disturbance, i.e. the 
most easily disturbed species are not necessarily those that will suffer the 
greatest impacts.  It has been shown that, in some cases, the most easily 
disturbed birds simply move to other feeding sites, whilst others may remain 
(possibly due to an absence of alternative sites) and thus suffer greater impacts 
on their population11.  A recent literature review undertaken for the RSPB12 also 
urges caution when extrapolating the results of one disturbance study because 
responses differ between species and the response of one species may differ 
according to local environmental conditions. These facts have to be taken into 
account when attempting to predict the impacts of future recreational pressure 
on international sites. 

3.10 It should be emphasised that recreational use is not inevitably a problem.  
Many international sites are also National Nature Reserves or nature reserves 
managed by Wildlife Trusts and the RSPB.  At these sites, access is 

 
8 Hockin, D., M. Oundsted, M. Gorman, D. Hill, V. Keller and M.A. Barker (1992) – Examination of the effects of 
disturbance on birds with reference to its importance in ecological assessments.  Journal of Environmental 
Management, 36, 253-286. 
9 Van der Zande, A.N., J.C. Berkhuizen, H.C. van Letesteijn, W.J. ter Keurs and A.J. Poppelaars (1984) – Impact 
of outdoor recreation on the density of a number of breeding bird species in woods adjacent to urban residential 
areas.  Biological Conservation, 30, 1-39. 
10 Shaw, P.J.A., K. Lankey and S.A. Hollingham (1995) – Impacts of trampling and dog fouling on vegetation and 
soil conditions on Headley Heath.  The London Naturalist, 74, 77-82. 
11 Gill et al.  (2001) - Why behavioural responses may not reflect the population consequences of human 
disturbance.  Biological Conservation, 97, 265-268 
12 Woodfield & Langston (2004) - Literature review on the impact on bird population of disturbance due to human 
access on foot.  RSPB research report No. 9. 

Page 879



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
16 

 

encouraged and resources are available to ensure that recreational use is 
managed appropriately.   

3.11 Where increased recreational use is predicted to cause adverse impacts on a 
site, avoidance and mitigation should be considered.  Avoidance of recreational 
impacts at international sites involves location of new development away from 
such sites; Local Plans (and other strategic plans) provide the mechanism for 
this.  Where avoidance is not possible, mitigation will usually involve a mix of 
access management, habitat management and provision of alternative 
recreational space: 

• Access management – restricting access to some or all of a international 
site - is not usually within the remit of the Council and restriction of 
access may contravene a range of Government policies on access to 
open space, and Government objectives for increasing exercise, 
improving health etc.  However, active management of access is 
possible, for example as practised on nature reserves.  

• Habitat management is not within the direct remit of the Council.  
However, the Council can help to set a framework for improved habitat 
management by promoting cross-authority collaboration and S106 
funding of habitat management.  In the case of Swale Borough, 
opportunities for this are limited since, according to Natural England, the 
majority of The Swale component SSSI units are in favourable condition. 

• Provision of alternative recreational space can help to attract 
recreational users away from sensitive international sites and reduce 
additional pressure on them.  Some species for which international sites 
have been designated are particularly sensitive to dogs, and many dog 
walkers may be happy to be diverted to other, less sensitive, sites.  
However, the location and type of alternative space must be attractive for 
users to be effective. 

Bird Disturbance Study 

3.12 A study was undertaken in 2010/2011 by Footprint Ecology13, who looked at 
bird disturbance in North Kent.  The study focused on recreational disturbance 
to wintering waterfowl on intertidal habitats and focused on part of the North 
Kent shoreline, stretching between Gravesend and Whitstable; encompassing 
three SPAs: the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA, the Medway Estuary and 
Marshes SPA and the Swale SPA. The key findings of the study are as follows: 

3.13 From 1,400 events (records of visitors in the bird survey areas) occurring within 
200m of the birds, 3,248 species specific observations were noted of which: 

• 74% resulted in no response. 

• 13% resulted in a major flight. 

• 5% resulted in a short flight. 

• 5% resulted in a short walk. 

• 3% resulted in an alert. 

 
13 D. Liley & H. Fearnley (Footprint Ecology), 2011. Bird Disturbance Study North Kent. 

Page 880



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
17 

 

3.14 Dog walking accounted for 55% of all major flight observations with a further 
15% attributed to walkers without dogs.  After controlling for distance, major 
flights were more likely to occur when activities took place on the intertidal zone 
(compared to events on the water or events on the shore), when dogs were 
present, and the probability of major flight increased with the number of dogs 
present within a group. 

3.15 There were significant differences between species with curlew Numenius 
arquata the species with the highest probability of major flight and teal and 
black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa the lowest. 

3.16 Tide state was also significant with major flights more likely at high tide, after 
controlling for distance. There was also a significant interaction between 
distance and tide, indicating that the way in which birds responded varied 
according to tide. 

North Kent Visitor Survey 

3.17 A visitor survey was undertaken at the same time as the aforementioned bird 
survey by Footprint Ecology14.  The key findings of the survey are as follows: 

3.18 542 groups of visitors were interviewed representing information from 930 
people with 502 dogs. 

• 65% (345) interviewed groups were accompanied by at least one dog. 

• 96% (521) interviewed groups were local residents who made their visit 
from home. 

• 70% of visitors who arrive by foot made their visits either daily or most 
days (in comparison to 31% who arrive by car). 

• 63% of visitors travelled to their visit location by car or van, 34% of 
visitors arrived by foot, 3% arrived by bicycle and 2% by public transport. 

• 50% of visitors who arrived by car lived within 4.2km of their visit 
location. 

• 23% of visitors stated they walked off the paths and onto the mudflats or 
the open beach. Of the 23% of visitors whose routes took them onto the 
mudflats 65% were accompanied by at least one dog. 

3.19 The following international sites are considered susceptible to recreational 
pressures within the context of the Swale Local Plan: 

• Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar 

• The Swale SPA and Ramsar  

Functionally Linked Land 

3.20 While most international sites have been geographically defined to encompass 
the key features that are necessary for coherence of their structure and 

 
14 Fearnley, H. & Liley, D. (2011). North Kent Visitor Survey Results. Footprint Ecology. 

 

Page 881



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
18 

 

function, and the support of their qualifying features, this is not always the case. 
A diverse array of qualifying species including birds, bats and amphibians are 
not confined to the boundary of designated sites. 

3.21 For example, the highly mobile nature of both wildfowl and heathland birds 
implies that areas of habitat of crucial importance to the maintenance of their 
populations are outside the physical limits of international sites. Despite not 
being part of the formal designation, this habitat is still integral to the 
maintenance of the structure and function of the interest feature on the 
designated site and, therefore, land use plans that may affect such areas 
should be subject to further assessment.  

3.22 With regards to birds, areas of functionally linked land typically provide habitat 
for foraging or other ecological functions essential for the maintenance of the 
designated population e.g. high tide roost on coastal populations. Functionally 
linked land may extend up to the maximum foraging distance for the designated 
bird species. However, the number of birds foraging will tend to decrease 
further away from the protected site and thus the importance of the land to the 
maintenance of the designated population will decrease. 

3.23 Functionally linked land may extend up to the maximum foraging distance for 
the designated bird species. However, the number of birds foraging will tend to 
decrease further away from the protected site and thus the importance of the 
land to the maintenance of the designated population will decrease. 

3.24 There is now an abundance of authoritative examples of HRA cases on plans 
affecting bird populations, where Natural England recognised the potential 
importance of functionally linked land15.  

3.25 Pertinent designated birds relating to both the Medway Estuary and Marshes 
SPA and Ramsar site and The Swale Estuary SPA and Ramsar site are as 
follows.  

Table 2. Habitat Preferences and Diet of Bird Features of the Medway Estuary 
and Marshes SPA / Ramsar and The Swale Estuary SPA / Ramsar Sites 

Designated Bird Feature Habitat Preferences16 Diet17 

Avocet (Recurvirostra 
avosetta) 

Mudflats, lagoons, sandy 
beaches 

Invertebrates, especially 
insects, crustaceans, 
worms, but also small fish; 
sweeps bill from side to 
side, prey located by touch 

Dark-bellied brent goose 
(Branta bernicla bernicla) 

Tundra, on migration 
marshes & estuaries  

Eelgrass (Zostera), also 
vegetation by grazing on 
land or shallow water 

Dunlin (Calidris alpina Tundra, moor, heath, on 
migration estuaries & 

Invertebrates, located by 

 
15 Chapman C & Tyldesley D. 2016. Functional linkage: How areas that are functionally linked to 
European sites have been considered when they may be affected by plans and projects – A review of 
authoritative decisions. Natural England Commissioned Reports 207: 73pp.  
16 Taken from British Trust of Ornithology BirdFacts https://www.bto.org/understanding-birds/birdfacts  
17 Ibid 

Page 882

https://www.bto.org/understanding-birds/birdfacts


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
19 

 

Designated Bird Feature Habitat Preferences16 Diet17 

alpina) coasts sight and touch 

Grey plover (Pluvialis 
squatarola) 

Tundra, on migration 
pasture & estuaries 

Summer, invertebrates, 
Winter primarily marine 
worms, crustaceans and 
molluscs 

Knot (Calidris canutus) Tundra, on migration 
coastal 

Summer, insects and plant 
material, Winter Inter-tidal 
invertebrates, especially 
molluscs 

Pintail (Anas acuta) Lakes, rivers, marsh & 
tundra 

Omnivorous, feeds on mud 
bottom at depths of 10-
30cm 

Redshank (Tringa totanus) Rivers, wet grassland, 
moors & estuaries 

Invertebrates, especially 
earthworms, cranefly 
larvae (inland) 
crustaceans, molluscs, 
marine worms (estuaries) 

Ringed plover (Charadrius 
hiaticula) 

Sandy areas with low 
vegetation, on migration 
estuaries 

Summer, invertebrates, 
Winter primarily marine 
worms, crustaceans and 
molluscs 

Shelduck (Tadorna 
tadorna) 

Coasts, estuaries & lakes Mostly invertebrates, esp. 
insects, molluscs and 
crustaceans 

3.26 Generally, the identification of an area as functionally linked land is now a 
relatively straightforward process. However, the importance of non-designated 
land parcels may not be apparent and could require the analysis of existing 
data sources to be firmly established. In some instances, data may not be 
available at all, requiring some further survey work. 

3.27 The following international sites are considered susceptible to loss of 
Functionally Linked Land in the context of the Swale Local Plan: 

• Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar 

• The Swale SPA and Ramsar  

Visual and Noise Disturbance 

3.28 As detailed in the Recreational Pressure section above, human activity can 
affect birds either directly (e.g. through causing them to flee) or indirectly (e.g. 
through damaging their habitat).  Human activity can also lead to behavioural 
changes (e.g. alterations in feeding behaviour, avoidance of certain areas etc.) 
and physiological changes (e.g. an increase in heart rate) that, although less 

Page 883



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
20 

 

noticeable, may ultimately result in major population-level effects by altering the 
balance between immigration/birth and emigration/death18. 

3.29 Recreational pressure is not the only potential source of disturbance. 
Construction work taking place immediately adjacent to the designated site or 
functionally linked land could cause disturbance and displacement of the 
designated birds. While any impact relating to demolition and construction 
activities will be temporary (in that birds would return once construction work 
ceased and the disturbance stimulus was removed) the resulting effect on 
population survival could be significant if it occurs during the winter/passage 
period and prevents birds from using feeding areas on which they rely. It should 
be noted that operational activities are unlikely to be temporary in nature and 
thus the impact of these activities could result in a more sever adverse reaction 
from designated bird features.  

3.30 The degree of impact that varying levels of noise will have on different species 
of bird is poorly understood except that a number of studies have found that an 
increase in traffic levels on roads does lead to a reduction in the bird 
abundance within adjacent hedgerows - Reijnen et al (1995) examined the 
distribution of 43 passerine species (i.e. ‘songbirds’), of which 60% had a lower 
density closer to the roadside than further away.  By controlling vehicle usage 
they also found that the density generally was lower along busier roads than 
quieter roads19. 

3.31 A recent study on recreational disturbance on the Humber20 assesses different 
types of noise disturbance on waterfowl referring to studies relating to aircraft 
(see Drewitt 199921), traffic (Reijnen, Foppen, & Veenbaas 1997)22, dogs (Lord, 
Waas, & Innes 199723; Banks & Bryant 200724) and machinery (Delaney et al. 
1999; Tempel & Gutierrez 2003).  These studies identified that there is still 
relatively little work on the effects of different types of water-based craft and the 
impacts from jet skis, kite surfers, windsurfers etc. (see Kirby et al. 200425 for a 
review). Some types of disturbance are clearly likely to invoke different 
responses. In very general terms, both distance from the source of disturbance 
and the scale of the disturbance (noise level, group size) will both influence the 
response (Delaney et al. 199926; Beale & Monaghan 200527). On UK estuaries 

 
18 Riley, J. 2003. Review of Recreational Disturbance Research on Selected Wildlife in Scotland. 
Scottish Natural Heritage. 
19 Reijnen, R.  et al.  1995.  The effects of car traffic on breeding bird populations in woodland.  III. 
Reduction of density in relation to the proximity of main roads.  Journal of Applied Ecology 32: 187-
202 
20 Helen Fearnley Durwyn Liley and Katie Cruickshanks (2012) Results of Recreational Visitor Survey 
across the Humber Estuary produced by Footprint Ecology   
21 Drewitt, A. (1999) Disturbance effects of aircraft on birds. English Nature, Peterborough. 
22 Reijnen, R., Foppen, R. & Veenbaas, G. (1997) Disturbance by traffic of breeding birds: evaluation 
of the effect and considerations in planning and managing road corridors. Biodiversity and 
Conservation, 6, 567-581. 
23 Lord, A., Waas, J.R. & Innes, J. (1997) Effects of human activity on the behaviour of northern New 
Zealand dotterel Charadrius obscurus aquilonius chicks. Biological Conservation, 82,15-20. 
24 Banks, P.B. & Bryant, J.V. (2007) Four-legged friend of foe? Dog-walking displaces native birds from 
natural areas. Biology Letters, 3, 611-613. 
25 Kirby, J.S., Clee, C. & Seager, V. (1993) Impact and extent of recreational disturbance to wader 
roosts on the Dee estuary: some preliminary results. Wader Study Group Bulletin, 68, 53-58. 
26 Delaney, D.K., Grubb, T.G., Beier, P., Pater, L.L.M. & Reiser, H. (1999) Effects of Helicopter Noise 
on Mexican Spotted Owls. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 63, 60-76. 

Page 884



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
21 

 

and coastal sites, a review of WeBS data showed that, among the volunteer 
WeBS surveyors, driving of motor vehicles and shooting were the two activities 
most perceived to cause disturbance (Robinson & Pollitt 2002)28. 

3.32 Additionally, animals can be disturbed by the movement of ships. For instance, 
a DTI study of birds of the North West coast noted that: “Divers and scoters 
were absent from the mouths of some busier estuaries, notably the Mersey... 
Both species are known to be susceptible to disturbance from boats, and their 
relative scarcity in these areas... may in part reflect the volume of boat traffic in 
these areas”29. 

3.33 Disturbing activities are on a continuum. The most disturbing activities are likely 
to be those that involve irregular, infrequent, unpredictable loud noise events, 
movement or vibration of long duration. Birds are least likely to be disturbed by 
activities that involve regular, frequent, predictable, quiet patterns of sound or 
movement or minimal vibration. The further any activity is from the birds, the 
less likely it is to result in disturbance. 

3.34 The factors that influence a species response to a disturbance are numerous, 
but the three key factors are species sensitivity, proximity of disturbance 
sources and timing/duration of the potentially disturbing activity. 

3.35 The following international sites are considered susceptible to visual and noise 
disturbance within the context of the Swale Local Plan: 

• Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar 

• The Swale SPA and Ramsar  

Atmospheric Pollution 
3.36 Current levels of understanding of air quality effects on semi-natural habitats 

are not adequate to allow a rigorous assessment of the likelihood of significant 
effects on the integrity of key international sites. 

3.37 The main pollutants of concern for international sites are oxides of nitrogen 
(NOx), ammonia (NH3) and sulphur dioxide (SO2) and are summarised in Table 
3. NOx can have a directly toxic effect upon vegetation. In addition, greater NOx 
or ammonia concentrations within the atmosphere will lead to greater rates of 
nitrogen deposition to soils. An increase in the deposition of nitrogen from the 
atmosphere to soils is generally regarded to lead to an increase in soil fertility, 
which can have a serious deleterious effect on the quality of semi-natural, 
nitrogen-limited terrestrial habitats. 30 31.  

 
27 Beale, C.M. & Monaghan, P. (2005) Modeling the Effects of Limiting the Number of Visitors on 
Failure Rates of Seabird Nests. Conservation Biology, 19, 2015-2019. 
28 Robinson, J.A. & Pollitt, M.S. (2002) Sources and extent of human disturbance to waterbirds in the 
UK: an analysis of Wetland Bird Survey data, 1995/96 to 1998/99: Less than 32% of counters record 
disturbance at their site, with differences in causes between coastal and inland sites. Bird Study, 49, 
205. 
29 DTI (2006). Aerial Surveys of Waterbirds in Strategic Wind Farm Areas: 2004/05 Final Report 
30 Wolseley, P. A.; James, P. W.; Theobald, M. R.; Sutton, M. A. 2006. Detecting changes in epiphytic 
lichen communities at sites affected by atmospheric ammonia from agricultural 
sources. Lichenologist 38: 161-176 
31 Dijk, N. 2011. Dry deposition of ammonia gas drives species change faster than wet deposition of 
ammonium ions: evidence from a long-term field manipulation Global Change Biology 17: 3589-3607 

Page 885

http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/1708
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/1708
http://www.apis.ac.uk/node/1708
http://www.apis.ac.uk/dry-deposition-ammonia-gas-drives-species-change-faster-wet-deposition-ammonium-ions-evidence-long
http://www.apis.ac.uk/dry-deposition-ammonia-gas-drives-species-change-faster-wet-deposition-ammonium-ions-evidence-long


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
22 

 

Table 3 Main sources and effects of air pollutants on habitats and species32 

Pollutant Source Effects on habitats and 
species 

Sulphur 
Dioxide            
(SO2) 

The main sources of SO2 are 
electricity generation, and industrial 
and domestic fuel combustion. 
However, total SO2 emissions in the 
UK have decreased substantially since 
the 1980’s. 

Another origin of sulphur dioxide is the 
shipping industry and high 
atmospheric concentrations of SO2 
have been documented in busy ports. 
In future years shipping is likely to 
become one of the most important 
contributors to SO2 emissions in the 
UK.   

Wet and dry deposition of SO2 
acidifies soils and freshwater and 
may alter the composition of plant 
and animal communities.  

The magnitude of effects depends 
on levels of deposition, the buffering 
capacity of soils and the sensitivity 
of impacted species.  

However, SO2 background levels 
have fallen considerably since the 
1970’s and are now not regarded a 
threat to plant communities. For 
example, decreases in Sulphur 
dioxide concentrations have been 
linked to returning lichen species 
and improved tree health in London.  

Acid 
deposition 

Leads to acidification of soils and 
freshwater via atmospheric deposition 
of SO2, NOx, ammonia and 
hydrochloric acid. Acid deposition from 
rain has declined by 85% in the last 20 
years, which most of this contributed 
by lower sulphate levels.  

 

Gaseous precursors (e.g. SO2) can 
cause direct damage to sensitive 
vegetation, such as lichen, upon 
deposition.  

Can affect habitats and species 
through both wet (acid rain) and dry 
deposition. The effects of 
acidification include lowering of soil 
pH, leaf chlorosis, reduced 
decomposition rates, and 
compromised reproduction in birds / 
plants.  

Not all sites are equally susceptible 
to acidification. This varies 
depending on soil type, bed rock 
geology, weathering rate and 
buffering capacity. For example, 
sites with an underlying geology of 
granite, gneiss and quartz rich rocks 
tend to be more susceptible. 

Ammonia       
(NH3)  

Ammonia is a reactive, soluble 
alkaline gas that is released following 
decomposition and volatilisation of 
animal wastes. It is a naturally 
occurring trace gas, but ammonia 
concentrations are directly related to 
the distribution of livestock.   

Ammonia reacts with acid pollutants 

The negative effect of NH4+ may 
occur via direct toxicity, when uptake 
exceeds detoxification capacity and 
via N accumulation. 

Its main adverse effect is 
eutrophication, leading to species 
assemblages that are dominated by 
fast-growing and tall species. For 

 
32 Information summarised from the Air Pollution Information System (http://www.apis.ac.uk/) 

Page 886

http://www.apis.ac.uk/


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
23 

 

Pollutant Source Effects on habitats and 
species 

such as the products of SO2 and NOX 

emissions to produce fine ammonium 
(NH4+) - containing aerosol. Due to its 
significantly longer lifetime, NH4+ may 
be transferred much longer distances 
(and can therefore be a significant 
trans-boundary issue). 

While ammonia deposition may be 
estimated from its atmospheric 
concentration, the deposition rates are 
strongly influenced by meteorology 
and ecosystem type. 

example, a shift in dominance from 
heath species (lichens, mosses) to 
grasses is often seen.  

As emissions mostly occur at ground 
level in the rural environment and 
NH3 is rapidly deposited, some of 
the most acute problems of NH3 
deposition are for small relict nature 
reserves located in intensive 
agricultural landscapes. 

Nitrogen 
oxides           
(NOx) 

Nitrogen oxides are mostly produced 
in combustion processes. Half of NOX 
emissions in the UK derive from motor 
vehicles, one quarter from power 
stations and the rest from other 
industrial and domestic combustion 
processes. 

Nitrogen oxides have been 
consistently falling for decades due to 
a combination of coal fired power 
station closures, abatement of other 
combustion point sources and 
improved vehicle emissions 
technology. They are expected to 
continue to fall over the plan period. 

Direct toxicity effects of gaseous 
nitrates are likely to be important in 
areas close to the source (e.g. 
roadside verges). A critical level of 
NOx for all vegetation types has 
been set to 30 ug/m3. 

Deposition of nitrogen compounds 
(nitrates (NO3), nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) and nitric acid (HNO3)) 
contributes to the total nitrogen 
deposition and may lead to both soil 
and freshwater acidification.   

In addition, NOx contributes to the 
eutrophication of soils and water, 
altering the species composition of 
plant communities at the expense of 
sensitive species.  

Nitrogen 
deposition 

The pollutants that contribute to the 
total nitrogen deposition derive mainly 
from oxidized (e.g. NOX) or reduced 
(e.g. NH3) nitrogen emissions 
(described separately above). While 
oxidized nitrogen mainly originates 
from major conurbations or highways, 
reduced nitrogen mostly derives from 
farming practices.  

The N pollutants together are a large 
contributor to acidification (see above).  

All plants require nitrogen 
compounds to grow, but too much 
overall N is regarded as the major 
driver of biodiversity change 
globally. 

Species-rich plant communities with 
high proportions of slow-growing 
perennial species and bryophytes 
are most at risk from N 
eutrophication. This is because 
many semi-natural plants cannot 
assimilate the surplus N as well as 
many graminoid (grass) species.   

N deposition can also increase the 
risk of damage from abiotic factors, 
e.g. drought and frost. 

Ozone               A secondary pollutant generated by 
photochemical reactions involving 

Concentrations of O3 above 40 ppb 
can be toxic to both humans and 

Page 887



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
24 

 

Pollutant Source Effects on habitats and 
species 

(O3) NOx, volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs) and sunlight.  These 
precursors are mainly released by the 
combustion of fossil fuels (as 
discussed above).   

Increasing anthropogenic emissions of 
ozone precursors in the UK have led 
to an increased number of days when 
ozone levels rise above 40ppb 
(‘episodes’ or ‘smog’). Reducing ozone 
pollution is believed to require action 
at international level to reduce levels 
of the precursors that form ozone. 

wildlife, and can affect buildings. 

High O3 concentrations are widely 
documented to cause damage to 
vegetation, including visible leaf 
damage, reduction in floral biomass, 
reduction in crop yield (e.g. cereal 
grains, tomato, potato), reduction in 
the number of flowers, decrease in 
forest production and altered 
species composition in semi-natural 
plant communities.    

 

3.38 Sulphur dioxide emissions are overwhelmingly influenced by the output of 
power stations and industrial processes that require the combustion of coal and 
oil. Ammonia emissions are dominated by agriculture, with some chemical 
processes also making notable contributions. As such, it is unlikely that material 
increases in SO2 emissions will be associated with Local Plans. NOx 
emissions, however, are dominated by the output of vehicle exhausts (more 
than half of all emissions). Within a ‘typical’ housing development, by far the 
largest contribution to NOx (92%) will be made by the associated road traffic. 
Other sources, although relevant, are of minor importance (8%) in 
comparison33. Emissions of NOx could therefore be reasonably expected to 
increase as a result of greater vehicle use as an indirect effect of the Local 
Plan. 

3.39 According to the World Health Organisation, the critical NOx concentration 
(critical threshold) for the protection of vegetation is 30 µgm-3; In addition, 
ecological studies have determined ‘critical loads’34 of atmospheric nitrogen 
deposition (that is, NOx combined with ammonia NH3) for key habitats within 
international sites.   

Local Air Pollution 

3.40 According to the Department of Transport’s Transport Analysis Guidance, 
“Beyond 200m, the contribution of vehicle emissions from the roadside to local 
pollution levels is not significant”35. 

Figure 3Traffic contribution to concentrations of pollutants at different 
distances from a road (Source: DfT) 

 
33 Proportions calculated based upon data presented in Dore CJ et al. 2005. UK Emissions of Air Pollutants 1970 
– 2003. UK National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory. http://www.airquality.co.uk/archive/index.php 
34 The critical load is the rate of deposition beyond which research indicates that adverse effects can reasonably 
be expected to occur 
35 www.webtag.org.uk/archive/feb04/pdf/feb04-333.pdf 

Page 888

http://www.airquality.co.uk/archive/index.php
http://www.webtag.org.uk/archive/feb04/pdf/feb04-333.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
25 

 

 

3.41 This is therefore the distance that has been used throughout this HRA in order 
to determine whether international sites are likely to be significantly affected by 
development under the Local Plan.   

Page 889



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
26 

 

Water Resources 
3.42 Swale is generally an area of serious water stress (see Figure 4). 

Figure 4 Areas of water stress within England36 

 
 

3.43 Development within Swale Borough over the plan period will increase water 
demand. 

3.44 According to the Environment Agency’s North Kent & Swale Abstraction 
Licensing Strategy (February 201337), the catchment is groundwater 
dominated. The fluvial network in this area is not characterised by a distinctive 
river, instead by spring-fed and surface-fed streams. These flow across the low-
lying land of the Swale/Medway Marshes and into the Swale estuary. The Chalk 
and the Tertiaries provide a significant source of baseflow to the spring-fed 
streams, and surface-fed streams are reliant on rainfall.   

3.45 The marshes along the North of the area are managed according to water level 
rather than flow. General practice is to keep water levels high in the marshes 
during the summer to allow for wet fencing or for abstraction to take place from 
ditches and streams. In the winter, levels are kept low to reduce flood risk. This 
is carried out by Water Level Management Plans. 

3.46 The Water Companies relevant to Swale are Southern Water and South East 
Water. Southern Water provides wastewater treatment to all of Swale and 

 
36 Figure adapted from Environment Agency. 2013. Water Stressed Areas – Final Classification. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244
333/water-stressed-classification-2013.pdf [accessed 18/12/2020] 
37 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/289
868/LIT_1815_765a21.pdf [accessed 18/12/2020] 

Page 890

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244333/water-stressed-classification-2013.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244333/water-stressed-classification-2013.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/289868/LIT_1815_765a21.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/289868/LIT_1815_765a21.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
27 

 

supplies water to Sittingbourne, Sheppey and the west of the borough. South 
East Water provides water to the east of the borough.    

3.47 Southern Water and South-East Water both adopted their latest Water 
Resource Management Plans in 2019. To demonstrate soundness and to 
enable adoption, both Plans were assessed in accordance with the Habitats 
Regulations and a conclusion of no adverse effect on the integrity of any 
internationally designated site reached.  

3.48 In developing and implementing the Local Plan, it is understood that the 
Council have liaised with both water providers in order to ensure that the 
development is able to be supplied by water without requiring damaging levels 
of abstraction from tributaries of any international sites and that development 
will not take place until the necessary supporting infrastructure is in existence. 

3.49 Water supply to support additional housing within Swale does not therefore 
need to be considered within the Swale Local Plan HRA. 

Water Quality 
3.50 Increased amounts of housing or business development can lead to reduced 

water quality of rivers and estuarine environments. Sewage and industrial 
effluent discharges can contribute to increased nutrients on international sites 
leading to unfavourable conditions. Within Swale there are Waste Water 
Treatment Works at Faversham, Teynham, Sittingbourne, Eastchurch and 
Queenborough and immediately outside the borough at Motney Hill. 

• The quality of the water that feeds international sites is an important 
determinant of the nature of their habitats and the species they support.  
Poor water quality can have a range of environmental impacts:   

• At high levels, toxic chemicals and metals can result in immediate death 
of aquatic life, and can have detrimental effects even at lower levels, 
including increased vulnerability to disease and changes in wildlife 
behavior. Eutrophication, the enrichment of plant nutrients in water, 
increases plant growth and consequently results in oxygen depletion.  
Algal blooms, which commonly result from eutrophication, increase 
turbidity and decrease light penetration.  The decomposition of organic 
wastes that often accompanies eutrophication deoxygenates water 
further, augmenting the oxygen depleting effects of eutrophication.  In 
the marine environment, nitrogen is the limiting plant nutrient and so 
eutrophication is associated with discharges containing available 
nitrogen.  

• Some pesticides, industrial chemicals, and components of sewage 
effluent are suspected to interfere with the functioning of the endocrine 
system, possibly having negative effects on the reproduction and 
development of aquatic life. 

• For sewage treatment works close to capacity, further development may 
increase the risk of effluent escape into aquatic environments. In many 
urban areas, sewage treatment and surface water drainage systems are 
combined, and therefore a predicted increase in flood and storm events 
could increase pollution risk.  

Page 891



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
28 

 

Coastal Squeeze 
3.51 Rising sea levels can be expected to cause intertidal habitats (principally 

saltmarsh, sand dunes and intertidal mudflats) to migrate landwards. However, 
in some areas, such landward retreat is often rendered impossible due to the 
presence of the sea wall and other flood defences. In addition, development 
frequently takes place immediately behind the sea wall, so that the flood 
defences cannot be moved landwards to accommodate managed retreat of 
threatened habitats. The net result is that the quantity of saltmarsh, sand dunes 
and mudflat adjacent to built-up areas will progressively decrease as sea levels 
rise.  This process is known as ‘coastal squeeze’. In areas where sediment 
availability is reduced, the 'squeeze' also includes an increasingly steep beach 
profile and foreshortening of the seaward zones. 

3.52 Intertidal habitat loss is mainly occurring in the south and east of the country, 
particularly between the Humber and Severn. Northwest England, south Wales, 
the Solent in Hampshire, the southeast around the Thames estuary and large 
parts of East Anglia are also affected but to a lesser degree. The Medway 
Estuary and Swale Shoreline Management Plan process for the will be the 
main process whereby the losses due to flood defences and coastal squeeze 
and the gains due to managed retreat along the frontage will be identified at a 
strategic level. However, local authorities can also contribute to minimising 
squeeze by appropriately situating new development in line with Shoreline 
Management Plan policy. 

3.53 A national assessment by Defra determined that the creation of an annual 
average of at least 100 ha of intertidal habitat associated with international sites 
in England that are subject to coastal squeeze, together with any more 
specifically identified measures to replace losses of terrestrial and supra-tidal 
habitats, is likely to be required to protect the overall coherence of the UKs 
contribution to the Bern Convention Emerald Network. This assessment takes 
account of intertidal habitat loss from international sites in England that is 
caused by a combination of all flood risk management structures and sea level 
rise. The assessment will be kept under review taking account of the certainty 
of any adverse effects and monitoring of the actual impacts of plans and 
projects.16 

  

 
16 Defra. 2005. Coastal Squeeze – Implications for Flood Management. 
 http://www.defra.gov.uk/environ/fcd/policy/csqueeze.pdf 

Page 892

http://www.defra.gov.uk/environ/fcd/policy/csqueeze.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
29 

 

4. Test of Likely Significant Effects 

Introduction 
4.1 The Test of Likely Significant Effects for the Local Plan Policies is undertaken 

within Appendix B, whilst the Test of Likely Significant Effects of Plan 
Allocations is undertaken in Appendix C. This section provides a summary of 
those Appendices. 

4.2 Impact Pathways that were identified to potentially result in a likely significant 
effect are detailed in Table 4. These are discussed further in this Chapter.  

Table 4 Potential Linking Impact Pathways Linking the Plan to an International 
Designated Site  

International Site Potential Linking Impact Pathway 

The Swale SPA/Ramsar 

- Recreational Pressure 

- Functionally Linked Land 

- Visual and Noise Disturbance 

- Air Quality 

- Water Quality 

Medway Estuary & Marshes 
SPA/Ramsar 

- Recreational Pressure 

- Functionally Linked Land 

- Visual and Noise Disturbance 

- Air Quality 

- Water Quality 

Coastal Squeeze 

Queendown Warren SAC - Air Quality 

Blean Complex SAC - Air Quality 

Outer Thames Estuary SPA - Visual and Noise Disturbance 

North Downs Woodlands SAC - Air Quality 

Discussion 

The Swale SPA/Ramsar and Medway Estuary & Marshes 
SPA/Ramsar 

Recreational Pressure 
4.3 All residential development within the Borough of Swale is located within such 

proximity to the North Kent Marshes internationally designated sites (less than 

Page 893



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
30 

 

6km from an access point to the designated sites) as included within the Bird 
Wise North Kent Mitigation Strategy38, that they could result in a likely 
significant effect on the internationally designated North Kent bird sites. The 
following policies provide for residential development within the Plan:  

• Policy ST 1 Swale’s development needs for jobs and homes 2022 – 
2038 

• Policy A 2 Kent Science Park 

• A4 Smaller allocations for housing development Policy MU 1a Land at 
Graveney Road 

• Policy MU 1b Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• Policy MU 1c Land at South East Faversham 

• Policy AO 1 Teynham Area of Opportunity 

• Policy A 5 Land at Neames Forstal, Selling 

• Policy Regen 3b Rushenden South Area 

4.4 As such, Appropriate Assessment is required.   

Functionally Linked Land and Visual and Noise Disturbance 
4.5 From review of freely available online imagery and mapping, the following 

allocations have been identified to be located within land parcels that have the 
potential to provide habitat that could support a significant population of 
designated bird species, and thus could act as functionally linked land:  

• SLA18/135: Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham 

• SLA18/091: Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• SLA18/025: Land West of Frognal Lane 

• SLA18/122: Land at Claxfield Road (Site 1) 

• SLA18/113: Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushenden Road 

4.6 In addition, allocation SLA18/116: Land South of London Road/West of Lynsted 
Lane, whilst not located within potentially functionally linked land itself, is 
immediately adjacent to potentially functionally linked land. This allocation could 
provide disturbance to any significant bird populations located within adjacent 
fields, and as such could result in adverse effects on the integrity of the 
designated bird sites.  

4.7 The above allocations are provided by the following policies:  

• Policy A 3a Ridham and Kemsley, Sittingbourne 

• Policy A 3b Neatscourt, Queenborough, Isle of Sheppey 

• Policy MU 1a Land at Graveney Road 

 
38 https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf [accessed 
07/01/2021] 

Page 894

https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
31 

 

• Policy MU 1b Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• Policy MU 1c Land at South East Faversham 

• Policy AO 1 Teynham Area of Opportunity 

• Policy Regen 3b Rushenden South Area 

4.8 As such Appropriate Assessment is required and provided in the subsequent 
chapter.  

Air Quality 
4.9 Given that both The Swale and the Medway Marshes and Estuaries SPA and 

Ramsar sites both lie within 200m of numerous roads that may be regularly 
used by vehicle journeys arising from the Swale borough as a result of the 
increased population, it was concluded that air quality should be included within 
the scope of this assessment. 

4.10 For approximately 4km, the Swale SPA/Ramsar site lies within 200m of the 
A249 as it approaches and crosses onto the Isle of Sheppey (predominantly to 
the east of the A249). For approximately 2.4km the Medway Estuary and 
Marshes spa/ Ramsar is within 200m of the A249 as it approaches the and 
crosses onto the Isle of Sheppey (to the west of the A249). The MAGIC website 
www.magic.gov.uk indicates that the habitat within 200m of the road along this 
route is predominantly grazing marsh, along with areas of mudflat in the vicinity 
of the Swale Crossing itself. In addition, although Milton Creek is not actually 
part of the SPA, it does constitute important habitat for some SPA species and 
the Sittingbourne Northern Relief Road crosses the mudflats of the Creek. 
Development provided by the Plan will result in an increase in traffic flows over 
the Swale Crossing.  

4.11 There will also be an increase in traffic flows due to development in surrounding 
local authorities (particularly Medway) over the same time period and (to a 
lesser extent) due to proposals for new minerals and waste facilities being 
developed for the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan.  

4.12 The following policies provide for development that has the potential to result in 
an increase in atmospheric pollution contributions:  

• Policy ST 1 Swale’s development needs for jobs and homes 2022 – 
2038 

• Policy A 2 Kent Science Park 

• Policy A 3a Ridham and Kemsley, Sittingbourne 

• Policy A 3b Neatscourt, Queenborough, Isle of Sheppey 

• Policy A 3c Land South of Kemsley Mill 

• A4 Smaller allocations for housing development 

• Policy MU 1a Land at Graveney Road 

• Policy MU 1b Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• Policy MU 1c Land at South East Faversham 

Page 895

http://www.magic.gov.uk/


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
32 

 

• Policy AO 1 Teynham Area of Opportunity 

• Policy A 5 Land at Neames Forstal, Selling 

• Policy Regen 3b Rushenden South Area 

4.13 As such, this impact pathways cannot be screened out from potentially resulting 
in a likely significant effect and appropriate assessment is required. This is 
undertaken in the subsequent chapter.  

Water Quality 
4.14 The following policies provide for development that has the potential to result in 

an increase in pressure on water quality from discharge of treated sewage 
effluent:  

• Policy ST 1 Swale’s development needs for jobs and homes 2022 – 
2038 

• Policy A 2 Kent Science Park 

• Policy A 3a Ridham and Kemsley, Sittingbourne 

• Policy A 3b Neatscourt, Queenborough, Isle of Sheppey 

• Policy A 3c Land South of Kemsley Mill 

• A4 Smaller allocations for housing development 

• Policy MU 1a Land at Graveney Road 

• Policy MU 1b Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• Policy MU 1c Land at South East Faversham 

• Policy AO 1 Teynham Area of Opportunity 

• Policy A 5 Land at Neames Forstal, Selling 

• Policy Regen 3b Rushenden South Area 

4.15 The Site Improvement Plan for the Thames Complex39 (including the Swale, 
Medway Estuary & Marshes and the Outer Thames Estuary), does no identify 
water quality (specifically nitrates) as an issue for these designated sites.  

4.16 While the grazing marsh components of the SPA are sensitive to deteriorations 
in water quality, the grazing marsh and its ditches are not subject to the 
presence of treated sewage effluent, which due to the point of discharge flows 
through the creek channels and into the marine/estuarine portions of the SPA. 

4.17 If marcroalgae (such as members of the sea lettuce genus Ulva) are able to 
grow uncontrolled they can develop a thick layer over mudflats, saltmarsh and 
other intertidal habitats.  This can result in a significant reduction in oxygen 
within the sediment which can in turn reduce invertebrate biomass thereby 
reducing its value as foraging habitat.  The mats can also prove a simple 
physical barrier for birds trying to forage within the underlying sediment.  The 
principal issue controlling oxygen depletion in the underlying sediments 

 
39 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5760073666134016 [accessed 07/01/2021] 

Page 896

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5760073666134016


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
33 

 

appears to relate less to the weight and coverage of algae but to the quick 
growth and persistence of the mats. 

4.18 In some estuaries on the south coast (e.g. Chichester & Langstone Harbours 
SPA) smothering macroalgae have been a historic problem due to the warmer 
water temperatures, low sediment loading and limited wave action, which result 
in a combination of rapid algal growth during the summer and low algal 
mortality during the winter and thus the accumulation of large dense persistent 
mats.  In those estuaries nutrient inputs to the water have been a major 
contributor to the further growth of these algae (since there are few 
environmental factors to otherwise inhibit growth) and have necessitated 
controls on nitrogen loading of discharged effluent as well as other sources 
(such as agricultural runoff).   

4.19 In estuaries like The Swale and Medway where the sediment loading is higher 
(reducing light penetration and thus restricting rates of growth) in addition to 
temperatures being cooler and wave action stronger (leading to winter break up 
of mats and considerable annual variation in algal cover) the sediments are 
able to remain well oxidised despite high nutrient loadings and hence the 
benthic invertebrate community is unaffected by macroalgal mats. If the benthic 
invertebrate community is unaffected then the site would continue to maintain 
its prey productivity for birds. 

4.20 Previous discussions with the Environment Agency and the Review of Consent 
reports for the various marine/intertidal Special Protection Areas and Ramsar 
sites around the greater Thames Estuary have confirmed that while nutrient 
levels are high within the various estuaries around the greater Thames Estuary, 
this does not result in the smothering macro-algal growth that is having an 
adverse effect upon other European marine sites (such as The Solent). The 
prevailing expert opinion is that the dominant control on phytoplankton growth 
in these estuaries is not nutrient availability but light availability which is 
controlled by the high loading of suspended sediment. 

4.21 As such, with regards to the Swale and Medway designated sites, this impact 
pathway can be screened out from resulting in a Likely Significant Effect as a 
result of the Plan, either in isolation or combination.  

Coastal Squeeze 
4.22 Policy Regen 3b Rushenden South Area provides for site allocation SLA18/113: 

Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushenden Road. This allocation is located 
immediately adjacent to Medway Estuaries and Marshes SPA and Ramsar site, 
and also includes a small portion of the designated site. Development at this 
location has the potential to result in coastal squeeze. The Medway and Swale 
Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) identify that the current strategy for this 
frontage (Policy Unit E4 28: Kingsferry Bridge to Rushenden)40 is Hold the Line, 
however in the medium to long term (i.e. 20 years into the future), the site is 
identified for managed realignment, and thus enabling habitats to shift in 
accordance with sea level rise and climate change. In addition, the Medway 

 
40 https://se-coastalgroup.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/medway-estuary-to-swale/ [accessed 
13/01/2021] 

Page 897

https://se-coastalgroup.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/medway-estuary-to-swale/


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
34 

 

Estuary and Swale Flood and Coast Management Strategy 41 identifies that the 
current through to 2118 management policy for BA8.5: Rushenden Marshes is 
No Active Intervention. The majority of the frontage is not currently defended 
and is artificially raised as the land has been historically used to deposit 
dredged material. The Flood and Coast Management Strategy also identifies 
that there will be an increased risk of overtopping and the defences will be at 
risk of failure from the year 25.  

4.23 As such there is the potential for the allocation in this location to affect the 
ability of this realignment to occur, and thus limiting the designated site’s ability 
to react to changing sea levels, thus potentially result in in a likely significant 
effect. This impact pathway is subject to appropriate assessment in the 
subsequent chapter.  

Queendown Warren SAC  

Air Quality 
4.24 Queendown Warren SAC is located in the south west corner of Swale Borough. 

It is located immediately adjacent to the minor lanes of Warren Lane, an 
unnamed lane, and bisected by Yaugter Lane but due to their minor nature 
these are not expected to experience a change in daily traffic flows due to Local 
Plan growth. The SAC is also located approximately c.300m from the A2, the 
only affected road within the vicinity of the SAC. The Site Improvement Plan42 
identifies that the dry grassland and scrublands on chalk or limestone 
(important orchid sites) are potentially vulnerable to atmospheric nitrogen 
deposition. Whilst the sensitive features of the site are currently identified to be 
in favourable condition43, the deposition rates at the site (15.5kg N/ha/yr) 
exceeds the minimum critical load for the chalk grassland and scrubland habitat 
(15kg N/ha/yr)44. However, due to the distance from the only affected road in 
the locality of the SAC (i.e. the SAC is well over 200m from the road) traffic 
growth will have a negligible effect on local pollutant levels. As such no likely 
significant effect will result.  

Blean Complex SAC  

Air Quality 
4.25 The Blean Complex SAC is located on the edge of the Borough of Swale, with 

the majority of the site located within the neighbouring Canterbury City authority 
boundary. It is 6.5km in a straight line from the nearest significant population 
centre in the Borough (Faversham) or 8.5km following the road network. In 
comparison, The Blean Complex is less than 200m from Rough Common, a 
suburb of Canterbury City, and less than 30 m from the A290, the main through 
road from Canterbury in the south to the A299 in the north, both within the City 
Council area. As such by far the largest contribution to traffic flows within 200m 
of the Blean Complex is likely from Canterbury City.  Traffic modelling for the 

 
41 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-
management-strategy/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy[ 
accessed 13/01/2021] 
42 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5485982457528320 [accessed 08/01/2021] 
43 
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/SiteUnitList.aspx?SiteCode=S1001523&SiteName=&co
untyCode=&responsiblePerson=&unitId=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea= [accessed 08/01/2021] 
44 www.apis.ac.uk/ [accessed 08/01/2021] 

Page 898

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy/medway-estuary-and-swale-flood-and-coastal-risk-management-strategy
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5485982457528320
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/SiteUnitList.aspx?SiteCode=S1001523&SiteName=&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&unitId=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea=
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/SiteUnitList.aspx?SiteCode=S1001523&SiteName=&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&unitId=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea=
http://www.apis.ac.uk/


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
35 

 

Swale Plan, does not identify the A290 as an affected road as a result of the 
Plan.  

4.26 As such it is considered that no Likely Significant Effect of the Swale Local Plan 
will arise either alone or in combination with other projects and plans.  

North Downs Woodlands SAC 

Air Quality 
4.27 North Downs Woodland SAC is located within the neighbouring authority of 

Maidstone Borough, 3.6km from the Swale Borough boundary. At its closest, it 
is located 7m from the A249 (Detling Hill), a dual carriageway that connects the 
A2 in the north of Kent (and within Swale Borough) to the A20 at Maidstone to 
the south. The Site Improvement Plan for the SAC identifies that the dry 
calcareous grassland and scrubland (important orchid site), the beech forests 
on neutral to rich soils and the yew dominated woodland are vulnerable to 
atmospheric nitrogen deposition45. The portion of the SAC that is located within 
200m of the A249 is designated as Wouldham to Detling Escarpment SSS (unit 
Lynch Bank – 026). This portion of the site only contains woodland habitats, no 
calcareous grassland is present, and as such only the woodland habitats are 
considered further. The A249 past the SAC is identified to be an affected road 
and therefore is discussed in the appropriate assessment.  

 
45 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6363401429188608 [accessed 08/01/2021] 

Page 899

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6363401429188608


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
36 

 

5. Appropriate Assessment 

The Swale SPA/Ramsar and Medway Estuary & 
Marshes SPA/Ramsar 

5.1 As impacts relating to the Swale SPA and Ramsar site and the Medway Estuary 
and Marshes SPA and Ramsar site are similar, these are discussed together in 
the following section.  

Recreational Pressure 

5.2 In accordance with the Bird Wise North Kent Mitigation Strategy46,all residential 
development within 6km of the North Kent Bird sites could result in an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the SPA as a result of increased recreational pressure. 
The strategic Mitigation Strategy is funded by developer contributions. It 
provides for a range of mitigation and avoidance strategies. As such to ensure 
no adverse effects on the integrity of the designated sites occurs, any net new 
residential development within 6km of the North Kent Bird sites will be required 
to contribute to the Mitigation Strategy and provide the appropriate financial 
contributions.  

5.3 The requirement for contributions towards this mitigation strategy is detailed 
within Plan Policy ST 10: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. It 
states:  

“10. Require the completion of project specific Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, in accordance with Policy DM24, to ensure there are no likely 
significant effects upon any European designated site. For residential sites 
within 6km of an access point to any of the North Kent Marshes, development 
must contribute to its Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy or 
undertake their own HRA;” 

5.4 Furthermore, the supporting text to ST 10: Conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment provides the following detail.  

4.0.257 Potential adverse impacts on European designated wildlife sites 

4.0.258 A particular issue where the green and blue infrastructure strategy and 
this policy will play a key part is where potential adverse impacts on European 
designated wildlife sites are identified, for example, as a result of increased 
recreational pressures on bird habitats on the North Kent Marshes. These are 
matters affecting both the preparation of the Local Plan and for relevant 
development projects, both of which are required to comply with the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment process. 

4.0.259 North Kent partners have put in place a Strategic Access Management 
and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) that includes the measures needed to 
mitigate growth. This will also include a mechanism to ensure that residential 
development financially contributes toward mitigation measures, such as 
wardening, management or habitat creation. SAMMS will be used to support 

 
46 https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf [accessed 
07/01/2021] 

Page 900

https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
37 

 

the determination of planning applications and inform any future Local Plan 
Review and if implemented, a Community Infrastructure Levy. 

4.0.260 To address the issue in both the short and longer terms, requires 
management and containment of pressures. Where mitigation and/or 
compensation is required, it must be provided in an appropriate way either as a 
result of the cumulative impact of Plan proposals or individual development 
proposals. An integralpart of the SAMMS will be the monitoring of the 
effectiveness of the measures put in place through the tariff payments. If this 
monitoring highlights areas where changes to the mitigation measures are 
required, these will be implemented by the Partnership. 

4.0.261 Please see the Partnership’s website for more detailed information Bird 
Wise” 

5.5 It can therefore be concluded that the Plan provides sufficient protective policy 
framework to ensure no adverse effects on the integrity result as a result of 
increased recreational pressure from new residential development stemming 
from the Plan.  

Functionally Linked Land and Visual and Noise Disturbance 

5.6 As previously detailed, the following allocations have been identified to be 
located within land parcels that have the potential to provide habitat that could 
support a significant population of designated bird species, and thus could act 
as functionally linked land:  

• SLA18/135: Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham 

• SLA18/091: Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• SLA18/025: Land West of Frognal Lane 

• SLA18/122: Land at Claxfield Road (Site 1) 

• SLA18/113: Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushenden Road 

5.7 In addition, allocation SLA18/116: Land South of London Road/West of Lynsted 
Lane, is located immediately adjacent to potentially functionally linked land. 
This allocation could provide disturbance to any significant bird populations 
located within adjacent fields, and as such could result in adverse effects on the 
integrity of the designated bird sites.  

5.8 The following paragraphs provide the Appropriate Assessment of these 
allocations in relation to functionally linked land and where required, provide 
recommendations.  

5.9 SLA18/135: Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham (Policy A 3g Land at 
Graveney Road, east of Faversham) – This site is located c. 1.0km from The 
Swale designated sites, it is c. 8.4ha in size and situated in a greenfield site. 
From review of freely available online imagery, the current use of the site is for 
arable crops such as cereal. It does not appear to be in a heavily disturbed 
location and is not surrounded by continuous hedgerows (notably to the north 
looking towards The Swale) so has the potential to offer sight lines for SPA / 
Ramsar birds. As such the allocations could act as functionally linked land. 

Page 901



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
38 

 

Whilst Allocation Policy text provides the need for the development to not result 
in a Likely Significant Effect, further explicit detail should be included.  

5.10 It is recommended that policy or supporting text relating to this allocation 
is amended to further investigate if the land parcel does indeed act as 
functionally linked land.  Similar text has already been incorporated within the 
Plan document relating to other allocations as follows:  

“The applicant will be required to provide evidence that the development will not 
result in a Likely Significant Effect. To achieve this, surveys will be required to 
determine habitats and current use of the site and surrounding land parcels to 
determine if it does support a significant population (A significant population is 
classified as a site that regularly used by more than 1% of the population of 
qualifying bird species) of qualifying species. Where habitats are suitable, non-
breeding bird surveys will be required to determine if the site and neighbouring 
land constitute a significant area of supporting habitat. Surveys should be 
required to be undertaken during autumn, winter and spring and at more than 1 
year of surveys may be needed (to be agreed in consultation with the local 
planning authority and Natural England). If habitat within or adjacent to the site 
is identified to support significant populations of designated bird features 
avoidance measures and mitigation will be required, such as the creation of 
replacement habitat nearby, and the planning application will likely need to be 
supported by a project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure that 
the development does not result in adverse effects on integrity.” 

5.11 SLA18/091: Land at Lady Dane Farm (Policy MU 1b Land at Lady Dane Farm) 
– This site is located c. 1.1km from The Swale designated sites. It is 42.7ha in 
size and situated in a greenfield site. From review of freely available online 
imagery, the current use of the site is for arable crops (c.14ha) such as cereal 
with the remainder providing land for fruit production (including orchards and 
polytunnels). It does not appear to be in a heavily disturbed location and is not 
surrounded by continuous hedgerows (notably to the north looking towards The 
Swale). The land used for fruit production is not considered suitable to provide 
functionally linked land, however the c.14ha of arable land to the north of the 
site has the potential offer sight lines for SPA / Ramsar birds. As such the 
allocation could act as functionally linked land. 

5.12 Supporting text for Policy MU 1 East of Faversham Expansion, in relation to 
Land at Lady Dane Farm already states:  

“5.5.70 The applicant will be required to provide evidence that the development 
will not result in a Likely Significant Effect. To achieve this, surveys will be 
required to determine habitats and current use of the site and surrounding land 
parcels to determine if it does support a significant population (A significant 
population is classified as a site that regularly used by more than 1% of the 
population of qualifying bird species) of qualifying species. Where habitats are 
suitable, non-breeding bird surveys will be required to determine if the site and 
neighbouring land constitute a significant area of supporting habitat. Surveys 
should be required to be undertaken during autumn, winter and spring and at 
more than 1 year of surveys may be needed (to be agreed in consultation with 
the local planning authority and Natural England). If habitat within or adjacent to 
the site is identified to support significant populations of designated bird 
features avoidance measures and mitigation will be required, such as the 
creation of replacement habitat nearby, and the planning application will likely 

Page 902



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
39 

 

need to be supported by a project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment to 
ensure that the development does not result in adverse effects on integrity.” 

5.13 As such, it is considered that suitable policy framework is in place to ensure 
that this allocation would not result in a likely significant effect as a result of loss 
of functionally linked land.  

5.14 SLA18/025: Land West of Frognal Lane – This site is located c. 1.5km from The 
Swale designated sites. It is c. 23.9ha in size in size and situated in a greenfield 
site. From review of freely available online imagery, the current use of the site is 
for arable crops such as cereal. It does not appear to be in a heavily disturbed 
location and is not surrounded by continuous hedgerows so has the potential 
offer sight lines for SPA / Ramsar birds. As such the allocations could act as 
functionally linked land.  As such the allocations could act as functionally linked 
land.  

5.15 It is recommended that policy or supporting text relating to this allocation 
is amended to provide the requirement to determine if the land parcel 
does indeed act functionally linked land.  Similar text has already been 
incorporated within the Plan document relating to other allocations (see 
SLA18/135: Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham (Policy A 3g Land at 
Graveney Road, east of Faversham above). SLA18/122: Land at Claxfield 
Road (Site 1) - This site allocation is located to the north of the A2 and is 6ha in 
size. It is located 2.3km from the SPA / Ramsar site. From review of freely 
available online imagery, the current use of the site is for arable crops such as 
cereal. The north of the site is bordered by residential development; however, 
the wider setting is one of arable fields with open site lines into the wider 
countryside. As such the allocations could act as functionally linked land.  As 
such the allocations could act as functionally linked land.  

5.16 It is recommended that policy or supporting text relating to this allocation 
is amended to provide the requirement to determine if the land parcel 
does indeed act functionally linked land.  Similar text has already been 
incorporated within the Plan document relating to other allocations (see 
SLA18/135: Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham (Policy A 3g Land at 
Graveney Road, east of Faversham above). 

5.17 SLA18/116: Land South of London Road/West of Lynsted Lane - Whilst land to 
the north of this allocation is residential, the other surrounding fields are of an 
arable nature with sight lines into the wider countryside. As such surrounding 
lands could act as functionally linked land to support SPA / Ramsar bird 
species. Whilst the presence of this land does not present deliverability 
issues for the allocation, precautionary measures during the construction 
and operational phase of the development may be required, following 
planning application surveys, to ensure any birds that do form a 
significant population of The Swale are not subject to disturbance. It is 
recommended that at least one season of wintering bird surveys is 
undertaken to inform the planning application. This impact cannot be 
assessed further until detailed designs and construction programmes for the 
development are devised. However, there are available widely-used techniques 
to ensure that no disturbance will arise and therefore there is no uncertainty 
over the deliverability of this allocation. 

Page 903



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
40 

 

5.18 SLA18/113: Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushenden Road - A large site 
allocation (149ha), that contains a portion of the Medway Estuary and Marshes 
international sites (Medway Estuary and Marshes SSSI Unit 58). The site 
allocation itself includes coastal floodplain and grazing marsh. As such, the site 
allocation is considered to have greater potential than any other allocated site 
to act as functionally linked land.  To support the allocation of this site therefore, 
non-breeding waterbird surveys were undertaken over three consecutive winter 
seasons (2015/2016, 2016/2017, 2017/2018).  

5.19 The survey identified that the majority of the site allocation (identified as ‘The 
Site’ within the non-breeding waterbird report) does not support a significant 
population of designated bird features (in fact no birds features were recorded 
within the main body of the survey site), and thus does not act as functionally 
linked land. However, two small portions of the allocation site (identified as 
Section C and I in the non-breeding waterbird report) are included within the 
site allocation boundary and do contain significant bird populations. Therefore, 
these portions of land do act as functionally linked land.  

5.20 Section C provides functionally linked land for grey plover (up to 93 individual/ 
17.19% of the population in 2016/2017), redshank (up to 43 individuals / 
13.69% of the population in 2015/ 2016) and shelduck (up to 95 individuals / 
2.57% of the population in 2017/2018). The report notes that the habitat at 
Section C is ‘mudflats’ so can be considered unlikely to be built upon. Section C 
will nonetheless require consideration within the masterplanning and project 
specific HRA, for example with regard to ensuring that no construction period 
disturbance occurs and that the lighting layout of the development is sensitive 
to the presence of the mudflat. However, it is not anticipated that the presence 
of birds within Section C will provide deliverability issues to this allocation.  

5.21 Section I provides functionally linked land for redshank (up to 5 individuals / 
1.59% of the population). The report identified that the habitat within this 
section is ‘wet, containing sedges and ‘marginal pools’. Section I constitutes a 
relatively small section of the site, so it is not considered that the presence of 
functionally linked land within this section would provide unresolvable 
deliverability issues for this allocation. It is, however, noted that the presence of 
the functionally linked land in Section I would also require consideration within 
the masterplanning and project specific HRA.  

5.22 It is noted that Section H forms part of the internationally designated site itself 
and is nonetheless located within the site allocation boundary. The non-
breeding waterbird survey did not record any designated bird features within 
this section. Nonetheless, due to its international designation, Section H will 
require consideration within the masterplanning and project specific HRA and 
must be protected from lighting and other disturbance impacts during 
construction and operation. This cannot be assessed further until detailed 
designs and construction programmes for the development are devised. 
However, its presence is unlikely to provide any deliverability issues for this 
allocation. 

5.23 It is considered that allocating sites for development prior to full wintering bird 
surveys being undertaken is appropriate and legally compliant in this case. 
Firstly, the law accepts that ecological investigation to support plan 
development must be tiered, with more detailed investigation undertaken at 
each subsequent stage: 

Page 904



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
41 

 

• The Court of Appeal47 has ruled that provided the competent authority is duly 
satisfied that mitigation can be achieved in practice (in other words that 
solutions exist that are likely to be effective) this will suffice to enable a 
conclusion that the proposed development would have no adverse effect. 

• The High Court48 has ruled that for ‘a multistage process, so long as there is 
sufficient information at any particular stage to enable the authority to be 
satisfied that the proposed mitigation can be achieved in practice it is not 
necessary for all matters concerning mitigation to be fully resolved before a 
decision maker is able to conclude that a development will satisfy the 
requirements of the Habitats Regulations’. 

• Advocate-General Kokott49 has commented that ‘It would also hardly be 
proper to require a greater level of detail in preceding plans [than lower tier 
plans or planning applications] or the abolition of multi-stage planning and 
approval procedures so that the assessment of implications can be 
concentrated on one point in the procedure. Rather, adverse effects on areas 
of conservation must be assessed at every relevant stage of the procedure to 
the extent possible on the basis of the precision of the plan. This assessment 
is to be updated with increasing specificity in subsequent stages of the 
procedure’. 

 
5.24 Secondly, there is a low risk of any of these allocated sites proving 

undeliverable due to loss of functionally-linked land. The functionally-linked 
habitats in question are common, widespread and easily recreated (or 
managed in a more favourable manner) and the species in question do not 
have highly specific habitat requirements and are sufficiently widespread in 
their use of this functionally-linked land that development is only likely to affect 
a small amount of their overall foraging resource.  

Air Quality 

5.25 The guideline atmospheric concentration advocated by Government for the 
protection of vegetation is 30 micrograms per cubic metre (µgm-3), known as 
the Critical Level. The air quality data (see D) identifies that this is currently 
exceeded on several modelled transects. At their greatest, baseline NOx 
concentrations are currently 125.3µgm-3 adjacent to the road on the second 
Swale transect point. After 50 m, this is reduced to less than 30 µgm-3. At high 
concentrations (e.g. 75 micrograms and above) NOx can be directly toxic to 
vegetation50 but its main importance is as a source of nitrogen, which is then 
deposited on adjacent habitats51. At all transect points, during the Plan period 
the NOX concentrations are forecast to be greatly reduced due to improvements 
in vehicle emissions technology (i.e. people replacing older, more polluting 
vehicles, with newer, less polluting vehicles) and consistent with long-term 

 
47 No Adastral New Town Ltd (NANT) v Suffolk Coastal District Council Court of Appeal, 17th February 2015 
48 High Court case of R (Devon Wildlife Trust) v Teignbridge District Council, 28 July 2015 
49 Opinion of Advocate General Kokott, 9th June 2005, Case C-6/04. Commission of the European Communities 
v United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, paragraph 49. 
http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=58359&doclang=EN    
50 APIS identifies that negative effects of NO2 in atmosphere (as distinct from its role in nitrogen 
deposition) are most likely to arise in the presence of equivalent concentrations of sulphur dioxide 
(SO2).  
51 For example, the APIS website states that ‘It is likely that the strongest effect of emissions of 
nitrogen oxides across the UK is through their contribution to total nitrogen deposition…’ 
 http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm  

Page 905

http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=58359&doclang=EN
http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
42 

 

trends in NOx which has been reducing for decades. In all cases the Critical 
Level is forecast to be below 30 µgm-3 by 2037, with the exception of Swale 
transect 2, which is still above the Critical Level (69.9 µgm-3 at the immediate 
roadside) but below 75 µgm-3. 

5.26 APIS52 identifies that negative effects of NOx/NO2 in atmosphere (as distinct 
from its role in nitrogen deposition) are most likely to arise in the presence of 
equivalent concentrations of sulphur dioxide (SO2). Vehicle exhausts do not 
emit SO2 and APIS indicates that background SO2 concentrations at this SPA 
and Ramsar sites are very low (a maximum of 3.73 µgm-3) compared to critical 
levels for SO2 of 10-20 µgm-3. Since the SO2 concentrations are so low no 
synergistic effect with NOx is expected.  

5.27 However, the fact that NOx concentrations exceed the Critical Level certainly 
indicates nitrogen deposition requires consideration.  

5.28 The nitrogen Critical Load for grazing marsh and littoral sediment (the load 
above which adverse botanical effects may occur) is 20kg N/ha/yr53. The air 
quality modelling indicates that the modelled nitrogen deposition rate at the 
transect points for the Swale Crossing into the Isle of Sheppey is between 33.0 
and 13.7 kg N/ha/yr at the closest part of each of the six modelled transects to 
the road, in the base year 2017.  

5.29 The following table provides a summary of the key data detailing the changes in 
air quality at the six transect points of relevance to the Swale and Medway 
international sites. This data is discussed in the subsequent paragraphs. In 
Table 5, Base is the 2017 baseline deposition rates, Reference Case (RC) 2037 
is the forecast end of plan period deposition rates with all growth included 
except the Swale Local Plan, and LDP1054 is identical to the Reference Case 
but with Swale Local Plan added. The Future Baseline indicates what nitrogen 
deposition rates would be expected to be by the end of the plan period (2037) 
in the entirely theoretical situation of no further traffic growth above the baseline 
but applying improvements in vehicle emission factors. 

5.30 In interpreting these data, the following points are relevant: 

• Paragraph 5.26 of Natural England guidance54 states that ‘An 
exceedance [of the critical level or load] alone is insufficient to determine 
the acceptability (or otherwise) of a project’. So, the fact that the critical 
load for nitrogen is already exceeded is not a legitimate basis to 
conclude that any further nitrogen (no matter how small) will result in an 
adverse effect; and 

• Paragraph 4.25 of the same NE guidance states ‘…1% of critical 
load/level are considered by Natural England’s air quality specialists 
(and by industry, regulators and other statutory nature conservation 
bodies) to be suitably precautionary, as any emissions below this level 
are widely considered to be imperceptible…There can therefore be a 

 
52 http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm  
53 http://www.apis.ac.uk/ [accessed 07/01/2021] 
54 ‘Natural England’s approach to advising competent authorities on the assessment of road traffic 
emissions under the Habitats Regulations. Version: June 2018’. 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4720542048845824  

Page 906

http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm
http://www.apis.ac.uk/
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4720542048845824


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
43 

 

high degree of confidence in its application to screen for risks of an 
effect’. 

5.31 The ‘in combination’ nitrogen dose can be determined in Table 5 by comparing 
the LDP1054 scenario with the Future Baseline scenario, while the contribution 
of Swale Local Plan can be discerned by comparing the LDP1054 scenario with 
the Reference Case scenario. This is done in the final two columns. Orange 
shading in the cells indicates a dose greater than 1% of the Critical Load. 

Table 5 Summary of the Key Air Quality Data for the closest part of the 
international site to the modelled road for each modelled transect 

Receptor ID (transect point) Base 

2017 

Referenc

e Case 

2037 

Projecte

d 

Baseline 

2032 

LDP 

1054 

In 

combinatio

n dose 

Contributio

n of Swale 

Local Plan 

to the ‘in 

combinatio

n’ dose 

Total N 

Depositio

n (kg 

N/ha/yr) 

Total N 

Depositio

n (kg 

N/ha/yr) 

Total N 

Depositio

n (kg 

N/ha/yr) 

Total N 

Depositio

n (kg 

N/ha/yr) 

LDP1054- 

Future 

Baseline 

LDP1054-

RC 

Medway_Estuary_01 26.91 26.79 26.72 26.79 0.07 0.00 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2

_01 

27.89 27.36 27.09 27.28 0.18 -0.08 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3

_01 

28.47 27.81 27.36 27.72 0.35 -0.09 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3

_02 

28.04 27.53 27.19 27.46 0.27 -0.07 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3

_03 

27.79 27.36 27.08 27.31 0.22 -0.05 

The_Swale_01 26.89 26.83 26.75 26.81 0.06 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_2_01 33.02 30.65 29.43 30.33 0.90 -0.31 

The_Swale_Transect_2_02 31.33 29.54 28.62 29.30 0.68 -0.24 

Page 907



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
44 

 

The_Swale_Transect_2_03 29.57 28.41 27.83 28.26 0.43 -0.16 

The_Swale_Transect_2_04 28.80 27.93 27.49 27.81 0.32 -0.12 

The_Swale_Transect_2_05 28.36 27.66 27.31 27.56 0.25 -0.09 

The_Swale_Transect_2_06 28.07 27.48 27.19 27.40 0.21 -0.08 

The_Swale_Transect_3_01 15.26 14.64 14.09 14.48 0.39 -0.16 

The_Swale_Transect_3_02 14.79 14.28 13.89 14.18 0.29 -0.10 

The_Swale_Transect_3_03 14.52 14.09 13.78 14.01 0.23 -0.08 

 

5.32 With regard to Medway Estuary Transects 1 and 2, and The Swale Transect 1, 
the data (Table 5) identify that in combination (the DS-Future Baseline column), 
nitrogen deposition due to all expected traffic growth to 2037 will be less than 
1% of the Critical Load for grazing marsh and littoral sediment (1% of 20kg 
N/ha/yr = 0.20kg  N/ha/yr), and as such no adverse effects on the integrity of 
the designated sites will result at these locations in combination. Furthermore, 
at all three transect locations, the Swale Plan in isolation (DS-DM Column) is 
identified to either have zero contribution to nitrogen deposition55, or to have a 
positive contribution, thus actually reducing the nitrogen depositions at these 
locations. This is most likely attributable to traffic improvement measures 
contained within the Local Plan  to reduce congestion enabling a net 
improvement in flows.  

5.33 Table 5 identifies that at Medway Estuary Transect 3, and the Swale Transect 2 
and 3, the in combination nitrogen deposition is greater than imperceptible. 
However, from looking at the detail further, at all three transect routes, the 
Swale Plan in isolation is identified to provide a positive contribution to nitrogen 
deposition rates, reducing atmospheric nitrogen deposition rates compared to a 
situation without the plan, and thus actually reducing the nitrogen depositions at 
these locations compared to the situation that would otherwise arise. As a 
result, it can be concluded that the Plan would not result in an adverse effect on 
the integrity of any international designated sites as a result of increased 
nitrogen deposition.  

 
55 Note that this does not literally mean zero contribution but that the contribution is so small it is only affects the 
third decimal place which is not reported in air quality modelling to avoid false precision 

Page 908



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
45 

 

5.34 Moreover, habitats closely linked to coastal and fluvial sources of water such as 
grazing marsh and littoral sediment are generally nitrogen rich and will receive 
far more nitrogen through inundation from marine and freshwater than through 
deposition from atmosphere, rendering atmospheric inputs much less relevant 
than for other situations56. In addition, the value of grazing marsh to SPA birds 
is dictated less by its detailed botanical composition (which is the aspect most 
likely to be affected by changes in atmospheric nitrogen deposition) than by its 
regular seasonal inundation and its overall habitat structure57. 

Coastal Squeeze 

5.35 It has been identified that the allocation SLA18/113: Land at The Port of 
Sheerness, Rushenden Road could potentially result in coastal squeeze given 
that the boundary of the allocated site (which it is accepted is considerably 
larger than the area actually intended for development) abuts the Medway 
Estuary & Marshes SPA/Ramsar site. This cannot be assessed further at the 
Local Plan level except to note that the actual proposed development area is a 
considerable distance from the SPA/Ramsar site and does allow sufficient 
space for Managed Realignment to be achieved. 

5.36 The SMP’s medium to long term policy of Managed Realignment and the Flood 
Risk Management Strategy’s policy of No Active Intervention, is intended to 
enable the designated site to react to rising sea levels as a result of climate 
change and thus preserve its integrity. To ensure that this allocation does 
not result in an adverse effect on the integrity of the Medway Estuary and 
Marsh SPA and Ramsar site, it is recommended that policy wording is 
included within the Plan that detailed proposals for land use in the 
allocated site must ensure the allocation does not compromise the 
Managed Realignment policy set out in the Shoreline Management Plan or 
the No Active Intervention policy within the Flood Risk Management 
Strategy, and that development is planned to achieve the maximum 
retreat.  

North Downs Woodlands SAC 

Air Quality 
5.37 The air quality data (see Appendix D) identifies that the Critical Level for NOX 

along the A249 at the Wouldham and Detling SSSI transect point is currently 
exceeded (annual mean NOX concentrations are modelled to be currently 
57.67µg/m3 at the closest point of the SAC to the A249). As previously detailed, 
with regard to NOx itself APIS58 identifies that negative effects of NOx/NO2 in 
atmosphere (as distinct from its role in nitrogen deposition) are most likely to 
arise in the presence of equivalent concentrations of sulphur dioxide (SO2). 
Vehicle exhausts do not emit SO2 and APIS indicates that background SO2 

 
56 This is reflected on the UK Air Pollution Information System website which states that ‘Overall, N deposition 
[from atmosphere] is likely to be of low importance for these systems as the inputs are probably significantly 
below the large nutrient loadings from river and tidal inputs’ . 
57 It is noted that Natural England (John Lister) commented in its Local Plan consultation response of 30/01/15 
that unspecified information to hand identified a deposition rate of c. 20kgN/ha/yr for The Swale SPA/Ramsar 
site. It is unclear whether this was data received from specific monitoring, or was a reference to the general 
deposition rate for the centroid of the SPA (rather than the specific locations discussed in this HRA). Either way, 
in this case the conclusion of the analysis would remain valid due to the small importance of atmospheric 
nitrogen deposition (relative to inundation and management) for these particular species of this particular 
SPA/Ramsar site. 
58 http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm  

Page 909

http://www.apis.ac.uk/overview/pollutants/overview_NOx.htm


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
46 

 

concentrations at this SAC is very low (a maximum of 1.51 µgm-3) compared to 
critical levels for SO2 of 10-20 µgm-3. Since the SO2 concentrations are so low 
no synergistic effect with NOx is expected. Moreover, by 2037 total NOx 
concentrations are forecast to have fallen below the Critical Level (except at the 
very edge of the SAC) even allowing for traffic growth, due to improvements in 
vehicle emissions technology. 

5.38 However, the fact that NOx exceeds the Critical Level certainly indicates 
nitrogen deposition requires consideration.  

5.39 Whilst the sensitive features of the site are currently identified to be in 
favourable condition59, the nitrogen deposition rates at the site (maximum of 
32.53kg N/ha/yr) currently far exceed the minimum critical load for both yew 
woodland and beech forest (10 kg N/ha/yr)60. The modelled data identify that 
the ‘in combination’ effect of all expected growth (including the Maidstone Local 
Plan and Swale Local Plan) is 0.51kg N/ha/yr at its greatest (within 7m of the 
roadside) and thus well above the 1% of the critical load threshold (i.e. 0.1kg 
N/ha/yr). As such could be considered to be potentially significant. However, the 
Swale Local Plan contributes at most 0.05 kg N/ha/yr, which is barely 
perceptible and only slightly more than zero. It is therefore considered that the 
Swale Local Plan would not result in an adverse effect on the integrity of the 
international designated sites as a result of increased nitrogen deposition.   

5.40 In reaching this conclusion we are mindful of paragraph 48 of Advocate-
General Sharpston’s Opinion in European Court of Justice Case C-258/11 
where she stated that: ‘the requirement for an effect to be ‘significant’ exists in 
order to lay down a de minimis threshold. Plans and projects that have no 
appreciable effect on the site can therefore be excluded. If all plans and 
projects capable of having any effect whatsoever on the site were to be caught 
by Article 6(3), activities on or near the site would risk being impossible by 
reason of legislative overkill’. We are also mindful that, Mr Justice Jay, when 
ruling in Wealden v SSCLG [2017] EWHC 351 (Admin) (2017), accepted that if 
the contribution of an individual plan or project was ‘very small indeed’ it could 
be legitimately and legally excluded from ‘in combination’ assessment. This is 
consistent with Advocate-General Sharpston’s position. 

  

 
59 https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/UnitDetail.aspx?UnitId=1006693 accessed 08/01/2021] 
60 www.apis.ac.uk/ [accessed 08/01/2021]. APIS provides a critical load range for coniferous woodland of 5 - 15 
kgN/ha/yr in the Site Relevant Critical Load tab for the North Downs Woodlands SAC. However, the range for 
coniferous woodland is derived from research into pine and spruce forests. In addition, a site visit has confirmed 
that the small section of woodland within 200m of the existing A229 is predominantly broadleaved. The 10 - 15 
kgN/ha/yr range for beech woodland is therefore considered to be the most appropriate critical load for this part 
of the North Downs Woodlands SAC. This can be seen from the entry for coniferous woodland on the following 
page on APIS where it directs the reader to use 10 kgN/ha/yr unless lichens/ free-living algae are important 
features of the site http://www.apis.ac.uk/indicative-critical-load-values  

Page 910

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/UnitDetail.aspx?UnitId=1006693
http://www.apis.ac.uk/
http://www.apis.ac.uk/indicative-critical-load-values


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
47 

 

6. Conclusions and a Summary of 
Recommendations and 
Considerations 

Conclusions 
6.1 HRA was undertaken of The Swale Local Plan Review (Regulation 19) 

February 2021. A Test of Likely Significant Effects  was undertaken of Plan 
policy and site allocations in relation to the following internationally designated 
sites and impact pathways:  

• The Swale SPA/Ramsar - Recreational Pressure, Functionally 
Linked Land, Visual and Noise Disturbance, Air Quality, Water Quality 

• Medway Estuary & Marshes SPA/Ramsar:  Recreational Pressure, 
Functionally Linked Land, Visual and Noise Disturbance, Air Quality, 
Water Quality, Coastal Squeeze 

• Blean Complex SAC: Air Quality 

• Outer Thames Estuary SPA: Visual and Noise Disturbance 

• North Downs Woodlands SAC: Air Quality 

6.2 Following the Test of Likely Significant Effects, Appropriate Assessment was 
undertaken of potential linking impact pathways that could not be screened out 
and were identified to potentially result in an adverse effect on the integrity of 
an international site. Appropriate Assessment was undertaken as follows:  

The Swale SPA/Ramsar and Medway Estuary & 
Marshes SPA/Ramsar 

Recreational Pressure 

6.3 In accordance with the Bird Wise North Kent Mitigation Strategy61,all residential 
development within 6km of the North Kent Bird sites could result in an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the SPA as a result of increased recreational pressure. 
The strategic Mitigation Strategy is funded by developer contributions. It 
provides for a range of mitigation and avoidance strategies. As such to ensure 
no adverse effects on the integrity of the designated sites occurs, any net new 
residential development within 6km of the North Kent Bird sites will be required 
to contribute to the Mitigation Strategy and provide the appropriate financial 
contributions.  

6.4 The requirement for contributions towards this mitigation strategy is detailed 
within Plan Policy ST 10: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.  

 
61 https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf [accessed 
07/01/2021] 

Page 911

https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
48 

 

6.5 It can therefore be concluded that the Plan provides sufficient protective policy 
framework to ensure no adverse effects on the integrity result as a result of 
increased recreational pressure from new residential development stemming 
from the Plan.  

Functionally Linked Land and Visual and Noise Disturbance 

6.6 the following allocations have been identified to be located within land parcels 
that have the potential to provide habitat that could support a significant 
population of designated bird species, and thus could act as functionally linked 
land:  

• SLA18/135: Land at Graveney Road, East of Faversham 

• SLA18/091: Land at Lady Dane Farm 

• SLA18/025: Land West of Frognal Lane 

• SLA18/122: Land at Claxfield Road (Site 1) 

• SLA18/113: Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushenden Road 

6.7 In addition, allocation SLA18/116: Land South of London Road/West of Lynsted 
Lane, is located immediately adjacent to potentially functionally linked land. 
This allocation could provide disturbance to any significant bird populations 
located within adjacent fields, and as such could result in adverse effects on the 
integrity of the designated bird sites.  

6.8 All sites identified above should provide policy or supporting requiring the need 
to determine if the land parcel or neighbouring affected land does indeed act 
functionally linked land by inclusion of the following (or similar text).   

6.9 “The applicant will be required to provide evidence that the development will not 
result in a Likely Significant Effect. To achieve this, surveys will be required to 
determine habitats and current use of the site and surrounding land parcels to 
determine if it does support a significant population (A significant population is 
classified as a site that regularly used by more than 1% of the population of 
qualifying bird species) of qualifying species. Where habitats are suitable, non-
breeding bird surveys will be required to determine if the site and neighbouring 
land constitute a significant area of supporting habitat. Surveys should be 
required to be undertaken during autumn, winter and spring and at more than 1 
year of surveys may be needed (to be agreed in consultation with the local 
planning authority and Natural England). If habitat within or adjacent to the site 
is identified to support significant populations of designated bird features 
avoidance measures and mitigation will be required, such as the creation of 
replacement habitat nearby, and the planning application will likely need to be 
supported by a project specific Habitats Regulations Assessment to ensure that 
the development does not result in adverse effects on integrity.” 

6.10 With the above recommendation it can be concluded that the Plan will not result 
in an adverse effect on the integrity of the international sites.  

Air Quality 

6.11 Air quality modelling was undertaken of the A249 within 200m of The Swale 
PSA and Ramsar site and the Medway Estuary and Marshes Spa and Ramsar 

Page 912



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
49 

 

sites.  It identified that whilst in combination the plan would retard 
improvements in nitrogen deposition rates within the internationally designated 
sites, ultimately in isolation, the Plan will result in an improvement in the 
retardation rate. As a result, it can be concluded that the Plan would not result 
in an adverse effect on the integrity of any international designated sites as a 
result of increased nitrogen deposition.  

Coastal Squeeze 

6.12 Allocation SLA18/113: Land at The Port of Sheerness, Rushenden Road could 
potentially result in coastal squeeze given that the boundary of the allocated 
site (which it is accepted is considerably larger than the area actually intended 
for development) abuts the Medway Estuary & Marshes SPA/Ramsar site. This 
cannot be assessed further at the Local Plan level.  

6.13 The SMP’s medium to long term policy of Managed Realignment and the Flood 
Risk Management Strategy’s policy of No Active Intervention, is intended to 
enable the designated site to react to rising sea levels as a result of climate 
change and thus preserve its integrity. To ensure that this allocation does 
not result in an adverse effect on the integrity of the Medway Estuary and 
Marsh SPA and Ramsar site, it is recommended that policy wording is 
included within the Plan that detailed proposals for land use in the 
allocated site must ensure the allocation does not compromise the 
Managed Realignment policy set out in the Shoreline Management Plan or 
the No Active Intervention policy within the Flood Risk Management 
Strategy, and that development is planned to achieve the maximum 
retreat.  

North Downs Woodlands SAC 

Air Quality 

6.14 Air quality modelling was undertaken of the A249 within 200m of SAC. It 
identified that the ‘in combination’ effect of all expected growth (including the 
Maidstone Local Plan and Swale Local Plan) is well above the 1% of the critical 
load threshold. As such could be considered to be potentially significant. 
However, the Swale Local Plan contributes at most 0.05 kg N/ha/yr, which is 
barely perceptible and only slightly more than zero. It is therefore considered 
that the Swale Local Plan would not result in an adverse effect on the integrity 
of the international designated sites as a result of increased nitrogen 
deposition.   

Page 913



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
50 

 

Appendix A Internationally Designated 
Sites 

Figure A1: Location of Internationally Designated 
Sites 

  

Page 914



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
51 

 

The Swale SPA and Ramsar Site 

Reason for Designation 

The SPA is designated for62:  

During the breeding season: 

• Avocet Recurvirostra avosetta 

• Marsh Harrier Circus aeruginosus 

• Mediterranean Gull Larus melanocephalus 

Over winter: 

• Avocet Recurvirostra avosetta 

• Bar-tailed Godwit Limosa lapponica  

• Golden Plover Pluvialis apricaria  

• Hen Harrier Circus cyaneus 

• Black-tailed Godwit Limosa limosa islandica 

• Grey Plover Pluvialis squatarola 

• Knot Calidris canutus 

• Pintail Anas acuta 

• Redshank Tringa totanus 

• Shoveler Anas clypeata 

• Dark-bellied Brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla 

• Dunlin Calidris alpina alpina 

On passage: 

• Ringed Plover Charadrius hiaticula 

The SPA also qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Directive (79/409/EEC) by regularly 
supporting at least 20,000 waterfowl (Over winter, the area regularly supports 65,390 
individual waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1991/2 - 1995/6)) 

The Ramsar site is designated for63:  

The Ramsar information sheet states that The Swale comprises, “A complex of 
brackish and freshwater, floodplain grazing marsh with ditches, and intertidal 
saltmarsh and mudflat. These habitats together support internationally important 
numbers of wintering waterfowl. Rare wetland birds breed in important numbers. The 
saltmarsh and grazing marsh are of international importance for their diverse 
assemblages of wetland plants and invertebrates”. 

 
62 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4517156041523200 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
63 https://jncc.gov.uk/jncc-assets/RIS/UK11071.pdf [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 915

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4517156041523200
https://jncc.gov.uk/jncc-assets/RIS/UK11071.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
52 

 

Ramsar criterion 2:  The site supports nationally scarce plants and at least seven 
British Red data book invertebrates. 

Ramsar criterion 5:  Assemblages of international importance: Species with peak 
counts in winter:  77501 waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1998/99-2002/2003). 

Ramsar criterion 6: – Species/populations occurring at levels of international 
importance.  

Species with peak counts in spring/autumn: 

• Common redshank Tringa totanus tetanus 

Species with peak counts in winter: 

• Dark-bellied brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla 

• Grey plover Pluvialis squatarola, E Atlantic/W Africa -wintering 

 

Species/populations identified subsequent to designation for possible future 
consideration under criterion 6: 

Species with peak counts in spring/autumn: 

• Ringed plover Charadrius hiaticula, Europe/Northwest Africa 

Species with peak counts in winter: 

• Eurasian wigeon Anas penelope, NW Europe 

• Northern pintail Anas acuta, NW Europe 

• Northern shoveler Anas clypeata, NW & C Europe 

• Black-tailed godwit Limosa limosa islandica, Iceland/W Europe 

Conservation Objectives of the SPA64 

“With regard to the SPA and the individual species and/or assemblage of species for 
which the site has been classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and 
subject to natural change;  

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by 
maintaining or restoring;  

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features  

• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features  

• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying 
features rely  

• The population of each of the qualifying features, and,  

 
64 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4666133965963264 [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 916

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4666133965963264


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
53 

 

• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site.” 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures65 

• Coastal squeeze 

• Public access/ disturbance 

• Invasive species 

• Changes in species distribution 

• Fisheries: commercial marine and estuarine 

• Vehicles: illicit 

• Air pollution: risk of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

Medway Estuary and Marshes SPA and Ramsar Site 

Reason for Designation 

The site is designated as an SPA66 for supporting bird populations of European 
importance for the breeding species of: 

• Avocet Recurvirostra avosetta  

• Little tern Sterna albifrons  

• Common tern Sterna hirundo  

The site is designated as an SPA for supporting bird populations of European 
importance for the over-wintering species of: 

• Tundra swan Cygnus columbianus bewickii 

• Avocet Recurvirostra avosetta 

The Ramsar site is designated for67:  

The Ramsar information sheet states that Medway Estuary and Marshes site 
comprises, “A complex of brackish and freshwater, floodplain grazing marsh with 
ditches, and intertidal saltmarsh and mudflat. These habitats together support 
internationally important numbers of wintering waterfowl. Rare wetland birds breed in 
important numbers. The saltmarsh and grazing marsh are of international importance 
for their diverse assemblages of wetland plants and invertebrates”. 

Ramsar criterion 2:  The site supports nationally scarce plants and at least seven 
British Red data book invertebrates. 

Ramsar criterion 5:  Assemblages of international importance: Species with peak 
counts in winter: 47637 waterfowl (5 year peak mean 1998/99-2002/2003). 

 
65 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5760073666134016 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
66 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5039453273849856 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
67 https://rsis.ramsar.org/RISapp/files/RISrep/GB645RIS.pdf [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 917

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5760073666134016
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5039453273849856
https://rsis.ramsar.org/RISapp/files/RISrep/GB645RIS.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
54 

 

Ramsar criterion 6: – Species/populations occurring at levels of international 
importance. The site has bird species occurring in internationally important numbers: 
Redshank, grey plover (spring/autumn), dark-bellied brent goose, shelduck, pintail, 
red knot, ringed plover, dunlin (winter) 

Conservation Objectives of the SPA68 

“With regard to the SPA and the individual species and/or assemblage of species for 
which the site has been classified (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and 
subject to natural change;  

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by 
maintaining or restoring;  

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features  

• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features  

• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying 
features rely  

• The population of each of the qualifying features, and,  

• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site.” 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures69 

• Coastal squeeze 

• Public access/ disturbance 

• Invasive species 

• Changes in species distribution 

• Fisheries: commercial marine and estuarine 

• Vehicles: illicit 

• Air pollution: risk of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

The Outer Thames Estuary SPA  

Reason for Designation 

The Marine SPA is designated for its70:  

• Red-throated diver Gavia stellate (non-breeding) 

• Common tern Sterna hirundo (breeding) 

• Little tern Sternula albifrons (breeding) 

 
68 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6672791487119360 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
69 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5760073666134016 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
70 https://jncc.gov.uk/jncc-assets/SPA-N2K/UK9020309.pdf [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 918

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6672791487119360
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5760073666134016
https://jncc.gov.uk/jncc-assets/SPA-N2K/UK9020309.pdf


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
55 

 

Conservation Objectives71 

“The site’s conservation objectives apply to the site and the individual species and/or 
assemblage of species for which the site has been classified (the "Qualifying 
features" listed above).  

The objectives are to ensure that, subject to natural change, the integrity of the site 
is maintained or restored as appropriate, and that the site contributes to achieving 
the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring:  

• the extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• the structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 

• the supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features 
rely 

• the populations of each of the qualifying features 

• the distribution of qualifying features within the site” 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures 

• Low levels of winter disturbance (from both noise and visual presence); 

• Low risk of direct birdstrike from wind turbines; 

• Good water quality; and 

• Limited dredging. 

Queendown Warren SAC 

Reason for Designation72 

The site is designated as a SAC for its: 

• Dry grasslands and scrublands on chalk or limestone, including 
important orchid sites. 

Conservation Objectives73 

“With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site 
has been designated (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural 
change;  

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of 
its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or restoring;  

 
71 
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/Marine/MarineSiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=UK9020309&S
iteName=outer%20thames&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea=&HasCA=1&
NumMarineSeasonality=3&SiteNameDisplay=Outer%20Thames%20Estuary%20SPA#hlco [accessed 
23/12/2020] 
72 https://jncc.gov.uk/jncc-assets/SAC-N2K/UK0012833.pdf [accessed 23/12/2020] 
73 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4860443613200384 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
  http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4724631642832896 [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 919

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/Marine/MarineSiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=UK9020309&SiteName=outer%20thames&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea=&HasCA=1&NumMarineSeasonality=3&SiteNameDisplay=Outer%20Thames%20Estuary%20SPA#hlco
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/Marine/MarineSiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=UK9020309&SiteName=outer%20thames&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea=&HasCA=1&NumMarineSeasonality=3&SiteNameDisplay=Outer%20Thames%20Estuary%20SPA#hlco
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/Marine/MarineSiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=UK9020309&SiteName=outer%20thames&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea=&HasCA=1&NumMarineSeasonality=3&SiteNameDisplay=Outer%20Thames%20Estuary%20SPA#hlco
https://jncc.gov.uk/jncc-assets/SAC-N2K/UK0012833.pdf
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4860443613200384
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4724631642832896


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
56 

 

• The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats  

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural 
habitats, and  

• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats rely” 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures74 

• Species decline 

• Habitat fragmentation 

• Air quality: risk of atmospheric nitrogen deposition  

The Blean Complex SAC 

Reason for Designation75 

The site is designated as a SAC for its: 

• Sub-Atlantic and medio-European oak or oak-hornbeam forests of the 
Carpinion betuli. (Oak-hornbeam forests) 

Conservation Objectives76 

“With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site 
has been designated (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural 
change;  

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of 
its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or restoring;  

• The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats  

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural 
habitats, and  

• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats rely” 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures77 

• Air quality: risk of atmospheric nitrogen deposition  

North Downs Woodlands SAC 

Reason for Designation78 

The site is designated as a SAC for its: 

 
74 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4943746697265152 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
75  http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/6743128623022080 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
76 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/6568792784371712 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
77 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4985875433783296 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
78 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/6520020842577920 [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 920

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4943746697265152
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/6743128623022080
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/6568792784371712
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4985875433783296
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/6520020842577920


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
57 

 

• Taxus baccata woods of the British Isles. (Yew-dominated woodland)*  

• Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests. (Beech forests on neutral to rich soils)  

• Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies: on calcareous 
substrates (Festuco-Brometalia). (Dry grasslands and scrublands on 
chalk or limestone) 

Conservation Objectives79 

“With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for which the site 
has been designated (the ‘Qualifying Features’ listed below), and subject to natural 
change;  

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and 
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of 
its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or restoring;  

• The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats  

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural 
habitats, and  

• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats rely” 

Historic Trends and Current Pressures80 

• Public access/ disturbance 

• Forestry and woodland management 

• Invasive species 

• Air pollution: impact of atmospheric nitrogen deposition 

 
79  http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5579173532008448 [accessed 23/12/2020] 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5280120969625600  [accessed 23/12/2020] 
80 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6363401429188608 [accessed 23/12/2020] 

Page 921

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5579173532008448
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/5280120969625600
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6363401429188608


Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
58 

 

Appendix B Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Policy  

Where a column is identified in green, this impact pathway does not contain any potential linking impact pathways to an international site. 
Where a column is identified in Orange, potential linking impact pathways exist between the policy and an international site and the site and 
policy will be subject to further discussions and appropriate assessment.  

Table 6 Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Policy 

Policy Description Test of Likely Significant Effects 
Outcome 

Policy ST 1 Swale’s 
development needs for jobs 
and homes 2022 – 2038 
 

This policy identifies that the plan will deliver:  
- 66ha or 40ha of B Class Employment floorspace 

provision.  
- 16,608 (1.038 dwellings per annum) net new dwellings  

Potential HRA implications.  
Both residential and employment 
development have the potential to result 
in the following potential linking impact 
pathways:  

- Recreational pressure 
- Loss of functionally linked land 
- Visual noise and disturbance 
- Atmospheric pollution 
- Water resources 
- Water quality 

Policy ST 2 Swale settlement 
strategy 

This is a broad development management policy detailing 
settlements that will be the main focus of development. This 
policy does not identify any type, specific location or quantum 
of development  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy ST 3 Delivering 
sustainable development in 
Swale 

A development management policy detailing the requirements 
to deliver sustainable development in Swale that provides both 
mitigation and adaptation to climate change 

No HRA implications.  
By definition sustainable development 
would not adversely affect an 
internationally designated site.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

P
age 922



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
59 

 

Policy ST 4 Building a strong, 
competitive economy 

This is a development management policy relating to 
economic growth. 

No HRA implications.  
Whilst this type of development has the 
potential to result in pathways that could 
link to a designated site such as 
recreational pressure, air quality and 
water quality and quantity issues, this 
policy does not itself provide for any 
location or quantum of development.  
There are no realistic linking impact 
pathways present.  

Policy ST 5 Delivering a wide 
choice of high-quality homes 

This is a development management policy relating to the 
quality of new homes 

No HRA implications.  
This policy does not itself provide for a 
quantum, or location of residential 
development.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy ST 6 Good design This is development management policy relating to design.  No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy ST 7 
Health and Wellbeing 

This policy relates to health and wellbeing.  No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy ST 8 
Planning for Infrastructure 

This policy details that the Council will work with providers, 
stakeholders and applicant to ensure development is 
supported by necessary infrastructure in a timely manner.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy ST 9 
Promoting Sustainable 
Transport and Active Travel 

This policy promotes sustainable travel and active travel. By 
definition this would not result in an adverse effect on the 
integrity of an international site and has the potential to reduce 
atmospheric pollution contributions. This policy includes the 
provision of increased commercial use of the waterways 
through working with the Port of Sheerness 

No HRA implications  
There are no realistic linking impact 
pathways present.  

Policy ST 10 Provides for the conservation and enhancement of the natural No HRA implications.  

P
age 923



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
60 

 

Conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment 

environment. It includes specific policy wording that identifies 
the need for project specific HRA and to ensure that no 
adverse effect on the integrity of an internationally designated 
site alone or in combination with other plan and projects 
occurs.  
It states:  
“9. Ensure that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of a 
SAC, SPA or Ramsar site, alone or in combination with other 
plan and projects, as it would not be in accordance with the 
aims and objectives of this Local Plan; 
10. Require the completion of project specific Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, in accordance with Policy DM24, to 
ensure there are no likely significant effects upon any 
European designated site. For residential sites within 6km of 
an access point to any of the North Kent Marshes, 
development must contribute to its Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring Strategy or undertake their own 
HRA;” 

There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy ST 11 
Conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment 

This is a development management policy relating to the 
historic environment.  

No HRA implications. 
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy A 1  
Saved housing allocations 

A policy providing for the safeguarding of allocations 
previously allocated within the Bearing Fruits Plan.  

No HRA implications. 
This policy is for the safeguarding of 
housing allocations provided in the 
Bearing Fruits Plan. The allocations 
provided within the Bearing Fruits Plan 
were subject to their own HRA and no 
adverse effects on the integrity was 
concluded. 
There are no HRA implications present.  

Policy A 2 
Kent Science Park 

This policy supports residential proposals at the Kent Science 
Park, but does not provide for any quantum. This allocation is 

Potential HRA implications.  
Potential linking impact pathways 

P
age 924



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
61 

 

carried over the from Bearing Fruits Plan.  present include  
- Recreational pressure 
- Atmospheric pollution 
- Water resources 

The Bearing Fruits Plan has already 
been subject to HRA and no adverse 
effects on the integrity was concluded. 

Policy A 3a 
Ridham and Kemsley, 
Sittingbourne 

Supports employment development as this location. This 
allocation is carried over the from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

Potential HRA implications.  
─ Potential linking impact 

pathways present Disturbance 
(other than recreation)  

─ Proximity effects,  

─ Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

As such this allocation has the potential 
to result in a likely significant effect 

Policy A 3b 
Neatscourt, Queenborough, 
Isle of Sheppey 

Supports employment development as this location. This 
allocation is carried over the from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

Potential HRA implications.  
Potential linking impact pathways 
present:  

─ Disturbance (other than 
recreation),  

─ Proximity effects,  

─ Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

As such this allocation has the potential 
to result in a likely significant effect 

Policy A 3c 
Land South of Kemsley Mill 

Supports employment development as this location. This 
allocation is carried over the from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

Potential HRA implications.  
Potential linking impact pathways 

P
age 925



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
62 

 

present:  
─ Atmospheric pollution and  

─ Water quality.  

Policy A 3d 
Land at West Minster, 
Sheerness 

A development management policy that supports employment 
development as this location. This allocation is carried over the 
from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact 
pathways present. 

Policy A 3e 
Land at Cowstead Corner, 
Queenborough 

A development management policy that supports employment 
development as this location. This allocation is carried over the 
from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact 
pathways present. 

Policy A 3f 
Land at Selling Road, 
Faversham 
 

A development management policy that supports employment 
development as this location. This allocation is carried over the 
from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact 

pathways present. 

Policy A 3g 
Land at Graveney Road, east 
of Faversham 

A development management policy that supports employment 
development as this location. This allocation is carried over the 
from Bearing Fruits Plan. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact 

pathways present. 

A4  
Smaller allocations for 
housing development 

A development management policy for allocations not yet 
implemented in the Bearing Fruits Local Plan Policies 20 and 
21. It also allocates a new residential allocation at the Garden 
Hotel, The Street, Boughton for up to 20 net new dwellings.  

Potential HRA implications.  
Potential linking impact pathways 
present include  

- Recreational pressure 
- Atmospheric pollution 
- Water resources 

Policy MU 1 
East of Faversham Expansion 

This is a development management policy relating to the 
masterplanning of this site (consisting of three sites: land at 
Graveney Road, land at Lady Dane Farm and land at South 
East Faversham).  
It details the need to accord with the Strategic Access Manage 
There are no linking impact pathways present. Requires the 
requirement for financial contributions toward the Strategic 
Access Management and Monitoring Strategy if required, and 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

P
age 926



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
63 

 

the need for the provision of a project specific Habitats 
Regulations Assessment.  

Policy MU 1a Land at 
Graveney Road 

Provides for 240 new dwellings and a comprehensive 
landscape framework. 
Also provides development management policy including: 
“3. Provide evidence that the development will not result in a 
‘Likely Significant Effect’ to any European site of biodiversity 
interest.” 

Potential HRA implications 
Please see Appendix C, Table C1 
(allocation SLA18/135: Land at 
Graveney Road, East of Faversham) for 
the Test of Likely Significant Effects 
Potential linking impact pathways:  

─ Functionally Linked Land 

─  Disturbance to land adjacent to 
the site allocation 

─  Recreational Pressure 
Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

Policy MU 1b Land at Lady 
Dane Farm 
 

Provides for 600 new dwellings, and mixed-use development 
including a 10ha employment hub.  
Also provides development management policy including: 
“8. Provide evidence that the development will not result in a 
‘Likely Significant Effect’ to any European site of biodiversity 
interest.” 

Potential HRA implications 
Please see Appendix C, Table C1 
(allocation SLA18/091: Land at Lady 
Dane Farm) for the Test of Likely 
Significant Effects 
Potential linking impact pathways:  

─  Functionally Linked Land 

─  Disturbance to land adjacent to 
the site allocation 

─  Recreational Pressure  

─ Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

Policy MU 1c Land at South 
East Faversham 

Provides for 2500 dwellings, a variety of employment space 
capable of supporting 2500 

Potential HRA implications 
Please see Appendix C, Table C1 

P
age 927



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
64 

 

jobs, community infrastructure, open space and habitat 
creation on land at South East Faversham 
Development proposals will: 
Also provides development management policy.  

(allocationSLA18/226: South East 
Faversham) for the Test of Likely 
Significant Effects 
Potential linking impact pathways:  

─  Recreational Pressure 

─  Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

Policy AO 1 Teynham Area of 
Opportunity 
 

Provides approximately 1,100 homes, proportionate 
employment and accompanying infrastructure to be 
commenced in the mid to latter part of the 
plan period (post 2028). 
Also provides development management policy. 

Potential HRA implications 
Please see Appendix C, Table C1 
(allocations SLA18/025: Land West of 
Frognal Lane, SLA18/106: Land at 
Barrow Green Farm, London Road, 
SLA18/123: Land at Claxfield Road 
(Site 2), SLA18/122: Land at Claxfield 
Road (Site 1), SLA18/116: Land South 
of London Road/West of Lynsted Lane, 
SLA18/010: Land at Cellar Hilland and, 
SLA18/153: Land south of Dover Castle 
Inn, A2 London Road/Cellar Hill) for the 
Test of Likely Significant Effects 
Potential linking impact pathways:  

─ Functionally Linked Land 

─  Disturbance to land adjacent to 
the site allocation 

─  Recreational Pressure 

─ Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

Policy A 5 Provides for up to 90 dwellings  Potential HRA implications 

P
age 928



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
65 

 

Land at Neames Forstal, 
Selling 

Also provides development management policy. Please see Appendix C, Table C1 
(allocations SLA18/096: Land East of 
Selling Road (2) and SLA18/094:  Land 
East of Selling Road) for the Test of 
Likely Significant Effects 
Potential linking impact pathways:  

─ Functionally Linked Land 

─  Disturbance to land adjacent to 
the site allocation 

─  Recreational Pressure 

─ Atmospheric pollution 

─ Water resources 

Policy A 6 
Lamberhurst Farm, Yorkletts 

Provides for 5.5ha of employment space. 
Also provides development management policy. 

No HRA implications 
Please see Appendix C, Table C1 
(SLA18/154: Land at Lamberhurst 
Farm) for the Test of Likely Significant 
Effects 
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy Regen 1 
The Port of Sheerness: 
Regeneration Area 

This policy supports proposals that maintain and enhance the 
Port of Sheerness as a deepwater gateway port to Europe.  
Provides development management policy, including the 
requirement that “a project specific HRA demonstrates that the 
integrity of the Outer Thames Estuary SPA is retained”  

No HRA implications.  
Due to the proximity of the port to both 
the Outer Thames Estuary SPA and the 
Medway and Marshes SPA and Ramsar 
site, there is potential for disturbance 
(non-recreational) to impact upon the 
designated sites from port 
enhancements depending on what they 
might be.  
However, no type, location or extent of 
development is identified and there are 

P
age 929



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
66 

 

no realistic linking impact pathways 
present. Therefore the policy itself is not 
considered likely to result in a significant 
effect. 

Policy Regen 2 
Sittingbourne Town Centre 

A development management policy relating to the regeneration 
of Sittingbourne Town Centre. No specific location, extent or 
type of development is identified 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present.  

Policy Regen 3a 
Queenborough and 
Rushenden Regeneration 
Area 

A development management policy relating to the regeneration 
of Queenborough and Rushenden. It supports regeneration for 
residential, employment and community uses, although no 
exact extent, location or quantum is identified.  
Includes for the requirement of a project specific Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, including the need for financial 
contribution towards the Strategic Access Management and 
Monitoring Strategy as required.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy Regen 3b  
Rushenden South Area 

A development management policy that also provides for 850 
net new dwellings and employment space.  
Includes for the requirement of a project specific Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, including the need for financial 
contribution towards the Strategic Access Management and 
Monitoring Strategy as required. 

Potential HRA implications.  
Both residential and employment 
development have the potential to result 
in the following potential linking impact 
pathways:  

- Recreational pressure 
- Loss of functionally linked land 
- Visual noise and disturbance 
- Atmospheric pollution 
- Water resources 
- Water quality 
 

Please see Appendix C, Table C1 
(SLA18/113: Land at The Port of 
Sheerness, Rushenden Road) for the 
Test of Likely Significant Effects for the 
allocation site 

P
age 930



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
67 

 

Policy NP 1 
Faversham Creek 
Neighbourhood Plan 

A development management policy relating to the area 
covered by the Faversham Neighbourhood Plan. No type, 
quantum or exact location of development is identified as 
these will be determined by the Neighbourhood Plan which will 
be subject to its own HRA.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 1 
General development criteria 

Provides general development criteria No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 2 
Achieving Good Design 

A development management policy relating to good design in 
relation to built form, movement, nature, public spaces and 
private or communal gardens, mixed and integrated uses, 
homes and buildings, lifespan, resources and boundaries.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 3 
Mitigating and adapting to 
climate change through 
sustainable design and 
construction 

This development management policy identifies 
documentation that development will need to adhere to in 
relation to climate change.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 4 
Sustainable energy 
production, distribution and 
storage 

A development management policy providing for sustainable 
energy production, distribution and storage. No type, location 
or extent of development is identified.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 5 
Proposals for Main Town 
Center Uses 

A development management policy identifying the town 
hierarchy as follows:  
Principal Town Centre: Sittingbourne 
Secondary Town Centres: Faversham and Sheerness 
Urban Local Service Centres: Minster and Halfway; 
Queenborough and Rushenden 
Rural Local Service Centres: Boughton, Eastchurch, Iwade, 
Leysdown, Newington and Teynham 
No type, location or extent of development is identified. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 6 
Shopfronts, signs and 

A development management policy relating to shopfronts, 
signs and advertisements.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 

P
age 931



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
68 

 

advertisements present. 

Policy DM 7 
Loss of employment 
floorspace and land 

A development management policy relating to loss of 
employment floorspace and lane 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 8 
The rural economy 

A development management policy relating to the rural 
economy. No type, exact location or extent of development is 
identified 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 9 
New holiday parks or 
extensions to existing parks 

This is a development managemet policy relating to new and 
existing holiday parks. No location or quantum of development 
is identified. This policy also provides for the requirement of a 
habitats regulations assessment where required 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 10 
Managing transport demand 
and impact 

A development management policy relating to managing 
transport demand and impacts. It does not identify any location 
type or quantum of development.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 11 
Vehicle Parking 

A development management policy relating to vehicle parking No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 12 
Rural Lanes 

A development management policy relating to rural lanes No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 13 
Broadband Infrastructure 
Provision 

A development management policy relating to broadband 
infrastructure provision.  

No HRA implications.  
This is a positive policy that has the 
potential to reduce the need to travel 
and thus reduce atmospheric pollution.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 14 
Small and medium sites for 
housing development 

A development management policy relating to small and 
medium residential development sites. This policy does not 
itself provide for any location or quantum of residential 
development.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 15 
Affordable housing 

A development management policy relating to affordable 
housing. This policy does not itself provide for any location or 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 

P
age 932



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
69 

 

quantum of residential development. present. 

Policy DM 16 
Rural exception housing 

A development management policy relating to rural 
exceptional housing. This policy does not itself provide for any 
location or quantum of residential development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 17 
Open space, sports and 
recreation provision 

A development management policy relating to open spaces, 
sports and recreational provision and provides required 
standards for these amenities.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 18 
Proposals for Park Homes  

A development management policy relating to Park Housing. 
This policy does not itself provide for any location or quantum 
of residential development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 19 
Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation 

A development management policy relating to Gypsy, Traveller 
and Travelling Showpeople accommodation. This policy does 
not itself provide for any location or quantum of residential 
development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 20 
Dwellings for rural workers 

A development management policy relating to dwellings for 
rural workers. This policy does not itself provide for any 
location or quantum of residential development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 21 
Extensions to, and the 
replacement of, dwellings in 
the countryside 

A development management policy relating to extensions to 
and the replacement of dwellings in the countryside. This 
policy does not itself provide for any location or quantum of 
residential development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 22 
Alterations and extensions 

A development management policy relating to alterations and 
extensions. This policy does not itself provide for any location 
or quantum of residential development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 23 
Extending the garden of a 
dwelling in the countryside 

A development management policy relating to extensions to 
gardens within the countryside. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 24 
Biodiversity and geodiversity 
conservation and biodiversity 
net gain 

A development management policy relating to biodiversity ad 
geodiversity conservation and biodiversity net gain. It states:  
“Within internationally designated sites (including candidate 
sites), the highest level of protection will apply. The Council will 
ensure that development proposals only proceed when in 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 
This is a positive ‘hook’ policy within the 
Plan. It ensures development will not 

P
age 933



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
70 

 

accordance with relevant Directives, Conventions and 
Regulations. Where the proposed development will have an 
adverse effect on the integrity of a European site, planning 
permission will only be granted in exceptional circumstances, 
where there are no less ecologically damaging alternatives, 
there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest and 
where the damage can be fully compensated.” Providing a 
‘hook’ policy within the Plan to ensure development does not 
result in an adverse effect on the integrity of an international 
site.  

result in an adverse effect on the 
integrity of an international site. 

Policy DM 25 
Conserving and enhancing 
valued landscapes 

A development management policy relating to landscapes.  No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 26 
Kent Downs AONB strategy 

A development management policy providing strategy for the 
Kent Downs AONB.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 27 
The separation of settlements 
– Important Local 
Countryside Gaps 

A development management policy relating to Important Local 
Countryside Gaps.   

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 28 
Local green spaces 

A development management policy relating to Local Green 
Space   

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 29 
Woodland, orchards, trees 
and hedgerows 

A development management policy relating to woodlands, 
orchards, trees and hedgerows.   

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 30 
Agricultural land 

A development management policy relating to development on 
agricultural land 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 31 
The Coast 

A development management policy relating to development 
near to Coast. This policy does not itself provide for any 
location, quantum or type of development. 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

P
age 934



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
71 

 

Policy DM 32 
Coastal change management 

A development management policy relating to development on 
agricultural land 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 33 
Air Quality 

A positive development management policy relating to air 
quality 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 34 
Pollution and Land Instability 

A development management policy relating to pollution and 
land instability.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 35 
Water Quality and Water 
Resources 

A positive development management policy relating to water 
quality and water resources.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 36 
Flood Risk 

A development management policy relating to flood risk.  No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 37 
Sustainable Drainage 

A development management policy relating to sustainable 
drainage.   

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 38 
Development Involving Listed 
Buildings 

A development management policy relating to listed building 
development.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 39 
Development affecting a 
conservation area 

A development management policy relating to development 
affecting a conservation area  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 40 
Historic landscapes including 
parks and gardens 

A development management policy relating to historic 
landscapes   

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 41 
Area of high townscape value 

A development management policy relating to the Area of High 
Townscape Value.    

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

Policy DM 42 
Development affecting a 

A development management policy relating to locally listed 
heritage assets 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 

P
age 935



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
72 

 

locally listed heritage asset present. 

Policy DM 43 
Archaeological Heritage 

A development management policy relating to archaeology 
heritage 

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

POLICY DM 44 
The keeping and grazing of 
horses 

A development management policy relating to the keeping of 
horses and their grazing.  

No HRA implications.  
There are no linking impact pathways 
present. 

 
 

P
age 936



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
73 

 

Appendix C Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Site 
Allocations 

Figure C1: Location of Site Allocations  
  

P
age 937



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
74 

 

Investigations were undertaken using freely available online imagery of a site. No site visits have been undertaken. Where a column is 
identified in green, this impact pathway does not contain any potential linking impact pathways to an international site. Where a column is 
identified in Orange, potential linking impact pathways exist between the allocation and an international site and the site will be subject to 
further discussions and appropriate assessment.  
 
Table 7: Test of Likely Significant Effects: Local Plan Site Allocations 

Site Allocation Test of Likely Significant Effects Outcome 

Functionally Linked Land Disturbance to land adjacent to the 
site allocation 

Recreational Pressure 

SLA18/135: Land 
at Graveney 
Road, East of 
Faversham 

Located 1.0km from The Swale 
designated sites, 8.4ha in size and 
situated in a greenfield site. From review 
of freely available online imagery, the 
current use of the site is for arable crops 
such as cereal. It does not appear to be in 
a heavily disturbed location and is not 
surrounded by continuous hedgerows 
(notably to the north looking towards The 
Swale) so has the potential to offer sight 
lines for SPA / Ramsar birds. As such the 
allocations could act as functionally linked 
land.  

Land to the east of the site is a hop 
garden, and unsuitable to act as 
functionally linked land due to the hop it 
supports. The land parcel to the west of 
the site is a new residential 
development, well screened from the site 
by a mature hedgerow, and thus will not 
act as functionally linked land. The south 
of the site is bordered by the Graveney 
Road and arable fields (SLA18/091). 
There is a direct sight line between the 
site and these arable fields. These fields 
have the potential to act as functionally 
linked land. The site is bordered to the 
north by the railway line. Between the 
railway line and The Swale, are 
additional arable fields and grazing 
marsh and a solar farm. This land (with 
the exception of the solar farm) could act 
as functionally linked land. Whilst the 
presence of this land does not present 
deliverability issues for the allocation, 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

P
age 938



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
75 

 

precautionary measures during the 
construction and operational phase of 
the development may be required, 
following planning application surveys, to 
ensure any birds that do form a 
significant population of The Swale are 
not subject to disturbance. It is 
recommended that at least one season 
of wintering bird surveys is undertaken to 
inform the planning application.  

SLA18/091: Land 
at Lady Dane 
Farm 

Located 1.1km from The Swale 
designated sites, 42.7ha in size and 
situated in a greenfield site. From review 
of freely available online imagery, the 
current use of the site is for arable crops 
(c.14ha) such as cereal with the 
remainder providing land for fruit 
production (including orchards and 
polytunnels). It does not appear to be in a 
heavily disturbed location and is not 
surrounded by continuous hedgerows 
(notably to the north looking towards The 
Swale). The land used for fruit production 
is not considered suitable to provide 
functionally linked land, however the 
c.14ha of arable land to the north of the 
site has the potential offer sight lines for 
SPA / Ramsar birds. As such the 
allocation could act as functionally linked 
land. 

Land to the east and west of the site is 
dominated by fruit growing (orchards/ 
hop gardens and polytunnels). A land 
parcel to the west is also currently being 
developed as housing. The south of the 
site is bordered by a tall mature 
hedgerow and the busy A2 road. There 
are no sight lines to the south of the site. 
The only land that could be considered 
as functionally linked land, is that to the 
north, beyond Graveney road 
(SLA18/135). Whilst the presence of this 
land does not present deliverability 
issues for the allocation, precautionary 
measures during the construction and 
operational phase of the development 
may be required, following planning 
application surveys, to ensure any birds 
that do form a significant population of 
The Swale are not subject to 
disturbance. It is recommended that at 
least one season of wintering bird 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1.1km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

P
age 939



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
76 

 

surveys is undertaken to inform the 
planning application. 

SLA18/226: 
South East 
Faversham 

Located 1.5km from The Swale 
designated sites and 131ha in size in size 
comprising multiple land parcels divided 
by rail lines and roads. It is situated on 
greenfield. 

The eastern tip of the site is dominated by 
arable land. However, this land parcel is 
bounded by tall, mature hedgerows, that 
limit sight lines into the wider countryside 
and as such is not considered to provide 
functionally linked land. The central 
section of the site is bordered to the north 
by the A2, the east by the railway line, the 
south by the M2 and the west by Selling 
Road. Fields within the site are arable 
cropped and for fruit production, many 
with mature hedgerow boundaries. In 
addition, much of the central section is 
surrounded by mature hedgerows, thus 
offering poor sight lines into the wider 
area. As such the central section is not 
considered suitable to provide significant 
functionally linked land. The western 
extent of the site is part arable crop and 
part fruit production. Many of the fields 
contain mature hedgerows, and the 
majority of the site is bounded by tall 
mature hedgerows. It is not considered 
suitable to support functionally linked 
land.  

The site is bounded on three sides by 
busy roads that already provide a level of 
disturbance into the site. These are the 
M2 motorway and the A2 (the main road 
into Faversham from the east/ M2). The 
land located to the south of the M2 
(which itself provides a high level of 
existing noise disturbance), is well 
screened from the wider countryside by 
mature hedgerows, and is a mosaic of 
smaller and larger fields, dominated by 
fruit production including within 
polytunnels. Fields located beyond the 
A2 are currently used for fruit production/ 
hop gardens or are well bounded by 
mature hedgerows that offer high levels 
of screening, preventing sight lines into 
the wider countryside. The land to the 
west of the site is residential 
development/ local household waste 
recycling centre or an arable field will 
mature hedgerows located in an urban 
setting. The land surrounding this 
allocation is not considered suitable to 
provide functionally linked land.  

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1.5km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

P
age 940



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
77 

 

SLA18/025: Land 
West of Frognal 
Lane 

Located 1.5km from The Swale 
designated sites, 23.9ha in size in size 
and situated in a greenfield site. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
the current use of the site is for arable 
crops such as cereal. It does not appear 
to be in a heavily disturbed location and is 
not surrounded by continuous hedgerows 
so has the potential offer sight lines for 
SPA / Ramsar birds. As such the 
allocations could act as functionally linked 
land.   

The site is located north of the A2. To the 
east is a band of houses along Frognal 
Lane, and some development to the 
south along the A2 (London Road). To 
the North is Lower Road with a band of 
scrub and a rail line, along with a Frognal 
Farmhouse and associated out buildings. 
However, to the west are open arable 
fields with good sight lines into the wider 
countryside that could potentially act as 
functionally linked land. Whilst the 
presence of this land does not present 
deliverability issues for the allocation, 
precautionary measures during the 
construction and operational phase of 
the development may be required, 
following planning application surveys, to 
ensure any birds that do form a 
significant population of The Swale are 
not subject to disturbance. It is 
recommended that at least one season 
of wintering bird surveys is undertaken to 
inform the planning application. 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1.5km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/123: Land 
at Claxfield Road 
(Site 2) 

A small site allocation (0.5ha in size), 
located just to the north of the A2 (London 
Road). Due to the small size of the 
allocation it is not considered likely to 
support a significant population of SPA / 
Ramsar bird species on a regular basis 
and as such not act as significant 
functionally linked land.  

This allocation is a small pocket of 
greenfield located in a developed 
location with the A2 located immediately 
adjacent to the north, and residential and 
employment land surrounding the site. It 
is not considered that the surrounding 
land parcels could act as functionally 
linked land.  

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1.5km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

P
age 941



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
78 

 

SLA18/122: Land 
at Claxfield Road 
(Site 1) 

This site allocation is located to the north 
of the A2 and is 6ha in size. It is located 
2.3km from the SPA / Ramsar site. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
the current use of the site is for arable 
crops such as cereal. The north of the site 
is bordered by residential development; 
however, the wider setting is one of arable 
fields with open site lines into the wider 
countryside. As such the allocations could 
act as functionally linked land.   

Whilst land to the north is residential, the 
surrounding fields are of an arable 
nature with sight lines into the wider 
countryside. As such surrounding lands 
could act as functionally linked land to 
support SPA / Ramsar bird species. 
Whilst the presence of this land does not 
present deliverability issues for the 
allocation, precautionary measures 
during the construction and operational 
phase of the development may be 
required, following planning application 
surveys, to ensure any birds that do form 
a significant population of The Swale are 
not subject to disturbance. It is 
recommended that at least one season 
of wintering bird surveys is undertaken to 
inform the planning application. 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 2.3km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/116: Land 
South of London 
Road/West of 
Lynsted Lane 

This site allocation is located to the north 
of the A2 and is 6.3ha in size. It is located 
2.3km from the SPA / Ramsar site. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
the current use of the site is for arable 
crops such as cereal. The north of the site 
is bordered by residential development. 
The site is bounded on all sides by 
hedgerows, thus restricting sight lines into 
the wider countryside. As such, this site is 
not considered suitable to support a 
significant population of SPA / Ramsar 
birds and is not considered likely to 
provide significant functionally linked land. 

Whilst land to the north is residential, the 
surrounding fields are of an arable 
nature with sight lines into the wider 
countryside. As such surrounding lands 
could act as functionally linked land to 
support SPA / Ramsar bird species. 
Whilst the presence of this land does not 
present deliverability issues for the 
allocation, precautionary measures 
during the construction and operational 
phase of the development may be 
required, following planning application 
surveys, to ensure any birds that do form 
a significant population of The Swale are 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 2.3km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

P
age 942



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
79 

 

not subject to disturbance. It is 
recommended that at least one season 
of wintering bird surveys is undertaken to 
inform the planning application. 

SLA18/153: Land 
south of Dover 
Castle Inn, A2 
London 
Road/Cellar Hill 

A small site allocation (1.4ha in size), 
located to the north of the A2 (London 
Road). Due to the small size of the 
allocation it is not considered likely to 
support a significant population of SPA / 
Ramsar bird species on a regular basis 
and as such is unlikely to act as 
significant functionally linked land. 

The land immediately surrounding the 
site allocation is either residential or are 
typically small fields (less than 2ha in 
size) with mature hedgerows (and thus 
poor sight lines), that would not be 
considered to provide functionally linked 
land.  

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 2.3km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/106: Land 
at Barrow Green 
Farm, London 
Road 

This site allocation is located to the north 
of the A2 and south of the rail line and is 
13.2ha in size. It is located 1.4km from 
the SPA / Ramsar site. From review of 
freely available online imagery, the 
current use of the site is for arable crops 
such as cereal. All sides of the site are 
bordered by either residential or 
employment development, with the 
exception of the eastern boundary which 
open to additional arable land. However, 
much of this boundary is screened form 
the wider countryside by a hedgerow, thus 
offering poor site lines.  The site also 
appears to contain public rights of way 
that would add a level of disturbance to 
the site. As such it is considered to have 
low potential to support a significant 
population of SPA / Ramsar birds, and is 

Whilst land to the east of the site is a 
large arable field that could potentially 
act as functionally linked land, the field is 
bordered by hedgerows, thus offering 
poor visibility into the wider countryside. 
It is not considered to act as functionally 
linked land to SPA/ Ramsar bird features.  

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1.4km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

P
age 943



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
80 

 

not considered likely to provide significant 
functionally linked land. 

SLA18/154: Land 
at Lamberhurst 
Farm 
(EMPLOYMENT 
USE) 

This site allocation is located to the south 
of the A2 and north of the Thanet Way 
and is 22.5ha in size. It is located 0.8km 
from the SPA / Ramsar site. From review 
of freely available online imagery, the 
current use of the site is for arable crops, 
grazing pasture, existing employment and 
residential land. Much of the site is 
already subject to levels of disturbance 
associated with the existing residential 
and employment use of the central portion 
of the site.  The largest field appears to 
contain site lines towards the north and 
The Swale, however it is in close 
proximity to additional residential 
development. In addition, the land to the 
north east and south east is owned by 
The Woodland Trust and provides 
additional recreational facilities associated 
with Victory Wood, and thus is likely to be 
subject to levels of disturbance. Due to 
the existing levels of disturbance within 
and surrounding the site, it is considered 
that this allocation is unlikely to provide 
significant functionally linked land 
associated with the SPA / Ramsar site.  

Land to the north east and south is 
Victory Wood which is owned by the 
Woodland Trust. It has been subject to 
extensive woodland planting since 2004 
and is used for recreational activities 
such as walking and dog walking. As 
such, this land parcel is not considered 
suitable to act as functionally linked land. 
Land to the south west of the site 
appears to comprise a matrix of smaller 
fields bounded by mature hedgerows, 
and thus unsuitable to support 
functionally linked land. The field located 
to the west between the site and 
Plumpudding Lane appears to be 
bounded to the north by mature 
hedgerows, thus offering poor sight lines 
to The Swale. It is considered unsuitable 
to support functionally linked land.  

This site is to provide 
employment space only. As 
such recreational pressures 
are not pertinent.  

SLA18/113: Land 
at The Port of 
Sheerness, 

A large site allocation (149ha), that 
contains a portion of the Medway Estuary 
and Marshes international sites (Medway 

Much of the site allocation is located 
immediately adjacent to the Medway 
Estuary and Marshes international site 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 

P
age 944



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
81 

 

Rushenden Road Estuary and Marshes SSSI Unit 58). The 
site allocation itself includes coastal 
floodplain and grazing marsh. As such, 
the site allocation is considered to have 
the potential to act as functionally linked 
land.  To support the allocation of this site, 
non-breeding waterbird surveys were 
undertaken over three consecutive winter 
seasons (2015/2016, 2016/2017, 
2017/2018).  

The survey identifies that the majority of 
the site allocation (The Site within the 
non-breeding waterbird report) does not 
support a significant population of 
designated bird features (in fact no birds 
features were recorded within the main 
body of the site), and thus does not act as 
functionally linked land. However, two 
small portions of the site (identified as 
Section C and I in the non-breeding 
waterbird report81) which are included 
within the site allocation boundary do in 
fact contain significant bird populations 
and that these portions of land do act as 
functionally linked land.  

Section C provides functionally linked 
land for grey plover (up to 93 individual/ 
17.19% of the population in 2016/2017), 
redshank (up to 43 individuals / 13.69% of 
the population in 2015/ 2016) and 

(with the exception of the eastern extent 
that is located adjacent to housing and 
green space. As such there is the 
potential for disturbances stemming from 
the site allocation affecting the 
internationally designated site. 

Whilst the presence of this land does not 
present deliverability issues for the 
allocation, precautionary measures 
during the construction and operational 
phase of the development will be 
required.  

designated sites (contains a 
portion of the designated site), 
as such contribution towards 
the Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

 

Coastal Squeeze:  

Due to the location of this 
allocation immediately abject 
to Medway Estuary and 
Marshes designated site and 
also its inclusion of a portion of 
the internationally designated 
site, depending on the final 
masterplan, coastal squeeze 
could be an impact pathway 
that could affect the 
internationally designated site.  

 
81 Royal HaskoningDHV (2020). Non-breeding waterbird interest at Rushenden.  

P
age 945



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
82 

 

shelduck (up to 95 individuals / 2.57% of 
the population in 2017/2018). The report 
notes that the habitat at Section C is 
‘mudflats’ so can be considered unlikely 
to be built upon, however, Section C will 
require consideration within the 
masterplanning and project specific HRA. 
It is not anticipated that the presence of 
birds within Section C will provide 
deliverability issues to this allocation.  

Section I provides functionally linked land 
for redshank (up to 5 individuals / 1.59% 
of the population). The report identified 
that the habitat within this section is wet, 
containing sedges and ‘marginal pools’. 
Whilst no specified area is available for 
Section I, it constitutes a relatively small 
section of the site, so it is not considered 
that the presence of functionally linked 
land within this section would provide 
unresolvable deliverability issues for this 
allocation. It is noted that the presence of 
the functionally linked land in Section I 
would require consideration within the 
masterplanning and project specific HRA.  

It is noted that Section H forms part of 
the international designation site and is 
located within the site allocation 
boundary. However, the non-breeding 
waterbird survey did not record any 
designated bird features within this 
section. None-the-less, due to its 

P
age 946



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
83 

 

international designation, Section H will 
require consideration within the 
masterplanning and project specific HRA. 
Its presence is unlikely to provide any 
deliverability issues for this allocation.  

SLA18/010: Land 
at Cellar Hill 

A small site allocation (0.5ha in size), 
located to the north of the A2 (London 
Road). Due to the small size of the 
allocation it is not considered likely to 
support a significant population of SPA / 
Ramsar bird species on a regular basis 
and as such not act as functionally linked 
land. 

The site is located on the edge of an 
urban area with residential development 
to the north, west and south. However, 
the land to the east of the site is a large 
arable field. This field has mature 
hedgerows along much of its boundary, 
and as such is not considered to act as 
functionally linked land.   

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 2.3km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/178: 
Preston Fields, 
Canterbury Road, 
Faversham 

Located 1.6km from The Swale 
designated sites and 14.3ha in size in 
size and situated in a greenfield site. To 
the north, east and west the site is 
bordered by residential / employment 
development. The south and south east of 
the site is adjacent to a small paddock 
and a larger arable field. However, the 
allocation is bounded by hedgerows, thus 
offering poor sight lines into the wider 
countryside. The slightly disturbed setting, 
and the poor sight lines of the site indicate 
it has a low likelihood of being significant 
functionally linked land.  

Land to the north is urban development 
along the A2 (London Road). To the west 
is residential development along the 
A251 (Ashford Road), and to the north 
east is the Faversham Household Waste 
Recycling Centre. The south east of the 
site is bordered by a large arable field; 
however, a hedgerow exists precluding 
sight lines into the site. The south is 
adjacent to a small grazed meadow that 
is also well enclosed with mature 
hedgerows/ trees. As such, it is not 
considered that land adjacent to the site 
is likely to act as functionally linked land.  

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 1.6km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/096: Land 
East of Selling 
Road (2) 

Located 5.6km from The Swale 
designated sites and 1.0ha in size. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
current land use appears to be for fruit 

The site is located within an area of fruit 
production (including orchards), on the 
edge of urban development which make 
the surrounding land unsuitable to act as 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 5.6km), as 

P
age 947



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
84 

 

production. The site is located adjacent to 
residential development. Current land 
use, location, distance from the SPA and 
the small size of the site render this site 
unlikely to constitute significant 
functionally linked land.  

functionally linked land.  such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/094:  Land 
East of Selling 
Road  

Located 5.6km from The Swale 
designated sites and 0.5ha in size. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
current land use appears to be for fruit 
production. The site is located adjacent to 
residential development. Current land 
use, distance from the SPA, location, and 
the small size of the site render it unlikely 
that this site would constitute significant 
functionally linked land. 

The site is located within an area of fruit 
production (including orchards), on the 
edge of urban development which make 
the surrounding land unsuitable to act as 
functionally linked land. 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 5.6km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/093: Land 
Adjacent Monica 
Close 

Located 5.6km from The Swale 
designated sites and 0.7ha in size. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
current land use appears to be for fruit 
production. The site is located adjacent to 
residential development. Current land 
use, location, distance from the SPA, and 
the small size of the site render this site 
unlikely to constitute significant 
functionally linked land. 

The site is located within an area of fruit 
production (including orchards), on the 
edge of urban development which make 
the surrounding land unsuitable to act as 
functionally linked land. 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 5.6km), as 
such contribution towards the 
Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

SLA18/150 
Former Garden 
Hotel, The Street, 
Boughton 

Located 3.4km from The Swale 
designated sites and 0.7ha in size. From 
review of freely available online imagery, 
current land use appears to be the 
disused hotel site, brownfield land 

The site is located within an urban 
setting. The surrounding land are 
gardens hat are well screened with tree/ 
hedge lines limiting sightlines into the 
wider countryside.  or the   area of fruit 

To provide residential 
development and located less 
than 6km from The Swale 
designated sites (c 3.2km), as 
such contribution towards the 

P
age 948



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
85 

 

containing scrub and hardstanding. The 
site is located in an urban setting with 
mature vegetated boundaries, limiting 
sightlines into the wider countryside. 
Current land use, location, distance from 
the SPA, and the small size of the site 
render this site unlikely to constitute 
significant functionally linked land. 

production (including orchards), on the 
edge of urban development which make 
the surrounding land unsuitable to act as 
functionally linked land. 

Bird Wise North Kent 
Mitigation Strategy. 

 

P
age 949



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
86 

 

Appendix D Air Quality Data (provided by SWECO) 

Figure D1: Location of the Swale affected road network and the air quality modelling 
transect locations 

P
age 950



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
87 

 

 

Orange shading indicates a nitrogen dose exceeding 1% of the critical load 

Receptor ID X Y 
Base 2017 

Reference Case 
2037 

Projected Baseline 
2037 LDP 1054   

P
age 951



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
88 

 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_01 590813.3 168851.3 21.4 26.9 14.2 26.8 13.3 26.7 14.2 26.8 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_02 590806.8 168858.9 21.2 26.9 14.0 26.8 13.2 26.7 13.9 26.8 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_03 590800.3 168866.5 21.1 26.9 13.9 26.8 13.1 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_04 590793.8 168874.1 21.0 26.9 13.8 26.8 13.1 26.7 13.7 26.8 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_05 590787.3 168881.7 20.9 26.9 13.8 26.8 13.0 26.7 13.6 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_06 590780.8 168889.3 20.8 26.9 13.7 26.8 13.0 26.7 13.6 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_07 590774.3 168896.9 20.8 26.9 13.7 26.8 13.0 26.7 13.5 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_08 590767.8 168904.5 20.7 26.9 13.7 26.8 13.0 26.7 13.5 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_09 590761.3 168912.1 20.7 26.8 13.6 26.7 13.0 26.7 13.5 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_10 590754.8 168919.8 20.6 26.8 13.6 26.7 12.9 26.7 13.4 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_11 590748.3 168927.3 20.6 26.8 13.6 26.7 12.9 26.7 13.4 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_12 590741.8 168935 20.5 26.8 13.5 26.7 12.9 26.7 13.4 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_13 590735.3 168942.6 20.5 26.8 13.5 26.7 12.9 26.7 13.4 26.7 0.0 0.0 

P
age 952



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
89 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_14 590728.8 168950.2 20.5 26.8 13.5 26.7 12.9 26.7 13.3 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_15 590722.4 168957.8 20.4 26.8 13.5 26.7 12.9 26.7 13.3 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_16 590715.9 168965.4 20.4 26.8 13.5 26.7 12.8 26.7 13.3 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_17 590709.4 168973 20.4 26.8 13.4 26.7 12.8 26.7 13.3 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_18 590702.9 168980.6 20.3 26.8 13.4 26.7 12.8 26.7 13.3 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_19 590696.4 168988.2 20.3 26.8 13.4 26.7 12.8 26.7 13.3 26.7 0.0 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_20 590689.9 168995.8 20.3 26.8 13.4 26.7 12.8 26.7 13.2 26.7 0.0 0.0 

                        

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
01 591151 

169163.
8 35.7 27.9 22.1 27.4 18.4 27.1 21.0 27.3 0.2 -0.1 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
02 

591144.
9 

169171.
8 32.3 27.7 20.4 27.2 17.2 27.0 19.4 27.2 0.2 -0.1 

P
age 953



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
90 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
03 

591138.
9 

169179.
7 30.3 27.5 19.2 27.2 16.5 27.0 18.4 27.1 0.1 -0.1 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
04 

591132.
8 

169187.
7 28.8 27.4 18.4 27.1 15.9 26.9 17.6 27.0 0.1 -0.1 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
05 

591126.
8 

169195.
7 27.7 27.3 17.7 27.0 15.5 26.9 17.1 27.0 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
06 

591120.
8 

169203.
6 26.9 27.3 17.2 27.0 15.2 26.9 16.6 27.0 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
07 

591114.
7 

169211.
6 26.2 27.2 16.8 27.0 15.0 26.8 16.3 26.9 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
08 

591108.
6 

169219.
5 25.6 27.2 16.5 27.0 14.7 26.8 16.0 26.9 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
09 

591102.
6 

169227.
5 25.1 27.1 16.2 26.9 14.5 26.8 15.7 26.9 0.1 0.0 

P
age 954



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
91 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
10 

591096.
5 

169235.
5 24.7 27.1 15.9 26.9 14.4 26.8 15.5 26.9 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
11 

591090.
4 

169243.
4 24.3 27.1 15.7 26.9 14.2 26.8 15.3 26.9 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
12 

591084.
4 

169251.
4 24.0 27.1 15.5 26.9 14.1 26.8 15.1 26.9 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
13 

591078.
3 

169259.
3 23.7 27.0 15.3 26.9 14.0 26.8 14.9 26.8 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
14 

591072.
3 

169267.
3 23.5 27.0 15.2 26.9 13.9 26.8 14.8 26.8 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
15 

591066.
3 

169275.
2 23.3 27.0 15.0 26.8 13.8 26.8 14.7 26.8 0.1 0.0 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
16 

591060.
2 

169283.
2 23.1 27.0 14.9 26.8 13.8 26.8 14.6 26.8 0.1 0.0 

P
age 955



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
92 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
17 

591054.
1 

169291.
2 22.9 27.0 14.8 26.8 13.7 26.7 14.5 26.8 0.06 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
18 

591048.
1 

169299.
1 22.7 27.0 14.7 26.8 13.6 26.7 14.4 26.8 0.06 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_2_
19 591042 

169307.
1 22.6 27.0 14.6 26.8 13.6 26.7 14.3 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
01 592139 

170235.
2 44.5 28.5 28.7 27.8 22.4 27.4 27.4 27.7 0.35 -0.09 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
02 

592132.
9 

170243.
2 38.1 28.0 24.7 27.5 19.8 27.2 23.7 27.5 0.27 -0.07 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
03 

592126.
9 

170251.
1 34.4 27.8 22.3 27.4 18.4 27.1 21.5 27.3 0.22 -0.05 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
04 

592120.
9 

170259.
1 31.9 27.6 20.7 27.2 17.4 27.0 20.0 27.2 0.19 -0.05 

P
age 956



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
93 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
05 

592114.
9 

170267.
1 30.1 27.5 19.6 27.2 16.7 27.0 19.0 27.1 0.17 -0.04 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
06 

592108.
8 

170275.
1 28.8 27.4 18.7 27.1 16.2 26.9 18.2 27.1 0.15 -0.04 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
07 

592102.
8 

170283.
1 27.7 27.3 18.1 27.1 15.7 26.9 17.6 27.0 0.13 -0.03 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
08 

592096.
8 170291 26.9 27.3 17.5 27.0 15.4 26.9 17.1 27.0 0.12 -0.03 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
09 

592090.
8 170299 26.2 27.2 17.1 27.0 15.1 26.8 16.7 27.0 0.11 -0.03 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
10 

592084.
7 170307 25.6 27.2 16.7 27.0 14.9 26.8 16.3 26.9 0.11 -0.03 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
11 

592078.
7 170315 25.1 27.1 16.4 26.9 14.7 26.8 16.0 26.9 0.10 -0.03 

P
age 957



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
94 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
12 

592072.
6 

170322.
9 24.7 27.1 16.1 26.9 14.5 26.8 15.8 26.9 0.09 -0.03 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
13 

592066.
6 

170330.
9 24.3 27.1 15.9 26.9 14.4 26.8 15.6 26.9 0.09 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
14 

592060.
6 

170338.
9 24.0 27.1 15.7 26.9 14.3 26.8 15.4 26.9 0.08 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
15 

592054.
6 

170346.
9 23.7 27.0 15.5 26.9 14.1 26.8 15.2 26.9 0.08 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
16 

592048.
6 

170354.
8 23.5 27.0 15.3 26.9 14.0 26.8 15.0 26.8 0.07 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
17 

592042.
5 

170362.
8 23.2 27.0 15.2 26.9 13.9 26.8 14.9 26.8 0.07 -0.02 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
18 

592036.
5 

170370.
8 23.0 27.0 15.0 26.8 13.9 26.8 14.8 26.8 0.07 -0.02 

P
age 958



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
95 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Medway_Estuary_Transect_3_
19 

592030.
4 

170378.
8 22.9 27.0 14.9 26.8 13.8 26.7 14.7 26.8 0.06 -0.02 

Queendown_Warren_01 
583257.

8 
163320.

4 32.0 27.0 17.8 26.8 17.4 26.8 17.8 26.8 0.03 0.00 

Queendown_Warren_02 
583254.

6 163311 31.7 27.0 17.7 26.8 17.3 26.8 17.7 26.8 0.03 0.00 

The_Swale_01 
590788.

9 
168787.

9 21.2 26.9 14.0 26.8 13.2 26.7 13.9 26.8 0.06 -0.01 

The_Swale_02 
590795.

4 
168780.

3 21.1 26.9 13.9 26.8 13.1 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.05 -0.01 

The_Swale_03 
590801.

9 
168772.

6 21.1 26.9 13.9 26.8 13.1 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.05 -0.01 

The_Swale_04 
590808.

3 168765 21.1 26.9 13.9 26.8 13.1 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.05 -0.01 

The_Swale_05 
590814.

8 
168757.

4 21.2 26.9 14.0 26.8 13.2 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.05 -0.01 

The_Swale_06 
590821.

3 
168749.

8 21.2 26.9 14.0 26.8 13.2 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.04 -0.01 

The_Swale_07 
590827.

8 
168742.

1 21.3 26.9 14.0 26.8 13.2 26.7 13.8 26.8 0.05 -0.01 

The_Swale_08 
590834.

3 
168734.

5 21.4 26.9 14.1 26.8 13.2 26.7 13.9 26.8 0.04 -0.01 

The_Swale_09 590840. 168726. 21.4 26.9 14.1 26.8 13.3 26.7 13.9 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

P
age 959



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
96 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

7 9 

The_Swale_10 
590847.

2 
168719.

3 21.5 26.9 14.1 26.8 13.3 26.7 13.9 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_11 
590853.

6 
168711.

7 21.6 26.9 14.2 26.8 13.3 26.7 14.0 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_12 
590860.

1 168704 21.7 26.9 14.3 26.8 13.4 26.7 14.0 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_13 
590866.

6 
168696.

4 21.8 26.9 14.3 26.8 13.4 26.7 14.1 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_14 
590873.

1 
168688.

8 22.0 26.9 14.4 26.8 13.5 26.7 14.2 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_15 
590879.

6 
168681.

2 22.1 27.0 14.5 26.8 13.5 26.7 14.2 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_16 590886 
168673.

5 22.2 27.0 14.6 26.8 13.6 26.7 14.3 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_17 
590892.

5 
168665.

9 22.4 27.0 14.7 26.8 13.6 26.7 14.4 26.8 0.05 -0.02 

The_Swale_18 
590898.

9 
168658.

3 22.6 27.0 14.8 26.8 13.7 26.8 14.5 26.8 0.06 -0.02 

The_Swale_19 
590905.

4 
168650.

7 22.8 27.0 14.9 26.8 13.8 26.8 14.6 26.8 0.06 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_2_01 
590998.

6 
168395.

4 125.3 33.0 75.7 30.6 54.1 29.4 69.9 30.3 0.90 -0.31 

P
age 960



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
97 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

The_Swale_Transect_2_02 
591008.

6 
168394.

3 93.6 31.3 56.9 29.5 41.8 28.6 52.8 29.3 0.68 -0.24 

The_Swale_Transect_2_03 
591018.

5 
168393.

3 62.8 29.6 38.6 28.4 29.8 27.8 36.2 28.3 0.43 -0.16 

The_Swale_Transect_2_04 
591028.

4 
168392.

2 50.4 28.8 31.3 27.9 24.9 27.5 29.5 27.8 0.32 -0.12 

The_Swale_Transect_2_05 
591038.

4 
168391.

1 43.7 28.4 27.2 27.7 22.3 27.3 25.9 27.6 0.25 -0.09 

The_Swale_Transect_2_06 
591048.

3 
168390.

1 39.4 28.1 24.7 27.5 20.6 27.2 23.6 27.4 0.21 -0.08 

The_Swale_Transect_2_07 
591058.

3 168389 36.5 27.9 23.0 27.4 19.5 27.1 22.0 27.3 0.18 -0.07 

The_Swale_Transect_2_08 
591068.

2 168388 34.3 27.7 21.7 27.3 18.6 27.0 20.9 27.2 0.16 -0.06 

The_Swale_Transect_2_09 
591078.

1 
168386.

9 32.7 27.6 20.7 27.2 18.0 27.0 20.0 27.1 0.15 -0.05 

The_Swale_Transect_2_10 
591088.

1 
168385.

9 31.4 27.5 20.0 27.1 17.5 27.0 19.3 27.1 0.13 -0.05 

The_Swale_Transect_2_11 
591098.

1 
168384.

8 30.4 27.4 19.3 27.1 17.1 26.9 18.7 27.1 0.12 -0.04 

The_Swale_Transect_2_12 591108 
168383.

7 29.5 27.4 18.8 27.1 16.7 26.9 18.3 27.0 0.11 -0.04 

P
age 961



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
98 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

The_Swale_Transect_2_13 
591117.

9 
168382.

7 28.8 27.3 18.4 27.0 16.4 26.9 17.9 27.0 0.11 -0.04 

The_Swale_Transect_2_14 
591127.

9 
168381.

6 28.2 27.3 18.0 27.0 16.2 26.9 17.6 27.0 0.10 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_15 
591137.

8 
168380.

6 27.7 27.3 17.7 27.0 16.0 26.9 17.3 27.0 0.09 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_16 
591147.

8 
168379.

5 27.2 27.2 17.4 27.0 15.8 26.8 17.0 26.9 0.09 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_17 
591157.

7 
168378.

5 26.8 27.2 17.2 26.9 15.7 26.8 16.8 26.9 0.08 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_18 
591167.

6 
168377.

4 26.4 27.2 17.0 26.9 15.5 26.8 16.6 26.9 0.08 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_19 
591177.

6 
168376.

3 26.1 27.1 16.8 26.9 15.4 26.8 16.4 26.9 0.08 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_20 
591187.

6 
168375.

3 25.8 27.1 16.6 26.9 15.3 26.8 16.3 26.9 0.07 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_2_21 
591197.

5 
168374.

2 25.6 27.1 16.5 26.9 15.2 26.8 16.1 26.9 0.07 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_3_01 
592550.

9 
170488.

1 45.8 15.3 30.8 14.6 22.8 14.1 28.4 14.5 0.39 -0.16 

The_Swale_Transect_3_02 
592557.

1 
170480.

2 38.8 14.8 25.5 14.3 19.9 13.9 24.0 14.2 0.29 -0.10 

P
age 962



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
99 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

The_Swale_Transect_3_03 
592563.

3 
170472.

3 34.8 14.5 22.7 14.1 18.4 13.8 21.6 14.0 0.23 -0.08 

The_Swale_Transect_3_04 
592569.

5 
170464.

5 32.2 14.3 21.0 14.0 17.4 13.7 20.1 13.9 0.19 -0.06 

The_Swale_Transect_3_05 
592575.

7 
170456.

6 30.4 14.2 19.7 13.9 16.6 13.7 19.0 13.8 0.17 -0.05 

The_Swale_Transect_3_06 
592581.

9 
170448.

8 29.0 14.1 18.8 13.8 16.1 13.6 18.2 13.8 0.15 -0.05 

The_Swale_Transect_3_07 
592588.

1 170441 27.9 14.0 18.1 13.8 15.7 13.6 17.5 13.7 0.13 -0.04 

The_Swale_Transect_3_08 
592594.

3 
170433.

1 27.1 14.0 17.5 13.7 15.3 13.6 17.0 13.7 0.12 -0.04 

The_Swale_Transect_3_09 
592600.

4 
170425.

3 26.4 13.9 17.1 13.7 15.1 13.5 16.6 13.7 0.11 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_3_10 
592606.

7 
170417.

4 25.8 13.9 16.7 13.7 14.8 13.5 16.3 13.6 0.10 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_3_11 
592612.

9 
170409.

6 25.3 13.8 16.4 13.6 14.6 13.5 16.0 13.6 0.10 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_3_12 
592619.

1 
170401.

7 24.8 13.8 16.1 13.6 14.5 13.5 15.7 13.6 0.09 -0.03 

The_Swale_Transect_3_13 
592625.

3 
170393.

9 24.5 13.8 15.9 13.6 14.3 13.5 15.5 13.6 0.09 -0.03 

P
age 963



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
100 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

The_Swale_Transect_3_14 
592631.

4 170386 24.1 13.8 15.6 13.6 14.2 13.5 15.3 13.6 0.08 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_3_15 
592637.

6 
170378.

2 23.8 13.7 15.5 13.6 14.1 13.5 15.1 13.5 0.08 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_3_16 
592643.

8 
170370.

3 23.6 13.7 15.3 13.6 14.0 13.5 15.0 13.5 0.07 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_3_17 592650 
170362.

5 23.4 13.7 15.1 13.5 13.9 13.5 14.9 13.5 0.07 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_3_18 
592656.

3 
170354.

6 23.1 13.7 15.0 13.5 13.8 13.5 14.7 13.5 0.07 -0.02 

The_Swale_Transect_3_19 
592662.

4 
170346.

8 23.0 13.7 14.9 13.5 13.8 13.4 14.6 13.5 0.06 -0.02 

Wouldham_01 579403 158454 57.7 32.5 30.4 29.9 27.1 29.4 30.8 29.9 0.51 0.05 

Wouldham_02 579403 158464 49.7 31.5 26.7 29.3 24.1 29.0 26.9 29.4 0.41 0.04 

Wouldham_03 579402 158474 44.7 30.8 24.3 29.0 22.1 28.7 24.5 29.0 0.34 0.03 

Wouldham_04 579402 158484 41.2 30.3 22.6 28.8 20.8 28.5 22.8 28.8 0.29 0.03 

Wouldham_05 579401 158494 38.6 29.9 21.4 28.6 19.8 28.3 21.6 28.6 0.26 0.02 

Wouldham_06 579401 158504 36.6 29.7 20.5 28.4 19.1 28.2 20.6 28.5 0.23 0.02 

Wouldham_07 579400 158514 35.0 29.4 19.7 28.3 18.5 28.1 19.9 28.3 0.21 0.02 

Wouldham_08 579400 158524 33.8 29.3 19.1 28.2 18.0 28.1 19.2 28.3 0.19 0.02 

Wouldham_09 579399 158534 32.7 29.1 18.6 28.2 17.6 28.0 18.7 28.2 0.17 0.01 

Wouldham_10 579399 158544 31.8 29.0 18.2 28.1 17.2 27.9 18.3 28.1 0.16 0.01 

Wouldham_11 579398 158554 31.0 28.9 17.8 28.0 16.9 27.9 17.9 28.1 0.15 0.01 

P
age 964



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  

  
 

 
      
 

AECOM 
101 

 

Receptor ID X Y 

Base 2017 
Reference Case 

2037 
Projected Baseline 

2037 LDP 1054   

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

Annual 
Mean 
NOx 
(µg/m3

) 

Total N 
Depositio
n (kg 
N/ha/Yr) 

LDP1054- 
Future 
Baseline (in 
combinatio
n nitrogen 
dose) 

LDP1054-
Reference 
Case 
(contributio
n of Swale 
Local Plan 
to nitrogen) 

Wouldham_12 579398 158564 30.4 28.8 17.5 28.0 16.7 27.9 17.6 28.0 0.14 0.01 

Wouldham_13 579397 158574 29.8 28.7 17.3 28.0 16.4 27.8 17.3 28.0 0.13 0.01 

Wouldham_14 579397 158584 29.3 28.6 17.0 27.9 16.3 27.8 17.1 27.9 0.12 0.01 

Wouldham_15 579396 158594 28.8 28.5 16.8 27.9 16.1 27.8 16.9 27.9 0.12 0.01 

Wouldham_16 
579395.

9 
158603.

9 28.4 28.5 16.6 27.9 15.9 27.8 16.7 27.9 0.11 0.01 

Wouldham_17 
579395.

5 
158613.

9 28.0 28.4 16.4 27.8 15.8 27.7 16.5 27.8 0.10 0.01 

Wouldham_18 579395 
158623.

9 27.7 28.4 16.3 27.8 15.6 27.7 16.3 27.8 0.10 0.01 

 

P
age 965



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
102 

 

 

Page 966



Swale Borough Council Local Plan  
  

  
  
  

 

 
      
 

AECOM 
103 

 

 

 
 

  

 

aecom.com   

  

Page 967



This page is intentionally left blank



Outer Thames Estuary

Blean ComplexNorth Downs Woodlands

Queendown Warren

Medway Estuary &
Marshes (Ramsar and SPA)

The Swale
(Ramsar and SPA)

Purpose of Issue

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawn Checked

Midpoint
Alençon Link, Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG21 7PP
Telephone (01256) 310200
Fax (01256) 310201
www.aecom.com

AECOM

DateApproved

RevDrawing Number

FIGURE A1 01

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY

FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL CLIENT OR
FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND ONLY FOR THE

PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

AECOM Internal Project No. Scale @ A3
60562065 1:200,000
CN TD IHH 15/01/2021

Client

File
 Na

me
:I:\5

004
 - In

form
atio

n S
yst

em
s\6

056
206

5 - 
Sw

ale
 Lo

cal
 Pla

n\0
2_M

aps
\HR

A F
igu

res
\Fig

ure
 A1

 - In
tern

atio
nal

 De
sig

nat
ed 

Site
s.m

xd

±2.5 0 2.5 5 7.5 10 12.5 km

LEGEND
Swale Borough
Ramsar
Special Protection Area (SPA)
Special Area of Conservation
(SAC)

LOCATION OF INTERNATIONALLY
DESIGNATED SITES

SWALE LOCAL PLAN

FOR ISSUE

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ISSUE THAT IT WAS ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT

 
Copyright
© Natural England copyright. Contains Ordnance
Survey data © Crown copyright and database
right 2021
Contains Ordnance Survey Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2021
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100018386.

P
age 969



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SLA18/135

SLA18/091

SLA18/226

SLA18/021

SLA18/096SLA18/093
SLA18/094

SLA18/025

SLA18/123
SLA18/122

SLA18/116 SLA18/153

SLA18/106
SLA18/154

SLA18/113

SLA18/010

SLA18/178

Purpose of Issue

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawn Checked

Midpoint
Alençon Link, Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG21 7PP
Telephone (01256) 310200
Fax (01256) 310201
www.aecom.com

AECOM

DateApproved

RevDrawing Number

FIGURE C1 01

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY

FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL CLIENT OR
FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND ONLY FOR THE

PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

AECOM Internal Project No. Scale @ A3
60562065 1:65,000
CN TD IHH 15/01/2021

Client

File
 Na

me
:I:\5

004
 - In

form
atio

n S
yst

em
s\6

056
206

5 - 
Sw

ale
 Lo

cal
 Pla

n\0
2_M

aps
\HR

A F
igu

res
\Fig

ure
 C1

 - L
oca

tion
 of 

Site
 All

oca
tion

s.m
xd

±1 0 1 2 3 4 5 km

LEGEND
Swale Borough
Shortlisted Sites 12/11/20

LOCATION OF SITE
ALLOCATIONS

SWALE LOCAL PLAN

FOR ISSUE

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ISSUE THAT IT WAS ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT

 
Copyright
Reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital
map data © Crown copyright 2021. All rights
reserved. Licence number 0100031673.
Contains Ordnance Survey Data © Crown
Copyright and database right 2021
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100018386.

P
age 971



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix i LPR draft for LPP 19.01.21

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix II Draft IDP 14 01 21

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix II Draft IDP Schedule 14 01 21

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix III Swale Transport Strategy 2022-2037

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix iv SCI Addendum

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix V FINAL LUC Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps Study, Jan 2021
	11326 Swale Important Local Countryside Gaps final.pdf
	Contents
	Chapter 1
	Introduction
	Project aims
	Background and policy context


	Chapter 2
	Methodology
	Methodology
	Key stages and tasks
	Evaluation criteria
	Desk review
	Field verification
	Final report and boundaries for the Proposals Map

	Limitations


	Chapter 3
	Important Local Countryside Gap Assessments
	Teynham and Lynsted
	Summary and recommendations

	Teynham and Bapchild
	Summary and recommendations

	Faversham and Goodnestone
	Summary and recommendations

	Faversham and Oare
	Summary and recommendations

	Faversham and Ospringe
	Summary and recommendations




	Fig1_1_11326_r0_Existing_Gaps.pdf
	Proposed_Gaps_Settlement_Bounds_Allocations_DDP_Teynham to Lynsted.pdf
	Proposed_Gaps_Settlement_Bounds_Allocations_DDP_Teynham to Bapchild.pdf
	Proposed_Gaps_Settlement_Bounds_Allocations_DDP_Faversham to Goodnestone.pdf
	Proposed_Gaps_Settlement_Bounds_Allocations_DDP_Faversham to Oare.pdf
	Proposed_Gaps_Settlement_Bounds_Allocations_DDP_Faversham to Ospringe.pdf


	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix vi 201224_Swale WPV_draft_Versio 1 Client Issue

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix vii Swale Local Plan SA - Interim SA Report NTS 210115
	Cover


	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Swale Local Plan Review SA - Interim SA Report appendix vii_

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	Appendix viii Swale LLP HRA 2020

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	APPENDIX VIII Figure A1 - International Designated Sites_Optimized

	3 Swale Borough Local Plan Review pre-submission consultation draft
	APPENDIX VIII Figure C1 - Location of Site Allocations_Optimized




